politics and vision

Sheldon S. Wolin Expanded Edition

POLITICS AND VISION

politics and vision

Continuity and Innovation in Western Political Thought

Expanded Edition

Sheldon S, Wolin

Copyright © 1960, 2004 Princeton University Press

Published by Princeton University Press, 41 William Street,
Princeton, New Jersey 08540
In the United Kingdom: Princeton University Press, 3 Market Place,
Woodstock, Oxfordshire OX20 1SY

All Rights Reserved

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Wolin, Sheldon S.

Politics and vision : continuity and innovation in Western political thought / Sheldon S. Wolin—Expanded ed.

p. cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 0-691-11977-5 (cloth: alk. paper)

 Political science—History.
 Political science—Philosophy—History.
 I. Title. JA81.W6 2004

320'.09—dc22 2003064107

British Library Cataloging-in-Publication Data is available

This book has been composed in Adobe Garamond with Helvetica Neue display.

Printed on acid free paper. ⊗

pup.princeton.edu

Printed in the United States of America

1 3 5 7 9 10 8 6 4 2

Dedicated to EMILY PURVIS WOLIN

CONTENTS

•••

Preface to	the Expanded Edition	XV
Preface		xxiii
PART O	NE	
Снарты	R ONE	
Political	Philosophy and Philosophy	3
I	Political Philosophy as a Form of Inquiry	3
II	Form and Substance	4
III	Political Thought and Political Institutions	7
IV	Political Philosophy and the Political	9
V	The Vocabulary of Political Philosophy	12
VI	Vision and Political Imagination	17
VII	Political Concepts and Political Phenomena	20
VIII	A Tradition of Discourse	21
IX	Tradition and Innovation	23
Снарты	a Two	
Plato: Po	olitical Philosophy versus Politics	27
I	The Invention of Political Philosophy	27
II	Philosophy and Society	32
III	Politics and Architectonics	37
IV	The Search for a Selfless Instrument	47
V	The Question of Power	51
VI	Political Knowledge and Political Participation	54
VII	The Limits of Unity	58
VIII	The Ambiguities of Plato	61
Снарте	r Three	
The Age	of Empire: Space and Community	63
I	The Crisis in the Political	63
II	The New Dimensions of Space	65
III	Citizenship and Disengagement	70
IV	Politics and the Roman Republic	75
V	The Politics of Interest	79
VI	From Political Association to Power Organization	82
VII	The Decline of Political Philosophy	85

viii CONTENTS

Снарты	r Four	
The Earl	y Christian Era: Time and Community	86
I	The Political Element in Early Christianity: The New Notion of	
	Community	86
II	The Church as a Polity: The Challenge to the Political Order	95
III	Politics and Power in a Church-Society	103
IV	The Embarrassments of a Politicized Religion and the Task of	
	Augustine	108
V	The Identity of the Church-Society Reasserted: Time and Destiny	111
VI	Political Society and Church-Society	115
VII	The Language of Religion and the Language of Politics: Footnote on	
	Mediaeval Christian Thought	118
Снарты	r Five	
Luther:	Гhe Theological and the Political	127
I	Political Theology	127
II	The Political Element in Luther's Thought	128
III	The Bias against Institutions	136
IV	The Status of the Political Order	139
V	The Political Order without Counterweight	143
VI	The Fruits of Simplicity	145
Снарты	R Six	
Calvin:	The Political Education of Protestantism	148
I	The Crisis in Order and Civility	148
II	The Political Quality of Calvin's Thought	151
III	The Political Theory of Church Government	158
IV	The Restoration of the Political Order	160
V	Political Knowledge	164
VI	Political Office	166
VII	Power and Community	170
Снарты	R Seven	
	elli: Politics and the Economy of Violence	175
I	The Autonomy of Political Theory	175
II	The Commitments of the Political Theorist	182
III	The Nature of Politics and the Categories of the New Science	187
IV	Political Space and Political Action	195
V	The Economy of Violence	197
VI	Ethics: Political and Private	200
VII	The Discovery of the Mass	205
VIII	Politics and Souls	211

CONTENTS ix

Снарте		
Hobbes:	Political Society as a System of Rules	214
I	The Revival of Political Creativity	214
II	Political Philosophy and the Revolution in Science	218
III	The Promise of Political Philosophy	222
IV	The Language of Politics: The Problem of Constituency	230
V	Political Entropy: The State of Nature	235
VI	The Sovereign Definer	238
VII	Power without Community	243
VIII	Interests and Representation	248
IX	Politics as a Field of Forces	252
Снарте	r Nine	
Liberalis	m and the Decline of Political Philosophy	257
I	The Political and the Social	257
II	Liberalism and the Sobrieties of Philosophy	263
III	The Political Claims of Economic Theory	268
IV	The Eclipse of Political Authority: The Discovery of Society	273
V	Society and Government: Spontaneity versus Coercion	277
VI	Liberalism and Anxiety	282
VII	Beyond the Pleasure Principle: The Problem of Pain	292
VIII	Liberalism and Moral Judgments: The Substitution of	
	Interest for Conscience	297
IX	Liberalism and Conformity: The Socialized Conscience	307
Снарте	r Ten	
The Age	of Organization and the Sublimation of Politics	315
I	The Age of Organization	315
II	Identifying a Tradition of Discourse	319
III	Organization and Community	325
IV	Rousseau: The Idea of Community	330
V	Freedom and Impersonal Dependence	334
VI	Saint-Simon: The Idea of Organization	336
VII	Organization Theory and Methodology: Some Parallels	342
VIII	Organization, Method, and Constitutional Theory	348
IX	Communal Values in Organization	352
X	The Attack on Economic Rationalism	360
XI	Organization Theory: Rationalism versus Organicism	364
XII	The Attack on the Political	371
XIII	Elite and Mass: Action in the Age of Organization	376
XIV	Concluding Remarks	384

X CONTENTS

PART TWO

Chapter	ELEVEN	
From Mo	odern to Postmodern Power	393
I	Celebrating the Death of the Past	393
II	The Baconian Vision of Power	395
III	Cultivating Mind and Method	397
IV	Modern Power Realized	399
V	Modern Power and Its Constituent Elements	400
VI	Containing Power	402
Chapter	Twelve	
Marx: Th	neorist of the Political Economy of the Proletariat	
or of Uno	collapsed Capitalism?	406
I	Marx and Nietzsche: Economy or Culture?	406
II	Marx and the Theoretical Vocation	407
III	Marx and the Idea of a Political Economy	410
IV	Working through the Idea of Democracy	412
V	The Power of Theory	415
VI	The Politics of Economy: The 1844 Manuscripts	416
VII	The Historical Origins of Power	420
VIII	Power, Force, and Violence	423
IX	Modern Power Revealed	425
X	Marx and Locke: Parallel Narratives	427
XI	The Alienation of Power	430
XII	The Worker as Political Actor	432
XIII	Capitalism and the Political Shaping of the Working Class	435
XIV	Capital: Contradiction and Crisis	436
XV	Inheriting the Power-System of Capital	438
XVI	The Status of Politics	439
XVII	The Question of Dictatorship	440
XVIII	The Paris Commune	445
XIX	Anticipating the End of Politics	448
XX	Defending a Post-politics	450
XXI	Underestimating the Capitalist	452
	THIRTEEN	
Nietzsche	e: Pretotalitarian, Postmodern	454
I	From Economy to Culture	454
II	"Some are born posthumously"	450
III	The New Nietzsche	457

CONTENTS	Х

IV	Totalitarianism as a Form	458
V	Nietzsche: A Political Theorist?	460
VI	The Theorist as Immoralist	462
VII	The Politics of Critical Totalitarianism	464
VIII	The Extraordinary versus the Normal	467
IX	The Totalitarian Dynamic	468
X	The Extermination of Decadence	471
XI	Cultural Wars	472
XII	The Crisis of Nihilism	474
XIII	The Aesthete and the Herd	475
XIV	The Politics of Culture	477
XV	A New Elite	479
XVI	The Theorist of Anti-theory	481
XVII		484
XVIII	The Making of the Herd	485
XIX	Myth and Theory	486
XX	Looking for a New Dionysius	489
XXI	Nietzsche as Political Analyst	490
XXII	The Will-to-Power in the Twentieth Century	492
	Fourteen	
Liberalisi	m and the Politics of Rationalism	495
I	Popper, Dewey, and Rawls: Playing Out Liberalism	495
II	The Closed Society	496
III	The Open Society	500
IV	Hints of an Emerging Ambiguity	502
V	Dewey: The Philosopher as Political Theorist	503
VI	Bacon Redivivus	504
VII	Educating for Power	506
VIII	Democracy's Means: Education	507
IX	Democracy and Economy	508
X	The Contest over Science	510
XI	The Idea of a Public	511
XII	Great Society and Great Community	513
XIII	The Scientific Community as Model Democracy	514
XIV	The Fading Aura of Science	518
XV	Totalitarianism and Technology	519
XVI	Totalitarianism and the Reaction against Democracy	520
XVII	Democratic Revival?	522

xii CONTENTS

Снарте	r Fifteen	
Liberal J	ustice and Political Democracy	524
I	Liberalism on the Defensive	524
II	Freedom and Equality: Liberal Dilemma	525
III	John Rawls and the Revival of Political Philosophy	529
IV	Economy and Political Economy	530
V	Justice and Inequality	531
VI	The "Original Position" and the Tradition of Contract Theory	536
VII	Liberalism and Its Political	538
VIII	Rawls's Genealogy of Liberalism	540
IX	The Reasonableness of Liberalism	542
X	The Threat of Comprehensive Doctrines	545
XI	Liberal Political Culture	547
XII	Liberalism and Governance	551
XIII	Neo-liberalism in the Cold War	551
Снарте	r Sixteen	
Power as	nd Forms	557
I	Old and New Political Forms	557
II	Superpower and Terror	559
III	Modern and Postmodern Power	562
IV	Political Economy: The New Public Philosophy	563
V	Collapsed Communism and Uncollapsed Capitalism	565
VI	Political Economy and Postmodernism	566
VII	The Political and Its Absent Carrier	567
VIII	The Demythologizing of Science	568
IX	Rational Political Science	570
X	Political Science and the Political Establishment	574
XI	The Odyssey of the State: From Welfare to Superpower	575
XII	Faltering Vision	578
XIII	Towards Totality	579
Снарте	r Seventeen	
Postmoo	lern Democracy: Virtual or Fugitive?	581
I	Postmodern Culture and Postmodern Power	581
II	Nietzschean Pessimism Transformed	582
III	The Self as Microcosm	584
IV	Centrifugals and Centripetals	585
V	Centripetal Power	587
VI	The Political Evolution of the Corporation	587
VII	Empire and the Imperial Citizen	590

	CONTENTS	XIII
VIII	Superpower and Inverted Totalitarianism	594
IX	The Limits of Superpower?	594
X	A Land of Political Opportunity	595
XI	Capital and Democracy	596
XII	Democracy at Bay	598
XIII	Postrepresentative Politics	599
XIV	Fugitive Democracy	601
Notes		607
Index		741

PREFACE TO THE EXPANDED EDITION

• • •

And time yet for a hundred indecisions, And for a hundred visions and revisions. —T. S. Eliot¹

Nearly a half-century has elapsed since *Politics and Vision* first appeared, making it difficult, perhaps impossible, for the present volume seamlessly to resume where the original left off. Not surprisingly, the public events and my own experiences of the intervening decades have substantially affected my thinking about politics and political theory. Accordingly the new material is confined to Part Two while the original chapters have been left untouched. This should in no way be viewed as dismissive of the many fine historical studies that have added much to our knowledge of the topics treated.

Changes to the original edition have been confined to corrections of printing errors. I have let stand certain usages that now appear anachronistic, e.g., "man" as a comprehensive term denoting human beings generally. These embarrassments can serve as a general reminder of how common understandings have changed and also alert the reader to the evolution in the author's own understandings and political commitments. These might be summarized as the journey from liberalism to democracy. The first edition's subtitle pretty well summarizes an outlook of four decades ago where the parameters of politics and theory were set by "continuity" and "innovation." With the exception of Chapter X, which focused on the modern corporation, the preceding chapters were primarily concerned with interpreting the past rather than analyzing the present. The new chapters do not disavow those interpretations but rather try to put them to work by engaging the contemporary political world. The basic conviction that unites the expanded and the original editions is that a critical knowledge of past theories can contribute immeasurably to sharpening our thinking and cultivating our sensibilities should we choose to engage the politics of our own day.

This, then, is not a revision but an envisioning of strikingly different forms of politics and theorizing from those discussed in the original. It is also, however, an attempt to bring to bear upon contemporary politics what I have learned from studying and teaching about the history of political theory. Far from being a handicap, a familiarity with the varied forms that, historically, political theory has taken may aid in the recognition of radically different recent and contemporary conceptions of the political and politics when they emerge.

Viewed retrospectively, *Politics and Vision* first appeared midway between the Allies' victory over one totalitarian regime and the collapse of another. The defeat of Soviet communism was one of several endgames in an era rich with them. Less obvious were the consequences for the victors of the vast mobilization of resources and of those tightened, systematic domestic controls defended as necessary to the "war effort." One question that forms the underlying theme to the new chapters is this: Was it possible for liberal democracy to wage a "total war" and remain semi-mobilized for almost a half-century, confronting what were widely perceived as the most highly concentrated systems of power in human history, without itself undergoing profound changes, even a regime-change?

My belief is that the experience of combatting totalitarian regimes had sunk more deeply into the practices and values of American political elites than observers have acknowledged, and that, if anything, this influence has intensified today. Similarly, the demos has changed, from citizens to occasional voters. Without claiming that the American political system is a "totalitarian regime," I employ totalitarianism as an extreme ideal-type in order to identify certain tendencies towards totalizing power—which I group under the notion of "inverted totalitarianism"—that have culminated in a new but still tentative regime, Superpower.²

I am not claiming that Superpower has been fully realized in the emergence of an unabashed American empire, any more than Nazi Germany was a perfectly realized totalitarianism. In both cases the terms "totalitarianism" and "Superpower" refer to aspirations that negate the ideals of the regimes which they supersede—the Weimar parliamentary system in Germany and the American liberal democracy. Yet, as Max Weber noted, an ideal type "can appear in reality and in historically important ways, and they have." 3

I have coined the phrase "inverted totalitarianism" in order to underscore the peculiar combination of two contrasting, but not necessarily opposing, tendencies. In the post-war United States, as well as in many Western European countries, the powers of government to control, punish, survey, direct, and influence citizens have increased, but at the same time there have been liberal-democratic changes that appear to work against regimentation, e.g., measures against discriminatory practices based on race, gender, ethnicity, or sexual orientation. However, if these and other reforms help to empower, they may also contribute to splintering and fragmenting opposition, making it difficult to form effective majorities and easier to divide and rule.

As an ideal-type, Superpower might be defined as an expansive system of powers that accepts no limits other than those it chooses to impose on itself. Its system blends the political authority of the "democratic" state, *de jure* power, with the powers represented by the complex of modern science-technology and corporate capital. The distinctive element that these *de facto* powers contribute to Superpower is a dynamic (from the Greek *dynameis*, or powers), a driving force.

They are cumulative, continually evolving into new forms, self-revivifying. Their effect is to change significantly the lives not only in the "homeland" but in near and distant societies as well.

In recognition of that character historians commonly describe the history of these powers as a sequence of "revolutions," scientific or technological or economic. These powers have also furnished governments with unprecedented means of waging war, controlling their populations, and improving the well-being of their citizens. Although they are as old as civilization itself, it is only in our time that the methods of organizing and systematically interrelating these powers are being perfected. The result is a distinctive capability for generating powers virtually at will and of speedily projecting them anywhere in the world and beyond. As such they present a suggestive contrast with political revolutions. Instead of cumulative power, modern political revolutions have tended to represent an accumulation of grievances, of negativities.

Of all the elements composing Superpower, the state alone can lay claim to political legitimacy and hence to authority or de jure power. And the state alone can count on an obedient citizenry. In modern times popular elections are the political means by which states acquire the authority to make laws and rules, to punish, conscript, and tax, all the while assured that their citizens will unhesitatingly comply. Maintaining that formal connection between state and the political community of citizens, and thereby making somewhat credible the presence of democracy, has become essential to legitimizing the symbiosis of non-political de facto powers with the de jure political authority that forms Superpower. The collaboration of powers under Superpower produces a tension between the aspiration towards totality driving those powers and the ideals of constrained authority represented by constitutional limitations and by democratic accountability and participation.

In keeping with the importance of Superpower I have devoted the new chapters to the different massive power formations identified by Marx, Nietzsche, and Weber and then realized in the totalizing systems of the twentieth and twenty-first centuries. I shall suggest that towards the end of the old millennium and the beginning of the new, a "break" occurred in the evolution of power signifying the passage from modern power to postmodern power.

The twentieth century might be characterized as the high tide of modern power when the dominant state systems of the world perfected, and then exhausted, the Hobbesian vision of massive power. Its embodiment was the administrative or bureaucratic state; its instrument was the government regulation. Whether represented by the benign welfare state (the American New Deal, Britain's post-war Labour government); or by the authoritarian state (Franco's Spain, Vichy France, Peron's Argentina); or would-be totalitarian regimes (of Mussolini, Stalin, and Hitler), states applied political power primarily by enlarging the size and scope of

governmental and party bureaucracies. Starting in the late nineteenth century economic power was mainly wielded by business corporations (trusts, monopolies, cartels), which themselves were highly bureaucratized. Thanks to their cozy—and corrupting—relations with state institutions, corporations easily survived or evaded the sporadic attempts to impose government regulation of their activities and structures. The era of the New Deal (1933–1941) witnessed serious attempts at government regulation of corporations and financial markets: "big business," it was argued, justified "big government." During this period both government and economy sought to center power. If governments and bureaucracies had their "seats" in a capitol, corporations had their "headquarters." In both cases power was conceived to flow from "the center" towards the subordinate units.

Postmodern power, of which Superpower is the emergent representation, signifies the concerted attempt to replace cumbersome bureaucracies with "lighter" structures. The virtue of the latter is that they are devised to adapt quickly to changing conditions, whether those be in the marketplace, in party politics, or in military operations. There is a neat and somewhat comic parallel between the socalled war room in the Clinton White House and the military doctrine of a "rapid response team." Just as the military were prepared to quickly deploy an elite force to "trouble spots" anywhere on the globe, the top Clinton strategists would scramble to mount a counterattack against any charges in the media or by the opposition party. In the past century it was common to apply the epithets of "behemoth" or "leviathan" to the regimes of Stalin and Hitler, but now those names appear inappropriate, not solely because those dictatorships have disappeared but because their modes of power have become anachronistic. Government bureaucracies are encouraged to become "leaner," to delegate more authority to sub-units, to "privatize" their services and functions, and to govern as much as possible by executive orders rather than by the time-honored but time-consuming and unpredictable legislative process.

Concurrently, huge corporations have exploited today's rapid means of communication and respond virtually instantaneously to volatile financial markets and fluid economic conditions, shedding or reorganizing units, downsizing the labor force, renegotiating contracts with suppliers, and abruptly terminating ineffectual executives who, allegedly, are eager to spend more time with their families. As a result of these newer developments the *de facto* powers have enabled Superpower to retain its centered power but to extend its reach by delegating and slimming down, thereby increasing effectiveness while acquiring greater flexibility.

The postmodern power, Superpower, eschews the traditional routes of "empire" and "conquest" insofar as these imply a strategy of invading other societies in order to absorb them, to take over permanently and assume responsibility for the day-to-day routines of the conquered territory. Unlike a "command regime" of domination (from the Latin *dominatio*, or mastery, irresponsible power, des-

potism) Superpower is better understood as *predominance*, as ascendancy, preponderance of power, terms that suggest a dynamic, changing character and, above all, an economy of power, a rational structure of allocation of resources. Superpower depends upon an ability to exploit pre-existing systems, to introduce or impose new ones only when necessary, and, when opportune, to abandon and "move on."

The emergence of Superpower, and the declining power of European states, seem to me to warrant giving more than glancing attention to the vicissitudes of American politics. The United States is proclaimed not simply to be "the greatest power in world history" but, paradoxically, to be the best example of successful democracy. Accordingly I have critically examined the assumption that Superpower and empire are compatible in any substantive sense with democracy.

I have not attempted to give a comprehensive account of the new modes of theorizing that have proliferated in recent years. The new chapters are centered instead on power as the defining political fact of the past one hundred and fifty years, and upon the ways in which some major theorists responded to, contributed to, or evaded discussion of it.

Thus the chapters on Marx and Nietzsche deal, respectively, with economic and cultural powers. I have chosen Marx to illustrate theoretical engagement with "the economy" as a hypostasized, totalizing system. In predicting the demise of capitalism and the rise of communism, Marx anticipated a form of capitalism so powerful that, contrary to his vision, it triumphed over communism. Nonetheless, Marx should also be remembered as the modern theorist who, in constructing the proletariat, attempted to revive the dormant ideal of a politically active demos. Nietzsche, who can be said to have invented the theory of culture as politics, combined anticipations of two polar opposites, totalitarianism and postmodernism. Communist totalitarianism, whether of the Soviet or the Chinese type, originally followed the modern understanding of revolution as a movement that identified with the weak and exploited classes against the dominant "ruling classes." Nazi totalitarianism represented the precise inversion of the modern conception of revolution. Like Nietzsche it identified with the strong and aimed at the weak—Jews, Gypsies, Slavs, homosexuals, social democrats, communists, trade unionists, the sick, deformed, and mentally ill.

Originally the historical task of combatting totalitarianism fell to liberalism. From the 1930s to the 1960s liberalism also served as the political conscience of capitalism, endeavoring to regulate its excesses and succor its casualties. During the Cold War and the Crusade against Communism (1945–1988), the social democratic thrust of liberalism was gradually blunted. The beginning of the twenty-first century found liberal politics adrift on a sea of centrism, its politicians declaring themselves "fiscally conservative, socially liberal," its theorists spinning ever finer concepts of rights and expounding on how "democratic deliberation"

might emulate a graduate philosophy seminar. The current status of democracy has been prepared by a marked decline in the political fortunes of liberalism and by the tenuousness of its ties with democratic ideals.

The theoretical trajectory of liberalism can be traced in two acknowledged classics of the past century, *The Open Society and Its Enemies* (1943) by Karl Popper and *A Theory of Justice* (1971) by John Rawls. My analysis centers on the diminished political substance of these theories; the emerging divide between liberalism and democracy as indicated by the relative insignificance both Popper and Rawls attached to democratic ideals of shared power and an active citizenry; and their failure to grasp the political significance of capitalism, not merely as a system of power but as one with totalizing tendencies. Between the discussions of Popper and Rawls I have inserted an account of John Dewey as a counterpoint to Popper's conception of an apolitical role of science and technology and to Rawls's narrow treatment of politics.

Considered together, these three writers summarize the possibilities of modern power. Popper recognized the potential social and economic benefits of modern science and technology, but, deeply troubled by their exploitation by the Nazi regime, he hesitated to reap them. Rawls can be said to have completed, perhaps exhausted, the liberal conception of power. The sole form of power scrutinized in his theory was the power of legitimate authority vested in the institutions of central government and exerted primarily through legislation and administration. Perplexed, and occasionally dismayed, by the political and social consequences of modern capitalism, he responded with certain moral principles for ameliorating social inequities and inequalities. At the same time he relied upon a constitutional structure, and its authoritative exposition by the courts, to contain the exercise of power. The dynamics of modern power escaped his analysis. In contrast, for John Dewey the growing systematization of science, technology, and capital posed the great challenge of making democracy rather than capital the integrating agent.

In postmodern societies the coerciveness of power—its traditional threat of violence—is shadowed by abstract, non-physical power. Postmodern power includes the generation, control, collection, and storage of information and its virtually instantaneous transmission. Communication signifies the vast but tightly integrated expansion of depersonalized relationships, networks of interconnections without a presence yet with unparalleled potentialities for centralized control. The "wiring of the world" is merely an expression of postmodern "globalization" and an indication that another domain, "foreign affairs"—theoretically the preserve of the state is now an open partnership with business corporations. Yet the postmodern condition harbors a paradox of power. As the potentialities of centralized power have increased, the most notorious practitioner of centralization, the state, no longer owns its most distinctive mark. The state's

traditional monopoly over "the legitimate use of *physical force* within a given territory" and "the sole source of the 'right' to use violence" (Weber) is repeatedly being contested by its antithesis, decentered "terrorism."

While among postmodern nations wealth and power are becoming rapidly concentrated in a minuscule class at the top and in a relatively small number of "advanced societies," and as the gap between very rich and very poor steadily widens within societies and between states, the resulting concentrations of power are accompanied by a contrasting phenomenon: of economic, political, social, and cultural dispersion. For every huge multinational corporation, there is a myriad of small entrepreneurs, start-up ventures. While a nation-state boasts *e pluribus unum* (from plurality to unity), a veritable host of groups—feminists, multiculturalists, defenders of ethnicity, environmentalists—proclaim *e uno plures* (from unity to plurality). Postmodern power is simultaneously concentrated and disaggregated.

Clearly these developments challenge the political concepts employed in the first edition of this volume. It is not only the state or politics that needs reconceptualization but a raft of received notions that are being called into question by capital's globalization and the dominant role of the corporation. Not least of these are the role of the citizen and the prospects of democracy.

My hope is that in some measure the present work will encourage younger generations of political theorists to engage in the endless task of redefining the political and reinvigorating the politics of democracy.

This new, expanded edition owes a great deal to the critical comments of my friend Arno J. Mayer, and of my editor, Ian Malcolm.

•••

In this book I have attempted to describe and to analyze some of the continuing and changing concerns of political philosophy. In many intellectual circles today there exists a marked hostility towards, and even contempt for, political philosophy in its traditional form. My hope is that this volume, if it does not give pause to those who are eager to jettison what remains of the tradition of political philosophy, may at least succeed in making clear what it is we shall have discarded.

Although the approach adopted in this work is historical, it has not been my intention to offer a comprehensive and detailed history of political thought. On the whole, the selection of an historical approach has been dictated by a belief that it represents the best method for understanding the preoccupations of political philosophy and its character as an intellectual enterprise. It is also my conviction that an historical perspective is more effective than any other in exposing the nature of our present predicaments; if it is not the source of political wisdom, it is at least the precondition. The reader will quickly discover that a great many topics and writers usually included in the standard histories have been omitted and that in other matters I have departed considerably from prevailing interpretations. Where significant omissions occur, as is the case with the great part of mediaeval political thought, they should not be construed as evidence of an adverse judgment on my part, but only as the inevitable accompaniment to a work that is primarily interpretive.

My intellectual debts are many, and it is a pleasure to acknowledge them. To Professors John D. Lewis and Frederick B. Artz of Oberlin College more is owed than can ever be repaid. Beginning in my undergraduate days and continuing to the present, they have combined the roles of teacher, scholar, and friend and provided the encouragement for undertaking a work of this kind. I should also like to extend my appreciation to Professors Thomas Jenkin of the University of California at Los Angeles and Louis Hartz of Harvard University for reading the entire manuscript and offering suggestions for its improvement; to my colleague, Professor Norman Jacobson, with whom I have discussed some of the problems of the book and who has been an unfailing source of intellectual stimulation; to Mr. Robert J. Pranger who not only spared me the tedious task of tracking down numerous references but also criticized the early formulation of some of the ideas in the last chapter; and, above all, to another of my colleagues, Professor John Schaar, whose discriminating taste and intelligence have contributed greatly to whatever merit this work way have.

xxiv PREFACE

I am also grateful to several typists for their skill, cooperation, and patience: Jean Gilpin, Sylvia Diegnau, Sue K. Young, and, especially, Francine Barban. I should like to express my appreciation to the Editor of the *American Political Science Review* for permission to reproduce in somewhat altered form the two articles which are the basis of Chapters V and VI. The major part of this study was made possible by the Rockefeller Foundation whose generous financial support enabled me to gain some respite from the normal teaching duties.

S.S.W. Berkeley, 1960

PART ONE

CHAPTER ONE

•••

Political Philosophy and Philosophy

... To express various meanings on complex things with a scanty vocabulary of fastened senses.

-Walter Bagehot

I. Political Philosophy as a Form of Inquiry

This is a book about a special tradition of discourse—political philosophy. In it I shall attempt to discuss the general character of that tradition, the varying concerns of those who have helped to build it, and the vicissitudes that have marked the main lines of its development. At the same time, I shall also try to say something about the enterprise of political philosophy itself. This statement of intentions naturally induces the expectation that the discussion will begin with a definition of political philosophy. To attempt to satisfy this expectation, however, would be fruitless, not merely because a few sentences cannot accomplish what an entire book intends, but also because political philosophy is not an essence with an eternal nature. It is, instead, a complex activity which is best understood by analyzing the many ways that the acknowledged masters have practiced it. No single philosopher and no one historical age can be said to have defined it conclusively, any more than any one painter or school of painting has practiced all that we mean by painting.

If there is more to political philosophy than any great philosopher has expressed, there is some justification for believing that political philosophy constitutes an activity whose characteristics are most clearly revealed over time. Stated somewhat differently, political philosophy is to be understood in the same way that we go about understanding a varied and complex tradition.

Although it may not be possible to reduce political philosophy to a brief definition, it is possible to elucidate the characteristics that distinguish it from, as well as connect it with, other forms of inquiry. I shall discuss these considerations under the following headings: political philosophy's relations with philosophy, the characteristics of political philosophy as an activity, its subject-matter and language, the problem of perspectives or angle of vision, and the manner in which a tradition operates.

Ever since Plato first perceived that the inquiry into the nature of the good life of the individual was necessarily associated with a converging (and not parallel) inquiry into the nature of the good community, a close and continuing association

has persisted between political philosophy and philosophy in general. Not only have most of the eminent philosophers contributed generously to the main stock of our political ideas, but they have given the political theorist many of his methods of analysis and criteria of judgment. Historically, the main difference between philosophy and political philosophy has been a matter of specialization rather than one of method or temper. By virtue of this alliance, political theorists accepted as their own the basic quest of the philosopher for systematic knowledge.

There is a still another fundamental sense in which political theory is linked to philosophy. Philosophy can be distinguished from other methods of eliciting truths, such as the mystic vision, the secret rite, truths of conscience or of private feelings. Philosophy claims to deal with truths publicly arrived at and publicly demonstrable.1 At the same time, one of the essential qualities of what is political, and one that has powerfully shaped the view of political theorists about their subject-matter, is its relationship to what is "public." Cicero had this in mind when he called the commonwealth a res publica, a "public thing" or the "property of a people." Of all the authoritative institutions in society, the political arrangement has been singled out as uniquely concerned with what is "common" to the whole community. Certain functions, such as national defense, internal order, the dispensing of justice, and economic regulation, have been declared the primary responsibility of political institutions, largely on the grounds that the interests and ends served by these functions were beneficial to all of the members of the community. The only institution that ever rivaled the authority of the political order was the mediaeval Church; yet this was made possible only because the Church, in assuming the characteristics of a political regime, had become something other than a religious body. The intimate connection existing between political institutions and public concerns has been taken over in the practices of philosophers; political philosophy has been taken to mean reflection on matters that concern the community as a whole.

It is fitting, therefore, that the inquiry into public matters should be conducted according to the canons of a public type of knowledge. To take the other alternative, to ally political knowledge with private modes of cognition, would be incongruous and self-defeating. The dramatic symbol of the right alliance was the demand of the Roman plebs that the status of the Twelve Tables of the law be transformed from a priestly mystery cognizable only by the few to a public form of knowledge accessible to all.

II. FORM AND SUBSTANCE

Turning next to the subject-matter of political philosophy, even the most cursory examination of the masterpieces of political literature discloses the continual reappearance of certain problem-topics. Many examples could be listed, but here

we need mention only a few, such as the power relationships between ruler and ruled, the nature of authority, the problems posed by social conflict, the status of certain goals or purposes as objectives of political action, and the character of political knowledge. No political philosopher has been interested in all of these problems to the same degree, yet there has been a sufficiently widespread consensus about the identity of the problems to warrant the belief that a continuity of preoccupations has existed. Nor does the fact that philosophers have often violently disagreed about solutions cast doubt upon the existence of a common subject-matter. What is important is the continuity of preoccupations, not the unanimity of response.

Agreement about subject-matter presupposes in turn that those who are interested in extending knowledge of a particular field share in a common understanding about what is relevant to their subject and what ought to be excluded. In reference to political philosophy, this means that the philosopher should be clear about what is political and what is not. Aristotle, for example, argued in the opening pages of the *Politics* that the role of the statesman (*politikos*) ought not to be confused with that of the slave-owner or head of a household; the first was properly political, the latter were not. The point that Aristotle was making is still of vital importance, and the difficulties of preserving a clear notion of what is political form the basic theme of this book. Aristotle was alluding to the troubles that the political philosopher experiences in trying to isolate a subject-matter which, in reality, cannot be isolated. There are two main reasons for the difficulty. In the first place, a political institution, for example, is exposed to impinging influences of a non-political kind so that it becomes a perplexing problem of explanation as to where the political begins and the non-political leaves off. Secondly, there is the widespread tendency to utilize the same words and notions in describing non-political phenomena that we do in talking about political matters. In contrast to the restricted technical usages of mathematics and the natural sciences, phrases like "the authority of the father," "the authority of the church," or "the authority of Parliament" are evidence of the parallel usages prevailing in social and political discussions.

This poses one of the basic problems confronting the political philosopher when he tries to assert the distinctiveness of his subject-matter: what is political? what is it that distinguishes, say, political authority from other forms of authority, or membership in a political society from membership in other types of associations? In attempting an answer to these questions, centuries of philosophers have contributed to a conception of political philosophy as a continuing form of discourse concerning what is political and to a picture of the political philosopher as one who philosophizes about the political. How have they gone about doing this? How have they come to single out certain human actions and interactions, institutions and values, and to designate them "political"? What is the distinctive

common feature of certain types of situations or activities, such as voting and legislating, that allows us to call them political? Or what conditions must a given action or situation satisfy in order to be called political?

In one sense, the process of defining the area of what is political has not been markedly different from that which has taken place in other fields of inquiry. No one would seriously contend, for example, that the fields of physics or chemistry have always existed in a self-evident, determinate form waiting only to be discovered by Galileo or Lavoisier. If we grant that a field of inquiry is, to an important degree, a product of definition, the political field can be viewed as an area whose boundaries have been marked out by centuries of political discussion. Just as other fields have changed their outlines, so the boundaries of what is political have been shifting ones, sometimes including more, sometimes less of human life and thought. The present age of totalitarianism produces the lament that "this is a political age. War, fascism, concentration camps, rubber truncheons, atomic bombs, etc., are what we think about." In other and more serene times the political is less ubiquitous. Aquinas could write that "man is not formed for political fellowship in his entirety, or in all that he has . . . "2 What I should like to insist upon, however, is that the field of politics is and has been, in a significant and radical sense, a created one. The designation of certain activities and arrangements as political, the characteristic way that we think about them, and the concepts we employ to communicate our observations and reactions—none of these are written into the nature of things but are the legacy accruing from the historical activity of political philosophers.

I do not mean to suggest by these remarks that the political philosopher has been at liberty to call "political" whatever he chose, or that, like the poet of Lord Kames, he has been busy "fabricating images without any foundation in reality." Nor do I mean to imply that the phenomena we designate political are, in a literal sense, "created" by the theorist. It is readily admitted that established practices and institutional arrangements have furnished political writers with their basic data, and I shall discuss this point shortly. It is true, too, that many of the subjects treated by a theorist owe their inclusion to the simple fact that in existing linguistic conventions such subjects are referred to as political. It is also true, on the other hand, that the ideas and categories that we use in political analysis are not of the same order as institutional "facts," nor are they "contained," so to speak, in the facts. They represent, instead, an added element, something created by the political theorist. Concepts like "power," "authority," "consent," and so forth are not real "things," although they are intended to point to some significant aspect about political things. Their function is to render political facts significant, either for purposes of analysis, criticism, or justification, or a combination of all three. When political concepts are put into the form of an assertion, such as, "It is not the rights and privileges which he enjoys which makes a man a citizen, but the mutual obligation between subject and sovereign," the validity of the statement is not to be settled by referring to the facts of political life. This would be a circular procedure, since the form of the statement would inevitably govern the interpretation of the facts. Stated somewhat differently, political theory is not so much interested in political practices, or how they operate, but rather in their meaning. Thus, in the statement just quoted from Bodin, the fact that by law or practice the member of society owed certain obligations to his sovereign, and vice versa, was not as important as that these duties could be understood in a way suggestive of something important about membership and, in the later phases of Bodin's argument, about sovereign authority and its conditions. In other words, the concept of membership permitted Bodin to draw out the implications and interconnections between certain practices or institutions that were not selfevident on the basis of the facts themselves. When such concepts become more or less stable in their meaning, they serve as pointers that "cue" us to look for certain things or to keep certain considerations in mind when we try to understand a political situation or make a judgment about it. In this way, the concepts and categories that make up our political understanding help us to draw connections between political phenomena; they impart some order to what might otherwise appear to be a hopeless chaos of activities; they mediate between us and the political world we seek to render intelligible; they create an area of determinate awareness and thus help to separate the relevant phenomena from the irrelevant.

III. POLITICAL THOUGHT AND POLITICAL INSTITUTIONS

The philosopher's attempt to give meaning to political phenomena is both assisted and delimited by the fact that societies possess some measure of order, some degree of arrangement which exists whether philosophers philosophize or not. In other words, the boundaries and substance of the subject-matter of political philosophy are determined to a large extent by the practices of existing societies. By practices is meant the institutionalized processes and settled procedures regularly used for handling public matters. What is important for political theory is that these institutionalized practices play a fundamental role in ordering and directing human behavior and in determining the character of events. The organizing role of institutions and customary practices creates a "nature" or field of phenomena that is roughly analogous to the nature confronted by the natural scientist. Perhaps I can clarify the meaning of "political nature" by describing something of the function of institutions.

The system of political institutions in a given society represents an arrangement of power and authority. At some point within the system, certain institutions are

recognized as having the authority to make decisions applicable to the whole community. The exercise of this function naturally attracts the attention of groups and individuals who feel that their interests and purposes will be affected by the decisions taken. When this awareness takes the form of action directed towards political institutions, the activities become "political" and a part of political nature. The initiative may originate with the institutions themselves, or rather with the men who operate them. A public decision, such as one controlling the manufacturing of woolens or one prohibiting the propagation of certain doctrines, has the effect of connecting these activities to the political order and making them, at least in part, political phenomena. Although one could multiply the ways in which human activities become "political," the main point lies in the "relating" function performed by political institutions. Through the decisions taken and enforced by public officials, scattered activities are brought together, endowed with a new coherence, and their future course shaped according to "public" considerations. In this way political institutions give additional dimensions to political nature. They serve to define, so to speak, "political space" or the locus wherein the tensional forces of society are related, as in a courtroom, a legislature, an administrative hearing, or the convention of a political party. They serve also to define "political time" or the temporal period within which decision, resolution, or compromise occurs. Thus political arrangements provide a setting wherein the activities of individuals and groups are connected spatially and temporally. Consider, for example, the workings of a national system of social security. A tax official collects revenue from a corporation's earnings of the preceding year; the revenue, in turn, might be used to establish a social security or pension system that would benefit workers otherwise unconnected with the corporation. But the benefits in question may not actually be received by the worker until a quarter of a century later. Here, in the form of a revenue agent, is a political institution whose operation integrates a series of otherwise unconnected activities and imparts to them a significance extended over time.³

A contemporary philosopher has said that, by means of the concepts and symbols used in our thinking, we try to make a "temporal order of words" stand for "a relational order of things." If we apply this to political matters, we can say that political institutions provide the internal relationships between the "things" or phenomena of political nature and that political philosophy seeks to make meaningful assertions about these "things." In other words, institutions establish a previous coherence among political phenomena; hence, when the political philosopher reflects upon society, he is not confronted by a whirl of disconnected events or activities hurtling through a Democritean void but by phenomena already endowed with coherence and interrelationships.

IV. POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY AND THE POLITICAL

At the same time, however, most of the great statements of political philosophy have been put forward in times of crisis; that is, when political phenomena are less effectively integrated by institutional forms. Institutional breakdown releases phenomena, so to speak, causing political behavior and events to take on something of a random quality, and destroying the customary meanings that had been part of the old political world. From the time that Greek thought first became fascinated by the instabilities that afflicted political life, Western political philosophers have been troubled by the wasteland that comes when the web of political relationships has dissolved and the ties of loyalty have snapped. Evidence of this preoccupation is to be found in the endless discussions of Greek and Roman writers concerning the rhythmic cycles which governmental forms were destined to follow; in the fine distinctions that Machiavelli drew between the political contingencies that man could master and those that left him helpless; in the seventeenth-century notion of a "state of nature" as a condition lacking the settled relationships and institutional forms characteristic of a functioning political system; and in the mighty effort of Hobbes to found a political science that would enable men, once and for all, to create an abiding commonwealth that could weather the vicissitudes of politics. Although the task of political philosophy is greatly complicated in a period of disintegration, the theories of Plato, Machiavelli, and Hobbes, for example, are evidence of a "challenge and response" relationship between the disorder of the actual world and the role of the political philosopher as the encompasser of disorder. The range of possibilities appears infinite, for now the political philosopher is not confined to criticism and interpretation; he must reconstruct a shattered world of meanings and their accompanying institutional expressions; he must, in short, fashion a political cosmos out of political chaos.

Although conditions of extreme political disorganization lend an added urgency to the quest for order, the political theorist writing for less heroic times has also ranked order as a fundamental problem of his subject-matter. No political theorist has ever advocated a disordered society, and no political theorist has ever proposed permanent revolution as a way of life. In its most elemental meaning, order has signified a condition of peace and security that makes civilized life possible. St. Augustine's overriding concern for man's transcendent destiny did not blind him to the fact that the preparations for salvation presupposed an earthly setting wherein the basic requirements of peace and security were being met by the political order, and it was this recognition that drew from him the admission that even a pagan polity was of some value. The preoccupation with order has left its mark on the vocabulary of the political theorist. Words like "peace," "stability,"

"harmony," and "balance" are encountered in the writings of every major theorist. Similarly, every political inquiry is, in some degree, directed at the factors conducive to, or militating against, the maintenance of order. The political philosopher has asked: what is the function of power and authority in sustaining the basis of social life? what does the preservation of order demand of the members in the way of a code of civility? what kind of knowledge is needed by both ruler and ruled alike if peace and stability are to be maintained? what are the sources of disorder, and how can they be controlled?

At the same time, and with important exceptions, most political writers have accepted in some form the Aristotelian dictum that men living a life of association desire not only life but the attainment of the good life; that is, that human beings have aspirations beyond the satisfaction of certain elemental, almost biologic needs, such as domestic peace, defense against external enemies, and the protection of life and possessions. Order, as Augustine defined it, contained a hierarchy of goods, rising from the protection of life to the promotion of the highest type of life. Throughout the history of political philosophy, there have been varying notions about what was to be included under order, and these have ranged from the Greek idea of individual self-fulfillment, through the Christian conception of the political order as a kind of praeparatio evangelica, to the modern liberal view that the political order has little to do with either psyches or souls. Irrespectively of the particular emphasis, the preoccupation with order has drawn the political theorist into considering the kinds of goals and purposes proper to a political society. This brings us to the second broad aspect of the subject-matter: what kinds of things are proper to a political society and why?

In our earlier discussion of political philosophy and its relation to philosophy, we touched very briefly on the notion that political philosophy dealt with *public* matters. Here I should like to point out that the words "public," "common," and "general" have a long tradition of usage which has made them synonyms for what is political. For this reason they serve as important clues to the subject-matter of political philosophy. From its very beginnings in Greece, the Western political tradition has looked upon the political order as a common order created to deal with those concerns in which all of the members of society have some interest. The concept of an order that was at once political and common was stated most eloquently in Plato's dialogue *Protagoras*. There it was related that the gods gave men the arts and talents necessary for their physical survival, yet when men formed cities, conflict and violence continually erupted and threatened to return mankind to a brutal and savage condition. Protagoras then described how the gods, fearful that men would destroy each other, decided to provide justice and virtue:

Zeus feared that the entire race would be exterminated, and so he sent Hermes to them, bearing reverence and justice to be the ordering principles of cities and the bonds of friendship and conciliation. Hermes asked Zeus how he should impart justice and reverence among men:—Should he distribute them as the arts are distributed; that is to say, to a favored few only [or] . . . to all? "To all," said Zeus; "I should like them all to have a share; for cities cannot exist, if a few share only in the virtues, as in the arts . . ."⁵

The "commonness" of the political order has been reflected both in the range of topics selected by political theorists as proper to their subject and in the way that these topics have been treated in political theory. It is seen in the basic belief of theorists that political rule is concerned with those general interests shared by all the members of the community; that political authority is distinguished from other forms of authority in that it speaks in the name of a society considered in its common quality; that membership in a political society is a token of a life of common involvements; and that the order that political authority presides over is one that should extend throughout the length and breadth of society as a whole. The broad problem that is posed by these and similar topics comes from the fact that the objects and activities that they treat are not isolated. The member of society may share some interests with his fellows, but there are other interests that may be peculiar to him or to some group to which he belongs; similarly, political authority is not only one of several authorities in society, but finds itself competing with them on certain matters.

That the political inheres in a situation of intersecting considerations suggests that the task of defining what is political is a continual one. This becomes more evident if we now turn to consider another aspect of the subject-matter; namely, political activity or politics. For the purposes of this study I shall take "politics" to include the following: (a) a form of activity centering around the quest for competitive advantage between groups, individuals, or societies; (b) a form of activity conditioned by the fact that it occurs within a situation of change and relative scarcity; (c) a form of activity in which the pursuit of advantage produces consequences of such a magnitude that they affect in a significant way the whole society or a substantial portion of it. Throughout most of the last twenty-five hundred years, Western communities have been compelled to undergo drastic readjustments to changes induced from both within and without. Politics as one reflection of this phenomenon has come to be an activity expressive of society's need for constant readjustment. The effects of change are not only to disturb the relative positions of social groups but also to modify the objectives for which individuals and groups are contending. Thus the territorial expansion of a society may open new sources of wealth and power which will disturb the competitive positions of various domestic groups; changes in the modes of economic production may result in the redistribution of wealth and influence in such a way as to provoke protest and agitation on the part of those whose status has been adversely affected by the new order; vast increases in population and the injection of new racial elements, as took place at Rome, may bring demands for the extension of political privileges and by that demand offer an inviting element for political manipulation; or a religious prophet may come proclaiming a new faith and calling for the extirpation of the old rites and beliefs which time and habit had woven into the existing fabric of epectations. Looked at in one way, political activities are a response to fundamental changes taking place in society. From another point of view, these activities provoke conflict because they represent intersecting lines of action whereby individuals and groups seek to stabilize a situation in a way congenial to their aspirations and needs. Thus politics is both a source of conflict and a mode of activity that seeks to resolve conflicts and promote readjustment.

We can summarize this discussion by saying that the subject-matter of political philosophy has consisted in large measure of the attempt to render politics compatible with the requirements of order. The history of political philosophy has been a dialogue on this theme; sometimes the vision of the philosopher has been of an order purged of politics, and he has produced a political philosophy from which politics, and a good deal of what has been meant by political, have been expunged; other times, he has permitted such a wide scope to politics that the case for order appears to have been neglected.

V. THE VOCABULARY OF POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY

One important characteristic of a body of knowledge is that it is conveyed through a rather specialized language, by which we mean that words are used in certain special senses and that certain concepts and categories are treated as fundamental to an understanding of the subject. This aspect of a body of knowledge is its language or vocabulary. To a large extent, any specialized language represents an artificial creation because it is self-consciously constructed to express meanings and definitions as precisely as possible. For example, mathematicians have developed a highly complex system of signs and symbols, as well as a recognized set of conventions governing their manipulation; physicists, too, employ a number of special definitions to facilitate explanation and prediction. The language of the political theorist has its own peculiarities. Some of these have been pointed out by critics who have complained of the vagueness of traditional political concepts as contrasted with the precision characteristic of scientific discourse, or they have drawn equally unfavorable parallels between the low predictive quality of political theories and the great success of scientific theories in this respect.

Without wishing to add one more contribution to the dreary controversy over whether political science is, or can be, a true science, some misconceptions may be avoided by stating briefly what political theorists have tried to express through their specialized vocabulary. We might begin by quoting a few characteristic statements selected from some political philosophers:

Security for man is impossible unless it be conjoined with power. (Machiavelli)

There can be no true Allegiance and there must remain perpetual seeds of Resistance against a power that is built upon such an unnatural Foundation, as that of fear and terrour. (Halifax)

As soon as man enters into a state of society he loses the sense of his weakness; equality ceases, and then commences the state of war. (Montesquieu)

Admittedly the language and concepts contained in the above statements are so vague as to defy the rigorous testing prescribed by scientific experiments. In the strict sense, concepts like "the state of nature" or "civil society" are not even subject to observation. Yet it would be wrong to conclude that these and other concepts of political theory are deliberately employed to avoid describing the world of political experience. The sentence quoted from Machiavelli alludes to the fact that life and possessions tend to become insecure when the governors of society lack the power to enforce law and order. "Security," on the other hand, is a kind of shorthand expression for the fact that most men prefer a condition of assured expectations for their lives and property. Taken as a whole, the sentence from Machiavelli states a generalization consisting of two key concepts, power and security, both of which "contain," so to speak, a common-sense understanding of their practical implications. Thus security implies certain activities; namely, that the members of the society can use and enjoy their possessions with the full knowledge that these will not be taken away forcibly. Similarly, the exercise of effective power will be accompanied by certain familiar actions, such as declaring laws, punishments, and so forth. What is not so apparent to common sense, however, is the connection between power and security, and it is this the political theorist seeks to establish. The use of concepts and a special language enable him to bring together a variety of common experiences and practices, such as those connected with the enjoyment of security and the exercise of power, and to show their interconnections.

Although these generalizations may state important things, they do not permit exact predictions in the way that a law of physics will. The concepts are far too general for this, and the evidence would be too flimsy to support any of the assertions quoted earlier. This is not to say that it is impossible to formulate rigorous propositions concerning politics which could be subjected to empirical testing. It is only suggested that these are not the sort of statements that have traditionally occupied the attention of political theorists. Therefore, instead of assigning low marks to the theorists for a badly executed enterprise which they never entertained, it would be more useful to inquire whether the political theorist was

attempting something similar to prediction but less rigorous. Instead of predictions, I would suggest first that theorists have been intent on posting warnings. Machiavelli cautions that in the absence of an effective ruling authority there will be insecurity; Halifax, that an authority that places excessive reliance on fear will eventually provoke resistance. Although each of these admonitions bears some similarity to a prediction, it differs in two important respects. In the first place, a warning implies an unpleasant or undesirable consequence, while a scientific prediction is neutral. Secondly, a warning is usually made by a person who feels some involvement with the party or person being warned; a warning, in short, tokens a commitment that is lacking in predictions. In keeping with this function of posting warnings, the language of political theory contains many concepts designed to express warning signals: disorder, revolution, conflict, and instability are some of them.

Political theory, however, has involved more than the prognostication of disaster. It deals also in possibilities; it tries to state the necessary or sufficient conditions for attaining ends which, for one reason or another, are deemed good or desirable. Thus Machiavelli's statement contained both a warning and a possibility: power was the condition of achieving security, but ineffective power would open the way for insecurity.

One obvious objection to the line of argument above is that it places the political theorist in a position of being able to advance propositions and to employ concepts that cannot be adjudged true or false by a rigorous empirical standard. This objection is readily admitted insofar as it pertains to a large number of the statements and concepts contained in most political theories. It is not, however, a conclusive objection, because it assumes that an empirical test affords the only method for determining whether or not a statement is meaningful. Rather than dwell on the scientific shortcomings of political theories, it might be more fruitful to consider political theory as belonging to a different form of discourse. Following this suggestion we can adopt for our purposes a proposal advanced by Carnap.⁶ He has suggested the term "explication" to cover certain expressions used both in everyday speech and scientific discussion. Explication employs meanings that are less precise than those ideally suited for rigorous discussion, yet they are handy and, when redefined and rendered more precise, can perform extremely useful service in a theory. Examples of such words would be "law," "cause," and "truth." Inasmuch as these words are advanced as proposals, they cannot be qualified as true or false. The language of political theory abounds with concepts that are used to explicate certain problems. Frequently they are words that are similar to those in ordinary usage, but they have been redefined and touched up to make them more serviceable. The word that the theorist uses may be guided by common usage, but it is not necessarily restricted by the common meaning. For example, Aristotle's definition of a good citizen as one who had

both the knowledge and the capacity for ruling and being ruled contained much that was familiar to Athenians. At the same time, the issues that Aristotle was seeking to clarify required that he refashion or reconstruct the accepted meanings. This same procedure has been followed in the formation of other key concepts in the language of political theory; concepts like "authority," "obligation," and "justice" retain some contact with common meanings and experience, yet they have been refashioned to meet the requirements of systematic discourse.

This point has been emphasized at some length in order to bring out the connections between the concepts of political theory and political experience. This connection suggests that a political theory is not an arbitrary construction, because its concepts are linked at several points with experience. A systematic theory, such as the one formulated by Hobbes, consists of a network of interrelated and (ideally) consistent concepts; none of the concepts is identical with experience, yet none are wholly severed from it. Perhaps the whole procedure may be better understood if a genetic explanation is introduced. Political theory forms no exception to the general principle that most specialized vocabularies in the early stages of their development rely on the vocabulary of everyday language to express their meanings. The concepts of early Greek political thought, for example, could be understood in reference to ordinary usage and hardly went beyond. With the systematization of political thinking, as exemplified by Plato and Aristotle, the language of political theory became more specialized and abstract. The language of everyday conversation was modified and redefined so that the theorist might state his ideas with a precision, consistency, and scope that ordinary usage would not allow. Yet a connecting thread persisted between the polished concept and the old usages. It has often been pointed out that the concept of justice (dikê) underwent a long evolution before it became a political concept. In Homeric times, it had carried several meanings, such as to "show," "point out," or to indicate "the way things normally happen." In Hesiod's Works and Days, it is appropriated for political use. Hesiod warned against the prince who rendered "crooked" diké, and he reminded men that they were different from the animals who were ignorant of the rules of diké.7 In the philosophies of Plato and Aristotle, the concept of justice was formulated in more abstract fashion and could hardly be said to be identical with common meanings. Yet it is worth noting that in Plato's Republic the discussion of justice was initiated by having several speakers advance common notions of justice. Although some of these were discarded, others were treated as insufficient, which is to say that they were incorporated in modified form into the more comprehensive and abstract definition of justice which we associate with the dialogue. In this way, Plato constructed a concept of justice that was linked at many points with a tradition of common usage.

Although the vocabulary of the political theorist carries the traces of everyday language and experience, it is largely the product of the theorist's creative efforts.

The concepts that constitute his vocabulary are shaped to fit the over-all structure of meanings of his theory. This structure of meanings contains not only political concepts, such as law, authority, and order, but also a subtle blend of philosophical and political ideas, a concealed or latent metaphysic. Every political theory that has aimed at a measure of comprehensiveness has adopted some implicit or explicit propositions about "time," "space," "reality," or "energy." Although most of these are the traditional categories of metaphysicians, the political theorist does not state his propositions or formulate his concepts in the same manner as the metaphysician. The concern of the theorist has been with space and time as categories referring not to the world of natural phenomena, but to the world of political phenomena; that is, to the world of political nature. If he cared to be precise and explicit in these matters, he would write of "political" space, "political" time, and so forth. Admittedly, few if any writers have employed this form of terminology. Rather, the political theorist has used synonyms; instead of political space he may have written about the city, the state, or the nation; instead of time, he may have referred to history or tradition; instead of energy, he may have spoken about power. The complex of these categories we can call a political metaphysic.8

The metaphysical categories resident in political theory can be illustrated by the notion of political space. One might begin by pointing out how this had its origin in the ancient world in the evolution of national consciousness. The Hebraic idea of a separate people, the Greek distinction between Hellene and barbarian, the Roman pride in *Romanitas*, the mediaeval notion of Christendom, all contributed to sharpen the sense of distinctive identity which then became associated with a determinate geographic area and a particular culture.

But the concept of political space turned on more than a distinction between the "inside" of a specific and differentiated context of actions and events and an "outside" that was largely unknown and undifferentiated. It involved also the crucial question of the arrangements for settling the problems arising out of the fact that a large number of human beings, possessing a common cultural identity, occupied the same determinate area. If for the moment we were to suspend our sophisticated notions of a political society, with its impressive hierarchies of power, its rationalized institutional arrangements, and its established grooves through which behavior smoothly runs, and think of these as constituting a determinate area, a "political space," where the plans, ambitions, and actions of individuals and groups incessantly jar against each other-colliding, blocking, coalescing, separating—we could better appreciate the ingenious role of these arrangements in reducing frictions. By a variety of means, a society seeks to structure its space: by systems of rights and duties, class and social distinctions, legal and extra-legal restraints and inhibitions, favors and punishments, permissions and tabus. These arrangements serve to mark out paths along which human motions can proceed harmlessly or beneficially. We can find this sense of structured space reflected in most political theories. It was strikingly illustrated by Hobbes:

For whatsoever is so tyed, or environed, as it cannot move, but within a certain space, which space is determined by the opposition of some externall body, we say it hath not liberty to go further . . . The Liberty of a Subject lyeth therefore only in those things, which in regulating their actions, the Soveraign hath praetermitted: such is the Liberty to buy, and sell, and otherwise contract with one another . . . 9

In a similar vein Locke defended the utility of legal restraints: "that ill deserves the name of confinement which hedges us in only from bogs and precipices." ¹⁰

As we have inferred above, political space becomes a problem when human energies cannot be controlled by existing arrangements. During the Reformation and its aftermath, it was the vitalities of religion that threatened the structural principles fashioned by mediaeval political societies. In the eighteenth century, it was the ambitions of the entrepreneur that were cramped by the elaborate network of mercantilism. "We have no need of favour—we require only a secure and open path."11 The theories of the Physiocrats, Adam Smith, and Bentham responded by drawing new avenues and redefining the spatial dimension. If one wished to continue this analysis, it could be shown how Malthus called into question the spatial theory of the liberal economists by warning of the rising pressures stemming from the growth in population. It might also be possible to interpret the great revolutionary movements of the nineteenth century, such as Marxism, as articulate challenges to, as well as a demand for the reorganization of, the space-structure created by bourgeois industrial society. Or a novel, like Thomas Mann's Dr. Faustus, might be taken as representative of the viewpoint of the generation at the turn of the last century and its frustrating sense of suffocation at the restraints imposed by national and international arrangements:

A new break-through seemed due . . . We were bursting with the consciousness that this was Germany's century . . . it was our turn to put our stamp on the world and be its leader; . . . that now, at the end of the bourgeois epoch begun some hundred and twenty years before, the world was to renew itself in our sign . . 12

VI. VISION AND POLITICAL IMAGINATION

Our discussion of political space provides a clue to another aspect of political philosophy. The varied conceptions of space indicate that each theorist has viewed the problem from a different perspective, a particular angle of vision. This suggests that political philosophy constitutes a form of "seeing" political phenomena and that the way in which the phenomena will be visualized depends in large measure on where the viewer "stands." There are two distinct but related senses

of "vision" that I wish to discuss; both of them have played an important part in political theory. Vision is commonly used to mean an act of perception. Thus we say that we see the speaker addressing a political rally. In this sense, "vision" is a descriptive report about an object or an event. But "vision" is also used in another sense, as when one talks about an aesthetic vision or a religious vision. In this second meaning, it is the imaginative, not the descriptive, element that is uppermost.

Ever since the scientific revolution of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, this first type of "objective" vision, devoted to dispassionate reportage, has been commonly associated with scientific observation. It is rather widely acknowledged now that this conception of science errs by underestimating the role that imagination plays in the construction of scientific theories. Nevertheless, there remains a persistent belief that the scientist is akin to a highly skilled reporter in that he strives to provide a verbatim report of "reality." This notion has been repeatedly translated into a criticism of political theorists. Spinoza, for example, accused political theorists of being satirists. They assume, he wrote, that "theory is supposed to be at variance with practice . . . They conceive of men, not as they are, but as they themselves would like them to be." Although Spinoza may have overlooked the point that many political theorists have seriously tried to look at political facts as they "really" are, he was quite right in saying that the picture of society given by most political theorists is not a "real" or literal one. But the question is, are these pictures in the nature of satires? Why is it that most political writers, even avowedly scientific ones like Comte, have felt constrained to envision a right pattern for the political order? What did they hope to gain in the way of theoretical insight by adding an imaginative dimension to their representation? What, in short, did they conceive the function of political theory to be?

We can easily dispose of the possibility that political theorists were unaware that they were injecting imagination or fancy into their theories. There are too many testimonials to their self-awareness on this score. Rather, they believed that fancy, exaggeration, even extravagance, sometimes permit us to see things that are not otherwise apparent. The imaginative element has played a role in political philosophy similar to that Coleridge assigned to imagination in poetry, an "esemplastic" power that "forms all into one graceful intelligent whole." When Hobbes, for example, depicted a multitude of men self-consciously agreeing to form a political society, he knew quite well that such an act had never "really" occurred. But by means of this fanciful picture, he hoped to assist his readers in seeing some of the basic presuppositions on which a political order rests. Hobbes was aware, as most political philosophers have been, that fanciful statements are not of the same status as propositions that seek to prove or disprove. Fancy neither proves nor disproves; it seeks, instead, to illuminate, to help us become wiser about political things.

At the same time, most political thinkers have believed imagination to be a

necessary element in theorizing because they have recognized that, in order to render political phenomena intellectually manageable, they must be presented in what we can call "a corrected fullness." Theorists have given us pictures of political life in miniature, pictures in which what is extraneous to the theorist's purpose has been deleted. The necessity for doing this lies in the fact that political theorists, like the rest of mankind, are prevented from "seeing" all political things at first hand. The impossibility of direct observation compels the theorist to epitomize a society by abstracting certain phenomena and providing interconnections where none can be seen. Imagination is the theorist's means for understanding a world he can never "know" in an intimate way.

If the imaginative element in political thought were merely a methodological convenience which enabled the theorist to handle his materials more effectively, it would hardly warrant the extended attention we have given it. Imagination has involved far more than the construction of models. It has been the medium for expressing the fundamental values of the theorist; it has been the means by which the political theorist has sought to transcend history. The imaginative vision to which I am referring here was displayed at its artistic best by Plato. In his picture of the political community, guided by the divine art of the statesman, reaching out towards the idea of the Good, Plato exhibited a form of vision essentially architectonic. An architectonic vision is one wherein the political imagination attempts to mould the totality of political phenomena to accord with some vision of the Good that lies outside the political order. The impulse towards the total ordering of political phenomena has taken many forms in the course of Western political thought. In the case of Plato, the architectonic impulse assumed an essentially aesthetic cast: ". . . the true lawgiver, like an archer, aims only at that on which some eternal beauty is always attending . . . "15 Something of the same quality reappeared in the finely chiseled system of Aquinas where the political order was allotted a precise niche in the soaring cathedral that was all of creation. At other times, the ordering vision has been an aggressively religious one, as occurred in seventeenth-century England when the millenarian sects dreamed of a resplendent New Jerusalem to replace the hopelessly corrupt order then existing. Or, again, the vision may take its origin in a view of history like that of Hegel, where the phenomena of politics acquire a temporal depth, an historical dimension, as they are swept up into an overriding purpose that shapes them towards an ultimate end. In more recent times, fittingly enough, the outside vision has frequently been colored by economic considerations. Under this view, political phenomena are to be harnessed to the demands of economic productivity, and the political order becomes the instrument of technological advance:

... The sole aim of our thoughts and our exertions must be the kind of organization most favorable to industry ... The kind of organization favorable to industry

consists in a government in which the political power has no more force or activity than is necessary to see that useful work is not hindered. 16

Whatever the form manifested by the architectonic impulse, its result has been to lend differing dimensions to the perspectives of political philosophy: dimensions of aesthetic beauty, religious truth, historical time, scientific exactitude, and economic advance. All of these dimensions possess a futurist quality, a projection of the political order into a time that is yet to be. This has been true not only of political theories that have been avowedly reformist or even revolutionary, but of conservative theories as well. The conservatism of Burke, for example, consisted in the attempt to project a continuous past into the future, and even a confessed reactionary, like de Maistre, sought to recapture a "lost past" in the hope that it could be restored in the future.

For most theorists, the imaginative reordering of political life that takes place in theorizing is not confined to helping us to understand politics. Contrary to what Spinoza argued, most political thinkers have believed that precisely because political philosophy was "political," it was committed to lessening the gap between the possibilities grasped through political imagination and the actualities of political existence. Plato recognized that political action was highly purposive in character, that it was largely conscious and deliberate; to "take counsel" before acting was seen to be a distinguishing requirement of political activity, as characteristic of Homeric kings as of Athenian statesmen. But to act intelligently and nobly demanded a perspective wider than the immediate situation for which the action was intended; intelligence and nobility were not ad hoc qualities, but aspects of a more comprehensive vision of things. This more comprehensive vision was provided by thinking about the political society in its corrected fullness, not as it is but as it might be. Precisely because political theory pictured society in an exaggerated, "unreal" way, it was a necessary complement to action. Precisely because action involved intervention into existing affairs, it sorely needed a perspective of tantalizing possibilities.

This transcending form of vision has not been shared by the scientist until modern times.¹⁷ When the early scientific theorists described with poetic overtones the harmony of the spheres, their vision lacked the essential element present in political philosophy: the ideal of an order subject to human control and one that could be transfigured through a combination of thought and action.

VII. POLITICAL CONCEPTS AND POLITICAL PHENOMENA

The exercise of imagination in political theory has ruled out the portrayal of the political order in terms of a representational likeness, but it has not released theorizing from the limitations inherent in the categories employed by the theorist.

Every political philosophy, no matter how sophisticated or varied its categories, represents a necessarily limited perspective from which it views the phenomena of political nature. The statements and propositions that it produces are, in Cassirer's phrase, "abbreviations of reality" which do not exhaust the vast range of political experience. The concepts and categories of a political philosophy may be likened to a net that is cast out to capture political phenomena, which are then drawn in and sorted in a way that seems meaningful and relevant to the particular thinker. But in the whole procedure, he has selected a particular net and he has cast it in a chosen place.

We can observe this process at work by turning to an historical illustration. To a philosopher like Thomas Hobbes, who lived during the political turmoil of seventeenth-century England, the urgent task of political philosophy was to define the conditions making for a stable political order. In this respect, he was not unique among his contemporaries, but being a rigorously systematic thinker, he far surpassed them in the thoroughness with which he explored the conditions for peace. Consequently, this category of "peace" or "order" became in his philosophy a magnetic center which drew into its orbit only those phenomena that Hobbes felt had some relevancy to the problem of order. There was much that he missed or barely noted: the influence of social classes, problems of foreign relations, matters of governmental administration (in the narrow sense).

Thus the use of certain political categories brings into play a principle of "speculative exclusiveness" whereby some aspects of political phenomena and some political concepts are advanced for consideration, while others are allowed to languish. As Whitehead has said, "Each mode of consideration is a sort of searchlight elucidating some of the facts and retreating the remainder into an omitted background." Selectivity, however, is not solely a matter of choice or of the idiosyncrasies of a particular philosopher. A philosopher's thought is influenced to a great extent by the problems agitating his society. If he wishes to gain the attention of his contemporaries, he must address himself to their problems and accept the terms of debate imposed by those concerns.

VIII. A Tradition of Discourse

Of all the restraints upon the political philosopher's freedom to speculate, none has been so powerful as the tradition of political philosophy itself. In the act of philosophizing, the theorist enters into a debate the terms of which have largely been set beforehand. Many preceding philosophers have been at work collecting and systematizing the words and concepts of political discourse. In the course of time, this collection has been further refined and transmitted as a cultural legacy; these concepts have been taught and discussed; they have been pondered and frequently altered. They have become, in brief, an inherited body of knowledge.

22

When they are handed down from one age to another, they act as conservatizing agencies within the theory of a particular philosopher, preserving the insights, experience, and refinements of the past, and compelling those who would participate in the Western political dialogue to abide by certain rules and usages. ¹⁹ The tenacity of the tradition has been such that even the highly individualistic rebels, like Hobbes, Bentham, and Marx, came to accept so much of the tradition that they succeeded neither in destroying it nor in putting it on an entirely new basis. Instead, they only broadened it. One of the most remarkable testimonials to the tenacity of traditions was supplied by a writer who is often taken as one of its arch-enemies, Niccolò Machiavelli. Writing during his enforced retirement from public life, he gives a vivid picture of what it means to participate in the perennial dialogue:

In the evening, I return to my house, and go into my study. At the door I take off the clothes I have worn all day, mud spotted and dirty, and put on regal and courtly garments. Thus appropriately clothed, I enter into the ancient courts of ancient men, where, being lovingly received, I feed on that food which alone is mine, and which I was born for; I am not ashamed to speak with them and to ask the reasons for their actions, and they courteously answer me. For four hours I feel no boredom and forget every worry; I do not fear poverty, and death does not terrify me. I give myself completely over to the ancients. And because Dante says that there is no knowledge unless one retains what one has read, I have written down the profit I have gained from their conversation, and composed a little book *De Principatibus*, in which I go as deep as I can into reflections on this subject, debating what a principate is, what the species are, how they are gained, how they are kept, and why they are lost.²⁰

A continuous tradition of political thought presents many advantages both to the political thinker and to the political actor. It gives them the sense of traveling in a familiar world where the landscape has already been explored; and where it has not, there still exists a wide variety of suggestions concerning alternative routes. It allows, too, for communication between contemporaries on the basis of a common language even when translated into different tongues. The concepts and categories of politics serve as a convenient "shorthand" or symbolic language which enables one user to understand what another is saying when he refers to "civil rights," "arbitrary power," or "sovereignty." In this way, too, social experience can be shared and social cohesion enhanced. A tradition of political philosophy also contributes to the endless task of accommodating new political experience to the existing scheme of things. A whole book might be written showing the success that political reformers have achieved when they have been able to convince men that proposed changes were really continuities perfectly in accord with existing ideas and practices. Finally, it should be mentioned that a tradition of political thought

provides a connecting link between past and present; the facts that succeeding political thinkers have generally adhered to a common political vocabulary and have accepted a core of problems as being properly the subject of political inquiry have served to make the political thought of earlier centuries comprehensible, as well as exciting. By contrast, the discontinuities evident in scientific fields make it quite unlikely that a modern scientist would repair to mediaeval science, for example, either for support or inspiration. This, of course, has no bearing on the alleged superiority of scientific over philosophical inquiry. It is mentioned merely to point out that the tradition of political thought is not so much a tradition of discovery as one of meanings extended over time.

IX. Tradition and Innovation

In emphasizing the speculative horizon that bounds each political thinker, it is essential not to ignore the highly original and creative responses that have occurred. By viewing common political experience from a slightly different angle than the prevailing one, by framing an old question in a novel way, by rebelling against the conservative tendencies of thought and language, particular thinkers have helped to unfasten established ways of thought and to thrust on their contemporaries and posterity the necessity of rethinking political experience. Thus when Plato asked, "What is justice and what is its relationship to the political community?" a fresh series of problems was created and new lines of political speculation were opened. The same was true of the opening sentence of the *Social Contract* and the closing sentences of the *Communist Manifesto*.

Novelty is not solely a function of the positive and assertive elements of a theorist. The innovations in thought associated with such men as Marsilius, Hobbes, Rousseau, and Marx came fully as much from what they rejected and silently omitted at the level of fundamental unifying assumptions as from what they advanced as new and different. Marsilius was not being original when he roundly condemned the papacy, nor was Hobbes when he underscored the role of fear; and, as Lenin once testified, most of Marx's leading ideas could be traced to previous writers. Whatever the truth of Whitehead's dictum that "creativity is the principle of novelty,"21 in the history of political theory, genius has not always taken the form of unprecedented originality. Sometimes, it has consisted of a more systematic or sharpened emphasis of an existing idea. In this sense, genius is imaginative recovery. At other times, it has taken an existing idea and severed it from the connective thread that makes an aggregate of ideas an organic complex. A connective thread or unifying principle not only integrates particular ideas into a general theory, but also apportions emphasis among them. If the unifying principle should be displaced, propositions within the complex which theretofore were commonplace or innocuous suddenly become radical in their implications. Thus there was all the difference in the world between saying, as Aquinas had, that the temporal ruler ought not to be under the coercive force (*vis coactiva*) of the law, and asserting, as Marsilius did, that the power of the political order ought not to be hindered by any human institution. The one statement occurred in a completely integrated complex wherein religion was considered as directive over all other human activities and the Church, as the institutional guardian, was established to protect and advance the unifying assumption of the Christian religion. Marsilius' statement, on the other hand, formed part of a systematic argument which, although it left untouched the content of Christian doctrine, aimed at reducing the independence of its institutional guardian, thereby releasing the political order from any external check.

When a unifying assumption is displaced, the system of ideas is thrown out of balance; subordinate ideas become prominent; primary ideas recede into secondary importance. This is because a political theory consists of a set of concepts—such as order, peace, justice, law, etc.—bound together, as we have said, by a kind of notational principle that assigns accents and modulations. Any displacement or significant alteration of the notational principle or any exaggerated emphasis on one or a few concepts results in a different kind of theory.

The originality of a particular political philosopher is assisted from another direction. Just as history never exactly repeats itself, so the political experience of one age is never precisely the same as that of another. Hence, in the play between political concepts and changing political experience, there is bound to be a modification in the categories of political philosophy. In part this accounts for the frequency with which we encounter the spectacle of two political theorists located at different points in history, using the same concepts but meaning very different things by them: each is responding to a different set of phenomena. The result is that each important political philosophy has something of the unique about it as well as something of the traditional.

This can be summed up in another way by saying that most formal political speculation has operated simultaneously at two different levels. At one level every political philosopher has concerned himself with what he thinks to be a vital problem of his day. Few writers have surpassed Aquinas in appearing to view political problems *sub specie aeternitatis*, yet he managed to discuss the issue most agitating his contemporaries, that of the proper relationship between spiritual and secular powers. No political thinker concerns himself exclusively with the past any more than he seeks to speak solely to the distant future; the price in both cases would be unintelligibility. This is only to say that every political philosopher is to some extent *engagé*, and every work of political philosophy is to some extent a tract for the time. At another level, however, many political writings have been intended as something more than *livres de circonstance*; they have been meant as a contribution to the continuing dialogue of Western political philoso-

phy. This explains why so often we find one political thinker belaboring another who has long since died. John Adams, in *A Defense of the Constitutions of America* (1787), could still work himself into a bad temper over the ideas of the relatively obscure seventeenth-century pamphleteer Marchamont Needham. Again, John Locke's *Two Treatises of Civil Government* is commonly used by every text-book writer as an example of political literature contrived to rationalize a particular event of his own day, the Glorious Revolution of 1688. Yet a careful reader cannot fail to see that Locke had also tried to refute Thomas Hobbes, whose writings had been largely concerned with another revolution which had taken place a half-century earlier. Finally, one may point to the storm of controversy aroused in recent years by Karl Popper's polemic against Plato.

It might be said that these illustrations are misleading in that the political thinkers in question have not been concerned to contribute to the tradition of Western political speculation, but rather a goodly share of their energy has been devoted to refuting certain ideas that appeared to them to possess a persistent and contemporaneous influence. The reply to this is simple: isn't this, by admission, the very definition of a political tradition, "a persistent and contemporaneous influence"? Doesn't a contribution usually take the form of a "correction" of a traditional error without seeking the overthrow of the whole? To put it another way, when a critical political thinker turns to analyze a persisting idea from the past, he involves himself in a rather complex process. As a thinker, who is himself situated at one point in time-space, he becomes engaged with ideas which are, in turn, reflective of a past time-space situation. Moreover, the ideas in question are similarly related to previous political thought and its situations. In addressing himself to persisting ideas from the past, a political philosopher unavoidably infects his own thought with past ideas and situations that have been similarly implicated with their own precedents. In this sense, the past is never wholly superseded; it is constantly being recaptured at the very moment that human thought is seemingly preoccupied with the unique problems of its own time. The result is, to borrow Guthrie's phrase, a "coexistence of diverse elements," 22 partly new, partly inherited, with the old being distilled into the new, and the new being influenced by the old. Thus the Western tradition of political thought has exhibited two somewhat contradictory tendencies: a tendency towards an infinite regress to the past and a tendency towards cumulation. Or if the latter sounds too much like the idea of mechanical progress, we can say that there has been a tendency towards acquiring new dimensions of insight.

One way to illustrate these two tendencies would be to take the classical idea of *fortuna*, or chance, and see how it was critically handled, first by St. Augustine and then by Calvin, who lived more than a thousand years later and yet had been deeply influenced by Augustine's thought. To Thucydides, Polybius and the Roman historians generally, *fortuna* had stood for the unpredictable element in human

history, the intrusion that upsets the best laid plans and calculations.²³ With sure instinct Augustine singled out this idea as being representative of the classical spirit that Christianity had to overcome. He argued that this notion had been superseded by the Christian knowledge of a God who guided both nature and history towards a revealed end.²⁴ But, as Calvin acutely noted later, the Christian notion of a divine providence, far from eliminating *fortuna*, had really incorporated it. For unpredictable *fortuna*, it had substituted inscrutable Providence.²⁵ Yet Calvin's concern in this matter was not to help Augustine refute the classical pagans, but to attack the Renaissance humanists of his day who had revived the same classical idea that Augustine had attacked in the first place. In this example, we see two parallel continuities, the classical-Renaissance notion of *fortuna* and the Augustinian-Calvinist rejection of it in the name of a higher *fortuna*. Beginning with Augustine, each of the participants in the dialogue had built on his predecessors, and each had added a distinctive element, a different dimension. The moral of all this is contained in the lines from Eliot:

Time present and time past
Are both perhaps present in time future,
And time future contained in time past.
If all time is eternally present
All time is unredeemable.
... And do not call it fixity,
Where past and future are gathered....²⁶

The ideas and concepts that have been refined over the centuries ought not to be viewed as a fund of absolute political wisdom, but rather as a continuously evolving grammar and vocabulary to facilitate communication and to orient the understanding. This does not mean that the legacy of ideas contains only truths of no more than passing validity. It does mean that the validity of an idea cannot be divorced from its effectiveness as a form of communication.

The functions performed by a tradition of political thought also provide a justification for the study of the historical development of that tradition. In studying the writings of Plato, Locke, or Marx, we are in reality familiarizing ourselves with a fairly stable vocabulary and a set of categories that help to orient us towards a particular world, the world of political phenomena. But more than this, since the history of political philosophy is, as we shall see, an intellectual development wherein successive thinkers have added new dimensions to the analysis and understanding of politics, an inquiry into that development is not so much an antiquarian venture as a form of political education.

CHAPTER TWO

•••

Plato: Political Philosophy versus Politics

. . . to reproduce by deliberate art what has thus been apprehended and "to fix in lasting thoughts the wavering images that float before the mind."

—Schopenhauer

I. THE INVENTION OF POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY

As we have suggested in the previous pages, political philosophy and political nature have a history; each may be said therefore to have a beginning. Questions concerning origins, however, are of antiquarian importance, except as origins may have influenced later developments. In the case of political philosophy, its origins are so significant that one can say, with very little exaggeration, that the history of political thought is essentially a series of commentaries, sometimes favorable, often hostile, upon its beginnings.

It is to the Greeks that we are indebted for the invention of political philosophy and for the demarcation of the area of political nature. Prior to the development of Greek philosophy in the sixth century B.C., man had thought of himself and of society as integral parts of nature, as subject to the same natural and supernatural forces. Nature, man, and society formed a continuum. All enjoyed a shared stability and all suffered from the violence of angry gods. In this prephilosophical age, the explanation of both natural and social events took the form of "myths." Men were concerned not with "how" things operated but what superhuman agency was directing them.¹ Political phenomena remained undifferentiated from other phenomena, and political "explanation" as a separate form of thinking was unknown.

The first step in the long process of creating political philosophy occurred when man's attitude towards nature underwent drastic revision. This was the great achievement of the Greek philosophers of the sixth and fifth centuries B.C. They approached nature as something comprehensible to the human intellect, something to be explained rationally without recourse to the whims of the gods.² Once this step had been taken, the way was cleared for a rational explanation of

all phenomena, political and social, as well as natural. At this stage, however, the Greek thinkers drew no clear distinction between physical nature and society; both areas were governed by the same "laws." Thus for Empedocles the tensions of Love and Hate (or Strife) constituted the dynamic principle at work throughout all of creation.³ In this, as well as in other pre-Socratic philosophies, the multiplicity of conflicting things was believed to be merely surface to their essential unity; hence, the explaining principle was not to be derived from a knowledge of many "types" of phenomena, but from the perception of the underlying unity of warring opposites.4 This idea of a principle common to nature and society appears in the fragments of Heraclitus: "Homer was wrong in saying: 'Would that strife might perish from among gods and men.' He did not see that he was praying for the destruction of the universe; for, if his prayer were heard, all things would pass away . . . "5 In another fragment we find: "Therefore one must follow (the universal Law, namely) that which is common (to all) . . . we must base our strength on that which is common to all, as the city on the Law (Nomos), and even more strongly. For all human laws are nourished by one, which is divine. For it governs as far as it will, and is sufficient for all, and more than enough."6

It is not particularly important for our inquiry whether the Greeks first arrived at a philosophy of nature by way of reading political and social concepts into the natural world, or, conversely, whether their social and political ideas were derived from prior reasonings about nature. The essential point is that in early Greek philosophy the emergence of political philosophy and of a special field of politics was obscured by the attempt to include all phenomena within "nature" and to explain their workings by a common unifying principle. Therefore, our question is not whether the Greeks read society into nature or vice versa, but when they hit upon the differences between the two.

Some light is shed on this latter problem by the discussion in Plato's dialogue *Phaedo*. In the early part of the dialogue, Socrates described how his search for truth had caused him to turn eagerly to the ideas of the earlier "nature philosophers." Instead of intellectual certainty he found only deep disappointment, and as a result his curiosity was turned from nature to man and society. The significant point in Socrates' account was that the change in philosophical outlook was the result of the kind of questions that he posed and which the older "nature" philosophy could not answer. His complaint was that if philosophy intended to explain the nature of the cosmos, then it must perforce explain the nature of the order of the best. If, for example, the earth were declared to be at the center of the universe, then it was incumbent upon the philosopher to demonstrate why this was the best arrangement; that is, why the good had an obligatory power.

Although Socrates' criticism may strike the modern reader as curious, the significant aspect of it lay in the method that Socrates was using. Where the nature philosophers, like Anaxagoras, had been intent on demonstrating the logical ne-

cessity behind their world-views, Socrates had approached the problems of philosophy in essentially ethical terms. In other words, his method was really adapted to eliciting answers about man and society, and not about nature. Political philosophy emerged by way of an ethical question which nature could never answer; the problems of men were not strictly coterminous with the problems of nature.

Socrates was not, however, the first to point to the possibility that society and man might be explained by principles different from those operating in nature. Actually it was the fifth-century Sophists, the bitter enemies of Socrates and Plato, who were the first to extricate politics from nature and to raise the assumption that the "political" constituted a definable field of inquiry. These distinctions were implicit in the claim of the Sophists to teach men the art of politics independent of any cosmogony. In a fragment of the Sophist Antiphon, there is preserved a clear statement of the distinction between politics and nature. Antiphon followed the current antithesis between "nature" and "convention" (*physis* and *nomos*) in order to contrast the conventional, legal justice embodied in the prevailing political arrangements with the justice decreed by nature:

Justice in the ordinary view consists in not transgressing or rather, in not being known to transgress any of the legal rules of the State in which one lives as a citizen. A man, therefore, would practice justice in the way most advantageous to himself if, in the presence of witnesses, he held the laws in high esteem, but, in the absence of witnesses, and when he was by himself, he held in high esteem the rules of nature. The reason is that the rules of nature are inevitable and innate; and again that the rules of the laws are created by covenant and not produced by nature, while the rules of nature are exactly the reverse.¹⁰

If, for the moment, we leave to one side this attack directed against the political order in the name of nature, we are better able to see the important assumptions on which Antiphon's criticism rested. These were: that the political order had become removed from nature; and that its very separateness allowed men to perceive in what respects the political had become separate. By contrasting the conventions of political society with the principles of nature, Antiphon was implicitly allowing that the political order could be distinguished; that the phenomena of politics possessed an identity of their own; and that the political observer himself could gain a measure of detachment. Antiphon was moving in the right direction, but, unfortunately, he drew the wrong conclusions. It does not necessarily follow from the conventional basis of political rules that they are false or disadvantageous to man; or that human agreement to them cannot provide the sanctioning element previously sought in nature.

In disengaging the political from the natural order, the Sophists were, in one sense, following the path of the earlier nature philosophers. The great contribution

of the latter had been to approach the external world naturalistically; that is, as an order comprehensible to human reason and not as a mixture of natural and supernatural elements which defied rational explanation. This, in turn, was accompanied by still another claim: that the observer could, so to speak, "get outside" the object he was describing. But at this point certain differences, which were to assume great importance later, began to appear. The detachment of the nature philosopher consisted in his viewing nature as something to be understood, but not necessarily as something to be controlled. This form of detachment was not taken over by political philosophy. Instead, as the philosophy of Plato shows, the "nature" of politics was to be viewed as manipulatable, as a bundle of forces from which order could be fashioned. In this respect, political philosophy was to be armed with a bolder assumption than the scientific inquiry of that time.

This becomes clearer by noting a second ingredient in the detached attitude of the nature philosophers. They had grasped the idea that external objects possessed a nature of their own which was in some respects foreign to the nature of man. Moreover, these objects were neither sympathetic nor hostile to man; they were indifferent. But if the idea of a neutral order where the categories of human aspiration were irrelevant could be accepted as a postulate of scientific inquiry, its rejection at the hands of Greek political thinkers marked an important early separation between scientific and political modes of thought. In confronting the world of nature, man might be at once resigned and curious, for this was an order he could neither create nor change. But in the world of politics, a strongly anthropomorphic attitude prevailed: man could be the architect of order. The political world, in short, was amenable to human art.

These political ideas naturally evoked a host of questions: if the political world were distinct, did this mean that it was fully autonomous, unconnected with a universal moral order? how did man go about ordering this world? did it require a particular kind of knowledge? It was around these and similar questions that Plato constructed the first comprehensive political philosophy. Two aspects of this philosophy will be emphasized in our discussion. First, Plato delineated a remarkably clear theory of the political, one that strongly governed the thinking of later political writers. At the same time, his method of argumentation, as well as the motivation behind it, consistently tended to obscure the distinctiveness of the political. Second, Plato stated in classic terms the case against "politics." Although there were later writers who objected strenuously to his argument, there were few who ignored it.

Leaving aside for the moment this second aspect, Plato's inquiry into the nature of the political was governed by a belief that the political must first be differentiated from the other dimensions of life. This was clearly his intent in the dialogue *Politicus* where he undertook to distinguish the true art of the statesman

from the shams of the "politician" and to establish the superiority of the political art over all of the other arts necessary to the life of the community:

Where shall a man find the way of the Statesman then? For we must distinguish this path from all the rest by setting upon it the special sign of its distinctive form.¹¹

What was truly "political" was the "art of responsible charge of a whole community" according to an absolute standard.¹²

There is an art which controls all these [other] arts. It is concerned with the laws and all that belongs to the life of the community. It weaves all into its unified fabric with perfect skill. It is a universal art and so we call it by a name of universal scope. That name is one which I believe to belong to this art and to this alone, the name of "Statesmanship." ¹³

These remarks also contained the intimation of an idea that Plato developed at length in the Republic and later in the Laws, one that set forever the stamp of his genius on the nature of political philosophy. It can be put simply: he taught later writers to think of political society as a coherent, interconnected whole; he was the first to view political society in the round, to view it as a "system" of interrelated functions, an ordered structure. This seems such a commonplace to us now, educated as we are to think in terms of structural-functional analyses, that the breathtaking advance represented by Plato's insight is apt to be overlooked. But prior to Plato, writers had dealt only with fragmentary aspects of political society, concentrating perhaps on the qualities needed by a ruler or the duties of the citizen. Political speculation had not yet reached the level of conceptualizing political institutions, procedures, and activities as a system dependent upon the performance of specified functions or tasks. In short, Plato was the first to picture political society as a system of distinctive or differentiated roles. Whether it was the role of philosopher-statesman, auxiliary, or producer, each represented a necessary function; each was defined in terms of its contribution to sustaining the whole society; each bore rights, duties, and expectations which provided definite guides and signposts for human behavior and defined the place of the individual within the system. The harmonization and integration of these roles made of political society a functioning, interdependent whole. To maintain it required a sharp demarcation among the three classes of the community, careful training of each member in his specialized skill and, above all, the restriction of the individual to one function: there must be no confusion of roles, no blurred identities.

From Plato onwards, one of the distinctive marks of political philosophy was its approach to political society as a functioning system. Although Plato may have exaggerated the possibilities of a society's achieving systematic unity, the greatness of his achievement was to point out that in order to think in a truly political way, one had to consider society as a systematic whole.

Although Plato insisted upon the special identity of the political order, he was equally emphatic in denying its autonomy or moral isolation.

And philosophers tell us, Callicles, that communion and friendship, and orderliness and temperance and justice bind together heaven and earth and gods and men, and that this universe is therefore called Cosmos or order, not disorder or misrule. ¹⁴

The famous myth of the Age of Kronos, which Plato used in *Politicus*, underscored his belief that the political order was to be viewed as a part of a meaningful, moral universe. At the same time, however, he also used this myth to emphasize the distinctiveness of the political order by warning against a confusion of the political order with the divine. During the Age of Kronos, "God was supreme governor in charge of the actual rotation of the universe as a whole, but divine also and in like manner was the government of its several regions; for these were all portioned out to be provinces under the surveillance of tutelary deities." But with the dramatic reversal of the cosmic cycle—"there is an era in which God Himself assists the universe on its way and guides it . . . there is also an era in which he releases this control" the divine power had let go the leading strings controlling human affairs and men were largely on their own. The political order took shape and identity only when the divine governance had been relaxed. "When God was Shepherd there were no political constitutions . . ." ¹⁷

Yet this apparent separation of the political from the divine was only preliminary to Plato's attempt to recapture the divine principle. It was for this end that he fashioned an alliance between the divine principle represented by philosophic wisdom and the exercise of the political art:

When the supreme power in man coincides with the greatest wisdom and temperance, then the best laws and the best constitution come into being; but in no other way.¹⁸

II. PHILOSOPHY AND SOCIETY

This takes us to the heart of Plato's conception of political philosophy. The ideas of Plato provide the first full mirroring of the dramatic encounter between the ordering vision of political philosophy and the phenomena of politics. Never has the art of ruling been clothed in a higher dignity: "What art is more difficult to learn? But what art is more important to us?" Never have the claims of political philosophy been advanced in more sweeping fashion: it "will not only preserve the lives of the subjects, but reform their characters too, so far as human nature permits of this." And never has it been more strongly insisted that the rightful place of political philosophy ought to be at the throne of political power: "... the human race will not see better days until either the stock of those who rightly and

genuinely follow philosophy acquire political authority, or else the class who have political control be led by some dispensation of providence to become real philosophers."²¹

If, however, political philosophy were to fulfill this architectonic role, two prior assumptions about the nature of politics had to be accepted. The whole range of political phenomena must be considered fully comprehensible to the human mind and malleable to human art. There must be no doubts, such as those expressed by Santayana, of the wisdom of trying "to harness this wild world in a brain-spun terminology."²² If there existed a true pattern for the whole life of the community, and if political philosophy possessed the true science that could transform a diseased polity into a thing of beauty and health, then it must be assumed that the concepts and categories of philosophy could comprehend and penetrate to all of the varied aspects of political and social phenomena. Similarly, if it were claimed that through the master science of political philosophy the political order could be shaped by an eternal truth, then the materials of that order must be highly plastic to the impress of the right design.

Thus from the very beginnings of political philosophy, a duality was established between the form-giving role of political thought and the form-receiving function of political "matter." Political knowledge, like all true knowledge, was essentially a science of order, one that traced the proper relationship between men, indicated the sources of evil in the community, and prescribed the overarching pattern for the whole. It aimed not at describing political phenomena, but at transfiguring them in the light of a vision of the Good. The two words, eidon and idea, which Plato used to represent the eternal objects of knowledge, both contained the root-meaning of "vision." The effect of this was to impart to political philosophy a projective quality. The political philosopher, by an act of thought, strove to project a more perfect order into future time. "In dealing with a plan for the future . . . he who exhibits the model on which an undertaking should be fashioned should abate nothing of perfect excellence and absolute truth ... "23 Thus at the center of the enterprise of political theory was an imaginative element, an ordering vision of what the political system ought to be and what it might become. In later centuries, other political thinkers, such as Hobbes and Comte, recurred to this notion of thought as the ordering agency of political life, but no one has ever surpassed Plato in insisting upon the moral urgency and centrality of political vision:

There can be no question whether a guardian who is to keep watch over anything needs to be keen-sighted or blind. And is not blindness precisely the condition of men who are entirely cut off from knowledge of any reality, and have in their soul no clear pattern of perfect truth, which they might study in every detail and constantly refer to, as a painter looks at his model, before they proceed to embody

34 CHAPTER TWO

notions of justice, honour, and goodness in earthly institutions or \dots to preserve such institutions as already exist?²⁴

The element of political imagination, as developed in Plato's thought, was never intended as an exercise in utopia-building. The spirit of playfulness that marked many of the dialogues, those moments where Plato appeared astonished at his own boldness, and, at the opposite extreme, those passages brooding with disillusion—none of these moods displaced his basic conviction that men could effect a junction between truth and practice. Towards the end of his life, he did despair of seeing the ideal polity take hold in an actual society, yet he still insisted that there could be no marked improvement in existing polities unless men had an ideal pattern at which to aim. Political knowledge of the best remained absolutely essential if men were to share even that slight participation in reality allowed by the gods. The shortcomings of the existential order of things did not destroy the claim of political philosophy to being a severely practical enterprise of the most serious kind. Political science was "the knowledge by which we are to make other men good." Its ultimate ministry was the human soul. Statecraft was, in Samuel Butler's word, "soul-craft"; and the true ruler, an architect of souls.

The task of fashioning souls was not to be accomplished, however, by the ruler working directly on the human psyche. The essential problem was to establish the right influences and the most salutary environment wherein the soul could be attracted towards the Good. Plato, unlike some later Christian thinkers, never believed that the soul could be perfected in defiance of the surrounding political and social arrangements. In a society where naked ambition, acquisitiveness, and cleverness were encouraged, the best of characters could not remain uncorrupted.²⁷ Regeneration, like its opposite, was a social process, and the saving political knowledge had to be as wide-ranging as the life of the community itself. From this it also followed that the sphere of the political art was coextensive with all of the influences, public and private, that affected human character.²⁸

The creation of a rightly ordered society promised the solution of still another problem, one that was intimately related to the other goals of moral regeneration and political stability. Some of the most moving passages in the dialogues occur where Plato reflected upon the deep antagonism existing between philosophy and society. It was not only that the practices of society were in fundamental contradiction to the teachings of philosophy; the real crime of society was to make a life devoted to philosophy impossible, or, at best, hazardous. Given the shape of existing societies, to pursue a life of philosophy was to invite martyrdom. Where the philosopher was not scorned, he was humiliated, as Plato had been by the tyrant Dionysius; where he was not humiliated, he was corrupted, as Alcibiades and Critias had been; where he could not be corrupted, he was condemned to death, as Socrates had been. We moderns need only substitute the "intellectual"

for the philosopher, and we have a timeless document portraying the lot of the intellectual in society: rejected, enticed, never fully accepted, a lonely figure whom Plato compared to a traveler taking shelter under a wall from the swirling storm, "content if he can keep his hands clean from iniquity while this life lasts . . ."²⁹ To make a world safe for philosophy was as fully important a motivation in Plato's political theory as the reform of society and the moral improvement of its members. In fact, all three purposes were intertwined. For if the features of Plato's society appear harsh, and if the moral and intellectual stature of many of its members seems stunted, this was not the revenge of an intellectual nursing the angry hurts inflicted by society. All of these were the outcome of a deep conviction that a city of reason ruled by philosophy would be the salvation, not only of philosophers and philosophy, but of all its members. The fate of philosophy and the fate of mankind were as closely united as the twins of Hippocrates who flourished and suffered as one. A city hospitable to philosophy, *ipso facto*, would be a city following the principle of virtue and developing the best in its members.

The common assumption underlying Plato's strictures against existing societies, as well as his schemes for political regeneration, was that any political system, good or bad, was the direct product of the beliefs held by its members. This conviction concerning the sovereign role of beliefs was supported, in Plato's eyes, by the activities of the Sophists in the democratic politics of Athens. In undertaking to instruct men in the techniques of political success and in promising to outfit men for coping with the demands of "real" life, the Sophists, in effect, were asserting that they possessed a form of true knowledge. The assertion, Plato insisted, was a serious one, for it advocated that men reorder their behavior according to certain beliefs. It followed, whether the Sophists recognized it or not, that they had implicitly assumed a responsibility for the stability of the political order and a responsibility for the human soul. The superficiality of their teachings, however, had led only to confusion—confusion in the city and confusion in the soul.³⁰ More precisely, there had been disorder in the city and in the lives of the citizens because in both cases the Sophists taught not knowledge, but mere "opinion" (doxa). Disastrous as this experience had been, it testified, nevertheless, to the supreme importance of beliefs. If the power of mere opinion could create so much harm, then, Plato reasoned, true belief might work just as powerfully in the opposite direction. Here was further support for the proposition that political philosophy was a pursuit of the utmost urgency and practicality.

Plato's belief in the practical character of political philosophy received its classic expression in the dictum concerning the necessity for rulers being philosophers or philosophers, rulers. Yet in the dialogue *Politicus*, there was a still more striking assertion, that the political philosopher was deserving of the title "statesman" even though he might never possess the reality of political power. ³¹ From one angle this could be taken to mean that the basic distinction lay between those

who had the true political knowledge and those who, like the Sophist and the "politician," had only a pretense of knowledge. In this sense, the true philosopher and the true statesman were alike. Considered from another angle, however, Plato was saying something much more significant about the nature of political philosophy. To grasp the true idea of political theory was to attain an intellectual position wherein the chaos of political life had been remoulded by the informing vision of the Good.³² By virtue of the transforming power of political theory, the philosopher had already accomplished in thought what the ruler in practice had yet to do: he had cured the ills of the community and ordered it to a pattern of perfection, If, then, the drama of political transformation had been enacted previously at the level of mind, and if the philosopher possessed the knowledge whereby this drama might be enacted in actual political life, the Platonic alliance between philosophy and political power appears in a different light. The philosopher acquiring power or the ruler acquiring philosophy did not symbolize a harnessing of opposites but a blending of two kinds of power, a joining of complements. The perfect form of political power was to be achieved by a combination of the two, the power of thought prescribing the right pattern, the power of the ruler effecting it. In contrast, the commands of the tyrant or the persuasive arts of the political rhetorician were denied to be true forms of power. By definition, a power ought to bring some good to its possessor, but this occurred only when he had a true knowledge of the good and the just towards which to direct his power.³³

Now in Plato's general philosophy, true knowledge exhibited certain general characteristics, and these exerted a profound influence over the categories which he attached to political thought. These characteristics were summed up in his conception of the nature of the true model: "Whenever the maker of anything looks to that which is unchanging and uses a model of that description in fashioning the form and quality of his work, all that he thus accomplishes must be good. If he looks to something that has come to be and uses a generated model, it will not be good."34 Genuine knowledge, then, was derived from the stable realm of immaterial Forms.³⁵ The world of sense and matter, in contrast, was a world in movement, always in flux, and therefore unable to rise above the plane of "opinion" to that of knowledge; it was a world filled with maddeningly elusive half-truths and distorted perceptions. Each of these realms was to be approached in a different way, for each had its own set of categories. In the one case, the categories were shaped to express certainty, repose, permanence, and an objectivity unaffected by the vagaries of human taste; the sensible world, on the other hand, was to be understood through categories adapted to its nature, categories of uncertainty, instability, change, and variety. The categories descriptive of the Forms we might call "categories of value," while those relating to the world of sense perception, "categories of disvalue."

When carried over into political theory, the categories of disvalue were at once descriptive and evaluative of the existential world of politics, while the categories of value were indicative of what that world might become under the guidance of philosophy. Stability, timelessness, harmony, beauty, measure, and symmetry all of these categories derived from the nature of the Forms were to be the angles of vision, the enclosing moulds for capturing political phenomena and reducing them to the proper shape. Thus the immutability of the Forms—"ever to be the same, steadfast and abiding, is the product of the divinest things only"36—was translated into the political category of stability; its final issue was the principle that "any change whatever, except from evil, is the most dangerous of all things."37 Again, since knowledge of the Forms represented an insight into eternal beauty, the political order was to be transformed in the light of aesthetic categories: "... the true lawgiver aims only at that on which some eternal beauty is always attending ... "38 And as a final example, the perfect unity and harmony exhibited by the Forms had their political counterparts in Plato's obsessive preoccupation with the unity and cohesion of the city:

Does not the worst evil for a state arise from anything that tends to rend it asunder and destroy its unity, while nothing does it more good than whatever tends to bind it together and make it one? . . . And are not citizens bound together by sharing in the same pleasures and pains, all feeling glad or grieved on the same occasions of gain or loss; whereas the bond is broken when such feelings are no longer universal, but any event of public or personal concern fills some with joy and others with distress?³⁹

III. Politics and Architectonics

Although Plato has commonly been regarded as the archetype of the political thinker who has his feet planted firmly in the clouds, the recognition of "politics" was indicative of Plato's strongly empirical vein. It was here that he spoke directly to the Greek political experience. Conflict and change, revolution and faction, the dizzy cycle of governmental forms—these were not the invention of philosophical fancy but the stuff of Athenian political history. Moreover, the dimension of "politics" had been further broadened by the establishment of democratic institutions and practices during the fifth century. As new groups were granted the privileges of citizenship, which included the right to deliberate in the public assemblies and law courts, the circle of political participation was widened and thereby the element of "politics" became more pervasive. Accordingly, the "politician" made his appearance, the skilled manipulator who fashioned power from the grievances, resentments, and ambitions festering the community. With him came the Sophists, the logical accompaniment to democratic participation, promising to instruct men in the art of political persuasion. 40

The intensity of factional strife, the conflict between social classes, and the loss of confidence in traditional values had worked to create a situation where the political order appeared forever to tremble on the brink of self-destruction.

After a contest for office, the victorious side engrosses the conduct of public affairs so completely . . . that no share whatever of office is left to the vanquished, or even to their descendants; each party watches the other in jealous apprehension of insurrection . . . Such societies . . . are no constitutional states . . . men who are for a party, we say, are factionaries, not citizens, and their so-called rights are empty words. 41

In this competition for power, woven out of rival ambitions and jarring interests, lay the disturbing factor of "politics," the source of instability and change, and the inevitable product of a condition where political forms and relationships were allowed to flourish with a minimum of preconceived direction and a maximum of spontaneity. The prevalence of politics had dissolved political life into a "whirlpool," an "incessant movement of shifting currents."

For Plato, the flux of political life was symptomatic of a diseased polity; the spontaneity, variety, and turbulence of Athenian democracy, a contradiction of every canon of order. Order was the product of the subordination of the lower to the higher, the rule of wisdom over naked ambition, and of knowledge over appetite. Yet in existing politics, a ruling group would base its credentials to rule on anything but wisdom—on birth, wealth, or democratic right. At every turn, the world of politics violated the dictates of the world of Forms. Where the world of Forms marked the triumph of unchanging Being over the flux of Becoming, the immutable nature of the Good over the ever-changing world of appearances, actual political practice was plagued by constant innovations as first one class, then another, tinkered with the constitution, altering here, modifying there, but never establishing the basic arrangements on a secure basis. Again, where the realm of Forms testified to a truth of majestic simplicity, existing independently of human tastes and desires, political life followed a frenzied path from one "opinion" to another, sampling first this, then that way of life, and finding rest only in a scepticism about all political values. Where the Idea of the Good taught the necessity of a harmonious mixture unstreaked by faction, 43 a necessity that reappeared in the imperative that the best polity was one that insured the happiness of the whole and not the disproportionate advantage of the part, existing regimes were torn by the bitter struggles between groups and classes, each straining to impose its special advantage. 44 Where the true pattern was a design of beauty, a whole where each part had been shaped to symmetry and softened by temperance characteristics that pointed to the conclusion that "happiness can only come to a state when its lineaments are traced by an artist working after the divine pattern"45—actual political institutions were disfigured by an ever-changing

ugliness and distortion as successive ruling groups tipped the scales in their own favor. Where the world of the Forms knew only regular, ordered motion, the political condition was one of random movements, jerking this way and that, as the wild energy of demagogues and revolutionaries seized the *polis*, or as a tolerant democracy allowed its citizens a limitless freedom to follow their own preferences.

As a kind of standing antithesis to the world of Forms, the world of politics testified to what life was like when it was unredeemed by that vision that "sheds light on all things." 46 Without an illuminating vision of the Good, the members of a community were condemned to live in a cave of illusions, vainly following distorted images of reality and ceaselessly driven by irrational desires. A visionless life further gave rise to struggles that wracked the community, for "all goes wrong when, starved for lack of anything good in their own lives, men turn to public affairs hoping to snatch from thence the happiness they hunger for. They set about fighting for power, and their internecine conflict ruins them and their country." Far from being a "real" world, political societies dwelt in a shadowy realm, a dream world "where men live fighting one another about shadows and quarreling for power, as if that were a great prize . . ." 48

At this point we must pause to consider some of the implications of Plato's argument. In particular we must ask: what meanings has he fastened upon "politics" and the "political"? Stated in summary form, Plato understood political philosophy to mean knowledge pertaining to the good life at the public level and political ruling to be the right management of the public affairs of the community. One may quarrel with Plato's definition of the good life and with his conception of rulership, but it is difficult to deny that Plato displayed a sure sense that the political, whether it be philosophy or ruling, has to do with what is public in the life of a society. This cannot be said, however, of his conception of "politics." Plato understood "politics" largely in the sense that I have used it earlier. He was aware of the struggle for competitive advantage, of the problem of distributing the good things of life among the various groups in society, and of the instabilities engendered by changing social and economic relationships among the members. He chose to treat these phenomena as the symptoms of an unhealthy society, as the problem against which political philosophy and the political art had to contend. Political philosophy and ruling alike had as their objectives the creation of the good society; "politics" was evil, and hence the task of philosophy and of ruling was to rid the community of politics. Thus the Platonic conception of political philosophy and ruling was founded on a paradox: the science as well as the art of creating order was sworn to an eternal hostility towards politics, towards those phenomena, in other words, that made such an art and science meaningful and necessary. The paradox had serious consequences for both thought and action. A science that is at odds with its own subject-matter, one that tries to get rid of the distinctive context in which the problems of that science take shape, is an instrument ill-adapted for theoretical understanding. Similarly, action designed to extirpate what are the inescapable givens of social existence will be driven to using the harsh methods that Plato himself grudgingly admitted were necessary. These criticisms suggest that the central weakness in Plato's philosophy lay in the failure to establish a satisfactory relationship between the idea of the *political* and the idea of *politics*. The problem is not how the one can eliminate the other, but rather how can we gain the necessary knowledge of politics to enable us to act wisely in a context of conflict, ambiguity, and change?

In this connection, Plato's fascination with the art of medicine leads to a quite misleading analogy: the body politic does not experience "disease," but conflict; it is beset not by harmful bacteria but individuals with hopes, ambitions, and fears that are often at odds with the plans of other individuals; its end is not "health," but the endless search for a foundation that will support the mass of contradictions present in society. Unless the distinctively political context is preserved, political theory tends to vanish into larger questions, such as the nature of the Good, the ultimate destiny of man, or the problem of right conduct, thereby losing contact with the essentially political questions that are its proper concern: the nature of political ethics, that is, right conduct in a political situation, or the question of the nature of the goods that are possible in a political community and attainable by political action.

Similarly, the neglect of the political context is likely to produce a dangerous kind of political art, especially when it is motivated by an animus against "politics." The art of ruling becomes the art of imposition. A truly political art, on the other hand, would be one framed to deal with conflict and antagonism; to take these as thin raw materials for the creative task of constructing areas of agreement, or, if this fails, to make it possible for competing forces to compromise in order to avoid harsher remedies. The business of the political art is with the politics of conciliation; its range of creativity is defined and determined by the necessity of sustaining the on-going activities of the community. Its restless search for conciliation is, at bottom, inspired by a belief that the art of imposition ought to be confined to those situations where no other alternative exists.

Implicit in the politics of conciliation is a notion of order markedly different from that held by Plato. If conciliation is a continuing task for those who govern—and the nature of "politics" would seem to dictate that it is—then order is not a set pattern, but something akin to a precarious equilibrium, a condition that demands a willingness to accept partial solutions. For Plato, however, order was in the nature of a mould shaped after a divine model; a concept to be used for stamping society in a definite image. But what kind of an order could issue from a political science dedicated in large measure to the eradication of conflict; that is, to the elimination of politics? If order could flourish only in the absence of conflict and antagonism, then it followed that the order thus created had surren-

dered its distinctively political element; order it might be, but not a "political" order. For the essence of a "political" order is the existence of a settled institutional arrangement designed to deal in a variety of ways with the vitalities issuing from an associated life: to offset them where necessary, to ease them where possible, and, creatively, to redirect and transmute them when the opportunity allows. This is not to say that a society cannot achieve order by imposition, but only that such a society is not "political." It also follows from this conception of a "political" society that the art of politics ought to proceed on the assumption that order is something to be achieved within a given society; that is, between the various forces and groups of a community. The ideal of order must be fashioned in the closest connection with existing tendencies, and it must be tempered by the sober knowledge that no political idea, including the idea of order itself, is ever fully realized, just as few political problems are ever irrevocably solved.

Plato, however, was convinced that the political realm was inherently prone to disorder and that the contraries of disorder—stability, harmony, unity, and beauty—would never develop out of the normal course of political events. They did not exist immanently within the materials of politics, but had to be brought in from the "outside." "The virtue of each thing, whether body or soul, instrument or creature, when given to them in the best way, comes not to them by chance but as the result of the order and truth and art which are imparted to them . . . And is not the virtue of each thing dependent on order or arrangement?"⁴⁹ Order, in all of its facets of harmony, unity, measure, and beauty, was the positive creation of art; and art, in turn, was the province of knowledge. Political order was produced by an informing vision which came from the "outside," from the knowledge of the eternal pattern, to shape the community to a pre-existent Good.

The outside vision was of crucial importance to Plato's distinction between the true statesman and the philosopher, on the one hand, and the politician and the Sophist on the other. In the dialogue *Gorgias*, the great political leaders of Athens, such as Themistocles, Cimon, and Pericles, were severely criticized on the grounds that they had failed in the supreme test of statesmanship, the improvement of the citizenry. The reason for their failure, as well as the explanation of their power, was attributed by Plato to a false view of the political art. They had been content to manipulate and play upon the desires and opinions of the citizens. They had never risked the loss of power and esteem by attempting to transmute popular wants and opinions into something loftier; nor had they been willing to impose a correct but unpopular policy. The result was not only a degraded citizenry, but the degradation of the leaders as well:

But if you suppose that any man will show you the art of becoming great in the city, and yet not conforming yourself to the ways of the city, whether for better or worse,

then I can only say that you are mistaken, Callicles; for he who would deserve to be the true natural friend of the Athenian Demus . . . must be by nature like them, and not an imitator only. 50

The true statesman, on the other hand, looked not to "politics" for his inspiration, but to the true dictates of his art; he sought not for the clever combination of existing political tendencies but for their transformations:

[The older crop of politicians] were certainly more serviceable than those who are living now, and better able to gratify the wishes of the State; but as to transforming those desires and not allowing them to have their way, and using the powers which they had, whether of persuasion or of force, in the improvement of their fellow-citizens, which is the prime object of the truly good citizen . . . they were [not] a whit superior to our present statesmen . . . ⁵¹

The crucial difference between the "democratic" leader and the Platonic ruler centers on the constituency that each "represents," or, if this word suffers from later associations, the constituency to which each is responsive. The popular leader owed his power to an ability to sniff the moods and aspirations of the populace, to juggle a wide variety of variables, and to strive for the ad hoc solution. His constituency, in short, was the community: its wants, demands, and humors insofar as these had political manifestations. His "virtues" were agility, shrewdness, and a calculating eye for the changing disposition of political forces within the community. Even in the hostile pages of Plato, he emerges as the true "political" man, the leader whose problems are defined by the ever-changing patterns of "politics" and whose knowledge is pragmatic and empirical, because he aims not at pursuing an absolute principle but at discovering a policy whose duration depends on the alignment of political forces at any moment. His was the politics of reconciliation, sometimes of the crudest sort. As a politician, his existence became possible only under certain conditions, such as when men were exhausted by bitter conflicts over principles; or when they had ceased to believe in immutable truths; or, finally, when they are, as Balfour put it, "so at one they can safely afford to bicker."

In contrast, the Platonic ruler had a different constituency, for he was not first and foremost a "political man" but a philosopher endowed with political power. As a philosopher, his loyalty was to the realm of truth, "a world of unchanging and harmonious order." As a ruler, he had an obligation to bring the community into a closer approximation with that realm, "to mould other characters besides his own and to shape the patterns of public and private life into conformity with his vision of the ideal." Yet, in the Platonic formulation, there could be no conflict of interest or duty between the two roles. The ruler, in following the true art of statesmanship, was conforming to the knowledge made possible by philosophy

and discharging the obligation of the philosopher to pursue the truth. And in following the dictates of his art, rather than the wishes of the community, the philosopher qua ruler satisfied the demands of rulership, because the ends of his art coincided exactly with the true interests of the community. His constituency was not the community, that is, it was not a political constituency that claimed his loyalty, but rather the Idea of the good community. "An art is sound and flawless so long as it is entirely true to its own nature as an art in the strictest sense . . ."⁵³

This aspect of constituency becomes clearer when it is related to the motivations of the Platonic ruler. In the Platonic scheme, the community occupied a middle position between the impulse motivating the ruler and the pattern of the Good at which his art was aimed. The true ruler was inspired by an urge which, in the single role of philosopher, he could not satisfy; not merely to know the real, but to bring it into existence, to shape political actualities to conform with the divine pattern. The community supplies the aesthetic medium for the satisfaction of this impulse towards beauty. The motivation of the ruler, then, was not that of the politician—to retain power and to enjoy the prestige and rewards of office—but that of the aesthetician seeking to impress on his materials the image of perfect beauty. The aesthetic element in the political art connoted form, determinate shape, rational harmony, and all that was antithetical to the untidiness, dissymmetries, and moral ugliness of "politics." Its triumph was the victory of the Apollonian principle of harmonious order over the Dionysiac tendencies of political life. ⁵⁴

These considerations were further pointed up by the analogies drawn by Plato between the ruler and the physician, weaver, and artist. 55 The practice of each of these arts involved three elements: the active agency of the skilled practitioner; the Idea at which he aimed, such as health or beauty; and the passive material receptive to the impress of the Idea. The materials in each case possessed no "claim" of their own, because the only way that the sick body, the unshaped marble, and the unwoven strands could attain their respective ends was through the skilled art of the practitioner. The criteria for judging the product of each art were dominantly aesthetic: harmony between the parts; symmetry of proportion; a moderate blend of diversities. All of these aspects, in turn, were carried over by Plato into his conception of rulership. Like the artist, the statesman too was inspired by a pattern of beauty, which issued in the impulse to create an ordered harmony by assigning the "parts" of the community to their rightful functions. Harmony of the whole, unity of design, and the shunning of extremes—all of these became imperatives governing the actions of the statesmen as well as prescriptions for the institutions of society. The end of the royal art was the greatest of all human achievements, a community bound together in

a true fellowship by mutual concord and by ties of friendship. It is the first and best of all fabrics. It enfolds all who dwell in the city, bond or free, in its firm contexture.

Its kingly weaver maintains his control and oversight over it, and it lacks nothing that makes for human happiness so far as happiness is obtainable in a human community.⁵⁶

Like any skilled practitioner, the ruler was justified by the end of his art in removing the obstacles that blocked the way to the realization of the true Form. Just as the physician might be compelled to amputate a member to preserve the body or the weaver to discard defective materials, so the ruler could purge the body politic of its deformed "members" by whatever means suitable.⁵⁷

This concern with the condition of the "materials" of art led Plato to strain to the utmost the analogy between the ruler and the other skilled professions. No art could be fully realized and no aesthetic impulse truly satisfied if the materials were resistant to the "design of pure intelligence." When translated into political terms, this meant that the "royal weaver" ought to take special pains in selecting the human nature from which the bonds of community were to be woven. He could not combine the bad with the good—for this would issue in a product both useless and ugly—but the various forms of virtue, such as courage and moderation, were the proper materials. The other human characters were to be discarded; that is, put to death, expelled, or so severely disgraced as to be deprived of any influence. ⁵⁹

This quest for the suitable materials was essentially a search for a political *tabula rasa*, and in the *Republic* Plato made it a necessary condition for political success that all of the members of the community who were over ten years old ought to be banished; the remainder would be shaped and moulded to the desired form by the institutions of society, especially by the educational system. ⁶⁰ Then and then only would the political artist be able to paint with a free hand on a fresh canvas:

He will take society and human character as his canvas, and begin by scraping it clean. That is no easy matter; . . . unlike other reformers, he will not consent to take in hand either an individual or a state or to draft laws, until he is given a clean surface to work on or has cleansed it himself.⁶¹

The search for a fresh beginning also preoccupied Plato in his latest work, the *Laws*, which many commentators still persist in regarding as a more "practical" political scheme. In this dialogue, he confronts the imaginary legislator with a choice: will the art of the legislator function more effectively in an established society where it could capitalize on the existing sense of community created by a common language, laws, worship, and a spirit of friendship developed over a long period of living together, or would the chances for success be greater if the legislator were to sacrifice these advantages of a going concern and seek instead the fresh situation where the disadvantages of a going concern would also be absent?

Any society which lacked the informing hand of the philosopher-ruler would be etched instead by entrenched interests, standing antagonisms, and engrained superstitions. ⁶² It would, in short, present an unaesthetic medium, as well as a less plastic material. It is not surprising that before the dialogue had progressed very far one of the participants bursts in to announce—with something of the style of second-rate melodrama—that he had recently been commissioned to draw up a constitution for a new colony. Here, *mirabile dictu*, was the great opportunity of a "clean" political situation, one devoid of the blemishing disproportions of wealth, debt, and the resulting social antagonisms. ⁶³ All that was lacking was the master hand to shape the receptive materials to order. But instead of the philosopher educated for political power, which had been the motif of the *Republic*, Plato advocated a philosopher-legislator who would act vicariously through the agency of a young and pliable tyrant; that is, a kind of idealized Dionysius. It was, however, the same formula of absolute power yoked to absolute knowledge. ⁶⁴

Once the proper situation had been defined, the political art could then set about constructing institutional arrangements. The detailed prescriptions concerning political institutions, economic arrangements, the family, education, religion and cultural life, which were so prominent in the political dialogues, were governed by two broad objectives. The first was to establish points of political fixity or unalterable fundamentals capable of withstanding the pressures of political change. Included among these points of rigidity were the size of the polis itself, its population, the structure of vocations, the institutions of property, marriage, and education, and moral and religious doctrines. When taken together, these various topics constitute a kind of catalogue of the areas of community life with the greatest potentialities for causing political disorder.⁶⁵ They were, in short, the main sources of political disagreements and conflicts. By attending to their close regulation, it would be possible to regularize human behavior and to eliminate, as far as possible, its unpredictable elements. In this way, the stability and unity reflective of the ideal pattern of community would be reproduced at the human plane.

The obverse side of these political fundamentals was more positive. They were the means for enabling the community to approximate the pattern of the Good, to become a medium for the expression of an eternal truth. This conception logically excluded the notion that the political fundamentals of a community constituted an index of agreements among the members. For in this latter view, the community in its political organization was the expression of a social consensus which, by its nature, would fall short of speculative truths.

One of the major techniques for establishing points of fixity was mathematics. If social stability and coherence were important goals, what could be a more suitable basis for political action than that knowledge that dealt with fixed objects of unrivaled symmetry and consistency?⁶⁶

The legislator must take it as a general principle that there is a universal usefulness in the subdivisions and complications of numbers . . . All must be kept in view by the legislator in his injunction to all citizens, never, so far as they can help it, to rest short of this numerical standardization. For alike in domestic and public life and in all the arts and crafts there is no other single branch of education which has the same potent efficacy as the theory of numbers . . . ⁶⁷

This belief, that the political art could transfer the properties of numbers to society and thereby create a more harmonious and regular life, was particularly influential in the political scheme described in the *Laws*. For example, the citizen-body was to be fixed at 5040 because this figure represented not only the optimum size, but also the most useful basis for political calculations. As the figure with "the greatest number of successive divisions," it could be used to divide the citizens for purposes of war, peace, taxation, and administration. By the use of numbers, then, the life of the community would come to reflect the mathematical properties of stability and precision.

But if the one objective was to create points of political fixity, the other was dictated by the contrasting consideration of providing for movement in the social body. It must, however, be a controlled motion: "order in movement is called rhythm."68 Accordingly, the life of the community ought to express a kind of rhythm, a harmonious movement reflective of its best ideals. "The whole life of man stands in need of rhythm and harmony," and a soul conditioned to rhythmic patterns of ordered harmony was most likely to be drawn "into sympathy and harmony with the beauty of reason."69 Thus in prescribing the forms of music that were to be admitted into the educational schemes, the public drama, and the religious festivals, art was to assist the aesthetic impulse by transcribing rhythm into the life and character of the community. In the Republic, Plato had relied primarily on the ordered structure of classes, where each member contributed a single function to the ordered harmony of the whole—and here justice touched rhythm—but in the Laws rhythm was used as a device for social integration as well. 70 The close attention to musical and poetic style, which had been prefigured in the Republic, was given a wider meaning in the Laws, in keeping with the more enlarged conceptions of unity and harmony that characterized the later dialogue. Whereas the earlier preoccupation had been almost exclusively directed at the unity prevailing in the ruling elite, now, in the absence of a clearly defined governing class living a common life of austerity, a whole community had to be integrated. Towards this end, the life of the community, down to its most intimate aspects, was to be given a common rhythm and ordered motion. Religious rites were to be celebrated at fixed intervals, thereby giving a kind of solemn periodicity to existence; public festivals were to be governed by a set calendar, thus providing regular occasions for the controlled release of popular emotions

and enthusiasms; marriage was to be solemnized by annual festivities designed to impress on the participants the public significance of the institution. Out of these regulations, there emerged a triple relation between numbers, rhythm, and order which bound the community to the rhythm of the cosmos itself:

The grouping of days into monthly periods, and months into years in such fashion that the seasons with their sacrifices and feasts may fit into the true natural order and receive their several proper celebrations, and the city be thus kept alive and alert, its gods enjoying their rightful honors and its men advancing in intelligence of these matters.⁷¹

IV. THE SEARCH FOR A SELFLESS INSTRUMENT

One measure of Plato's influence on Western political thought is the persistency with which later thinkers have clung to the Platonic categories. At almost any given period, it is possible to point to influential theorists who have accepted the belief that "harmony," "unity," "temperance," and "fixity" were not only the fundamental modes of political analysis but the most desirable attributes of a political regime and the fundamental ends of political action. Those political thinkers who have staked out a different path, like Polybius, Machiavelli, Locke, or the authors of the *Federalist Papers*, have, at best, been accorded a certain nuisance value, or relegated to the second rank reserved for unsystematic or untidy theorists. Yet the real problem presented by these anti-Platonists cannot be so easily dismissed. It is the problem of whether the political association has any necessary connection with an eternal truth; or, to say the same thing somewhat differently, whether the sustained pursuit of an ultimate truth does not of necessity destroy the peculiarly political quality of the association.

In directing the political association towards eternal Goods, Plato managed to preserve at least one distinctive aspect of that association. In emphasizing that it ought to be a community in sharing certain common benefits and in his denunciations of all attempts to exploit the political arrangements for the benefit of particular individuals or groups, he had made clear the peculiarly "public" element in political decisions.⁷² If one function of political rule was to insure a "public" quality to decisions concerning common benefits, the political association could be partially, although not exhaustively, defined as a community that shared these benefits. It was this qualification on Plato's part, that the notion of the political association could not be exhausted by the benefits derived from a common life, that threatened the political character of the association. The Good at which the Platonic community aimed was in no way dependent on the community, nor was it in any real sense a matter for political decision.

By insisting that the political order must be linked to a transcendent order,

Plato could afford to ignore some of the most pressing issues of a truly political character. To be more precise, he succeeded in hollowing out the political content from some basically political conceptions so that they became, if we may put it this way, dangerously irrelevant. This can be shown if we examine Plato's treatment of three basic political ideas: the idea of political obligation, the political community, and the nature of political rule.

Because of the dominating position which he assigned to knowledge, obligation was not a peculiarly political problem for Plato. The knowledge of the Good, which it was the function of the ruler to apply to the community so as to bridge the gap between political existence and true reality, was not really a form of political knowledge at all. It was not a knowledge concerning political matters, such as conflict between groups, the operation of political institutions, the art of leadership, or the problem of when to act and when not to act;⁷³ rather it was an extrapolitical knowledge which the ruler came to know, not by observing or acting in politics, but by an education that covered every important subject except the political one. At the same time, Plato maintained that the political association formed a proper vehicle for the realization of the ultimate good. Why was this true? Plato's answer was that the Good was a true good for everyone; that is, it represented the true interest of each. Moreover, since no one would ever knowingly refuse to follow his own true interests, it followed that an art, like the political, which was based on a knowledge of man's true interest, could never injure anyone as long as it was being faithfully observed.⁷⁴ Once political authority was armed with this kind of knowledge, it became irrelevant to ask why a subject was obligated to obey its commands. To pose the question in this context would be comparable to asking men to choose between salvation and damnation; it would be neither a question with a real choice, nor a question that was properly political.

The problem of political obligation emerges when conflicting considerations are recurrent, when it is seen that the acceptance of authority involves the individual in a real choice between competing goods, as well as competing evils. Interestingly enough, this had been brought out by Plato himself in the dialogue *Crito*. The condemned Socrates is faced with the choice of escaping the unjust judgment of the city or of taking the hemlock. Suppose he were to take the first alternative, what would be the reply of the city that had wronged him and was now to deprive him of life itself?

Tell us, Socrates, what are you about? are you not going by an act of yours to overturn us—the laws, and the whole state, as far as in you lies? Do you imagine that a state can subsist and not be overthrown, in which the decisions of law have no power, but are set aside and trampled by individuals? . . . Since you were brought into the world and nurtured and educated by us, can you deny that you are our child and slave, as your fathers were before you? . . . And because we think it right to de-

PLATO 49

stroy you, do you think you have any right to destroy us in return? . . . Will you then flee from well-ordered cities and virtuous men? and is existence worth having on those terms? 75

In making the possibility of injustice the price of civilized living, a genuine problem of political obligation was posed, but in the later dialogues, such as the *Republic* and the *Laws*, it was replaced by a problem of another order: what was the obligation of the philosopher to society? Plato's answer, that the philosopher had an obligation, one that he could be compelled to fulfill only in a society that had encouraged the development of the philosopher, was not an answer to a political question. Political obligation concerns man in his capacity as citizen; whether he is an artisan, a doctor, or a philosopher is not strictly relevant. As a doctor, for example, he may have a duty to his patients or to "society," but in any case, it is not a political duty. The issue of political obligation, then, is one concerning not the philosopher as a citizen, but the citizen who may incidentally be a philosopher.

Plato was led to formulate the question of obligation in terms of the philosopher because of his own belief, mentioned earlier, that the interests of the philosopher and the true interests of society were synonymous. Once the premise was adopted that the true interests of all classes and individuals would be satisfied when society and philosophy were no longer in conflict, then the task became one of insuring that society was ruled by philosophy; that is, ruled not by men but by the principles of true knowledge. But since it was impossible to escape government by men, the primary aim of all social arrangements, and especially of the educational institutions, was to create an elite which would rule not as ordinary men but as selfless instruments. 76 This dream of a vision armed with power, of a small group whose special excellence and knowledge coincided with the good of the whole society, is one that has assumed a variety of forms in the history of political thought. It had been latent in the familiar Greek idea of the Great Legislator, an idea that had fused together myth, legend, and memory to create the archetype of the political hero, the symbol of what uninhibited greatness might accomplish. From the great deeds attributed to a Draco, Solon, Lycurgus, and Cleisthenes, there was drawn the towering figure of the law-giver, suddenly intruding to save the disintegrating life of the polis and to re-establish it on a fresh foundation.

The notion that the image of the good society might be so deeply etched into political realities by the hand of a great statesman as to withstand almost indefinitely the eroding forces of conflict and disruption was one that Plato also seemingly shared. In reality, however, he added a new element which was to have a profound impact on later thought. This was the conception of the ruler as the agent of a divine and timeless idea, "in constant companionship with the divine order of the world," and not merely a man of surpassing wisdom or virtue. His

task was to mediate between divinity and society, to transform men and their relationships, and to make human society in the image of the divine exemplar. This notion of the ruler as the political embodiment of a *logos* was revived in Hellenistic thought where the king was viewed as the transmitter of a life-giving force, infusing a new *élan* into men and revitalizing their communities. The ruler, declared Ecphantus, "in so far as he has a sacred and divine mentality he is truly a king; for by obeying this mentality he will cause all good things, but nothing that is evil."⁷⁷ Early Christian writers, such as Eusebius, Arian, and Cyril of Jerusalem, carried forward the ancient idea that the good ruler ruled his realms as God ruled the universe and that the ruler who subordinated himself to the truth announced by Christ could act as a holy instrument in purifying society.⁷⁸

In terms of later political thought, it is important to separate and distinguish some of these tangled skeins, because not all of the later writers visualized the Great Legislator or the Divine Ruler in the same way. Some later writers, such as Machiavelli and Harrington, recurred to the old notion of the great law-giver, but they viewed the legislator not as the agent of a divine idea but as a man of intelligence blessed with a golden opportunity.

As no man shall show me a Commonwealth born straight, that ever became crooked; so no man shall show me a Commonwealth born crooked that ever became straight . . . a Commonwealth is seldom or never well turned or constituted, except it have been the work of one man.⁷⁹

Others, like James I of England and many of the Royalist writers who supported his cause, disclaimed the argument from the intellectual virtue of the ruler, as well as the conception of the ruler as the intermediary of the *logos*. They were content to claim that kings had been sent by God to supply the political universe with the same kind of direction and control that God displayed in His cosmic realm. Like God, the King was an unmoved mover.

Many of these strands were gathered together in Rousseau's attempt to combine the notion of the Great Legislator with a new vision of the community as the active medium for the expression of the *logos*. To the Legislator was assigned the task of preparing the way for the *logos* by instilling in the citizenry an awareness that each is "part of a greater whole from which in a manner he receives his life and being." But the *logos* itself is only expressed through the will of the members when, and only when, that will fulfills the criterion of generality; when, that is, the individuals transcend their private selves to will the general good of the society. The political order was, in short, potentially self-redemptive. These ideas were given a different form when Marx transferred the actualization of the *logos* from society to a class. The triumph of the proletariat was to mark the realization of a truth that had been immanent in history. When it became necessary to find a more catalytic agent of the *logos*, Lenin advanced the theory of the selfless revo-

PLATO 51

lutionary elite. The cycle was now complete, for in the Leninist theory of the Party that guides and prods a lethargic proletariat, we find faint echoes of the divine ruler of Hellenistic thought who labors to infuse into men a *logos* of which they are only dimly conscious.⁸¹

V. The Question of Power

In order to understand Plato's relationship to these ideas, we must bear in mind the two considerations which governed his choice of the philosopher as the selfless instrument of a divine truth. One was the conviction that no political order could long endure unless its rulers sought to govern in the interests of the whole community. The other related to Plato's deep and abiding suspicion of absolute power, a consideration that has been frequently passed over by Plato's critics.82 Plato's argument for entrusting the philosopher with absolute power did not originate in a naïve attitude towards the temptations of power, much less in the secret craving for étatisme. It came, instead, from two entirely blameless aims, the good of the whole and the avoidance of tyranny. In the figure of the philosopherstatesman these two objectives were to be reconciled. As a philosopher the ruler possessed a knowledge of the true ends of the community. He was the servant of a truth untouched by his own subjective preferences or desires; of a truth he had discovered but not invented.⁸³ At the same time, the character of the ruler was to be tempered by influences that would supplement the discipline of philosophy, by strict control over education, family life, living arrangements, and property. These were intended as part of a conditioning in self-denial and austerity which would produce selfless rulers, impervious to those temptations of power and pleasure that goaded the tyrant beyond endurance.

... Whom else can you compel to undertake the guardianship of the commonwealth, if not those who, besides understanding best the principles of government, enjoy a nobler life than the politicians and look for rewards of a different kind;⁸⁴

The real difficulty, Plato suggested, would lie in persuading the philosophers to abandon their contemplation of eternal objects for a turn of duty in the "cave" of politics. Yet the reluctance of the philosopher would be proof of his selflessness, and his ultimate commitment to philosophy the guarantee of his disinterestedness. "You can have a well-governed society only if you can discover for your future rulers a better way of life than being in office . . ."85 That the very loftiness of the philosophic life might leave the future ruler ill-equipped for the rough-and-tumble of political life was a thought which Plato never seriously entertained.

The beneficence of Plato's ruler was not the product of a passionless nature. The philosopher by definition had a "passion for wisdom" which could not be stilled until he had come to know the essential nature of each thing. 86 His was the

only vocation where "acquisitiveness" could be allowed, because the knowledge of the Good for which he strove was a type of knowledge that contained inherent limits; that is, a knowledge of the Good, by definition, did not entail knowledge for evil. Unlike those who panted after wealth and power, the lover of wisdom was not in competition with his fellow-citizens, nor did he gain his ends at the expense of his neighbor's. His was the only appetite that benefited the community as a whole. Whereas in most polities the political contests arose out of a competition for the limited goods of power, office, wealth, and prestige, the Platonic rulers would direct their acquisitive instincts towards the inexhaustible and immaterial goods of knowledge. The realm of philosophy knew no "politics"; ambition had been sublimated into the quest for wisdom.

The passionate nature ascribed to the philosopher throws an interesting light on Plato's conception of the community. The philosopher's quest for knowledge was fired by *eros*, and this deep longing of the purified soul not only drove the philosopher to seek unity with knowledge but also created a deep bond with those dedicated to a similar end. Yet while the seekers of knowledge were thus unified by a common impulse, the unity of the society at large was a vicarious benefit of the philosopher's search. Thus *eros* might bind philosophers together, but not them to the community, or the members of the community to each other. It required the Christian notion of *agape* before there could be an idea of love as a force fusing together a community.⁸⁷

It was also Plato's belief that a selfless ruling group, dedicated not to politics but to philosophy, would solve the problem of absolute power. In existing societies, where the rulers were selected by irrational methods, absolute power was bound not only to corrupt the rulers, but to degrade the citizenry as well. The citizen of the Platonic community, however, would be benefited by the exercise of absolute power, because, in the last analysis, he would be compelled and controlled not by a personal power but by the impersonal agents of a timeless truth. The subject was to be under "the same principle as his superior, who is himself governed by the divine element within him." The truth superior over ruler and ruled alike was by definition in the true interests of both. Since no man seeks to will other than his true interests it followed that no man's will was being compelled when it was made to conform to these interests. The political principle that flows from these considerations is that when political power is joined to knowledge it loses its compulsive element. In this way, political power becomes etherealized into principle.

This argument also held some important implications for the community. By transforming power into principle, Plato could define the citizen as one who shared in the benefits flowing from that principle. This stands in contrast to the Aristotelian notion of the citizen as one who shared in the power of the *polis*. In Plato's scheme, there was no power to share; what was sharable was the Form of

PLATO 53

the Good written into the structure of the community. The results of this line of argument were two-fold: the idea of citizenship was severed from the idea of meaningful participation in the making of political decisions; and the idea of the political community, that is, a community that seeks to resolve its internal conflicts through political methods, is replaced by the idea of the virtuous community devoid of conflict and, therefore, devoid of "politics." Plato did not deny that each member of the community, no matter how humble his contribution, had a right to share the benefits of the community; what he did deny was that this contribution could be erected into a claim to share in political decision-making.

This marked one of the crucial points at which Aristotle diverged from his master. In rejecting Plato's sharp demarcation between an active ruling group and a politically passive community, Aristotle came closer to the practice of Athenian democracy where the basic distinction had been between those who were citizens and those who were not. This is not to make of Aristotle a partisan of democracy, but rather to insist on the significance of his returning to the notion that the political community was synonymous with the whole of the citizenry. A citizen, in Aristotle's definition, was one who participated in legislative and judicial deliberations. 89 The claim to participate flowed from the contribution made by the citizen to the true end of the political association. What saved this definition from the narrowness of Plato's was the tolerant admission by Aristotle that there were several kinds of goods proper to a political community. Neither knowledge nor virtue, much less wealth or birth, were defensible foundations for an exclusive claim to political power.⁹⁰ Goodness might have a higher claim than any other virtue, yet the nature of the political association was that of a self-sufficient whole, and this end of self-sufficiency was possible only through diverse contributions. The claim to participate, therefore, arose from a person's contribution to the civilized life of the community. From the citizen's point of view, however, it represented something more. Citizenship connoted the right of an individual to live in the only form of association that allowed him to develop his capacities to the fullest. In this sense, participation was a claim flowing from the nature of man. In Aristotle's words, man was born for citizenship.⁹¹

Plato's criticism of political participation grew directly out of his distinction between political knowledge and political "opinion." In the Platonic scale, "opinion" occupied an intermediate position between knowledge and incorrect belief. It was a compound of half-truths and correct beliefs imperfectly understood. It also represented the sort of crude notions carried around in the head of the average person. To allow the average person to participate in political decisions was to pave the way for government by "opinion." In other words, "opinion" did not constitute a relevant form of political knowledge; this could come only from a true science of politics.

54 CHAPTER TWO

VI. POLITICAL KNOWLEDGE AND POLITICAL PARTICIPATION

Plato's distrust of political participation, then, rested on a definite notion of what constituted a relevant source of political knowledge. If a case is to be made for popular participation, it would have to be shown that Plato's conception of political knowledge was unduly narrow and that a more adequate conception, one that would be more in keeping with the nature of political decisions, is directly connected to a more inclusive scheme of participation. The first thing to be noted is that Plato vastly exaggerated the degree of precision that political knowledge might attain. The belief that political science was a body of absolute knowledge was closely connected with the static character that Plato attributed to the objects of knowledge; there could be no valid knowledge where the objects of thought were changing and lacking in proportion. Conversely, because the true objects of thought were fixed, unchanging, and symmetrical, it was possible for thought to achieve an absolute precision and accuracy. But Plato's argument about the absolute character of political knowledge was not the consequence of a close examination of politics or of political situations, but was drawn from other fields, from mathematics or the skilled arts, like medicine or weaving or piloting. This is not to say, as some writers have, that Plato was singularly blind to political experience; this would be to ignore not only Plato's personal acquaintance with the political personalities and problems of his own day, but also the way in which this experience is reproduced at many points in the dialogues. The contention, instead, is that his notion of an absolutely valid political philosophy was not, in the first instance, shaped by the nature of political phenomena. It was inspired by the impressive precision attained in science, mathematics, and medicine. But if one were to assert that the possible precision in a particular discipline is conditioned by the nature of its subject-matter, then a certain humility is in order. At no time in the history of political thought has this point been made so tellingly as by Plato's greatest pupil:

Our discussion will be adequate if it has as much clearness as the subject-matter admits of, for precision is not to be sought for alike in all discussions, any more than in all the products of the crafts. Now fine and just actions, which political science investigates, admit of much variety and fluctuation of opinion . . . We must be content, then, in speaking of such subjects and with such premises to indicate the truth roughly and in outline, and in speaking about things which are only for the most part true and with premises of the same kind to reach conclusions that are no better . . . It is the mark of an educated man to look for precision in each class of things just so far as the nature of the subject admits; it is evidently equally foolish to accept probable reasoning from a mathematician and to demand from a rhetorician scientific proofs. ⁹²

PLATO 55

Aristotle's remarks are all the more significant when placed in the context of a philosophy that stressed growth, change, and movement. Although the Aristotelian universe was one wherein purpose (*telos*) was writ large, it was still a universe full of the tensions and striving summed up in the idea of potentiality (*dynamis*). Nature itself was defined at one point as "a principle of motion and rest, in respect of place, or of growth and decrease, or by way of alteration." Within this framework, political science was conceived as an art that assisted and completed nature. At the same time, however, it was a practical and not a purely theoretic science. Its end was action, but action within a situation fraught with change, accident, and contingency. To expect mathematical precision in political theory was foolish, and to arm the practitioners of political science with absolute power was dangerously arrogant.

Once the incomplete nature of political science is established it becomes possible to question the Platonic position from another side. Plato argued that the only relevant political knowledge was that possessed by a trained elite. From one point of view, this position is unassailable: expert knowledge is the preserve of the few. Yet the problem is more complex than this. It is whether expert knowledge is the only relevant form of knowledge for making political judgments. The problem, then, turns on the nature of a political judgment. What are the criteria of a political judgment? Do these criteria demand the admission of two kinds of political knowledge, one popular and the other expert, both of which are relevant and neither of which is sufficient by itself?

Some answer to these questions is provided if we return to Plato's notion of "opinion" and try to reformulate it. His hostility towards "opinion" was, as we have noted, bound up with the conviction that a true political judgment was one deriving from a special insight into the eternal Forms of knowledge. In opposition to this, the argument here is that this is not a type of political judgment at all. The issue is not the existence of an immutable truth, nor whether men can make judgments derived from that source, but whether this kind of truth and judgment has any relevant connection to the special nature of the political association. If one of the main functions of the political association is to render "public" judgments in those situations where the plans, aspirations, and claims of its members are in conflict; and if, at the same time, it is an association that desires to retain a sense of community among its members—if, in other words, it is to be a community not only of well-being but of belonging—then there must of necessity be some clearly defined procedures whereby the "opinions" of the membership may be incorporated into the decisions affecting that community.

Potentially, opinions are the means for enhancing the politicalness of the society if they can be made to express a sense of involvement on the part of the members. What is all-important politically is not that the individual member formulate notions about his personal needs or hopes, but that he express a

"public" opinion. This is possible if he comes to recognize that his personal life is implicated with the functioning of the political society; if, in other words, he perceives a relation between what is troubling him as a person and what the society is seeking in terms of general goals and purposes. This perception of the connection between what is private and what is public, between a "particular" opinion and a "public" opinion, represents the first awkward step towards political consciousness, because the member is required to state private needs, grievances, or aspirations in a public manner. In other words, an opinion becomes politically relevant when it transcends the merely private concerns of the individual, when it can be related to what is general and shown to be a common problem.

This notion of the function of "opinions" can be enlarged by acknowledging Aristotle's insight that among the most important and exacting tasks of government in a civilized society is the distribution of various goods, such as public office and power, social recognition and prestige, wealth and privilege. ⁹⁶ The question posed by the distributive role of government is: from what elements ought a judgment about distribution be fashioned? In maintaining that community "opinions" ought to be a vital element, the central issue does not revolve around the truth or falsity of these opinions, but around the special kind of rationality demanded of a judgment that is to apply to the whole community.

What, then, are the criteria governing a political judgment? What qualities distinguish a "political" judgment from other kinds of judgment? One possible way of answering these questions is to ask whether the adjective "political" has had a more or less stable meaning throughout the tradition of Western political thought. In later pages, it will be shown that this has been the case, but here we shall only state that the "political" has been employed repeatedly to designate what is "public." The "public" quality of a judgment has had two senses: a judgment, a policy, or a decision has been considered as truly public when expressed by an authoritative person or persons, that is by an authority recognized by the community; secondly, a judgment has been accepted as genuinely public when it appears to possess a general character, for only what is general is capable of application to the society as a whole.

Now the search for generality soon leads to a further criterion, because the formulation of a general policy or judgment attempts to find a rule applicable to all in roughly the same way, but persons and situations are so varied that the attempt must either be given up or the formulation must be somewhat crude and oversimplified. This is the basic dilemma of political judgments: how to create a common rule in a context of differences? The dilemma cannot be overcome, but what is possible is to lessen the crudities of the judgment. It is this hope that has inspired the third criterion of "political comprehensiveness."

To satisfy the criterion of political comprehensiveness a judgment has to be evaluated in the light of questions like the following: is the judgment, in its fac-

PLATO 57

tual aspects, attentive to the actual tendencies of political forces, such as the attitudes and strategies of active social groups, the state of economic relationships, and other politically relevant factors? and is the judgment one that will be in accord with the dominant values held by the major groups in the society?

Procedures of this kind obviously encourage a strong element of expediency in political judgments, and expediency is usually regarded as having at least a faintly immoral quality about it. It connotes a departure from a known standard of right. Granting that a political judgment may be expedient in this sense, the question is: why does it happen so frequently? One answer is that political actors develop a blunted moral sense and are quite willing to sacrifice moral niceties in order to retain power and prestige. But this is a poor explanation, because it does less than justice to the anguish of the political actor who earnestly seeks to do right but finds that other considerations intervene. What I am suggesting here is that expediency is largely the result of the old problem of trying to establish a uniform rule amidst a context of differences. It is this that frequently leads to concessions and modifications in a policy. The reason is not simply that it is a good thing to formulate policies that will reflect a sensitivity to variations and differences throughout the society, but rather that a political society is simultaneously trying to act and to remain a community.

These considerations permit us to see more clearly the connection between political decisions and political participation or citizenship. The numerous acts whereby the citizen takes part in the political processes of the society help contribute to the comprehensiveness, and generality, of decisions; they are the methods for expressing the differences resident in society and thus make it possible that better informed judgments will emerge. Unfortunately, however, this does not solve the problem of action, for the unescapable fact is that, inevitably, any significant public policy or judgment directly benefits some more than others; a program of free lunches for school children is of more immediate benefit to the children and their families than it is to the bachelor who pays taxes to support the program. As both Plato and Aristotle recognized, political decisions are rarely of a general kind in the sense that the individuals or groups affected are treated exactly the same. 97 Policies concerned with benefits, such as public payments to the poor, or with burdens, such as taxes or military service, must of necessity be based on some discriminatory scheme of classification. From this viewpoint, general agreements are necessary preludes to discrimination; they supply the vital acquiescence that enables the political art to fashion "rational" schemes of classification; that is, discriminations that will be sensitive not only to technical problems but to their political consequences as well. 98 Participation is the basic method for establishing areas of agreement or political consensus.

For these reasons it is fatuous to assert, as one recent writer has, that "agreement may produce peace but it cannot produce truth." The agreement that

issues from participation is not intended as a symbol of truth but as a tangible expression of that sense of belonging which forms a vital dike against the forces of anomie. In its political aspect, a community is held together not by truth but by consensus. The range and nature of the consensus that a society arrives at exerts a strong and often determining influence upon the particular decisions made by a society, causing a modification in both means and ends different from what an "objective" or purely technical judgment might dictate. This gives to political iudgments a character different from that of a "true" philosophical or theological proposition. In large measure, a political judgment is usually "judicial" in quality; that is, for the most part it involves a judgment concerning conflicting claims, all of which possess a certain validity. As Aristotle shrewdly pointed out, there is no problem of political judgment when one claim alone is admitted to be valid and enthroned above all the rest. The result of this condition, however, is that the political association is replaced by the state of siege. 100 But once the political association is defined as a compound of many diverse parts, and once it is allowed that these "parts" will have different opinions, interests, and claims, the politicalness of the judgment will depend on a sensitivity to diversities. A political judgment, in other words, is "true" when it is public, not public when it accords to some standard external to politics.

VII. THE LIMITS OF UNITY

Given the nature of political judgment, a quite different light is cast upon the art of political rule and its relation to unity. Plato had insisted upon the totality of unity. In the *Republic*, unity derived primarily from the virtue and wisdom that bound together the ruling groups and flowed from there to the rest of the society; the second great source of unity was provided by the ordered structure of functions assigned to each individual. In the *Laws*, the end of total unity remained the same, but there was less reliance upon a small elite as the conduit through which the forces of unity flowed to the remainder of the society. By means of meticulous legal regulations, which were to be preserved unalterably, the whole range of human existence was to be shaped towards unity. The difference in method between the two dialogues does not destroy the essential similarity in approach; in both cases unity was conceived to be the product of an imposed vision. The vision of the Good, whether it was located with the philosopher-statesman or written into the fabric of the laws, decreed that the aim of the ruler's art was to nurture souls, an aim that could be attained only if the community were at one in feeling and sentiment.

The Platonic conception of unity was criticized by Aristotle on the grounds that it had mistaken mere unison for harmony. A political association, Aristotle wisely noted, could become so unified that it would cease to be a political association. ¹⁰¹ Although Aristotle did not surrender the essentially Platonic belief that

PLATO 59

the political community ought to aim at the highest good, the significant point is that this belief was also accompanied by the idea that there were other goods that the community ought to recognize and promote. In this view, the political art is concerned to combine and mediate among the various goods that contribute to the self-sufficiency of the whole. Accordingly, while justice remains the ordering principle of the political association, justice itself has been widened to embrace the notion of political conciliation. The political art has to do with the reconciliation of a wide range of valid claims.

Before we can push past the point reached by Aristotle and ask whether it is not to inflict the political order with an impossible task when it is burdened with ministering to the souls of its members, it is first necessary to clarify the notion of political unity implied by the foregoing. Plato was correct in emphasizing that a common set of values and purposes was necessary if a society was to express its solidarity and to act purposefully. 103 It does not follow, however, that this aspect of unity must be extended to every aspect of life or even to every important aspect of life. Unity, in short, is not synonymous with uniformity, as Plato was inclined to think that it was. The basic political importance of unity is that it is economical of a society's energies. An area of unity, such as in religion, economic arrangements, or political rights, symbolizes an area of agreement, or at least of acceptance, which no longer troubles a society. Energy and thought, therefore, can be directed at those matters where disagreement and conflict exist. To put it somewhat differently, an area of agreement provides the foundation for statecraft; it permits political authority to deal with areas of difference with the assurance that some problems have been temporarily solved. The metaphor might be slightly altered to point to one other contribution of unity; that is, it serves as a stepping stone from an area of agreement to one of disagreement. A society that agrees on some matters is more likely to accept policies dealing with more controversial subjects. In this way, it affords to government a certain amount of room for maneuver. When a measure of unity exists, government can engage in the fine art of accommodating the continual thrusts of groups and can embark on a sensitive exploration of those areas where the community can be made to "give" without snapping, where some groups will tolerate distasteful policies because there are so many other matters on which they are at one with the rest of society.

Finally, unity is a necessary precondition for that most demanding of the political arts, the knowledge when not to act—quieta non movere. Like any human organization, a government has a limited amount of energy. When it is extended too far, when it tries to do too much, it trails off into impotence. This means that one of the continuing tasks of statecraft is to discover at what points disagreement, conflict, and variety may be tolerated without their endangering the supporting framework that makes waywardness possible. Any society, in other words, tends to be a collection of imperfectly integrated particularities. As

Hobbes later pointed out, the interaction of the particular purposes of individuals and groups within a situation of limited goods was bound to eventuate in conflict. Alongside the scarcity of goods was their relativity. Wealth, status, and privilege hold no meaning in society except on a comparative basis; there would be no bourgeoisie in the absence of a proletariat or an aristocracy, and no *droit de seigneur* without the *gabelle*. The relativity of social goods creates a condition where both the preservation of existing expectancies and the satisfactions of fresh demands can be met only at the expense of less favored groups. Moreover, the sources of conflict are enlarged by other factors that were operative in Plato's day and are with us still. At various stages of their development, Western societies have been afflicted by strains and upheaval which no one plans or intends. Cumulative disturbances, such as those which were registered in ancient Greece—war, colonization, monetary changes, technological innovation, economic depression, class dislocation, and the unsettling effects of contacts with different cultures—help to exacerbate the tensions and antagonisms already existing in society.

Given these considerations, it was highly improbable that a "logic" for politics could be fashioned from the Platonic categories of beauty, fixity, or harmony, much less from the concept of a unity unmarred by contradictory elements. The final term of a political logic is not q.e.d., because finality is the most elusive quality of a political solution. The order of problems with which political judgment has to deal is concerned with the achievement of tentative stabilities within a situation of conflict. Hence an adequate political logic must be framed to cope with contraries and dissymmetries arising out of a mobile and conflict-laden situation. Its tutelary deity is Proteus, not Procrustes.

A logic of this kind would be warranted by the ample evidence provided by Western political societies for the proposition that contraries and conflicts have been able to coexist almost indefinitely without destroying the necessary unity of a society. Men of the same society have disagreed about the nature of the gods, the distribution of economic rewards, political arrangements, and the nature of the good; and yet such conflicts have not always issued in social and political upheaval. The reason for this has been two-fold: the existence of substantial areas of agreement which have offset the centrifugal forces and, secondly, the ability of rulers to confine conflicts to their narrowest possible dimensions. To elaborate this last point a little more, political rule tends to be less effective over a long pull when it follows the simple policy of repressing conflicts. It has been most successful when it has pursued a policy of preventing potential sources of conflict from feeding each other. The danger point is not the existence of economic conflict, political grievance, or religious disagreement, but the convergence of these frustrations, such as happened in the religious wars of the sixteenth century and the English civil wars of the next century. The art of governance, then, must be aimed at achieving temporary stabilities and partial syntheses; at equilibrating

PLATO 61

some social forces, while carefully tolerating others. The art of the statesman is the art of dealing with the incomplete. For this reason, the Platonic conception of the ruler who imposes a unified vision is fatally defective to the ruler's art. The very completeness of the vision would inevitably tend to provoke extreme reactions which would fatally weaken the unity it was intended to insure. Philosophic and religious differences would become heresies; political disputes a sign of sedition; and economic conflicts a contest between vice and virtue. At the same time, the resolution of such conflicts would be more difficult by reason of the special knowledge upon which unity was supposed to rest. A knowledge cannot be at one and the same time accessible to the few and yet serve as the vital bond holding the entire community together. The principles of belief that cement a community together must be shared; they must be a "public" kind of knowledge.

VIII. THE AMBIGUITIES OF PLATO

In the preceding pages, the political ideas of Plato have been selected to illustrate a certain perspective on political phenomena. In using Plato as a "type," there has inevitably been a certain amount of distortion, for a philosophy so subtle, so full of irony and poetry, cannot but be streaked by twists and sudden turns which cut athwart the main tendencies. The greatest mistake a student can make is to assume that Plato, like Aquinas or Hobbes, was a thinker severely and angularly systematic. In Plato we confront a thinker with his full share of doubts, ambiguities, and anguishing dilemmas:

 \dots Wandering between two worlds, one dead, The other powerless to be born \dots 104

We have already pointed out that Plato was troubled by a very lively fear about the abuse of political power. Surely this was uppermost in his mind when time and again he recurred to the theme that the greatest of all evils was to inflict injustice—a strange position for one who is reputed to be a totalitarian. ¹⁰⁵ It is possible, too, to interpret the device of the "royal fiction" or lie as an attempt on Plato's part to limit the use of violence by resorting to deception.

Taken in the round, Plato's writings were not an unvarnished *apologia* for despotism, but a body of ideas with an unresolved contradiction. He was convinced that philosophy contained the saving knowledge that alone could bring happiness to society, yet he remained painfully aware that knowledge could be translated into practice only by the method he distrusted most, an act of power. Although he tried to resolve these two beliefs in the idea of the philosopher-king, he remained distinctly apprehensive over any lesser arrangement. He knew too well the meaning of power.

In the *Laws*, the ambiguities become more pronounced. The need for knowledge was expressed with the same urgency as before, but it is accompanied by a greater emphasis on the value of moderation in all things, including intellectual pursuits:

... If any one gives too great a power to anything, too large a sail to a vessel, too much food to the body, too much authority to the mind, and does not observe the mean, everything is overthrown, and, in the wantonness of excess runs in the one case to disorders, and in the other to injustice, which is the child of excess. I mean to say, my dear friends, that there is no soul of man, young and irresponsible, who will be able to sustain the temptation of arbitrary power. 106

This theme is reflected also in the constitution of the *polis* which is to be a blend of democratic liberty and the wisdom found only in the one or few. Concessions are made also to the knowledge that comes from experience; to the necessity for making some gestures towards satisfying popular opinion; to a wider conception of political participation; and to the principle of the accountability of the magistrates. All of these tendencies, unfortunately, were offset by the cramping rigidities of legal controls and the reappearance of the philosopher-rulers in the form of the Nocturnal Council. The political system depicted in the *Laws*, may, by courtesy, be called a *Rechtsstaat*, as one commentator has urged, yet it would be more accurate to call it a frozen *Rechtsstaat*.

More striking than any other ambiguity was an essentially tragic theme which intruded like an alien visitor to darken a scene made bright by the promise of a saving knowledge. Coupled with the conviction that human reason could aspire to absolute and immutable truth was the conflicting conviction that once men had joined practice and theory, once the pattern of perfection had become embodied in actual arrangements, an inevitable process of deterioration set in. The works of men were powerless to escape the dissolving taint of sensible creations. ¹⁰⁷ A cycle of creation, decay, and dissolution ruled the world with an iron grip, and only at rare intervals could the art of men intervene to wrest one brief moment of seeming immortality. Even the best of constitutions, such as that sketched in the *Republic*, was not immune:

Hard as it may be for a state so framed to be shaken, yet, since all that comes into being must decay, even a fabric like this will not endure for ever, but will suffer dissolution. 108

The concluding note of Plato's political science is not of an unlimited arrogance that man can fashion a polity untouched by time, but of a heroism chastened by the foreknowledge of eventual defeat. It is, in Shelley's words, "Eternity warning Time."

CHAPTER THREE

•••

The Age of Empire: Space and Community

Will you take your children into Thessaly an Athenian citizenship?	d deprive them of
1	—Plato
I am a citizen of Greece.	—Lysias
You are a citizen of the universe	—Epictetus

I. THE CRISIS IN THE POLITICAL

Much has been written by modern scholars about the failure of classical political thought to transcend the narrow unity of the city-state. It has been alleged that the ideas of Plato and Aristotle were so closely bound to the fortunes of this tiny political entity that, when the polis gave way to the larger empires of Macedonia and Rome, the parochial assumptions of their ideas were exposed: assumptions about the racial homogeneity of the population, the optimum size of the political community, and a social structure that would allow a small part of the population sufficient leisure for political affairs. There is no question that these beliefs made classical political thought appear hopelessly municipal in an era where the conditions of existence were imperial. A comparable indictment was later laid against Rousseau. He was charged with favoring a political model based on the Genevan city-state at a time when the nation-state was everywhere taking hold. Yet in the cases both of Rousseau and of Plato and Aristotle this kind of easy criticism misses the mark. The essential questions raised by these political thinkers were: how far could the boundaries of political space be extended, how much dilution by numbers could the notion of citizen-participant withstand, how minor need be the "public" aspect of decisions before the political association ceased to be political?

Looked at in this way, the political thought of Plato and Aristotle suffered not so much from being parochial as from being strongly political. The association that they had in mind was "political" for several reasons. It served needs that no other association could; it was reflective of a part of the individual's life that he lived in common with other men; it was a whole compounded of measurable contributions made by its members, and hence its quality was no better or worse than that of its citizens. In short, the association was political because it dealt with subjects of common concern, and because all of the members were implicated in a common life. As Aristotle had remarked, it was quite possible to enclose the whole of the Peloponnese by a single wall, yet this would not create a *polis*. ¹

Even before the death of Aristotle in 322 B.C., the classical concept of the "political" was being undermined by a new set of conditions. The emergence of the Macedonian Empire in the fourth century inaugurated an era of large-scale organization which later reached its fullest expression in the Roman world-state. During this period, the tradition of Western political thought underwent a transformation that resulted in drastic modifications of the notational principles governing the accents of classical political philosophy. New priorities appeared, emphases were redistributed, and the phenomena of political life were surveyed from an altered perspective. Yet the political thought of the Hellenistic and Roman period retained much that was familiar. The legacy of Plato and Aristotle was preserved while being modified; a tradition of political thought was in the making.

Although a comprehensive analysis of these developments is impossible within the limits of the present study, the main theme of the relationship between politics and political thought can be illuminated by emphasizing a few selected problems. The method to be followed will be topical rather than chronological. The first problem chosen is the revolutionary challenge to political thought posed by the fact that the *polis* had ceased to be *the* politically significant unit. It was overlain by giant state forms which lacked the attributes of strongly political societies and which, when judged by the canons of classical political thought, appeared as monstrous aberrations. The growing disparity between the new actualities of political life and the political criteria of classical Greek thought provoked an intellectual crisis which persisted down to the advent of Christianity. Beginning in the Hellenistic age the attempt was repeatedly made to adjust the categories of political thought to the unprecedented situation where masses of men, scattered over great distances and differentiated by race and culture, had been gathered into a single society and governed by a single authority. This continuity of preoccupation with the nature of the political in an age of empire will be traced from the philosophic theories of the Hellenistic period down to the Roman writers of the early Christian era.

The second broad problem that I have singled out pertains to the politics of the Roman Republic during the period from roughly 150 B.C. to the establishment of the Augustan Principate in 27 B.C. The expansion of Rome from a typically small city-state to a huge empire was primarily accomplished during the days of the republic. The attempt to govern this enormous space while retaining

the values and institutions of a small political community imposed severe strains on the system. At the same time, the tension between the demands of space and the design of institutions was accompanied by an intensification of political conflict and rivalry. By examining the response of Roman writers to this situation, it is possible to expose with a sharper emphasis some of the implications of certain political problems that had been obscured by the homogeneity of the Greek *polis*: problems of the admissible limits of political conflict, the role of institutions in containing and ordering these conflicts, and, above all, the implications of conducting politics on the basis of interests.

Before turning to these problems, a brief word on some special difficulties for the study of Roman political ideas. Although there is no dearth of material for the student of Roman political practices, the student of political ideas must deal with a period notoriously lacking in great political thinkers. To compound the difficulty, what little there was in the way of systematic theory proves on closer analysis to be more often Greek than Roman in origin. But if the absence of systematic thought is considered along with the universally acknowledged contribution of Rome in the fields of law and political institutions, the combination of the two suggests, not that we ignore Roman political thought, but that we handle it differently than we would a formal system such as Plato's. More concretely, it means that we take seriously the commonplace judgment that the Romans were a "practical" rather than a theoretical people, or, to state the matter more correctly, that they were a people whose political thinking was centered upon questions of immediate action.

II. THE NEW DIMENSIONS OF SPACE

In the course of a long speech contained in the *Annals*, Tacitus has Tiberius explaining the contrast between the moral austerity of the old Rome and the profligacy of contemporary society by saying that in the old days self-restraint was practiced "because we were all members of one city. Not even afterwards had we the same temptations, while our dominion was confined to Italy." This allusion to the loss of civic intimacy consequent on the expansion of the Roman Empire can serve as introduction to one of the great problems of post-Aristotelian political thought, the theoretical implications of the new spatial dimension. The philosophical issues that accompanied the appearance of large governmental units concerned both the relevancy and the validity of the classical meaning of "political." The etymological meaning of political had been "concerning the *polis*," while in terms of political philosophy it had related to the knowledge and actions that would help or harm the community. Yet the main point was that in Greek thought the concept of the political had become identified with the determinate spatial dimension of the *polis*. The rigid limits that Plato and Aristotle had

set for the size and population of their ideal cities and the detailed attention that they devoted to matters of birth control, wealth and commerce, colonial and military expansion were part of their belief that the life of the polis, which they considered synonymous with its political character, could be articulated only within the narrow confines of the small city-state. This total absorption with a small, highly compact community imparted to Greek political thought a nervous intensity which contrasts sharply, for example, with the mood of later Stoicism which leisurely, and without the sense of compelling urgency, contemplated political life as it was acted out amidst a setting as spacious as the universe itself. Greek thought had been intense because it had accepted the challenge of prescribing actions for a political condition that was at once tightly packed yet highly volatile. This is easily sensed in Plato's critical analysis of democracy. Despite the humorous vein that colored his description, he was obviously and deeply disturbed by democracy's extreme social mobility, the release of destructive energies that followed in its wake, and the system of lot and election that seemed intent upon making instability a permanent feature of political life. Accordingly, Plato's solution, in part, was shaped to overcome the jostling anarchy unendurable in a crowded political condition. By clearly defining the functions that each class was to discharge, by discouraging movement from one class to another, the new structure of political space would be protected from random movements.

The highly developed consciousness of political space in Greek philosophy was the direct reflection of an actual political world wherein a multitude of small independent cities, driven by the dynamics of ambition, class struggle, population pressures, and economic disequilibrium impinged upon each other and found it difficult to act without colliding.³ This sense of being hemmed in was written large in Greek politics in the attempts to ease internal pressures by establishing colonies, exploring new commercial routes, or developing imperial dependencies. On the other hand, it was significant that what little discussion was given by Plato and Aristotle to the problems of foreign policy and interstate relations took the form of a warning about the moral consequences of war and expansion, especially as these were directed against other Greeks. 4 That the reaction of the two greatest Greek thinkers should have been a moralistic one was evidence of the deeply introspective quality of Greek political thought, of its tendency to turn all political problems inward. Fear and suspicion of the "outside" was the psychological accompaniment of an inability to think politically in terms of an area broader than the polis. By refusing to seek solutions through the redefinition of political space, the Greeks were thrown back to containing the vitalities of political life within suffocating limits. The result was a species of theory filled with tensions, tensions created by economic conflicts, the growing demand for extension of political rights, and the circle of rival cities pressing on the outer edges of the polis.

On the institutional level, some attempt at reconstructing the spatial dimension of political life was made through the experiments with federal organizations and other systems for concerting the military and diplomatic efforts of several allied cities.⁵ Some of these progressed to the point of breaking down the rigid conceptions of citizenship. Thus under the arrangement called "isopolity," a citizen of one city enjoyed citizenship in all of the member cities; in another form of federation, "sympolity," the citizen of the individual city also possessed membership in the federal union. Important as these experiments are in reminding us of the transitional phase occurring between the decline of the polis and the appearance of the Macedonian world-monarchy, their failure to attain theoretical embodiment indicates that they lay outside the meaning of "political" as it had come to be defined by the major writers. Examples of leagues, alliances, and confederations can be found as far back as the sixth century B.C., yet none of this experience was embodied in Plato's thought. Again, as is well known, Aristotle's association with the empire-builder Alexander left little impression upon the Peripatetic philosopher. The reason for this is not that these philosophers were obtuse, but rather that, according to the form given political philosophy at the Academy, these broader political arrangements did not appear to raise genuine philosophical issues. The practice of federalism, for example, called for a knowledge of techniques: how to conduct a foreign policy representing several states instead of one? what standard ought to be used in assigning representatives to the deliberative and executive organs? how to apportion taxation and administer a common treasury? Important and significant as these questions were, they did not seem to go to the root of the problem as it had come to be defined in political philosophy; that is, what is the nature and quality of the life that men could attain in a political association? In other words, it was assumed that questions of techniques constituted second-order problems which could be discussed and acted upon without seriously disturbing the first-order problems. This is precisely what occurred in these experiments. They never succeeded in dislodging or modifying the political, social, and cultural primacy of the polis.

The identification of politics with *paideia*, that is, with the moral and cultural education of the membership, and the corollary belief that the extension of the *polis* meant the destruction of the only dimension within which the *paideia* of the members could be furthered, were tested during the fourth century when Persian and Macedonian pressures began to awaken the Greeks to the realization that internecine warfare among the Greek cities had exposed the entire Hellenic world to outside domination. Among the dramatists, political writers, and politicians, there appeared a growing consciousness of the unity of Hellas. Yet Panhellenism, too, was unable to modify the stubborn conviction that political space could never be divided in any meaningful way except according to the specifications of

the moral mission of the polis. Nevertheless, there were minor political writers, such as Gorgias,* Isocrates,** and Demosthenes,† who sought to arouse the Greeks to the urgent need of overcoming the rivalries engendered by city-state particularism. It was significant, however, that all of these writers were rhetors or sophists; that is, they belonged to the groups that traditionally were concerned with techniques and means, and none of them appears, on the basis of the surviving evidence, to have raised the fundamental theoretical implications consequent upon these experiments in a wider unity. Isocrates, for example, had been conscious that the supreme difficulty lay in the way that political space had come to be organized: "It is the polities by which they govern their states that have divided most of them."8 Although Isocrates was able to project the idea of an Hellenic unity—"the title 'Hellenes' is applied rather to those who share our culture than to those who share a common blood"—it was in no sense a picture of a new kind of political society. The distinctive identity of each city was to be retained, and the only problem was to persuade the other cities that to Athens belonged the rightful hegemony over the whole. The whole argument rested on the belief that if the destructive energies of the Greeks were turned against an outside power, in this case Persia, there would be no need to alter the existing way of life in the separate poleis.9 That the Panhellenic sentiments voiced by Isocrates rested on nothing more substantial than a fear of the Persian barbarians was revealed in the despair that later led him to appeal to Philip of Macedon to rise to that sense of Greekness which the Greek cities themselves lacked:

While it is only natural for the other descendants of Heracles, and for men who are under the bonds of their polities and laws, to cleave fondly to that state in which they happen to dwell, it is your privilege \dots to consider all Hellas your fatherland \dots ¹⁰

In resigning to Philip the final hope of Greek unity, Isocrates confessed the failure of classical political thought to translate a broader cultural unity into political terms. As long as the political remained identified in men's minds with an

- * Gorgias (*cir.* 480–380 B.C.) was born in Sicily and achieved prominence as a sophist and rhetorician. He was one among several writers urging Panhellenism.
- ** Isocrates (436–338 B.C.) was a famous Athenian orator and rhetorician who had studied under Gorgias and Socrates. Although not a profound thinker, he had recognized, nevertheless, the need for constructive action to deal with the incessant conflicts among the Greek city-states. He had argued that unity of policy was possible because of the common culture shared by the Greeks. On this basis, he championed a common foreign policy against the Persians.
- † Demosthenes (*cir.* 384–322 B.C.), the famous orator, sought to arouse the Greeks against the aggression of Philip of Macedon. After the Greek defeat at Chaeronea in 338, accusations were brought against Demosthenes and he was imprisoned. He later escaped and returned, following the uprisings against Macedonian rule (323). The Macedonians, however, restored their control and Demosthenes committed suicide.

intensive participation in a life of common concerns, the theoretical proposals of Isocrates and Demosthenes for a united front among the Greek cities and the practical experiments with sympolities could not compete for men's political loyalties. Although the life of the Greek cities continued in active fashion long after the Macedonian conquest of the fourth century, the realities of existence were such as to demand a complete rethinking of the nature of the political. Alexander might allow the Greeks an impressive measure of independence and the Achaean League of the third century might stand as evidence that Greek political inventiveness had not been exhausted, yet the central fact from the death of Alexander (323) to the final absorption of the Mediterranean world into the Roman Empire was that political conditions no longer corresponded to the traditional categories of political thought. The Greek vocabulary might subsume the tiny polis and the sprawling leagues of cities under the single word koinon, yet there could be no blinking the fact that the city denoted an intensely political association while the leagues, monarchies, and empires that followed upon the decline of the polis were essentially apolitical organizations. Hence if the historical task of Greek political theory had been to discover and to define the nature of political life, it devolved upon Hellenistic and later Roman thought to rediscover what meaning the political dimension of existence might have in an age of empire.

In large entities like the empire of Alexander, the monarchies of the Seleucids, Ptolemies, Antigonids, and the Roman Empire, the methods of generating loyalties and a sense of personal identification were necessarily different from those associated with the Greek idea of citizenship. Where loyalty had earlier come from a sense of common involvement, it was now to be centered in a common reverence for power personified.¹¹ The person of the ruler served as the terminus of loyalties, the common center linking the scattered parts of the empire. This was accomplished by transforming monarchy into a cult and surrounding it with an elaborate system of signs, symbols, and worship. These developments suggest an existing need to bring authority and subject closer by suffusing the relationship with a religious warmth. In this connection, the use of symbolism was particularly important, because it showed how valuable symbols can be in bridging vast distances. They serve to evoke the presence of authority despite the physical reality being far removed. At the same time, symbols are an invaluable means for communicating a common set of meanings at an elementary level. It is not surprising that the Romans found need for a large number of authority-symbols. The fasces, lituus, toga praetexta, and the systematic use of the coinage system¹² as a means of political propaganda were important techniques aimed at overcoming distance.

The personification of authority and the resort to symbolism during the Hellenistic and Roman periods were dictated not only by the heterogeneity of the constituencies, with their vast differences in culture and political sophistication, but also by the need to combat the increasingly abstract character of political life. With the development of imperial organization, the locus of power and decision had grown far removed from the lives of the vast majority. There seemed to be little connection between the milieu surrounding political decisions and the tiny circle of the individual's experience. Politics, in other words, was being conducted in a way incomprehensible to the categories of ordinary thought and experience. The "visual politics" of an earlier age, when men could see and feel the forms of public action and make meaningful comparisons with their own experience, was giving way to "abstract politics," politics from a distance, where men were informed about public actions which bore little or no resemblance to the economy of the household or the affairs of the market-place. In these circumstances, political symbols were essential reminders of the existence of authority.

Growing distance also called for new methods of political control. The great achievements of the Romans in jurisprudence and in organizing and administering a far-flung empire were, in reality, clear testimony to the formalism of political life, to the need for putting a large number of individuals into general and therefore manageable classifications, and for settling the rules and regulations that were to govern the relationships among strangers. The megalopolis had displaced the *polis*, and in this new spatial dimension the old notion of the political association, as sustained by a friendship among familiars, appeared anachronistic. The concept of the political community had been overwhelmed by the sheer number and diversity of the participants. These changing conditions were pointed up by the kind of appeal made by Roman leaders to some rebellious Gauls of the first century A.D.:

There is no privilege, no exclusion. From worthy Emperors you derive equal advantage, though you dwell so far away . . . Endure the passions and rapacity of your masters, just as you bear barren seasons and excessive rains and other natural evils. ¹⁴

III. CITIZENSHIP AND DISENGAGEMENT

If political activity had ceased to be a significant mode of human experience except for the very few, what was the meaning of membership and wherein did the political element reside? Although the new power organizations that controlled the Hellenistic and Roman worlds had lost some of the old political qualities of the *polis*, they had not ceased from making many of the same demands on their members. If anything, the nature of membership had become an even more pressing question, because men were now being asked and compelled to cooperate, sacrifice, and serve in the name of an association of which they were parts only in a formal and sometimes, as in the Roman grants of citizenship to distant peoples, in a fictional sense. The roots of this problem of membership lie deep in

the Hellenistic age and, more specifically, in the critical attacks of the Cynics, Epicureans, and early Stoics upon the customary ties and relationships that had defined the individual's status and role in society. The Cynic school, which had flourished in the last half of the fourth century B.C., asserted that the "conventional" values represented in the life of the community by the laws, customs, institutions, and class structure could no longer be shrugged off as harmless irrelevancies or annoyances. They must be classed instead as positive impediments to the attainment of virtue and ought therefore to be rejected. In this respect, the difference between the Cynics and Epicurus (cir. 341–269 B.C.) was the difference between a big "no" and a small "yes." Although the Epicureans were willing to grant some utility to the political order, they, too, set about whittling down the claims of family, society, and political life until all that remained was the irreducible minimum necessary to sustain peace. "If the good is different from the noble and just," a later Stoic wrote, "then father and mother, country and all such things disappear." 15 As the old ties were successively cast off by these philosophies, the outline of the individual person emerged with startling clarity.

Political disengagement had been foreshadowed in the sixth book of Plato's *Republic* and counseled again in his *Euthydemus*, yet it is essential to distinguish a minor theme from what became the *leitmotif* of the philosophies that appeared towards the end of the fourth century B.C. The strong elements of despair and withdrawal that colored Cynicism and Epicureanism were nourished by an antipolitical impulse which could not be concealed by their temporizing and grudging acknowledgment of some utility in a political order. ¹⁶ The advice of Epicurus, "we must free ourselves from the prison of affairs and politics," was not the premise but the conclusion to the belief that the individual not only had a life of his own independent of the political association, but that this was the most significant and valuable part of his life. "A man must prepare himself for solitude too—he must be able to suffice for himself, and able to commune with himself." ¹⁸

Thus the formula read: a minimal commitment to an association of limited value. It was a far cry from the Socratic view of political obligation as based upon the positive civilizing function of the *polis* to the Epicurean conception of society as bound together by a social contract guaranteeing only that "men shall not injure one another or be injured." This was but one indication of the extent to which post-Aristotelian thought had begun to nibble away at the political assumptions of the preceding age. Epicurean and Cynic alike questioned the supposedly close connection between the virtue of the political association and the virtue of the individual, between the conditions of communal order and the discovery of the self. In the Epicurean argument, the collapse of the *polis* and the accompanying uncertainties that followed upon the Macedonian triumph were taken as proof of a cosmic disinterest in the destiny of man. If the gods had been truly concerned with man's welfare, they would not have allowed the cities

to disintegrate to a point where municipal life verged on a state of nature. If men could not trust in the divine agency of the gods, and if human perfection were no longer possible within the *polis*, the only conclusion seemed to be that man's fate was solely a personal matter.

By dismissing the cosmic and communal props to morality, the Epicureans opened the way to a radical individualism grounded in self-interest and directed towards self-sufficiency. Happiness was viewed as a matter of individual definition, and any a priori commitment of a civic or political kind carried the initial suspicion of being a snare designed to trap the individual and to make him conform to a public definition of happiness.

Yet the old idea, that man owed an allegiance to the order of relationships supporting his existence, was too deeply rooted, and it fell to the Stoics to work out a new formula of membership.²⁰ This was no easy matter, for it involved positing a form of order acceptable to the newly self-conscious individual yet durable enough to survive a society of non-communing members. The effect of the Cynic and Epicurean attack had been to dissolve political relationships into a condition of "political nature," into mere phenomena without stability or inner coherence, into the political counterpart to a purposeless universe. The response of the Stoics was dictated by the need to ease men's fears and uncertainties, and this they tried to do by summoning men back to membership. Men were enjoined to follow nature; that is, to identify themselves with the immanent reason or *logos* pervading the universe:

O thou who over all dost hold Eternal dominance, Nature's author, Zeus, Guiding a universe by Law controlled.²¹

All of creation was pictured as forming an order, a rationally integrated scheme wherein the several parts contributed their function to the ensuing harmony of the whole. To become a member of the universal society meant fulfilling the obligations inherent in one's social position—a sort of "my station and its duties" philosophy. From this medley of contributing parts would issue a universal "sympathy," a bond of unity binding all together as tightly as the Platonic city: "we are the parts of one great body." Thus the authentic relationships lacking in the existential political societies were re-created in the image of a larger order; the natural order was not only a realm of value, but also a society, indeed the highest form of society:

When a man has learnt to understand the government of the universe and has realized that there is nothing so great or sovereign or all-inclusive as this frame of things wherein man and God are united . . . why should he not call himself a citizen of the universe and a son of God?²³

The undeniable contribution of Stoicism to Western notions of equality, freedom, and human dignity makes it difficult for a critic to appear other than carping and ungenerous. Consequently, most criticisms of Stoicism have been content to draw attention to the incongruity between the Stoic appeal to universal values of reason, equality, and freedom, on the one hand, and, on the other, the strain of intellectual snobbery that tended to restrict membership in the universal society to an elite of the "lofty, free, unhindered, untrammeled, trustworthy, and self-respecting," a kind of invisible church of rational beings. Strictures of this kind, however, do not go deeply enough, for the difficulty inherent in the Stoic teaching is not exposed by drawing out either its logical contradictions or by pointing an accusing finger at its intellectual elitism. Rather the shortcomings of Stoicism stemmed from the intellectual fuzziness surrounding its conception of the nature of political society. This can be indicated by turning to a classic statement by Marcus Aurelius (121–180 A.D.) of the Stoic ideal of the universal society:

If our intellectual part is common, the reason also, in respect of which we are rational beings, is common; if this is so, common also is the reason which commands us what to do, and what not to do; if this is so, there is a common law also; if this is so, we are fellow citizens; if this is so, we are members of some political community; if this is so, the world is in a manner a state. For of what other common political community will any one say that the whole human race are members? . . . from this common political community comes also our very intellectual faculty and reasoning faculty and our capacity for law; or whence do they come?²⁴

The relevant query here is not to ask how these ideas have contributed to later notions of an international society, but rather to ask the same question which ought to be directed against modern advocates of a world-community; namely, in what sense, if any, can these ideas be said to have expressed a politically meaningful conception of society? True, the Stoics employed the old familiar language of political theory: a fellowship of citizens, the bond of law, and the need for order and unity. But political language alone does not constitute a political theory, any more than the existence of "internal politics" in churches, trade union, business corporations, or universities makes these groups identical in nature to a political society. To qualify as political, language must serve as a medium for expressing a theoretical conception that is itself political.

This Stoicism failed to do, and for two basic reasons. First, its philosophic outlook was not derived from a positive view concerning the nature of a truly political order, but from a conclusion about its insufficiency. The Stoic commitment was towards a society which lay outside politics. This was related, in turn, to the second fundamental weakness; namely, the ambiguity resident in the conception of the universal society. The Stoics had argued from an idea about the order of

nature, that is the harmony of a rationally integrated universe, to a notion of an ideal society embracing all of creation. This produced a theory that rested upon a serious confusion of contexts, the one a context of natural objects, the other a context of human beings. The end result was a bastardized conception whereby nature was interpreted politically and, on this basis, men were entreated to identify themselves politically with nature.²⁵ What the Stoics had done was to extract certain ideas previously connected with the political order and to transfer them to the natural order. Universal "citizenship," natural "law," and "justice" were seriously claimed as attributes of this latter order, and men were exhorted to extend their allegiance to the cosmos as though it were a true society. But, as Professor Gilson has wisely said, identification with the cosmic harmony "could be performed as an act of wisdom, but not as an act of citizenship."²⁶ In other words, the universal society was not and could not be a true political society for the very reason that it lacked any semblance of the political relationships that made "citizenship" a meaningful category.

In retrospect, then, the important development that had taken place in political thought since the time of Aristotle had come down to this: the distinctively political elements in political philosophy had become swallowed up in an undifferentiated whole. The terse epitaph was supplied by Marcus Aurelius: "the poet says, Dear city of Cecrops; and wilt not thou say, Dear city of Zeus." It was not that political philosophy had regressed to a pre-Platonic stage where the distinction between nature and political society had become blurred, but rather that philosophy had socialized and politicized nature while denaturing the political.

Although it is customary to distinguish various periods in the development of Stoicism and to point out that the thinkers of the Middle Stoa (second and first centuries B.C.) modified the apolitical tendencies of the early teaching and fashioned a doctrine more suitable to the needs of Roman life, it seems to me truer to say that Stoicism always retained in some measure the anti-political bias of its origins. Although it had sprung from dominantly Greek modes of thought, it did not carry the imprint of the intensely political world of Thucydides, Plato, and Aristotle, but of the Hellenistic world where absolute monarchy had withered the roots of political participation and imperial organization had made a mockery of the educative mission of the polis. Yet this philosophy found its way to Rome towards the beginning of the second century B.C. and there it influenced several eminent public men, such as Scipio Africanus minor and M. Porcius Cato. Its stern morality of probity, fairness, and austerity seemed ready-made for a political system that desperately needed a code of conduct for public magistrates and administrators. Moreover, the Stoic model of a universal society, built on a fine contempt for the parochialisms of race, class, and nation, appeared to coincide nicely with the Roman world-state. For all of these seeming congruities, however, Stoicism became the natural complement to Rome only when that society had

become so exhausted by internal conflicts and distended by imperial conquests that it had lost the basic determinants of a political community. The tension between philosophy and society was abolished under the happy coincidence that both were apolitical.

Something of this is to be glimpsed in the values of Roman public life that Stoicism helped to support: *gravitas, constantia, disciplina, industria, clementia, frugalitas.*²⁸ Here was an ethic that was not so much derived from political life as one intended to protect the participant against its temptations. At bottom, it reflected the conviction that the bureaucratized and highly impersonal public life of the Empire had only the slenderest ties with man's potentiality for moral development. Public office and political participation became something it had never been for the Greeks, a stern duty requiring an elaborate justification. Under these circumstances the best that philosophy could produce was an ethic of public service, a joyless bureaucratic morality. Perhaps it had not been a simple philistinism but an instinct for the political which had let the Senate, shortly after the Stoic Crates had begun to lecture at Rome, to issue a decree expelling philosophers (161 B.C.).²⁹

IV. POLITICS AND THE ROMAN REPUBLIC

Almost two centuries before Augustus succeeded (in the words of Tacitus) in subjecting a world "wearied by civil strife" to near absolute control, the Romans had known one of the most intensive political experiences of any Western people. In the brief period from the middle of the third century to about the middle of the first century B.C., the Romans had not only to cope with the social and economic problems familiar to the ancient world generally, but to subdue and govern an enormous stretch of territory, containing a wide variety of cultures, and to attempt all of this through a set of political arrangements intended rather for a citystate than an empire. Polybius might marvel at the wonderful way in which Roman institutions were adapted for this imperial task, but in the end the republican system proved unable to sustain its enormous burden. Before this magnificent failure, however, the Romans had presided over an unprecedented experiment in managing the dynamics of politics through institutional forms and in exploring the outer limits of political conflict. The system itself was not democratic in the older Greek sense, and the active conduct of affairs always remained in the hands of a relatively closed oligarchy. It is also true that legal niceties were not always observed and that the great struggles of the first century exposed the largely formal quality of Roman constitutionalism. Nevertheless, after all of the necessary qualifications have been made, the fact remains that the Romans did try to accommodate political vitalities in a new way and, in so doing, made a considerable contribution to political practice and one that had important implications for political theory.

In the first place, the Romans showed the role that institutions might play in giving shape and direction to society. Roman society was sharply differentiated into several social orders—patricians, plebs, clients, freedmen, *equites*—and these were structured into several gradations of classes and centuries, each with its own rights and obligations. These social arrangements, in turn, were meshed with the system of assemblies, elections, and military organization. Although the interplay between social structure and political institutions did not always function smoothly or effectively, it did useful service in keeping the political system sensitive to changing social pressures and it did help to direct political behavior along fairly orderly lines. Cicero's bias was evident in his remark that "when the people are divided according to wealth, rank, and age, their decisions are wiser than when they meet without classification in the tribes," yet it was based on a sure recognition of the role of institutions in defining and ordering an important segment of the community.

The political institutions themselves, that is the system of assemblies, executive offices, courts, and the Senate, formed a complex mechanism that provided both an outlet for, and a restraint upon, the dynamics of class conflict, group rivalries, and personal ambitions. Polybius and Cicero were mistaken in trying to explain the genius of the system in terms of a neat balance of forces, but they were basically correct in drawing attention to the fundamental importance of institutions in legitimizing political conflict among diverse forces and interests in Roman society.

There were other lessons to be derived from institutional politics. One of the most important is related to the type of leadership possible when politics is conducted through institutional forms. Greek political thought had largely conceived leadership in terms of a political hero whose task it was to fabricate the institutions of society and to leave behind a political order bearing the impress of a single personality. In contrast, the Romans viewed leadership as a political activity that must conform to pre-established institutional requirements. They sensed that institutions function as a kind of common denominator of action, requiring the political actor to respect established conventions and settled expectations. The effect of these conformities was to level individual greatness, or rather to identify it with the political system itself. The limits placed upon leadership by institutional requirements also exerted a significant effect on the nature of political action. An institution, such as an assembly or an administrative body, is a complex of human actions that must be integrated and coordinated if a decision is to emerge. At best, coordination tends to be imperfect, and, consequently, the objectives of action are rarely achieved in a direct way. Political action, in other words, becomes indirect in character: between the word and the deed stands the distorting medium of institutions.

In the political thought of the period, these characteristics of institutions were expressed through an implicit criticism of Platonism. The role of institutions in

legitimizing conflict, in leveling political greatness to conform to the requirements of institutional politics, in making political action indirect, all served to raise questions about the Platonic conception of the political art as one whereby a superhuman intelligence, working directly on its "materials," transformed a whole community. Towards this union of architectonic knowledge, individual greatness, and political power, Roman thought expressed a deep and very Burkelike suspicion:

Cato [according to Cicero's report] used to say that our constitution was superior to those of other states on account of the fact that almost every one of these commonwealths had been established by one man . . . On the other hand our own commonwealth was based upon the genius, not of one man, but of many; it was founded, not in one generation, but in a long period of several centuries and many ages of men. For, said he, there never has lived a man possessed of so great genius that nothing could escape him, nor could the combined powers of all the men living at one time possibly make all necessary provisions for the future without the aid of actual experience and the test of time.³¹

These ideas were put into more systematic form by Polybius (cir. 200–120 B.C.), who, although a Greek by education, had acquired an intimate knowledge of both Greek and Roman politics. While admitting that some of the Greek constitutions were good evidence of what a single intelligence might accomplish, Polybius maintained that the Roman example showed that there was another kind of political knowledge, one based not on "any process of reasoning" but rather on the experience gained from "many struggles and troubles." 32 When the major principles of Polybius's thought are gathered together—the turn towards a pragmatic form of knowledge, the contempt for theories of ideal states, the use of an historical method, and, above all, the belief that the future could be predicted from a correct reading of the past—the result was to give a new direction to political theory. "In the first place," Plato had declared, "let us try to found the State by word."33 Now, however, political theory, like political action, was to become more indirect in nature. Instead of seeking a vantage point "outside" political phenomena, one that would enable thought and action to impose a pattern on the whole, political theory was to occupy an observation point within phenomena, content to report the drift of events rather than to master them, and to resign itself to a world ultimately unconquerable:

[Just as] the sole test of a perfect man is the power of bearing high-mindedly and brave the most complete reverses of fortune, so it should be in our judgment of states.³⁴

Similarly, Plato's deep bias against political conflict and the general Greek tendency to treat disorder as symptomatic of a diseased polity³⁵ were at odds with the

phenomenon of intense political rivalry that characterized Roman public life in the two centuries preceding the Principate. The Romans had tested and perfected almost every technique of political management: the conscious manipulation of the masses by means of public spectacles and demonstrations and the exploitation of the symbols of religious and political belief. They had reduced political strategy to a fine art; coalitions among interest groups and the tactic of wooing the supporters of rival groups formed the basic behavior pattern in Roman politics. At the same time, the seamier side of politics was also practiced with great skill—patronage, bribery, vote-buying, tampering with electoral bodies, and the sale of public contracts. Elections themselves were highly organized affairs wherein candidates would canvass (petitio) the electorate, dispatch their election agents (divisores) to solicit the vote and to distribute bribes.³⁶ In view of the pervasiveness of politics at Rome, it is not accidental that modern students of Roman history have felt justified in analyzing these developments with the aid of concepts like "parties," "pressure groups," and "machines."37 Although these notions court the danger of anachronistic interpretations, their use testifies to a felt need to find concepts that will do justice to the politics-ridden quality of the subject-matter.

During the republican period, political activity took the form of group politics wherein rival oligarchies, drawn from largely the same social strata, competed for office, prestige, and power. The famous struggles between the plebs and the patricians and, later, between the *optimates* and *populares*, were essentially contests between rival groups of the nobility. Although they rarely scrupled to bid for mass support, they never surrendered control of the game. The nuclear center in these struggles was the great families, such as the Fabii, Aemilii, and the Claudii, who succeeded in establishing virtual monopolies over certain offices, like the consulate and censorship, and fought always to restrict membership in the Senate to their own strongly inbred group. To preserve and extend their influence, the great houses entered into alliances with lesser families; marriages and adoption became highly refined forms of political strategy.

This shift towards interest as the basis of politics was further registered in a changing conception of virtue. Friendship (*amicitia*) was purged of the disinterestedness ascribed to it by Aristotle and made to accord with the group politics described earlier. The extent to which the idea of friendship was converted into an instrument of political strategy is apparent in Cicero's effort to patch up his differences with Crassus; his letter of friendship, he wrote, should be considered as a treaty (*foedus*). The virtue of *liberalitas*, too, was defined with an eye towards its political uses. According to Cicero's interpretation, it had to do with the prudent management of one's resources so that one's friends could be benefited. "The common bonds of society will be best strengthened if kindness is extended to those nearest us." In keeping with this mood, justice was treated as a useful type of knowledge for eliciting the cooperation of others in supplying our

own wants "in full and overflowing measure." At times Cicero's discussion of justice in *De officiis* seemed wholly absorbed with the intriguing problems of why some men will voluntarily work to advance the interests of another man and what techniques were best suited for securing this kind of support. 40 The modification of the virtues was further bound up with the activism that pervaded Cicero's philosophy—virtus in usu sui tota posita est—and formed the logical accompaniment to the emphasis on interests. "The first care" of those who administered the commonwealth was to see that "everyone shall have what belongs to him and that private citizens suffer no invasion of their property rights by act of the state."41 Since "public actions have the widest sphere and affect the lives of the most people," the highest form of virtuous action was not to be located in philosophic contemplation, as Plato and Aristotle had held, but in governing a state. "Action is chiefly employed in protecting human interests; it is indispensable to human society and holds, therefore, a higher rank than mere speculative knowledge."42 Nothing was more revealing of the distance between Cicero and Plato than the anguish experienced by the Roman because banishment from active politics had driven him to the vocation of philosopher; the difficulty envisioned by Plato would be to force the guardians to lay aside philosophy for governing.

V. THE POLITICS OF INTEREST

The importance that interest had assumed in Roman political practice and thought added a new shade of meaning to politics and heightened the distinctive character of political action. The Romans had realized instinctively not only that the legitimizing of interest entailed a limited form of action, a kind of domestic diplomacy, but that the multiplicity of interests presupposed as well the incomplete character of solutions to political issues. If political activity was centered on interests, the attendant problems had to be resolved on the same basis; that is, on the basis of claims that conflicted precisely because each claim had a particularity that set it off from other claims.

Harmony is very easily obtainable in a state where the interests of all are the same, for discord arises from conflicting interests, where different measures are advantageous to different citizens.⁴³

The rivalries for power and advantage taught the Romans something else about the odd status of a political problem. The common spectacle of competing groups, each headed by experienced leaders with roughly the same patriotic motives, yet each asserting a different policy for the same problem, could not help but raise questions about the nature of the problem itself. What was it about a political problem that provoked a variety of proposals, each often inconsistent with the other?

The most frequent answer, that given by Plato among others, was to reject the question as specious and to claim instead that when men gave different answers to the same problem the cause lay not in the problem but in their knowledge about it. Nevertheless, the mere fact that a political society can withstand rivalry among groups and survive, even flourish, amidst the quick changes from one policy orientation to another, raises the possibility that the status of political issues is *sui generis*. The Roman historian Sallust remarked that after decadence had set into Roman society "it was the commonwealth in its turn that was enabled by its greatness to sustain the shortcomings of its generals and magistrates." ⁴⁴ This does not imply that a political society can withstand any number of fantastic remedies and incompetent leaders, but it does hint at the presence of certain types of conditions that operate either to offset the effects of different and alternating policies or else restrict the range of possible remedies that might be advanced.

In the first case, that of offsetting conditions, one might argue that a society that enjoys continued and expanding economic prosperity, such as Rome enjoyed as a result of her imperial position, or Britain later experienced in the nineteenth-century phase of the Industrial Revolution, or the United States today—under these conditions a society can absorb a good deal of experiment and alternation in policy, some of it even foolish and uninspired.

In the second case of conditions that serve to limit the range of remedies, a kind of "political rationality" develops when contending groups are exposed to similar education and experience; they gradually come to accept the same set of values, regardless of how lofty or ignoble they may be. Even a band of thieves, Augustine remarked later, must recognize certain limits if the group is to survive. When political competition takes place within a setting where some agreement exists concerning the rules and the general meaning of distributive justice, the groups involved come to see the world in much the same light. Although there may be disagreement over remedies, there is usually agreement over what are the problems. Moreover, since each group is bidding for the support of the same constituency, it is compelled to try to woo the supporters of its rivals by adopting a largely similar program with only slight changes of emphasis. At the same time, rivalry on these terms means that certain alternatives are naturally excluded because, under the existing prerequisites of successful political action, their realization is impossible.

Whether the factors contributing to rational political behavior be in the nature of basic laws, fundamental conventions, or a common political morality, their continued observance implies that politics has not as yet been reduced completely to a matter of interest. That is, the obligation of the competing groups to adhere to the basic rules means nothing less than obeying the rules even when particular interests or ambitions are not always being served. The question of whether an obligation is present when one's interests are *never* served by the system of rules is of a different order. This extreme condition aside, when the inter-

est motive is admitted into politics the real danger does not reside in any moral depravity consequent on the pursuit of so-called materialistic ends; man's history has not been a pretty record when he has fought for "ideal" ends. The real danger comes when politics is reduced to nothing but the pursuit of interests, when no controlling standards of obligation are recognized.

The perfect example of this is provided by Cicero's formula for halting the gradual erosion of the constitutional system. He urged a *concordia ordinum* among the "best" elements in Roman society, an alliance of the *optimates* against the *populares*. ⁴⁶ But the proposal was futile inasmuch as no such alliance was possible except on the basis of interests; the only basis capable of uniting some men was one that divided them from others. This dilemma, however, was not the result of accident, but the inescapable consequence of the basic principle that, according to Cicero, underlay the Roman system. The main reason for establishing a commonwealth had been interest; that is, man's desire to keep what was his own:

Although mankind were associated together with the help of nature, yet it was the hope of retaining their property that led them to seek the protection of cities.⁴⁷

Cicero's lament, "some belong to a democratic, others to an aristocratic party but few to a national party," was merely a rhetorical escape; interest is not to be conjured away by calling it "national" or locating it in some mysterious realm above politics.

Towards the middle of the first century B.C., the limitations of the politics of interest began to become apparent. Imperial expansion, the enormous flow of wealth into Rome, the seemingly endless opportunities for political ambition intensified the pace of politics and made men impatient with traditional restraints and customary procedures. The fluidity of the situation allowed the political adventurer to circumvent the long and arduous haul up the several rungs of office prescribed by the cursus honorum. "Many have thus perished," Tacitus wrote, "even good men, despising slow and safe success and hurrying on even at the cost of ruin to premature greatness."48 The violence of party struggle grew, placing an unbearable strain on constitutional processes. The ground-rules of political life, which Cicero had defined as equal protection before the law and the common recognition of law as the inviolable bond of society (lex sit civilis societatis vinculum), 49 steadily lost their meaning. Terror, proscriptions, confiscation of the opposition's property, and the growing reliance on private armies became the prevailing techniques. Politics had passed from rivalry to warfare. The frequent pleas voiced by a Cicero or Cato for the revival of the old values and virtues sounded hollow, because the long schooling in interest-politics had conditioned the Romans to distrust their own political vocabulary. Cato's complaint, that "we have long since lost the true names for things,"50 was part of the evidence that the crucial words communicating the Roman political consensus, libertas, auctoritas,

pietas, mos maiorum, had for so long been manipulated as party slogans that they seemed more a disguise for than an indicator of reality. As men came to distrust the formalities of politics, they began instinctively to be on the alert for the interest "behind" high-flown phrases, the "true" motive concealed beneath public pieties. "Under the pretence of the public welfare," Sallust noted, "each in reality was working for his own advancement."51 The Romans had learned the hard truth of Aristotle's dictum that when particular "ideologies" prevail, when public meanings appear determined exclusively by the interests of those having sufficient power to impose their particular interpretations, then it becomes extremely difficult to maintain a consensus. A society, however, cannot long endure uncontrolled political conflict and the inevitable reaction is to demand peace at any price. "Custom or law there was none," wrote Tacitus, until society, exhausted by the violent politics of the late republic, found refuge in a regime pledged to the elimination of all but the most controlled political activity. The Augustan Principate was summarized by Lucan in words that served also as the epitaph of Roman politics: "Cum domino pax ista venit."52

VI. From Political Association to Power Organization

The declining significance of popular participation, the losing struggle to maintain republican institutions, the ingenious use of a constitutional façade to conceal the emergence of monarchy, and the growing importance of bureaucracy were evidence that men were now being governed by a power organization rather than a political association. In stressing the power character of the new political organization, I am not contending that prior to the age of empire men had refused to recognize that power was an essential part of governing. All that is suggested is that power assumed a preeminence as the distinguishing mark of government primarily because the other factors in political society were being reduced to secondary importance. Plato and Aristotle had appreciated the phenomenon of power, but had inserted it within a context of controlling considerations. In their view, the political association existed to serve the material and cultural needs of the members, and although power was necessary to coordinate and direct human activities in order that these needs would be best satisfied, it did not follow that power was the central mark of an association composed of contributing parts. When these considerations lost their compelling force, however, the way lay open for considering power the central political fact.

The transition to the new view of power had been clearly registered in the political thought of Polybius. His *Histories* sought to account for the rapid emergence of Roman supremacy, and, as he admitted, the controlling conception in his study was the nature of power: "how it was and by virtue of what peculiar political institutions that in less than fifty-three years nearly the whole world was

overcome and fell under the single dominion of Rome, a thing the like of which had never happened before."⁵³ From here Polybius was led to ask questions about the nature of power: what were the causes of the military successes and political expansion of Rome? why had she succeeded where other states had failed? was there a regular pattern to the waxing and waning of various types of states? And when Polybius had found his answer it turned out to be a prescription for the right organization of power by means of an institutional balance.

The power nature of the new organizations was reflected in the turn taken by the later Roman conception of citizenship. At Rome the category of citizen was highly prized, but after the brief period of republicanism had passed, the citizen of the Principate and Dominate came to be regarded less as a participant than as a subject; that is, as one who obeyed the commands of authority. At the same time, the psychology governing the possession of rights was dictated as a response to power. To compensate for the loss of identity with the community, men looked to legal guarantees against the community. In Cicero's revealing definition, "the peculiar mark of a free community" consisted of the principle that it was illegal to violate the civic privileges or private property of an individual except by the decisions of the senate, the people, or an appropriate tribunal. 54 Henceforth the element of participation became of secondary importance, 55 and the operative role of citizenship was to provide the only common status or meeting ground for men who were otherwise sharply distinguished by social, economic, religious, and cultural differences. What was political about citizenship was its role in overcoming heterogeneity, numbers, and space. The dramatic event that underscores this change was when Paul, the apostle of a persecuted and hostile sect, demanded of the centurion, "Would you scourge a man who is a Roman and uncondemned?"

If we ask: what was the intellectual response to the primacy of power? the answer is that nowhere was the failure of political philosophy more effectively demonstrated than in its inability to account, in political terms, for this central fact in the political life of these centuries. Confronted with power, one impulse of political philosophy was to flee and seek refuge in a "golden age" located somewhere in the pre-political past. In numerous writers we find this idea, but the significant point is that they pictured mankind in a society that had been purged of all political marks: neither law, coercion, property nor conflict had existed in the state of political innocence. ⁵⁶

Another and far stronger impulse, but one that was equally apolitical, was to suffuse power with religious symbols and imagery. Not the naturalism of a Polybius but a supernaturalistic view of power was dominant throughout much of the Hellenistic period and again in the centuries following the establishment of the Augustan Principate. This was a certain sign that men had come to look towards the political regime for something over and above their material and intellectual needs, something akin to salvation. If men could not flee from power to the

golden age or to the universal city of reason, they would interpret it differently, treating it as the saving force that sustained the political world. As far back as Hellenistic times, the theories of kingship had revealed a trend in which the ruler stood as the symbol of the fears and yearnings of the politically disinherited.⁵⁷ In the writings of the period, the other elements of a political theory receded to the background and the ruler stood alone and remote. The fate of the body politic was resigned to the moral character and foresight of its governing head. He was the sole instrument of the divine *logos*, of that saving force which, by his mediation, could regenerate society and its members; he alone could rid the world of conflicts and make it a replica of the divine *homonoia*; he must, therefore, be worshipped by the names of Savior, God Manifest, Benefactor, and Creator.

These same themes were picked up again by the poets of the Augustan age, Virgil and Horace, who wove them into quasi-religious patterns. Augustus was depicted as a political savior who had come "to succor a ruined world" and to transform "an age of violence" into one of peace. While the poets succeeded only in decking absolutism with pretty myths, philosophy, although less graceful, was equally futile. If we take Seneca's *De Clementia* as representative, we find that absolutism has paralyzed the ability of philosophy to do more than offer comfort. The whole of Seneca's political world was dwarfed by the towering figure of the absolute ruler and completely dependent on his merest whim:

All those many thousands of swords which my peace restrains will be drawn at my nod; what nations shall be utterly destroyed, which banished, which shall receive the gift of liberty, which have it taken from them \dots this is mine to decree. ⁵⁹

The emperor was "the bond by which the commonwealth is united, the breath of life which these many thousands draw," and without him the whole society would rush to its own destruction. Before this terrible power, the proud tradition of philosophy was reduced to a groveling helplessness; nothing remained except for Seneca to beseech Nero to temper his absolutism by mercy (*clementia*). 60

This belief in a political savior, as well as the persistent attempts to assimilate the ruler to a deity and to describe the government of human society as analogous to God's rule over the cosmos, were themes reflective of the degree to which political and religious elements had become deeply intermixed in men's minds. In a variety of ways, in the conception of the ruler, subject, and society, the "political" quality was becoming indiscernible. At the same time, from the fourth century B.C. until well into the Christian era, men repeatedly thought of the Deity in largely political terms. Thus the paradoxical situation developed wherein the nature of God's rule was interpreted through political categories and the human ruler through religious ones; monarchy became a justification for monotheism and monotheism for monarchy.⁶¹ In the dialogue *Octavius*, composed by the Christian writer Minucius Felix in the third century A.D., one of the speakers

says, "Since you do not doubt the existence of providence, surely you do not think we need inquire whether the heavenly kingdom is governed by the rule of one or the control of a number." The final touch to these confusions of vocabulary was supplied by another Christian, Justin Martyr, in his *Dialogue*. The value of philosophy was defended by the remark, "Don't philosophers make all their discussions about God, and aren't they always asking questions about his foresight and monarchy?" 62

VII. THE DECLINE OF POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY

In looking back on the kinds of political speculation that had followed the death of Aristotle, it is evident that the apolitical character of life had been faithfully portrayed, but no truly political philosophy had appeared. What had passed for political thought had often been radically apolitical; the meaning of political existence had been sought out only in order that men might more easily escape from it. It was not that the Hellenistic philosophies had criticized the existing political societies, or even that they had pointed their thought towards a transcendent society, but rather that they had reacted to the growth of large-scale, impersonal societies by projecting a picture of a society without any discernible limits at all. The decline of the *polis* as the nuclear center of human existence had apparently deprived political thought of its basic unit of analysis, one that it was unable to replace. Without the polis, political philosophy had been reduced to the status of a subject-matter in search of a relevant context. Instead of redefining the new societies in political terms, political philosophy turned into a species of moral philosophy, addressing itself not to this or that city, but to all mankind. When Eratosthenes advised Alexander to ignore Aristotle's distinction between Greeks and barbarians and to govern instead by dividing men into "good" and "bad," this marked not only a step towards a conception of racial equality, but a stage in the decline of political philosophy. Aristotle's distinction had been derived from an essentially political judgment about the competence of non-Greeks to undertake political responsibilities.

The people of northern Europe, he noted, have retained their freedom, yet they exhibited no capacity for political development or for governing others. The Asiatics suffered from a servile spirit, and hence they remained subjects and slaves.⁶³

Eratosthenes' advice indicated that political thought, like the *polis* itself, had been superseded by something broader, vaguer, and less political. The "moral" had overridden the "political," because the moral and the "good" had come to be defined in relation to what transcended a determinate society existing in time and space. Seneca's suicide was the dramatic symbol of the bankruptcy of a tradition of political philosophy that had exchanged its political element for a vapid moralism.

CHAPTER FOUR

•••

The Early Christian Era: Time and Community

... Ye are no more strangers and foreigners, but fellow-citizens with the saints . . .

. . . Our commonwealth is already existing for us in heaven . . .

-St. Paul

I. THE POLITICAL ELEMENT IN EARLY CHRISTIANITY: THE NEW NOTION OF COMMUNITY

The troubled centuries that followed the establishment of imperial monarchy at Rome found the tradition of Western political thought at its most impoverished. There had been failure all along the line: failure to face the implications of concentrated power, failure to indicate ways and means for recapturing a sense of participating membership, and failure to preserve the distinctive integrity of political knowledge. Hellenistic and Roman thinkers had struggled to account for the new magnitudes of politics, the extension of space, the centralization of power, and the unprecedented enlargement of the constituency, but in the end they had confessed to being unable to supply new theoretical constructs that were both political and intelligible. The attempted ordering of political phenomena through cosmological categories suggests that the newly enlarged magnitudes of politics had so far outdistanced the political understanding that only cosmic concepts appeared pertinent.

The reconstruction of political thought proved to be a long and arduous process extending over several centuries and manifesting odd twists and turns. It was a process that began in paradox and ended in irony. With the default of philosophy, it fell to Christianity to revivify political thought. This may seem paradoxical in the light of the common belief that in its early phase Christianity professed a resolute indifference to political and social affairs and its followers appeared absorbed in "otherworldly" concerns. Admittedly, there is no difficulty in mustering evidence to show that in the first two centuries the Christians believed political affairs highly irrelevant to the fundamental problem of human existence. Their hopes were high that the "last days" were imminent, hence what need was

there for Christians to turn to politics when the political order was part of a scheme destined to disappear in the Apocalypse? Had not Jesus declared, "My kingdom is not of this world . . . Let those who mix in the world live as if they were not engrossed in it, for the present phase of things is passing away"? Moreover, the apolitical direction of early Christianity seemed further confirmed by the way in which it gradually established an identity distinct from Judaism. For the religious experience of the Jews had been strongly colored by political elements; church and nation had been a single concept. The terms of the covenant between Jahweh and his chosen people had often been interpreted as promising the triumph of the nation, the establishment of a political kingdom that would allow the Jews to rule the rest of the world. The messiah-figure, in turn, appeared not so much as an agent of redemption as the restorer of the Davidic kingdom.² In the early Christian teaching, however, the rejection of Jewish nationalism— "neither Greek nor Jew, circumcision nor uncircumcision"—and the dramatic refusal of Jesus to accept the role of messiah-king, added a further consistency to the claim of the new movement to be above politics.³

Given these strongly apolitical tendencies, the thesis that the new religion contributed substantially to the revitalization of political theory can be sustained only by adopting a somewhat unorthodox approach. Most discussions begin by accepting in a literal fashion the Christian claim to being a politically undefiled movement. This leads to a kind of Hegelian interpretation in which the numerous contacts between the new sect and the political order are viewed as a dialectical encounter in which the purely political thesis meets the purely religious antithesis. In the present chapter, I shall take issue with this interpretation. The significance of Christian thought for the Western political tradition lies not so much in what it had to say about the political order, but primarily in what it had to say about the religious order. The attempt of Christians to understand their own group life provided a new and sorely needed source of ideas for Western political thought. Christianity succeeded where the Hellenistic and late classical philosophies had failed, because it put forward a new and powerful ideal of community which recalled men to a life of meaningful participation. Although the nature of this community contrasted sharply with classical ideals, although its ultimate purpose lay beyond historical time and space, it contained, nevertheless, ideals of solidarity and membership that were to leave a lasting imprint, and not always for good, on the Western tradition of political thought. At the same time, the movement quickly evolved into a more complicated social form than a body of believers held together in fervency and mystery; the mystic community was soon encased in its own structure of governance. This, as we shall see, provoked new problems equally pertinent to political thought.

There was irony too in these developments. The remarkable spread of Christianity and the evolution of its complex institutional life were accompanied by a

politicization of the Church, both in behavior and in language, which had the unintended effect of continuing the political education of the West. In pursuing religious ends, the leadership of the Church was compelled to adopt political ways of behavior and political modes of thought. The long tradition of civility which was built up "inside" the Church, and which became all the more important as the Church acted as residuary legatee of the Roman Empire, put the West eternally in debt; for the experience meant nothing less than that political ways of thought and action were preserved. The irony, however, lies in the fact that the Church paid a price, one that was strictly exacted at the Reformation, of a loss in religious vitality. The weakening of the Church not only allowed temporal rulers to establish their freedom of action and to prove how well they had learned their political lessons, but the politicization of religious thought, which had all along accompanied the merging of the purely religious identity of the Church into a politico-religious compound, opened the way for the development of an autonomous body of political theory which a compromised theology could not contain.

These developments had their beginnings in an event that is often overlooked in political theory but was crucial from the viewpoint of the early Christians. The drama of the Crucifixion had been enacted against a political backdrop; the Lord of the Christians had been put to death at the command of a political regime.⁴ This act made it impossible for Christians to take a strictly neutral attitude towards the political order. In addition, the complicated view that the Christian took of his own condition compelled him to confront the political order. Although he expressed a contempt for the "world" and his conviction of its impermanency was strengthened by periods of Roman persecution, his outlook was not comparable to the classical cult of withdrawal where the wise man searched for a fortress of impregnable virtue to withstand the buffets of chance and fate. Instead the Christian's political attitudes were born of tensions inherent in the nature of the summons laid upon him. He was being called upon to struggle for a new life while entrapped within the old. The result was a continuing tension between the untransfigured realities of political and social existence and the promise of "new heavens and a new earth wherein dwelleth righteousness." 5 At times the tension was snapped in an ecstasy of millenarianism, and men looked hopefully towards "the last hour" which would put an end to the evils and injustices of political and social life. 6 Yet the uncertainty surrounding the second coming of Christ made it inevitable that Christians would have to seek some modus vivendi with the world of magistrates, tax collectors, and law courts.

One expression of this was Paul's distinction between the obligations owed to political authority and those reserved for God.⁷ In exhorting Christians to render to Caesar the things which were due him, Paul did not mean to imply that civic

loyalties were wholly separate from religious loyalties and that, consequently, the political order existed in tarnished isolation from the rest of God's creation. The critical significance of the Pauline teaching was that it brought the political order within the divine economy and thereby compelled its confrontation by Christians:

For by him were all things created that are in heaven, and that are in earth, visible and invisible, whether they be thrones, or dominions, or principalities, or powers: all things were created by him and for him.⁸

Despite Paul's attempt to accommodate the political order within the Christian scheme of things, there were powerful forces operating within early Christianity which inhibited a total integration. A sense of political estrangement persisted. That Paul felt it necessary to come down heavily in defense of political authority—"the powers that be are ordained of God . . . whosoever therefore resisteth the power, resisteth the ordinance of God . . . wherefore ye must needs be subject, not only for wrath, but also for conscience sake"9—was evidence of a deep unease in the relationships between the Christians and the political order. This is to be explained partly by the psychological difficulties experienced by a beleaguered and persecuted sect in a hostile society. Paul would not have had to put the case for political obedience in such emphatic language had the Christians felt a natural and spontaneous loyalty to their Roman rulers.

Psychological explanations aside, however, the ambivalent political strains of limited commitment and ultimate disengagement can be understood more fully in terms of other considerations. In the first place, the Christian political attitude expressed the mentality of a group that regarded itself as being outside of the political order. Irrespectively of how often the early leaders pleaded for the faithful to obey their political rulers or how strongly they insisted upon the sanctity of social obligations, they could not dispel the impression of an unbridgeable distance between the point from which Christians surveyed political affairs and the actual locus of affairs. "And be not conformed to this world, but be ye transformed by the renewing of your mind . . . "11 This attitude must not be understood as mere alienation or the expression of an unfulfilled need to belong. Nor is it to be accounted for in terms of the stark contrasts that Christians drew between eternal and temporal goods, between the life of the spirit held out by the Gospel and the life of the flesh symbolized by political and social relationships. What is fundamental to an understanding of the entire range of Christian political attitudes was that they issued from a group that regarded itself as already in a society, one of far greater purity and higher purpose: "a chosen generation, a royal priesthood, an holy nation, a peculiar people . . . "12

All of these components in the Christian political complex were nicely illustrated

in the thought of Tertullian.* There was the sharpened sense of separateness from the political order: "the fact that Christ rejected an earthly kingdom should be enough to convince you that all secular powers and dignities are not merely alien from, but hostile to, God." There was also the confidence that came from being a member of a better society:

We are a body knit together as such by a common religious profession, by unity of discipline, and by the bond of a common hope . . . Your citizenship, Your magistracies, and the very name of your curia is the Church of Christ . . . You are an alien in this world, and a citizen of the city of Jerusalem that is above. ¹³

At the same time, there was the reluctance to withdraw totally, to deny that Christians were part of the society "outside:" "We live with you in this world, not without a forum, not without baths, taverns, shops . . . and other places of intercourse. Moreover, we sail with you, serve in your armies, work with you in the fields, and trade with you." ¹⁴

In later pages, we shall try to indicate more fully the "political" nature of this community: how Christians came to express their common life through an increasingly political vocabulary and how the Church, in developing many of the attributes and facing many of the same problems usually considered to be peculiarly political, eventually came to rate its own communal life as inherently superior to a political society, not simply by the obvious standard of spirituality, but by *political* and *social* criteria. In other words, political society was to be challenged on its own grounds by a church-society which had become, in Newman's phrase, a "counter-kingdom." At this point, however, we are concerned only to emphasize that the Christian understanding of the outside political order, the way they viewed the scope of its powers, the extent of its legitimate obligations, and its over-all utility, was the expression not of the frustrated longings of some disinherited souls in search of community, but of a group whose solidarity was assured by a profound sense of membership:

Christians are not distinguished from the rest of mankind by country or language or customs . . . While they live in cities both Greek and oriental . . . and follow the customs of the country . . . they display the remarkable and confessedly surprising sta-

* Tertullian (cir. 160–220 A.D.) has been called, next to Augustine, "the greatest theologian of the patristic period." Born into an African and pagan family, he received a legal and classical education which left a lasting mark on his thought even after his conversion. He quickly became one of the most effective apologists for Christianity during its period of persecution and was the first Christian theologian to write in Latin. Later he joined the Montanists, a rigorist and "enthusiastic" sect, and turned his talents against the Church. Eventually he broke with Montanism to form his own sect. Despite his association with heresies he made lasting contributions to Trinitarian and Christological doctrines.

tus of their [own] citizenship. They live in countries of their own as sojourners. They share all things as citizens; they suffer all things as foreigners . . . They pass their life on earth; but they are citizens in heaven. ¹⁵

The Christian conception of the nature of their community was to have farreaching effects upon later social and political ideas. A whole range of traditional categories was upset or modified, categories relating to membership, social unity, the kinds of purposes that could be achieved in common, and the relationships that ought to hold between leaders and members. The first aspect to be noted is that Christian writers looked upon Christ as an architect of community, "the new law-giver" in Justin Martyr's words. According to Origen,* Christ "began a weaving together of the divine and human nature in order that human nature, through fellowship with what is more divine, might become divine . . ." Yet the transcendental quality attaching to Christ sharply separated His labors from those of the Great Legislator portrayed in the classical tradition. This contrast was heightened in the basic elements singled out by Christians to mark the peculiar identity of their society. They borrowed the old classical analogy between a body politic and an organic body, with its intimations of oneness and mutual interdependency, but they suffused it with mystical and emotional qualities alien to classicism:

For as the body is one, and hath many members, and all the members of that one body, being many are one body; so also is Christ. For by one Spirit we are all baptized into one body \dots 17

At its deepest level, then, the community was founded on the mystery of the *corpus Christi*. The symbol of community was the sacrament of the Eucharist whereby the believer took in the life-giving substance of Christ's body. In partaking of the "medicine of immortality," as Ignatius** called it, each individual formed a part of a community of true communicants, sharing together the promise of eternal life. Their common membership was further symbolized by baptism, which marked their entry into the new fellowship; by the community meal of the Lord's supper, 19 which contrasted so sharply with the rationalistic proposals for common dining in Plato's *Laws* and Aristotle's *Politics*; and by the constant

- * Origen (cir. 185–254 A.D.) was born in Egypt and educated at Alexandria. He is considered the greatest Greek apologist for the Christian religion. Educated in classical philosophy, and especially in its Neoplatonist version, he labored to fashion out of Platonism and Christianity a philosophical theology. Although many of his doctrines were subsequently declared heterodox, his influence on later theological doctrines was profound.
- ** Ignatius (cir. 37–107 A.D.) is included among the Apostolic Fathers. The many letters that he wrote placed great emphasis upon the unity of the Church and the authority of the bishops and clergy. He became Bishop of Antioch and, according to one tradition, he was killed after being condemned by the Emperor Trajan.

effort of the members to emulate their Master whose death itself had a social meaning: "I am making up in my own flesh the deficit of Christ's suffering for His Body which is the Community." Just as Christ had died out of love for mankind, so the new community was bound together, each member to the other, by affective ties which expressed an emotion unknown to the Greek idea of a community of friends:

We know that we have passed from death into life, because we love the brethren. He that loveth not his brother abideth in death.²¹

Although these were notions intended to define the nature of the new society, as well as to educate Christians to an understanding of their own community, they could not fail to have disturbing effects on traditional political ideas. One example of this was the impact on the idea of political obligation. Too often most discussions have fastened on the conflict created by the Christian belief that the limits of political loyalty were to be determined in the light of a higher duty to God. Undoubtedly this introduced a conception radically different from that of antiquity, but the truly revolutionary aspect was that the Christian could approach the question of political obligation in a way that classicism never could. For the Greeks, the question did not involve a meaningful choice, because political membership was treated as an overriding necessity—excepting, as Aristotle had noted, only beasts and gods. So powerful was the classical belief in the intimate connection between human perfectibility and the political order whose province it was to sustain the appropriate conditions that, although a question of ethical duty might be provoked by this or that law or by the nature of a perverted regime, such as a tyranny, rarely were doubts raised about membership in political society per se. Even though the Stoic might simulate allegiance to a universal society of rational beings, they never argued that in cases of conflicting loyalties there existed a genuine alternative to the political order. The Christian, on the other hand, could entertain meaningful doubts about political obligation and membership, because his response was not governed by a hard choice between membership in a political society and membership in no society at all. He could choose because already he belonged to a society that surpassed any existing one in the things that mattered most; he belonged to a society that was "an outpost of heaven."

Thus it was the early Christians who, for the first time, converted disengagement into a fundamental challenge to political society. In place of the protesting individual Cynic or Stoic, the political order faced an unprecedented situation where the politically uncommitted had been gathered into a determinate society of their own and where political disengagement went hand in hand with the rediscovery of community, albeit one pitched to a transcendent key.

The obvious query that arises at this point is, if the early Christians considered their own society superior, why were their leaders constantly reminding the members to discharge their civic duties, engage in normal social relationships, and support the political order in most matters? There are, of course, some obvious answers. Survival dictated that an unpopular sect not go out of its way to provoke public authorities. Again, there is little evidence to indicate that Christians looked upon their society as replacing all of the functions carried on in the "other" society. When Paul warned against "going to law before the unjust, and not before the saints," he meant only that Christians could resolve their controversies inside the group; he did not mean that Roman tribunals had been superseded in all matters by Christian procedures. But there was, I think, a far more significant reason why Christians felt drawn towards political commitment; this was the element of fear. To refuse civic duties, to withdraw from social functions meant, as was soon recognized, an inevitable weakening of the order that maintained peace and the arts of civilization. This belief, that the Roman Imperium was all that stood between civilization and anarchy, was not original with the early Christians. It formed, instead, a continuation of an old theme which had been prominent, for example, in the literature of the Augustan age. Virgil, Horace, Tacitus, and, later, Seneca constantly invoked the frightened imagery of a tottering world whose sole salvation depended on the providentia of its ruler.²² The emperor came to be praised as the *restitutor orbis*, the rejuvenator of a dying system. Although the bitter rivalries among the political factions of the late republic undoubtedly contributed to these apprehensions and made men ready to reverence authority, these tendencies were hurried along by the growing threat of barbarian pressures at the extremities of the Empire. The barbarian invasions shocked the Romans into a fearful consciousness of an "outside," of a restless and alien force, constantly probing for weakness and threatening to engulf the civilized world.

> O, forge anew our edgeless swords On other anvils, to be bared Against the Huns and Arab hordes!²³

Fear and a sense of the fragility of power were written large into the early Christian attitude as well. Again, our best witness is Tertullian. Despite his extreme doctrinal views and his later association with the Montanist heresy, his early works faithfully represented the Christian attitude towards the Roman Empire. Writing as he did during a period of severe persecution, there was no reason for him to feel kindly towards the political order. Nevertheless, despite frequent expressions of hostility towards political life, he saw no contradiction in Christians praying for the continued power of Rome. "We pray," he protested, "for

Emperors, their ministers, for the condition of the world, for peace everywhere, and for the delaying of the end."²⁴

This last phrase, "the delaying of the end," illustrated the paradox at the heart of the Christian attitude towards the world. On the one hand, a genuine recognition that the new sect was implicated in the fate of the political order:

When the Empire is shaken, all of its parts are shaken also, hence even though we stand outside its tumults, we are caught in its misfortunes.²⁵

On the other side, the strongly running current of chiliasm, which Tertullian shared, encouraging Christians that the end was imminent, that the cataclysm preceding Christ's return was happening before their eyes in the form of Rome's disintegration. In the contest between these two contraries, one pulling Christians towards the defense of the political order, the other causing them to exult at its imminent demise, 26 millenarianism was defeated; the thought of existence without the securing power of the political order was too much to bear. Men feared a return to "political nature" more than they loved the Apocalypse, and when, after the second century, the Church itself developed a vested interest in delaying the millennium—one expression of this being that among the sects branded as heretical several held to a fervently eschatological outlook—the stage was set for the development of a tradition of Christian writers feeling a deep sense of involvement in the fate of the Empire. Jerome* and Lactantius,** for example, vividly reflect the shock at the crumbling of Roman power,²⁷ and Augustine's *De* Civitate Dei, perhaps the greatest of all Christian writings, was a direct response to the sack of Rome in 410.

The presence of an unknown "outside," the fear of an intruding force which would dissolve the web of political and social relationships, had been, as we have seen, a constituent element in Western political thinking as far back as the time when the Greeks had become conscious of the Persian Empire. From that time forward, the intellectual response has been that the "outside" posed the danger of a return to a condition where political relationships and the accustomed course of phenomena lose their coherence and lapse into a state of disconnectedness, a state of political nature. Consequently, political thinking has striven to render the situation intelligible by demarcating the boundary between the coherent and the

^{*} St. Jerome (340–420 A.D.) was one of the important Latin Fathers. He was born of a wealthy Christian family and thoroughly educated in classical rhetoric and philosophy. He wrote voluminously and is best remembered for his superb translation of the Bible into Latin.

^{**} Lactantius (*cir.* 240–320 A.D.) was a North African by birth and became one of the major Christian apologists for the Empire. He spent his life as a teacher and writer. In the former capacity he served Constantine's son Crispus. In his writings, the most important being the *Divinae Institutiones*, he sought to persuade the educated of the truth of Christianity. The purity of his style was such that he is often called "the Christian Cicero."

incoherent, to encase the former within a conceptualized structure sufficiently sturdy to withstand the fears aroused by the unknown. In later pages, we shall examine the culminating effort of early Christianity, as represented by Augustine's concept of *ordo*, to extend regularity, not only to political affairs, but to all of creation and to all of human history.

The impulse towards theoretical order has, however, taken several forms. During the early Middle Ages, it was expressed by the claim of the popes to be caput totius mundi; that is, to be governing heads of a world that seemingly knew no outside. More modest, but perhaps the more significant on that account, was the notion of Europa which emerged in fitting complement to the Church's consecration of Charlemagne's rule. Europa was conceived as a distinct unity whose identity was defined by a common faith and whose existence was secured through the common governance of emperors and pope.²⁸ Whether men wrote of an imperium christianum, a regnum Europae, or later of a societas christiana, there was the same impulse to separate the known securities of the "inside" from the dark and threatening forces of paganism, heresy, and schism which lay beyond the perimeter. Nor is it difficult to find in modern political literature continuities with this type of thinking. It is sufficient to recall Burke's characterization of the French revolutionary government as breaking its "great political communion with the Christian world" and adopting a political foundation "fundamentally opposite to those on which the communities of Europe are built."29 And the same theme has recurred in twentieth-century writings concerned with the challenges of Communism, Fascism, and Asian nationalism to the common set of cultural values associated with the "West."30

II. THE CHURCH AS A POLITY: THE CHALLENGE TO THE POLITICAL ORDER

The recognition on the part of the early Christians that the Roman Empire constituted a bulwark of civilization did not, however, dissolve fully the inherent tensions between Christianity and the political order. Christians might feel gratitude to the Roman legions for securing the frontiers and to Roman officials for administering justice, yet gratitude could not compete with the Christian allegiance to the church-community. The discrepancy in value between the two societies constitutes only a part of the Christian position; for although they accounted the church-community superior they did admit that the political order was valuable for serving the ends of peace and maintaining the conditions of social life. As Augustine later allowed, even a society "alienated from the true God" contained a measure of worth.³¹ Out of these considerations there issued the Christian estimate of the political order as a second-best arrangement, inferior to the promised city "which cannot be moved," and necessarily condemned to rely on coercion rather than love. It was primarily for this reason, that is that the political order

epitomized coercive power, that it could never rival the society of believers. This judgment had been passed by Paul in *Romans* when he had laid special emphasis upon the repressive nature of political authority: "he is the minister of God, a revenger to execute wrath upon him that doeth evil."³³

In previous pages we have seen how the classical tradition had always struggled to show that the political order comprised more than mere power, that it was a complex of functions contributing positively to man's development. What Christianity succeeded in doing was to equate the political order with power and then, without conscious predesign, to transfer to their own society many of the attributes previously associated with the political order, including the element of power. "We also rule," declared Gregory Nazianzen.* "It is a rule that is more excellent and more perfect, unless the spirit is to be subjected to the flesh and the heavenly to the earthly."³⁴

The politicizing of the Church which paralleled the diminution of political qualities attributed to the political order was bound up with changes occurring in the life of the Church. By the end of the second century it had ceased to be a loose association of believers, bound together by ties of doctrine and the vague primacy of the early apostles, and had become instead an institutionalized order.³⁵ The appointment of its officers had been placed on a regular basis; the creed had become more formalized; a hierarchy of authority had developed; there were extensive properties to be managed; and a measure of uniformity had to be achieved among the scattered churches. The change from a spontaneous group life to a more formal ecclesiastical polity testified that the logic of order, like the fervor of belief, had its own imperatives. Although the primordial unity of Christian society had rested upon a unity of belief, it was gradually realized that a believing society did not differ from any other kind of society in its need for leadership, governance, discipline, and settled procedures for conducting its business. A passage from Origen, which deserves lengthy quotation, makes it apparent that the increasingly political character of the Church had made men conscious of the parallel with political societies, and that, far from being alarmed by the comparison, the response was to proclaim superiority of the Church, as a polity, over other political entities:

The church (*ecclesia*) of God, let us say in Athens, is quiet and steadfast, as wishing to please God who is over all things; but the assembly—also called an *ecclesia*—of the *people* of Athens is full of discord, and in no way comparable to the Church of God in Athens. The same is true in . . . Corinth . . . Similarly, if you compared the Council of the church of God with the Council of any city, you would find that some of the councillors of the church are worthy, if there be such a thing as a city of

^{*} Gregory Nazianzen (329–389 A.D.), one of the "Cappadocian Fathers," was highly influential in the defense of the Nicene Faith and served as Bishop of Constantinople.

God for the whole world, to join in the government of that city . . . you have only to compare the ruler of the church [i.e., the bishop] in each city with the ruler of the people in the city, in order to see that . . . there is a real superiority, a superiority in progress towards the attainment of virtue, when measured against the behavior and manners of the councillors and rulers who are to be found in these cities.³⁶

Even in the early years there was evidence that the believers had realized that a kind of latent power inhered in the Church. This was identified with the miraculous workings of the Holy Spirit, indwelling in a congregation and heightening the solidarities of doctrine and ritual.³⁷ By the second century, however, the power of the group was coming to be associated with unity and uniformity; that is, with those qualities that had been central to the inquiries of classical political thought:

And do not try to think that anything is praiseworthy which you do on your own account: but unite in one prayer, one supplication, one mind, one hope . . . When you meet frequently the forces of Satan are annulled and his destructive power is cancelled in the concord of your faith.³⁸

When this point had been reached, the task of preserving unity led to other problems equally political in nature, such as the proper obedience to be rendered authority and the disciplinary instruments needed to insure conformity. In an argument no different from that commonly used to support political obligation, Ignatius pointed out how the office of bishop served to enhance the power of the group and that, therefore, the believer-subject must obey unhesitatingly:

If the prayer of "one or two" has such power, how much more that of the bishop and all the church \dots Let us then be careful not to resist the bishop, that through our submission to the bishop we may belong to God \dots Let no one do anything that pertains to the church apart from the bishop \dots 39

This shift in the center of gravity from the community to its leaders, was summarized in the next century by Cyprian* in words that clearly revealed the degree of politicization that had crept into Christian modes of life and thought:

The episcopate is one; the individual members have each a part, and the parts make up the whole. The Church is a unity . . . the Church is made up of the people united to their priest as the flock that cleaves to the shepherd. Hence you should know that the bishop is in the Church and the Church in the bishop, and that if any one be not with the bishop he is not in the Church . . . the Church is one and may not be rent

^{*} Cyprian (*cir.* 200–258 A.D.) achieved wealth and status as a lawyer before his conversion in 246. His great talents as an administrator were quickly recognized and he was made a bishop. His writings contributed one of the most comprehensive early theories of the nature of the Church.

or sundered, but should assuredly be bound together and united by the glue of the priests who are in harmony one with another. 40

All that remained to round out the theory of authority was to give it a temporal depth, and thereby a legitimacy, comparable, say, to the hereditary principle in politics. This was supplied by the idea of apostolic succession which sanctioned power in the name of an unbroken chain of continuity, linking present office-holders with the primitive apostles:

Age has succeeded age, bishop has followed bishop, and the office of bishop and the principle of church government has been handed down, so that the Church is established on the foundations of bishops, and every act of the Church is directed by those same presiding officers. ⁴¹

These political tendencies were strikingly confirmed from another quarter. As the early Church became more routinized, developing settled ways of behavior, fixing points of doctrine, and evolving an hierarchical system of offices, it encountered a serious dilemma. On the one hand, it sought to develop doctrine and ritual in a way that would promote the widest possible unity consistent with truth; on the other hand, since this called for accommodating a wide variety of views at a time when doctrine and ritual had not fully matured, it was inevitable that the Church would be criticized by purists and accused of departing from the original legacy. The dilemma was that of any expanding organization; its size, complexity, and the variety of its constituents made it very difficult for it to continue making decisions without outraging a part of its membership. At the same time, the resentments thus provoked inevitably undermined the unity and consensus of the community, thereby helping to destroy the conditions for effective action. As a result, the Church was plagued by a succession of internal dissensions which its organizational imperatives could not tolerate; the categories of schism and heresy were born, and their shape was conditioned in no small degree by the fact that the Church was deeply involved in the circular dilemmas of political types of decision-making.42

It is not our purpose to examine the range of issues provoked by these dissident movements, but to fasten attention on one aspect: that an important part of their grievances was directed at what we have called the "political" qualities of the Church. This was particularly marked in the case of Montanism,* which began in the middle of the second century and continued into the third when it attracted its most famous convert, Tertullian; and it formed a significant element in

^{*} Montanism was a movement of the last half of the second century. It was characterized by a strong belief in the imminence of the Apocalypse and its outlook was colored by enthusiasm and asceticism. It was eventually condemned by the Church.

the Donatist* schism of the fourth century. The anti-politicism of these movements consisted in their rejection of just those aspects of the Church that were distinctively political. The dissidents protested that the true nature of the Church could not be reconciled with a decision-making organization resting on a sharply defined concept of authority, instruments of power for enforcing discipline and uniformity, a bureaucratic hierarchy designed to govern and administer a scattered constituency, and techniques of compromise, such as church councils and synods, to facilitate the Church in juggling its many contradictions of love and power, truth and solidarity, transcendent goal and worldly involvement.

This whole politico-religious complex was attacked at several crucial points by the dissenters with the result that the Church was driven to a deeper understanding of the political elements in its own make-up. In the first place, the rebels often expressed a view of history and time which, by its radicalism, pointed up the degree to which the Church had tamed and modified the primitive, chiliastic view of time to accord with the needs of an institutionalized order. The spokesmen of the Church sensed the inherent antagonism between the assumptions underlying an ordered structure, with its developing sense of tradition and reliance upon routine, and the assumptions of those who had grouped together in the expectancy that the destruction of the world was imminent.

Thus the contrast in conceptions of time was logically accompanied by opposing estimates of the worth of institutional arrangements. On the one hand, there was the high excitement generated by the belief in an impending apocalypse, an irruptive view of time: Christians, Tertullian declared, need no longer obey the biblical injunction to increase and multiply, for the last days were impending.⁴³ On the other side, there was the contrast of the unruffled, measured outlook of a large organization, sophisticated rather than primitive, viewing time as a gradual, smooth unfolding in the tempo of Elgar's *Pomp and Circumstance*. For the latter, time had to be adjusted to institutional life; to the former, institutions had shriveled to a trifling concern before the impending climax of history. If, as the chiliasts believed, the Apocalypse was near at hand, the "true" Church must be readied for the final test. Its membership must be rid of the tares and made a truly holy society, "without spot or wrinkle." Since the existing Church was one where "the Antichrist baptizes in the name of Christ, the blasphemer calls upon God, the profane person administers the office of the priesthood, the sacrilegious person establishes an altar," it behooved the true believers to break off communion, "to flee from and avoid, and to separate ourselves from so great a wickedness." 44

^{*} Donatism was a fourth-century schismatic movement. African in origin, it was distinguished by rigorism, a "perfectionist" theory of the Church, and by the teaching that sacraments administered by an impure minister were invalid. At times members of the movement resorted to violence, and strong overtones of African nationalism were also evident.

Thus like the style of argument used by later political as well as religious radicals—the Anabaptists, the English Puritans, the Levellers, Tom Paine, and Rousseau—these early dissenters hearkened back to a society at once simpler, purer, and undisfigured by distinctions of status or the tortuous methods of organizational decision-making. Tertullian's protest, "Are not even we laymen priests?" and its subversive conclusion that "you both offer and baptize, and are a priest alone for yourself," carried the genuine accents of radicalism, its belief that virtue is stifled by institutions, that a mass of graduated intermediares has been unnaturally inserted between the individual and the life-giving spirit he seeks. "Did God speak to Moses to speak to Jean-Jacques Rousseau?"

As in so many later forms of radicalism, "enthusiasm" ran high in these early movements. 46 Not the stately pondered decisions of ecclesiastical councils, but the sudden, spontaneous revelation of the private believer was taken as the mark of religious authenticity. This same temper was apparent later when, for example, the English Levellers appealed to the private judgment of the individual citizen: "every man that is to live under a government ought first by his own consent to put himself under that government"; or when Paine proclaimed the superiority of a system based on the spontaneous desire of each to satisfy his interests over one where prescription and hereditary right had etched things in a way outrageous to common sense. In the case of the early Christian radicals, what they wanted was not a bureaucratic but a pneumatic society, a society of ascetic spirits, undifferentiated by rank or authorities, held together, not by power, but by truth, and forever trembling with an explosive intensity. 47

Anti-politicism was in evidence, too, during the great fourth-century controversy over the sacraments. One of the important issues, if we may simplify, was whether the sacraments administered by a bishop of dubious orthodoxy were invalidated by reason of his moral or religious deficiencies. The official position, as formulated by Optatus,* was that the sacraments were holy in themselves and not because of the men who administered them: "The Church is one, and its sanctity is derived from the sacraments, not weighed on the basis of pride in personal achievements." The Donatists, on the other hand, contended that the worth of the sacrament was destroyed if the bishop were immoral or heretical. On its face, this dispute might seem a strictly theological matter of no political relevance. In actuality the reverse was true. The Donatists, in effect, were attacking the Church's conception of the transforming power of office. For the Church, the divine promise had been located only in the life of the religious society over which it presided; divine grace was expressed through its institutions. It followed that

^{*} Optatus (fl. 370 A.D.) was an African bishop. Except for his attacks on the Donatists, little is known about him.

the personal sanctity of a bishop was subordinate to whether he had been duly invested with the authority of office.

That the Church should have taken this position was some indication of the distance it had traveled since the days when it had been a spare organization of believers seeking to imitate the life of Christ. In keeping with the institutional behavior now demanded, the leaders no longer based their superiority, as of old, on the grounds that their actions were *imitatio Christi*, but rather on the fiction of representativeness; that is, on the performance of an institutional function and the authority that accompanied it:

The invariable source of heresies and schisms is in the refusal to obey the priest of God [the bishop], the failure to have one in the church who is looked upon as the temporal representative of Christ as priest and judge.⁴⁹

The emphasis on authority indicated, too, the rejection of the Montanist and Donatist contention that the Church ought to be a holy community of the pure. In Augustine's formulation of the "official" position, the membership of the church-society was a mixture of sinners and saints, yet this did not undermine its authority or its holiness, because these were not gifts of the members but of Christ. ⁵⁰ It followed from the mixed nature of the membership that authority and discipline, order and hierarchy were all the more necessary.

The natural accompaniment to these political manifestations in the Church was an increasing resort to essentially political modes of thought. Again the roots lie deep in the early beginnings of the movement. A hint is contained in the way that Christ was addressed by some of his followers as "king." Similarly, in the confession of the primitive church, the response, "Jesus is Lord," was squarely in the tradition of the patriotic confessions employed in the imperial cultus. ⁵¹ In the Epistle to the Hebrews, strong political overtones were in evidence: Jesus is given a throne and sceptre by God; through his faith he proceeds to political triumphs, subduing kingdoms and bringing righteousness; and the crowning fulfillment lies in the promise of "a kingdom which cannot be moved." 52 Again, St. Paul, in writing of the ultimate "community" in heaven, reverted to the Greek politeuma, a word rich in political associations; and when he went on to declare that the faithful, by virtue of their membership in the politeuma, were joined with the saints in heaven, the word he used was sympolitai; that is, fellow-citizens.⁵³ So accustomed did men become to sliding back and forth between political and religious usages that a scriptural text, like Romans 13:2, which had been employed to enjoin political obedience—"whosoever therefore resisteth the power, resisteth the ordinance of God"—was turned by St. Basil* to magnify church authority:

^{*} St. Basil (cir. 330–379 A.D.) was famous for his formulation of the rules of monastic life. He held the bishopric of Caesarea and wrote vigorously in the defense of the Nicene formula.

"those who do not receive from the churches of God what is commanded by the churches resist the ordinances of God." 54

Recent scholarship has carefully investigated much of the Christian vocabulary and conceptual forms of the first five centuries and has produced persuasive evidence of the depth to which political ideas had penetrated theology. This in itself is not surprising. We have already pointed out that during the Hellenistic period political concepts had merged with ideas about nature and deity; hence the age in which Christianity first appeared was one in which the distinctiveness of political thinking had already been severely compromised. When Christians began to systematize their beliefs about the nature of God's rule, Christ's relation to the society of Christians, and the character of the Christian community, they could not avoid expressing their thoughts through prevailing ideas about the nature of the emperor's office, the role of the citizen, and the function of a governing power. In describing God's nature, Origen paints a picture of an imperial monarch who governs the vast stretches of his domain without "ever leaving his home or deserting his state." Again, Lactantius discusses the question of "whether the universe is governed by one God or many" in the same manner that a classical political writer would have discoursed on the advantages of monarchy over government by the few or many.⁵⁵ Even in such unpromising subjects as Christology and Trinitarianism the political element was never far beneath the surface. Origen had Christ appear as a political savior, sent to rescue men from the final perdition and to revive the strength of rulers and ruled; to "restore to men the discipline of obedience, to the ruling powers the discipline of ruling." Tertullian turned to a familiar theory of monarchy in order to explain the role of the Father in the trinitarian formula, and in one of the early writings of Athanasius,* the logos was compared to a king presiding over the founding of a city; elsewhere he likened the logos of the Father to a power which ruled the cosmos by a nod, causing all things to fall into order and to perform their functions.⁵⁶

What the foregoing suggests is that, as the Church evolved a political structure, it became increasingly natural for its spokesmen to fall into political modes of expression. This tendency was further supported by the fact that many of the leading churchmen had been educated in classical philosophy and rhetoric, disciplines in which the political element had been prominent. In view of the infusion of the political into church life and thought, was it accidental that the Church declared heretic the Tertullian who most concisely epitomized both the anti-political and anti-philosophical temper of a by-gone phase: "There is noth-

^{*} Athanasius (*cir.* 296–273 A.D.) was the leader of those churchmen who defended the formulas of the Nicene Council against the attacks of Arius. The doctrinal contribution of Athanasius to the Nicene Faith was instrumental to its success. Throughout his life he was frequently exiled as a result of the intrigues of his enemies.

ing more alien to us than politics . . . What is Athens to Jerusalem, the Academy to the Church?" 57

III. POLITICS AND POWER IN A CHURCH-SOCIETY

After sketching the various features of the political profile of the Church, including the development of a political vocabulary, there remains the problem of whether the church-society could be said to be "political" in the far more significant sense of having to cope with situations comparable to those faced by any political society. In other words, was the Church compelled to face the problems of "politics"? Earlier in our discussion "politics" was located in the situations of conflict and rivalry which crop out in society and call for the use of distinctive techniques of ruling, such as compromise, conciliation, the art of distributing various kinds of social goods, and, when necessary, the application of force. If we apply this conception to the Church, a surprising amount of politics is evident. To be sure, allowance has to be made for a certain refraction that occurs when political matters are passed through the different medium of religion, yet there is abundant evidence that the Church had continually to face political situations and that it responded to these in a political way. Although it might be said that political characteristics tend to become the properties of any large organization, enough has been stated already to indicate that these characteristics were not fortuitous products, happening to result because the Church had adopted a settled organization, but rather the logical consequence of latent political motivations and of the kinds of problems confronted. A remark by Chrysostom* illumines these tendencies: "Nothing will so avail to divide the Church as love of power." 58 This warning, which can be duplicated by many others, suggests that the Church was acting politically, rather than the different conclusion that some of its actions appeared akin to political behavior.

The most extreme form of political conflict was experienced in connection with the phenomena of schism and heresy, yet there were other, less spectacular, but equally political rivalries which plagued the life of the society during the formative centuries. For example, the contest over appointments to high ecclesiastical office was not greatly different from the usual rivalry for political positions. Again, the growing superiority of the bishop of Rome created national resentments among the churches in Antioch, Africa, and elsewhere with the result that the "central government" had to make concessions of various kinds—concerning finances, appointments, or local autonomy—which would satisfy

^{*} St. John Chrysostom (*cir.* 347–407 A.D.), a Greek Father of the Church, was famed as a reformer, a brilliant stylist, and strong opponent of allegorical and theological interpretations of Scripture. He has been called the "greatest of Christian expositors."

local sentiments. The Donatist schism, for example, had drawn strength from the resentment felt by African Christians towards "outside" interference from Rome. Finally, the growth of an ecclesiastical bureaucracy, coupled with the federalism of the early Church, created endless jurisdictional disputes of a type common to any political organization. We can summarize these considerations by saying that the Church, like any political order, had to face political problems at two levels, each of different intensity. At one level, that of primary or "first-order" conflict, it had to contend with disputes directed at fundamental principles of doctrine or organization. This occurred in the case of schisms and heresies where the Church was faced with the alternatives either of making concessions on fundamental matters, and thereby altering its own identity, or of extirpating the dissidents. At the other level of secondary conflict, such as that provoked by rival claims to a bishopric or by jurisdictional disputes, the issues could be resolved without touching the essential principles of the church-society.

The distinction between primary and secondary conflicts can be put in another way which draws out some further implications. Secondary conflicts of the kind mentioned above revolve around objects of scarcity: the demand for offices, honors, and money exceeds the supply. Consequently, the same problem of distributing scarce goods, which we have earlier noted in connection with political regimes, appears also in an ecclesiastical polity. The case of primary conflicts, however, is less straightforward, and there are further complicating elements in a church-society because of its claim to be based on truths that admit little leeway in interpretation. In the latter sense, the good symbolized by the Church is boundless and, therefore, unsusceptible to the sort of conflicts engendered by scarcity or by the thorny question of relative distribution which appears when social status, wealth, or preferment are at issue. At the same time, the Church also acts as guardian of a uniform truth which is conceived as being coextensive with the Church. This was the essence of Cyprian's formula, and it has remained the distinguishing claim of the Church over the ages: extra ecclesiam nulla salus, no salvation outside the Church. Thus the good administered by the Church was inexhaustible, but only within the confines of the Church. There could be no spiritual life outside; a schismatic group might perform the same rituals and utter the same words, but no efficacy attached to the ceremonies for they lacked the sanctifying holiness present in the life of the Church. "The Holy Spirit is one, and cannot dwell within those outside the community." 59

The issues provoked by schism and heresy, by virtue of the fact that they touched upon fundamental principles, had the effect of deepening the political consciousness of the early Church and forcing it to defend its unity by methods comparable to those used by a political order. Although a distinction between schism and heresy was recognized after the second century, the early Church tended to treat both as raising conflicts of first-order significance. "It is not a different faith but the broken fellowship of communion which makes schismatics."

Or in the later definition by Isidore of Seville,* "Schism is named from the rending of minds. For with the same worship and rites it believes as the rest; it delights simply in the division of the congregation." 60

Against these threats the Church emphasized the importance of unity, which it defined in terms of a uniform communion permitting only minor differences. Just as a political order is led to distinguish between permissible and nonpermissible forms of behavior and thought, and to decide when disagreements become sedition, the Church, too, had to practice the fine art of drawing lines. This had the effect of placing dissident groups, whether of the latently or openly schismatic variety, in the same position as a political faction. That is, the nature of unity in a religious society rested upon uniformity, and hence any group that challenged the elements of uniformity became a divisive force. Words like factio and stasis crept into the vocabulary of the Church, and controversies over doctrine, organization, or appointments were fought out by organized groups, such as the one that existed in the fourth century at Antioch over the homoiousion dispute. These conflicts reproduced another form of behavior identical to that in political societies when groups struggle to make their partial position or interest identical with the whole, and to have the seal of "public" authority affixed to their viewpoint. The response of the Church was politically revealing in that it exhibited a far greater elasticity in crucial matters than one might expect. An impressive set of techniques of compromise and negotiation were employed to explore avenues of conciliation. Synods, councils, conferences, and other methods for reaching agreement became political arts shaped to deal with situations not covered by tradition, revelation, or the inspired literature of the Church.

From the point of view of the schismatic, the decision that he had to make formed a striking parallel with that facing a citizen who refuses to obey the law. Apostasy is rebellion written in a theological key. Although the rebel might claim that the official Church was no longer the "true" Church, he could not avoid having to decide at what point he could no longer obey without doing violence to his religious and moral scruples. Once this point was reached, a host of other questions assailed him: how did he know that his judgment was infallible? what effect would his disobedience have on the Church? how was the truth which he defended to be weighed against the evils which necessarily followed from disobedience to authority? was it justifiable to rebel over a few points when one was in agreement with so much else?⁶¹

On its side, the Church had to face squarely the problem of coercion. St. Basil might describe the Church as "an evangelical and guileless polity," but its spokesmen quickly recognized that innocence was of no avail when the principle of

^{*} Isidore of Seville (*cir.* 560–636 A.D.), author of the encyclopedic *Etymologiae*, was famed both for his learning and his organizing abilities in helping to spread Catholicism in Spain.

ecclesiastical authority was being challenged by "mad dogs who bite secretly."62 Beginning with the conversion of Constantine in the early fourth century and continuing throughout the next, Christianity frequently appealed to secular authorities for aid. One of the charges laid by the Donatists against the Roman Church was that the latter had called for the intervention of secular power into religious controversies. In attempting to justify this course, the Church apologists were compelled to examine the nature of power and the implication of its uses by an organization that professed virtues at the opposite extreme from coercion, virtues such as love, charity, and humility. There was little attempt on the part of these early Christian writers to dodge the issue, as later papal apologists were wont to do, by pointing out that the dirty business of punishment belonged to the temporal order, and that, therefore, while the Church defined religious crimes, its hands remained unsoiled by power. Instead, spokesmen like Augustine met the issue directly: how could a society based on belief, that is on the inner convictions of the members, justify the use of compulsion? The central issue was not so much whether the enforcement of legal penalties could direct external behavior; the church-society demanded believing adherents, not outward conformists. What, then, were the dynamics of power that enabled it to induce or compel a change of heart, a reorientation of belief towards the good?

By putting the question in this way, we are able to see the radical aspect to the Christian teaching on power. The source from which power drew its strength was fear, not the fear of the righteous, for whom the application of power was irrelevant, but rather the fear of the unrighteous:

For rulers are not a terror to good works, but to the evil. Wilt thou then not be afraid of the power? do that which is good, and thou shalt have praise of the same: For he is the minister of God to thee for good. But if thou do that which is evil, be afraid \dots 63

This early formulation identifying power with fear was perpetuated by later writers. Thus in the *Adversus Haereses*, written by Irenaeus* about 185 A.D., it was declared that originally fallen man existed in a condition of violence, but, unlike the later Hobbesian state of nature, there was no sense of fear to force men to ponder the way of escape. It required instead an act of divine intervention; God had to send government and law so that men might know fear and be receptive to obeying.⁶⁴ But this still left the basic question unresolved: was government simply a negative, repressive force, or could it exploit fear for creative ends? This next step was hinted at in Tertullian's cryptic formulation, "*Timor fundamentum salutis est*," fear is essential to salvation.⁶⁵ Although Tertullian did not have in mind the

^{*} Irenaeus (*cir.* 130–200 A.D.) has been described as "the first biblical theologian." He was a staunch opponent of Gnosticism and defended scriptural revelation and the primitive Christian view of history against esoteric teachings.

use of political power, this became less important as the Church began to evolve its own forms of control, including the ultimate weapon of excommunication. In a society of believers there could hardly be any greater way of inspiring terror than to threaten men with separation from the life-giving communion. As Cyprian warned, under the old law the Jews had used the temporal sword to slay those who had rebelled against the authority of the priests, but now the religious rebel was cast out of the Church; that is, slain by the spiritual sword. 66

By the time Augustine wrote, there had been almost a hundred years of experience with the use of secular power to support religious belief. His views were all the more significant because originally he had doubted the efficacy of force in changing convictions. The Donatist schism caused him to alter his position and to re-evaluate the matter. He held that coercion in itself was not evil; everything turned on the object towards which men were compelled. Admittedly, the application of power could not directly create true believers out of heretics and schismatics, but it could instill a salutary fear, a provoking stimulus forcing them to reconsider their own beliefs in the light of the truths to which they were being made to accede.

When the saving doctrine is added to useful fear, so that the light of truth drives out the darkness of error, and at the same time the force of fear breaks the bonds of evil custom, then . . . we rejoice in the salvation of the many who bless God with us. 67

To a surprising degree, Augustine rested the case for compulsion on pragmatic grounds. Since persuasion had proved unavailing in inducing the vast majority of men to enter the Church, sheer numbers could be brought in only by power, and hence the pragmatic test: did coercion in fact increase the number of Christians inside the Church?⁶⁸

This tough-minded view of power seems incongruous in the great exponent of Christian love. ⁶⁹ Yet the paradox is an important one, because it shaped a theory of power that has exerted a powerful influence in the West. Augustine consistently held that love and power were not of necessity mutually inconsistent: "righteous persecution" must be distinguished from "unrighteous persecution." Compulsion was righteously used when it was informed and motivated by a spirit of charity; to neglect those souls who had strayed from correct belief was a greater cruelty than punishment, because it forever condemned them to darkness. "Terrible but salutary laws" administered in a "spirit of love," and a deep concern for the souls of others, took the stigma from power. In short, love dictated compulsion.

Although there were some precedents for this notion in the Hellenistic and Roman tradition, where the emperor had been pictured as a kindly father who reluctantly chastised his child-like subjects for their own good, these had lacked the powerful passions and sentiments of Christian love. Power and compassion, the use of violence against persons with whom the power-wielder was implicated and

interconnected by the mysteries of the faith, this was something new and frightening. Unlike Dostoyevsky's Grand Inquisitor who, readily admitting that his role was not that of the sweet and gentle Jesus, eventually drives the Savior away, the Augustinian power-holder had blended the two roles leaving no appeal from power to love.

Augustine was prepared to go even further in defending the use of power. Unity, he argued, was an essential quality of society, because it contributed to that condition of peace which made a Christian life possible. If unity was a good, Augustine reasoned, then even enforced unity possessed some value; and, since there could be no higher unity than that based on a common set of beliefs or "precepts of agreement," it was legitimate to enforce temporal penalties on behalf of true belief. Why should a man be allowed to enjoy the protections of the law and the benefits of society, and be free to sin? With this the Western political tradition was brought to the edge of a definition of the political community which was to bedevil men with countless theoretical and practical difficulties down to the end of the seventeenth century: the definition of the political community as a unity of like-minded believers.

IV. THE EMBARRASSMENTS OF A POLITICIZED RELIGION AND THE TASK OF AUGUSTINE

Once the Church had accepted power as a legitimate instrument for advancing its ends, it faced the danger of losing its distinctive identity in an argument that proved too much. To the early Christians one of the main distinctions between the political and religious orders was that the latter alone controlled the practices of redemption. The peace, order, and prosperity maintained by government did not advance the salvation of the believers or invade the monopoly of the means of grace held by the Church. Yet if it were admitted that power could promote the divine mission of the Church, and if at the same time the state was viewed as the supreme embodiment of power, the unique character of the church-society would thereby be compromised.

The threat to identity had appeared in the fourth century when Christianity faced the great temptation, that of relying on a friendly government for support and accepting the use of political power to forward the universal mission of the Church. After the Roman policy of intermittent persecutions had failed to check the rapid growth of Christianity, the state suddenly switched to the more benevolent and dangerous method of favoring the new religion. With the triumph of Constantine in the West (312 A.D.), Christianity entered into a novel and difficult stage, a kind of *scandale du succès* in which the status of a disreputable and harried sect was changed dramatically into a privileged position, that of the official state religion. The nature of Constantine's conversion is a vexed issue which need not detain us,

for the important point was that his policies retained much that was reminiscent of older modes of thought concerning the relationship between religion and the political order. The danger came not so much from the favored position enjoyed by Christianity, but rather from its being converted into a chosen instrument for political regeneration, a "civil religion" shaped to the old classical model.

The suddenness of the developments found some of the Christian leaders unprepared and able to see only the great advantages in having the state actively promoting the faith. To some churchmen it seemed like a sign of speedy fulfillment of the divine promise that the religion which was meant for all mankind should now be linked to the imperium whose power seemingly stretched to the ends of the earth. Thus two pressures converged: the Christian one that aimed at the conversion of society and the political one that sought to harness this new *élan vital* for political ends. In Eusebius of Caesarea* a spokesman appeared voicing the rhetoric of the holy alliance. He did not hesitate to identify the fortunes of Christianity with the existing political arrangements, even to the point of inferring that Constantine had been sent by God for the special purpose of verifying the promise of Christ.

... By the express appointment of the same God, two roots of blessing, the Roman empire and the doctrine of Christian piety, sprang up together for the benefit of men ... [With the reign of Constantine] a new and fresh era of existence had begun to appear, and a light heretofore unknown suddenly dawned from the midst of darkness of the human race: and all must confess that these things were entirely the work of God, who raised up this pious emperor to withstand the multitude of the ungodly.⁷¹

The desperate wish to lessen the appalling distance between the Kingdom of God and the society of man encouraged a belief that the emperor represented a divine instrument of the *logos* and the political order a convenient vehicle for spreading Christian truth; yet when the wish took the practical shape of an alliance between church and state, it posed a real danger that the distinctive identity of the church-society would be lost. This was the fear that had moved Donatus to protest, "What has the emperor to do with the Church?" And it could hardly be said that the reply of Optatus was reassuring: "The *respublica* is not in the *ecclesia*, but the *ecclesia* is in the *respublica*, that is, in the Roman empire." These conflicting attitudes were but the partial expression of a developing crisis occurring within Christianity and demanding some answers to a whole

^{*} Eusebius (264–340 A.D.) was one of a distinguished line of Christian scholars at Alexandria. He became Bishop of Caesarea and later the advisor of Emperor Constantine. He is chiefly remembered for his formulation of an ideology that justified the alliance between Christianity and the Empire.

range of delicate issues: how could Christianity support the state and be supported by it and yet avoid becoming merely another civic religion? what was the identity of the state in an historical situation where the Church had grown steadily more political in organization and outlook? what was the identity of the Church when the state undertook to advance the faith and police the behavior of the believers? could this hurry the last Judgment? where did both the Church and the political community stand in relation to the time-dimension of history?

The most comprehensive attempt at dealing with these problems is to be found in the writings of St. Augustine (354-430), the first and perhaps the greatest of Christian synthesizers. The significance of his work was not that it solved any of the political ambiguities in Christianity but rather that it supplied a depth and sharpness which rooted them more firmly into the Western tradition. He made the supreme effort to etch in the sharpest possible relief the religious identity of Christianity, its way of life and mission, its complex nature as an existential society as well as an intimation of a celestial society, its involvement in history and its ultimate triumph over time. Yet the ambiguities persisted; he recognized that at the existential level the Christian was politically implicated and crucially dependent on political society, so much so that the Augustine who could write of the notion of love (amor) with an unmatched passion and profundity was also the theorist of power, supplying the most persuasive case for coercing men's minds. These were ambiguities deeply rooted in Augustine's own life and personality; almost everything that he wrote carries the tensions of a passionate mind longing to rise above finite existence, "and by the continued soaring of the mind, to attain to the unchangeable substance of God." Yet he was also the ecclesiastical administrator, compelled to exercise power and to hand down judgment and punishment.

The culmination of this system, woven of the most exquisite contraries, found expression in the vivid symbolism of the two cities, of the holy society sustained by Christian *caritas* and the "minimum society" rent by human *cupiditas*:

Two cities have been formed by two loves: the earthly by the love of self, even to the contempt of God; the heavenly by the love of God, even to the contempt of self. The former, in a word, glories in itself, the latter in the Lord \dots In the one, the princes and the nations it subdues are ruled by the love of ruling; in the other the princes and the subjects serve one another in love, the latter obeying, while the former take thought for all. 72

It is important not to be misled by the powerful antithesis of the two cities into concluding that Augustine was interested in manipulating the political order only as a convenient foil for the superiorities of the Church and the glories of the celestial city. Augustine could dwell on the bitter quarrels that racked the earthly city and could speak of a deep enmity between the two cities, but he was also prepared to allow that society was natural to man, that far from being an unmiti-

gated evil, it was "better than all other human good," and that even a society "alienated from the true God" possessed a degree of value.⁷³

Once the complexity of Augustine's ideas is recognized and it is understood that the promise of a heavenly city was not taken by him to mean that the political order had shrunk to insignificance, then we can better appreciate that the dualism of the two societies functioned to establish the identity of the political as well as the religious order. The intricate pattern of religion and politics, intersecting but not absorbing, was fashioned to teach that the political and the spiritual were distinctive, however complementary they might be at certain points; that while each ought to benefit the other, neither could achieve the other's salvation; and since it followed that the one ought not to be judged totally by the mission of the other, each had to be understood to an important degree in its own terms.⁷⁴

This can be stated differently by saying that Augustinianism contained a strong dialectical element in which the polarities of good and evil, flesh and spirit, Church and political society were lodged within a comprehensive and powerfully structured order which contained and directed these dynamics toward their predestined end. On the one side, the theory of antitheses meant, in its political bearing, that the political order, for all of its utility, was never exalted but only reprieved. On the other, the theory of ordo worked to knit the political into a cosmic whole, a gradually ascending hierarchy of ends, each of which was served by an appropriate order of power and authority. "Order is the distribution which allots things equal and unequal, each to its own place."75 It was an hierarchical and distributive principle written into the very fabric of creation and animating things high and low, rational and non-rational, free and enslaved, good and evil. Its sustaining principle was love, the love of God for His creatures, the love of man for his fellows. Ordo est amoris. 76 When each creature within the universal network fulfilled its proper function, then order issued in peace. A perfect and total ordo rested on a congeries of supporting orders:

... The peace of the household is ordered agreement of those who dwell together, whether they command or whether they obey; the peace of the city is ordered agreement of its citizens, whether they command or whether they obey; the peace of the heavenly city is the fellowship of enjoying God and enjoying one another in God, a fellowship held closely together by order and in harmony; the peace of all created things is the tranquillity bestowed by order . . .⁷⁷

V. THE IDENTITY OF THE CHURCH-SOCIETY REASSERTED: TIME AND DESTINY

The idea of *ordo*, however, was more than the vision of an hierarchic universe, stable, compact, and seemingly static, wherein the manifold diversities of existence had been blended into an harmonious whole. The order of creation was a pulsating

one which contained a thrust, or "set," written into its being. It was a unity pointing towards consummation at the end of time. In the Augustinian conception of time one of the most original and significant contributions of Christian thought was given its classic statement. 78 There were enormous political implications in the new notion of time, implications which did much to delineate the contrasts between the classical and Christian attitudes towards political problems. Among many classical writers time had been conceived in terms of cycles which closely resembled nature's seasons of growth and decay, regularity and repetition: "Things which are to be do not spring suddenly into existence, but the evolution of time is like the uncoiling of a hawser: it creates nothing new and only unfolds each event in its order."79 To the Christian, with his belief that time was building towards a unique and shattering climax, the classical notion of an eternally recurrent cycle governing human affairs, a rhythm which began in hope and ended in despair, seemed a mockery of both God and man. "What wonder is it," wrote Augustine, "if, entrapped in these circles, they find neither entrance nor exit?"80 Christianity broke the closed circle, substituting a conception of time as a series of irreversible moments extending along a line of progressive development.⁸¹ History was thus transformed into a drama of deliverance, enacted under the shadow of an apocalypse that would end historical time and, for the elect, bring a halt to suffering. Buoyed by this "assurance of things hoped for" and secure in the knowledge that "the mystery which had been hidden for ages and generations has now been revealed to the saints," the Christian could anticipate what the classical mind had feared, the unfolding of future time. The future had become a dimension of hope:

As, therefore, we are saved, so we are made happy by hope. And as we do not as yet possess a present, but look for a future salvation, so it is with our happiness . . . for we are surrounded by evils, which we ought patiently to endure, until we come to the ineffable enjoyment of unmixed good; for there shall no longer be anything to endure.⁸²

All of these ideas spelled a new temporal dimension for the political order. In the providential plan controlling human destiny, it was the church-society that was the sanctified means. One of the striking aspects of classical thought had been that time had been conceived in largely political terms, as witness Plato's myth of Kronos and Polybius's cyclical theory of government. Political forms were treated as the media through which the processes of time and history were revealed. The new time-dimension, however, was both unpolitical and antipolitical: unpolitical in that the vital moments of meaning (*kairoi*) in time, such as Creation, Incarnation, and Redemption, lacked any essential connection with political matters; anti-political in that political society was implicated in a series of historical events heading towards a final consummation which would mark the end of politics. From the Christian viewpoint the central issue was whether man

and society would serve the ends of eternity or be satisfied with the transient goods that existed in time.

The new political criteria, as crystallized by Augustine, could be read in this way: to the degree that a political society promoted peace it was good; to the degree that it embodied a well-ordered concord among its members it was even better; to the extent that it encouraged a Christian life and avoided a conflict in loyalties between religious and political obligations, it had fulfilled its role within the universal scheme. The highest aspiration of political society was satisfied if it permitted those of its citizens enrolled in the *civitas dei* to pursue salvation unhindered by political distractions.

The earthly city, which does not live by faith, seeks an earthly peace, and the end it proposes, in the well-ordered concord of civic obedience and rule, is the combination of men's wills to attain the things which are helpful to this life. The heavenly city, or rather that part of it which sojourns on earth and lives by faith, makes use of this peace only because it must, until this mortal condition which necessitates it shall pass away. So long as it lives like a captive and a stranger in the earthly city, though it has already received the promise of redemption, and the gift of the Spirit as the earnest of it, it makes no scruple to obey the laws of the earthly city, whereby the things necessary for the maintenance of this mortal life are administered; and thus, as this life is common to both cities, so there is a harmony between them in regard to what belongs to it.⁸³

In Augustine's system the *civitas terrena* was not intended to represent in an exact way the political community any more than the *civitas dei* was synonymous with the Church. Rather the *civitas terrena* was a universal category imaginatively constructed to illustrate that type of life that contrasted most sharply with the *civitas dei*. Nevertheless, both the *civitas terrena* and the *civitas dei* were related in a special way to the political community, for the political community contained individuals typifying the antithetical ways of life associated with both of these cities. The political order, then, occupied a kind of intermediate plane where the two antithetical symbolisms intersected. The collective life of the political community was carried on amidst a deep tension between the naturalism of the daily activities of the community and the supernaturalism of the City of God.

Among classical writers, the radical plurality of human needs and aspirations had created the functions and justified the status of the political community. The satisfaction of these needs through the organization of a division and coordination of labor set the problem of political rule and political wisdom. Augustinianism, however, implied a contrary proposition: the highest, and therefore the most fundamental, needs of man were precisely those which no human society could ever satisfy. Ethical concerns no longer revolved on a socio-political basis, but on the extra-political claims of the soul.

[Christians] will not refuse the discipline of this temporal life, in which they are schooled for life eternal; nor will they lament their experience of it, for the good things of the earth they will use as pilgrims who are not detained by them, and its ills either prove or improve them . . . Incomparably more glorious than Rome is that heavenly city in which for victory you have truth; for dignity, holiness; for peace, felicity; for life, eternity. 84

If, however, the political order were found wanting when judged against the dimension of eternity, how was it possible, within the Christian categories, to treat of that middle area where political existence shaded into a realm of purposes, such as law, justice, peace, security, economic welfare, and a sense of community—all of which were significant without being ultimate?

This problem assumed central importance in Augustine's famous discussion of whether the Roman state could be considered a true commonwealth. It provided a classic example of how the Christian adopted the older political concepts only to transform them. Augustine took Cicero's definition of a respublica—an association based on a common agreement concerning right and on a community of interests—and then raised the question of what conditions a commonwealth must satisfy before it could be considered "just." Now the classical political writers, such as Plato and Aristotle, did not deny the existence of an absolute justice, but they did assume that an inquiry into the relationship between the "political" and the "just" ought to be directed at the kind of justice that was relevant to the peculiar nature of the political community. Augustine, however, followed a quite different method. Instead of seeking to discover what kind of justice a political order was capable of, he argued that Rome could never qualify under the Ciceronian definition because "true" justice had never been recognized. "Justice which is true justice resides only in that commonwealth whose founder and governor is Christ."85 But this conclusion obviously turned on a different definition of justice and a different conception of commonwealth than that of classicism, a definition of Christian righteousness founded on the love of God, and a conception of a commonwealth transcending any human city.

It is a mark of Augustine's greatness that he was sensitive to the limitations inherent in this procedure. "If you adopt other and more acceptable definitions," then "in her own way and within a limited degree Rome was a commonwealth." What other definition was possible and to what extent could a non-Christian society qualify as a commonwealth? Augustine responded with a definition remarkable for its naturalism: "A people is a gathering of a multitude of rational beings united in fellowship by sharing a common love of the same things." This presented a striking contrast to the moral rigidity of the first definition where "true" justice had been restricted to the City of God and where every political society, past, present, or future, could be found deficient. This did

not mean that the first definition was abandoned; it served instead as an absolute standard of justice. On the other hand, the naturalistic definition pointed to the possibility of establishing a gradation of *civitates*. The evaluation of a particular political order would then depend on the quality of the objects to which the "common love" was attached.⁸⁸ It also implied a more empirical temper since it presupposed some kind of investigation into the actual values sought and realized by a particular order. Above all, it allowed any political society that had succeeded in establishing order and peace to qualify in some measure, no matter how limited, as a commonwealth.

VI. POLITICAL SOCIETY AND CHURCH-SOCIETY

The estimate of the political order, as it finally took shape in Augustine's thought, was a complex one. It was acknowledged that a pagan order was valuable, if only for the minimal conditions of peace that it secured. On the other hand, even if a political society were dedicated to Christian ends and administered in a Christian spirit, it could never, as a society, know salvation or serve as the instrument of divine fulfillment. These limitations were inherent in the conception of history which, in its most fundamental meaning, had rendered the political order irrelevant and, ultimately, obsolete. The reorientation of time away from a political focus automatically excluded some of the boldest themes of classical political thought. One of the first casualties was the notion of political action as heroics. The political hero of classicism had presupposed that history was plagued by an unpredictable element which defied human forethought. 89 While the existence of chance or fortuna worked to make political achievements unstable and fleeting, it was also a challenge calling for heroic abilities. Politics was thus the sport of supermen who matched their skills against the incalculable whims of fortune, sustained only by the hope of shoring up a temporary island of achievement against the corrosive flow of time.

In the Christian view of history there was no place for *fortuna* and, by the same logic, none for the political hero. In his stead appeared the "Christian prince," a far different type of actor who found no exhilaration in political challenge, merely weary duty, supported only by the hope of someday joining the truer kingdom. He was not the political hero, but the martyr-prince, struggling "to make power the handmaid of God's majesty," but always with something of the sweet sadness and resignation that had colored the musings of Marcus Aurelius.⁹⁰

The Augustinian conception of time, with its emphatic distinction between what was possible in history and what was reserved for eternity, also condemned the classical quest for the ideal polity as an irreverent and proud ambition. The promise of eternity was reserved exclusively for the *civitas dei*. In the depreciation of the mission, efficacy, and moral status of the political order, Christianity was

faced with the temptation of substituting the church-society in its stead, making of it an idealized political form which could satisfy the potentialities denied temporal societies. Was the Church, in other words, to be viewed as a kind of etherealized version of the absolutely best form of society, a christianized Republic? The answer is complicated by the fact that almost from the beginning Christian writers had attributed at least three distinct meanings to the notion of the Church. One of these referred to the local organization, as in the phraseology of the first Epistle of Clement: "The church of God which sojourns in Rome greets the church of God which sojourns in Corinth." Secondly, there was the Church universal, which embraced the whole body of believers irrespective of locality. Finally, there was the Church transcendent, the holy city, the final destination of those who had been saved. The first and second meanings were later formalized into the notion of the "visible" Church, an organized and institutionalized society possessing the marks of power and authority which we have discussed earlier. In the third definition, the "invisible" Church was not to be identified with any earthly embodiment; it was a society of the blessed and consequently had no need for the weapons of discipline and coercion.

Although we have oversimplified these distinctions and lent them a sharpness that was lacking in these early centuries, they do allow a better insight into Augustine's ideas on the Church. There has been disagreement among commentators on this topic, largely because Augustine did not always observe a sharp distinction between the visible and invisible Church. 91 Without entering into the niceties of the matter, it is evident that Augustine did not conceive of the visible Church primarily in terms of a power structure or governing order. The conception uppermost in his mind was that of a community or society; that is, an association wherein power was not the constituent element of cohesion. In two of his favorite symbols, the Church was likened to a mother and a dove. 92 These are not the language of power. This is not to say that he advocated a "weak Church" theory, for his ideas on baptism, the ministry, doctrinal authority, and unity refute this. 93 It is difficult, nevertheless, to elicit from Augustine's writings the later political profile of a compact hierarchical structure of ecclesiastical power and authority. In other words, the visible Church did not surpass the political order on "political" grounds but by reason of its superior mission. Moreover, it could not be identified with the absolutely best form of society, for the mixed purity of its membership, some destined for salvation, others for damnation, rendered it inferior to the holy society. Similarly, the doctrine of predestination imposed clear limits on the power of the visible Church; the elect and the damned were singled out by an act of God, not of the Church.

Oddly enough, it was the *civitas dei*, the mystical society stretching over past, present, and future and defying identification with any visible institutions, that presented the most challenging parallel with political society. We have already

noted that in early Christian thought there had been a tendency to associate the political order with compulsion and, on this basis, to contrast it unfavorably with the spontaneous solidarity of the society of believers. But this contrast became less impressive when the Church developed its own system of coercion. To preserve the superior identity of the Church required a conception of the Church as a coercionless society. This was crystallized in Augustine's civitas dei. In describing the two cities Augustine employed language and concepts in such a way as to drain off, so to speak, the divine elements, which both classical and early Christian thought had attributed to political society, and to rechannel them to the civitas dei. There persisted a strongly artificial and alien quality to political authority, Augustine declared: artificial in that God had intended men to have dominion over dumb animals but not over each other; alien, because in the last analysis the brief span of human existence made it irrelevant "under whose government a dying man lives, if they who govern do not force him to impiety and iniquity."94 The depreciation of the political order left it vulnerable to challenge on political grounds by the civitas dei. Thus a political society could expect to be ruled alternately by good and bad rulers, but the City of God would never have any but the perfectly good rule of Christ. It followed that the bond between ruler and ruled in the one city was vastly superior to that which the other city might attain. Where the members of the heavenly city were knit together by a good that was truly common, the earthly cities were necessarily divided by the multiplicity of private goods and interests. In the one city conflict had been eliminated; in the other it was an inevitable accompaniment to the condition. At best, therefore, the earthly society might achieve but a well-ordered diversity, an unstable blend of good and evil; the civitas dei, on the other hand, enjoyed an unblemished harmony and order. Thus the heavenly city was not the negation of the political society but a perfecting of it, a transmuting of its attributes to a glory that the former would never know. Its fulfillment at the end of history marked the highest fellowship of which creation was capable, a socialis vita sanctorum. 95

The crux of these contrasts lay in the inference that the *civitas dei* was more perfectly "political" primarily because it was more perfectly "social." The superiority of the "social" category over the "political" was a fundamental proposition in Augustine's thought. The one connoted harmonious fellowship, the other conflict and domination. The conclusion that flowed from this was that the more closely the political order approximated a Christian life, the less political it became. The conflicts that were the *raison d'être* of political authority would diminish in proportion as the society became truly Christianized. At the same time, the "social" character of the order would be enhanced. This explains why the "political" was of less consequence than the "social" for the true Christian: while in the political order, he was not of it. His real membership was in the society of the elect, a life so far transcending the political order that it could be said to form one society with the angels. 96

This notion that there was something more divine and natural about social relationships has cropped up repeatedly in later thought. Even though Aquinas later defined man as *naturale animal sociale et politicum*, ⁹⁷ the belief persisted that society represented a spontaneous and natural grouping, while the political stood for the coercive, the involuntary. Curiously enough, the superiority of the social over the political found its fullest expression in the late eighteenth century. Tom Paine, for example, put it this way:

Formal Government makes but a small part of civilized life; and when even the best that human wisdom can devise is established, it is a thing more in name and idea than in fact. It is to the great and fundamental principles of society and civilization—to the common usage universally consented to, and mutually and reciprocally maintained—to the unceasing circulation of interest, which passing through its million channels, invigorates the whole mass of civilized man—it is to these things, infinitely more than to anything which even the best instituted Government can perform, that the safety and prosperity of the individual and of the whole depends.⁹⁸

Nor has the antinomy been laid to rest by more recent thought. The classical liberal economists, as well as Saint-Simon, the father of modern managerialism, accepted the notion of society as a spontaneous grouping but identified it with economic activities and relationships. Government, or the political, on the other hand, was pictured as an artificial controller whose existence was tolerated only to the extent that it secured the conditions making for spontaneity. This line of thought has also been retained by modern liberals. Thus Sir Ernest Barker defined "society" as "the whole sum of voluntary bodies, or associations, contained in the nation." In contrast to the "social" and "voluntary" character of society, the "state" "acts in a legal or compulsory way . . . "99 Marxism, on the other hand, depicted the state as a power "above society and alienating itself more and more from it." Ultimately the proletarian revolution would destroy the state by a final act of force and thereby prepare the way for a society without conflicts or compulsion, a true *civitas humanitatis*. 100

VII. THE LANGUAGE OF RELIGION AND THE LANGUAGE OF POLITICS: FOOTNOTE ON MEDIAEVAL CHRISTIAN THOUGHT

Augustine's emphasis upon the social side of the Church pretty well summarized the Christian outlook of the first five centuries. The Church, he wrote, "is better than a society, . . . it is a fraternity." Although, as we have pointed out, the power-profile of the Church was becoming more evident as time went on, it was not until the subsequent mediaeval period that the organizational, coercive side, that is, the Church as a rationalized ecclesiastical polity, came to predominate over the social or communal side. Consequently we can find at various times

throughout the Middle Ages an undercurrent of unease fed by the Church's attempt to maintain a double identity: on the one side, the Church as the governing organ of Christendom; on the other, a society of believers who, in their mystical unity, were members of a living body following a common life inspired by the love of Christ. These two conceptions did not easily coexist, and out of their commingling emerged a somewhat confusing image of an imperial power organization which professed also to be a community. The significance of this dual nature is that it expresses the quandary of most modern societies. Moreover, this similarity between the Church and modern political societies is not fortuitous. In both instances the force fusing the members into a solidary whole has been a mystical, non-rational one. In temporal societies it has been the force of nationalism; in the church-society it has been the sacrament of symbolic communion which joins the members to the mystical body of Christ. 102 The religious element in national sentiment can be exposed more clearly by indicating briefly the changes that the corpus mysticum idea underwent and how these were reflected into political thought. The term itself, corpus mysticum, is uniquely Christian and without a biblical background. 103 It did not come into usage until the ninth century and at that time its meaning was strictly sacramental, referring to the Eucharist and not to the Church or to any notion of a society of Christians. By the administration of the sacrament the host was consecrated and incorporated into the mystic body of Christ.

As a result of the doctrinal disputes raised by Berengar, the mystical element receded, and the doctrine of the real presence of the human Christ replaced it. The *corpus mysticum* was now called the *corpus Christi* (or *corpus verum* or *corpus naturale*). This, however, was preliminary to the socializing and politicizing of the concept of the *corpus mysticum*, for after the middle of the twelfth century, the *corpus mysticum*, which had previously been employed in sacramental usage to describe the consecrated host, was now transferred to the Church. The mystical force and passion surrounding the old notion was brought to sustain the whole society of Christians and its power structure. In the papal bull of *Unam sanctam* (1302), the Church was described as *unum corpus mysticum cuius caput Christus*, one mystical body whose head is Christ.

Whereas classical political thought had ascribed a close, solidaristic nature to the political community, it had never conceived of it as a mystic body cohering around a godhead. But Christianity helped father the idea of a community as a non-rational, non-utilitarian body bound by a meta-rational faith, infused by a mysterious spirit taken into the members; a spirit that not only linked each participant with the center of Christ, but radiated holy ties knitting each member to his fellows. The Christian community was not so much an association as a fusion of spirits, a pneumatic being. This comes out clearly in a passage from Aquinas. After defining the sacrament of baptism as the method by which a man becomes

a participant in ecclesiastical unity, Thomas described the nature of this sacramental society:

... Life is only in those members that are united to the head, from which they derive sense and movement. And therefore it follows of necessity that by Baptism man is incorporated in Christ, as one of his members.—Again just as the members derive sense and movement from the material head, so from their spiritual Head, i.e., Christ, do members derive spiritual sense consisting in the knowledge of truth and spiritual movement which results from the instinct of grace. 104

However, secular writers were not slow in perceiving the enormous emotional force that lay behind the idea of the *corpus mysticum*. By the middle of the thirteenth century one of them defined a people as "men assembled into one mystical body" (*hominum collectio in unum corpus mysticum*). Later writers, such as the Englishman Sir John Fortescue, tended to employ the phrases *corpus mysticum* and *corpus politicum* indiscriminately to designate a people or a state. ¹⁰⁵ Something of this notion was later recaptured in Rousseau's conception of the community. Here, too, the members were suffused by a common spirit which drew them into the closest communion and dependency and expressed in the sharpest possible terms the distinctive identity of the whole. The ancient words of Cyprian, *extra ecclesiam nulla salus*, found their appropriate echo in Rousseau's dictum, "*sitôt qu'il est seul, il est nul,*" as soon as he is alone, man is nothing. ¹⁰⁶ In accepting the bonds of civil society, each individual

deprives himself of some advantages which he got from nature, yet he gains in return others so great, his faculties are so stimulated and developed, his ideas so extended, his feelings so ennobled, and his whole soul so uplifted, that, did not the abuses of this new condition often degrade him below that which he left, he would be bound to bless continually the happy moment which took him from it forever, and, instead of a stupid and unimaginative animal, made him an intelligent being and a man. ¹⁰⁷

These ideas of the redemptive community and the "new man" that issues from it recurred in the romantic and nationalistic literature of the nineteenth century. Articulate writers, voicing the loneliness of large and increasingly impersonal societies, clutched for ideas of a close communion which would turn highly utilitarian political organizations into vibrant communities and apathetic citizens into fervent communicants.

A country must have a single government. The politicians, who call themselves federalists . . . would dismember the country, not understanding the idea of Unity . . . What you, the people, have created, beautified, and consecrated with your affections, with your joys, with your sorrows, and with your blood, is the city and the commune, not the province or the state . . . A country is a fellowship of free and

equal men bound together in a brotherly concord of labour towards a single end . . . The country . . . is the sentiment of love, the sense of fellowship which binds together all the sons of that territory. 108

Although the mystical element furnished the basic ingredient of cohesion to the society of believers, it, no more than nationalism, could supply a rationale for coercive power. But what it did do was to shape the outlook of the members in a way that made them receptive objects of power. There was only one sense in which the sacramental bonds created an equality among the participants, and that was an equality of mutual subservience. Again, the anticipation of nationalism was striking; neither the mystique of the corpus Christi nor the mystique of the nation could admit an equality of claims on the part of each member against the others. To exploit the *mystique* of equal subservience was the task of papal writers of the Middle Ages, and they accomplished it in a most ingenious way. To establish the superiority of the Church and its governing head over temporal rulers they shifted the emphasis from the mysticum aspect to the corpus itself; like any body the Church needed a directing head, a prime mover who would impart a regular and purposeful motion to the whole. 109 Thus by giving a political twist to Aristotelian physics, the papal case could now exploit both sides of the Church's nature; the corpus mysticum idea could be used when there was need to emphasize the cohesion and unity of the society of believers, while the analogy with the physical body provided a defense for the position of the pope as the directing head. The one was essentially an argument for community, the other an argument for authority and power.

This notion of a society that was at once a mystical community and a structure of power was strongly suggested in St. Thomas's theory of the sacraments. Of all of the sacraments, he asserted, the Eucharist was the most important. "The reality of the sacrament is the unity of the mystical body, without which there can be no salvation; for there is no entering into salvation outside the Church . . ." It was the means for aggregating men into ecclesiastical unity, because the Church itself was identical with the mystical body of Christ. "The common spiritual good of the whole Church is contained substantially in the sacrament itself of the Eucharist." 110

It remained for Thomas to connect the communal foundations prepared by the Eucharist, and further strengthened by Baptism and Confirmation, with the element of power. This was furnished by his conception of the sacrament of Order which dealt with the various offices and functions of the ecclesiastical hierarchy. Significantly, Thomas insisted that this sacrament, above all others, was most closely connected with the Eucharist. Order was the grand remedy against "divisions in the community," the preservative of the mystical unity against schism and heresy. Order, therefore, required power, and order within the Church was concerned with the various gradations of power. "Each order sets a man above the people in some degree of authority directed to the dispensation of the sacraments." 112

The political quality of the argument has an important bearing not only for interpreting the political philosophy of Aquinas, but also for understanding the effect on the Western tradition of this mixture of religious and political elements. Most political commentaries on Aquinas have concentrated on explaining how the Aristotelian revival of the twelfth century stimulated Thomas to revise the widely held Christian idea that the political order was rooted in man's depravity. Although it is undeniable that the political thought of Aquinas contained an important restatement in Christian terms of the classical belief in the dignity of the political community, the impression is created that the political element was restricted mainly to those parts of the Thomistic system that dealt with matters of government. What is most striking is the degree to which the concepts and vocabulary of politics had penetrated not only to Thomas's theory of the Church, which is not surprising, but also left a distinct imprint on his theology. Whether he was discussing the nature of the Divine Providence, the status of angels, the Church, or the sacraments, essentially political categories were recurrent: authority, power, membership, community, common good, law, and monarchical rule.

The primary medium through which the "political" was diffused throughout the Thomistic system was the notion of "order." This was the conceptual center that served to organize the realms of being. Since it was a concept heavily charged with political connotations, the realms themselves tended to assume a political character. "Divine providence imposes an order on all things and manifests the truth of the Apostle's saying: 'All things that are, are set in order by God' (*Romans*, xiii:1)." "Order principally denotes power" and "power properly denotes active potentiality, together with some kind of pre-eminence." God, angels, the Church, man, nature, and even the demons were implicated in a series of governed relationships which served to articulate the distinctive identity of each within the soaring hierarchy of creation.

... One hierarchy is one principality—that is, one multitude ordered in one way under the government of one ruler. Now such a multitude would not be ordered, but confused, if there were not in it different orders. So the nature of a hierarchy requires diversity of orders . . .

But although one city thus comprises several orders, all may be reduced to three, when we consider that every multitude has a beginning, a middle, and an end. So in every city, a threefold order of men is to be seen . . . In the same way, we find in each angelic hierarchy the orders distinguished according to their actions and offices, and all this diversity is reduced to three—namely, to the summit, the middle, and the base. ¹¹⁵

Since each order was essentially a form of governance, it required a governing head to impart regularity and directed motion to the whole in accordance with the laws appropriate to the particular order.

... Law denotes a kind of plan directing acts towards an end. Now wherever there are movers ordained to one another, the power of the second mover must needs be derived from the power of the first mover, since the second mover does not move except in so far as it is moved by the first. Therefore we observe the same in all those who govern, namely, that the plan of government is derived by secondary governors from the governor in chief. Thus the plan of what is to be done in a state flows from the King's command to his inferior administrators; and again in things of art the plan of whatever is to be done by art flows from the chief craftsman to the undercraftsmen . . . Since, then, the eternal law is the plan of government in the Chief Governor, all the plans of government in the inferior governors must be derived from the eternal law. 116

The maintenance of these hierarchies of structured differences demanded power, as did the direction of each towards its proper end. A model of the right order existed for each ruling head to follow, and the task of every governor was to imprint the exemplary pattern on his subjects in much the same way as the Platonic ruler had been instructed to inform the "matter" of his community.¹¹⁷ Like the Platonic guardian, the priest too was to be a selfless instrument, advancing the welfare of others while serving as the agent of a timeless idea. Yet in one crucial respect the priest was quite unlike the Platonic ruler and far more powerful: the power and authority of the priest did not rest on the uncertain base of personal merit, but on the solid bedrock of the most durable and powerful institution ever created in the West. It was not the private moral character of the priest or bishop that counted, but rather their "public" status as authorized agents of an institutionalized order. The inherent power and dignity of these offices was such that no personal failing could detract from the saving potency of the function; the mass performed by a sinful priest, for example, was no less efficacious than that of a good priest. The power that he wielded was not personal but functional. 118 More specifically, the power of priest and bishop was that of a representative; that is, one who was empowered to act in place of or on behalf of another. Thus in ministering the Eucharist the priest acted in the place of Christ, while the bishop, in acting upon the mystical body of the Church, was exercising a power on behalf of Christ. 119 It was a theory of representation, but of a limited type. The responsibility of the agent lay to a higher authority and ultimately to a form of truth. The ecclesiastical official, like the political ruler, existed to promote the good of those subject to his authority, that is the good of his "constituents." But unlike the ruler, the power of the ecclesiastic was exerted over a constituency that could only be the object and never the source of authority.

These considerations of language, concepts, and style of thought should give pause to the usual view held concerning the fate of political thought during the Christian centuries. Every schoolboy comes to learn a list of dualisms purporting to describe mediaeval ways of thought: "secular" and "spiritual," "nature" and "grace," "faith" and "reason," "Empire" and "Church." These catchwords, in their application to political affairs, have encouraged the notion that the mediaeval mind drew such sharp distinctions between spiritual and political matters as to create two contrasting realms of discourse and action, existing side by side and occasionally converging for the sole purpose of abusing and misunderstanding each other. Another impression is that political thought diminished in importance during these centuries, becoming a mere handmaiden to theology, the new queen of the sciences. In this view a loss of status automatically implies a loss of vitality.

From this simple picture of things, it is easy to pass to the conclusion that Machiavelli and the writers of the Italian Renaissance "saved" political philosophy by dismissing from it all Christian objectives and presuppositions. This, however, is to misunderstand the character of mediaeval political thought and, as we shall see, to underestimate the revolution accomplished by Machiavelli. In actuality, political thought was nourished and extended during the Middle Ages, and nowhere is its political quality better demonstrated than in the kinds of arguments and vocabulary employed by papal writers during the long controversies between the papacy and secular writers. All of the major categories of political and legal thought were explored in the effort to defend the cause of the Church: the legitimacy of the derived powers of the popes, the necessity for a directing authority within the Christian society; the scope and limitations of papal rulership and its relationship to various forms of law; and the nature of the obedience demanded of its subjects. As one reads the voluminous polemics of the age, it is difficult to evade the conclusion that there was little to distinguish the papal arguments from purely political ones. Save for certain important premises derived from Christian sources, the propositions and conclusions contain very little that justifies their being treated as peculiarly religious or Christian. This is not to belittle the subtlety or profundity of the case, but only to emphasize its strongly political character. Consequently, when emperors and national monarchs came to challenge papal claims, the situation is not to be likened to one where secular rulers and their champions put forward a "political" theory to defend a "political" position, while the papalists opposed them with esoteric arguments drawn from the mysteries of revealed religion.

In reality it was a situation where one political theory, which often frantically sought to bolster its cause by borrowing religious ideas from its opponents, was pitted against another political theory which spoke in the name of an organized religion that had become deeply politicized in thought and structure. For example, one of the fundamental contentions advanced by papal writers was that governance was not the monopoly of the political order. This was often couched by

saying that inferiors ought to be ruled by superiors, but, as the following quotation from a fourteenth-century papal apologist, Aegidius Romanus, makes clear, the significant point is the assumption that centuries of thought and experience had made natural; namely, that the two orders of Church and political regime could be profitably compared because both were orders of government:

Inferior bodies . . . are ruled through superior bodies, and the grosser through the more subtle and the less potent through the more potent . . . And what we see in the order and government of the universe we ought to copy in the government of the commonwealth and in the government of the whole Christian people. For the same God Who is universal ruler of the whole machinery of the world is special governor of His church and those who believe in Him. 120

We can summarize the foregoing pages on the Christian encounter with politics by saying that Christian learning, far from obliterating a tradition of political thought, had revitalized it: gratia non tollit scientiam politicam sed perficit. The supreme irony of this development was that it helped prepare the way for the emancipation of political theory from its servitude to theology. For although the categories of religion were becoming highly politicized, the reverse was not true of political theory. As the political ideas of Aquinas showed, Christian writers were largely content to point the traditional concepts of political theory towards distinctively Christian ends, but without destroying the content of the concepts themselves. The political order, for example, was declared to be necessary for the attainment of the highest earthly good, although it could never effect the supreme good. But inasmuch as classical political thought had never entertained the notion of the political order as preparing mankind for some suprahuman good, its categories of thought could be retained, and the basic problem became one of insisting upon the point at which classical notions no longer held good.

At the same time that traditional political ideas were being preserved insofar as they were used to explain essentially political phenomena, theological categories became increasingly infected by political notions; political ideas were pressed to explain grace as well as "nature." Now in a situation where theology had become compromised by its politicalness and political theory proper remained largely unchanged, it is not surprising that the attempt of mediaeval writers to assert the superiority of the spiritual realm over the temporal—an attempt perfectly in keeping with Christian postulates—should have produced, as far as the status of political theory was concerned, an opposite result to that intended. One would naturally expect that the assertion of the superiority of sacerdotal over temporal authority would lead also to the submergence of political theory beneath theology, and to the eventual obscuring of things political. Instead, the identity of political theory and the integrity of its subject-matter were disclosed more clearly. For when a point of view, which professes to be spiritual but is in fact highly

sophisticated politically, tries to draw rather sharp lines between the political and the religious, it succeeds, not in subordinating the political to the religious, which at best can only be a short-run achievement, but in preserving the identity of the political. In insisting, as Thomas did, upon the vital role of the political order, in seeking to define the distinctive laws by which it was ruled, the unique common good which it served, and the kind of prudence proper to its life, there was a heavy price to be paid, even though the terms were not fully revealed for several centuries. Thomas had not only restored the political order to repute; he had given it a sharpness of identity, a clarity of character, that had been lacking for several centuries. The "political" might be enclosed within the soaring architecture of creation, but it had not been swallowed up. Creation itself was a structure, a complex, institutionalized order composed of regularized processes and governing authorities. In this respect, Thomas merely capped off a long development that had been growing steadily almost since the emergence of Christianity; without a conscious intent to do so, Christianity had once more taught men to think politically. When this was accompanied by a growing appreciation of the identity of the political order, the way had been prepared for Machiavelli's reassertion of the radical autonomy of the political order.

Before turning to Machiavelli, however, it is necessary to examine the last sustained attempt at establishing a distinctive religious perspective on politics. The Protestant Reformation deserves a place in this study on several accounts. It began, with Luther, as an attempt to depoliticize religious thought and ended, with Calvin, in the readmission of political elements into religion. It began with an assault on the ecclesiastical polity that was the mediaeval Church and, after passing through a phase of deep hostility towards institutionalism, ended with the construction of the granite edifice of Geneva. It invented the "tender conscience" which was to disturb Western societies for at least two centuries and then it frantically sought a discipline to control its creation. It often fell to preaching a doctrine of a spiritual kingdom aloof from the political society, yet it often yielded to the tempting vision of a New Jerusalem which would be imposed on the old society.

CHAPTER FIVE

•••

Luther: The Theological and the Political

All terms become new when they are transferred from their proper context to another . . . When we ascend to heaven, we must speak before God in new languages . . . When we are on earth, we must speak with our own languages . . . For we must carefully mark this distinction, that in matters of divinity we must speak far differently than in matters of politics.

—Luther

I. POLITICAL THEOLOGY

In its theology and philosophy, the mediaeval mind displayed a fondness for making complex distinctions which later ages have found both admirable and annoying, admirable because of the analytical subtleties that were developed and annoying because of the seemingly trivial subjects that were discussed. What was most impressive about this penchant for distinction-making, as well as what gives it an appeal for many moderns, was that most mediaeval thinkers could assert fine and even sharp distinctions between matter and spirit, essence and attribute, faith and reason, spirituality and temporality, without dissolving irrevocably their connective tissues. Things might be sharply defined and analytically distinguished, yet this was not taken as evidence of a want of coherence. To an age that distrusted discontinuities, identity, even of a highly distinctive kind, did not denote isolation or autonomy.

In keeping with this vein, mediaeval historians have warned us against reading modern antitheses, like "church" and "state," into mediaeval thought. Most mediaeval thinkers assumed that *regnum* and *sacerdotium* formed complementary jurisdictions within the *respublica christiana*. Yet the running disputes between the papacy and temporal rulers over such matters as the taxation of the clergy and investiture of bishops should give pause to those who believe that an agreement about fundamental values and assumptions *ipso facto* eliminates the possibility of bitter conflict. One might just as easily conclude from the mediaeval experience that disputes tend to become more embittered when each side is intent on

128 CHAPTER FIVE

capturing the same symbols of authority and truth; common ground and battle-ground can become interchangeable.

From the discussion of the preceding chapter, we can see that the common outlook that informed the mediaeval approach to problems of religion and politics derived its strength from more than a shared set of religious beliefs and habits. It was supported also by the way in which political and religious concepts had come to influence each other. This, in turn, faithfully reflected the realities of mediaeval life where the political and the religious were subtly interwoven. But the great issue that arose near the end of the Middle Ages concerned the fate of these mixed and interdependent modes of thought in a world where national particularism had visibly shaken assumptions about the universal society of Christendom. The end of the alliance between religious and political thought was foreshadowed in the fourteenth-century figure of Marsilius of Padua. What could have been more mediaeval than the opening promise to discuss the "efficient cause" of laws? But the tone changes abruptly and Marsilius announces that he is not going to treat the establishing of laws by any agency other than the human will; that is, he is not interested in God's role as prime legislator. "I shall treat the establishment of only those laws and governments which spring directly from the decision of the human mind." Yet Marsilius, for all of his radicalism, still retained strong traces of the mediaeval outlook, and it is to the sixteenth century that we must turn in order to discover a revolution in political thought comparable to, and reflective of, what had occurred on the actual plane of political organization.² In the two great impulses of Protestantism and humanism, we find the vital intellectual forces that dissolved the common outlook achieved by the mediaeval mind. Each in its own way worked towards a more autonomous political theory and one that was more national in orientation. On the one side, the contribution of Luther and the early Protestant Reformers was to depoliticize religion; on the other, that of Machiavelli and the Italian humanists worked to detheologize politics. Both sides served the cause of national particularism.

II. THE POLITICAL ELEMENT IN LUTHER'S THOUGHT

The impulse towards disengaging political elements from religious modes of thought had its ultimate origins in Luther's fervent belief that "the word of God, which teaches full freedom, should not and must not be fettered." This quest for the "real" in religious experience eventually drove Luther into bitter opposition to what he considered as the two main enemies of religious authenticity: the hierarchically organized power structure of the mediaeval Church and the equally complicated subtleties of mediaeval theology. In both areas, Luther's basic urge was towards simplification: pure truth was to be uncovered by sloughing off the man-made complications which had accumulated over time. Characteristic of

this "simplistic imperative" were Luther's attacks on the confused state of marriage laws:

. . . Any and all of the practices of the Church are impeded, and entangled, and endangered, on account of the pestilential, unlearned, and irreligious, man-made ordinances. There is no hope of a cure unless the whole of the laws made by men, no matter what their standing, are repealed once for all. When we have recovered the freedom of the Gospel, we should judge and rule in accordance with it in every respect.⁴

In its broad outlines, Luther's case implied more than a return to a primitive purity in doctrine and ritual. Its main thrust was directed against ecclesiasticism and scholasticism; that is, against a church structure whose hierarchical principle and temporal entanglements had left a strongly political mark on the life of the Church; and against a mode of thought that had become imbued with political overtones. Consequently, as Luther developed his ideas on doctrine and the nature of the Church he moved steadily in the direction of reducing the political elements in both subjects. In the end he succeeded in creating a religious vocabulary largely devoid of political categories. Yet, and this is the paradox, it was this depoliticized religious thought that was to exercise a profound influence in the later evolution of political ideas; the more heavily political formulations of Catholicism, on the other hand, exerted little effect except by way of hostility.

The importance of Luther in the history of political thought resides in more than his attack on political theology. He also elaborated an important set of political ideas about authority, obedience, and the political order which were so closely related to his religious beliefs as to point to the conclusion that his political ideas presupposed his religious beliefs in a peculiar way. It was not that Luther's political ideas were logically deducible from his religious premises, or that both formed part of a unified system. Rather, Luther's theology "fed" his political ideas in the sense that what he eliminated from the Church in the way of power and political patterns he was compelled to reassert in his conception of temporal government. More succinctly, Luther's political authoritarianism was the product of the anti-political, anti-authoritarian tendencies in his religious thought. The shape of his political thought was determined in large measure by the basic aim of reconstructing theological doctrine. But, as we have noted, one consequence of the critical destructiveness which accompanied this effort was to depoliticize religious categories. Not only did this have a profound effect on theology, but it had important political repercussions as well. The political elements which had been rejected in matters of dogma and ecclesiology could now be more wholly identified with the concerns of political thought. The effect of this was to be far-reaching, even though Luther had not intended it; for the necessary precondition for the autonomy of political thought was that it become more

130

truly "political." That the independence of political thought involved more than a matter of theoretical interest is evidenced by the fact that these developments were accompanied by practical actions on Luther's part which pointed in the same direction. The autonomy of political thought, now rid of the enclosing framework of mediaeval theology and philosophy, went hand in hand with the autonomy of national political power, now unembarassed by the restraints of mediaeval ecclesiastical institutions.

Before turning to these problems, a preliminary difficulty must be disposed of. It has been argued by some commentators that Luther's thought, from beginning to end, was motivated solely by religious concerns and that, therefore, his outlook was fundamentally non-political. In the words of one recent writer, Luther "was first of all a theologian and a preacher," hence "he never developed a consistent political philosophy and knew little about the theories underlying the formation of national states in western Europe."6 Although it would be fruitless to deny the primacy of theological elements in Luther's thought, it is misleading to conclude on that account that politics was an alien concern. Luther himself held no such modest view of his own political acumen. Prior to his own writings, he declared, "No one had taught, no one had heard, and no one knew anything about temporal government, whence it came, what its office and work was, or how it ought to serve God." Underlying this exaggeration was the implicit assumption that a religious reformer could not avoid political speculation. The extraordinary intermixture of religion and politics in that period compelled him to think about politics and even to think politically in religious matters. It was at once Luther's insight, as well as the source of a good many of his later difficulties, that he understood that religious reforms could not be undertaken in utter disregard of political considerations. It was exactly this lesson that many of the sectarians ignored at great cost. The problems in Luther's political thought were not the product of a monumental indifference towards politics, but arose from the "split" nature of a political attitude which oscillated between a disdainful and a frenetic interest in politics and sometimes combined both.

Although the historical entanglements of politics and religion in the sixteenth century contributed in no small measure to Luther's political consciousness, an even more influential factor lay in the nature of the religious institutions that he attacked. His great anti-papal polemics of 1520 were directed against an ecclesiastical institution that, to the sixteenth-century mind, had come to epitomize organized power. The nature of the papacy invited an indictment framed in political terms, and in this stage of its development, Luther's ecclesiology retained important political elements. His writings of 1520 provide impressive evidence that he clearly recognized the issue to be one involving the power of an ecclesiastical polity. In the first place, the vocabulary employed was heavily sprinkled with phrases and imagery rich in political connotations. The sacramental practices of

the priesthood were attacked as "oppressive" (*tyrannicum*) in that they denied the believer's "right" (*ius*) to full participation. The papacy was denounced as the "tyranny of Rome" (*Romanam tyrannidem*), a "Roman dictatorship" (*Romana tyrannis*), to which Christians ought to "refuse consent" (*nec consentiamus*). The demand was then raised for the restoration of "our noble Christian liberty." "Each man should be allowed his free choice in seeking and using the sacrament . . . the tyrant exercises his despotism and compels us to accept one kind only." "8

The political note became more pronounced as Luther went on to accuse the papacy of ecclesiastical tyranny: the papacy had arbitrarily legislated new articles of faith and ritual. When its authority had been challenged, it had sought refuge in the argument that papal power was unbound by any law. Moreover, the temporal pretensions of the papacy had not only endangered the spiritual mission of the Church, but had damaged the effectiveness of secular authority as well by confusing secular and spiritual jurisdictions. The usurpation of temporal power had permitted the popes to advance their temporal claims under the guise of a spiritual mission, and, at the same time, to pervert their spiritual responsibilities by treating them politically. On this latter score, the sale of indulgences, the annates, the proliferation of the papal bureaucracy, and the control over ecclesiastical appointments had as their objective, not religious considerations, but the enhancement of the political power of the papacy. The pope had ceased "to be a bishop and has become a dictator." The pope had ceased to be a bishop and has become a dictator.

During these early years Luther was prepared to accept the perpetuation of the papacy on a reformed basis. His criticisms were founded on the assumptions that religion and politics constituted two distinct realms within the *corpus christianum*; that each realm required its own form of ruling authority; and that although rulership might be either of a religious or of a political type, it ought not to be both. Despite these distinctions, Luther's program for papal reform carried strong political overtones in that it was basically a demand for ecclesiastical constitutionalism and owed not a little to conciliarist inspiration.¹¹ The pope was to exchange the role of despot for that of constitutional monarch. Henceforth his power was to be bounded by the fundamentals of Christianity, and he could no longer legislate new articles of faith. Thus the teachings contained in Scripture were to be observed in much the same way as a fundamental law; they performed the function of a doctrinal constitution limiting the power of the popes. 12 To the papal argument that such institutional tinkering was blasphemous in that it would allow unclean hands to tamper with a divine institution, Luther responded that the papacy itself was of human fabrication and hence susceptible of improvement.

The political element in Luther's case received further emphasis in the remedies he prescribed for dealing with a pope who refused to recognize the bounds of his authority. If a pope persisted in violating the clear injunctions of Scripture, then Christians were obligated to follow the fundamental law of Scripture and to

ignore the papal commands.¹³ Parenthetically it should be noted that this was the same formula employed later by Luther in dealing with secular rulers whose commands ran counter to Scripture. But in one particular Luther was prepared to counsel measures more drastic than anything he proposed against secular rulers. In an argument more political than scriptural, he contended that the papacy might be forcibly resisted. "The Church has no authority except to promote the greater good." If any pope were to block reforms, then "we must resist that power with life and limb, and might and main."¹⁴

Although Luther later retracted this and other more sanguinary exhortations, ¹⁵ the political element reached a climax when Luther prescribed for the condition *in extremis* where the papacy blocked all efforts towards reform. Secular authorities possessed the right and the responsibility to initiate the processes of reform:

Therefore, when need requires it, and the pope is acting harmfully to Christian well-being, let any one who is a true member of the Christian community as a whole take steps as early as possible to bring about a genuinely free council. No one is so able to do this as the secular authorities, especially since they are also fellow Christians, fellow priests, similarly religious, and of similar authority in all respects. ¹⁶

Despite the acerbity displayed in Luther's writings of this period, their revolutionary quality was blunted by the reliance on conciliarist arguments. He looked to a combination of secular initiative and conciliar reforms to restore the purity of the papacy. In place of papal supremacy he relied partly on the older notion of the conciliarists that the Church was a *societas perfecta*, a self-sufficient society containing its own authority, rules, and procedures for regulating the common spiritual life of its members. According to this conception, essentially Aristotelian and political, the Church contained within itself the necessary resources for remedying any ills or grievances that might afflict it.

These conciliarist arguments worked to obscure two emergent aspects of Luther's thought: the reliance on secular authority and the bias against institutions. As long as Luther placed his hopes in a church council as the agency of reform, the secular ruler was reduced to secondary importance. But once this avenue of reform was closed off, the choice was automatically narrowed down to the secular ruler. When this stage was reached, the idea of the Church as a *societas perfecta* was dropped; the revitalization of its spiritual life was now held to depend on an external agency. In other words, as Luther's Church became less political in concept, it became increasingly political in its dependency on secular authority.

As long as Luther adhered to a conciliarist position, and as long as he attributed some utility to the papacy, the revolutionary quality of his theory of the Church would remain muted. But once he had broken with pope and council, the doctrine of the "priesthood of all believers" would assume central importance and the Lutheran conception of the Church would become clearer. Both of these

developments, the reliance upon secular rulers and the Lutheran idea of the Church, were interrelated dialectically, in that Luther's quest for the "real" in religious experience led him to dismiss ecclesiastical institutions and to magnify the political institutions of the ruler. It is only partly correct to attribute Luther's emphasis on secular authority to the desperate plight of a reformer who had no alternative but to appeal to that quarter. Nor is it correct to view his extreme utterances during the Peasants' War as marking a sudden discovery of the absolute power of secular princes. There is sufficient evidence to indicate that he held a high opinion of secular authority before the peasant outbreaks. Instead, the emphasis on secular power should be viewed as the outgrowth of the deepening anti-political radicalism of his religious convictions, which, by assigning exclusive rights over the "political" to temporal governors and by minimizing the political character and ecclesiastical power of the Church, opened the way for a temporal monopoly on all kinds of power.

Once this is grasped, Luther's later dilemma becomes more understandable; the secular powers, whose assistance he had invoked in the struggle for religious reform, began to assume the form of a sorcerer's apprentice threatening religion with a new type of institutional control. The sources of this dilemma lay in the disequilibrium which had developed between his theory of the Church and his theory of political authority. In the early years of his opposition to the papacy, he did not disavow the central argument of the papalists that spiritual affairs required a ruling head. Thus, although he disagreed with the papalists over the nature of that office, his thinking preserved the mediaeval tradition of a distinctive set of ecclesiastical institutions which might offset the thrusts of temporal powers. But as his views matured into a flat rejection of the papacy and of the entire hierarchical structure of the Church, the whole idea of a countervailing authority was naturally dropped. The tie between religious beliefs and religious institutions was severed; at this stage of his thought, church organization was regarded as an impediment to true belief. Concurrently with these developments in Luther's conception of the Church, his doctrine of political authority had evolved towards a more enlarged view of the functions and authority of rulers. The rulers were now entrusted with some of the religious prerogatives previously belonging to the pope. 17 Thus while institutional authority was being undermined in the religious sphere, it was being underscored in the political.

It was at this point that the supreme difficulty arose. In his later years, Luther began to pay increasing attention to the need for religious organization, a need that he had earlier minimized. But for practical reasons this could not be accomplished except by calling in the secular authorities whose power he had consistently exalted. The institutional weakness of the Church made it no match for the secular power that Luther had rationalized. The end-product was the territorial Church (*Landeskirche*).

Luther's elevation of political authority, then, was closely connected with his idea of the Church. The latter, in turn, was an outgrowth of his conception of religion; hence something must be said about his religious doctrines and their bearing upon his ecclesiology and politics.

In Luther's theology the supreme vocation of man consisted in preparing for God's free gift of grace. Religious experience was located around an intensely personal communication between the individual and God; the authenticity of the experience depended upon the uninhibited directness of the relationship. Good works, therefore, were unavailing unless informed by God's sanctifying grace. "Good and pious works can never produce a good and pious man; but a good and pious man does good and pious works." Similarly, the ministrations of an ecclesiastical hierarchy and the full sacramental system were both useless and dangerous; they only multiplied the intermediaries between God and man and raised the inference that there existed a substitute for faith. In sum, everything that stood between God and man had to be eliminated; the only true mediators were Christ and Scripture.

Against this backdrop, Luther's famous metaphor of the "three walls" surrounding the papacy was symbolic of the dominant driving force in his religious thought: the compulsion to erase and level all that interfered with the right relationship between God and man. The significance of this "simplistic imperative" lies in the variety of ways in which it was expressed: political, intellectual, as well as religious. Intellectually it took the form of a nearly total rejection of the mediaeval philosophical tradition. It was not a rejection steeped in ignorance, but one flowing from a deep conviction that centuries of philosophy had worked to pervert the meaning of Scripture and to support the pretensions of the papacy.¹⁹ The influence of Aristotle was declared to be pernicious; the Christianized Aristotelianism of Aquinas was condemned as an "unfortunate superstructure on an unfortunate foundation."20 Impatient with the "Babel of philosophy," with its endless and subtle disputations concerning substance and accidents, Luther called for a return to the unglossed wisdom of Scripture and the Word of God.²¹ In this connection, his radicalism was also turned against the corpus of traditional knowledge represented by the teachings of the Church Fathers, the pronouncements of the councils, and the doctrines of the canonists. The significance of the attack can best be grasped if it is recalled that mediaeval church doctrine, formal theology, and philosophy had become deeply impregnated with political strains. It was not accident, but a kind of unerring instinct, that led Luther to group together philosophers, canonists, and theologians, for the extent to which each had incorporated political concepts was largely a matter of degree. From this point of view, then, Luther's attack had the effect of dissolving the alliance between religious and political thought.

One important indication of this trend in Luther's thought is provided by a

contrast between his theory of the sacraments and that held by a mediaeval theologian like Aquinas. One of the most striking aspects of Thomas's discussion of the sacraments was its doubly political character; the language and concepts evoked a strongly political imagery, and the nature of the sacraments was defined so as to strengthen the political character of the Church and its priesthood. The sacraments, he declared, were to be understood as more than a sign or symbol; they were a form of power (*vis spiritualis*) which imprinted a certain character on the recipients; the grace that informed the soul was an infused grace (*gratia infusa*). The "power-nature" of the sacraments also had an important bearing on the role of the priests. The sacrament of ordination established a necessary and salutary inequality of some men over others; the superior excellence of the priesthood was essential to the perfection of the laity. Ordination also conveyed a power (*potestas*) to the priest to consecrate; that is, to use his divine power to effect a miraculous change in the eucharistic elements of the Mass. Grace thus becomes restricted to a sacramental grace, and it is this alone that justifies men.²²

In Luther's conception, however, these politically suggestive aspects were dropped. Grace was not something administered or infused by the impersonal power of an intermediary. It was the free gift of God, the promise of forgiveness and reconciliation to the repentant sinner. Significantly, Luther reduced the number of sacraments, and among those eliminated was the sacrament of ordination and its accompanying intimations of hierarchy. In subsequent pages we shall further examine the decline in political status of the Lutheran ministry, and here we need only note that this was augured in Luther's doctrine concerning the relationship between the sacraments and the believer's state of grace. By insisting upon justification by faith, the power element in the sacraments was diminished in importance and the political overtones practically eliminated. This was clearly registered in some words of Melancthon which can be taken as marking the epitaph of mediaeval political theology:

Sacraments do not justify . . . Thou mayest be justified, therefore, even without the sacrament; only believe.²³

A second example of the depoliticizing tendencies in Luther is furnished by his conception of the Kingdom of God. From the very beginning, Christian exegetes had resorted to political concepts to define the nature of God's power and the rule of Christ, and as far back as Eusebius we find an argument in which monotheism and monarchy mutually justify each other. All of these tendencies, however, were resisted by Luther. In repeatedly insisting on a sharp demarcation between the Kingdom of God and the kingdom of the world, he inserted, in effect, a restraining wedge between the two realms which prevented any easy transposition of categories. On the one side stood the Kingdom of God, composed of believing and practicing Christians, earnestly seeking the Word of God and the

Spirit of Christ; on the other, the kingdom of the world where temporal government ruled over those non-Christians and lukewarm believers who required a coercive and restraining power to keep them within decent bounds.²⁴

Although the antitheses between these two realms were manifested in several ways—by their contrasting ways of life, by the ethic that prevailed in each, and by the ends pursued—there was one aspect particularly germane to this study. Only one kingdom, that of the world, possessed any political attributes connecting it to the ordinary meaning of kingdom. Here alone was repressive power, law backed by coercion, and all of the other elements of governance. Luther's conception of Christ's rulership, on the other hand, lacked any important political qualities. From the outset he insisted that Christ's vocation had been eminently non-political, and he carried over this notion into the discussion of the role of priests and bishops within the Church.²⁵ The apolitical nature of Christ's kingdom was made possible not only because coercion and law were unnecessary for Christians, but also because the abolition of the hierarchical principle had destroyed the rationale for distinctions of power and authority among believers.²⁶ Climaxing these notions was Luther's strong warning that men could not be hurried or pushed into salvation by the use of power. Even in God's Kingdom the central fact was not His power, but His Word:

No one shall and can command the soul, unless he can show it the way to heaven; but this no man can do, only God. Therefore in matters which concern the salvation of souls nothing but God's Word shall be taught and accepted.²⁷

III. The Bias against Institutions

One product of this revolt against the authority of philosophy and the Catholic conception of an accrued historical wisdom, painstakingly built up through centuries of interpretation, was a pronounced streak of religious primitivism which flaunted simple faith against philosophical complication and was prepared to break "the images of ancestral wisdom" in the name of a return to original Christianity. These aspects of Luther's thought took on additional dimension when, with the battle cry of "sola Scriptura" and "sola fide," he carried the assault directly against the mediaeval conception of the Church. Again the emphasis was put on leveling the "walls" that stood between the believer and the object of his beliefs. The whole of the ecclesiastical hierarchy, with its subtle gradations of authority and function, was to be razed. Since the plain meaning of Scripture could be understood by the average man, sacerdotalism was superfluous; there could be no distinctions among believers:

We all have the same authority in regard to the Word and sacraments, although no one has a right to administer them without the consent of the members of his

church, or by the call of the majority (because, when something is common to all, no single person is empowered to arrogate it to himself, but we should await the call of the Church) . . . When a bishop consecrates, he simply acts on behalf of the entire congregation, all of whom have the same authority. They may select one of their number and command him to exercise this authority on behalf of the others.²⁸

The radical egalitarianism implicit in the doctrine of the priesthood of the believers was not dictated by any necessary relationships among the believers themselves. Rather, it grew out of Luther's conviction that faith could be attained only by individual effort and that, therefore, the "Christian liberty" of the believer must be unbound by externals. Faith could not be created or instilled by an external agency, whether sacerdotal or political; it was an inward disposition of the individual inclining him towards God.²⁹ The reward of faith was membership in the invisible communion of Christians, the *corpus mysticum* ruled by Christ:

There is no superior among Christians, but Christ Himself and Christ alone. And what kind of authority can there be where all are equal and have the same right, power, possession, and honor, and no one desires to be the other's superior, but each other's inferior? One could not establish authority where there are such people, even if one would, since their character and nature will not permit them to have superiors, for no one is willing or able to be the superior.³⁰

The "true" Church, then, was not to be located in any physical assemblage of offices, nor was it to be identified with any hierarchical institution. The Church consisted simply of "an assembly of hearts in one faith . . . This unity is of itself sufficient to make a Church." ³¹

In this notion of the Church there was one aspect that bore a striking affinity to a theme discussed earlier in connection with Augustine. This is the notion emphasizing the social nature of the Church. The Church emerges as a spontaneous, joyful—"nun freut euch lieben Christen gemein"—and largely coercionless society, one which culminates in the invisible society of saints where "all have all things in common."³² The dialectical antithesis to this condition is temporal government that rules its society by domination and power. Thus on the one side was a society without government, on the other a government without a true society or fellowship. This emphasis on the fellowship of the believers was rooted in an antipathy towards power which formed one of the basic characteristics of the Lutheran church-society, underlining once more the apolitical tendency in the new ecclesiology.

Implicit in Luther's theory of the church-society were some novel and farreaching implications. He was advancing the radical proposition not only that a society could retain its identity without the power of a visible, directing "head," but that the perfection of its nature demanded that it be acephalous. This assertion, that a society could be tightly knit and cohesive, yet remain headless, ran counter to one of the common assumptions of much of classical and mediaeval thought, that any society or order presupposed a directing head, a central source of impulse. There was also Luther's equally disturbing claim that a society could flourish and express its identity without relying upon a hierarchical principle. As far back as Plato and Aristotle, philosophers had contended that there could be no right order of any kind unless the "lower" were subordinated to the "higher," the "inferior" to the "superior." In opposition to this long-standing belief, Luther revived the radical notion of Christian membership: to be a Christian meant to occupy a status that was at once more elevated than any other, yet those who did occupy it entered into a condition of equality each with his fellows.

. . . We are not baptised unto kings, princes, or even unto the mass of men, but unto Christ and unto God himself; neither are we called kings, princes, or common folk, but Christians.³³

This equality of condition, however, did not carry the same meaning as in later democratic thought; that is, the idea of an equality of claims or rights. Rather it meant something at once more provocative and ominous: an equality of mutual subservience where "no one desires to be the other's superior, but each the other's inferior."³⁴

Luther's rejection of the two principles of monarchy and hierarchy, insofar as these applied to ecclesiastical matters, marked also an important stage in the destruction of certain forms of political imagery. The notion of society as forming a huge pyramid, wherein the power assigned each layer was in an inverse proportion to the length of the layer, was cast aside for the flattened imagery of a society where, ideally, the members were equal. This raises the question of what the role of the ministry was to be in the new Church; if Luther had felt compelled to smuggle back some elements of papal power, this would have been registered in his doctrine of the ministry. Although Luther consistently denied that the equality of the believers obviated the necessity for a trained ministry, this denial in no way presaged the reintroduction of political elements into the Church. The priesthood, as Luther emphasized, did not denote power or authority but "office"; that is, a defined function.³⁵ This meant the transformation of the mediaeval priest into a minister, an agent who administered, expounded and explained the Word.³⁶ This loss in status was accompanied by a drastic change in the relationship between minister and congregation. Unlike the priest, the minister could not draw upon the mysterious sources of authority flowing from a centuriesold tradition. Stripped of the *mystique* of office, the minister faced his congregation as a primus inter pares. The office itself was no longer consecrated by the representative of a powerful ecclesiastical institution; it was derived from the consent of the pares. Since the minister was the creature of consent, not of authority, he could be removed from office by those who had selected him.³⁷

In depoliticizing the ministry, however, Luther had inserted some broad hints concerning the congregation which were to be caught up in the thought of the radical sectarians of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries and through that medium were to have a decisive influence on democratic theories. In other words, while ejecting some political elements from his theory of the Church, especially those that came to be embedded in the idea of an ecclesiastical hierarchy, Luther had also ended by adopting others. For example, underlying the equality of the believers and the minimal role of the ministry were certain assumptions about the capacity of the believers to recognize truth, assumptions that seemingly echoed Aristotle's defense of the citizen's ability to judge:

... Each and all of us are priests because we all have the one faith, the one gospel, one and the same sacrament; why then should we not be entitled to taste or test, and to judge what is right or wrong in the faith?³⁸

From this followed Luther's demand that the "second wall," symbolizing the papal claim to be the final interpreter of doctrine, be swept aside. The papal position, as Luther instinctively recognized, was grounded in a kind of Christianized Platonism which asserted that disputed truths could be resolved only by a specially endowed intelligence.³⁹ Against this "aristocratic epistemology," Luther advanced a "democratic" one which matched the uncomplicated "simple faith" of the people against the subtleties of theologians and averred both the right and the ability of the congregation to judge religious teachings. 40 He adopted this position partly from a profound conviction concerning the primacy of the direct communion between God and the individual soul, and partly from a conviction that the individual conscience could not be forced into salvation by an outside human agency. Although Luther later modified his optimism about the capacities of the average believer, his early statements lent a powerful stimulus to the currents that culminated in congregationalism. They also held far-reaching implications for political thought. Latent in this conception of a cohesive religious fellowship which could decide and act without the aid of any hierarchy was the further idea of a community that could express a truth. This represented something more than the Aristotelian notion about the superiority of a pooled judgment contributed by the citizenry. The Lutheran conception did not involve a judgment at all; it did not relate to contingent matters, but to fundamental truths; it was not the product of diverse talents and experience, but of an inner knowledge common to a body of communicants.⁴¹

IV. THE STATUS OF THE POLITICAL ORDER

Nostalgia for the apostolic simplicity of the primitive Church did not blind Luther to the fact that a near-anarchistic form of church organization was an inadequate prescription for an actual congregation whose members dwelt in varying states of grace and faith. At an early stage in his writings, he began to elaborate the distinction between the "visible" and the "invisible" Church. The former consisted of those Christians whose weak faith necessitated a visible form of organizational structure. Unity had to be created externally by human art. The "invisible" Church, in contrast, derived its unity from faith; it was largely independent of organization and regulations. 42

In his later years, Luther came to be more impressed with the value of "distinguishing marks," even for the invisible Church.⁴³ This was less significant, however, than his growing reliance upon secular authority to police the visible Church and to insure a degree of religious uniformity. Given this development, the Lutheran conception of political authority assumes crucial importance; for a religion that had denied itself the power of an ecclesiastical organization was now confronted by, and invited the assistance of, political rulers who were unhampered by the traditional restraints of religious institutions. To appreciate the new theoretical setting within which temporal authority was now to operate, something must be said concerning earlier Christian attitudes towards the political order and the office of ruler.

From its early beginnings, the Christian attitude concerning politics had been complicated by a persistent impulse towards disengagement from the world. The scriptural warning that "My Kingdom is not of this world" was later systematized by Augustine into the tense symbolism of the *civitas dei* and *civitas terrena*. Despite the impressive effort of Aquinas to fashion a comfortable accommodation between the political order and the divine, the mystics and the monastics survived as eloquent witnesses to the strain of *incivisme* in Christianity.

In Luther, the impulse towards disengagement took a quite different form. Where Augustine had relied upon the Church as the main aid to individual salvation and had relegated the state to the role of guardian of order, Luther felt constrained to call upon secular power to help Christian souls in gaining release from the tyranny of the organized Church. ⁴⁴ One fundamental reason for the different roles assigned government by Augustine and Luther is to be found in the different historical positions occupied by each. Augustine's thinking was deeply tinged by the millennial hopes common in the early centuries of the Christian era. It was natural for him to adopt a time-perspective oriented towards the future. Although, in contrast to the expectancies of some of the early Christians, Augustine minimized the imminence of the millennium, the notion of a future pregnant with the promise of deliverance remained a vivid element in his thought. ⁴⁵

The thousand years intervening between Augustine and Luther could not but have a sobering effect on Christian optimism. What had been a beckoning future for one became, for the other, an interminable present calling for a certain resignation on the part of the believer. The muted chiliasm of Luther contributed in

an important way to his marked antipathy for history. After the days of apostolic simplicity had been passed, history had become a record of the degradation of the Word. Consequently, the theological and ecclesiastical legacy of these centuries must be dismissed. On the basis of these beliefs, Luther's time-perspective was reflective of a compelling urgency to return to a more primitive state of Christian perfection; it was a part of a radicalism oriented towards recapturing the authentic Christian elements of the distant past.

These contrasts in time-perspectives were closely related to some important differences in the political ideas of Augustine and Luther. Although Augustine had punctured the classical notion of the autonomy and self-sufficiency of the political order, he had not left the political order dangling in limbo. It was an integral part of the whole *ordo* of creation and contributed its share towards the preservation of the total harmony. For Augustine, the concept of a divine order symbolized more than an ingenious blend of diversities; it was a *concordia* dynamically oriented towards perfection. Accordingly, the political order, integrated as it was into a cosmos full with meaning and direction, acquired a rooted stability, a sustenance drawn from the nature of creation itself. Thus, even though the political community was destined to be superseded at the climax of history, until that time it participated in the perfection written into the very essence of things.

Luther, however, departed significantly from the Augustinian conception of *ordo*. For Augustine, *ordo* had operated as a principle immanent in the whole of creation; therefore, any association, even a non-Christian one, possessed value to the extent that it secured peace and tranquillity. Luther, on the other hand, reduced "order" from an immanent to a formal principle without real viability:

Order is an outward thing. Be it as good as it may, it can fall into misuse. Then it is no longer order but disorder. So no order has any intrinsic worth of its own, as hitherto the Popish Order has been thought to have. But all order has its life, worth, strength, and virtue in right use; else it is worthless and fit for nothing. 46

In abandoning the concept of *ordo* as the sustaining principle within a larger pattern of meaning, Luther deprived the political order of the moral sustenance flowing from this more comprehensive whole. The lack of integration between the political order and the divine order produced a marked tension within Luther's conception of government. The political order appeared as a distinctly fragile achievement, precarious, unstable, and prone to upset. At the same time, the vulnerability of this order created the need for a powerful, repressive authority. In other words, it was not the political order itself that was sustained by a divine principle; it was the secular power upholding order that was divinely derived. It was no idle boast of Luther's to assert that he had praised temporal government more highly than anyone since Augustine.⁴⁷ Such praise was necessary once the political order had been extracted from its cosmic context. The

divine element in political authority was inevitably transformed from a sustaining principle into a repressive, coercive one.

Luther's attachment to temporal authority, then, was not the product of a particular stage in his development, but was rooted in the conviction that the fallen world of man was fundamentally orderless. Order had to be imposed:

Let no one think that the world can be ruled without blood; the sword of the ruler must be red and bloody; for the world will and must be evil, and the sword is God's rod and vengeance upon it.⁴⁸

Significantly, Luther singled out, as the first "wall" to be leveled, the papal claims to temporal jurisdiction. His logic here displayed the same impulse as his religious theorizing: just as the believer's free access to Scripture was to be secured from papal interference, so the secular ruler was to be unhampered in his efforts to achieve order:

... The social corpus of Christendom includes secular government as one of its component functions. This government is spiritual in status, although it discharges a secular duty. It should operate, freely and unhindered, upon all members of the entire corpus, should punish and compel where guilt deserves or necessity requires, in spite of pope, bishops, and priests; and whether they denounce or excommunicate to their heart's desire. ⁴⁹

The long scholarly disputes over whether or not Luther preserved the mediaeval conception of a *corpus christianum* have served to obscure the profound changes he made in the content of that concept. The emphasis on secular authority was accompanied by other doctrinal changes which enhanced that authority still further. At the same time that Luther was undercutting the sacerdotal hierarchy by the idea of the priesthood of all believers, he was elevating the status of rulers by clothing it with a sacerdotal dignity: rulers "are priest and bishops too." The sharp line between clergy and laity was erased, and priest and peasant were placed on a level of equality in relation to secular jurisdiction. The estate of Christendom had fallen to new trustees: the princes "discharge their office as an office of the Christian community, and for the benefit of that community . . . Each community, council, and administration has authority to abolish and prevent, apart from the knowledge or consent of pope or bishop, anything contrary to God, and hurtful to man in body and soul." Same served to obscure the profound to about the mediane value of the community of the community of pope or bishop, anything contrary to God, and hurtful to man in body and soul."

The practical significance of the role assigned to political authority lay not so much in its broad mandate, nor in its responsibilities for religious reform, but rather in the fact that its power was now to be exercised in a context where papal institutions had been deprived of divinity and power. The secular ruler alone derived his powers from God; the power of the papacy, in contrast, had resulted from strictly human contrivings, or, worse, from the machinations of the Antichrist.

V. The Political Order without Counterweight

Luther's view of political authority was not all of one piece; it varied depending on whether the issue was primarily religious or political. When temporal government was called upon to assist in furthering religious reforms, it was viewed as a positive and constructive agency. But in its more secular and political role, government appeared as essentially negative and repressive. In the one area, it was treated as the sole alternative for initiating reform; in the other, as the sole alternative to anarchy. The link that bound together the two views of political authority was Luther's demand that rulers be released from pre-existing restraints in order to accomplish their work. We have already examined this element in connection with Luther's attack on the papacy; it reappeared when he considered the secular activities of government. Finding the same confusion and complexity in the laws of society as had prevailed in religious matters, Luther advocated a characteristically simple and radical solution:

... The body politic cannot be felicitously governed merely by rules and regulations. If the administrator be sagacious, he will conduct the government more happily when guided by circumstances rather than by legal decrees. If he be not so wise, his legal methods will only result in harm, since he will not know how to use them, nor how to temper them to the case in hand. Hence, in public affairs, it is more important to make sure that good and wise men are in control than that certain laws are promulgated. Men of this kind will themselves be the best of laws, will be alert to every kind of problem, and will resolve them equitably. If knowledge of the divine laws accompanies native sagacity, it is obvious that written laws will be superfluous and noxious.⁵⁵

The only restraints operating on the ruler, other than those of his own conscience, came from the exhortations of the ministers; since the ministers no longer spoke as the representatives of a powerful ecclesiastical establishment, the effectiveness of this restraint would be problematical.

Although some commentators have shown that Luther never intended to emancipate the secular authorities from the dictates of natural law and reason, this proves only that Luther was not Machiavelli. For the point is that natural law becomes a mere set of moral homilies when it is translated into a context where the power of the rulers alone has been elevated above all other institutional rivals and where allegiance to the other great power institution has been condemned.

The situation thus created was ripe for a collision between the two entities that Luther, by analogous arguments, had sought to set free. On the one hand there was the secular ruler, unrestrained by the pressures of competing institutions, and on the other the Christian congregation seeking divine grace, unaided and

unguided by sacerdotal institutions. Luther, however, often wrote as though the former never presented a threat to the latter. The true believer was a subject of the Kingdom of God, where Christ alone rules. "Therefore, it is not possible for the secular sword and law to find any work to do among Christians, since of themselves they do much more than its laws and doctrines can demand." If all men were to become true Christians, secular government would be unnecessary. Government was justified by the existence of the large masses of the unrighteous and unregenerate; in the absence of coercion, men would be at each other's throats and society in chaos. "For this reason God has ordained two governments; the spiritual, which by the Holy Spirit under Christ makes Christians and pious people, and the secular, which restrains the unchristian and wicked so that they must needs keep the peace outwardly, even against their will." "57

Even if the secular rulers, whose characters Luther frequently criticized, were to overstep their bounds and issue commands contrary to Scripture, no real harm could be done to the true Christian. Government, laws, and the ways of society could affect the physical goods of man, but never the vital center of his soul:

When we consider the inner, spiritual man and see what belongs to him if he is to be a free and devout Christian, in fact and in name, it is evident that, whatever the name, no outer thing can make him either free or religious. For his religion and freedom, and moreover, his sinfulness and servitude, are neither bodily nor outward.⁵⁸

"Christian liberty," then, was the state enjoyed by the believer who had severed his external dependencies and had oriented his soul towards a complete submission to God. Although he could be expected to do more than his social and political obligations required, his ultimate salvation was in no way implicated in the world; his good works in the world were the consequence of his faith, and his faith could never be the result of his works. "You have the kingdom of heaven; therefore you should leave the kingdom of earth to any one who wants to take it." ⁵⁹

The doctrine of Christian liberty was modified by Luther in the light of his experiences during the Peasants' War. The basic question raised at that time was whether the spread of lawlessness might eventually undermine the peace of the faithful and thereby interfere with the quest for salvation. The pressure of events forced Luther to soften the distinction between the Kingdom of God and the kingdom of the world. If the rebellious peasants were to gain the upper hand, "both kingdoms would be destroyed and there would be neither worldly government nor Word of God, but it would result in the permanent destruction of Germany . . . "60 If both the Kingdom of God and the kingdom of the world possessed a common need for order, as Luther admitted, then the true believer could not be as indifferent towards the political order as the doctrine of Christian liberty implied. Religion and politics were more closely intertwined than the theory of the two kingdoms inferred. Luther's theory of government, then, came

down to this: temporal authority could insure outward peace for the true believer; it could never affect his internal virtue. For the unbeliever, government could impose external order and external virtue. Government existed "in order that the good may have outward peace and protection; and that the wicked may not be free to do evil, without fear, in peace and quietness."

Certain confusions began to appear in Luther's thought, however, when he attempted to relate his doctrine of government to the problems of obedience and freedom of conscience. Sometimes he argued that authority could not coerce the consciences of the believers; and this was consistent with his teaching that externals could not affect the liberty of the Christian man. At other times, he insisted that government ought not to coerce consciences. This could only mean logically that freedom of conscience was useful primarily for the unrighteous who might some day be led back to the fold.

The same difficulty reappeared when Luther allowed that men need not obey when a ruler commanded contrary to the teachings of Scripture. ⁶² But this could involve only the true believer, for he alone possessed a conscience guided by Scripture. At the same time, he alone owned a conscience that could not be harmed by external actions.

The contradictory elements were present in other aspects of Luther's teaching on this same general subject. Earlier he had urged that the secular rulers apply force against the papacy, yet he overwhelmingly maintained that secular rulers ought not to be resisted for any cause. Thus political authority might resist religious authority on either political or religious grounds, while religious authorities might never resist political authority on either religious or political grounds. The final incongruity appeared during the Peasants' War when Luther advocated the right of anyone to kill a rebellious peasant. Thus a rebel might be slain by anyone, a tyrant by no one.⁶³

VI. THE FRUITS OF SIMPLICITY

Luther has frequently been criticized by later writers for promoting the cause of political absolutism. Figgis, for example, coupled Luther with Machiavelli and treated their ideas as two sides of the same coin. ⁶⁴ Although this view is correct in emphasizing the extreme lengths to which Luther went in releasing temporal rulers from previous restraints, it tends to view the problem primarily in terms of moral and religious restraints. Actually, Luther consistently upheld the right of Christians to rebuke the excesses of princes, and his own writings testify to the extent to which he followed that advice. If we are to look for the fundamental weakness in Luther's thinking, it is to be sought in his failure to appreciate the importance of institutions. His obsession with religious simplicity caused him to ignore the role of religious institutions as political restraints. The social consequences of a weakly

146

organized religion were apparent in his own day. At moments of political and social crisis, he was unable to appeal to any effective religious organization to act as mediator. During the Peasants' War, he was compelled to entrust the whole cause of peace to the princes, despite his own conviction that all of the wrongs were not entirely on one side. In trying to get out of this predicament, Luther succeeded only in making the Christian ethic appear irrelevant to the logic of the political order: "the sayings on mercy belong in God's kingdom and among Christians, not in the kingdom of the world . . ."65

The quest for simplicity also had its effects when Luther considered political institutions. Here it took the form of accepting authority rather than rejecting it. From a few ingenuous ideas about authority, order, and social classes, Luther fashioned a political doctrine of stark simplicity, unrelieved by the shadows of qualification. It was designed essentially to impress on princes the desirability of paternal rule and on subjects the wickedness of disobedience. Just as his religious teachings emphasized the single relationship of a believer who throws himself on God's mercy, so the political order was stripped of nearly all except the single relationship between ruler and ruled. In both cases the moral impotence and sinfulness of man were the source of his dependence. But the peculiarity of the relationship between political superiors and their inferiors was that so much of it remained unpermeated by religious values. Religious considerations entered only at the extremities of the relationship; the ruler held his authority from God, while the subject was under a divine injunction to obey rulers in every conceivable political circumstance. No provision was made for the other complex relationships in a political order. The political relationship, like the religious, was a personalized rather than an institutionalized one.

These ideas marked the eclipse of the mediaeval conception of a political society with all of its rich suggestion of a corporate whole knit together in a common involvement. There was no counterpart in Luther's thought to the ideal monarch of Aquinas who looked upon his subjects sicut propria membra, as members of his own body.⁶⁶ Instead Luther's ruler was cut in the image of an Old Testament God, angry and vengeful, yet softening his wrath by a paternal concern. This growing alienation between political authority and the society over which it ruled was further enhanced by the fact that society itself was no longer pictured through categories colored by the corpus mysticum idea. The promise of a society founded in fellowship had been reserved exclusively for the church-society. Moreover, the common love of Christ which pervaded the membership of this more perfect society created in it an inner dynamism, a capacity for self-generated movement which was lacking in an unsanctified society. Political society was not pervaded by love, but by conflicts which vitiated any possibility of a common life and incapacitated the whole from acting in unison. The inability of political society to generate its own actions provided the justification for the overweening

position of the temporal ruler; his absolute power was the logical remedy for a depraved society which urgently needed control but was helpless to provide it; his position outside and above society merely dramatized the malady of a body whose sole movement was the shudder of convulsive conflict.

In this connection, Luther's doctrine of Christian liberty and his defense of disobedience on religious grounds did little to redress the balance against the secular ruler. Both of these ideas had been hollowed of their political content. "True" liberty had been transformed into an internal state of faith, while obligation was disconnected from political relationships and made to apply solely to religious issues; in political matters, men had to obey unquestioningly.

The foregoing points to the conclusion that the problem presented by Luther was one arising not from the divorce between politics and religious values, but from the political irrelevancy of the Christian ethic. Although Luther certainly assumed that Christian values, such as love, neighborliness, and charity, would exercise a salutary influence in society and politics, he failed to show their viability in dealing with problems other than those located at the elementary level of the household and the neighborhood. The Christian ethic might well be applicable at the intimate, personal level, and yet be quite irrelevant for the relationships created by a complicated political order. Luther remained unaware of this difficulty, because he reduced political relationships to a single form. Something of the political inadequacy of the Christian teaching was glimpsed by Luther himself. In the tract On Trading and Usury (1524), his argument began by laying down the strict Christian teachings on the subject; soon, however, he was led to admit that the Christian ethic was of little utility here inasmuch as most members of society did not act as Christians. His solution was to abandon the Christian argument and to invoke, instead, the coercive arm of government. The argument ended on the note that the world would be reduced to chaos if men tried to govern by the Gospel.⁶⁷

These doubts about the political effectiveness of Christian teachings had their roots in the fundamental ambiguity characteristic of the thinking of many of the early Reformers. On the religious side they advocated the most uncompromising and radical reforms, while on the political side they enjoined quietism. Luther, for example, vehemently rejected any hierarchical distinctions among Christian believers; yet he assumed that a social hierarchy was natural and necessary. He eloquently defended the sanctity of the individual conscience; yet he unhesitatingly accepted the institutions of serfdom. He admitted that some of the grievances of the peasants were justified, but counseled the peasant against attaching much value to material concerns. He was willing to raise fundamental questions about every form of religious authority, but towards political institutions he was quite unsceptical, even when he doubted the morals and motives of rulers. His thought represented a striking combination of revolt and passivity.

CHAPTER SIX

•••

Calvin: The Political Education of Protestantism

If you are walking westward . . . you forfeit the northern and eastward and southern direction. If you admit a unison, you forfeit all the possibilities of chaos.

-D. H. Lawrence

L THE CRISIS IN ORDER AND CIVILITY

The political problem bequeathed by Luther and nourished by the radical sects of the Reformation centered on a developing crisis in the concept of order and in the Western traditions of civility. The criticism of the papacy by the early Reformers had really amounted to a demand for the liberation of the individual believer from a mass of institutional controls and traditional restraints which hitherto had governed his behavior. The mediaeval Church had been many things, and among them, a system of governance. It had sought, not always successfully, to control the conduct of its members through a definite code of discipline, to bind them to unity through emotional as well as material commitments, and to direct the whole religious endeavor through an institutionalized power structure as impressive as any the world had seen. In essence, the Church had provided a rationalized set of restraints designed to mould human behavior to accord with a certain image. To condemn it as the agent of the Antichrist was to work towards the release of human behavior from the order which had formed it. This liberating tendency was encouraged by one of the great ideas of the early Reformers, the conception of the Church as a fellowship bound together by the ties of faith and united in a common quest for salvation. This emphasis on community represented a latterday version of the theme already discussed in connection with early Christianity, the superiority of a "social" form over a "political" form, of a voluntary fusion of members over a society subjected to externally enforced norms:

Communicare means to take part in this fellowship, or as we say, to go to the sacrament, because Christ and all saints are one spiritual body, just as the inhabitants of a

CALVIN 149

city are one community and body, each citizen being a member of the other and member of the entire city \dots In this we are all brothers and sisters, so closely united that a closer relationship cannot be conceived \dots no other brotherhood is so close \dots .

The difficulty, however, was that the *Genossenschaft* idea lacked the complementary notion of the Church as a *corpus regens*, a corporate society welded together by a viable structure of power. It inferred that men could be fashioned to live in an orderly community without the serious and consistent application of force, that they could be members of a group that was social yet not political, and that their "other" roles as members of a political society involved activity in itself inferior. These tendencies were to be found in their most extreme form in the Anabaptist movement which developed contemporaneously with Lutheranism. The dominating obsession of the Anabaptists was with preserving the purity of their church in the midst of a contaminating world. They sought to achieve this end by separating their community from the world and by denying that their members owed any obligations to the political order. The "social" nature of their communion, in other words, was to be maintained by avoiding contact with the "political" outside.

In this connection the brief and violent Anabaptist dictatorship established at Münster had an affinity with the basic outlook of the movement, even though the dictatorship contradicted the Anabaptist ideal of non-violence.² The followers of Thomas Muentzer were motivated by the same hatred of the world, by the same anti-political impulse present in the more peaceful version of Anabaptism. Instead of rejecting evil and seeking escape from the world, the Muentzerites reacted in much the same manner as some of the fringe groups of seventeenth-century Puritanism: they fought with a "holy violence" to overcome the corrupt world, to root out its vicious elements, and to reshape it in the image of a pure communion of saints.³ Whether peaceful or bloody, the anti-political impulse was common to this mentality.

Luther, as we have seen, had come to acknowledge that, because of its mixed membership, the visible Church was a defective society and hence in need of disciplinary mechanisms. The paradox of his thought, however, was that, on the one side, he was suspicious and often contemptuous of political institutions and personalities and yet, because he identified the church-society with a voluntary union bound by love, faith, and the worshipped presence of Christ, he was compelled to invite the suspect political order to police the holy community. The reason for this lay in his conception of the Church as an essentially "social" unity; because it was a brotherhood, it could not generate power, domination, and authority. Secular government thus stood alone, but undignified, as the sole embodiment of an effective ordering discipline; it was the major cohesive force in society. Despite its practical importance, the political province was not that of

150 CHAPTER SIX

Christian virtue, but of coercion and repression. The ruler was not so much the agent for the common purposes of the community as a kind of high priest presiding over profane mysteries. In short, hostility towards the political order was also a part of Luther's outlook.

The result of these ideas was to jeopardize a whole tradition of order and civility, for, clothed as they were in the language of religion, and aimed as they were at an audience that took religion seriously, they could not fail to impress a set of attitudes that would have profound repercussions on the political behavior and outlook of their followers.

In the midst of this developing crisis, Calvin put forward a system of ideas which stemmed the flight from civility. On the political side, he worked to restore the reputation of the political order, to remind Protestant man of the political side of his nature, and to instruct him in the rudiments of a political education. To achieve these purposes, Calvin had to break with Luther's teaching that government was a mighty engine of repression and the political order superfluous for the Christian man. 4 On the religious side, Calvin's ecclesiology was a systematic elaboration of the principle that a church-society would remain incomplete and ineffective if it did not possess an institutional structure that could articulate its life. A gathered community of believers was not enough; the additional element of power was needed to insure the coherence and solidarity of the group. The difficulties encountered by Lutherans and Anabaptists were to be overcome by the essentially political remedy of an ecclesiastical polity. The Lutheran church appeared increasingly vulnerable to political pressures, while the Anabaptist congregations seemed to have escaped the world only to be troubled by internal disorders. Thus the one church was plagued by political interference, the other by the confusions of congregational democracy. To meet these problems, Calvin proposed that the best church polity should aim at self-sufficiency, but without divorcing itself from the life of political society; it should follow the Reformation principle of bringing the members into the active life of the church, but without entrusting them with the close supervision of affairs; it should provide for strong leadership and direction within the church, but without restoring the pope. In tracing out a solution in these terms, Calvin produced a political theory of church government.

Although it would be extreme to conclude that Calvin presided over the "liquidation of the Reformation," there can be no denying that his emphasis on structure and organization, on controlling the impulses liberated by the Reformation, inaugurated a new phase of the movement. The individual was to be reintegrated into a double order, religious and political, and the orders themselves were to be linked in a common unity. The discontinuity between religious obligations and restraints and their political counterparts was to be repaired; Christian virtue and political virtue were to move closer together. The order that

CALVIN 151

emerged was not a "theocracy," but a corporate community that was neither purely religious nor purely secular, but a compound of both.

II. THE POLITICAL QUALITY OF CALVIN'S THOUGHT

The restorative work of Calvin was most clearly displayed in his theory of the church, for it was in this area that the anti-institutional bias of the early Reformers had been most evident. In his theory, the idea of the church had two aspects, the church visible and the church invisible. The latter he defined as "the society of all the saints, a society spread over the whole world, and existing in all ages, yet bound together by the one doctrine, and the one Spirit of Christ. . . . "6 The visible church, on the other hand, stood as a concession to human frailty. Since it included "many hypocrites" and many members of varying degrees of faith, its existence was attended by more tangible marks than the preaching of the Word and the administration of the sacraments. Its location was not universal but specific; its unity was not guaranteed by grace, but required a definite and insuring structure of offices; so its concord was not spontaneous, but was the calculated product of discipline. The visible church, in short, was a kind of second-best form of church polity accommodated to the weaknesses of man's nature. At the same time, Calvin repeatedly warned that the disparities in perfection between the visible and the invisible church could never justify men in forsaking the visible form out of a desire to avoid contamination. "A departure from the church," he declared, was a "renunciation of God and Christ," "a criminal dissension."⁷ Just as Aristotle had believed that every imperfect polity was capable of being improved, so Calvin believed that every visible church could be reformed by judicious measures.

The end at which such measures should aim was unity. This was the distinguishing mark of any society, visible or invisible, religious or civil. The solidarity of each type of society, however, was differently expressed. The unity of the invisible church, for example, was not the product of human art, but the result of the secret election of God which had predestined the membership for salvation. The unique destiny of the saints, however, did not detract from the fact that they lived a social life. In their communion they formed a universal society; the bonds of community came from a common love of Christ.⁸

For the visible church, too, Christ served as the central point of loyalty, the object of continual and ultimate commitment from which the unity of the whole derived. The force that conserved the society of believers was not produced from the controlling center of a pope who acted as trustee for the *corpus christianum*. Instead the cohesive force came from a mystical spirit working through the members who had joined with Him to form a *corpus mysticum*. In the sacrament of the Last Supper, the society possessed a unifying symbolism, which pointed not

152 CHAPTER SIX

only towards the divine element that lay at the vital center of society, but towards the sustaining principle of love that nourished the common identity of the members. The sacramental rite signified a common good which the participants shared with, and through, Christ. And the common love of Christ became the actuating principle compelling the participants to share this good with their fellows; they could not love Christ without loving each other; and they could not injure each other without injuring Christ.¹⁰

The second primary bond that worked to unify the visible society was of a doctrinal kind. Through the constant preaching of the ministry and the arduous effort of the members to model themselves to an image of perfection, the teachings of Scripture would come to penetrate and infuse the most intimate areas of human conduct.

But although the preaching of the Word and the sacramental rites were sufficient to establish the existence of the invisible society, the visible society, containing as it did members in varying states of belief and unbelief, required additional aids. Unlike the invisible society, the visible lacked the unity of a common destiny; hence it had to create its unity by means of a coercive structure. Stated somewhat differently, the sacraments and the Word could provide a "social" unity for the visible church, but they could not provide the ecclesiastical government, the element of power, which was necessary for dealing with the heterogeneous nature of the members. The disparate character of the membership, some destined for salvation, others for damnation, could be moulded to unity only by a definite set of controlling institutions, an ecclesiastical polity designed to spread and enforce the Word, effect order, promote cohesion, and insure regularity in church decisions. In sum, the visible church had to be equipped with the proper instrumentalities of power.

To the extent that the visible church required institutions, laws, and governing officials, it belonged to the realm of human art; and to that extent, it challenged the ecclesiastical legislator to make of it *une église bien ordonnée et reglée*. Although it could never achieve the perfection of the invisible society of the elect, it might aspire to a special excellence of its own. At the same time, the architect of the church did not have a perfectly free hand in executing the grand design. He was limited by the injunctions of Scripture and by the reverence that ought to be accorded a divinely ordained institution. He did not create the idea of the church or its purposes. His task was to imitate, as far as the puny art of man allowed, the divine order that controlled the universe; to blend diversity into ordered harmony and individuality into a common good; to arrange the institutions and offices of the church so that the whole would function with the coherence of a living body.¹¹

In drawing attention to the structure of the church, its "constitutions" and "offices," Calvin was rediscovering what the Roman Church had always practiced

CALVIN 153

and the early Reformers had nearly always forgotten: that a religious society, like any other society, must find support in institutions; and that institutions, in turn, were aggregates of power. Many of the Reformers, in their eagerness to condemn the "worldly power" of the mediaeval Church, seemed to believe that there was another kind of power, "spiritual" power, which ought to be the proper mode for expressing the authority of a religious society. Luther, for example, always drew a sharp contrast between the two forms of power, "spiritual" and "secular," and emphatically denied that there were any elements common to both. 12 "Spiritual" power emerged as something sui generis. It was visualized as a form of suasion over the consciences of the believers. It was the kind of influence represented by the ministerial functions of preaching and discipline. The extent to which "spiritual" power was "inner-directed" was best represented by Luther's teaching on the church's power of excommunication or the ban. He insisted, first, that this power, while it could be used to banish members from the fellowship of the church and its sacraments, could not carry with it any civil disabilities or penalties. 13 Again, while the ban could exclude an individual from the "outward, bodily and visible fellowship," it could not affect "truth and righteousness [which] belong to the inner spiritual fellowship . . . they dare not be surrendered for the sake of the external fellowship, which is immeasurably inferior, nor because of the ban."14 Thus Luther's belief in the superiority of religious truth and faith over institutional forms helped to transform the concept of "spiritual" power from what it had been in the mediaeval Church. It surrendered its commanding, coercive, and final character and took on what Hobbes would have called a "ghostly" form.

In Calvin's case, however, the rediscovery of institutional life led to a rejection of the antithesis between the two types of power and of the assumption that underlay it. Civil government and ecclesiastical government did not symbolize distinctions of kind, but of objectives. Their natures, therefore, were more analogous than antithetical. A spiritual polity (*spiritualis politia*) bore the same necessary relation to the life of the church as the civil government to the life of civil society. The governors of the church, too, must be well-versed in "the rule and law of good government," because such knowledge was essential to preserving any kind of order. Order, which Calvin defined as "a well-regulated polity, which excludes all confusion, incivility, obstinacy, clamours, and dissensions," was therefore a central objective of religious as well as civil polities. 16

In Calvin's view, order was not a self-sustaining condition which, when once established, would continue from the momentum of its own perfection. It required a constant exercise of power. Just as the order of the universe was preserved by an active God so the human order must be supported by a steady force if its coherence was to be maintained. Wherever there was order, there was power. Hence the kind of power that sustained a religious order might carry the adjective "spiritual," yet this did not transform it into a species of compulsion radically different

154 CHAPTER SIX

from that present in the civil order. Spiritual power, in other words, constituted a specialized, not an etherealized, aspect of power applied to religious ends.

Admittedly Calvin frequently appeared to be arguing a sharp antithesis between secular and spiritual power; it was, he declared, "a Jewish folly" to confound the two. Spiritual government was concerned with "the inner man" and with his preparations for eternity; civil government, on the other hand, regulated "external conduct" and "the concerns of the present state." Nevertheless, if Calvin's distinctions are examined more closely it becomes apparent that the difference between the two powers was not one of substance but of application. In a highly revealing passage in the *Institutes*, Calvin remarked that "it was usual" to distinguish the two orders by the words "spiritual" and "temporal"; and, while this was proper enough, he preferred to call "l'une Royaume spirituel, et l'autre Civil ou politique" (regnum spirituale, alterum regnum politicum). In avoiding the usual pejorative contrast between "spiritual" and "secular" and by declaring each of them to be a regnum, Calvin was pointing to the fact that the coercive element was common to both governances. The differences between them lay in their range of objects or jurisdiction.

That spiritual power did not represent a difference in kind is further supported from another direction. One of the primary motives that had led Calvin to draw the distinction in the first place had been polemical. He had sought to defend power against those who had rejected it in the one form or the other. On the one hand, some of the radical sectarians, in the name of "Christian liberty," had taught that the true believer was totally absolved from the commands of political authority. At the other extreme, and equally dangerous in Calvin's eyes, were "the flatterers of princes" who would have so magnified the power of civil magistrates as to destroy the integrity of the spiritual power. Against the one extreme, Calvin asserted the value of the civil order for all men and its right to command Christians in particular; against the other, he affirmed the independent power of the church and its claim to a distinctive jurisdiction. In short, Calvin's distinction between the two powers was intended to preserve the power of each and to refute the notion that spiritual power was merely a form of insubstantial persuasion.

Moreover, when Calvin defined the spiritual government as the means whereby "the conscience is formed to piety and the service of God" and the civil government as that order that "instructs in the duties of humanity and civility," he did not mean that the spiritual government alone was concerned with conscience while the political government alone regulated "external" conduct. As we shall note later on, the civil government was concerned with conscience, but of a different kind. It had a positive duty to promote and shape a "civic conscience," or what the ancients had called "civic virtue." Conversely, the spiritual government, in discharging its functions of preaching and instruction, was also expected to help form civil manners, to correct "incivility," in short, to influence "external"

CALVIN 155

conduct. The conclusion towards which all these considerations pointed was that "man contains, as it were, two worlds, capable of being governed by various rulers and various laws."²⁰ In both worlds Calvin conceived man to be a creature of order, subjected to restraints and controlled by power.

Calvin divided the power of the church into three aspects. The first, the power over doctrine, was limited by the injunction that "nothing ought to be admitted in the church as the Word of God, but what is contained first in the law and the prophets, and secondly in the writings of the apostles . . ."²¹ But in its relationship to the members of the church it took on a more positive aspect. The power to preach and expound an unchanging body of truths was a method for strengthening the collective identity of the community by keeping before the members the object of the common allegiance.

Closely connected with this theme was Calvin's insistence that the interpretation of Scripture be confined strictly to the appropriate officers of the church. Here Calvin was motivated to some degree by the threat to unity present in the Reformation principle of putting the Bible in the hands of Everyman. This might lead, as Calvin well recognized, to as many private images of God as there were believers. Hence Calvin's insistence on the primacy of a uniform public truth, and the centralization of its interpretation in the ministry had a social as well as religious purpose: to preserve the communal foundations of belief against the disintegrating effects of private visions.²²

The second aspect of ecclesiastical power centered in the ability to make laws (in legibus ferendis; ordonner loix et statuts). In his discussion of this power, Calvin was at his subtlest and most legalistic. He wanted to discredit the papal use of the legislative power without discrediting the power itself. In line with the first objective he contended that the papacy had abused the legislative power by enacting new rules of faith which had created unnecessary anxieties for believers. The popes, in other words, had trenched upon the sanctity of the individual conscience. In the course of Calvin's argument the claims of conscience came to be clothed with an almost sovereign immunity. Since Christ had been sent to free the Christian conscience from the burdens of error and superstition in order that men might more easily accept His teachings, it followed that "in matters that were left free and indifferent" no authority could legislate new barriers between the believer and the scriptural promise. "Our consciences have to do, not with men, but with God alone." 23

Having demolished the Roman case, Calvin could salvage the same power for his own church only by modifying the dogma of conscience. For this purpose the proper starting point was not conscience but order. "In every human society some kind of government is necessary to insure the common peace and maintain concord." The nature of government required "some settled form" or procedures to expedite its transactions "decently and in order." But militating against any

settled arrangement were such vagaries as the "diversity in the manners of men," the "variety in their minds," and the "repugnance in their judgments and dispositions." To overcome these anarchic forces, laws and ordinances were needed as "a kind of bonds," and once these controls had been established their existence would play a vital part in preserving the order of the church. "The removal of them would unnerve the church, deface and dissipate it entirely." Thus the legislative power, while not essential to the salvation of the believer, was fundamental to the preservation of the religious society. It was rescued by Calvin, not for the sake of the individual conscience, but for the sake of protecting the community against the strayings of the liberated conscience.²⁴

The third aspect of the church's power, and "the principal one," was jurisdiction. This power was "nothing but the order provided for the preservation of spiritual polity." Its scope extended from the humblest member of the congregation up to the highest political officers. Its pre-eminence came from the fact that it dealt with the most fundamental problem of order, namely, the discipline of the members.

For, if no society and no house . . . can be preserved in a proper state without discipline, this is far more necessary in the church, the state of which ought to be the most orderly of all. As the saving doctrine of Christ is the soul of the church, so discipline forms the ligaments which connect the members together, and keep each in its proper place . . . Discipline, therefore, serves as a bridle to curb and restrain the refractory, who resist the doctrine of Christ; or as a spur to stimulate the inactive; and sometimes as a father's rod with which those who have grievously fallen may be chastised in mercy, and with the gentleness of the Spirit of Christ. ²⁶

Calvin's emphasis upon discipline makes it obvious that he saw in it another method for controlling the liberated conscience.²⁷ By means of discipline the believer was to be reinserted into a context of restraints and controls; he was to be reshaped into a creature of order. This was to be accomplished by minutely regulating his external conduct and by indoctrinating him in the basic teachings of the religious society. And buttressing this comprehensive system of controls was the supreme sanction (*severissima ecclesiae vindicta*) of excommunication. In Calvin's system, excommunication implied a great deal more than the mere severance of external ties. The expelled were condemned to a life without hope, a life outside the circle of fellowship:

... There is no other way of entrance into life, unless we are conceived by [the church], born of her, nourished at her breast, and continually preserved under her care and government until we are divested of this mortal flesh and "become like the angels" ... we must continue under her instruction and discipline to the end of our lives ... Away from her bosom there can be no hope of remission of sins or any salvation ... It is always fatally dangerous to be separated from the church.²⁸

Although Calvin denied that the power of jurisdiction was comparable in coercion to the punishing sword of the state, it is difficult to see how a power that could expel the already anxious believer from the circle of the faithful was in any way inferior to the strongest weapons at the disposal of civil rulers. The severity that marked this power was attributable not to any "Catholic" tendencies in Calvin's thought but to political ones; for it testified to his conviction that the problem of order was crucial. The solution, according to Calvin's logic, demanded the use of positive power on the part of the church in order to refashion Protestant man into a creature of order, or more accurately, to make him conform to a Christian image of civility.

The contrast between this conception of the role of the church and Luther's was not produced simply by Calvin's willingness to restore a three-term relationship of God-church-believer for the simpler notion of Luther. The real contrast took shape from Calvin's effort to recapture an older conception of the community as a school of virtue and the vital agency for the realization of individual perfection. If we compare, for example, Calvin's symbolism of the mother-church with the passages in Plato's Crito where Socrates declares he would rather take the hemlock than betray the polis that has nurtured him to dignity, a striking similarity in outlook emerges. This is not to say that Calvin, as the representative of sixteenth-century French humanism, was intent on reviving in some mimetic sense the classical conception of the community. It is only to indicate that Calvin's conception of a church-society stood as the culmination of a long intellectual heritage, extending back to the beginnings of Christianity, whereby the idea of the community as the custodian of virtue had been translated from a political to a religious setting. The church and not the city became the vital medium for human improvement, the symbol of human destiny: "to the end of time," wrote Augustine, "as a stranger upon the earth, suffering the persecutions of the world and receiving the consolation of God, the Church travels onwards."29

Although Calvin retained the Christian idea of the superior virtue of religious society, he reformulated it in a way that was different from both the mediaeval and the Lutheran conceptions of the church. In adopting the Lutheran idea of a community-in-fellowship, Calvin departed from the dominant mediaeval tradition; in enveloping that community within a structure of power he departed from Luther. The final result pointed at a church that was to be something more than a community and something more than a christianized *polis*. At its deepest level, the church cohered as a *corpus mysticum*, but on top of this mystic foundation Calvin erected a set of institutions to articulate and enforce a distinctive way of life. The tight corporate quality of the whole recalled the ancient *polis*, yet the underlying element of mystery was a reminder of that transcendent strain utterly alien to the classical community. The church heralded the triumph of God—and here Calvin followed an old Christian belief; it pointed towards a perfection in

eternity, and not within the time-space limits of the *polis*. Citizenship in the church-society did not connote participation in offices, but participation in a pilgrimage that would ultimately transcend history.

Despite the fact that Calvin placed a high value on community life and the institutions of the church, he was not insensitive to the danger that institutional means might become elevated into ultimate ends. As a safeguard against this possibility he insisted that the power of the church was limited, that the authority of the Scripture was superior to that of the church, and that faith stood above both men and institutions:

Ours is the humility, which, beginning with the lowest, and paying respect to each in his degree, yields the highest honor and respect to the church in subordination, however, to Christ the church's Head; ours is the obedience, which, while it disposes us to listen to our elders and superiors, tests all obedience by the Word of God.³⁰

III. THE POLITICAL THEORY OF CHURCH GOVERNMENT

Calvin was particularly sensitive to the charge that, under the guise of attacking the papacy, he had reintroduced a new hierarchy. He tried to counter this by arguing that a church modeled on the *Institutes* could not be hierarchical because none of its offices could claim an authority independent of Scripture. Hierarchy, in his definition, was equivalent to arbitrariness; a chiseled edifice of offices was not bad in itself, as long as it did not culminate in a single, preeminent human authority. Calvin, in short, was not so much anti-hierarchical as anti-monarchical.

Of the major offices outlined by Calvin the two most important were the pastorate and the elders (les Anciens). Under the Genevan system the elders were laymen elected by the secular civic Council; together with a selected number of ministers, they formed the Consistory, the chief organ of church discipline.³¹ The pastors were unquestionably the most powerful agency and the nerve-center of the whole system. They were to be nominated, in the first instance, by their fellowministers, and then passed on by the Council. The names that survived were then submitted to the congregation for its approval or rejection. These procedures provide a good illustration of the role allotted the congregation in Calvin's scheme: the membership could ratify or reject decisions; they could not formulate policy. Calvin looked upon the actions and the decisions of the church as being primarily institutional products. They were the results of prescribed procedures and of the actions of certain designated officers and agencies. Above all, these methods were the guarantee that order and regularity would prevail in church affairs; they were the alternatives to the confusion and disorder of popular control. The element in Calvin's church that most corresponded to popular participation occurred at what we could call the "social" or sacramental level. It

was through the symbolism of the sacraments and the preaching of the Word, and not in the making of "political" decisions in the church, that the members enjoyed the shared intimacies of community.

These aspects of Calvin's system formed a sharp contrast to certain sectarian ideas—also hinted at by Luther on occasion—that the ministers of the church were agents of the community, hence subject to recall, and that some of the powers of the church, such as excommunication or expulsion, were to be wielded by the whole membership. For Calvin the powers of the church resided "partly" in the pastors and "partly" in the councils of the church. But the officers of the church, even though elected by some of the members of the congregation, were not to be considered agents of the community, but instruments of the Word of God, the maker of all things (instrumentorum artifex).³²

Although the role of the congregation was hollowed of most of its substance, the pastorate, as the symbol of the common social purpose—"the principal bond which holds the believers together in one body"³³—was exalted:

Here is the supreme power (*summa potestas*) with which the pastors of the church . . . ought to be invested: that by the Word of God they may venture to do all things with confidence; may constrain all the strength, glory, wisdom, and pride of the world to obey and submit to His majesty; supported by His power, may govern all mankind, from the highest to the lowest . . . may instruct and exhort the docile; may reprove, rebuke, and restrain the rebellious and obstinate; may bind and loose; may discharge their lightnings and thunders, if necessary; but all in the Word of God.³⁴

This last phrase—"all in the Word of God"—was the crucial qualification to Calvin, for it transformed what might have been a roving mandate into a species of limited power. Despite its central position in Calvin's scheme, the pastorate was not an office possessed of unlimited possibilities. It did not belong to that tradition wherein the holders of power might freely shape the passive mass of the governed, restrained only by the degree of malleability in the human materials. In certain aspects Calvin's conception of the role of office in an organized community veered towards the Platonic tradition of the philosopher-ruler as the objective agency for an eternal truth which he served but did not invent. In its ideal form, the office of pastor, like that of the philosopher-ruler, remained undisfigured by the personality of the incumbent. A pastor who strayed beyond the objective teachings of Scripture profaned his office. The pastors were enjoined to "bring forward nothing of themselves, but speak from the mouth of the Lord" and "speak nothing beside His Word." The pastor must labor, then, as a selfless demiurge, a dedicated artisan at the service of the Word. His power was not personal but institutional.³⁶

Nevertheless, qualifications attached to Calvin's conception of this key office removed it at certain points from the Platonic tradition. The Platonic ruler

symbolized the unbroken trinity of virtue, knowledge, and power; if perfect knowledge were perfect virtue, then these must be allied to perfect power. But Calvin's pastor was deficient in all three; the elect symbolized virtue, and there was no guarantee that the pastor qua pastor belonged to this group; greater knowledge of Scripture he might have, but it would have been blasphemous to assert that this represented a perfect knowledge; and although he possessed great power and influence over the congregation, he was far from having a monopoly in these matters. The pastor, in short, was a leader, not a ruler. It was the highest office possible in a community without a head, without a single human center of direction and control.

When this conception of the pastoral office is placed alongside the other elements of Calvin's ecclesiology, such as the passive role of the congregation and the repeated emphasis on institutional structure, and when these in turn are combined with his unvarying belief in the binding objectivity of Scripture, then the fundamental motivation becomes clear: to make of the church and its officers a selfless instrument for advancing the Word. So obsessive was this master-idea that in the end the church stands as a kind of granite edifice, an inhuman monument. Its structure has been built to anticipate and counter the threat of human discretion. Wherever the human element, like some wayward and mercurial spirit, sought escape from the institutional processes in order to assert its own individuality, it was met by Calvin, lying in wait with the exacting measure of Scripture.

The obverse side to Calvin's conception of the church was that it marked the Protestant rediscovery of the institutional dimension. In developing his ideas on this subject, Calvin touched upon a whole range of topics, including the nature of power, the functions of office, the bonds of community, and the role of membership. The totality of these problems constituted more than a theory of an ecclesiastical polity; it was nothing less than a comprehensive statement covering the major elements of a political theory. Here was a vision of a rightly ordered society and its government; here, in the sacramental mysteries and in the preaching of the Word, lay a new symbolism; a new set of sustaining "myths" to cement the society together; here, in the tight discipline enforced by the church, was the shaping hand to mould the members to a common outlook and instruct them in the lessons of a common good; and here in the promise of salvation was the perfecting purpose towards which the particular wills of the members were to be bent. The central message of the whole was of man's necessary relationship to a determinate order.

IV. The Restoration of the Political Order

The transition from Calvin's religious to his political thought was not abrupt. The same categories of analysis and modes of thought that had informed his religious writings are found in his political theory. For Calvin, political and reli-

gious thought tended to form a continuous realm of discourse. The major unifying element was the general concept of order which was a premise common to both religious and political society. This unity of outlook is worth emphasizing, because it is in sharp contrast to that of the early Reformers.

In the thinking of Luther and the Anabaptists, the political and religious categories, far from being united by any internal connection, faced each other in a posture of dialectical tension. The hostility of many of the early Reformers towards the political order created a kind of fault line between their political and religious modes of thought. When they described the nature of the church or the holy life of the believers, their words and concepts evoked a picture of a good society, united in holy fellowship and living a life of harmony. But when they turned to consider the kingdom of the world, the categories shifted abruptly and the imagery darkened. For language and concept were no longer dealing with the church, the vessel of God's grace, but with the state, the weapon of His awful vengeance. Love, brotherhood, and peace, those immanent forces in the life of the church, trailed off into wistful hopes when confronted with political society. As part of the kingdom of the world, political society was a realm where conflict and violence rumbled below the surface, ready at any moment to erupt into bloodshed and disorder. Political authority naturally tended to be pictured as a mighty engine of repression—"smite and smite, slay and slay," Luther had exhorted the princes during the Peasants' War—designed to enforce peace and to protect the Christian remnant from the terrors of the world. Such a government aimed not at virtue, but at keeping men from each other's throats; mankind had never really given up the Hobbesian state of nature. In this view, an extreme tension persisted between the nature of man and the requirements of order. Political society marked a condition of "fallen nature" where sinful man strained impatiently at the restraints imposed by authority and restlessly searched for the chance to break through.

Yet it is a picture with a striking incongruity between the Christian cosmology and the Christian sociology, the one positing an omnipotent God ordering all of creation towards harmony, the other painting society as a dark, disordered mass trembling on the brink of anarchy and seemingly outside the beneficent order of God. In the thought of some of the early Reformers, political society could be likened to a realm where the cosmic writ did not run. But although the moral status of government had shrunk, its power had been exalted even to the extent of entrusting it with religious responsibilities.

The task Calvin undertook was to reconcile the several opposites created by the split-vision of the early Reformers. He had to resolve the conflict between the Christian cosmology and its sociology; he had to re-establish the moral status of the political order, but without making it appear as a substitute for religious society; he had to soften the black-and-white contrasts between the two forms of

society. The over-all method Calvin employed for bringing the two societies into some kind of congruence was to treat them both as subject to the general principle of order. Order became the common center to which the problems of the two societies, as societies, were to be referred. Political society was to be rescued from limbo by being restored to a wider, ordered frame. It was to become a part of the Christian cosmology. For Calvin, the governance of God was displayed in His total command over all that occurred within His domain: "not a drop of rain falls, but at the express command of God."³⁷ His mastery extended also to history and society; He visited judgment on the affairs of men, punishing the wicked, elevating the just, and protecting the faithful. The plenitude of His power, therefore, excluded the disruptive influence of contingency and chance. He "regulates all those commotions in the most exact order, and directs them to their proper end."³⁸

As part of this divine economy, civil government could no longer be viewed as a mere agency of repression or as "a polluted thing which has nothing to do with Christian men."³⁹ It had been designed by God to preserve and to improve the creatures with whom He had covenanted. Government was elevated into an educative agency "by which a man is instructed in the duties of humanity and civility, which are to be observed in an intercourse with mankind."⁴⁰ But if the function of government is raised above mere repression, then evidently the nature of man must contain something beyond an irrepressible inclination towards disorder. Although Calvin stood second to none of the Reformers in his low estimate of man's nature, ⁴¹ we find him, nevertheless, attaching an important qualification. The minds of men contained "general impressions of civil probity and order"; they exhibited "an instinctive propensity to cherish and preserve society."⁴²

By returning to the older political tradition which had pictured man as a creature destined for order, Calvin was able to recapture for his own purposes the idea of political society as the fulfillment of certain desirable tendencies in men. Political society, far from being a Procrustean bed which cut ungovernable humanity to the pattern of obedience, was now advanced to a divinely ordained agency for man's improvement. "The authority possessed by kings and other governors over all things upon earth is not a consequence of the perverseness of men, but of the providence and holy ordinance of God." Government was "equally as necessary to mankind as bread and water, light and air, and far more excellent." 44

Concurrently with the restored status of political society and the reinvestment of man with a political nature, the ends of the political order took on a loftier dignity. The office of the magistrate aimed not merely at the preservation of life, but at "the enactment of laws to regulate a man's life among his neighbors by the rules of holiness, integrity, and sobriety." Through the pursuit of these ends, the political order was linked with the higher purposes of religious society. Nevertheless, this union did not obliterate the integrity or the distinctiveness of the political

order. It still had a unique role to play. It outfitted men with a type of civility and discipline that could not be gained elsewhere.

The charge that Calvin was intent on stamping society with a Christian image, or on purging it of its distinctively political attributes, does less than justice to his basic intent. If the matter is analyzed merely in terms of certain "higher" and "lower" values, then there can be no denying that Calvin believed political society ought to promote the "higher" ends of Christianity—ad majorem Dei gloriam. To be a good citizen was not an end in itself; one became a good citizen in order to be a better believer. Nevertheless, the ends of political society were not exhausted by its Christian mission. Government existed to promote "decency" as well as "godliness," "peace" as well as "piety," "moderation" as well as "reverence." In other words, government existed to promote values that were not necessarily Christian, even though they might be given a Christian coloration; they were values that were necessary for order and, as such, a precondition for human existence. Civil government, then, was to promote the values that sustained order; it was to civil-ize men, or, in Calvin's words, "to regulate our lives in a manner requisite for the society of men, to form our manners to civil justice." It followed that, when the spiritual and the political jurisdictions were rightly constituted, the two orders were "in no respect at variance with each other." 46

In a striking passage condemning the sectarian animus against the political order, Calvin summarized the value of political society and underscored its vital role in the Christian economy:

For that spiritual reign, even now upon earth, commences within us some preludes of the heavenly kingdom, and in this mortal and transitory life affords us some taste of the immortal and incorruptible blessedness; but the end of this temporal regime is to foster and maintain the external worship of God, the pure doctrine and religion, to defend the constitution of the church in its entirety, to adapt our conduct to human society, to shape our manners in accordance with civil justice, to create concord among us, to maintain and preserve a common peace and tranquillity. All these things I confess would be superfluous if the kingdom of God, as it now exists within us, extinguishes the present life. But if it is the will of God that we should wander upon earth while aspiring towards our true country, and if such aids are necessary to our journey here; then those who would take them from man deprive him of his humanity.⁴⁷

The values of unity and cohesion, so prominent in Calvin's discussion of the church, were evident also in his conception of the political community. The unity of the political order, however, was not that of the *corpus mysticum*. Political unity would draw sustenance and support from the mystic solidarity of Christians— "Christians are not only a body politic, but they are the mystical and spiritual

body of Christ"⁴⁸—but the more immediate source of cohesion would be in the political society itself.⁴⁹ There was a kind of natural unity arising from man's innate instinct towards an ordered life in society, and there was a kind of artificial unity which could be induced by the institutions of society. The full unity of the society was the product of an alliance between nature and art. For the individual member, it meant an education in order; that is, the acquisition of a set of civil habits which would simultaneously support civilized life and satisfy one of man's basic instincts.

Although civil law and political institutions were two of the main agencies of stability and order, these same ends were also served by the system of vocations. A graduated social hierarchy, clearly defined in terms of offices and obligations, was but the civil counterpart to the divine principle that sustained the universe. Far from being a divisive force, distinctions of status and eminence were not only inevitable, but, in a Christian society, salutary. They had been instituted by God to prevent men from wallowing in "universal confusion." They outfitted the individual with a sort of social map, a sense of direction "that he might not wander about in uncertainty the rest of his days." ⁵⁰

Man's education to membership in an ordered community was furthered from still another source. The life of the church was an intensely social one, and in the element of love, which bound the fellowship together, it possessed a powerful cohesive whose influence would carry over to blunt the sharp edges of the social hierarchy. Love became the basic fusing force which blended the private goods of individuals into a common good for the whole society:

... No member [of the human body] has its power for itself, nor applies it to its private use, but transfuses it among its fellow members, receiving no advantage from it but what proceeds from the common convenience of the whole body. So, whatever ability a pious man possesses, he ought to possess it for his brethren, consulting his own private interest in no way inconsistent with a cordial attention to the common edification of the church . . . whatever God has conferred on us, which enables us to assist our neighbor, we are the stewards of it, and must one day render an account of our stewardship. ⁵¹

V. Political Knowledge

Calvin's claim that there was a kind of virtue attainable only in a political order raised still another set of problems. If virtue implied knowledge—and Calvin assumed with the ancients that it did—was it possible to have political knowledge and, if so, how reliable was it?

Calvin agreed that there was such a form of knowledge. It was located in the province of "terrestrial knowledge" (*l'intelligence des choses terriennes*), a knowl-

edge "which relates entirely to the present life" and "in some sense is confined within the limits of it." The highest type of knowledge was "celestial knowledge" which pertained to "the pure knowledge of God, the method of true righteousness, and the mysteries of the heavenly kingdom." The inferiority of political knowledge was the result partially of its association with lesser objects and partially of its reliance on the imperfect instrument of reason. Reason, like the rest of man's nature, had been ineradicably corrupted by the Fall. There was, however, an important qualification: the corruptive effects of Adam's rebellion were partial, not total. Man's rational understanding had been crippled but not annihilated. "Some sparks continue to shine in the nature of man, even in its corrupt and degenerate state, which prove him to be a rational creature . . ." Although reason could not lead man to spiritual regeneration or to "spiritual wisdom," it might usefully serve him in political society. 53

Proof of a natural relation between reason and political life was to be found in man's "instinctive propensity towards civil society." "This," Calvin declared, "is a powerful argument that in the constitution of this life no man is destitute of the light of reason."54 Man was not rational and therefore social; he was social and therefore rational. More important, Calvin claimed that reason could elicit political truths, an assertion that he supported by the writings of the classical pagan authors. Where Luther had venomously condemned the "harlot reason" and had likened previous political philosophy to an Augean stable awaiting only the broom of the Wittenberg Hercules, Calvin moved to restore something of the classical relationship between reason and politics and something of the reputation of the classical philosophers: "shall we deny the light of truth to the ancient lawyers, who have delivered such just principles of civil order and polity?"55 Calvin strongly agreed that natural reason would play men false if they attempted to convert it into a vehicle of spiritual salvation, yet this did not prevent a kind of kinship between the political wisdom in the Christian precepts, such as that contained in the second table of the Decalogue, and the political insights of natural reason. Both types of wisdom had a common origin in the will of God. Thus the principles of reason were not to be viewed as a human invention ab nihilo but as deductions from the moral dictates that God had "inscribed" and "engraven on the hearts of all men:"

Since man is by nature a social animal (*homo animal est natura sociale*), he is also inclined by a natural instinct to cherish and preserve society. Accordingly, we see that there are some general precepts of honesty and civil order impressed on the understanding of all men. For this reason there is no one who does not recognize that all human associations ought to be ruled by laws, and there is no one who does not possess the principle of these laws in his own understanding. For this reason there is a universal agreement among nations and individuals to accept laws, and this is a seed planted in us by nature rather than by a teacher or legislator. ⁵⁶

But since this universal moral law of conscience was too dim to illumine men's actions with any consistency, God had supplemented it by the Decalogue, which declared "with greater certainty what in the law of nature was too obscure . . ."⁵⁷ When thus reinforced by the Decalogue, the moral law could function as the Christian version of natural equity which was "the same for all mankind." It was to be the informing standard for a rightly ordered community, "the scope, and rule, and end of all laws."⁵⁸

The qualifications that Calvin attached to the moral law were consistent with his conviction that a perfect knowledge of politics could not be achieved independently of the Christian teaching. Lacking the Christian wisdom, political knowledge possessed only a limited integrity of its own. The insufficiency of political reason in Calvin's system formed a logical parallel to the limited ends pursued by the political order itself. The sights of political society were pitched lower because the virtue at which it aimed was a virtue of the second order. The chief end of man was to know God, and to achieve this end men had to be regenerated—"depart from ourselves" and "lay aside our old mind, and assume a new one." But the task of fashioning the "new man" was not assigned to the political order. Its business was to shape men to the habits of civility and order; it could not cure souls. Just as rational knowledge was lower than celestial knowledge, and just as the ends of civil society were inferior to those of religious society, so civic virtue stood beneath the perfect virtue taught by Christianity.

But having noted these distinctions in values, it is important not to translate them into antitheses. Although Calvin believed that a Christian foundation was a prerequisite for a well-constituted civil polity, there was no equivocation on his part about the essential value of the polity itself.

VI. POLITICAL OFFICE

The consistency of Calvin's political and ecclesiastical thinking was nowhere more clearly evidenced than in the discussion of the office and duties of the civil magistrate. The same impulse which had dictated Calvin's conception of the pastoral office reappeared in the magistracy. Even the language he used to describe the civil governor—"sacred ministry," "vicar of God," "minister of God"—left the unmistakable impression that Calvin was less concerned to depict a political office as such than to create a political analogue to the pastorate. In both cases, there was a single-minded concentration on the impersonal nature of the office; that is, on the institution. In both cases, the personality of the occupant was absorbed into the office itself. Both magistrate and pastor were intended to be self-less instruments of a higher purpose and subordinated to a written law. Where the pastor was enjoined to add nothing of himself to the office or to the preach-

ing of the Word, but to be only "*la bouche de Dieu*," the magistrate too was to be depersonalized, but in relation to the civil law: "the law is a silent magistrate, and a magistrate a speaking law."⁵⁹

The parallel between the two offices was expressed in still another way. Both were enveloped by an impressive *mystique* which aimed not only at discouraging disobedience in the respective societies, but also at awing the office-holder as well. Both of these elements were necessary to Calvin's theory of political obedience. The distinctive emphasis of the doctrine lay in its insistence on active, affirmative allegiance to the ruler, and not merely on a willingness to obey his commands. ⁶⁰ The reverence of subjects towards their ruler ought to be rooted in conscience, not fear. At the same time, however, the loyalty of the subjects should be directed at the office rather than at the individual magistrate. The civic commitment was institutional and not personal. At bottom this institutional allegiance ran to the broad purposes of the society, to the civilized ends secured by the political order. Those who weakened the fabric of order were classed as "inhuman monsters," "the enemies of all equity and right, and totally ignorant of humanity." ⁶¹

For his part, the magistrate symbolized, not mere power, but the permanent ends of society. His functions were to preserve order and a "temperate liberty"; to enforce justice and righteousness; and to promote peace and godliness. 62 He did not stand as the representative of the interests or opinions of particular groups, classes, or localities, but of a set of purposes which he served but had not originated. And since none of these ends were possible without order, the basic task of the magistrate was to insure that this condition prevailed. The pressing importance of order drew from Calvin the admission that even tyrants "retain in their tyranny some kind of just government. There can be no tyranny which does not in some respects assist in consolidating the society of men."63 The tyrant was connected to the cause of order by his mere possession of power. The price of cohesion and unity was the active exercise of power, and this minimum condition could be fulfilled by a tyrant. "There is much truth in the old saying that it is worse to live under a prince through whose levity everything is lawful, than under a tyrant where there is no liberty at all."64 Even the lawful ruler must, therefore, assert his power affirmatively; had not Jeremiah urged "execute ye judgment and righteousness"?

Although at one level the allegiance relationship depicted by Calvin was essentially political between ruler and ruled, at another level it transcended the political and implicated both parties in a relationship with God. The ruler was a transient occupant of a divine office and owed a responsibility to God for the faithful discharge of his trust. On the other side, the subjects were bound to obey the commands of a divinely authorized agent. Allegiance, therefore, was both a political and a religious duty. At the human level, it supported the civilized ends of society; at the ultimate level, it was a search for a right relationship with God.⁶⁵

In the case of the tyrant, the religious element was, in a sense, dominant. He was the agent of God's wrath sent to scourge the community for its sins; His coming ought to provoke a sense of collective guilt among the people, causing them to search their consciences for the sins they had committed. ⁶⁶ The relationship between citizen and tyrant, then, belonged not to the political but to the "celestial" category, because the concept of sin, which connected tyrant and subject, was not a political conception at all. ⁶⁷ And despite Calvin's intention of making obedience to tyrants appear more palatable, the effect of his reasoning was to underscore the extraordinary nature of tyranny and to isolate it from the normal political relationships. The tyrant might be elevated to a divine instrument sent "pour châtier les péchés du peuple," ⁶⁸ yet this very mission made him an essentially apolitical figure. Sin was a theological and not a political relationship.

This tendency towards placing the tyrant outside the usual political relationships cropped up again when Calvin came to consider the problem of obedience. In obeying the tyrant, the loyal subject was viewed as discharging an obligation to God rather than one deriving from the general ends of society. Obedience, however, was limited by the dictates of conscience, that is, by another extrapolitical factor. Although conscience created a direct relationship between the individual and God, and thereby circumvented the political relationship between subject and ruler, it offered, nevertheless, a powerful threat to the unlimited claims of the tyrant. Conscience was essentially a religious conception and owed its beginnings to religious controversies, but it could be turned to political advantage without straining its fundamental meaning. For, in one sense, conscience was a response to power; it had to do with the individual as the object of compulsion in a governed order. Yet whether the protesting conscience felt imperiled by papal or civil power, it retained a saving relationship with God. In one sense, Calvin's "court of conscience" pointed the individual away from the "political"; in another, it was obviously designed for the politically involved citizen. The citizen who, on strictly religious grounds, disobeyed a command that ran contrary to Scripture was, in Calvin's view, not only fulfilling his obligation to God, but also reminding the ruler of the true nature of his office. Calvin's conception of resistance was that of a selfless service designed to preserve the integrity of political institutions from the errors of temporary office-holders.⁶⁹

Although there was nothing novel in the proposition that scriptural injunctions prevailed over political commands, Calvin displayed a greater sensitivity than most of the Reformers to the political implications of religious resistance. It was this that eventually led him to formulate a theory of resistance which was political rather than religious in its motivation. He allowed that the estates or specially designated magistrates might "oppose the violence and cruelty of kings." By virtue of their position, these agencies had a positive obligation to protect popular liberties:

If they connive with kings in the oppression of the humble people, their dissimulation is not free from nefarious perfidy, because they maliciously betray the liberty of the people, while knowing, that by the ordinance of God, they are its protectors.⁷⁰

Near the end of his life, Calvin began to veer, hesitatingly to be sure, towards an acceptance of the idea that the coronation oaths and the laws of a country formed a system of agreements which might be defended against an arbitrary ruler:

 \dots Certain remedies against tyranny are allowable, for example, when magistrates and estates have been constituted and given the care of the commonwealth: they shall have power to keep the prince to his duty and even to coerce him if he attempt anything unlawful.⁷¹

Two aspects of this deserve underlining. First, Calvin's declaration that the estates and inferior magistrates were entrusted with a divine responsibility contrasts with Luther's tendency to elevate rulership above all other offices. Consistent with this had been Luther's strong scepticism concerning the legitimacy of the estates as restraining organs. Calvin, on the other hand, by breaching the divinity that doth hedge a king, had created a rival agency, armed with the only credentials that most men of the period would respect, a divine ordination. The second important aspect of Calvin's resistance theory was its mention of the strictly political ends served by the organs of resistance: the protection of the liberty of the people, the care of the commonwealth. The effect of this was to provide a balancing parallel to the theory of allegiance. For the same reason that men obey authority in order to preserve the civilizing purposes supported by the political order, so the specified organs of the community might have to disobey in order to preserve that order.

While none of these considerations worked to dislodge either the primacy of the religious motive in Calvin's thought or the priority held by spiritual values, they did signify his rediscovery of political complexity. More than any other contemporary Reformer, he was supremely sensitive to the plurality of relationships and obligations operating in a political community. Among most of the Reformers, the general tendency had been to reduce the manifold complexity of politics to a simple connection between ruler and ruled or between both of them and God. Calvin, however, avoided this simple explanation and emphasized instead the triangular relationship of ruler, people, and the law. The connecting link between ruler and citizen was not a direct one, but occurred through the mediating agency of the law.⁷³ From the standpoint of the ruler this had the effect of adding one more obligatory element to his office: he owed responsibilities to the people, to God, to the law, and to the whole range of purposes proper to a rightly constituted society. The sum total of these obligations formed a premise that made

the act of resistance a logical possibility within the Calvinist system and not, as many later commentators would have it, a matter of geographical accident.

VII. POWER AND COMMUNITY

Calvin's conception of the church and of civil society, taken together, marked the Protestant rediscovery of the idea of the institutionalized community. It had been the genius of early sixteenth-century Protestantism to create the notion of a cohesive religious association; but the failure to equip the religious fellowship with the necessary institutional structure had threatened the fellowship with dissolution from within and encroachment from without. Although there can be no denying that the institutional hostility of the early Reformers was nourished by a deep desire to prevent religious feeling from being stifled by ecclesiasticism, they failed to grapple with the fact that, as long as the church was bound to this world, it would have to face the threat of rival institutions powerfully organized. The strength of Calvin's position lay in its realization that the precondition for the survival of the community of believers was a strongly structured church government; a sense of institutions must be combined with a sense of community.

Similarly, where the early Reformers expressed an indifference to the political order or else viewed it solely as a repressive agency, Calvin reasserted its value and denied that its essence consisted in coercion. In short, Calvin's emphasis on a strong church and on the dignity of political society was designed for a double purpose: to make the church safe in the world and the world safe for the church. In reorienting Protestantism towards the world, Calvin stands as the Protestant counterpart to Aquinas. Like Thomas he labored to reintegrate the political order with the order of grace, but unlike Thomas he had the further task of showing that the church could contribute to the order of civil society without perverting its own nature. The ethos created by the church was to be a civil-izing one, one that habituated the liberated Protestant to a life under order and discipline. In Calvin's system the church became the agency for resolving the uneasy tension encouraged by the early Reformation belief that man was a divided being dwelling partly in a society of faith ruled by Christ and partly in civil society ruled by temporal authority. In resolving the bifurcated existence of man, Calvin returned to the substance, but not the form, of the mediaeval idea that human existence, whether lived at the spiritual or "material" level, was an existence preeminently social and ordered. No abrupt transition separated both aspects of existence, because in both of them man was a creature accustomed to the power and restraints of institutions and to a life of civility.

The result of these labors was not only to impart to Protestantism a depth of political understanding it had previously lacked, but to place the new movement on a more equal footing with the political sophistication of Catholicism. From

the time of the first political repercussions of Protestantism, Catholicism had claimed to be more congenial to the requirements of civil society. In one sense this claim was profoundly true. Under the government of the Church the believer had been accustomed to the patterns of "civil" behavior enforced by church discipline, and was therefore prepared for the life of civil society. Once this is recognized it is easy to see that the emphatic insistence of the early Reformers on an almost unqualified obedience to civil rulers was but a crude effort to overcome the political superiority of Catholicism. It was crude because it assumed that the habits of civility could be summed up so easily. Calvin's contribution was to see that the habits of civility needed by the Church were also essential to civil life; the essential demands of order were the same for both societies. The interlocking of the religious and civil orders in Calvin's system was simply the fulfillment of two dominant impulses in man, one religious, the other social, and both united by the need for order.

Two elements in the Calvinist conception of order held radical implications for the future. The first was the notion that a society could be at once well-organized, disciplined, and cohesive and yet be without a head. Although all Protestants were necessarily anti-monarchical in their belief that a religious society could flourish without a papal monarch, Calvin was unique in being able to describe the institutional substitutes for the pope. The political application of these beliefs awaited the English civil wars of the seventeenth century, but the distaste for secular monarchy was already in evidence in Calvin's own writings.⁷⁴

The other potentially explosive idea lay in Calvin's belief that a community rested on an active membership. The unity that flowed from participation was the Calvinist answer to the papal theory that unity could be guaranteed only by the single will of the pontiff. Moreover, participation was an equalizing conception because the nature of the good at which the society aimed was one intended for all the participants; the body of Christ knew no distinctions in value among the members. Once this concept of participation was given a political twist, it would be but a short step from Geneva to the English Levellers at Putney and Colonel Rainborough's claim that the "poorest he that is in England hath a life to live, as the greatest he . . . every man that is to live under a government ought first by his own consent to put himself under that government."75 To view such a step as the radical transformation of essentially religious notions would be to miss the whole meaning of Calvin's system. It was a system that needed no "transforming" in order to bring out a political implication, because the political element had been present from the start. At the very moment that Calvin grasped the importance of order the political theme was incorporated into the main body of writings and reached its fullest expression in the Calvinist conception of the church-society. To the extent that the church was a governing order, fully institutionalized and equipped with power, it possessed many of the qualities of a political society.

If we accept the view that Calvin's notion of the church was in some degree a species of political theory, additional light can be thrown on the relationship between Christianity and the development of Western political thought. One of the most important effects of Christianity had been to discourage the classical quest for an ideal state. To the Christian persuasion, the attempt to build an eternal polity, untouched by the corrosions of time, had appeared as an act of lèse-majesté, an attempt to emulate the omnipotence of God. A writer like Aquinas, for example, might devote considerable attention to the best form of government, yet this was a far cry from the Platonic vision of a total regeneration of man through political means. The true Christian counterpart of the absolutely best societies projected by Plato and Aristotle was to be found in Augustine's City of God. The ideal society existed beyond and not within history; it was a society transcendental, not empirical. The powerful hold that this idea was to gain over the Western imagination had the effect of etherealizing the old classical idea of the best society into the idea of the Kingdom of God. Only occasionally did the older notion reappear in the sublimated form of More's Utopia or Campanella's City of the Sun.

In Calvin's writings, however, the idea of the best society re-emerged, but in a distinctively Christian rather than classical way. The church and the civil society were both viewed as social orders embodying certain values, yet the church was the better society on several counts. Its mission was loftier, its life more social, and its virtues of a higher dignity. The sacramental bond provided a kind of unity which the civil order could never attain: "every one imparts to all in common what he has received from the Lord." In civil society, on the other hand, the necessary precondition was that "men should have peculiar and distinct possessions." The ethical pattern, the *justum regimen*, of the one society was to be sought in Christ, while the other society could never aspire to a good greater than external piety. The one society aimed at salvation and repentance; it was "*un vray ordre*"; the other was concerned only with the public side of man. The one, in short, was the good society, the other a necessary but inferior society.

But although the church stood as the better society in comparison to the state, the church itself was only the best realizable society, not the absolutely best. Above the visible society of believers was the church invisible and eternal, the pure communion of saints. When compared to this society, the visible church was a "res carnalis" confined within the limits of time and space. But although the best society could not be realized by men on earth, it was not entirely disconnected from what men could achieve. A rightly ordered church and civil society could follow the same doctrine that inspired the life of the saints; and if their endeavors fell short of the standard of the best society, they might still achieve something of inestimable value, a whispered intimation of immortality.

A few final words on the Reformers before turning to Machiavelli's political thought. In most accounts, the political philosophy of Machiavelli is depicted as

startlingly modern in character; and what was omitted by Machiavelli is usually supplemented by drawing from Hobbes. Together they are taken as the symbols of modernity. In the following pages an attempt will be made to explicate the elements of modernity in both of these writers, but here I wish only to caution against exaggerating the contrast between them and the Reformers. In certain decisive respects the Reformers acted and spoke more towards the future than either Machiavelli or Hobbes.

To begin with, men like Luther, Zwingli, and Calvin were actors as well as thinkers; and in the former role they experimented with a mode of action suspect by both Machiavelli and Hobbes yet commonplace to modern times. They were all leaders of mass movements and, as such, among the first to attempt to catalyze the masses for the purpose of social action. When the Reformation leaders are viewed in this light, we are able to see how eminently suited were their techniques and doctrines to creating and encouraging popular action. The "priesthood of the believers" notion, for example, was marvelously successful in arousing the enmity of the followers against all forms of religious status; that is, of supplying a focus of hatred; and yet it also supplied a sense of elevated equality among the believers, an undifferentiated mass status.

Consider also how the sustained attempt at simplifying religious ideas to their basic essentials, the emphasis on faith or belief rather than rational knowledge, the translation of Scripture into the vernacular languages, all of these bear the earmarks of having been designed for mass action. Consider, too, the political implications of the Reformation as a broad movement of revolt directed against an established order, a revolt whose success depended upon radicalizing the masses into disaffection with existing authorities and institutions. The perfecting of the arts of popular leadership and the tendency to blur the line between systematic theology and popular ideology—it was as though the guardians had ventured to combine the roles which Plato had carefully distinguished: the thinker-statesman, for whom the public had to be shaped to the demands of truth, and the politician, for whom truth had to be accommodated to the mood and wants of the public.

Hardly a trace of these notions can be found in Machiavelli and Hobbes, and this despite the fact that they are usually considered the precursors of modern political thought. Their failure in these respects is as fully illuminating for what it tells us about modern political thinking as for what it tells us about Machiavelli and Hobbes. Although Hobbes, for example, was occasionally to voice the hope that political philosophy might be reduced to a few simple theorems, he and Machiavelli both remained faithful to the traditional distinction between the rigorous demonstrations appropriate to political knowledge and the crude catechisms suitable for the vulgar understanding. For all of their heresies, they remained stubbornly orthodox in their belief that political philosophy represented a form

of knowledge pertaining to the good of a whole society, not one tailored to appeal to the common intellect of the members.

The philosophical status assigned political knowledge by Hobbes was in part a reflection of the different relationship he saw between thought and action. Both he and Machiavelli remained unaffected by the great temptation of modern political theory of converting political philosophy into a species of popular ideology suited to the appetite and organizational needs of political mass movements. In the notion of what group they were writing for, Machiavelli and Hobbes were distinctly premodern. The modern writer tends to assume that the age-old problem of bridging the gap between theory and practice can be accomplished by appealing to the dominant group in society. This means, in the modern era, an appeal to a popular audience. As Rousseau recognized, "It is no longer a question of speaking to a small number, but to the public . . ."

In contrast, the style and method of Machiavelli and Hobbes show them to be strongly self-conscious that they were addressing a highly select audience. They spoke to their intellectual peers and directed their efforts at influencing the few who occupied the seats of power. This is to say that both writers were at one with the classical and mediaeval traditions in holding that since political action meant action by the one or few, there was a point in hoping that the few would someday listen. It was this hope that kept alive the enterprise of political knowledge as something to be known, not merely believed. Much of modern political theory has looked towards a far different audience; it has sought out, not the Borgias or the Cromwells, but the "masses." In the spirit of Baudelaire, it sees in the masses "a huge reservoir of electrical energy" waiting to be tapped; its aspiration is to rouse the sleeping giant, cause him to exchange his supportive role for that of positive agent. This approach implies a wholesale transformation not only of political action, but of political philosophy as well. Political ideas come to be something to be believed rather than known; political philosophy ceases to be philosophy and becomes popular literature; for belief, unlike knowledge, thrives on a common mentality. In these matters Hobbes was hopelessly classical, Luther ominously modern.

CHAPTER SEVEN

••

Machiavelli: Politics and the Economy of Violence

This is the question finally at stake in any genuinely moral situation: What shall the agent be? What sort of character shall he assume?

—John Dewey

I. THE AUTONOMY OF POLITICAL THEORY

The impact of the Reformation on the Western European countries had resulted in a significant alliance, although not always on a self-conscious basis, between the groups advocating religious reform and those intent on furthering national independence. This had been facilitated by the tendency among the religious writers of the last half of the sixteenth century to turn increasingly to consider political theories and problems. Calvin undertook to reintroduce political categories into church theory as the necessary accompaniment to a reintegration of the political and religious orders. In England, Hooker supplied to Anglicanism a philosophy which extolled the intermingling of political and religious elements and accepted royal supremacy in ecclesiastical matters. Ironically, the Puritans, whose concept of the "two kingdoms" Hooker had labeled subversive of the unity of political and religious life, became increasingly doubtful of their own distinction. In the next century they showed a startling talent for expanding the claims of the kingdom of grace, until the political order itself was temporarily under the domination of the saints.

The revival of the language of politics was also bound up with a growing sense of national identification on the part of Protestant apologists. The language of church theory, in particular, had to be recast to accord with the dissolution of the universal organization and the nationalization of religious life. These two developments, the reintroduction of political concepts into religious thought and the sense of national particularism, were summed up by Hooker near the end of the century:

... As the main body of the sea being one, yet within divers precincts hath divers names; so the Catholic Church is in like sort divided into a number of distinct societies, every one of which is termed a Church within itself... A Church... is a Society, that is, a number of men belonging unto some Christian fellowship, the place and limits whereof are certain... For the truth is, that the Church and the commonwealth are names which import things really different; but those things are accidents, and such accidents as may and should always dwell lovingly together in one subject. Wherefore the real difference between the accidents signified by those names, doth not prove different subjects for them always to reside in.¹

The growing merger of political and religious categories of thought was an intellectual footnote to the spread of political control over national churches. When these tendencies were joined to the growing strength of the national monarchies and to an emerging national consciousness, the combined effect was to pose a possibility which had not been seriously entertained in the West for almost a thousand years: an autonomous political order which acknowledged no superior and, while accepting the universal validity of Christian norms, was adamant in insisting that their interpretation was a national matter. But while Reformation Europe could accept the practice of an autonomous political order and disagree primarily over who should control it, there was greater reluctance to explore the notion of an autonomous political theory. As long as political theory contained a stubbornly moral element and as long as men identified the ultimate categorical imperatives with the Christian teaching, political thought would resist being divested of religious imagery and religious values. Even if men had been prepared to doubt the centrality of ethics to politics, even if like Sir Thomas Smith in the sixteenth century they were to wonder if the argument of Thrasymachus had been "so farre out of the way, (if it be civillie understood) as Plato would make it,"2 it is doubtful that political theory could have avoided the contagion of religious thinking. Like other forms of discourse, political theory is relevant only when it is intelligible. The intelligibility of a theorist's ideas depends upon his honoring the tacit conventions of his age, even when he has undertaken to explore their outer limits.³

In sixteenth-century Western Europe the price of persuasion was defined by an audience committed to religion. This had been further strengthened by the fact that, whatever support had been given religious reform by economic and national impulses, the most sustained attacks on the Middle Ages had been largely couched in the language of religion. It followed that the political theorist could not dismiss religion, but only take up different attitudes towards it.

Before the conventions controlling political discourse could be altered, the intensity of religious conviction amongst the audience had first to be undermined by scepticism, indifference, and, above all, by decades of bitter and costly reli-

gious wars. Similarly, the practical relevance of political ideas was closely tied to religion, if for no other reason than that religious unrest presented one of the main threats to political stability. The new states of Europe might be politically autonomous in the practical sense of being independent of the control of religious institutions, but they could not afford to be indifferent towards religion. Moreover, for centuries now, Western political societies had relied on habits of civility whose content and sanctioning inhibitions were supplied by Christianity. As late as the eighteenth century, convinced Erastians, like Voltaire, were apprehensive of trying to govern a society in which the Christian ethic had lost its hold. Antionalism and patriotism had not yet reached a position of being able to furnish from their own resources a code of civic conduct independent of religion. For all of these reasons the language and concepts of political theory, as they developed during the Reformation, could not break conclusively out of the circle of possibilities drawn by religious thought and religious problems.

If the promise of an autonomous political theory could not be fulfilled within the intellectual framework established by the Reformation, its evolution must be sought instead in a setting unruffled by religious upheavals and one wherein the conventions of discourse fashioned by the Middle Ages were being challenged by modes of thought other than theological ones. Such a situation existed in Italy during the sixteenth century. Here the energies of Italian intellectuals were being turned more and more to the exploration of new realms of inquiry without the distraction of endless religious polemics. At the same time that the dominant intellectual outlook was no longer being shaped by religious influences, the power of religious institutions had begun to recede, or, more accurately, the power of the Church was significant not as an extension of its spiritual mission but for its role in the internal politics of the Italian peninsula. This conjuncture of factors created the opportunity for political phenomena to emerge more sharply and distinctly.

The lack of national unity, the instability of political life in the Italian city-states, and the easy access to status and power beckoning the political adventurer joined to render the political dimension of existence pervasive and compelling. To move on a thoroughly political plane necessarily called for casting off modes of thought inherited from an earlier age where politics had been tightly enclosed by a religious world-view. Almost a century before *The Prince* was written, a viable tradition of "realism" had developed in Italian political thought. While these writers of the early *quattrocento* had been mainly preoccupied with comparing the relative merits of monarchies and republics and with evaluating the life of action as against the *vita contemplativa* preached by the humanist sage,⁵ the most significant aspect of the controversies was the absence of religious polemics which allowed the theorists to confront issues like order and power in almost strictly political terms.

In the political thought of Machiavelli these latent possibilities were taken up and made the basis for the first great experiment in a "pure" political theory. The manifesto which he drew for the new science reflected the belief that before political phenomena could be meaningfully analyzed, they must first be freed from the enclosing illusions woven by the political ideas of the past.

And because I know that many have written on this topic [of the prince], I fear that when I too write I shall be thought presumptuous, because in discussing it, I break away completely from the principles laid down by my predecessors. But since it is my purpose to write something useful to an attentive reader, I think it more effective to go back to the practical truth of the subject than to depend on my fancies about it.⁶

Machiavelli's condemnation of the great political philosophies of the past was not prompted by any formal philosophical objections on his part. It was based instead on the belief that the concepts inherited by political thought had ceased to be meaningful because they no longer dealt with phenomena that were truly political. Where mediaeval political thought had made ecclesiastical institutions a major focal point of its inquiries and consequently had had its concepts imbued by religious imagery and ideas, Machiavelli contended that ecclesiastical governments were irrelevant to the proper concerns of the new science. Other critics of the papacy, such as Marsilius and Luther, had stigmatized it for being too political; but Machiavelli's charge was that it was not political enough to warrant the attention of political theory. In his biting words, such regimes maintain their princes in power regardless of "the way they act and live."

These are the only princes who have states and do not defend them, subjects and do not govern them; yet their states are never taken away from them as a result of not being defended; and their subjects do not object because they are not governed; they do not dream of being alienated from the Church, nor can they be. These principalities alone, then, are secure and happy. But since they are protected by higher causes, to which the human mind does not reach, I will omit speaking of them; because, since they are maintained and set up by God, it would be the part of a presumptuous and conceited man to treat them.⁷

While it would make a nice point to discuss whether Machiavelli believed papal government to be beyond the reach of political theory or, instead, beneath its contempt, the important thing is that his antipathies were the outcome of a highly self-conscious notion of what matters were germane to political theory.⁸ If political significance were denied the papacy, the language of mediaeval political theology became superfluous to the needs of the new science. In this respect political theory was to contribute to one of the fundamental tendencies of the Renaissance, namely, the proliferation of independent areas of inquiry, each intent

on staking out its autonomy, each concerned to develop a language of explanation suited to a particular set of phenomena, and each proceeding without benefit of clergy. In the long run, this development presented a far more serious threat to the unified world-view of the Middle Ages than any number of anti-Christian crudities.

The break with mediaeval modes of thought has not been accounted by most modern commentators as the sole reason for acclaiming Machiavelli the first truly modern political thinker. They have rightly included his rejection of traditional norms, such as natural law, and the exploration of a pragmatic method of analysis concentrating almost exclusively on questions of power. We have added to these the suggestion that Machiavelli's modernity also lay in the attempt to exclude from political theory whatever did not appear to be strictly political. While religion was the most important casualty of the principle of exclusion, there were others equally significant, but of quite different types. In this connection it is worth examining Machiavelli's animus against hereditary rulers and his deep contempt for the nobility. The importance of this discussion does not relate to the language and concepts of the new science, but rather to its political and social biases. If the new science was hostile to hereditary princes and the aristocracy, it could not be accused of being a mere ideology designed for the purpose of rationalizing these particular interests. On the other hand, if the new science were to cut itself off from these two, in what quarter could it find allies for the task of reform? We can perhaps throw some light on these matters by examining Machiavelli's attitudes towards the nobility and the principle of hereditary rule.

The antipathy towards hereditary monarchs was bound up with Machiavelli's appreciation of the crisis which had been developing in the notions of authority and legitimacy. He sensed correctly that in recent centuries the rapid changes in institutional forms, social structures, and types of leadership had rendered older notions of legitimacy obsolete. A political world had emerged where the hereditary principle and most forms of traditionalism were steadily losing their hold. Despite the continued existence of viable hereditary systems, such as in France, Machiavelli contended that they held little relevance for political theory. "A new princely government," he wrote, "encounters difficulties," but "hereditary states, being accustomed to the family of their princes, are maintained with fewer difficulties than new ones."9 Thus an hereditary system, which by definition presupposed a settled situation where the loyalties and the expectations of the subjects remained fairly constant, did not call for any special skill or knowledge and hence presented no real challenge to political science. 10 On the other hand, a newly acquired dominion was retained or lost strictly according to the ruler's measure of skill. The latter, then, represented a purer form of politics in that accidental factors played a minor role.¹¹

This difference was reflected also in the comparative possibilities for *virtù*. An hereditary prince had small opportunity for greatness, because glory was more

possible in the gaining of power than in the inheriting of it. The hereditary monarch stood to suffer a "double disgrace" if "though born a prince, he loses his dominion because he is not prudent." Moreover, a prince who had enjoyed a long reign and who then suffered a sudden reverse was even denied the comfort of blaming his downfall on *Fortuna*. Lulled by security, he had patently failed to make adequate preparation for the political contingencies afflicting all regimes. ¹² In contrast, the new prince had the chance of "double glory:" he could found a new realm and experience the aesthetic exhilaration of stamping it with the impress of his own personality, something necessarily denied the hereditary ruler whose power depended on honoring pre-existing arrangements. ¹³

Disdainful of the hereditary principle, Machiavelli offered the new science of statecraft as the alternative to the old principle of legitimacy, boldly promising to make "a new prince seem to be an old one" and "immediately make him safer and firmer in his realm than if he had grown old in it." ¹⁴ To this extent the new science reflected an age of extreme social mobility, an "age of the bastards," as Burckhardt called it. In serving the new men as they scrambled for power, status, and glory, the new science worked as a great equalizer, elevating the comparative position of those who pitted ability against hereditary right. ¹⁵ This, incidentally, partially explains the great weight assigned to the military arts by Machiavelli: a knowledge of warfare, he explained, was of service not only to those who were born princes, but it "causes men to rise from humble positions to that [same] rank." ¹⁶

In the new man, the political *arriviste*, Machiavelli painted a striking portrait of the figure which was to bedevil modern politics. The new man was the offspring of an age of restless ambition, of the rapid transformation of institutions and quick shifts in power among the elite groups. He symbolized, in brief, the flux of politics, its impermanency and its endlessly on-going character. In contrast, the hereditary ruler stood for the anachronistic principle that fixed situations and settled arrangements were of the essence of politics. At bottom, then, the bias of the new science towards the "new prince" and against the hereditary one was based on the belief that the former was a truer image of the nature of politics. But whether he was a more reliable agent for the application of the new science is a question which we shall reserve until after we have examined Machiavelli's case against the nobility.

"Human appetites," Machiavelli wrote, "are insatiable, for by nature we are so constituted that there is nothing we cannot long for, but by fortune we are such that of these things we can attain but few. The result is that the human mind is perpetually discontented . . ."

Machiavelli believed that this form of discontent was the particular vice of the nobles: nothing short of complete domination could satisfy them. This, however, was no longer feasible for the reason that the long experience of civic freedom had encouraged the expectations of the average citizen to believe it right that his own desires should be treated equally with those

of others. The interests and ambitions of both groups could not be harmonized, for one demanded preference, the other equality. This was not so much a logical contradiction as a political one. It was the nature of political action that it had to be undertaken in a limited "field" where the objects of interest and ambition existed in short supply. Unlike other fields of action, politics was plagued by the dilemma of limited goods and limitless ambitions.¹⁹

The problem of scarcity and ambition, which was to be put at the center of political theory in the next century by Hobbes, led, in turn, to the issue of inequality. Here again we find Machiavelli elaborating the attitude which was to characterize modern political theory: the new science was fundamentally hostile to social distinctions and to the aristocratic principle in particular. One of the indices of a corrupt society, in Machiavelli's view, was the existence of widespread social and economic inequality and of a parasitic gentry which refused its social duties and amused itself by frequent armed forays into the surrounding countryside, destroying and disrupting the peace. This antipathy towards the gentiluomini and grandi sprang partly from Machiavelli's republican belief that a condition of great inequality was prejudicial to a republic. But it was also favored by the view that simpler societies, like the German states, where equality prevailed, were more susceptible to the shaping hand of the new science.²⁰ The bias against the nobility held yet another implication which was more fully developed by Hobbes: that the qualitative kind of distinctions inherent in an aristocratic society were less congenial to the new science than a society where men could be analyzed as entities possessed of similar capabilities and outlooks. The great discovery of Machiavelli, as we shall note later, was that a uniform mass could be more easily analyzed in theory and more easily manipulated in practice than a differentiated social body.²¹

In later pages Machiavelli's orientation towards the mass will be more closely examined and we will try to show that it was accompanied by an increasing disenchantment with the new prince as an instrument of the new science. What ought to be noted here, however, is that these developments in no way spelled the "democratization" of political theory into a body of knowledge designed specifically to advance the interests of the people. Instead, the crucial characteristic of the new science was that it was detachable from the interests of any party. This had been made clear by Machiavelli in his Dedication to The Prince. After pleading that the novelty (varietà) and seriousness (gravità) of his topic might serve to excuse his presumptuousness in offering directives to princes, Machiavelli went on to compare the political writer to a landscape artist who could best execute his canvas by situating himself in the valley so that he might faithfully render the towering mountains; and, conversely, he could best sketch the valley by occupying the heights. In the metaphor the valley symbolized the people, the mountains the prince; the political theorist, as painter, was superior to both, moving with equal facility to either position, and capable of prescribing for one or the other.

This same point was made in a slightly different way in the *History of Florence*. Machiavelli's technique was to set out a situation where conflicting class interests were involved, and then, through the mouth of some partisan spokesman, proceed to argue the best case possible for each interested group.²² Regardless of the party, whether proletarian or patrician, the versatility of the new science enabled it to enter imaginatively into any particular position, analyzing the problems as they appeared from that perspective and indicating the course of action which would satisfy the interest in question.

Perhaps the most dramatic evidence of the ability of the new science to avoid "over-identification" with a particular constituency was provided by Machiavelli's analysis of various problems of international politics. Here, too, the new science showed itself capable of entering into any position, even of Italy's worst enemies, diagnosing the situation from that point of view, stating the alternatives, and prescribing the better moves.²³ It is easy to see from this why many critics have argued that Machiavelli fallaciously assumed international politics to be simply a chess game, thereby overlooking aspects which could not be reduced to these terms. But one might also suggest that this was inevitable, given the versatile and detached quality of the new science: for the essence of chess is that it is a science applicable to either side of the board. This can be put another way by saying that the vantage point which Machiavelli sought for political theory was to come from its being inspired by a problem orientation rather than an ideological orientation. A problem has several facets, an ideology a central focus.

We might summarize the foregoing remarks by saying that in Machiavelli's conception political theory could furnish a set of techniques useful to any group, but, as we have also seen, not every group was considered equally useful to the new science. Both considerations entailed certain types of commitments, and it is to these commitments and their interconnections that we now turn.

II. THE COMMITMENTS OF THE POLITICAL THEORIST

There exists a persistent image of Machiavelli as a clear-eyed realist, devoted to ridding political thought of fuzzy ideals, and possessed of no more moral passion than is found in the scientist's dedication to objective methods.²⁴ Admittedly Machiavelli supplies ample material for this portrait. His defiant announcement that he intended to blaze a "new route" in political analysis, one which would "get at the practical truth (*verità effectuale*) of the matter," has been accepted as the core of his system.²⁵ Nevertheless, certain doubts about this estimate are raised by the abrupt change in style which occurred in the last chapter of *The Prince*. The language was no longer that of realistic appraisal and detached advice, but of fervent nationalism which culminated in the plea for a crusade to unify Italy. Serious students have contended that the chapter constitutes a later addition to the

main body of the text, yet this does not dispose of the fact that Machiavelli did write the chapter and that he never evinced any embarrassment for having included it in his pioneering work.²⁶ The last chapter can be regarded as gratuitous only by assuming that it is eccentric for realism and passion to be combined in a political theory. If the assumption is discarded, however, it is then possible to see that objective realism and passionate nationalism were the expression of two different kinds of commitments on Machiavelli's part. It then remains to explore not only their natures but also the kind of language appropriate to each.

As we have previously noted, when Machiavelli attempted to describe Italy's political ills, he took to employing the language of moral passion. Italy's condition, he wrote, was "more enslaved than that of the Hebrews, more oppressed than the Persians, and more scattered than the Athenians; without a head, without order, beaten, despoiled, lacerated, and overrun . . ."²⁷ The theme gathers power as Machiavelli, implicitly and apparently without conscious intention, adopts the language of religion: Italy, like the *corpus Christi*, has been condemned to suffering disunion that it might atone for the past sins of those whose existence it symbolized. It was "necessary" that, like the ancient nations, Italy suffer devastation and enslavement before being redeemed (*redenzione*). Having evoked the image of the suffering body politic, Machiavelli then offered a kind of litany to the political savior on whom rested the hope of Italy's future redemption:

And though before this, certain persons have showed signs from which it could be inferred that they were chosen by God for the redemption of Italy, nevertheless it has afterwards been seen that in the full current of action they have been cast off by Fortune. So Italy remains without life and awaits the man, whoever he may be, who is to heal her wounds . . . and cure her of those sores that have long been festering. She may be seen praying God to send some one to redeem her from these cruel and barbarous insults. [And then after urging that the deliverer need only follow the means advocated earlier, Machiavelli presents his own version of an Old Testament prophecy:] We have before our eyes extraordinary and unexampled means prepared by God. The sea has been divided. A cloud has guided you on your way. The rock has given forth water. Manna has fallen. Everything has united to make you great. The rest is for you to do.²⁸

The vision is climaxed in the promise of the joyous reception awaiting the savior-prince (*redentore*) a promise of power and glory without Gethsemane:

I am unable to express with what love he would be received in all the provinces that have suffered these foreign deluges; with what thirst for vengeance, what firm faith, what piety, what tears! What gates would be shut against him? what peoples would deny him obedience? what envy would oppose itself to him? what Italian would refuse to follow him?²⁹

From the above it is apparent that older forms of religious emotion and language had been carried over and sublimated into the newer imagery of the nation. And following as they do the technical counsels offered in the preceding chapters of The Prince, the conclusion is suggested that the new political theory was not self-contained but drew its impulse from national inspiration, an impulse which Machiavelli could communicate only through the older language of religious emotion and thought. The religious element accompanying the new political theory was not confined solely to Machiavelli's nationalism, but reappeared in the notion of a vital principle inherent in political societies. A political society was classified by Machiavelli among those types of bodies which could escape disintegration only by repeating a certain ritual of renewal.³⁰ In the case of mixed or composite bodies—and here Machiavelli significantly lumped together republics and organized religious groups—renewal was attainable by recurring to the original principle. This could be done either by means of internal measures or by the shock of some external force. But over time the decay of these bodies could be arrested only by returning to their archē or fundamental principle. Machiavelli warned that in a republic it would be necessary to shock men back to a consciousness of the original basis of their polity and this ought not to be delayed more than ten years, otherwise corruption would have penetrated so deeply that the body politic would be beyond redemption.³¹

This notion of a revivifying principle was highly reminiscent of the eucharistic usages. Partly as a result of Machiavelli's influence it was carried into later political theory, particularly among constitutionalists. Harrington, who called Machiavelli "the only politician of later ages," argued that a republic which adhered to its basic laws would be assured of immortality.³² The idea of fundamental law, which played so great a role in the political and constitutional debates in seventeenth-century England and to later ideas of a written constitution, has preserved the notion of a life-giving force whose observance guaranteed the continued strength of the body politic.³³

We have suggested that there existed an important substratum of religious feeling and imagery in Machiavelli's thought and that this was most exposed when he wrote on the theme of national revival. But in those parts of his writings which were dominantly analytical or concerned with counsel, the language of religion was excluded. Hence while the cause of national revival formed a basic purpose for the realization of which certain means were prescribed, it did not function as an informing purpose coloring and infecting every aspect of his work. Machiavelli opened the significant possibility of a separation between the style of analytical political inquiry and that of basic purpose, each having its own vocabulary and concepts. But what had been a bare possibility for Machiavelli has today become an article of faith in most modern social sciences: the language of moral

passion has been tagged as "subjective" or "emotive," and hence a less attractive subject for precise investigation. This does not mean, any more than it did for Machiavelli, that the modern political scientist lacks a moral sense or a commitment to certain values. Rather, as the following statement by contemporary political theorists shows, it is the status of political values that is significant:

Our own values are those of the citizen of a society that aspires toward freedom. Hence we have given special attention to the formulation of conditions favorable to the establishment and continuance of a free society . . . But we are not concerned with the justification of democratic values, their derivation from some metaphysical or moral base. This is the province of political doctrine, not political science.³⁴

But when beliefs are simultaneously relegated to the status of unexamined preferences and declared undemonstrable according to the most respected method of validation, their tendency is to become ritualistic dogmas. Just as Machiavelli had his unexamined beliefs—the nation-state, international anarchy, a kind of wagefund theory of power—so the contemporary political scientist has his—democracy, a liberal theory of rights, an economic market partly free and partly controlled. It is not that these beliefs are bad or erroneous, but that they are considered unexaminable in any rigorous sense with the result that their influence in dictating empirical or analytical inquiries is not always recognized.

If the preoccupation with analytical methods appears to have originated in some degree with Machiavelli, it becomes important to discover what kind of conviction or passion lay behind this commitment. This problem is, in a sense, founded on a paradox: having suggested that Machiavelli excluded basic values from the logic of inquiry, we are now asking whether his method of inquiry was supported by certain passionate convictions. What we have in his case is a passionate commitment to the vocation of political theorist and one which was strikingly illustrated in a passage from his correspondence:

Fortune has decreed that since I cannot discuss silk-making or wool-manufacture, or profits and losses, I have to discuss matters of state. I must either make a vow of silence or talk about that subject.³⁵

There were many other expressions testifying to a deep sense of dedication to the vocation of political theorist; *The Prince* itself was prefaced by the remark that the volume represented "all I have learned in many years and with many discomforts and perils." This sense of dedication was an essentially moral response inspired by a concern for man in an age of political corruption.

[One] comes across nothing but extreme misery, infamy and contempt, for there is no observance either of religion or of the laws, or of military traditions, but all is besmirched with filth of every kind. And so much the more are these vices detestable [in] those who sit on the judgment seat, prescribe rules for others, and expect from them adoration.³⁶

Implicit in this protest was the recognition of the epoch as a deeply politicized one where politics had become the major determinant of man's future. And the response of the engaged thinker who had "not been asleep or reveling in the fifteen years" that he had "devoted to the study of the art of the state," his *cri de coeur* was "I love my country more than my soul."³⁷

Yet the moral sentiments underlying the new science were not inspired by patriotic motives alone, but were linked with Machiavelli's sensitivity to the anguishing elements in the political condition itself. We have become so accustomed to the portrait of Machiavelli as the sardonic confidential clerk that we have missed the pathos of his writings. His picture of Piero Soderini, the gonfalonier of Florence, is a nice example. Here was a gentle, well-intentioned man forced by the imperatives of politics to choose between the objective necessity of destroying his enemies or of observing legal niceties which would allow his enemies to destroy him. Being a good man, he chose the latter, thereby inflicting grave harm on his country and himself. Surely a condition which makes such choices unescapable has its share of anguish. Or, again, there was Machiavelli's famous maxim that a successful prince must be part lion and part fox, that is, courageous yet deceptive. Although this has usually been taken as a typical bit of Machiavellian immorality, it was really the argument of a moralist. His discussion began with the remark that in a corrupted age greatness could be achieved only by immoral means. In such periods there were two methods of fighting which are clearly distinguishable: one by the laws, which was the way of civilized men, the other by force, which was the way of beasts. Both methods represented forms of combat, because both were a response to the fact that politics was a condition of conflict. The challenge was to reduce the area in which man must act the animal. For as long as the times remained corrupt, legal means alone were inadequate, hence political man, even if he had the best intentions, must be part beast in order to survive.³⁸ Machiavelli's advice, that the political actor may have to break his word, was the product not of a scepticism about the tenability of moral distinctions, but of a conviction that the imperatives of politics refuse any other alternative. Like Luther, Machiavelli's actor coud do no other. And the moral pathos resided in a situation, not where the end justified the means, but where the end dictated means of a type which rendered both the wholly good man and the wholly evil one superfluous.

But, to reconstitute political life in a state presupposes a good man, whereas to have recourse to violence in order to make oneself prince in a republic supposes a bad man. Hence very rarely will there be found a good man ready to use bad methods in

order to make himself prince, though with a good end in view, nor yet a bad man who, having become a prince, is ready to do the right thing and to whose mind it will occur to use well that authority which he has acquired by bad means.³⁹

Surveying politics from this vantage point, Machiavelli might well sign his letter to Guicciardini "Niccolò Machiavelli, *istorico, comico e tragico*." ⁴⁰

This sense of the moral dilemmas of politics had a direct bearing on Machiavelli's theory of violence and his conception of political ethics, both of which will be treated below. But here it might be pointed out that moral anguish also led Machiavelli to redefine the kind of knowledge relevant to politics. Where the classical and mediaeval traditions had taken political knowledge to be a set of prescriptive remedies aimed at the steady elimination of evil from political society, the new science was grounded on the premises that the quantity of evil in the world remained fairly constant and that it was the peculiar nature of political action that it could not be dissociated from evil consequences—*le condizioni umane che non lo concentono*.⁴¹

So that this is just one of those things in which evil is so closely associated with good, and so bound up are they one with the other, that it may easily happen that he who thinks he will get one, gets the other.⁴²

In this vein, Machiavelli once wrote to Guicciardini, "I believe that the true means of understanding the road of paradise is to know that of hell in order to avoid the latter." 43 It was imperative, therefore, that the new science be a knowledge of a particular kind of good, but also of a particular kind of evil relevant to the political condition.

None before had argued that it was the function of political knowledge to instruct rulers in the techniques of evil, because none had believed that wrongdoing was the price exacted by survival. ⁴⁴ And while earlier writers had warned against the morally corrupting effects of exercising power, none, save Augustine, had asserted these evils to be inherent in the nature of political action. Thus the profile of the new political knowledge had its ambivalence of light and shadow: high exuberance at the possibilities of creative political action, but shaded by the sober realization that evil was implicated in the very nature of political creativity.

III. THE NATURE OF POLITICS AND THE CATEGORIES OF THE NEW SCIENCE

Most commentators, in striving to locate the modernity of the Florentine's thought, have mainly considered his method of analysis, especially as it dealt with the causal factors producing events.⁴⁵ Without disputing the importance of the problem, it is suggested here that this approach, by dwelling on the positive features of the "new route," has obscured some of the novel elements in Machiavelli's

outlook. In his case novelty was not simply the function of certain positive and assertive elements in his theory, but was equally the product of certain significant omissions. When taken together, these spelled a new notational principle which established the identity and novelty of Machiavelli's thought. The supersession of one notational principle by another serves notice that a whole system of symbols, meanings, and feelings are being wholly or partially replaced. A single example, such as the contrasting treatment of the Romulus legend by Augustine and Machiavelli, provides a measure of the distance between one age and another. For Augustine the vile acts committed by Romulus in laying the foundations of Roman power constituted a political version of the drama of original sin: whatever the record of Roman imperial greatness, it carried the stigma of violence from beginning to end. Machiavelli was not ignorant of this charge, but argued that the ends of national greatness legitimized Romulus' deeds: crimes committed by political actors fell under the judgments of history not morality.⁴⁶

A change of this magnitude was a sign that the old unifying principles no longer made political phenomena appear intelligible and political action possible. It also marked the dissolution of the conceptual structures encasing "political nature" and the exploration of new forms of meaning. One need only compare the niched and ordered systems of mediaeval political theory with the kind of language employed by Machiavelli's contemporary, Guicciardini, who felt compelled to describe the political condition through similes drawn from wild and violent nature:

The effects of the French invasion spread over Italy like a wildfire or like a pestilence, overthrowing not only the ruling power, but changing also the methods of government and the methods of war . . . everything was thrown upside down, as though by a sudden hurricane; the bonds which held the rulers of Italy together were broken, their interest in the general welfare extinguished. In looking around and noticing how cities, dukedoms and kingdoms were shattered, each state became frightened and began to think only of its own security, forgetting that fire in the house of a neighbor could easily spread and bring ruin to himself. Now the wars became quick and violent, a kingdom was devastated and conquered more quickly than previously a small village, the sieges of cities were very short and were successfully completed in days and hours instead of in months; the battles became embittered and bloody. Not subtle negotiations and the subtleness of diplomats, but military campaigns and the fist of the soldier decided over the fate of the states.⁴⁷

The older view of political nature, as a microcosm displaying the same structural principles of order prevalent in creation as a whole, had been shattered and political nature now lay exposed as orderless and near-anarchic. The task of reconstruction was one which political theorists of the past had also faced, and the creativity of a Plato or an Augustine had taken the form of encompassing great

disorder. The same experiment in order was conducted by the Italian writers of the sixteenth century, men like Machiavelli and Guicciardini, and the significance of their attempt was that it was undertaken without the aid of the traditional guideposts which had served the last several centuries. This has been made familiar to us by countless commentators who have emphasized the rationalism of the undertaking, its quest for unifying laws which would explain political phenomena on a matter-of-fact basis. Yet it is equally important to note that the response of Machiavelli and Guicciardini to the disorder of politics contained important non-rational elements. The picture that emerged from their writings was of a political nature efflorescent with occult signs and mysterious portents, decipherable by auguries, and haunted by unpredictable Fortuna. ⁴⁸ It was, in short, a political universe inhabited at its very center by magic.

The cause of such events should be discussed and explained, I think, by some one versed in things natural and supernatural, and this we are not.⁴⁹

When rational explanation confesses its shortcomings and trails off into magic, it is a sign, not of atavism, but of a post-Christian phenomenon. Thought has been emancipated from the old cosmology yet it despairs of integrating political phenomena into a dechristianized universe.

It would be superfluous to document the turmoil of Italian politics which gave substance to the feeling that political nature had lost its coherence: this had been the constant theme of poets, historians, and political writers. In terms of political theory, what was desperately needed were new categories of intelligibility. This could come only through the formulation of a new language of politics and a new notational principle linking together the categories of analysis. Both of these presupposed a new political metaphysic.

One of the significant aspects of Machiavelli's political metaphysic was that it was unrelated to a systematic philosophy. Every effort made by later commentators to furnish him with one must of necessity produce an artificial picture of his thought. To possess a political metaphysic without a philosophy may initially strike us as paradoxical or trivial, but these reactions are largely the result of our familiarity with modern or contemporary political thought which encourages us to expect political assertions unaccompanied by systematic philosophical support, and to be impatient when they are. Here we are the heirs of Machiavelli, for inherent in his "new route" to political knowledge was the claim that it was possible to say something meaningful about politics without constructing or even presupposing a philosophy. But in discarding philosophy, he was freed to create something new: a truly "political" philosophy which concentrated solely on political issues and single-mindedly explored the range of phenomena relevant to it.

The development of a political metaphysic, as part of a political philosophy, issues from the theorist's confrontation of political phenomena: what is the nature

of political phenomena? how are they to be understood? what are the limits of the understanding and of human control? Machiavelli's approach to this matter, his conception of political nature, can best be understood by way of a question suggested by Plato: what would be the consequences for political thought and action if man's condition were that of permanent resident in the Cave? What would be the implications if a man's whole existence were defined by a world of fleeting sense impressions and phenomenal flux, a world having precious little in the way of a firm foundation for knowledge? As Machiavelli saw it, the world in which the political actor performed and the theorist prescribed was one where "all human affairs are ever in a state of flux and cannot stand still, either there will be improvement or decline . . . "51 Political action took place in a world without a permanent basis for action, without the comforting presence of some underlying norm of reality to which men could adjust or from which they could draw firm rules of conduct. The further result was one which Plato had predicted: in a world of fleeting phenomena, the political actor would be led astray by illusions. But where Plato had sought escape to the clear world of essences, the new science chose to remain in order to analyze the nature of political illusions more closely. Machiavelli's treatment of illusions is so revealing of the new temper of political theory that it deserves to be examined at some length.

Men find it difficult, Machiavelli noted, to accept a world of becoming; they hunger for constants. This leads them to create an illusory world which is then treated as though it were a real basis for action.⁵² In terms of human behavior this often took the form of clinging to certain habits despite their having been long outdistanced by the pace of events. Men preferred the security of a false world which was known to the anxieties of a "real" world wherein the painful task of readjustment had to be undertaken anew. At the opposite extreme from the conservative world presupposed by habit, were the forms of illusion springing from man's tendency to project a world distorted by his own excessive ambitions, hopes, or fears. And as if it were not enough that his passions should play him false, he must turn his intellectual talents to spinning utopian ideals wholly untested by experience. Man was truly homo faber opinionum falsarum, a spinner of fancies and illusions concealing the true nature of events. Even when men may try to be more "realistic" and refuse to act on any other basis than what they can actually see, they end up being trapped by their own overly simple view of reality. For, in Machiavelli's cryptic comment, while "everyone is equipped to see, few can understand."53 There is nothing so deceptive in politics as mere appearance, whether it be the appearance of power, of reputation, great wealth, a large army, or a verbal promise. Even those who seek desperately to avoid the other sources of illusion, and try to base their judgments strictly on the consideration of consequences, can come to grief. Consequences can be as deceptive and misleading as any other phenomena.⁵⁴

The symbol of man's illusions was the armed fortress. The fortress, in all of its seeming solidity, dramatized the false hope that there could be points of fixity, an unchanging basis of political and military security, in a restless world. But there is a further lesson to the symbol. Deceived by the impressive exterior of his fortress, the ruler comes to believe himself invincible and is tempted into cruel and extreme acts. The illusion of security thus releases the psychological springs of ambition and domination.⁵⁵ This example gives point to one of the principles of the new science: vice, in a political sense, is often the function of illusion, virtue the product of clear-sightedness.⁵⁶

The prevalence of illusions did not lead Machiavelli into a crusade for a science which would dispel them. Instead the aim of the new science was to unmask those illusions which interfered with the proper ends of political action and, at the same time, to teach the political actor how to create and exploit the illusions which served these ends. In its unmasking role, political knowledge would allow men to cut through the mass of distortions preventing a true estimate of particular situations, distortions such as those worked by prejudice, false hopes, acquisitiveness, ambition, and common delusions about the power of money or the role of mere numbers in military campaigns.⁵⁷ The other role, that of instruction in the fine art of creating illusions, was aimed at inducing one's enemies to commit costly mistakes based on false estimates and calculations. By a variety of techniques—flattery, a misleading show of strength or weakness, false information, feints, etc.—a false world could be created which the opponent would accept as real. But this art had its predicament. Where the actors were all intent on creating false worlds, success depended not only on the ability to distinguish the true world from the false, but also in avoiding the trap of one's own deceptions.⁵⁸

From Machiavelli's analysis of illusions we can see that the new science was more in the nature of a body of knowledge adjusted to a world of movement, rather than one aimed at freezing it. Moreover, while the sources of the endless movement of events lay partly in man's own deficiencies, some of which might be remedied by knowledge, there were other causes which could not be eradicated but only eased. First, capricious *Fortuna* constantly threatened the best laid calculations of art. Secondly, there was the instability which flowed from the intersection of human ambitions. At the level of the city the struggle for competitive advantage took the form of factional strife; throughout the peninsula it was the contest for mastery between princes, popes, and foreign rulers; on the international plane rival rulers ceaselessly probed each other's strengths and sought to exploit every show of weakness.⁵⁹

To create a political theory for a world of random movements, a task which had never been seriously undertaken before, meant surrendering certain kinds of inquiry because they no longer presented meaningful problems. In a world pulsating with change, there seemed to be little point in continuing the old quest for

a motionless polity.⁶⁰ Likewise, there was a marked shift away from questions of legitimate authority, with their connotations of a stable political world, to questions of power, or the ability to exert mastery by controlling an unstable complex of moving forces. Similarly, the old values of *pax, ordo*, and *concordia* were treated by the new science not as ends, but as ironies: the nature of the political condition was such that good often issued in evil, order in disorder, culture in anarchy.⁶¹ Moreover, the fugitive quality of events made it difficult to establish nice distinctions. The compulsions of the world were more often necessary than logical, and "necessity will lead you to do many things which reason does not recommend."⁶²

But if political society were to be approached as a complex of volatile forces, then what of the traditional classical-mediaeval notion of an organic body politic? Instead of breaking with this idea, which accorded so ill with the bent of his thought, we find Machiavelli struggling to express himself through the old terminology. The result was not a sharply defined picture, but a series of palimpsests. At times he followed the old classical method of likening political society to an organic body and political knowledge to a medical science which prescribed periodic purges to rid the body of its distempers. ⁶³ Again, Machiavelli fell into the mediaeval way of arguing that a political society resembled an organic body, and therefore required a directing head to coordinate the movements of its members.⁶⁴ But at other times there emerged a conception of political bodies easily translatable into the language of physics. A political society was a body possessed of an expandable mass and a fixed amount of energy; as such it existed for a definite duration, although there was no guarantee that the allotted span would be fulfilled. This was because it existed within a political universe of similar bodies constantly on the move and constantly impinging on each other. The resulting friction caused some bodies to lose their vital source of movement and hence their distinctive identities. They were soon absorbed into the orbits of other bodies. 65

Given this complex political universe, the first problem was that of evolving a language of explanation which would faithfully portray the dynamic movement of events and yet provide directives. In history Machiavelli found such a form of explanation, for the virtue of the language of history was that while it described movement and change, it also assumed certain constant factors operating over time. History, in other words, captured the flux of events but at the same time established intelligible limits. Yet it did not follow that constancy was more "real" than change. In fact, the great innovation of Machiavelli was to insist on the reality of movement and change, to adopt this as his basic unifying principle:

The vicissitudes to which empires are subject cause them to pass from order into confusion, and afterwards to return once more to a condition of order. The nature of worldly affairs prevents their continuing on an even course; when they have arrived at their greatest perfection, decline soon sets in. Similarly, having been over-

come by disorder, and reduced to the lowest state of depression, unable to sink lower, they must necessarily reascend; and thus from good they gradually sink into evil, and from evil return once more to good.⁶⁶

The notion of time, as having its meaning in the ceaseless process of deterioration and renewal, departed sharply from the Christian idea of time as a gathering dimension guided by providence towards a culminating fulfillment. The vicissitudes of history depended on good and evil being constant quantities, varying only in their distribution. In ancient times *virtù* had been concentrated at Rome; after the fall of Rome it had been diffused in varying portions among several nations. From this belief that history contained qualitatively superior periods Machiavelli drew the conclusion that the example of republican Rome provided later ages with a timeless model on which to base political action and institutions. The element of transcendence lay in the proven ability of the Romans to master events and this quality of mastery could, in turn, be extended to include any act of greatness, regardless of the era.

If history could furnish a stable body of knowledge transcending the flux of events, then there was hope of reducing the uncertainties of the political condition. This meant, in effect, a different answer for the same quest that had motivated the Greek philosophers and the Christian theologians. Instead of timeless reason and timeless faith, the "new way, as yet untrodden by anyone else," found its certainty in the timeless examples of greatness preserved in history. In the Preface to the first book of *The Discourses* Machiavelli developed this point through a lengthy comparison between the present state of art, medicine, and law on the one hand, and the poverty of political knowledge on the other. The former fields had succeeded in systematizing the distilled experience of the past, but in politics "one finds neither prince nor republic who repairs to antiquity for examples." The discrepancy between political and other forms of knowledge could be overcome, however, if men were to realize that ancient history contained practical lessons. To assume that these could not be imitated, to hold that past models of greatness were irrelevant to the present, was to argue that every situation in every age was unparalleled. It was "as if the heaven, the sun, the elements and man had in their motion, their order, and their potency, become different from what they used to be."68 While this did not imply that political action ought slavishly to imitate the past or refuse to modify ancient precepts in the light of circumstances, it did mean that there existed a timeless body of examples, a set of models tested not so much by experience as by their historically demonstrated consequences.

The belief that historical examples contained politically relevant knowledge also had significant bearing for those engaged in political action. Although Machiavelli did not believe that political action could be reduced merely to following the examples of the ancients, the theory of imitation did suggest a radical break

with the older notion that philosophical wisdom ought to be possessed by those engaged in politics. What was now implied was that political wisdom formed a body of knowledge external to the political actor, something which could teach him what to do in appropriate circumstances. But it was not a form of knowledge which he really knew in the way that Plato's philosopher knew reality; it was only a set of precepts which he had learned.⁶⁹

The external character of political knowledge was related to Machiavelli's concept of politics. Except for those few occasions when fortune furnished the opportunity and the "matter" for the truly creative task of founding a new system, political action involved dealing with a mass of shifting components which could not be reduced to a settled form for any fixed length of time. The world of politics was an ambiguous one where "it is impossible to remove one inconvenience without another emerging," and where "one never finds any issue that is clear-cut and not open to question." Political action, therefore, was essentially manipulative, not architectonic. Its aim was political mastery and not political sculpture. Political action could not, then, be a fusion of the personality of the actor with his materials; political phenomena existed to be mastered and controlled.

Mastery, in turn, meant getting on "top" of events by following the double strategy of creating reliable instruments of action, such as a disciplined army, and of making other political actors dependent on one's own will. When successful, this strategy was equivalent to Machiavelli's definition of political power: to possess power was to be able to control and manipulate the actions of others and thereby to make events conform to one's wishes. But by mastery Machiavelli did not mean, as some commentators have implied, mere technical efficiency.⁷¹ The new science was intended as the basis for a new political ethic. Thus, to know the shape of events was to be in a position to exercise prudence or foresight; to select the type of action appropriate to a given situation was to possess a sensitive and discriminating intelligence which allowed for the weighing of several factors simultaneously, as well as a knack of imaginatively projecting possible consequences. The political condition demanded great resolution and decisiveness, because extreme and violent actions were often necessary.⁷² There was call, too, for courage in facing unexpected disasters brought by Fortuna.⁷³ Above all, the political actor needed a temperament which could endure acting without the assurance of certainty:

No state should believe that it can always make plans certain of success, it should expect to make only doubtful ones. For the course of human events teaches that man never attempts to avoid one disadvantage without running into another. Prudence, therefore, consists in the power to recognize the nature of disadvantages and to take the less disagreeable as good.⁷⁴

The significant aspect of the moral qualities needed by Machiavelli's political actor lay in their fundamentally public or exterior character. They represented a

mask which he must wear in his role as a public figure; they had no intrinsic value. Thus while the new science was the product of the moral commitment of the theorist—"it is the duty of a good man to point out to others what is well done, even though the malignity of the times or of fortune has not permitted you to do it for yourself"75—it assumed a purely political morality in those who were to practice its dictates because politics itself held only a necessary and not an ultimate value. The exteriorization of virtue was but the symbol of man's alienation from his political world. It was, ironically, the end product of centuries of Stoic and Christian criticism now couched in the language of realism.

IV. POLITICAL SPACE AND POLITICAL ACTION

Machiavelli's conception of political space bore the imprint of an age where older arrangements of control had broken down and the resulting release of energies threatened to make the establishment of order impossible. The mediaeval structure had long since dissolved, erasing settled habits of conduct and leaving political space exposed to the converging lines of human ambitions. Here was the impression registered in Machiavelli's thought:

Ancient writers were of the opinion that men are wont to get annoyed with adversity and fed up with prosperity, both of which passions give rise to the same effects. For, whenever there is no need for men to fight, they fight for ambition's sake; and so powerful is the sway that ambition exercises over the human heart that they never relinquish it, no matter how high they have risen. The reason is that nature has so constituted men that, though all things are objects of desire, not all things are attainable; so that desire always exceeds the power of attainment, with the result that men are ill content with what they possess and their present state brings them little satisfaction. Hence arise the vicissitudes of their fortune. For, since some desire to have more and others are afraid to lose what they have already acquired, enmities and wars are begotten, and this brings about the ruin of one province and the exaltation of its rival.⁷⁶

Minds that knew no repose, ambitions that were boundless, an insatiable pride, a restless species of political man which, when not bedeviled by ambition, was stirred by sheer boredom—all of these considerations conspired to shrink political space, to create a dense and overcrowded world. A terrain with few areas open for unrestricted movement left one course for the politically ambitious: to dislodge those already occupying specific areas.⁷⁷ This found appropriate expression in the attention which Machiavelli's new science devoted to instructing the *novus homo* in the art of gaining as well as regaining power.⁷⁸ It was differently expressed in Machiavelli's disdain for hereditary governments. Such systems appeared as anachronistic because political space had become so well articulated

through old laws, customs, and habits that the problem of boundless energies did not arise. As Machiavelli remarked, hereditary rulers had less reason and necessity for offending their subjects; all they had to do was to respect existing expectations. On the other hand, "nothing is more difficult to plan, more unlikely to succeed, or more dangerous to manage" than the creation of a new system.⁷⁹ The new ruler had to reorder political space by resettling the laws, uprooting old habits, and redefining the legitimate routes of ambition.⁸⁰ On a less heroic scale this same task confronted those political systems where corruption was not as deep-seated.

The case of the "normally" quiet republic provides a study illustrating the techniques for the redirection of human energies. The dilemma which arises in these states is that a peaceful condition frustrates the ambitions and talents of great men and, on the other hand, it encourages the small men to challenge the great. The latter are provoked to stir up trouble in the hope that a crisis will create a demand for their idle talents. The proper policy, Machiavelli advised, consists in keeping the citizenry poor and putting the state on a continual wartime footing so as to insure a steady need for the services of the great. ⁸¹

There were other techniques as well for diminishing the threat of demonic energies: energies could be sublimated into economic pursuits and the arts; they could be redistributed by planting new colonies.⁸² Yet limits existed on what the new science could do with an overcrowded condition. Fortunately, when the pressures within political space became too intense, nature provided a catharsis in the form of floods, pestilences, and famine:

... When every province is replete with inhabitants who can neither obtain a livelihood nor move elsewhere since all other places are occupied and filled up, and when the craftiness and malignity of man has gone as far as it can go, the world must be needs purged ... so that mankind, being reduced to comparatively few and humbled by adversity, may adopt a more appropriate form of life and grow better.⁸³

The problem of space also brought Machiavelli to consider its relationship to expansionism and aggrandizement. Actions between states raised the same order of difficulties, because the same law of comparative advantage prevailed. An increase in one nation's power spelled a loss for someone else, as well as a general redistribution throughout the whole system of states. But if international instability was merely the extension of the pressures which disrupted internal politics, it was also true that conflict and aggressiveness among states, like the salutary conflict among domestic factions, could have a beneficial effect. In the first place, the choice, even for a peaceful republic, was not whether to expand or remain stationary, but how much to expand. The necessity for *Lebensraum* was dictated partly by the need to divert the driving energies besetting internal politics, partly to protect the state from aggressive rivals, and, lastly, to maintain the civic *virtù*

of the citizenry.⁸⁵ A world where states were constantly in motion denied the possibility of a republic's surviving unless it expanded also; even if by some miracle this imperative disappeared, the republic would then be plagued by the unsatisfied energies which had not been drained off by foreign wars.

All of these considerations joined to shape the focus of the new science: it was to concentrate on political actions occurring in overcrowded conditions. Unlike Plato, Machiavelli denied himself the escape of legislating for a new colony. And because the new science set for itself the task of writing on a badly scarred *tabula*, it could follow only to a degree the aesthetic impulse of classical political theory. Only a deeply corrupted political condition justified treating society as clay to be moulded by the absolute power of a political artist. But in societies short of this condition, the aesthetic impulse had to find satisfaction in the calculating manipulation of political factors. For the new science did not deal with the static organism of classical and mediaeval theory, a *corpus immobile*; it dealt instead with volatile bodies in motion, bodies which consumed their rivals, *corpus vorans*. ⁸⁶

V. THE ECONOMY OF VIOLENCE

While there had been few political theorists before Machiavelli who would have contested the elementary proposition that "security for man is impossible unless it be conjoined with power," there had been still fewer prepared to declare power the dominant mark of the state. Indeed, it has been and remains one of the abiding concerns of the Western political theorist to weave ingenious veils of euphemism to conceal the ugly fact of violence. At times he has talked too sonorously of "authority," "justice," and "law," as though these honorific expressions alone could transform coercion into simple restraint. True, the psychological impact of power is softened and depersonalized if it is made to appear the agent of an objective good. True, too, there are numerous and subtle forms of coercion that shade off from the extreme of violence.

That the application of violence is regarded as abnormal represents a significant achievement of the Western political tradition, yet if it is accepted too casually it may lead to neglect of the primordial fact that the hard core of power is violence and to exercise power is often to bring violence to bear on someone else's person or possessions. Writers before Machiavelli cannot be accused of having ignored power. The classical and mediaeval theorists had spoken long and eloquently of its brutalizing and corrupting effects on those who were called to exercise it. They rarely faced up, however, to the problem of the cumulative effect on society of the consistent application of coercion and the not infrequent use of violence. This evasion had come about largely because attention to power had arisen primarily in connection with the establishment or reform of a political system. It had been assumed that once affairs were set in motion along the prescribed paths, once proper

education, the spread of knowledge or of faith, the improvement of social morality, and all of the other pressures flowing from a rightly ordered environment had begun to operate, there would be progressively less need for the systematic application of force. Nor is it easy to see in what ways the modern political theorist has illumined the problem by the focal concepts of "decision-making," "the political process," and "who gets what, when, and how." All that can be said with confidence is that euphemisms for power and violence have not been disspelled by positivism.

With Machiavelli the euphemisms were cast aside and the state was directly confronted as an aggregate of power. Its profile was that of violence. Machiavelli believed that the vitalities of politics could not be controlled and directed without the application of force and the threat at least of violence. This conclusion was sustained partly by a certain scepticism about what Yeats once called "the profane perfection of mankind." It was also the outcome of a conviction about the inherent instability of the political world which could be combated, and then only partially, by resolute action. Equally important, however, in making power and violence urgent matters was the nature of the context in which power was exerted: the tightly packed condition of political space which mocked any merely verbal attempt at translating power into simple direction or supervision of the affairs of society. Inevitably the role of the political actor was to dispense violence. This was most sharply defined in the case of the ruler who, after seizing power, was compelled "to organize everything in that state afresh." 88 "The new prince, above all other princes, cannot possibly avoid the name of cruel."89 Even when the political actor was not faced with the task of creating a tabula rasa, he could not avoid inflicting injuries on some one. He must act while hemmed in by vested interests and expectations, privileges and rights, ambitions and hopes, all demanding preferential access to a limited number of goods.

If this were the nature of political action, what has been called an obsession with power on Machiavelli's part might be better described as his conviction that the "new way" could make no greater contribution than to create an economy of violence, a science of the controlled application of force. The task of such a science would be to preserve the distinguishing line between political creativity and destruction. "For it is the man who uses violence to spoil things, not the man who uses it to mend them, that is blameworthy." The control of violence was dependent upon the new science's being able to administer the precise dosage appropriate to specific situations. In corrupt societies, for example, violence represented the only means of arresting decadence, a brief but severe shock treatment to restore the civic consciousness of the citizenry. In other situations there might well be a diminishing need for extreme actions; men could be managed by playing on their fears, by using the threat rather than the actuality of coercion. But every application had to be considered judiciously, because the indiscrimi-

nate exercise of force and the constant revival of fear could provoke the greatest of all dangers for any government, the kind of widespread apprehension and hatred which drove men to desperation. The true test of whether violence had been rightly used was whether cruelties increased or decreased over time. 92

This preoccupation with economy was manifest also in Machiavelli's discussion of the external forms of violence—war, imperialism, and colonialism. One of the basic aims of the *Art of War* was to demonstrate that, while military action remained an unavoidable fact of the political condition, its costliness could be reduced by proper attention to strategy, discipline, and organization. *The Prince* and *The Discourses* followed the same theme of economy with counsels like these: a prince ought carefully to consider his resources, because, while a war may be started out of whim, it could not be as easily stopped; an unreliable army was an inefficient instrument of violence because it multiplied devastation without any of the compensations of victory; to avoid a necessary war was costly, but to prolong it was equally prodigal; a prince who found his position weakened by a victory had overestimated his power resources. 93

In the matter of imperialism Machiavelli adverted to the example of Rome for the significant reason that Roman imperial policy had sought to preserve the wealth of the subject populations and their native institutions, thereby limiting the cost in devastation for both conqueror and conquered. If imperialism were handled efficiently the destructive consequences could be minimized, and the whole transaction reduced to a mere change in power. In contrast to Rome's controlled use of violence were those destructive wars which had been compelled by necessities, such as hunger, plague, or overpopulation. Necessity was the enemy of calculated violence.

While Machiavelli's economy of violence subsumed both domestic and external actions, it never seriously entertained the proposition that the incidence of force could be appreciably lessened in international politics. The effects of violence might be controlled, but the resort to it would not diminish. He saw quite clearly that the absence of arbitrating arrangements, such as law and institutional procedure, left the international field more exposed than the domestic to conflicts of interest and the drives of ambition. On the other hand, he believed that the internal politics of society could be structured by a variety of methods aimed at minimizing the need for extreme acts of repression. The importance of law, political institutions, and habits of civility was that in regularizing human behavior they helped to reduce the number of instances in which force and fear had to be applied.

Machiavelli's most important insight into the problem of internal power politics came when he began to explore the implications of a political system based on the active support of its members. He grasped the fact that popular consent represented a form of social power which, if properly exploited, reduced the amount of violence directed at society as a whole. One reason for the superiority

of the republican system consisted in its being maintained by the force of the populace, rather than by force over the populace. The economy of force which resulted from the people's feeling a sense of common involvement with the political order made it in the interests of the prince to cultivate their support. Lacking this, he would have to draw on his own fund of violence and the eventual result would be "abnormal measures" of repression. "The greater his cruelty, the weaker does his regime become." Far from limiting his initiative, popular approval could be utilized to depreciate the great cost in violence of radical reforms. In a revolution by consent (*commune consenso*), only the few had to be harmed.

In evaluating Machiavelli's economy of violence it is easy to criticize it as being the product of a technician's admiration for efficient means. A century like ours, which has witnessed the unparalleled efficiency displayed by totalitarian regimes in the use of terror and coercion, experiences difficulty in being tolerant on the subject. Yet to see Machiavelli as the philosopher of Himmlerism would be quite misleading; and the basic reason is not alone that Machiavelli regarded the science of violence as the means for reducing the amount of suffering in the political condition, but that he was clearly aware of the dangers of entrusting its use to the morally obtuse. What he hoped to further by his economy of violence was the "pure" use of power, undefiled by pride, ambition, or motives of petty revenge. 100

A more meaningful contrast to Machiavelli would be the great modern theoretician of violence, Georges Sorel. Here is a true example of the irresponsible political intellectual, fired by romantic notions of heroism, preaching the use of violence for ends which are deliberately and proudly clothed in the vague outline of the irrational "myth," contemptuous of the cost, blinded by a vision of virile proletarian barbarians who would revitalize the decadent West. 101 In contrast, there was no hint of child-like delight when Machiavelli contemplated the barbarous and savage destructiveness of the new prince, sweeping away the settled arrangements of society and "leaving nothing intact." There was, however, the laconic remark that it was better to be a private citizen than to embark on a career which involved the ruin of men. 102 This suggests that the theorist like Machiavelli, who was aware of the limited efficacy of force and who devoted himself to showing how its technique could be used more efficiently, was far more sensitive to the moral dilemmas of politics and far more committed to the preservation of man than those theorists who, saturated with moral indignation and eager for heroic regeneration, preach purification by the holy flame of violence.

VI. ETHICS: POLITICAL AND PRIVATE

In most commentaries, Machiavelli's prince has emerged as the heoric ego incarnate, exhilarated by the challenges of political combat, unencumbered by moral scruples, and utterly devoid of any tragic sense of the impermanence of his own

mission. In the preceding pages we have deliberately used the term "political actor" instead of "prince" or "ruler" to suggest that if the prince is looked upon as a kind of actor, playing many roles and wearing many masks, we may then better see that Machiavelli has given us something more than a single-dimensional portrait of a power-hungry figure. What we have is a portrait of modern political man drawn with dramatic intensity: if there was heroism, there was also anguish; if there was creativity, there was also loneliness and uncertainty.

These overtones were part of the new setting in which political action occurred. Machiavelli's actor was, to borrow a phrase from Merleau-Ponty, "l'expression d'un monde disloqué." ¹⁰³ He performed in a universe hushed in moral stillness: there were no prefigured meanings, no implicit teleology—"it looks as if the world were become effeminate and as if heaven were powerless" ¹⁰⁴—and no comforting backdrop of a political cosmos, ruled by a divine monarch and offering a pattern for earthly rulers. Yet by his vocation, political man was compelled to act, to affirm his existence as a thoroughly politicized creature. To be committed to political action meant surrendering the multiple dimensions of life, and concentrating exclusively on the single dimension of politics.

By the nature of his situation political man must be an actor, for he addresses himself not to a single political condition, but to a variety of political conditions. Circumstances change, the conjunction of political factors follows a shifting pattern, hence the successful political actor cannot afford a consistent and uniform character. He must constantly rediscover his identity in the role cast for him by the changing times. The mercurial quality of Machiavelli's political actor stands in sharp contrast to the classical and mediaeval conception of the character of the good ruler. The older writers had viewed political knowledge as enabling men to establish stable situations, points of fixity within which ethical behavior became possible. Towards this end, they emphasized the importance of training men's characters so that virtue, for example, would be an habitual disposition towards the good. The For this reason classical and mediaeval writers tended to be suspicious of "prudence" and rarely ranked it among the supreme virtues. Prudence implied a character which reacted too glibly to changing conditions.

Machiavelli's criticism of traditional moral theory was not, as has often been supposed, founded on cynicism or amorality. Nor is the more valid contention, that he was intent on divorcing the norms of political conduct from those governing private relationships, fully correct. Instead his concern was, first, to indicate the situations where political action ought to conform to the standards commonly applied to private conduct. Thus when a government operated within a stable, secure environment it ought to follow the accepted virtues such as compassion, good faith, honesty, humaneness and religion. Under these circumstances public and private ethics were identical. But Machiavelli's second concern was to point out that, because most political situations were unstable

and subject to flux, "a commonwealth and a people is governed in a different way from a private individual." To adopt the rules of accepted morality was to bind one's behavior by a set of consistent habits. But rigidities in behavior were not suited to the vagaries of an inconsistent world. Moreover, to act uniformly merely armed one's opponents with a foreknowledge of your probable reactions to a given situation. There was the further difficulty that one must act in a world where the other actors did not follow the same code. To be sure, a similar issue arose in private relationships when other men did not honor the same moral usages, yet the cases were different because the responsibilities were different: in the one the individual suffered for being a moral man in an immoral society, while in the other a whole society might be injured because of the moral scruples of the ruler.

But if politics posed issues for which common morality was inadequate, it did not follow that there was no connection between political action and traditional moral dictates. In the first place, it was difficult to govern a society and gain support if all of the ruler's actions violated the moral usages cherished by society. As a political actor, the ruler must be a "skilful pretender and dissembler," he must "seem" to have the virtues of good faith, charity, humanity, and religion. This was part of his mastery in the art of illusions. "Men are so simple and so subject to present needs that he who deceives in this way will always find those who will let themselves be deceived." 113

The basic question, however, was whether Machiavelli believed morality to be nothing more than a useful factor in political manipulation. Did morality constitute a set of restraints or merely a datum for successful action? Machiavelli's own words are so crucial that they deserve to be quoted at length:

I will even venture to say that [the virtues] damage a prince who *possesses them and always observes them*, but if he seems to have them they are useful. I mean that he should seem compassionate, trustworthy, humane, honest, and religious, and actually be so; but yet he should have his mind so trained that, when it is necessary not to practice these virtues, he can change to the opposite and do it skilfully. It is to be understood that a prince, especially a new prince, cannot observe all the things because of which men are considered good, because he is often obliged, if he wishes to maintain his government, to act contrary to faith, contrary to charity, contrary to humanity, contrary to religion. It is therefore necessary that he have a mind capable of turning in whatever direction the winds of Fortune and the variations of affairs require, and . . . that *he should not depart from what is morally right, if he can observe it*, but should know how to adopt what is bad, when he is obliged to.¹¹⁴

This passage suggests that instead of belaboring Machiavelli for pointing out the limitations of private ethics, attention ought to be directed instead at the dual role which is thus created for the political actor. He is made to perform in an atmosphere of tensions where accepted moral values limit his behavior in normal circumstances, while a distinctively political ethic, accompanied by the new knowledge, comes into play when circumstances of necessity appear. By itself each form of ethic is inadequate. The normally bad acts justified by the political ethic would, if unrestrained by the inhibiting pressure of common morality, encourage unlimited ambition and all of its destructive consequences. On the other hand, if common morality were to be extended to situations for which it had not been designed, the consequences would be destructive of the order and power which made private morality possible. It was the anguishing situation of the political actor that he must decide which form of ethic should govern, but while the new science could facilitate his choice it could not compensate for the fact that he must partially dwell outside the realm of what is usually considered goodness. This means, in effect, that Machiavelli broke with classical theory which had approached the problems of political action with the question of how men could develop their moral potentialities through a life devoted to political office. But for Machiavelli the problem became more acute, for the issue no longer involved the statesman's quest for a moral perfection which, by its very moral quality, would benefit the community; it involved instead the political actor who was driven to break the moral law in order to preserve his society.

There was still another reason why politics could not satisfy the aspiration towards moral fulfillment. Traditional ethical notions operated on the assumption that the result of ethical conduct would be the creation of a desirable or more desirable state of affairs; that, for example, to act honestly or in good faith would produce situations which would be characterized by honesty and good faith. But Machiavelli rejected this notion of the literal translation of ethical acts into ethical situations and substituted instead a notion of the irony of the political condition. "Some things seem to be virtuous, but if they are put into practice will be ruinous . . . other things seem to be vices, yet if put into practice will bring the prince security and well-being." ¹¹⁵

Thus there was a kind of alchemy in the political condition whereby good was transmuted into evil, and evil into good. Take, for example, the classical virtue of liberality which prescribed that acts of generosity should be done in a restrained manner. For Machiavelli's political actor such advice would be absurd; he was not a private donor, but a public figure whose actions, to be significant, needed a well-publicized flourish, even a vulgar display. But even with this amendment, it was doubtful that liberality qualified as a political virtue at all. The political actor usually expended not his private resources but public revenues. In a political setting liberality was translated into taxes, and these, in turn, were certain to breed popular resentments. Hence the vice of niggardliness became a political virtue; it was transformed, in fact, into liberality because it gave the subject a greater share of his own property. Again, take the case of the trusting ruler who refused to believe that most men were vicious and ready to deceive at every

turn. If a ruler of this type were to govern according to the virtue of clemency, he would soon be driven to adopt increasingly more severe and cruel measures in order to retain power. On the other hand, the contradictions of politics were such that a ruler who applied rational cruelty at the proper time would be more truly humane. Cruelty, when used economically, was more merciful than clemency, for where the first injured only the few and the rest were restrained by apprehension, the second bred disorders which injured the *una universalità intera*. Nevertheless, the justification of cruel measures was not meant to imply that any method of retaining power was equal in moral worth to any other method. Cruelty might be useful in attaining certain ends, such as security, but it could not bring true glory.¹¹⁸

Machiavelli's concern with the shortcomings of traditional ethics and his quest for a suitable political ethic stemmed from a profound belief in the discontinuities of human existence. This was expressed in his view of history. History was conceived not as a smoothly flowing continuum, but as a process which irrupted in destructive frenzy, obliterating the achievements and memory of the past and condemning man to a perpetual labor of recovery. 119 Equally important, there were discontinuities between the forms of existence at a particular time. Religion, art, economic activity, private life and public seemed to be carried on according to special logics of their own, unconnected by any overarching heteronomous principle. 120 Thus man dwelt in a fragmentized universe and his special anguish came from being condemned to live in several alien worlds at once. If political existence was to be lived in a world of its own, it was imperative that there be relevant criteria for ordering existence. Relevancy, in turn, was conceived by Machiavelli in terms of the conditions to which the criteria appertained; that is, to the particular world of politics. This was expressed in his frequent use of the word necessità in describing political situations. By necessità he did not mean a form of determinism, but rather a set of factors challenging man's political creativity, manageable only if man treated them as strictly political, excluding all else from his span of attention. 121

In terms of ethics this did not mean that politics was to be conducted without ethical criteria, but that the criteria could not be imported from the "outside." The failure to appreciate this has led many modern critics of Machiavelli into false dilemmas. It does not follow, as one modern writer would have it, that because politics demands an ethic different from private life, "moral imperatives do not have absolute value." This is to put the issue badly, for the real questions are, what morals? what is meant by "absolute"? The whole point of Machiavelli's argument was to urge that precisely because of the unescapably autonomous nature of politics, it was all the more compelling that criteria for action be established and that appropriate means be fashioned for their implementation. In brief, the denial of heteronomy need not entail a denial of morality in politics,

any more than the impossibility of ethical criteria follows from the denial of ethical absolutes.

VII. THE DISCOVERY OF THE MASS

The notion of the political actor was developed primarily in *The Prince*, because in this work Machiavelli was intent on describing how national regeneration could be accomplished by a single individual of superior talents. The whole work was dominated by a conception of personal politics with the result that the heroic figure of the prince overshadowed any suggestion that politics could be conducted through impersonal institutions. It is well known that in *The Discourses* Machiavelli's viewpoint was that of a convinced republican. It is also generally agreed that the same conception of political action and the same kinds of advice were consistently adhered to in both works. In evaluating the difference between the two, most students have taken the position that the monarchical absolutism recommended in *The Prince* had been intended solely as a desperate remedy for a badly corrupted political condition. 123

While undoubtedly there is much to be said for this interpretation, I believe that a great deal more can be learned by a somewhat different approach. If in *The* Discourses the political hero largely disappears, Machiavelli must have reasoned that the types of action which the prince alone could accomplish were now either unnecessary or could be entrusted to the people. Similarly, if in the earlier work Machiavelli looked to the prince's desire for personal glory and *virtù* to supply the dynamics of political action, then he must have believed that under a popular government there was no call for this élan or else that certain substitutes could be cultivated. To uncover the implications in these two propositions we must first examine their common referent, the people. In doing this we hope to show that, to an important degree, the difference between The Prince and The Discourses consists in a greater appreciation on Machiavelli's part of the political capabilities of the masses and correspondingly greater doubts about the utility of political heroes. It will also be suggested that in the course of this development Machiavelli showed a greater insight into the nature of the political mass than any other thinker before the nineteenth century.

In *The Prince* it was apparent that Machiavelli had begun to sense the growing significance of the masses. "Now it is more necessary to princes, except the Turk and the Sultan, to satisfy the people rather than the soldiers, for the people are more powerful." While this was important evidence that Machiavelli had grasped that the basis of politics was being broadened and that the factor of the people would have to be taken into account in future reckonings, the notion which dominated *The Prince* was that of the mass as malleable matter ready to respond to the shaping hand of the hero-artist: "ed in Italia non manca materia da

introdurvi ogni forma." ¹²⁵ Moreover, the gullibility of *la moltitudine* was the necessary precondition for the art of illusions practiced by the political actor: "the crowd is always caught by appearance and by the outcome of events, and the crowd is all there is in the world; there is no place for the few when the many have room enough." ¹²⁶

Machiavelli's insight into the manageability of the masses takes on added significance if we recall his advice that the prince ought "to satisfy" the desires of the people. The juxtaposition of the political hero and the masses, which was the central theme of *The Prince*, represented, at bottom, a juxtaposition of compatible desires or passions. The hero could achieve glory and realize his virtù in the exercise of an absolute mastery which, in creating order and rooting out corruption, would satisfy the desire of the masses for security. 127 To understand why it was that Machiavelli believed the masses to be not only pliant but also suitable material for the political art of the prince, we must turn to the ninth chapter of *The Prince* where the problem of a monarchy based on consent was treated. Of all the forms of monarchy this was the one most preferred by Machiavelli, primarily because power could be retained without "the wickedness or other intolerable violence" so necessary to the political adventurer. 128 A system of this kind, it was pointed out, could be reared on one of two foundations, the people or the aristocracy, but, due to the mutual antagonisms between them, it could not find support in both groups. 129 Machiavelli's advice to the prince was to seek the favor of the people, to establish a principato civile. This choice was dictated by the belief that the people represented more suitable matter, not in the sense of being more virtuous, but of being more governable. The ruling passion of the aristocrats was an insatiable ambition for dominating other groups, hence no arrangement could ever contain them for long. On the other hand, the people were "easily" (facile) ruled, as "they demand no more than not to be oppressed." ¹³⁰ Because the people primarily desired security for their wives and property, the problem of political space could be handled rather easily. The more heroic ambitions of the nobility, however, could not e fulfilled without disrupting political space, or in Machiavelli's words, "without injury to others." 131 Thus the best political matter was to be found in those who have possessions and want to retain them, not in those who want to acquire more. 132 It was because the demands of the masses were minimal ones which could be satisfied without endangering the ruler's power, and because, as "have's," they were plagued by fears and insecurities and hence were easy to manipulate, that Machiavelli found them to be the most reliable basis of power. They responded best to the prescriptions of the new science, to controlled doses of fear and violence, to the alternating caress of love and hope, thus making brutality and cruelty unnecessary. 133

The compatibility between the new science and the political qualities of the masses was of crucial significance, because it was a sign of a certain restiveness on Machiavelli's part with the political hero. In *The Prince* and in *The Discourses* he

held consistently to the position that in a badly corrupted society a single ruler must be the chosen instrument of regeneration, "enforcing obedience until such time as the material has become good." 134 But the "civic principality," mentioned above, was not intended for a corrupt condition, hence it would seem logically to follow that the order of heroic talents demanded in a corrupt state would not be required. In Machiavelli's words, the ruler of a civic principality need not possess "pure ability or pure fortune" (o tutta virtù o tutta fortuna), but only a "fortunate astuteness" (un 'astuzia fortunata). 135 This emphasis on "astuteness" was a sign that Machiavelli had come to see that while the demonic energies of the hero could be creative, they could also be politically destructive. If this were true, then he would be a dubious instrument of the new science, less reliable than the people.

The choice between the political hero and the masses was posed squarely in The Discourses when Machiavelli confronted the commonplace assertion that no durable political system could be erected on as unstable a foundation as the people. 136 Machiavelli's rebuttal began with an interesting evasion: we cannot decide between the relative merits of a prince or people if both are considered in a condition outside the law. But, of course, the notion of a prince legibus solutus had been the main hope of The Prince; in The Discourses, however, Machiavelli was most impressed by the nihilistic urges of the prince, hence he contended that there was no choice between an unbridled prince and a legally uncontrolled people; both were equally destructive. The true test, therefore, was to compare the two when they were under the law. The verdict was in favor of the people, yet the grounds were the significant point. A people accustomed to living under the law soon exhibit the political virtues impressed upon them: they become stable, prudent, grateful, and reverential to the authority of the law. But while the people's virtue came from submitting to the law, the virtù of the prince necessarily took the form of creative destruction of laws and institutions. Hence at the stage where a republican system was feasible, heroic virtù was anachronistic. 137

The transition to a new type of *virtù* involved a redefinition of princely *virtù*: the true prince would be one who, in the act of realizing his *virtù*, would render himself superfluous. The criteria for judging his actions would be these: did the state survive the founder's death and was it capable of generating its own momentum? As Machiavelli wrote, "The security of a republic or of a kingdom, therefore, does not depend upon its ruler governing it prudently during his lifetime, but upon his so ordering it that, after his death, it may maintain itself in being." This was put even more succinctly in Machiavelli's advice to Pope Leo X on the reform of the government of Florence: it should be so organized "that it will administer itself." 139

If princely *virtù* were to be superseded, what was now needed was a form of *virtù* which would support rather than create institutions. And if heroic politics were to give way to a mass-oriented politics, then the problem was to attract the

masses to support the political order by meeting the material needs of the people, protecting their possessions, and eliminating dangerous inequalities in the society. But how could this be done? Wasn't it true that the same dilemmas of limited goods, unlimited ambitions, and crowded political space would reappear to plague a political system based on the satisfaction of interests?

In trying to resolve these issues Machiavelli was led to examine more closely than any of his predecessors the nature and dynamics of interest politics and to advance further than any writer since Aristotle the superiority of the politics of resolution as over against the politics of imposition. The truly novel element in Machiavelli's approach was that it not only converted the problem of interest into the central problem of political theory, but that he sought to accompany this with a theory which indicated both the salutary effects of socio-economic conflicts and the techniques by which they might be resolved. By moving in this direction Machiavelli helped launch the redefinition of the political association, a redefinition which, by starting with the legitimacy of conflicts of interest, would end by doubting that such an association could afford to pursue final solutions in the handling of conflicts. A republic, as Machiavelli noted, presupposed divisions, and hence could not be kept to a perfect unity of purpose. 140

To the contemporary student of politics one of the most interesting aspects of Machiavelli's analysis was its recognition of the complexity of interests. While the basic conflicts arose between people and nobility,¹⁴¹ and while the existence of the lower class created further difficulties, these three classes contained divisions within themselves. There were cleavages between the new nobility and the old. Artisans and merchants, as well, formed separate interests which were further fragmented into organized guilds and companies. These various interests took on special political significance once they joined energies to form parties or factions. The quest for preferential treatment by organized interests or coalitions of interests was distinguished from the natural and inevitable divisions in a society. "When accompanied by factions and parties, [divisions] are injurious; but when maintained without them they contribute to the prosperity of republics." ¹⁴³

Nevertheless, Machiavelli contended, factions ought not to be eliminated but regulated. The friction generated by factional struggles was evidence of vitality in a system. The great example of salutary frictions was provided by the Roman constitutional system where the contests between the patricians and the plebs had resulted in better laws and greater liberties. In other words, the relatively unrestrained flow of political forces had issued in arrangements which were better because they were more comprehensive and inclusive of the basic interests of the society. Moreover, the Roman example also demonstrated that the occasional instabilities of factional strife need not destroy the power of the system, for when Rome faced external threats, the opposing interests immediately laid aside their private quarrels to rally to the defense of the *patria*. 145

The upshot of Machiavelli's argument was to recast the notion of political unity in accordance with the new picture of political society as a diagram of interest-propelled forces. For if the nature of political society was such that its unity presupposed rather than excluded the jarring effects of interest groups, then unity was the resultant of the satisfaction of conflicting interests. But at this point a further dilemma issued from the coexistence of two contradictory principles: Machiavelli held that the political order must insure the equality of treatment of its members, and at the same time he asserted that a political system could not survive unless the dominant interests were satisfied. Yet in a political condition of limited and relative goods, it is apparent that appeasement of powerful groups cuts across the principle of equality—a dilemma which has never been solved within the interest theory of politics. For the natural response of those entrusted with making political decisions is to draw a table of priorities in conformity to the relative power and influence of the contending forces. Priority, however, is not equality.

A political system can accommodate the idea of equality with that of the free play of interests, and the unequal aggregates of power and influence resulting from the competitive struggle for advantage, only by searching for some substitute source of emotional loyalty. A system professing equality is in great need of an obscuring "myth," an enveloping loyalty to cover the fact that economic, social, and political equality have, at best, a very limited practical meaning. Without systematically treating the problem, Machiavelli, nevertheless, did touch upon what has perhaps become the most effective substitute for equality, the substitute of national feeling. In terms of manipulative politics, the utility of national sentiment lies not only in the intensity of emotion which it engenders, but in its surface resemblance to the principle of equality: all men, regardless of wealth, station, and pedigree, share the common quality of a distinctive national identity and no one can claim or prove that he has more of it than anyone else. National identity represents an inexhaustible category of good. The foregoing can be summarized by saying that if unity presupposed conflicts of interest, then the admission of conflict, in turn, demanded a common national loyalty which could be evoked to set limits to disputes or to exact sacrifices from those less favored by the table of public priorities. It might be paradoxical, but it is not accidental, that the first truly modern political theory should unite the "realism" of interest politics with the "idealism" of nationalism.

There was, however, a far more ominous implication in the vitalities of conflict. Earlier we have noted Machiavelli's insistence that external expansion was essential to the life of the body politic. Under an absolute monarchy the prince's desire for glory and the maintenance of his power could be depended upon to supply the necessary driving force towards expansion. In a republic the dynamics of imperialism were closely linked to the interest struggles arising out of class

ambitions and desires. The impetus to imperialism was now to come from the extension of domestic power drives. Again Rome furnished the model:

... Had the government of Rome been such as to bring greater tranquillity, there would have ensued this inconvenience, that it would have been weaker, owing to its having cut off the source of supply [i.e., factional conflicts] which enabled it to acquire the greatness at which it arrived, so that, in seeking to remove the causes of tumults, Rome would have also removed the causes of expansion.¹⁴⁶

All that remained in order to demonstrate the superiority of popular imperialism over monarchical imperialism was to connect the imperialist dynamics of popular government with the politics of interest. What had to be shown was that a popular government could generate greater power than a monarchy because it used the benefits of conquest for the interests of a greater number.

... Experience shows that cities have never increased either in dominion or wealth, unless they have been independent ... The reason [why Athens and Rome attained greatness after expelling their kings] is easy to understand; for it is not the well-being of individuals that makes cities great, but the well-being of the community ... It is only in republics that the common good is looked to properly ... and, however much this or that private person may be the loser on this account, there are so many who benefit thereby that the common good can be realized in spite of those few who suffer in consequence.

The opposite happens where there is a prince; for what he does in his own interests usually harms the city, and what is done in the interests of the city harms him. Consequently, as soon as tyranny replaces self-government the least of the evils . . . are that it ceases to make progress and to grow in power and wealth: more often than not, nay always, what happens is that it declines. And should fate decree the rise of an efficient tyrant, so energetic and proficient in warfare that he enlarges his dominions, no advantage will accrue to the commonwealth 147

It is apparent from these passages how far Machiavelli has traveled from classical and mediaeval thought. Where Aquinas, for example, had declared that the common good was qualitatively different in nature from that of the individual, Machiavelli took the notion to represent a preponderance of interests and forces within the community. Where Aristotle had warned that the acquisition of empire would undermine the common good of the community, Machiavelli converted imperialism into a natural extension of that good. Above all, he had shown that the mass was not only pliant matter, but also dynamic energy; and that energy, when attracted by interest, was convertible into a power greater than that of any other system. It became a principle which the English republicans of the next century eagerly embraced. As Harrington warned in his peroration

on the republic of Oceana: "Oceana is as the Rose of Sharon, and the Lily of the Valley . . . She is as comely as the Tents of Kedar, and terrible as an Army with Banners."

VIII. POLITICS AND SOULS

There were two devices on which Machiavelli relied to curb the excesses of factional conflict. The first, consisting of institutional arrangements, was symptomatic of Machiavelli's assumption that the activities of factions were similar in nature to the thrust of forces in physics. The delicate task, however, was to establish institutional arrangements which, while permitting the expression of diverse ambitions and interests, as well as venting the "changeful humors" of society, would also create countervailing forces. 151 For example, the force of ambition could be turned to the benefit of a republic if the political arrangements contained established avenues for the pursuit of power: the open play of ambition not only obviated the dangers of hidden conspiracies, but by encouraging the ambitious to court public favor, a subtle force was created which helped to divert political actions towards public rather than private ends. In short, the influence of the constituency would be institutionalized. 152 So impressed was Machiavelli by the possibilities of popular institutions for attracting, and yet domesticating, great talents, that he came to believe that a system of free elections could overcome the mortality of individual greatness by insuring a continual supply of fresh talents: virtue could thus be extended to infinity. 153

The discovery of institutional substitutes for the prince was the logical complement to the importance which Machiavelli attached to the satisfaction of interests. It was this which makes Machiavelli one of the forerunners and founders of the great tradition of interest politics, a tradition which was continued by Harrington, Locke, Hume, and Bentham, and received its classic expression in James Madison's Letter Ten of the *Federalist Papers*. But, as we noted earlier, a significant redistribution of emphasis in political theory implies omission. What had been excluded by the theory of interest? In order to make the point clear we can recall a passage from Plato's *Republic* which symbolized both the classical and mediaeval attitudes to the exercise of power. The passage was one where Adeimantus set forward the considerations which a theory of justice must meet:

You must not be content with proving that justice is superior to injustice; you must make clear what good or what harm each of them does to its possessor... So I want you, in commending justice, to consider only how justice, in itself, benefits a man who has it *in him*, and how injustice harms him, leaving *rewards and reputation out of account*. I might put up with others dwelling on those outward effects... but

[not] from you... You must not be content merely to prove that justice is superior to injustice, but explain how one is good, the other evil, in virtue of the *intrinsic effect each has on its possessor, whether gods or men see it or not.*¹⁵⁴

The significant part of the passage lies in the contrasting approaches to political action: "rewards and reputation" and "outward effects" on the one side, "intrinsic effects" on the other. When these distinctions are applied to Machiavelli's thought, it becomes obvious that politics has become external to its participants. This, in turn, fits nicely with his emphasis on the protection of material interests. The belief that politics was concerned with externals and that the promotion of man's interior life did not belong to the province of the political provided an interesting parallel with Luther's doctrine of "Christian liberty" and the general Protestant notion of "conscience," both of which supported the belief that politics had nothing to do with man's internal state.

The growing alienation between the bona interiora and the kinds of goods at which political action aimed can also be traced if we turn to Machiavelli's second device for controlling the effects of factions. This centered on the attempt to create a civic virtue which would serve to discipline and curb the desires and ambitions of the masses. The means for this would be the laws, institutions, education, and religious system. In this connection the greatest emphasis was placed on military organization which came to assume a role analogous to that of education in Plato's system. "The security of all states is based on good military discipline, and where it does not exist, there can neither be good laws or anything else that is good."155 If all citizens were exposed to the rigors of military life, as the Romans had been, and if their virtue were then put to the test, "it will be found that always and in all circumstances they will be of the same mind and will maintain their dignity in the same way."156 The value of military experience lay in the contrasts which it presented to the legitimized scramble for place and preference in civil society. An army, at its best, was akin to a tightly unified community, fostering a warm intimacy among its members which allowed them to act as one and to accept the self-sacrifice which was otherwise absurd. 157 Military institutions, while they might thus be analogous to Plato's system of education, had however a fundamentally different objective, not the illumination of the soul but the disciplining of those very passions which the dexterous political actor presupposed and which it was his business to encourage.

While these methods varied, there was one common quality which they shared: each was intended solely to influence the external conduct of the citizens. This was most evident in Machiavelli's treatment of religion. Like Hobbes later on, he contended that original Christianity had been completely acceptable as a civic religion. Now, however, it taught the wrong virtues of self-abnegation, humility, and other-worldliness; it taught, in short, those virtues connected with the

interior goods of the soul. A true civic religion ought to encourage a proper fear and respect for authority and help inculcate military valor. 158

Machiavelli's conception of civic virtue marked an important stage in the development of modern political thought and practice, for it symbolized an end to the old alliance between statecraft and soul-craft. Henceforth it would be increasingly taken for granted that while the cultivation of souls and personalities might be a proper end of man, it did not provide the focus of political action. This can be stated more strongly by saving that the new science was not conceived as the means to human perfectibility. This pessimistic strain, which grew out of the realization that the new knowledge must be conversant with evil and that its major concern was to avoid hell, confirms that it was a post-Christian science rather than one inspired directly by classical models. The assertion that "all men are wicked and that they will always give vent to the malignity that is in their minds when opportunity offers" was one which Greek political science never entertained and Christian doctrine never doubted. 159 But if Machiavelli's sense of evil and, if one likes, sin, sets him apart from the Greeks, it also denies him any relationship to the liberal and collectivist schools of social science of the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The tradition begun by Machiavelli was carried on by Hobbes, Locke, and Hume; it was a tradition singularly devoid of illusions about man's political condition. It was reserved for men like Rousseau, Saint-Simon, and Comte to endow political theory with the notion of innocence.

CHAPTER EIGHT

•••

Hobbes: Political Society as a System of Rules

Philosophy will clip an Angel's wings, Conquer all mysteries by rule and line, Empty the haunted air . . .

-Keats

The Chinese . . . are reported to have a way of writing the word "crisis" by two characters, one of which signifies "danger," the other "opportunity."

-Louis Wirth

I. THE REVIVAL OF POLITICAL CREATIVITY

Machiavelli's political theory had been oriented towards the order of problems created by the human energies and vitalities which had burst through the mediaeval system of restraints. He had tried to reshape the concepts of political theory so that they might better grasp the reality of individuals, groups, and states jostling for advantage within a determinate space. One result of Machiavelli's reformulation of political theory was to draw attention to the dynamic element of the uninhibited pursuit of interest and to establish interest as the departure point for most subsequent theorizing. Although he had succeeded in uncovering this new dimension of political life—"new" not by reason of discovery but by way of emphasis—Machiavelli failed to furnish an adequate analysis of the necessary presuppositions of interest politics. What did the pursuit of interest assume in the way of social and political arrangements? of rules which would control the inevitable struggle between rival groups and individuals?

It was not enough to assert with Machiavelli that the problem of politics was to satisfy interests, or that where they could not be satisfied the parties must accept a compromise, or that when compromise proved unavailing coercion must be introduced. Machiavelli's prescriptions were woefully lacking in one vital element: some comprehensive principle, some notion of a unifying consensus for coping with the interest-ridden nature of the new politics. For if interests were the expression of what is particular to an individual or group, the pursuit of dif-

HOBBES 215

ferent interests was latent with conflict and, ultimately, anarchy. Moreover, if the identity of individuals, groups and classes derived from their different interests, how was it possible to establish a set of restraints which it would be in the interest of each to observe? In other words, didn't the pursuit of interests presuppose what was most difficult of attainment in a society of particulars, the sense of a common life?

It was this sense of a common life which was most glaringly absent in Machiavelli's political theory. Machiavelli's political actors take decisions, conflict rages between group and group, there is thrust and riposte between princes, but no reflection of an ordered set of relationships among men of the same social grouping, no sense of shared loyalties, no feel for the continuity of a collectivity extending over time. For all of his insight into conflict Machiavelli never managed to explain how civic *virtù* alone could develop a sufficient consciousness of commonalty to support the disorder and destructiveness inherent in factional politics.

The crisis in community, far from being a peculiarity of the molecular state of Italian politics, can be documented in the religious theories of the late sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries. The pressing problem confronting Luther, Zwingli, and Calvin was to bring Protestant man back to a consciousness of community after having first encouraged his individualism. The most vivid expression of these difficulties was to be found among the various sects cast up during the revolutionary travails of seventeenth-century England. Groups such as the Brownists, Seekers, Baptists, and Separatists held to the belief that a church was in the nature of a voluntary association. This notion was popularly expressed in the covenant idea which rested church authority on the free consent of the individual members. By placing the religious association on a foundation of individualism, the sectarians found themselves faced with the problem that even a church had to accommodate different kinds of interests. As one influential writer put it:

In that polity or government by which Christ would have his churches ordered, the right disposal of the power therein . . . may lie in a due and proportioned allotment and dispersion (though not in the same measure and degree) into diverse hands, according unto the several concernments and interests that each rank in his Church may have, rather than in an entire and sole trust committed to any one man . . . ¹

The admission of different interests inevitably dissolved the older conception of the church as the tightest possible corporate group.

Consider that we may be one in one Christ though we think diversely, and we may be friends though not brethren, and let us attain to union *though not to unity.*²

As this last remark indicates, the fundamental issue being raised was, on what terms could religion be carried on once the church had ceased to be a tightly knit unity? Translated into political terms, the issue read: on what basis could the

practice of government be conducted once the society was no longer a community? Must political societies, as Milton protested, remain content with "the forced and outward union of cold, and neutral, and inwardly divided minds"?3 That this had become the central question was implicit in Hobbes's demonstration of the natural starting point for political inquiry. A science, he remarked, was not like a circle that allowed us to begin at any point. The subject-matter of political science could be brought "into the clearest light" if the idea of justice were first examined. The quest for justice, however, was not directed towards finding some general ethical principle which would unite the members of society, but rather an inquiry into the rational grounds for private interest or particularity; that is, why "any man should call anything rather his own, than another man's." In the same way that church organization had been forced to cope with the individualism of tender consciences, political society had now to create a form of association for governing men who "from their very birth, and naturally, scramble for everything they covet, and would have all the world, if they could, to fear and obey them."4

The mere fact that questions of this nature were cropping up in both political and religious thought provides impressive evidence that men no longer felt that the community represented a natural unity. This, in turn, provoked the great challenge which preoccupied the political thought of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries: if a community was not the product of nature, could it be constructed through human art? Hobbes's assertion, that "by art is created that great Leviathan," was but a terse way of saying what others had said and acted upon for almost a century. The notion of political creativity, which had lain dormant almost since the classical period, took on fresh life under the combined stimulus of ideas of church-building and state-building following upon the political and religious upheavals of the sixteenth century. The civil wars and revolution which brought anarchy to seventeenth-century England aroused a sense of opportunity in Hobbes similar to that expressed by the men of the sixteenth century as they surveyed the chaotic flux of their own times.

For more than a hundred years, enormous pressures had been building inside English society, and only the genius of the Tudors had managed to keep the lid on. After the uneasy interlude of James I, demands for political, social, religious, and economic change converged to disrupt the old order. Seventeenth-century England became a kind of laboratory for political experiment, as king, parliament, and army fought for supremacy. It was an age of bold schemes and disturbing visions. Before the deluge came, Laud had struggled to reform the established church into a stronger agency of belief and a surer support for the throne. Strafford worked tirelessly to cut away the encrusting vestiges of the past and transform the monarchy into an efficient instrument of governance. During the 1640s the visions became wilder and more apocalyptic as the suppressed excitement of

HOBBES 217

the sectarians burst forth. "The present state of the world is running up like parchment in the fire and wearing away." In some quarters men were caught up in the belief that England and the world stood on the edge of regeneration: "Nations shall become the nations of Christ, and the government shall be in the hands of the Saints." To still others Christ's return would usher in an era where men would "work in righteousness and lay the foundation of making the earth a common treasure for all."

In Hobbes the excitement of the age was cloaked in the language of science and mathematics, but this did not prevent him from expressing a vision of the possible estate of man which soared beyond that of the sixteenth-century writers. There was no capricious fortuna to devil human progress, no inscrutable God to remind man of his being a favored alien in a world he had not fashioned. This was to be political philosophy in an age of intellectual, as well as political and religious, revolution. Where Machiavelli's thought had contained only some striking anticipations of the coming modes of scientific thought and could therefore combine modernity with a cult of antiquity, and where Luther and Calvin might skirt the Middle Ages to recapture the wisdom of Augustine and the simplicity of the apostolic teachings, Hobbes wrote from the midst of a scientific revolution which seemed to snap the continuity between the present and the past, exposing the wisdom of the ancients as convenient targets for sarcasm. The claims of science, that the mysterious phenomena of the universe were open and accessible to the methods of mathematics, appeared so undeniable to a mind like Hobbes that he boldly prepared to apply the same assumption to the political world. There was a potential congruence between the phenomena of politics and the concepts of the human mind, provided that these concepts were founded on the right method. When armed with the right method, and further armed with opportunity, man could construct a political order as timeless as a Euclidean theorem.

Thus Machiavelli, Luther, and Calvin might pray to different gods, and Hobbes pray to none at all, yet all four were at one in their response to chaos: chaos was the material of creativity, not a cause for resignation. They were all Platonists in the spirit of their assumption about the plasticity of human arrangements and the efficacy of the human will, and this despite (or perhaps even because of) the dark view each had of human nature. It was reserved to Tom Paine, in company with the Utopian Socialists and Comte, to wed creativity to a theory of man's innocence.

The activism so characteristic of Machiavelli, Luther, Calvin, and Hobbes was accompanied also by a certain impatience towards the traditional modes of knowledge and the accepted practices of their respective fields. Times of crisis are notoriously uncongenial to the mellower wisdom of Aristotle, to a fondness for gradual becoming and modest tinkering, to the respect tendered to customary practice and common opinion. While the passing of the mediaeval world might

sadden some men, like Sir Thomas More, and lead others, like Montaigne, to ironical detachment, for Machiavelli, the Protestant Reformers, and Hobbes, the human condition presented latent but exciting possibilities which summoned men to mastery. Whether disorder took a political or religious form, it aroused the impulse to build societies.

Yet there was another side to the dream of creativity: fear. Fear had been a natural reaction to the conditions of the sixteenth century. Religious ferment had combined with the travail of national centralization to make disorder a constant possibility and stability a tenuous achievement. Society was continually being threatened by a reversion to "political nature." It was not surprising that men as diverse as Luther and Bodin had voiced the same warning that only a powerful coercive authority spelled the difference between anarchy and order. In the ontology of political thought, order has been the equivalent of being, anarchy the political synonym for non-being. Hobbes's England had experienced political revolution and religious conflict of such intensity as to draw a whole society to the edge of nothingness. So dramatic had been the suddenness with which England had been plunged into war and revolution, so great had been the devastation, and so bitter had been the enmities that for the next three centuries and more English politics was conducted on the unwritten premise that history ought not be allowed to repeat itself.

This experience with the political void inspired one of the most important conceptions of the political thought of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, that of "the state of nature," the condition of political nothingness. While for later critics this notion provided a convenient way of winning cheap philosophical victories over writers like Hobbes and Locke, to the men of the seventeenth century the state of nature conveyed a vivid and far from fictitious meaning. It was the dramatic contrast to their deep belief in the possibilities of political construction; it was the source of the anxiety which shaded their hopes and caused their dogmas to trail off into questions.

II. POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY AND THE REVOLUTION IN SCIENCE

In earlier pages we have pointed out that the concept of "political nature" had been most sharply delineated during periods of great change and upheaval. The need to establish a field of intelligible meanings among political phenomena becomes acute when traditional social and political arrangements appear to be breaking down into a kind of primal condition. This had been the case with Plato in the Greek world of the fifth century, with Augustine and the backdrop of the sack of Rome and the crisis in classical thought, with Luther and Calvin and the events of the Reformation, and, finally, with Machiavelli and the political disorganization of Renaissance Italy. These periods of crisis have appeared as so many possibilities for

HOBBES 219

resettling the shaken foundations of action and the accepted modes of thought and feeling. Crisis had meant opportunity, the chance for thought to abandon the pastures of selective criticism or wholesale acceptance dictated by normal times, and to assume, instead, the bolder stance of prescribing the patterns of wholesale reconstruction. This belief that the ordering function of political theory is best realized when human existence has been reduced to a *tabula rasa* had been implicit in Plato's notion of a "new colony" and in his search for the impressionable young tyrant. These were but the imagery of political opportunity, as were the "new prince" and the "new principality" of Machiavelli.

The Hobbesian concept of the state of nature exhibited this same pattern of crisis and opportunity. It reflected an age of political and religious turmoil wherein the constitutional and ecclesiastical settlement of the Tudors was dissolving and men were bitterly at odds over the shape of the new order. Like Plato, Augustine, Machiavelli, and Calvin before him, Hobbes believed that the irregularities prevailing in political phenomena could be brought to order only through action informed by knowledge. In an age where men called "not only for peace, but also for truth," Hobbes believed that for the first time political philosophy was genuinely in a position to bring both truth and peace. The benefits of valid political knowledge were now accessible because of the revolutionary advances in the sciences. Political nature, therefore, was to be restored to order by a political philosophy purged of Aristotelian and scholastic influences and reshaped according to the models of mathematical and scientific thinking.

By placing his hopes in an alliance with science, Hobbes helped to magnify an anxiety which had entered political philosophy for the first time with Machiavelli and has persisted into modern political science. It was an anxiety growing out of a concern at the "backward" state of political philosophy. "If the moral philosophers had as happily discharged their duty, I know not what could have been added by human industry to the completion of that happiness, which is consistent with human life." The belief that the value of political philosophy could be measured by the achievements in science and mathematics has come to be the peculiar burden of modern political thought. It is to be seen in the way that the contemporary political scientist expends much of his energy anxiously wondering if his methods are scientific and if the scientist will grant him the seal of respectability. The natural course for those dazzled by modern science is to inquire into the reasons for its spectacular advance. This was the course followed by Hobbes and it had some fateful consequences for political philosophy.

"Science"—to use Hobbes's comprehensive term—had progressed so rapidly because scientists had been bold enough to break with traditional modes of thought and inquiry. They had refused to follow the path of building slowly on past achievements, of zealously preserving the main corpus and modifying only where necessary. The unprecedented development of "science" was pictured by Hobbes as an

intellectual drama of creative destruction. Men had taken a radically new look at the universe, shedding their preconceptions and purging from their categories the vestiges of Greek teleology and Christian cosmology. By intellect alone, without appeal to superhuman authority and without relying upon non-rational and non-sensory faculties, man had created a rationally intelligible cosmos without mystery and occult qualities.

Deeply impressed by the dramatic potentialities of this procedure, whereby man created intelligibility among the phenomena of nature, Hobbes then turned to convert it to the uses of philosophy, to make creative destruction the starting point for philosophical method. True philosophizing commenced with what Hobbes designated "privation"; that is, an imaginative act of destruction, a "feigning the world to be annihilated." In wishing away the world, Hobbesian man announced his independence of pre-existent meanings and proclaimed his own right to re-create meaning. From the resources of his own remembrances and from the "phantasms" deposited by sensory experience he could construct a new "reality."

What was breathtaking about the enterprise was that it rested upon a conception of truth not as a faithful report of external "reality" but as an "arbitrary" construction of the human mind. By the rational ordering of names the universe took on intelligible meaning and man became the maker of his own rationality: to know a "truth," such as the sum 2 + 3, was "nothing else but to acknowledge that it is made by ourselves." A valid proposition or a logical demonstration consisted of a certain ordering of words; however, the meaning attached to words was not inherent but derived from an act of human will:

... The first truths were arbitrarily made by those that first of all imposed names upon things, or received them from the imposition of others. For it is true (for example) that *man is a living creature*, but it is for this reason, that it pleased men to impose those names on the same thing. ¹⁰

Thus meaning was rooted in an act of "arbitrary" imposition, and even the seemingly objective character of reason could not escape its dependence upon the origins of words. Reason consisted in "reckoning, that is adding and subtracting, of the consequences of general names agreed upon for the marking and signifying of our thoughts." The crucial point, however, was that for Hobbes the "arbitrary" and the creative were synonymous. Hobbesian man emerged as the Great Artificer, the creator of science, mathematics, and philosophy, the architect of time and space, values, and truth itself. Even religion depended on man's ingenuity, inasmuch as the "signs" by which God was honored were in fact meaningful signs of honor because men considered them such. "That is a true sign which by the consent of men becomes a sign." 12

The hopes for the advancement of human knowledge, which Hobbes had equated with logical demonstration and the unambiguous use of names, were in-

HOBBES 221

tensified in the case of political philosophy. The knowledge attainable by a true political philosophy was comparable in certainty to the truths of geometry and, *pari passu*, superior to the contingent truths of physics:

Geometry, therefore is demonstrable, for the lines and figures from which we reason, are drawn and described by ourselves; and civil philosophy is demonstrable because we make the commonwealth ourselves. But because of natural bodies we know not the construction, but seek it from effects, there lies no demonstration of what the causes be we seek for, but only of what they may be.¹³

This pointed to the interesting implication that the "nature" confronting the political philosopher differed in crucial respects from the "nature" of the physicist: the universe of science was one which man did not create; he only created language about it. It was a universe not only antecedent to language, thought, and man himself, but one which he seemingly could not alter. In the last analysis, therefore, the words employed by the physicist ought to be governed by phenomena, not phenomena by the words. As Hobbes noted in his discussion of "physics:"

The principles . . . upon which the following discourse depends, are not such as we ourselves make and pronounce in general terms, as definitions; but such, as being placed in the things themselves by the Author of Nature, are by us observed in them . . 14

The case of politics was quite different, for, as Hobbes repeatedly insisted, political knowledge was a form of knowledge which consciously aimed at overcoming "political nature," of creating situations unknown to nature—as when men were made to act peacefully after having previously been at each other's throats.

The "nature" of politics, then, permitted a freer hand in imposing names and assigning meanings. And what converted the model of science and mathematics into an exciting possibility were the tumultuous conditions of seventeenth-century England. They seemed to provide the heaven-sent opportunity which political philosophers often desired but rarely encountered. While philosophy was confined to an imaginative act of "privation," the act of annihilation with which political philosophy began had, in an age of civil war and revolution, an implicit foundation in reality:

For as in a watch, or some such small engine, the matter, figure, and motion of the wheels cannot well be known, except it be taken in sunder, and viewed in parts; so to make a more curious search into the rights of states, and duties of subjects, it is necessary (I say not to take them in sunder, but yet that) they be so considered, as if they were dissolved . . . ¹⁵

The potentialities of political knowledge were to be unfolded in the construction of that "greatest of human powers," an artificial Leviathan "compounded of

the powers of most men" arranged in such a way that "the use of all their powers" would depend on a single sovereign will. Here the political philosophy of Hobbes had caught up the classical notion of political creativity and wedded it to a secularized version of the Augustinian God. The abolition of the state of nature would be a godlike act, a "creation out of nothing by human wit."

... The *pacts* and *covenants*, by which the parts of this body politic were at first made, set together, and united, resemble that *fiat*, or the *let us make man*, pronounced by God in the creation.¹⁶

When the social covenant is understood as the highest expression of political creativity, we can more easily appreciate the tremendous hold which it had for the writers of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Too often the element of voluntary agreement has been taken as the whole meaning of the covenant. If we remember that the covenant was made possible by a preliminary act of imaginative emancipation which abolished both present and past, then we can better recapture the excitement it aroused. In this respect Paine and Jefferson in America and the revolutionary writers of France were the faithful echoes of Hobbes in insisting that every generation could reckon as its birthright the right to re-create society as it saw fit. This was but to follow Hobbes's claim that man could become the creator of meanings for the political universe.

III. THE PROMISE OF POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY

Like his patron Bacon, Hobbes did not consider science or philosophy justifiable for their own sake, or for the sheer "inward glory and triumph of mind" that comes from mastering "some difficult and doubtful matter." The "end of knowledge is power" and "the scope of all speculation is the performance of some action" which would advance "the commodity of human life." In terms of these criteria philosophy had served mankind well; not philosophy as practiced by Aristotle and the Scholastics, but philosophy as redefined to include mathematics and science:

But what the *utility* of philosophy is, especially of natural philosophy and geometry, will be best understood by reckoning up the chief commodities of which mankind is capable . . . Now, the greatest commodities of mankind are the arts; namely, of measuring matter and motion; of moving ponderous bodies; of architecture; of navigation; of making instruments for all uses; of calculating the celestial motions, the aspects of the stars, and the parts of time; of geography, etc. . . .

After pointing out that these arts were unknown in many parts of the world, Hobbes concluded:

HOBBES 223

What, then, makes this difference, except philosophy? Philosophy, therefore, is the cause of all these benefits.¹⁸

Similarly, Hobbes seemed to promise that a rightly grounded political philosophy could bring benefits hitherto unknown:

Though nothing can be immortal, which mortals make; yet, if men had the use of reason they pretend to, their commonwealths might be secured, at least from perishing by internal diseases.¹⁹

This had the authentic ring of the earlier tradition of philosophizing which attributes to the political theorist an "esemplastic" power of remoulding a whole society and a time medium just this side of eternity. But the basic question is whether political philosophy, as defined by Hobbes, could fulfill its promises. Could it really assist men in solving the range of issues usually considered "political" or was it, by virtue of the structure Hobbes gave it, capable only of solving certain limited problems? What we shall try to show in the following pages is that there was an important anticlimax in Hobbes's thought, that what appeared as a grandiose promise of certain benefits, such as an "eternal" constitution, turned out in the end to be considerably less. This disparity between promise and performance issued from some confusions which Hobbes made between philosophy and science, and between geometry and science. Their net effect was to whittle away at the architectonic pretensions of political theory and to leave it with the task of dealing with the primary foundations or initial premises of political order.

The explanation for this oddity lies in two interrelated aspects of his system: the definition of philosophy and the analysis of experience. In his *Elements of Philosophy* Hobbes defined philosophy as

such knowledge of effects or appearances, as we acquired by true ratiocination from the knowledge we have first of their causes or generation: And again, of such causes or generations as may be from knowing first their effects.²⁰

He then carefully added that, although "Sense and Memory of things" could be considered as knowledge, "they are not philosophy" because they were "not gotten by ratiocination." Philosophy, then, was not concerned with sense perception or with experience, excepting the experience "men have of the proper use of names in language." This definition of philosophy or "science" was summed up in the *Leviathan* in these terms:

... When the discourse is put into speech, and begins with the definitions of words, and proceeds by connexion of the same into general affirmations, and of these again into syllogisms; the end or last sum is called the conclusion; and the thought of the mind by it signified, is that conditional knowledge, or knowledge of the consequence of words, which is commonly called science.²²

Thus Hobbes gives us a strikingly modern conception of philosophy as concerned with linguistic "truth"; that is, with the status of logical propositions. Put in its simplest terms, this meant that philosophy was to concentrate on the requirements of clear thinking, on the rules of discourse, and not on furnishing us with reports about the true nature of "reality." Obviously this definition of philosophy held more modest possibilities for advancing the welfare and happiness of mankind, yet we must try to understand why Hobbes was so excited on this score and why he believed the concentration on language to be common to philosophy, geometry, and science.

The first step in clarifying these problems is to note Hobbes's explanation for the advance of mathematics. "In geometry," Hobbes declared, "which is the only science that it hath pleased God hitherto to bestow on mankind, men begin at settling the significations of their words, which settling of significations they call definitions, and place them in the beginning of their reckoning."23 This emphasis on definitions and linguistic clarity was repeatedly introduced by Hobbes as the explanation for the success of the mathematician and the scientist, and it was the solid bedrock to his hopes for mankind generally: "the light of human minds is perspicuous words, but by exact definitions first snuffed and purged from ambiguity; reason is the pace; increase of science, the way; and the benefit of mankind, the end."24 This raised the question, however, of the nature of the "truth" accessible to a philosophy based upon rational demonstration and unambiguous definition. Hobbes carefully avoided identifying philosophy with the systematic ordering of sense impressions or experience; instead, he concluded that the type of "truth" sought by philosophy consisted in truths about language. "True and false are attributes of speech, not of things."25 Thus truth was to be considered as a property attaching to linguistic entities, or, in Hobbes's succinct statement, "truth and a true proposition is all one." 26 It followed that the task of philosophical reasoning was not to disclose the true "nature of things" but to give us conclusions "about the name of things."27

The first reaction of a modern reader to Hobbes's argument would be to point out that it rests upon a serious confusion of the methods of science with those of mathematics. Scientific method we regard as not being first and foremost a matter of logic and definition in the way that a Euclidean theorem is. Except for the elementary importance of clear thinking in any systematic enterprise, science is primarily concerned with a method of experimentation which seeks empirical verification for its hypotheses. Geometry, which served as the model for Hobbes, does not purport to test its propositions by an appeal to experience, but rather on the consistent use of fixed definitions. No amount of empirical observation, therefore, can prove or disprove a proposition in geometry.

This distinction between geometry and science, between a logic of discourse and a logic of discovery, is important because philosophy has come to be far closer

HOBBES 225

in method to geometry than to science. In the words of a contemporary, the philosopher "must not attempt to formulate speculative truths, or to look for first principles, or to make a priori judgments about the validity of our empirical beliefs. He must, in fact, confine himself to works of clarification and analysis . . . "28 While this may represent a somewhat extreme position and while Hobbes would certainly have denied much of the first sentence, there can be no question that he was far closer to accepting the idea that the concern of philosophy was with linguistic rather than empirical truths. But he came to this position largely on the basis of the mistaken notion that the methods of geometry and science were akin. It is true that in certain passages he allotted a larger place to knowledge based on experience and even inferred the important distinction between the methods of science and those of philosophic logic.²⁹ Yet while Hobbes might proclaim that "forasmuch as all knowledge beginneth from experience, therefore also new experience is the beginning of new knowledge, and the increase of experience the beginning of the increase of knowledge,"30 he never looked upon this kind of knowledge as supplying a certain basis for the improvement of man's condition.

In his conception of political philosophy we find again that geometry is the model:

The skill of making, and maintaining commonwealths, consisteth in certain rules, as doth arithmetic and geometry; not, as tennis-play, on practice only: which rules, neither poor men have the leisure, nor men that have had the leisure, have hitherto had the curiosity, or the method to find out.³¹

This assertion rested on the assumption that it was not only possible to reduce the political art to certain infallible rules, but that it was also desirable. To achieve this Hobbes had to dispose of rival claims to political knowledge. More specifically, he had to combat the position represented by Machiavelli that adequate generalizations could be constructed from experience and that political action would be more certain of success if it imitated the methods of ancient heroes. Machiavelli had come perilously close to saying that politics was in fact not a theoretical study at all, but a subject for common sense wedded to experience and versed in the lessons of history.

Hobbes's refutation was significant in that he made no attempt to demonstrate that the nature of politics was such as to demand exact knowledge rather than prudence. Instead he relied on the limitations of experience in scientific matters to demonstrate the insufficiency of prudence in politics. In science, he explained, experience could supply a kind of knowledge concerning "the effects of things that work upon us from without," but such knowledge lacked the conclusiveness of demonstrative knowledge based on analytically true propositions. By its nature, "experience concludeth nothing universally." The same logical limitations held for political prudence, because prudence was "nothing else but conjecture

from experience." Its conclusions were based on past occurrences of "what is likely to come to pass, or to have passed already," hence prudence could never rise above being knowledge of only a presumptive kind. And just as "demonstration" stood as the highest form of scientific knowledge, so "sapience or wisdom" represented the most certain form of knowledge in political philosophy. Wisdom did not derive from experience but from "industry"; that is, from the skill in attaching names to phenomena and in the use of "a good and orderly method." Wisdom was a knowledge not of facts but of the consequences of facts, which was another way of saying it represented a knowledge of causes which gave men power to reproduce the desired effects. This, in turn, entailed a sharp distinction between political philosophy and history. History consisted of a "register of knowledge of fact," capable of furnishing men with prudence, but political philosophy was the product of reason, and "nothing is produced by reasoning aright, but general, eternal and immutable truth."

But after distinguishing the "immutable" truths of political philosophy from the presumptive knowledge of prudence, and after promising that the former could teach men the secret of "immortal peace" and an "everlasting" constitution, the whole argument seems to end not in a bang but a sputter. The great end of political philosophy was apparently confined to certain negative benefits:

 \dots The utility of moral and civil philosophy is to be estimated, not so much by the commodities we have by knowing these sciences, as by the calamities we receive from not knowing them.³⁴

Thus political philosophy could not furnish men with "the greatest commodities"; its value was in providing instruction about the basic principles of order which sustained all of the other and greater aspects of civilization. "Leisure is the mother of philosophy; and Commonwealth the mother of peace and leisure." 35

The anticlimax to Hobbes's political philosophy has laid him open to some hard charges by later critics. He has been accused of having lowered the sights of political philosophy from a concern with man's highest good to an ignoble pre-occupation with mere survival values; or of having "built his whole moral and political doctrine on observations regarding the extreme case" of civil war and anarchy. We would submit, however, that the circumscribed role of political thought was the outcome of limitations inherent in the Hobbesian conception of philosophy. Philosophical knowledge had been identified with linguistic truth and was to be sought through clarity of definitions and meanings. In its political version, philosophy aimed at peace rather than at scientific advance. Peace was considered a condition where men followed rules; that is, definitions of conduct that were clear, unambiguous and authoritative. In the same way that the activities of a mathematician qua mathematician were governed by the usages accepted in mathematics, the activities of the citizen qua citizen were subject to the rules

HOBBES 227

governing civil life. The subject-matter of political philosophy, then, was political rules and the language and definitions appropriate to them. The importance of language and rules was written into the very substance of the Hobbesian political philosophy, coloring his conception of the state of nature, the form taken by the covenant, the position of sovereign and subject, the status of law and morals, and the role of reason in politics.

As a starting point for discovering how the shape of political philosophy was moulded by philosophy's concern with linguistic truths we turn to two key passages from Hobbes's writings:

. . . Knowledge is the remembrance of the name or appellation of things, and how everything is called, which is, in matters of common conversation, a remembrance of pacts and covenants of men made amongst themselves, concerning how to be understood of one another . . . But when men remember not how things are named, by general agreement, but either mistake and misname things, or name them aright by chance, they are not said to have science but opinion. ³⁷

The cause . . . of civil war is that men know not the causes neither of war nor peace, there being but few in the world that have learned those duties which unite and keep men in peace, that is to say, that have learned the rules of civil life sufficiently . . . Seeing, therefore, from the not knowing of civil duties, that is, from the want of moral science, proceed civil wars, and the greatest calamities of mankind, we may very well attribute to such science the production of the contrary commodities. ³⁸

Political philosophy, then, was not to be envisaged as a body of cumulative knowledge aimed at helping men cope with the issues arising from a constantly changing world. Its logic was not the logic of discovery, of searching always for new principles and comprehensive generalizations. It dealt, instead, with the logic of political discourse; that is, with the language arising out of the set of agreements which defined society in political terms. Society presupposed a common set of meanings, but the inconstancy of meaning and the proclivity of man for interpreting meanings according to his own interests made it imperative that certain definitions be stipulated for the whole society. Just as there were basic rules or conventions governing the usages of geometers, there were rules or propositions distinctive to political life and necessary for its survival. Unless "line" were defined by each and every geometer in the same way, no universe of discourse would be possible among geometers, and hence no science of geometry. Similarly, unless a political "right," for example, carried the same meaning for each citizen or at least each citizen behaved as though he were conforming to the same definition—there could be no communication among the members of the same society, no reasonable expectations, and hence there would soon be no society. And just as geometry employed certain fictions or "as if's" about the nature of straight lines, circles, and triangles in order to create a closed system of lines and figures, self-consistent and self-contained, the political system, too, represented an artificial construction, a set of fictional "as if's" of a purely logical kind. "For a body politic, as it is a fictitious body, so are the faculties and will thereof fictitious also."³⁹

If the role of definitions in political philosophy was to supply the fundamental rules underpinning society, these definitions must be based upon a form of knowledge as certain and immutable as the truths of geometry. "Where men build on false grounds, the more they build, the greater is the ruin."40 This ruled out experience, not only because of its tentative nature, but more importantly because experience was ultimately an individual matter and, as such, too subjective to furnish the fundamental assumptions of society. Reason alone could establish the infallibility necessary in these matters. But-and here Hobbes approached the crux of the problem—whose reason was to be used in politics? That this should have been a basic query for Hobbes was indicative of a troubling uncertainty that had come to surround the status of reason. Aristotle and Aquinas would never have dreamed of asking such a question, for to them the issue did not concern X's reason as against Y's, but reason as against non-reason. In contrast, Hobbes, as a good nominalist, rejected an hypostasized reason on the same grounds as he had rejected an hypostasized experience: there existed only individual reason and individual experience. And, consistent to the last, Hobbes distrusted individual reason as he had individual experience:

This common measure, some say, is right reason: with whom I should consent, if there were any such thing to be found or known in *rerum natura*. But commonly they that call for right reason . . . do mean their own . . . But no one man's reason, nor the reason of any one number of men, makes the certainty; no more than an account is therefore well cast up, because a great many men have unanimously approved it.⁴¹

This led to a paradox which had an important bearing on many aspects of Hobbes's political thought: the reasoning of the geometer had produced infallible truths, but the reasoning of private men issued only in disagreement. Why, Hobbes asked, was reason more "objective" in the one case? If the meanings assigned words were the results of human actions, then, as Hobbes repeatedly pointed out, words inevitably would be changed, either consciously or through carelessness, and their meaning distorted.

This raised two distinct but related questions: first, if one accepts Hobbes's charge that the language of politics was riddled with meaningless or ill-defined words, one must also accept the implied assumption that a desirable standard existed for political words, or else the notion of distortion was itself meaningless. From where, then, was such a standard of purity to be derived and, once established, how was it to be preserved? The second question relates to the success

which science and mathematics had achieved in avoiding the pitfalls of ambiguity and obscurity of usage. Hobbes tried to explain the greater precision of the language of mathematics by an argument drawn from history. The "perfect pattern of logic" established by the ancient geometers and the later triumphs of Copernicus, Galileo, and Harvey had been possible because, unlike political philosophers, the former had managed to avoid the crippling influence of "Aristotelity" and mediaeval scholasticism with their semantic nonsense about "essences" and "spirits." But as Hobbes recognized, this was but a partial explanation at best, for it did not account for the fact that, once mathematics and its allies had pointed the way to successful methods, political philosophy stubbornly refused to follow.

The first difficulty he perceived was one arising from the broader constituency of political discourse. The language of politics was more widely used, as the remarkable debates at Putney and the flood of pamphlet literature proved, because politics was a more pervasive activity, than, say, geometry. The market-place character of politics resulted in a language that was at once less determinate and precise in its meaning. Men "take for principles those opinions which are already vulgarly received, whether true or false." The language of politics, as it now existed, was akin to "common conversation," deriving its meanings from "vulgar use." In contrast, the language of science and mathematics was restricted to a smaller circle of participants, and hence faulty usage was less likely to occur, and when it did it could be more easily detected. A more serious distinction between these two realms of discourse lay in the consequences flowing from bad usage. In the case of mathematics there would be retarded progress, but a confused political vocabulary was far more serious:

In those things which every man ought to meditate for the steerage of his life, it necessarily happens that not only from errors, but even from ignorance itself, there arise offences, contentions, nay, even slaughter itself.⁴⁴

The likelihood of distortion in political words was enhanced by another peculiarity of political discourse. Words tended to become charged with human interests and passions; as a modern philosopher might say, they become "emotive" and are used not to signify factual statements but personal preferences. ⁴⁵ This problem did not crop up in mathematics and science, because interests did not enter into technical controversies.

... The doctrine of right and wrong is perpetually disputed, both by the pen and the sword: whereas the doctrine of lines, and figures, is not so; because men care not, in that subject, what be truth, as a thing that crosses no man's ambition, profit or lust.⁴⁶

This aspect reappeared in another form, namely, the persistence of bad usage because it served the power ends of an institution. Hobbes's favorite example here

was the Catholic Church: by a deliberate policy the Church sought to preserve its position through enforcing a scheme of words and concepts designed to still men's doubts and to evoke obedience to those guarding the mysteries. The moral of it all, and one not lost on Hobbes, was that words, even when wrongly employed, could be instruments of power when their meanings were enforced by authority.⁴⁷

In the light of these considerations, what implications for political language were to be drawn? If "names have their constitution, not from the species of things, but from the will and consent of men," then the political question comes down to whose consent? which men? While in science the answer was readily forthcoming, in politics, as we have seen, words were subject to a variety of distorting factors and lacked the inner check of a professional group intent on semantic order. In moral and political philosophy "every man thinks that in this subject he knoweth as much as any other." Was it possible, then, to institute a political version of objective reason, an agency for the formulating of public truth?

To discover how Hobbes attempted to answer these questions we must turn to his famous concept of the state of nature. This concept has been treated by most commentators in terms of the origins of sovereign power. But it is equally significant for the light it throws on Hobbes's approach to the problem of political knowledge. The state of nature symbolized not only an extreme disorder in human relations, causing men to consent to the creation of an irresistible power; it was also a condition distraught by an anarchy of meanings. In nature each man could freely use his reason to seek his own ends: each was the final judge of what constituted rationality. The problem posed involved more than the moral issues arising from man's vanity or his desire for pre-eminence. It was a genuinely philosophical one involving the status of knowledge. For when vanity and egotism are translated from the language of morals to the language pertinent to knowledge they are summed up in one word, subjectivity; they raise issues of correct belief as well as of right conduct. The state of nature formed the classical case of subjectivism, and in trying to resolve the attendant problems, Hobbes explored a whole range of significantly new topics: the function of political language, the meaning of objectivity and truth in a political context, and the place of political philosophy in an intellectual world dominated by the model of science and mathematics.

IV. THE LANGUAGE OF POLITICS: THE PROBLEM OF CONSTITUENCY

... Good and evil are names given to things to signify the inclination or aversion of them by whom they were given. But the inclinations of men are diverse, according to their diverse constitutions, customs, opinions; as we may see in those things we apprehend by sense ... but much more in those which pertain to the common actions of life, where what this man commends ... the other undervalues ... Whilst thus they do, necessary it is there should be discord and strife. They are therefore so

long in the state of war, as by reason of the diversity of the present appetites, they mete good and evil by diverse measures.⁴⁹

To describe the state of nature as a state of subjectivity rather than as simply the absence of a sovereign power points to Hobbes's belief that the dissolution of sovereignty was more an effect than a cause of social collapse. It formed the climax to a steady increase in disagreement concerning common and fundamental meanings and, as such, it permits us to see how precarious for Hobbes was the distinction between the state of nature and civil society and how deep was the imprint of contemporary conditions on his thought. The multitude of bickering sects spawned during the age, ranging from Presbyterian sobriety to millenarian ecstasy, had all been nurtured on Reformation doctrines of private judgment, private conscience, and the priesthood of all believers. All England seemed ablaze with inner lights. To Hobbes, however, these diverse opinions had shattered the outward unity of belief so necessary to political peace. By encouraging strife and fanaticism the sects had in effect created a state of nature in religious affairs which was but preliminary to a total state of nature pervading the whole society. These same tendencies had taken a political turn in groups like the Levellers, Diggers, and Fifth Monarchy men. Whatever their intramural rivalries might be, they seemed to Hobbes to share the common vice of proclaiming as truth what was only "private knowledge of good and evil, which cannot be granted without the ruin of all government."50

A more strictly political form of subjectivity was typified by the parliamentarian's criticism of his sovereign's action, or by the protest of the village Hampden that no national emergency existed to justify the king levying an unprecedented tax. In each instance the claim elevated private reason and experience above the settled judgments of society's spokesmen. To Hobbes, all of these tendencies, in both their political and religious expression, had come down to this: In a world where reason was being used as a destructive instrument to attack established institutions and beliefs, how was it possible to settle on a clear and unambiguous meaning of reason? All of the competing claims to reason, which were so abundant at the time, were, in Hobbes's view, mere appeals to "private reason," to reason swayed by each man's desire to seek "that which is good for him." Private reason, therefore, could not be tolerated because it bred a confusion of meanings which destroyed the body politic as a communicating whole.

This attack on private judgment was prompted by one of Hobbes's most original yet least noted contributions to political theory. This was the recognition that a political order involved more than power, authority, law, and institutions: it was a sensitive system of communication dependent upon a system of verbal signs, actions, and gestures bearing generally accepted meaning. Hence one of the most important factors in establishing and maintaining the identity of a political

society was a common political language. For all of its importance, however, a political language represented a precarious achievement. Like all words, those of the vocabulary of politics possessed no intrinsic significance. "Right," "justice," "liberty," "property," etc., conveyed a meaning which had been assigned them: they were human creations. While these characteristics held for all words, the language of politics differed in the crucial respect that the commonness of meanings depended on a ruling power capable of enforcing them; that is, of declaring, for example, the precise meaning of a right and punishing those who refused to accept the assertion. When this authority was prevented from enforcing definitions, society was reduced to a condition where each member was at liberty to assign to words whatever meanings he chose.

Within this context, the act of covenanting, whereby each man surrendered his natural right to the sovereign, represented more than a method for establishing peace. It was the agency for creating a political universe of unequivocal meaning. The transformation of the state of nature into a civil society marked the change from a condition where the "peculiar and true ratiocination of every man" was replaced by the "reason of the supreme." At the same time, the conventionalist argument, that words come to mean what they do by a kind of *consensus mundi*, reappeared in the covenant which signified men's intentions to establish a civil society and to relinquish their natural powers to the sovereign.

That is a true sign which by the consent of men becomes a sign \dots that is honorable which by the consent of men, that is to say, by the command of the city, becomes a sign of honor.⁵²

But the element of popular consent in the making of meanings was, in its political translation, confined to authorizing some agent to act on behalf of the people. In consenting to the covenant the several individuals agreed to accept the public definitions of the sovereign in exactly the same way as they had agreed to allow the sovereign to represent their consent on all other matters. Meanings, then, became "public" by virtue of the representative and consensual basis of the political organ authorized to pronounce the definitions or rules. By reason of this function, the sovereign stood as the public agent committed to ending the "inconstant significations" of words arising out of the varying "nature, disposition, and interest" of men. 53 Through the act of submission men had exchanged the uncertainty of nature's code for a set of "common rules for all men." In endowing the sovereign with an absolute legislative power they had erected a Great Definer, a sovereign dispenser of common meanings, a "publique reason." Through the medium of the rules set forth in the civil law, the sovereign would settle the meaning of rights and duties, the distinctions between "mine" and "thine," and would, in short, establish an "objective" moral world in politics.

[Since] all violence proceedeth from controversies . . . concerning *meum* and *tuum*, right and wrong, good and bad, and the like, which men use every one to measure by their own judgments; it belongeth also to the judgment of the same sovereign power, to set forth and make known the common measure by which every man is to know what is his, and what another's; what is good and what bad; and what he ought to do, and what not . . . ⁵⁴

Instead of the hopeless confusion of private standards, all actions could now "be esteemed good or bad by their causes and usefulness in reference to the commonwealth."⁵⁵ This was Hobbes's answer to the question of what was the standard of rationality in politics: the rational, the objective was what was general, common, and enforceable by virtue of its issuing from a publicly recognized authority. Political truth was not an intrinsic quality, but a function of the requirements of peace and order.

In the foregoing it is easy to see how the redefinition of political reason had come to associate reason, not with truth, or intrinsic validity, but with certainty. Since there was no guarantee that the judgment of the sovereign might not be capricious, ill-advised, and badly informed, this meant sacrificing all of the traditional marks of reason and inserting instead the criteria of definiteness and enforcement. From this perspective, man's achievement in subduing political nature had issued in a realm of political meanings whose sole guarantee of coherence was an act of power. At bottom, then, a deep irrationalism pervaded Hobbesian society, for the sovereign could assign any content he wished to public meanings.

This brings us to the final aspect of Hobbes's concern with words. While the creation of a sovereign power might insure certainty of meaning in the political world, and while he might symbolize men's consent to certain determinate usages, it did not follow that he would institute a language and a set of definitions conforming to the methods of political philosophy. Did this mean that there were really two kinds of political language, one being a second-best type actually operative in practice, the other the language of systematic political philosophy? The issue was between linguistic purity on the one hand, and, on the other, language as a form of communication which would serve the end of social cohesion. As Locke later noted, an important distinction ought to be observed between "civil" and "philosophical" or scientific communication. The wider audience presupposed by the former entailed a certain sacrifice of precision and consistency in the interests of common acceptance. The aim of "civil" language comprised social unity as well as the promotion of understanding: language was "the great instrument and common tie of society." 56

This dilemma faced by Hobbes was partly owing to a failure to realize what other apostles of "scientific" politics have not yet seen, that one of the basic reasons

for the unsurpassed progress of science was that scientific discourse, unlike political discourse, had rejected not only the common vocabulary of everyday life, but also the modes of thought familiar to the common understanding. The crucial issue then became whether the elevation of politics to a science meant that political philosophy too would have to outdistance the common understanding and abandon much of the common vocabulary. As Hobbes noted, "to govern well a family and a kingdom are not different degrees of prudence, but different sorts of business; no more than to draw a picture in little, or as great, or greater than the life, are different degrees of art." ⁵⁷ In his last important political publication this distinction between political knowledge and everyday experience was sharpened. Writing retrospectively about the civil wars, he concluded that the actions taken by Parliament had demonstrated that "diligence and natural wit" might well be sufficient for managing private estates, but in politics men should have acted on the basis of "infallible rules and the true science of equity and justice." 58 But if common experience were not enough, and if in comparison to geometry "politics is the harder study of the two," what warrant could there be for expecting a sovereign to measure up to the demands of the new science? Hobbes himself confessed:

Considering how different this doctrine is, from the practice of the greatest part of the world . . . and how much depth of moral philosophy is required, in them that have the administration of the sovereign power; I am at the point of believing this my labor, as useless, as the commonwealth of Plato. ⁵⁹

Mirrored in Hobbes's despair was the full pathos inherent in the quest for a science of politics: fired by the belief that the desperate situation of political man could be ameliorated only through knowledge, yet trapped by the realization that as knowledge was rendered more precise and scientific it surrendered the hope of easy acceptance in the workaday world of the average person. To the extent that knowledge became scientific it also became more esoteric, hence the only way that political knowledge could be translated into a shared public philosophy was through imposition by authority and acquiescence by the citizenry. Although Hobbes stubbornly clung to the belief that he had so clarified the principles of politics as to make them readily comprehensible, the last hope of this rigid determinist and firm opponent of *fortuna* was that events would cast up some kind of political miracle, some new Dionysius:

I recover some hope, that at one time or other, this writing of mine may fall into the hands of a sovereign, who will consider it himself (for it is short, and I think clear,) without the help of any interested, or envious interpreter; and by the exercise of entire sovereignty, in protecting the public teaching of it, convert this truth of speculation, into the utility of practice.⁶⁰

V. POLITICAL ENTROPY: THE STATE OF NATURE

The concept of the state of nature has long been recognized as strategic to Hobbes's argument for despotism: absolute sovereignty was the logical complement to riotous anarchy. Rather than retrace familiar ground, we shall turn to some neglected aspects of the idea. As a starting point, it is suggested that Hobbes's portrayal of the state of nature was colored by irony and absurdity and that these were the mark, not of a dispassionate man of science patiently cataloguing the frantic movements of the human animal caught in a maze of its own devising, but of a sardonic moralist.

There was a double absurdity to the state of nature: logical and moral. It was a condition of the absolute maximization of rights, a perfect state of freedom. Men have a right to do and say what they want. In this sense, the state of nature represented the extreme "idealization" of the claims for religious and political freedom being pressed in seventeenth-century England. The state of nature also combined opposing economic ideas of the time: all property was in common in the sense that no one possessed a lawful title to private property—this for the advocates of primitive communism, like the Diggers. At the same time, the acquisitive impulse was unrestrained by any legal limits. But the ironical result was that in having an unlimited right men could enjoy nothing. Enjoyment presupposed security, yet security was incompatible with absolute liberty. The absurdity of this situation was two-fold. It was logically absurd because the right of everyone to everything contradicted the right of anyone to anything; an absolute right was at war with itself.⁶¹ The situation was also morally absurd: under perfect freedom, man the freedom-loving animal becomes homini lupus. There was even a kind of "biologic" absurdity, for where might makes right there was always the possibility of the puniest man employing his cunning to kill the strongest.

The solution of a sovereign power which abolished the state of nature had its share of irony and absurdity also. The absolute right to all things which had been the source of chaos was, nevertheless, a part of man's nature, but one which threatened to annihilate his existence. Hence while the establishment of civil society not only contradicted man's right, and therefore his nature, it stood as the only condition which did not contradict his existence. Similarly, there was irony, too, in the creation of the awful Leviathan. While an absolute sovereign might end the intolerable condition of nature, it did not carry the promise of absolute security, perfect peace, or plenty for all. The price of peace, as Hobbes stressed, was the erection of a power which might oppress individuals, demand the fruits of their labor, and even require the sacrifice of their lives. The greatest of all human achievements could not transcend the moral ambiguities of the human condition. ⁶²

The final and ineradicable irony was man himself. He alone of all the animals possessed speech and was capable of science, yet he alone could turn speech into deception, ideas into sedition, learning into mystification. It was this irony which alienated man from his own nature: animals, living without science and speech and therefore ignorant of the arts of falsification, dwelt together sociably, while man, the unrivaled creator of science, language, and thought was by nature apolitical. He must labor to construct societies, to adopt the guise of civility, carrying always the guilty knowledge that he alone could undo his own achievements. The political order, for all its greatness, did not represent the fulfillment of man's natural impulse towards life in an ordered society, as the classics had taught, but a calculated triumph of man over himself:

The final cause, end, or design of men, who naturally love liberty, and dominion over others, in the introduction of that restraint upon themselves, in which we see them live in commonwealths, is the foresight of their own preservation, and of a more contented life thereby; that is to say, of getting themselves out from that miserable condition of war, which is necessarily consequent . . . to the natural passions of men 64

These ironical overtones rule out interpreting the state of nature as belonging to the remote past, or as a strictly logical device designed to demonstrate the logical necessity of absolute sovereignty. Instead, it represented an imaginative reconstruction of a recurrent human possibility, a reconstruction intended to illumine the meaning of human events and to point out the desirable path of human actions. The state of nature stood as a timeless model built on the causes and consequences of political breakdown. Its meaning remained eternally contemporary and urgent. Its absurdity lies in man's failure to take to heart its lessons, while its irony gains force from the paradox that to understand the state of nature men must first understand civil society; they must first realize that they have been able to live in peace in order to appreciate the ungovernable pride and passion which have led them back to war; that, in short, the political order was not a condition without precedent, but a prior condition once enjoyed, but then lost, and must now be recaptured. Hobbes had made it clear that the state of nature was a distillation of experience, a conceptual shorthand for describing "what manner of life there would be, where there were no common power to fear." The content of the state of nature could be filled in by consulting "the manner of life which men that have formerly lived under a peaceful government, use to generate into, in a civil war."65

As the symbol of the dissolution of the political order into the "chaos of violence," the state of nature had an ambivalent relationship with the time-dimension of history. In one sense it was connected to history by its function of symbolizing any political situation characterized by the absence of an effective sovereign power.

In this sense, the concept did not belong solely to the past or even to the present. Its status was that of an ever-present possibility inherent in any organized political society, a ubiquitous threat which, like some macabre companion, accompanied society in every stage of its journey. It was present each night, as men sealed themselves in their homes and succeeded only in locking in fear. And even when wise policy had secured the internal life of a commonwealth, there remained the state of nature in international politics, constantly pressing in on societies and threatening to undo the permanent peace promised by philosophy.⁶⁶ Thus, far from marking the literal origins of political society, the state of nature denoted a relapse, a reversal of time. It was a kind of political version of Genesis, without sacral overtones and without sin, but a fall, nevertheless, from the highest level of human achievement, life in a civilized society.

In another sense, however, the state of nature stood outside history, and it is this ahistorical aspect that has led to the frequent charge that Hobbes lacked a sense of history. This argument falls, because it misunderstands the problem. It was not that Hobbes lacked a feel for continuities, but that the condition depicted was essentially ahistorical. This did not mean that the state of nature was unconnected to historically operative causes, for, as we have noted, it was synonymous with civil war and the destruction of sovereign institutions. But by the same token of its destructiveness, the state of nature was severed from history. A civil war was in the nature of a "break" in social existence, a suspended moment which threatened to initiate a reversal of time. The links between past, present, and future had been snapped, and men were left alone in an awful stillness where the past was silent and the future unbeckoning:

In such condition, there is no place for industry; because the fruit thereof is uncertain; and consequently no culture of the earth; no navigation; nor use of the commodities that may be imported by sea; no commodious building; no instruments of moving, and removing . . . no knowledge of the face of the earth; no account of time; no arts; no letters; no society. 67

When contrasted with this condition, political society symbolized humanity's triumph over nature, and, since nature had no history in the human sense, society also marked man's creation of history, or more precisely, his recovery of it. The re-establishment of order changed man's relationship to time. The human animal alone was conscious of living amidst a succession of fleeting moments, and because of the fears and anxieties aroused by life in the state of nature he became a time-haunted creature—viewing the future with "a perpetual solicitude of the time to come." Conversely, the creating of the political order, which made possible a "commodious" life and all of the arts of civilization, meant that man could face the future without "perpetual solicitude." For Hobbes, as for Marx later on, the "future" became meaningful by means of an act essentially political in nature.

238 CHAPTER EIGHT

VI. THE SOVEREIGN DEFINER

The only way to erect such a common power . . . is [for men] to confer all their power and strength upon one man, or upon one assembly of men, that may reduce all their wills, by plurality of voices, unto one will . . . ⁶⁹

It is one of the oddities of Western political thought that the critics' image of the Hobbesian theory of sovereignty should have been anticipated in the famous frontispiece adorning the 1651 edition of the *Leviathan*. The drawing shows the sovereign as a huge figure towering above his surroundings like some regal Gulliver, brandishing in one hand the military sword, in the other the sceptre of justice. Nestled in the valley below lies a tiny, thriving city, its geometrical tidiness clearly symbolizing the peace and order made possible by the giant looming in the background. Thus the picture seems a perfect summary of Hobbes's thought: the blessings of peace are assured only when society is in total subjection to an absolute authority. This impression of the awesome power of the sovereign seems further confirmed by the vivid language with which Hobbes described his Leviathan: "mortal god," "the greatest of human powers," "the greatest dominion that can be granted . . . limited only by the strength and forces of the city itself, and by nothing else in the world."

Yet there is another feature of the frontispiece worth noting. The sovereign's powerful body is, so to speak, not his own; its outline is completely filled in by the miniature figures of his subjects. He exists, in other words, only through them. Equally important, each subject is clearly discernible in the body of the sovereign. The citizens are not swallowed up in an anonymous mass, nor sacramentally merged into a mystical body. Each remains a discrete individual and each retains his identity in an absolute way. What is suggested here is that the substance of power assigned the sovereign was less impressive than the rhetoric surrounding it. This is not to say that Hobbes sought consciously to mislead his audience, for in a very special sense his awesome language was quite justified. Within the confines of the Hobbesian view that political philosophy dealt with the construction of a non-empirical, logically consistent system of propositions, the Hobbesian sovereign occupied a truly awesome position. He was the unchallengeable master of the system of rules or stipulative definitions fundamental to political peace. The importance of rules and the accompanying image of political society as an association articulated through rules tends to give the Hobbesian order the appearance of a Rechtsstaat:

The safety of the people, requireth further, from him, or them that have the sovereign power, that justice be equally administered to all degrees of people; that is, that as well the rich and mighty, as poor and obscure persons, may be righted of the in-

juries done them; so as the great, may have no greater hope of impunity, when they do violence, dishonour, or any injury to the meaner sort, than when one of these, does the like to one of them: for in this consisteth equity; to which, as being a precept of the law of nature, a sovereign is as much subject, as any of the meanest of his people.⁷⁰

But the truly novel element lay in the attempt to understand political society as one would any kind of association governed by rules. Laws and agreements operated in political society in much the same way as the criteria governing the activities of mathematicians or participants in a game:

Civil law, is to every subject, those rules, which the commonwealth hath commanded him, by word, writing, or other sufficient sign of the will, to make use of, for the distinction of right and wrong; that is to say, of what is contrary, and what is not contrary to the rule.⁷¹

If these analogies are pursued, many of the seemingly disparate strands of Hobbes's philosophy fall into an intelligible pattern. If rules were a central feature of society, then questions of clarity of language fully deserved the extensive treatment accorded them by Hobbes. Again, every system of rules, whether it be those governing the behavior of stock-traders or of tennis-players, requires a body to interpret the rules, lay down new regulations, and punish infractions. The position of the Hobbesian sovereign, as the grand master of the rules and ultimate dispenser of definitions, was analogous to the Board of the Stock Exchange or the United States Lawn Tennis Association. Moreover, logical consistency in the ordering of names and meanings, which had been strongly emphasized in Hobbes's philosophy, is obviously essential: one rule ought not to contradict another. In a system of rules, rationality had none of the transcendent quality of "right reason." Instead, rationality was equivalent to consistency or non-contradiction.

The Hobbesian laws of nature were drawn up to guide the member in his role as a rule-observer: they constituted a kind of digest of the rules or "axioms" of conduct appropriate to those who were members of a system of agreements. The first and "fundamental" law of nature dictated that men should seek peace, since peace formed the end of the system of rules. Other laws of nature prescribed the types of "civil manners" which would promote peaceful behavior. For example, men must not only fulfill their promises to abide by the rules, but each "ought to strive to accommodate himself to the rest" and not seek revenge or engage in actions which might provoke others into breaking the rules.⁷² The code of civility, with its attendant virtues of equity, justice, temperance, and prudence, was not essentially bourgeois or even anti-aristocratic, as has sometimes been claimed. It was a code of virtues in a narrowly political sense. Its aim was to fashion governable men, men whose goodness was politically relevant only insofar as it affected

their role as rule-observers. As Hobbes recognized, a system of rules is nonregenerative. A player does not obey the rules in the expectation that this will make him a good man or even a good player. Observance of the rules thus becomes a kind of tautology in behavior. To want to play tennis, for example, means that we want to engage in a form of activity defined by the rules of tennis. This is comparable to being a member of Hobbesian society, for in both cases one agrees to abide by a system of rules.⁷³ But the rules were not designed to make Hobbesian men moral in any sense except in a tautologically political one. The nature of rules, in this respect, formed a striking parallel to Hobbes's theory of truth as a linguistic property. Rules, too, were not intended to disclose the "nature of things" or the substance of morality, but only to prescribe how men ought to act within a system of rules. Consistent with the limited end of the system, enforcement of the rules was aimed at educating not the whole man but only a facet. Punishment sought only to instill a greater sense of rule-consciousness in the members, that is, it aimed to insure that a proscribed type of behavior would not be repeated and that in the future the offender would be more inclined to follow the official regulations.74

A system of rules, as Hobbes recognized, was self-contained: an infraction, for example, is not to be judged by standards drawn from other types of activity. This is what Hobbes meant when he identified "good" and "bad" with the definitions of the legal rules. Admittedly this introduced some confusion and much alarm, and he would have been on safer ground had he followed consistently the terminology of "observance," i.e., obedience, and "non-observance," i.e., disobedience. For it is obvious that the observance of rules did not hinge on the goodness defined by the rules, but rather on the status of the participants.

At the same time that a body of rules represented a closed system, its scope was not coextensive with the whole range of possible human activities. The rules of a card game are operative only on those who choose to play the game; and when they are not playing they cease to be bound by them. Similarly, the laws and agreements of Hobbesian society were meant to cover only a certain selected range of activity and to leave substantial areas open to individual discretion. "In all kinds of actions by the laws pretermitted, men have the liberty, of doing what their reasons shall suggest, for the most profitable to themselves."75 It is easy to see here much that foreshadows the early nineteenth-century liberal theory of the free society. The relationship between Hobbes and the early liberals can be traced by examining the way in which he attempted to use the idea of a system of rules to reconcile two of the major postulates of liberalism, the interest-motivated individual and the idea of equality. If "every man by nature seeketh his own benefit and promotion," and if, at the same time, "men that think themselves equal will not enter into conditions of peace, but upon equal terms," how was it possible to accommodate these two seemingly conflicting demands?

Hobbes's solution was both ingenious and far-reaching in its implications. As noted earlier, when each individual consented to becoming a member of a system of rules, he was guaranteed a basic equality with every other member. This idea was embodied in Hobbes's second law of nature which prescribed that each man ought to "be contented with so much liberty against other men, as he would allow other men against himself." This meant that one man could not possess any more rights than another, and it also entailed that each was to be treated equally by the system of rules to which each was equally subject. This was similar to the rules of a game: one player may perform a different role from another within the game, but each has the same rights in relation to the rules. In this vein Hobbes warned the sovereign that in such matters as dispensing justice and levying taxes there must be equality of treatment; men come to believe justice is "but a vain word" when they see

how in all places, and in all ages, unjust actions have been authorized by the force, and victories of those who have committed them; and that potent men, breaking through the cob-web laws of their country, the weaker sort, and those who have failed in their enterprises, have been esteemed the only criminals . . .⁷⁷

But this does not exhaust the complications of equality, for it still had to be reconciled with the inequalities produced by the relatively unhampered pursuit of interest. Hobbes recognized that the inequalities of wealth, social status, education and the like had often led to protests of social injustice. In other words, social inequality in the past had been criticized on the grounds of justice, not equality. What Hobbes did was to eliminate this possibility by proceeding to absorb the notion of justice into that of equality: "... justice is a certain equality, as consisting in this only; that since we are all equal by nature, one should not arrogate more right to himself, than he grants to another, unless he have fairly gotten it by compact." In addition to associating justice with equality of rights, the two ideas were fused in still another sense. Justice also meant keeping one's promises, especially the promise contained in the original covenant. In Hobbes's interpretation, the person who consciously sought to avoid performing his promises did so in the hope of gaining an advantage over those who considered themselves bound to the agreements; that is, he sought an unequal status.

As an operative principle within a system of rules, justice thus had come to mean equality of rights and equality of treatment. In other words, justice was equated with "fairness." But this raised the question of how egotists could be expected to act fairly towards each other. Hobbes's answer was that the cardinal principle to be observed by the members was "do not that to others, you would not have done to yourself." Fairness, then, did not demand that the individual forsake egotism but only that he imaginatively substitute others for himself. A more difficult question arose in connection with the behavior of those who had

been officially authorized to arbitrate disputes. If a judge, for example, were to adhere to the principle of fairness binding on private members he would necessarily favor one party over the other; that is, he would treat one party as he would himself. Hobbes perceived the difficulty and sought to overcome it by establishing criteria of neutrality: the judge's personal interest ought not to be involved in the decision in any way; and he ought not to bear favoritism or malice towards any of the parties. A just or fair decision could not be judged by any objective standard of reason or justice, but was instead merely a decision lacking in bias.⁸¹

Obviously these criteria do not advance much of a solution, for even assuming they are fulfilled, the fact remains that a judge, or any public official in a comparable position, cannot avoid rendering a decision which will favor one interest over another. Hobbes's difficulty originated in an overly simple view of adjudication as involving questions of ownership or of infraction of a rule. In actuality, the most difficult cases occur when a tribunal has the responsibility for interpreting public policies. The question of a "fair" railroad rate is not of the same order as a question of breach of contract or theft. Nevertheless, it is difficult to see how the modern solution of making a tribunal representative of the interests involved is superior. A tribunal composed of a representative of the trade unions, of business management, and of some group called the "public" surrenders the Hobbesian criteria of neutrality and replaces it by the notion that a fair decision is one to which the interested parties have agreed. The special difficulties of this solution are that it is apt to produce decisions which merely register the effective power of the interests involved, or which reflect the limits of society's tolerance; that is, how much an interest can get without provoking a hostile reaction.

The idea that justice is identical with fairness and equality has become part of the ideology of liberalism, and we see it reflected in such phrases as "equal opportunity," "fair trade," and "fair trial." Their substance had been summarized in Hobbes's remark that freedom was "nothing but the honour of equality of favour with the other subjects." Thus what Hobbes had established and what liberalism had accepted was a strictly political definition of equality: it was, significantly, a socialist party which called for "fair shares" of economic goods. The equality of the Hobbesian citizen pertained only to his status as member; that is, to the relationship he had with the system of public rules. This meant that the range of inequalities arising from sources other than the rules was not relevant to the "political" status of the member. And given the fact that Hobbes believed that many types of human activity were politically irrelevant, it is difficult to depict him as a forerunner of totalitarianism.

There were, however, some far-reaching political implications in the notion that fairness consisted of treating different individuals in the same way. It takes the sting out of equality and makes it a welcome requirement of administration. It is always far simpler to govern by uniform rules. In viewing political society as

a system of rules, Hobbes had come upon the point that Colbert was soon to convert into a guiding principle of administration and Tocqueville later made famous in his study of pre-revolutionary France: namely, that the task of a centralized, bureaucratic state is facilitated if it can deal in uniformities rather than in individual differences. For when men are treated with uniform fairness, the problem of what is an unjust act becomes admirably simple: it is a discriminatory act which provokes "indignation in the multitude."

At the same time, the logical corollary to equal rights and equal treatment was equal subjection and dependence. "In every commonwealth where particular men are deprived of their right to protect themselves, there resideth an absolute sovereignty." The citizen had thus become synonymous with the subject, and when this was combined with an animus against the rich and the noble, we have the first clear expression of the idea of a classless political society. This was tersely put in one of the marginal summaries to the eighteenth chapter of *Leviathan:* "The power and honour of subjects vanisheth in the presence of the power sovereign."

This emphasis upon "complaisance"—"that every man strive to accommodate himself to the rest"—should give pause to those who have interpreted Hobbesian society in exaggerated atomistic terms. When society has become a loose collection of discrete individuals, each enjoying a public status of equality, the end result is not an extreme individualism but conformity. Men "become at last weary of irregular jostling, and hewing one another, and desire with all their hearts, to conform themselves into one firm and lasting edifice." Once "the rude and cumbersome points of their present greatness" have been "taken off," the common denominator of social uniformity is ready for exploitation. "87"

. . . We may consider that there is in men's aptness to society, a diversity of nature, rising from the diversity of affections; not unlike to that we see in stones brought together for building of an edifice. For as that stone which by the asperity, and irregularity of figure, takes more room for others, than itself fills; and for the hardness, cannot easily be made plain, and thereby hindereth the building, is by the builders cast away as unprofitable, and troublesome; so also, a man that by asperity of nature, will strive to retain those things which to himself are superfluous, and to others necessary; and for the stubbornness of his passions, cannot be corrected, is to be left, or cast out of society, as cumbersome thereunto. 88

Visible in the mirror of Hobbesian society is the faint profile of Tocqueville's America.

VII. POWER WITHOUT COMMUNITY

For all of its fruitfulness, the conception of political society as a system of rules was inadequate. It rested upon the fallacy of believing that the essential problems

of politics could be reduced to ones involving the interpretation of rules, the determination of infractions, and finality of judgment. As we have noted earlier, political decision-making is rendered difficult because of its having to deal with conflicting yet legitimate claims. The complexities are further compounded by the scarcity of goods which are to be distributed and by the relative value which they bear. Given the nature of politics, political action is a much subtler process than Hobbes allowed. It was all very well to talk of the sovereign as *non est potestas super terram quae comparetur ei*, but the issue which must be examined is whether his terrifying power was confined within the domain of an artificial, linguistically determined system of signs and definitions. If it is granted that the nature of politics is not exhausted by the conception of a system of rules, the pertinent query is whether the power of the sovereign would be effective in dealing with the kinds of issues insoluble by the logic of rules. Confessedly the master inside his realm of logic, what is the sovereign's power outside, where the writ of consistency and non-contradiction is irrelevant?

Hobbes was driven to rest his sovereign's power on the narrow foundation of logic because of certain basic assumptions incorporated into his theory as a whole, and it was these which served also to undercut the political, as distinguished from the logical, power of the sovereign. The first assumption had to do with Hobbes's conception of man as an apolitical being who "is made fit for society not by nature, but by education."89 Although man might undergo a continual schooling in the rudiments of civility, this in no way transformed him into a social animal. Even as a member of society, he retained his particularity, because society itself was the product of an explicit agreement between individuals whose commonalty resided solely in each having made the same choice. An isolated instance of agreement, however, could not fuse them into a common identity or corporate unity, because political alienation had been perpetuated into society. The "mutual and common fear" infecting man's relationships in the state of nature, and destroying any sense of fellowship, was retained. Now, however, the object of fear was institutionalized in the sovereign. 90 Society did not mark the abolition of fear, but the displacement of a generally diffused fear by a determinate one.

The whole point of social arrangements was to demand as little as possible in the way of a qualitative transformation of man. As Hobbes insisted, "the fault is not in men, as they are the *matter;* but as they are the *makers* and orderers" of commonwealths. ⁹¹ Where the Christian tradition had insisted that because the "matter" had been faulty from the start, the "makers" would be imperfect, Hobbes accepted man's nature, but contended that an "infallible" political knowledge would improve man as a maker—but without improving man. The political order, for all of its compelling necessity, remained an alien presence, limited to playing upon the "outside" of man. For man himself was a "public" bit of matter in motion, a being

whose "inside" was no different from the universe "outside." Political power operated externally to man, because man was all externality.

As we have already noted in the case of Machiavelli, the "political" had come to be associated with the exterior, "public" side of man, and here again Hobbes deepened the revolution in thought. This is borne out in Hobbes's treatment of religion. Machiavelli, for all of his scepticism and anti-clericalism, had still believed that the primitive vitality of Christianity could be recaptured and converted to a source of political strength. But Hobbes, writing from the bitter experience of sectarian controversy, could see religion only as a potential source of political disunity, an area to be controlled rather than exploited. Superficially, the religious role allotted the Hobbesian sovereign seemed despotic in the extreme. He was the "supreme pastor" and "sovereign prophet" with full power over doctrine, ritual, and ecclesiastical personnel. Moreover, his subjects had surrendered their claims to private judgment and private conscience, hence he became the embodiment of the "public conscience." 92 Yet the political potentialities inherent in this role went untapped. Earlier writers had nearly all agreed that religion might contribute to political unity, only if it were internalized as a basic determinant of human thought and action. This was lost on Hobbes because he was incapable of appreciating religion on any other plane than the political: "seeing a commonwealth is but one person, it ought also to exhibit to God but one worship."93 The result was to convert religion from a substantive principle, invading the deepest intimacies of human life, to a formal principle of external conformity, affecting only public behavior and penetrating not at all into the inner preserve of the mind:

... By the captivity of our understanding [in religious matters] is not meant the submission of the intellectual faculty to the opinion of any other man; but of the will to obedience, where obedience is due. For sense, memory, understanding, reason and opinion are not in our power to change.⁹⁴

A sovereign, then, might awe men to obedience but "belief and unbelief never follow men's commands." Thus Hobbes arrived at a position similar to the Lutheran notion of "Christian liberty" that coercion could not affect internal belief. Yet this was at the cost of surrendering a powerful support for the political order. In religion, as in other aspects of his politics, Hobbes's guiding assumption was that a political order required no more than an outward set of "civil manners:" it did not exact a conformity of souls.

All of these considerations point to the fact that the Hobbesian political order was not regenerative. It did not seek to fashion a "new man" nor did it demand that men purge their old natures. It sought, instead, to exploit man as he was and to promise him the assured satisfaction of his desires if he would agree to accepting certain limits on them. Hobbesian society had been charged not with

overcoming particularity but with guaranteeing it. The individual's natural desires were not evil, as the Christians had held, nor did they need the discipline of reason, as the classical writers had declared. The trouble with natural desires was that they were self-defeating, because "many men at the same time have an appetite to the same thing." **Penfer cest d'autrui*. The function of the political order was to satisfy particular claims by protecting each man in his acquisitions. This was but to drive alienation deeper by formalizing into a system the definition of happiness which already divided each man from his fellows: ". . . this race we must suppose to have no other goal, nor other garland, but being foremost." **Pour de desire de service de la company de la company

Calculating, egotistic, and alone even in society, Hobbesian man was poor political matter from which to generate the dynamics of power. He lacked the basic element which writers from Plato to Machiavelli had never neglected and Rousseau was to rediscover: that the stuff of power was not to be found in the passively acquiescent subject but in the "engaged" citizen, the citizen with a capacity for public involvement and an ability to identify himself with his governors through active support.

When viewed in the perspective of political thought, the startling aspect in Hobbes's theory of sovereignty was its belief that from a society of disconnected singulars effective political power could be generated. This assumption grew out of a view of power as the product of a system of dependencies established when men agreed to surrender their right to self-protection in exchange for the protection enforced by the sovereign. "A body politic or civil society . . . may be defined to be a multitude of men, united as one person by a common power, for their common peace, defence, and benefit."98 Thus a political "union" had been effected because power was now concentrated instead of diffused among several centers. By identifying "union" with the dependency of isolated individuals and with the existence of a single, determinate will, Hobbes convinced himself that he had created a power so mighty that, in its absence, society had no existence. "The sovereignty is the soul of the commonwealth; which once departed from the body, the members do no more receive their motion from it."99 Although this language was strongly reminiscent of ancient and mediaeval ideas of rulership as a life-giving force, an élan vital, which sustained the body politic, there was also one crucial difference: the Hobbesian sovereign stood outside his society, an Archimedes without any real leverage except that supplied by fear. His power lacked the sustaining support of society, because society itself was but a loose collection of discrete individuals.

It was this picture of an isolated sovereign, ruling a society which lacked the attributes of community, that Hobbes defended against the papal writer Cardinal Bellarmine. Bellarmine's error, Hobbes argued, "is that he says the members of every commonwealth, as of a natural body, depend one of another." Hobbes clearly sensed the drift of the mediaeval analogy. An organic body implied a close-knit interdependence among the members, an integrated structure of different

but connected powers. Hence while a distinct power of direction was assigned the ruler, his effectiveness depended on the ability to elicit other forms of power to support his own. Hobbes countered this by his own analogy which pictured the body politic as a purely mechanical contraption with its springs and gears visible to an embarrassing degree. ¹⁰⁰ The contrived nature of society excluded any natural dependency among the members. A political machine, by definition, was devoid of any subtle connective tissue of needs and affections which blended the parts into an organic whole. "It is true," he concluded against Bellarmine, that men "cohere together; but they depend only on the sovereign, which is the soul of the commonwealth; which failing, the commonwealth is dissolved into a civil war, no one man so much as cohering to another for want of a common dependence on a known sovereign; just as the members of the natural body dissolve into the earth, for want of a soul to hold them together." ¹⁰¹

Some measure of what had been lost by this approach can be understood by comparing it with the idea of power as illustrated by an extract from a statute of Henry VIII where a claim to absolutism, fully as extensive as that of any Hobbesian sovereign, was couched in the language of corporate solidarity:

Where by divers sundry old authentic histories and chronicles, it is manifestly declared and expressed, that this realm of England is an empire . . . governed by one supreme head and king, having the dignity and the estate of the imperial crown of the same, unto whom a body politic, compact of all sorts and degrees of people, divided in terms, and by names of spirituality and temporality, be bounden and ought to bear, next to God, a natural and humble obedience: he being also institute and furnished . . . with plenary, whole, and entire power, pre-eminence, authority, prerogative and jurisdiction, to render and yield justice to all manner of folk, residents, or subjects within his realm, in all causes, matters, debates, and contentions . . . 102

The difference between the Hobbesian and Tudor conceptions of the relationship between sovereign power and the community might be compared to Coleridge's distinction between the imagination which merely joins and the imagination which truly fuses; that is, between a sovereign who presides over a society whose unity was no more deeply etched than billiard balls within a triangular frame and, on the other hand, a ruler governing a society so engrained with a continuing cohesion that, as Hooker had said, "we were then alive in our predecessors, and they in their successors do live still." ¹⁰³

There were some signs that Hobbes realized his undifferentiated community was a feeble prop for power, and his desperate attempt to bring a closer intimacy between subject and sovereign was visible in the oddly sacramental tones coloring some of his language. Thus he spoke of the sovereign will as one "whereof is included and involved the will of every one in particular"; and that the sovereign will "contains" the will of all citizens so that his power was compounded "of the

forces of all the citizens together." In another place he described the creation of political society as a process by which men "have grown together into a civil person." Yet this strangely unnominalistic language could not overcome the artificial quality of an agreement among individuals unable to surrender the hard nucleus of their particularity: a contract may establish relationships, but it is not a source of unity nor the expression of commonalty. This was why the Hobbesian sovereign had to be "authorized" to act: he could not "represent" a community for there was none to represent except at the most elemental level of fear and insecurity. And because the Hobbesian community had surrendered its unity, unity must now be located with the unified will of the sovereign. Western political theory had to await Rousseau who undertook to join what Hobbes had carefully separated: Rousseau revived the older notion of a community as a corporate fellowship and then endowed it with the unity of will associated with the Hobbesian sovereign; community and public will were one.

VIII. Interests and Representation

The second broad principle decisively influencing the nature of sovereign power was the concept of "interests." It was this element, Hobbes believed, which united the members of any human association. ¹⁰⁵ By placing interest at the center of the political association Hobbes continued the theme begun earlier by Machiavelli. To elevate interest was to single out what was essentially private and least capable of representation at a public level. And to insist on the "rationality" of individual interest was to redefine reason so that its public, general character was lost. Reason was then easily transformed into an agency of personal subjectivism: "For the thoughts are to the desires, as scouts, and spies, to range abroad, and find the way to the things desired." ¹⁰⁶

However, it was not the rational status of interests alone that set the basic problem, but rather their radically individual, unceasingly dynamic, and fundamentally unsharable nature. These attributes of interest were rooted in the psychology of Hobbesian man. While the nature of passion and thought remained the same for all men, the objects at which they aimed were different due to variations in the "constitution" and education of each individual. The result was wide disagreement among men, because their preferences were dictated by passions for different objects or by different valuations of the same object. "Good" and "bad," therefore, lacked any universal status, being merely the adjectival expression of the desires of an individual in relation to a particular object. ¹⁰⁷ At the same time, interest introduced an essentially competitive element. It "consisteth in comparison. For if all things were equal in all men, nothing would be prized." ¹⁰⁸ The condition of relative scarcity presupposed by the doctrine of interest bred a perpetual dynamic—"life itself is but motion"—which took the form of "a perpet-

ual and restless desire of power after power, that ceaseth only in death."¹⁰⁹ All of these considerations culminated in Hobbes's doctrine of "felicity," which was the definition of happiness in an age of interest:

... The felicity of this life consisteth not in the repose of a mind satisfied. For there is no such *finis ultimus* . . . nor *summum bonum* . . . Felicity is the continual progress of the desire, from one object to another, the attaining of the former, being still but the way to the latter. The cause whereof is, that the object of man's desire, is not to enjoy once only, and for one instant of time; but to assure, the way of his future desire . . . he cannot assure the power and means to live well, which he hath present, without the acquisition of more . . . ¹¹⁰

The formula of power, then, had to be adapted to an age where man was alienated from the ways of society and where man's aspirations were defined in terms of a good that was insatiable, forever unattainable, and divisive in its nature. Power now had to be exercised in a society where the possibility of a sharable good had been denied, where, in other words, the older idea of a "fused" community—produced by love, or emotion, or knowledge—was no longer entertained. Power had shed the older legitimizing idea of a common good, for in a political universe of disconnected particulars a "common" good had no meaning. Nor could Hobbes fall back on the traditional notion that authority might be made the embodiment of reason; as we have seen, reason had ceased to mean a comprehensive principle whereby particulars could be integrated and harmonized, and, instead, had itself been yoked to particularity. The formula of legitimacy which Hobbes finally developed was embodied in the idea of a "sovereign representative." 111

In modern democratic theories representation has come to have a variety of meanings. Sometimes it refers to the nature of the group empowered to take decisions: hence we might speak of "a representative committee" or legislature. Or representation, in a very loose sense, may be associated with a method of choosing officials: thus we might say "a wide variety of opinions was represented at the polls." Finally, the representative element might be located not in a process but in the substance of the decision itself, meaning that more than one point of view or interest has been incorporated into the decision. The common factor in all of these definitions, however, is the notion that political arrangements ought to reflect the variety of interests present in society. It was this idea of representation which Hobbes explicitly rejected on the grounds that a variety of interests could be represented only in the form of a variety of wills. Several wills aiming at different and often conflicting ends could not issue in a political act, because the essence of public action lay in its single and unequivocal character:¹¹²

A multitude of men, are made one person, when they are by one man, or one person represented; so that it be done with the consent of every one of that multitude

in particular. For it is the unity of the representer, not the unity of the represented, that maketh the person one \dots^{113}

In this definition the essence of representation was a procedure of authorization which reflected the radical doctrine of interests in Hobbes's theory. The covenant signified an agreement of "every one with every one" to obey a "common" authority. The sovereign, however, did not denote a medium for representing the interests of the parties to the agreement; this was patently impossible because of the divisive nature of all interests excepting that of peace. Instead, the sovereign's representativeness consisted entirely of a fiction: he was authorized to act in the name of the society because each had agreed to "own and be reputed author" of all the sovereign's decisions. But it was a fiction cut to fit the specifications of Hobbesian man. The only possible way that authority could be legitimized in a society of egotists was for each citizen to accept the commands of the sovereign "as if" they were his own: "every particular man is author of all the sovereign doth." It was this that makes the sovereign "their common representer." 114

But what guarantee was there that the sovereign would be truly representative and seek the interests of his subjects? While in several passages Hobbes had insisted that the sovereign had a "duty" to promote the advantage of the members, this could only mean that he had an interest in doing so. The Hobbesian theory excluded any other definition of duty. 115 This led Hobbes to conclude that there could be no genuine conflict between the interests of sovereign and subject, because it was in the interest of the sovereign to have prosperous, contented, and "lusty" citizens. 116 Like his subjects, the sovereign sought his own good; that is, his actions too were essentially private acts aimed at a particular end, but by the alchemy of his position they were transmuted into public and general acts, redounding to the good of his subjects and, ipso facto, himself. This was the same theory of representation adopted by the early Utilitarians, the only change being the substitution of the middle classes for the sovereign. 117 Both Hobbes and the Utilitarians shared the naïve assumption that, in a society of egotists, all that was needed to erase the conflict between public and private ends was the creation of a public, institutionalized ego.

The transformation of authority into a public ego, of society into a loose collection of individuals equal in rights, secured in their possessions, and officially encouraged to seek their particular interests, marked a revolutionary change in the conception of politics. It was not merely that politics was conceived as an activity instrumental to the attainment of interests; this had always been an important element in Western political thought. Rather the crucial change lay in the view that politics was significant only insofar as it impinged upon men's interests. To the extent that politics did not appear vitally linked to interest, it held no

compelling attraction. What is our grievance, Hobbes querulously demanded, if most of the citizens in a monarchy were denied "a hand in public business"?

I will tell you: to see his opinion, whom we scorn, preferred before ours; to have our wisdom undervalued before our own faces; by an uncertain trial of a little vain glory, to undergo most certain enmities . . . to hate and to be hated . . . to lay open our secret councils and advices to all, to no purpose, and without any benefit; to neglect the affairs of our own family: these, I say are grievances. 118

In the Hobbesian aversion to politics and the apathy towards political participation there was something of the mentality of Fallada's *kleiner Mann:* the little man who rejoiced when the proud and mighty were humbled; who applauded when the power of the wealthy was curbed; who seriously argued the superiority of monarchy over other forms of government because it was less expensive; who watched without complaint the growing distance between subject and sovereign, resentful only when the sovereign failed to maintain the equality between citizens; and who soothed his own political impotency with the thought that:

Whosoever therefore in a monarchy will lead a retired life, let him be what he will that reigns, he is out of danger. For the ambitious only suffer; the rest are protected from the injuries of the more potent.¹¹⁹

What we have mirrored here was the emergence of economic interest in full competition with political participation. But once interest had achieved a supreme position, politics fell into decline. On its side, interest presented a compellingly immediate and intimate quality, a tangible projection of the self—"something that is his own"—which was later given classic expression in Locke's theory of property. Politics, on the other hand, seemed remote and abstract, incapable of evoking a feeling of personal involvement. Adam Smith assured his readers that "we may often fulfil all the rules of justice by sitting still and doing nothing." ¹²⁰ The effect of this line of argument was to destroy the distinctive identity of the "political," by merging it with interest.

The reduction of politics to interest has cast a powerful shadow on modern politics: one need only pick up a newspaper and read of this or that politician, administrator, or judge removing himself from a particular controversy because of a "conflict of interests." It fell to modern liberalism to give the fullest, and perhaps the crudest expression of this line of thought: "the principle on which public institutions ought to be formed," Bentham declared, is that an office-holder can be expected to subordinate office to personal advantage. Yet this presents no cause for alarm, at least not to the innocent, because when the principle "is applied to all men universally, it is injurious to none." What is significant is the implicit assumption that a political office is itself an "interest" exactly on the same level as

any other kind of interest. "It is only by the magnitude of the scale that public trusts differ from private trusts." Apparently the suggestion is no longer seriously entertained that there is a peculiar dignity or status to public office which exacts an obligation transcending the personal interest of the occupant. The epitaph to the majesty of the political was supplied by Bentham:

It is to the interest of the public that the portion of respect which, along with the salary, is habitually attached to any office should be as small as possible. 122

The declining significance of the political contains a clue to the political apathy of the middle classes. It was epitomized in the nineteenth-century French liberal Benjamin Constant. In the essay *De la liberté des anciens comparée à celle des modernes*, he argued that, unlike the citizen of the ancient *polis*, the modern citizen could no longer find any enjoyment in "the active and constant participation in collective power." In the classical city "the will of each had a real influence" which gave rise to a "lively and continuous pleasure" in participation. For the modern citizen, however, political activity was in the nature of an "abstract supposition." "Lost in the multitude, the individual rarely perceives the influence that he exercises," and hence is content with "the peaceful enjoyment of private independence," asking only that he be protected by legal rights from physical injury, that his privacy be respected, and his property safe. The epitaph of the political community was that "individual existence has little embodiment in political existence."

IX. POLITICS AS A FIELD OF FORCES

The eclipse of the notion of community was expressed by Hobbes in a form of political imagery inspired by the categories of geometry and physics. This imagery is well worth examining in some detail, not only because it reveals how deeply scientific modes of thought had permeated his political philosophy, 124 but, more important, because the Hobbesian model of society was implicitly adopted by the liberalism of the next two centuries as its own and accepted by conservatives, such as Burke, de Maistre, and Hegel, as the target of their attacks. The imagery was inspired by a picture of man as a bundle of potential energy or "power." As body, man was "power nutritive, power motive, and power generative"; as mind he possessed "power conceptive" and "power motive." 125 These powers were manifested through two forms of "motion:" "vital" motion, which referred to the continuous, involuntary motions of the body needed to sustain life, and the other "animal" or "voluntary" motion which covered those acts "first fancied in our minds."126 It was this latter class of "animal motions" which most concerned Hobbes. Drawing on Galileo's principles he argued that men were set in motion only by some external force or push:

That, whereto nothing is added, and from which nothing is taken, remaines in the same state it was. That which is no way touch'd by another, hath nothing added to nor taken from it. 127

The response of a body to external stimuli took the form of either "attraction" or "repulsion," or in words more appropriate to man, "appetite" and "aversion." Appetite represented motion towards some object, aversion motion away from some object. These two basic responses were not only descriptive of human behavior, but also the source of human values: "whatsoever is the object of any man's appetite or desire, that is it which he for his part calleth *good:* and the object of his hate and aversion *evil;* and of his contempt, *vile* and *inconsiderable.*" Due to the press of his desires, man was always in motion, striving for honor, preeminence, and "felicity:" "while we live, we have desires and desire presupposeth a farther end . . . there can be no contentment but in proceeding . . ." 129

What was odd in this picture of man was that desire was almost completely severed from the conditioning of class or social status. Consequently, each individual appeared as an atom, somewhat different in composition but having the same general appearance, hurtling across a flat social plane; that is, a landscape without any visible contours of social distinctions to bar his path or predetermine his line of motion. Yet the "power" of an individual's motion, his rate of acceleration so to speak, obviously presupposed various types of social distinctions or what Hobbes called "instrumental" powers, such as wealth, reputation, influential friends, knowledge, and, with very brief mention by Hobbes, aristocratic privileges. 130 In this "field" of forces in motion the lines of action pursued by individuals frequently collided; "equal powers opposed, destroy one another; and such their opposition is called contention." But these intersecting motions also pointed to the location of true power in society: "And because the power of one man resisteth and hindereth the effects of the power of another: power is simply no more, but the excess of the power of one above that of another." ¹³¹ The problem that then must be faced was this: in a context where human motions whirled across a social plane, what kind of power did the Hobbesian sovereign possess? what was implied when the sovereign undertook political action?

Once again Hobbes seemed to leave no doubt that his sovereign was intended to have an impressive concentration of power at his disposal:

The greatest of human powers, is that which is compounded of the power of most men, united by consent, in one person \dots that has the use of all their powers depending on his will \dots 132

But what did Hobbes mean here by "compounded"? He admitted that, strictly speaking, "it is impossible for any man really to transfer his own strength to another, or for that other to receive it." Rejecting the view that power was formed

from little parcels of individual power deposited with the sovereign, Hobbes turned once more to the image of society as a "field" of forces. Political power was construed as a form of public motion and, like all forms of motion, its effectiveness depended upon the absence of impediments. The exercise of power required nothing more than the clearing of a path among the private motions infesting political space. The purpose of the covenant, therefore, was to elicit from the members an acknowledgment of the sovereign's right of way. By the terms of the agreement, the individuals agreed to will *not* to act, thereby clearing the way for the will of one "artificial person." In the terminology of the covenant, they "renounce" or "transfer" to the sovereign their absolute natural right to protect themselves, and in so doing they abdicate the "field" of action by withdrawing their wills. The extraordinarily negative character of power was underlined in Hobbes's definition of what is meant by a person "laying down" his right:

Thus despite the proud boast that Leviathan would be the "greatest of human powers," it was apparent that sovereign power did not signify creation *ex nihilo* but the enjoyment of an old condition; the sovereign retained the original right enjoyed by all men in the state of nature, and whereas his subjects had surrendered this right in order to escape the state of nature *vis-à-vis* each other, the sovereign remained in that condition in his relations with them. The universality of a right to all things was thus perpetuated, but now particularized in one sovereign person or group:

For the subject did not give the sovereign that right; but only in laying down theirs, strengthened him to use his own, as he should think fit, for the preservation of them all: so that it was not given, but left to him . . . as entire as in the condition of mere nature . . . 135

In this definition political action was the capacity to act without being resisted, and its success was contingent upon the subject's promise not to act. When this is cast into the language of appetite and aversion, the actions occurring on the plane of political space take on a certain rhythm. The sovereign represented the movement of the "public appetite and will" towards some objective, but his appetite, in turn, aroused fear or aversion among the subjects, causing them to withdraw so that his appetite might become effective. But the rhythm of movement towards and movement away did not affect the whole of political space, because, as we have seen, there were many areas in which Hobbes believed that men

might best be left to their own resources. Hence it was only where the sovereign felt it necessary to pre-empt a specific domain that the rhythm would be reasserted. And the rhythm would be sustained as long as the sovereign did not touch the raw nerve of self-preservation and force the subject to lash back to protect himself.

These same categories of space and motion reappeared in the relationships between subjects. The ever-present possibility of conflicts between private lines of motion was to be solved through the sovereign power to enact laws.

The use of laws, which are but rules authorized, is not to bind the people from all voluntary actions; but to direct and keep them in such a motion, as not to hurt themselves by their own impetuous desires, rashness or indiscretion; as hedges are set, not to stop travellers, but to keep them in their way.¹³⁶

The function of legal regulations was to prescribe the legitimate lanes of action in political space which private persons could pre-empt. "Every man hath more or less liberty, as he hath more or less space in which he employs himself." In the case of a subject who possessed a legal right this was equivalent to granting him access to some object. This constituted freedom which Hobbes defined as "the absence of opposition" or of "external impediments to motion." At the same time, the right of one subject automatically barred the path of another to the same object; that is, hindered his motion or freedom. Thus the appetite of one subject becomes realizable because the sanction of the law has inspired aversion or withdrawal on the part of the other individuals.

In the last analysis, the Hobbesian conception of political power was a grossly oversimplified, even hollow, one. The power to act required only the elimination of hindrances rather than the active enlistment of the private power and support of the citizens. The citizens had simply to stand aside and not interfere. If sovereign power were effective because it induced withdrawal, how could the sovereign ever hope to join his subjects' wills to his in the pursuit of a common endeavor? Hobbes tried to meet this objection by arguing that when the subject transferred his right to the sovereign he simultaneously transferred "the means of enjoying it, as far as lieth in his power." 139 This empowered the sovereign to "use all the power and faculties of each particular person to the maintenance of peace, and for common defence." 140 Yet when we search for examples of what is meant by transferring the means of enjoyment, we are presented only with negative instances. Thus the man who transferred his land-title to another was obligated to leave "whatsoever grows upon it"; the person who sells his right to a mill must not seek to divert the stream which drives it; and, finally, the householder who sells his title must not bar occupancy. 141 In the light of these examples, the assertion that the sovereign "hath the use of so much power and strength conferred on him, that by terror thereof, he is enabled to form the wills of them all" seems almost a non

sequitur. It was his contemporary, James Harrington, who most acutely sensed the weakness of the Hobbesian sovereign and pointed out the fatal contradiction. On the one side, Hobbes had allowed that property constituted a form of power and that, therefore, aggregates of private property were consolidations of private power. On the other hand, he stubbornly insisted that "it is men, and arms, not words, and promises, that make the force and power of the laws." But, as Harrington pointed out, this ignored the fact that the effective force of the sovereign was crucially dependent on the support of private power. Therefore, as long as power was dispersed in private hands, the covenant remained but "words and breath," a "toy." A sovereign who sought to overawe the wealthy by waving the sword conjured up the picture, not of mighty Leviathan, but of a "mere spitfrog." 143

CHAPTER NINE

•••

Liberalism and the Decline of Political Philosophy

The rich have feelings, if I can put it th of their possessions	nis way, in every part
	—Rousseau
Much is won if we succeed in transforming common unhappiness.	hysterical misery into
common unisuppiness.	—Freud

I. THE POLITICAL AND THE SOCIAL

If we were to imagine two intelligent readers of Hobbes, each equally distant from him in time, the first representing the middle of the fifteenth century, the other the middle of the nineteenth, we would naturally expect each to make radically different criticisms on some points, but we might be less prepared to find them agreeing on others. Our fifteenth-century reader would be shocked by Hobbe's sardonic treatment of religion and the ruthless way he divested political philosophy of all traces of religious thought and feeling. The nineteenth-century man, surveying Hobbes from the vantage point of Marx and the classical economists, would pronounce him utterly lacking in any understanding of the influence of economic factors upon politics. Both criticisms would add up to the conclusion that Hobbes had achieved a "pure" political theory by sloughing off religious elements while remaining innocent of economics.

Nevertheless, this does not constitute the full significance of what Hobbes had done, nor exhaust the criticisms of our two imaginary readers. Despite the gap of several centuries, and the different idioms of expression, they would have agreed that Hobbes had failed to grasp the interconnections between social and political factors and, consequently, his postulate of a distinct political order contained a presence as ghostly as any concocted by his theologically minded contemporaries. From the one side, the representative of the age of Tocqueville, Comte, and Spencer would charge that Hobbes had ignored the extent to which political practices were shaped by social relationships, and hence had mistaken superstructure for foundation. In a different idiom, the spokesman of the earlier age would register the like

complaint. He might say that had Hobbes been able to restrain his impulse to win debating points over the Scholastics, he could have appropriated some valuable insights about the interrelations of government and society. The use of the organic metaphor by mediaeval writers had been, for all its seeming absurdity, indicative of a keen perception of social interdependencies and the functional relationship between political and economic factors. A mediaeval writer would never have allowed himself to be caught in the Hobbesian error of treating the institution of property as a simple set of juristic relations between subject and sovereign with no attention paid to the social influence of property rights.

At first glance these criticisms appear just, for Hobbes had no genuine theory of society in the same sense as either earlier or later writers. But instead of pursuing this point we might pause to ask the question it begs: why do these criticisms appear just as well as obvious? One answer is that we are so accustomed to having political problems reduced to economic causes, or the influence of class structure, social relations, or cultural conditioning, that we turn impatiently from a writer who fails to follow form. What is interesting about this sort of response is its connection with the theoretical outlook which dominates much contemporary thinking in the social sciences. The case usually advanced for the superiority of the social sciences over traditional political philosophy rests on much the same assumption as the case made against Hobbes: that political phenomena are best explained as the resultant of social factors, and hence political institutions and beliefs are best understood by a method which gets "behind" them to the "underlying" social processes which dictate the shape of things political.

Stated in these terms, the controversy between political philosophy and social science is ostensibly a methodological one involving a question which experience alone can answer. Unfortunately, many political philosophers, especially those who insist upon a close connection between politics and ethics, would reject this statement of the problem on the grounds that it commits political philosophy to a preoccupation with method at the expense of moral concerns. It might be suggested, however, that both the proponents of social science and the ethically minded political philosopher advocate an approach which misses the same point. The issue is not solely methodological, nor even primarily ethical in character, but substantive; that is, it concerns the status of politics and the political. When modern social science asserts that political phenomena are to be explained by resolving them into sociological, psychological, or economic components, it is saying that there are no distinctively political phenomena and hence no special set of problems. On its face, this assertion appears to be a purely descriptive statement, devoid of evaluative overtones and therefore innocent. Actually, it is nothing of the sort. It rests upon an evaluation which remains concealed because its historical origins are not well understood. It is possible to view politics as a derivative form of activity, one that is to be understood in terms of more "fundamental" factors, if it is believed that the political possesses no distinctive significance, pertains to no unique function, and occupies no loftier plane than, say, that of any large-scale organization.

This suggests that modern social science appears plausible and useful for the same reason that modern political philosophy appears anachronistic and sterile: each is symptomatic of a condition where the sense of the political has been lost. While the one flourishes, the other flounders in uncertainty of what, if anything, constitutes its subject-matter. These developments may seem rather unimportant, involving perhaps the resettlement of a few displaced academics. It may not be farfetched, however, to suspect a common root to the philosopher's lack of any coherent notion of what is truly political and the groping failure of Western societies to sustain a belief in the importance of political activity except by appealing to a confused mixture of diluted religious ideas spiced with a dash of market-place virtues.

These considerations help to place Hobbes's contribution in a clearer light. Whatever his shortcomings, he shows us what we have lost in the way of a sense of the political. For Hobbes, the political in a society comprised three elements: the authority whose unique office it was to superintend the whole and to exert directive control over other forms of activity; the obligations which rested on those who accepted membership; and the system of common rules governing publicly significant behavior. In a similarly unequivocal way Hobbes stated the basic task of political philosophy: to identify and define what was truly political. In this view, the function of theory was to help identify a specific type of authority and its province of activity. To identify and to define is to abstract certain characteristic roles and activities in order to subsume them under a classifying scheme. Every classification entails limits which allow us to distinguish the subject from others. Thus in identifying that which was political, Hobbes was simultaneously delimiting its scope. This meant, for example, that political action was restricted to the kind of goods attainable through political means; other goods might exist and might even be superior, yet if they were impossible to attain through political methods, or if attainable, too costly, or too trivial, they lay outside the political province. Similarly, while political duties were of crucial concern to political philosophy and to political authority, they by no means exhausted the totality of human relationships nor rated as man's highest role. Many important areas of human activity were therefore without direct political relevance; they became the subject of political notice when their consequences threatened to disrupt the settled relationships constituting society.

But the rigorous manner in which Hobbes outlined the character of the political concealed the fragile presupposition on which the whole case rested. The identity of the political was in large measure a product of beliefs, almost an act of faith. It existed by a process of self-authentication; that is, because men believed it existed and governed their actions accordingly. This is what Hobbes meant by

the "artificial" character of the political order and why he insisted that in every political system, regardless of type, the people really ruled. As Hume later said, "it is . . . on opinion only that government is founded." ²

In calling attention to the element of belief as part of the complex of political things we are not arguing a naïve Berkeleian view that the political is purely a creature of belief having no more of reality than we choose to grant. Whether we acknowledge them or not, facts such as political power do exist; whether we entertain a conception of political membership or not, none of us can easily escape assuming certain relationships with public authorities, nor can we evade the burdens and sacrifices entailed by living in a politically organized society. Nevertheless, it remains true that however crude or sophisticated our notions on these matters, our beliefs exert an appreciable effect on the way we perceive political happenings and how we react in political settings, and these in turn are bound to affect the course of events. Given the connection subsisting between thoughts (or attitudes) and events, a markedly different alteration in perspectives on politics and the political is bound to influence the practices associated with a particular tradition. To grasp the direction of these changes may contribute in some small way to understanding our present predicaments. Few would contest the proposition that today Western societies exhibit little in the way of a widespread political consciousness among its members and fewer still would doubt that political things are mostly held in disrepute by the members of these societies. In concrete form, the effects of the declining status of the political can be found in the frenzied realization that political loyalty has become a problem; that a generation of soldiers, scientists, and public officials has grown up without the rudiments of an education in civility; and that we can all too easily imagine ourselves having committed the same acts of disloyalty had we been similarly situated.

These developments have been in the making for over a century and a half. The main trends in political thought, irrespective of national or ideological variations, have worked towards the same end: the erosion of the distinctively political. That which rests upon the shifting basis of belief can, by the same token, be undermined by belief. The subversion of belief is accomplished most effectively when an established notion is challenged by an idea common to a wide variety of outlooks. The basic concept which was pitted against the political was "society." It was a fundamental notion common to such contrasting ideologies as liberalism and conservatism, socialism and reaction, anarchism and managerialism. Today it serves as the focus of the social sciences, especially in sociology and anthropology, and this perhaps justifies designating social science as the legatee of an earlier controversy in which "society" displaced the political.

The rediscovery of society, which quickly became a dominant concern of post-Hobbesian thought, occurred by two somewhat different routes. One was followed by an oddly assorted group which included Montesquieu, Burke, de

Maistre, Comte, and Tocqueville. Despite many sharp disagreements they shared the viewpoint that the authority of political institutions was founded upon a myriad of social authorities and nourished by a variety of private loyalties. These elements furnished the necessary cohesives which held society together; should they be weakened, as occurred towards the end of the *ancien régime*, the political order would topple of its own weight. The focal point of inquiry, therefore, was to be directed at the system of social gradations; at the complex of non-rational "prejudices" which disposed men towards obedience and subordination; at the ties spun by local community, parish, and manor into a web of association stronger than any that conscious thought could conceive.

The second route to society, the one which will be discussed in this chapter, was followed by Locke, the classical economists, the French liberals, and the English Utilitarians. We shall try to show how the concept of society emerged in Locke's writings; how gradually society came to be conceived simultaneously as an entity distinct from political arrangements and as the shorthand symbol of all worthwhile human endeavor; and how these developments left little scope and less prestige for the political. The political became identified with a narrow set of institutions labeled "government," the harsh symbol of the coercion necessary to sustain orderly social transactions. The choice lay, as Bastiat put it, between "société libre, gouvernement simple" and "société contrainte, gouvernement compliqué." 3

The classical economists of the eighteenth century wove these themes into an elegant and convincing system. There is no grosser caricature of these writers than the one which implies that their analyses were founded on a few simple propositions about "economic man" and that, like good metaphysicians, they always managed to "save the appearances" by falling back on the workings of an amiably conspiratorial "unseen hand." In reality their writings exhibited an abiding interest in the ways that regularized economic behavior created order in human relationships, relating them in time and space and integrating them into a rhythmic pattern without relying upon compulsion.

It was this last quality, the relative absence of coercion in economic transactions, that tinted the economists' model of society with anti-political tones and ultimately made it an alternative to the older conception of a politically directed system. This is nicely illustrated by one of their favorite notions, the division of labor. This principle, Adam Smith explained, stemmed from man's natural "propensity to truck, barter, and exchange one thing for another." By inducement rather than coercion, without invoking a general superintending authority, the division of labor drew men together in interdependency, encouraging each to develop his talents in the most socially beneficial way. The principle operated to delineate the social topography, etching in a series of functionally differentiated roles, adjusting activities one to the other, and developing routines of cooperative endeavor. Through this and similar notions the economists worked towards the

elaboration of a theory of a social system; that is, an integrated series of functions whose cumulative effect seemed close to alchemy: by organizing human activity, the puny power of individuals was compounded into a huge, disciplined social power. "The social mechanism is very ingenious and very powerful . . . Each man . . . has more enjoyment in one day than he himself could produce in many ages."⁴

The offspring of this kind of theorizing was a non-political model of a society which, by virtue of being a closed system of interacting forces, seemed able to sustain its own existence without the aid of an "outside" political agency. As Adam Smith put it, no political prime mover was needed because each individual "has a principle of motion of its own." The full implications of the social system for the status of the political were stated by Smith's contemporary, David Hume: while government is useful, even necessary, "it is not necessary in all circumstances; nor is it impossible for men to preserve society for some time without having recourse to such an invention."⁵

The decline of political categories and the ascendancy of social ones are the distinguishing marks of our contemporary situation where political philosophy has been eclipsed by other forms of knowledge. In the present age we naturally turn to the sociologist or economist to supply prescriptions for society's ills. We assume that they, rather than the political theorist, possess the relevant kind of knowledge. Comte may have been premature in crowning sociology queen of the sciences—at that stage she might very well have been queen since she was hardly a subject—but today the title is less disputed. Today we have accepted as an operating assumption the claim of nineteenth-century sociology that knowledge of the social order "can scarcely fail to affect our judgments as to what is progressive and what retrograde—what is desirable, what is practicable, what is utopian."6 When the late Karl Mannheim nominated the sociologist for the role of the new intellectual elite we may have felt uneasy but not surprised. Or when a prominent anthropologist announced that the time had come for the anthropologist to play a determining role in public policies because, compared to the political and social scientist, he could at least commit better mistakes, we may be intrigued by the naïve form of the argument, but its substance we take seriously.

This state of affairs, in which political theory has become an aimless activity whose traditional role has been absorbed by cognate disciplines, is not to be explained by pointing an accusing finger at the encroachments of other disciplines, nor even in terms of some disorder internal to political theory itself, such as a failure to attain a settled methodology. We can gain a firmer purchase on the problem if we recognize that this impoverishment is common also to the wider enterprise of which political theory is a part, namely philosophy. Philosophers, too, have suffered deprivation as other forms of knowledge have, by a kind of squatter's sovereignty, come to contest and pre-empt their domain. This raises the provocative question of whether some interconnection exists between the state of

philosophy and political theory on the one hand, and the character of the liberal tradition on the other. The clue to the answer lies with the pivotal figure of John Locke, for insofar as modern philosophy is oriented towards empiricism and the analysis of language, Locke is admittedly one of its founders. And to the extent that modern liberalism can be said to be inspired by any one writer, Locke is undoubtedly the leading candidate. We shall take up this suggestion shortly and try to indicate the connections between Locke's philosophy and liberalism and their resulting influence on the status and subject-matter of political theory.

In examining what the early liberals themselves had written I found myself compelled to abandon a whole set of preconceptions derived from recent commentaries. At the end I concluded that our present age has for a variety of reasons lost touch with the original temper and outlook of liberalism and hence is willing to accept at face value the vulgar caricature of liberalism offered by Marxists, romantic conservatives, "realists," and neo-orthodox theologians. Liberalism has been repeatedly characterized as "optimistic" to the point of naïveté; arrogant in its conviction that human reason ought to stand as the sole authority for knowledge and action; bewitched by a vision of history as an escalator endlessly moving upwards towards greater progress; and blasphemous in endowing the human mind and will with a godlike power of refashioning man and society in entirety.

For the most part these criticisms have little or no support in the writings of the liberals. They seem plausible only because the critics have lumped together two distinct traditions of political thought: democratic radicalism and liberalism. Although the former drew inspiration from Locke, its outlook was largely moulded by eighteenth-century rationalism and the experience of the French Revolution. Liberalism, on the other hand, had its roots in the period before the French Enlightenment. It, too, leaned heavily on the political principles of Locke, yet most important to its development are the later stages in which it was filtered through classical economics and exposed to the philosophies of David Hume and Adam Smith, two thinkers distinguished by a profound respect for the limits of reason and the pervasiveness of irrational factors in man and society. One of our tasks in the following pages is to disentangle this second tradition from the first and to show that liberalism was a philosophy of sobriety, born in fear, nourished by disenchantment, and prone to believe that the human condition was and was likely to remain one of pain and anxiety.

II. LIBERALISM AND THE SOBRIETIES OF PHILOSOPHY

It was remarked earlier that periods of crisis tend to awaken in political philosophers an impulse towards mastery, a belief that mind can furnish the formula for controlling the dynamics of change, and that, guided by this knowledge, political power can transform society into a community tinged by truth. But crisis can

induce timidity as well, and it is this response which colored the whole development of English liberalism long before the French Revolution. We have become so accustomed to picturing liberalism as a fighting creed, outfitted for storming the ramparts of privilege, that we find it difficult to entertain the hypothesis that Lockean liberalism was fully as much a defense against radical democracy as an attack on traditionalism. In France and the United States as well, liberalism emerged as a post-revolutionary reaction. Voltaire's boast, "Je suis grand démolisseur," was as alien to the temperament of nineteenth-century French liberals as Rousseau's theory of popular sovereignty. In the early years of the American republic, liberal writers sought a substitute object for the patriotic and political impulses fostered by the ideas and events of the revolutionary war. The Constitution served their purpose, and they succeeded in surrounding it with a wealth of legend and symbol so that in the end the "myth" of 1789 overcame that of 1776. 11

In the memory of Locke's generation the period of the Commonwealth and Protectorate came to symbolize the temporary triumph of radicalism—religious, social, and political. The traditional symbols of authority, as epitomized in the monarchy, the established Church, and the House of Lords, had been abolished. Repeated efforts had been made to transform the House of Commons, and a brief, though abortive, experiment was launched to govern England by a written constitution. These sweeping reforms had been the practical translation of the sense of opportunity which had infected the political theories of the period. The reading public had been bombarded with prescriptions for the wholesale renovation of society, ranging from Winstanley's communist utopia to Harrington's blueprint for republicanism.

This age of continual crisis and rampant political imagination furnished the background to Locke's biography. His father had fought in the parliamentary army, and his own education at Oxford came at a time when Puritan suspicions about the home of lost causes ran high. As a youth he had witnessed the attempt to turn England into a holy commonwealth. With others he had welcomed the restoration of the monarchy in 1660, but in the feverish months which preceded the accession of James II, Locke was deprived of his university position and felt compelled to flee the country; along with other political émigrés he returned with William II to the tense atmosphere of the revolutionary settlement. In his lifetime he had seen England torn by religious dissensions, disturbed by economic change, and, as the confidant of Shaftesbury, he had been close to the center of what proved to be the beginnings of English party politics.

Locke summed up his reactions to "the dizzy whirlpool of events" in words that were strangely suggestive of Plato's *Seventh Letter*: "I had no sooner perceived myself in the world, but I found myself in a storm, which has lasted almost hitherto." The parallel with Plato, however, ends as abruptly as it began, for nowhere in Locke's writings was there the faintest trace of that architectonic impulse which

stirs at the first whiff of opportunity and seeks creative release in drawing plans for the ordering of a disordered world. Through his studies and friendships with many of the eminent intellectual and scientific leaders of the day Locke kept well informed of the exciting currents in science and philosophy. Yet his imagination was never stirred by the thought of joining the rapidly growing knowledge of science to the discipline of philosophy and bringing both to bear on the opportunities presented by a disturbed and directionless political society.

At the very start of the Essay Concerning Human Understanding he juxtaposed the possibilities of science and philosophy. On the one side the scientist, represented by such "master builders" as Boyle and "the incomparable Mr. Newton"; on the other, the philosopher whose modest ambition it was to be "employed as an under-labourer in clearing the ground a little, and removing some of the rubbish that lies in the way to knowledge . . . "14 This was an odd note in a century where political philosophers were promising men an immortal commonwealth secured by an infallible political science; where Spinoza had declared that "it is the nature of reason to perceive things under a certain form of eternity"; and where scientists were imparting a new depth and order to the universe. Nevertheless, the persistent theme that binds the *Essay* was of philosophy's limitations. The book, he explained, had originated from a discussion group which had set for itself the task of examining "what objects our understandings were or were not fitted to deal with." And as the Essay took form it became an inquiry not into the outermost possibilities of man's mind but into the limits of the "little world of his own understanding."15

Man, according to Locke's famous description, enters the world with a mind "void of all characters, without any ideas." Through sensation and reflection, ideas come to be scribbled upon the "white paper" of the mind, forming a circumscribed world from which there was no escape, at least not by natural means. Man had no choice but to labor with the materials presented by the senses. ¹⁶ He may artfully contrive them into new combinations, survey them from this angle and that, and laboriously analyze the internal processes of the mind, but he could never break out of a world bounded by "sounds, tastes, smells, visible and tangible qualities":

But it is not in the power of the most exalted wit, or enlarged understanding, by any quickness or variety of thought, to *invent* or *frame* one new simple idea in the mind, not taken in by the ways before mentioned . . . The dominion of man, in this little world of his own understanding being much what the same as it is in the great world of visible things; wherein his power, however managed by art and skill, reaches no farther than to compound and divide the materials that are made to his hand; but can do nothing towards the making the least particle of new matter, or destroying an atom of what is already in being ¹⁷

And almost two hundred years later substantially the same position was reaffirmed by the leading liberal of the age, John Stuart Mill:

In these and all other artificial operations [i.e., the application of human art to nature] the office of man is . . . a very limited one; it consists in moving things into certain places. We move objects, and by doing this, bring some things into contact which were separate, or separate others which were in contact: and by this simple change of place, natural forces previously dormant are called into action, and produce the desired effect. Even the volition which designs, the intelligence which contrives, and the muscular force which executes these movements, are themselves powers of nature. ¹⁸

The cramped quarters assigned philosophy by liberals was but the specific application of a general estimate about the human condition which had first been described by Locke and then accepted into the main stream of later liberalism. Where Plato had set as the target of human aspiration "the completest possible assimilation to god" and Aristotle had exhorted men "to put off mortality as far as possible," Locke had confined man to a middling sort of condition, incapable of omniscience or perfection, "a state of mediocrity, which is not capable of extremes . . ." The philosophy best suited to man's limited possibilities was one which concentrated on "the twilight of probability" between "sceptical despair" and proud presumption. ²⁰ This subdued and sober temper had a decisive influence on the way that Locke and his followers viewed the problems of political theory and practice.

Taking first of all the problem of political action, its range of possibilities and the kind of knowledge it presupposes, we can say that although no logically necessary connection obtains between a theory of knowledge and a theory of political action, and that a writer may believe in the possibility of arriving at absolutely valid truths and yet counsel a very cautious line of action, there tend, nevertheless, to be strong psychological bonds connecting thought and action. Men feel more confident when assured that their activity is based upon intellectual certainty; they are more apt to engage in sweeping plans when convinced they possess truth in the round. In this sense we can say that the roots of the divergence between the liberal and the radical democratic traditions lie in their contrasting faiths concerning the ability of the human mind to fathom reality and to translate the results into practical actions.

The first tradition was symbolized in Locke's remark that "our minds are not made as large as truth nor suited to the whole extent of things," the second by Holbach's definition of truth as "the conformity of our ideas with the nature of things." Holbach's confident assertion symbolized the philosophical temper behind the grandiose schemes of social reconstruction projected during the French Revolution, while Locke's warning against confounding the truths accessible to men with the totality of possible truths was accepted into the main stream of English liberal

thought. There it worked to erode confidence in the possibility of political philosophy's providing the knowledge for dramatic advance. This occurred not by way of any explicit denial of the possibilities of genuine political knowledge, nor by any scepticism about the effectiveness of political action. Instead the shift in outlook leading to a reduction in the status and prestige of political theory and practice was gradual and indirect. In these and other respects it forms a remarkable parallel to what happened to Calvinism during roughly the same period. Weber and Tawney have shown that in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries Calvinist groups underwent a significant change in outlook and behavior amounting to a re-evaluation of norms and a re-direction of activity. Instead of the preoccupation with salvation, action was directed at getting ahead in the world. The driving force which had originally been enlisted in the service of religious ends was now transferred to economic and social concerns. This same activist itch was, as we shall see, a salient trait in the Lockean liberal image of man. If we remember that Locke and many of his most influential followers were either Nonconformists or rebels against Anglicanism—and we need only mention Adam Smith, Bentham, and the Mills-it suggests that the change in Protestantism analyzed by Weber constituted something more than a parallel to certain developments in liberalism: it raises the possibility that liberalism showed some of the same patterns of development as Protestantism.

Thus Locke had argued that philosophy—and by this he certainly meant a "philosophy" oriented and informed by Christian values—should surrender its traditional concern with man's inner state and ultimate destiny, and turn instead to examining the kind of knowledge which would enable men to exploit the natural world.

We are not born in heaven but in this world, where our being is to be preserved with meat, drink, and clothing, and other necessaries that are not born with us, but must be got and kept with forecast, care and labour, and therefore we cannot be all devotion, all praises and hallelujahs, and perpetually in the vision of things above . . .²³

And the same point later was made more laconically by Adam Smith when he remarked that the "sublime contemplation" of God's wisdom ought not to be "the great business and occupation of our lives." Philosophy, according to Locke's directive, ought to promote the "advantages and conveniences of human life"; its concern ought to be with the everyday world and its ambitions satisfied by the modest improvements possible there. The increase of wealth and conveniences provided "a large field for knowledge; proper for the use and advantage of man in this world . . . Why should we bemoan our want of knowledge in the particular apartments of the universe, when our portion here only lies in the little spot of earth where we and all our concernments are shut up?" Practicality and action—these became the watchwords of philosophy, so much that in the end philosophy came to doubt the serious importance of its own enterprise: "The most sublime

speculations of the contemplative philosopher can scarce compensate the neglect of the smallest active duty."²⁶

The effect of turning philosophy outwards was to accept existing society as a datum, susceptible to minor modifications but always within the frame of reference supplied by the status quo. This, in turn, implied a form of political knowledge in which precision and certainty were neither necessary nor desirable. Consequently to the liberal writers there existed a clear distinction between the certain truths resulting from the manipulation of human abstractions, as in mathematics, and the highly tentative probabilities possible in those matters wherein man lacked a free hand. And what remained all-important was that liberals identified the area of political knowledge with the latter, radicals with the former. Political knowledge, Locke pointed out, is similar to prudence in being undemonstrable. It depends upon "various and unknown interests, humours, and capacity of men, and not upon any settled ideas of things." Men must rely, therefore, on "the history of matter of fact, and a sagacity in inquiring into probable causes, and finding out an analogy in their operations and effects."²⁷ A similar outlook reappeared in the writings of Adam Smith. In The Theory of Moral Sentiments he drew a sharp contrast between "the public spirited man" and "the man of system." The former "will respect the established powers and privileges even of individuals, and still more those of the great orders and societies into which the state is divided." The man of system, however, combines arrogance with an aesthetic vision, and overrides any deviation from or opposition to the total realization of his "ideal plan":

He seems to imagine that he can arrange the different members of a great society with as much ease as the hand arranges the different pieces upon a chess board; he does not consider that the pieces upon the chess board have no other principle of motion besides that which the hand impresses upon them; but that, in the great chess board of human society, every single piece had a principle of motion of its own altogether different from that which the legislature might choose to impress upon it.²⁸

III. THE POLITICAL CLAIMS OF ECONOMIC THEORY

In its mature form liberalism expressed the same misgivings as conservatism about taking political theory seriously. Even Bentham, the theoretician incarnate, argued that "the propensity to push theory too far is acknowledged to be almost universal."²⁹ And in a passage full of ancient political analogies he pointed out that political theory must repress the aesthetic impulse with its form-and-matter implications. The science of law "is to the art of legislation what the science of anatomy is to the art of medicine: with this difference, that the subject of it is what the artist has to work *with*, instead of being what he has to operate *upon*."³⁰ What determined the liberals' attitude was not merely a belief that the complexity of so-

cial interrelationships posed insurmountable difficulties to rational or purposive action, but the feeling that political activity had lost its charm and excitement.

Writers of such contrasting temperaments as Matthew Arnold and Frédéric Bastiat* expressed the same aesthetic reaction against politics as a mildly depraving activity. Arnold, troubled by "all this political operating," counseled young liberals "to think less of [organizational] machinery, to stand more aloof from the area of politics at present, and rather to try to promote . . . an inward working." Bastiat warned that even the slightest extension of government action beyond the absolute minimum led to "une prépondérance exagerée" of the political.³¹ But Arnold's introspective mood was not widely shared, and most liberals followed the view that man affirmed his existence through economic activity. What seemed important was the way that men went about the business of creating wealth; what concerned the individual was the strategy of social advance. Thus to the liberals action meant first and foremost economic action.

The primacy of economic action, as well as the tendency on the part of liberals to treat economic phenomena as identical and coextensive with social phenomena, was greatly encouraged by the methods and assumptions employed by the classical economists of the eighteenth century. In tracing out the endless ramifications of such notions as the division of labor, the relationship between class structure and the organization of production and distribution, the causal connections between the variables of wealth and population and their effects on progress; and in exposing the motivations which drove men to adopt one form of economic behavior rather than another, the economists were fashioning a body of knowledge coeval with the whole of organized social life.

The next step was natural and almost inevitable. If economics was the knowledge of society, nothing save humility could prevent the economist from assuming that society's relationships and multifarious activities, in short, society's life, could be summarized through various economic categories. The economist could, for example, formulate a concept like the annual product and treat it as a shorthand symbol for the activities of society's members during a given year. Similarly, if asked what were the constituent elements of society, the economist responded that society was divided into definite "parts," such as laborer, landowner, and entrepreneur, and these, as the younger Mill expressed it, "are considered in political economy as making up the whole community." Again, the economist assumed that his studies displayed the answer to what kind of psychological motivations set men in motion and largely determined their social behavior: it was

^{*} Frédéric Bastiat (1801–1850) was a highly popular French publicist who did much to spread the orthodox classical economic doctrines of liberalism. His chief targets were socialism and economic protectionism. His thinking was greatly influenced by Benjamin Franklin, Adam Smith, and the nineteenth-century American economist Henry Carey.

the desire to better their social status, a desire which "comes with us from the womb, and never leaves us until we go into the grave," a desire which found its natural outlet in economic action.³²

In reducing social life to economic terms, the economists turned to a theory of action which had vast implications for politics and political theory. The unique aspect of their theory was the contention that purposive activity could be undertaken successfully without reference to any supporting or authorizing principle excepting that of "nature." "Man," Adam Smith wrote, "is generally considered by statesmen and projectors as the materials of a sort of political mechanics. Projectors disturb nature . . . it requires no more than to let her alone." The teachings, as well as the control-mechanisms, associated with the traditional authorities of church, class, and political order were held to be unnatural. Hence what was truly radical in liberalism was its conception of society as a network of activities carried on by actors who knew no principle of authority. Society represented not only a spontaneous and self-adjusting order, but a condition untroubled by the presence of authority.

These qualities of social action—absence of authority, spontaneousness, and the tendency towards self-adjustment—were taken to mean that social action lacked the characteristic element of political action, the necessity to resort to power. Industry, Spencer declared, is a "spontaneous" form of activity operating on the principle of "voluntary cooperation"; men "work together by consent."³⁴

The age-old function of distributing goods according to some standard of justice was transferred from the political sphere and assigned to the impersonal judgment of the market mechanism.³⁵ What little survived of the concept of justice consisted of a Hobbesian principle of fairness or, more popularly, of the identification of justice with security: small wonder that by the middle of the nineteenth century liberals came to doubt that political justice existed at all. As Bastiat declared, "the end of law is not, rigorously speaking, to cause justice to prevail," but "to prevent injustice from reigning. In fact, it is not justice which has a real existence, but injustice. The one results from the absence of the other."³⁶ For the liberals, what little remained of purposive politics was, interestingly enough, largely identified with the function of Locke's philosopher. The political counterpart to rubbish-removal consisted in the repeal of all inherited policies and laws which, nourished on the illusion that politics was to some degree a creative enterprise, obstructed social and economic action:

... As matters stand, almost the whole consists in undoing what has been done, and in obviating the inconveniences that would result from the carrying on this process of undoing in an abrupt and inconsiderate manner.³⁷

The older themes of political theory as a saving form of knowledge and political action as a means of regeneration were not lost to the Western tradition. What liberalism dropped was picked up by eighteenth-century radicalism and restored

by nineteenth-century revolutionary socialism. "Nothing is impossible for a legislator," wrote Mably, "for he holds, so to speak, our heart and spirit in his hands; he can fashion new men." And at the heart of Marxism was the claim that society could be transformed by political action informed by the knowledge of historical laws. Political action, to be meaningful, must be revolutionary in character, for it was only by an act of creative destruction that man "finally cuts himself off from the animal world . . . and enters conditions which are really human." 38

Among liberals, however, the lack of interest in political action, the conviction that economics formed the proper study of mankind and economic activity the proper end, hastened the decline of political theory. For these beliefs encouraged the imposition of economic categories onto political thought with the result that the role and status of political theory came to be usurped by economic theory. Liberals came to assert not only that economics was the most useful form of knowledge for the individual in his pursuit of happiness, but that it also provided the necessary prescriptions for handling the common affairs of society. To find the intellectual source of these developments we must return to Locke and, specifically, to his statement concerning the purposes of the political order. Government, he declared, existed "for the procuring, preserving, and advancing" of men's "civil interests." These interests, in turn, comprised "life, liberty, health, and indolency of body, and the possession of outward things." The political could therefore be said to reside in the sum of protective arrangements which left men to "acquire what they farther want."39 Obviously, however, the kind of knowledge dealing with the protection of possessions was, once it had been translated into practical guarantees, something to be taken for granted in much the same way that the fencemaker's knowledge is taken for granted by a home-owner concerned only to keep his fence in good repair. On the other hand, the form of knowledge which enabled men to acquire what they wanted had an immediate and continuing attraction.

At first writers like Smith were content to advance the limited claim that economics formed a subsidiary branch of statesmanship, concerned primarily with the way a society gained its subsistence and accumulated sufficient revenue for the public services. ⁴⁰ By the early nineteenth century, however, a larger province was being claimed, one that indicated that the new science was eager and able to take over the territory originally held by political philosophy: that of possessing the sovereign knowledge pertaining to the welfare of the community as a whole. Political economy, McCulloch* declared, was the study of the best interests of society. Since it was a subject concerned with how "to obtain the greatest possible amount of wealth with the least possible difficulty," it was a science which, by

^{*} John Ramsay McCulloch (1789–1864), a Scot, was a prolific writer. In addition to several economic and statistical studies he edited Smith's *Wealth of Nations* and Ricardo's works. He was a loyal follower of classical economic ideas rather than an original thinker.

definition, promoted the interests of all classes.⁴¹ Moreover, there existed a direct relation between wealth and civilization—"a poor people are never refined, nor a rich people ever barbarous"—hence the science which studied wealth qualified as the master science. "The establishment of a wise system of public economy can compensate for every other deficiency." "Wealth is independent of the nature of government."⁴²

And thus it was that by the first part of the nineteenth century economic theory had begun to demand for itself the mantle of political theory and to shoulder the burden of pronouncing on the good of the whole society. This was brought home in the imaginary dialogue written by James Mill, a dialogue remarkable for its deliberate adoption of the tone and style of the first great political philosopher—as though to make more emphatic the displacement of political by economic theory:

- B. "We may . . . lay it down, with your consent, as a general proposition, that wherever a great many agents and operations are combined for the production of a certain result, or set of results, a commanding view of the whole is absolutely necessary for effecting that combination in the most perfect manner."
- A. "I agree."
- B. "But a commanding view of a whole subject, in all its parts, and the connexion of these parts, is it anything but another name for the theory, or science of the subject? Theory (*theoria*) is literally VIEW; and science is *scientia*, KNOWLEDGE; meaning view or knowledge, not solely of this and that part but, like that of the general with his army, of the *whole*."
- A. "... you mean to say that the theory or science of political economy is a commanding view of the vast combination of agents or operations engaged in the producing for the use of man, the whole of the things which he enjoys and consumes... the things which he denominates the matter of wealth—the great object to which almost all the toils and cares of human beings are directed."
- B. "You have anticipated me correctly."
- A. "You would farther proceed to ask me... whether the innumerable operations... may not take place in more ways than one; in short, in a worse way, or a better way? Whether it is not of importance that they should take place in the best way? And whether the difference between the best way and the worst way is not likely to be very great... And to all these questions I should answer in the affirmative."

In the exercise of their sovereign position economists gradually began to extend their specialized concepts and techniques of analysis to political phenomena. Thinking that the results would be instructive if the institutions of government were subjected to the same type of analysis that had proven so effective in handling other types of activity, the economists asked the innocent question: since all forms of activity naturally fell into one of two classes, "productive" or "unpro-

LIBERALISM 273

ductive," where was the activity of governing to be placed? Although it could not be said to be productive in the sense that farming or manufacturing was, and notwithstanding that it lived parasitically off the productive labor of other groups, government was not wholly useless in the way that some non-productive activities were. Why not, therefore, subsume it under the principle of the division of labor? This solution allowed government to be treated as a form of activity which, while not itself productive, contributed to maintaining conditions which permitted society to go about the basic task of producing. Someone, after all, had to be responsible for preserving law and order, seeing to it that roads were in good repair and national defense in proper shape.

As a result of this and similar types of reasoning, many traditional political concepts receded in importance or vanished altogether. "As society becomes settled and organized," Spencer wrote, "its welfare and progress become more and more independent of anyone." Social harmony, instead of being the responsibility of a governing authority, was the design of no one; it was the resultant flowing from the spontaneous equilibrium of economic forces. The status of citizen was absorbed into that of producer, and political participation, despite the heroic efforts of liberal reformers to extend the franchise, appeared to be more in the nature of a defensive measure than a self-fulfilling activity: "each is the only safe guardian of his own rights and interests" and hence justice demanded an equal suffrage where every single individual should count "for as much as any other single individual in the community." To be able to vote was to be in a better position to defend one's interests. "44"

IV. THE ECLIPSE OF POLITICAL AUTHORITY: THE DISCOVERY OF SOCIETY

From the previous discussion it is manifest that as the liberal cluster of assumptions and propositions took shape it revealed an implicitly anti-political quality. This can be understood more fully by examining briefly the relationship between Locke, the originator of the liberal tradition, and Hobbes. One of the characteristic features of the Hobbesian system was its vigorous assertion of the distinctiveness of the political. The most vivid expression of this was the contrast Hobbes drew between the state of nature and the political order, between unrestrained naturalism and the artificial restraints imposed by political authority in support of civilization. The political order, society, and civilization formed a trinity in which society and civilization were dependent upon the political order and all three had in common an artificial and anti-naturalistic character. At the same time, Hobbes took special pains to insist that what was political possessed an identity of its own, that, for example, political authority was not to be confused with or usurped by some religious or social authority.

Locke not only rejected these antitheses, he confounded them. He accomplished this by reading back into the state of nature a benign political condition having all of the idealized marks of a political society and none of its drawbacks.

Every offence that can be committed in the state of nature may in the state of nature be also punished equally, and as far forth as it may in a commonwealth . . . [the law of nature is] as intelligible and plain to a rational creature and a studier of that law as the positive laws of commonwealths, nay, possibly plainer . . . Much better it is in the state of nature [than in an absolute monarchy] wherein men are not bound to submit to the unjust will of another. 45

The effect of treating as political what Hobbes had considered to be not only prepolitical but anti-political was to obscure the identity and depreciate the status of the political. The state of nature was asserted to be a condition of "perfect freedom," unmarred by "any superior power on earth" or "the legislative authority of man." It was also a state of perfect equality "wherein all the power and jurisdiction is reciprocal, no one having more than another"; where all were free to act and to order their possessions as they saw fit, subject only to the eternal moral dictates of the law of nature. Political power was present, but being dispersed among all of the members, each of whom stood under a rational obligation to assist the others in enforcing the law of nature, it lacked determinate, institutionalized form. 46 Finally, the state of nature was pre-eminently a social condition where men dwelt in "one community of Nature," hence for Lockean man the political order could never be an invention, only a rediscovery of the natural; never the vital precondition of a community, only its superstructure. Denied its contrast with nature, the political order lost its quality of dramatic achievement. It was offered by Locke as a modest, common-sense remedy to the "inconveniences" of the natural state, something like a better set of accommodations for those who already were home-owners, rather than a shelter erected in desperation by the shelterless.

The social and political norms embodied in this ideal state of nature were given a sharper outline through contrast with another model condition, the state of war. ⁴⁷ The identifying marks here were a "declared design of force" aimed at reducing someone to the "absolute" power of another, and the absence of a "common superior on earth to appeal to for relief." While the state of nature was confined to a purely pre-civil stage, the state of war represented an aberration potentially present in both the ideal state of nature and civil society, an aberration in the sense that it destroyed the distinctive element of community common to both: the agreement to live by a common law, the law of nature in the one case, the positive law of the state in the other.

The next step in Locke's argument has always presented puzzling problems in interpretation. Did Locke conceive of political society as originating in the state

LIBERALISM 275

of nature or in the state of war? If the first explanation is adopted, the individual's decision to enter political society appears either inexplicable or superfluous. For if political society is an improvement over nature what are we to make of Locke's description of the state of nature as idyllic? If the natural condition were generally harmonious, peaceful, and rational, why leave it? If it is marred only by "inconveniences," is this sufficient cause for choosing another mode of life? On the other hand, if political society is to be deduced from the state of war, how is it possible to resist the logic of Hobbes and its conclusion that political society necessarily involves a structure of power and authority sufficient to overcome anarchy and its recurrent possibility? Since most interpretations have assumed that Locke derived political society from one or the other of these conditions, they have concluded that his liberal state was achieved despite the careless reasoning of its author-which is to rank Locke as a philosopher less by grace than for his good works. More recently it has been fashionable to argue, especially among those who find Lockean political society originating in the state of war, that Locke is really Hobbes in liberal clothing—which is a sort of political version of the Bacon-Shakespeare controversy. 48

These interpretations appear to me faulty because they fail to pay sufficiently close attention to Locke's language. What Locke did was to interject a third condition, one distinct from what he called the "perfect state of nature" and the state of war. For purposes of clarity we shall designate it the *fallen state of nature* because it has certain suggestive similarities to Troeltsch's distinction between the Christian conception of the natural law prevailing before the fall from grace and the "fallen" natural law regnant over the sinful state which followed.

... Were it not for the corruption and viciousness of degenerate men, there would be no need of any other [society], no necessity that men should separate from this great and natural community and by positive agreements combine into smaller and divided associations.⁴⁹

That Locke meant to convey the impression of a different situation from that in the ideal state of nature, and yet one not to be confounded with the state of war, is indicated by the ominous language which he employed in preparing a plausible context for the contract. The natural condition, he tells us, is "full of fears and continual dangers," and "the greater part" of its inhabitants, far from being rational interpreters of the law of nature, as we had been led to suppose, are described as "no strict observers of equity and justice." Men are impelled towards civil society because they are anxiety-ridden, "uncertain" about their rights, "full of fears." But since they are fleeing the fallen state of nature—for the ideal state by definition has no "inconveniences"—their search for a better arrangement will of necessity be guided by knowledge of the ideal condition; that is, by the norms which allow them to recognize the "deficiencies" of the fallen state. In short, the

"defects" that rendered the fallen state intolerable were cognizable only in the light of the norms embodied in the ideal state. This becomes apparent in the "remedies" (a significant bit of usage implying restoration rather than innovation) for the fallen condition. These are: a common law, a method for impartial judgment, and an enforcing power; and all three hark back to arrangements which had been in force in the ideal state.⁵¹

The upshot of Locke's argument was to obscure the political character of civil society. Its political qualities did not appear *ab nihilo*; they had been anticipated by the political form given the ideal state of nature. What can be said to be genuinely new political elements in civil society were introduced via the explicit agreement whereby men accepted a common body of rules and promised to obey the decisions of the majority. But more important was the minimal character of the political order. By this is meant not that the powers and jurisdiction of government were closely restricted, for Locke's language allowed generous scope for government action, but rather that Locke initiated a way of thinking in which society, rather than the political order, was the predominant influence. Instead of asking the traditional question: what type of political order is required if society is to be maintained? Locke turned the question around to read, what social arrangements will insure the continuity of government?

Locke launched his attack against the traditional model of society, wherein ordered social relationships and institutions were sustained by the direction imparted from a political center, by substituting a conception of society as a self-activating unity capable of generating a common will. In the next century Rousseau was to state in more systematic fashion this idea of society as a volitional entity, but already in Locke we can discern its first vague outline and hence the beginnings of a movement in thought which ultimately broke the monopoly of the political order as the sole public will. A close look at the language which Locke used to describe the fundamental contract gives some indication of this trend.

The act of agreement called for the resignation by "every one of the members" of his natural powers into "the hands of the *community*." This implied that a "community" existed before civil society was invented. "... Men give up all their natural power to the *society* which they enter into, and the *community put* the legislative power into such hands as they think fit with this trust ..." The collective power of society receives even more explicit recognition in Locke's description of what occurs when government puts itself in a state of war with its citizens. In the event that a government violated its trust, power reverted to "society." Society, in turn, possessed sufficient unity of will to "act as supreme and continue the legislative . . . or erect a new form, or under the old form place it in new hands . . ."53 It has been frequently said in criticism of Locke that he provided no defined procedures which the citizenry could invoke when it felt justified in revolting against government. This point misses the mark, because what is

important in Locke's theory is that when an arbitrary government provokes revolution it does not find itself faced by a disorganized mass of individuals, but by a "society"; that is, by a coherent group.

Locke's conception of revolution as a social act marked a significant departure from the previous tradition. In sixteenth-century writings, such as the Vindiciae contra tyrannos, or in the brief remarks of Calvin concerning the role of the ephori, and again in the political theory of Althusius, there had been a conscious effort to contain the right of resistance by identifying its exercise with specific institutions, such as a church, local assemblies, or specified magistrates.⁵⁴ Locke, however, located the right with "society," or, more specifically, with the majority.⁵⁵ In designating the majority as the instrument through which society acts, Locke dealt still another blow to the distinctive role of the political order. He conceived the majority independently of political processes and institutions; a force that supplied dynamic direction to society but one that originated outside political processes and institutions. "... It being necessary to that which is one body to move one way, it is necessary the body should move whither the greater force carries it, which is the consent of the majority." Locke however was not content to argue the role of the majority merely on the basis of its superior power. Might had to be clothed in right; that is, the majority had to be given authority. This was achieved through the basic contract: each "puts himself under an obligation to every one of that society to submit to the determination of the majority, and to be concluded by it . . . "56 In this way ultimate authority was identified with society. This had a significant effect upon the status of the political order, for the "socialization" of authority was accomplished by stripping authority from political institutions and leaving the latter dependent on society. A good example of this was Locke's treatment of the institution of monarchy which traditionally had been viewed as the supreme embodiment of political authority. Locke transformed kingship into mere executive office, without independent status, the mere agent of society. Its role was that of "image, phantom, or representative of the commonwealth, acted by the will of the society, declared in its laws . . . He has no will, no power, but that of the law."57

V. SOCIETY AND GOVERNMENT: SPONTANEITY VERSUS COERCION

Earlier it was briefly suggested that Locke had reversed the traditional priorities to establish society as the support of the political order rather than the reverse. This point can be made more precise by turning to Locke's concept of private property. The connection between property and the supportive role of society lies in Locke's identification of property with society rather than with the political order. The social character of property, and its resulting significance, have been overlooked by most commentators who have been intent to emphasize instead the contrast

between the Hobbesian and Lockean views of property and to demonstrate how one logically led to despotism and the other to limited government and individual rights. It is usually pointed out that Hobbes had held that, by strict logic, there could be no property rights prior to civil society because no effective power existed to enforce recognition of the right. Thus, by making property rights derivative from the will of the sovereign, Hobbes added one more element of power to Leviathan. In contrast, Locke asserted that private property had existed prior to the founding of civil society and this, so it is argued in most interpretations, affected his theory of governmental power and individual rights. If property were a pre-political right which men brought with them into civil society and one which they did not surrender, political power was faced with an imposing limitation. This interpretation, however, suffers from a misplaced emphasis. Far from advocating the immunity of property rights to political control, Locke made it abundantly clear that in the act of joining political society men submitted their possessions to its control. Security of possession did not, to his mind, mean the absence of political regulation, but only that such regulation ought not to be "arbitrary"; that is, incapable of being defended as in the common interest.⁵⁸ A more important weakness in the interpretation mentioned above is its failure to see that Locke was as fully intent on converting property into a bulwark of the political order as he was on providing for the preservation of this right.

To realize the significance of this we must go back to the pre-political origins of property. Now Locke's assertion that property preceded government made sense only if he simultaneously assumed the existence of society. What allows the act of appropriation to issue in "private" possession is that others will recognize the validity of the act. In other words, appropriation is individual in character, but the recognition which converts it into an effective right is social. In this sense, property can be said to be a social institution, identified with society rather than with the political order. The next stage is to show that the political order depended in large measure upon the social institution of property, or more precisely, that the promise of the members to obey political commands was registered through the social institution of property rather than through the "political" contract. What we are suggesting here is a revision of the common interpretation of Locke's theory of consent.

The usual interpretation is that the consensual basis of Locke's political society is contained in the "express" contract, as Locke called it, whereby each member signified his willingness to obey. Assuming this view to be correct, it is possible to conclude that Locke construed the problem of obligation in terms of a purely "political" act, occurring at a single moment, and that he optimistically believed that the stability and continuance of government were assured even though they depended on nothing more than the single promise of each member to keep his word. Against this view we would suggest that the express contract occupied a

LIBERALISM 279

subordinate role in maintaining the loyalty of the members over any stretch of time; that its significance was confined to two unique occasions, the founding of political society and the overthrow of government when there was appeal to the original agreement; and that the major device for securing the continuing consent of the members was the institution of private property.

Support for these propositions is to be found in Locke's doctrine of "tacit" consent. This form of agreement was introduced by Locke to overcome the objection that the original or express compact could not explain why later members, who might not have been parties to the original agreement, were nevertheless obliged to accept the commands of political authorities. The question, then, was whether an individual, in the absence of any explicit promise on his part, could be said to have consented to obey a government. Locke's answer was that an element of consent was indicated by such seemingly disparate acts as the exercise of property rights, traveling on the highways, or taking lodgings "only for a week." Obviously a net cast as widely as this would capture more individuals than any single express act of covenanting. Above all, it could be applied to later generations in a way that the express covenant could not. This becomes clearer as Locke's argument unfolds. He dropped the extreme and dubious claim that brief residence or use of the highways constituted true marks of political obligation and concentrated instead on the consensual significance of property rights. Any person who enjoyed property rights, ipso facto, was placed on the same footing with the original covenanters. His property and person became subject to the jurisdiction of the political society and he was obligated to obey its commands. The only distinction between the two forms of consent lay in the proviso that if an individual who had entered society by the tacit method surrendered his property rights, he was at liberty to leave, whereas the others were "perpetually and indispensably obliged."59

The final touch to the argument was to employ the institution of property inheritance to undercut the favorite notion of radicalism that each generation was free to reconstitute political society. 60 According to Locke, when an individual accepted a property bequest his act signified a "voluntary submission" to political society, because the enjoyment of his legacy depended upon the protections afforded by the law. 61 In this way the transmission of property supplied a recurrent affirmation of the explicit contract. The continuity of political society was assured by being linked to the perpetuation of economic possessions. At the same time, the seeming unity of a "generation" was dissolved by the act of inheritance that necessarily occurred in a series of disconnected, individual instances. 62 In summary we can say that Locke succeeded in converting property into an ingenious instrument for silently coercing men to political obedience. Surely the coercions were not less for saying that men were free to reject inherited wealth or to leave society without one's property. Hence what Locke remarked of the power that property gave to fathers over their children could with equal justice be

said of the power it gave society over the members: "This is no small tie" on their obedience.

Locke's candid recognition of the coercive element in ownership is revealing of the emerging liberal attitude towards coercion. Liberals proved to be unconcerned about the compulsions arising from a system of property because the pressures seemed to be impersonal and lacking in physical duress. On the other hand, liberals could become agitated over political power because it combined both a personal and a physical element. Locke defined political power as "a right of making laws with penalties of death and, consequently, all less penalties for the regulating and preserving of property, and of employing the force of the community in the execution of such laws, and in the defense of the commonwealth from foreign injury, and all this only for the public good." This tough-minded view of power is interesting for the way it identifies power with physical coercion and for its implication that this was the only kind of power at the disposal of government. The identification of government with coercion became part of the liberal outlook and was tersely summarized by Bastiat, the nineteenth-century French political economist: "It is of the essence of government that it acts on the citizens by way of constraint."

In many ways the political thought of the two centuries after Locke constituted one long commentary on the three themes just discussed: the equating of government with physical compulsion, the emergence of society as a self-subsistent entity, and the willingness to accept compulsion from an impersonal source. As we shall see later, liberalism itself admitted that in a society organized for the pursuit of desires, some modicum of constraint was necessary and hence government was necessary. Yet liberals also insisted that "society," in the words of Herbert Spencer, "goes on without any ministerial overseeing . . ."

In recent years this same cluster of ideas reappeared when classically minded liberals attacked the popular notion of "planning." Once again the same pejorative contrast was drawn between "the spontaneous forces of society" and the "coercion" employed by political direction. Once again the same suspicions of power exercised by a determinate, identifiable authority were coupled with an explicit preference for "the impersonal and anonymous mechanism of the market." Since the market represented merely the registered response of the consumers, i.e., "society," the resulting compulsion and inequalities had the advantage of being not only an impersonal, collective judgment but also a "democratic" one:

Under an unhampered market economy the appraisal of each individual's effort is detached from any personal considerations and can therefore be free both from bias and dislike . . . Salaries and wages do not depend on arbitrary decisions . . . Labor is, under capitalism, a commodity and is bought and sold as a commodity. [This] makes the wage earner free from any personal dependency . . . Consumers' choices do not concern the persons engaged in production; they concern things and not men. ⁶⁵

Liberals, however, were not the sole beneficiaries of the Lockean heritage. Radicals, such as Tom Paine and William Godwin, showed that a shift in emphasis combined with doctrinaire reasoning could produce a conception of society markedly different from that advocated by Locke but not without strong suggestion of his influence. Paine and Godwin accepted Locke's identification of the political with the coercive power of government, yet they denied that this factual assertion ought to provide the basis for the proper model of a political system. The new form for the political had to be sought elsewhere. Accordingly, they looked to society, with its characteristics of spontaneous cooperation, the peaceful satisfaction of needs, and the absence of central control, as the paradigm for the political order. In Paine's description, government should be "a national association acting on the principles of society."66 The same argument was extended by Godwin to justify anarchism. If government were converted into a mere executive agent of society, as both Paine and the more orthodox liberals argued it should, the next stage of human advance would be one where society was capable of acting for itself.⁶⁷

To model the political order after society, to re-create the spontaneity, naturalism, and peaceful relationships of society in a political setting was but to hanker after a non-political condition. The hostility towards politics gained further momentum in the nineteenth century and again it was the Lockean notion of society as a self-subsistent entity which supplied the inspiration for a wide variety of theories each sharing in this animus. One form which this took was the attempt to substitute administration for politics as the central method for handling social problems. In the bizarre theories of the Utopian Socialists, such as Fourier and Owen; in the managerial or technocratic society depicted by Saint-Simon; and, finally, in the Marxist-Leninist conception of the "withering away of the state," there was common agreement that society, given certain reforms, would spontaneously generate its own life. Politics and the political order, on the other hand, existed only because of the social cleavages stemming from outmoded forms of economic organization. Once these had been set right, conflict would cease and with it the raison d'être of the political order. The political art, like handicrafts, would be an historical curiosity. It would be replaced by the "administration of things"; that is, by a series of operations so highly routinized as to call for no greater knowledge or ability than that possessed by a competent bookkeeper.

Modern pluralism, which we shall discuss at greater length in the next chapter, represents still another offshoot of the same tradition. Like the anarchist and the Utopian Socialist, the pluralists too preferred "society," but for a somewhat different reason. Society was the repository of groups and associations which, to the pluralists, constituted the primary social realities. ⁶⁸ The pre-eminence of the political order was viewed as the consequence of the mistaken belief that society required a supreme or sovereign authority. Most socially necessary functions were

in fact being performed by voluntary groups, while the fulfillment of individual personality found its natural setting in group life rather than in the exercise of political citizenship. In the end the pluralists were driven to a position strangely similar to that of the managerialists, communists, and Lockean liberals. The shadow of the political order was preserved because, in a society of autonomous groups, some kind of coordinating power was needed—which is to say the political order is justified more out of weariness than design. But whether the modern political theorist is willing to concede a bookkeeping function to the political order, or whether he describes its task as "coordination," is largely irrelevant. For both are symptomatic of the penchant of modern political thought for converting political problems into administrative ones. ⁶⁹ It has been a long road from the philosophers of Plato to the expert commissions of Herbert Hoover.

VI. LIBERALISM AND ANXIETY

Liberalism has usually been regarded as an activist philosophy par excellence, identified with the demand for "natural liberty" and for the removal of those clogging restraints which prevented man from pursuing his interests, expressing his thoughts, or improving his social position. When we read the following from a modern exponent of classical economic liberalism we assume it faithfully reproduces the bourgeois ideal: the mark of "the great businessman" is "his indefatigable inventiveness and fondness for innovations . . . He embodies in his person the restless dynamism and progressivism inherent in capitalism . . . "; again, in speaking of the hopeful young man embarking on his career of acquisition: "as he grows older and realizes that many of his plans have been frustrated, he has no cause for despair. His children will start the race again . . . Life is worth living because it is full of promise."70 Thus it is accepted as axiomatic both by opponents and defenders that liberalism drew its strength from a robust confidence in man's creative abilities and a simple conviction that the natural world was so benevolently arranged that rational action and "strenuous effort" automatically produced happiness. The question we shall explore is whether liberalism was originally quite as naïve and confident, or quite as innocent of despair, as is so often assumed. If the question is put: what, according to the classical liberal theorists, moved man to action and, once in motion, what provided unceasing stimulus to his continuous activity, a far different profile appears, one deeply shaded by anxiety.

To appreciate this, it is necessary to go back to Locke's *Essay* which forms a kind of textbook for the psychology of liberal man. According to Locke, the springs of human action were not to be found in any simple desire to enjoy pleasure and avoid pain, much less in any lofty motive to advance the "greater good." "That which immediately determines the will" issued from a feeling of "uneasiness," a desire for "some absent good . . . Whatever we feel of uneasiness, so much

LIBERALISM 283

it is certain we want of happiness . . ."⁷¹ Far from being a condition of simple frustration, it had been shrewdly designed by a benevolent deity to insure the survival of the species. "The chief, if not only spur to human industry and action is uneasiness."⁷² Yet the notion that nature promoted happiness by the circuitous route of human anxieties contained the first traces of a growing sense of man's alienation from nature and hence lent a kind of frantic quality to his activity. The "deception" practiced by nature, Smith wrote, "rouses and keeps in continual motion the industry of mankind."⁷³

The overtones of a fundamental hostility between man and nature became more pronounced as the liberals recognized that two of the fundamental principles of their philosophy, the institution of private property and the act of labor which created property, were both directed against nature in order to force her favors. This view of labor and private property as part of an organized assault upon nature, as well as the uneasiness which it bred, had been implicit in Locke's description of the origins of private property. In the Lockean state of nature "all the fruits [the earth] naturally produces and beasts it feeds belong to mankind in common, as they are produced by the spontaneous hand of nature." But nature's bounty was insufficient in itself to support human advance, or, as Locke phrased it in the *Essays on the Law of Nature*, nature's goods are not "increasing in proportion with what men need or covet." In order to exist, therefore, man is compelled to "subdue" nature, exploit her riches and draw out her secrets.⁷⁴

The relationship between man as producer and nature as the exploitable stuff of production remained a continuing source of anxiety for liberal writers. As the nineteenth century wore on, liberalism increasingly manifested what can only be called a guilt complex about nature. For on the basis of the proposition central to political economy, that labor and production were the fundamental processes whereby a society maintained its existence, that, as McCulloch put it, "nature spontaneously furnishes the matter of which commodities are made, but, until labour has been expended in appropriating matter, or in adapting it to our use, it is wholly destitute of value,"⁷⁵ it followed that that society which erected production into a way of life could be fairly described as an organized assault on nature. In the words of the American economist H. C. Carey,* "wealth consists in the power to command the always gratuitous service of nature, whether rendered by the brain of man, or by the matter by which he is surrounded, and upon which it is required to operate."⁷⁶ By the middle of the nineteenth century,

^{*} Henry C. Carey (1793–1879) was an influential American economist whose basic work, *The Principles of Social Science* (1858–1859), was widely read on the Continent as well as in America. Most historians of economic doctrines have classified Carey as an "optimist" for his attempts to revise the gloomy implications of the "law of diminishing returns." Originally a free trader, he later became an advocate of protectionism.

however, the exploitation of nature had ceased to be viewed as a game of wits in which nature surrendered to those who had solved her secrets. The spirit of gamesmanship was shattered on the realization that the activity directed at nature, far from being played by the measured tempo of gambit and ploy, was more an insane ritual, performed to the jagged rhythm of creation and destruction, and leaving exposed a deep sense of guilt among the participants:

Everything which is produced perishes, and most things very quickly . . . Capital is kept in existence from age to age not by preservation, but by perpetual reproduction: every part of it is used and destroyed generally very soon after it is produced, but those who consume it are employed meanwhile in producing more.⁷⁷

The final touch to the encounter between man and nature was supplied by the Malthusian theory which, in retrospect, seems in equal parts an account of nature's revenge and of man's expiation. In Malthus' description, the "laws of nature" were grim decrees relentlessly exacting retribution from societies for years of wilful violation. The assault on nature had been waged under the foolish belief that nature was a bottomless cornucopia, but the impending crisis in the means of subsistence was nature's reply to man's presumption. More cunning still was the punishment which nature had devised. Compliance with nature's laws demanded sexual abstinence as one of the means for easing population pressures. This meant, however, that the human condition could be eased only by setting man at war with his own nature. Nature implants in man an instinctual desire to produce offspring, but this drive is thwarted by nature's own warning that each offspring merely increases the numbers pressing on the limited supply of necessities. Yet if man tries to restrain his natural appetites, he is driven to find outlets in vice. Thus what nature implants in man in the way of sex drives she frustrates by way of a niggardly subsistence: after years of exploitation she has turned on her tormentor.⁷⁸ It is small wonder that to the younger Mill nature had become a kind of horror:

... Her powers are often towards man in the position of enemies, from whom he must wrest, by force and ingenuity, what little he can for his own use ... Nature impales men, breaks them as if on the wheel, casts them to be devoured by wild beasts, burns them to death ... and has hundreds of other hideous deaths in reserve, such as the ingenious cruelty of a Nabis or a Domitian never surpassed.⁷⁹

During the nineteenth century nature's hostility received further confirmation by the Darwinian theory of the endless struggle of the species to maintain itself in an ever-threatening environment. It is significant that one of the most influential schools of liberalism deriving from "social Darwinism," namely that of the late John Dewey, should have emphasized the need of man's readjustment to nature rather than his triumph over it. 80

At the same time that liberal man was growing steadily alienated from nature

he was also becoming painfully conscious that the price exacted for civilized society was the repression of his own nature. In our own day Freud has argued that civilization consists of a set of necessary but repressive arrangements evolved to control, thwart, and divert man's drive for the gratification of his natural instincts. The irony of progress lay in the fact that it could be achieved only at the expense of man's natural desires and hence of his happiness.⁸¹ Substantially the same analysis had been made by John Stuart Mill more than a half-century earlier. "Civilization," he had written, "in every one of its aspects is a struggle against the animal instincts . . . It has artificialized large portions of mankind to such an extent that of many of their most natural inclinations they have scarcely a vestige or a remembrance left."82 Mill differed from Freud not only by clinging to a greater optimism about the durability of civilized restraints, but, above all, by urging an all-out war against instinct. Since "nearly every respectable attribute of humanity is the result not of instinct, but of a victory over instinct," the aim of education should be "not simply to regulate [the undesirable instincts] but to extirpate, or rather . . . to starve them by disuse."83 How well Mill and the liberals succeeded in their campaign of repression can be measured perhaps by the phenomenal success of psychiatry: psychoanalysis is the science necessitated by the liberal ethos.

The anxieties besetting liberalism were further intensified through the alliance which quickly developed between liberal political theory and classical economics. Locke had earlier pointed out that "whenever either the desire or the need of property increases among men, there is no extension, then and there, of the world's limits . . . It is impossible for anyone to grow rich except at the expense of someone else."84 Nevertheless, scarcity did not constitute a basic presupposition of liberalism until the alliance with economics was secured. One of the peculiarities of economics as a body of knowledge was its insistence on the primary importance of the scarcity of goods and wealth. Consequently the early economists accepted as their special concern the job of examining the processes whereby nature's scanty resources were allocated among the various classes of society and the operation of the various factors which set limits to wealth and productivity. The concepts employed in early economic analysis invariably denoted rigid or inelastic quantities, such as land, labor, capital, or wage fund. The consequence of these ideas was to strengthen the implication that we have already noted in Locke's conception of the role of philosophy; namely, that human action was confined within rather narrow limits and that the existence of an imposing number of fixed conditions eliminated the opportunities for large-scale action of a truly creative kind. As the younger Mill expressed it,

howsoever we may succeed in making for ourselves more space within the limits set by the constitution of things, we know that there must be limits . . . There are

286 CHAPTER NINE

ultimate laws, which we did not make, which we cannot alter, and to which we can only conform. 85

The stark estimate of the English economists respecting the potentialities of production stood in sharp contrast to the expansive sentiments represented by the French Physiocrat, Mercier de la Rivière, who declared that man could create an organization "which would necessarily produce all the happiness that can be enjoyed on earth."86 The difficulty, as the English writers pointed out, was that production depended on investment, and hence the decision as to where and how capital ought to be invested was always governed by the fixed amount of capital available. As Bentham put it, "just so much capital as is employed in [one] way, is prevented from being employed in any other." Bentham went on to point out in the Manual of Political Economy that the fundamental principle or "groundwork of the whole" was "the limitation of industry by the limitation of capital."87 It was this proposition that dictated the classical attack on all forms of government interference. Bounties, monopolies, preferential taxation, etc., were all based on the fallacy that new wealth could be produced by government regulation. In reality, political action could only divert existing capital into channels which it would not otherwise follow: "what they had transferred, they thought they had created." Moreover, as Smith asserted, "every derangement of the natural distribution of stock is necessarily hurtful" and, in the last analysis, unjust, because it benefits one group or class at the expense of another. 88 These ideas were carried over into the problem of distribution and serve to explain the sense of helplessness among the economists when they confronted the condition of the working classes. The new science of economy had posited the existence of a fixed fund for wages in any given year; hence no amount of agitation on the part of the workers for a greater share could soften this harsh fact.⁸⁹

It is within this context of scarcity that the liberal concept of work is to be understood. Later interpretations have strongly suggested that work was something the bourgeoisie undertook with gusto: motivated by the endless possibilities of acquisition they hurled themselves into economic activity and converted hard work into a joyous dedication. Although the interpretation forwarded by Weber and Tawney, which emphasizes the assimilation of work to a type of religious calling, is far closer to the truth, it fails to bring out the parallel between the insecurities besetting the Calvinist believer and the anxieties accompanying economic action, just as it neglects the joyless attitude common to both the search for salvation and economic security. Work, as the liberal writers never tired of insisting, was not a free choice but a grim necessity. From the beginning of human history, Locke declared, "the law man was under" made him an "appropriating" animal. "God commanded, and [man's] wants, forced him to labor." The nature of labor was made more explicit by Adam Smith but with an element of irony

added. Work was elevated into being the primary source of economic value, but it was also an act of deprivation. To labor meant to suffer, to lose ease, liberty, and happiness. "Although man abhors pain and suffering," wrote one of Smith's French disciples, "he is condemned by nature to suffering and privation unless he undergoes the pain of work." Far from being the spontaneous expression of personality drives, labor was depicted by the classical economists, such as McCulloch, as an Old Testament punishment: "the eternal law of Providence has decreed that wealth can only be secured by industry—that man must earn his bread by the sweat of his brow." 92

These injunctions took on further poignancy with the development of the law of diminishing returns, a notion which the younger Mill reckoned "the most important proposition in political economy." According to Senior's* succinct formulation, "with every increase of the labor bestowed, the aggregate is increased, [but] the increase of the return is not in proportion to the increase of the labour." After it was realized that the continued expenditure of energy and wealth was self-defeating, only the addition of the Malthusian thesis was required for the fears of the liberals to verge towards hysteria. If, as Malthus maintained, population advanced at a steady geometric ratio while the food supply lagged at an arithmetic pace, the issue no longer concerned the distribution of fairly constant quantities but coping with a growing scarcity of basic necessities.

What was involved here was nothing less than a crisis in the whole liberal outlook on history. Again this has been obscured by a blanket of misinterpretations. Radicals like Condorcet might assert that the "perfectibility of man is indefinite," and human intelligence would reach a stage where error would be "almost impossible." Militants like Priestley might prophesy that the end of the world "will be glorious and paradisiacal, beyond what our imaginations might now conceive," but the liberal tradition which drew from Adam Smith differed from both these by virtue of its more sober estimate of the human condition and by its selection of a different set of questions for investigation. There was only a sceptical doubt about limitless progress, and little taste for futurist speculation. What interested Smith was the slow transition from barbarism to civilization, and what caught his curiosity was the role of non-rational forces and the unintended consequences of actions. Progress was not the product of conscious purpose, but of a concatenation of factors which included many actions undertaken for ends quite different from the results that actually occurred. 95

^{*} Nassau Senior (1790–1864) was at one time Professor of Political Economy at Oxford and served on several royal commissions. He was author of the report on which the Poor Law of 1834 was based. He subscribed to the basic principles of classical economics and developed them with great clarity and precision. Among his most impressive writings were those which tried to define rigorously the bounds and limits of economic science.

Instead of attending to history as a relentless progression from one plateau of achievement to another and still higher one, the liberal tradition was haunted by the specter of a "static society" or, as it was often called, "the stationary state." Following Montesquieu's conception of the "spirit" of a social system, Smith argued that every society had a potential limit of wealth determined by its complex of laws, institutions, climate, and natural resources; beyond this limit it could not go. When society had exhausted its economic energy, it would be unable to muster a wage fund sufficient to meet the needs of a growing working population. 96 By the time Malthus wrote his Essay on Population (1798), this notion of the natural limits of economic expansion had moved to the center of attention. The stage was now prepared for a direct challenge to the sanguine views of Godwin and Condorcet that there were no fixed boundaries to human advance. Malthus proceeded to show that the lag between food supply and population growth operated as an unbreakable "natural law" which predetermined the limits of progress at any given stage of history. Inevitably the triumphal march towards progress would slowly slacken and gradually assume the cadence of a wake. Instead of the Enlightenment notion that the unfolding of historical time was synonymous with advance, time was now viewed as the carrier of unhappiness, possibly even retrogression.⁹⁷

With the publication of John Stuart Mill's *Principles of Political Economy* (1848) the "stationary state" was accepted as inevitable by the most influential liberal writer of the century. Mill tried to make the best of it by arguing that when the plateau of productivity and wealth had been reached, men would no longer be obsessed by the pursuit of wealth and hence the possibility was open for a richer spirituality and a gentler ethic. 98 Yet the argument itself marked the inversion of one of the basic liberal postulates concerning history: instead of the belief that moral and intellectual progress depended upon unceasing material advance, true progress was identified with the stage when material growth had ceased.

Liberal doubts about the possibility of continued progress were but part of a troubled outlook on society. In the seventeenth century, liberalism had been characterized by a confident belief in the capaciousness of society, in the existence of sufficient social space to accommodate the driving energies unleashed by Protestantism and capitalism. Locke had based the primitive right of property on the fact that, before the invention of money, there had been sufficient land for all. Even when money had been introduced by consent and had ushered in an era where many men were without land, i.e., without a social plot they could call their own, Locke stoutly maintained that the large unused areas in the world still afforded enough social mobility to forestall a crisis. ⁹⁹ In the eighteenth century the liberal conception of social space was given more precise form by the classical economists. They utilized the Lockean premise of spaciousness to attack mercantilist restrictions, guild controls, monopolies, and conspiracies. Every arrange-

ment which impeded movement, or established the monopolistic right of some group to dominate a particular sector of society, should be removed. ¹⁰⁰ If human action were thus left free to respond to the dictates of natural incentives and the laws of the market, there would be little danger of these lines of action colliding. There existed opportunity and room for all.

Substantially the same argument was employed when liberal political theory turned to the problem of group rivalries or "factions." In the *Federalist Papers* Madison argued brilliantly that group conflict could not be extirpated in a free society and hence the only hope was to dissipate its intensities over a wide area. The solution was a federal republic extending over a broad geographical area, "a greater sphere of country." And it was precisely because of the almost illimitable space at its disposal, Madison contended, that the American republic could succeed where smaller republics had failed.

But in the early nineteenth century doubts began to be expressed about the adequacy of space at man's disposal. In France Benjamin Constant wondered whether the task of government consisted merely in removing hindrances (which would be sufficient were there ample room for human action), or whether it ought not to try "to preserve each individual in the plot (partie) he had come to occupy" (which would be a policy more consonant with a crowded condition).¹⁰¹ These faint symptoms of social claustrophobia became pronounced when the full meaning of Malthus' theories had been accepted. "Man is necessarily confined in room," Malthus declared, because nature had been "comparatively sparing in the room and the nourishment" necessary to sustain a growing population. From this crowded condition stemmed a vast number of social evils: vice, overcrowded and filthy cities, the depressed condition of the working classes, general restlessness in society, and a readiness on the part of the masses to seek quick and radical remedies to their distress. 102 "... It is some hardship," the younger Mill pointed out, "to be born into the world and to find all nature's gifts previously engrossed, and no place left for the new-comer." Appalled at the ethic of a crowded, industrialized society, with its "trampling" and "elbowing," and dismayed at the ugliness of urbanized civilization, Mill sought comfort in solitude and communion with nature:

It is not good for man to be kept perforce at all times in the presence of his species. A world from which solitude is extirpated is a very poor ideal . . . Nor is there much satisfaction in contemplating the world with nothing left to the spontaneous activity of nature; with every rood of land brought into cultivation . . . every flowery waste or natural pasture ploughed up, all quadrupeds or birds which are not domesticated for man's use exterminated as his rivals for food . . . ¹⁰³

In view of the emerging picture of society, as one where the avenues of movement were steadily being jammed, the older model of social space could not be maintained. This was made more evident once the problem of scarcity was introduced into a setting where individuals and groups could not avoid rubbing up against each other. In other words, the end product of crowdedness and shortage was not just social friction but class war. In confronting the problems issuing from an economy of scarcity, the liberals were driven to do what practically every political theory must; namely, to justify a system inherently unequal in its distributive principle. In economic terms this called for an explanation of why the wealth annually produced by society had to be divided unequally among the various classes. As a consequence, the liberals were led to formulate a theory of class struggle which anticipated one of the basic principles of later socialism. Locke had called attention to the "pulling and contest" between the main economic interest groups, and later Bentham saw in all of history "a universal scramble" among ruling groups for money, power, and prestige. ¹⁰⁴ The obvious conclusion to be drawn from a situation of scarcity and conflict was stated by James Mill:

The results are exceedingly different, when nature produces the objects of desire not in sufficient abundance for all. The source of dispute is then exhaustless; and every man has the means of acquiring authority over others, in proportion to the quantity of those objects which he is able to possess.¹⁰⁵

The liberals were not so naïve as to believe that rational explanation alone could dissipate the dangerous discontents which would naturally arise among those who felt slighted after the cake had been sliced. They recognized that sooner or later the aggrieved groups would locate the source of their misery in private property and then a general assault on the system could be expected. This was the chain of reasoning which led to the liberal theory of the state. The state existed not only to preserve property, but to provide a generalized feeling of security in a society where "the idle and improvident are always desirous of seizing the earnings of the laborious and frugal." The liberal conception of the state was rooted in psychological anxieties rather than acquisitiveness:

It is only under the shelter of the civil magistrate that the owner of that valuable property, which is acquired by the labour of many years, or perhaps of many successive generations, can sleep a single night in security. He is at all times surrounded by unknown enemies, whom, though he never provoked, he can never appease, and from whose injustice he can be protected only by the powerful arm of the civil magistrate continually held up to chastise it.¹⁰⁷

Against this backdrop of economic scarcity, contending classes, crowded space, and the limited possibilities of ameliorative action, anxious man emerges as the creation of liberalism. Nineteenth-century existentialism and twentieth-century neo-orthodox theology have elevated to moral and philosophical status what liberalism had experienced as fact. It was anxiety which drove liberal man to unrelenting activity—anxiety from struggling to eke out existence in the face of a

hostile nature, anxiety from the precarious state of possessions in a society where the masses were often desperately hungry, and, equally strong, anxiety stemming from the appetites instilled by society. Locke had noted that socially acquired habits infected men with an "itch after honour, power, and riches"—a craving which bred a "fantastical uneasiness." "Fear and anxiety," Smith declared, "are the great tormentors of the human breast"—an outlook which made his dictum that "man was made for action" appear less the confident counsel of a brisk head-master than a physician's sedative for neurosis. It remained for Bentham to point out "the great advantages attendant on a busy life" by advising his readers to have "projects" always in mind; it was these which gave men an assurance of a "future." Busyness as a way of life had more to recommend than the "painful probe" of one's inner life. Self-knowledge, far from being the liberating pursuit that the classical writers had claimed, was something most men found painful and repellent. "Self-study" meant stripping off the "slight tincture" of socially altruistic motives, and exposing self-interest in all of its primal rawness. ¹⁰⁹

To interpret the liberal phronesis as the sign of an inner confidence, or as the ideology of a bustling, acquisitive class in the ascendancy, is to miss the pathos of action cultivated as an escape from gnawing doubts. It is this pathos which gave a grim overtone to liberal man's "pursuit of happiness," the phrase used by Locke and later immortalized by Jefferson. Happiness could be described as a "pursuit" precisely because it was unstable and elusive. And as happiness became increasingly identified with money, that is with a relative and highly insecure good, it would seem that the dedication of liberal man to the pursuit of happiness was a form of masochism, and that for society to enshrine this pursuit as a sacred right was to give legal status to anxiety.

To quell any possible doubts about whether this kind of happiness was worth having, economists thought it necessary to exhort men to be acquisitive, as though doubts could be drowned in further activity. To the liberal economists acquisitiveness was not the natural, spontaneous instinct that their critics have thought, but a type of motivation to be acquired, or, better yet, instilled. In advocating, as political economists did, a general system of education to promote the stimulation of desires, political economy wrote a prescription which intensified the insecurity and futility that its own theories had revealed. Thus, in a striking anticipation of the theory of endless titillation now practiced by modern commercial advertising, McCulloch wrote:

The first and grand object ought always to be to excite a taste for superfluities; for, when once this taste has been excited, it is consequently easy to give it any particular bias or direction; and until it has been excited, society can make no progress. ¹¹¹

Small wonder that by the middle of the nineteenth century John Stuart Mill was led to a passionate protest against "the all-engrossing torment" of industrialism

and to counsel Englishmen and Americans "to moderate the ardor of their devotion to the pursuit of wealth." ¹¹²

VII. BEYOND THE PLEASURE PRINCIPLE: THE PROBLEM OF PAIN

The picture of liberal man as anxiety-ridden might seem at odds not only with the usual portrait drawn by conservative critics but also with what the liberals themselves said about the primary importance of the pursuit of happiness or pleasure. Bentham's assertion, that "every man's necessary impulse is towards the economy of happiness," is usually taken to represent the liberal tradition's view of man as a creature who naturally desires happiness and who bases his conduct on a course of action which will attain this end. 113 Yet the phrase employed by Bentham, "the economy of happiness," hinted at the belief of liberals that happiness had to be pursued with cunning and tracked down methodically precisely because of the scarce nature of the objects with which it was identified. Moreover, given "the scanty materials of happiness," as James Mill phrased it, and given the reduction of the human condition to one where men experienced either pain *or* pleasure, it would seem to follow that the possibilities for pain exceeded the opportunities for pleasure. 114

This suggests that the liberal's desperate insistence on the primacy of the pleasure principle as the dominant motivation was meant to compensate for the real source of his worries: the predominance of pain in the world. What John Stuart Mill wrote about his father could be easily extended to the liberal tradition as a whole: "he had . . . scarcely any belief in pleasure . . . He deemed very few of them worth the price which, at least in the present state of society, must be paid for them." What these expressions imply is that liberalism, perhaps to a greater degree than any other political theory, first revealed how exposed were the nerve ends of modern man, how heightened his sensitivity to pain. "Never has it happened to me," Bentham confessed, "to witness suffering on the part of any creature, without experiencing, in some degree or other, a sensation of the like nature in my own nerves." 116

Our thesis is, in short, that the anxieties besetting liberal man were rooted in his belief in the ever-present possibility of pain and that this belief, in turn, shaped in an important way his attitudes towards the role of government, the possibilities of political action, the nature of justice, and the function of law and legal penalties. "The whole of government," Bentham was to write, "is but a connected series of . . . sacrifices." ¹¹⁷

In exploring this problem we must recognize that we are dealing with a notion that underwent important changes, that, in other words, liberalism manifested a developing sensitivity to pain to the point that Malthus could speak of "misery and the fear of misery" as the "law of necessity" reigning over the human con-

dition. The first major writer, relevant to the tradition we are dealing with, to emphasize the significance of pain had been Hobbes. He had singled out "aversion" as one of the basic forms of human motion which, when translated into the driving fear of violent death, became the creative force provoking men to the rational decision of forming a commonwealth. 119 Yet it was precisely this latter aspect of fear as a creative force, to be manipulated for positive ends, that separated the Hobbesian from the later liberal conception of fear. Hobbes had transferred fear between men, which had been the essence of the state of nature, to fear of men towards their sovereign. In short, Hobbesian society was sustained by the institutionalization and perpetuation of fear.

Although Locke agreed that the natural condition was "full of fears and continual dangers," he thought that the establishment of civil society would diminish these evils and the pains associated with them. 120 On the whole, Locke accorded pain a position of parity with pleasure. "Nature . . . has put into man a desire of happiness and an aversion to misery," and both of these sensations were expressions of the divine arrangement. Pleasure functioned to spur men into activity, and without it "we should neither stir our bodies nor employ our minds." Pain, on the other hand, served only to warn men away from harmful lines of action. 121

In the early eighteenth century a shift in emphasis began to appear, one which reshuffled the Lockean elements into a new combination wherein pain loomed as the dominant factor in the divine arrangement. The best expression of this is to be found in a brief essay written by Benjamin Franklin in 1725 entitled A Dissertation on Liberty and Necessity, Pleasure and Pain. What Franklin did was to alter the notational principle of Locke's theory, first, by placing pain at the center, and, secondly, by identifying man's anxiety or "uneasiness" with a desire to escape from pain rather than with the pursuit of a fugitive happiness. "How necessary a Thing in the Order and Design of the Universe this Pain or Uneasiness is, and how beautiful in its Place!" Uneasiness, Franklin argued, was "the first Spring and Cause of all Action" and man's conduct was shaped by the fundamental end of gaining freedom from uneasiness. Pleasure was not eliminated as a goal of human striving, but it was radically redefined. It no longer stood as an alternative distinct from pain. Pleasure was in fact rooted in pain in that the escape from pain was the attainment of pleasure: "Pleasure is wholly caus'd by Pain . . . The highest Pleasure is only Consciousness of Freedom from the deepest Pain . . . "122

The primacy of pain was accepted into classical economics as well. Smith flatly declared that pain "is in almost all cases a more pungent sensation than the opposite and correspondent pleasure." 123 The fullest recognition came with Bentham, however. "The real question" concerning all living beings, animal or human, was not "Can they *reason?* nor, Can they *talk?* but, Can they *suffer?*" 124

Given the centrality of pain for liberal man, Bentham's preoccupation with penal reform becomes clearly understandable. His concern to define punishment

as precisely as possible, to establish a definite ratio between the degree of punishment and the magnitude of the crime, emanated from the hope of confining pain as narrowly as possible by making it more objective.¹²⁵

The ubiquity of pain, its elevation to a psychological status equal and sometimes superior to that of pleasure, occupied a central place in the classical theory of economic behavior. Exchange relationships, for example, were discussed in terms of the pleasures to be gained by the transaction as balanced against the pains involved in surrendering an object which had itself been produced by an act of suffering, that is, labor. Similarly the act of production was rooted in pain: in the exertions of the laborer and the denial of indulgence which had allowed the entrepreneur to accumulate capital. 126

The reality of pain in the liberal scheme of things makes it necessary to reconsider the widespread belief that the "economic man" of liberalism was dominated almost exclusively by the motive of acquisitiveness. In reality, the *homo economicus* of liberal theory was a creature not so much obsessed by the quest for gain as one frightened by the ever-present prospect of loss. "Bankruptcy is perhaps the greatest and most humiliating calamity that can befall an innocent man." To suffer a loss in the competitive struggle for advantage was to experience a far deeper sensation than that accompanying a highly profitable transaction. The pains of deprivation were greater than the pleasures of acquisition: "by the nature and constitution of the human frame, sum for sum, enjoyment from *gain* is never equal to suffering from loss." 127

Thus liberal man emerges as a being supremely sensitive to the specific form of pain produced by the loss of wealth or status. The preservation of the self, therefore, becomes a more formidable task for the liberal than it had been for Hobbes. According to Hobbes the desire for self-preservation was basic in the sense of being a response to the threat of violent death. Self-preservation was thus closely bound to man's physical integrity and not to his worldly goods or position. Admittedly Hobbesian man did not take kindly to the loss of his goods or status, yet deprivation did not shake the very fibers of his being. The personality of liberal man, however, was sensitively attuned to the world of wealth and status. Self-preservation was broadened to include not merely "life" but "the means of it"; that is, liberty and property. As Locke had shown, man's personality had been extended into external objects and when those objects were taken away, the resulting shock profoundly affected human sensibilities.

This meant that there were now several possible threats to the self over and above the physical kind; it meant further that the intensity of pain suffered in the loss of wealth or status was equal to the pain of physical hurt. This was recognized by Bentham when he accorded the desire for profits a status of equality with the desire for self-preservation. By this reasoning Bentham was led to argue that the fear aroused by the loss of profits was equal in intensity to the fear of violent

death, and hence the pain consequent upon economic loss was comparable to that of physical injury. Liberal man moved in a world where pain and deprivation threatened him from all sides. His fears were compressed into a single demand: social and political arrangements must ease his anxieties by securing property and status against all threats excepting those posed by the competitive chase itself. His aversion to pain defined that demand even more closely: to be secure was to be able to "count on things," to be able to act with the comforting knowledge that one's property would not be snatched away, a contract would not go unperformed, a debt would be honored. Everything hinged on having secure expectations. The fundamental institution of private property was itself "only a foundation of expectation." So crucial to liberal man was the sense of secure expectations that ultimately the satisfaction of expectations was identified with justice. In Bentham's jurisprudence justice was defined as the "disappointment-preventing principle" and the whole system of civil law was dedicated to "the exclusion of disappointment." 132

Expectations were deemed fundamental by the liberals not only because it allowed men "to form a general plan of conduct," but because it endowed the individual with an historical identity. Stated somewhat differently, expectation formed the liberal counterpart to the conservative principle of the continuity between generations:

... It is by means of [expectations] that the successive moments which form the duration of life are not like insulated and independent parts but become parts of a continuous whole. Expectation is a chain which unites our present and our future existence and passes beyond us to the generations which follow.¹³³

From the argument concerning expectations and the fears expressed about loss or deprivation, it becomes apparent that it was not economic loss in a pure sense which created apprehension, but rather the decline in social status attendant upon economic loss. 134 As Smith recognized, once the basic necessities had been satisfied, the main stimulus to further acquisition lay in the desire for social prestige and approval. "The desire of becoming the proper objects of this respect, of deserving and obtaining this credit and rank among our equals is, perhaps, the strongest of all our desires." But the importance attached to status made the possibility of loss of status appear "worse than death." Man's suffering was more intense, Smith declared, "when we fall from a better to a worse situation than we ever enjoy when we rise from a worse to a better."135 The fears and anxieties connected with preserving status in an intensely competitive world were heightened by the sentence which society pronounced on the poor man. It was not his economic misery that made him an object of horror, but his bitter social isolation: his poverty "places him out of the sight of mankind," and other men have "scarce any fellow-feeling with the misery and distress which he suffers . . . To feel that

we are taken no notice of necessarily damps the most agreeable hope and disappoints the most ardent desire of human nature." 136

The ethical response of liberalism to the uncertainties of social status took shape in the doctrine of prudence. ¹³⁷ As far back as Locke there had been two distinct but related aspects of prudence which had been singled out for attention. First, prudence emerged as the natural accompaniment of man's middling status in the universe, the corollary to his shedding the illusion of heroic abilities. Second, as a style of behavior, prudence was the direct expression of an ethic of timidity rather than daring. These two aspects were summarized in Locke's remark:

The next thing to happiness in the other world is a quiet and prosperous passage through this, which requires a discreet conduct and management of ourselves in the several occurrences of our lives. The study of prudence then seems to me to deserve the second place in our thoughts and studies. ¹³⁸

These two themes, prudence as a middle-range virtue and as part of an ethic of timidity, were continued by Adam Smith, but with a significant addition. He identified the "middling" quality of prudence not only with man's cosmic rank but with his social status as well. Prudence, in other words, expressed the moral style of bourgeois man. The nature of "men in the inferior and middling stations of life" was shaped by two specific social imperatives: they are overawed by the rules of justice, and hence their conduct is directed by a desire to avoid legal infractions; and their social success "almost always depends upon the favour and good opinion of their neighbours and equals." Thus prudence represented a neat convergence of three elements: a "middling" social status, a modest and unheroic conduct appropriate to that status, and a middle-range set of objectives—"such fortune . . . as men in such stations can reasonably expect to acquire." 139 The classical formulation of the doctrine is to be found in Smith's portrait of the "prudent man." Here prudence was conceived as the type of knowledge suited to a character that was "cautious rather than enterprising." It was virtue cut not for the restless, aggressive buccaneering entrepreneur—the "robber-baron" type of late nineteenth-century America—but for those who wished to retain status by avoiding "any sort of hazard." These uncertainties were nicely expressed in the declamation of a nineteenth-century American orator: "Be bold! And everywhere, BE BOLD! BE NOT TOO BOLD!"140 According to Smith's characterization, the prudent man was one who was careful to live within his income, and to be satisfied with "small accumulations," hesitant to go "in quest of new enterprises and adventures," and, like apolitical Hobbesian man, reluctant to engage in political activity except from "self-defense." His virtues of frugality and thrift were not practiced from a carefully calculated scheme to accumuate capital so as to slowly extend his economic power, but rather were "defensive" virtues aimed at cutting his losses and preserving his social position.¹⁴¹

The same liberal psychology of fear and anxiety which had elevated statuspreservation to the place occupied by self-preservation in the Hobbesian scheme led directly to installing security as the main end of human activity and social policy. 142 The problem was formulated concisely and candidly by Bentham in connection with his discussion of the ends of legislation. There were, he decided, four main objectives at which the lawmaker should aim: subsistence, economic abundance, equality, and security. The first two items, subsistence and abundance, could be best achieved by inaction on the part of government; that is, by leaving individuals free to pursue the best economic opportunities. The crux of the difficulty was presented by equality, for if a deliberate policy were adopted to equalize fortunes, the resulting fears on the part of the wealthy classes concerning their property would paralyze initiative. It followed that equality must give place to security of possession, because the psychological malaise attendant upon social leveling would be felt more deeply, that is, produce more pain, than the pleasures experienced by those whose lot would be somewhat improved. 143 As Smith had put it earlier, "a very considerable degree of inequality is not near so great an evil as a very small degree of uncertainty."144

VIII. Liberalism and Moral Judgments: The Substitution of Interest for Conscience

In the minds of later political writers, liberalism has come to be identified with the view that man is essentially rational in nature and that his conduct is in fact governed by reason. Once again, however, this widespread notion about liberalism is quite mistaken. We shall try to show in the following pages that, in terms of dominant emphasis, the liberal tradition contained very strong reservations about the controlling function of reason in human behavior. In addition, it will be suggested that while the liberals often proclaimed the need for rational political policies and objective public judgments, they actually produced a theory which made objective social and political judgments impossible. In order to understand why liberals failed on this score it is necessary to fix their starting point. This was the problem left unsolved by the Protestant Reformers and Hobbes: the problem of subjectivism implicit in both the Protestant belief in the primacy of individual judgment and the Hobbesian insistence that human judgments were inevitably tainted by personal bias or by interest. As the political philosophy which accepted the Protestant heritage of the right of individual judgment and went beyond Hobbes in converting the fact of individual bias into a norm, liberalism shouldered a burden it could not carry.

As a starting point it is necessary to rid our thinking of the caricature of liberal man as a reasoning machine. Rather, liberal writers beginning with Locke and extending through Smith, Hume, and the Utilitarians emphasized repeatedly that

man was a creature of strong passions. Locke himself had alluded to "the lawless exorbitancy of unconfined man" and had remarked that "passion" and "interest" had, in the state of nature, caused men to misapply the laws of nature; civil society, from this point of view, formed the remedy to man's passions. ¹⁴⁵ Accordingly, Locke denied that "each person is at liberty to do what he himself, according to circumstances, judges to be of advantage to him." ¹⁴⁶

But after liberalism was crossed with classical economics, this was precisely what liberals could not deny. They could not because, unlike Locke, they had ceased to believe that judgments about right conduct were rational or objective. Passion and desire, with all of their bewildering personal variations, were the stuff of moral judgments. The lesson liberals learned from Hume and Smith was that reason was not the source of moral judgments nor the main spring of human conduct. Morals were the products of human feelings. They originated in desires and needs and were approved by the passions. Reason was delegated the role of determining the most efficient means to achieving the ends proposed by feeling. "It is by hopes and fears," wrote Bentham, "that the *ends* of action are determined; all that reason does is to find and determine the means."

In the classical conception of economic behavior passion was not only enthroned in a directive role, but it performed the same function in economic conduct as it did in moral conduct. Just as Hume had argued that the rational element in moral conduct was confined to discovering the means for gratifying the ends dictated by the passions, so the economists looked upon rational calculation as instrumental to fulfilling the objects of desire. Hence the textbook picture of liberal man as born in foresight, baptized in shrewdness, and confirmed in calculation is about as distorted as possible: acquisitiveness was founded on desire.

If this is appreciated we are in a position to see how liberalism transformed the older notion of the common good from an object posited by reason to one rooted in desire. Again there was an exact parallel between moral theory and economic theory which was best exemplified in the writings of Adam Smith. Because unaided reason was an inadequate means to guide behavior along morally desirable paths, "nature" generously makes good the deficit by endowing men with the necessary passions or "appetites" for the ends of self-preservation and the propagation of the species. Moreover, she implants in man an "instinctive" sense of what to approve and disapprove and thereby creates the moral norms of society. Thus what is designated the common good of society is the product of passion or appetite, not reason. Similarly, the economic well-being of society occurs by way of man's attempt to satisfy his own selfish desires. Smith's famous "unseen hand," which so many commentators have interpreted as a symbol of the convergence of rational plans, individually conceived, into a rational good for the whole society, was exactly the same as Smith's theory of individual moral behavior: both the moral good of society and its material well-being had their origins in instinct, desire, and passion; and neither was the result of action intended to advance the good of society as a whole. 149

When liberals of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries did finally assert that the passions ought to be brought more strictly under the control of reason, the effects on the psychological condition of liberal man were disastrous. Taking its cues from the teachings of the economists, liberal moral theory became a body of teachings dedicated to the proposition that the essence of rational conduct consisted in the sacrifice of present pleasures for future ones. This was but to appropriate for the purposes of moral theory the fundamental psychological principle underlying the economists' concept of capital accumulation. According to the economists, capital was formed because individuals were able to postpone their gratifications to the future. Capital was defined by Senior as "abstinence." And since abstinence was recognized as self-inflicted pain, one might say that capitalist society was defined in terms of voluntary self-mutilation.¹⁵⁰ In Bentham's famous tract, Defense of Usury, the usurer emerges as the symbol of self-denial: "Those who have the resolution to sacrifice the present to future are natural objects of envy to those who have sacrificed future to the present." The usurer, however, is identical with the liberal definition of a moral agent, 152 and hence it is not extreme to characterize liberal moral theory as the catechizing of repression.

At this point it is necessary to retrace the argument in order to extend it in other directions. We have noted that liberal theory had located moral judgments in the passions. It is fair to say, however, that this inquiry had been largely concerned with the nature of individual moral judgments rather than with the sort of common moral beliefs or consensus that society presupposes. Throughout almost all of his major writings, Locke had shown a lively interest in the problem of consensus, yet he remained dissatisfied with the results of his thinking. The difficulty, as he conceived it, arose from the fact that consensus could be achieved only if a sufficiently widespread agreement on moral issues existed. This, in turn, meant agreement among individuals who differed greatly in their capacities for understanding. This naturally led to the query of what kind of knowledge was suitable for maintaining consensus. Was it to come from philosophy? If not from that source, might it come from religion?

In his early *Essays on the Law of Nature* Locke took the position that the vital political knowledge was contained in the dictates of the law of nature which Locke viewed as a divine decree sustaining the whole universe, as well as the society of men. It contained a perfect list of the moral obligations without which society "would fall to the ground." 153 "... If you abolish the law of nature ... you banish from among mankind at the same time the whole body politic, all authority, order, and fellowship among them." 154 At this point, however, the difficulties began to emerge, with the result that Locke's notion of the law of nature became less a solution than an index to his perplexities about the moral basis of

the community. Having avowed that faith, trust, and the performance of contracts were essential to the continuance of civilized living, and that the law of nature contained the rationally discoverable teachings on these subjects, it would seem to follow that the continuance of society was assured to the extent that the members were capable of grasping the meaning of natural law. Yet almost all of Locke's writings reveal a growing scepticism about the ability of the great majority of men to arrive at an understanding of natural law. True notions of moral obligation could be ascertained only by methods far beyond the competence of the average mentality. For traditional or inherited morality could not be identified with the law of nature, nor was the law an innate teaching inscribed in each conscience, much less the set of teachings accepted by men everywhere, regardless of time, place, or degree of civilization. To know the law of nature in the true sense, and not merely to have a "belief" or "opinion" about it, constituted an exacting intellectual inquiry of a kind which few men could follow out.

This conclusion was patently ill-suited to the theory of society elaborated by Locke in the *Treatises:* a society based on the consent of each of the members implied that each was a moral agent fully capable of understanding the moral postulates on which society rested. But how could this be squared with Locke's belief, which he subscribed to as late as 1681, that "I cannot but think morality as well as Mathematics [is] capable of demonstration"? The one position assumed easy access to moral judgments, the other that such judgments were open only to an expertly trained intellect. Most students of Locke have proceeded on the belief that the problem was solved in the *Treatises* by Locke's notion of natural law, but the fact is that Locke left the problem exactly where it had been in his previous writings. The law of nature was viewed as a body of essential political truths discoverable by reason, yet there was the difficulty that, for the vast majority, human reason had been corrupted. 157

The failure of commentators to appreciate the significance of this issue has prevented them from locating the place where Locke attempted to resolve it; namely, in his essay on *The Reasonableness of Christianity* (1695). Here was his answer to the question of where to find a body of moral teachings appropriate to the modest and often vulgar understanding of the common run of men composing the political community. The substitute for the exacting knowledge of natural law and a mathematicized morality was to be found in the Christian ethic. While the Christian ethic was not less rational than the philosophic, it had the immense advantage of being better suited to the understanding of the "vulgar." In the classical world, according to Locke, the knowledge of true virtue had been restricted to the few. The masses of men had been kept in ignorance by the "priests," save for a few crude teachings tossed out to preserve a minimum civic morality. Moreover, the classical writers had not only left some ethical problems unsolved, they had failed to systematize their teachings into a coherent whole and, above

all, they had neglected to provide a form of "authority" sufficiently compelling to make men observe moral teachings. These deficiencies had been overcome by the teaching summarized in the Sermon on the Mount: it brought a morality suited to the common understanding, one surrounded by the awesome miracle of revelation, and accompanied by a notion of a Deity who employed future rewards and punishments to enforce observance of His moral commands. In sending these teachings to mankind, Locke wrote:

God seems herein to have consulted the poor of this world, and the bulk of mankind. These are articles that the laboring and illiterate man may comprehend. This is a religion suited to vulgar capacities . . . The greatest part of mankind have not leisure for learning and logic, and superfine distinctions of the schools. Where the hand is used to the plough and the spade, the head is seldom elevated to sublime notions, or exercised in mysterious reasoning. It is well if men of that rank (to say nothing of the other sex) can comprehend plain propositions, and a short reasoning about things familiar to their minds, and nearly allied to their daily experience. Go beyond this, and you amaze the greatest part of mankind; and may as well talk Arabic to a poor day-labourer, as the notions and language that the books and disputes of religion are filled with; and as soon you will be understood . . . Had God intended that none but the learned scribe, the disputer, or wise of this world, should be Christians, or be saved, thus religion should have been prepared for them, filled with speculations and niceties, obscure terms and abstract notions . . . If the poor had the gospel preached to them, it was, without doubt, such a gospel as the poor could understand; plain and intelligible . . . 159

These remarks on Christianity also serve to explain why it was that Locke never embarked on the project, which he mentions frequently, of reducing ethics to a series of mathematical propositions. ¹⁶⁰ To be sure, he occasionally expressed doubts about the feasibility of the enterprise, but it is more probable that he was deterred by the limited social utility of the idea. The bulk of mankind would not have been able to comprehend the work. Above all, he had discovered that Christianity, by "democratizing" the teachings of the law of nature, had rendered the whole scheme superfluous.

[Even had philosophy] gone further, as we see it did not, and from undeniable principles given us ethics in a science like mathematics, in every part demonstrable; this would not have been so effectual to man in this imperfect state, nor proper for the cure. The greatest part of mankind want leisure or capacity for demonstration . . . And you may as soon hope to have all the day-labourers and tradesmen, the spinsters and dairy-maids, perfect mathematicians, as to have them perfect in ethics this way. Hearing plain commands is the sure and only course to bring them to obedience and practice. The greatest part cannot know, and therefore they must believe. ¹⁶¹

It is apparent from the foregoing considerations that Locke, having despaired of a rational ethic accessible to the majority of men, had taken refuge in Christianity, but only at the cost of converting the latter into a species of "ideology"; that is, a set of simplified beliefs suited to the vulgar understanding. This is not to imply that Locke looked upon religion either in the crude way that Hobbes had, as a convenient aid to enlisting obedience, or in the cynical way that Gibbon was to characterize the religions of Rome, "considered by the people as equally true; by the philosopher as equally false; and by the magistrate as equally useful." Quite the contrary, Locke was a devout if somewhat unorthodox Christian, and, what is more important, he rested his political and moral theories on the assumption that Christianity was still a viable force in Western societies.

This, however, makes it all the more significant that Locke, a believer, should have unwittingly joined forces with Machiavelli and Hobbes to undermine further the political significance of the Christian heritage. Despite the inroads of secularism and scepticism the Western political tradition had for several centuries taken for granted the viability of what may be called a "common Christian conscience." Both in theory and in practice the tradition had assumed the continuing presence of a common outlook and moral response among the members of society. In addition, that men shared a common element of conscience meant that they could "know" and understand each other and communicate by accepted moral signs. In contrast to these notions of conscience as a common, unifying force, Locke, while upholding the value of conscience, pictured it as a divisive force. In the Essay Concerning Human Understanding he explicitly ruled out conscience as a reliable source of common moral rules. It was "nothing else but our own opinion or judgment of the moral rectitude or pravity of our own actions."162 The resulting variations among individual consciences rendered it almost useless for creating the measure of agreement necessary to society.

As a consequence Locke was led to deny any presumption in favor of conscience in political matters. This point was driven home in the *Second Treatise* where it was emphasized that the "private judgment" exercisable in the state of nature was surrendered to the "legislative" and that each individual was obligated to assist in a positive manner the judgments of the legislative because they were "his own judgments." ¹⁶³ As Locke declared in another connection:

 \dots We do deny that each person is at liberty to do what he himself, according to circumstances, judges to be of advantage to him. You have certainly no reason for holding that each person's own interest is the standard of what is just and right, unless you let every single man judge in his own case \dots 164

Nor was this conclusion significantly qualified by Locke's discussion of the socalled "right of revolution." Although at one point he allowed that "every man is judge for himself" when the ruler had betrayed his trust, Locke immediately revised this by saying that the "proper umpire" in such cases was "the body of the people." When stated in this form, conscience surrendered what had been its most striking aspect, its individual quality; it became, instead, a social or collective form of judgment.

As Locke's argument reveals, the growing distrust of conscience stimulated the search for a new kind of conscience, social rather than individual, one that would be an internalized expression of external rules rather than the externalized expression of internal convictions. In later pages we shall try to show in greater detail how the idea of the social conscience developed, but here our concern is, so to speak, with the residual elements of conscience, with the aspects of individual conscience which were not collectivized but transformed. The idea of the individual conscience had been put forward mainly by religious non-conformists to combat both hostile communities and organized religions. Thus individual conscience, unlike the later notion of the social conscience, was intended as a defense against the group rather than a method for inducing individual conformity to the group. With the decline of religious feeling and the growth of toleration, an important change took place in the idea of conscience. No longer needed to protect deviant opinions from religious persecution, conscience and its attributes could be detached from the inner life and used to protect what a growingly secular society most treasured; namely, wealth and status, or more briefly, "interests." Under the auspices of liberalism, the great transformation was effected whereby "individual interest" was substituted for individual conscience. Interest gradually came to play the same role in political and social thought that conscience had played in religion. It was invested with many of the same sanctities and immunities, for, like conscience, it symbolized what was most valued by the individual and what was to be defended against the group or society.

These developments throw further light on the anxiety-complex of liberalism. Although interest might usurp the place of conscience and succeed to many of its characteristics, one vital difference was ineradicable and a source of considerable uneasiness for the liberals. Protestantism had always claimed that the strength of conscience lay in its wholly internal character and, therefore, whatever took place in the external world, such as the loss of material goods or physical injury, was powerless to affect conscience. In contrast, interest was closely involved with wealth and status, with the sort of objects which depended on outside occurrences. Hence, as liberals discovered to their sorrow, consciences might become "tender" in a hostile environment, but interests became insecure.

By way of preliminaries, we need not stress the fact that interest was accorded a central place in liberal theory. Of all the principles of action, Bentham had declared, "personal interest" is the "most powerful, most constant, most uniform, most lasting, and most general among mankind." As liberalism understood it, interest was distinguished by an intensely personal quality. To cite Bentham once

more, "there is no one who knows what is for your interest so well as yourself . . ."166 Moreover, the exclusive nature of interest rendered it impossible that anyone could really advance the interest of another: impossible not merely because each individual acted primarily from motives of self-interest, but also because an interest existed in the closest possible intimacy to the individual holding it. No outsider, not even one prompted by altruistic motives, could ever know enough to act benevolently. 167 Nor was it a crushing rejoinder to protest that the individual might still be mistaken about where his "true" interests or happiness lay. What was important was not any supposed "objective" status of interest but what each individual believed to be his interest. As John Stuart Mill later pointed out, the test of what is desirable is whether in fact men do desire it, 168 and hence it would be inherently self-defeating to impose a "truer" interest on men who stubbornly refused to recognize it as such.

Now these attributes of interest—its individualistic character, the subjectivity of a judgment about it, and the impossibility of forcibly imposing it—were a faithful reproduction of those attributes assigned to conscience by Locke in his classic Letter Concerning Toleration. It is too often forgotten that Locke's case for toleration marked a decisive shift in the notion of conscience. The "Puritan conscience" had been conceived by its defenders as a disciplined mode of judgment, one controlled by the "objective" standard of Scripture and steeped in religious instruction. One of the main reasons that the sects of the seventeenth century championed toleration was the possibility that a dissenting conscience might in fact be testifying to what was true. In contrast, what was controlling in Locke's argument was that conscience stood for a form of conviction rather than a way of knowing. Thus conscience meant the subjective beliefs held by an individual, and from this definition flowed the same characteristics which were later attached to interest. Like individual interest "the care of every man's soul belongs unto himself, and is to be left unto himself." Similarly, in matters of conscience each has "the supreme and absolute authority of judging for himself," because "nobody else is concerned in it."169 Nor was it any more availing to impose true belief than to dictate the proper interests of individuals: "no religion which I believe not to be true can be either true or profitable unto me."170

That interest and conscience had coalesced was not lost upon the men of the eighteenth century; freedom to pursue one's interests was interchangeable with the freedom to worship as one saw fit. The new era, wrote Morellet, is one of "freedom of conscience in trade"; or, as Lord Shelburne put it, "the era of Protestantism in trade." In retrospect, there was substance in Sidney Webb's gibe at Utilitarianism for being "the Protestantism of Sociology." 172

That there should have been parallels between Locke's doctrine of conscience and later liberal notions of interest is not at all surprising. Locke himself had drawn the parallel by basing his plea for toleration, at least in part, upon the ex-

ample of economic activity: The proper policy towards religious non-conformists should be the same as in "private domestic affairs" and "the management of estates . . . Every man may consider what suits his own convenience, and follow what course he likes best." And in the same way that "no man complains" or thinks it any of his concern when his neighbor commits a financial blunder, so no man should feel exercised at his neighbor's bizarre notions about religious salvation. It follows that the individual cannot be compelled by state action to become a true believer, any more than a man "can be forced to be rich." ¹⁷³

The decline of individual conscience in liberal theory ushered in a new social world where men, no longer able to communicate on the basis of a common interior life, were reduced to knowing each other solely from the outside; that is, on the basis of socially acquired responses and values. To know men only from the "outside" implied that man had become estranged from man, which corresponds exactly with Locke's terse description of the human condition where individual consciences are strangers to each other: "no particular man can know the existence of any other being, but only when, by actual operating upon him, it makes itself perceived by him." ¹⁷⁴ Man becomes conscious of his fellows only when he and they collide; conflict and friction are thus the sources of man's awareness of man. It was this realization which later caused Bentham to declare that it was futile "to dive into the unfathomable regions of motives, which cannot be known." All that men could know for certain was the consequences of an individual's actions, never his reasons for doing them.

These same doubts underlay the liberal argument against government intervention into economic activities. The basic assertion, that each was the best judge of his own interests and hence no outside agency could properly dictate his happiness, rested squarely on the belief that no individual could truly understand another. It followed that no governing groups could legitimately act for the best interests of the members of society, because the judgment of such a group lacked any secure basis. No common link existed connecting the separate valuations which individuals placed on things. No one could say for certain what things another held dear or with what intensity his inner being was attached to them.

The interior life of the individual remained a deep mystery precisely because the common conscience of Christianity had evaporated and man, only as a series of external acts, could be understood in a sure way. ¹⁷⁶ The epitaph for conscience was stated by Bentham in his usual bald way when he said it was "a thing of fictitious existence." And Bentham also made it abundantly clear that men no longer had any real incentive to that self-knowledge which leads to the examination of the inner life.

But by interest he is at the same time diverted from any close examination into the springs by which his own conduct is determined. From such knowledge he has not, in any ordinary shape, any thing to gain,—he finds not in it any source of enjoyment.¹⁷⁷

At the same time, since every act of will and of the intellect was reducible to interest, there remained nothing to examine internally: man's soul had been factored out.¹⁷⁸

Having reduced man to mere externality and stripped him of conscience, it was easy for the liberal economists to treat him as a material object—a style of analysis which later provoked the bitter denunciation of Marx. This development in liberalism is best illustrated in the way that the Lockean idea of property was transformed. Locke had conceived property as beginning when individual men cultivated the common land of the state of nature. The act of labor consisted not only in the physical alteration of external objects but in the projection of individual personality into the objects. In this way the individual came to possess a "peculiar right," a distinctive identity gained through an act of private appropriation. 179 The psychic affinity between the individual and his property postulated by Locke was retained by the later liberal economists, but they identified it with the property of the capitalist rather than the laborer. The capitalist's personality alone suffered when his property was threatened: the laboring classes were denied the privilege of neurosis. This, of course, was almost unavoidable, given the fact that the act of labor, as organized by industrialism, no longer could be said to create objects which the laborer could claim. The next step was to assimilate the skills and energies of the laborer into a "factor of production," an impersonal element without psychic overtones:

A labourer is himself a portion of the national capital; and is to be considered, in all investigations of this sort, merely as a machine which it has required a certain quantity of labour to construct \dots ¹⁸⁰

Gradually the emphasis on labor as a source of right, which had been the main theme in Locke, shifted to labor as a source of power. The contrast between capitalist society and Locke's great natural society—"sharing all in one community of nature"—could not have been more sharply expressed than by the way economists reduced the great majority of men to exploitable units of power, "labor-power" as Marx called it. The "command of labour," wrote Senior, is "the principal instrument of production" and "can be employed at will in the creation of whatever is most wanted . . . Estimated indeed in one class of objects, and it is the class most coveted by man, we mean power and pre-eminence, the value of the command of labour is almost invariable." In the graphic summary of Bentham, the new power urge was given blunt expression, and in the collision between the exploiters and the exploited the full alienation implicit in the act of labor is revealed: men have become so estranged that only a situation of conflict could evoke a consciousness of each other:

The preparation in the human bosom for antipathy towards other men is, under all circumstances, most unhappily copious and active. The boundless range of human desires, and the very limited number of objects . . . unavoidably leads a man to consider those with whom he is obliged to share such objects, as inconvenient rivals who narrow his own extent of enjoyment. Besides, human beings are the most powerful instruments of production, and therefore everyone becomes anxious to employ the services of his fellows in multiplying his own comforts. Hence the intense and universal thirst for power; the equally prevalent hatred of subjection. Each man therefore meets with an obstinate resistance to his own will, and is obliged to make an equally constant opposition to that of others, and this naturally engenders antipathy towards the beings who thus baffle and contravene his wishes. ¹⁸²

IX. LIBERALISM AND CONFORMITY: THE SOCIALIZED CONSCIENCE

Liberalism has always been accused of seeking to dissolve the solidarities of social ties and relationships and to replace them by the unfettered, independent individual, the masterless man. In reality, the charge is almost without foundation and completely misses the liberal addiction towards social conformity. In one sense, of course, every political society has prescribed certain basic norms of social behavior for its members, and every form of political theory, with the exception of anarchism, has acknowledged this. But the notion of social conformity carries more serious implications beyond the obvious fact that society cannot exist for long if its members do not observe common ways of behavior. It implies, first, that the individual "adjust" his tastes, actions, and style of life to a social denominator. Social conformity is at war with what Baudelaire called "dandyism," the "best element in human pride," the need "to combat and destroy triviality." 183 Secondly, social conformity not only assumes that individual adaptation will contribute to social cohesion and order, but that a happy and successful life for the individual can be attained only by observing society's standards; that is, the generalized expression of the wants, values, and expectations held by most of the members. Thirdly, and most crucially, the individual is invited to do more than "accept" social norms; their external quality must be overcome so that they can be appropriated into the inner life of the individual. In short, social norms should be internalized and, as such, operate as the individual's conscience. Conscience thus becomes social rather than individual.

The route from individual to social conscience begins with Locke's discovery of the significance of non-legal, privately enforced norms. He pointed out that although men had, on entering society, agreed not to employ force "any further than the law of the country directs," they retained a considerable social force outside the law. Locke called this the "law of opinion or reputation." He based it on the observation that men exercised "the power of thinking well or ill, approving

or disapproving of the actions of those whom they live amongst." These judgments tend to become "the common measure of virtue and vice" and, in many ways, to punish violators more effectively than positive law. No man, Locke noted, can endure being at odds with his "club" and no man can live conscious that he is disliked by all. "This is a burden too heavy for human sufferance." 184

Although Locke did not follow out the rich suggestions in his own analysis, he had touched on two basic themes which became central in later liberal theories. In the first place, he clearly indicated that social norms could be understood as a species of control distinct from political power or legal authority. Secondly, Locke posed for the individual conscience the problem of social definitions of ethical values: if society should insist that its norms were in the nature of moral goods, and not merely convenient rules on the same level as, say, traffic regulations; if, in other words, the individual were compelled to confront society's norms as equal in status to ethical choices of any type, the consequences of non-conformity would be more serious. For the heavy sanctions which society could bring to bear—economic, social, and psychological—rendered an act of defiance far more consequential to the individual than any action of a private variety.

Contrary to what modern interpretations of liberalism have led us to suppose, we find later liberals devoting a surprising amount of emphasis to justifying the necessity and desirability of social conformity. The fullest expression of this is to be found in Smith's Theory of Moral Sentiments which was basically an inquiry into the nature and source of the moral judgments man makes about himself and his fellows. 185 The urgency of the inquiry itself was prompted by the character imputed to man by the liberals: motivated by self-interest and dominated by passion, liberal man did not inspire much confidence that he could make choices according to some impersonal, rational standard. Nature's remedy, Smith argued, was to implant an "impartial spectator" within the human breast, an unbiased tribunal to which moral judgments could be referred. If, for example, I am about to undertake an action and wish to be assured of its rightness, or if I have already acted and wish to be confirmed in my choice, I must consult an imaginary outsider. This can be achieved if I place myself in someone else's position and assume his motives and passions: fairness and impartiality of judgment are attainable primarily in the "judgment of others." 186

But what was the source of the judgments rendered by the spectator? Smith's answer was that they came from the opinions of society. Our moral judgments, then, were in the nature of mirrored reflections; they relayed social values to the individual conscience. What distinguished social man from isolated man was that the former possessed a conscience sensitive to social influences, a "mirror" of "the countenance and behavior of those he lives with."

But if the impartial spectator represented an internalized set of social norms, Smith did not claim that when an individual judges an act he is engaging in a rational action. When the individual appeals to the spectator he is not seeking an accord between two rational judgments, his own and the spectator's, but a "concord of affections." The actor "longs" for the spectator to have the same passionate intensity about the act. This, Smith held, was impossible, for no outsider could experience the same emotional involvement as the parties to the action. Hence there was no recourse but for the actor to flatten the high pitch of his passions, tone it down so that the spectator could enter. Although the individual "naturally prefers himself to mankind," he must be made to feel that, in the eyes of society, "he is but one of the multitude, in no respect better than any other in it." Each, therefore, must "humble the arrogance of his self-love and bring it down to something which other men can go along with." ¹⁸⁷

Thus our passions had to be restricted to a "certain mediocrity," because, in the last analysis, the spectator was not judging the act itself but the reactions or passions of the actor involved. 188 Smith went on to point out that, "of all things," the individual has the "greatest desire" to conform. Experience has warned him of the terrible vengeance exacted of those who flaunt socially prescribed norms: almost as one, the members of society turn on the violator, shaming him, and throwing their support to those he had injured. Guilt-ridden and terrified by what he has done, "rejected and thrown out from the affections of all mankind," he undergoes the suffering torments of isolation in a world where "everything seems hostile." In panic he attempts to flee, only to discover that "solitude is still more dreadful than society." The "horror" of loneliness "drives" him back to society, "loaded with shame and distracted with fear," prepared to render expiation. So deeply have social norms become riveted into the human psyche that expiation could be described by Smith only in terms of the religious experience which social conscience has obviously displaced. The offender has become a penitent desperately seeking forgiveness from the deities he has wronged:

Man is . . . taught to reverence the happiness of his brethren, to tremble lest he should, even unknowingly, do anything that can hurt them, and to dread that animal resentment which he feels is ready to burst out against him . . . As, in the ancient heathen religion, that holy ground which had been consecrated to some god was not to be trod upon . . . and the man who had even ignorantly violated it became piacular from that moment . . . until proper atonement should be made, so, by the wisdom of nature, the happiness of every innocent man is in the same manner rendered holy, consecrated, and hedged round . . . not to be wantonly trod upon . . . without requiring some expiation, some atonement, in proportion to the greatness of such undesigned violation. 189

With the emergence of Utilitarianism in the last quarter of the eighteenth century the conformity principle assumed a wider meaning. Social norms are not only to be accepted but exploited and manipulated. Since, according to Bentham,

"society" was nothing but a convenient fiction for an aggregate of individuals, the recipe for success consisted of knowing how to manage "others." "A man must keep well with public opinion." In his *Deontology* Bentham assumed the role of the Dale Carnegie of Utilitarianism, detailing the techniques whereby the individual could ingratiate himself with others, warning against the kind of behavior which others found offensive, with all of these counsels dedicated to the end of inducing others to assist in one's campaign for wealth and social prestige. "It is every man's *interest* to stand well in the affections of other men" so as to amass a "good-will fund" rather than an "ill-will fund." The "compound interest" thus accumulated "is happily limitless." 190

The revealing aspect of this advice on how to win friends and influence people is that it contained not the slightest hint that the individual was merely playing a public role, giving lip-service to social conventions which he secretly despised. So successfully had liberal men internalized social norms and so completely had they come to take the place of conscience that the distinction between "outer" and "inner," between convention and conscience, had been all but erased.

At first glance, the odd thing about this development is that it should have been welcomed and encouraged by liberals. After all, there is no denying that early liberalism announced itself as a philosophy dedicated to defending the sanctity and independence of the individual. If, however, we ask: against whom was the individual to be defended? we shall be better able to explain how liberalism so fatally misunderstood the crushing power of social conformity. It is usually asserted that, from the beginning, liberalism had urged the liberation of men from all kinds of authority, religious, political, social and intellectual: ecrasez l'infâme de l'autorité! This, however, is only partially correct and, in the case of society's authority, quite misleading. An examination of the liberal case against political authority discloses an indictment, not of political authority in general, but of authority personified and personalized. When it was directed against monarchy the charge was that the monarch had exercised his authority in an "arbitrary" or "capricious" way; that is, according to personal whim rather than by the "objective" requirements of law or rational policy. Arbitrariness, in this definition, formed the political equivalent of the Protestant charge that the pope had transformed institutional authority into personal power. This parallel has further significance because, like Protestantism, liberalism then faced the same unpleasant dilemma of having expelled one form of subjectivism only to replace it by another: was subjectivism overcome by substituting citizens for kings any more than by substituting a congregation for the pope? Whether they would acknowledge it or not, liberals had gone to school with Hobbes and learned that the synonym for private judgment was anarchy. 191 True, liberals were enthusiastic about encouraging private judgment in religious and economic matters, and Locke's Letters on Toleration explicitly advocated the one and implicitly, the other. The

basis of the argument was that in these areas the individual alone was affected by his exercise of private judgment. But political decisions, though they might be taken by an individual in authority, were general in impact, affecting the totality of the members. Thus the problem for the liberal was how to fashion the arrangements which would overcome private judgment in political matters yet support a state of nature in economic and religious affairs.

Before it could devise a formula for defending the individual against personal political authority, liberalism, like Protestantism, had to reckon with the principle of equality. The solution was offered at the outset by Locke. Although "all men by nature are equal," this did not mean for Locke any more than it had for Luther's priesthood of believers, "all sorts of equality." Liberals were prepared not only to accept differences of birth, status, and wealth as natural facts, but to welcome these inequalities as socially useful. By equality the liberals understood a relationship to political authority rather than a sociological fact. Accordingly equality was defined by Locke as "that equal right that every man hath to his natural freedom, without being subjected to the will or authority of any other man." 192

From these two considerations, the fear of subjectivism and the value of equality, the liberal formula for authority was derived. Subjectivism was to be overcome by ridding authority of its personal elements. The political society is formed by an act of consent in which each man resigns his natural power "into the hands of the community"; that is, to an impersonal authority. The community, in turn, acts through a system of laws designed to treat individuals indifferently: "the community comes to be umpire by settled standing rules, indifferent and the same to all parties." Thus authority comes to be identified with the community, while the individuals who are actually entrusted to act on behalf of the community do so only because they are "authorized" to act. Authority, in other words, is subtly transformed from the natural fact it had been for centuries into the weak fiction that the agent's act was legitimate because it had been authorized by the society: his act is our act.

From this point on, the peculiarity of the liberal tradition was its distrust of determinate, personal authority, authority whose power was visible and traceable to a specific person, such as a pope or monarch. As Spencer later summarized the case, man "must have a master; but the master may be Nature or may be a fellow man. When he is under the impersonal coercion of Nature, we say that he is free; and when he is under the personal coercion of some one above him, we call him . . . a slave, a serf, or a vassal." As these sentiments imply, the liberal was eager to surrender to impersonal power, power which seemingly belonged to no specific individual. The entity which satisfied these longings was society. Its power was impersonal and was directed against all of the members indifferently. Society was no single individual: it was none of us, yet it was all of us.

Bentham supplies the perfect example of this line of development. Of all the

quirks of his genius, the least endearing was his famous Panopticon project for prison reform. He proposed a circular type of prison structure which would permit a single warden to survey from the center all the inmates at any time. Knowing they were under constant scrutiny, the prisoners would behave in the required way. Obviously this was too illiberal a notion to apply unaltered to normal existence, but with a slight change, say, substitute society for the warden, would not the social non-conformist feel the same pressure for compliance as the prisoners, but with the added advantage of having no identifiable overseer? Should it be objected that this merely substitutes a new tyranny for the old, we have only to bear in mind, according to Bentham's comforting argument, that society operates only through public opinion and each of us is a member of the public. If public opinion compels us to conform we are really coercing ourselves—which is a neat way of translating Rousseau's general will into the language of liberalism. 195 The "tribunals of public opinion" take over where the sanctions of the law cease, coercing self-regarding men to a consciousness of the interests of others. Bentham saw future progress in terms of a slowly shrinking area of penal law and a steadily widening influence of the "moral law" enforced by public opinion: it was the ideal of a new economy of power without violence. He prophesied that when the moral science of utility had become accepted, the future would be one, not of complete individualism, but where "the dependence of every man upon the good opinion of all besides will be increased, and the moral sanction grow stronger and stronger." And here is Bentham's peroration on the shape of the future society:

A whole kingdom, the great globe itself, will become a gymnasium, in which every man exercises himself before the eyes of every other man. Every gesture, every turn of limb or feature, in those whose motions have a visible influence on the general happiness, will be noticed and marked down.¹⁹⁶

Blindness to social coercions persisted in the thought of nineteenth-century liberal writers and accounts in no small measure for the failure of liberalism to comprehend the phenomena of "mass societies." The true measure of this is to be found in the political ideas of John Stuart Mill.

Today Mill's fame derives from his impassioned plea for individual freedom and his acute analysis of the social pressures working to destroy variety and spontaneity in human character. As he explained in his *Autobiography*, the essay *On Liberty* was an indictment of the "oppressive yoke of uniformity in opinion and practice." And true enough the essay contained many noble passages defending the right of the individual to go his own way despite the offense it might give to the opinions of society. "... The sole end for which mankind are warranted, individually or collectively, in interfering with the liberty of action of any of their number, is self-protection ... His own good ... is not a sufficient warrant." Yet there remained a hopelessly unreal quality about Mill's principles of liberty,

one which has the effect of reducing them to mere preaching, even if of a highly commendable kind. For when it is asked, how are these principles to be enforced? Mill could give no answer because his own argument had compromised the integrity of the only means possible, namely government. If society is the enemy of individuality and if, at the same time, the dangerous development of modern democracy is that it makes government the agent of society, it is hardly to be expected that society's agent could intervene to protect the individual from society.

Even more perplexing was the contradictory tendency of Mill to fall back on the very power of society which he had sought to expel in *Liberty*. The same Mill who had accused Comte of aiming at "a despotism of society over the individual," who had welcomed Tocqueville's profound analysis of social conformity, nevertheless proposed that the tyranny of opinion be invoked in order to promote some of his own pet causes. First, his personal bête-noire, the old problem of overpopulation, could be alleviated, Mill argued, if there were sufficiently intense social disapproval of large families. "Any one who supposes that this state of opinion would not have a great effect on conduct, must be profoundly ignorant of human nature." Secondly, Mill's argument in Representative Government for an "open" rather than a secret ballot was founded on the proposition that voting was a public trust and hence "should be performed under the eye and criticism of the public . . . " It is less dangerous, Mill concluded, for the individual to be influenced by "others" than by "the sinister interests and discreditable feelings which belong to himself, either individually or as a member of a class." Finally, Mill's sympathies with moderate socialism were derived in part from a belief that a society based on communal ownership had superior methods at its disposal for compelling the lazy members to produce. Under capitalism, incentives of selfinterest had failed to eliminate parasitism, for the parasites had been only too willing to follow their self-interest in concocting ingenious ways to avoid work. But under socialism the bulk of the members would have a common interest in the productive output of the society, hence the malingerer would face the solidified resentment of the community. Where the private employer could only dismiss a worker, socialist society could stigmatize him by public opinion, "the most universal and one of the strongest" methods of control. 198

If a thinker as sensitive as Mill failed to understand fully the threat of social conformity, it is idle to expect greater insight from writers of lesser stature. Thus, Bastiat, guileless as ever, insisted that "full and complete liberty" was naturally conjoined to "the surveillance of social authority"; this without the slightest inkling that he had married incompatibles. ¹⁹⁹ If anything, liberals became more stubborn on the subject. As late as the end of the nineteenth century, Herbert Spencer saw no incongruity in lumping together freedom, industrialism, and social pressures into one pattern, "industrial society," which was declared to be completely antithetical to the rigors of a controlled "military society"—as though

industrialism contained no coercive sanctions of its own and social conformity no distaste for spontaneity:

That form of Society towards which we are progressing, I hold to be one in which government will be reduced to the smallest amount possible, and freedom increased to the greatest amount possible—one in which human nature will have become so moulded by social discipline into fitness for the social state, that it will need little external restraint, but will be self-restrained . . . one in which the spontaneous cooperation which has developed our industrial system . . . will produce agencies for the discharge of nearly all social functions, and will leave the primary governmental agency nothing beyond the function of maintaining those conditions to free action, which make such spontaneous cooperation possible 200

In retrospect the long journey from private judgment to social conformity appears as the desperate effort of liberals to fashion a substitute for the sense of community that had been lost. For what liberalism had thought it had solved, it had only exposed as a problem. Smith had been content with the thought that only a modest degree of unity was possible in a society of disconnected particulars, a mere "correspondence" in feelings "sufficient for the harmony of society." "Though they will never be unisons, they may be concords, and this is all that is wanted or required." Yet Smith's whole theory of moral judgments disclosed how alienated men had become, for only by a highly self-conscious act of sympathetic imagination could one man enter into the feelings of another.

The precarious base upon which liberals rested society testified to their having misunderstood the fundamental problem. They conceived the issue as one of reconciling freedom and authority, and they solved it by destroying authority in the name of liberty and replacing it by society, but only at the cost of exposing freedom to society's controls. To the nineteenth and twentieth centuries fell the task of stating the problem more correctly: not freedom versus authority, or Man against the State, but authority and community.

•••

The Age of Organization and the Sublimation of Politics

... The isolated individual is sick.

—G. C. Homans

... Social man . . . is the masterpiece of existence.

—Emile Durkheim

It is as a member of a group that the individual is most pliable.

—Kurt Lewin

I. The Age of Organization

To describe adequately recent and contemporary conceptions of what is political is a risky undertaking, full of the pitfalls that come from standing so close to events and interpretations of events. Accepting the risks, nevertheless, let us begin with some obvious remarks and then try to see what their implications hold.

Most of us would agree, I suppose, that during the last hundred and fifty years there has been an unprecedented democratization of political life. Democratic political systems have spread throughout the Western world; political rights have been extended to all classes of society; governments are generally expected to be accountable and responsive to popular electorates; politically oriented interest groups of a voluntary kind flourish in most Western societies; and mass political parties are equally familiar. At the same time, a tremendous amount of political activity is everywhere apparent. Vast sums of money are expended for political purposes. Political parties have steadily developed their organizational powers to the point where the electorate is manageable. Political issues are often agitated the length and breadth of societies.

This picture might have to be modified, however, by considerations of a contrasting sort. There is substantial evidence that participation in public affairs is regarded with indifference by vast numbers of members. The average citizen seems to find the exercise of political rights burdensome, boring, and often lacking in significance. To be a citizen does not appear an important role nor political participation an intrinsic good. This is confirmed in some degree by the topics

which have preoccupied political scientists over the past half-century: the apathy of the voters; a "phantom public" unable to express a coherent opinion; and the low estate of politics as a vocation. Thus, despite the appearance of vitality, politics possesses little prestige and popular interest in political matters remains sporadic. By reducing citizenship to a cheap commodity, democracy has seemingly contributed to the dilution of politics.

Is it, then, the decline of the political element that is most characteristic of our age, and is this what preoccupies recent political theories? Before replying to the first question, we must introduce another consideration. One of the oddities of the times is that while there has been a noticeable decline in political interest in non-totalitarian societies, social scientists have been busy discovering political elements outside the traditional political structures. No longer do legislatures, prime ministers, courts, and political parties occupy the spotlight of attention in the way they did fifty years ago. Now it is the "politics" of corporations, trade unions, and even universities that is being scrutinized. This preoccupation suggests that the political has been transferred to another plane, to one that formerly was designated "private" but which now is believed to have overshadowed the old political system. We seem to be in an era where the individual increasingly seeks his political satisfactions outside the traditional area of politics. This points to the possibility that what is significant in our time is the diffusion of the political. If this should be the case, the problem is not one of apathy, or of the decline of the political, but the absorption of the political into non-political institutions and activities. This, in turn, implies that there still exists in the West an impressive capacity for political participation and interest which is not, however, being diverted towards the traditional forms of political life.

The plausibility of these ideas might be supported by briefly noting certain aspects of modern totalitarianism. One of the most striking is the radically political character of these systems. It is illustrated by the attempt of totalitarian governments to render the political factor all-pervasive and the ultimate referent of existence. By deliberate policy, they have extended political control into every significant human relationship and organized every important group in terms of the goals of the regime. No effort has been spared to arouse among the citizens a strong sense of involvement and identification with the political order. Time and again they have puzzled critics by the ability to muster widespread popular support. This suggests that totalitarian systems have been able to tap successfully the potential for participation which non-totalitarian societies have only diverted. This does not mean that totalitarian practices represent a model, but only that they have demonstrated, perversely perhaps, that the political animal is not extinct.

By this line of reasoning, we are led to ask: what has happened in the conditions of existence to cause this transference of the political? Why is it that political citizenship has been crowded out by other, more satisfying forms of

membership? To raise questions such as these is to ask: what kind of a social environment does modern man inhabit? While several answers are possible, it is difficult to imagine one that would be persuasive and yet neglect the obvious fact that today the individual moves in a world dominated by large and complex organizations. The citizen faces "big government"; the laborer, a large trade union; the white-collar worker, a giant corporation; the student, an impersonal university. Everywhere there is organization, everywhere bureaucratization; like the world of feudalism, the modern world is broken up into areas dominated by castles, but not the castles of *les chansons de geste*, but the castles of Kafka. General Motors Corporation is a triumph of organization; so is the Pentagon; and so is totalitarianism. If any one writer can be said to have charted the organizational world, it was Max Weber. This is what he had to say about the world of bureaucracy and administration:

The whole pattern of everyday life is cut to fit this framework. For bureaucratic administration is . . . always from a formal, technical point of view the most rational type. For the needs of mass administration today, it is completely indispensable. The choice is only that between bureaucracy and dilettantism in the field of administration. ¹

This is a world which Hobbes might have enjoyed: one created by human wit, where rational action has become a matter of routine, and magic banished. It is also a world which has severely modified the postulates of politics. Take, for example, the problem of social classes. From the seventeenth through the nineteenth centuries most political theorists had regarded it as part of their role to advance proposals for harmonizing the admittedly divergent interests and aims of the several socioeconomic groups within society. Today, however, the issue no longer seems as urgent, at least not in the industrially advanced countries, such as the United States, Great Britain, Germany, and the Soviet Union. The concept of "social class" now lives the peaceful existence of any sociological category, and Tocqueville has proved a better prophet than Marx. Equality has exchanged position with social inequality and has become the more pervasive phenomenon. The classical conception of capitalism, as entertained by Adam Smith or Marx, no longer corresponds with the realities of either the worker's condition or the role of the entrepreneur. In this connection Saint-Simon, rather than Marx, had the truer appreciation of the future. The typical unit of today's economy is the business corporation. Its effectiveness depends, as Saint-Simon had foreseen, on the close collaboration of the administrator and the scientist-technician. It is directed by the sort of elite that Saint-Simon had predicted: engineers, managers, and bankers. Gradually this charmed circle is being widened to admit Saint-Simon's favorite group, the scientist. The complexity and magnitude of corporate operations have largely nullified the claims of inherited wealth and privilege, and these have been replaced by the criterion which Saint-Simon tirelessly advocated: the criterion of

functional skills; that is, skills defined in terms of the operating needs of the enterprise. Except for the exclusion of the creative "artist," the outlines of Saint-Simon's *industriels* have been faithfully reproduced in modern managerial society. Moreover, Saint-Simon's warning, that the single most pressing issue confronting the society of the future would be to raise the material and moral lot of the workers, has been heeded. Under the combined stimulus of the new gospel of "enlightened management" and the pressures exerted by a highly organized trade union movement, the workers are now cared for with a solicitude that would have gratified Saint-Simon and astounded the Manchester economists.

While these changes have not ushered in an age of industrial peace, the conflicts which arise between workers and management are by no means peculiar to capitalism. That they have plagued the Soviet system as well suggests they are peculiar only to a bureaucratized economy.² Similarly, the proper role of trade unions in an interdependent, acutely sensitive economy seems to raise the same order of problems under British socialism, American capitalism, and Russian communism. It was a late and influential teacher at the Harvard Business School who remarked that whether a society is democratic, fascist, or communist is irrelevant, for "the industrial problem is otherwise the same for all."³

These changes are part of a larger picture in which private ownership of the means of production and private property in general have ceased to be crucial political topics. It would take considerable effort to unearth a contemporary textbook writer who argues that the modern corporation is truly "privately" owned in the sense that the owners are perfectly justified in doing whatever they wish with their "property." A number of years ago Lord Keynes noted a "tendency of big enterprise to socialize itself" and today it is not unusual to find writers using phrases like "collective capitalism" to characterize the new system. 4 Contemporary socialist movements are one casualty of a situation where ownership is no longer an explosive political issue. The British Labour Party has lost its enthusiasm for further nationalization of industry,⁵ while the West German trade union movement, traditionally a pillar of orthodox Marxism, embraces "co-determination" in industry, an arrangement which leaves existing rights of ownership undisturbed.⁶ On the other side, acquisitiveness is no longer preached with the same confidence by the representatives of the owning classes. Young business executives are exhorted to acquire instead a sense of "social responsibility." Thus even the bourgeoisie no longer seem to care. For, as Schumpeter pointed out, the old system of private property has evaporated and has been replaced by a society of corporations which no one person owns, apartment houses in which occupants merely dwell, electrical appliances which belong to the finance company rather than the user.8

It is not surprising, therefore, that styles have changed in politics as well. Today politics is rarely occupied with attacks on the "system" of an existing society. Everyone accepts it. Today systems are not attacked but "subverted."

What we are witnessing is a wholesale reaction against the old-style politics of "interest" which had centered on the system of private property. In the world of organizational politics men are no longer exercised by the ancient battle cries of inequality. Organizations require interdependent functions, and each functionary is just as necessary as—and hence in a sense equal to—every other. Proudhon pointed this out about a century ago:

Differences of aptitude or of skill in the worker, of quality or quantity, disappear in social work, when all the members have performed according to their capabilities; then they have done their duty . . . The discrepancy between individual capabilities is neutralized by the general effort.⁹

The widespread hostility towards economic motives as well as the relative lack of interest in the issue of equality are both bound up with one of the dominant themes of modern thought, the revival of social solidarity. The rapid technological changes and high social mobility of industrial societies have left in their trail uprooted populations with a deep sense of loneliness and bewilderment. The symptoms of personal demoralization have preoccupied the psychologist, as the symptoms of social disorganization have the sociologist. These sciences have agreed that modern man is desperately in need of "integration." His need to "belong" and to experience satisfying relations with others can be fulfilled if he is able to "identify" himself with an adequate group, one which will provide him with membership; that is, a defined role and assured expectations. When these themes are joined to those briefly alluded to earlier we have the central focus of our present chapter: the political in an organizational age which longs for community.

II. IDENTIFYING A TRADITION OF DISCOURSE

These are some of the important features of the modern temper. To describe how they have developed raises a preliminary question of method: to what writers over the past century and a half shall we turn in order to observe the emergence of our own patterns of thought? The customary procedure is to assign recent writers, as one would recruits, to various ideological camps—socialism, reaction, liberalism, and so on—and once the armies are evenly matched, draw the lines, sound the bugle, and let the hostilities begin, with the sure knowledge that the groupings established accurately reflect the development of political thought during the past century. This procedure seems to me to be quite wrong.

As was suggested earlier, despite the ideological differences between various societies, the contemporary Western world confronts a common order of problems. This is not to minimize ideological divergencies, nor to assert that the United States is the "same" as the Soviet Union or Nazi Germany. A common order of problems does not necessitate a uniform response. Nevertheless, the hard truth is

that the differences in ideology and practices are not always as sharp as one would perhaps like. A common order of problems *does* set limits to the range of possible choice.

These remarks are in the nature of a fair warning of the unorthodox procedure followed in the present chapter. Among the writers discussed some have been labeled reactionaries and some utopians; others have been designated socialists or communists and still others have been categorized as managerialists, or stigmatized as apologists for contemporary capitalism; and, if it does not appear anticlimactic, some have been singled out because they are the founders of modern social science. This procedure of collecting under a single roof thinkers as diverse as de Maistre, Saint-Simon, Hegel, Marx, Durkheim, Lenin, and the spokesmen of managerialism may seem an affront to the niceties of interpretation. If so, it is intentional. The present chapter is intended as an argument against the fetish of ideological interpretation which compels us to look at past theories through constrictive peepholes. My premise is that the ideas which have significantly influenced our political and social world, and shaped the way that we interpret it, represent a blend of the theories of a highly diverse group of writers. In the way that we understand the world we are partly the debtors of Marx, but also of de Maistre, partly of Lenin, but also of managerialism. There can, however, be no adequate understanding of either ourselves or our world unless we first overthrow the tyranny exercised by ideological categories and return to the notion of a tradition of discourse. The nineteenth-century writers and their successors have been engaged in a continuous discussion in which there has been considerable agreement on the nature of the problems to be faced, the procedures and concepts of analysis, the values to be sought and the evils to be eliminated. This community of preoccupations constitutes a tradition of discourse.

The community of discourse among social and political writers of the nine-teenth and twentieth centuries was facilitated by the widely shared methodological assumptions associated with positivism. Although there were some important exceptions to the reign of positivism, and Hegel would be one, its influence extended to Saint-Simon, Fourier, Proudhon, Comte, Marx, the English Fabians, and the founders of modern social science, such as Durkheim, Freud, and Weber. All were, in varying degrees, animated by the conviction that the study of society could be advanced if its practitioners succeeded in assimilating the spirit and general methods employed in the more "exact" sciences. By means of observation, classification of data, and testing, social phenomena could be made to yield "laws" predicting the future course of events.

It would be superfluous to document positivist tendencies in our age, but what does require amplification is the connection between acknowledged positivists, like Marx or a modern sociologist, and the reactionary theocrats. To do this it is first necessary to dispel the prejudice that the "science of society" was an idea

unique to radical writers of the nineteenth century. It is too readily assumed that Marx and Comte, for example, were the direct heirs of an older scientific outlook, extending back to Bacon, Hobbes, and Harrington, in which science had largely been conceived as the sworn enemy of the traditional authorities of manor, throne, and altar. In the eighteenth century, however, the belief that science necessarily carried radical social implications began to be questioned, and in Montesquieu's Esprit des lois an attempt was made to dissociate the idea of a science of society from the idea of radical reform: "I write not to censure anything established in any country whatsoever . . . I should regard myself the happiest of mortals if I were successful in advancing reasons why every man ought to love his prince, his country, his laws . . . "11 Writing in an age of censorship Montesquieu may have been quite guilty of an understandable desire to placate authority, yet there existed a strongly conservative tendency in his method of analysis. He dwelt repeatedly on the complex and ingenious interrelations of social facts; the interdependence of political authority, social status, manners, morals, and laws; the ingenuity of arrangements which conscious action could never duplicate; the need to adjust to "givens" and to modify only within very narrow limits. "Facts" and "relations" and "social laws"—these became the conceptual weapons for combatting the rationalistic and reformist tendencies of modern political thought.

The transformation of the idea of a social science into a bulwark of order was accelerated by the efforts of two writers, de Maistre* and de Bonald,** who are often treated as champions of irrationality, freakish throwbacks to a pre-scientific age. But they appear to be pre-scientific only when judged by the abstract, highly rationalistic image of science treasured by the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. The idea of science began to change, however, and by the nineteenth century the hard core of science was believed to consist of facts and observations. This conception of science formed the basis of the widespread effort of the nineteenth century to found a science of society. It also smoothed the way for an alliance between science and reaction. Reactionary, Catholic, and theocratic though they may have been, both de Maistre and de Bonald were "progressive"

^{*} Joseph de Maistre (1753–1821) was born of a distinguished family in Savoy. Driven into exile when the French revolutionary armies overran Savoy, he joined the court of the King of Sardinia and was appointed ambassador to Russia (1803–1817). Cultured and highly intelligent, he provided the opponents of the French Revolution with a wonderfully literate and distinctive philosophy. His later influence extended in several directions and can be found in Comte, Saint-Simon, and Durkheim. He has been highly praised in our century by writers like Maurras and Claudel.

^{**} Louis de Bonald (1753–1840) was exiled by the French Revolution, but later became Minister of Instruction (1808) and a deputy (1815). Like de Maistre, he was enormously learned, but he lacked the grace and brilliance of the former. His style was crabbed and pedantic, yet he deserves to be ranked with de Maistre as one of the great philosophers of the reaction.

and "advanced" in their tough-minded appreciation of facts. "Facts are everything in questions of policy and government." Both writers fought as stubbornly as any positivist or modern social scientist against the notion that the true nature of society could be fathomed by abstract and rationalistic methods. "Le premier . . . maître en politique," declared de Maistre, is the concrete facts of history. History was "experimental politics." Both writers rejected the contention that the study of nature and of political society required wholly different procedures—a contention de Maistre contemptuously dismissed as a "bizarrerie," while de Bonald flatly asserted that the time had come to analyze society through "the same approach" utilized in "the exact sciences." The latter further claimed that his own Théorie du Pouvoir followed the premise that "algebra has been applied to geometry; now it should be applied to politics." 14

Neither of these writers would have quarrelled with the later assertion of Durkheim that ethics "is a system of realized facts," for both of them would have agreed with his conclusion that the reduction of ethics to a science of facts necessarily imparted "a conservative attitude." They would also have joined in Durkheim's lament that, while in the other sciences men unhesitatingly submit to the facts, in social matters men persist in the arrogant illusion of omnipotence. As de Bonald had contended, "if laws are the necessary relationships deriving from the nature of things"—a phrase that re-echoes in Saint-Simon, Proudhon, Comte, and others—"these relationships establish themselves necessarily; then man, although free, cannot retard their development."

In this respect the reactionaries were no different from Marx or sociologists like Durkheim: all of them utilized "necessity" as a bridge for smuggling facts into the territory of norms. By declaring certain relationships to be reflective of "the nature of things," the compulsion resident in the facts themselves was discreetly obscured. This was typified in a famous passage of Durkheim where he distinguished "normal" from "pathological" conditions and declared the former to be "founded in the nature of things." One was justified, he concluded, in "erecting this normality of fact into a normality of right." ¹⁸

The belief that there existed discoverable "laws" governing social phenomena; that the operation of these laws was "necessary" in the sense that to resist them was to invite social calamities; and that consequently, these laws carried prescriptive injunctions to which men ought to conform—all these added up to a view of society which left no room either for politics and the practice of the political art, or for a distinctively political theory. "In the old system," Saint-Simon declared, "society is governed essentially by men; in the new it will no longer be governed except by principles." Similarly, Proudhon: "It is always the government of man, the rule of will and caprice . . . It ought to be the expression of fact." He, too, looked forward to a time when politics would be reduced to an impersonal

body of principles and men would be governed by scientific truths: "Politics is a science, not a stratagem; demonstrated truth is man's true chief and his king." ²⁰

The century was nearly unanimous in its contempt for politics: the Utopian Socialists* banished it from their ideal communities; Marx predicted the withering away of the state and its replacement by an administration of "things" based on the necessary laws of society. Durkheim summed matters up: "political questions have lost their interest"; they affect only "a small part of society," never its "vital knot." We must look "under this superficial covering" to find "how the great social interests exist and act." ²¹

Instead of the older theme of politics, or even the more recent one of economics, the century turned to "society" which became the symbol of its intellectual preoccupations, the source of a new *mystique*, the *Magna Mater* of an age that wanted desperately to commune. Here is what Proudhon, one of the great individualists, who made a vocation of hating authority, said:

I look upon society, the human group, as being *sui generis*, constituted by the fluid relationships and economic solidarity of all individuals, either of the nation, or of the locality or corporation, or of the entire species . . . a being which has its own functions, foreign to our individuality; its ideas which it communicates to us; its judgments which resemble ours not at all; its will which is in diametric opposition to our instincts; its life which is not that of the animals or of the plant, even though there are some apt analogies . . . ²²

The century endowed society with a status as distinctive as that previously accorded the political order, surrounding it with the affectionate metaphors that another age had reserved for the church, ²³ personifying it as the life-force ultimately shaping politics, economic life, and culture. The century had adopted the

* Utopian Socialism was a phrase coined by Engels to describe the type of socialism represented by writers like Fourier, Saint-Simon, and Owen. Engels' characterization was intended to emphasize the "pre-scientific" quality of their socialism; that is, they believed that a socialist society could be created by an act of will, either in the form of experimental communities, or by means of education. In contrast, the Marxian position was declared to be "scientific" because it had demonstrated that socialism was not a matter of choice but of historical necessity. Although the label "Utopian Socialist" has passed into general usage, it has sometimes been employed rather loosely to cover writers, such as Proudhon, who do not properly belong alongside Fourier or Owen. Moreover, Engels erred in lumping Saint-Simon with the Utopians. Strictly speaking, Saint-Simon was not a socialist, for he did not propose the abolition of private property or social inequality. At the same time, like the Marxists, he believed that the operation of certain historical laws made the new society inevitable. In this chapter I shall use "Utopian Socialism" to refer to Fourier and Owen and to distinguish them from Saint-Simon and Proudhon.

article of faith that no creation, no object, no thought, no act could be rightfully called "mine." Everything was society's creation. Even the highest flights of human aspiration and creativity—art, literature, religion, and philosophy—were stripped of mystery and exposed as "expressions" of society.²⁴ All shades of opinion unanimously agreed that economic production must be analyzed as a social process in which it was impossible to single out the contributions of specific individuals. Although it fell to the socialists to exploit this particular line of thought into a justification for the abolition of private ownership, property was merely the most spectacular casualty among privacies of all kinds.

For an age that was dubious about whether God existed, and for a science, like sociology, that no more needed *that* hypothesis than did the mathematician Laplace, there was a surprising eagerness to attribute to society the transcendence denied God. God is "only society transfigured and symbolically expressed." "Insofar as he belongs to society, the individual transcends himself, both when he thinks and when he acts." ²⁵ Society is God, or more precisely, through society man plays God—this was the passionate belief of the century. All men, Saint-Simon had declared, were afflicted with a power urge; all are struggling to replace "the fantastic being who rules all of nature." ²⁶

For the present, the century decided to allow God to retain control of the heavens—this would be challenged later—and to turn its energies to playing God in the universe of society. In the social world man is master: he "raises himself above things and makes laws for them, thus depriving them of their fortuitous, absurd, amoral character; that is, insofar as he becomes a social being. For he can escape nature only by creating another world where he dominates nature. That world is society."27 With the advent of industrialism the century realized that a great instrument was ready at hand for shaping nature to man's design. Marx systematized the thinking of the age when he theorized that industrial society formed a unified social environment, a "social nature," which exerted a control over the social character of man as complete as that of Darwinian nature over the physical life of organisms. The industrial system selects some human capabilities, rejects others, adapts some, destroys others; it encourages some of man's potential, stunts the rest, and leaves man "a crippled monstrosity"; it establishes a hierarchy between and within classes; it imperiously commands that the natural tempo of human life be adjusted to the rhythms of the machine—"a continuity, uniformity, regularity, order, and even intensity of labor . . . "28 Under capitalism disharmony and alienation prevailed between man and "nature." Industrialized "nature" stood as "an alien force existing outside" man, "growing out of our control, thwarting our expectations, bringing to naught our calculations." In the society of the future, however, the "violence of things" over persons would give way to "the control and conscious mastery of these powers"²⁹ and modern man would be as securely entrenched in the governance of his world as the mediaeval God had been in His.

In contemporary thought the drama of man as God appears to have played out to its climax: nature is no longer distinct from society, but, by the powers of organization, it has been taken from God and absorbed into society:

With the gradual integration of unplanned events into a planned society an important stage in the technical control of nature is reached. The newly controlled provinces of nature lose their original character and become functional parts of the social process.³⁰

The glorification of society was presaged by the discovery of nineteenth-century writers that man was, in Proudhon's words, *un animal vivant en société*, a being whose nature was shaped by social groups and whose natural destiny it was to serve as a palimpsest registering the crisscross of social interrelationships. De Bonald, reactionary, theocrat, and royalist, donated the watchword for the age: "everything tends to create aggregates in the social world . . ."³¹ Or, in the formulation of another writer, "Society means the sum total of relationships; in a word, system."³² The words were those of Proudhon, self-proclaimed anarchist and individualist; they might just as easily have come from any number of sociologists, reactionaries, communists, and spokesmen for the modern corporation.

III. Organization and Community

The preoccupation with "society" gave rise to two closely interrelated problems which troubled almost every major nineteenth-century writer and continues to perplex the present. They are the problems of community and of organization. Stated in very broad language the thesis of the following pages is this: the political and social thought of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries largely centered on the attempt to restate the value of community, that is, of the need for human beings to dwell in more intimate relationships with each other, to enjoy more affective ties, to experience some closer solidarity than the nature of urbanized and industrialized society seemed willing to grant. In terms of theorizing, this quest led to the elaboration of what Proudhon called the "métaphysique du groupe." At the same time, the thought of the period followed another direction, one which presented a serious threat to the communitarian development. In the words of an older historian, the nineteenth century was "a period saturated with the idea of organization."33 Just as Aristotle's dictum that man is a political animal had reflected the ethos of a highly political age, so Saint-Simon accurately reported on the guiding belief of the organizational age: The superiority of men over other animals "results directly from a superiority of organization." 34

The writers who ranked organization foremost among social phenomena inevitably emphasized considerations far different from those preoccupying the theorists of community. The organizationists looked upon society as an order of

functions, a utilitarian construct of integrated activity, a means for focusing human energies in a combined effort. Where the symbol of community was fraternity, the symbol of organization was power.

Among nineteenth-century writers the idea of organization was partly associated with economic or technological considerations, but in its mature form, such as we know it today, it has meant far more. Organization also signifies a method of social control, a means for imparting order, structure, and regularity to society. In this respect the idea of organization owes far more than is often realized to the counter-revolutionaries, de Maistre and de Bonald, who discovered in organization the antidote to the disorders afflicting post-revolutionary France. What made this discovery of general significance, and led to the absorption of reactionary elements into later social and political theory, was that disorder or anomie appeared a constant threat long after the Reign of Terror and Jacobinism had been forgotten. The "lack of organization characterizing our economic condition," Durkheim declared, existed in all departments of social life; men had come to accept as normal the abnormality of disorder.³⁵ And, in the words of a contemporary student of industrial practices, "politically and socially . . . we have no industrial civilization, no industrial community life, no industrial order or organization."36 When the spokesman for managerial society echoes the lament of Saint-Simon—"A real solution will only come when society is integrated around its major activity, business"³⁷ he is paying unconscious tribute to de Maistre as well; his faith is that business can provide a principle of order as well as a method of production.

It was not conservatives alone who held a deep faith in the saving powers of organization. The fundamental contribution of Lenin to Marxist theory was along similar lines. He "completed" Marxism by adding a theory of action based on the proposition that the creation of a compact revolutionary organization was the precondition for the successful overthrow of capitalism. If organization could conquer nature for the capitalist, it could surely conquer society for the proletariat. Similarly, recent advocates of economic "planning" have relied on the talisman of organization as the means of deliverance from the social chaos of uncontrolled capitalism. Mannheim's writings are particularly instructive in this connection because of their neat synthesis of Saint-Simonian and Leninist ideas. His diagnosis was pure Saint-Simonism: "every country alike is groping for a new way of organizing industrial society." Like Saint-Simon before him, Mannheim announced that "the technical and structural foundations of modern society have been completely transformed," and from this he drew an identical warning: the "successful organization of society cannot be left to chance." ³⁸ But when Mannheim turned to consider the modes of action suitable to modern society, Saint-Simon is exchanged for Lenin. According to the Leninist theory of revolution, the progressive bureaucratization and centralization of society had greatly simplified the task of the revolutionaries. Under modern conditions the revolutionaries

needed only to seize certain strategic control-points and the whole of society would fall under their direction. Mannheim adopted a similar assumption with one qualification. In an organizational age, where only levers had to be pressed, revolutionary action could be dismissed as an unnecessary and costly atavism. Capitalism had perfected the organization of society and thereby had made it possible for a "planning elite" to gain "control of the whole" by capturing a few "key" positions. Just as the strategy of the Lninists was aimed at controlling the few nerve-centers of society, "planning is the reconstruction of an historically developed society into a unity which is regulated more and more perfectly by mankind from certain central positions." Planning, like revolution, is a form of strategy which seeks to bring power to bear at crucial, sensitive points and always in the right proportion. 40

Whatever differences there were in diagnosis and prescription, most of the major writers were agreed on the general formula—organization: organization of a socialist commonwealth where competition and private ownership of the instruments of production were abolished and work was administered along more rational lines; organization of society into a vast hierarchy of authority where, as de Maistre would have it, king and pope, assisted by a public-spirited aristocracy, would reinstitute stability and peace (or, substitute Comte's hierarchy of savant-priests, and the point is the same); organization of society on the basis of professional and producing groups, as Durkheim suggested; or, as many recent writers have urged, organization of society under the control of managerial elites who alone possessed the requisite knowledge for maintaining social equilibrium in an age of successive technological revolutions. The primacy assumed by the idea of organization was not the achievement of any one school but of many. Each of us, as members of societies dominated by organized units, is part socialist, part reactionary, part managerialist, part sociologist. Organizational man is a composite.

The idea of community and the idea of organization did not develop as two separate and parallel strands during the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. What is interesting, and at times poignant, is the way that they converge. The nostalgia for the vanished warmth of the simple community and the obsession with the possibilities of large-scale organization are frequently piled on top of each other. As the century wore on and men were sobered by the impracticality of recapturing the shared warmth of a close communion, they stubbornly refused to surrender the hope of community. Instead, they insisted on imputing its values to the stark and forbidding structures of giant organizations. ". . . The organization of a well-ordered system requires that the parts be strongly bound to the whole and dependent on it." The overtones of this remark were communal; the theme was organizational.

The idea of organization as both power and community figures prominently in contemporary theories. The existence of organization, declares one sociologist,

not only creates "newly deployable energy" but "a unity of persons rather than of technicians."42 The tenor of these remarks is strongly expressive of the modern writer's continuing search for a synthesis of power and community similar to the one achieved by the mediaeval church. Beginning with de Maistre and de Bonald a succession of social and political theorists have voiced their admiration for the subtle blend of power, belief, and solidarity of mediaeval society. The decisive point in this development occurred when radicalism, in the person of Saint-Simon, agreed with the reactionaries that mediaeval Catholicism was an eternal reminder both of the fundamental importance of authority in the preservation of society and of the necessity of some form of religion which would provide a minimum ethic and a bond of fraternity. Religion had the charm of a novel discovery for the nineteenth-century precursors of social science; some of them, like Saint-Simon and Comte, thought so highly of religion that they enthusiastically undertook to invent new ones. The oddities of these "religions" need not detain us, but what was important was that radicalism had appropriated for its own purposes the insights of the reactionaries. Saint-Simon invented a religion because of a conviction that the cold workings of a scientific society could not be supported without a foundation of common belief and that human appetites aroused by the promise of a material millennium could not be contained unless a religious ethic existed.

This style of argument had been established early in the nineteenth century by de Bonald. Without questioning the sincerity of de Bonald's religious convictions, one can detect a fundamental incongruity between the highly rationalistic, almost geometrical cast of his thought, the tough insistence on the need for an absolutely sovereign power, his contempt for any form of individuality and, on the other hand, his appeal to a religion founded on the saving doctrine of love and humility. Yet there was no incongruity, because de Bonald, for all his protestations of belief, had lost touch with the older meaning of religion. For de Bonald, as for many later social scientists, religion had been swallowed by sociology:

Others have defended the religion of man; I defend the religion of society \dots in the future [religion] will be considered from a broader point of view, one relative to the society, whose laws it ought to rule and regulate by endowing it with what it could not otherwise secure, a rationale for the power of commanding, and a motive for the duty of obeying. 43

In more recent times the social utility of religion has been expressed in a nostalgia for the values of the Middle Ages. Durkheim, as well as many of the proponents of "guildism" in England, have drawn inspiration from the mediaeval system of corporations and guilds and pointed approvingly at the moral solidarity and the restraints on acquisitiveness that prevailed. ⁴⁴ The late Elton Mayo hoped that the human relationships which might be developed in the factory sys-

tem would provide a substitute for "the simple religious feeling of mediaeval times" ⁴⁵—a rather startling variation on *laborare, orare*. Erich Fromm, one of the most influential of the neo-Freudian revisionists, has written with approval of the condition of mediaeval man: although not free, "neither was he alone and isolated . . . Man was rooted in a structuralized whole, and thus life had a meaning which left no place, and no need, for doubt." ⁴⁶ To complete the thread of connections, the late Karl Mannheim argued that the sociologist had none of the rationalistic liberal's suspicions of religious values and institutions and hence could better appreciate the social function of mediaeval Catholicism:

Today, of course, we have greater understanding than ever of the achievement of a mediaeval basic theology and even of the need for an organized spiritual power.⁴⁷

The sociological appreciation of religion has had a discernible effect upon recent theories of organization. The problem that many recent theorists have posed is the one that had perplexed Saint-Simon earlier: if large-scale organizations are the central units around which contemporary life is mainly organized, how can they exchange their old identities, as structures of authority and power, for a new one which combines authority with a feeling of community among the members? The mission of the organization is to supply not only goods and services, but fellowship as well.

The confidence of the modern writer in the power of organization stems from a larger faith that organization is man's rejoinder to his own mortality. Accordingly, the contemporary writer, in describing great organizations like the business corporation, tends to fall back on the language of religion. A good example of this, and one drawn from a sober-minded writer, is A. A. Berle's *The Twentieth Century Capitalist Revolution*. The United States, he writes, has committed itself to a society dominated by the large corporate enterprise; these units have become the "collective soul" and "conscience-carrier of twentieth century American society." The corporation represents the means whereby "we are plotting the course by which the twentieth century in America is expected to produce an evolving economic Utopia, and, apparently, the potential actually exists, bringing that dangerous and thrilling adventure within human reach for the first time in recorded history." Appropriately the last chapter of this book is entitled "Corporate Capitalism and the 'City of God.' "48"

These intellectual tendencies are closely related to the main concern of our previous chapters, the search for the political. In community and in organization modern man has fashioned substitute love-objects for the political. The quest for community has sought refuge from the notion of man as a political animal; the adoration of organization has been partially inspired by the hope of finding a new form of civility. To clarify these notions it is proposed that we analyze two "ideal" theories of community and organization: our theorist of community will be Jean-Jacques Rousseau,

citizen of Geneva, and our theorist of organization, Henri Comte de Saint-Simon, the self-proclaimed "Founder of the Industrial Doctrine."

IV. ROUSSEAU: THE IDEA OF COMMUNITY

Few men have been more deeply at odds with society than Rousseau; fewer still have spoken as powerfully of the need for community. Yet this was not one more paradox in the most paradoxical of thinkers. Because Rousseau felt his own alienation so deeply, he was prepared to sacrifice more for society, as well as to demand more from it. The alienation expressed in his writings was total, extending to all levels of existence. "We no longer live in our own place, we live outside it . . . Man is now beginning to be at war with himself."49 Man has turned his own mind against himself: "a state of reflection is a state contrary to nature, and a thinking man is a depraved animal."50 Society, with its inducements to rivalry and ambition, had trapped man into adopting a social self which stifled the authentic or natural self. "Then it is that man finds himself outside nature and at strife with himself."51 Society, instead of helping man in developing his capacities, stunts what it has not stifled and leaves behind a caricature of human potentialities. "Our wisdom is slavish prudence; our customs consist in control, constraint, compulsion. Civilized man is born and dies a slave. The infant is bound up in swaddling clothes, the corpse is nailed down in his coffin. All his life long man is imprisoned by our institutions."52 Political life reflects the same estrangement between man and his surroundings. Political arrangements are shrewdly designed by the rich and powerful and foisted upon the poor and weak to keep them in subjection: "all ran head-long to their chains . . . they had just enough wit to perceive the advantages of political institutions, without experience enough to see the dangers."53

What gave pathos to human alienation was that man could never regain his natural self, a point that Rousseau's critics have tended to ignore when charging him with favoring a return to the primeval slime. The anguish of the human condition was that man could never go back to the warm, dark womb of nature. "Savage man and politicized man are so fundamentally different in heart and by inclinations that what gives happiness to the one reduces the other to despair."

The gulf that separated Rousseau from his century was nowhere more deeply marked than in his rejection of the uncritical worship of "society." Hume, the classical economists, and later Paine and Godwin had rated social life the highest form of human achievement and the vital condition for the development of morality and rationality. The interdependence of each on all, which was the marvelous secret of society, furnished a basis for the complex structure of cooperation and the division of labor which had enlarged man's productive power and extended his mastery over nature. Rousseau did not doubt that interdependence and coopera-

tion had enhanced man's power and that the process of socialization had endowed man with conscience and rationality. Instead, he questioned whether reason, conscience, morality, and productive power—in short, all that the century meant by society and civilization—were unmixed benefits. If the course of social evolution had "improved the human understanding while depraving the species, and made man wicked while making him sociable," there must be a radical ambiguity accompanying each benefit and pervading society as a whole. What was it, then, that society did to man? what moral wound did it inflict on his nature to cause him to employ reason in the service of deception and make conscience accessory to his crimes? why was man "depraved" and "perverted" by society?⁵⁵

No satisfactory answer could be had, Rousseau believed, without first understanding man's nature in the most radical sense of that term: not man's nature as it had been shaped by society, but as it existed in the state of nature, man stripped of all socially acquired habits, desires, and morality, in short, man as raw self, as Id. In the state of nature man had been at peace with himself, because life had been reduced to the essentials of survival. Man's passions and instincts had been fully sublimated in the attempt to satisfy his immediate wants, and hence a kind of equilibrium had been established: what he needed he desired, and what he desired he needed. Civilized man, in contrast, had fabricated endless complications to existence. As a creature whom society had rendered rational and endowed with imagination, he uses what he has acquired to make his condition miserable. He is cursed by the ability to imagine new needs, to extend without limit the horizon of his possibilities, to turn reason into cunning and place it at the service of desire. He has destroyed the balance between needs and desires: what he needs he does not desire, what he desires he does not need. Living in close proximity to others multiplies his wants; he is forced into making comparisons between what he has and what others have. Existence is turned into a running sore of discontent.⁵⁶ Now man must compete with others for the objects of desire; he must adopt stratagems of dissimulation, hypocrisy, and insincerity. "To be and to seem become two totally different things."57 Soon he is led to the fatal discovery that other men can be used to satisfy his own wants, and other men, in turn, discover that he is equally useful to them. Thus begins the web of interdependence, woven from desire, that the philosopher gilds with soothing phrases like "cooperation," "interdependence," and "division of labor." For Rousseau these were all euphemisms concealing the fundamental moral problems posed by an interdependent society. Interdependence necessarily presupposes dependence and inequality:

From the moment one man began to stand in need of the help of another... equality disappeared, property was introduced, work became indispensable, and vast forests became smiling fields, which man had to water with the sweat of his brow, and where slavery and misery were soon to germinate and grow up with the crops.⁵⁸

Thus human needs, instead of uniting men, divide them: the state of war is to be found in society, not nature. "Take away our fatal progress, take away our faults and vices, take away man's handiwork, and all is well." ⁵⁹

Rousseau's solution for the ills of society was not to beckon men to the woods, nor to advocate the destruction of all social interdependencies. He proposed, instead, a paradox: let us create a society which causes men to grow closer to one another, to become so strongly solidary that each member will be made dependent on the whole society and, by that very fact, be released from *personal* dependencies. Rousseau's solution was one which belonged to the tradition of close communion, with the solutions of other writers who have been appalled at the consequences of large-scale, impersonal aggregates, who prefer the pulsating life of the small group to the cold, exterior unity of massive institutions. Like D. H. Lawrence, Rousseau believed that "men are free when they belong to a living, organic, believing community . . ."

Yet, in one sense, Rousseau pitched his demands higher than the primitive Christian or modern sectarian, far higher than later theorists of socialist utopias. He demanded of society something that had never been voiced before, but has been repeated since, something more than the conditions for a moral life, more than the opportunity for self-development, more than material necessities. The community must be designed to satisfy man's feelings, to fulfill his emotional needs. The Rousseau for whom "to exist is to feel," for whom authentic experience came from what was vivid and immediate—"How many men between God and me!"—, for whom "sincerity" and "simplicity of heart" were primary virtues, a temper such as this could be appeased only by human relationships that were direct, personal, and intense. "My dear fellow citizens, or rather my brothers . . . "61 What Luther aspired to in man's relationship with God, Rousseau transferred to man's relationships with his fellows:

Every man is virtuous when his particular will is in all things conformable to the general will, and we voluntarily will what is willed by those whom we love \dots [if men were aware] of their own existence merely as a part of that State, they might at length come to identify themselves in some degree with this greater whole, to feel themselves members of their country, and to love it with that exquisite feeling which no isolated person has save for himself \dots 62

The quest for personal identity was to be fulfilled by the creation of a corporate community, a *moi commun*, where each simultaneously discovered himself in the closest possible solidarity with others: "*Nous recevons en corps chaque membre comme partie indivisible du tout.*"⁶³

Here in Rousseau's conception of community were the elements of what Fourier later called *le groupisme*. In one form or another it reappeared whenever there was demand for the revival of social solidarity: in Utopian Socialism, in

Hegel's philosophy, in the pluralist thought of Figgis and Cole, and in contemporary writers who seek in the factory a substitute for community. The purest restatement of Rousseau, however, is to be found in one of the founders of modern sociology, Emile Durkheim.⁶⁴ The affinities between the two are worth exploring because Durkheim's interest in the problems of group solidarity, social disorganization, and social cohesion has been perpetuated in the concerns of contemporary sociology. Durkheim has been the medium, so to speak, by which Rousseau has left his mark on modern social science.

The mystique which Rousseau had woven about the group was accepted by Durkheim and made the basis of his analysis of group life: "A group is not only a moral authority which dominates the life of its members; it is also a source of life sui generis. From it comes a warmth which animates its members, making them intensely human, destroying their egotisms."65 For Durkheim the revitalization of group life seemed the only remedy to restoring the blunted moral sense of the age. The malaise afflicting industrial society was traced to the individual's being released from primary group attachments and allowed to move in a society without moral guideposts. 66 Morality, Durkheim insisted, was the reflection of a solidary way of life, an amalgam of many minds and a thousand practices. It was embodied in what Durkheim dubbed "collective representations." These forms, Durkheim contended, while they represented a synthesis of individual consciousnesses, were remarkably similar to Platonic ideas; they attained an independent existence where they obeyed "laws all their own." They were internalized within individuals, yet they simultaneously remained outside, imposing their directives on him, supplying the fundamental categories of ethics, perception, and action. They were "the highest form of the psychic life." As in Rousseau's community, no tension existed between self and society; there was only the moi commun of perfect identification. "To desire a morality other than that implied by society is to deny the latter and, consequently, one's self."68

There was one other continuity between the thought of Rousseau and of Durkheim, which further illuminates some preoccupations and underlying assumptions of modern social science. Durkheim's theory of "collective representations" or, in his alternative phrase, "the collective conscience," was formulated to meet the same order of problems, and hence contained many of the same prejudices, as Rousseau's general will. There were two attributes of Rousseau's general will which are apposite here: one concerned the source of the general will, the other its quality. The general will was to issue from the community acting in unison; as a collective judgment the general will would be more likely to approximate an impersonal rule. The collective character of the general will also assured the individual of his freedom, for to the extent that he submitted to a communal judgment he avoided dependence on another individual. Moreover, the general will was superior in quality to an individual judgment, and its normative status

furnished the justification for applying compulsion to the individual: in being coerced into complying with the command of the general will, the individual was made to do what he would want to do if he were capable of modifying his own egotism.

These same considerations dominated Durkheim's "collective conscience:" like Rousseau's community, the group was designated "a moral person," one capable of "containing individual egos" and "of maintaining a spirited sentiment of common solidarity." The collective conscience was "the work of the community," and coercion employed on its behalf was legitimate because it was coercion at the service of morality, not of wealth or strength. Finally, in the same way that the general will was the supreme expression of Rousseau's community, the collective conscience was "the highest form of the psychic life"; in obeying it the individual was elevated from his simple egotism, or what Rousseau had called his "particular will." In its highest form this "combination of all the individual forces" reflected a community as solidary as any Rousseau would have wanted, "une vie commune" where "all the individual consciences [were] in unison and combination." The collective conscience embodied "something other than the totality of individuals that compose it."

V. Freedom and Impersonal Dependence

There was an additional element in Rousseau's conception of community, one which contrasted sharply with the intimate, face-to-face existence described earlier. It originated in Rousseau's conviction that if the community were to approximate in some degree the independence, equality, and freedom of the natural condition, political relationships would have to be highly impersonal. The community was to be ordered in such a way that, in place of the prevailing dependence on persons, the individual would be dependent on impersonal entities or "things." Rousseau's argument is worth exploring because it foreshadowed one of modernity's basic articles of faith: that to be dependent on some impersonal force—call it "history" "necessity," "World-Spirit," "laws of nature," or "society"—is to commune with reality and to experience "true" freedom.

Rousseau's argument was developed upon the basis of certain conjectures about existence in the state of nature. In the state of nature men had lived in relative isolation from each other, untroubled by imaginative possibilities, ignorant of social distinctions, of family life, and even of speech. Each went his separate way, unmindful of others because he did not need them. "Those barbarous ages were the golden age, not because men were united, but because they were isolated."⁷² To be independent of others meant to be free from any *personal* authority or power. In the natural condition, authority and power resided solely in impersonal nature.⁷³ The physical forces of the environment were felt by all, but

in a manner that was equal and indiscriminate. The sun shone on the good and bad alike. Thus the natural condition was one where the individual was subject to the general laws of nature, but independent of his fellows:

There are two kinds of dependence: dependence on things, which is the work of nature; and dependence on men, which is the work of society. Dependence on things, being non-moral, does no injury to liberty and begets no vices; dependence on men, being out of order, gives rise to every kind of vice, and through this master and slave become mutually depraved.⁷⁴

Here, in outline, was the prescription for society: to approximate the impersonal equality of nature by creating a close community, to locate independence in mutual dependence. One could not hope for a restoration of man's primitive independence, for men now counted heavily on the amenities which only civilized cooperation could provide. Yet if independence were impossible, there might still be freedom from personal servitude. This could be accomplished by founding a political society wherein each prescribed rules for himself.⁷⁵ Similarly, if men could not return to a condition where all were equally subject to nature's law, they could form a society where each was equally subordinate to the whole. "The total alienation of each associate, with all his rights, to the entire community" established "the condition equal for all." And if he had lost forever subjection to the impersonal power of nature, he might substitute a system in which only the impersonal authority of the law held sway. In submitting to the law, "personne ne commande," and men "n'aient point de maître." The law establishes in civil society "the natural equality between men."

The social contract symbolized the arrangement designed to protect each member "from all personal dependence." Instead of the dependence on nature, and instead of the dependence on individuals or classes, as in perverted societies, each would be dependent on the whole. "Each, in giving himself to all, gives himself to no one." The precondition of perfect dependence required the voluntary and total surrender by each individual of all his rights and powers. Each ought to be "perfectly independent" of the others as individuals, but each should be bound by "une excessive dépendence" on the community. These considerations also appear in the famous conception of the general will, the sovereign authority and supreme expression of the political community. Rousseau emphasized once more the attribute of generality in order to bring out the analogy with nature.

The general will, like the forces of nature, disdained to deal with particular objects, but, with a majestic impersonality, confined itself to generalized ends common to all. The more general an object, the less its particularity, the less its selection reflected a subjective, personal judgment. Hence to the extent that the general will aimed at general interests, the more faithfully it emulated nature's reign. "Private interest tends always to preferences, the public interest to equality." This reasoning

led to Rousseau's celebrated dictum that the general will could force men to be free. What he meant by this ominous phrase was that compulsion might be employed in order to force men into dependence on the whole community, thereby freeing them from dependence on particular individuals.⁸¹

It is often said that Rousseau's political ideas were archaic from the outset because they were meant to apply to the political life of a small society. This criticism has not, however, prevented Rousseau's communitarian ideal from playing a highly influential role in nineteenth- and twentieth-century theories. Perhaps it was because Rousseau had rekindled some widespread and deeply felt need for a close community that we find succeeding writers returning time and again to the main elements of Rousseau's conception and stressing once more the high value of social solidarity, the necessary subordination of the individual to the group, the importance of impersonal dependence, the redemptive vocation of membership, and the benefits accruing from a close identification between individual and aggregate. The quest for community undertaken by so many writers, who have reflected so many different political persuasions, suggests that Rousseau's conception of community has turned into a specter haunting the age of organization, a continuing critic of the sort of life lived within large-scale, depersonalized units, a reminder that human needs demanded more than rational relationships and efficient routines.

In the writings of Proudhon, Durkheim, the English pluralists, or, more recently, Erich Fromm, the communitarian ideal has been preserved and revitalized to the point where it forms a distinct tradition. Yet it has never succeeded in disabusing our age of the enchantments of organizational power and splendor. Where the communitarians have succeeded is in making the champions of organization conscious of the deficiencies of organizational life. The result has been, as we shall note later, that the organizationists have tried to engraft elements of community onto the main stem of organization, hoping thereby to lessen the contrast between the two. In their dialectical tension community and organization present certain parallels with the older religious dualism of church and sect. The modern communitarians follow the sect-tradition, elevating the spontaneous life of the group above the institutionalized order of the organization, while the organizationists belong to the church-tradition of revering a structure of authority and distrusting the spontaneous expression of the membership. The communitarians are "Lutherans," the organizationists "Catholics."

VI. SAINT-SIMON: THE IDEA OF ORGANIZATION

Some political writers are read for the nobility of their thought; others because of their precision and tough-mindedness; still others are much like old shoes, comfortable and familiar; and, finally, there are those who provoke and disturb. Some

writers, however, are neither noble, profound, consistent, familiar, nor provocative, but they are read, nevertheless, because somehow they have sensed the future drift of things and charted it with a naïve clarity. Saint-Simon was such a writer. Almost all of his commentators have agreed on two points: that he was able to perceive the future in an almost uncanny way and that he was mentally unstable and at times quite mad. What no one seems to have pointed out is that, given the sort of future he predicted, his madness may well have been a necessary precondition for his foresight. In Saint-Simon the age of organization found its philosopher and, in his writings, its manifesto: "The philosophy of the eighteenth century was critical and revolutionary; that of the nineteenth will be inventive and organizational."

The foundations of organization theory were set down by Saint-Simon with the conscious intent of establishing a defense against political instability and social disorder. More precisely, organization theory was born in response to the troubled aftermath of the French Revolution; it carried many of the birthmarks of the traditional search of political theorists for order. "The general upheaval experienced by the people of France" had led to a situation where "all the existing relations between the members of a nation become precarious, and anarchy, the greatest of all scourges, rages unchecked, until the misery in which it plunges the nation . . . stimulates a desire for the restoration of order even in the most ignorant of its members."83 Unknown to the men of the eighteenth century, new intellectual and social forces had slowly been gathering strength for centuries until they had burst through the anachronistic system with a "frightful explosion." The two elemental forces were science and industry; they contained a "logic" which ought to govern the shape of existing arrangements. "The necessary and organic social bond" was to be found in "the idea of industry . . . Only there shall we find our safety and the end of the revolution . . . The sole aim of our thoughts and our exertions must be the kind of organization most favorable to industry."84

In Saint-Simon's vocabulary "organization" connoted far more than a simple condition of social harmony and political stability. Organization promised the creation of a new structure of power, a functioning whole superior to the sum of the tiny physical, intellectual, and moral contributions of the parts. "Men shall henceforth do consciously, and with better directed and more useful effort, what they have hitherto done unconsciously, slowly, indecisively, and too ineffectively." As a system of power, organization would enable men to exploit nature in a systematic fashion and thereby bring society to an unprecedented plateau of material prosperity. This required the rational arrangement of the functioning parts, the subordination of some tasks to others, the direction of work by those who possessed the relevant knowledge of industrial processes. Industrial organization required a new social hierarchy for the present "society is a world that is upside down."

The new social pyramid would represent an ascending scale of contributions, from the workers at the bottom to the industrialists, scientists, and artists at the top. The principle of function, defined in terms of the needs of an industrial order, became the new principle of legitimation. The industriels, as Saint-Simon dubbed the scientists, artists, and industrialists, symbolized the essential skills needed to maintain an industrial civilization. The identification thus established between the talents of special groups and the general welfare of society made it easy for Saint-Simon to adopt for his own purposes the argument of the classical economists for the freedom of the businessman. Just as the public interest was inevitably furthered by the businessman's unhampered pursuit of private gain, so Saint-Simonian society was to benefit from allowing the industriels to develop their special skills to the fullest and to pursue their own ends without restriction: their "particular interests are perfectly in accord with the common interest."86 How influential this plea was to become may be judged by recalling that it has taken the threat of oblivion before the unlimited freedom of the scientist could be auestioned.

Among the most significant of Saint-Simon's contributions to organization theory was his recognition that the logic of organization was at loggerheads with the claims of equality popularized by eighteenth-century revolutionary theories. Organization and equality were antithetical ideas in that the former demanded hierarchy, subordination, and authority, while the latter denied all three. Saint-Simon also understood, however, that it was possible, even necessary, for industrial society to strike a bargain with equality: necessary because no order could be maintained except on a mass basis; possible because the material needs of the masses could be satisfied by the application of science to production. The masses desired neither liberty nor literal equality, only the alleviation of their material lot. If this were accomplished, they would give unstinting loyalty to the system and, as an extra dividend, produce more efficiently.⁸⁷ The industrial order, by providing a new structure for society, a new principle of authority, a new form of integration, was to be the counter-revolutionary antidote to the agitation of the masses, the de-revolutionizing remedy for "the present social agony."

Saint-Simon had created a theory of organization which, on its surface, bore certain affinities with Rousseau's ideas. The rationale which Rousseau had introduced to justify the general will in forcing men to be free was refurbished by Saint-Simon and introduced as an imperative of social science. The "principles" of organization, he contended, were "necessary" and hence "true." In compelling men to conform to the dictates of organization, the new elite would not be imitating the ways of the political despot. The commands of a political ruler could not avoid being coercive because they were based on subjective judgments. But the new order would be governed not by men, but by scientific "principles" based on the "nature of things" and therefore "absolutely independent of human will."

In this way organizational society promised the rule of scientific laws rather than men and the eventual disappearance of the political element entirely. Government would be "reduced to nothing, or almost nothing." Political action "will be reduced to what is necessary for establishing a hierarchy of functions in the general action of man on nature" and to clearing away obstacles to "useful work." ⁸⁹

The direction of society was to take the form of administration; that is, the control over things rather than men. Human energies would be redirected, away from the attempt to dominate each other, to the goal of dominating nature. Energies no longer sapped by class struggle could be combined and magnified by organization in order to take up once more the struggle abandoned by liberalism in its mood of despair:

The development of action against nature has changed the direction of this sentiment [of domination] by leveling it against objects. The desire to command men has slowly transformed itself into the desire to make and remake nature in accordance with our will.

From this time on, the desire to dominate, which is innate in all men, has ceased to be pernicious, or at least we can foresee an epoch when it will not be harmful any longer, but will become useful. 90

Organization as power over things—this was the lesson taught by Saint-Simon. It was a lesson taken to heart by socialists and capitalists alike. In this respect Marx, for example, was not the spokesman of radicalism but the representative of an age. Although *Das Kapital* contained a biting indictment of capitalism for its dehumanization of the worker, it also expressed unabashed admiration for the new leviathan of productive power created by capitalists. Marx compared it to a military unit in which the striking force of the group was greater than the sum of the individual powers taken separately.

Not only have we here an increase in the productive power of the individual, by means of cooperation, but the creation of a new power, namely, the collective power of masses . . . In modern industry man succeeded for the first time in making the product of his past labor work on a large scale gratuitously, like the forces of nature. ⁹¹

The century soon discovered that what Marx and others had attributed to industrialism applied with equal force to all types of large-scale organization—governmental, educational, and social. Any organization involved an arrangement dovetailing human actions into desired consequences; simplifying a variety of complex operations; mustering vast resources so that they flowed into the structure to emerge transformed; pooling diverse human talents—some highly skilled, some rudimentary, but all specialized—into a common cooperative effort. "The more numerous and varied the elements and relationships concurring in the formation of a group, the more centralized becomes power, and the more clearly

does existence partake of reality."⁹² In this contrived blend of energy, skill, and resources, the century believed it had hit upon a discovery of power as breathtaking as any boasted by the sciences, "*la science du mécanisme sociétaire*" Fourier called it.⁹³

In the twentieth century the fascination with organization reached new heights. Organization was conceived to be the means whereby twentieth-century man transcended his individual limitations. Wealth, power, plenty, and knowledge were all to be had through a kind of social alchemy. But more important, these achievements apparently did not require, as religious transcendence did, a "new man." Man could accomplish great things without himself becoming great, without developing uncommon skills or moral excellence. The secret of organization was that it compensated for human shortcomings; it served, in Lord Beveridge's phrase, to "make common men do uncommon things." What man could not accomplish individually, he could by collective organization; puny alone, mighty in aggregate. "The primary step in cooperation is to envisage biological characteristics of individuals as limitations which can be overcome by cooperation."94 When cooperation is multiplied, interconnected, and further diversified, the resulting organization constitutes a world that far exceeds the rational comprehension of the individual participant. The shortcomings of man, however, are not of sufficient consequence to deter the organization from accomplishing its ends. The organization, in its infinite cunning, accepts as given "the limits of humans as mechanisms for computation and choice,"95 and proceeds on the assumption followed long ago by de Maistre that a structured arrangement can overcome human failings:

It is only because individual human beings are limited in knowledge, foresight, skill, and time that organizations are useful instruments for the achievement of human purpose; and it is only because organized groups of human beings are limited in ability to agree on goals, to communicate, and to cooperate that organizing becomes for them a "problem." ⁹⁶

According to contemporary writers, organization does more than increase man's power or compensate for his shortcomings; it is the grand device for transforming human irrationalities into rational behavior. Planning, which is organization in the socialist idiom, is described by Mannheim as the "rational mastery of the irrational." "The greater the degree of technical and institutional control in a given society, the greater the radius of both action and foresight." The most systematic exposition of this encounter between irrational man and rational organization has been given by Herbert Simon, one of the most brilliant and original writers in the field of administrative theory. He starts from two antitheses: the non-organizational man who lacks the knowledge to make informed choices, who is bewildered by the whirl of events with its numerous alternatives and is

highly uncertain of the consequences of his choices. "It is impossible for the behavior of a single, isolated individual to reach any high degree of rationality." In contrast, the potency of the organization is such that it accepts human limitations but arranges them in such a way that a rational decision or organizational action results—in much the same manner that hamburger might be reground into sirloin steak. 99 Organizations are "the most rationally contrived units of human association," and hence when men are shaped to its demands their behavior becomes rational, more so than in "any other sector of human behavior . . . Rational choice can hardly exist without a theory of organization." 100

Organizations employ a variety of devices designed to imbue behavior with rationality. The organization specifies the individual's duties and functions; it assigns authority within the structure so that the member will know where to look for commands; it establishes limits to his choices; shapes his attitudes so that the individual comes to feel a sense of identity with the whole; directs stimuli at the individual and thereby induces orderly behavior. By these arrangements an environment is established where a "correct" choice by the individual is possible; that is, a choice adapted "to the organization objectives." ¹⁰¹

Since these institutions largely determine the mental sets of the participants, they set the conditions for the exercise of docility, and hence [sic] of rationality in human society. Human rationality, then, gets its higher goals and integrations from the institutional setting in which it operates and by which it is moulded . . . The rational individual is, and must be, an organized and institutionalized individual. ¹⁰²

This kind of reasoning naturally provokes the question of whether the proposition, that organization endows man's behavior with rationality, is not a tautology. If organizational behavior is defined as the standard of rational behavior, and if "progress in the technique of organization is nothing but the application of technical conceptions to the forms of human cooperation," the individuals who conform to its norms are, *ipso facto*, rational. Yet the proposition, while tautological, is hardly empty of significance. For by representing the organization as the epitome of rationality, as being that which man is not, organization theory has succeeded in creating a standard of nonhuman excellence. The organizationists have obligingly admitted this:

The idea that organizations should be built up round and adjusted to individual idiosyncrasies, rather than that individuals should be adapted to the requirements of sound principles of organization, is as foolish as attempting to design an engine to accord with the whimsies of one's maiden aunt rather than with the laws of mechanical science. ¹⁰⁴

Thus to the ancient question that Socrates directed at Protagoras, in what ways does a man become better if he follows the prescriptions of another, the

contemporary reply is: as a man he doesn't become better at all, but as an organizational function he does.

Administrative theory is peculiarly the theory of intended and bounded rationality—of the theory of the behavior of human beings who *satisfice* because they have not the wits to *maximize*...[To satisfice is to adopt] a course of action that is satisfactory or "good enough."¹⁰⁵

VII. ORGANIZATION THEORY AND METHODOLOGY: SOME PARALLELS

To round out our sketch of the recent and contemporary fascination with organization, we should like to suggest something of the depths of the attitudes involved. One way of doing this is to draw attention to some significant parallels between theories of organization and theories of methodology. There is no need to emphasize the popularity of contemporary discussions of method, particularly among the highly self-conscious social scientists. What I am suggesting here involves more than parallel obsessions. To the theorist of organization, the patterns of such structures supply a "logic" to human behavior comparable to the way that methodological procedures guide intellectual inquiry. Some hint of these parallels is contained in a remark of one of the leading organizational theorists: "What is important here, however, is the superlative degree to which logical processes must and can characterize organization action as contrasted with individual behavior . . ." What organization is supposed to accomplish for human behavior and society, method supplies for inquiries into society and behavior.

The connections between organization theory and methodology had been foreshadowed in the thought of Saint-Simon. Disturbed by the seemingly aimless and chaotic state of the intellectual disciplines he had reasoned that if all forms of disorder had their origins in faulty organization, the confusions of the intellect, like those of society, could be dispelled by the same remedy. The condition of present-day knowledge, he told the scientists, was one of "disjointed ideas because they are not related to any general concept, and your society [of scientists] is not organized systematically." The kind of method which would restore order was explained in the following terms: "Select an idea to which all other ideas can be related, and from which all principles can be deduced." Once the right method had been established it could be applied to all fields of inquiry, and results as spectacular as those achieved in the sciences would become universal.

The parallel established by Saint-Simon can be stated simply: a method is a form of organization, an organization is a form of method. In its social form organization is a method of establishing a set of relationships among persons, ordering their activities towards some definite purpose, and arranging their tasks in ascending scales of complexity. Similarly, Saint-Simon made it clear in his pro-

posal for a new encyclopaedia that intellectual affairs were to have their table of organization:

A good encyclopaedia would be a complete collection of human knowledge arranged in such order that the reader would descend, by equally spaced stages, from the most general scientific conception down to the most particular ones. ¹⁰⁸

A similar point of view was expressed by Proudhon later in the century. He contended that intellectual operations of a high order followed a "law of series" which could be adapted to social organization where it would bring enormous benefits:

In the scientific order, methods; in industry, technical procedures; in education, discipline; everywhere divisions and series—this is what will progressively raise the basis of societies to a level of the most sublime intelligence . . . ¹⁰⁹

In the recent literature of organization or administration these tendencies have usually taken the form of arguing that, just as scientific procedures and "laws" are true regardless of social setting, so the "laws" or "principles" of organization have the same universal validity and necessity. Organization, like method, is a timeless logic; its principles "can be studied as a technical question, irrespective of the purpose of the enterprise, the personnel composing it, or any constitutional, political or social theory underlying its creation." ¹¹⁰

Pervading much of the recent theorizing on method is the promise that right method will enhance and extend man's power over nature and society: method provides us with the power to predict the course of phenomena, and hence to put them under our control. More striking still, method, like organization, is the salvation of puny men, the compensatory device for individual foibles, the gadget which allows mediocrity to transcend its limitations. On the one side organization, by simplifying and routinizing procedures, eliminates the need for surpassing talent. It is predicated on "average human beings." The organizational hero would be a contradiction in terms; an order of talents, if not subversive, at least embarrassing.

At first glance, the emphasis on "bounded rationality," "common men," would seem to be at the furthest remove from the qualities we associate with scientific method. Our normal mental image is of the scientist as hero: a Galileo, a Newton, or an Einstein. We must, however, avoid confusing what it means to invent or *discover* a method with what it means to use one that has already been discovered, to distinguish between, say, a Euclid and the schoolboy who learns to manipulate geometrical propositions. This difference can be underscored by viewing method as a leveling device: the average college student in mathematics can employ a particular formula to produce results as accurate as those of the genius who discovered it. Long ago Descartes had written that "The child who has been

instructed . . . in the elements of Arithmetic, and has made a particular addition, according to rule, may be assured that he has found, with respect to the sum of the numbers before him, all that in this instance is within the reach of human genius." 112 Similarly, Bacon reported with pride, "my way of discovering sciences goes far to level men's wits, and leaves but little to individual excellence; because it performs everything by the surest rules and demonstrations." 113 Two centuries later Proudhon pointed out that, while it demanded genius to discover laws, and hence there was no explaining the mysterious creativity of a "Plato, Aristotle, Spinoza, Kant, Fourier," once the secret had been revealed, as in Proudhon's own "serial theory," we can, "children that we were yesterday, follow in the footsteps of giants, and, by a sudden illumination, we find ourselves to be their equals."

The task of learning in science being incomparably easier than that of discovery . . . the march of ordinary minds is more rapid by its continuity than the always more troubled soaring of the intellectual elite . . . the series strengthens the weak and imposes limits on genius . . . Now truth reveals itself to all; today to Newton and Pascal, tomorrow to the herdsman in the valley and the journeyman in the shop. 114

The parallel was extended further by Proudhon into a favorite area. If there was one consistent theme in all of his writings it was his hatred of personal authority. The social solution to the problem of authority was to be found in submitting to the true principles of social organization. Similarly, in adhering to the rules of scientific method, Proudhon's sage bowed before authority, but authority of an impersonal kind:

Genius is nothing more than anticipation of the method, an expression which designates man's vivid presentiment of the rule, and of the need for submitting one's self to it. The height of genius consists in the keen perception of the law.¹¹⁵

More ominously, just as organization theorists had warned that an organization could not be adjusted to individual idiosyncrasies, social scientists, like Max Weber, for example, found the imperious demands of method intolerant of what he contemptuously called the "cult of the personality." Thus method, like organization, tends to depersonalize, to restrict to a minimum the distinguishing traits of the individual, whether he follows the rules of method or obeys the rules of the organization. Methodological destructiveness has come a long way since Hobbes amused himself by "feigning" the annihilation of the world. Now method has been turned on man in order to root out the personal peculiarities which disqualify him both from being a competent methodologist as well as a proper subject for scientific generalizations.

This has been brought out in a most illuminating way by Mannheim. He began by contrasting older forms of self-observation with modern techniques. In the case of the mediaeval saints, for example, self-observation was rooted in "a

kind of egotism"; "they were concerned with themselves, and themselves alone"; that is, they sought "self"-perfection. The spirit of the modern observer is quite different. He "approaches himself experimentally, just as he approaches the objective facts of the world." He is concerned with self, but only to the end that he can "use his knowledge of the origins of his psychological defects as a universal remedy for society as a whole."

In the same tradition, the modern sociologically oriented psychologist or psychoanalyst, having once traced certain of his own psychological troubles . . . does not rest content until he has produced a theory which enables him to combat similar psychological difficulties in other men. This form of self-analysis has a levelling tendency and disregards individual differences because it is concerned with the general aspects of the human personality and its capacity for transformation. ¹¹⁷

There is a further and still more fundamental sense in which modern theories of method converge with theories of society. A method dictates a principle of selection; it groups relevant data and ignores others; some phenomena are admitted, others excluded. When these ideas are transferred to social theory, they tend to support the aggregate and to denigrate the individual. The aggregate or the collective is to social theory what relevant facts are to method; *pari passu*, the antisocial or unintegrated individual falls under the same suspicion as an irrelevant fact. Appropriately, sociology, the most methodologically self-conscious of the social studies, was launched as a science of the aggregate. According to Comte, the science of man could only deal with collective phenomena; it was compelled to exclude the individual from its purview. "Society" was the focus of inquiry and it "exists only where a general and collective action is exercised." 118

It might not appear at all odd that writers intent on analyzing and explaining social organization should insist that the facts relevant to such inquiries should be social in nature rather than individual. Logically, the study of society should center on interacting phenomena; doubtless no "laws" or general statements could be constructed from isolated or unique phenomena, unless one were intent upon a science of the bizarre. Viewed from another angle, however, the emphasis on "social facts," which Durkheim treated as central to the procedure of sociology, conceals some interesting attitudes characteristic of modern thought. First of all, it suggests the same suspicion of the individual that has been so prominent in Western thought ever since Burke and the French reactionaries had joined issue with the French Revolution. Thus de Bonald had accused the *philosophes* of preaching a philosophy which exalted human pride, a "science du moi." They "have made the philosophy of man *individual* of me. I have wanted to make the philosophy of man social, the philosophy of us . . ."119

Like the non-conforming person, the individual fact is wayward, eccentric, unclassifiable—and to be unclassifiable is to come perilously close to being

insignificant. "Everything existing is grouped"—and this from Proudhon, one of the century's arch-individualists. "Outside of the group there are only some abstractions and phantoms." Secondly, a "social fact" by definition is public, external, more easily observable than the facts of private conscience, or inward disposition. In keeping with this, Durkheim specifically denied that sociology could be based on the study of individual psychology: "every time a social phenomenon has been explained directly by a psychic phenomenon, it is certain that the explanation is false." ¹²¹

Now, as far back as Hobbes, as we have already noted, man had been viewed as a public bit of matter, presenting only an "outside" surface. In Durkheim's statement of the "rules" for studying social facts this viewpoint was converted into a formal system. The characteristics of social facts (including "moral facts") are such that they can be studied as "things"; that is, from the outside, external to the observer. It is not at all surprising that this procedure should have been anticipated by the arch-reactionary de Bonald, who devoted his intellectual life to combatting the individualism of the eighteenth century. To obtain a "fixed point of departure," he wrote, we must turn to "a perceivable and external fact," one "located in the moral order of things." It "is not to be found in *l'homme intérieur*" but in "*l'homme extérieur ou social*"; that is, "in society." 123

These tendencies were given further force by the growing appreciation among social theorists of the crucial role played by social functions in maintaining the "system" of society. "Functionalism" provided a nice opportunity for the social theorist to inject his preferences in defining those functions which were necessary to the effective operation and continued progress of the social system and those which were not. "Functionalism" implied a principle of exclusion comparable to the methodological notion of "relevance:" to be "functional" was good, to be "dis-functional" bad, or at least socially superfluous. Saint-Simon had been one of the first to state this idea and he did it with his customary flourish. What would happen to France, he asked, if she were suddenly to lose three thousand of her leading scientists, bankers, industrialists, artists, and artisans? The answer: "The nation would become a lifeless corpse." On the other hand, what consequences would result if France were to lose thirty thousand of her nobility, bureaucrats, ecclesiastics, and rich land-owners? The answer: None. 124 The reason? Functionalism: the first group was performing socially useful tasks, the latter was not.

The notion that the proper role of the individual was equivalent to the performance of a social function was later taken up by Durkheim and developed with surprising overtones of hostility towards individualism. He accused those who, with a Proustian delicacy, practiced the fine art of developing the total personality, of engaging in "a loose and flabby discipline":

To fight against nature we need more vigorous faculties and more productive strength . . . we rather see perfection in the man seeking, not to be complete, but to produce . . . In one of its aspects, the categorical imperative of the moral conscience is assuming the following form: Make yourself usefully fulfill a determinate function. ¹²⁵

Our proper role, Durkheim argued, was to be "an organ of society"; and to discharge it we must subordinate the individual conscience to the "collective conscience," for "there is no [private] conscience that is not in some ways immoral." In performing our roles we follow a life of action, and action is "altruistic" because "it is centrifugal and disperses existence beyond its own limitations." The *vita contemplativa*, on the other hand, "has about it something personal and egoistic . . . To think . . . is to abstain from action . . . to abstain from living." 126

The belief that individuals could be classified as "functional" and "dis-functional" continued throughout the nineteenth and into the twentieth century and steadily assumed more ominous tones. Certain groups and classes were selected for extinction or harsh social sanctions. In the writings of the Utopian Socialists, Marx, Proudhon, communists, and managerialists, there is the same Olympian ruthlessness as, first, aristocracy, then peasantry, then capitalists, then kulaks, and then intellectuals were abstracted, formed into a group, found wanting in some crucial respect, and discarded. Mayo wrote scornfully of those who "dwell apart from humanity in certain cities of the mind—remote, intellectual, preoccupied with highly articulate thinking." Mannheim blithely designated as "irrational" any class which was hostile to "the modern process of production." This included not only "the lower middle class," but an even more delicately defined classification, "the new middle class" which

attempts to rescue itself by using all the political techniques at its command in order to reverse the process of industrial development, to restrict the extension of rationalized industry, and to prevent the development of the modern rational type of man with all his humane ideals. ¹²⁸

What is important in these tendencies is not the particular group that is singled out, for it is quite beside the point that Mayo should have for intellectuals the same contempt Mannheim had for the "new middle class." Rather what is important is the passionate condemnation of large classes of human beings on professedly objective grounds, namely social science. Could it be that this is a kind of "theoretical genocide," the intellectual's reflected phantasy of the most hateful talent of our time, the "liquidation" of large groups on the grounds of their social inutility and/or danger? There is something disheartening about the way that those who have protested the horrors of totalitarianism should have been so oblivious to their own urges.

VIII. Organization, Method, and Constitutional Theory

We shall conclude our discussion of the community of assumptions which unites modern theories of organization and method by pointing out how many of these assumptions have reappeared in the modern theory of constitutionalism. The same hopes, the same fears, which inspired theorists of organization and method have been at work in constitutionalist thinking as well.

When we designate a political system as "constitutional" we usually have the following elements in mind: first, legal procedures for vesting authority among the various office-holders; second, effective restraints upon the exercise of power; third, institutionalized procedures for insuring the responsibility and accountability of public officials; and, fourth, a system of legal guarantees for enforcing the rights of citizens.

Our concern here is not with the merits of such a system, considerable though these may be. Rather we want to inquire into the reasoning which has been used to justify constitutional practices and arrangements. The following would, I think, pass as an acceptable statement of the gist of the modern theory of constitutionalism: The main aim of a constitutional form of government is to limit the exercise of political power to prevent its being abused. These purposes, it is believed, can be achieved without sacrificing the ends of peace or order which are essential to any type of political system. Constitutionalism requires both a certain organization of public offices and a strictly prescribed method of handling business.

The underlying assumptions, the fundamental suspicions, and the basic outlook of constitutionalism had been vividly set out by the great philosopher Immanuel Kant. There is a special force to what Kant had to say, because, in his writings on moral philosophy, he had strongly condemned the notion of "interest" as a criterion of goodness, yet in his political philosophy he installed it at the very center. In response to the criticism that a republican constitution presupposed "a state of angels," Kant declared:

But now nature comes to the aid of this revered, but practically ineffectual general will which is founded in reason. It does this by the selfish propensities themselves, so that it is only necessary to organize the state well (which is indeed within the ability of man), and to direct these forces against each other in such wise that one balances the other in its devastating effect, or even suspends it. Consequently the result for reason is as if both selfish forces were nonexistent. Thus man, although not a morally good man, is compelled to be a good citizen. The problem of establishing a state is soluble even for a people of devils, if only they have intelligence, though this may sound harsh.¹²⁹

The same general direction had been followed earlier in the American *Federalist Papers*. The Federalists had accepted as axiomatic that the shape of constitutional government was dictated by the selfish nature of man and his restless pursuit of interest. The question, in other words, was how to constitutionalize a Hobbesian society. The answer, moreover, was true to the spirit of Hobbes: "But what is government itself but the greatest of all reflections on human nature? If men were angels, no government would be necessary." The aim of a political organization was not to educate men, but to deploy them; not to alter their moral character, but to arrange institutions in such a manner that human drives would cancel each other or, without conscious intent, be deflected towards the common good. As Hume expressed it: "A republican and free government would be an obvious absurdity if the particular checks and controls provided by the constitution had really no influence and made it not the interest even of bad men, to act for the public good."

For the Federalists, the problem of establishing a constitutional balance could be solved if "the interests of the man [were connected] with the constitutional rights of the place . . . Ambition must be made to counteract ambition." 132 To check the aggrandizements of interest groups several devices were to be installed: by extending the "orbit" of the political society, and thereby multiplying "the number of interests and sects," additional barriers to majority rule would exist. 133 To make certain that the lawmakers did not pass harmful legislation, there would be provisions that "they can make no law which will not have its full operation on themselves and their friends ..."134 Throughout the whole system there would be a maze of checks designed to prevent the abuse of power by controlling the discretionary action of those in authority: not only would power be divided between separate departments, but between the federal government and the various states; checks and balances would be introduced so that each department could protect itself against encroachments by rival departments; all elected officials would have stated terms of office; various "filtering" devices, such as the indirect election of the Senate and the President, were to be installed to drain off the effects of popular passions at election times. But always the main hope lay in pitting power against power, not to achieve but to prevent. 135

What is significant about these tendencies in modern constitutional theory lies not merely in what was said but in what was omitted. We look in vain for any theory of political education, 136 of political leadership, or, until recently, of social consensus. As in theories of organization and method, constitutionalism relied on rules and procedures to the virtual exclusion of the art of politics. For, according to Harrington, the politician's role is to accept the dynamics of society; the politician "adds nothing but the Banks." 137 The theory that emerges is not so much one that eliminates politics but trivializes it. As Hume testified, "a constitution is only so far good as it provides a remedy against maladministration." 138

It follows that whatever virtue or excellence there would be properly belonged more to the system than to its operators. In the classical formulation of Harrington: "And as a *Commonwealth* is a government of *Lawes* and not Men; so is this the *Principality* of the Virtue, and not of the *Man* . . ." Only a "demagogue" would contend that the basic concern of a political system should be to secure good men. The true maxim read, "Give us good orders, and they will make us good men." For "as Man is sinful, but yet the world is perfect, so may the Citizen bee sinful, and yet the Commonwealth bee perfect." ¹³⁹

Thus in the constitutionalist argument we can detect the same leveling tendencies present in the idea of correct method. For substantiation we will cite again from Descartes' *Discourse on Method* where the leveling effect is underscored and the suspicion of surpassing excellence hinted at:

Good sense is, of all things among men, the most equally distributed . . . the diversity of our opinions . . . does not arise from some being endowed with a larger share of Reason than others, but solely from this, that we conduct our thoughts along different ways, and do not fix our attention on the same objects. For to be possessed of a vigorous mind is not enough; the prime requisite is rightly to apply it. The greatest minds, as they are capable of the highest excellencies, are open likewise to the greatest aberrations; and those who travel very slowly may yet make far greater progress, provided they keep to the straight road, than those who, while they run, forsake it. 140

The same suspicion of greatness was reproduced in constitutional theory and Lord Bryce may well have asked in *The American Commonwealth* why "great men" rarely were elected president, just as, more recently, General de Gaulle has cavilled against *le système*. For the "system" had been consciously designed to eliminate the need for greatness:

In the smallest court or office, the stated forms and methods by which business must be conducted are found to be a considerable check on the natural depravity of mankind . . . And so little dependence has this affair on the humours and education of particular men that one part of the same republic may be wisely conducted and another weakly by the very same men, merely on account of the differences of the forms and institutions by which these parts are regulated. ¹⁴¹

Similarly, the claim of the methodologist that scientific method helps to reduce the "personal factor" to a minimum is reproduced in the effort of constitutionalists to depersonalize politics, to confine the "human factor" to a minimum, to enthrone a "government of laws, and not of men." In the words of Royer-Collard,*

* Pierre Royer-Collard (1763–1845) was an influential writer and politician. He served as President of the Chamber in 1828 and as deputy from 1830–1842. In his speeches and writings he consistently defended the Charter of 1814, a mildly liberal constitution promulgated

one of the prominent French constitutional theoreticians of the early nineteenth century:

The difference between the sovereignty of the people and the sovereignty constituted in free governments is that in the former there are only persons and wills; in the latter there are only rights and interests, the individualities disappearing; everything is elevated from the particular to the general. 142

These depersonalizing tendencies have been supported by the belief that if a prescribed procedure is closely adhered to, the desired result will follow of strict necessity. That correct method cannot err has been the common faith of organizationists, methodologists, and constitutionalists. The organizationist avers that a rationally organized structure will weld unexceptional talents into a powerful apparatus for producing both decisions and products; the methodologist is likewise convinced that the right technique will yield identical results for genius and mediocrity alike; the constitutionalist, for his part, contends that his system of government is an equally ingenious contrivance for producing answers yet lays demands on its practitioners no heavier than those imposed by the organizationist or methodologist. As Harrington wrote, the problem of political organization is to "frame such a Government as can go upon no other than the public Interest." ¹⁴³

These similarities are neither coincidental nor to be explained by some vague reference to a common temper. Constitutional theory is both a variant of organizational theory and a political methodology. The existence of these affinities is confirmed in the strong fascination constitutionalists have had for the idea of applying scientific methods to the study of politics. Three of the most prominent modern writers associated with the quest for a science of politics—Harrington, Montesquieu, and Hume—were all constitutionalists. This, of course, is not to imply that the exponents of a science of politics have invariably been constitutionalists. My point is that constitutionalists have been especially susceptible to the lures of scientific method because of an assumption that a constitutional system provides a field of phenomena, so to speak, which is uniquely receptive to scientific methods.

This assumption has been nourished by certain characteristics in the operation of a constitutional system. It is a system that lays down explicit procedures for developing regularities and uniformities in human behavior. The several roles of legislator, administrator, executive, and judge are all carefully prescribed by law and practice. Over time it is expected that these prescriptions will become internalized in those who perform the roles mentioned above. In this way the desired prohibitions and permissions are built into the ways of behavior. By means of

by Louis XVIII. As the intellectual leader of the "Doctrinaires" he advocated a conservative and legalistic form of liberalism which feared power and distrusted the extension of the suffrage.

these practices the system posits a common denominator of political decorum, one which cancels out both knavery and excellence and treats them as deviant behavior. Thus a constitutional government is a system for directing stimuli which will control human actions and outlooks and, by so doing, make them predictable.

From here it is but a short step to a science of politics. Political theorists were quick to realize that if a scientific "law" is a generalization made possible by the uniformities, and never the idiosyncrasies, of phenomena, a constitutional system furnished ready-made regularities. A political science, wrote Hume, seeks "the general truths which are invariable by the humour or education whether of subject or sovereign." Truths of this type were possible because constitutional arrangements eliminated the significance of individual peculiarities of either knowledge or virtue:

So great is the force of laws and of particular forms of government, and so little dependence have they on the humours and tempers of men, that consequences almost as general and certain may sometimes be deduced from them as any which the mathematical sciences afford us.¹⁴⁴

IX. COMMUNAL VALUES IN ORGANIZATION

It is now time to return to the basic theme of social organization. Saint-Simon's discovery of organizational power had dazzled the age with the promise of satisfying human desires to the fullest. Not the abolition of poverty, but the creation of plenty was the beckoning goal. The clamor accompanying the full mobilization of society for an attack on nature only temporarily drowned certain doubts. Perhaps the tumult and the shouting were diversions which merely distracted attention from the fact that the assault on nature was a form of escapism. Societies might enjoy power and plenty and yet be poor in the vital element of community, and perhaps in industrial cooperation men were only seeking an artificial substitute for fraternity. Saint-Simonian society had promised great benefits, yet the cost was high: it had demanded subordination, but had withheld fellowship:

As a result [of the progress of the division of labor], men necessarily depend less on each other individually but each one of them depends more on the mass . . . Now the vague and metaphysical idea of liberty as it is current today . . . would tend significantly to impede the action of the mass on individuals. From this point of view it would be contrary to the development of civilization and the organization of a well-ordered system, which requires that the parts should be strongly bound to the whole. 145

Saint-Simon himself had sensed that some element was lacking. At an early stage he had believed that "the spirit of the age" demanded an ethic founded on "palpable, certain and present interests . . . Egoism is essential to the security of

organisms." Later, however, he was aghast at the effects of egoism upon social solidarity. "Society is today in a state of extreme moral disorder; egoism is making terrible progress, everything tends towards isolation."146 To remedy the situation Saint-Simon proposed an *ersatz* religion, one tailored simultaneously to the needs of industrialism and social unity. The details of the New Christianity need not detain us, for, in a fundamental sense, they are irrelevant to Saint-Simon's basic claims. At bottom Saint-Simon's society, like that of other organizationists, staked its claims on the promise to give what Rousseau had denied society could give, namely happiness. Rousseau had allowed that civilized man might attain virtue but never true happiness. Virtue demanded control of the passions, while happiness involved the gratification of the passions and thus necessarily led to misery and conflict with others. "Happiness shatters itself and perishes under the shock of the human passions."147 Rousseau concluded that the quest for community and the pursuit of happiness were mutually exclusive. The basis of solidarity had to be sought elsewhere. "We become attached to our fellows less because we respond to their pleasure than because we respond to their pains." Men can unite because they are capable of sharing their common condition of pain; to communicate is to commiserate. "If our common needs unite us by interest, our common miseries unite us by affection."148 Pity becomes the allimportant virtue, for it alone expresses our common humanity, our communion in pain. 149 Rousseau's "sorrowful picture of suffering humanity" was intended as a warning that man could never escape his finitude, nor find surcease to is pains:

All men are born poor and naked, all are liable to the sorrows of life, its ills, its needs, its sufferings of every kind; and all are condemned at length to die. This is what it really means to be a man, this is what no mortal can escape. 150

For Saint-Simon, however, finitude was a source of frustration. Every type of man, he wrote, is driven by the urge to power. The soldier, the geometer, the scientist, and the philosopher struggle "to scale the plateau on whose height stands the fantastic being who rules all of nature and whom every man who has a strong constitution tries to replace." ¹⁵¹ To struggle, to act, to satisfy desires, these were the techniques for confining pain to a small place in the human economy. ¹⁵² A whole society, organized and united, employing the latest knowledge from science, could conquer happiness by satisfying desires.

Hobbes had earlier taught the lesson that power and desire are bred by the scramble for scarcities, that as the offspring of alienated men they set the problem of community, not the solution. Writers of the first half of the nineteenth century chose to believe otherwise and in theories, such as those of the Utopian Socialists, they have left behind an instructive record of the pathetic attempt to unite the incompatibles of power, desire, and community. They wrote under the passionate conviction that the millennium could be ushered in if only the secret of productivity were unraveled.

They found their thread of Ariadne in human desires and followed it relentlessly. The secret was simple: it called for cunning methods of arousing human desires and then enlisting the released energies for the task of production. They called their societies by such names as "New Harmony," but Plato had described their outlines long ago in his "first city," the *civitas cupiditatis*.

The most sustained effort at combining productive power, desire, and community was made by Charles Fourier (1772–1837). The language of community was sprinkled throughout his writings: "harmonisme," "régime harmonien," "harmonie socialé," 153 but if we cut through these amiable sentiments expecting to find a life of common involvement, we shall find instead an artful arrangement of egos. Fourier aimed at community but ended by achieving merely the organization of desires.

The creation of an association, Fourier wrote, presupposed "the art of forming and mechanizing" the human passions. The revolution that was to be effected in society consisted of converting work from a source of pain to one of pleasure. 154 Work was to be rendered "attractive," that is, something to which men would be naturally drawn by virtue of desire or self-interest. Instead of adjusting man's personality to the demands of work, the new society would reverse this to modify work in accordance with human desires and wants. The members of the association would be free to move from task to task as their passions might prompt. Working groups were to be organized along lines set by the separate passions; even the most minute passions were given their due. All the rose-lovers, for example, would be grouped as a whole and then divided according to those who preferred white rather than red roses. 155

Thus would be created a true community, richly structured according to the diversity of passions, spontaneous in its patterns of work, closely differentiated in its class structure—"the poor must enjoy a graduated case in order that the rich may be happy"—and highly productive in its output: "The new order will acquire greater vigor and wealth, because there will be more passions." There would be a constant stimulation from the competition and rivalry among the members of the same "passional series" and between the series themselves, for they were arranged so as to be "contrasté, rivalisé, engrené"—a foreshadowing of "socialist emulation" and Stakhanovism.

But was it a community, or had the communitarian idea been sidetracked by the fascinating play of the organized passions "of about 2000 persons, socially united, upon a mass"? Ultimately, the productive potential of the arrangement assumed central importance: "The passional series aim always at the end of utility, the increase of riches, and the perfection of industry."¹⁵⁷

There were two basic flaws in Fourier's conception of community, one being a principle of organization which undermined the solidarity of each with all, the other a belief about human nature which destroyed the possibility of each be-

coming integrated with himself. After having traced the ills of liberal society to unlimited acquisitiveness, Fourier naïvely proceeded to systematize the disease. "True happiness consists in enjoying great riches and an infinite variety of pleasures"; true happiness, thus, lay in the satisfaction of desires. The task was therefore to organize the community for this purpose and to control the effects of egoism by satiation. Without organization "the passions are but unchained tigers, incomprehensible enigmas. The passions cannot be repressed . . . but their course can be altered."158 The task of "social science" was to develop a "mathématique des passions" for shaping and regularizing the passions so that they could be directed along proper channels. Quite unconsciously Fourier had incorporated the Hobbesian notion of desire—a passion was defined by Fourier as a desire which carries "our activity towards a determined end"—and then had tried to construct a society with the fewest possible impediments to the 810 passions attributed to man's nature. The "mortal enemy" of desire was the prevailing system of morals. "Morality teaches man to be at war with himself, to resist his passions, repress them, scorn them. . . ,"159 but the new order promised to satisfy them to the hilt.

Fourier admitted that a society based on egoism was reduced to relying on ignoble inducements, but he argued that "in a century wholly obsessed with commerce and stock-jobbing" no other vehicles except interest and *les bénéfices pécuniaires* were available. It was necessary for the social order to assure "to each a graduated opulence" which was "the object of all desires." ¹⁶⁰ What was never explained was how interest generated the affective ties of community. As Proudhon sarcastically remarked apropos of Fourier's organization of society around 810 distinct passions: "Society does not live; it is on the dissecting table." ¹⁶¹ In the same way that the human personality had been minutely divided into innumerable parts, each of them seeking its separate satisfaction, the fundamental activity of work had been fragmented to permit each individual to float from task to task: fragmentation was the answer to boredom, and society must be organized on the assumption that man was no longer a whole. ¹⁶²

There is no need here to describe in any detail the scheme of Robert Owen, Fourier's near contemporary. Again "the great object of society" was asserted to be "to obtain wealth and to enjoy it." Once more there was the fascination with "an invention which will at once multiply the physical and mental powers of the whole society to an incalculable extent . . ." There was the same reliance upon self-interest, as when Owen appealed to the businessmen for support, promising a huge increase in profits if only they would give as much thought and care to their "living machines." ¹⁶³

But power over things meant directing power "outside" society and towards nature. It implied, as in fact Saint-Simon had asserted, that power over society would no longer be needed, and that, as Proudhon said, work would organize itself. But if social demoralization should continue despite industrial progress, if

the organized pursuit of material betterment should prove as disturbing to social life as the old-style economy, the new theory would have solved little.

Doubts such as these began to emerge during the nineteenth century as writers began to sense that the theory of industrialism merely masked a collective egoism and hence could not satisfy the human need for solidarity and belonging. What was needed, so the century reasoned, was not only organized power over nature, but organized power over society and, ultimately, over man. In this way the century returned to another tradition, one that had emerged contemporaneously with Saint-Simonism: this was the tradition of de Maistre and de Bonald. In the ideas of the reactionary theocrats the century found a pre-industrial outlook which, when incorporated with Saint-Simon's ideas, served to enrich and to shade the harsh angularities of the industrial idea. The reactionaries supplied a sociological strain, including a deeper insight into the irrationalities of man and society, a more catholic appreciation of the role played by diverse groups in the social system, and a greater understanding of the function of authority. In an age of dynamic change and crumbling social structures there was a desperate need for a body of knowledge dealing in the conserving function of social institutions; a body of knowledge built on the categories of the conservative reaction to the French Revolution; a body of knowledge that was "reactionary" without being regressive. As Comte so conveniently put it, we need "equally the inheritance of de Maistre and that of Condorcet . . . a doctrine equally progressive and hierarchic." 164

For the reactionaries, order was synonymous with a society etched by systems of authority at every level: the family, corporations of artisans and merchants, professional societies, local communities, provincial authorities, a clear system of social classes headed by the nobility, powerful ecclesiastical institutions, strongly held religious beliefs, and, finally, a ruling authority, preferably a monarch, who would "personify the society." 165 Order, then, presupposed a set of clearly defined functions whereby the major tasks of the society were performed. These tasks, in turn, were prescribed by the requirements of order; hence the question became, what kind of social authorities were most likely to attract the obedience and deference of the members, the unthinking loyalty and emotional support so necessary in controlling passionate, egoistic, and sinful men? The question was not, as it had been for Saint-Simon, who, or what group, possessed the requisite technical skills. It is sufficient here to recall that for de Maistre the nature of the social order was best symbolized, not by the scientist or industrialist, but by the hangman, the man authorized to apply the highest punishment in the name of the whole society. 166 The hangman proceeds with his job, the monarch with his, because each was supported by a *mystique* which evoked awe and obedience. But there could be neither awe, authority, function, nor social structure as long as the idea of equality was taken seriously. Order demanded subordination, inequality, social differentiation. These were, in de Bonald's phrase, "necessary relationships."

Now if disorder had been merely a problem stemming from the French Revolution there would not have developed, in all probability, a close continuity between the theorizing of the reactionaries and that of a later age. A continuity did develop, however, and the preoccupation with social disorganization persisted because industrialism, which was quickly recognized to be a revolution, came to play the same disturbing social role that 1789 had for an earlier generation. Relationships between classes were altered, new patterns of social and political power developed, masses of men exchanged rural modes of life for the urbanized environment created by industrialism, the old codes of morals and behavior were disturbed, and conflict between social classes seemed more intense than it had been in the past. With the exception of Marxists, the response of most theorists was remarkably similar in emphasis to the analysis of the French Revolution provided by the reactionary theocrats, de Maistre and de Bonald.

Instead of a malediction against the "satanic" revolution, the modern writer complains of the rapidity with which technological change has outdistanced older modes of control, and along with the diagnosis of industrial disorder has come a renewed appreciation of the insight of the reactionaries into the conditions of stability: "orderly society," writes a contemporary industrial sociologist, "is based upon routine, custom, and habitual association . . . The practical problem is to investigate the type of social structure which can maintain itself while adapting its form to the ceaseless advance of material invention." ¹⁶⁷

These continuities become more striking when we remember that it was a sociologist, Durkheim, who coined the concept which best expressed the anxieties of the age: *anomie*, or social disintegration, the condition where society lacked a guiding sense of direction. The economy of the modern society, he wrote, lay in a chronic state of *anomie*; its essentially orderless character was infecting all areas of social life; religious, familial, and moral restraints had all declined in effectiveness; human passions raged uncontrolled by curbs or bounds. Durkheim was also a great critic of human pride and presumption, and in this he recalls his countryman, de Maistre, who had inveighed against the eighteenth century for undermining all forms of authority and thereby leaving human passions without control: man "does not know what he wants; he wills what he does not want; he wants what he does not will; he wills to will." Although Durkheim might have been writing as a sociologist, the language was as authentically mediaeval and moralistic as any used by de Maistre:

It is not true, then, that human activity can be released from all restraint. Nothing in the world can enjoy such a privilege. All existence being a part of the universe is relative to the remainder; its nature and method of manifestation accordingly depend not only on itself but on other beings, who consequently restrain and regulate it . . . Man's characteristic privilege is that the bond he accepts is not physical but

moral; that is, social \dots Because the greater part of his existence transcends the body, he escapes the body's yoke, but is subject to that of society. 170

In his description of a society ridden by *anomie* Durkheim provided his age with an up-to-date version of the Hobbesian state of nature: it was the same authorityless condition; without effective moral or legal controls; the same riot of egoism. The difference was an ironic one: where Hobbesian men killed each other in the state of nature and finally formed civil society to halt the slaughter, Durkheim's man finds life in society intolerable and is driven to kill himself.

The obsession with anomie was rooted in the yearning for solidarity, and nineteenth-century sociology conceived its task to be that of redefining the conditions of social cohesion. Solidarity, Durkheim wrote, was a "social fact"; that is, it could be studied as an object. The study of solidarity "grows out of sociology."171 By placing it at the center of their concerns, the sociologists forged another connecting link with the reactionaries. The latter had been the theorists par excellence of social cohesion. Their theories, and mutatis mutandis, those of later sociologists, were founded in fundamental opposition to the liberal view of society as an artificial arrangement arising from a conscious act of agreement. According to the reactionaries, man needed not just society, but society ordered, structured, and integrated. A truly solidary society could never be produced by agreement, because it would lack the natural prerequisites of cohesion, namely power and authority. This was the big assumption that sociology accepted: power and authority were natural because they were necessary to social solidarity. Power, de Bonald had declared, was the creation of neither force nor agreement; it was "necessary"; that is, "conforming to the nature of beings in society; and the causes and the origin of it were wholly natural . . . Society cannot exist without general power, nor man without society." ¹⁷² In the echo of Durkheim: "Every society is despotic . . . Still, I would not say that there is anything in this despotism: it is natural because it is necessary ... Societies cannot endure without it." Constraint, he continued, "issues from the very entrails of reality." ¹⁷³ The following words from a widely used contemporary textbook might well have been written by de Maistre: "Political order is dependent on the stability of authority . . . Too little legitimacy is a major source of political instability."174

The supremacy of society and the need for authority formed a refrain that was endlessly repeated throughout the century—and by a very mixed chorus. Perhaps a better word than refrain would be chant, for there was a mediaeval quality about the way that the century amended the ancient text to read: *nulla salus extra societatem*, or, in de Bonald's version, "outside of political and religious unity, there is neither truth for man, nor salvation for society." Without a stable society, an unquestioned authority, the tight bonds of family, community, vocational group, and religious order, the individual feels lost, beset by an overwhelming sense of

loneliness and personal futility. The modern breviary runs heavily to the virtues of "integration" and "self-identification." A people without structure, de Bonald declared, was "only some individuals, isolated from each other, with neither ties nor cohesion among them."176 Even so staunch a champion of individualism as Proudhon dwelt on the "superior individuality of collective man," "the reality of collective man," and proclaimed that "outside the group there are only some abstractions or phantoms."177 "Excessive individualism," warned Durkheim, signifies that the individual has been detached from social ties; it breeds a predisposition towards "egoistic" suicide. 178 And the modern student of industrialism concerned over the correlation between low productivity and low morale among the workers concludes that, in a period of incessant technological change and uprooted populations, "the individual inevitably experiences a sense of void, of emptiness, where his fathers knew the joys of comradeship and security." The "feeling of security and certainty derives always from assured membership."179 And if these sentiments smack too much of capitalist ideology, we need only turn to Marx: "When the laborer cooperates systematically with others, he strips off the fetters of his individuality and develops the capabilities of he species."180

The pervasiveness of these ideas was such that they penetrated the most diverse types of minds and created a community of outlook among thinkers who, on the surface, seemed to have very little in common. Take, for example, the philosophical idealist F. H. Bradley, and the Fabian Socialist Sidney Webb—a most incongruous pair at first glance. But, in fact, were they?

Like so many of the thinkers already mentioned, Bradley's social theory took shape as an attack on liberalism, or, more specifically, on the Utilitarian version of it. He denied that the individual—isolated, autonomous, unique—could provide either the starting point of social or moral theory, or the criterion for judging the adequacy of social arrangements. 181 The value of the human person was acquired through the educative influence of society; the "real" was to be located in "wholes," while the subjective and capricious were properties of individual uniqueness. Goethe's counsel, "strive to be a whole; and if you cannot, then join a whole," was amended by Bradley to read: "you cannot be a whole unless you join a whole." The individual's task was to exchange "his private self" for the role of a "function in a moral organism," to learn to identify his will with that of the whole—a formulation that Rousseau could not have bettered. 182 The whole embodied an objective morality, one that no individual had created; here was where the individual discovered his "true self," 183 where his mind and will became interfused with the minds and wills of others in a manner reminiscent of Durkheim's collective conscience. 184

This was the argument of Bradley, recluse, philosophical idealist, the classical example of the conservative closet-philosopher. But in Sidney Webb, the intellectual-turned-activist, the tough-minded practical theorist and architect of Fabian

Socialism, we find the argument for the superiority of the collective couched in language identical with that of Bradley, Durkheim, and, ultimately, Rousseau:

A society is something more than an aggregate of so many individual units . . . it possesses existence distinguishable from those of any of its components . . . its life transcends that of any of its members . . . the individual is now created by the social organism of which he forms a part. ¹⁸⁵

In Durkheim's theory the role and duties of the individual were viewed as defined by the division of labor existing in society, and for Bradley it was the social "station" which endowed the individual with morality and significance:

What I have to do I have not to force on a recalcitrant world: I have to fulfill my place—the place that waits for me to fill it . . . I realize myself morally, so that not only what ought to be in the world is, but I am what I ought to be, and find so my contentment and satisfaction. ¹⁸⁶

And for Webb it was the "social organism" which set the "function" of the individual:

If we desire to hand on to the afterworld our direct influence, and not merely the memory of our excellence, we must take even more care to improve the social organism of which we form part, than to perfect our own individual developments . . . The perfect and fitting development of each individual is not necessarily the utmost and highest cultivation of his own personality, but the filling, in the best possible way, of his humble function in the great social machine. ¹⁸⁷

X. THE ATTACK ON ECONOMIC RATIONALISM

Integration, belonging, solidarity—all of these notions testified that the century had come to believe that the human condition could not be adequately understood nor solidarity achieved by means of economic categories. Industrialism was a fact which the century was quite willing to accept, but it refused to accept the proposition that industrialism was fundamentally an economic phenomenon. Instead it initiated a new line of thought, one which attempted to "sociologize" the economic system by treating economic arrangements from the standpoint of their impact upon social order and integration:

The economic services [rendered by the division of labor] are picayune compared to the moral effect that it produces, and its true function is to create in two or more persons a feeling of solidarity.¹⁸⁸

Instead of dealing with the economics of production, ownership, and labor, sociologists like Durkheim and Weber sought to analyze the social implications of eco-

nomic behavior and institutions. The result of these inquiries was far-reaching: economic criteria gradually began to be displaced and social ones substituted; acquisitiveness and the pursuit of interest were attacked for their social destructiveness. In short, the whole ethos of classical liberalism was being challenged.

The attack on economic rationalism in the name of social solidarity acquires importance because it was so universal. Had it emanated solely from the socialists or communists its significance would not have been as great. But in fact the defenders of capitalism quickly came to accept the case against liberal economics. Unless this is appreciated it is otherwise quite puzzling why, for example, a highly influential educational institution, such as the Harvard Business School, has for the past few decades consistently lectured present and future business executives on the urgency of revising the naïve belief that a corporation or a business is to be administered solely by the standards of profit and productivity. The basic tenet of the new business creed is: "The manager is neither managing men nor managing work . . . he is administering a social system." 189 Yet the same gospel is also being preached to the workers. The British worker is told that while it may have been legitimate to resort to strikes and stoppages in order to coerce the old hard-faced employers, it is wrong to obstruct the policies of the boards governing the nationalized industries. A nationalized industry is owned by the "community" and hence the worker, as a member of the community, is really working for the social whole. In other words, social values are more important than rational acquisitiveness.

The main lines of the attack had been set in the early nineteenth-century writings of the reactionaries. The individualism, acquisitiveness, and rational selfinterest of liberal societies had been blasted as destructive of social solidarity. "Commerce," wrote de Bonald, "has become the only concern of their governments, the only religion of their people, the only subject of their quarrels. The egoism, the factitious and immoderate desires, the extreme inequality of wealth, like a devouring cancer, have attacked the conservative principles of societies." 190 A similar point of view was expressed by Hegel when he diagnosed the ills of "civil society" as "particularity"; that is, anarchic egoism. Civil society for Hegel represented an "ideal type" of society modelled on the principles of Adam Smith: a society where the individuals pursued their own selfish ends; only their interdependence prevented the system from shattering. Fortunately the state intervened to impose limits (Grenzen) and barriers (Schranken) which, resented at first, were later internalized in the individual consciousness where they served to restrain the riotous welter of egos.¹⁹¹ The attack on acquisitiveness was repeated in the writings of Carlyle, the Utopian Socialists, and by Nietzsche, Sorel, Lenin, and the ideologists of Fascism. By the twentieth century, bourgeois morality had become a riddled corpse.

The most interesting example of this development was provided by Marx. It is not often realized that one of the fundamental tendencies of Marx's thought was

anti-economic. His writings were not only devoted to discrediting liberal economics but to picturing a society in which economic categories had been transcended. In a basic sense he was protesting against the same developments as the reactionaries: the tendency of liberal rationalism to dissolve social ties, reducing society to a mass of isolated individuals, and the individual to a condition bereft of all illusions save self-interest. All "natural relationships," Marx declared, had been dissolved "into money relationships." The concept of "alienation," which had loomed large in the early writings of Marx, stood as a protest against the desocialization of man. "The individual," he emphasized, "is a social being"; for in the most human of all activities, production, men "enter into definite connections and relations with one another." But private ownership in the means of production has perverted the social character of these relations. All joy has been taken from work and the products of man's labor have assumed the shape of "an alien and hostile force," one which has enslaved the worker and reduced him to a brutalized condition. Man has been "ousted from society." 192 The historical mission of the proletariat was to reassert man's social nature by shattering the existing arrangements, wherein man was treated as an economic and political animal. Man would then be reunited directly with the productive process; he would attain "self-activity." "Only in community with others has each individual the means of cultivating his gifts in all directions."193

When we turn to later writers, to Durkheim, and the students of industrial sociology and business management, the same hostility to liberalism is manifest. Modern social science supplies a critique of liberal capitalism and private property as devastating as any emanating from the extreme left, and evinces a hostility towards the liberal view of man and society as deep as any expressed by the counter-revolutionary right. Durkheim was the central figure in this connection, for he grasped clearly that the liberal theory of interest, as formulated by Hobbes and perpetuated by Locke and the Utilitarians, was the main enemy. "Individualism," he wrote sardonically, "is of course not necessarily egoism, but it comes close to it." The text of his attack was a faithful rendition of what de Bonald had said earlier: "Interest has come to be the god of mankind, and this god has demanded all the virtues as a sacrifice." The task of the sociologist, for Durkheim, was the study of "how the unleashing of economic interests has been accompanied by a debasing of public morality." 194

According to Durkheim, the elevation of the pursuit of interest denied the fundamental essence of morality: morality was the crystallization of restraints on egoism and desire. "Nothing remains but individual appetites, and since they are by nature boundless and insatiable, if there is nothing to control them they will not be able to control themselves." Liberal man looked upon these restraints as "obstacles," but by destroying them he turned life into a "torment," a chase without rule, restraint, or limit. Liberal society, therefore, was not mildly sick; it was

deformed, abnormal—as the high rate of suicide, crime, and divorce indicated. To return to a "healthy" society we must recognize that health resides in moderation, in disavowing "overweening ambition," "increased desires," and "the futility of endless pursuit." This meant the extirpation of the Hobbesian urge for "felicity" which motivated bourgeois society, of that "longing for the infinite" which left only a trail of social demoralization and personal futility. "Those who have only empty space above them are almost inevitably lost in it . . ." 196

As befitted a society based on Hobbesian man, its characteristic phenomenon was violent death, although self-inflicted. "Anomic suicide" was the peculiar expression of an acquisitive society, while "egoistic suicide" was equally symptomatic of a society vitiated by "excessive individualism." 197 These forms of suicide, Durkheim held, were both the expression and the resultant of the deficit in social solidarity which was the malaise of modern life: "Purely economic relations leave men external to one another . . . There is nothing less constant than interest." ¹⁹⁸ The pursuit of interest gave rise to only the most casual contacts, "an external link" which left the parties "outside each other." Beneath the fabled harmony of interests lay "a latent or deferred conflict," a "state of war." Unless human society were to submit to moral restraints, to place itself under a "moral personality above particular personalities," and to revivify group life, anomie would run its bitter course. 199 The lesson for industrial society was clear: "If, then, industry can be productive only by disturbing [the] peace and unleashing warfare, it is not worth the cost." What is fundamental "is not the state of our economy, but rather the state of our morality."200

The hostility towards the liberal theory of interest was such that even within the radical camp interest was hunted down and scotched. Although Lenin would never admit to having revised Marx's ideas, the fact remains that he successfully demolished one of the postulates which Marx had derived from the liberal theory of interest. Marx had warned that at a stage just prior to the revolution, the proletariat might be misled into favoring bourgeois objectives and values. Marx referred to this phenomenon as "false consciousness"; its characteristic being that the proletariat would be deceived into believing that its "true" interests were compatible with those of the now dominant class. For example, if the proletariat were gullible enough to believe that its standard of living would steadily improve with the continual expansion of capitalism, and that, therefore, the basic motive for revolution ceased to exist, the proletariat could be said to have fallen victim to a false picture of social reality. Under no conditions could capitalism ever guarantee the worker the full fruits of his labor without destroying the essential premises of capitalism. Therefore if the worker were truly conscious of where his interests lay, he would pledge himself to the overthrow of capitalism. Now, insofar as the Marxian concept of "true consciousness" signified a correct estimate of economic advantage, it merely represented a modified restatement of the old

liberal belief that genuinely rational behavior was synonymous with understanding and acting upon one's true material interests. Lenin, however, recognized that if rationality were identified with material interest the proletariat might be satisfied with agitation aimed at achieving the usual objectives of orthodox trade unionism; that is, higher wages, better working conditions, and shorter hours of labor.²⁰¹ Should capitalism prove capable of satisfying these material aims, the proletarian movement might well stagnate at the stage of "trade-union consciousness" and never attain a revolutionary temper. "Spontaneity" therefore came to be a term of abuse, a protest against the temptations of "materialism" on the part of a proudly materialistic philosophy. Economic rationality, trade union consciousness, and spontaneity were all conceived as aspects of the syndrome of liberal rationalism, and all were equally opposed to "revolutionary consciousness." For true or revolutionary consciousness could only be induced or imposed from the "outside"; it could not be developed "naturally" or "spontaneously" by the proletariat in the course of its historical development. To meet this need became the task of the revolutionary elite.²⁰²

Had Lenin's analysis been strictly a quirk of revolutionary theory it would not be particularly relevant to our study; but it happened, instead, to be symptomatic of a broad tendency in twentieth-century thought. The literature of capitalist apologetics has assigned to a managerial elite the function of defining the "true consciousness" of the workers. As one writer has advised, when the workers present "logico-economic arguments" the manager should view these as "rationalizations"; a perceptive manager will inquire if "this logic is not cloaking something more." At the same time that the worker's economic grievances are being sublimated by social therapy, the ancient ethic of the business manager is being similarly diverted from such purely economic goals as profit and production. Thus all along the line there is the call to transcend despicable material interests for the preservation of the social group: what the worker really wants is *camaraderie*; what the managerial elite must give is social integration. ²⁰⁴

XI. Organization Theory: Rationalism versus Organicism

So intense has been the reaction against economic motivations that the sophisticated defenders of capitalism have joined in as well. They have acknowledged that cut-throat competition and what Fourier had called the *frénésie de production* had aroused widespread fears and contributed greatly to social divisiveness. The issue, as one of the great theorists of modern managerialism has put it, "is not that of the sickness of an acquisitive society; it is that of the acquisitiveness of a sick society."²⁰⁵ No longer are the defenders of corporate capitalism occupied with justifying private ownership; instead they see the basic problem as one of restoring communal solidarity in the industrial age. It is even admitted that

Marxism and Communism, while in some respects reactionary, are at least groping "to recapture something of the lost sense of human solidarity." Just as Burkean society had offered man his "little platoon" of fellowship, modern industrial society has its reasonable facsimile in "the facts of spontaneous social organization at the working bench." No longer must the factory or even the large corporate organization be modelled on the cold image of the assembly line: It is "a social system," a community of producers "differentiated, ordered, and integrated."

The elevation of social values above economic values calls for a change in the function of management from "administration" to "social integration." The logic of efficiency, symbolized by that arch-rationalist, the production engineer, is superseded by the art of governing, symbolized by the manager, by one who is indoctrinated with Freudian psychology and the other modern teachings which emphasize that a social system, even that of a rationally organized factory or bureaucracy, is pervaded by non-logical conduct. The error of modern management is that it

tends to subsume the problems of group collaboration under the technical problems of production and efficiency. As a result, collaboration is conceived of as a logical contrivance for getting people to work together by appealing primarily to their individual economic interests.²⁰⁷

Perceived as a social system, a factory is as nicely niched and graduated as the *ordo* of Augustine or the society of de Maistre. "Each job has its own social values and its rank in the social scale." A working group is revealed as something precious, not to be disbanded or discarded on the harsh grounds of competitive efficiency. Yet value is not the monopoly of the small unit alone. Imperceptibly the values of the small group are extended to large organizations and the latter, too, stand revealed as the transvaluation of the old business values: they "symbolize the community's aspirations, its sense of identity," and, as symbolic representations, they have "some claim on the community to avoid liquidation or transformation on purely technical or economic grounds." 209

It follows, too, that the liberal fetish of progress must be severely modified, for the danger to social groups and organizations in an age of industrialism lies not in stagnation, but in the disruptive effects of technological innovation. The modern manager, therefore, must, in defense of "human values," stand ready to resist the changes proposed by the "logicians" of industrial engineering who are just as eager to subordinate social values to the mathematics of production schedules as the French revolutionaries were ready to lop away regional loyalties and sentiments in order to tidy up the boundary of an *arrondissement*. ²¹⁰ The "social system" of the factory organization "is bound together by sentiments which change slowly and resist change, because rapid change is destructive of routines and rituals, of habits, and of conditioned behavior. Such a change is painful even to a

dog."211 The same warning, in almost the same words, that Burke hurled at those who would rip the tissues of the body politic in order to make the whole more consonant with philosophical abstractions now is voiced by the managerialist:

The social codes which define a worker's relation to his work and to his fellows are not capable of rapid change. They are developed slowly and over long periods of time. They are not the product of logic, but of actual human association; they are based on deep-rooted human sentiments.²¹²

If it is asked what image of society is it that inspires many of these writers, the answer is that it is one surprisingly nostalgic for the simplicities of primitive societies. The flip remark, "we have the goods, but the natives have the morale," conceals a certain nostalgia. ²¹³ In the highly unified character displayed by primitive society, in the way that the individual is subordinated to and integrated with the group, in the method by which society furnishes a comprehensive code and set of cues for the behavior of each of its members, in short, in all of the techniques of social control, primitive societies have naturally acquired what modern society so desperately needs. Although great care is taken to warn that contemporary societies ought not to turn backwards, there is, nevertheless, no mistaking the didactic purpose of these primitive models:

In these primitive communities there is room for an individual to develop skill, but there is no latitude for the development of radical or intelligent opinions . . . The unit is, in a sense, the group or commune, and not the separate individuals; the development of anything in the nature of personal capacity must be subordinate to the whole. With us it is quite otherwise; the intent of education in a complex society is to develop intelligence and independence of judgment in the individual . . . Over almost the entire area of a man's life the [primitive] society thinks for him; and he learns only the social responses he must produce in reply to given signals. This is a very restricted method of living, but it is highly integrate and "functional" . . . It is very comfortable for the individual who does not need to "wrestle with a solitary problem."²¹⁴

What is it that the modern is seeking through the fetish of primitivism? Certainly he does not seriously want a return to custom-bound, tabu-ridden society. A clue to this puzzle is to be found in the "naturalness" which the managerialists and some sociologists ascribe to these societies. Despite their meticulous and rigid codes of social behavior, it is said that these peoples display a wonderful "spontaneity" in cooperating for common ends. Now these words, "natural" and "spontaneous," are interesting words that have evoked complex and varied responses over the past few centuries. The way in which they have been used by the Mayo school of managerial theory is better understood in relation to the history of political theory than to the anthropology of Malinowski. For when it is asked

against what group are the criticisms of the sociologically oriented managerialists being directed, it becomes clear that the issue that is being fought out today in the literature of organization theory is remarkably similar to the one debated by Burke and the French revolutionary theorists. It is the issue of "political sociology" versus "political rationalism." When the contemporary sociologist of organization exalts the values of "spontaneity," "naturalness," and "traditional ways of behavior," he is using the authentic idiom of Burke; when he protests against the rational-mathematical logic of the efficiency engineer on the grounds that an organization is a living thing, he is echoing Burke's argument that the subtle allegiances and non-rational loyalties binding society together ought never to be judged by a hard Cartesian logic nor made to accord with the symmetrical vision of some social geometer.

Today there are two distinct schools of thought concerning the nature of organizational life. There are those who, like Burke, picture an organization as a social organism which has evolved over time. An organization, whether it is a business corporation or a governmental bureaucracy, represents a complex response to a particular historical environment, an institution which constantly adjusts to the needs, sentiments, and emotions of its members, and the members to it. The primary function of these organizations is not to produce profits in the most rational manner possible, nor to delight the production engineer by virtue of its efficiency. Instead, it is to promote the values of social stability, cohesion, and integration. We shall call this group the "organicists."

The second group, in contrast, views organizations as rationally arranged structures designed for specific purposes, such as making goods or "making" decisions. For this group of writers, efficiency is primary. They will have none of the Burkean bias against rational, self-conscious planning. We shall call them the "rationalists."

The representatives of rationalism, including writers like Herbert Simon and Chester Barnard, speak a matter-of-fact language; Simon, in particular, has a fondness for the spare metaphors of mechanics. Thus an organization is "a system in equilibrium, which receives contributions in the form of money or effort, and offers inducements in return for these contributions." In the thinking of this group there is no trace of romanticism, no fondness for modes of natural growth, only a world of hard rationalism: "Organizations are the least 'natural,' most rationally contrived units of human association." Formal organization is that kind of cooperation that is conscious, deliberate, purposeful." The rationalists are most impressed by the capabilities of an organization for focusing human energy and pooling human talents; they see its primary values in efficiency of operation and the ability to survive rather than in communal solidarity. For Simon, the "principle that is implied in all rational behavior" is "the criterion of efficiency." Efficiency, however, carries broader implications than the coordination

of different operations for a prescribed end. Its aim is to create a special environment which will induce the individual to make the best decision—and "best," in this context, means a decision most helpful to the needs and ends of the organization.²¹⁸ It involves setting limits to individual actions and attitudes, exposing behavior to a "well-conceived plan" initiated by a "controlling group."

Highly revealing of the rationalists' outlook is the way they have handled the problem of authority. Their theory can rightly be called Hobbesian. In Simon's writings, for example, the discussion of authority centers on the ability to command subordinates; no concessions are made to eliciting consensus or agreement among the members. There is a no-nonsense quality about authority: its presence is felt whenever a subordinate accepts the decision of a superior and "holds in abeyance his own critical faculties." The superior does not try to convince his underling but only "obtain his acquiescence." Authority, in brief, is "the power to make the decisions which will guide the actions of another."219 There is no sentimentalizing over the need to create a sense of participation or belonging. To be sure, loyalties are desirable, but mainly in the form of "organizational loyalties," which smooth the way for the decision of authority. The ideal member is one who has been conditioned to permit "the communicated decision of another to guide his own choices . . . without deliberation on his part on the expediency of those premises"—which is to define "choice" in a curious way, as action without deliberation.²²⁰ The organization emerges as a triumph of collective rationality which extends rationality to each member insofar as he responds to its stimuli:

Since these institutions largely determine the mental sets of the participants, they set the conditions for the exercise of docility, and hence of rationality in human society.²²¹

The theory of the rationality of organizational behavior presented by this school has some further resemblances to Hobbes. The "final test" of any organization, Barnard declares, is "survival." But more important, the organization is regarded as a contrived world, one as "artificial" as the Hobbesian universe, resting on nothing more than man's affirmation that it shall exist. It is also rational and can be understood rationally because men have made it. Like Leviathan, it is the response to chaos. These points are illustrated in Simon's remarkable contrast between "economic man" and "administrative man:"

Economic man deals with the "real world" in all its complexity. Administrative man recognizes that the world he perceives is a drastically simplified model of the buzzing, blooming confusion that constitutes the real world. He is content with the gross simplification because he believes that the real world is mostly empty—that most of the facts of the real world have no great relevance to any particular situation he is facing, and that most significant chains of causes and consequences are short and simple.²²³

In reaction to the rationalist position there has emerged in recent years a protest against the austerely efficient approach to organization. One example of this is the pioneering writings of Elton Mayo. The bulk of his work centered on the relationship between productivity and worker morale, and he concluded that morale was largely a function of the health of the small social group organized around specific jobs. In one sense Mayo's ideas fall in the tradition of small community theorizing, and they recall at many points the concerns of Fourier and Owen.

More significant, however, is the recent attempt to discover communal values in the large corporation and administrative organization. The ideas of Burke and the philosophy of organicism are pressed into service to explain the world of giant bureaucracies. The major theorist of this development is Philip Selznick. The starting point is one which denies that "formal" organization theory can ever fully capture the subtleties and rich social life of a living structure. Just as Burke had ridiculed the notion that a rationalistic and abstract theory of a political constitution could ever provide a faithful abridgement of the life of a nation, Selznick takes issue with the contemporary heirs of Sieyès and Paine: formal organizations "never succeed in conquering the non-rational dimensions of organizational behavior . . . No abstract plan or pattern can—or may, if it is to be useful—exhaustively describe an empirical reality." The members of an organization "have a propensity to resist de-personalization, to spill over the boundaries of their segmentary roles, to participate as wholes."224 Admittedly an organization can be viewed as a rational, formal structure, an "economy" governed by the criteria of "efficiency and effectiveness," but from another perspective it appears as an "adaptive social structure" with certain "needs" radically different from the narrow ones of an "economy." These "needs" are ones which Burke would have applauded, for they are couched in the delicate language of organic growth: like any organism, an organization requires "security" in its environment, "stability" in its lines of authority, subtle patterns of informal relationships, modes of communication, "continuity" in its policies, and "homogeneity" in its outlook. 225

In Selznick's later writings, the organic aspects of an organization are separated even more sharply from the strictly rational ones. The word "organization" is reserved for what is a "technical instrument" useful in directing human energies towards a fixed goal; it is a tool, rationally designed for specific technical ends, and, like any tool, expendable. The social aspects of the organization are then sorted out and designated an "institution:" an institution "is more nearly a natural product of social needs and pressures, a responsive adaptive organism." Its adaptations are identical with Burke's evolutionary view of society; they are "natural and largely unplanned." "As an organization acquires a self, a distinctive identity, it becomes an institution." To understand an "institution" requires a mode of cognition different from the logic of the engineer. "We must draw upon

what we know about natural communities," for we are dealing with precious, living aggregates. To the degree that organizations evolve into "natural communities" they become valued for their own sakes, for "to institutionalize" is "to *infuse with value* beyond the technical requirements of the task at hand."²²⁷

Thus far the pure language of Burke: spontaneity, natural processes, adaptative organisms, and non-rational behavior. But it must be remembered that Selznick is describing not a rural and pre-industrial society, a world of squires, manor houses, and faithful retainers, but the world of General Motors, the Pentagon, and the large public university. To liken a corporation to a natural community evokes the question: what does it mean to be a member of such a community? where is the natural aristocracy of Burke and where is the natural relationship, evolving slowly and unconsciously over time, between the members and the governing elite? The answers that Selznick gives are cast, not in the language of Burke, but in that of Saint-Simon. Words like "spontaneous" are used to describe the relationship between member and the controlling group, but they have been divested of all unpremeditation and serve only as the shell to manipulation.

"Maintenance of social values," Selznick writes, "depends on the autonomy of elites," and hence participation is "prescribed" for the members "only when there is a problem of cohesion." Despite Selznick's avowal that one of the felt needs of the members was not to feel "manipulated," and that the loyalties of the members were vital ingredients infusing the bare structure of an organization with a human warmth, he discovers that these "commitments" and "identifications" cause difficulties; they limit "the freedom of the leadership to deploy its resources." The tension is neatly resolved by arranging for a conjunction between the aims and requirements of leadership and the sentiments of those led. By some alchemy, "spontaneity" and "manipulation" are rendered compatible:

When we say that policy is built into the social structure of an organization, we mean that official aims and methods are spontaneously protected or advanced. The aspirations of individuals are so stimulated and controlled, and so ordered in their mutual relations, as to produce the desired balance of forces.²²⁹

Now Selznick's conclusion is in no significant sense different from that reached by the "rationalist" Simon. "Human behavior . . . gets its higher goals and integrations from the institutional setting in which it operates and by which it is molded." Once the proper "attachment or loyalty to the organization" has been bred in the member, it is "automatically" guaranteed that "his decisions will be consistent with the organization objectives"; that is, he will have an "organization personality." The convergence of the two theories at the point of manipulation faithfully mirrors one of the fundamental points of agreement between nearly all writers of recent times: the belief that the world created by organizational bu-

reaucracies is and should be run by elites. And at this point the challenge to the political becomes explicit, and now we turn to how it has been posed.

XII. THE ATTACK ON THE POLITICAL

In the nineteenth century the anti-political impulses nurtured by classical liberalism took on a depth and pervasiveness unmatched in previous centuries. "The irksome situation" of today, Proudhon declared, was due to "*une certaine maladie de l'opinion . . . qu'Aristote . . . a nommé* POLITIQUE."²³¹ The abolition of the political was proclaimed by almost every important thinker, and most projects for a future society excluded political activity from the routine of daily life. For, as Marx put it, "only *political superstition* believes at the present time that civil life must be held together by the State, when in reality the State is held together by civil life."²³² Nor was this anti-political complex the private possession of any particular school. It was manifest in Saint-Simon, the Utopians, Proudhon, Comte, Durkheim, the Fabians, and the managerialists.

Now, as we have noted in previous chapters, the anti-political impulse was an old one, with roots deep in the very beginnings of political speculation. Consequently, our concern is not to re-emphasize old animosities but to isolate the peculiar manifestations of anti-politicism in the recent age and, more particularly, to indicate the unique substitutes that have been offered. Our inquiry, in short, is directed at the sublimation rather than at the elimination of the political.

The starting point of the nineteenth century was one which had been prepared by classical liberalism, the antagonism between "state" and "society," between institutions, authorities, and relationships that men believed to be political and the relationships of a social, economic, and cultural sort that men believed to be "private" or "outside" politics. In Proudhon's words:

We must understand that outside the sphere of parliamentarism, as sterile as it is absorbing, there is another field incomparably vaster, in which our destiny is worked out; that beyond these political phantoms, whose forms capture our imagination, there are the phenomena of social economy, which, by their harmony or discord, produce all the good and ill of society.²³³

As the writers of the century reflected on the past, they gradually concluded that the eighteenth century, or, more accurately, 1789, marked the turning point to a future rid of the suffocating atmosphere of politics. The great revolution came to symbolize the time when the political order had mustered its failing forces for a last-ditch attempt to assert its general responsibility for the well-being of society. Proudhon claimed that the unintended result of the French Revolution had been to sharpen the identity of two incompatible entities, society and

government. The latter, he asserted, was "a factitious order," out of harmony with the principles of "a natural order conceived in accordance with science and labor." The task allotted to the nineteenth-century revolution was to reverse and destroy the political tendencies nourished by 1789, but to do so with the *caveat* that "no question of touching society itself" should be entertained. Society was sacrosanct, "a superior being, endowed with independent life, and in consequence remote from any idea on our part to reconstruct it arbitrarily." "From the political order," Proudhon pleaded, "let us pass to the economic order." 234

By mid-century, however, the tone alters somewhat: political intervention into the affairs of society was not really dangerous, as Saint-Simon and the Utopian Socialists had believed, but merely trivial in its effects. Reality was socioeconomic in nature; political action could not appreciably modify the fundamental character of reality, nor could political theory truly understand it. As Marx declared:

Political thought is really *political* thought in the sense that the thinking takes place within the framework of politics. The clearer and more vigorous political thought is, the *less* it is able to grasp the nature of social evils.²³⁵

Among later and less revolutionary writers than Marx there was the same belief in the ultimate futility of politics. At its very worst, they held, political action might pervert human affairs; at its best, it could only register social reality, but in no sense could political action supply a creative direction. Governments may crush an individual, Durkheim asserted, "but against the social condition (*état*) itself, against the structure of society, they are relatively powerless." Political action, he continued, operates from a point far too remote to penetrate the souls of the citizens and employs methods far too crude to be able to impose uniform regulations "against the nature of things." 236

To the writers of the late nineteenth century, as well as to their more recent successors, society presented a bafflingly complex structure held together by the cooperative efforts of millions of anonymous persons. This was the theme of Durkheim's famous concept of the division of labor, of Proudhon's idea of social solidarity, of Marx's vision of the future society. The common belief of all of these writers was that social cooperation stood as the complete antithesis to politics. Proudhon spoke for the age when he wrote that "le dernier mot" of politics is "la FORCE."²³⁷ The modern managerialist is equally emphatic. "... the political sphere deals with power. And power is only a tool and in itself ethically neutral. It is not a social purpose and not an ethical principle."²³⁸ Any political system, even democracy, declares another writer in the same tradition, is but an "artificial substitute for human cooperation," and one that "has brought all kinds of ills and abnormalities in its train." Politics has conflict as its raison d'être, and the politi-

cian feeds on these ills, exploits them by Machiavellian techniques, and traffics in popular passions and illusory grievances. "Political nostrums" supply no solution, because "the real problem is how to set each individual function to do its best for society." ²³⁹

In these criticisms the century articulated its ultimate longing: to commune with the underlying reality of society. What was truly human was the social condition. For Durkheim, for the English pluralists, such as Figgis and Cole, and for the American managerialists, as well as for psychoanalysts like Erich Fromm, the values of society were epitomized in small group relationships—just as they had been for Proudhon and the Utopian Socialists. Only private groups and occupational associations possess the power, Durkheim wrote, to "drag" isolated individuals "into the general torrent of social life." Locked deep in society was the life force for which the century searched.²⁴⁰

At bottom the century desperately longed to transcend the political. The most powerful, and in many ways the most representative, expression of this point of view was to be found in Marx's writings. In previous ages, he wrote, political relationships had been supreme; they had pervaded all aspects of life and had overlaid the social and economic nature of groups with a political veneer. The emergence of the modern, centralized state constituted a "political revolution" which had shattered "the political character of civil society." What Marx meant by this paradox was that the State, on the one hand, had established a monopoly of power and authority, "a real State," by destroying the autonomy of corporations, guilds, and the feudal class structure; and, on the other hand, had drained "political" loyalties from these lesser associations and transferred them to the political order itself. In this way the political order became "a matter of general concern." But the effects of this development on society were momentous. Society was dissolved into a welter of isolated individuals, while the individual was deprived of contact with the rich life of community and association and left imprisoned in his own naked egotism. In the future the harmful effects of this "political" change would be repaired. The political dimension would be transcended; the concept of the citizen would be exchanged for that of the human person; the individual would be released from his artificially created status as a political animal and restored to his natural status of a social animal:

The social life from which the worker is *shut out* is a social life very different in kind and extent from that of the *political* sphere. The social life . . . is *life* itself, physical and cultural life, human morality, human activity, human enjoyment, real *human* existence. Human life is the *true social life* of man. As the irremediable exclusion from this life is much more complete, more unbearable, dreadful and contradictory, than the exclusion from political life, so is the ending of this exclusion . . . more

fundamental, as man is more fundamental than the citizen, human life more than political life. 241

Marx's attack on the state expressed a widespread conviction of the century that unless some drastic measures were taken to halt the progressive isolation of individuals, the growing power of the state would crush what was best and most promising in the human condition. While the nineteenth-century liberals had sought to diminish the threat by installing a variety of constitutional gadgets, other writers turned towards society to find havens of refuge for the individual. The Utopians found their solution to *étatisme* in the small self-sufficient community; Tocqueville believed that democratic societies could avoid over-centralization only if they maintained a viable system of local self-government and encouraged the growth of voluntary associations; Durkheim and the English pluralists looked to a society of nearly autonomous vocational groups to offset the thrusts of state power. Thus there was widespread agreement that social isolation was the root-cause of *étatisme* and that if it could be overcome the power of the state would dry up at its source.

It would be ungenerous to doubt the genuineness of these anxieties or to imply that the century was following a spurious lead. Our concern, however, is with the consequences of the diagnosis and the remedy. To reject the state meant denying the central referent of the political, abandoning a whole range of notions and the practices to which they pointed—citizenship, obligation, general authority—without pausing to consider that the strategy of withdrawal might further enhance state power. Moreover, to exchange society or groups for the state might turn out to be a doubtful bargain if society should, like the state, prove unable to resist the tide of bureaucratization. Both of these possibilities have been realized. Suspicion of the state has reduced the codes of civility to the appearance of rituals which we follow half in shame and half in embarrassment. At the same time, the discovery that precious little in human life is immune to bureaucratization has disspelled some of the magic of the group.

These developments provide the contemporary setting for the re-enactment of political roles and the recital of political ideas: with the discrediting of the political order and the retreat to society which itself manifests growing symptoms of bureaucratization, the political has re-emerged, but disguised in the trappings of organizational life. What has been denied to the political order has been assimilated to the organizational order. This transferral has not been difficult, for, as Proudhon pointed out a century ago, the identity and the legitimacy of the political consists only in "certain signs or ornaments, and in the performance of certain ceremonies";²⁴² hence if modern man refuses to believe in the importance of these symbols and rituals, he is free to shift his support to other objects. And how easy the transition is: "the Rights of Man can be made just as safe in corporate hands as they were in individual hands."²⁴³

The political life of organizations began with the discovery that a private organization, like the modern business corporation, displayed most of the distinguishing marks of a political order:

The corporation is now, essentially, a monostatist political institution, and its directors are in the same boat with public officeholders.²⁴⁴

It was argued that a huge aggregate, such as General Motors, a cartel like I. G. Farben, a monopoly like Standard Oil, all wield power equal to that of many governmental bodies. They command enormous resources, human as well as natural; their wealth often exceeds that of many governmental jurisdictions; their actions affect the lives and welfare of countless individuals; their influence extends beyond the merely economic sphere, penetrating legislatures, governmental agencies, and political parties. It follows that, if these entities seem to act like political societies, they can be studied through the categories of political science. ²⁴⁵ For example, if the corporation is a political form, it must possess "authority" over its members. According to one popular writer, the "authority" of the governing group of a corporation is obtained by a process identical with that depicted by the great contract writers of political theory:

The modern corporation is thus a political institution; its purpose is the creation of legitimate power in the industrial sphere . . . The political purpose of the corporation is the creation of a legitimate social government on the basis of the original power of the individual property rights of its shareholders. The corporation is the *Contrat social* in its purest form. ²⁴⁶

In keeping with this discovery of the "political" in organizations, the concepts and notions associated with the discredited political order are salvaged for use in describing its successor. Terms like "government," "kitchen-cabinet," "final judicial function," "Supreme Court," "representative institution," "order," "trustees for the community," and "just consent of the governed" are scattered about the literature of organization.²⁴⁷

The culmination of this trend is most clearly revealed by Selznick's recent work, *Leadership in Administration*. The social world of today, he declares, is organized around "largely self-governing" organizations of huge size. Because of the enormous resources which they command, they have an inescapable responsibility, or rather their leaders do, for the "well-being of numerous constituents." These institutions are "*public* in nature," because they are "attached to such interests" and deal "with such problems as affect the welfare of the entire community." As befits entities which have assumed the mantle of the political, the modern business executive "becomes a statesman" and, to a large degree, his organization sheds its technical or administrative character for the higher dignity of an "institution"; that is, "a responsive, adaptive organism" well-deserving of the

time-honored name of "polity." The claim to a political status resides in the fact that the modern organization is confronted by the same type of problems familiar to the life of the political order. "There is the same basic constitutional problem" of accommodating "fragmentary group interests" to "the aims of the whole"; of elaborating statesman-like policies which will "define the ends of group existence"; of ordering internal conflicts by establishing "consent" and maintaining a "balance of power." As the profile of leadership takes full shape, we find that we have run the full cycle and are back once more with the first of political philosophers—

creative men \dots who know how to transform a neutral body of men into a committed polity. These men are called leaders; their profession is politics.²⁵⁰

XIII. ELITE AND MASS: ACTION IN THE AGE OF ORGANIZATION

Selznick's argument, which is a highly sophisticated and literate example of what can be found among many writers, is not concerned solely to establish the political character of business organizations. Rather the more general aim is to demonstrate that the politicalness of a corporation does not come from the fact that the corporation is a business enterprise, but from the fact that it is a large and powerful organization. In other words, the organization is the dominant and ubiquitous phenomenon of society, and whether it carries the adjective "business," "government," "military," or "educational" is largely irrelevant. All organizations are inevitably "political" in character, or, conversely, what is most politically significant in the modern world is contained in organizational life.

This being the case, the question naturally arises, how do these theorists view politics? A partial answer is that they perceive political problems from an elitist position. In Selznick's words, elites are "objectively necessary" for the maintenance and development of social institutions and culture. ²⁵¹ The form of elitism expressed in this literature has certain superficial affinities with, say, Platonism: it believes that those few who have the qualifications for exercising the highest social functions should be in the positions of highest authority.

Fundamentally, however, contemporary elitism is indebted to a far different and more recent conception; namely, that an elite is a group whose superiority rests on its excellence in manipulation. The *locus classicus* of this formulation was in the writings of Pareto, but it has become commonplace in a wide variety of twentieth-century theorists: in Lenin's theory of the party elites; in Nazi and Fascist ideologies; in the various theorists of managerialism; and in Mannheim's conception of the role of social scientists in the planned society. Now the crucial theme in all of these writings, and the one which supplies the dialectical counterpoint to the elitist strain, is the emergence of the "masses."

The concept of the masses haunts modern political and social theory: to disenchanted liberals like Ortega y Gasset, it represented the dreaded enemy of culture; to others, like Lenin and, more particularly, Fascist and Nazi writers, the masses represented the pliable stuff of revolutionary opportunity. Although there are a wide variety of definitions of the "masses," Selznick has given one which describes fairly well what most writers have in mind: "When the normal inhibitions enforced by tradition and social structure are loosened . . . the undifferentiated mass emerges."253 This kind of definition sets the stage for the dramatic confrontation between the "elite" and the "mass:" the elite is a sharply defined group, possessing clear qualifications and performing a vitally useful role in the social system. The concept of the elite fits naturally with a tradition of political and social theory in which hierarchy, order, and differentiation are fundamental ideas: a tradition as old as political thought itself and as recent as modern sociology. The mass, in contrast, is undifferentiated, amorphous, banal in its tastes, lacking in a defined role and conscious purpose, the unattractive deposit of an age of rapid social change, the lost social battalion without ties of communication, affection, and loyalty. "Mass connotes a 'glob of humanity,' as against the intricately related, institutionally bound groupings that form a healthy social organism." The "disease" of contemporary society is "mass behavior." 254

The juxtaposition of "mass" and "elite" is highly informative of the present condition of theorizing, for it discloses that contemporary theory is, in a special sense, post-Marxian, and, in terms of mood, disenchanted. History has not only been unkind, it has been positively malicious. Instead of the highly self-conscious proletariat, the proud bearers of man's historical destiny, history has given us the vulgar mass; instead of Adonis, Quasimodo. Marx had depicted the working class as disciplined, purposeful, the symbolic representative of humanity's future triumph—"philosophy can only be realized by the abolition of the proletariat, and the proletariat can only be abolished by the realization of philosophy"—as well as the symbol of humanity's past. The proletariat had suffered on the cross of history for all humanity; "its sufferings are universal"; its present misery was "not a particular wrong but wrong in general; its future emancipation promised to be "a total redemption of humanity."

Now if, instead of the proletariat, history has disgorged a "glob of humanity," it is not Marx who is teacher to the new age of mass society but Lenin; it is not the prophet of proletarian victory who speaks to the contemporary condition, but the strategist who perfects the instrument of action, the elite. If it is to be the elite, rather than the proletariat, who actually lead the way, the strategy is not to smash the pseudo-proletariat or masses, but to manipulate it. It is "our duty," Lenin wrote, "to go down lower and deeper, to the real masses." 255

What makes Lenin a central figure for our study is that he glimpsed sooner than most writers the possibilities of organization as the action medium best

suited to a mass age. Organization was to mass in Lenin's theory what idea had been to matter in Plato's: that which imparted form to the formless. Lenin was the first to seize the implications of transferring politics, political theory, political action—all that we have subsumed under the "political"—to the plane of organization. He taught that politics and the political had meaning only within an organizational setting. Industrialism and large-scale organization did not necessarily render political things unnecessary, nor did "administration" provide a complete substitute, as Saint-Simon and others had supposed. The trick was not to destroy the political, but to absorb it into organization, to create a new compound. The measure of Lenin's success is that his lessons have become the common property of the age; the irony is that his prescription for revolution has also been used to preserve giant capitalism.

The central point of Lenin's argument was the refutation of an assumption common to classical liberalism, early socialism, and Marx as well: the primordial importance of economic phenomena. While other writers, professing to follow Marx, had also expressed anxieties about the continued and stubborn vitality of capitalism, Lenin not only rendered this problem irrelevant by turning the focus of revolutionary theory upon pre-capitalist societies, but, above all, he taught that the greatest danger to the revolutionary movement lay in allowing the workers to become preoccupied with economic issues. If the proletariat went whoring after material class interests, its tough revolutionary temper would surely soften and victory would be lost. Self-interest was self-interest, and it no more encouraged proletarian than capitalist heroics. ²⁵⁶

Lenin proceeded to discard the eighteenth and nineteenth century notion that significant action meant economic action. Political action was rescued from limbo and restored to a new primacy, new because revolution was proclaimed the quintessential form of political action. "The fact that economic interests are a decisive factor does not in the least imply that the economic [i.e., trade union] struggle must be the main factor, for the essential and 'decisive' interests in classes can be satisfied only by the radical political changes in general."257 For Lenin the "political" dealt with the comprehensive, with what transcended class horizons and interests; hence the workers had to rise above economic consciousness and acquire an "all-sided political consciousness" responsive to "all cases of tyranny, oppression, violence, and abuse, no matter what class is affected."258 He insisted that "political activity had its logic quite apart" from either terrorism or economic struggle, and he accused his opponents of committing "the fundamental error" of believing it possible "to develop the class political consciousness of the workers from within the economic struggle."259 "True" consciousness was political rather than economic, because revolutionary overthrow constituted a basically political act with a basically political objective. 260 The workers, therefore, had to be educated to a political consciousness, which meant, in a very ancient notion, gaining a synthetic view of the whole:

The consciousness of the masses of the workers cannot be genuine class consciousness, unless the workers learn to observe from concrete, and above all from topical, political facts and events, *every* other social class and all the manifestations of the intellectual, ethical and political life of these classes; unless they learn to apply practically the materialist analysis and the materialist estimate of *all* aspects of the life and activity of *all* classes, strata, and groups of the population.²⁶¹

Having asserted the primacy of political action, Lenin then turned to the question of how best to pursue it. His answer, as we have already stated, was organization, and it was a choice which symbolized a crucial turning point in the Western tradition. When we look back on the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries from the vantage point of what we know about Lenin's thought, it is possible to see in a clearer light what the protests of writers like Nietzsche, Kierkegaard, and Sorel had meant. Kierkegaard's lonely, desperate "leap" to God, Nietzsche's solitary superman struggling against the toils of a mediocre, bourgeois world, Sorel's "myth" of the spontaneous general strike by a proletariat welded to unity only by an heroic impulse—these were all last-ditch efforts to secure some place for unorganized individual action. They were last gasps of a romanticism doomed to expire before the age of streamlined organizations and rationally efficient bureaucracies. Nor was this a protest confined to deformed theologians and syphilitic philosophers, for nowhere was the anguishing tension between the world of organization and the creative individual more clearly revealed than in the thought of Max Weber, perhaps the greatest of sociologists.

No one saw more clearly than he that bureaucracy and large-scale organization were the fundamental phenomena of modern political, social, and economic life. No one was more unstinting in admiration for the routinized rationality, the impersonal fairness, the high level of expertise exhibited by these structures. ²⁶² Yet there was a strong note of ambiguity and soft whispers of pathos: "the fate of our times" is that man must dwell in the "disenchantment of the world." Mystery has been banished and "the bearing of man has been disenchanted and denuded of its mystical but inwardly genuine plasticity." ²⁶³ Yet in his famous essay, *Politics as a Vocation*, along with its clear-eyed recognition of the way bureaucracy has invaded all political realms—party, government, and legislature—Weber plaintively pleaded for a conception of political leadership cut to truly classical proportions. Weber's leader is a political hero, rising to heights of moral passion and grandeur, harried by a deep sense of responsibility. But, at bottom, he is a figure as futile and pathetic as his classical counterpart. The fate of the classical hero was that he could never overcome contingency or *fortuna*; the special irony of the

modern hero is that he struggles in a world where contingency has been routed by bureaucratized procedures and nothing remains for the hero to contend against. Weber's political leader is rendered superfluous by the very bureaucratic world that Weber discovered: even charisma has been bureaucratized. We are left with the ambiguity of the political man fired by deep passion—"to be passionate, *ira et studium,* is . . . the element of the political leader"—but facing the impersonal world of bureaucracy which lives by the passionless principle that Weber frequently cited, *sine ira et studio,* "without scorn or bias." ²⁶⁴

For Weber there remained one sanctuary of personal action, one province where man could affirm himself in a world otherwise dominated by rationalized and highly intellectualized processes. The area of choice or fundamental values was one which, by nature, stubbornly resists scientific method and other techniques of objectivity; it was the last preserve of passion. 265 This casts a quite different light on Weber's endlessly labored and refined distinction between the scientifically knowable realm of "facts" and the subjective, nonscientific realm of "values." The wall between the two was not erected, as Weber's interpreters have sometimes implied, simply to shield the objective sphere of science from contamination by arbitrary values and personal idiosyncrasies. It was equally the result of a desperate effort on Weber's part to secure some sphere where affirmation was possible and, most important, where bureaucratic and scientific rationality were impossible. Yet the matter did not rest there, for Weber left a final irony for personal action to contemplate: each individual bore the awful responsibility for choice at this ultimate level but each was denied anything like the scientist's sense of certainty: "the ultimately possible attitudes towards life are irreconcilable, and hence their struggle can never be brought to a final conclusion."266

Nostalgias such as these had no place in Lenin's thought. The latter was mesmerized by the potentialities of organization. One does not have to supply a gloss to say that Lenin looked upon organization as the Archimedean lever for overthrowing a whole society. He himself used the metaphor.²⁶⁷ "If we begin with the solid foundation of a strong organization of revolutionaries, we can guarantee the stability of the movement as a whole." Revolution, far from being the "spontaneous" uprising of an oppressed and exasperated mass, was an "art" requiring delicate timing; spontaneity rendered organization "more necessary." ²⁶⁸ Only through organizational intelligence could the revolutionaries assess "the general political situation," develop "the ability to select the proper moment for the uprising," and enforce discipline among the local organizations so that the latter would "respond simultaneously to the same political questions."

Thus organization provided pre-conceived direction and form to the bubbling ferment of "spontaneous" revolutionary forces; it maintained "a systematic plan of activity" over time and preserved "the energy, the stability and continuity of the political struggle." Through organization the revolutionaries could "concentrate all

these drops and streamlets of popular excitement" into "a *single* gigantic flood." ²⁷⁰ Above all, the "all-sided and all-embracing political agitation" undertaken by organization helped to rivet the elite to the mass; organization brings the elite "*into closer proximity to, and merges* the elemental destructive force of the crowd with the conscious destructive force of the organization of revolutionaries." ²⁷¹

As Lenin spelled out the details of revolutionary organization, a different, almost aesthetic note, crept into his writing. He began to look upon the "apparatus" with the jealous pride of the artist, heaping scorn on those who would "degrade" the organization by turning it towards tawdry economic objectives and "immediate goals," bemoaning the "primitiveness" of the existing organization which had "lowered the prestige of revolutionaries in Russia." The task of the organization was to raise the workers "to the level of revolutionaries," not to degrade the organization to the level of "the average worker." Above all, when the revolutionary situation ripened, special care must be taken to avert the danger of the party organization being "overwhelmed" by the revolutionary wave. For its own protection, the organization must be powerful enough to master the "spontaneity" of the masses. 272

Lenin's emphasis on the "small compact core" of professional revolutionaries as the vital cog of the organization led him to the question of what kind of democracy, and how much, could be permitted. His answer established a framework of argument that was to be duplicated by later writers concerned with the same broad question. It was the procedure adopted by Michels in his famous study of the oligarchical and bureaucratic tendencies in professedly democratic parties; by Chester Barnard in his analysis of the contradictions between the requirements of administrative leadership and democratic practices; by students of organization concerned at the way mass society, with its penchant for "radical leveling," "prevents the emergence of an effective social leadership." What is important here is the way that the question is posed: how much democracy can organization endure?—never the reverse. Lenin's answer was a model of candor:

Bureaucracy *versus* democracy is the same thing as centralism *versus* [local] autonomism, it is the same organizational principle of revolutionary political democracy as opposed to the organizational principle of the opportunists of Social Democracy. The latter want to proceed from the bottom upwards . . . The former proceed from the top, and advocate the extension of the rights and powers of the centre in respect of the parts . . . My idea . . . is "bureaucratic" in the sense that the Party is built from the top downwards . . . 274

Democracy, therefore, had to be redefined in a way more consonant with the imperatives of organization and elitism. Membership had to be severely restricted so as not to compromise the highly professional quality of the leadership. At the same time, a type of bureaucratic democracy would encourage talented workers to rise to positions of leadership: as in the modern corporation, there was to be

room at the top. ²⁷⁵ The "real" guarantee of democratic responsibility to the membership lay in the close-knit solidarity of the elite, the "complete, comradely, mutual confidence among revolutionaries." ²⁷⁶

When Lenin came to consider the task of building the new order, he relied once more on the same prescription: construction, as well as destruction, required systematic organization and a compact leadership group. Like Calvin contending with the sectarians who believed that "enthusiasm" alone could sustain the church, Lenin had to dispose of the anarchist argument that, with the destruction of the old order, men could proceed directly to a condition where power was unnecessary. "The proletariat," Lenin asserted, "needs state power, the centralized organization of force, the organization of violence . . ."²⁷⁷ To be sure, the old-style politics would be abolished, for, thanks to the advances of capitalism, most governmental tasks had been so greatly simplified that they could be discharged by the simple routines followed in post offices. Gradually society would evolve towards the "non-political state," which while not the final phase, would be a definite advance over the past.²⁷⁸

Lenin provided an illuminating glimpse into the workings of the organizational mentality when he turned to consider what was to be abolished of the political and what was to be retained. Politics, as represented by party rivalries, legislative maneuvers, the frictions generated between governmental units, and the struggle for group advantage, was to be suppressed: organization excluded politics. But those aspects of the political congenial or necessary to organization were to be retained. Thus the proletarian state was said to need "a certain amount of subordination" and "some authority or power." Above all, bureaucracy itself would be perpetuated: "to destroy officialdom immediately, everywhere, completely—this cannot be thought of." It was a mere "anarchist dream" to hold that "all administration" and "all subordination" could be disposed of.²⁷⁹

The affection which Lenin had lavished on the revolutionary organization was now transferred to the governmental machinery. He asserted that revolutionary society would not only exploit the advanced techniques of capitalist administration, but would perfect and purify them. No longer would public positions be degraded into being mere springboards for obtaining more lucrative posts in private industry; no longer would the careless, gentlemanly tradition of the civil service prevail. This was to be a pure organization, undisfigured by parasites. "Our problem here is only to *lop away* that which *capitalistically disfigures* this otherwise excellent apparatus . . ."²⁸⁰

In the light of his admiration for the beauties of organization and his faith in its creative power, there is small wonder that Lenin was eager to put it to the test. Like later theorists of organization, he was undismayed by the lack of resources available, the low level of skills and literacy, the appalling distance between reality and aspiration. To those faint-hearted followers who pleaded that the revolu-

tion should be postponed until human nature could be educated to the demands of the new age, Lenin replied with what was a classic statement of the faith of the new age of organization: "No, we want the Socialist revolution with human nature as it is now, with human nature that cannot do without subordination, control, and 'managers.'"²⁸¹

One final problem remained: how was organization to be squared with Marx's prophecy of a future society where the state would "wither away" and coercion would lose its rationale? For Lenin this was no problem. He agreed that ultimately there would be true or "primitive" democracy, but he conceived it to be democracy within the premises of organization, or, more accurately, he thought that the perfection of organization would be identical with true democracy. The progressive simplification of work would obviate the need for expert talents and place all functions within the reach "of every single individual." Since "democracy means equality," the development of organization could satisfy this criterion by breaking down complex jobs into simple operations. "The whole of society will have become one office and one factory, with equal work and equal pay." ²⁸² In short, true organization *is* equality.

The prescience of Lenin's theories is confirmed by their reappearance in the conservatively oriented literature of organization theory.²⁸³ What Marx did to Hegel, writers like Selznick have done to Lenin; that is, turned him upside down. The new formula is not pure Leninism, but Leninism clothed in the language of Burke. The fondness for large-scale organization displayed by contemporary writers largely stems from anxieties provoked by the emergence of the mass. They see organizations as mediating institutions, shaping disoriented individuals to socially useful behavior and endowing them with a desperately needed sense of values. These large entities supply the stabilizing centers, which not only integrate and structure the amorphous masses, but control them as well. ²⁸⁴ The role which Selznick assigns the elite seems more indebted to Burke than to Lenin. The ruling group, he warns, is not in a position analogous to the sculptor, free "to mould the organization according to his heart's desire . . ." Instead, its posture is "essentially conservative." 285 To preserve the life of the group was a task which could not be reduced to a question of balance sheets, any more than Burkean society could be treated as "a partnership agreement in a trade of pepper and coffee," or the Leninist revolutionary movement as a mere instrument to advance tradeunion interests. The administrator is responsible for the life-processes of a "polity." 286 To accomplish his ends effectively it is necessary that he win the "consent" of the members. But "consent" in the age of organization does not connote self-government, much less the idea of participation as practiced in the ancient "polity." It means, instead, "commitment," which is something far different. "Commitment" is the special prescription for a mass age where men are isolated and their lives depersonalized and bleak. Their wants are psychic and hence to be

satisfied by "integration" rather than made more anxious by the demands of participaton.²⁸⁷ The aim of the elite, therefore, is to convert "neutral men" into a "committed polity."

Now it is also true that Selznick sometimes uses commitment as a synonym for "loyalty" and "loyalty" is said to involve "rational, free-willed consent."²⁸⁸ While this might appear to be either a bit of careless usage or a deceptive strategy to exploit some "hurrah-words," it is also squarely in the manipulative tradition. Selznick's notions of "commitment," "loyalty," and "rational, free-willed consent" have as much of choice and spontaneity about them as Lenin's theory of "democratic centralism" has of democracy:

By long habituation, sometimes also as a result of aggressive indoctrination, the individual absorbs a way of perceiving and evaluating his experience. This reduces his anxiety by lending the world of fact a familiar cast; and it helps assure an easy conformity with established practice. ²⁸⁹

As Selznick makes clear, "participation" is "prescribed . . . only when there is a problem of cohesion." Moreover, there is the cautionary reminder that the member must not be allowed to over-commit himself, for this builds up rigidities which limit "the freedom of the leadership to deploy its resources." ²⁹⁰

Other "political" aspects of the organizational "polity" are similarly transformed into ready counters of manipulation by the leadership. The rules or "laws" of the organization, the "pluralism" of its structure are all useful devices for facilitating the task of governing. The beliefs of the members are described as "ideologies," and they are the objects of a "technique" for manipulating "socially integrating myths." ²⁹¹ Although at one point "administrative ideologies" are said to emerge "in spontaneous and unplanned ways," our previous discussion has prepared us for the legerdemain which transforms "spontaneity" into direction. "A well-formulated doctrine," quite unsurprisingly, is discovered to be "remarkably handy for boosting internal morale, communicating the bases for decisions, and rebuffing outside claims and criticisms."

When we say that policy is built into the social structure of an organization, we mean that official aims and methods are *spontaneously protected or advanced*. The aspirations of individuals and groups are so stimulated and controlled . . . as to produce the desired balance of forces.²⁹²

XIV. CONCLUDING REMARKS

These last few chapters have singled out those themes that seemed to be among the more important for understanding the dominant direction being followed by recent political thought. It would be foolish, however, to maintain that justice has been done either to the richness and variety of recent speculation, or to its perversities. Consequently it would be crudely dogmatic to conclude with a pronouncement about *the* problem of contemporary political and social speculation. What follows is merely a brief summary of some of the difficulties that recent theory has gotten into and some highly tentative pointers about a possible way out.

From an examination of recent theorizing, it is fairly clear that a reaction against some of the major categories of political thought has occurred. It is important, however, not to misunderstand its nature. As we have seen in the last chapter, it is not the animus against politics and the political that is characteristic of our time; on the contrary, recent thought has been highly ingenious in discovering political phenomena in almost every important human activity. We shall return to this point in a moment, but here we need only re-emphasize that it is not anti-politicism as such that is peculiar to the present, but rather the sublimation of the political into forms of association which earlier thought had believed to be non-political.

The reaction we are witnessing requires a more complex explanation. Expressed in a somewhat awkward way, it is a reaction against the *general* nature of traditional political theory and, along with this, against the claims of the political to a scope as wide as society itself. Perhaps this can be made clearer by indicating briefly what I mean by the *general* quality of the political.

Throughout the long development of the Western tradition of political thought, there has been a recurrent tendency to identify what is political with what is general to a society. The inclusiveness of political society, for example, has always been contrasted with the parochialisms of family, class, local community, and sect. Again, the general responsibility for the welfare of the whole society has been consistently regarded as the special function of the political order. To take another instance, the status of citizen has been conceived in terms of a role which defined the individual's duties and expectations in matters of general concern. Finally, political authority has been defined as the authority representing the generality of society and speaking in its name. These tendencies, in turn, have been registered in the claims of political theory itself to be a body of knowledge and wisdom concerned with society's attempt to articulate what is common or general to its life.

In contrast, recent social and political theory has had a more restricted focus. Its values have been more local, being concerned with smaller groupings and associations. This has been true not only of those writers like the Utopian Socialists, Proudhon, Durkheim, and the pluralists, but also of those who adhere to the so-called "group theory of politics." In the words of one of the most influential of the group theorists, "When the groups are adequately stated, everything is stated." Localism, in short, is the earmark not simply of those who are concerned to prescribe new forms of social and political organization, but equally of

those who profess to be interested solely in explanation and description. The contemporary social scientist tends to adopt modes of understanding and analysis that are dissective, even scholastic; he is constantly seeking intellectual classifications more manageable than the broadly political one. He is inclined to analyze men in terms of class-orientations, group-orientations, or occupational orientations. But man as member of a general political society is scarcely considered a proper subject for theoretical inquiry, because it is assumed that "local citizenship"—man as trade-unionist, bureaucrat, Rotarian, occupant of a certain income-tax bracket—is the primary or determinant influence on how man will behave as a political citizen. The same procedure is followed in dealing with beliefs. The individual is viewed as a shopper carrying several distinct parcels, one containing his "vocational" ideology, another his "class" ideology, a third his "minority" attitudes, and, perhaps, a fourth and more discreet one holds his "religious ideology." The metaphor, however, is much too euphemistic, for the final impression left by this kind of analysis is that each of us is imprisoned consecutively, so to speak, within a series of disconnected beliefs. None of us is credited with a general set of notions, for we are analytically meaningful only when lodged within certain classifications.

The chopping-up of political man is but part of a broader process which has been at work in political and social theory. During the past two centuries the vision of political theory has been a disintegrating one, consistently working to destroy the idea that society ought properly to be considered as a whole and that its general life was best expressed through political forms. One result of this kind of theorizing has been to flatten the traditional *majestas* of the political order. This has been achieved by reducing the political association to the level of other associations at the same time that the latter have been elevated to the level of the political order and endowed with many of its characteristics and values.

In recent years the impetus towards this development has come from two sources. First there have been the champions of groupism—and in this category I would include the advocates of small communities, the pluralists, Durkheim, those who laud the values of the factory as a social system, and the contemporary defenders of corporate organization—all of whom agree that man's personality and needs can be satisfied in some grouping smaller than and different from traditional political entities. At the same time, they are unwilling to grant either that there are any general human needs which are uniquely fulfilled in political life, excepting possibly the need for peace and defense, or that there is any need, individual or social, which requires integrating forms of activity. ²⁹⁴ The assumption prevailing among most groupists has been that the perpetuation of society requires the performance of a certain number of functions. These functions, in turn, are the complement to a determinate number of human needs. The next step in this chain of reasoning calls for listing the number of these functions that

are being satisfactorily discharged by non-political associations or groups, such as trade unions, churches, corporations, and other private or voluntary groupings. The sum of group functions is then subtracted from the totality of socially necessary functions, and the precious little that remains is allowed to be the province of the political order. And more often than not the remainder turns out to involve mainly administrative functions. In this way the political order comes to occupy the status of residuary legatee, shouldering those tasks which other groups or organizations are unwilling or unable to perform. But always there is the hope of steadily reducing the number of political functions and always the attempt to add one more political function to the groups.

A second line of argument has also contributed to the depreciation of the politicalness of the political order. This has consisted of politicizing the character of non-political groups. Business leaders are designated "statesmen" who are responsible for the governance of their polity-corporations; conflicting elements within a trade union are likened to political parties;²⁹⁵ membership and participation in groups and corporations are viewed as raising the same order of problems as political citizenship.

Both of these tendencies have converged to produce a picture of society as a series of tight little islands, each evolving towards political self-sufficiency, each striving to absorb the individual members, each without any natural affiliations with a more comprehensive unity. A typical example of this thinking was the comment of the former Dean of the Harvard Business School. After praising the "accomplishment" whereby the factory had become "the stabilizing force around which [the workers] developed satisfying lives," he went on to point out that this had been achieved "in spite of technological changes within the plant and social chaos in the community outside."296 What is significant in this remark is the implicit belief that group life can not only be perfected in the face of a chaotic "outside," but that by steadily increasing the number of healthy groups there will no longer be any "outside" to worry about. Equally implicit, the political order is assumed to be part of this "outside," "too remote morally and spatially to possess anything of the living reality of active collaboration for individuals."297 Thus the contemporary vision of the social universe is one where political society, in its general sense, has disappeared. Selznick offers us a society dotted by large bureaucracies, each an autarchic polity with no organic connections between them, only an arena of diplomacy and negotiation for the new organizational statesmen. Berle, the ex-New Dealer, is fully satisfied by the way that the modern corporation has developed into a planning institution and looks forward to the time when "the state is not to be the dominant factor." 298

Notions such as these are typical of the contemporary flight from that general dimension which, in the past, has served as the basis for viable theories of political life. It is not surprising, therefore, that recent theory has failed to produce a

body of political ideas dealing with a general order; that is, an order whose function it would be to integrate the discontinuities of group and organizational life into a common society. Moreover, the divorce between what is political and what is general has repeatedly led recent writers into paths of futility. I mean by this that they have tried to pose political problems in what are essentially non-political settings; the result has been a series of dead ends.

An instructive example of this is the problem of the responsibility of corporate management. Writers like Berle and Drucker have been acutely worried by the growing autonomy of management at a time when the corporate form is dominating much of social life. Berle, for instance, has pointed out that the modern corporation is becoming less and less dependent upon the capital supplied by individual stockholders. His whole analysis of the problem, beginning with the classic The Modern Corporation and Private Property, has consisted in large part of treating the corporation as though it were a political entity and hence susceptible to political kinds of questions. My point, however, is that an approach of this kind leads to confusions because the concept of political responsibility is out of place in this context. Political responsibility has traditionally connoted a form of responsibility owed to a general constituency and it has been a problem precisely because society contains a multiplicity of groups. Other writers have attempted a solution to the same problem posed by Berle by arguing that management is responsible to a variety of constituencies, such as the stockholders, workers, other business corporations, and the vague group called the "public." But this line has been equally fruitless because it seeks to solve the problem by diffusing responsibility; that is, it too ignores the consideration that what makes responsibility political is its general quality deriving from what is common to the constituents.

The error in these theories comes from trying to assimilate political conceptions to non-political situations. Whether corporate management or trade-union leadership can be held responsible; whether membership in churches, benevolent societies, or other voluntary associations provides a satisfying experience for the individuals involved—all of these and similar questions are undeniably legitimate, but they do not belong to the species of political problems, and if we assume that they do, we obscure genuine political problems in a confusion of contexts. Even supposing that a coherent and satisfying theory of managerial responsibility is produced, the responsibility in question should not be designated political because of the restricted nature of the constituency. "Political" responsibility has meaning only in terms of a general constituency, and no multiplication of fragmentary constituencies will provide a substitute. Similarly, to contend that individual participation can be satisfied in a political way within the confines of non-political groups is to deprive citizenship of its meaning and to render political loyalty impossible.²⁹⁹ When used in a political sense, citizenship and loyalty have meaning only in reference to a general order. Long ago Aristotle had insisted

that the political association, by virtue of its superior comprehensiveness and purpose, had a stronger claim on men's loyalties than any lesser association and that political membership was therefore superior to other forms of membership. In terms of function and purpose, a lesser association, such as the family or the religious group, served a limited good and hence could justifiably extract only a partial loyalty. A political association, however, was conceived by him as promoting a more comprehensive good—that of the whole community—and hence was deserving of a fuller obedience.

In rebuttal to this argument it may be replied that the fragmentation of the political and its assignment to other associations and organizations are the necessary price for achieving some measure of individual self-determination, freedom, and participation in the modern world. The alternative of reviving the political dimension of existence seems an invitation to totalitarianism. There can be no denying that totalitarian systems have re-asserted the political with a vengeance. They have destroyed the autonomy of groups and replaced it with a highly coordinated general policy; they have oriented every major human activity towards political goals; through propaganda and controlled education they have instilled among the citizens a strong sense of the political order and a firm belief in the exalted status of political membership; through plebiscites and mass elections they have mobilized a general form of support and approval.

Recognizing the cogency of this reply, the question still remains, does the reassertion of the general political dimension and of the function of general integration necessarily demand such an extreme solution? Is it rather that the contemporary challenge is to recognize that totalitarianism has shown that societies react sharply to the disintegration wrought by the fetish of groupism; that they will resort to even the most extreme methods to re-assert the political in an age of fragmentation? If this should be the case, the task of non-totalitarian societies is to temper the excesses of pluralism. This means recognizing that the specialized roles assigned the individual, or adopted by him, are not a full substitute for citizenship because citizenship provides what the other roles cannot, namely an integrative experience which brings together the multiple role-activities of the contemporary person and demands that the separate roles be surveyed from a more general point of view. It means further that efforts be made to restore the political art as that art which strives for an integrative form of direction, one that is broader than that supplied by any group or organization. It means, finally, that political theory must once again be viewed as that form of knowledge which deals with what is general and integrative to men, a life of common involvements. The urgency of these tasks is obvious, for human existence is not going to be decided at the lesser level of small associations: it is the political order that is making fateful decisions about man's survival in an age haunted by the possibility of unlimited destruction.

PART TWO

CHAPTER ELEVEN

•••

From Modern to Postmodern Power

The past has no voice: it exists as habits, institutions, artifacts, and texts. To make any of these articulate requires the voice of a present interpreter. If that interpreter denies that he has a voice, ignoring the cognitive and other interests of his own time and place and pretending that his construction of the past constitutes its "objective" reality, he buries the past in the tomb of time and severs any real connection it might have with the living present.

—Richard Waswo¹

I. CELEBRATING THE DEATH OF THE PAST

Not long ago Western societies celebrated the beginning of their third millennium not as a mere calendar change but as marking a turn into a "new age" that promised to surpass the achievements of the past. In the "advanced societies" of the West the occasion afforded the opportunity to affix a certain collective identity, to say who we are, and declare who is included in "we."

Collective identity is not only built of positive assertions but made possible by selective memory loss, a rearrangement of remembrance and forgetting that forms the collective memory. For a new identity to take hold, an existing understanding has to be repressed, redefined, or overcome. A society might wish to forget a certain part of its past because of its painful associations: a military defeat, a brutal act of suppression, a shameful policy of exploitation. Conversely, it may wish to remember some noble action: a "glorious revolution," a heroic sacrifice for the common good, a decisive victory. Remembrance is not always associated with celebration. It may arouse mixed emotions, as in the observance of Martin Luther King Day: celebration for his contribution to civil rights and African American political consciousness, shame for his murder and for the continuing hold of racism.

The third millennial celebrations were of the unambiguous kind and perhaps closer in spirit to the eschatological hopes of early Christians. The media's sooth-sayers divined that a divide or break had occurred. The past was "over," completed, disposable, not so much forgotten as obsolete. Some societies might be

"left behind," while among the favored societies in the West and (it was implied) among those of its groups or classes that had adapted, the future of the present promised to be superior to the future realized by the past. Its unique promise was a present in which the future is continuously being realized.

The death of the past might also be a bad pun. The new age should have been anxious to leave behind the events of a very bloody century—two world wars, a holocaust, Hiroshima, an abundance of cruel dictatorships with an appetite for torture and mass imprisonment, and the killing fields of Southeast Asia and post-colonial Africa. It is perhaps impossible to know how to mourn the loss of millions of human lives, but one can reflect upon the modes of power that put within reach the massive destruction and deformation of values accompanying the slaughters of the twentieth century. Or, to state the point differently, it is a commonplace among many who have written about the Holocaust that the mind feels helpless in seeking the terms to understand and convey the horrors of a recent past. Yet the mind apparently had little difficulty in finding the terms for constructing the powers that could produce the Holocaust and Hiroshima.

A society whose technology-oriented culture teaches the importance of embracing the new and "getting past" loss must cultivate the art of forgetting. What, then, is the *ars oblivium*, the modern's methodology for forgetting and thereby posing the possibility of a society of perpetual afterwards?

Here, as in so many lessons about power, Hobbes is modernity's instructor.² History, Hobbes declared, is a mere "register of fact," useful in making prudential decisions, but too bound to a particular context to be of service in the quest for "nothing . . . but general, eternal, and immutable truth." Along with the politic virtue of prudence, the past is subordinate to the needs of abstract theorizing. When theorizing abstracts from the human world, it annihilates some portion of it and loses the innocence of mathematics. Loss then ceases to pose the possibility of a power-vacuum, as when aristocrats, kulaks, and unbelievers are eliminated. A selective emptying becomes one of power's preconditions.

In contrast, for the pre-Hobbesian ages the ontology of power was formulated as a contrast between reality and appearance, between that which endures and that which passes away, between permanent and ephemeral power. Power was believed to be the crucial attribute of reality, of that which secures or protects the structure of things; the ultimate that by assuring perpetuity holds impermanence at bay. Pre-Hobbesian man courted power by finding appropriate ways for transients to commune with the enduring. "Listening not to me," Heraclitus advised, "but to the Logos it is wise to agree that all things are one." Hence the importance of ceremonials and rituals of power. Subjects entreat kings; kings confess to priests; and priests beseech the gods. The early philosophers ritualized inquiry, inserting themselves in place of the priests and the *logos* of reason for the gods.

The aim of communicating with reality is to become receptive to its power without diminishing it. For theorists of a postmodern era, however, the contrast between appearance and reality no longer holds. Appearance is all that there is—which might seem to spell the death of reality. In late modernity the sovereignty of appearance is dependent upon incessant and insistent changes that undermine confidence in the existence of a reality principle. In the rituals of postmodern power the true sovereign is disappearance. It has assumed the role of reality, of that power which abides and presides over the world of (dis)appearances.

What is the nature of that power which manufactures disappearances? One clue was the dissonant note that threatened to mar the celebratory mood of the new millennium. Its coming was preceded by feverish attempts to prevent "glitches" (due to the calendar change to 2000) from disrupting the intricate electronic networks on which businesses, financial markets, transportation systems, government agencies, and especially military forces depend. The computer—the emblem of postmodern achievement of instant communication worldwide, the carrier of the new *logos* of "virtual reality" and of a certainty lacking in the oldstyle *logos*, which had represented reality as regularity, as "laws of nature"—now threatened to undo a world increasingly, sometimes totally, beholden to it. What is the meaning of that uniquely contemporary threat to the power-structure of the new age? what are the foundations of afterwards such that less than two years later the New World of the new millennium and its greatest representative, the American Superpower, suddenly experienced acute vulnerability even though no state remotely rivaled its power?

II. THE BACONIAN VISION OF POWER

Yea, from the table of my memory
I'll wipe away all trivial fond records.
—Shakespeare, Hamlet, 1.5.100

. . . And so those twin objects, human Knowledge and human power do really meet in one . . .

-Francis Bacon⁵

In earlier times the practice of naming and proclaiming a certain identity for the present and its past was one in which philosophers and political theorists played a prominent, if not disinterested, part. Over the centuries theorists promoted themselves by asserting the general superiority of their era over past eras and, by implication, their achievements over those of past thinkers. Although Aristotle may have been among the first philosophers to have established a genealogy of philosophical predecessors that, coincidentally, indicated how he had surpassed

them, he also acknowledged past achievements, thereby suggesting both innovations and continuities. Nor did he take his accomplishments to mean that overall his era was superior to preceding ones. Sixteenth-century writers, however, used the genre in a more sweeping and dismissive way. In the process of bestowing the identity of a "renaissance" on the present, they also created a certain past, the "Dark Ages." They compared the creative and wide-ranging character of literature, the arts, and philosophy in their own age, and its celebration of individuality, with what they viewed as the repetitive, authority-dominated ways of mediaeval scholastics, whose cramped ideal consisted in piling commentaries upon commentaries. Yet while Renaissance writers defined one past in negative terms, they were insufficiently secure in their post-Christianity to venture into the future without hedging their bets by clinging to an inspirational past. So they constituted and appealed to their past, making a cult of classical antiquity: "Saint Socrates," intoned Erasmus, "pray for us."

Francis Bacon was the unrivaled practitioner in the arts of self-promotion and a master-tactician in the use of intellectual artifacts to promote a new collective identity and justify the discontinuity between one era and another. And all in the cause of a new vision of power. He dismissed the utility of retaining some usable past, arguing that the rejection of past philosophies and scientific methods was a necessary preliminary to laying an entirely new "foundation" for society. Where Aristotle had treated his predecessors as forerunners and judged them by their contribution to pure knowledge, Bacon introduced a different standard by which to condemn ancient philosophy in general and Aristotle's in particular, not as wrong but as impotent. For Bacon the ancient philosophers had produced formulations incapable of yielding any practical results. In the new age "the true and lawful goal of the sciences is none other than this: that human life be endowed with new discoveries and powers."

This declaration signified a radical turn in the Western understanding of power and its sources. In previous centuries ordinary power was a scarce good limited to mundane objects (food, shelter, construction, weapons) produced primarily by physical labor. In contrast, political power was represented as transcendent, "mighty," or "awful," its authority divinely sanctified. Imperial rule, military force, and warfare were its supreme expressions; organization and leadership were its means. Bacon's vision was bolder still: he conceived how power might be invented and generated virtually at will, thus promising an end to the shortage of power, especially in its mundane uses. His primary concern was not to expand the state's political power directly but to emphasize its directive role in promoting systematically a more fundamental source of power, the human mind.

III. CULTIVATING MIND AND METHOD

Ingenuity is one thing and method (ars) is another.

—Thomas Hobbes¹⁰

The reshaping of mind to make it complicit in the quest for power entailed a change as thoroughgoing as any experience of religious conversion. Mind had not only to be instructed in the curriculum of the new "natural philosophy" but, first of all, cleansed. "After I [Bacon] have purged and swept and levelled the floor of the mind," 11 the mind was to be disciplined by the "the severe and rigid search after truth." 12

To a striking degree Bacon borrowed Machiavelli's framework, formulating the conditions of power, identifying their sources, and devising a statecraft aimed at exploitation and control. This time the objects were not princes or republics but nature, the modes not singular actions but organization, the means not arms but a method of inquiry. The project called not only for a different conception of scientific methods of investigation but for the creation of a new subject, a political theory of science. Bacon extricated science from the setting of aristocratic dabblers with their "cabinets" of oddities, and of ingenious artisans who were unable to offer a clear explanation for their inventions; then he placed it in the context of national power and "policy."

Tacitly another ruler and another system of power were being expelled. The "God of nature" whose domain was assumed to be unchallengeable by mortals would ere long become "Nature's God." Rather than approaching nature as a field of observation or a cause for humility, the new politics would view it as a combination experimental laboratory and object of erotic assault:

 \dots nature not only free and at large (when she is left to her own course and does her work her own way) \dots but much more of nature under constraint and vexed; that is to say, when by art and the hand of man she is forced out of her natural state, and squeezed and moulded.¹³

By adhering to the right method, man could discover nature's "laws," that is, the "powers" governing an "order" expressed as regularities. Conceptually nature was transformed from a theologico-political *ordo* (Augustine, Aquinas, Calvin) to a political-scientific order. ¹⁴ Science could then use that knowledge to produce human power in the form of inventions. These, in turn, could be directed towards the material improvement of the human condition itself ("the relief of man's estate").

"Upon a given body to generate and superinduce a new nature or new natures," Bacon declared, "is the work and aim of human Power." By that formulation,

with its accompanying motto that "knowledge is power," Bacon may be said to have sketched the idea of modern power and the basis for modern society in the organization of knowledge and its conversion into practical inventions for the extraction of power from, and over, the material world. His vision encompassed not only the systematic pursuit of theoretical knowledge and its practical applications under the aegis of the state but the reformation of social attitudes to provide an ethos or culture supportive of a conception of power as essentially boundless in its reach and benefits.

Culture is not, however, solely a matter of practices but involves beliefs. It is often said that power is "based" on or "supported" by belief. An equally appropriate metaphor might be that power is parasitic off beliefs. Often the beliefs seem to be in tension with the values actually practiced or represented by the powers. Mediaeval conceptions of power, whether papal or royal, fed off unworldly beliefs about the sacred. Late modern conceptions, which typically were slanted towards rule by elites, battened on the idea of the "sovereign people." Eventually the parasitic powers exhaust their "host" and seek a fresh source to exploit.

But what of the theoretical mind that is drawn to a vision of power as both constitutive of a new world and, at the same time, destructive of some part of the things, beings, and relationships in a world being remade? and what of assigning to reality the ephemeral status of appearance while endowing (dis)appearance with the status of reality? Again Hobbes is our guide, and doubly so. His science-oriented theory of power complements a political theory that conceived of a society wherein absolute political power, "the greatest of humane Powers," was generated by the opposite principle of free consent, "compounded of the Powers of most men . . ."¹⁶ In a revealing passage devoted to "power cognitive" Hobbes expands Bacon's conception of a mind preparing to investigate power:

For the understanding of what I mean by the power cognitive, we must remember and acknowledge that there be in our minds continually certain images or conceptions of the things without us, insomuch that if a man could be alive, and all the rest of the world annihilated, he should nevertheless retain the image thereof \dots every man by his own experience knowing that the absence of destruction or destruction of things once imagined, doth not cause the absence or destruction of the imagination itself.¹⁷

Power cognitive and world annihilation: the juxtaposition of those two images of power reveals a combination of primitive urges and their modern sublimating form. In that combination elements of past and future probe and test each other as they search for the right catalytic mix. The name of the discourse is "reverie," a word whose older meanings are far removed from its later dream-like associations. For the fourteenth century a reverie was "wild delight, violent or riotous action." For the seventeenth century, the century of Locke's "master builders" of

modern science and mathematics, reverie was "abstracted musing." A century later Hume remarked, "Tis not contrary to reason to prefer the destruction of the whole world to the scratching of my finger." The violent actions that would potentially encompass the annihilation of the world would be made possible by abstracted musings ($E = mc^2$) that transmute into power, obliterating cities, while thought remains intact and retains the quality of innocence, pure thought, mathematics, the child-like Einstein.

In Chapter VIII, I called attention to the role of his formulation "... figuring the world to be annihilated" as the imaginary act and methodological first step from the actual revolutionary disorder of the civil wars to an order constructed by abstracted musings. Hobbes first would have the world disappear temporarily while leaving behind only man: "... after the destruction of all other things, I suppose men still remaining ..." But what Hobbes imagined as left behind is not man as such but his distilled essence, mind whose essence is power, "power cognitive," power able to preserve the world as idea, though, in fact, the world may have been destroyed.

IV. Modern Power Realized

Francis Bacon . . . is the great forerunner of the spirit of modern life.

—John Dewey¹⁸

Bacon's vision was fulfilled in the spectacular developments that advancing knowledge and technological innovation made possible. Beginning in the seventeenth century Western societies steadily transformed the material conditions of human existence, raising to new levels the economic lot of their populations, improving culture, education, and life expectancy; and, while inventing the concept of a "premodern" society, negated its actuality by assembly lines and mass production. Bigness, as represented in Hobbes's titles *Leviathan* and *Behemoth*, foreshadowed modern power's fondness for the huge and massive. In their heaviness, immobility, and fixed location, the factories of industrialized economies mirrored an economy whose power-ideal was the tangible writ large: a giant factory producing iron and steel.

In the process industrialized societies established their unsurpassed power as the identifying mark of modernity. By the end of the second millennium humankind had launched the exploration of worlds beyond its own; scientists had begun to produce life itself and to promise an era when as a matter of course it would be possible to "customize" the specific traits of vegetables and babies.

The theory and practice of modern power might be said to have reached its climactic moment at Hiroshima when, as it were, a Hume preferred the destruction

of the world to scratching his itching finger and a Hobbes saw a world annihilated but mind left triumphant. Hiroshima confirmed beyond dispute that the achievements of modern power required the destruction of established practices, institutions, ways of life, and values.

More than two centuries before Hiroshima writers had begun to catalogue the social and human costs resulting from the systematic application of science and technology to the production of life's necessities and wants. Populations were dislocated, communities and neighborhoods destroyed, local cultures undermined in order to prepare conditions congenial to modern industry. Deracination meant not only dislocation but deculturation. Not, as Schumpeter would have it, "creative destruction," but destructive creation.

V. Modern Power and Its Constituent Elements

[After the Revolution, Jefferson warned, the people] will be forgotten, . . . and their rights disregarded. They will forget themselves, but in the sole faculty of making money, and they will never think of uniting to effect a due respect for their rights. ¹⁹

The social movements that transformed the political character of society were the precondition of modern power and modernity itself. Sometimes they brought constitutional forms, representative institutions, rulers accountable to democratic electorates, and guarantees of individual liberties. Other times they brought dictatorship, the suppression of political liberties, ideological and religious fanaticism, the active persecution of selected elements of society, and, at best, only a modest improvement in the economic condition of the lower strata of populations.

Political power, in its democratic impulses, was merely one of the revolutions that contributed to the phenomenon of modern power.²⁰ The others are the scientific revolution dating from the seventeenth century and the market-industrial revolution that began in the eighteenth. Unlike the political revolutions, which enlarged the number of participants, these revolutions generated elite cultures, ideologies, and modes of discourse and action that proved exclusionary of the demos or relegated the latter to positions of low reward and status. The new domain of economy theorized by Adam Smith and the classical and neo-classical economists recognized that power relationships flourished in the economy, e.g., between owners and workers, yet it emerged as a domain that, unlike religion during the Reformation or politics during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, was never seriously exposed to democratization. There was no economic equivalent to Luther's priesthood of all believers, Rousseau's general will, or

Paine's popular sovereignty—even though many practitioners of the science of economics acknowledged labor to be the principal source of economic value and even referred to "labor power." Whatever corporate solidarity "the sovereign people" might aspire to was shattered, perhaps irrevocably, by the division of labor. The political economy of modern power taught workers to be subjects of power rather than citizens.

The earliest theorists of the scientific revolution, such as Bacon and Hobbes, made it clear that scientific knowledge was beyond the capabilities of the "vulgar." Despite calls made during the French Revolution for a "democratic science" and the principle that "new knowledge must be held in common, as are the other riches of the state," the response was a theory of *selective* public education. ²¹ Condorcet's plan was representative. He proposed systems of selection that would classify applicants according to intellectual promise. Thus a hierarchy of the intellect could be created and a new version of aristocracy institutionalized. ²² Condorcet's plan was opposed by artisan groups, and, although it was not passed in its original form, it was an intimation of how the demos might be further depoliticized, this time by means of a meritocratic system of education that skimmed off its potential leaders and prepared them to be useful functionaries.

The scientific, economic, and political revolutions contributed distinct and vital elements to the structure of modern power. Eventually they became complicitous in it. The process by which these revolutions were integrated could not have occurred without the guidance and coordination provided by administrative bureaucracies. These helped to define and enforce the reach of modernity. The theoretical significance of bureaucracy was clearly set out in Alexis de Tocqueville's The Old Regime and the French Revolution (1856). According to Tocqueville's thesis the "political revolution" of 1789 had been preceded by an earlier administrative revolution carried out under the auspices of a monarchy unaware that it was subverting its own foundations. The radical innovation in governance by which the state established bureaucracy as the mode of exercising its authority "had already caused one of the greatest upheavals that have ever taken place in the history of a great nation" and had "an incommensurable influence" upon the political revolution of 1789, causing it to assume an unprecedented form. First the state-sponsored revolution destroyed the ancient infrastructure of local authorities and replaced it with a permanent system of centralized control. It was, in effect, an early effort at political modernization that, in attempting to introduce the science of rational policy, destroyed the participatory institutions of municipal and provincial life. Centralization, far from being dismantled by the revolutionaries of the 1790s, was incorporated; and although later revolutions might "decapitate" the head of administration, "the body" "survived intact and active." 23

The emergence of bureaucracy had an enormous impact upon the politics of modern political societies and the prospects of democratization. It introduced

permanent, virtually self-perpetuating power structures designed to be independent of regimes and political parties, to be the embodiment of specialized expertise, "outside" politics. As the locus of "policy" and its formulation and implementation, administration signified one more momentous development in the separation of the citizenry from power. That development was registered in the emergence of a new political vocabulary that was striking in its contrast with the usages being invoked to characterize demotic action. Where the people were depicted as "turbulent" and "tumultuous," as irregular, modern government was portrayed by its champions as "regular," "efficient," and "orderly." In that vein *The Federalist* promised that the new central government would "move on uniform principles of policy" and pursue a "steady system of national policy." ²⁴

It might seem to be straining usage to describe these various developments—scientific, technological, political, bureaucratic, and economic—as revolutions. However, all of them display effects comparable to those that are commonly associated with political revolutions. The other forms may not immediately appear as violent, yet in their own ways they overturn former habits, relationships, and convictions, and, above all, undermine established ways of life. Like political revolutions they mark a turning away from the past. The relative power of these various revolutions can be measured by a peculiarity of political revolutions. Unlike the other forms, which seem to have found the secret of self-perpetuation, modern political revolutions, whether democratic or communist, seem to lose their dynamic once they succeed.

VI. CONTAINING POWER

What is a power, but the ability or faculty to do a thing? What is the ability to do a thing but the power of employing the means to its execution?

—Alexander Hamilton²⁵

In its simplest formula, power is the ability to effect a purpose, to gain an end. The complications enter when we ask about the nature and author(s) of those ends, the means and resources to be used in realizing them, the enlisting of other powers, and the consequences likely to follow, especially the losses. The greater the unity among the powers available, the greater the temptation to mobilize them for grandiose purposes; the greater the resources called upon to achieve them, the more elaborate the organizational means, the more demanding the preconditions, and the more complex the consequences—and the losses. Obvious political questions are, how is a unity or alliance among powers achieved and how are the uses of power decided, by whom, and for what purposes—*cui bono*, who profits by it? who loses?

Efforts to control concentrations of great power are as old as recorded Western history. The Old Testament provides an early example involving King Solomon and his ambitious undertaking of building a temple dedicated to Yahweh, the all-powerful god of Israel. The project can be viewed as an attempt to "house" power, to contain it within a structure, and thereby solidify the identification of Yahweh, the greatest power in the world, with Israel and its king. This seems what Solomon initially had in mind: "I have surely built thee a house to dwell in, a settled place for thee to abide in forever" (1 Kings 8:13). But apparently Solomon then renounces that ambition, suggesting instead that omnipotence could not be contained:

But will God indeed dwell on the earth? behold, the heaven and heaven of heavens cannot contain thee; how much less this house that I have builded? (1 Kings 8:27)

As an architectural form, a temple is an enclosure of a particular shape and structure that sacralizes what occurs inside. Within the temple prayer and ritual are customary means of communing or allying with, rather than containing, the power being worshipped. Yahweh's power was too great to be bound within a human structure, but that does not obviate the political character of the temple as a site of power-rituals whereby a community positions itself towards its universe of power—in the case of Israel, the power of its king and the ultimate power of its god.

The story of Solomon's temple is apposite to much of Western political thought and practice. The containment of power has been a continuing theme, right down to the "iron curtain" and "containment policy" of the Western powers aimed at preventing the spread of Soviet communism after World War II.

In the history of postbiblical Western theorizing the typical solution to the problem of containing power was to establish a constitutional "framework." The most famous and influential theorist of constitutions was, by any measure, Aristotle. In the Aristotelian view, a constitution designated the individual or group that exercised supreme authority over a political society; it identified the location of power—the power that the laws of the constitution authorized to the ruler or rulers or to various bodies (e.g., courts). But what was the source of the power authorized by the constitution? Aristotle insisted that for constitutional rule to be stable and effective, constitutional power had to adapt to and select from the extra-constitutional distribution of power in society, which meant some would be favored and others excluded. Thus an aristocratic constitution would recognize the dominant status of the aristocracy (e.g., significant wealth, noble birth, and military prowess); a middle-class constitution, such as the "polity," would signify the presence of a large class of owners of medium-sized property, while a democratic constitution recognized the power of equality or numbers. Most revolutions were attributed to a mismatch between constitutional authority and actual social power. An excluded group controlling significant power will agitate to have its type of social power recognized in the constitution; if thwarted, it will seek to overthrow the constitution and create an appropriate form for consolidating its rule. Aristotelian constitutional theory might be defined as the attempt to encourage political stability and moderation, not by denying class rule, but by ameliorating or restraining class power by the rule of law and by "mixing" the basic elements so as to promote inclusiveness, lessen resentments, and moderate the exercise of power.

Generally speaking, mediaeval constitutional thought followed the same line. It often echoed the prevailing practice of representing classes or estates—nobility, clergy, and "commons" (roughly, a gentry plus elements of a middle class)—and emphasizing the role of statutes and customs, as well as privileges, in limiting power.²⁶

"Constitutionalism" is a modern creation. Its theoretical debts are to Harrington, the English Levellers, Locke, Montesquieu, and the American *Federalist*. Its practical debts are to the revolution of the 1640s and the rebellion of 1688 in England, and to the American revolution of 1776 and the Federalist countermovement of 1787.

The attempt of modern constitutionalism to domesticate power might be summarized in terms of "R's:" restraints upon power, recognition or authorization of sufficient power to govern effectively, and regularization or nonarbitrariness in the actual exercise of power. The first is typically embodied in constitutional provisions (or, in the case of Britain, privileged conventions) limiting the purposes for which power may be used and specifying certain areas from which power is restrained (e.g., a constitutional bill of rights) or exercised under more stringent limitations. The second identifies what persons or bodies are legally authorized to exercise certain enumerated powers (e.g., the chief executive's authority to propose legislation or to veto laws passed by the legislature). The third, regularization, indicates the specific forms to be observed if power is to translate into binding laws, decisions, or actions (e.g., legislative process; due process of law in criminal, civil, or administrative proceedings). The three "R's" might be expanded by a fourth, the rituals that transmute power into authority, such as elections and coronations.

For the most part modern constitutions, especially of the post–World War II variety, were notable for avoiding overt reference to social or class power. Instead they have prided themselves on being inclusive of virtually all elements in society and denying any special prerogatives to wealth or status. At the same time, however, modern constitutionalism is the inheritor of a fifth "R," the regulatory authority that sixteenth- and seventeenth-century monarchies had first exercised to control trade, manufacture, agriculture, currency, and inventions. Regulatory authority takes the form of "policy" and of implementing rules issued by bureaucrats. It was both an early recognition of "economy" as the crucial element in

national power (mercantilism) and the identification of it with the production of goods to meet the needs and stimulate the wants of the population while supplying the means for "the common defense."

While the political theories of early modernity were exploring the rights and obligations of the citizenry, a complementary but different discourse emerged whose focal point was the general "population" and its power-potential. A mideighteenth-century writer formulated the new focus and indicated how modern power would fashion the demos to fit economy rather than citizenship:

Another thing which contributes to the powers of a state is the industry and talents of the different members who compose it. It follows then that to maintain, augment, and serve public happiness, one should oblige subjects to acquire the talents and kinds of knowledge necessary for the different employments to which they may be destined, and maintain among them the order and discipline which tend to the general good of society.²⁷

In the process the political economy of modern power was created and became the object of public policies whose purpose was to promote economic growth, establish a framework of laws to promote predictability (e.g., enforce contracts), curb excesses, educate the population in necessary skills, and, sporadically, minister to casualties. By the last quarter of the twentieth century it had become evident that the system of power represented in political economy had become not only essential to the workings of constitutionalism but its rival and, if not its master, at least its prompter.

CHAPTER TWELVE

•••

Marx: Theorist of the Political Economy of the Proletariat or of Uncollapsed Capitalism?

I. MARX AND NIETZSCHE: ECONOMY OR CULTURE?

During the last quarter of the twentieth century several innovative theories appeared, among them hermeneutics, deconstruction, post-structuralism, neopragmatism, gender studies, radical feminism, and cultural theory. They stood for a bewildering variety of political tendencies and conceptions of politics. To sort out the dramatic, even startling changes that have taken place in the concerns and conceptions of political theory, we may take as useful reference points two of the towering nineteenth-century intellectual giants, Karl Marx and Friedrich Nietzsche—near contemporaries, polar opposites, yet curiously joined.

The contrasts between Marx and Nietzsche mark a seismic shift: from theory as comprehensive and systematic knowledge emphasizing the material basis of life and openly revolutionary rather than subversive, to theory as anti-theory, antisystematic, anti-materialist, epigrammatic, subversive rather than revolutionary. Marx pursued a theoretical vision of collective power and an all-encompassing common life, while Nietzsche attacked theory in the strongest anti-political, most individualistic terms. In their different ways both were consummate theorists or, rather, theorists of the consummation of opposing or contrary forms of modern power—one emphasizing economy, glorying in materialism, and demoting culture largely by reducing it to the epiphenomenal; the other obsessed with culture as fundamental, while dismissive of economy.

For Marx politics mattered only instrumentally, as the preparation for a revolution that was to be consolidated in the anti-politics of a "dictatorship of the proletariat." Revolution and its heroics of self-sacrifice were the means of finally realizing the political but in an unlikely location, the economy, the province previously identified with self-interest. For his part Nietzsche practiced a rebellious politics that was profoundly anti-political. This is not to say that Nietzsche did not have important things to say about politics, any more than that Marx had nothing to contribute to culture. In his quest for an elite of tough- and high-minded aesthetes, supermen (*Übermenschen*), Nietzsche discarded one saving rem-

MARX 407

nant after another; Marx went to the opposite extreme in seeking to fashion a wholly new type of heroic actor: collective, revolutionary, and ordinary. And while both searched among the alienated, Marx depicted a deformed hero who, though brutalized by the modern factory, would one day burst the chrysalis of modern slavery and exult in a new sensuous freedom, even an extreme individuality, that Nietzsche's artist might envy.

There is a convergence point at which these opposites intimate the extremities of twentieth-century politics. Each harbored a dark vision of world-destruction as a necessary moment on modern power's way to fulfillment (Marx) or, alternatively, to an open future (Nietzsche). Each associated progress with the breaking out of existing limits, and on that account each would be hailed by their twentieth-century admirers as theorists of liberation. Both were critical of the liberal and democratic conception of politics that legitimates opposition and differences.

II. Marx and the Theoretical Vocation

The bourgeoisie during its rule of scarce one hundred years has created more massive and more colossal productive forces than have all preceding generations together. Subjection of nature's forces to man, machinery, application of chemistry to industry and agriculture, steam navigation, railways, electric telegraphs, clearing of whole continents for cultivation, canalization of rivers, whole populations conjured out of the ground—what earlier century had even a presentiment that such productive forces slumbered in the lap of social labor?

—Marx and Engels²

It's the economy, stupid!

-President Bill Clinton

Although arguably the influence of Marx's ideas during the twentieth century has been more profound than that of any other political theorist, and his practical influence unequalled by that of any other thinker of the past two and a half millennia, Marx's "system," both in its theoretical and its political significance, is widely considered to be in a shambles today. His predictions of the inevitable collapse/ overthrow of advanced capitalism by a successful working-class revolution seem a relic of nineteenth-century romanticism. Instead of a steady growth in proletarian power, let alone in revolutionary ardor, organized labor underwent a dramatic, seemingly irreversible decline during the latter half of the twentieth century, suggesting that it is the workers who have been defeated—but by a different revolution. The continuous innovations in productive techniques encouraged by capitalists amounted to a successful assault against the working class as new technologies steadily reduced the need for skilled workers.³ Far from succumbing to the

inevitable crisis that Marx had predicted, capitalism appeared stronger, more vibrant than ever. On several occasions in the twentieth century socialist parties gained office in Great Britain and Western Europe, but at the price of further dulling the radical edge that they might once have boasted. To their credit, they served as a vehicle for improving the standard of living of the working classes, but that achievement conscripted them in the cause of political and social stabilization within the political economy of international capitalism. By taking the responsibility of governance when austerity measures were deemed urgent, they became patriotic parties in the age of downsizing and debt reduction, defenders of the center.

Add the most crushing of all refutations of Marxism, the brutality of the Soviet dictatorship, of its Central and Eastern European imitations, and their Asian counterparts, and the discreditation of Marx appears as irrefutable as the vanished political regimes he allegedly inspired.

Leaving aside the question of whether or to what extent any of those regimes should be characterized as Marxist, the "death of Marxism" as a regime-ideology and as a predictive science can exit unlamented. If, however, we accept the unnuanced notion that the Cold War marked the triumph of capitalism over a philosophy that was its polar opposite, we risk misunderstanding Marx and capitalism as well. The polarities of the Cold War obscured the extent to which Marx deeply admired "the great civilizing influence of capital" and the special emphasis he placed on the revolution in power brought about by capitalists: "[capital's] production of a stage of society in comparison to which all earlier ones appear as mere *local developments* of humanity and as *nature-idolatry*."

Marx not only celebrated the achievements of capitalism. He designated the proletariat as capitalism's inheritor, not its cremator. Capitalism was proceeding on the same track as socialism; both were committed to exploiting power and pursuing the vision, first unfolded by Bacon and Hobbes, of a society with a virtually unlimited potential for harnessing the forces of nature and elevating the human condition beyond anything previously attained—"the free, unobstructed, progressive and universal development of the forces of production." Perhaps no theorist, not even capitalism's most ardent apologists, has so fully captured—and vividly rhapsodized—the magnitude and dynamics, the promise and threat of modern power as capitalism's most famous enemy. The tantalizing question that those achievements inadvertently provoke is whether he had diagnosed capitalism's decline or its perpetuation—stated differently, whether Marx's analysis undercut his own vision.

Marx was the first post-mediaeval theorist of a world system, the first to theorize globalization—thus challenging modernity's nation-centered ideologies of political space, e.g., nationalism, national sovereignty—and to cast capitalism as its agent, penetrating the entire globe in search of opportunity and profit, pursu-

ing the dream of systematically exploiting nature. Marx's vision of power reached beyond local power, both in theory and in action, to engage the powers that determined the structure of the world itself, and to reproduce that "world-historical power" in the structure of his theory. Although thinkers before him had toyed with the concept of "totality," Marx was the first to project a unifying total system, political, social, ideological, and economic—a system of empire that capitalism had presaged.⁶

Marx dedicated his life to overthrowing that system while appropriating its reach. Towards that end he proposed a revolutionary conception of theory:

The question of whether objective truth can be attributed to human thinking is not a question of theory but is a *practical* question. Man must prove the truth, i.e. the reality and power, the this-sidedness of his thinking in practice.

The philosophers have only interpreted the world in various ways; the point is to change it. 7

Marx meant that those who accepted the vocation of thinking were obligated not only to theorize the exploitive, unjust, and dehumanizing consequences of modern power—economic, political, social, and cultural—but to incorporate the practical means of changing it. His formulation integrating the revolutionary life into the theoretical life represented a radical departure. Ever since Plato and Aristotle the theoretical life had, for the most part, been defined as a life of contemplation rather than action, even though there had been theorists as unsparing as Marx in their indictments of society. Marx, in contrast, tried to combine action with the theoretical vocation, not as an avocation or flirtation, but as a lifelong commitment.

There was an unresolved tension between Marx's emphasis upon the determinism of historical "laws" and his conception of social classes as actors. He taught that human beings are crucial agents in the processes of change; they make their own history, although not always under conditions of their own choosing. The alliance that he actively pursued between theorist and proletariat reflected his conviction that the most oppressed human beings could be educated to commit themselves to the most dangerous of actions, the revolutionary overthrow of a powerful social order. He taught that "workingmen have no country" and laid upon them a demand that hitherto had been confined to papal and political imperialists: they were to instigate a "universal appropriation," a new world-wide order. 10

"Revolution," "oppression," "domination," and "liberation" were serious notions and, if seriously meant, were dangerous. Those who used them could expect to pay a personal price, as Marx did. He spent most of his life in near poverty, hounded by the police of several countries. He was without a homeland, a theorist in permanent exile. During his lifetime he worked tirelessly for the political and social causes of workers, writing, speaking, and organizing. His crowning

achievement was the First International (1864–1876) which aspired to unite the working-class movements of Europe. In its revolutionary form Marx's dreams of collective power would succumb to nationalism and patriotism, those myths of collective powers that he despised and capitalism exploited.

III. MARX AND THE IDEA OF A POLITICAL ECONOMY

... my conclusions are the fruit of an entirely empirical analysis, based upon a careful critical study of political economy.

—Marx¹¹

[Feuerbach] refers too much to nature and too little to politics. That, however, is the only alliance by which present-day philosophy can become truth.

-Marx12

In discussing Marx, commentators customarily start by emphasizing his intellectual debts to Hegel and Feuerbach.¹³ These are undeniable. Marx's conception of a progressive dialectics, of a supra-historical reason working itself out in history, a ripening of consciousness, and the master-slave paradigm were all adopted from Hegel and translated into Marx's own idiom of dialectical materialism and class struggle.¹⁴ Similarly, Feuerbach's idea of an anthropology that described how human beings projected their own powers upon a deity before whom they groveled in obedient worship was incorporated into Marx's conception of alienated labor. Further, Feuerbach's exaltation of human sensuousness and his explorations of "species-being" strongly influenced Marx's formulation of human potentialities. Most interpreters have agreed, however, that the influences of Hegel and Feuerbach were strongest before 1845 and that thereafter he concentrated upon the works of British economists and historians of industrialism.¹⁵

Even when critics acknowledge that in *Capital* Marx paid his respects to Hegel, they leave the impression that Hegel may have bequeathed Marx a dialectical method but not a problematic concerning the proper relationship between economy and society. In fact Hegel displayed a lively interest in economic matters and had read seriously in the literature of political economy, especially Adam Smith and James Steuart. Most important, he attempted a theoretical resolution of the role of the state in economic matters that would resurface in Marx's proposed solution. Like the founders of modern political economy Hegel sought to preserve a distinctive, if lesser, role for the state than had neo-mercantilists such as Fichte. He aimed to re-state the political at a time when the primacy of private interests was challenging the idea of a general interest and of the state as its guardian. Adam Smith had written approvingly of a "wise legislator" who, distanced from economic motives, would intervene to correct the excesses of a sys-

tem importantly founded on selfishness and shortsightedness.¹⁷ Steuart was especially emphatic that the "statesman" should be ready to intervene to ameliorate the disruptive effects of sudden technological innovations:

In treating every question of political economy, I constantly suppose a statesman at the head of government, systematically conducting every part of it, so as to prevent the vicissitudes of manners, and innovations, by their natural and immediate effects or consequences, from hurting any interest in the commonwealth.¹⁸

Steuart also attributed a political quality to the economy: a free economy "created a general dependence between all its members." Hegel echoed him: "political economy . . . [creates] a system of universal mutual dependence" and of cooperative endeavor that is "common to all." In a critical vein Hegel noted that the post-feudal economy also brought a "system of property and law" characterized by a "fixation of individuality" that tended to treat individual property as "inherent, absolute, and unconditioned." When embodied in law, the idea of possession "fixes and posits absolutely, individual separate existence." The result, paradoxically, is a "universal private life," based upon "interests," that provides the locus of common participation. ¹⁹

It is not surprising that Hegel's worries about the "particularities" represented by the emergence of an economy based on individual ownership of property should find resolution in the "universal" represented by state-bureaucracy (*der allgemeine Stand*). One might even say that that conclusion had been prefigured in Smith's "wise legislator" and Steuart's "statesman." It was as though the vagaries of myriad individuals each pursuing his own interests demanded a power that could restrain particularity by an institutionalized reason, unswayed by private interests, issuing general rules: "The nature of executive functions is that they are objective." 20

A political economy for capitalism seemed drawn, if reluctantly, towards bureaucracy: if that economy were to include both a conception of the political that accepted the existence of a common interest *and* a conception of freedom that encouraged a politics undertaken to advance or defend economic interests, then bureaucracy seemed inevitable. If you wish for Madison's politics of economic interests, then you also get Hamilton's administrative elite. An apolitical politics of self-seeking interests seems to entail its antithesis of neutral bureaucracy, rule insulated from politics and therefore able to promote the political.

As we shall see, Marx, too, would be attracted to the idea of a political economy in which administration or, more precisely, administrative reason would be responsible for insuring the political. However, unlike Hegel's civil servants, Marx's administration would no longer be encumbered by the state. Particularity, in the form of private property and class interests, would have been eradicated and, along with them, the rationale for a state.

Marx began as a radical political theorist intent upon restating the nature of

the political in broadly democratic terms. At first his critical "weapons" were philosophical concepts and methods drawn primarily from Hegel and his radical followers, and directed at Germany's backward political condition.²¹ Soon he grew increasingly critical of the limitations in the prevailing conception of the political and proceeded to attack its classic version in Hegel's Philosophy of Right. Then in 1844 he declared his dissatisfaction with a political approach and appeared prepared to discard the political as his principal unifying notion: "Political thought is political precisely because it takes place within the bounds of politics. The more acute, the more vigorous it is, the more it is incapable of comprehending social ills."22 Thus the more political political thought is, the more inadequate. Ideally "political matters of general concern are the concern of the state," and in theory membership should mean that "participation in political matters of general concern and participation in the state are . . . identical."23 A truly political theory should be able to comprehend society in its generality and address its "social ills." In failing to deal with the evils afflicting society as a whole, the political had, in effect, exposed its inability to protect the common good, its weakness in the face of "particularity," and its reluctance to involve the citizenry in "political matters of general concern."

In Marx's view a historical change occurred in modern times that effectively constrained politics, narrowing its scope, diluting the substance of citizenship, and isolating the state from society. The event that he saw as inaugurating modern politics and enthroning its conception of the political was the French Revolution and the accompanying triumph of the bourgeoisie. The problem Marx set for himself was the exact opposite of the one that distinguished liberal thought throughout the nineteenth century: not how to control or limit the power of the state but how to explain its weakness, its inability to resolve what nineteenth-century liberal reformers called "the social question." Hegel's *Philosophy of Right* seemed illustrative of the ineffectiveness of state power and paradoxically of its accompanying idealization.

Accordingly, he set out to probe the question of why the state failed to promote that generality of shared advantages and burdens for its members which, according to Hegel, was the true mark of the political. Marx formulated the problem thus: Why was it that state "power ceases where civil life and its work begins"?²⁴ Why was it that the political ideals associated with the French Revolution served to resist the extension of the political in its modern state-oriented form?

IV. Working through the Idea of Democracy

In Marx's account the revolutions that had first made democracy a significant political presence had also brought a freer society, "civil society" that, paradoxically, worked against democracy. France's Declaration of the Rights of Man and of the

Citizen, with its distinction between man and citizen, signalled a "political revolution" that "abolished the political character of civil society," freed it "from even the semblance of a general content," and replaced the political with an "egoistic spirit." ²⁵ An antithesis was established between what was considered political—the citizen and the institutions of the state—and what lay "outside" in the vast array of life-forms that constituted civil society and included economic institutions. A basic contradiction emerged between the disinterested or "ideal character" of the "political state" and "its real presuppositions" of a civil society in which competition and self-interest were predominant. ²⁶ In contrast to the Middle Ages, when "the classes of civil society and the political classes were identical because civil society was political society . . . [and] the whole existence of medieval classes was political," the "modern situation" presupposed "the separation of civil society and the political state."

That divide produced an empty and hypocritical idealization of the political guarantees of the "universal" rights of man, the exalted status of "equal" citizen—empty rhetoric about the common good at the same time that a civil society, now unshackled from the *ancien régime*'s system of social hierarchy and class privilege, was exhibiting new "distinctions [that] take shape in changeable, unfixed spheres whose principle is arbitrariness." "Present civil society is the accomplished principle of individualism: individual existence is the final end, while activity, labor, content, etc., are merely means." 28

It is a development of history that has transformed the political classes into social classes such that, just as the Christians are equal in heaven yet unequal on earth, so the individual members of a people are equal in the heaven of their political world yet unequal in the earthly existence of society.²⁹

Marx formulated the problem in Hegelian terms of certain distinctions or "contradictions" (tensional opposites) that had emerged from the modern revolutions. One was the "contradiction between *public* and *private* life, the contradiction between *general interests* and *particular interests*." While the "rights of the citizen" are said to be based on equality, the "rights of man," such as property rights, are the "rights of a member of civil society, that is, of egoistic man, of man separated from other men and from the community." While the rights of the citizen imply a community with others, freedom in civil society is that of a "monad," self-interested and "withdrawn into himself." Closely related was the contradiction between the "political community" and "human existence." The latter is "the *real community* of man." The modern laborer represents in its most acute form man's separation from community: from "*life* itself, physical and spiritual life, human morality, human activity, human enjoyment, *human* existence." "Man," Marx declares, "is more than *citizen* and *human life* more than *political life*." The contradictions between man and citizen, state and society, signify a

dynamic of opposing forces that could be reconciled only by a more comprehensive notion such as "humanity."

That formulation, however, ran the risk of sacrificing the more coherent notion of an actor suggested in the idea of "citizen" for a broader but vaguer idea of "humanity." That difficulty surfaced in Marx's discussion of democracy. In his *Critique* of Hegel Marx had taken a strong line in favor of democracy precisely because of its greater comprehensiveness. It was, he declared, "the generic constitution." Other political forms were mere "moments," abstractions that presupposed the people without incorporating them.

Democracy is the resolved mystery of all constitutions. Here the constitution not only in itself, according to essence, but according to existence and actuality is returned to its real ground, actual man, the actual people, and established as its own work ³³

However, beyond assigning democracy a formal status as popular sovereignty ("ground"), Marx's discussion never probed the idea of democracy to describe substantively what "the people" actually do or in what concrete sense they possess or exercise power. Revealingly, he emphasized that "the fundamental difference of democracy . . . is *human existence* while in the other political forms man has only *legal* existence." ³⁴

Shortly afterwards, while continuing to praise democracy as the highest form of political constitution, Marx began to find democracy wanting in its potential for a politics of "human emancipation." Although "political emancipation" could promise man equal citizenship and equal rights and "certainly represents a great progress,"

it is not, indeed, the final form of human emancipation \dots [I]t is the final form of human emancipation within the framework of the prevailing social order \dots We are speaking here of real, practical emancipation.³⁵

By the end of 1848 Marx had cooled towards democracy, associating it with the demands of that most unreliable and anomalous class, the petty bourgeoisie.³⁶ The limitations of democracy and its accompaniment of popular sovereignty he attributed to its emptiness as a category of action. The democratic citizen was outfitted with formal political rights protecting him without, however, activating him to become a conscious agent of change. That weakness pointed to the need to reconceive power and the political more comprehensively, politics less democratically, and, paradoxically, to redefine the demos—hitherto synonymous with democracy—as the principal actors in overthrowing the established order but not with the intention of establishing a democracy defined and governed by the demos.

V. The Power of Theory

Germany's revolutionary past is precisely theoretical: it is the Reformation. As at that time it was a monk, so now it is the philosopher in whose brain the revolution begins . . .

The proletariat is only beginning to appear in Germany as a result of the industrial development taking place.

-Marx³⁷

Marx first approached these matters from a political perspective that adopted revolution as its politics, socialism as the goal ("negation of private property"), the proletariat as its revolutionary agent, and Germany as his focus. Marx recognized that the political and economic backwardness of Germany posed awkward problems for a general theory of revolution and for identifying the agents of revolution. In compensating, Marx was tempted into making implausible claims, the most striking being the Promethean role assigned to theory. Neither proletariat nor Germany itself was viewed as bristling with revolutionary potential. Only theory: "The very stages [Germany] has surpassed in theory it has not yet reached in practice." Nonetheless "German philosophy of right and the state" was on a par with "official modern times." German political philosophy was the "theoretical conscience" of Europe precisely because it reflected in abstract form the modern political reality, not of Germany, but of the more politically advanced France. Theory's abstractness and claim to universality were virtues: they captured how "the modern state itself abstracts from actual man."

How, then, to convert German theory, in its premodern setting, into a revolutionary force against the modern state? By "seizing the masses":

The weapon of criticism certainly cannot replace the criticism of weapons; material force must be overthrown by material force; but theory, too, becomes a material force once it seizes the masses. Theory is capable of seizing the masses once it demonstrates *ad hominem*, and it demonstrates *ad hominem* once it becomes radical. To be radical is to grasp matters at the root. But for man the root is man himself.³⁹

Why was German theory uniquely capable of universality, that is, of addressing more than Germany? Its radicalism, Marx declared, lay in its critique of religion, which "ends in the doctrine that man is the supreme being for man" and in the "categorical imperative to overthrow all conditions in which man is a debased, enslaved, neglected, contemptible being . . ."40 Marx proceeded to argue that *because* of Germany's backward political and social condition, gradual or partial emancipation was possible only on the basis of universal emancipation. This meant that the instrument of emancipation had to be identified and then fashioned by theory into a contradictory force:

Where, then, is the positive possibility of German emancipation?

Our answer: in the formation of a class with radical chains, a class in civil society that is not of civil society, a class that is the dissolution of all classes, a sphere of society having a universal character because of its universal suffering and claiming no particular right but unqualified wrong is perpetrated on it; a sphere that can claim no traditional title but only a human title; a sphere . . . totally opposed to the premises of the German political system; a sphere, finally, that cannot emancipate itself without emancipating itself from all the other spheres of society, thereby emancipating them; a sphere, in short, that is the complete loss of humanity and can only redeem itself through the total redemption of humanity. This dissolution of society existing as a particular class is the proletariat. 41

The reasons why theory "finds its material weapons in the proletariat" were revealing, for they were related neither to working conditions nor to a notion of an economic system—both of which were to figure prominently in Marx's subsequent writings. ⁴² Instead Marx emphasized the worker as the embodiment of suffering and emptiness, totally deprived of the benefits of a civilized society. ⁴³ Workers were, in that sense, dehumanized. Although there were religious overtones in the essay's references to Luther and the Reformation, the selection of the proletariat signifies not the innocence of the meek but the measure of a "revolution of radical needs:" because the proletariat is and has nothing, it is susceptible to "formation" by theory. Filling that emptiness serves as the measure of universal emancipation and the test of theory's power. ⁴⁴

VI. THE POLITICS OF ECONOMY: THE 1844 MANUSCRIPTS

In his critique of Hegel Marx had identified the proletariat as the agent of deliverance and proclaimed an alliance between it and revolutionary theory. He had also noted, however, that because of the backward political and economic conditions of Germany the proletariat fell short of being "the negative representative of society . . . concentrat[ing] in itself all the defects of society . . . the class of universal offense and the embodiment of universal limits."⁴⁵

Human emancipation will only be complete when the real, individual man has absorbed into himself the abstract citizen; when as an individual man, in his everyday life, in his work and in his relationships, he has become a *species-being;* and when he has recognized and organized his own powers (*forces propres*) as social powers so that he no longer separates this *social* power from himself as *political* power.⁴⁶

This pointed towards "social power" as surpassing political power in inclusiveness and towards a conception of it as more universal than the "sovereignty of the people." In what sense was "species-being" a form of power? if it was possessed

originally, how was it lost? how regained? And what did human emancipation mean? from what? for what? For these questions the key text is the so-called *Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts* (1844).⁴⁷

The *Manuscripts* registers Marx's first engagement with the economists and a settling of accounts with Hegel. Both are faulted for their radical abstractness: Hegel for treating man principally as abstract mind, the economists for treating man solely as abstract labor. Marx challenged not only the account of capitalism given by British economists but their basic assumption of a sharp analytical and practical distinction between the political and the economic. The *Manuscripts* are, however, richer than the "socialist humanism" Marx announces and more political than the psychological explorations of repression admired by some twentieth-century writers. The work aimed to reveal the virtually limitless possibilities for extending power universally, for empowering every individual by creating a new species of individual, the expansive individual, the counterpart to, and beneficiary of, the expansive potential of modern industry. In the process of exposing the actual power relations that the economists' abstractions repress, Marx would begin a lifelong preoccupation with exposing the layers of the distinctively liberal political parable beneath the abstractions of liberal economic theories.

The *Manuscripts* marks the moment when Western theory embraces power without any accompanying inhibitions or apprehensions or emphasis upon limits. Despite the *Manuscripts*' unfinished and fragmentary quality the thematic of power is consistently pursued as Marx advances from one power-source to another, each representing a quantum increase. The astonishing feature of the *1844 Manuscripts* is that Marx arrived at a totalizing vision of power *before* he was able to describe the actual economy of capitalism. He is, nonetheless, the first theorist to pin down the *political* character of economic theories, and he does it by resorting to traditional understandings of the political.

The presence of politics is identified at the outset but in a non-political setting: "Wages are determined by the bitter struggle between capitalist and worker." "Capital is . . . the power of command over labor and its products." In the power relationships constituting the economy, capitalists hold all the advantages: they can league together while "combination among workers is proscribed and has painful consequences for them." The worker, he argued, was reduced to being a "slave," the most profoundly unpolitical status that Western theory and practice had devised. The worker-slave lacked the autonomy, protections, and means of redress of a citizen in a system of power. The capitalist, in turn, is depicted as a starkly anti-political figure. His power enables him to control workers as he wishes, buying their labor, disposing of their products, and controlling their movements. This recalls Locke's description of a "state of war" where someone is attempting "to get me into his power" so that he can do with me as he wishes. Tyranny, according to Locke, is "making use of the Power anyone has in his

hands, not for the good of those who are under it, but for his own private, separate Advantage."⁴⁹

In exposing the practical consequences of the economists' theoretical abstractions, Marx also sought to expose their political role as ideologists of capital. Economics, as the theoretical rationale for a system of power, is ideological in the sense that it obscures the workings of power, either by ignoring them or by couching them in technical terms, such as "value" or "rent." Economics "can be considered as both a product of modern *industry*, and a force which has accelerated and extolled the *dynamism* and *development* of industry and made it a power in the domain of *consciousness*." Political economy first constructs a world of appearances that conceals the power relationships embedded in economic arrangements; then it turns a blind eye towards the human consequences. None suffers so cruelly from the reign of abstractions as the worker. He becomes "an abstract activity and a belly." Political economy treats him one-sidedly, "merely as a *worker*" who, "like a horse, will receive just as much as will enable him to work." Instead of viewing him "as a human being," it "leaves this aspect to the criminal law, doctors, religion, statistical tables, politics, and the workhouse beadle." "52

Nonetheless, the economists have acknowledged that laborers are the source of value—much as political theorists had asserted that political power originated in the people. But where the economist is content to describe the changes in value as labor transforms raw materials into products that are eventually exchanged and result in profits, Marx envisions how this seemingly "natural" process appears from the standpoint of the worker.

Economics is thus to be read as the description of alienated power, of power lost, unaccountable, and turned against its originator. Where the economist sees the "realization" of labor in its product, the workman sees the results of his power transmuted into objects that increase the power and enrich the life of the capitalist but weaken the laborer physically, reducing him to "cretinism." The more the laborer expends his powers, the more he loses control: his "product . . . stands opposed as an *alien thing*" and "as a *power independent* of the producer." He is alienated from himself—for his work is no longer voluntary; what he produces is taken by "another"; the more value he creates, the "more worthless" and "misshapen is he." Alienation is all-pervasive: man is alienated from other individuals, his species, "from human nature." 53

To recover alienated power, to identify the rightful claim to it, Marx develops the notion of species-being. It can be understood as a conception of power social in nature and cooperative in character, the common possession of humanity by virtue of human action, unconfined by national boundaries, the sum total of effective power in the world. Species-being also represented a conception of man as power's microcosm and macrocosm: "Though man is a unique individual . . . he is equally the *whole*, the ideal whole . . . the sum of human manifestations of life." 54

Power emerges naturally, humanly. Human beings need objects, not only in order to live but to express themselves. "It is just in his work upon the objective world that man really proves himself as a *species-being*." Through production "nature appears as *his* work and his reality . . . [H]e sees his own reflection in a world which he has constructed." As a "species-being" man "practically and theoretically makes his own species as well as that of other beings his object." He "makes the whole of nature his inorganic body . . . with which he must remain in perpetual process in order not to die." Production is man's "active species life." Alienated labor, by separating man from man, pitting each against the other, "takes from his species-life, his actual and objective existence as a species."

Marx identifies "communism" as the beginning of a solution "but not as such the goal of human development." It will "negate" private property and with it the work and ownership relationships on which alienated power depend. As human beings come to recognize that "authentic existence is *social* activity and *social* satisfaction," the divisiveness between man and man, man and nature will dissolve, and a true political will emerges that expresses the individual in his everyday existence:

As human nature is the *true common life* [Gemeinwesen] of man, men through the activation of their *nature create* and produce a human *common life*, a social essence which is no abstractly universal power opposed to the single individual, but is the essence or nature of every single individual, his own activity, his own life, his own spirit, his own wealth. *Authentic common life* arises not through reflection; rather it comes about from the *need* and *egoism* of individuals, that is, immediately from the activation of their very existence.⁵⁹

Under socialism, which is a higher stage than the preceding stages of communism, human emancipation will be realized in all of its ramifications. Human beings will be transformed as they begin to realize the totality of their own powers. For expansive man each of the senses will become "humanized," responding to the world, recognizing it as a human object.⁶⁰

The eye has become a human eye when its object has become a human, social object, created by man and destined for him . . . [I]t is only when objective reality everywhere becomes for man in society the reality of human faculties, human reality, and thus the reality of his own faculties, that all objects become for him the objectification of himself . . . [T]he fully constituted society produces man in all the plenitude of his being, the wealthy man endowed with all the senses, as an enduring reality. 61

The social and universal character of human existence will be revealed in its true form: "Society itself produces *man as man,* so it is *produced* by him." "Activity" and "mind" will be recognized by man as social; "nature itself has become human for him."

Thus *society* is the accomplished union of man with nature, the veritable resurrection of nature, the realized naturalism of man and the realized humanism of nature.⁶²

Marx's sketch of an unalienated world culminates in a vision in which all knowledge is incorporated into one all-encompassing science. "Natural science" has already penetrated and transformed human life; once it is recognized that "sense experience" is "the basis of all science," "natural science" and the "science of man" will be incorporated into "a *single* science."

VII. THE HISTORICAL ORIGINS OF POWER

Thus things have now come to such a pass that the individuals must appropriate the existing totality of productive forces, not only to achieve self-activity, but, also, merely to safeguard their very existence.

-Marx and Engels⁶⁴

Twenty years after working on the 1844 Manuscripts Marx delivered his inaugural address to the International Workingmen's Association. He spoke of "the great contest between the blind rule of the supply and demand laws which form the political economy of the middle class, and social production controlled by social foresight, which forms the political economy of the working class." By the time Marx had succeeded in formulating his "political economy of the working class," its principal theme seemed ironic: that capitalism represented the strongest, most fully actualized, and most universal system of power in human history. In the inaugural address Marx had declared, "To conquer political power has . . . become the great duty of the working classes." The political task required workers to organize power that matched and surpassed that of capital. Their power had to acquire a "universal character and the energy" of a revolutionary force. Mimetic of the power of capital, the power of workers had to be systematized, concentrated in organization, collective and abstract rather than the attribute of individuals.

Prior to Marx the origins of power had been discussed variously: as the product of an agreement; or as a sacred right; or as some combination of material resources and Machiavellian cunning; or as the efflux of collective beliefs embodied in a general will. Marx taught that power assumes different forms in history. History is reality transcribed, evidence of power-forms, the antidote to abstract theorizing. The historical character of power—the "specific, historical and transitory character" of all systems, including capitalism—was crucial to Marx's claim to have developed a "real, positive science." Just as the natural sciences were progenitors of invention and hence of power, "real positive science" would "lay bare the economic law of motion of modern society."

Power was embodied in techniques of production, and these were, in the first instance, inherited, a legacy that supplied an element of historical continuity:

Are men free to choose this or that form of society for themselves? By no means . . . It is superfluous to add that men are not free to choose their *productive forces*—which are the basis of all their history—for every productive force is an acquired force, the product of former activity.⁷²

Productive power was not rooted in natural or divine right, but driven by necessity. Nor was it aggregated from a multitude of individual acts of choice—as the contract theorists alleged; it resided in crystallized social formations, unpremeditated, and distinguishable by their historically changing configurations:

... nature does not produce on the one hand owners of money or commodities, and on the other hand men possessing nothing but their own labor-power. This relation has no basis in natural history, nor does it have a social basis common to all periods of human history. It is clearly the result of past historical development, the product of many economic revolutions, of the extinction of a whole series of older formations of social production.⁷³

Viewed historically, power had humble beginnings in "real active men, and . . . their real life process." Accordingly, theory's departure point is not the abstract citizen but

real individuals, their activity and the material conditions under which they live, both those which they find existing and those produced by their activity . . . Men begin to distinguish themselves from animals as soon as they begin to produce their means of subsistence, a step which is conditioned by their physical organization . . . the satisfaction of the first need . . . leads to new needs; and this production of new needs is the first historical act.⁷⁴

Power and its politics are thus rooted in a *collective* struggle to satisfy needs and embodied in the material "forces" of production, the tools and resources that men organize by developing social and especially class relations with each other and, eventually, a division of labor. From these rudimentary beginnings human power creates society and fashions human beings while assigning them various social identities and contrasting life-prospects.

The sum total of these relations of production constitutes the economic structure of society, the real foundation, on which rises a legal and political superstructure \dots . The mode of production of material life conditions the social, political and intellectual life process in general.⁷⁵

Thus production involves more than the creation of useful objects. It signifies the appearance of collective power, a form of power different from that of armies, governmental bodies, or ecclesiastical authorities. It originates in the application of human labor to the material supplied by nature. "Labor power" is "the aggregate of those mental and physical capabilities existing in the physical form, the living personality, of a human being, capabilities which he sets in motion whenever he produces a use-value of any kind." Labor begins to unfold its potential only when the individual is "free" to sell his powers as a commodity.⁷⁶ His powers are absorbed into a complex "process" that lends a certain mystification to social life. Things in their initial, raw appearance "disappear" and turn into something else, not once or twice but repeatedly: labor turns nature's matter into products; products are transformed into money; money into wages and capital. "The circulation of capital constantly ignites itself anew, divides into different moments, and is a perpetuum mobile."77 Marx's theoretical project aimed to lift the "mystical veil" to reveal the reality of relationships behind their appearance. It promises a future society where "the practical relations of everyday life between man and man, and man and nature, [will] generally present themselves to him in a transparent and rational form."78

Collective power embodied in production imparts structure to society (legal relationships, forms of government, the distribution of wealth, and ascribed status). Social structure provides the ordered relationships (e.g., lord and serf, capitalist and worker, division of labor) by which productive forces are exploited. These relationships are defined, explained, and justified by the prevailing belief systems (religious, philosophical, political, and moral "ideologies"). As "the ideal expression of the dominant material relationships" such systems belong to the immaterial and have no autonomous status.⁷⁹ They "reflect" and reinforce rather than constitute the power relationships established by the system and relationships of production.⁸⁰

Thus at the center of Marx's theory was the changing, albeit one-sided, relationship between two very different forms of power, "the material productive forces" or "economic structure of society," which Marx consistently depicted in dynamic terms, and the settled "superstructure" of legal and political relationships, especially those relating to property, and various "ideological" representations.

It is in each case the direct relationship of the owners of the conditions of production to the immediate producers . . . in which we find the innermost secret, the hidden basis of the entire social edifice, and hence also the political form of the relationship of sovereignty and dependence, the specific form of the state in each case.⁸¹

At an early point in each "stage" of the development of the material forces, the superstructure of social relationships and beliefs, the legal and political system, operates as a positive influence supporting and encouraging the growth and exploitation of the productive forces and the material world (as in the Puritan teaching that, by discouraging consumption, encouraged saving). But "at a cer-

tain stage of their development, the material productive forces of society come in conflict with the existing relations of production" because the latter are keved to productive forms whose possibilities have been exhausted: they become "fetters" hindering the new productive potentialities from being realized. 82 The immaterial nature of the relations of production and their ideological "sublimates of [the] material life process" are no match for the new productive forces. 83 The latter prove "too powerful"; the constraints are "burst asunder." A revolutionary condition emerges forming the prelude to a reorganization of social and class relations more in harmony with the power potential of the new productive forces.⁸⁴

For many theorists prior to Marx the transformation of human beings in terms of consciousness, modes of behavior, and skills had been declared the work of religion, philosophy, or inspired mentors. For Marx the ultimate source of transformations was the cooperative practices by which humans systematize production in order to survive. They do not set out to transform themselves by instituting new modes of production; rather transformation is the unpremeditated result of the invention and introduction or imposition of new processes that appeared "outside" and "assume a material shape independent of human control and conscious individual action."85 The most profound changes in social behavior and consciousness were due not to doctrines but to the materialized power that human beings themselves create and organize and to which they uncritically submit as though to some unchanging ideal order or deity. Humankind's historical task is to reclaim what its mental and physical labor has created, and to make it "impossible that anything should exist independently of individuals."86

VIII. Power, Force, and Violence

In the history of primitive accumulation, all revolutions are epoch-making that act as levers for the capitalist class in the course of its formation; but this is true above all for those moments when great masses of men are suddenly and forcibly torn from their means of subsistence, and hurled onto the labor-market as free, unprotected and rightless proletarians.

-Marx⁸⁷

A family of terms, "power," "force," and "violence," were basic items in Marx's vocabulary of description and analysis. When employed in the context of economy, they called attention to its political character. Unlike Machiavelli, who wanted to limit violence to the necessary, control it by a technical art, and ground power in good laws and institutional structures; and unlike Hobbes, who wanted to regulate private power by the public authority of a sovereign ruler, Marx treated power, force, and violence as inherent in the emergence, protection, and transformation of systems. Force may be defined as the effective organization of energy and skills, often imposed contrary to the subjects' inclinations. Over time force becomes routinized, and the lack of choice accepted as natural. Marx's frequent use of the phrase "forces of production" was meant to emphasize not only productive capacity but compulsion over the worker and aggression towards competitors and the world. Marx also employed the notion of "force" as a regular part of his vocabulary for describing the coercion involved in great social and economic changes. Viewed historically, power, force, and violence become interwoven with the fabric of social existence and the dynamics of change. **8" Force, "Marx wrote, "is the midwife of every old society pregnant with a new one. It is itself an economic power.**89

With kidnapping, slavery, the slave trade and forced labor, the increase of these laboring machines, machines producing surplus product, is posited directly by force; with capital, it is mediated through exchange.⁹⁰

Eventually force is sublimated into "discipline," softened as "innovation," and re-formed as system. The new habits, laws, and sanctions permit an imposed order to appear normal. Accordingly, violence, or the irregular, extreme, and concentrated application of force that causes loss of life, severe injury, and psychic hurt, is held in reserve and check, allowing force to mingle with power and be solemnized as authority, law, right—or "mediated as exchange." Power is force normalized or regularized and accepted tacitly or expressly.

Marx's emphasis upon "social power," the power that human beings generate by cooperative practices, might seem to imply that social power relies upon pressure and persuasion rather than force or violence. That, however, underestimates "the violence of things," the ubiquitousness of violence. ⁹¹ Marx summarized the early history of capital accumulation as:

the expropriation of the great mass of the people from the soil, from the means of subsistence and from the instruments of labor . . . It comprises a whole series of forcible methods . . . of the most merciless barbarism, and under the stimulus of the most infamous, the most sordid, the most petty, and the most odious of passions. 92

For Marx it was not simply that the vast majority cooperated out of necessity rather than choice but that the history of economies reveals a story of human beings repeatedly wrenched from their customary ways, uprooted by the emergence of radically different means of wresting existence from nature, and forced to accept new surroundings, practices, and rhythms. 93

IX. Modern Power Revealed

... every class struggle is a political struggle.
—Marx and Engels⁹⁴
... the fact that man, if not as Aristotle thought a political animal is at all events a social animal.
—Marx⁹⁵

If man is social by nature, he will develop his true nature only in society, and the power of his nature must be measured not by the power of separate individuals, but by the power of society.

-Marx and Engels⁹⁶

The central importance of power in Marx's theory naturally prompts the question, in what sense are the systematics of power conceived to be political? It has been a well-established convention among critics that Marx's theoretical formulas display a strong anti-political bias. The charge is that his obsession with economic processes and their permutations led him to ignore politics as an autonomous agent of social change or to treat it as mere reflex, as "the reduction of politics as such to economics." Hannah Arendt endorsed that view, adding that Marx had brought the Western tradition of political theory to an end accusing him, in the process, of the "glorification of violence" and of constructing "a 'socialized man' who is even less an acting being than the 'economic man' of liberal economics."

These criticisms, while true in some respects, overlook Marx's radically different way of reading economics and the unexpected parallels it presents with very traditional conceptions of the political. If we take the political to stand for valued commonalties (peace, justice, security, culture, education)—the stuff of vision—to be shared, promoted, tended, and defended by those who are members, then Marx stands among its most ardent defenders.

The seriousness of Marx's concern to exploit the "political" in "economy" is attested in his critical contrast between, on the one hand, the classical notions of political community and of man as a *politikon zoon*, and, on the other, the expansive vistas of human development that capitalism had opened. In ancient Greece and Rome "the question is always which mode of property creates the best citizens." That may have encouraged "great developments . . . within a specific sphere" where "individuals may appear great. But there can be no conception here of a full and free development of the individual or of the society . . ." The ancient ideal, Marx argued, "seems to be very lofty when contrasted to the modern world, where production appears as the aim of mankind and wealth as the aim of production." The "loftier" appearance of "the childish world of antiquity"

is an illusion created by the alienated world-view of "bourgeois economics." The world of antiquity "really is loftier in all matters where closed shapes, forms, and given limits are sought for." But modern power has effectively challenged all previous understandings of fixed limits and rendered *hubris* little more than a quaint conceit. Capitalism points towards a future where the fetters implied by the idea of a "shape" will be "burst."

... [W]hen the limited bourgeois form is stripped away, what is wealth other than the universality of individual needs, capacities, pleasures, productive forces, etc., created through universal exchange? The full development of human mastery over the forces of nature, those of so-called nature as well as of humanity's own nature? The absolute working out of his creative potentialities . . . the development of all human powers as such the end in itself . . . the absolute movement of becoming . . . ¹⁰²

Marx diverged from prior usages in ascribing to the "social" the values previously identified with the political, not as Arendt—who was much taken with classical conceptions—suggests, in rejecting the political in favor of the social. The social stands for what human beings have in common, their labor and the accompanying social practices that sustain and potentially improve the lives of each. It signifies true generality, not the compromised generality of class-bound regimes. It represents, too, a protest against the narrowing of the political associated with liberal citizenship. For Marx the problem was not to reject the political but to recover it, even expand it by ending the divide between the political and the social and the inequalities it promoted:

Human emancipation will only be complete when the real, individual man has absorbed into himself the abstract citizen; when as an individual man, in his everyday life, in his work, and in his relationships, he has become a species-being; and when he has recognized and organized his own powers (*forces propres*) as social powers so that he no longer separates this social power from himself as political power. ¹⁰³

Where Arendt contrasts "acting" man with "socialized" man, Marx understood "social" to mean "cooperative" in the sense of practices of working in concert to engender powers that enable men first to survive and then to meet their changing needs. 104 "It is easy to see," Marx wrote, "how necessary it is for the whole revolutionary movement to find both its empirical and its theoretical basis in the movement of private property, or, to be more exact, of the economy. 105 Marx aimed to reveal the economy as the site of an expanded political, or more precisely, a potential site of cooperation without exploitation. The economy is where the envisioned commonalties become all-inclusive, but only after the *political* potential of the economy to abolish inequality and class rule is intimated under the regime of capital and the ideologically laced political of its politics exposed. In declaring that bourgeois society and all past societies have been divided by class

conflicts, he meant that that fact revealed the class bias of all previous conceptions of the political: in the absence of equality no true generality could prevail. Every ruling class, he maintained, has trumpeted its rule and its interests as "general"—a claim falsified by the existence of class conflicts and glaring inequalities that maimed the lives of the Many and denied them the rich possibilities intimated in advanced societies.

... every class which is struggling for mastery, even when its domination, as is the case of the proletariat, postulates the abolition of the old form of society in its entirety and of domination itself, must first conquer for itself political power in order to represent its interest in turn as the general interest, which in the first moment it is forced to do. ¹⁰⁶

For theory to grasp politics, Marx argued, it must first relocate politics in the economy and then thematize properly the power-nature of economic formations. The themes turned out to be a reprise of certain perennial motifs of political theory centered on domination: workers were subjects, employers ruled, and value was both a sign of worth and a measure of power. (Hobbes: "the value or worth of a man is, as of all other things, his price.")¹⁰⁷ In the starkest terms, the "political" economy signified a condition where some rule, others obey, but the power of the one is derived from the contribution/subjection of the other. That formulation was meant to puncture the illusion that current economic relations were natural, timeless, or predestined and, instead, to ask how those particular relationships came to be and how they masked the subjugating character of work, commodities, exchange, and value.

But before communist man can challenge the political economy of capital, he must first be prepared by it; before he can free himself from its politics, he must first engage it, not as a citizen but as a revolutionary.

X. Marx and Locke: Parallel Narratives

. . . The first criticism of any science necessarily finds itself under the influence of the premises of the science it is fighting against . . . —Marx¹⁰⁸

Property and civil government very much depend on one another. The preservation of property and the inequality of possession first formed it, and the state of property must always vary with the form of government.

-Adam Smith 109

In Marx's narrative economic man undergoes a dire historical experience that renders him the *Doppelgänger*, the double, of liberal political man. The man of

Marx's political economy is not the *homo economicus* of economic theory; rather his economic activity is fraught with repressed *political* significance. He is, I am suggesting, the inverse of early modern liberalism's bifurcated political man whose political actions are fraught with repressed *economic* significance.¹¹⁰ The transformations in the one are similar to those in the other. In both cases servitude is masked by an ideology in which man's freedom/servitude is symbolized in the contract, the act that theoretically epitomizes voluntary choice. This celebrated expression of liberal freedom also serves as the act whereby free individuals subject themselves to another's use of their powers. In both the political and the economic context contract appears as the essential condition of power for its modern embodiments, the liberal state and the market economy. Each contract sanctions the generation of surplus: surplus value that multiplies the power of capital, and surplus authority that expands the power of the state. In both, the surplus is exacted by exploitation and rationalized as free consent, and it leads to economic and civic forms of impoverishment.

This is to suggest that in Marx's account of how the emergence of the modern laborer and of his membership in the economy entails his subjection there are surprising analogues with Locke's account of what the individual gains and surrenders, in part unconsciously, in achieving his final destination, the status of a citizen. ¹¹¹ Nature and a "natural" condition form the starting-point for both theorists. Before becoming a citizen Locke's man first surrenders his natural powers of self-government; Marx's worker has a comparable precondition for his subjugation: he gives up his tools, his means of production, and allows his "ruler" to "own" them. For Locke in "this great and natural Community" that existed before men formed societies, "the Earth and all inferior Creatures [were] common to all men." ¹¹² Marx's description of the pre-capitalist formation of the early commune and its close connection with nature represents a parallel with Locke's state of nature. For Marx:

The earth is the great workshop, the arsenal which furnishes both means and material of labor, as well as the seat, the *base* of the community. They relate naively to it as the *property of the community,* of the community producing and reproducing itself as labor. Each individual conducts himself only as a link, as a member of the community as *proprietor* or *possessor*.¹¹³

Locke's state of nature featured a weaker notion of community and a stronger individual identity; it allowed Locke to establish individual private appropriation as a right antecedent to government and civil society. Although in the pre-civil condition the earth belonged in common to all mankind, each individual had "property" in "his own *Person*" and, more specifically, in the "*Labor* of his Body and the *Work* of his Hands." He was therefore justified in appropriating as his own

the portion of the commons in which he had mixed his labor. ¹¹⁴ Locke's individual chooses to abandon the "one Community of Nature" in order to escape the insecurities attendant upon the natural condition. ¹¹⁵ He comes into society from nature as a free being. He will consent to be ruled only by an external authority that preserves his natural status as a free individual. In exchange he agrees to surrender the self-government he enjoyed in the natural condition. Contract and the freedom it guarantees become intertwined and signify abandonment of natural democracy in favor of the individuation of right. At the same time contract and freedom are drawn into a process whereby they are metastasized into power.

The original democracy of consent, according to Locke, brings into being a force that, hitherto, had not existed: free individuals aggregated into "one Body, with a Power to act as one Body, which is only by the will and determination of the *majority*." There is, however, a hidden cost. The contract implies something over and beyond the establishment of basic institutions and guarantees of the rule of law. In the state of nature Locke's individuals performed governmental functions. They interpreted and executed the laws of nature, modes of self-government that are subsequently transferred to the state. This voluntary depoliticization of the original act of consent is accompanied by the projection of a surplus power that authority can draw upon in the future. For the signatories and their heirs have promised to cooperate with and obey lawful authority. That means, among other things, paying taxes (i.e., the fruits of one's labor), supporting the government, and even risking one's life to defend society.

Although subjection is touted as voluntary agreement to be ruled, it also represents the form by which power is alienated. Locke's famous proviso that authority can be "taken back" if the governors violate the terms of the contract suggests mistrust, suspicion that political power will evade direct control. With the introduction of administration and the centralization of power, it will be virtually impossible for the citizen to recognize these powers as his own. He has resigned them and become resigned to their loss.

That interpretation finds support in the general thrust of Locke's theory. Had he been truly concerned for citizens to retain substantial powers of self-government, and had he truly valued political participation, he would have attended as much to having his individuals retain the political skills acquired in the pre-contractual condition as he did to perpetuating their acquisitive instincts. So politically desensitized were Locke's citizens that only "a long train of Abuse" could stir them to revolt.

In Locke's account, what began with a condition of empowered individuals undergoes several attenuating transformations—as majority power, representative government, and electorate. With this last stage political power is, at best, exercised in the name of the citizenry and at its sufferance. The surplus power generated

during these transformations produced the paradox: as the individual is diminished by becoming less political, the state becomes more powerful, especially later with the development of bureaucracy and expertise, the political analogues to the technological: the one renders the citizen dispensable (it does not diminish bureaucratic power that fewer and fewer citizens vote), the other the worker. And just as capital reduces the need for workers and economic depression forces others into an "industrial reserve army" of the unemployed whose availability further depresses the wages of the employed, so the apathetic, the *lumpen* citizenry, devalue the idea of a "sovereign people" while simplifying the task of those who govern to managing elections and public opinion more "rationally." Thus contract theory turns out to be the ideological anticipation of a political system whereby the citizen, like the worker, is steadily impoverished, losing more of self-government and civic skills while the state, like capital, becomes ever more powerful as the custodian of alienated power.

XI. THE ALIENATION OF POWER

For Marx cooperation served as economy's variant of participation, and work was analogous to political consent. Collective power originated with the seemingly voluntary act of individual workers, but its actual appropriation and deployment were monopolized by those who "govern" production. 118 Work, too, had a "primitive" stage of communalism where economic activity was under the control of the community and where, as a consequence, alienated labor did not exist. There the worker's products were not appropriated by another but distributed to its members by the community. 119 Ironically, it is only when the free laborer appears that consent became the crucial element in the transformation of labor power. With the reduction of labor to a commodity, the laborer sells his power, or, as Marx put it, he sells the right to dispose of his power, "his entire laboring capacity." In return he receives the counterpart to the protection of life guaranteed in the contract theories of Hobbes and Locke: "a means of subsistence, objects for the preservation of his life, the satisfaction of his needs in general, physical, social, etc."120 According to contract theorists and to later theorists of the suffrage principle of one man, one vote, each act of consent and each vote is equal to every other act of consent or voting. According to Marx when there is an economy in which value is represented by commodities and when the idea of equality has previously taken hold, "all labor is expressed as equal human labor and therefore as labor of equal quality . . . "

The secret of the expression of value, namely the equality and equivalence because and insofar as they are human labor in general, could not be deciphered until the concept of human equality had already acquired the permanence of a fixed popular

opinion. This however becomes possible only in a society where the commodity-form is the universal form of the product of labor, hence the dominant social relation is the relation between men as possessors of commodities. 121

Although according to liberal theory the worker and the capitalist approached their contract on the putative basis of a "system of freedom and equality," the emergence of the standard of value of "equal human labor" brought a common measure—but not an economy of equals, no more than one man, one vote attested to a political society where, in actual practice, each was equal in political influence to every other. ¹²²

In Marx's account the "free" laborer at liberty to contract or withhold his labor was free in another, more sinister sense: "he has no other commodity for sale," only his labor. 123 Upon entering into a contractual agreement with an employer, the worker "cedes his producing power to capital . . . as the power which rules him." 124 The employer had the right to use that power as he saw fit, much like the discretionary power enjoyed by the political sovereign of contract theory. 125 "Both sides confront each other as persons. *Formally*, their relation has the equality and freedom of exchange as such." In fact, however, "this form is a mere *semblance*, and a *deceptive semblance*." 126 The division of labor that fragmented the individual further, reducing him to a mindless repetition of simple operations, brought the worker "face to face with the spiritual power of the material process of production as the property of another that rules over him." 127 Participation in the form of "voluntary" labor thus became a parody of freedom.

The economic power of the capitalist, like the political power of the sovereign, is made possible by an excess of value/power derived from exploitation. The crucial element in the creation and transfer of power—and the analogue to consent—is what Marx labeled "surplus value," "the exact expression for the degree of exploitation of labor-power by capital, or of the worker by the capitalist." ¹²⁸ Surplus value stands for the value produced by the worker that is over and above what is necessary for his subsistence and for assuring a supply of future workers. ¹²⁹ The capitalist, as political economy's heir to the Hobbesian quest for endless power, is driven to extract more surplus value/power from the worker by extending the working day. Accordingly the struggle over the length of the working day between capital and labor becomes a struggle over the rights to power, "both equally bearing the seal of the law of exchange."

Between equal rights, force decides \dots a struggle between collective capital, i.e. the class of capitalists, and collective labor, i.e. the working class. 130

Marx insisted that for the inverted political economy to be reconstituted, the working class had to renounce liberal politics for revolutionary politics.

Revolution in general—the overthrow of the existing ruling power and the dissolution of the old conditions—is a political act. Without revolution, however, socialism cannot come about. It requires this political act so far as it needs overthrow and dissolution. But where its organizing activity begins, where its own aim and spirit emerge, there socialism throws the political hull away.¹³¹

In the post-revolutionary society the tensions between the political and the economic will dissolve. Since "political power, properly so called, is merely the organized power of one class for oppressing another," once classes are abolished "the public power will lose its political character." The revolution would rewrite the meaning of commonality: "cooperation and the possession in common of the land and the means of production produced by labor itself." With the abolition of class conflict and classes, the economic becomes truly political and politics is replaced by management of the economy.

Earlier Marx had radically reconceived the idea of popular political sovereignty as collective power over the economy: "... [I]n the appropriation by the proletarians, a mass of instruments of production must be made subject to each individual, and property to all. Modern universal intercourse can be controlled by individuals, therefore, only when controlled by all." But later when he attempted to project a future based upon his newfound scientific economics, it is a future where the political has been divorced from politics and effective sovereignty assigned to administration.

XII. THE WORKER AS POLITICAL ACTOR

... a class is called forth which has to bear all the burdens of society without enjoying its advantages, which, ousted from society, is forced into the most decided antagonism to all other classes ...

—Marx and Engels¹³⁵

Tocqueville excepted, the major continental and British liberals largely subscribed to Benjamin Constant's formulation declaring private life to be the main concern of the modern citizen. Bourgeois man, unlike the ruling classes of ancient Athens and Rome, was reluctant to shoulder the burdens of the political. He did not yearn for political involvements but primarily wanted to be "freed from political cares," 136 secured in his life, protected in his possessions, and represented politically. He was neatly summarized in the titles of the two classic works of John Stuart Mill, On Liberty and Considerations on Representative Government.

Here Marx presented the sharpest possible contrast, not only in assigning responsibility for realizing the political to the most unpolitical class, the proletariat, but charging it with the awesome challenge of learning to become *the* political

class by first devoting itself to revolution and then to the construction of a new social order. That, however, only began to describe the task that Marx set before the workers. Revolution represented more than a mass uprising. It stood for a norm that indicated how much, or how little, was demanded if workers were to redirect capital's system of power and be worthy of inheriting its scientific and technological accomplishments.¹³⁷

Unlike religious rebels who merely wanted to sweep away a corrupt ecclesiastical establishment; or the glorious revolutionaries of 1688 who desired only to restore Britain's "ancient liberties" by replacing one king with another; or the American rebels who wanted mostly to be let alone by a distant Mother Country, Marx called upon the proletariat to confront a historically unprecedented concentration of power and to oppose a class, the bourgeoisie, that, by Marx's own account, was a revolutionary class, perhaps the most revolutionary of any in previous history.

The historical responsibility assigned the proletariat seemed to find them over-matched in the struggle with capitalism. The worker was expected to overthrow a dynamic system striving towards mastery of the entire globe. Capitalism possessed a "universalizing tendency, which distinguishes it from all previous stages of production." It was also the only system in history that produced a surplus of power causing overproduction and a glutted market. The very magnitudes of power amassed in a completely integrated political economy (a "total revolution") widened further the disparity in power between proletariat and capitalist ruling class. ¹³⁸

This organic system itself, as a totality, has its presuppositions, and its development to its totality consists precisely in subordinating all elements of society to itself, or in creating out of it the organs which it still lacks.¹³⁹

The totalizing dynamic of capital was accompanied by rapidly increasing mechanization that portended a future when capital would be less reliant upon a conventional "work force." With machinery steadily displacing the worker, the latter's identity "becomes the activity of the machine" and "the appropriation of labor by capital confronts the worker in a coarsely sensuous form: capital absorbs labor into itself—'as though its body were by love possessed.'"¹⁴⁰ Yet workers were to be measured against "the existing totality of productive forces" of this awesome, universalizing system and exhorted to develop their own "universal character and energy"¹⁴¹—and this at a time when trade unions had barely established themselves.

By Marx's own account the worker seems not only overmatched but disabled and unfitted for the challenge. The introduction of "the machine" and the system of the "automaton" have brought to "perfection" the destruction of the laborer—this new system "exhausts the nervous system to the uttermost, does away with the many-sided play of the muscles, and confiscates every atom of freedom, both

in bodily and intellectual activity."142 Workers are reduced to being "slaves," mercilessly exploited, rendered a "mere living appendage" to "lifeless" machines, their bodies ruined. Marx likened the factory to a "despotism" as the worker dwindled into insignificance before "the science, the gigantic natural forces, and the mass of social labor embodied in the system of machinery, which, together with those three forces, constitutes the power of the 'master,' "143 The relentless refinements of the division of labor rendered the worker "a crippled monstrosity." As the capitalist grows in sophistication, the worker is diminished. "Intelligence in production expands in one direction, because it vanishes in many others." While "some crippling of body and mind is inseparable from the division of labor in society as a whole," modern manufacturing "attacks the individual at the very roots of his life [and] it is the first system to provide the materials and the impetus for industrial pathology."144 The worker is stunted, misshapen, even "dismembered" by the regimen imposed by "Big Industry." 145 "The transformation of production from a simple labor process into a scientific process" reduces "individual labor to the level of helplessness in face of the communality (Gemeinsamkeit) represented by and concentrated in capital."146

In hopes of remedying the stunted, deformed proletariat created by the power of capital, Marx turned from economy to politics, from the brutalized and demoralized worker to the means of his transformation. Not only is revolution to destroy the rule of capital, but the experience is to transform the worker into a heroic actor of epic stature. In the process the meaning of politics is similarly transformed: it is incorporated into revolution. The seizure of the instruments of production

can only be effected through a union, which by the character of the proletariat itself can again only be a universal one, and through a revolution in which, on the one hand, the power of the earlier mode of production and intercourse and social organization is overthrown, and, on the other hand, there develops the universal character and the energy of the proletariat, without which the revolution cannot be accomplished; and in which, further, the proletariat rids itself of everything that still clings to it from its previous position in society.¹⁴⁷

The transformation of "men on a mass scale . . . can only take place in a . . . revolution." Revolution effects a purgative, "necessary . . . because the class overthrowing it can only in a revolution succeed in ridding itself of all the muck of ages and become fitted to found society anew." Revolution is an act that the proletariat accomplishes not for itself but for all classes, for society as a whole, for the common good. By means of revolution it rises to the level of a genuinely political actor.

Why did Marx believe that the proletariat—the least educated, most inexperienced political class—could measure up to the Promethean task of overthrowing the regime of capital? Although Marx claimed a certain virtue for the workers, it was a virtue associated with suffering and deprivation; hence they could not be-

come a conscious political force without tutoring. Marx looked to workers' political parties, trade unions, and cooperatives to help shape the revolutionary skills and kindle the ardor of the proletariat. Yet this was not sufficient. Although the workers already possessed "one element of success, sheer numbers, [these] weigh only in the balance if united by combination and led by knowledge." Thus the elements of organization and knowledge are enlisted to remedy the deficiencies of the proletariat. Like Plato and his philosophers, Machiavelli and his republican conspirators, Calvin and his saints, Marx envisions a selfless elite, a "communist" party, "with no interests separate and apart from those of the proletariat as a whole," that assumes leadership of the revolutionary movement. Communists were to serve as the guardians of the political, bringing "to the front the common interests of the proletariat, independently of all nationality . . . [T]hey always and everywhere represent the interests of the movement as a whole." The claim to lead is justified by the party's possession of theoretical knowledge and political virtue:

The Communists therefore are on the one hand, practically, the most advanced and resolute section of the working-class parties of every country, that section which pushes forward all others; on the other hand, theoretically, they have over the great mass of the proletariat the advantage of clearly understanding the line of march, the conditions, and the ultimate general results of the proletarian movement.¹⁵⁰

XIII. CAPITALISM AND THE POLITICAL SHAPING OF THE WORKING CLASS

And yet Marx judged neither revolutionary organization nor theoretical formulas sufficient to insure the triumph of the workers. Paradoxically he turned for help to the capitalist system and its ruling class—as though conceding that unless the system and its operatives assisted in their own destruction, the workers by themselves were not up to the task. In their practical political endeavors Marx and Engels consistently argued against the notion that the workers should attempt to seize power by a coup and establish a dictatorship; there must instead be a transitional period of bourgeois rule accompanied by parliamentary politics and political and civil liberties. ¹⁵¹ In its battles with aristocracy and foreign capitalists, the bourgeoisie "sees itself compelled to appeal to the proletariat . . . and thus to drag it into the political arena":

The bourgeoisie itself, therefore, supplies the proletariat with its own elements of political and general education; in other words, it furnishes the proletariat with weapons for fighting the bourgeoisie. 152

Although revolution is a political act, the cohesion necessary to its successful outcome is importantly prepared by the capitalist's organization of the economy. The

expansive, world-encompassing power of capital "posits the *concentration* of the workers in production, a unification which will occur initially only in a common location, under overseers, *regimentation*, *greater discipline*, *regularity and the* POSITED *dependence in production itself on capital.*" Capital thus appears "as the collective force of the workers, their social force, as well as that which ties them together, and hence as the unity which creates this force." By divesting work and the worker of skill and individuality, capital shapes the workers into a "mass:"

The principle of developed capital is precisely to make special skill superfluous, and to make manual work, directly physical labor, generally superfluous, both as skill and muscular exertion; to transfer skill, rather, into the dead forces of nature. ¹⁵³

XIV. CAPITAL: CONTRADICTION AND CRISIS

... it is not a question of the higher or lower degree of development of the social antagonisms that spring from the natural laws of capitalist production. It is a question of these laws themselves, of these tendencies winning their way through and working themselves out with iron necessity.

-Marx¹⁵⁴

The factory system's tremendous capacity for expanding with sudden immense leaps, and its dependence on the world market, necessarily give rise to the following cycle: feverish production, a consequent glut on the market, then a contraction of the market, which causes production to be crippled.

-Marx155

The basic ambivalence that pervades Marx's account is between his formal economic analyses and his various political writings. The former described how the internal "contradictions" of capitalism propel it towards self-destruction seemingly without significant revolutionary intervention, while the latter taught that the organized power of the revolutionary movement of workers would overthrow the ebbing power of the capitalist ruling class. The "natural law" by which the capitalist was continually driven to expand by "constant revolutions in the methods of production" would eventually prove "ever more uncontrollable." The system would become rife with "contradictions."

Marx remarked that a "shrewd spirit" was at work in contradictions. 157 Sometimes he equated contradictions with problems inherent in capital's processes, as when competition drove down profit margins and eliminated capitalists. Other times he described a contradiction between overproduction and underconsumption: the capitalist in his unending quest for surplus value was driven to introduce technologies that increased production; these technologies, at the same time, cre-

ated unemployment that, in turn, reduced consumption and promoted a surplus population.¹⁵⁸ An "industrial reserve army" of the unemployed gathered that depressed wages further. A contradiction could also assume a norm external to capital, as when Marx contrasted the "socialized" character of production under capitalism with the "private" character of appropriation through ownership of the means of production. Perhaps the contradiction that best summarized both the indictment of capitalism and the cause of its downfall was that between its extraordinary potential for ending scarcity and the actuality of widespread misery, want, and ignorance.

The "crises" encountered periodically by capital result from economic "barriers" that it created—but are only marginally affected by political opposition. In the past capital has managed to surmount its self-created limits but at the cost of sowing the seeds of new ones. Capitalism, Marx believed, had entered a new phase characterized by fierce competition leading to the concentration of capital in fewer hands. Society was being polarized into a small class of owners and an increasingly desperate majority: "accumulation of misery" at one pole, "accumulation of wealth" at the other. 159 These contradictions would breed "explosions, crises" as capital "violently" cuts back, seeking to ease the crisis. "Yet these regularly recurring catastrophes lead to their repetition on a higher scale, and finally to its violent overthrow."160 Marx insisted, however, that the process by which scattered individual private property was transformed into "capitalist private property" was "incomparably more protracted, violent, and difficult, than the transformation of capitalistic private property, already practically resting on socialized production, into socialized property." ¹⁶¹ By the time the revolution occurs, capitalism will have virtually self-destructed:

This expropriation [by the victorious workers] is accomplished through the action of the immanent laws of capitalist production itself, through the centralization of capitals. One capitalist always strikes down many others . . . [O]ther developments take place on an ever-increasing scale, such as the growth of the cooperative form of the labor process, the conscious technical application of science, the planned exploitation of the soil, the transformation of the means of labor in which they can only be used in common, the economizing of all means of production by their use as the means of production of combined, socialized labor, the entanglement of all peoples in the net of the world market, and, with this, the growth of the international character of the capitalist regime. [Along with this] the mass of misery, oppression, slavery, degradation and exploitation grows; but with this there also grows the revolt of the working class, a class constantly increasing in numbers, and trained, united and organized by the very mechanism of the capitalist process of production. ¹⁶²

Clearly, the main actors before and after the revolution are not workers but the forces of production. As the basic, most valued form of power, production manifested a rationality of arrangements such that once the revolutionaries had consolidated their power, production could be managed by administration rather than politics. ". . . [B]ook-keeping . . . becomes more essential than ever." ¹⁶³ Instead of monarchs and parliaments the symbol of collective identity would be managers. Management, Marx declared, is "independent of capital" and will survive as super/vision. It will oversee "the combination and cooperation of many to a common result." The old "antithetical character of the supervisory work disappears" because "the manager is paid by the laborer instead of representing capital in opposition to them." ¹⁶⁴

XV. Inheriting the Power-System of Capital

Despite capitalism's merciless exploitation, the level of economic development achieved by capitalism was the absolutely essential precondition for the elimination of want and the all-sided development of the individual. 165 "... [W]ithout it want is merely made general, and with destitution the struggle for necessities and all the old filthy business would necessarily be reproduced ... "166 Accordingly, Marx never tired of insisting that the proletarian revolutionaries should not destroy the power-system of capitalism—the system that, for generations, had mangled their lives—but make themselves worthy of inheriting it. Despite the intervening revolution crucial continuities between the new society and capitalism had to be preserved. The capitalist system of power was separable from its "misuse." 167 The new society would build upon the most advanced stage of production achieved by capitalism and project it into the future. "The universal development of the forces of production," which Marx believed "distinguishes [capital] from all previous stages of production[,] . . . becomes the presupposition of a new mode of production . . . where the free, unobstructed progressive and universal development of the forces of production is itself the presupposition of society." The new individualism, the individual with expanded faculties, new needs, the possibilities of greater leisure time, and capacity for gratification have all been anticipated and are due to "the great civilizing influence of capital": the "only presupposition" of the new society is its pledge to continue to "advance beyond the point of departure." 168 Work will become "attractive" but it will not be "mere fun." "Really free working" is "precisely the most damned seriousness, the most intense exertion." This is achieved when "it is of a scientific and . . . general character . . . not in a merely spontaneous natural form but as an activity egulating all of the forces of nature."169

... the discovery, creation and satisfaction of new needs ... the cultivation of all of the qualities of the social human being, production of the same in a form as rich as possible in needs, because rich in qualities and relations—the production of this

being as the most total and universal possible social product, for in order to take gratification in a many-sided way he must be capable of many pleasures, hence cultured to a high degree—is likewise a condition of production founded on capital.¹⁷⁰

The productive possibilities revealed by capital meant that the bases for a classless society were latent and did not have to be constructed *de novo* by the triumphant proletariat.

... If we did not find concealed in society as it is the material conditions of production and the corresponding relations of exchange prerequisite for a classless society, then all attempts to explode it would be quixotic. ¹⁷¹

XVI. THE STATUS OF POLITICS

A political economy without politics smoothes the way for the realization of totality: the "universal" appropriation of "a totality of instruments of production" accompanied by "the development of a totality of capacities in individuals themselves." 172 Accordingly the continuing emphasis throughout Marx's writings on how the end of exploitation will allow for the development of a new individualism—"universal," many-sided, exploratory—is the inverse of the disappearance of politics. The depoliticizing effects of the new individualism become significant when it is recalled that the new society would be remarkable for the absence of two elements that had been the life-blood of critical opposition: the proletariat and philosophy. In Marx's account both prove to be self-immolating. "When the proletariat is victorious," Marx had written early on, ". . . it is victorious only by abolishing itself and its opposite," private property. 173 The proletariat disappears, not merely because classlessness has succeeded class society and the means of production are owned by everyone, but because labor in its traditional forms is rendered obsolete. Under the mechanization process pioneered by capitalism, the worker "steps to the side of the production process instead of being its chief actor."174

Similarly, "philosophy cannot be actualized without the abolition of the proletariat; the proletariat cannot be abolished without the actualization of philosophy." Both are reconstituted by the processes of science and technology. Freed by mechanization, the worker will have "disposable labor time" in which to develop and discover his potentialities. The theorist, hitherto the symbol of critical thought, is supplanted by a new collective power, "the general powers of the human head." It will assume the generality of scope traditionally associated with the political. The new intellect is identified with applied science. The "intellect" has become "social" and dedicated to "the conquest of nature." Once again the way had been prepared under capitalism where "general social knowledge has become *a direct force of production*" and "the conditions of the process of social life have come under the control of the general intellect and been transformed in accordance with it." 176

As the new society takes hold, then, depoliticizing tendencies appear stronger: class consciousness has disappeared along with the proletariat and critical theory; the cult of individualism is pursued as never before. As developments in the late twentieth century would show, all of these are consistent with the perpetuation of capitalism, which, in harnessing productivity to ceaseless technological innovation and organized science, hit upon a potentially self-renewing system—as Marx came close to admitting:

Like the increased exploitation of natural wealth resulting from the simple act of increasing the pressure under which labor-power has to operate, science and technology give capital a power of expansion which is independent of the given magnitude of the capital actually functioning. They react at the same time on that part of the original capital which has entered the stage of its renewal. This, in passing into its new shape, incorporates free of charge the social advances made while its old shape was being used up. 177

Under the "political economy of the working class" the forms of power constituted by science and technology and administered as production appear to be systems emptied of politics and of traditional actors. Economy ceases to be roiled by the politics of class conflict. It becomes instead the domain of the objective. It will be a society claiming to cherish commonality—"cooperation and possession in common of the land and of the means of production" but commonality as never before experienced, for it is to be attained undialectically, without the play of conflicting forces.

XVII. THE QUESTION OF DICTATORSHIP

Throughout a lifetime of political involvements Marx had taken a cautious view of the political readiness of the working class, repeatedly emphasizing that before becoming capable of assuming the responsibilities of power, the workers had to undergo a lengthy apprenticeship. Like the maturing of capitalism, political maturation had to precede the exercise of power. In 1850 he attacked those who had argued that the workers should seize power when the opportunity arose; Marx accused them of substituting a "national standpoint" for "the universal outlook of the *Manifesto*" and of viewing revolution opportunistically, as "an effort of *will*" rather than "the product of realities of the situation."

Whereas we say to the workers: You have 15, 20, 50 years of civil war to go through in order to alter the situation and train yourselves for the exercise of power, it is said: We must take power at once . . . I have always defied the momentary opinions of the proletariat. If the proletariat were to come to power the measures it would introduce would be petty-bourgeois and not directly proletarian. ¹⁷⁹

By "realities of the situation" Marx meant that before the workers could "take power," capitalism had to achieve its mature form, and, correspondingly, that society's class structure had to become simplified into two opposing classes. But what did it mean "to take power"—to seize it by revolutionary violence? or to "take it" legally and peaceably and then to institute "revolutionary" measures while trusting that resistance would be minimal?

In the *Manifesto of the Communist Party* Marx and Engels had remarked ambiguously that "the first step in the revolution" would be "to raise the proletariat to the position of the ruling class, to win the battle of democracy." While that formula could be read as suggesting either that the proletariat would gain power by democratic means, i.e., elections and parliamentary majorities, or, alternatively, that democracy meant simply the workers, the vast majority of society, seizing power by revolutionary means. Without invoking the phrase "dictatorship of the proletariat," the *Manifesto* implied it when describing how the proletariat would use "its political supremacy" and employ "despotic means"

to wrest, by degrees, all capital from the bourgeoisie, to centralize all instruments of production in the hands of the State, i.e., of the proletariat organized as the ruling class; and to increase the total of productive forces as rapidly as possible.¹⁸⁰

"Development" would mean the disappearance of class distinctions and the concentration of "all production . . . in the hands of a vast association of the whole nation." Since "political power . . . is merely the organized power of one class for oppressing another," the abolition of classes meant that "the public power will lose its political character." ¹⁸¹

Was "public power" without a "political character" the definition of a dictatorship—a political without politics—and was dictatorial rule to be administrative in character? While economic systems evolved out of previous systems and built on them, would postrevolutionary political forms undergo comparable stages of development? Did dictatorship interrupt a previous system or evolve from it? and in what sense could dictatorship represent a progressive "development"?

Before 1848 Britain and France were both constitutional monarchies combined with a parliamentary system and a restricted suffrage that excluded the working classes. The revolutions of 1848 changed that picture in France but not in Britain. Until that moment the conviction had been widespread that a parliamentary system was the ideal goal of political development and that the question of voting requirements, like other contestable matters, was one that could be thrashed out in the course of normal political processes. Parliamentarism, in other words, represented a system receptive to steady self-improvement.

In France, however, events took some unexpected turns. Assumptions about parliamentary self-improvement were challenged, and the place of dictatorship in modern political evolution suddenly became a pressing question. At the same

time that the workers emerged as a force to be reckoned with and socialism emerged as a significant ideological movement, the peasantry along with the lower-middle-class shopkeepers entered the political scene, thus posing a theoretical complication for Marx. He had assumed that as society became more industrialized, it would polarize into two classes. The revolution of '48 ended the July Monarchy, enlarged the electorate, and established a presidential system based on popular election. The system did not stabilize at that point. In 1851, by means of a coup, the new president, Louis-Napoléon, succeeded in turning the presidency into a form of dictatorship supported by popular plebiscites and eventually had himself crowned emperor. Plebiscites legitimate power at the same time that they delegitimate elections.

Clearly these developments posed severe problems for a theory of revolution based on the assumption that parliamentary politics and its relatively free political life would provide the springboard for the revolutionary transformation of society. Plebiscitary dictatorship with its basis in mass support and electoral legitimacy jeopardized that assumption while raising the crucial question of whether the bourgeoisie had abandoned parliamentary politics in favor of a new method of rule, dictatorship.

Marx attempted to come to grips with these questions in a series of articles that were subsequently grouped under the titles Class Struggles in France (1850) and The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte (1852). In undertaking to analyze a revolutionary situation and its immediate aftermath, Marx was confronting a phenomenon that is typically confused, fluid, and polyvalent. His response was deeply colored by Hegelianisms as he sought to depict the various senses in which revolutionary prospects, despite their ostensible defeat, had become clarified by the sharpening division of society into workers and their allies versus the ruling class of capitalists. The classical Hegelian confrontation between thesis and antithesis supplied a dynamic model, but the difficulty for Marx was that both thesis and antithesis were muddled. The capitalist class was divided between a "finance aristocracy" and a bourgeois "industrial" class, the one retrograde and the other ascendant. The workers had their own identity problems, not least with the lower middle class of shopkeepers, small businessmen, and peasants—all elements with wavering political allegiances and a fervent commitment to small private property. And not least, the phenomenon of a *lumpen* proletariat, a dangerous "mass strictly differentiated from the industrial proletariat" by their shiftless qualities ("vagabonds") and criminal tendencies but now recruited into the Mobile Guards and used to crush the workers. 182 In Class Struggles he put a brave front on the defeat of the workers' movement by asserting that it was not the revolution that had been defeated. Instead the movement had been purged of its "pre-revolutionary appendages" (i.e., the rival forms of socialism). The workers, despite their bloody defeat of June 1848, had emerged as the dominant revolutionary force.

The French workers could not take a step forward, could not touch a hair of the bourgeois order before the course of the revolution had forced the mass of the nation, peasants and petty bourgeois, standing between the proletariat and the bourgeoisie to revolt against this order, against the rule of capital, to attach itself to the proletariat as its vanguard. The workers could only buy this victory through the huge defeat of June. 183

Because "the development of the industrial proletariat is, in general, conditioned by the development of the industrial bourgeoisie," ¹⁸⁴ the workers, Marx insisted, though in fact defeated, were strengthened—as if that triumph depended upon a tidied-up thesis facing a tidying antithesis. Workers had provoked a "united counter-revolution," "an opponent by fighting whom the party of revolt first ripened into a real revolutionary party." The workers' opponent was now the real bourgeoisie, no longer dominated by the "finance aristocracy" (a "*lumpen* proletariat at the top of bourgeois society"), but by the industrial bourgeoisie. ¹⁸⁵ The pressure exerted by the proletariat provoked the establishment of a republic, but the "first" business of the republic was "to complete the rule of the bourgeoisie" by bringing "*all the propertied classes*" into "the circle of political power." ¹⁸⁶

The consolidation of class antagonisms was accompanied by two political developments offering hope that a showdown was impending and requiring Marx to clarify his own notions of political rule. The bourgeoisie's response to revolution revealed that the class could abandon the ideal of parliamentary rule in favor of despotism. The June uprising of the workers had disenchanted the bourgeoisie into supporting a "pure form" of dictatorship made possible by the new constitution and its provision for an enlarged electorate. In the election that followed after Louis-Napoléon became president, the manipulation of the electoral process by him and his supporters had the effect of compromising universal suffrage in the eyes of those who had previously defended some version of it. So while Marx maintained that the broad support Bonaparte received from the peasantry was an "anachronism," his more important conclusion was that the workers would counter "the bourgeois dictatorship," not by restoring parliamentary politics or siding with "social democracy," but by openly embracing their own version of dictatorship.

The significance of that development for Marx can be interpreted in light of the famous second paragraph of *The Eighteenth Brumaire:* "Men make their own history, but they do not make it just as they please; they do not make it under circumstances chosen by themselves, but under circumstances directly found, given and transmitted from the past." Read as political prognostication, this suggests that dictatorship had become the central political element in the "circumstances . . . transmitted from the past." When the bourgeoise crushed the worker revolt of June 1848, the establishment of the "bourgeois republic" "signifie[d] the unlimited

despotism of one class over other classes." The bourgeoisie had turned against its own liberal values in favor of a repressive regime: it denounced party politics as "socialistic"; the electoral law was cut back sharply, virtually eliminating the proletariat; and forms of popular political action were suppressed in the search for "tranquillity":

 \dots the bourgeoisie \dots confesses that its own interest dictates that it should be delivered from the danger of governing in its own name; that in order to restore tranquillity \dots its bourgeois parliament must \dots be given its quietus; that in order to preserve its social power inviolate, its political power must be broken \dots ¹⁸⁹

Accordingly, the "revolutionary socialism" that Marx claimed was emerging was, in effect, absolved from any commitment to parliamentarism and universal suffrage and thereby better positioned to institute the sweeping changes he contemplated. "This socialism is the *declaration* of the *permanence of the revolution*, the class dictatorship of the proletariat as the inevitable transit point to the *abolition of class differences generally*..." and of the production relations and their accompanying social relations, and to "the revolutionizing of all the ideas that result from these social connections." Political evolution could no more be reversed in a misconceived attempt to recover parliamentarism, and whatever democratic elements it contained, than economic evolution could return to a communal economy.

It is revealing of Marx's endorsement of centralized power that he interpreted Louis-Napoléon's Second Empire as marking the culmination of the modern state that had emerged from the contest between monarchy and its feudal opponents. Marx first seemed to excoriate that development, referring to it as "this executive power with its enormous bureaucratic and military organization, with its artificial state machinery . . . with a host of officials numbering half a million, besides an army of another half million, this appalling parasitic growth . . . "191 But a few pages later Marx commented that "the state centralization that modern society requires arises only on the ruins of the military-bureaucratic governmental machinery which was forged in opposition to feudalism." Then he added: "The demolition of the state machinery will not endanger centralization. Bureaucracy is only the low and brutal form of a centralization that is still afflicted with its opposite, with feudalism." What is striking about these last two sentences is that he deleted them from the 1869 edition of *Brumaire*. 193

This might suggest that Marx had a conception of state centralization as surviving "the demolition of the state machinery" and thus distinct from "bureaucracy," that "low and brutal form" of centralization. How was it possible to have a centralized state without bureaucratic machinery? If the proletariat were actually to seize power, what sort of state—a dictatorship determined to destroy the class system? and what sort of politics would it constitute—some democratic form of a political economy?

MARX 445

The questions pointed towards an emerging crisis in modern state power. Marx had come to denigrate the centralized state and its apparatus of control and regulation, yet he presupposed that once the triumphant proletariat set about consolidating the revolution, a coercive power would be required. Did state power in the service of classlessness represent administration somehow cleansed of bureaucracy?

XVIII. THE PARIS COMMUNE

Workingmen's Paris, with its Commune, will be forever celebrated as the glorious harbinger of a new society.

—Marx¹⁹⁴

If only the Commune had listened to my warnings!

—Marx¹⁹⁵

In March 1871, following the French surrender ending the Franco-Prussian War, the National Guard in Paris refused to hand over its arms to French authorities; in the face of a threat by the government to disarm the population by force, the Committee of the National Guard succeeded in getting the town halls to elect a municipal assembly. It took the name "Commune."

In addition to Parisian workers the Communards included bourgeoisie and petty bourgeoisie as well as a wide assortment of radicals: followers of Proudhon, of Blanqui, supporters of the International, intellectuals, and artists. Among the measures it approved were a moratorium on rents, abolition of night baking, steps towards free and compulsory public education separated from the influence of the Church, and the reorganization of production based on the association of producers, including women. ¹⁹⁶ The revolt lasted but a few months before it was crushed and thousands of its defenders executed or deported. Marx followed the events closely, and shortly after the fall of the Commune he responded with *The Civil War in France*.

Not surprisingly it proved to be one of his more enigmatic writings. The Commune was primarily a political phenomenon occurring in the immediate aftermath of a humiliating military defeat rather than amidst a crisis in capitalism; and, most strikingly, it favored decentralization of power and authority. Far from satisfying Marx's criterion that a proletarian revolution should be international in scope or his preference for a deracinated proletariat ("workers of the world unite!"), the Commune's ambitions were resolutely patriotic and parochial. Further, the remarkable ingenuity displayed by the Communards in devising methods of democratic self-government raised the question of whether Marx had underestimated the power of a politically inspired movement to effect radical change even when the number of industrial workers involved was small. In several fundamental

respects the Commune challenged, but did not alter, two of Marx's most basic convictions: that the fortunes of political revolution depended upon the presence of economic crisis; and that revolutionary action by the workers had to match the international power structure of capitalism with an international organization of their own. But the Commune did successfully prod him to clarify further the distinctively modern forms of power represented by the state, centralization, and administration. Above all, it forced him to confront the question of participatory democracy and whether it could be reconciled with the future requirements of a scientifically oriented and technologically advanced economy.

Not surprisingly Marx's response to the Commune, while supportive, was complex and ambivalent. The ambivalence was due to the work's divided character: part one contained a close analysis of the events surrounding the appearance of the Commune; a second part, while seeming to describe the practical accomplishments of the Communards, was a theoretical idealization of their actions, an attempt to push them in directions that Marx wanted to explore. The complexity arose from his attempting to reconcile the Commune's decentralizing tendencies with his own preference for centralization. By challenging modern power in both its political and its economic forms, the Commune offered a democratic political economy as a counter-example to Marx's political economy of the working class.

Marx enthusiastically welcomed the Commune as the political form that "breaks the modern State power." It was "the direct antithesis" of "State power soaring high above society" and of modern "centralized state power" with its huge bureaucratic structure and its class rule. The popular mass themselves had taken back state power and incorporated it into "their own living forces." Society had found "the political form" of its emancipation. In an early draft of *The Civil War* he declared that the fundamental point of the Commune "was a Revolution against the *State* itself . . . It was not a revolution to transfer [state power] from one fraction of the ruling class to the other but a Revolution to break down this horrid machinery of Class domination itself. The measures adopted by the Communards "could but betoken the tendency of a government of the people by the people."

The lesson Marx drew was that revolutionary workers could not simply take over the existing state; they had to devise a new form that would shatter the class basis of the state and its hierarchical structure of bureaucratic, parliamentary, and military functionaries.

The Paris Commune was . . . to serve as a model to all the great industrial centers of France. The communal regime once established in Paris and the secondary centers, the old centralized government would in the provinces, too, have to give way to the self-government of the producers . . . [T]he Commune was to be the political form

MARX 447

of even the smallest country hamlet, and . . . in the rural districts the standing army was to be replaced by a national militia, with an extremely short term of service. The rural communes of every district were to administer their common affairs by an assembly of delegates in the central town, and these district assemblies were again to send deputies to the National Delegation in Paris, each delegate at any time revocable and bound by the *mandat imperatif* (formal instructions) of his constituents.²⁰³

Marx found other democratic lessons to applaud: "plain working men" had dared to challenge the principle that only their social superiors were qualified to discharge public responsibilities. "... [U]nder circumstances of unexampled difficulty [they] performed their work modestly, conscientiously, and efficiently." ²⁰⁴ In singling out the decentralizing and democratizing reforms of the Commune, Marx seemed to entertain the possibility that the course of political institutions might defy the evolutionary path of economic power towards bigness and concentration and of political power towards dictatorship. Political power could be "broken down," rendered intelligible to, and manageable by, ordinary beings. Moreover, the Commune's democratization of governmental functions seemed to offer a way out of the conundrum Marx had created in damning bureaucracy while preserving administration.

However, Marx had not abandoned his convictions concerning the value of centralized power. He was aware that in France the idea of a "commune" evoked old historical memories of political decentralization, self-government, and localized politics whose participatory character was qualified by deference to class distinctions. However, the strong decentralizing tendency of the Commune pointed towards a different political economy from the one envisaged by Marx. Earlier he had been as unwavering in his support of political centralization as he had been of the concentration of capital:

The workers . . . must . . . strive within this [future German] republic for the most determined centralization of power in the hands of the state authority. They must not allow themselves to be misguided by the democratic talk of freedom for the communities . . . As in France in 1789 so today in Germany it is the task of the really revolutionary party to carry through the strictest centralization.²⁰⁵

While seeming to welcome the Commune's decentralized political structure, Marx resisted its implications. The antagonism of the Commune against the state power, he insisted, has been mistaken for an exaggerated form of the ancient struggle against over-centralization. While praising these really democratic institutions, Marx warned that an exaggerated emphasis upon decentralization must be avoided. In break[ing] the modern State power the new Commune should not be mistaken for a reproduction of the mediaeval Communes or federation of small States. The few but important functions

must remain with a "central government," although Marx left these unspecified. The crucial point was to preserve "that unity of great nations which, if originally brought about by political force, has now become a powerful coefficient of social production." The profoundly political elements in mediaeval life he had once singled out in his critique of Hegel—those social differences that could nonetheless combine politically to form a complex "democracy of unfreedom"—all belonged to a past that no longer mattered. 208

Not wishing to lose sight of the primacy of economic objectives, Marx depicted the Commune as having equipped itself with a strong governance mechanism capable of eliminating the old economic arrangements and instituting economic planning. Towards that end he toned down the deliberative character of the Commune in order to stress its stronger elements of policy-making and execution that had been made possible when the idea of limiting power by the separation of powers was rejected in favor of a combination of "executive and legislative at the same time." "The Commune was to be a working, not a parliamentary body . . . a lever for uprooting the economical foundations upon which rests the existence of classes." ²⁰⁹

Although Marx did not use the phrase "dictatorship of the proletariat" to describe the Commune's form of governance, it is apparent that he wanted to present it as an example of a positive agent of change. Accordingly he attributes to it aims that were more in accordance with the ideals of the *Manifesto* than with the actuality of the Commune. The Commune, he claimed (wrongly), "intended" to expropriate "the means of production, land and capital" and replace capitalism with "united cooperative societies . . . [and] regulate national production upon a common plan."²¹⁰ The "true secret" of the Commune, Marx confided, was the discovery of the political form by which to "work out the economic emancipation of labor." And "with labor emancipated every man becomes a working man . . ."²¹¹

These attempts to shade the meaning of the Commune, to demote its participatory aspects and provide it with a coercive character, meant that the Commune was exactly what he termed it, a "political form" in a derogatory sense and, as such, disposable. The Commune could not represent the form of society required in order to operate and minister to a postcapitalist economy that transcended the democratic and the political.

XIX. ANTICIPATING THE END OF POLITICS

What was most striking about Marx's analysis of the Paris Commune was its glossing over the fact that the composition of the Commune was far from being that of a single class, much less that workers were the dominant element. Its diverse composition meant that the Commune was not merely a structure of governance but a way of doing politics, of coming to decisions in a context in which differences

MARX 449

were accepted as normal and the line determining who was excluded was set, not by decree, but by individual choice and commitment. That Marx ignored the politics of the Commune was fully consistent with a viewpoint in which politics had no place once the path towards dictatorship was cleared. Prior to that moment Marx assigned to politics a crucial role but one quite different from the liberal or parliamentary conception, which presupposed the presence of opposition groups as not only legitimate and legitimating but fundamental to insuring freedom.

Marx's conception of politics can be described as the forerunner to a politics viewed as a form of warfare between irreconcilable enemies. He insisted that a showdown was inevitable because under capitalism class antagonisms had become "simplified." Society "is splitting up more and more into two great hostile camps, into two great classes directly facing each other: Bourgeoisie and Proletariat." 213

Collisions proceeding from the very conditions of bourgeois society must be fought out to the end, they cannot be conjured out of existence. The best form of state is that in which the social contradictions are not blurred, not arbitrarily—that is merely artificially, and therefore only seemingly—kept down. The best form of state is that in which these contradictions reach a stage of open struggle in the course of which they are resolved.²¹⁴

From Marx's standpoint clearly the "best form" for exposing "contradictions" would be a liberal parliamentary system where criticism would be protected. Equally important, the participation of workers' parties in parliamentary politics, which Marx mostly favored, was understood by him not as a way of opposing the government in order to draw attention to an alternative, but as the means of revolutionizing politics. Revolutionized politics was to be distinguished from the politics of the barricades or mass protest. It was "normal" politics in a tenser mode: as the means of destroying the system by sharpening contradictions, rendering compromise difficult, and with the "ultimate object . . . the conquest of political power for [the working] class." Marx described this form of politics as "a political movement." "... [E] very movement in which the working class comes out as a class against the ruling classes and tries to coerce them by pressure from without is a political movement."215 An "economic movement" was one in which the action of the workers was restricted to a particular factory or trade. In contrast, a political movement, such as an attempt to enact a national law for a shorter working day, unites the "separate economic movements of the workers." It is political because it represents the "movement of the class with the object of enforcing its interests in a general form, in a form possessing general, socially coercive force." To develop the organization necessary for promoting the politics of movement, the workers must be "trained . . . by continual agitation" against "the political power of the ruling class" and "by a hostile attitude toward the policies of the ruling classes."216

The politics of movement formed the natural preliminary to the dictatorship of the proletariat. It encouraged a politics aimed at rendering its adversaries powerless by "enforcing" exclusively the interests of one class for the ultimate objective of progressively eliminating those of another. Once classes have been eradicated, the idea of distinct "interests" loses its point and gives way to equality.

XX. Defending a Post-politics

... there will be no more political power properly so-called, since political power is precisely the official expression of antagonism in civil society ... the antagonism between the proletariat and the bourgeoisie is ... a struggle which carried to its highest expression is a total revolution.

—Marx²¹⁷

We think that people can be free and happy when organized from the bottom up in completely free and independent associations, without governmental paternalism though not without the influence of a variety of free individuals and parties.

-Mikhail Bakunin²¹⁸

Judged by two of Marx's later commentaries, one on Bakunin (1874) and the other on the Gotha Program (1875), there was a hardening emphasis upon dictatorship, upon the importance of an international organization of workers, and upon centralization.²¹⁹ Bakunin's attack on Marx was that of a thoroughgoing anarchist, and in responding Marx was forced into defending the coercive character of proletarian rule. The crucial question for Bakunin—and one that in retrospect would become even more pertinent—was whether, in practice, the dictatorship of the proletariat would turn out to be a dictatorship over the proletariat. To prevent that, Bakunin argued, there must be strong provision for popular elections. Bakunin pressed the point: unless it could be specified how the proletariat would be constituted as a ruling class, a dictatorship of the proletariat could mean rule by an educated "privileged minority." 220 Marx admitted that until the proletariat succeeded in eliminating the class structure of society, it would have to "employ forcible means." Once classes were eliminated, "there [would be] no state in the present political sense." To the question of what form of rule would replace the state "in the present political sense," Marx first dismissed as "democratic twaddle" and "political drivel" the claims for electoral accountability and insisted that elections depend upon "the economic foundation [and] the economic situation of the voters." Then, revealingly, he described the new context for elections once classes were abolished and "no government function" in the old sense existed: "the distribution of the general functions has become a business matter that gives no one domination" and "election has nothing MARX 451

of its present political character."²²¹ Marx went on to emphasize further the "business" character of the new arrangements. He flatly denied Bakunin's caveat that once the worker assumed administrative functions, his new position of power and authority ould cause him to abandon his working-class outlook for the one natural to authority and power, that he "will look down on the common workers' world from the height of the state."²²² Marx's retort underscored his "business" approach:

If Mr Bakunin only knew something about the position of a manager in a workers' cooperative factory, all his dreams of domination would go to the devil. He should have asked himself what form the administrative function can take on the basis of this workers' state, if he wants to call it that.²²³

Marx's *Critique of the Gotha Program,* if anything, reinforced the "business" emphasis, by stressing that even after the proletariat has seized power, the new era will importantly be defined by "bourgeois right," that is, by the official enforcement of inequality. Dismissing the claims of equal "right" and worries over unequal distribution, Marx argued that different talents justify differences in rewards: "the individual producer gets back from society [minus costs of administration, education, health services, and support for the disabled] exactly what he has given it." The deviations from equality will be redeemed when "the first phase of communist society" evolves into a "higher phase." Then the "subordination" necessarily accompanying the division of labor will be superseded. The antithesis between mental and physical labor (which Bakunin had warned of) will be abolished, and the growth of production will allow for the development of the manysided individual and for society to inscribe on its banner "from each according to his ability, to each according to his needs." 224

Previously we have called attention to Marx's repeated claim that the elements of a socialist economy and society were being prepared by the advanced capitalist economies; and we have added that his conception of a dictatorship of the proletariat was the counterpart to the political form that had also been anticipated in the despotism of Louis Bonaparte. It appears, however, that more than the capitalist development of production or its union of science and technology was to be carried over. The policy of unequal economic rewards, although intended as temporary, clearly had wider cultural implications that recalled Bakunin's prediction of an educated elite arising within the system. Similarly, the view of the importance—and authority—of management and administration reinforced the convergence between Marx's ideas and those of capitalism. Recall, too, his animus against the state and bureaucracy (capitalists inveigh against bureaucracy but typically are silent about corporate bureaucracies), his impatience with democratic elections, and the similarities become even more striking—not because Marx was a closet capitalist but because in the course of the next century capitalism came

to recognize the need to check some of its own tendencies. Like Marx it could learn from the enemy.

In this, as in much else, Marx was his own most acute analyst. In 1867, half in irony, he proposed some guidelines to serve as a model for future reviewers of *Capital*. His work, he suggested, embodied two divergent lines of thought. His treatment of economic relations represented a "fundamental enrichment of science" comparable to Darwin's achievement. But it also offered "the tendentious conclusions" of an author who "imagines or presents the end result of the present movement" of history when it has no demonstrated connection "with his [theoretical] development of the economic relations proper." As one of Marx's more sympathetic interpreters concluded, "If one were to take the trouble, one could perhaps show that his 'objective' analysis refutes his own 'subjective' fantasies." ²²⁵

XXI. Underestimating the Capitalist

Capitalist production constantly strives to overcome these immanent barriers, but it overcomes them only by means that set up the barriers afresh and on a more powerful scale.

The true barrier to capitalist production is capital itself.

—Mary²²

The last form of servitude assumed by human activity, that of wage labor on one side, capital on the other, is thereby cast off like a skin, and this casting-off itself is the result of the mode of production corresponding to capital . . .

---Marx²²⁷

No stranger to single-mindedness, Marx was prone to exaggerate the single-mindedness of the capitalist as one "determined exclusively by his own self-interest and the resulting motives . . . "228 In Marx's group portrait capitalists appeared so fixated upon self-interest as to be incapable of appreciating that in times of crisis crude self-interest must be modulated to "self-interest rightly understood" (Tocqueville). Yet, as might have been suggested by Marx's own admiration for the suppleness with which capitalists adopted new technologies and changed their methods of production, capitalists were capable of flexibility and imaginativeness. Uncollapsed capitalism would devise the means of curbing patently self-destructive behavior, thus demonstrating that it could be astute, self-conscious, science-oriented, politically opportunistic, and, despite its cut-throat competitiveness, mindful of the occasional need for closing ranks and appearing less conspicuous. Equally important, while Marx recognized that the power of capital extended to ideology, he failed to appreciate how capital would learn how to foster and manipulate "illusions" without necessarily becoming entrapped in them.

MARX 453

Ideology, instead of being an unconscious reflex to power, could be exploited "objectively," even to tolerating its "critical critics." Once corporate power succeeded in rationalizing the mass media, ideology could be shaped to short-circuit class conflicts and prevent them from being translated into politics. As though in parody of Marx, capitalism could be realized by virtually abolishing the proletariat, while the capitalist was not about to be abolished by critical philosophy.

CHAPTER THIRTEEN

•••

Nietzsche: Pretotalitarian, Postmodern

I. From Economy to Culture

They have something of which they are proud. What is it called that makes them proud? They call it culture . . .

-Friedrich Nietzsche¹

Marx and the classical economists were agreed that the economy provided the substance of the political, of the common good and the well-being of citizens; that in a properly constituted society enjoying a broad consensus on social, economic, and political fundamentals, politics as the contestation for power would be reduced to a minor role; and that the principal activity of the state, or what remained of it beyond warfare and law enforcement, would be administrative. These confluent tendencies had a shared origin in revolution: in the revolutionary character of capitalist production and the French revolution—both of which Marx appropriated. The "realization of revolution," either in a communist utopia or in the piecemeal, cumulative policy of liberal governments, suggested that the tensions between theory and practice were relaxing as practice appeared increasingly attuned to theory's visions.²

When a challenge emerged to the primacy of economy, it brought not only a new focus but a different locus where theory could stake out a domain distinct from the determinisms of powerful economies and discover new potentialities in modern power. This new site can broadly be described as "culture"; its contests "the politics of the superstructure"; its modes of action critical rather than revolutionary; and its chief protagonist the learned academic intellectual.

There is something surprising about the emergence of a cultural domain rivaling the domains of economy, liberal politics, and state administration and challenging the modern idea of revolution as a popular movement. Ever since Montesquieu, Hume, and Burke, culture has tended to be the preserve of conservative theorists who identified it with national habits, customs, prejudices, and religious traditions. The conservative conception reflected, and presupposed, the slower pace of change of settled and largely agrarian societies where literacy and political participation were narrowly restricted. Traditional culture, when en-

grained among the lower classes, was supposed to serve as a counter-revolutionary force for social stability and control. It signified unthinking or uncritical acceptance of social norms, a means for dampening mass enthusiasms, as much a means of repressing power as of exerting it.

A powerful sign of impending changes in the significance of culture was Alexis de Tocqueville's *Democracy in America* (1835, 1840). He wrote of encountering in the United States a vibrant, changing society where popular sovereignty was a fact rather than a fiction, where common people were uncommonly literate, and where culture was overwhelmingly popular yet conservative in character. The contents of democratic culture, as described by Tocqueville, were qualitatively different from the unreflective prejudices favored by Burke. Democracy was developing its own versions of literature, philosophy, and even science, thus challenging the divide between "high" and "low" culture. The phenomenon of a democratic culture was encouraged by the outpouring of newspapers, pamphlets, and books—testimony to the democratizing role of technology in the production and dissemination of culture.³

What was at stake in that shift from economy to culture? Was it the continuing decomposition of the political or the hopeful sign of a new politics, immaterial and unencumbered by political illusion, and prepared to contest the hegemony of economy? And what form, other than protector of the established order, might a political theory of culture take?

Although the nineteenth century produced several distinguished contributors to the topic of culture—Tocqueville, Jacob Burkhardt, and Ernst Renan, among others—Friedrich Nietzsche stands above them all, not only for the range and brilliance of his writings but for the powerful salience his ideas would have for the twentieth century and beyond. Nietzsche might be said to have composed both the critical epitaph for the culture of modernity, with its faith in political and economic revolution, and the anticipative epigraph for postmodernity, with its hopes for cultural revolution.

Nietzsche also has a claim on our attention as an instructive contrast to Marx, one that points to the complex character of the thought-patterns that illuminated and darkened the twentieth century. Nietzsche shared Marx's disdain for capitalists and his talent for anti-Semitic asides and, along with Marx, was awarded the dubious distinction of being blamed for the century's worst tyrannies. Nonetheless it is the contrasts that matter.

Marx provides a critical standard by which to measure how far later theorists have wandered from a concern for commonalities and especially for the material and cultural deprivations of the vast majority of humankind. Nietzsche, in contrast, details the beliefs and celebrates both the higher and lower sensibilities that could relieve theory of those burdens: "The strongest and most evil spirits," he proclaimed, "have so far done the most to advance humanity." While Marx

exposed the destructive element in modern power, he also sought to redeem its promise. Nietzsche chose to ignore productive power and technology, and concentrated instead upon "nihilism," the destructive power of intellectual disillusionment that enabled a few to see through the constructions fabricated by culture and to expose its "most amazing economy of the preservation of the species" and the "high prices" it exacted from the Few. 5 Although each was a master of the kind of critical theorizing that exposes the assumptions and attacks the conclusions of the dominant orthodoxies of their day, for Marx criticism was only the preliminary to the reconstruction of theory and the construction of a just society. What mattered for Nietzsche was critical activity itself, even to the point of defending the anti-theoretical. Nietzschean theory has no destiny, no resting point, no conception of a just society. Where Marx imagines and fights for a world in which critical theory would ultimately have no raison d'être, Nietzsche presents a world that continuously reproduces the conditions on which critical theory could endlessly feed. He conceived of intellect as a mode of continuous provocation. Nietzsche was unique in the history of Western political theory in placing destruction and the cultivation of its arts or, better, its crafts at the center of a new conception of intellectual action.

II. "Some are born posthumously"

In contrast to those historians of ideas who insist on placing thinkers in "the context of their times," Nietzsche's context emerged after his death as though to confirm his striking claim that "some are born posthumously." Unlike the fringe reputation of the pre-World War II Nietzsche, the post-war Nietzsche occupies iconic status. During his own era (1844-1900) and before World War I, Nietzsche was much admired by German writers and poets, and he was taken up again by French intellectuals prior to World War II.7 Among American intellectuals he was more of a rumor than a major intellectual force, an underground reputation that persisted until the mid-twentieth century. Thereafter he has become the uncrowned sovereign theorist in the unacknowledged canon of postmodernists. Postmodernism, deconstruction, and neo-pragmatism are all scarcely analyzable without reference to the profound influence of Nietzsche, either directly through his writings or mediated by highly influential thinkers such as Heidegger, Arendt, and Foucault.8 Not only has he become a cachet in postmodern thinking, but unlike Marx, Nietzsche is by no means the exclusive property of a particular ideological tendency. He was admired by radical thinkers such as Foucault, Deleuze, and Lyotard, yet he was also an influence upon the unclassifiable Hannah Arendt as well as self-styled "bourgeois liberals" such as Richard Rorty, and, moving further to the right, Leo Strauss and his followers. 9 Astonishingly, and in sharp contrast to Marx, Nietzsche has become a unifying figure.

The virtual unanimity surrounding Nietzsche's standing might express a postmodern temper, or it might stand for an unresolved political trauma.

III. THE NEW NIETZSCHE

To admit that fascism was anything other than a simple aberration, an accident, an outburst of collective folly, or a phenomenon that could be explained simply by the economic crisis, to observe that in nearly all the European countries there existed homespun fascist movements . . . to concede that the armed bands . . . were backed by a body of doctrine no less logically defensible than that of democratic or liberal parties, and to recognize, finally, that the ideas put forward did not belong only to the rejects of society . . . would [call for] the revision of a whole scale of values, a whole chain of reasonings.

—Zeev Sternhell¹⁰

How to explain the vogue of Nietzscheolatry in the late twentieth-century United States—Nietzsche, in whose thinking aspects of the century's darkest side are clearly visible, from racial purity to the subordination of women, from the praise of instinct to the denunciation of democracy, from demands for cruelty and extermination to the celebration of suffering?

A simple answer is that his defenders have succeeded in promoting a "new Nietzsche" (to cite a book title), which might be taken as an admission that an older, less presentable Nietzsche had to be suppressed-along with the political experience of Nazism.

How does intellectual suppression work? What is going on when a commentator passes over in silence a politically repugnant or repulsive tendency in an author, say Bataille's fascist phase, or the following from Heidegger?

Because hate lurks much more deeply in the origins of our being it has a cohesive power; like love hate brings an original cohesion and perdurance to our original being . . . But the permanent cohesion that comes to human existence through hate does not close it off and blind it but grants vision and premeditation . . . [R]eaching out occurs even in hate, since the hated one is pursued everywhere relentlessly.¹¹

The act of suppression by silence may be interpreted in several ways. The "user" may not find the tendency repellent; or, alternatively, she may find other elements in the same writer to be so precious as to justify hurrying past the objectionable elements—for example, the authoritarian elements in the early Thomas Mann or the pro-fascist articles written by the young Paul de Man. Finally, she may appropriate an element that is a "carrier" of the suppressed elements—as in Hannah Arendt's elitist conception of great action as being incomplete unless

accompanied by great speech, a formulation that she borrowed from a passage in which Nietzsche attacked "the age of the masses." ¹²

What is involved here is a question not of forbidden fruit but of ideas that seem related to events whose repugnant character most everyone agrees upon. In that case suppression serves to exterminate the repugnant. A reader might happen upon a passage in Nietzsche asserting that the Jews "mark the beginning of the slave rebellion in morals"¹³—but then either he mentally erases the Jews and slaves, fastening upon the "rebellion in morals"; or he moves past, leaving behind an amnesiac moment that allows him to be "struck" by a passage that seems to connect with the "rebellion in morals." In the latter case he can safely appropriate it while dissociating it from the repellent passage.¹⁴

IV. TOTALITARIANISM AS A FORM

Another ideal runs ahead of us, a strange, tempting, dangerous ideal to which we should not wish to persuade anybody because we do not readily concede the right to it to anyone: the ideal of a spirit who plays naively—that is, not deliberately but from overflowing power and abundance—with all that was hitherto called holy, good, untouchable, divine . . . the ideal of human, superhuman well-being and benevolence that will often appear inhuman . . .

-Nietzsche¹⁵

Who, then, was the old Nietzsche? One answer representative of opinions between 1935 and 1945 declared Nietzsche to be one of the intellectual forebears of National Socialism. ¹⁶ Following World War II defenders of Nietzsche depicted him as the exact opposite, a critic of nationalism and of many things German, including Bismarck. ¹⁷ His was the quintessential free spirit, playful and subversive, discovering psychological repression, influencing Freud, defending aestheticism—thus the opposite of an anti-intellectual thug. The pro-Nietzscheans were reinforced by another intellectual development that anticipated the uses of Nietzsche during the last quarter of the century, Nietzsche as the archetype of the radical intellectual. The first of the new Nietzsches was enshrined as a precursor of existentialism, the fashionable scandal of philosophy and literature during the 1950s. ¹⁸ Among other things, this new Nietzsche was exonerated of any anti-Semitism.

The pre-war attempt to connect the old Nietzsche with Nazism found certain affinities between the two: ¹⁹ for example, the Nazis introduced slave labor into Europe; Nietzsche's vision explicitly commends slavery. Although there is evidence that the Nazis made some desultory attempts to exploit Nietzsche, the connection between the two is not one of cause-and-effect. The Nazi regime would have followed exactly the same course if Nietzsche had never lived. Con-

versely, Nietzsche's thinking might harbor proto-totalitarian elements even if Nazism had never existed. The "influence approach" unnecessarily restricts Nietzsche and totalitarianism to a historically specific regime. While a regime-approach might serve a strictly historical inquiry, it is an unduly narrow theoretical starting-point.

An alternative would be treat totalitarianism as an "ideal-type" of what Aristotle and the ancients might have called a "perverted" form. This would mean treating it as a logically coherent, "idealized" system constructed from what its defenders claimed for it plus some of the characteristics of actual regimes that claimed to be totalitarian.²⁰

Totalitarianism might be defined as a regime of dialectical opposites: of superorganization in control of all aspects of society combined with an "absence of system";²¹ of expansionism determined to rule over, but not to absorb, "foreign" elements; of elitism and plebiscitary democracy; of calculated suppression controlling systemic chaos; of a triumphal present that promises only a bleak future of sacrifice and struggle. In this view totalitarianism is not exclusively a German phenomenon but stands for a set of uniquely modern aspirations towards totality that have been encouraged by the potentialities of modern power. These aspirations may or may not achieve a complete political life-form. Just as the concept of constitutionalism may be used to examine, say, a theory such as Locke's, without restricting the range of its application to English constitutional practices or even to fully constitutional regimes, so totalitarianism can be conceptualized and used to refer to totalizing endeavors other than the German, including regimes that profess to be constitutionalist. Yet to ignore the Nazi experience would be to suppress one of the defining moments of the twentieth century. Rather Nazi Germany should be thought of as a particular version of totality but not exhaustive of its possibilities. The crucial point is that its dynamic of destructiveness— "Close your hearts to pity," Hitler screamed at his generals. "Act brutally! Eighty million people [of Germany] must obtain what is their right"—22 combines an appearance of highly efficient organization with the reality of a chaos issuing from a dynamic that sets out to discredit familiar constraints of law and mundane morality. In Nietzsche's words, "The total character of the world . . . is in all eternity chaos—in the sense not of a lack of necessity but of a lack of order, arrangement, form, beauty, wisdom, and whatever other names there are for our aesthetic anthropomorphisms."23

The Aristotelian typology of political forms distinguished a "good" form (e.g., aristocracy) from its perversion (oligarchy). A postmodern totality might be a "good totality," a "superpower" of highly concentrated power that does not force its population to lock-step; it might thrive instead on widely shared fears of certain disorders, of rampant crime, corruption, threats of subversion, extreme forms of individualism, and moral laxity competing with moral rigidity. It might

drown out or marginalize opposition rather than hunt it down, pacify public space by fostering communications monopolies rather than by unleashing storm troopers. Its leaders might dominate society, not to fulfill a mythic mission, but simply to make money and control power. It might project power beyond its borders, not in order to occupy foreign lands but to gain access to new markets and resources. Such a regime might discriminate, even repress, but not persecute.

Nietzsche originated a theoretical practice, relentlessly critical, a symbolic politics of destructiveness. The totality of its scope and the character of its values are suggestive of some analogies with the ideology and practices of a totalitarian regime. 24

V. Nietzsche: A Political Theorist?

Nietzsche is rarely treated as a full-fledged political theorist, notwithstanding that few theorists have been so persistently preoccupied with power. ²⁵ The difference between Nietzsche and indisputable power-theorists such as Machiavelli, Hobbes, and Marx is that while they began from a picture of an extreme condition of rampant power—intense rivalry between princes and cities, a violent state of nature, or radical social polarization—all three attempted to ameliorate or domesticate it. In contrast, Nietzschean politics sets out to provoke the extreme conditions it thrives on, even constructs or fashions itself with those conditions in mind, and claims that they are healthful rather than pathological.

The underestimation of Nietzsche as a political thinker and his subsequent iconization are explained by the same fact that makes his obsession with power so singular. I am, he proclaimed, "the last anti-political German." ²⁶ He was, in fact, radically anti-political and for the same reason that he was anti-democratic: because the political and the democratic stood for leveling and values capable of being widely shared.

"Good" is no longer good when one's neighbor mouths it. And how should there be a "common good"? The term contradicts itself: whatever can be common always has little value.²⁷

Nietzsche was unique not in rejecting the traditional ideal of the political, but rather in combining that rejection with a distinctive conception of politics. His conceptions of society, of theoretical knowledge, and of the origin and genealogy of morals and religion are saturated with *politics*, though not as conventionally understood. Nietzsche's *politics* is rarely occupied with such standard *political* topics as state structure, rule of law, rights, or justice: with the ideals applicable to all members. It is, instead, obsessed with singularity, with heroic action, and takes the form of thought-deeds that attack, expose, and subvert the establishment's modes of thought (e.g., philosophy and theology), as well as its forms of social

morality and aesthetics. Nietzsche cast the counter-morality he preached as a "higher morality," and its essential quality as "hardness." Higher culture, he asserts, is primarily "based on the spiritualization of *cruelty*." ²⁸

For Nietzsche cultural values are not the social representations of a disinterested search for what is true or right. Nietzsche's culture refers to the moral and political values and notions of truth that a society institutionalizes and enforces in order to preserve its existence. All religions, philosophies, and moral codes are projections of physiological needs "under the cloak of the objective, ideal, purely spiritual . . . "29

We have arranged for ourselves a world in which we can live—by positing bodies, lines, planes, causes and effects \dots without these articles of faith nobody now can endure life. But that does not prove them \dots The conditions of life might include error 30

The politics of culture appears biological, and Darwin is stood on his head: not the survival of the fittest but the triumph of the will-to-power of the weak, not evolution but devolution or degeneration of the species. The political element of cultural values lies in their generality: they apply to everyone regardless of differences and inequalities of status, character, or intelligence. "These valuations . . . are always expressions of the needs of a community and herd . . . Morality is the herd instinct in the individual." Thus the idea of the "good" is the expression of herd morality and the sign of the power of the "masses." Laws and regulations aim at promoting the common good by treating everyone the "same," but that means they deal merely with the "coarse exterior" of actions, capturing at best only "some semblance of sameness" in the action. In reality, "every action is unknowable" in the sense that no two actions are the same and actual motives are "impenetrable." Culture thus serves to oppress nonconformists who do not fit the generalizing rules of culture with its assumptions about individual similarities and its animus against the "unique."

Nietzsche extends the analysis to knowledge and logic. Logic evolved out of "illogic:" "innumerable beings who made inferences in a way different from ours perished," while the survivors were ones who "guessed immediately upon encountering similar instances that they must be equal."³⁴ The belief or hypothesis that gives the intellect the greatest feeling of power and security is declared to be true. Truth is not the opposite of error but "only the posture of various errors in relation to one another."³⁵ "The world seems logical to us because we have made it logical . . . Rational thought is interpretation according to a scheme we cannot throw off."³⁶

Over against the "good" defined by herd morality Nietzsche sets "evil" represented by the Few, by "human beings who are new, unique, incomparable, who give themselves laws, who create themselves." Evil, for Nietzsche, is not a time-

less, objective category of reprehensible acts. Like "good" it stands for actions that society has chosen to single out, in this case for condemnation. At the same time, like "error" or untruth, evil is "species-preserving," as "indispensable . . . as the good instincts:" Rome was founded, after all, upon fratricide. The Nietzschean evil-doers are thus constructive. Their aim is to save society, not destroy it, to revivify it by teaching the joys of the "new, daring, untried." 38

VI. THE THEORIST AS IMMORALIST

Nietzsche justifies the politics of evil as the urgent response to cultural decadence. The signs of decadence are many, but they all suggest a pervasive weakness because the will-to-power has lost its assertiveness and favors submissiveness, the celebration of humble virtues, and a merciful rather than a sternly demanding god. Culture becomes Christianized and democratic. If the species is to survive, the will-to-power must find expression in harsh, demanding, and ruthless values. This requires "a master race whose sole task is to rule, a race with its own sphere of life with an excess of strength for beauty, bravery, culture, manners to the highest peak of the spirit . . . beyond good and evil." And it requires "new philosophers:"

 \dots we teach estrangement in every sense, we open up gulfs such as have never existed before, we desire that man should become more evil than he has ever been before \dots 40

One of the most revealing descriptions of what Nietzsche meant by politics and of where he located it occurs in *The Will to Power*. There he described the stakes in "the grand *politics* of virtue" and the demands it laid on the theorist. ⁴¹ The problem concerned "how virtue is made to dominate." A theorist who strove for "the domination of virtue . . . absolutely must *not* desire [it]" for "[him]self." The reason for that self-denial was not ascetic but tactical. The politics that seeks to make virtue dominate could not succeed "by means of virtue." ⁴² The theorist "must as such be an immoralist in practice" and adopt "the same 'immoral' means as every victor: force, lies, slander, injustice." ⁴³ He may have to "appear" moral and to offer the necessary "*gestures* of virtue." ⁴⁴ The politics of deception, the perfection of "Machiavellianism," is rhapsodized as an ideal that is "at most approximated." "Even Plato barely touched it." It is a "superhuman, divine, transcendental" ideal, an *imitatio Dei* of that God who is "the greatest of all immoralists." ⁴⁵

It is characteristic of the dynamic of Nietzschean politics that while it begins critically, with "how virtue is made to dominate," it leads to "domination over virtue," to the expression of the theorist's will-to-power in a world where all of the traditional verities, in morals, religion, and politics, stand exposed as impositions, their nakedness pruriently emphasized by italics. The same dynamic reappears in the philosopher's conduct towards "truth." Here, too, Nietzsche taught that the philosopher must avoid identifying with what he is seeking to exert mas-

tery over. If he is to dominate truth, he must have "freedom from morality, *also from truth*." Necessarily the goal of domination over morality and truth meant that there would also be the dominated.

Nietzschean morality is situated in what might be described as the universal context of politics, politics as a never-ending struggle for power, "one quantum of power against another,"48 politics without—indeed against—the commonality of the political. Nietzsche described that struggle in various domains: moral, philosophical, psychological, religious, biological, even sheerly physical. It is a struggle not for mere existence but for ever-increasing power between the best and the better, and waged against the ordinary.⁴⁹ Ideas of good and evil emerge, in his account, in a contest for dominance between elements of the Few, between the Few and the Many, between contrasting modes of life and conceptions of human worth whose representatives contrive values, beliefs, and laws as strategies for disabling their enemies and preserving themselves. Often ill-understood by the antagonists, it is a politics in which the essential stakes are for control over the cultural matrix of value-shaped behavior, "the culture complex," 50 that ultimately determined the moral fiber and health of the species and, more particularly, of its highest representatives. In Nietzsche's account the struggles raged unrelieved by any good-faith political conception of shared fate or cooperative action, all of these being, to his mind, merely rhetorical strategies for defending mediocrity.

When Nietzsche discussed politics in its ordinary meaning—of actions by politicians, of the role of government or of the state—his views were remarkably conventional and very similar to the ones expressed by many conservative publicists, especially those obsessed with exorcising the ghosts of the French Revolution. He warned that the democratic conception of the state as an "emanation" of the people overthrows the (natural?) relationship between the "above" or the superior and the "below," thereby threatening all social relationships: teacher and pupil, general and ordinary soldier, master and apprentice. "In this matter nothing is *more* desirable than caution and slow evolution." In the same vein, when "socialists of the subject caste demand equality of rights," that demand "is never an emanation of justice but of greed." To those who would abolish slavery Nietzsche echoed Calhoun: "slaves live in every respect more happily and in greater security than the modern workers. . . ," a comparison, it need hardly be said, not meant as ammunition for workers. 52

Nietzsche's practical warnings may seem out of character, but they were an element in a strategy aimed at developing a new elite. He was convinced that conventional politics diverted the creative energies of the best from cultural pursuits, a misdirection that attained threatening proportions during wartime. War inevitably decimated disproportionately "the most highly cultivated" because it demanded heroism and self-sacrifice. ⁵³ If culture were to be reinvigorated, the hold of conventional politics over the Few had to be diminished. ⁵⁴ The state must not,

however, be weakened to the point of being unable to control the masses, even if that should require supporting religion, the traditional Lutheran solution for guaranteeing mass loyalty to the state.⁵⁵

VII. THE POLITICS OF CRITICAL TOTALITARIANISM

And I turned my back upon the rulers when I saw what they now call ruling: bartering and haggling for power—with the rabble!

-Nietzsche⁵⁶

Although Nietzsche's writings contain several references to state, society, laws, rights, parliamentary institutions, etc., the main concerns of what might be called his *external* politics were cultural. At the same time Nietzsche's campaign against the status of the theories dominating philosophy, science, and morality was conducted in politically charged terms of power, authority, and superiority. Thus an *internal* politics of theory accompanied his external politics of culture and formed a continuum between Nietzsche's internal and external political projects—between the style and character of the politics aimed at establishing the superiority of his practice of theory and the politics he advocated in the "real" world.

To explain the continuum in Nietzsche's thinking, the proper starting-point is the *inner political* tendencies that shaped the structure of Nietzsche's mode of theorizing. We might postulate that a theory contains a set of attitudes towards the rules or practices typical of the kind of discourse it is engaged in. A writer may follow those rules or reject them or adopt some position in between. Whatever the course chosen, a symbolic action is being taken towards "laws" and "authorities." A writer will also comport him- or herself towards rivals or opponents or predecessors in acts that may be civil, critical, deferential, or violent. Finally, the theory will define its attitude towards the public: seeking to attract and constitute *its* own public while repelling, appropriating, or ignoring other possible publics.

I shall call Nietzsche's symbolic actions "the politics of critical totalitarianism." It is represented by the following:

All that the good call evil must come together that one truth may be born: O, my brothers are you, too, evil enough for this truth?

The bold attempt, prolonged mistrust, the cruel No, satiety, the cutting into the living—how seldom do these come together! But from such seed is—truth raised.⁵⁷

In calling Nietzscheanism the ideal of *critical* totalitarianism, I mean to call attention to its reactionary character. It takes the form of relentless destruction, of emptying the world of established forms of value, religion, morality, politics, and popular culture. The main object of that opposition was the modernity represented

by the French Revolution, the emergence of parliamentary politics, mass culture, and Enlightenment values of science and rationality. Nietzsche adopts the traditional categories of superiority favored by anti-revolutionary writers—elite, hierarchy, and inequality. At the same time he attacks the system that the Enlightenment erected against arbitary governance: rule of law, individual rights, constitutionally limited power. Critical totalitarianism is an anti-system. It aims to liberate by—to use some of Nietzsche's favorite words—"hardness" and "cruelty." The politics of the anti-system is best represented by a famous passage from *The Gay Science*. There Nietzsche welcomes "all signs that a more virile, warlike age is to begin." That "higher" age will "carry heroism into the search for knowledge and . . . will *wage wars* for the sake of ideas and their consequences." The true heroes will be those who "*live dangerously*." Then: "At long last the search for knowledge will reach out for its due; it will want to *rule* and *possess*, and you with it!"⁵⁸

To name a discourse "critical-totalitarian" is to identify it as a certain mental construction and to locate it as a hostile presence in the artificial world conventionally formed around the idea and practice of *interchange*—what the Enlightenment called "the republic of letters." Interchange might be likened to the discursive equivalent of the political: it signifies a governing ideal for engaging in intellectual activities whose life-blood is differences.

Critical-totalitarian discourse might be described as mind denouncing mind. It begins by invoking a metaphorical vocabulary that enables mind to remake its own nature in the image of anti-mind and to mount a radical challenge to the tradition of interchange. The mind's historical association with the soul is renounced in order to enable mind to assume the physicalist or pre-political character of will-to-power and thus to merge its identity in its opposite. One of the most striking features of critical totalitarianism is the adoration of its opposite, a fascination with the non- or anti-intellectual. "[E]very higher culture," Nietzsche claimed, begins with barbarism,

in every terrible sense of the word, men of prey who were still in possession of unbroken strength of will and lust for power, [and who] hurled themselves upon weaker, more civilized, more powerful races . . . [T]he noble caste was always the barbarian caste—they were more whole human beings (which also means, at every level, "more whole beasts").⁵⁹

Accordingly, totalitarian discourse sets out to be *menacing*. It inverts into positive images "terror," "cruelty," "suffering," "evil," and "executioners"; it uses these to fantasize, to dilate the idea of politics, causing it to appear boundaryless, monstrous, habitually violent:

The concept of politics will have merged entirely with a war of spirits; all power structures of the old society will have been exploded—all of them are based on lies;

there will be wars the like of which have never yet been seen on earth. It is only beginning with me that the earth knows great politics.⁶⁰

Such a discourse, one can say, would be totalistic in the sense that the aggression acted out in its metaphors, images, and narratives aims not only to obliterate its enemies but to bring down an entire world it believes the enemies have made. This requires a privileged standpoint from which all preceding and existing value-systems can be surveyed and pronounced valueless, except for the occasional anticipation. "In a dream, in my last morning dream, I stood today upon a headland—beyond the world, I held a pair of scales and *weighed* the world." In its godlike superiority, critical totalitarian discourse savages its enemies in dehumanizing terms, as, say, degenerate, decadent, sick, so that their disappearance is cause for exultation, even though they constitute the vast majority of mankind. The discourse does not invite interchange or dialogue but establishes a certain inaccessibility, typically of "heights" or "depths," from which pronouncements are hurled that, while humiliating to the excluded many, lend credentials to the Few.

Our highest insights must—and should—sound like follies and sometimes like crimes when they are heard without permission by those who are not predisposed and predestined for them. The difference between the exoteric and the esoteric [was known] \dots wherever one believed in an order of rank and not in equality and equal rights. The exoteric approach sees things from below, the esoteric looks down from above. 64

Perhaps the true signature of the discourse is its bleak vision of the future and its absolute renunciation of any ideal state of affairs in which poverty, ignorance, conflict, and war would be abolished. The enemy is an all-pervasive decadence, typically described as "unclean" or as a "stench," and hence the task of revitalization exceeds ordinary political and intellectual solutions. The location of the problem is not in a form of government; for government is a symptom, not a cause. Rather the carrier of decadence is an all-enveloping ethos, "civilization," whose cunning immateriality and diffuseness incite the totalitarian into a rage for power as incommensurable as the evil it aims to extirpate. The "essential characteristic of a good healthy aristocracy," Nietzsche wrote in a chilling passage, will be its accepting "with a good conscience the sacrifice of untold human beings who, *for its sake*, must be reduced and lowered to incomplete human beings, to slaves, to instruments." 65

This passage makes it clear that critical totalitarianism does not conceive itself limited to the domain of "ideas." Its own analysis impels it to attack the "real world" and to translate linguistic violence into real violence:

Refraining mutually from injury, violence, and exploitation, and placing one's will on a par with someone else [when] accepted as the fundamental principle of society . . . is really a will to the denial of life, a principle of disintegration and decay.

VIII. THE EXTRAORDINARY VERSUS THE NORMAL

The best short description of the critical totalitarian is Nietzsche's own, "the will-to-power." As the primordial principle of life, the will-to-power takes diverse forms, from the subtlest scientific theory and most demanding philosophical system to the most naked acts of personal or political aggrandizement and the least demanding systems of popular morality.

In its various manifestations the will-to-power seeks superiority by conquering rival wills. In the particular form practiced by Nietzsche it is striking for its restless, driven character that finds him attacking virtually every major institution, every cultural form, every type of belief. The most striking characteristics of the critical totalitarian mentality stem from what seems to be a permanent dynamic, continuously in motion, and inherently transgressive/aggressive. How that dynamic is acquired, and the elements that enter into its composition, are of crucial importance. The dynamic and its elements are shaped by the paradoxical requirement that total power should always elude it. What, then, is totalitarian about critical totalitarianism such that it can be identified as a theoretical practice with a corresponding politics?

Its defining characteristic can be described as the moment when the extraordinary marginalizes the normal, usurping its role in order to become the dominant practice. The normal might be said to be the product of cultivated relationships (e.g., of love, of family, friendship, neighbors, co-workers, citizens, patriotism, etc.). The normal sustains the skilled activities that assure the everyday operation of society. Critical totalitarianism seeks, literally, to belittle these relationships for the easy demands they make. In contrast, its own strategy imposes heavy demands on itself as it renounces the moral, social, political, scholarly, and aesthetic values it had once prized. Renunciation is a painful struggle that takes Nietzsche "outside" normal conceptions of right, justice, and punishment, and beyond even the category of "philosopher" or "theorist."

The weak and ill-constituted shall perish: first principle of *our* philanthropy. And one shall help them to do so.

What is more harmful than any vice?—Active sympathy for the ill-constituted and weak-Christianity.⁶⁸

To be outside all relationships is to go beyond transgression, to follow "instincts," and to consort with the extraordinary, with what is unconfined to *a* form. "I consider life itself instinct for growth, for continuance, for accumulation of forces, for *power*."⁶⁹

It is crucial to the exaltation of the extraordinary that its enemies should never be wholly eliminated. One paradox of the totalitarian mind is that if it is to follow a practice, to be methodical, its enemies must ultimately be ineradicable even though their elimination is its proclaimed objective. The enemy, consequently, is never given the form of an "argument" subject to proof or disproof, to counterclaims; Nietzsche no more argued with "the herd" than the Nazis argued with the Jews: instead he exposes. The enemy embodies a way of being, vague in its outlines, shifting in its appearances, and ingenious in its disguises. Referring to "the greatest danger to the whole human future" represented by "the good and just," Nietzsche warned: "Everything has been distorted and twisted down to the very bottom through the good." His demand was: "Shatter, shatter the good and just!"

Marginalizing the normal and attacking common morality are not gratuitous gestures or mere exuberant flourishes. They are essential conditions for the exercise of the forms of power peculiar to critical totalitarianism. Despite Nietzsche's approving remarks about Machiavelli, totalitarian power rejects the fundamental principle of Machiavelli. To exercise power successfully, a true Machiavellian must possess a keen sense of political realities, a deep understanding of how the world works, of what enhances and what undermines power, and what actions are possible under specific circumstances. The necessary, though not the sufficient, condition for true, i.e., "effectual," political thinking (*verità effetuale*) is to preserve detachment while maintaining close contact with the actual. Although Machiavellian power is active, always on the prowl, it cannot be called "dynamic." It expands, not because of some mission, but in order to survive. The truly dynamic power for Machiavelli was represented by *Fortuna*.

In contrast, for the critical totalitarian, power appears as the opposite of Machiavelli's reality-fetish. It is *grosse Politik*, not *Realpolitik*—grandiose, not radically realistic. Its momentum increases as its grip on reality loosens. Its marginalization of the normal—of what is grounded in everyday reality, what is *settled*—becomes a necessary condition of its power.⁷¹ The peculiarity of that power is its casual view of formal structures and conventions, seeing them as expedients rather than as limitations, and revealing a will-to-power that is mythic in its indifference to boundaries.⁷²

IX. THE TOTALITARIAN DYNAMIC

What kind of understanding helps to make the anti-historical possible? One that denies to things the depth that renders them less readily manipulable. "What is required," Nietzsche wrote, "is to stop courageously at the surface, the fold, the skin, to adore appearance, to believe in forms, tones, words, in the whole Olympus of appearance."⁷³

When all is surface or appearance, appearance is by default reality. The reduction of the world to appearances is the result not of a reasoned demonstration but of a decision based on the possibilities for the exercise of power opened by the

elimination of "depth." As testified by the economy of fashion and of consumption generally, and by the progress of scientific-technological knowledge, "vested interests" (the pejorative substitute for "depth") tend to resist the simplifying of truth, while the regime of appearances encourages it. Nietzsche expressed that tension—and the ambivalence of the quondam scholar:

What is new is always evil, being that which wants to conquer and overthrow the old boundary markers and the old pieties . . . [In contrast] the good men are in all ages those who dig the old thoughts, digging deep and getting them to bear fruit—the farmers of the spirit.⁷⁴

The totalitarian dynamic is the exact opposite of revolutionary dynamics: historically the latter has attacked the powerful and the privileged. Totalitarian theory turns revolutionary theory on its head: the enemy are the pitifully weak and vulnerable. For Nietzsche these include workers, the sick, socialists, anarchists, democrats, women, Christians, and other bleeding/bleating hearts. What makes the weak "strong" is the power represented by modern culture, liberal politics (the "dwarf animal of equal rights and claims"), and, above all, a morality of pity for those who suffer. Their pooled weakness is power, collectivist and suppliant, that envelops, stifles, levels. Weakness has the power to defeat strength, not by assault but by infecting the strong, arousing their pity. Thus the doctrine of equality is "poisonous" and socialists are "degenerates." When the Christian protests against suffering and privilege, when he "condemns, calumniates, and befouls the 'world,' he does so from the same instinct from which the Socialist condemns, calumniates, and befouls society . . ." **76

The totalitarian dynamic derives from a tension between two utterly contradictory tendencies, both of which are embraced with equal ardor. One tendency might be described as anti-modern, or a longing for communion with an idealized and archaic *fons et origo* to which is attributed revitalizing powers. The restorative powers of the archaic are conceived as an antidote to decadence.⁷⁷ While the archaic is the symbol of the "early health" of the "race," of a mythological age dominated by heroes and noble warriors, decadence is the equivalent of a disease endemic to older "civilized" societies. The historical-temporal implication is that the present is reversible and a selected past recoverable, if only as inspiration.

The other tendency is a modernizing one, and unlike the archaizing tendency it is "progressive" or at least anti-nostalgic rather than regressive. The term "modernizing" captures its ambivalence, its suggestion of a *permanent* passage from the modern to the postmodern that combines elements of both, allowing it to be always in transit. The modern stands for Enlightenment rationality and its accompaniments of science, technological innovation, industrialization, public education, and limited government. It also stands for a temporary equilibrium between scepticism or critical doubt and a belief that the objective character of

truths is demonstrable by the methods of rationalism and empiricism. The post-modern upsets the equilibrium. It retains the sceptical element but drops the belief in objectivity, thus inevitably expanding the sceptical and the critical and refining them into virtuoso "techniques": *detego ergo cogito* (I unmask, therefore I think).

The anti-modern tendencies formed the basis from which Nietzsche launched his attack on contemporary civilization. In *The Birth of Tragedy* Nietzsche praises the Dionysian cult as a celebration of the orgiastic, the primitive, the ecstatic, the naturalistic, and the mythical. Myth and transgression are extolled as creative and powerful expressions of a healthy credulous naturalism that contrasts with the sickly, over-intellectualized, utility-oriented rationality of modern European cultures. But Nietzsche was also an advanced thinker, perhaps one of the most acute critics in the history of Western philosophy and the possessor of a dazzling array of techniques of exposé and diagnosis. The crucial character of those techniques is that they formed a *dynamic* of exposure that included ridicule, irony, reversal of perspective, substitution of psychological accounts for moral or political explanations, and reductionism (e.g., philosophy as the unconscious expression of a thinker's autobiography).⁷⁸

The dynamic of critical totalitarianism expresses itself as a philosophy of becoming, of permanent change, always on the attack, shaped to be an aggressive form of overcoming. Critical totalitarianism protests the stifling atmosphere allegedly emanating from a security-hungry mass. It forms the basis of a demand for spiritual *Lebensraum*. The destructiveness of the techniques is uncontrollable because they can easily be turned against any notion of a fixed limit. Thus the modernizing impulse is a constant threat to the archaizing impulse in totalitarianism: the latter proclaims a fixed, non-developmental ideal; the former proclaims that nothing is sacred or privileged.

Nietzsche's cult of destruction has many facets. It is the necessary preliminary to, and accompaniment of, creativity; it is the expression of a will to overcome, to conquer; it is a protest against being stifled by the rules of Enlightenment rationalism, by the idea that truth lay at the end of a sequence of "steps." Perhaps its deepest driving force is as an agent of purification. Nietzsche first describes himself as having "the will to power as no man ever possessed it"; then he describes his creation, Zarathustra, as "the act of tremendous purification and consecration of humanity." Purification is preceded by categorial stigmatization, forced confinement.

Confinement and purification were fundamental to the Nazi destruction of European Jewry. The ultimate purifier: the ovens that incinerated dirty Jewry, thereby ritually purifying the world and leaving no traces behind. Confinement was also the key to Nazi power: mass mobilization = regimentation = confinement.

Nietzsche's enemies, too, have to be eliminated if the slide towards decay, decadence, and degeneration is to be arrested. First he identifies, in order to segregate,

his foes: the ordinary, the common, the average. ⁸⁰ He sees "the ever madder howling of anarchist dogs who are baring their fangs more and more obviously and roam through the alleys of European culture." His ire is directed at the democratic and socialist "religion of pity," "their almost feminine inability to remain spectators, to *let* someone suffer." These categories of the condemned, it should be noted, allow for no appeal or even rehabilitation.

And the original line between critical totalitarianism and actual totalitarianism begins to blur.

X. The Extermination of Decadence

For this is our height and our home: we live here too high and steep for all the unclean and their thirst . . .

And like a wind I yet want to blow among them one day, and with my spirit take away the breath of their spirit: thus my future wills it.

-Nietzsche⁸²

Totalitarianism's dynamic of total destruction fed upon a belief that since culture was all-pervasive, when corruptive influences invaded culture they potentially infected the entire society. A corrupted culture was a diseased totality, a "civilization," that called for and justified heroic counter-measures to combat an infection being continuously transmitted throughout the social body. 83 Culture could not, however, be restored to health by cultural measures alone. Culture was insufficiently primordial, too removed from life itself, from a primal force, from the body. The curing of culture was to be achieved, not by transcending, but by descending from culture to the elemental physical plane of the body. The descent to the body required identifying those whose visible appearance (shape of a nose) or condition (ill) were the external marks of the contagion. Then it became possible to proceed from the visible to the invisible carriers of contagion.

The crucial point in moving to the invisible is to efface the category of innocence that stands in the way of extermination. ⁸⁴ The object of extermination need not have committed any "objective" act of wrong-doing but need only have belonged to a particular race, religion, or nation, or have subscribed to certain beliefs (e.g., Marxism, trade unionism, evangelical Christianity). Slaughter is practiced systematically, though represented not as mass murder but as a purification ritual for an evil that is likened to a secret, i.e., non-empirical, contagion. "Disease" and "health," "sick" and "deformed" figure as major categories of identification; acting as a "carrier" of "infection" becomes criminal in itself. By representing its enemies as carriers of an infection, the totalitarian is assured of an inexhaustible supply of sacrificial victims because the contaminated elements have inevitably become mixed (e.g., by marriage) with elements otherwise pure.

In order to justify unlimited power, totalitarianism must represent the enemy as a hidden power whose extent cannot, therefore, be known precisely. Culture is, after all, secreted in the interstices of society. The more deeply embedded that evil power ("the Jews"), the more unrelenting must be the attacks. Violence, torture, and warfare—the most extreme forms of power—become sacralized in the name of purification. The widespread use of the imagery of "blood" had a double significance: the preservation of the "pure blood" of the race, the transmutation of the blood of the impure into ashes. Nietzsche spoke of "the malice of my snowflakes in June."

"Nothing," Nietzsche declares, "has preoccupied me more profoundly than the problem of decadence . . . "88 Decadence = decay = stench. In Nietzsche's theorizing the demand for the destruction of entire systems of thought, value, and practices; for cleansing diseased societies of the unhealthy; and for sniffing out the deepest hiding places of corruption and lies attained an obsessiveness and insistence unequalled in Western theory: "My genius is in my nostrils." 89

His campaign for intellectual and cultural hygiene was centered in the charge of "decadence" or "materialism" and leveled against "civilization" in the name of "instincts." The association of civilization with contagion led Nietzsche to declare that society should be ordered so as to segregate the higher from the lower forms of life. Society "needs slavery in some form or other." He praised that subordination as "the pathos of distance" whereby "the ruling caste . . . looks after and looks down upon subjects and instruments." The greater the distance, the "more remote, further-stretching," the more "man" is enhanced by "the continual 'self-overcoming of man' . . ."⁹⁰ A protest that this was but a crude justification for exploitation Nietzsche dismissed with a warning that the elimination of exploitation would result in the elimination of "a basic organic function." Exploitation "is a consequence of the will to power, which is after all the will to life."⁹¹

XI. CULTURAL WARS

Above all, war. War has always been the grand sagacity of every spirit which has grown too inward and too profound; its curative power lies in the wounds one receives.

-Nietzsche⁹²

In the late 1930s totalitarianism was described as "a revolution of nihilism" because of its shocking defiance of values assumed to be widely accepted, such as freedom, toleration, the rule of law, and truth-telling. 93 The characterization of totalitarianism as nihilism identified culture as the crucial site where the contest for total power would be decided. The priority of culture, its attraction as an objective of control, was its seeming all-pervasiveness: everything—authority, obe-

dience, social norms and practices, industry, education, and military power—seemed to depend, ultimately, on "values" and their accompanying practices, and to be subsumed under what a postmodern writer would refer to as "the total cultural fabric." Culture, then, as the ultimate paradox, a "whole" with no clear boundaries; culture as all-enveloping yet immaterial, powerful yet ideal; culture as a totality before and after the fact of totalitarianism.

The first, and most important, of the theoretical tendencies that formed the dominant theme of Nietzsche's life work, and that guides much postmodernist thinking, can initially be described as one in which "politics" and "culture" change places—and economy remains a constant, unchallenged. Politics was once commonly assumed to be a distinctive domain—the "public" as distinct from the "private"—while the values, beliefs, and practices that were thought to compose a culture were viewed in Burke's mode as diffused throughout society as "natural" rather than the object of systematic coordination.

In the new understanding culture is assumed to be the overarching domain, while politics is considered to be omnipresent but expressed most significantly through cultural forms. The conception of culture as all-pervasive and saturated with politics is illustrated in Nietzsche's reference to "the institutions of culture in the form of society, state, and education." ⁹⁵

The identification of culture as the primary site of political contestation was formulated by Nietzsche in a way intended to revive the 2,500-year-old rivalry between the politician and the theorist, between the *bios praktikos* and the *bios theoretikos*. The one stood for the man of action who sought power to accomplish some deed that left a mark on society. The man of theory, in contrast, knew what society needed, but, unless he could establish some working relationship with the man of action, he would remain a mere observer.

Nietzsche took up the challenge of trying to discover a role for the thinker that mattered politically. The "contemplative," as Nietzsche calls the "higher human being," suffers from "a delusion." The contemplative fancies himself a mere passive observer, "a *spectator* and *listener* who has been placed before the great visual and acoustic spectacle that is life . . ." In reality he is possessor of the "vis creativa," or creative power, that the active type lacks. Those who "think and feel . . . continually fashion something that had not been there before, the whole eternally growing world of valuations, colors, perspectives, scales, affirmations, and negations." While the active men merely translate these creations into "flesh," it is "we" who "gave and bestowed value" upon a world otherwise devoid of it. "Only we have created the world *that concerns man.*" In the role-reversal of thinker and doer the thinker is depicted as the "hard" one who "lives dangerously," who carries "heroism into the search for knowledge and will wage wars for the sake of ideas and their consequences"; the politician is merely adept at catering to the rabble. "

XII. THE CRISIS OF NIHILISM

Thus just as Marx had attributed to *homo faber* the demiurgic power to bring the material world into existence and to sustain it by ever-increasing prodigies of production, Nietzsche proposes *homo creativus* as his worthy rival, a world-creator of value, beauty, and meaning, the stuff of great culture. And just as Marx's concepts of class and relations of production served to politicize what had previously been understood primarily as economic relationships, so Nietzsche reads political notions of class, inequality, domination, war, and revolution into cultural relationships. The rivalry could not be represented more starkly than by the inescapably collective identity of Marx's *homo faber*, the vast majority whose work exhausts the body and benumbs the mind; and Nietzsche's *homo creativus*, the tiny minority that creates the values which delight the mind, especially the cultivated mind. *Homo faber*'s enemy is the Few who exploit the power of the Many; *homo creativus*, in turn, feels threatened by the Many—"all the swarming 'cultured' vermin who feast upon the sweat of every hero!"—who exploit and vulgarize the values created by the Few.⁹⁸

The crisis of the modern world in Marx's view was located in the "antagonism" between "the forces of production" and the constraints imposed by "the relations of production." The resolution of the crisis required a revolution by the Many, not only to seize power but to transform themselves into self-conscious collective actors. Their triumph meant not only an end to pain and suffering but the opportunity to experience the great cultural treasures that the Few alone had enjoyed—and that Nietzsche would restrict to an even fewer Few.

For Nietzsche, the crisis was identified with the Few, in the intellectual ruling class, the cultured elites, and located in the changing relationships between moral values and truth. Throughout most of the past, truth had been the ally of morality, establishing its foundation, demonstrating its valuable social role, and proving its validity. "*Truthfulness*," now, however, "has turned against morality," exposing it as nothing more than "a partial perspective." The revolt of truth has enabled "us" to use the "needs implanted by centuries of moral interpretation" and to redirect them so that they become "the needs for untruth." The crisis takes the form of an "antagonism" but one that afflicts only the conscious Few or, rather, the bad conscience of the Few who can no longer "esteem" morality once they have become aware of "its shabby origin" in "the lies we should like to tell ourselves." The Few are experiencing "a process of dissolution" in which "the universe seems to have lost value, seems 'meaningless.' "99

The condition, in which the moral and the phenomenological order seems to have collapsed, Nietzsche labeled "nihilism." It is the intellectual's counterpoint to Marx's notion of the growing misery of the workers. There is loss of faith in

"process" and "development" and a growing realization "that becoming aims at *nothing* and achieves *nothing*..." And the experience, like that of the oppressed worker, is potentially radicalizing because it brings disenchantment: the thinking man realizes that his faith (= false consciousness) in his own values had rested on an assumption about an underlying order that—had Nietzsche been Marx—could have been taken for the ideological fantasy of an exuberant capitalism:

a totality, a systematization, indeed any organization in all events, and underneath all events, and a soul that longs to admire and revere has wallowed in the idea of some supreme form of domination and administration.¹⁰¹

Nietzsche's revolt against teleology and the received moral teachings became the basis of a call, not to revolution, but to counter-revolution on the part of those he calls "the underprivileged." Where Marx had believed that suffering would promote solidarity among the workers, Nietzsche envisions the underprivileged being driven to "self-destruction" once they have seen through the sham of morality:

It was morality that protected life against despair and the leap into nothing, among men and classes who were violated and oppressed by men; for it is the experience of being powerless against men, not against nature, that generates the most desperate embitterment against existence. Morality treated the violent despots, the doers of violence, the "masters" in general as the enemy against whom the common man must be protected, which means first of all encouraged and strengthened. Morality consequently taught men to hate and despise most profoundly what is the basic character trait of those who rule: their will to power. 102

Once "the suffering and oppressed" lost faith in their "right" to despise the will-to-power, "they would enter the phase of hopeless despair." Nietzsche would welcome that development, not least because of the counter-revolutionary possibilities he saw in the "dissolution" of morality.

XIII. THE AESTHETE AND THE HERD

The sense in which Nietzsche's continuous focus on power constitutes a theory, and what kind of theory it is, might be approached through a contrast with Machiavelli, a political theorist he greatly admired. Nietzsche's theory, like Machiavelli's, takes the form of a series of strategies for attacking, undermining, and conquering. That Nietzsche, unlike Machiavelli, was concerned with ideas rather than with gaining principalities or revitalizing republics points to the crucial difference in their modes of theoretical action: Machiavelli's actor wanted to exploit, that is, to incorporate and utilize the resources of his foes: his power increased when he annexed the power or resources of rivals. Nietzsche, too, will use

comparable terms in describing how the "spirit" could appropriate what is "foreign" to it and feel its powers increased, yet a vital difference remains. Machiavelli counseled his prince to eliminate only those opponents who were potential conspirators, while Nietzsche wanted to obliterate enemies because their weakness posed a threat of contagion.

There were two sharply contrasting themes that alternately lent coherence and dissonance to the Nietzschean struggles for power. One motif was aesthetic, the other biological and physicalist. Nietzsche's criticisms are consistently colored by aesthetic revulsion at vulgarity, banality, by what is common, ordinary, and malodorous:

Books for all the world [to read] are always foul smelling books: the smell of small people clings to them. Where the people eat and drink, even where they venerate, it usually stinks. 104

"... [I]t is only as an *aesthetic phenomenon* that existence and the world are eternally *justified*." The aesthetic sensibility is far from being power-innocent, mere dandyism. Nietzsche described artistic creativity as "intoxication:"

[Its] essence . . . is the feeling of plenitude and increased energy. From out of this feeling one gives to things, one compels them to take, one rapes them . . . The man in this condition transforms things until they mirror his power—until they are reflections of his perfection. The compulsion to transform into the perfect is—art. ¹⁰⁶

The philosopher serves for Nietzsche, as he had for Plato, as the one to transform creativity into political force:

Genuine philosophers, however, are commanders and legislators: They say "thus it shall be." They first determine the Whither and For What of man, and in so doing have at their disposal all philosophical laborers, all who have overcome the past. With a creative hand they reach for the future, and all that is and has been becomes a means for them, an instrument, a hammer. Their "knowing" is *creating*, their creating is a legislation, their will to truth is—will to power.¹⁰⁷

But while Nietzsche, like Plato, may have imposed aesthetic demands on politics, his aestheticism was the precise opposite of Plato's. That difference was at the center of *The Birth of Tragedy*, in the vivid contrast between the Apollonian urge for form and reason (which Nietzsche associates with the political) and the Dionysian drive for transgression and ecstasy. Clearly Plato, with his preoccupation with boundaries of containment and with the sovereignty of reason over desire, was Apollo incarnate, while Nietzsche, with his sharp attacks on the pretensions of reason and his unrelenting efforts to restore the "natural," was Dionysus, albeit a Dionysus who yearned for a harmonious union with Apollo. ¹⁰⁸ Nietzsche's combination of nihilism and pessimism can be seen as an

attempt to lay down the terms of a new politics that would simultaneously attract ("seduce" in his words) a new elite and upset "the democratic herd" by striking at its most cherished beliefs. 109

The herd has, in the form of democracy, made a politics for itself, a politics of mass parties, elections, representation, political and civil liberties, and constitutional restraints upon power, as well as a supporting culture of public education, popular literature, arts and crafts, and civic religion. Nietzsche described those achievements as "the historical form of the decay of the state." ¹¹⁰

If one spends oneself on power, grand politics, economic affairs, world commerce, parliamentary institutions, military interests—if one expends in this direction the quantum of reason, seriousness, will, self-overcoming that one is, then there will be a shortage in the other direction [of culture]. Culture and the state . . . are antagonists: the "cultural state" is merely a modern idea. The one lives off the other, the one thrives at the expense of the other. All great cultural epochs are epochs of political decline; that which is great in the cultural sense has been unpolitical, even anti-political . . . ¹¹¹

XIV. THE POLITICS OF CULTURE

Thus precisely because the political and the cultural have become joined and democratized, culture has to be reclaimed and made into a critical weapon for uncoupling the links. Nietzsche is the first major theorist to claim that culture replaced the political, that it has become the crucial battleground of politics and theory, and not, as the political had ideally signified, the site of reconciliation. Popular culture is seen not as the ensemble of habits, beliefs, and practices that helped to maintain political commonality but as the will-to-power crystallized by the *ressentiment* of the weak. The critique of popular culture starts from the standpoint of a "higher" culture, higher because it is knowledgeable about the history of "great" cultural achievements, about the history of the "rare." Politics is relocated accordingly and reconstituted. Its relocation calls for the inscription of politics into culture and making culture the realized expression of a superior will-to-power. What is at stake in the dismissal of a whole historical vocabulary of commonality—justice, rights, and equal citizenship—is the reinstatement of exclusionary politics.

The Nietzschean reconstitution of politics as *Kulturkampf* requires a ground on which to establish a new form of rule and begin recruitment of a new elite. 112 Culture, in its "high" expressions, is the chosen site for contestation. High culture is the world of ideas, aesthetics, literature, music, Sophoclean tragedy, and philosophy. That realm affords the elite a clear advantage that leaves ordinary people handicapped. High culture establishes not only superiority but "a pathos of distance" from the herd and its corrupting influence. 113 A Marxist might note that

high culture gives intellectual elites an illusion of power, it being the one form of property that they "own:" they *are* the instruments of cultural production. Culture is also a way of reasserting the primacy of some elites over others: of aesthetes, for instance, who have been elbowed aside by modern scientists, inventors, economists, and other creatures of a demotic culture.

High culture served Nietzsche as the weapon for striking at the vitals of low or popular culture and at the democratization of the political that accompanied the spread of enlightenment to "lower" classes throughout the nineteenth century. 114 His aggressive declaration "God is dead!" was an attack not only upon theism but, more important, upon the comforting, populist assumption of Western religions that mankind lived in a meaningful world expressly designed for human habitation. Nietzsche's attack was meant to hurry the crisis by tormenting the herd to desperation and self-destruction. Nihilism stands for a "symptom that the underprivileged have no comfort left; that they destroy in order to be destroyed . . . by *compelling* the powerful to become their hangmen." 115

It was not alone the metaphysical comfort of the Many that Nietzsche sought to disturb but the solidity of the factual world on which common sense relies. Reliance upon facticity creates what Nietzsche saw as an alliance between the herd and modern science based on a shared belief in the irreducibly factual/prosaic character of the world. Science and common sense are seen as enemies of the unique. For the herd what is "true" is what is attested to by every normal person; for the scientist it is what is demonstrably the case and replicable. Nietzsche rejected the notion that facts had any special status. The idea of a fact is simply another construction, another interpretation. By that move power is transferred. Fact becomes a weapon in the arsenal of those with interpretive power and disarms those who had used it to win popular support or promote agreement.

Nietzsche never directly addressed the herd, though clearly he counted on their learning indirectly of his subversive teachings from journalists, Nietzsche's modern equivalent to Plato's rhetoricians. The For while he wants to unnerve the Many and to bait them, thereby raising the stakes for the elite, he also needs them, not as a worthy antagonist but as an unworthy yet immensely powerful enemy. The "impatient spirits" who "delight in madness" must cultivate a certain stolidity "to make sure that those faithful to the great shared faith stay together and continue their dance." "We" who are "the exception and the danger" must not seek "to become the rule."

Without the continuing presence of the herd, cultural elitism would clearly be an incoherent notion. 118 Accordingly, Nietzsche teaches doctrines meant to perplex or confuse rather than persuade. The Many are told of a world that is completely contingent, where the self has no stability, "the subject as multiplicity," 119 and values enjoy no special status; where Christianity has elevated "the lowliest into the standard ideal of all values [and] called it God"; 120 and where the relia-

bility of the everyday world becomes uncertain because the idea of an objective fact is a subjective construction.

The precise sense in which the critique of culture paves the way for a certain politics derives from the destructive character of Nietzsche's criticisms and their targets. The deliberate undermining of popular moral and political beliefs serves to relax the controls they exert, thereby creating a void, an unpreempted space for new powers. The politics of cultures thus represents a strategy for dissolving the power formations built upon existing values and beliefs. An elite becomes not a preference but the necessary accompaniment to that strategy.

XV. A NEW ELITE

My ideas do not revolve around the degree of freedom that is granted to [individualistic and collectivistic morality], to the one or to the other or to all, but around the degree of power that the one or the other should exercise over others or over all, and to what extent a sacrifice of freedom, even enslavement, provides the basis for the emergence of a higher type. Put in the crudest form: how could one sacrifice the development of mankind to help a higher species than man to come into existence?

-Nietzsche. 121

Nietzsche's politics can be characterized as a project for a wholly unique utopia, an ideal state for a permanently alienated intellectual elite that is estranged not only from society but, in a tormented way, from a now foundationless intellectualism of its own making. A disillusioned Prometheus, the elite is bound to and by its own intellectualism: it can do no other. Unlike Plato's philosophers, who divided their lives between ruling and contemplation, Nietzsche's superior men *must* rail furiously at society, and continuously, knowing no rest even in withdrawal, all the while proclaiming possession of the terrible truth that the world is lies:

... I am the opposite of a No-saying spirit ... I know tasks of such elevation that any notion of them has been lacking so far; only beginning with me are there hopes again. For all that, I am necessarily the man of calamity. For when truth enters into a fight with the lies of millennia, we shall have upheavals, a convulsion of earth-quakes, a moving of mountains and valleys, the like of which has never been dreamed of. The concept of politics will have merged with a war of spirits; all power structures of the old society will have been exploded—all of them are based on lies: there will be wars the like of which have never yet been seen on earth. It is only beginning with me that the earth knows great politics. 122

Whatever hopes Nietzsche had for the future were vested in the possibility of creating a new elite. He gave that elite various names: "new philosophers," superior

men (*Übermenschen*), free spirits. His characterization of them was always a paradoxical combination of anti-naturalism and naturalism, of hyper-intellectualism and crude biologism. Thus in one description of "the noble mode of thought" of the future philosopher he writes:

... [it] believes in slavery and in many degrees of bondage as the precondition of every higher culture; [practices] a creative mode of thought ... that does not posit the happiness of repose ... as a goal for the world, and honors even in peace the means to new wars. 123

Nietzsche envisaged a philosophical elite that would prove itself worthy by embracing the central tenet of nihilism, the meaninglessness of the world. His test was to discover how much fear, terror, and anxiety the elite can endure. 124 The supreme test for the philosophers is to accept, even exult in, the destruction of that which, as lovers of truth, they had held most dear. Nihilism begins with the announcement of "the end of the moral interpretation of the world" and the "suspicion that *all* interpretations of the world are false" and culminates in the exhortation to a distinctive form of action, the deliberate transgression of prevailing norms. Nihilism means "*that the highest values devaluate themselves*." 126 The highest values become self-subverting.

Destruction is a vital rite of purification, an essential step towards health. Nietzsche's nihilism is, in part, a call to destroy the values by which the theoretical life has been lived, to restore instinct and heal the wounds inflicted by the intellect. "The history of philosophy is a secret war raging against the preconditions of life, against the value feelings of life . . ." We need, he declared, "untruth." Nihilism is the despair of an elite, the projection of those who have learned that, by some measure, every truth can be shown to be untrue or doubtful. Truth is a construction, "a consequence of the cultivation of 'truthfulness' . . ." "Radical nihilism is the conviction of an absolute untenability of existence when it comes to the highest values one recognizes; plus the realization that we lack the least right to posit a beyond or an in-itself . . ."128

Nihilism represents an intellectualist version of revolutionary action that turns the world upside down: symbolic gestures that violate what society regards as true in order to proclaim the truth of "untruth." Action takes the form of transvaluation, or going beyond conventional values, beyond especially the "normal" understanding of good and evil. "There is nothing to life that has value, except the degree of power—assuming that life itself is the will to power." 129

The ultimate expression of nihilism "in its most terrible form" is the idea of "eternal recurrence:" "existence as it is, without meaning or aim, yet recurring inevitably without any finale of nothingness . . ." Once the meaninglessness of existence is widely broadcast, human beings will revolt against existence and thereby provoke an apocalypse:

NIETZSCHE 481

What does "underprivileged" mean? Above all, physiologically—no longer politically. The unhealthiest kind of man in Europe (in all classes) furnishes the soil for this nihilism . . . [O]ne no longer shrinks from any action; not to be extinguished passively but to distinguish everything that is so aim[less] and meaningless, although this is a mere convulsion, a blind rage at the insight that everything has been for eternities—even this moment of nihilism and lust for destruction. It is the value of such a crisis that it purifies, that it pushes together related elements that perish of each other . . . and promotes an order of rank according to strength, from the point of view of health. ¹³¹

XVI. THE THEORIST OF ANTI-THEORY

What is attacked deep down today is the instinct and the will of tradition; all institutions that owe their origins to this instinct violate the taste of the modern spirit.—At bottom nothing is thought and done without the purpose of eradicating this sense for tradition.

-Nietzsche¹³²

The irony of Nietzsche's status in postmodern thought—he, the greatest of all iconoclasts now iconized, undercriticized, and overauthoritative—is equalled only by the irony of his admirers' eagerly embracing "theory." Not only had he scorned the idea of followers, but he made a major project of demolishing the idea of theory and the traditions it had inspired. That project was remarkable in the specific sense that ever since Plato had invented the notion of philosopherkings, intellectual elitism had been linked with various types of theoretical knowledge, such as philosophy, theology, science, mathematics, or, later, economics and social science. In no province was that association older or more intimate than in politics (*politike theoretike*).

The theoretical enterprise, Nietzsche asserted, was founded upon an illusion first foisted on the world by Socrates and Plato, and thereafter elevated to the status of a cultural first principle and celebrated as the fulfillment of the human mind. Beginning with the ancients, theorists had described theorizing as an act of "unveiling" that revealed the principle underlying all existence, which Nietzsche described trenchantly but not inaccurately:

This illusion consists in the imperturbable belief that, with the clue of logic, thinking can reach the nethermost depths of being, and that thinking can not only perceive being but even modify it. 134

That claim, Nietzsche declared, was empty because there was no ultimate reality for thinking to contact other than the one it had constructed. The world and thinking were not such that the structure of the one corresponded to the constructs of the other. Nietzsche's main point, however, was not that theorists were bent on duping everyone else, as though they really knew better. What they had represented as timeless truths should not be classified as a purely epistemological claim. Instead, Nietzsche argued, epistemological claims should be understood in hyperpolitical terms, as the expression of the philosopher's will-to-power. Theory was rooted in an urge to dominate: while this urge was not peculiar to theorists, they were remarkable for the skill by which they had managed to persuade others of the overriding political and cultural importance of theoretical truths. All truthclaims, Nietzsche insisted, are partial perspectives reflective of some person's or group's drive to dominate:

every center of force . . . construes all the rest of the world from its own viewpoint, i.e., measures, feels, forms, according to its own force . . . [Each] specific body strives to extend its force—its will to power and to thrust back all that resists its extension. ¹³⁵

Not only were all truths relative, but each theory was ultimately autobiographical, indicative of a particular subject's power-needs. 136

How does perspectivism serve to privilege the theorist, the idea-man whom Nietz-sche has stripped of his historical identity as truth-teller? Each person, Nietzsche avers, "contains a vast confusion of contradictory valuations and, consequently, of contradictory drives." Contradictions are "a great method of acquiring knowledge," for they eventually stimulate a going beyond such conventional notions as the absolute distinction between good and evil or of truth and untruth. "The wisest man would be the one richest in contradictions," the one capable of acquiring and relishing new and different perspectives. 137 Who more skillful at that than theoretical, self-conscious man, and who more inept than atheoretical, unself-conscious, ordinary man? 138

Although Nietzsche's critique might be described as a theoretical subversion of theory by anti-theory, its aim was to liberate theory by undeceiving the theorist, dissolving the unity of theory and truth in order to reveal the dazzling range of expressive modes made available once the model of a depersonalized self, disinterestedly serving the common good, had been overthrown. Nietzsche did not dismiss altogether the idea of truth. He sought to reveal the truth of the untruth of theory, to expose what it really is, and to declare what real values are needed to revive culture.

Nietzsche tried to demonstrate his teaching through a variety of poses by which he displayed himself as the antithesis of *homo theoreticus*—as prophet, seer, dancer, poet, magician, savior. Despite the iconoclasm, the poses were mimetic of his predecessors: of Socrates' oracular moments, of the demos-phobic Plato ("a species of conquering and ruling natures in search of material to mold" that needs a "lower species" as "a base"), 139 the suffering Jesus who offers others rebirth ("Now I bid you lose me and find yourselves; and only *when you have all denied*

NIETZSCHE 483

me will I return to you"), ¹⁴⁰ the political immoralist ("the type of perfectionism in politics . . . is Machiavellianism"), ¹⁴¹ and the destructive Bakunin ("we have to be destroyers"). ¹⁴² There is even an ocular moment in which Nietzsche fancies himself as "the eye of Zarathustra." That conceit is but an appropriation of the all-seeing god of the Old Testament, "an eye that beholds the fate of man at a tremendous distance." ¹⁴³ The one constant in all of these poses was self-dramatization, an insistence that readers not only attune themselves to Nietzsche's voice but *experience* him as a charismatic presence—and a threat.

Paradoxically Nietzsche based his challenge to the tradition of theory upon an age-old contrast, between revelation and reason. 144 For the ordinary understanding, revelation means announcing a unique truth; for Nietzsche, a unique person: he was the truth of anti-truth. Nietzsche, the self-proclaimed Anti-Christ, would reveal not another god but a self: "Seeing that before long I must confront humanity with the most difficult demand ever made of it, it seems indispensable to me to say who I am." Nietzsche's revelation, as he clearly realized, was incomprehensible without the tradition it combats, a tradition in which depersonalization was postulated as a pre-condition of the vocation of truth-seeker.

Ironically for those followers, such as Foucault, who have gone to great lengths to deflate the puffery of the "sovereign theorist" who presumes to have discovered an encompassing system of truth, Nietzsche's project was even more comprehensive: the destruction of entire systems—moral, religious, and epistemological. Yet for all his efforts at demolishing the tradition of theorizing, few thinkers have as faithfully followed one of its generic forms, theory conceived as a mixed mode in which inquiry is *performed*. There had been theorists before Nietzsche who had depicted themselves as Suffering Servants, had assaulted established pieties, and had transgressed the boundaries between thought and action while proclaiming thought to be not only a species of action but its most splendid form, "the supreme deed," the epical triumph over entrenched powers. 146 The scale of Nietzsche's labors exceeds or at least rivals that of the most hubristic theorists—of a Hobbes or a Hegel-but, more important, it suggests a lesson: that dismantlng theory, deconstructing the entire enterprise of Western culture, is a project as grandly presumptuous and totalizing as any of the canonical constructions ridiculed by Nietzsche's postmodern heirs.

Theory is not so much overthrown by anti-theory as it is peeled back. What is then left exposed? In place of theory Nietzsche attempted to revive myth, seeing in its aesthetic properties a more intimate expression of nature and a capacity, which neither philosophy nor science possessed, for healing the suffering consequent to the rupture with nature. Although Plato had incorporated myth, as in the figure of the demiurge of the *Timaeus*, or as in the myth of the metals in *Republic*, he had taken care to subordinate myth to philosophy. Nietzsche set out to reverse matters, to undo that historical accomplishment by first creating a

thought-form to fill the new emptiness and then acting it out as if he had sunk past accomplishments without a trace. Instead of Plato's philosophizing of myth, myth-philosophicus, Nietzsche further mythified the hybrid, reducing philosophy while elevating aestheticism into a heroic mode.

XVII. Rediscovering Myth

One of the distinctive marks of twentieth-century totalitarian movements was an obsession with inventing ideal origins and thereby signalling the intention of expunging the corrupting influences that had intervened between a pure "then" and a repurifying "now." For the Nazis it was a pure Aryan or primitive Teutonic past; for the Italian Fascists it was ancient Rome. For Nietzsche, the classical philologist and the flower of a culture in which Hellenism was a defining element, it was the ancient Greeks who, "as charioteers, hold in their hands the reins of our own and every other culture." ¹⁴⁸

That choice of pure origin was a striking combination of highly self-conscious intellectualism and a revolt against it. For Nietzsche it was more than choice. It was achieved by an insistent, aggressive reversal of perspectives that set out to dethrone the idealized Greece of Socrates, Plato, and Aristotle constructed by scholars and philosophers, and to substitute an alternative pre-Socratic world of myth, early Greek drama, primitive orgies of release—a mythopoeic world of natural vitality, uninhibited, frenzied, transgressive, the expression of "the contrast between the real truth of nature and the lie of culture." "Culture" is the embodiment of decadence, of the defeat of the natural by the anti-natural, by the moralizing, rationalizing, form-and-boundary consciousness.

Nietzsche dramatized the opposition in his famous antithesis of Apollo and Dionysus. In that drama the two opposites coexisted briefly in fruitful tension, and for one glorious moment the Dionysian achieved its finest expression in the Old Tragedy of Aeschylus and Sophocles. However, it was routed by an alliance that saw Euripidean drama serve as the mouthpiece for Socratic rationalism and as the complement to the political emergence of the demos.

The figure of Dionysus reappears throughout virtually all of Nietzsche's writings. Although its symbolic meaning came to acquire several shades of emphasis, the Dionysian never lost its association with the natural or its critical thrust against the culture of rationalism, optimism, and moralism. Yet there was a deep paradox. The Dionysian contains a powerful drive towards oneness that expresses Nietzsche's yearning for the communalism and primal unity achieved in "the work of art" and the frenzy of dance and song by which "all the rigid hostile barriers between man and man are broken"; 150 yet it coexisted with an even deeper loathing of all that is common and shared, as represented by the everyday world of "state and society." 151

That Nietzsche retained the myth of Dionysus throughout his writings points

to the persistently archaic character of his politics. Its hero is Prometheus. For Nietzsche the core of the Promethean myth "is that the best and highest that men can acquire they must obtain by a crime." The resort to myth opens up a range of *dramatic* possibilities denied to methodical philosophy. The language of myth enables one to speak of terror, of suffering, of pain, of intellectual crime, of struggling against the gods, and to serialize the episodes into a continuing saga, a narrative of epical encounters, deep wounds, and defeats by and triumphs over enemies of power and cunning.

... a preference for questionable and terrifying things is a symptom of strength; while a taste for the pretty and dainty belongs to the weak and delicate. It is the heroic spirits who say Yes to themselves in tragic cruelty; they are hard enough to experience suffering as a pleasure. 153

Nietzsche believed that only the aesthetic, as revealed in poetry, tragedy, and music, could redeem existence.¹⁵⁴ But like Plato, who—though demoting the aesthetic proceeded to practice it in the dramas of his dialogues—took great pains to incorporate an ascetic, Spartan character to his ideal polity, Nietzsche felt compelled to proclaim the manliness of his vision as though to ward off charges of being effete or effeminate.¹⁵⁵ Where then did Nietzsche locate his "Sparta"?

XVIII. THE MAKING OF THE HERD

The ultimate stake in Nietzsche's indictment of theory and revival of myth was not this or that system of philosophy, politics, science, or ethics, but the deleterious consequences for the biologic health of the species that resulted when the vita contemplativa was exalted as the best way of life, and its values, of objective, universal truth and disinterested truth-seeking, were installed as the finest realization of human potentialities. The most important consequence, according to Nietzsche, of claims such as that of Aristotle, that motionless, theoretical contemplation is superior to political action and to war-making because it has no aim beyond itself,156 was deterioration among the "natural" aristocracies who had once ruled society by their heroism, their willingness to take risks, and their sheer physical prowess. Deterioration would be played out, in Nietzsche's account, as a form of politics in which aesthetic, religious, and moral values were developed as weapons: first as a struggle between elites (dramatized, for example, by Plato in the Gorgias) but then broadened when the masses were courted by elites (as by the figure of Protagoras in Plato's dialogue of that name) or by early Christianity—"the meek shall inherit the earth."

The invention of truth, Nietzsche averred, had been turned against myth, robbing humanity of spiritual resources for dealing with a meaningless world for which the tragedian was a surer guide than the philosopher. According to Nietzsche's

narrative, an ascetically inclined remnant had broken off from the aristocracy and from the philosophical elite of Plato and discovered the power latent in mass belief. That power was mobilized and then tapped by the cultural invention of popular religious ethics. Theory, having emasculated the Few and undermined warrior-culture, then negotiated an alliance with the Many. The remnant turned itself into a priestly caste and proceeded to in-form the Many with the self-denying values of "morality" and "goodness," values diametrically opposed to the warrior code of struggle and conquest. Nietzsche characterized that development as an alliance between the "ascetic priests" and the "sick herd." The invention of ethics destroyed the culture of the nobility by another invention, "conscience." It served to infect and enfeeble the *aristoi* by the notion of guilt, thereby preparing the way for the elevation of the bovine virtues of meekness, suffering, humility, and forgiveness.

With the appearance of the masses, first in the form of Christianity, then of democracy and socialism, an agonistic culture is succeeded by one of passivity and resentment, the culture of the Many. A herd morality, such as Christianity, not only enfeebled the Many but encouraged a culture of resentment whose members felt threatened by anyone challenging or deviating from its norms of mediocrity. *Ressentiment* was the masses' will-to-power, their defense against superiority and excellence.¹⁵⁷

The effect of centuries of moral instruction was to constitute calculable human beings who could be relied upon to keep promises, carry out contracts, and obey rules without the expenditure of continuous force. The "natural" instinctual character of man became a source of shame and inhibition and an object of repression. Western mankind evolved into a stunted mass, comfortable in its egalitarianism, stirred only by suspicion of all superiorities.

XIX. MYTH AND THEORY

We owe it to Napoleon... that we now confront a succession of a few warlike centuries that have no parallel in history... [W]e have entered the classical age of war, of scientific and at the same time popular war on the largest scale (in weapons, talents, and discipline). All coming centuries will look back with envy and awe for its perfection... [Napoleon] brought back a whole slab of antiquity... And who knows whether this slab of antiquity might not finally become master again over the national movement... [W]hat he wanted was one unified Europe...—as mistress of the earth.

-Nietzsche¹⁵⁸

It has sometimes been suggested that the true Nietzsche might have been discovered sooner save for the misguided efforts of his sister to offer him in a bowdler-

NIETZSCHE 487

ized version to the Nazis as their precursor.¹⁵⁹ That apologia, however, too easily glides over passages in which Nietzsche glorifies militarism, "blond beasts of prey," and "supermen," while disparaging "shopkeepers, Christians, cows, women, Englishmen and other democrats."¹⁶⁰

Nietzsche's political hopes were founded upon what might be called a theorized myth. For myth to be retrieved, the conditions for its reappearance must be the obverse of the conditions that caused it to disappear or prevented it from appearing. One name for those conditions would be philosophy; another would be modern science. Early on, philosophy and science defined their projects in opposition to myth and heralded their own emergence as signifying the end of myth. Other than assigning it an underground existence (e.g., witchcraft), one could resuscitate the mythic simply by overriding the boundaries by which anti-myth had tried to contain or eliminate it. Nietzsche's strategy was bolder. He attempted to weaken the authorities that defined the boundaries. One tactic was perspectivism, which rejected the idea of a final, objective authority. But he also dissolved the boundaries by claiming that all efforts at explanation were necessarily mythologizing. ¹⁶²

The radically theoretical character of Nietzsche's myth-making was not in his subversion of philosophy, nor even in the irreducibly theoretical techniques he employed (e.g., categories of naturalism and anti-naturalism, rationalism and irrationalism). Nietzsche's theorizing returns to myth and distills a meaning from a selected form of it, but he had to preserve theory in order to perpetuate the struggle against it. The enterprise of conceiving myth is, ineluctably, post-mythical, not a mythical creation. The political meanings that theory distills from myth do not precede the modern experience of the political but necessarily follow it, although the endeavor seeks to give the impression of getting behind, or shedding the modern.

The totalitarian character of Nietzsche's myth—theoreticus et politicus first took shape in The Birth of Tragedy. There Nietzsche set out to trace the origins and evolution of tragedy. He found it in the Dionysian myth, which he interpreted as an orgiastic, boundary-transgressing expression of "a mystic feeling of Oneness." Through primitive song and dance "man expressed himself as a member of a higher community." Dionysian tragedy dissolved "state and society" and "the gulf between man and man." The central element of Old Tragedy was the role of myth as the healing force that enabled man to live with the horrors of nature. Art's representations of "the sublime" saved man from paralysis in the face of "the destructive process of history and the cruelty of nature"; and by its representations of the comic it provided release from "the nausea of the absurd." However, Nietzsche chose not to dwell upon the alleged horrors of nature but turned towards those of its opposite, civilization. The shift was towards auto-creation inspired by a myth of rebellion.

The new stance was announced in Nietzsche's claim to have uncovered a later variation on the Dionysian myth in Aeschylus's version of the Prometheus legend. By daring to depict a rebellion against the gods, "the Titanic artist discovered in himself a bold confidence in his ability to create man and at least destroy the gods." Prometheus was a powerful image for the young Marx, who also saw rebellion as the means of auto-creation. Marx broadened the myth, enlisting Promethean revolt in the cause of all of humanity in the inclusive Enlightenment sense; Nietzsche, in contrast, parochialized the myth to the point of racializing it.

Nietzsche declared the Promethean myth, with its revelation that the gods were man's creation, to be "the original possession of the entire Aryan race, and documentary evidence of its capacity for the profoundly tragic." He contrasted the Aryan myth, and its teaching about "irreconcilable antagonism between man and God," with the "Semitic" counterpart, the "myth of the fall of man." The Semitic myth reflected the "preeminently feminist passions" of curiosity, weakness, and wantonness," while "the innermost core of the Promethean myth" is "active sin," "the necessity for crime imposed on the titanically striving individual." 166

When Nietzsche turned to describing the downfall of Aeschylean tragedy and blaming Euripides, the political enemy comes into focus. The enemy's identity was revealed in the architecture of the Greek theater. The common spectator was seated so as to "overlook... the entire world of culture around him," and he was thereby stimulated to "an overabundance of contemplation." The seating arrangements thus heralded the appearance of the demos and its appropriation of distance and contemplation, the trademarks and prerogatives of the philosopher.

Nietzsche used Greek drama to attack Greek democracy, but not quite as Plato had in portraying the "theatrocracy" of a mindless, undisciplined rabble, the incarnation of anti-philosophy. Plato had associated democracy and the theater with a common enmity towards philosophy. For Nietzsche there had been a convergence between the democratization of the *polis*-theater and philosophy's penetration of tragedy in the form of "Socratism" that rendered all three complicit. Euripides figured in both developments. He killed tragedy. "Through him the average man forced his way from the spectators' benches to the stage itself." What was occurring in the theater was transmitted into politics: ". . . from [Euripides] the people have learned how to observe, debate, and draw conclusions according to the rules of art and with the cleverest sophistries." Nietzsche then bitingly describes what he saw as the triumph of the "slaves":

Civic mediocrity, on which Euripides built all his political hopes, was now given a voice, while heretofore the demigod in tragedy and the drunken satyr or demiman, in comedy, had determined the character of the language . . . Euripides prides himself on having portrayed the common, familiar, everyday life and activities of the

NIETZSCHE 489

people, about which all are qualified to pass judgment. If now the entire populace philosophizes, manages land and goods, and conducts law-suits with unheard of circumspection, the glory is all his, together with the splendid results of the wisdom with which he has inoculated the rabble. ¹⁶⁸

XX. Looking for a New Dionysius

Critical totalitarianism has a vision of the future. It is of catastrophism, of a climactic moment when a morally bankrupt civilization is confronted with a showdown: "The period of catastrophe: the advent of a doctrine that sifts men—driving the weak to decisions, and the strong as well." The cleansing, revitalizing power that is to overcome decadence is not provided by ideas; ideas are merely the means for promoting an element of barbarism that exults in physical strength and trumpets the primordial, the biological, life itself. Opposing the homogenized world and its befuddled, "blinking" representative will be "the last man," "a higher sovereign species":

Not merely a master race whose sole task is to rule, but a race with its own sphere of life, with an excess of strength for beauty, bravery, culture, manners to the highest peak of the spirit.¹⁷⁰

The driving force behind totalitarian discourse is an intellectual elitism that feared the cultivated mind was being threatened by irrelevancy in a world progressively dominated by various forms of leveling: of tastes, of political power, morals, education, and culture. One recurrent expression of that animus—one found in Nietzsche-took the metaphorical form of complaining about the "heaviness" of modern society, its suffocating weight, and world-weariness. Heaviness is a metaphor for the oppressiveness of "mass society" and is favored by those weightless spirits who fancy themselves "dancers" or "tightrope walkers." Another expression of that same animus—and also to be found in Nietzsche was to lay much of the blame for this condition upon the French Revolution. 171 That accusation, however, should not connect totalitarian discourse to the powerful counter-revolutionary tradition that emerged in the last decade of the eighteenth century and included theorists such as de Maistre, de Bonald, and Hegel. Although those writers were authoritarian in varying degrees, they could not contemplate the theoretical and practical move, crucial to the totalitarian, of integrating the "mass" activated by the American and French revolutions; rather the masses were for fearing and loathing, not for exploitation. Critical totalitarian discourse and totalitarian practice kept the loathing-Nietzsche compared the mass to fleas 172—but put aside the fear, recognizing that the raison d'être for the elite required the presence of the mass. As Nietzsche put it:

In opposition to this dwarfing and adaptation of man to a specialized utility, a reverse movement is needed—the production of a synthetic, summarizing, justifying man for whose existence this transformation of mankind into a machine is a precondition, as a base on which he can invent his higher form of being.

He needs the opposition of the masses, of the "leveled," a feeling of distance from them! he stands on them, lives off them. ¹⁷³

Unlike totalitarian practice, critical totalitarianism did not culminate in a vision of its elite directly ruling the masses. Nietzsche's *Übermenschen* were not and could not be philosophers. For in a world where there are no universal standards of truth but only perspectives, the truth-seekers were only the illusionless Few who, nonetheless, must protest their purity even as they "stoop" for power:

Lust for power: but who shall call it lust, when the height longs to stoop down after power! Truly, there is no sickness and lust in such a longing and descent. ¹⁷⁴

Such is their will-to-power that while the Few remained in their true element of social isolation, they would nonetheless connect with those who dominate society. Nietzsche thus perpetuated the intellectual's oldest fantasy of manipulating the tyrant while escaping public accountability:

The highest men live beyond the rulers, freed from all bonds; and in the rulers they have their instruments.¹⁷⁵

XXI. NIETZSCHE AS POLITICAL ANALYST

Marx and Nietzsche: communism and totalitarianism played out first in the ghostly politics of the mind, in theory-politics, then as ghastly politics, the transference of caricature from its usual place, a frolic of the imagination, to a violation of normality so unimaginable as to leave the boundaries between the unreal and the real forever porous. If, paradoxically, Marx turns out to be the unhonored prophet of uncollapsible capitalism, what of Nietzsche? Here, too, a surprise: Nietzsche's prophecy of the disintegration of the liberal-democratic state proved more prescient than Marx's.

The principal support for this oddity is to be found in Nietzsche's *Human*, *All Too Human* (sections 472–481). It represents one of the few occasions when Nietzsche addressed politics in its conventional forms. More surprising, a number of his themes intersect with some of Marx's: the most arresting, a prophecy of the state's disappearance that is analytically more suggestive than Marx's intuition that eventually the state will wither away because its primary functions of repression will have become obsolete. For Marx class-domination, currently enforced by state protection of private ownership of the means of production, would end with the revolutionary abolition of that form of ownership and the substitution of social

NIETZSCHE 491

ownership. The implications of Marx's formulation might be put this way: the disappearance of the state leads to the shrinking of the private and the expansion of the public in the form of administration of the economy. The bureaucratization of the public domain promotes the shrinking of the domain where the irrational held sway and the expansion of the sphere of rationality. At the same time, puzzlingly, Marx believed that the shrinking of the private and the expansion of the public-bureaucratic would democratize individualism, making the cultivation of a many-sided personality accessible to all rather than to the privileged Few.

Virtually beginning with his first pronouncements on socialism Nietzsche labeled it "reactionary" in the literal sense. Socialism, he insisted, sought "an abundance of state power such as only despotism has ever had . . ." It aimed at the "annihilation of the individual" by making him "a useful *organ of the community.*" His prediction was that socialism would make a brief appearance "here and there" but only "through the exercise of the extremist terrorism." ¹⁷⁶ If socialism is fated to be a bloody interlude in the history of the state rather than the composer of its epitaph, then the main drama remains focused on the state.

While Marx had linked the disappearance of the state to the expansion of *social*-ism, Nietzsche asserted that the state would shrink in scope owing to advancing democratization and the permutations that religion would undergo in response to growing secularization. Nietzsche attributed secularization not to the diffusion of scientific values but to the installation of the demos as political sovereign. Popular sovereignty signified the ushering in of an era of leveling, with no exceptions for "higher" powers.

Nietzsche was eerily prophetic about phenomena that a later age would describe as "the rise of the Christian Right" and "the growth of religious fundamentalism." He also suggested that the welfare state would eventually be stripped of many of its functions; these would be taken over by private agencies. These developments were, he maintained, interrelated. The powers of the sovereign state could not survive intact once it had been deprived of the mystique of superiority, the "Above and Below," which religion alone could furnish. 177 At the onset of the democratic state, Nietzsche surmised, the religions that enjoyed preferred positions in various parts of Europe would splinter and preclude the existence of a "single unified policy" on religion henceforth. The resulting privatization of religions could follow two distinctly different directions. Either the governing group would appear hostile to religion in matters affecting public policies; or the people, still fervent believers, would react to the anti-religious views of their governors and turn "hostile to the state," obstructing it whenever possible. That development "drives" the political elites to try and fill the religious "emptiness" of the state by cultivating "an almost fanatical enthusiasm for the state." 178 Should the religious enthusiasts among the elites win out, an "enlightened despotism" might be established. However, should the anti-religious faction gain the upper hand, it would likely promote secularization and thereby expose the emptiness of the state, without an aura, and uninteresting. This would mark the inauguration of the strictly utilitarian state. Instead of ushering in a politics of reasonableness, the aura-less state is buffeted by fierce competition among groups seeking to exploit it for private ends. Politics assumes the form of a struggle to muster a majority, but each majority proves temporary and no party manages to do more than alternate with its rivals every few years.

None of the measures effected by a government will be guaranteed continuity; everyone will draw back from undertakings that require tending for decades or centuries if their fruits are to mature. ¹⁷⁹

The "certain" end to the politics of the temporary will be "distrust of all government" and the "resolve to do away with the concept of the state" and abolish "the distinction between public and private."

Private companies will step by step absorb the business of the state: even the most resistant reminders of what was formerly the work of government (for example its activities designed to protect the private person) will in the long run be taken care of by private contractors. ¹⁸⁰

•••

Nietzsche's tormented genius, which has given posterity so many stunning insights, so much healthy provocation and puncturing of intellectual pretensions, and sheer wit, should be granted that peace he sought beyond the will-to-power:

Here I stand in the flaming surf whose white tongues are licking at my feet; from all sides I hear howling, threats, screaming, roaring coming at me . . . [Suddenly a symbol of tranquillity is spied, a white sailboat of] ghostly beauty. How magically it touches me! . . Not to be dead and yet no longer alive? A spiritlike intermediate being: quietly observing, gliding, floating . . . Yes! To move over existence! That's it! That would be something. ¹⁸¹

XXII. THE WILL-TO-POWER IN THE TWENTIETH CENTURY

[Nazi foreign policy was] in its form domestic policy projected outwards, which was able to conceal [überspielen] the increasing loss of reality only by maintaining political dynamism through incessant action. As such it became ever more distant from the chance of political stabilization.

—Hans Mommsen¹⁸²

The twentieth century demonstrated in abundance the varied forms that the totalizing will-to-power could assume: for example, wars that are by nature interNIETZSCHE 493

minable—wars on drugs, terrorists—and the drive to invent ever more powerful weapons, even though existing stockpiles are sufficient to render the globe uninhabitable several times over.

Consider the modern competitive economy with its "takeovers," mergers, media "empires," successive technological revolutions, and frequent transformations, each more dynamic and expansive than the one displaced. Their common character is a dynamic that is law-breaking, or, in contemporary language, transgressive, boundary-defiant, disruptive of established life-forms, whether of norms, cultures, or skills. It is totalitarian in the attempt to impose its own activity as a universal ("globalization," "global market") with no alternatives except mordant ones ("no free lunches"). To be consistently transgressive, to be always projecting political power over conventional boundaries, to be pressing relentlessly for new opportunities for profit, to be searching methodically for new knowledge that will lead to new technologies all assume that existing limits of power can, with sufficient ingenuity and persistence, be pushed back. The peculiarity of totalitarianism: it is a totality with receding boundaries.

The problem that the totalitarian calculus of power sets for itself is to reduce or eliminate "resistance," to make fear pervasive but not paralyzing, and then to reorganize what are now pliable "elements." In its political version the story is sufficiently familiar: mass propaganda plus censorship, violence, terror, and torture. Under the Nazis these were the instruments of the regime. In societies advancing towards totality, where economy is predominant, fear appears as the by-product of systemic adjustments, in the normality of practices such as "restructuring" work, promoting technological obsolescence, or rendering employment and "benefits" insecure; tacitly allowing illegal immigrants to enter and then encouraging anti-immigrant politics and restrictive legislation—meanwhile the "native" labor force experiences declining wages and social benefits.

At the same time, the system never quite manages to find sufficient resources to eliminate the random terror and disorganized violence practiced in the streets. The ordinary citizen's experience of arbitrary power (with the police or a social service agency or in most workplaces) combines with the cult of violence in the popular media to furnish plausible grounds for the regime of constitutional democracy to acquire unprecedented powers to punish; to imprison (prisons are doubly institutionalized forms of terror—inmates who brutalize each other also serve, at one and the same time, to threaten and reassure the outside world); or to gain unrivaled surveillance powers through government regulation of the globalized networks created by new communication methods.

The social and cultural complement takes the form of diminishing the powerresources of the modern popular consciousness through de-historicization and its replacement by a hegemony of the pure present. The culture produces "practical powerlessness" by erasing or radically reducing the dependence of practice upon time: promoting, not once but repeatedly, obsolescence of painstakingly acquired skills and understandings; or discouraging memory of older ways and experiences by sentimentalizing them (consider the musical *Les Misérables* and the "Disneyization" of *The Hunchback of Notre Dame*); or disrupting the kind of attachments developed over time (family, marriage) by imposing mobility upon the disintegrating fabric of ordinary life—President Clinton advised Americans that each could expect to hold "eleven different jobs" in the course of a lifetime.

CHAPTER FOURTEEN

•••

Liberalism and the Politics of Rationalism

I. Popper, Dewey, and Rawls: Playing Out Liberalism

Critical reason is the only alternative to violence so far discovered.

—Karl Popper¹

The ambiguities and tensions between modern power and mid-century liberalism were preserved in two theoretical works, Karl Popper's *The Open Society and Its Enemies* (1945) and John Rawls's *A Theory of Justice* (1971), both of which were soon recognized as classics of modern liberalism. Together they provide clues about the evolution of liberalism from its triumph over Fascist statism to its temporary embrace of the Welfare State.

Although both books were written during wartime, albeit different wars, neither contemplates the domestic implications of war, foreign policy, military establishments, and mobilized populations. Consequently both writers fail to consider the possible deformation of a liberal polity by its experience of confronting totalitarianisms. At the same time, in both Britain and the United States, World War II, with its universal (male) conscription, rationing of food and fuel, and controls over wages and prices, was a leveling experience. All classes contributed, suffered, and did without. The legacy of that experience of forced democratization was the welfare programs of the first post-war Labour government in Britain and the GI Bill of Rights, the Truman Fair Deal, and the first significant civil rights legislation since the Civil War in the United States. The debate over planning, in which Popper and Dewey were significant participants, was as much a debate over equality as one over state power.

In contrast, the political context surrounding Rawls's *Theory of Justice* was deeply marked by the Vietnam War. Like World War II, the Vietnam War generated a democratizing experience but one arising out of opposition to the war, to the liberal politics that had led to it, and to the foot-dragging of liberal politicians on the issue of civil rights. We might, therefore, consider Popper and Rawls as liberal—rather than democratic—theorists who *play out* a liberal moment, magisterially working it out theoretically, without engaging liberalism in *working through* modernity's historical travails.

What is being "played out" are, first, the political possibilities of a certain tradition of theoretical writings. In Rawls's case it is the high-minded moralism and emphasis on individual freedom of Kant and John Stuart Mill; in Popper's it is the technocratic strain that one finds in Bentham and Saint-Simon, and that represents the Enlightenment's faith in the supreme value of reason and of its finest exemplar in scientific reason. Both liberalisms are played out within a mostly unquestioned framework of representative government, constitutional rights, political economy, and policy expertise.

In order better to identify some of the emerging differences between liberalism and democracy, I shall turn from Popper to consider a slightly older contemporary of Popper's, John Dewey. Dewey was more of a democrat than a liberal, a distinction sharpened by the political circumstances under which he wrote. Unlike Popper's *The Open Society*, which was written towards the end of World War II, Dewey's writings attempted to restate the meaning of democracy while confronting Nazism, Marxism, Soviet communism, and American military intervention before World War II had begun. Pairing Dewey with Popper enables us to contrast theoretical conceptions of the political and of the cultural role of science, and to prepare for another contrast, this time with Rawls, between conceptions of political philosophy and of the way philosophers publicly commit to democracy.

II. THE CLOSED SOCIETY

Popper's work was widely praised as the definitive analysis of the theoretical assumptions distinguishing a free society from its totalitarian enemies. It served as an occasion for *partially* working through the experience of totalitarianism and its organization of society for continuous warfare and permanent mobilization. Despite his book's title and frequent use of the word "totalitarian," Popper did not address directly the Nazi system of power or its atrocities, and he made no mention of Stalinism.² Instead he offered a characterization that had the effect of substituting analytically unhelpful categories of emotionalism, mysticism, and tribalism for the complex actuality of totalitarianism. Totalitarianism was thus constructed as irrationality, a perfect foil for the politics of rationalism.

The characteristics attributed to totalitarianism formed a background setting rather than an object of analysis. His main focus was on the concept of a "closed society," which might be described as a construct akin to a Weberian "ideal-type" with a distinct historical genealogy. He traced its origins to ancient Greece, to the reaction against the Greeks' efforts to throw off aristocratic, tribal, and custom-bound orders in favor of "individualism, equalitarianism, faith in reason, [and] love of freedom." In the course of that struggle the "strain of civilization" caused by the emergence of freedom and individualism provoked a "revolt against civi-

lization" and a reversion to irrationalism and tribalism.³ The notion of a reversion from a prior rationalism to a subsequent irrationalism would re-emerge in Popper's prediction of a post-totalitarian crisis when a stark choice between open and closed societies would be posed.

The concept of a closed society, according to Popper, had deep theoretical roots. In his reading its origins extended back to Plato, who intellectualized the anti-democratic reaction, and then forward to Hegel and Marx.⁴ By treating the closed society as a theory and, in the process, explaining its alleged appeal to intellectuals by its kinship with scientific rationalism, Popper could claim that the idea of a closed society had survived the defeat of Nazism, that Nazi totalitarianism was a moment in a broad tendency rather than a unique phenomenon.⁵ At the same time, by representing the closed society as a theory, he created a target that could be attacked theoretically, subjecting it to the kind of logical critique attributed to scientific explanations.

Although Popper offered no analysis of any actual closed society, the experience of totalitarianism was registered in the fear of power and the search to delimit it that dominates *The Open Society and Its Enemies*.⁶ It finds expression in the main confrontation he wanted to stage, between rationalism and irrationalism.

The first was represented by a science-grounded society that practiced "social engineering"—or the project of limited reforms—within the constraints of representative government; the second by a society gripped by an enforced vision of sweeping change and "the irrationalism inherent in radicalism." The inspiration for the idea of an "open society" was represented, in part, by the methods of empirical science and, in part, by an idealized version of the scientific "community." The latter comprised the practices of "critical rationality" by which scientific theories were exposed to thoroughgoing criticism by specialized communities of scientists. As we shall see, the ideal of a scientific community was to reappear in both Dewey and Rawls where it functioned as the standard for democratic deliberation.

The centrality of reason and science in Popper's argument points to his deep debts to the Enlightenment. But where nineteenth-century descendants of the Enlightenment, such as Saint-Simon, Comte, and Marx, invoked science in support of their utopian hopes, Popper installed science as a prophylaxis against utopianism. This suggests that Popper's conception of science was a response to a continuing tension between key Enlightenment values.

Typically the champions of Enlightenment had installed science at the pinnacle of values, treating it as synonymous with rationalism. For many later apostles of Enlightenment, and for Saint-Simon and Comte, science represented not only the method of rational inquiry but also the Baconian promise of virtually endless power for exploiting nature and assuring material, cultural, and moral progress. Beginning with Bacon and continuing into the nineteenth century, the champions

of science argued that the fulfillment of the scientific promise ultimately depended upon state power's assuming a positive role in organizing, promoting, and subsidizing scientific reason.

The experience of totalitarianism left Popper with a profound fear of organized and concentrated power in the hands of the state. "The state," he wrote later, "is a necessary evil . . . a constant danger . . . "8 Hence the quandary: how to defend the idea that a society and its politics should be tempered by the spirit and practice of science, and, while developing the power-potential of scientific knowledge, avoid its over-concentration in the hands of the state? Should science disavow the Baconian connection and resist becoming a dominant element in the foundation of state power?

As noted earlier, Popper characterized the closed society as one dominated initially, not by irrationalism, but by hyper-rationalism or "comprehensive rationalism." The closed society shared with the open society significant elements of rationalism, science, and social engineering; the differences were those of excess, e.g., ideological or dogmatic "scientism" instead of experimental science or "critical rationalism," total state control instead of narrowly restricted state intervention. The cause of excess lay in the "utopian" character of the hyper-rationalists. Its rationalism, Popper claimed, began by insisting on a total "blueprint" for society that would eventually prove "self-defeating" because such ends could not be determined "scientifically."

Although utopia's defenders might appeal to science, Popper insisted that that appeal was typically accompanied by a confusion of "prophecy" with true science. According to his account hyper-rationalists projected holistic schemes for a virtuous and rational order (e.g., Plato's *Republic*) that would eventually become irrational, relying upon mysticism (a "noble lie") and compulsion. In modern times a closed society would begin by adopting a modest form of scientific reason, but before long it would embrace an overly ambitious and extreme version that would lead to practical failures. In desperation the rulers would resort to violence and coercion in the hope of forcing events to conform to the predictions of the ideology. In contrast, an experimental outlook would proceed by encouraging pragmatic or incremental action, concentrating upon removing specific social ills rather than promoting a murky goal such as "happiness." ¹⁰

Popper identified the contemporary incarnation of the closed society with hyper-rationalism's vision of a centrally planned society. Although at the time there were few credible advocates of total planning outside the Soviet Union, ¹¹ there were those, represented in the British Labour party, who championed the idea of selective or limited social planning (e.g., of health care, education, fuel consumption). They argued that it was desirable and possible to develop rational schemes for establishing specific social priorities, allocating material and human

resources, and coordinating production schedules, all with an eye towards making a more efficient use of society's resources while raising standards of living for the general populace and promoting greater social equality, improving the health of the general population, and assuring economic security. According to its proponents, this could be accomplished without the suppression of civil and political liberties or the undermining of constitutional government.¹²

Popper seemingly dismissed the possibility of selective planning. Instead he extrapolated from the wartime experience of tight control over production, consumption, and information to insist that "Utopian social engineering," in addition to being prone to violence, squelching dissent, and promoting state worship, was inherently irrational. Comprehensive rational economic planning could not be introduced *in toto* without first causing chaos.¹³ Even if severe disruption were avoided, total planning assumed, mistakenly, that it was possible to predict the future and to lay plans accordingly. This assumption, in turn, rested on an unwarranted belief that the social sciences could provide the certain scientific knowledge on which predictions could be based.

The scientific status of the social sciences (by which he meant primarily sociology and economics) was a crucial matter because Popper would assign them an important role in his conception of "social engineering." Accordingly, his fears about power strongly conditioned his views about social science and its potential political role.

His reservations were not about the scientific credentials of social scientists. He allowed that "... theoretical methods... are fundamentally the same in *all* sciences." Rather Popper's concern was to show that social science could not legitimately claim what many social scientists aspired to, predictive powers. He advanced several reasons for denying them a power that many social scientists assumed to be essential for a genuine science.

Predictive power, Popper argued, was typically a disguise for a historicist ideology. Historicism was Popper's name for a claim, as old as Hebraic prophecy and as recent as Marx's conception of dialectical materialism, to knowledge of the "story of mankind" in the form of a "plot" that would be realized at some future date. Popper argued that genuinely predictive knowledge, or "scientific conditional knowledge," could be established only when a scientist was dealing with "stationary" systems, such as those studied by astronomers. Not only was mankind's history one of endless change, precluding the condition for predictability, but the proper object of social science was not collectivities—"a chosen people," or "social wholes," such as a socialist society—but individuals.¹⁵

While denying predictive power to the social sciences, Popper assigned them an important role in social engineering but one that he defined in largely negative terms: "to trace the unintended social repercussions of intentional human actions." That role, Popper promised, could bring the social sciences "very close to experimental natural sciences." It would lead, anti-climactically, to "the formulation of practical rules stating *what we cannot do.*" ¹⁶

III. THE OPEN SOCIETY

. . . what we need is not so much good men as good institutions.

—Karl Popper¹⁷

Yet Popper was no unreconstructed defender of laissez-faire. He advocated state intervention in the economy on behalf of the "economically weak" and vigorously argued that political power, in the form of democratic control, is and should be "superior" to economic power. Against those who claimed that the power of money in politics could block any serious effort at economic reform, Popper insisted that democracy provided the opportunity for using legal means to control "vote-buying" and impose "stringent" controls over "expenditure on electioneering." However, despite these gestures towards establishing the superiority of the political and justifying its intervention to remedy social evils, Popper emphasized that political power in the hands of the state was always dangerous; hence the state should intervene as little as possible in the economy: it should protect the free market, not control it, and its power should be closely checked by other institutions.²⁰

How, then, could the apparent tensions between defending state intervention and simultaneously controlling state power be resolved? Popper's open society was an effort to amalgamate liberalism with a version of scientism, to make the latter an essential part of the *political* foundation of the former.

Ideally an open society stood for limited government, the rule of law, and guarantees of individual liberties, and for a distinct conception of political rationality that Popper defined as "the application of the piecemeal methods of science to the problems of social reform." To avoid totalizing power, Popper's scientific politics relied upon experience and small-scale experiments, and upon a strategy of altering one institution at a time and testing the results against the original conception. Above all, it required free and continuous criticism ("critical rationalism") and—in anticipation of Habermas's later conceptions—stipulated values of impartiality, open communication, and a commitment to "a common language of reason." ²¹

The politics of social engineering foreshadowed a scientific/technocratic conception of what might be called the "policy state." Popper would limit policy to discrete "problems" whose solutions were to be conceived in the spirit of experimental projects ("social technology"). He gave virtually no attention to policy as it might emerge from the political contests over alternatives offered by rival political parties.

... [T]he scientific basis of politics ... would be the factual information necessary for the construction or alteration of social institutions, in accordance with our wishes and aims. Such a science would have to tell us what steps we must take if we wish, for instance, to avoid depressions, or else to produce depressions.²²

The political was assumed to be synonymous with politics conceived as a circumscribed field of debate over proposals that embodied social applications of scientific method. Except for positing a sharp distinction between the "question" of ends and "questions concerning the facts," ²³ Popper did not attempt to explore the problems likely to arise in the relationship between, on the one hand, political action proposed by his "social engineer" in accordance with the canons of scientific rationality and, on the other, majority rule constituted in accordance with democratic norms. It was clear, however, that the technocratic thrust was not intended by Popper as a surreptitious strategy for enhancing state power. Although, logically, piecemeal reform might lead to that result, Popper steadfastly insisted that the open society signified "a new approach to the problem of politics,"

for it forces us to replace the question: Who should rule? by the new question: How can we organize political institutions so that bad or incompetent rulers can be prevented from doing too much damage?²⁴

Although Popper frequently invoked "democracy," he made no attempt to describe the role of the citizen in an open society otherwise defined by scientific practice and technocratic rationality. The coherence of his vision of politics depended upon a strategy of moving methodically from one target to another, with each objective related to the preceding one.

In an important respect that vision of an incremental politics was itself utopian. The notion of "a problem," discrete and highly focused, did not confront the crucial point, that major problems are rarely discrete and, above all, their "solution" demands a political will to exert steady pressure over a considerable length of time. Popper's social engineering seemed not to allow for the inevitable swings and discontinuities when politics involves the activity of citizens with different views, opposing interests, and unequal influence. One consequence of free politics is that "problems" are rarely solved conclusively, not only because some of them prove to be more obdurate than anticipated (e.g., racism), but also because—as the so-called Reagan revolution would demonstrate—powerful interests can exploit the mass media to reverse policies previously considered as rational and consensual.

Popper never undertook to relate his conception of an institutionally controlled politics to the political practice and experience of citizens. There was even a strong current of suspicion about involving the public in politics. "Public opinion," he declared, "was an irresponsible form of power," and he looked forward

to the time when it would be replaced by "critical" discussions focused upon specific projects. ²⁶ In that context Popper's assertion that "a social technology is needed whose results can be tested by social engineering" seemed to have a greater affinity with the specialized discourse of the scientifically trained than with the political participation of ordinary citizens. ²⁷ It can be argued that Popper had presented, if not an anti-democratic conception of society, then a vision of a technocratic liberalism in process of limiting its commitments to democracy.

IV. HINTS OF AN EMERGING AMBIGUITY

... my social theory (which favors gradual and piecemeal reform, reform controlled by a critical comparison between between expected and achieved results) contrasts strongly with my theory of method which happens to be a theory of scientific and intellectual revolutions.

-Karl Popper²⁸

Despite the seemingly strong version of science represented by the above quotation and the accusation of "scientism" by some of his critics, Popper's view of science was guarded. More precisely, there is an important sense in which he labored to construct an apolitical, rigorist, almost puritanical conception of science so as to distance it from all but the highly limited practical applications.

For Popper the test of a scientific theory was not whether it could be confirmed but whether it could survive the rigorous tests of falsification.²⁹ "Falsifiability" was a way of distancing science, preventing it from being co-opted for sweeping reforms. His insistence that a stringent "logic" was a distinctive element in scientific method; that "critical rationalism" should govern political discussions; and that the idea of "social engineering" rather than any broad scheme of scientific social planning should determine the approach to social problems were all intended to preserve the "purity" of science and discourage its co-optation in the service of state power.

Although it would be misleading to read too much into these qualifications, they do represent intimations of a reaction against uncritical versions of "scientism." In subsequent writings Popper expressed a strong animus against "big science," "normal scientists," and "technicians" who lacked a sense of "history." He coupled this with a passionate plea for preserving "traditions." Even his robust confidence in the powers of rationalism was qualified: he acknowledged that the choice of rationalism was not a matter of scientific proof or logical demonstration but an act of faith. 31

As the horrors of Hiroshima and Nagasaki and the major role of scientists in the Manhattan Project became common knowledge, science began to lose its "romantic" status as an ahistorical, sociologically unembedded subject; it found its

knowledge-claims subjected to growing scepticism and its famed intellectual independence compromised by its integration into the corporate economy and its dependence upon the state. Those possibilities had, in fact, been raised earlier by a near contemporary, an American philosopher who was an even more enthusiastic proponent of science than Popper and a far more committed democrat.

V. Dewey: The Philosopher as Political Theorist

The crisis in democracy demands the substitution of the intelligence that is exemplified in scientific procedure for the kind of intelligence that is now accepted . . . Approximation to use of scientific method in investigation and of the engineering mind in the invention and projection of far-reaching social plans is demanded.

—John Dewey³²

At the turn into the twenty-first century when philosophers and political theorists paid homage to the achievement of John Rawls, they frequently praised him as the most important political philosopher since John Stuart Mill. While that judgment honored Rawls, it ignored John Dewey (1859–1952), perhaps the most outstanding American example of the public intellectual and indisputably the dominant voice in political theory during the inter-war years.³³

While Dewey produced major works on technical philosophical subjects, his writings were notable as well for their head-on engagement with the most pressing issues of his day: economic depression, government intervention in the economy, public education and child development, the manipulation of public opinion by the news media (long before the age of television), the reconstruction of American democracy, the challenge of communism and fascism, American membership in the League of Nations, and whether the United States should enter the European war (he had ambivalently supported U.S. entry into the First World War but opposed the Second). In reading Dewey, one feels that rather than his having chosen the topics, they chose him.

Dewey also took part in public debates and published frequently in popular magazines. His prose, while undistinguished, was always serious, plain-spoken, and a model of civic engagement. One measure of his refusal to condescend to his audience was the considerable pains he took to educate the public by making the major Western political theorists a live presence in public debates. Plato, Hobbes, Locke, Rousseau, Kant, Hegel, the classical political economists, and Marx all became active participants in Dewey's arguments. Although he was often described (and not always flatteringly) as a uniquely "American" philosopher, his writings testified to the vitality of a broader tradition of political thinking in which continuity could nurture critical, even radical innovation.

Paradoxically, although Dewey was educated in philosophy and associated with it throughout most of his life, he might be considered to have practiced political theory rather than political philosophy. Political theory might be described as the attempt to theorize the political by addressing the concerns of politics rather than of philosophers and using civic rather than professional forms of discourse. Political theory is theoretical in its attempt to compose a coherent network of concepts and abstractions in order to analyze what is going on in the contemporary world or in some selected part of the past. Dewey's political writings are consistently non-technical; they make small effort to discuss political questions as a philosopher would—that is, issues are addressed because of their public importance rather than their relevance to the ongoing controversies in the private world of philosophers. Even when Dewey's discussions are abstract, they are invariably pointed towards the issues of the day and towards a broad audience. This is not to say that Dewey treated those issues lightning fast and lightly over, as the modern pundit would do. His political theorizing bore the unmistakable marks of philosophy's discipline. Throughout a long life of engagement he kept steadily focused upon the implications or consequences of events as they affected the fortunes of democracy and especially the prospect for ordinary citizens to share in the fruits of scientific and economic progress.

VI. BACON REDIVIVUS

. . . the future of democracy is allied with the spread of the scientific attitude.

—John Dewey³⁵

As befitted one devoted to "experimentalism," Dewey's thinking underwent changes in direction as well as emphasis. He began as a neo-Hegelian, then added liberal Protestant and social gospel elements, aspects of the different pragmatisms of Peirce and James, behavioral psychology, and the sociology of George Herbert Mead, and emerged as the father of "instrumentalism." He retained, however, certain core beliefs: about "the primacy of method," the importance of "consequences," the political significance of science and technology, the inseparable connection between democracy and "progressive" education, and the value of democracy as a life-form and culture rather than a set of formal political institutions.

If there was one problem dominating Dewey's political theory, it was to persuade Americans that the proper organization of scientific knowledge and its technological applications represented the best hope of improving mankind's material lot and enabling ordinary citizens to develop intellectually, aesthetically, and morally. If there was one major difficulty in that project, it stemmed from

Dewey's principal political objective of combining, although not in equal parts, two cultures: one scientific, the other democratic.

Bacon, the first theorist of modern power, was a major inspiration for Dewey.³⁶ In virtually all of Dewey's political theorizing he assumed as axiomatic that "the prophetic vision of Francis Bacon of subjugation of the energies of nature through change in methods of inquiry has well-nigh been realized."³⁷ Indeed, Dewey was perhaps the last great exponent of—although not the last true believer in—the Baconian version of modern power. He accepted and fully incorporated Bacon's claims about the power-potential in the systematic cultivation of science and its technological applications; about nature as an object of organized assault; about there being "no difference in logical principle between the method of science and the method pursued in technologies";³⁸ about "the primacy of method," not only as controlling inquiry but as a paradigm for identifying and resolving social problems; and, not least, about the importance of instituting a culture oriented towards reinforcing the hegemony of scientific values.

But if Dewey was the last Baconian theorist of modern power, he was also the first Baconian to address critically the implications of the modern power establishment from the perspective of a committed democrat rather than from that of the promotional role of the state. Popper had sought to shield the practice of science from politics and to represent the theory of science by formal logic, the intellectual form most remote from everyday experience and from what used to pass as "common sense." In contrast, Dewey proposed a conception of science that not only placed it at the disposal of democracy but emphasized the intellectual affinities, even the continuities, between scientific method and everyday practices. That conception both elevated practice as the equal of theory and argued for a democratic participatory approach to the nature of knowledge. "... [K] nowing is not the act of an outside spectator but of a participator inside the natural and social scene . . ."³⁹

What is known is seen to be a product in which the act of observation plays a necessary role. Knowing is seen to be a participant in what is finally known . . . Knowing is, for philosophical theory, a case of specially directed activity instead of something isolated from practice. 40

In ordinary life knowing begins in experience. For eighteenth-century writers, such as Hume and Burke, experience, in its social form, conveniently crystallized into habit, regularity of conduct, and custom. Habit furnished what the Many "followed." In its political embodiment habit was cautionary and represented by prudence and, as such, touted as the first virtue of the statesman. Prudence was allegedly the virtue of the Few who would lead and could be trusted to exercise power with discretion, that is, to judge when circumstances called for "following" custom and when they required deviation. Prudence was defended as the

antithesis to abstract and especially mathematical modes of reasoning of which politically inexperienced radicals were allegedly enamored.

For Dewey the "modern idea" of experience is "an affair primarily of doing."⁴¹ It is democratic in the sense of being the ordinary stuff of life and accessible to all, including the acts whereby it is refined:

if the living experiencing being is an intimate participant in the activities of the world to which it belongs, then knowledge is a mode of participation, valuable in the degree to which it is effective. It cannot be the idle view of an unconcerned spectator. 42

Democracy, in turn, "is more than a form of government; it is primarily a mode of associated living, of conjoint communicated experiences." 43

For Dewey experience is intimately connected with "doing" or action. "Action is the means by which a problematic situation is resolved." Typically it is triggered when some occurrence disrupts a situation previously managed by habit; or when one encounters a new situation for which habit provides little or no guidance. Doing is the effort to adapt to changed or novel circumstances. Past experience becomes measured by present needs; its deficiencies give rise to an inquiry and to concrete suggestion, to an action that attempts a remedy, a modification of behavior and/or circumstances. In the process action creates a new situation and a changed actor. Values emerge naturalistically in the interaction of what is experienced and responded to. The experience is judged good or bad and we make an effort to secure or avoid it.

Thus an experimental character is attached to life itself but not wholly at the expense of what has gone before. "To live signifies that a connected continuity of acts is effected in which preceding ones prepare the conditions under which later ones occur."⁴⁵

VII. EDUCATING FOR POWER

For Dewey, then, no unbridgeable gulf existed between the experimentalism of ordinary life and that of the scientist. That claim would assume crucial importance when Dewey attempted to combine the culture of democracy with the culture of modern science. Establishing the connecting link to secure that combination became the motivating impulse behind Dewey's main passion, education. For Dewey the kind of education that mattered should be public in inclusiveness, anti-elitist and democratic in its core, and oriented towards a malleable world being changed daily under the power of modern science and technology. In Dewey's educational philosophy modern democracy, for the first time, engaged modern power. Either the enormous power of modern industry, technology, and science must be democratized and its benefits distributed more equally or that power would be uncontrolled and its benefits confined mostly to

the few. As Dewey argued in defending the rights of teachers to participate in decision-making, "What the argument for democracy implies is that the best way to produce initiative and constructive power is to exercise it. Power, as well as interest, comes by use and practice."

VIII. DEMOCRACY'S MEANS: EDUCATION

We repeat over and over that man is a social animal, and then confine the significance of this statement to the sphere in which sociality usually seems least evident, politics. The heart of the sociality of man is in education.

—John Dewey⁴⁷

It is no quirk of judgment to rank Dewey with Plato and Rousseau as one of the foremost theorists of education. 48 His predecessors may have dreamed of playing legislator and reshaping society by instituting a new educational system, but Dewey, in fact, exerted a profound influence upon the theory and practices of education, not only in the United States but in pre–World War II China and Japan, and during the early years of the Soviet Union. 49

In the humble medium of public education and its teachers Dewey found the instrument for philosophy that Plato, Aristotle, and Rousseau had reserved for an imaginary ruler. By discovering the principles that ought to govern the public schools of a nation and prepare its teachers, the philosopher might shape its future citizenry directly, rather than through the agency of a ruler or an elite.

Unless a philosophy is to remain symbolic—or verbal—or a sentimental indulgence for a few . . . its auditing of past experience and its program of values must take effect in conduct. Public agitation, propaganda, legislative and administrative action are effective in producing the change of disposition which a philosophy indicates as desirable, but only in the degree in which they are educative—that is to say, in the degree in which they modify mental and moral attitudes . . . If we are willing to conceive education as the process of forming fundamental dispositions, intellectual and emotional, towards nature and fellow men, philosophy may even be defined as the general theory of education. ⁵⁰

The implications that Dewey drew from the notion of philosophy as the master science of education are suggested by the sweep he assigned education:

... the test of all the institutions of adult life is their effect in furthering continued education. Government, business, art, religion, all social institutions have a meaning, a purpose ... to set free and to develop the capacities of human individuals without respect to race, sex, class, or economic status ... Democracy has many meanings but if it has a moral meaning, it is found in resolving that the supreme test

of all political institutions and industrial arrangements shall be the contribution they make to the all-around growth of every member of society. 51

That vision was accompanied by a political tactic. Philosophy should act as "a liaison officer between the conclusions of science and the modes of social and personal action through which attainable possibilities are projected and striven for." 52 With echoes of Hegel and Marx, Dewey's political theory of education counseled that in

selecting the newer scientific, technological and cultural forces that are producing change in the old order; . . . estimate the direction in which they are moving and their outcome if they are given freer play, and see what can be done to make schools their ally.⁵³

For Dewey the idea of a political education was not conceived as a separate undertaking distinguishable from education proper. Education was political education. "Traditional" education was "imposition from above" and, accordingly, designed to reproduce elites. ⁵⁴ Although education for democracy meant "much active participation by students," it was not, Dewey insisted, preparation for "citizenship," as the pieties of the educationist would have it. ⁵⁵ Nor was it, as Dewey's many critics often complained, "free form," wholly "child centered" and indifferent to the great intellectual contributions of the past. ⁵⁶ Education was the schooling of experience. Children were encouraged to test, try, learn manual skills, devise solutions. They were to learn how to learn by learning how to judge, how to revise their own experiences, and how to share them.

IX. DEMOCRACY AND ECONOMY

Democracy is not in reality what it is in name, until it is industrial as well as civil and political.

—John Dewey (1886)57

Initially Dewey framed the possibilities of a scientifically and technologically organized society in terms of "control." "Modern experimental science," he wrote in 1929, "is an art of control . . . The attitude of control looks to the future, to production." Experimentalism was central to Dewey's advocacy of planning and socialism, although he never elaborated either notion programmatically. Experimentalism is best understood as embodying his notion of action or, as he put it, of "doing," of effecting changes that "alter the direction of the course of events." Dewey described the main elements of experimental inquiry as involving, first, "overt doing, the making of definite changes in the environment or in our relation to it"; second, focus upon a "problem"; and third, the "construction

of a new empirical situation" in which objects were now differently related such that their consequences were known.⁶⁰

This outlook led Dewey to a bifurcated view of social policy. While increasingly he designated the "economic regime" as the main barrier to the exploitation of scientific knowledge for the common benefit, he failed to suggest the broad policies that would bring about a reformed economic structure or to sketch what it might look like. Nor, it might be added, did he present any sustained analysis of the nature or structure of the "economic regime," much less of the evolution of its power. But there could be no mistaking his deep-seated hostility towards American capitalism, which he believed represented individualism run amok. In the midst of the economic depression of the 1930s and the New Deal's attempts at introducing a measure of economic planning and regulation, Dewey urged that the "forces of production" be "socialize[d]." The "regimentation of material and mechanical forces," he argued, "is the only way by which the mass of individuals can be released from regimentation and consequent suppression of their cultural possibilities."

Dewey explicitly rejected class struggle as a useful analytical notion even though he acknowledged "the existence of class conflicts, amounting at times to veiled civil war." In his eyes "cooperation" was a consistent element in human history and technology and a far more significant and promising source of social change than class struggle. Above all, he believed that if the methods of democracy were combined with those of science, society could transcend class conflict and its partisanship without compromising the value of equality. Democracy, he asserted, is "a comprehensive social interest." His abhorrence of revolutionary violence was strengthened, rather than challenged, by his conviction that violence had become institutionalized in society and remained deeply embedded:

Force, rather than intelligence, is built into the procedures of the existing social system, regularly as coercion, and in times of crisis, as overt violence. The legal system, conspicuously in its penal aspect, more subtly in civil practice, rests upon coercion. Wars are the methods recurrently used in settlement of disputes between nations.⁶⁵

As the cruel character of the Stalinist regime became evident, he took greater pains to differentiate his position from Marxism, even to disavowing the socialization of the economy but not the idea of economic planning. ⁶⁶ In the end the future of economy and democracy was left unresolved, perhaps because what mattered most was the adoption of the methods of experimentation:

[There is] no cause for discouragement: provided there is effected a union of human possibilities and ideals with the spirit and methods of science on one side and with the workings of the economic system on the other.⁶⁷

Yet, as we shall see, he did not so much reject Marx's analysis as parallel its conception of the social character of economic activity with his own idealized conception of the social character of scientific activity.

X. THE CONTEST OVER SCIENCE

The state must always be rediscovered.

—John Dewey⁶⁸

In his political writings Dewey confronted a fundamental dilemma. On the one hand he had consistently tried to discredit the picture of science as pure knowledge and scientists as following modes of thought radically discontinuous with the problem-solving methods of everyday life. We need, Dewey argued, to abandon "once for all the belief that science is set apart from all other social interests as if possessed of a peculiar holiness."69 That claim was fundamental to his vision of society organized around science and its practical applications. But he began to perceive that advanced capitalism was only too eager to have science discard its aura of detachment. Not only was scientific inquiry being steered by technological concerns, but science and technology were both in imminent danger of being integrated into capitalism.⁷⁰ The idea of the "economic," he wrote in 1927, so pervades all thinking about public affairs as to be "identical" with the "totalitarian."71 "... [E]conomic power has now become ... an organized social institution that resists all further social change that is not in accord with itself, that does not further and support its own interests as at present existing."⁷² Specifically, the economy is dominated by private corporations with the consequence that the promise of technology as the solution to mass poverty and cultural deprivation has been "confined and deflected" and "never" allowed to take "its own course." 73

At the same time that Dewey began to express increasing impatience with what he perceived as the halfhearted commitment of the New Deal to social planning, his abhorrence of Italian Fascism and German Nazism led him to reject theories that exalted the state and championed the extension and expansion of its powers. As early as 1927 he had declared, "*The State* is pure myth"—meaning that it had no transcendental status. It had emerged naturalistically, in response to human needs. Dewey did not dismiss the state but sought to reconceive it, grudgingly and less majestically: as the organization of the public, effected by officials, for the protection of the shared interests of the members. Dewey was casual about the precise form of the state, saying it might take any number of forms; what mattered was the focus on functions and consequences.

The state had been the pivotal element in Bacon's stratagem for the practical exploitation of scientific knowledge. If the state is to be downgraded, by what in-

strumentality is the stranglehold of capitalism to be broken and the potential social and economic benefits of science and technology developed and made available to all?

Dewey's response followed two main lines. One was to attempt to dissociate science from capital and reclaim it for a progressive vision of society. This involved a redefinition of the character of science and an expansion of its role beyond invention. Reconceived, science would provide not only the model of problem-solving but the defining value in a new culture as well. There is, Dewey maintained, no tension between experimentalism and democracy: experimentalism "is . . . the method of democracy." A new culture permeated by scientific values, and, as we shall see, by democracy, would be the means of peacefully reshaping society.

XI. THE IDEA OF A PUBLIC

The second, and more strictly political line was heralded by Dewey's assertion that for a genuine "public" to come into existence and effect its needs, it must first "break existing political forms." Towards that end he proposed a radical theoretical innovation, substituting the idea of a "public" for older notions of a sovereign people.

Initially a public is formed from those who are affected by certain "consequences" and seek either to secure them or "eliminate those . . . found obnoxious." That public might be described as natural or pre-political because both the consequences and the public they evoke are "direct" and localized, and do not, therefore, affect the general society. It is when "the perception of consequences are [sic] projected in important ways beyond the persons and associations directly concerned in them" that a broad public emerges. It is organized into a state with "special agencies" for dealing with consequences that on most occasions most members of the public experience only indirectly. The idea of a public that responds to events even though most members are not immediately affected was Dewey's formulation of the location of the political and of civic virtue.

The obvious question was how to insure that the citizenry would support state action to deal with consequences that most citizens would not directly apprehend or experience. Dewey's answer: democracy and a participatory citizen. "The keynote of democracy as a way of life" was "the necessity for the participation of every mature human being in formation of the values that regulate the living of men together." This, Dewey insisted, was "necessary from both the standpoint of the general social welfare and the full development of human beings as individuals." It involved disentangling democracy from capitalism theoretically and recognizing the antagonism between them:

The idea of a pre-established harmony between the existing so-called capitalistic regime and democracy is as absurd a piece of metaphysical speculation as human history has ever evolved. 82

At first glance Dewey's account of democracy in *The Public and Its Problems* seems vague because importantly lacking in, even depreciatory of, institutional forms. What was involved, however, was an emerging distinction, although not severance, between democracy and what might be called "institutional liberalism." "There is no sanctity in universal suffrage, frequent elections, majority rule, congressional and cabinet government." Throughout all of his writings Dewey maintained a critical view of the institutions that, for many observers, were the indispensable and principal means of expressing political democracy. Directly following the sentence quoted above, Dewey describes "these things" as "devices" that evolved to meet pressing needs rather than prerequisites to "forwarding the democratic idea." Democracy, he argued, did not originate in theories or in revolutionary movements. Rather it "reflected" certain "non-political . . . religious, scientific and economic changes" that were "innocent of democratic intent." "84"

Political democracy has emerged as a kind of net consequence of a vast multitude of responsive adjustments to a vast number of situations, no two of which were alike, but which tended to converge to a common outcome.⁸⁵

The transition to popular government "was the outcome primarily of technological discoveries and inventions working a change in the customs by which men had been bound together. It was not due to the doctrine of doctrinaires." 86

Dewey's lukewarm appreciation of the institutions that were usually praised as the embodiments of democracy was typically accompanied by a critical examination of the theorists, primarily British, who had exaggerated the value of central governmental institutions and contributed to the fetishes of individualism, self-interest, and the free market. The writers whom Dewey discussed at some length included Locke, Adam Smith, Bentham, and James and John Stuart Mill.⁸⁷ In Dewey's eyes they created a paradox by praising the liberalization of the suffrage, political parties, and representative legislatures, while their faith in the market made them reluctant to concede extensive regulatory powers to elective bodies and supportive of enlightened administration over popular participation.

Dewey's critique of classical liberalism did not signify a wholesale rejection of all of its principles but a shift of emphasis that would mean establishing a higher status and more fundamental role for democracy while uncoupling liberalism from capitalism. The political economy of classical liberalism, with its near-absolute conception of private property rights, promoted a version of extreme individualism—self-interested, aggressive, exploitive, and elitist—which was shaping a business culture that thwarted the democratic potential of science for ele-

vating the material and spiritual condition of the vast majority. In the absence of a predominantly democratic culture, liberal political institutions responded to those who controlled the "modern economic regime" and the means of disseminating information. Rhis had come about because scientific, technological, and economic changes had "disintegrated the small communities" and established "the Great Society." Although Americans "inherited . . . local town-meeting practices and ideas," now "we are held together by non-political bonds," primarily those supplied by modern technology. These forces have created conformity and "regimented behavior." The average voter, overwhelmed by the number and magnitude of social problems, retreated into apathy and the diversions of mass entertainment.

The challenge was to convert the impersonal "Great Society" left in the wake of scientific and technological changes into "the Great Community." In surveying the demise of liberal institutions in Italy, Germany, and Spain, Dewey would write that democracy had been destroyed because "it was too political" in the sense of political activity's being monopolized by politicians and parliaments. Democracy "had not become part of the bone and blood of the people in daily conduct of its life":

... unless democratic habits of thought and action are part of the fiber of a people, political democracy is insecure. It cannot stand in isolation. It must be buttressed by the presence of democratic methods in all social relationships.⁹²

In responding to the menace of totalitarianism, was Dewey risking the totalization of democracy?

XII. GREAT SOCIETY AND GREAT COMMUNITY

A community presents an order of energies transmuted into one of meanings which are appreciated and mutually referred by each to every other on the part of those engaged in combined action.

—John Dewey93

For community to provide the democratic solution to the problem of the public meant coming to terms with the novel conditions created by modern science and technology. "There are," Dewey complained, "too many publics" in the sense that "the machine age has so enormously expanded, multiplied, intensified, and complicated the scope of the indirect consequences," which "have formed such immense and complicated unions" of such "impersonal" character that the public cannot find itself.⁹⁴ The immediate task is to identify the conditions needed to transform the Great Society. "When these conditions are brought into being they will make their own forms."

Dewey's formulation of the conditions led to his basic contention that "the clear consciousness of a communal life, in all its implications, constitutes the idea of democracy." Unlike liberalism, for which liberal theorists had supplied coherence, democracy was expressed through the practices ordinary citizens had developed in association with each other. Dewey drew attention to a long and distinctively American tradition of local community life that had reshaped the political institutions "borrowed" from England. From that experience an "American democratic polity" had developed. Dewey grounded his concept of community in "conjoint activity whose consequences are appreciated as good by all singular persons who take part in it" and "where the realization of the good" leads to a strong desire to sustain it precisely because "it is a good shared by all." 198

Dewey noted that technology and economy had destroyed forever the small communities of the past. His communal vision preserved the ideal of the local but attached it to groups. "In its deepest and richest sense a community must always remain a matter of face-to-face intercourse . . . The local is the ultimate universal, and as near an absolute as exists." Although Dewey acknowledged community to be an ideal that, at best, could only be approximated, he insisted that its crucial value would be in serving as the guiding notion for transforming the Great Society into a Great Community.

By "local" Dewey had in mind groups or associations, not governmental jurisdictions such as counties, villages, or townships. 100 This enabled him to argue that democracy combines individualism and pluralism:

From the standpoint of the individual [the democratic idea] consists in having a responsible share according to capacity in forming and directing the activities of the groups to which one belongs and in participating according to need in the values which the groups sustain. From the standpoint of the groups, it demands liberation of the potentialities of members of a group in harmony with the interests and goods which are common. Since every individual is a member of many groups, this specification cannot be fulfilled except when different groups interact flexibly and fully in connection with other groups.¹⁰¹

XIII. THE SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY AS MODEL DEMOCRACY

In Dewey's version science was a "collective activity, cooperatively organized." This amounted to substituting the "collective intelligence" of science for Marx's description of the modern economy as a system of "social" production made up of countless individual contributions, sacrifices, and cooperative acts. 102 "Every scientific inquirer," Dewey explained,

depends upon methods and conclusions that are a common possession and not of private ownership . . . The contribution the scientific inquirer makes is collectively

tested and developed and, in the measure that it is cooperatively confirmed, becomes a part of the common fund of the intellectual commonwealth. 103

Like Marx in his vision of a future society wherein work formed a common task to which workers freely contributed, Dewey contrasted the "socialized," cooperative character of science with the anti-social individualism of capitalists. "Imagine," Dewey asked incredulously, "the scientific man who should say that his conclusion was scientific and in so saying maintain that it was also the product of his private wants and efforts goading him on to seek his private advantage."¹⁰⁴ Science, Dewey insisted, was a moral undertaking. ¹⁰⁵ Scientists not only practiced cooperation but presumed a community to which they could present their findings and count on unfettered discussion. ¹⁰⁶ Science thus presented an ideal that contradicted the values and practices of the market but, notwithstanding, was the progenitor of the miracles of modern power.

Dewey's ultimate ideal was a society in which scientific values permeated the culture and shaped human desires towards more cooperative and egalitarian ends. This would involve "the institution of the kind of culture in which scientific method and scientific conclusions are integrally incorporated." "Culture," far from being superstructure, played the kind of role in Dewey's theory that the "forces of production" had in Marx's: it embodied power, the means of transforming human desires, values, and behavior over the long run. Culture comprised "the relations which exist between persons, outside of political institutions, relations of industry, of communication, of science, art and religion" that "affect daily associations, and thereby deeply affect the attitudes and habits expressed in government and rules of law." 108

Writing before the political control of science and the uses of experiment by the Nazis and Stalinists became common knowledge, Dewey envisaged a time when the experimental methods and problem-solving approach of science would effect a complete transformation of civic culture and its discourse. Science needed to be "absorbed" and made "the instrumentality of that common understanding and thorough communication which is the precondition of the existence of a genuine and effective public." ¹⁰⁹

Unlike Marx's forces of production with their long history of complicity in exploitation and suffering, a scientific culture appeared untainted by such historical associations even though, as Dewey acknowledged, scientists had contributed to the weapons of warfare. The non-coercive character of scientific practice assumed importance in the science-oriented society Dewey envisioned. Scientific methods were to provide the basis for a new mode of governance in which "experimentation" would largely replace conventional understandings of action and form the indispensable precondition of policy and legislation.

"All experimentation," Dewey wrote, "involves . . . the making of definite

changes in the environment or in our relation to it." "Certainty" was the basis of "control," and control meant being able to regulate "the conditions of change with respect to their consequences." To the question of how consequences were to be evaluated, Dewey responded:

Judgments about values are judgments about the conditions and the results of experienced objects; judgments about that which should regulate the formation of our desires, affections and enjoyments.¹¹¹

Dewey rejected the claim that a science-oriented society must inevitably lead to rule by experts, but he recognized that a democratic public required a new type of expert. The role of the expert was to be limited, subordinate to what Dewey singled out as "*the* problem of the public." Publics had to be educated so that discussion, debate, and judgment could be improved. "Vision," Dewey remarked, "is a spectator; hearing is a participator." This, in turn, required that experts concentrate upon inquiry, discovering and communicating the relevant "facts," not upon "framing and executing policies." 113

The democracy that Dewey envisaged would be permeated by scientific values and set in a culture similarly shaped by scientific values. ¹¹⁴ That formulation appeared to eliminate the potential conflict between a conception of an experimental, constantly changing society and the ideal of community with its evocation of face-to-face relations. But only at the price of elevating science as the standard for public dialogue and relegating "the local community" to serving "as its medium" of "communication."

The primacy of science was even more pronounced in *Freedom and Culture* (1939), Dewey's last major statement. Although that work strongly defended democracy, it also formulated two contrasting accounts of democracy. One extolled the lasting value of the democratic tradition of localism and emphasized the importance of preserving "face-to-face" relationships. The other was critical, emphasizing that democratic values of freedom and individualism have been coopted by capitalism so as to create the impression that capitalism and democracy were virtually indistinguishable. ¹¹⁵ Clearly localism was a move that allowed Dewey to extricate democracy from identification with capitalism and to contrast it with capitalism's praise of self-interest and rugged individualism. Accordingly democracy is pronounced to be essentially "moral":

It is moral because based on faith in the ability of human nature to achieve freedom for individuals accompanied with respect and regard for other persons and with social stability built on cohesion instead of coercion. ¹¹⁶

Extolling the moral character of democracy was one of several of Dewey's formulations whose effect was to depoliticize democracy so that democracy came to mean "the belief that humanistic culture should *prevail*..." 117 Beyond some gen-

eral formulas about participation, Dewey never squarely associated democracy, local or otherwise, with participation in the exercise of power or self-government. His definitions of democracy were surprisingly pallid. Democracy, he would write, is communicated experience; or democracy consists of mutual interests; or democracy is the process of continuous adjustments to change. Had Dewey foreseen the future, his democracy might have found fulfillment in the Internet's paradox of intimate communication without face-to-face contact.

Dewey did not simply set the humanistic culture of democracy against the culture of capitalism or the images of democracy produced by the mass media. 119 While Dewey urged the permeation of culture by democratic and scientific values, he also called for the permeation of democracy by scientific values. The result was a tendency on Dewey's part to delimit democratic values—"the reign of opinion, and of controversial conflicts is a function of absence of methods of inquiry which bring new facts to light and by so doing establish the basis for consensus of beliefs." Democracy thus becomes identified with a "method" of discussion that assimilates it to science, while science is consistently described in communal terms that make it appear naturally democratic. 121 The result is to homogenize democratic action while stripping it of dissonance so that it merges with the ideal form embodied in the actual behavior of scientists.

In the end Dewey's most crucial concepts—experimentation, method, and culture—were ways of evading questions about power. His society appears fixated on the findings of method, the conduct of experiments, and the communication of results. Questions of how problems become identified, who controls the communication of results, and who evaluates the consequences were all left indeterminate. Ultimately there is no connection between Dewey's face-to-face democracy and his experimentalist society: while Dewey could envision a Great Community replacing a Great Society, he could not envision a Great Society composed of communities.

The greater problem, however, lay in Dewey's assumption that a union of democracy with a scientific-technological culture would be a marriage of compatibles. Was the scientific community, with its free exchange of ideas and information, a version of a democratic society—or was it that the concepts and language of modern science had so exceeded the common understanding as to be incomprehensible to the vast majority of citizens? By Dewey's account, technology had prepared the way for liberal political institutions by breaking down the barriers to communication of knowledge and spreading the consequences of action throughout the length and breadth of society. An alternative account might argue that the modern citizen eagerly adopted the latest technology without truly understanding it and hence remained dependent on those who did.

The difficulty with Dewey's formulation was, in part, its outdated picture of science. Modern science was in process of evolving from small-scale laboratories

in universities to "big science" housed within government departments and corporations, and organized accordingly. Even more important, Dewey overlooked the differences in power between, on the one hand, science and technology, and, on the other, democracy. Science, technology, and corporate capital are essentially impenetrable to, and unincorporable with, democracy. Paradoxically, modern capital, with its appeals to "consumer sovereignty" and "investor democracy," has drawn the line indicating the kind of feckless democracy it accepts. The incorporation of democracy into the complex of science, technology, capitalism, and state would mean that the political element represented by democracy would become embedded in, and adapted to, a complex of totalizing powers. On the other hand, when democracy is considered apart from those powers, it appears as an anomaly.

XIV. THE FADING AURA OF SCIENCE

Dewey's idealization of the "scientific community" quickly lost persuasiveness soon after the end of World War II. Not only was there the smooth enlistment of scientists in the war effort, culminating in the Manhattan Project's atomic bomb, the integration of science into the corporate economy, and the emergence of the scientists—usually with comparable credentials—arguing on opposite sides of controversies such as disarmament, global warming, pollution, and cloning. Scientists seemed no more immune to the politics of interest than any of the other players. Ironically the very result that Dewey had wished occurred: science lost its *mystique* only to regain it as esoteric knowledge.

Dewey had assumed that a society which embraced experimentalism would, *ipso facto*, devote it to liberal or democratic purposes. The actuality was that experimentalism would be embraced, selectively, by conservative foundations and think tanks and put into policy and practice by anti-liberal administrations. The result, as one of Dewey's early and most astute critics foresaw, would be a new breed of political men, fascinated by, and absorbed in, the techniques of power being mobilized for the First World War. Randolph Bourne wrote:

The war has revealed a younger intelligentsia, trained up in the pragmatic dispensation, immensely ready for the executive ordering of events, pitifully unprepared for the intellectual interpretation or the idealistic focusing of ends . . . the young men being sucked into the councils of Washington and into war-organization everywhere, have among them a definite element, upon whom Dewey . . . might well bestow a papal blessing. They have absorbed the secret of scientific method as applied to political administration . . . It is as if the war and they had been waiting for each other. 122

What matters here is not to discredit Dewey by itemizing the ways in which the world has failed to follow his prescriptions but rather to underline the moral of his failures: where Dewey's analyses and remedies are wanting is an indication of the precise locations where the condition of democracy has become precarious: public education, corporate power and the dominance of the economic, the engulfing of the public—not by its supposed opposite, the "private"—but by the pacifying culture marketed by the media.

A properly respectful epitaph might read:

 \dots the democratic road is the hard one to take. It is the road which places the greatest burden of responsibility upon the greatest number of human beings. 123

XV. Totalitarianism and Technology

Dewey would have agreed with Popper that the concept of "piece-meal social engineering" provided the best measure of the fundamental distance between an allencompassing regime, on the one hand, and a society of free individuals on the other. That formulation, however, tended to obscure an important feature of totalitarian systems, the important role of technology and instrumental rationality in the "slave world." It was not simply that the Nazis pressed science, medicine, and economics into serving the regime or even that the regime attempted to create "Nazi science." Rather it was the exploitation of elements of modern power common to Nazi and anti-Nazi regimes. Nazism developed a technologically based politics that simultaneously was substantively totalitarian and illusively mass-participatory. It exploited the possibilities of radio, cinema, newspapers, and, most strikingly, the staging of mass spectacles. Totalitarianism and technology were conceived and practiced as complementary: the hallmarks of a totalitarian regime—mass persuasion, indoctrination, and controlled terror—were realizable only because of modern technologies. ¹²⁵

The techniques of totalitarianism were described as "mass propaganda" and dismissed at the time as government-sponsored lying that was certain to languish with the overthrow of the dictatorships. They became, instead, major tendencies in all politics of the latter half of the century, not least in the politics of liberal democracies. The difference would not be that the culture promoted by capitalist technology would prove less enveloping than Nazism, less of a regime from which there was no appeal, but that torture and terror were unnecessary, even counter-productive. Although the "advanced democracies" would tolerate and positively assist in the use of torture and terror by several dictatorial regimes whose cooperation they deemed essential in promoting the ends of Western foreign and economic policies, domestically they could as easily control the "choice" of candidates as of products, while cloning the citizen after the consumer and integrating the latter

with the new forms of communal "bonding" ("cables," "nets," and "links"). A crucial difference was that Nazism depended upon the constant mobilization of the population, while advancing capitalism merely required the demobilization of citizens into consumers, non-voters, and insecure workers.

This more humane policy was also evident in the problem of surplus populations. Before the Nazis exterminated Jews, Slavs, Gypsies, social democrats, and communists, they "used them up" as slave laborers. In technologically advancing societies surplus population and outdated skills have become a deliberate, if indiscriminate, consequence, a product of policy. Surplus populations are inherent in the logic of "saving" labor and labor costs. "Downsizing" could refer to a reduction in the size of the labor force needed by an employer, but it might also signify a reduction in the status of the employee. Inferiority is thus naturalized, the result of "irresistible forces of change." Racial discrimination and generationally transmitted poverty do not appear as premeditated policies but as impersonal "side effects" while the personal element is assigned to the victims, who are said to lack motivation—a failing that would be remedied through the enforcement of a time-limit on welfare benefits. Similarly, the huge expenditures allocated for prisons and law enforcement in the United States, as well as the increasingly harsh penalties for what were once considered minor crimes, are viewed as unrelated to economic policies and as having no resemblance to labor camps. 128 Perhaps eventually, should the privatization of prisons continue, the circularity will be accepted and capital punishment will become a double entendre.

XVI. TOTALITARIANISM AND THE REACTION AGAINST DEMOCRACY

By representing totalitarianism in the image of the all-controlling state with its populations in the grip of mass irrationalism, Popper's book helped to crystallize a major theoretical tendency of attributing the evils of Nazism to the total politicization of human life. That depiction encouraged a reaction in favor of a minimalist or electoral conception of politics, defensive of individual rights, protective of private life, and hostile to taxation for social programs. The important discovery was that the demos could be depoliticized without directly attacking the idea of democracy.

If it is anything, however, democracy is about the public life of citizens, about ordinary human beings venturing "out" to take part in deliberations over shared concerns, to contest exclusions from the material and ideal advantages of a free society, and to invent new forms and practices. That understanding was now tacitly being challenged by a conception which "liberalized" democracy, identifying it with private freedom and interests rather than common action and shared advantages. That tendency was reinforced by scholars who discovered a latent totalitarian potential within democracy. They identified as the key element in a

to that view, democracy, with its claims about majority rule, the will of the people, and popular sovereignty, elevates the will of the collectivity to the supreme political value. Building on that presumed parallel, one scholar proceeded to invent a new and ominous regime-form, "totalitarian democracy," and endowed it with a genealogy stretching back to Rousseau's "general will" and the French revolutionary Terror. Paradoxically, in the aftermath of World War II, in which democracy had been depicted as the exact opposite of totalitarianism, totalitarianism was now being depicted as a version of democracy. Totalitarian democracy, then, was a critical construction, reflective of a deep suspicion of collective action. It justified the idea of an attenuated democracy, dissociated from political action and identified instead with protecting individual rights and promoting economic growth.

Concurrently elitism, which had been stigmatized earlier as a fundamental principle of fascism, ¹³⁰ was reinvented and presented as a respectable liberal ideal, legitimized by political theorists and empirically demonstrated by social and political scientists. ¹³¹ Elitist tendencies found their complement and justification in the social science construction of an apathetic, politically ignorant electorate whose existence virtually begged for manipulation. ¹³² A "neo-liberalism" began to take shape, especially in the United States, in the post-war years. It built upon a narrow conception of the New Deal as social welfare programs rather than as a tentative democratizing thrust that empowered labor unions, encouraged cooperatives, and challenged concentrations of corporate power. The political tendency of the new liberalism stressed instead the need for strong leadership and a technocratic version of elitism as expertise, and for acceptance of the Cold War ideology and its justification of a defense-based economy that permanently elevated "national" security to parity with, and often priority over, "social" security programs.

The new liberalism continued to give allegiance to individual freedom and constitutional norms while seeming to be at ease with the incongruities between an emphasis upon constraining power ("constitutional democracy") and an eagerness for expanding it ("the national security state"). And by equating political action primarily with "positive" presidential leadership and accommodating it to a huge, hierarchical, and centralized bureaucracy, neo-liberalism increasingly distanced its political identity from citizen-centered democratic principles. At the same time its expansive conception of state-power, both at home and abroad, depended upon the resources being generated by an anti-democratic type of economic organization—one driven by unequal rewards and administered according to hierarchical principles of authority supporting a cult of leadership that emphasized the mastery of power by larger-than-life CEOs. 133 On every front liberal society was accepting accommodation with the inequalities generated by visions

of excess: New Frontiers (Kennedy), Great Society (Johnson), and culminating in the empire of a Superpower (G. W. Bush).

These political and ideological tendencies towards amassing and rationalizing ever-greater concentrations of power found their mythical and theoretical correlative in the scholar's vogue of "systems theory." In its political version it presented a model of a complete political society, an integrated whole, operating according to "inputs" and "outputs" originating either within the system or external to it. A system was described ahistorically, in terms of the functions it performed: no citizenry as such, no distinctively political life-forms, and no vocabulary of common values, no hint of racism or inequality. There was, instead, a reconceptualization of the state as an impersonal and self-regulating order without special ties of loyalty, patriotism, or obligation. It was a model of depoliticization and, as such, reflective of tendencies towards totality. 134

XVII. DEMOCRATIC REVIVAL?

[The] surge of participatory democracy and egalitarianism [in the 1960s and 1970s) gravely weakened, where it did not demolish, the likelihood that anyone in any institution could give an order to someone else and have it promptly obeyed.

—Samuel Huntington¹³⁵

The challenge to neo-liberalism came from the direction that, historically, American liberals have distrusted since the controversy over the ratification of the Constitution. That direction could be described as democratic, egalitarian, local in origin, and participatory. Notably, its politics was generated outside of, and often in opposition to, established political institutions (political parties, legislatures) and conventional norms. It was, in large measure, a politics of improvisation, of bricolage.

It exploded in the sixties, first in the civil rights movement generated by African Americans, then in the protests against the Vietnam War organized on the campuses of universities and colleges. Criticism of liberalism was an important ingredient in both movements. For African Americans it was a liberal administration's hesitancy in mounting a determined campaign against racial discrimination and violence. In the case of critics of the war it was the appetite of liberal decision-makers for military engagement against communist regimes; for diplomatic, economic, and covert campaigns against revolutionary populism in Third World countries; and for economic "development" or "modernization" as the universal panacea for political and social problems.

In the course of both movements serious efforts were made to promote forms of democratic decision-making involving the participants on a continuous basis

while avoiding concentrating power in the hands of a few. The anti-war movement was particularly adamant in rejecting hierarchical forms of leadership. While the civil rights leadership followed an earlier liberal agenda—looking to governmental power to enforce desegregation, protect constitutional rights, and promote employment, while largely ignoring social problems posed by technology—it, along with the loose collection of groups associated with the campus revolts and the anti-war movements, invented new political forms emphasizing democratic participation, public protests and demonstrations, and non-violent resistance. And not fully appreciated at the time, they enlarged the traditional meaning of the political to incorporate ecology. Modern forms of power were attacked for their destruction of human and natural habitats, their sacrifice of traditional and working-class neighborhoods to economic development, the depletion of natural resources at a furious pace, and the pollution of land, air, and water with industrial waste and military trash. Perhaps the lasting contributions of the sixties were the revival of political consciousness and the development of an environmental consciousness.

While the new politics preserved the anti-corporate traditions of nineteenth-century populists and early twentieth-century Progressives, it also extended that critique to take account of multinational corporations. Unlike the Progressives, however, the new politics was, in principle, hostile to centralized state power. The issue gradually being forced was whether democracy and the neo-liberal state were compatible.

Whatever their shortcomings and occasional excesses, the anti-war, civil rights, and ecology movements represented serious attempts at making democratic practice and equality the touchstones of a new politics. For the first time since the defeat of Nazi totalitarianism the values of community and solidarity were widely discussed and unapologetically enlisted to serve as a new context for equality, displacing one in which individualism and individual rights served as the defining principles. 137 That development helped to make possible the emergence of a highly effective women's movement for equal rights that soon transformed its concerns into a major political and cultural force. Interestingly, while the civil rights movement spawned a variety of political tendencies and managed, despite the formidable obstacles of entrenched racism, to elect African Americans to public office at almost every level of government, the anti-war movement, while its influence was felt for a few decades (e.g., in the anti-nuclear movement), failed to transform itself into a permanent political force, not least because it was primarily based on the campuses, hence on a faculty increasingly uncomfortable in its political role and a student population always in flux. As the economy grew harsher, the society less forgiving, and education far more expensive, the fashion and advertising industries discovered that opposition could be appropriated, then marketed as a provocative "attitude," and converted into profitability.

CHAPTER FIFTEEN

•••

Liberal Justice and Political Democracy

I. Liberalism on the Defensive

The sixties caught liberal theorists by surprise, in part owing to a complacency encouraged by a seemingly wide public consensus based upon liberal beliefs and confirmed in the discourse of consensus popular among social scientists and analytical philosophers.¹ The emergence of a non-communist democratic left deeply critical of liberalism presented liberals with a challenge they had not previously confronted. Among the surprises of that challenge was a sustained attack upon the strong and positive conception of the state represented by Kennedy's New Frontier and Lyndon Johnson's Great Society. Democracy was being recast in terms of smaller scales and "appropriate technologies," participatory possibilities rather than leadership, and rejection of what was perceived as a militaristic and imperialistic state.

An unraveling of the liberal consensus began and reached dramaturgical intensity during the disruption of the Democratic convention in 1968, followed by the defeat of its candidate and the brief takeover of the party by "radicals" in 1972. Not only was there a frontal attack on conventional electoral politics from outside the party, but both the "movement left" and the party insurgents were highly critical of corporate power to the point of forcing the fundamental issue of whether capitalism and democracy could coexist except on terms that rendered democracy hollow. The restatement of liberalism thus became an urgent matter.

As practical politicians responded by marginalizing the radical elements within the Democratic party and moving towards the right, the assumption that liberalism and democracy were synonymous began to fray. The new or "neo-liberalism" first positioned itself in "the vital center," between "the incompetence of the right" and "the totalitarians of the left." According to one of its principal champions, "Mid-twentieth century liberalism . . . has thus been fundamentally reshaped by the hope of the New Deal, by the exposure of the Soviet Union, and by the deepening of our knowledge of man"—this last a reference to the pessimistic view of human nature developed by the theologian Reinhold Niebuhr.² Soon the Democratic party was describing itself as "centrist," and "fiscally re-

sponsible." Along with proclaiming an end to "big spending" on social programs and to the party's traditional suspicion of "big business," centrists pledged to increase spending on the police and the "war" against drugs. The party's new identity was made easier by the swift disappearance after 1972 of visible life-forms on the political left. Except for the emerging environmental movement, democracy, as a practical force, remained inchoate. The constituencies served by the old Democratic party—urban poor, African Americans, Hispanics, and trade unions—were "accommodated" with studied rhetoric and minor concessions. Centrism became simply opportunism with a caring face, a point reinforced by the fact that in the last decade of the twentieth century no major political party and only a tiny number of national politicians openly confessed to a liberal political identity. Ironically, or ominously, parties and politicians of every stripe proclaimed their devotion to "democracy."

When the liberal-democratic alliance was severely strained in the aftermath of the sixties, the insufficiency as well as the vulnerability of both was exposed. For in the 1980s the new conservatism would selectively combine elements of each to produce such remarkable political mutants as libertarian conservatism, populist conservatism, even self-styled revolutionary conservatism. While liberalism practically disappeared as a publicly professed ideology, it retained a virtual monopoly in the Academy.

II. Freedom and Equality: Liberal Dilemma

The socialist simply cannot face the fact that there is no conflict between democracy and capitalism . . .

—John Patrick Diggins³

During the latter half of the twentieth century liberal theorists constructed a problematic centered upon what were perceived as contradictions between liberal conceptions of liberty and equality. A free society required that all citizens should enjoy equal rights. The most frequently cited rights included freedom of speech, press, assembly, religion, property, and procedural rights of due process, e.g., fair trial, right to counsel. Assuming that rights would be accompanied by ample opportunities for their exercise, freedom would naturally enable some individuals to acquire better education, more wealth, and greater power than others.

Freedom thus encouraged the translation of equal rights into inequalities that seemingly could not be alleviated or eradicated altogether without restricting the rights of those who had legally acquired greater social advantages—or without taking away some of those gains and, in effect, transferring them to those who, for one reason or another, had failed to exploit freedom successfully. To be "disadvantaged" in a free society was to have equal rights but to be unable, or to have

failed, to use them effectively. In a society that was increasingly defined more by competition than by community, it meant being demeaned for living off the work and wealth of others. In a society where public rhetoric denied the existence of class conflict, conservative politicians could, nonetheless, exploit class resentments to drive a wedge between the working class and the poor.

Liberalism thus appeared caught between a libertarian principle and its inegalitarian consequences. The dilemma exposed the core difficulty of liberal political theory. It stems from the attempt to deal with the social and political consequences of combining a free political economy with an administrative state that had come to assume significant welfare responsibilities. For social and economic inequalities to be remedied or eased by state action assumes that the state, as the representative of the political, possesses a sufficient degree of autonomy to perform that function. But the free politics of a liberal society allows, indeed presumes, that those who control economic power are naturally entitled and expected to promote corporate or self-interests through the political process.

If it is argued that the role of the state should rise above interests, the reply of James Madison—a Founding Father and a sturdy liberal—was that while "Justice ought to hold the balance" between conflicting interests, the difficulty is that those who judge are "but advocates and parties to the causes which they determine."

Although Madison refused to conjure up civic virtue as the easy antidote to individual self-interest, his solution of dividing the powers of government, thereby making it difficult for a majority to control all branches, proved to be a solution to the wrong problem. The problem was not majority rule or minority rights. The issue concerned not numbers but power. A huge pharmaceutical corporation is not a minority but a concentration of power.

Madison's prediction, that a popular majority would pose the gravest danger of injustice, went untested. The institutional structure of checks-and-balances, separation of powers, and different electoral cycles for the elective branches of government proved so effective in blocking the formation of a consistent democratic will that we can never know whether a popular majority is tyrannical or trustworthy.

The deliberate frustration of majority rule helped to shift emphasis so that democracy, now discouraged by practical barriers, could be narrowed, equated with formal equal rights rather than with popular power and responsibility for care of the political. In the context of civic apathy, anti-democratic politics dominated by powerful corporate interests and wealthy individuals posed the gravest danger to justice and fairness. Typically economic and social disadvantage translated into political disadvantage. To be unequal was to be perpetually at a power-disadvantage. If liberalism were to restore its democratic credentials, it had not only to provide remedies for economic inequalities but to confront the fact that inequalities of power, and the consequent exploitation of advantage, were inherent in a competitive society.

Raising the minimum wage by the usual modest amount hardly increases the comparative political power of the poor or enables them to exploit political rights and compete with the more affluent. For a liberal conception of justice to challenge the causes or sources of power-disadvantage embedded in the social and economic structures of a liberal society, and to consider what it would be like for genuine power-equality to be incorporated into major institutions, would be to favor a democratic over a liberal conception of justice. And that would mean challenging the political economy of corporate domination. A democratic theory of justice would have to formulate a democratized political economy that could serve as an alternative to the corporate political economy and be committed to radical alteration of institutions, particularly economic institutions traditionally endorsed by liberals.

One liberal dilemma, that economic power as presently constituted controls or greatly constricts the democratic possibilities of a solution, points to the presence of a second—or at least to an irony. The more that liberal theory has tried to cope with the political consequences of bonding with capitalism, the more elusive the solution to the primacy of self-interest and the more difficult the problem of how to constitute a democratic civic culture in a capitalist society. The measure of the difficulty would be the extent to which liberal theory continued to favor mechanistic devices designed to secure political power against egalitarian democracy rather than devising the means by which a democratized political economy could compete with corporate power. It would come down to a choice between challenging capitalism and weakening democracy by benign neglect.

The first and unpalatable course would mean sidling up to Marx, recognizing that while Marxian conceptions of the inevitability of revolution and the triumph of the proletariat were misconceived, those same conceptions can be redefined as (a) the necessity of critically confronting capitalism and (b) the substitution of democracy as the proper universal for the proletariat, but a democracy committed to decentralizing practices. Marx provided what liberalism has sorely lacked: a critical theory of capitalism. In a critique of capitalism the crucial claim is not solely, as some defenders of liberalism were to complain, that all individuals all of the time unswervingly follow the dictates of self-interest. It is, instead, the political implications of capitalism as a system of power that conditions the political while manufacturing a media culture that promotes mass fantasies at odds with the civic culture required by democracy.

The stronger temptation would be for liberalism to settle for an anti-Marx alternative that, while admitting the structural causes of inequality, attributes the effects of inequality to accidental, extra-economic causes. Inequality may be treated as structural, inevitable, or accidental, but the issue remains regardless of whether political and economic equality and power are accepted as intertwined or as merely contiguous or contingent.

The terms of the dispute reflect a historical distinction between the political and the economic long maintained by liberal theorists. Although launched in the name of political economy, the teachings of the classical economists were about society conceived as an economy, a prosaic structure of interrelated activities—investment, labor, production, and exchange—aiming at the systematic production of wealth.⁷

By the time that Marx and Engels had written their Manifesto of the Communist Party (1848-1849), a rival interpretation of economy had crystallized. Socialists of various types proceeded to analyze economic structure in terms of power-relationships and social classes, thus bringing an essentially political analysis to bear upon economic phenomena. Although they succeeded in puncturing the idyll of the coercionless economy and bringing into political focus the constitutive role of self-interest, their strong criticism of capitalism did not serve as a prelude to socialist societies. The exception was the "utopian socialists" who, in their efforts at establishing small communities based on cooperative labor and common ownership of property, attempted a radical scaling-down of power. In contrast, from the last quarter of the nineteenth century and throughout the twentieth, socialist parties sought to promote social programs by expanding state power. In response liberal policy-makers co-opted some socialist proposals and incorporated them into the governmental process while protesting that they were not promoting "Bolshevism" but saving capitalism. Instead of serving as a stimulus to rethinking notions of democratic power, social welfare programs instead became stigmatized as handouts to the lazy.

As a consequence an important possibility for changing the political meaning of economy became, instead, a bureaucratic artifact, an element in an administrative economy. Thus some practitioners favored supplementing the market with limited types of state intervention (e.g., regulating financial transactions, enforcing contracts, controlling the money supply, adjusting tax and interest rates, and keeping an eye on the "dangerous classes"). The remedies were conceived in a new discourse-realm of expert "policy-making" insulated from demotic politics and closer in outlook to the emergent managerial style of corporate governance. Not coincidentally, prior to World War II it was standard usage among reformers to refer to governmental operations as "administrative management" and to urge the adoption of business methods by governmental bureaucracies.⁸ The legitimation of administration by economists served to confirm rather than to challenge Marx's main point of the primacy of the economic and of the subordination of governance to management.

III. JOHN RAWLS AND THE REVIVAL OF POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY

Rawls's book had an immense impact and enabled moral and political philosophy to stop seeing themselves as purely (or at least primarily) descriptive approaches; they could now claim an active role in the discussion and resolution of public problems.

—Alexander Nehamas⁹

When John Rawls's *A Theory of Justice* (1971) appeared, it was greeted as a deliverance of analytical philosophy from its apolitical indifference and acclaimed as the century's most important treatise on political philosophy. ¹⁰ Analytic philosophy had triumphantly demonstrated that it could address social evils, defend equal rights, and offer guiding principles for the redistribution of resources. As *Political Liberalism* (1993), the title of Rawls's second major work suggests, he would undertake to develop a distinctively liberal conception of the political. The motivation for the project was implied in a certain juxtaposition of terminology: he would propose a *liberal* resolution to what he claimed was the looming crisis of modern constitutional *democracy*. These aims and achievements were undergirded by an expansive conception of the role of political philosophy as ambitious as that of any of the classical theorists and as confident that matters political could be grasped *sub specie aeternitatis:*

In a constitutional democracy one of [political philosophy's] most important aims is presenting a political conception of justice that can not only provide a shared public basis for the justification of political and social institutions but also helps ensure stability from one generation to the next . . . Thus political philosophy is not mere politics: in addressing the public culture it takes the longest view, looks to society's permanent historical and social conditions, and tries to mediate society's deepest conflicts. ¹¹

Unlike most classical philosophers Rawls did not seek to instruct the princes of the day in the arts of statecraft but to teach citizens, officials, and jurists a political philosophy centered on the norms, practices, and prerequisites of a liberal order. By his achievements Rawls can be said to have composed the magistral statement of liberal democracy, of that hybrid which, along with totalitarianism, represented the twentieth century's principal contribution to the typology of political forms.

His works raised two broad questions: first, in what proportions are the liberal and the democratic elements blended? and, second, are there significant powers, such as Superpower and corporate globalism, that have been omitted and that, had they been acknowledged, might have called into question the characterization of the hybrid as liberal/democratic, as well as what it means to be a citizen of a superpower with imperial pretensions?¹²

To explore these matters and the differing emphases between A Theory of Justice and Political Liberalism, it is helpful to consider the first work as reflecting a specific historical and political context, one that extends from the beginnings of the welfare and regulatory state of the New Deal—with its faith that social problems could be managed through a combination of expert policy and administration—to the Great Society of Lyndon Johnson, where the regulation of corporate power was believed less pressing because the "economic pie" sufficed to accommodate not only a "war on poverty" but a war in Vietnam. A Theory of Justice, with its economic emphasis upon redistribution of resources, reflected and assumed the New Deal-Great Society tradition of the welfare, although not its warfare, state. In contrast, Political Liberalism represents a liberalism in an era of conservative dominance and "cultural wars," a liberalism gravitating towards the center and, having struggled to balance socio-economic inequality with political and legal equality in the face of mounting evidence of inequality in all three domains, retreating from that engagement and even disavowing it in part. The claim of the later Rawls would be that the most pressing problem of democracy was located in a non-material realm, in deep-rooted doctrinal differences, the domain that Marx would have called ideological and Nietzsche cultural.

By way of preliminary, Rawls's approach registered some recent changes in the discourse about justice that illustrate how firmly philosophy had abandoned its isolation and joined economics and legal theory to form a new kind of public philosophy—abstract, technical, and politically moderate. Jurisprudence had increasingly come to reflect the influences of philosophy and economic theories.¹³ Philosophers, in turn, became attracted to economic formulations and to legal modes of reasoning, especially as displayed in decisions of the Supreme Court.¹⁴ Economists, for their part, became important contributors to public policy at a time when economics had come to provide the discursive link connecting the worlds of finance and business generally with the world of governmental bureaucracies where private interests are refracted into public policies. Economic rationality and bureaucratic rationality came to form a seamless web. Rawls is the philosophical synthesizer of these developments.

IV. ECONOMY AND POLITICAL ECONOMY

Justice is the first virtue of social institutions, as truth is of systems of thought.

—John Rawls¹⁵

A Theory of Justice adopts the main elements of the liberal problematic: the tensions between liberty and equality, the historical distinction of the political from

the economic, and a consensual basis of society as the fundamental political consideration.

By installing justice as the first virtue of all social institutions, Rawls served notice of his intention to engage the issues of inequality. The terms of engagement were tailored to the requirements of policy and administration. Appropriately, Rawlsian justice formulates its general problem in economic terms, ¹⁶ as "the way in which the major social institutions *distribute* fundamental rights and duties and *determine the division* of advantages from social cooperation." ¹⁷ "The theory of justice" is declared "a part . . . of the theory of rational choice." ¹⁸ Its starting-point is not the virtuous citizen but the rational, self-interested bargainer familiar to economic theories. Accordingly, the defining principle of citizenship is reciprocity, and it leads to an important modification of the traditional idea of the social contract, from a political solution to arbitrary power to a bargaining conception.

The centrality assigned to economic policy has important political consequences for Rawls. The role of administration is enlarged, while governance is conceived technocratically, narrowed to a highly centralized autonomous state independent of the social and economic powers it is supposed to regulate. ¹⁹ "Free market arrangements must be set within a framework of political and legal institutions which regulates the overall trends of economic events and preserves the social conditions necessary for fair equality of opportunity." ²⁰

Rawls proceeds to posit the autonomy of the regulatory state, and its power to redress socio-economic inequalities, without, however, examining the political economy of concentrated wealth and corporate power.²¹ His silence about the structures of economic power was not an oversight but a gesture of legitimation. He accepts that inequalities are inherent in those structures and justified if they work to "everyone's advantage."²² Thus inequality is to be managed, not challenged—which would mean subordinating participatory possibilities in favor of administered benefits.²³

What implications for equality lay in the reliance upon administrative expertise rather than political action by the unequals?

V. Justice and Inequality

In its ordinary meaning justice is concerned with rectifying wrongs. In its political bearing the question is whether wrong is systemic or merely episodic. If it is being continuously reproduced and if the victims are consistently of the same class, then scrutiny into the nature of the system would seem in order. Or, more accurately, scrutiny must first decide which system is at fault: the political? the economic? the international?

Rawlsian justice is grounded in two basic principles. The first assigns equal rights and duties to all. The second stipulates that inequalities can be considered as just if, and only if, they "result in compensating benefits for everyone" and "in particular for the least advantaged." Inequality is identified primarily with an inequitable distribution of basic human resources and opportunities that nullified or weakened the exercise of rights. Under the second principle inequality is treated as systemic yet nonetheless beneficial to the least advantaged and hence not a matter demanding radical reform. Inequalities are inherent but they can be remedied. Other times, however, Rawls suggests that the causes of inequality lie outside the system, as when he characterizes inequality as a misfortune resulting from unpredictable social starting-points and "natural" individual talents that are either impossible to fully control or desirable to eliminate. But he resists attributing the origins of inequality to class structures, historical prejudices of race or gender, biased public policies, or changing technologies that produced superfluous populations. They seem more the result of bad luck in the distribution of natural endowments and in the family draw. Although Rawlsian justice focused upon improving the lot of the disadvantaged, there is no promise that justice is committed to eradicating inequality. The inequalities that "in the first instance" justice seeks to remedy are beyond legislation, arising from the various ways "the institutions of society favor certain starting places over others."²⁵ Inequality is thus assigned to the order of the irrational or contingent, to a "lottery." ²⁶ The compensatory benefits of inequality do not appear to challenge the structural inequalities of power.

Although Rawls stipulated that "the higher expectations of those better situated" were just only if "they work as part of a scheme which improves the expectations of the least advantaged. . . ," the stipulation is compromised because the two principles of justice were not granted equal standing. The range of available alternatives for achieving the goals of "compensating benefits for everyone," and "in particular for the least advantaged," was qualified at the start by Rawls's categorical insistence upon "the priority of the right over the good"—that is, the "priority of the principle of equal liberty over . . . the second principle of justice." The loss of freedom for "some," Rawls maintained, cannot be justified merely on the grounds that it advanced "a greater good shared by others." Liberty, in Rawls's formula, included rights of freedom of speech, association, personal property, and conscience. However, it is difficult to fathom how the regulatory state could significantly improve the lot of the disadvantaged without infringing upon the liberty of those who control the means of employment, determine the extent of health care, and resist environmental safeguards.

At the same time, Rawls was singularly cool about the value of rights of participation as a means of countering corporate influence. He explicitly excluded economic rights, such as worker participation in decision-making, and thereby

avoided the crucial question of the civic consequences of economic organization. By failing to acknowledge the economic system as a system of power or to make provision for the means of popular resistance to it, the Rawlsian vision avoids any direct challenge to the system of capitalism and its politics.

When taken together the two principles—of justice as the first virtue of social institutions and the priority of liberty—point to the peculiarity of Rawlsian justice. Rawls explicitly stated that he would not inquire into the causes of "injustice" although he admitted that in a society of "deep inequalities" these were "pressing and urgent matters."³¹ That disclaimer was justified by a distinction he returned to constantly between "ideal" and "non-ideal" theory.

The province of ideal theory included the principles of justice, a conception of a liberal-democratic political constitution that turns out to be an idealized version of existing American constitutional arrangements, and a political system closed off from the external world so that no one enters and no one leaves. It is, in these respects, a complete or total construction, stable and unchanging. "... [T]he theory of justice . . . must not be mistaken for a theory of the [existing] political system. We are . . . describing an ideal arrangement, comparison with which defines an ideal standard for judging actual institutions, and indicates what must be maintained to justify departures from it."³²

"Non-ideal theory" refers to the application of ideal theory to circumstances that vary in the degree to which they are distinguishable from the ideal situation.³³ Typically the application of non-ideal theory is preceded by broad generalizations about the non-ideal world, e.g., "... actual political and social life is often pervaded by much injustice." These usually signalled a sensitive point where disparities in wealth, power, and opportunity were acknowledged without being engaged. They are disposed of by being assigned to "sociological theories." 34

It is not solely that Rawls posited a system that was "closed" and hence unaffected by questions of foreign policy, or actions by other states, or the political role of the military and its effects upon economic policy.³⁵ Political philosophy's reluctance to undertake the political analyses necessary to demonstrate that justice is an urgent matter is the direct consequence of its failure to offer a coherent theory of power. Rawls's political world is all rules, law, and principles, never (in his words) "mere politics." Especially striking is his failure to comprehend that an "advanced" economy is both an internal structure of power and influence and an external one affecting not only domestic but also foreign and military policies. Rather Rawlsian justice prefers a setting undisfigured by the power formations represented in domestic concentrations of economic power and wealth, corporate globalization, and Superpower.

Thus A Theory lacked a critical account of the sources of the ills it set out to remedy. Although Rawls often identified with the theoretical tradition of the social contract, he omitted a vital element of earlier contract theories, an analysis of

what was wrong with current political practices such that a comprehensive recodification of basic principles was urgent. Instead he perpetuates acceptance of a system of power by blurring the identity of the economy into the protective anonymity of "society." "Economic arrangements" including "competitive markets" and "private property in the means of production" are part of society, hence nonpolitical. Far from offering a critique or reform program for the social and economic institutions that, as a matter of course, produce inequalities of reward, require mindless, anti-civic labor for a large part of the population, and establish hierarchies of power that render injustice inherent in the system, Rawls opts for an economy based on competition and private property, the very system that systematically reproduces inequalities. The suppression of power-talk is the sign of a liberalism being transformed from a critical theory into a legitimizing theory.

Rawls's first principle of justice stipulates an "inviolability founded on justice" possessed by "each person . . . that even the welfare of society as a whole cannot override." The formidable hurdle which that principle presents to any radical scheme for equality points to the kinds of considerations that lead Rawls to want to ameliorate inequality. For Rawls the urgency of addressing inequality is dictated not by its undercutting political democracy but by the threat that it poses for a conception of society as both a "system" of "cooperation" and a mechanism for distributing "social benefits." The perceived danger is that the benefits may be insufficient to enlist the necessary cooperation, and that "conflict" would ensue. Accordingly, a system of justice is to be evaluated primarily for its impact upon "coordination, efficiency, and stability."

Inequality, rather than viewed as a running sore on the body politic that casts doubt on its democratic professions, is regarded as a potential danger to the economic order, a threat to the "coordination, efficiency, and stability" essential to an economy postulated as one of "moderate scarcity." While productivity made the liberal promise of social reform plausible, productivity in an economy of "high rewards" also assures inequality. ⁴¹ The principle whose positive value Rawlsian liberalism cannot acknowledge, yet needs, is inequality. For the ability of a liberal society to ameliorate inequalities depends, in the last analysis, upon a type of economy that produces them.

Rawlsian justice thus faithfully mirrored contemporary liberalism's fundamental perplexity, that despite constitutional guarantees of equal liberty *and* a dynamic economy that seemed not merely to promise but to deliver increasing prosperity and opportunities, social inequalities persisted and began to deepen. But as his phrase "the least advantaged" suggests, Rawls would not consider the permanence of poverty as a *political* problem inseparable from the radically unequal differentials of power inherent in a competitive economic structure of strikingly unequal rewards. As a result he was unable to conceive a solution beyond state-administered philanthropy.⁴²

This deficiency is nowhere more apparent than in his discussion of participation. Rawls deplored the undervaluation of what he calls "the fair value of political liberty" without realizing that his own economistic terminology contains the explanation. In a society where the cultural influence of capitalism is predominant, the devaluation of political values works to the advantage of powerful economic interests. Nothing is more feared in those quarters than the possibility that populist resentments at "the malefactors of great wealth" might translate into political intervention in the economy. Nothing is more desirable than a lack of popular confidence in political institutions and officials.

On several occasions Rawls complains that the existence of economic inequalities poses serious difficulties for political democracy. "Disparities in the distribution of property and wealth that far exceed what is compatible with political equality have generally been tolerated by the legal system." In a capitalist society "property and wealth must be kept widely distributed" and democracy must be freed from "the curse of money." Political power rapidly accumulates and becomes unequal . . . [I] nequities in the economic and social system soon undermine whatever political equality might have existed under fortunate historical conditions. Universal suffrage is an insufficient counterpoise . . ." ⁴⁵

While these excrescences are deplored, they are never theorized. Instead Rawls proposes *ad hoc* remedies. Because "the democratic process does not even in theory have the desirable properties that price theory ascribes to truly competitive markets," it is "necessary . . . that political parties be autonomous with respect to private demands, that is, demands not expressed in the public forum and argued for openly by reference to a conception of the public good." Public subsidies should be introduced to make political parties "independent from private economic interests."

One might object that unless accompanied by a strong culture of participation and political education, voting for subsidized parties hardly changes politics. Indeed, Rawls does not provide the kind of strong defense of participation that would justify subsidization. Participation, in his formula, does not define "an ideal of citizenship" nor "lay down a duty requiring all to take an active part in political affairs." On the contrary, "In a well-governed state only a small fraction may devote much of their time to politics." "There are," Rawls remarks dismissively, "many other forms of human good."

The Rawlsian alternative to participation turns out to be a Madisonian manipulation of structure to produce the desired results. The strategy of imposing economic modes of theory upon political practices requires that politics and its institutions assume the form of procedures and devices of redistribution whose rational construction supposedly guarantees just outcomes. The success of the strategy depends upon the performance of the economy, upon not allowing policies aimed at the amelioration of inequality to jeopardize the economy's health.

Accompanying that strategy is a strong faith in the ability of formal institutions to control the vagaries of politics.

Stated differently, nowhere in Rawls's work is there a theory of governance, of what is required of those who rule and affect the daily lives of millions. He compares "the political process" to "a machine which makes social decisions when the views of representatives and their constituents are fed into it." Proceduralist politics, politics contained within and firmly constrained by agendas designed beforehand to assure what Rawls regarded as rational outcomes, emerges as the liberal alternative to the threat of destabilization implicitly attributed to participatory politics where structure and agenda are exposed to the vagaries of democratic decision-making. 49

In order to ameliorate inequality in a system that produces it as a matter of course, Rawls's liberalism is driven to expand the role of administration, to make policy rather than participation the principal agent of equality, thereby underscoring a decisive difference between liberalism and democracy. Rawls conceives of an elaborate welfare state in terms of five functional branches:50 an "allocation branch" that combines anti-trust concerns with correcting tax structure and revising property rights; a stabilization branch that looks after full employment policies; a transfer branch that oversees the guarantee of a social minimum; a distribution branch that assures just distribution by regulating taxes so as to prevent concentrations of power; and an exchange branch that arranges for goods and services which the market fails to provide.⁵¹ And the more that an increasing reliance upon administration defines the structure of politics, the greater the gap between liberal politics and democratic politics, the closer the affinity between governmental administration and corporate management. At the same time liberal politics finds itself in the quandary produced by liberal conceptions of freedom. Equal rights, as interpreted by the courts, play into the powers created by the liberal economy: corporate interests are accorded equal rights of speech and petition that enable them to dominate the political process, thereby compromising the state as an agent of the popular will. This sets the stage for liberal idealism.

VI. THE "ORIGINAL POSITION" AND THE TRADITION OF CONTRACT THEORY

Rawls sought to establish the legitimacy of his scheme of justice by positing an "original position" in which first principles were to be chosen. Although he specifically associated that construction with the contract theories of Locke, Rousseau, and Kant, there are differences. In contrast to some earlier theories, where the echoes of political controversies, even of upheavals, are discernible in the state of nature, Rawls's original position occupies a kind of void constructed for a theoretical purpose, "so as to lead to a certain conception of justice." ⁵²

The imagined situation is tightly controlled by Rawls through various stipulations and his individuals carefully programmed for the task of accepting the principles of justice that he presents. There is no collective deliberation. His choosers are not conceived as contemplating entering or instituting society but as opting for Rawlsian principles.⁵³ They are "representative men" who accept certain principles because they accord with reason and self-interest.

Given the original position, what does it mean to choose rationally and what conditions are necessary before rational choice can operate? Conversely, what considerations might undermine Rawlsian reason or hamper its effectiveness?

Kant and other Enlightenment thinkers looked upon ignorance as the enemy of reason. ("Dare to know!" Kant had exhorted.) Rawlsian rationality, however, followed a different, more specialized model, one that had to operate behind "a veil of ignorance." Rationality "is conceived in the narrow sense, standard in economic theory, of taking the most effective means to given ends." ⁵⁴

What does *the* liberal theory have to deny or ignore regarding the consequences of liberal practice and policy in order to insure that persons would choose liberal justice over any alternative? What strategies of argument, allegorical constructions, and imaginaries are introduced to assure a *modus vivendi* between social and political inequalities and economic stability?⁵⁵

First, the number and kind of considerations to be taken into account by the choosers are reduced beforehand. Then, in order to insure that the rational principles of justice will be selected, the chooser is, in effect, programmed at a certain level of ignorance. He is deprived of certain basic societal and self-knowledge. In that "original position," when first principles are chosen, certain facts and information are deliberately withheld. Class, status, and standing with regard to "the distribution of natural assets and abilities" are suspended. To allow for some degree of informed choice, choosers are allowed knowledge of "the general facts about human society. They understand political affairs and the principles of economic theory; they know the basis of social organization and the laws of human psychology." They are, however, denied knowledge of "the stage of civilization" of their own society. Apparently a liberal reasoner could not make a principled, disinterested, rational decision about justice knowing his or her own unequal status or the society's historical record on economic inequality, slavery, genocide, or imperialism.

Significantly, while it made provision for representatives of the unequal, the imaginary starting-point chosen by Rawls, depicting how and why his principles of justice would be chosen by rational actors, made none for unequals with a consciousness of their social origins *and* their histories. That this is not an oversight is apparent in Rawls's stipulation that the *experience* of inequality was to be excluded when basic principles were chosen. No one was to know his class position or status or "his fortune in the distribution of natural assets and abilities." ⁵⁷

Rawls's contract emerges as a transaction between abstracted individuals whose equality is temporary, achieved by the suspension of their social status and personal genealogies; this allows them to contemplate *their* "interests" independent of personal history while deciding upon "the principles that free and rational persons concerned to further their own interests would accept in an initial position of equality as defining the fundamental terms of their association." 58

Thus the original position imposes a certain sameness upon beings who, prior to that moment, would otherwise be dissimilar. If we accept that inequality is sociologically richer than Rawls's category of "disadvantaged" suggests—that it is grounded in cycles of poverty, ignorance, crime, and disease, and is a matter of everyday pain and despair to many—then the suspension of that experience is, in effect, a discounting of it. It is difficult to recognize Rawls's conception of an abstracted equality and undistracted rationality as a plausible account of human actors, since those actors have been deprived of essential human attributes, such as historical memory, and retain only the barest social consciousness. Symbolically, Rawls's fiction is tantamount to a denial of the contemporary political relevance of those historical scars inflicted on particular groups that helped to shape not only their identities but their notions of political rationality. The temporary acquaintance with equality in the original position can be seen as the moment whose trace will be the liberal bad conscience.

VII. LIBERALISM AND ITS POLITICAL

[A] group of persons must decide once and for all what is to count among them as just and unjust.

—John Rawls⁵⁹

Although Rawls associated *A Theory of Justice* with a democratic society, his theory lacked a conception both of politics and of the role of the citizen. Instead his focus was upon administrative means and policy formulas that would alleviate inequality and thereby promote the ends of cooperation and stability. Those ends appeared to be independent of, or at least to dwarf, the claims of democratic politics. Above all, he seemed intent upon placing his two principles of justice "once and for all" beyond the vicissitudes of populist politics.

With the publication of *Political Liberalism* (1993), supplemented by later essays, Rawls attempted to remedy some of these omissions, taking particular care to present a conception of the citizen and to address the difficult question of the political from an explicitly liberal viewpoint. For the first time since Mill liberalism could claim a theory of truly imposing intellectual power and scope. It came, however, just as the political fortunes of liberalism began to wane.

Political Liberalism is not an amplification of A Theory of Justice but registers some notable shifts, including some severe qualifications about the earlier project. The discourse of economics, administration, and policy, along with problems of inequality, virtually disappears and is replaced by an emphasis upon political orthodoxy, the importance of political culture, and the role of the citizen. The most significant change is that doctrinal conflict rather than socio-economic inequality is the central preoccupation, and it is pressed with an urgency lacking in A Theory. The issue, Rawls claimed, concerned a danger to the very existence of a democratic society represented by "comprehensive doctrines." These are defined as systems of belief that "hold for all kinds of subjects ranging from the conduct of individuals and personal relations to the organization of society as a whole as well as to the law of peoples." 60

The peculiarity of Rawls's formulation is his examples of what might be called totalizing doctrines: religions (most notably Catholicism, but he makes no mention of fundamentalisms or of Muslims), Utilitarianism, and Kant's philosophy. Elaborate systems, such as those of Hegel, Marx, and Plato, which Popper had castigated, are ignored or barely noted. On the other hand, democracy and socialism, when conceived as comprehensive doctrines, are summarily blacklisted. His strategy for blunting the political influence of comprehensive doctrines is to propose a liberal conception of the political and of the citizen that can attract the adherents of "reasonable" comprehensive doctrines and, in effect, isolate the unreasonable. The question is whether his solution, by exacting a political loyalty test, approximates a comprehensive doctrine while distancing liberalism from democratic conceptions.

Certainly Rawls's intention was not to construct a comprehensive doctrine. In fact, *Political Liberalism* begins on a confessional note, that the main idea of *A Theory of Justice*, "the idea of a well-ordered society of justice as fairness," had been misconceived as a comprehensive doctrine.

That confession is startling given his definition of a "fully comprehensive doctrine" as one that "covers all recognized values and virtues within one rather precisely articulated system . . . "61 The serious weakness of *A Theory* was that it had not been comprehensive enough; e.g., it failed to include a conception of politics and of political power. Rawls proceeded to criticize *A Theory* for being "unrealistic," unrealizable because it failed to recognize that the contemporary world "is characterized not simply by a pluralism of comprehensive religious, philosophical, and moral doctrines" but that many of them are "incompatible" yet "reasonable." When Rawls submits that *A Theory of Justice* was bound to be challenged by other comprehensive doctrines, he reveals what is really at stake, not the comprehensiveness of doctrines but the threat of conflict.

Rawls described the problem of doctrinal pluralism as "a torturing question" involving "a number of conflicts between religion and democracy" so serious that

"unreasonable comprehensive doctrines" posed "a threat to democratic institutions." One important consequence was that the central goal of "stability" was unachievable because of the conflicts that *A Theory* would provoke among other comprehensive doctrines. Unlike Locke, for whom toleration meant removing state control over religion, Rawls contends that toleration is insufficient and that religions must importantly conform to what the state needs. To resolve these problems a conception of the political is introduced.

A "political" conception of justice, as opposed to a conception of justice based upon a comprehensive philosophical doctrine, might enable those who held wide-ranging incompatible beliefs to live together in peace and cooperation and accept "the political conception of a constitutional regime." The end result would prove closer in spirit to a Rousseauian regime of public virtue and of a civil religion with reasonableness as its dogma.

VIII. RAWLS'S GENEALOGY OF LIBERALISM

The move from justice and inequality to the political consequences of beliefs marks an important moment in the evolution of liberalism. *Political Liberalism* explicitly rejects as inadequate the Madisonian conception that a free politics would inevitably reflect interest-group pressures and that the solution lay in developing a constitutional system of countervailing authorities. That understanding, Rawls contends, represents a "modus vivendi," a mere expedient of a balance of forces rather than a political conception. It would not bring stability for "the right reasons."

In challenging the Madisonian conception, Rawls was taking issue with the mainstream understanding with two centuries behind it, that interests were negotiable, while beliefs tended to be inflexible. His actors are represented not by a pluralism of conflicting interests but by a pluralism of incommensurable belief systems. And where Madisonian liberalism had relied upon the fragmenting effect of the pluralism of interests and beliefs to undercut majority rule, Rawls counted on "a substantial majority of . . . politically active citizens" to counteract the pluralism of comprehensive doctrines. And where Madisonism had relied upon "a skillful constitutional design" to guide individual and group interests towards "social purposes," Rawls proposed the idea of an "overlapping consensus" that required believers in comprehensive moral, religious, and political doctrines to soften their comprehensiveness so as to be in conformity with a liberal notion of the political. 68

Significantly, as his point of departure, Rawls chose an identity and genealogy for liberalism different from the revolutions of 1688, 1776, and 1789 and their struggles against social privilege and political inequalities. "[T]he historical origin of political liberalism (and of liberalism generally)," he wrote, "is the Reformation and its aftermath, with the long controversies over religious toleration in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries." Rawls's chosen starting-point and its

legacy of "a transcendent element not admitting of compromise" produce a modernity curiously detached from material interests;⁷⁰ indeed, Rawls never entertains the possibility that material interests might be interwoven with systematic ideals. He prefers the question in the form posed by the *politiques* of the sixteenth century: "how is a just and free society possible under conditions of deep doctrinal conflict with no prospect of resolution?"⁷¹ Political liberalism's solution is to propose a "reasonable pluralism" whose unifying ideal is a latitudinarian one, "an overlapping consensus" among deeply opposed doctrines.

The choice of the Reformation as the starting-point of *Political Liberalism* and the decision to engage on a political plane the comprehensive doctrines fore-shadowed by religious belief systems have important theoretical and political consequences.⁷²

First, they raise the problem of the historical relationship between liberalism and religion; and, second, they call attention to the elevation of a certain conception of the political to a magistral plane "above" the sound and fury of class conflict and competing economic interests. Where the sixteenth- and seventeenth-century rulers fell back on toleration of diversity because they could no longer effectively impose a uniform religion, Rawls advocates a certain political uniformity to offset the effects of toleration. Further, by focusing conflict upon doctrinal differences Rawls once more avoids confronting class conflicts, economic power structures, and their political proxies: "conflicts" over "fundamental interests . . . need not arise, or arise so forcefully" if "reasonable principles" are accepted. Contentious matters of "interests" belong to the province of "political justice" rather than to "political liberalism." It is as though by choosing the Reformation, rather than the Industrial Revolution, Rawls affirms the transcendence of ideology over material interests.

The hostility between liberalism and religion is as old as modern liberalism itself. Virtually all of the great modern liberal theorists—Hobbes, Voltaire, Bentham, Jefferson, Paine, the Mills, and Constant—were either opposed to religion or sceptical of it, and were unanimous in urging its exclusion from the exercise of political power. The importance of the battle to rid politics of "priests" and "mysteries" becomes clear once it is recalled that the emergence of early modern democratic ideas and movements closely accompanied the emergence of religious sectarianism and was deeply influenced by Protestant notions of voluntary church organization, an engaged laity, and everyman (and woman) as an interpreter of Scripture.⁷⁴

More important, popular religion in the United States continues to retain a powerful hold over ordinary citizens. Churches, synagogues, and mosques are not only the crucial element in the religious life of many African Americans, Hispanics, Muslims, and Jews; they also have played a major role in politicizing their members and educating them in political matters. Religion in the United States has, overwhelmingly, been popular religion.

The liberal reflex, however, is to keep religion "private," to insist on a "wall" of separation between "church and state." As a result, liberalism discarded a potentially democratic element while deepening the rift between liberalism and democracy, a rift with political consequences. Whereas in the nineteenth century religious leaders and ideas played a powerful role in promoting democratic advances, such as the abolition of slavery, women's suffrage, and popular education, more recently a substantial segment of organized populist-Protestant religions has gravitated towards a radicalism of the right. The major exception is the extraordinary role played by black churches during the civil rights movement and afterwards.

As liberal theorists—many of whom are academics—become secularized, the religious impulse does not vanish but is sublimated into a conception of the political. There politics is purified into an idealized theoretical realm where the outcasts—the disadvantaged, the helpless, the victims of discrimination—are to be vindicated. The political becomes the sign of a lost religious. The repressed religious impulse returns in the form of a political that addresses the politics of conflict as though dealing with doctrinal disputations while excluding the "earthiness" of the economic.

Rawls begins the transubstantiation of the political by rejecting the pragmatic solution to religious conflicts. He will seek instead to blunt religious heterodoxy by proposing an ideological orthodoxy of the "politically reasonable" and a proper language of citizenship that the adherents to a comprehensive doctrine are obliged to accept.⁷⁵

IX. THE REASONABLENESS OF LIBERALISM

Where the political state has attained to its full development, man leads, not only in thought, in consciousness, but in reality, a double existence—celestial and terrestrial. He lives in the political community, where he regards himself as a communal being, and in civil society where he acts simply as a private individual, treats other men as means, degrades himself to the role of mere means, and becomes the plaything of alien powers. The political state, in relation to civil society, is just as spiritual as is heaven in relation to earth.

—Karl Marx⁷⁶

In *The Jewish Question* Marx had formulated the dualism that appears in liberal thought when capitalism came to dominate people's lives. Marx depicted these two domains within a context still strongly colored by religious motifs. While religious consciousness had been weakened by the steady advance of secularism, sufficient reflexes remained to agonize the liberal conscience and dispose it to re-

tain, not always consciously, religious categories in disguised form while decrying religious influences and insisting upon the separation of church and state.

One reflex projected an idealized political domain where moral principles and altruism prevail and ideals of the common good, civic virtue, and community are invoked. It is the realm of formal equality and equal rights. In the other domain, the "real" world, relationships are determined by economics, by ferocious competition, market-place values, self-interest, and glaring inequalities of power, living conditions, and life-prospects. It is the province of "is" rather than "ought."

Expanding Marx's theme: the political appears as the nostalgia for a lost innocence. To recover or to approximate the political ideal, one imagines an Eden-like state of nature (Locke) or original position (Rawls) where humans are conceived without their sinful material and social acquisitions or the burdens of their national history. Their sole possession is the faculty of reason. Reason and innocence signify the necessary preconditions that allow humans to deliberate and reach the truth. As long as reason is sole ruler, mankind is innocent in the sense that reason is pure; it has not assumed any of its later disguises of rationalism, rationalization, reason of state. The traumatic moment, when innocence is lost, occurs when economic activity is revealed to be reason joined to self-interest, the loftiest faculty, and distinguishing mark of the human, to the worldliest. Economy represents the domain of original sin, where once he has eaten of the tree of knowledge, mankind's eyes (reason) are opened (self-interest). Man now has free will but it is tainted. The dominion of self-interest over his economic activity creates a kind of apostasy and a re-enactment of the moment when the children of Israel forsake their God and hasten to worship the Golden Calf. Rationality and self-interest become inseparable. This places an excruciating burden on the individual. While exhorted to become " a good citizen," he is bidden by politicians "to vote his pocketbook." So, as a rational egoist who is also a citizen, he cannot—try as he may—compartmentalize his reflexes and modes of thinking; he becomes a "carrier" who, when he participates, contaminates politics with self-interest.

In *A Theory of Justice* Rawls had included an instrumentalist understanding of rationality and enlisted it with individual self-interest in the quest for principles of justice that could satisfy both. The conception of justice took shape as an effort to deal with the double status of the individual corresponding to the dualistic character of "liberal democratic society." Society appears as both polity and economy, justice and interest; the individual is both civic and acquisitive, both altruist and egotist. How to mediate the tensions? The answer: by proposing an ideology whose reasonableness, rather than its truth, renders it acceptable.⁷⁷

That answer leads to a startling view of the ambitions of political philosophy that is deliberately meant to mark a sharp difference between it and traditional philosophy. Rawls declares that philosophy's quest for truth in an independent moral and physical order is incapable of providing the kind of workable, shared

basis of agreement required of a political conception. Traditional philosophy inevitably provokes disagreement,⁷⁸ while, in contrast, a sobered political philosophy's "focus" is practical rather than critical. It is "to examine whether some underlying basis of agreement can be uncovered and a mutually acceptable way of resolving these questions publicly established."⁷⁹ More broadly, Rawls conceives political philosophy as the grand adjudicator of the disagreements in "the" tradition of political philosophy as exemplified by the contrasts between a Lockean emphasis on basic rights and a Rousseauian emphasis on political liberties and the values of political life.⁸⁰

The kind of agreement political philosophy seeks in an era of profound doctrinal differences is embodied in the two principles of justice described in *A Theory of Justice*. If we are to arrive at agreement, a "shared basis" is needed. For that purpose "we" need "to collect" our "settled convictions." For this one "starts from within a certain tradition":

we look to our public political culture itself, including its main institutions and the historical traditions of their interpretation, as the shared fund of implicitly recognized basic ideas and principles.⁸¹

The next step is to fashion "a new way" of organizing these cultural materials into "one coherent view" so that conflicting claims are seen in "another light." 82

The purpose is not solely to convert traditions into the stuff of a common perspective but to shape the character of the members so that they fit into society's system of cooperation. Persons in Rawls's society will have a "public identity," a "political conception of themselves" distinct from their "non-public identity." The public conception is plastic. It can be revised "at any given time" on "reasonable and rational grounds." Members do not lose their political identity if they change religions, nor need that identity be the same as in their "personal affairs" or private associations. However, although a citizen is free to press claims drawn, e.g., from a comprehensive doctrine rather than from the political conception of justice, those claims must be "compatible with the public conception of justice." Moreover, when one presses a claim, no matter how "intense" its feelings, these cannot be considered when the justice of the claim is weighed. A citizen must be responsible in the sense of limiting personal "ends" to what is reasonable "given [his or her] prospects and situation in society."83 (A civil rights movement practicing civil disobedience could hardly have succeeded within the constraints of the Rawlsian political.)

The self-appointed adjudicating role assumed by political philosophy is wide ranging because of the encompassing character attributed to the political. A political conception of justice is defined as a moral conception and "framed" to apply to "the basic structure of a modern constitutional democracy, i.e. to society's main political, social, and economic institutions, and how they fit together

in one unified system of social cooperation."⁸⁴ The distillation of political culture provides the basis for a political conception of justice: "a publicly recognized point of view from which all citizens can examine before one another whether or not their political and social institutions are just." They should be able to do this "whatever their social position or more particular interests."⁸⁵

X. The Threat of Comprehensive Doctrines

But how is a public citizen to be created in a society where members adhere to conflicting comprehensive doctrines? In Political Liberalism, while Rawls again admits self-interest into the calculations of those in the original position, selfinterest virtually disappears when he discusses comprehensive doctrines. The overriding concern is to distinguish the "reasonable" from the "rational" and to install the reasonable as the prime virtue of both citizens and doctrines. The reasonable is, Rawls specifies, a more public quality than the rational. Citizens are reasonable if they accept the terms of reciprocity and fairness on which a society of the free and equal can communicate about political fundamentals even though they entertain a variety of conflicting comprehensive doctrines. 86 Like the Puritan congregant, reasonable persons are willing to testify "before one another" that they are prepared to accept fair terms of cooperation.⁸⁷ The reasonable can fairly be said to be the ideology of a liberal society more haunted by the specter of disagreement than by the conflicts of interests that republican theorists from Harrington to Madison had emphasized. Those who disagree with what is officially pronounced to be reasonable can be dismissed as unreasonable.

Accordingly, "unreasonable" comprehensive doctrines are declared "a threat to democratic institutions," although nowhere is it suggested that the danger lies in some subversive conspiracy. Rather it is the comprehensiveness of the doctrines that renders agreement "impossible." Even a democratic comprehensive doctrine presents a danger. The "pluralism of comprehensive religious, philosophical, and moral doctrines" characteristic of "a modern democratic society" generates doctrinal conflict that threatens stability and social cooperation. Agreement is therefore seen as the crucial political problem and disagreement as the major evil.

Towards that end liberalism assumes the responsibility for fixing the standards for public discourse. Accordingly, it finds that the causes of disagreement are due not to conflicts of interest, but to the "hazards" that accompany judgments. These hazards form "the burdens of reason" that afflict the reasonable and lead to "reasonable disagreement." Their "sources" include conflicting evidence and its relative weight, vague concepts that need interpreting, differing "total" life experiences and normative considerations, the necessity of selecting from the full range of values, and adverse conditions under which judgments are often rendered. Since

there will be irreconcilable differences, it is important, Rawls declares, that during discussions no accusations of "ideological blindness" are leveled. 92

It is, Rawls claims, a "general fact" attested by "political sociology and human psychology" that an "enduring and secure democratic regime, one not divided into contending doctrinal confessions and hostile social classes," must be freely supported by "at least a substantial majority of its politically active citizens." 93

Attracting that kind of majority involves appealing to adherents of "reasonable" comprehensive doctrines by proposing a "political doctrine" that is independent of a comprehensive doctrine, and that they can accept and thereby bear witness to their reasonableness. A political doctrine for a democratic society must presuppose that all who participate in public discussions of right and justice accept the principles that human life and the fulfillment of its needs are good, and who "endorse rationality as a basic principle of political and social organization." A comprehensive doctrine demonstrates its reasonableness if it "does not reject the essentials of a democratic regime." When a believer attempts to offer a "public justification" on some political matter, she is required to partition her beliefs. She cannot appeal to her doctrine as such but only to the "reasonable" part that accords with the prevailing conception of the political. Should there exist "unreasonable and irrational, and even mad, comprehensive doctrines," these should be "contain[ed] so that they do not undermine the unity and justice of society."

The solution involves a strategy based on a tautology for exploiting the reasonable element that Rawls is confident exists in enough believers who embrace reasonable comprehensive doctrines. The test is in their willingness to accept fair terms of cooperation and reciprocity. If they do, then an "overlapping consensus" exists that assures social stability.

Unlike *A Theory*, with its commitment to a broad comprehensive moral doctrine, the signatories in *Political Liberalism* are pledged to a narrower and strictly "political conception" that nonetheless is related "in some way" to the various comprehensive doctrines held by all citizens. Pawals likens the political conception of justice to "a module . . . that fits into and can be supported by various reasonable comprehensive doctrines that endure in the society regulated by it." Those "opposing" comprehensive doctrines which have managed "to persist over generations" will find that their adherents have been socialized into "a more or less just constitutional regime" and exposed to its political culture, and thereby conditioned towards "consensus." The political conceptions that compose the substance of public reason include the Preamble to the Constitution, equality of opportunity, ideals concerning distribution of income and taxes, and "much else." It is "essential" to public reason that its "political conceptions" be "complete" and answer to "all or nearly all" questions regarding constitutional essentials. 100

That formulation is a crucial part of Rawls's discovery of the power in a political culture. Culture becomes the method by which popularly held beliefs oper-

ate as the equivalent of a general will. Political power, Rawls states, is always coercive power "imposed" on individuals. It is the power of equal citizens "as a collective body." The "family . . . of very great political values" of a constitutional regime "normally will have sufficient weight to override all other values that may come into conflict with them . . ." These "very great values" consist of the principles of justice, the values of civil and political liberty, economic reciprocity, guidelines for public inquiry, "fundamental concepts of judgment, inference, and evidence . . . [and] the methods and conclusions of science when not controversial . . ." "101 Nietzsche would have smiled . . .

XI. LIBERAL POLITICAL CULTURE

For while no one any longer supposes that a practicable political conception for a constitutional regime can rest on a shared devotion to the Catholic or the Protestant faith, or to any other religious view, it may still be thought that general and comprehensive philosophical and moral doctrines might serve in this role.

-John Rawls¹⁰²

Although the idea of a political culture appears to displace the contract in importance, the innocence of an original contract is preserved. Political culture is treated as an uncontested, unambiguous, homogenous domain. There is not a hint that political culture is also a domain of manufacture whose products are designed for a consumer-conditioned electorate rather than for a deliberative citizenry. Culture is presented as "latent," ready-made for the citizens to adopt rather than create. Rawls takes it as a "fact" that "the political culture of a reasonably stable democratic society normally contains, at least implicitly, certain fundamental intuitive ideas from which it is possible to work up a political conception of justice suitable for a constitutional regime." Culture is not a legacy of equivocal symbolic meanings bearing the scars and struggles, the dark chapters in any human inheritance. He sees what he calls "the public political culture of a democratic society" as the expression of a political conception of justice:

This public culture comprises the political institutions of a constitutional regime and the public traditions of their interpretation (including those of the judiciary), as well as historic texts and documents that are of common knowledge. ¹⁰⁴

He emphasizes that comprehensive doctrines are part of "the background" and belong to "the culture of the social, not of the political."

Contrary to Rawls, however, if those doctrines were truly *in* the "culture of the social," then their bearers would be not only doctrinarians but members of various racial and ethnic groups and social classes. Society would thus appear as

multicultural and socially stratified rather than multidoctrinal, as different ways of life rather than as abstract systems of belief. Once it is recognized that Rawls's conception of comprehensive doctrines has, in effect, muted salient differences, it becomes apparent that, far from introducing "pluralism" into his political conception, he has used the idea of a comprehensive doctrine to homogenize his citizenry politically by relegating their differences to "the social." That allows Rawls an answer to the question of how a civic conception of citizenship might be fostered in a capitalist society: by constructing citizenship and the citizen in isolation from the play of non-political loyalties. In order to reinforce that conception of a deracinated citizenry, Rawls constructs the equivalent of a civil cult.

This is in keeping with the dichotomy between the idealized political and the materially oriented socio-economic. It is reminiscent of the ways in which a conception of church membership is imposed upon the believer. Each citizen, Rawls declares, has a responsibility to pursue a conception of the good. Citizenship is pronounced a "moral" calling that requires certain modes of conduct or civility. When a citizen votes, for example, she is exerting a form of coercion over others; hence she should consult "only" "a public conception of justice" that is "explicitly liberal" and not a particular comprehensive doctrine. ¹⁰⁵

The key dogma that envelops the political with a religious aura is "public reason." It reveals "how the political relation is to be understood." Like the Puritan way of testifying, public reason is profoundly public. It is (allegedly) the reason of the public; its subject is public goods; and its nature and content are public. But, in Rawls's account, it refers primarily not to the reason of the citizen but to that of public officials, specifically, to the discourse of judges, government officials, and candidates. As for the citizens, other than debating and supporting, it is difficult to extract a conception of citizenship as an activity or as an experience in the participation in and exercise of power. Nowhere does Rawls mention local governments as a possible arena for the citizen. Instead citizens are to pretend to be an "ideal legislator" whose main task is "to repudiate" politicians who violate public reason. "Thus citizens fulfil their duty of civility and support the idea of public reason by doing what they can to hold government officials to it." 106

Like Rousseau's citizen—the Rousseau nurtured in Calvinist Geneva¹⁰⁷—the reason of the citizen represents a collective sovereign power that is restricted to fundamental issues affecting the constitution and its amendment. The constitutional issues include voting, decisions about which religions are to be tolerated, and who is to be assured of fair opportunity or to hold property. Non-fundamental issues are most tax legislation, regulation of property rights, environmental matters, and funding for the arts. Education is omitted from both lists. Although "a social minimum" covering "basic needs" is constitutionally guaranteed to all citizens, fair opportunity and the famous "difference principle" of *A Theory of Justice* are denied the status of constitutional fundamentals. ¹⁰⁸

The homogenizing, oppressive, character of public reason lies in its setting the terms and style of public discussion. All voters, all citizens who engage in public advocacy, and all politicians must conform: "Otherwise public discourse runs the risk of being hypocritical: citizens talk before one another one way and vote another." There are explicit guidelines for exercising public reason: no appeals to comprehensive doctrines, only to "plain truths" (which was the language Puritans often used to describe biblical teachings) and "the rules of evidence, inference, and reason." The reasoning of the citizen should be divorced from considerations of his social status, class, and income. 110 The model for the exercise of public reason is "the reason of its supreme court" 111—perhaps the American constitution's most undemocratic, least publicly accountable, and most subtly politicized institution. It is further suggested that when certain controversial matters have been "settled," they should be "taken off" the "public agenda" and placed "beyond the calculus of social interests." Not doing so "perpetuates the deep divisions latent in society" for partisan advantage. 112 In that vein majority rule is viewed with suspicion, and the power to amend the constitution is circumscribed. At the same time "the tradition of moral and political philosophy" is given an authoritative role in setting the agenda for the choosers in the original position: "... the parties must agree to certain principles of justice on a short list of alternatives given by the tradition of moral and political philosophy."113

Rawls's liberalism accepts democracy primarily as a formal principle of "free and equal citizens." The revealing passage is where he explicitly condemns "civic humanism"—a code-word for expressing disapproval of participatory democracy—and sides with the more elitist classical republicanism. Civic humanism/ participatory democracy is denounced as a comprehensive doctrine that "man is a social, even a political animal, whose essential nature is most fully achieved in a democratic society in which there is widespread and vigorous participation in political life." Participation, Rawls remarks disparagingly, is trumpeted not merely as a right but as "the privileged locus of the good life." 114

Democracy thus demands too much, pre-empts too much of human life to be a proper ideal. But is political liberalism itself a form of comprehensive doctrine? Rawls, of course, denies it; and while that denial may be justifiable, the question helps to expose the repressive elements in Rawls's liberalism. Primarily these reflect an aversion to social conflict that is in keeping with his elevation of stability, cooperation, and unity as the fundamental values. The political conception of justice that is at the heart of his liberalism must be "stable" and attract the "allegiance" of those who subscribe to conflicting comprehensive but reasonable doctrines. The allegiance is pledged to the basic structure of the "constitutional regime." The expansive meaning of "regime" is emphasized in that the structure comprises "... society's main political, social, and economic institutions, and how they fit together into one unified system of social cooperation." 115 Rawls

goes further to say that the political concept of justice is not just about a framework, "the basic structure of a modern constitutional democracy," but comprises "the character and attitudes of the members." His conception, he insists, differs from a comprehensive doctrine in that it derives from "certain fundamental intuitive ideas viewed as latent in the public culture of a democratic society" and is equivalent, therefore, to its "basic values." ¹¹⁶

That this formulation does not strike Rawls as illiberal is because the anonymous power of acculturation has been pressed into service to do the work of repression. Over time "the fundamental structural features of the public world" fostered by the liberal conception will work their "effects on citizens' political character," assuring "allegiance" and thereby stability. 117 Rawls insists that "questions of political justice can be discussed on the same basis by all citizens, whatever their social position, or more particular aims, and interests, or their religious, philosophical, or moral views. 118 Yet surely the efficacy of a liberal conception of the political, if it is to shape the outlook and responses of citizens, cannot be confined to their political capacity but will inevitably come to influence their outlook and behavior in other relations. 119

The tensions Rawls creates in trying to assert a strong and far-reaching conception of political culture, while denying that it constitutes a comprehensive doctrine, require him not only to outlaw some comprehensive doctrines but to require the adherents of "reasonable" doctrines to compromise their beliefs in the interests of promoting the civic culture. Thus he contends that a liberal regime would be right to require that the education of Amish children must prepare them to be "fully cooperating members of society, and enable them to be self-supporting." They should be made to develop "the political virtues." ¹²⁰

The idea that there could be "a" political culture at the historical moment when all modern political societies are wrestling with the facts of multiculturalism, ethnic diversity, and porous borders seems quixotic, but it also has a dangerous aspect that lies in a solidary conception of the political which Rawls invokes. The political constitutes "a special domain" because, first, we "cannot enter or leave it voluntarily" and, second, political power represents the full weight of the sovereign citizenry and is "always coercive power . . . regularly imposed on citizens as individuals," some of whom reject the general constitutional structure or the specific decision. ¹²¹

Beyond its repressive tendencies, Rawls's aversion to conflict causes him to deny to the political the vitality represented by those who firmly believe in their comprehensive doctrines. If it is not forced to defend itself, Rawls's public realm could easily become flaccid, dominated by stale discourses and tired rhetoric. Fortunately, shared values are sometimes less widely shared than the interpreters of official values tend to believe or hope. 122

XII. LIBERALISM AND GOVERNANCE

Towards the close of the nineteenth century Max Weber had asserted that the capitalist class was ill-equipped to govern, that the culture of profit and self-interest rendered it unfit for a role that demanded disinterestedness and the nurturing of a political class. ¹²³ Rawls, without confronting that charge, confirmed it by failing to address the problem of political, as distinct from administrative, governance. He relied instead upon rules and principles that would both satisfy motives of self-interest and appeal to a sense of fairness. There were no special norms, no cultural provision for those who would wield great power and be accountable for its uses. In effect, Rawls was conceding that a capitalist society could not, of itself, produce a governing class capable of surmounting its class origins and ideology.

Not long after the appearance of *A Theory of Justice* that vacuum would begin to be filled. In the administration of George W. Bush (2001–) the business executive became a familiar figure in the upper reaches of government. For the CEO the transition was easy. He or (the exceptional) she was accustomed to wielding power and increasing it, competing against rival companies, adjusting to swiftly changing circumstances, controlling a large bureaucratic structure—accustomed to hierarchy and obedience, and all the while cultivating a charismatic public persona. The proof of their political qualifications was the ease with which executives moved between boardrooms and war rooms without experiencing culture shock or learning block. The political and the corporate were being melded together, signifying the emergence of a new political form—and the decline of an older one.

XIII. Neo-Liberalism in the Cold War

The near-universal praise for Rawls's contribution to liberal theory obscured the fact that the actual course of American liberalism, and its re-invention as neo-liberalism, were far different from the prescriptions of Rawlsian justice.

American politics of the half-century from the early 1930s to the early 1980s underwent a striking transformation. During that period two ideologies, anticommunism and liberalism, dominated. Most academic economists and social scientists were solidly liberal and anti-communist. The same could be said of many political theorists, despite the influential exceptions of Leo Strauss and his school and the Anglophiles Russell Kirk and William Buckley, all of whom were conservative, anti-liberal, elitist, and anti-communist. 124

From the perspective of the present, the midpoint between the defeat of one totalitarianism and the disintegration of another was the high-water mark of American liberalism and the beginning of that ideology's evolution from "social conscience liberalism" to "neo-liberalism"; from a New Deal ideology—emphasizing social welfare, civil liberties, and a modest degree of governmental planning and regulation of industry—to an expansionist ideology that found concrete expression in financial assistance to revive foreign economies and anticommunist political parties, to open foreign markets for American goods and American culture while establishing military bases and propping up dictatorial regimes throughout the world.

The new liberalism remained state-centered, but its state was now imperial, its reflexes conditioned by anti-communism and Cold War exigencies, its political outlook accommodative to elitism and its politics to technocratic conceptions of policy and expertise. Presiding over a boundaryless, power-oriented system engaged in cold and some hot wars, the expansive assumptions of liberal politicians and theoreticians perforce came to be interwoven with, and dependent upon, those of the economy and its corporate structures. Unsurprisingly, the anti-corporate ideology of the thirties rapidly evaporated, leaving scarcely a trace. 125

What happened to the liberal tradition in America?

During the period of its ascendancy, from the 1930s to the 1960s, liberalism had no coherent ideological rival in the United States—no viable socialism and only an academic conservatism that contributed its share of ineptness to the Goldwater debacle of 1964. There was no significant domestic ideological or political challenge against which liberalism could define, defend, or test itself. Secure on both flanks, liberalism turned outwards, to engage external "challenges" and menacing ideologies. Increasingly its identity became defined by those concerns and included the development of an inflated vocabulary of power and state-centered rhetoric reflexive of the prolonged global rivalry with regimes depicted as dynamic, expanding, and radically evil. ¹²⁶

The resulting political imaginary during the years from about 1940 to 1990 had been haunted by demonic forces of epical dimensions: fanatical doctrines of racial, religious, and ideological purity that should have been unthinkable in a scientific age; the extermination of millions as a matter of deliberate policy; military weapons of unparalleled destructiveness including bombs that were proudly advertised as having "harnessed the energy of the universe"; an accompanying military strategy that promised to ward off a nuclear "event" by the threat of mutually assured destruction to both sides ("MAD"); and a post-war peace that brought a new and seemingly interminable war, "cold war," whose scope encompassed not only the "evil empire" of godless Communism abroad but spies, traitors, fellow-travelers, subversives, and left-wing critics at home. It was an updated

version of a Hobbesian world: rampant fears translated into huge concentrations of power in the name of "national security."

The liberalism generated by the early New Deal had had few if any demons; Roosevelt's quaint anachronism about capitalists as "economic royalists" evoked practically no resonance, and the New Deal state was consistently underconceptualized as a pragmatic accretion of programs with little theoretical and no mythical underpinning. In contrast the post-war inflation of the vocabulary of power to fantastic proportions—many efforts at social programs were described as "wars," e.g., on poverty, drugs, crime, cancer, and even education—contributed to a contourless liberalism: myths are expansive, careless of boundaries. A quarter-century after the New Deal its inheritors could smoothly couple an expansive, all-inclusive social liberalism of a "Great Society" with "the American superpower" whose reach was global and interstellar. But that appearance of a megastate, triumphantly atop the world, proved premature.

The Great Society collapsed, crumpled by a distant war, the Vietnam War, the first war to be "experienced" as a television event, the war that symbolized how massive power, when disconnected, decontextualized politically, and rendered abstract by its technologies, might flail about like "a helpless giant" (in President Nixon's anxious phrase). Defeated abroad and harassed at home, the liberal state began a gradual disengagement from social policy, masking its uncertainty by massing its might against the likes of Panama, Grenada, and, with a creaking effort, against Iraq in 1991.

Largely under the aegis of liberal administrations, New Deal, Fair Deal, and Great Society became intermixed with the experience of "total war" and the acquisition of an empire—the Welfare State mutated into the National Security State, then the Imperial State, episodes in the transformation of power towards ever greater totality and eventual mythologization—and accompanied by the steady marginalization of the demos as social welfare was replaced by corporate welfare, the citizen by the sometime voter.

Liberal thought represented the collapse/defeat of communism differently from the military triumph over German Nazism and Italian Fascism. Some liberals believed that Nazism and Fascism were singular phenomena because of their stark contrast to liberal values. Thus confirmed in the essential rectitude and universality of their own basic beliefs, liberals saw no need to re-examine first principles; and because "democracy" had conquered totalitarianism, they saw no need to ask whether the mobilization of democracy for cold war had not begun the conscription of democracy to serve the legitimation of a global power as mythical as democracy itself would become. Its name, Superpower, was inspired not by any ideology or theory but by a comic strip. Far from being absurd, however, the usage unintentionally exposed Superpower Democracy as a contradiction in

terms and inaugurated the postmodern condition in the specific sense of abandoning the Enlightenment ideal that reason and its moral principles should determine, not merely control, the manufacture of power.

The transformation of the liberal state was evidenced in the nature and status of presidential elections. Once a rowdy populist carnival for choosing one of the high offices in a republic, presidential politics of the late twentieth century was sleekly engineered into a tightly orchestrated production for anointing "the leader of the free world" and equating democracy with "free elections" even though the world—and a near-majority of Americans—do not vote, and elections are expensive and not free. The lavish spectacle of elections flattered the demos ("the sovereign people") while, by the sheer scale and display of money-power, reminding them of their powerlessness. Elections are not "held" episodically but are on-going. Before one election ends, preparations are underway for the next. 127

The political actuality of Superpower Democracy is of a continuous managed plebiscite, controlled excitement for the plebes: their Circus Maximus, their political Superbowl. The thinly veiled contempt for the voter in the lavish display was one of many indications that elections were steadily coming to resemble totalitarian plebiscites, except that in the United States some political ads (i.e., party propaganda) deliberately aimed to discourage citizens from voting, that is, from supporting those who governed. Perhaps in postmodernity indifference and apathy, demobilization rather than mobilization of mass excitement, are the necessary conditions of a new form of totality. 128

That the resemblance of postmodern democracy's elections to totalitarian elections went unnoticed was encouraged by the particular features of totalitarian regimes singled out by publicists and political scientists. The emergence of plebiscitary democracy, of politics with its occasional citizenry, can be seen as a reaction against solidarism, not only of the New Deal and the "total war" effort, but also of totalitarian systems. In the liberal-democratic interpretations of the totalitarian character of Nazism and Fascism, the interlocked powers of the Party and State were represented as having achieved total domination by penetrating all areas of social life and mobilizing the entire civil society on a permanent wartime basis. Totalitarianism was read as an object lesson in the twin evils of conceding too much power to the State and of overpoliticizing civil society.

These two aspects, concentrated power and overpoliticization, were shadowed by a third whose effects injected an equivocal note into the seemingly absolute contrasts between democracy and dictatorship. Mussolini once defined fascism as "organized, concentrated, authoritarian democracy on a national basis." 129 Both the Italian and the German regimes appeared to enjoy unswerving popular support. 130 The fact that it was only towards the end of the war that significant political resistance sprang up in those countries prompted some uneasy questions.

Did the steady public loyalty to those regimes mean the presence of a democratic basis to totalitarianism, or simply a manipulated and fearful mass? Was democracy, or failed democracy, as exemplified by pre-Mussolini Italy and the Weimar Republic, a precondition for the emergence and consolidation of the distinctively modern phenomenon of totalitarianism? The first question implied that there was reason to be afraid of modern democracy; the second that there was good reason to be afraid for democracy.

The effect of the first question was to inhibit theorists from exploring strong notions of a politically involved citizenry, a tabu that persisted until the 1960s. 131 Similarly, the Nazi values of organic solidarity and corporate cohesion ("ein Volk") made it virtually impossible to develop a politics emphasizing communal values other than nationalism or patriotism. Insofar as the questions implied that democracy was problematical, they were symptomatic of future tensions between liberalism and democracy: while the former was becoming conceptualized in individualistic and elitist or meritocratic terms ("inner directed"), the latter was passively allowing itself to be constructed in pejoratively "populist" terms, such as "the lonely crowd" or "mass"—and to be managed practically as an "other-directed" electorate whose formative experience derived from the apolitical spheres of work and consumerism. 132

A picture of the citizenry constructed by political and social scientists accomplished an astonishing inversion of the electoral "democracy" staged by the Nazis: not the enthusiastic masses endorsing the regime by a vote of 99 percent but its parody, an apathetic mass half of which could scarcely bestir itself to vote at all. The consequence of a depiction of the electorate as bemused and mostly comatose would have a thinning effect upon democratic legitimacy that would be reflected during the '80s and '90s in the mostly unopposed rollback of social programs for the Many. The depoliticization of the citizenry, as rationalized in academic studies of voting behavior, implied that depoliticization was democratic because based on the tacit consent of citizens, of "the silent majority." Thus unlike the dynamic polarity of elite and mass depicted in Nazi propaganda, this was a peculiar combination that celebrated elite leadership and counted on mass passivity.

One side effect of the elite-mass formulation, a polarity that implicitly accepted a fundamental distinction of fascist thinking, was to repress the problem of racism by marginalizing it conceptually. The dualism of elite and mass left no significant space for other differences. That race was scarcely addressed during the decade following World War II was in some measure due to an uncritical attitude fostered during wartime even though the war was waged against regimes that had trumpeted racism and inequality as positive values. What seemed to matter was not whether the democracies actually practiced racial equality but that they had not positively defended racial inequality.

Finally, in the "war of ideas" against Nazism and Fascism the idea of capitalism and of the free market was rarely invoked by the democracies, perhaps because of the embarrassment of having the world's most powerful communist state as an ally, or perhaps because of the risks of fanning the anti-capitalist sentiments that had been widespread in the thirties. The result was that the idea of democracy tended to become disembodied, critically disconnected from the socio-economic problems addressed earlier by various New Deal programs. The social problems minus their political experiments were taken over by liberalism, reconceived primarily as social programs, and ultimately reified as a "Great Society" boasting an ever-expanding economy huge enough to accommodate all and redistribute income to those unable to "make it," rather than as a society striving to be both social and democratic. The Great Satiety, the domestic version of an oxymoronic form, Superpower Democracy.

CHAPTER SIXTEEN

••

Power and Forms

I. OLD AND NEW POLITICAL FORMS

A social relationship which is either closed or limits the admission of outsiders will be called an organization . . .

—Max Weber¹

For centuries most political theorizing assumed that for political life to exist it had to inhabit a structure of governance, a "form" or constitution that embodied certain principles which determined its nature. Accordingly, every constitution was given a name that signified the collective identity embodied in its principles. The archetypal forms were named monarchy, aristocracy, and democracy, signifying the predominance of the one, the few, or the many. While a particular form was distinguished by its political institutions, practices and conception of citizenship, the idea of a form also signified a particular way of being in the world expressed in corresponding cultural values and practices. A society governed by a monarchical form, for example, would display monarchical values (e.g., of singular pre-eminence) throughout. Thus the father of a family or household, although a subject, would be expected to govern his "domain" in royal fashion. A form was thus not an abstract idea but symbolic of a distinctive and pervasive way of life.

It was not uncommon for theorists to recognize hybrids or "mixed" constitutions that combined competing or conflicting elements derived from either the archetypes or their corruptions (tyranny, oligarchy, and mob-rule). However, a hybrid did not necessarily mean that the substantive identity of the parts was absorbed by being joined: the aristocratic element did not become bourgeoisified by inclusion in a "mixed" government, and vice versa. A hybrid tended towards a "balance" of powers rather than a synthesis. The classifications persisted into the twentieth century, but after the First World War two of the forms, monarchy and aristocracy (nobility by birth or acquisition), had all but disappeared,² while mob-rule, except perhaps for moments of revolutionary excess (e.g., the Maoist "cultural revolution"), never attained the stability of a form. Oligarchy, which had come to connote rule by the wealthy few, was rarely invoked, even though it might seem an appropriate name for the politically organized power of capital.

Perhaps this was due to the reluctance of capitalists to rule openly and directly. Or perhaps oligarchy had been superseded by elitism with its somewhat broader, more meritocratic overtones; and perhaps elitism had migrated from oligarchy and its pejorative associations, to become the modernized representative of aristocracy in the age of democracy.

For its part, throughout much of the century democracy was commonly coupled with "liberal" or "constitutional" to signify that a new "good" hybrid had come into existence. Tyranny had, meanwhile, transmogrified into a soft version, traditional authoritarianism, and a hard one, totalitarianism.³ Thus by the mid—twentieth century two unique forms had been invented, liberal democracy and totalitarian dictatorship. While liberal democracy might boast a long genealogy extending back to the mediaeval origins of parliamentary government, totalitarianism represented a new species rather than merely an extreme version of despotism. By the beginning of the third millennium another new form, or possibly the mutation of a recent one, had appeared: Superpower.

In theory the importance of a constitution—even Hitler's Germany and Stalin's Soviet Union professed to have one—was that it constituted the state as the most formidable power in society and, simultaneously, legitimated and contained, or at least regularized, the exercise of state authority. Power as the essence of the state was emphasized in Max Weber's famously spare formulation, ". . . a State is a human community that (successfully) claims the monopoly of the legitimate use of physical force within a given territory." The state's monopoly on "the means of legitimate violence" was said to be essential if the authority of the state were to be obeyed.⁴ Weber added that "the concept of the state has only in modern times reached its full development."⁵

Although legitimate violence remains a distinctive element in state power, and violence itself no longer is a state-monopoly, Weber's formulation omitted a significant—and continuing—factor that Aristotle had introduced two millennia earlier and Marx had re-emphasized. Every constitution, Aristotle observed, contained a ruling element (*politeuma*) in the form of a class. For over two thousand years the common knowledge was that ruling groups could be relied upon to advance or defend their class-interests. Although a constitution might declare a particular form to be dedicated to the well-being of all of its members, there was, inescapably, a built-in tension between rule in the interests of all and rule by a class: the one implied disinterestedness, the other class bias.

The point was not simply that every form was necessarily suspect as partisan but that every form had a built-in ambivalence. A class that put itself forward as the ruling class was also claiming to possess some distinguishing virtues, such as military prowess, a highly developed sense of honor, or the skills of ruling; but each class had its own vices: aristocratic arrogance, middle-class acquisitiveness, and democratic leveling. The virtue of democracy or rule by the Many was said

to be equality. While, over the centuries, even democracy's critics acknowledged a modest value to equality, they insisted that there was a fundamental incompatibility between democracy's impulse to equalize and the uncommon virtues of competence required in governing.

Beginning in the latter half of the twentieth century and continuing into the twenty-first there were certain political developments that could not be accommodated within the traditional theory of forms. They were the appearance of formless forms, Superpower and terrorism, that were at war with each other.

II. Superpower and Terror

Yea, from the table of my memory
I'll wipe away all trivial fond records,
All saws of books, all forms, all pressures past
That youth and observation copied there . . .
—Shakespeare, Hamlet (1.5.100)

... the geographical New World may become a New World in a human sense. In the present state of affairs, a conflict of the moral Old and New Worlds is the essence of the struggle for democracy.

—John Dewey⁷

Some historically minded theorists of the late twentieth and early twenty-first centuries, convinced that the distinctive element which once defined modernity had been superseded, proposed to mark the break by such names as "post-industrial," "postmodern," "new economy," even "post-capitalism." Significantly absent was "post-political," and yet it might fit a phenomenon that some claimed as the most significant trend of the past few decades, the eclipse of the sovereign state. The emergence of globalizing corporations, the "internationalization" of culture, the European Union, international agencies such as the World Bank, and the growth of non-governmental organizations operating without much regard for national frontiers were interpreted as challenging the modern notion of the state as master within its boundaries. They might also be interpreted as questioning a conception of the political as contained within specific boundaries and the state as principally responsible for its care.

In contrast, during the Cold War stand-off between the United States and the Soviet Union, an earlier discovery announced the emergence of a new form, a super-state, the precise opposite of an enfeebled state. It represented a species of power, "Superpower," that was said to transcend the modern conception of the state as confined to its boundaries and obligated to respect those of other states.⁹ At first the United States and the Soviet Union were commonly singled out as "the world's two Superpowers." Each depicted the other as an aggressor and as a

natural enemy: the former was viewed by the latter as the leading representative of a globalizing capitalism determined to suppress revolutionary movements; the latter by the former as the center of a world-wide revolutionary conspiracy bent upon overthrowing non-communist regimes and replacing them with communist ones. Each of the formulations was notable in that the contest was conceived as one between ideological world powers rather than states.

After the Cold War ended and the Soviet Union disappeared, the consensus was that the United States stood uncontestably as "the world's sole remaining Superpower." Shortly after Superpower became affixed as the nation's identity, the United States was challenged, not by a rival Superpower but by terrorism, a power that seemed formless, unquantifiable, decentered, and alien (= Muslim).

Terrorism was declared to be unique, yet when American and European political leaders proceeded to characterize it as conspiratorial, revolutionary, secretive, and world-wide, they seemed to revert to the anti-communist categories of the past. The Cold War reflexes that shaped the American Superpower's transition from anti-communism to anti-terrorism helped to blur the unique features of its new foe. Transnational terrorism involved a complex world-wide network of zealots that combined philanthropy for the victims of Superpower's imperialism with the training of followers in murderous skills and in stern ideologies that justified homicidal actions in the name of religious faith. While Superpower retained its basis in the state and could thereby claim legitimacy for its use of violence, terrorism became associated with "pure" violence, violence purified by faith.

Immediately after September 11 it was widely remarked that as a result of the terrorist attack a "new world" had come into being. The new world seemed gripped by an unstable symbiosis where the opposing powers of American Superpower and Al Qaeda terrorists fed off each other. The American Superpower, recast, began to evolve beyond the character it had acquired during the Cold War. One crucial development was the increasing importance and involvement of corporations in party politics, governmental policy-making, and appointments to high national offices. Another was the "technologization" of politics and of power, not only of military power but of the practices of politics. The quantification of public opinion, campaigns conducted through television ads and the Internet, the creation of focus groups, and the like, transformed the arts of political manipulation into a science. A third element was the emergence of a culture supportive of Superpower. Popular culture, in its music and fashions, became more international in flavor, more youth-oriented, more welcoming of change, and enthusiastic about the new technologies of communication and expression. Fourth, Superpower began to consolidate a social basis that represented a rollback, a counter-revolution against the social programs initiated by the New Deal. The new social basis was frankly inegalitarian, and any suggestion that the system might be biased in favor of the rich and privileged was dismissed as "class warfare." Finally, for all of its economic, military, and technological hubris and cool culture, Superpower nurtured an ideology in which archaic elements strongly figured. The most outstanding feature of that ideology was a certain fundamentalism comprising two elements, one religious and the other patriotic. The first consisted primarily of conservative, fundamentalist, and evangelical Protestantism. The second can be considered patriotic in a broader sense than is normally connoted by patriotism. It includes not only virtually unqualified loyalty to the nation, especially in times of national danger and war, but also fervent allegiance to a form of political fundamentalism, loyalty to an idealized earlier America. Political fundamentalism aspires to a restoration of a mythical past. It urges that the Constitution be literally applied (like Scripture) and that the "original intent" of the Founding Fathers (like that of the early Apostles) be recaptured for guidance. This requires judges who "apply" the law but do not "interpret" it or "legislate" and a government whose domestic powers are strictly limited.

Although the Vietnam debacle would temporarily discredit Superpower, it did not interrupt the growing influence and international reach of Superpower's emerging partner, corporate institutions. As the corporate dynamic quickened, governmental structures underwent a significant retrenchment, a seeming renunciation of power that was actually more akin to a corporate reorganization. The national government was downsized: functions, branches, and personnel were eliminated as a preliminary to the adoption of a more corporate ethos. After the 1968 election successive administrations, Democratic as well as Republican, proceeded to reduce welfare programs and promote the privatization of some governmental functions while boasting of having instituted a fiscally responsible, "leaner and meaner" federal government. At the same time, military expenditures steadily increased with the aim of producing a more flexible, technologically sophisticated military force capable of defeating enemies who relied on guerrilla strategies rather than massive confrontations.

With the declaration of war against terrorism in 2001, Superpower embraced more openly the idea of empire. It sought to extend its sway, and that of its corporate partners, over the Middle East and Africa, mounting pre-emptive wars, establishing military bases throughout the world, and imitating the Soviet Union by establishing bases in former Soviet satellites in exchange for financial aid and economic reconstruction. Unlike the Cold War and the first Gulf War (1991) when the United States had relied heavily on assistance from various allies, in the campaign against Iraq (2003) it initially rebuffed all attempts at organizing an international effort under the aegis of the United Nations.

In its earlier incarnations during and after the Cold War, the American Superpower made little effort to shape its own domestic society and its political system. The war on terrorism changed all that. In effect, terrorism was internalized, exploited to produce significant changes in the status of citizens, the police powers

of the national government, and the class character of society. Severe encroachments on civil liberties became standard practice, especially in the treatment of aliens. At the same time, the power of the state's corporate partners was enhanced. Economic policies, such as tax cuts and refunds, were adopted that openly favored the wealthier classes. Government regulations were rewritten to relieve corporations from environmental requirements and from responsibilities for the health care and retirement pensions of their employees.

Most revealing was the revolution in the role of deficit spending and the status of the national debt. During the latter half of the twentieth century Republicans had consistently depicted themselves as "deficit hawks," determined to reduce the national debt and government spending. At the beginning of the new millennium, as the dominant party, they completely reversed the ideal of frugal government and proceeded to incur deficits of unprecedented proportions—and this a consequence of distributing a huge government surplus primarily to the rich. In the past when Democratic administrations had engaged in deficit spending, it had usually involved social programs benefiting the poor and unemployed. Now, however, deficits were used to benefit the wealthier classes and large corporations. At the same time by having eliminated the government surplus, they, in effect, prevented any future use of it should a Democratic administration return to power and attempt to restore programs aiding the Many.

The fact that the increasing deficit was staunchly defended by a Republican administration and an avowedly conservative political party suggested that Superpower had acquired the kind of popular legitimacy that a mass political party could contribute. For the Republican party it might seem that in adopting a new internationalism, it had abandoned its traditional hostility towards supra-national institutions. Beginning with its opposition to U.S. entry into the League of Nations and ending with the first (1991) Gulf War, the Republican party had been strongly isolationist and opposed to foreign "adventures." However, as Superpower acquired an imperial reach, Republican isolationism was not abandoned but transmuted into support for a regime willing to undertake (mostly) alone the waging of pre-emptive war while rejecting treaties that might jeopardize its freedom of action.

III. Modern and Postmodern Power

Francis Bacon . . . is the great forerunner of the spirit of modern life.

—John Dewey¹¹

The terminology of postmodern, post-industrial, and post-capitalism suggests that the characteristics and location of power have undergone a transformation

while retaining the Baconian commitment to expanding power. If factory and assembly line were the material symbols of modern power, electronic systems of communication have become symbols of postmodern power. Where modern power shipped huge finished products, postmodern power transmits messages. Where modern power was rooted in tangible forms of property, postmodern power covets intangible "intellectual property." Where modern power was heavy, settled in location, and hence tending to identify with national power and its fixed boundaries, postmodern power is agile, restless, contemptuous of national boundaries, fixated on financial markets, and poised to exploit distant regions of space.

Foremost among the changes from modern to postmodern power is that the directive role of the state is now shared with the power-forms hitherto conceived primarily as economic in character. The term "political economy" has suddenly taken on new meaning. It is not the central importance of the economy that is novel, but its political character, its partnership in Superpower.

IV. POLITICAL ECONOMY: THE NEW PUBLIC PHILOSOPHY

We find the economic mode of analysis advancing in all spheres: social policy in place of politics, economic relations in place of legal relations, cultural and economic history in place of political history.

-Max Weber¹²

The name "political economy" was originally introduced by the founders of modern economics to describe a discourse centered on the desirable limits of state intervention. Most of its proponents advocated a limited role for the state, and in the course of their arguments they helped to associate political economy with expert opinion concerning "policy" questions, that is, the form that state intervention should or should not take. Despite their being political economists, their arguments usually assumed that the political and the economic were sharply differentiated, not only conceptually but in reality: the economic signified the ways of freedom, spontaneity, natural harmony; the political the ways of power, force. 13 However, the later developments, which saw an economy of small-scale producers transformed into an economy dominated by corporate structures, have undermined the conventions that restricted references about power to a political context. In postmodernity power-language is not only appropriate but necessary in the analysis of the economic and cultural institutions and relationships that form a system ever more comprehensive, pervading all spheres of life, and affecting the fate of virtually every individual in the society.

An advanced economy is a profoundly anti-political site where power-formations commanding impressive resources are locked in an endless competitive struggle

for power and advantage, where self-interest is the unquestioned rule, where the domestic prizes are huge and, internationally, the aggregate stakes measurable only in the monetary equivalent of light-years. A contemporary economy of powerful multinational corporations resembles nothing so much as the warring city-states of sixteenth-century Italy. Corporate executives, financial speculators, junk bond wizards, and merger experts are the *condottieri*, the Medici, the suave popes of our time. Even the language popularly used to describe the fierce combat between speculators is redolent of a Borgian world: "poison pills," "Saturday night specials," "raiders," even a "Predator's Ball."

Political economy has emerged as the public philosophy for the era of Superpower and the integration of corporation, state, and economics. Political economy accepts as the "natural" side effects to "the dynamics of growth" the totalizing developments represented by multinational corporations, the globalization of finance, the enveloping of culture by the domination of media conglomerates, and control over a world economy, especially of its "underdeveloped" parts, by institutions staffed predominantly by economists (World Bank, International Monetary Fund). It can be considered as a variation upon that unique, if dubious, achievement of the twentieth century, systems of power whose dynamic drives them towards totalization. ¹⁴ Political economy's drive for totality is manifested in the primacy of economy and its representation as the "real" constitution of society. Economy sets the norm for all practices concerned with significant stakes of power, wealth, or status. The twentieth century may have spawned some forms of totalitarianism without having exhausted the genus.

In the political economy democracy is viewed warily, for its potential threat to social stability. Political economy can accommodate a certain democracy, one that, in Weber's terms, it has rationalized. Weber distinguished two meanings of "rationalism" that illuminate the significance of the rationalization of democracy:

It means one thing if we think of the kind of rationalization the systematic thinker performs on the image of the world: an increasing theoretical mastery of reality by means of increasingly precise and abstract concepts. Rationalism means another thing if we think of the methodical attainment of a definitely given and practical end by means of an increasingly precise calculation of adequate means.

Weber then concluded that "ultimately" these "types of rationalism . . . belong inseparately together." Adapting Weber's formulation, we might say that economic theory, as the hegemonic social science, represents "theoretical mastery," and that governmental and corporate bureaucracies represent instrumental rationality. Together, in close collaboration, they promote the integration of the political and economic forms according to shared principles and values.

Accordingly, democracy is confined to and by procedural guarantees: equal rights to vote and speak, free elections and accountable officials, regularized leg-

islative, judicial, and administrative processes. Each and every one of these practices has been rationalized by practitioners of the political arts of whom the politician is merely one and by no means the most expensive. Expert tacticians and strategists, consultants, pollsters, speechwriters, experts representing foundations and think tanks are the operators of the ordinary political machinery that advises, manages, interprets, and creates a predictable, manipulable realm of politics, the context conditioning the exercise of rights. The news media, dependent upon the governmental "handout," relays it to the consumer, who is dependent upon the media for "information." The citizen is shrunk to the voter: periodically courted, warned, and confused but otherwise kept at a distance from actual decision-making and allowed to emerge only ephemerally in a cameo appearance according to a script composed by the opinion takers/makers.

These developments represent not simple modifications of a "civic culture" but its reconstitution. Superpower has no need for a conception of the citizen as one who takes active part in politics, tries to grapple with issues some of whose effects (as Dewey noted) are remote, others immediate, and expects his or her participation to matter. Superpower needs an imperial citizen, one who accepts the necessarily remote relationship between the concerns of the citizen and those of the power-holders, who welcomes being relieved of participatory obligations, and who is fervently patriotic. Superpower's ideal citizen is apolitical but not alienated.

V. Collapsed Communism and Uncollapsed Capitalism

The death and transfiguration of democratic hopes, first at the hands of modern and then of postmodern power-formations, is not proof that Marx misunderstood the economy of modern power but rather that he fatally underestimated the anti-democratic tendencies in its requirements. The political world of contemporary capitalism is the bittersweet vindication of his insight into the political primacy of economic formations. Instead of being absorbed into Marx's "permanent revolution," capitalism "incorporates" it and thereby achieves the final stage of history when the economic fulfills Marx's prophecy of a "world-creating" power, a universality, a totality. The political world is a prophecy of a "world-creating" power, a universality, a totality.

Marx's vision of a communist utopia depended upon two formulations: a prediction that capitalism would collapse or be overthrown and an assumption that the proletariat, far from facing an economy in ruins, would inherit a highly developed economy whose productive potentialities were yet to be realized. The failure of the prediction poses a tantalizing paradox. His prediction was false about capitalism but true of later communist regimes, while his assumption about the unrealized potential of capitalism proved true. Accordingly, Marx's utopianism would be more closely approximated in the actuality of "uncollapsed capitalism."

The reversal that caused Marxism and capitalism to exchange fates as well as identities emerged towards the last decades of the twentieth century. Life in the highly integrated advanced capitalist societies became more economically determined and its politics, popular culture, education, and intellectual life more subordinate to economic mandates and imperatives, in short, more "Marxist" than allegedly Marxist societies. Uncollapsed capitalism embodies many of the features that Marx had assumed to be peculiarly communist while preserving others (e.g., private ownership of production and investment) essential to capitalism. The economic rules all domains of existence, while governance is concentrated upon stabilizing functions and political containment at home and abroad. The unity of theory and practice is ironically realized in the optical illusion of all utopias: in uncollapsed and totalizing capitalism no one seems able to see a "beyond." Consequently the notion of an alternative appears irrational.

Meanwhile failed communist societies evolved into capitalist societies more freewheeling than allegedly capitalist ones without, however, becoming liberal, much less democratic. Before their collapse communist societies had been characterized by forcible repression, culturally and politically, at the hands of brutal, if clumsy, bureaucracies. Governance was essentially administration. Administrative rule suppressed any suggestion of liberal politics and stifled capitalist self-interest without creating a substitute dynamic. Following the collapse of the Soviet Union and its eastern bloc, politics centered upon the efforts to establish order while freeing the market and, simultaneously, converting formerly unfree subjects into consumers without turning them into citizens—a Brechtian world where widespread corruption and gangster violence filled the void left by the disintegration of bureaucratic governance. Capitalism without liberalism = (ad)venture capitalism, incapable of totalizing.

VI. POLITICAL ECONOMY AND POSTMODERNISM

[K]eep moving, even in place, never stop moving.
—Gilles Deleuze and Félix Guattari¹⁸

Curiously, the ideology of the market, with its idealized picture of an intricate dispersed system in which countless independent actors respond to "laws" of supply and demand that no external authority decrees, complements postmodernist antipathies to "centered discourse" and centered power. In its ideological version the perfectly free market is represented as a decentered society, coercionless, spontaneous, free of domination, only individuals making decisions. ¹⁹ That most postmodern theorists display little interest in contemporary capitalist power-formations, except in the context of critiques of neo-colonialism, ²⁰ is of less significance than the congruence of uncollapsed capitalism and postmodernism. It

stands as the moment when humanity, as represented by its advanced thinkers and most successful doers, can envision the future as endless innovation, as the personal experience of the system's dynamic, as the world commanded by the technology nestled in one's palm. That vision suggests certain problems.

The vocabulary of postmodernism, with its antipathies towards essentialism, centered discourse, foundationalism, and historical narrative, has served to disable its theorists from confronting the basic characteristics of contemporary power-formations whose precise characteristics are to be: centralized yet quick to react, essentially economic, founded on corporate capital, global, and best understood in terms of developments over time. The cascades of "critical theory" and their postures of revolt, and the appetite for theoretical novelty, function as support rather than opposition. Hailed as expressions of originality and intellectual freedom, they work to legitimate forms of power that thrive/depend upon producing accelerated rates of change that leave opposition outdated before its case is mustered. A system that cannot conceive stopping and dreads a slowdown has developed its cultural complement in a postmodern sensibility that adores novelty, dreads boredom, and far from operating as a "fetter" on capitalism, encourages its rhythms.

VII. THE POLITICAL AND ITS ABSENT CARRIER

One of Marx's most striking claims was that the class whose exploited labor and misery had made possible the development of modern productivity would sooner or later become nearly extinct. The proletariat's creation and identity derived from the historical forces that had first rendered it dependent on whoever owned the means of production and now was conspiring its disappearance. Stated differently, Marx had discerned that the dynamic driving capitalism towards totality demanded, as a condition of its vitality, the decimation of a class and the condemnation of its hapless members to a condition of ever-increasing deprivation even though the productive potential of the system was capable of sustaining them.

Although Marx had envisaged that capitalism would turn efficiency against middle management, turning white collars blue, he could not foresee the full implications. Capitalism would boldly invent an unprecedented form that combined two elements previously regarded as inconsistent: insecurity of tenure and bureaucratic organization. An innovation that enables top management periodically to reduce, redesign, or dismantle its bureaucratic structure is an extraordinary achievement. Such flexibility helps to ease the tensions created between, at one pole, the dynamic, changing character of an economy increasingly driven by technological innovation and, at the other, the settled structures of routinized administration intended to operate and manage it. In contrast to the flexibility displayed by corporate structures, state bureaucracies appeared bloated and

lumbering, especially inviting targets for reformers bent upon paring the programs that serve the poor or protect the environment. Towards the end of the last century the archaeological remains of the failed efforts at harnessing the dynamo would be visible both in the laissez-faire anarchy of former communist societies and in the pathetic husks of regulatory agencies, once the proud creation of America's liberal state.

The disappearance of the classical worker and the periodic downsizing of the managerial class had different implications. For Marx the workers were not so much carriers of the political as reminders of it in an age where money and narrow self-interest had deeply penetrated political life. In an earlier era of robust trade unionism the worker represented an ideal of solidarity: of collective action—the mass as hero; of a community defined by work; and of a shared fate based on equal justice. The crucial point to Marx's association of the political with the proletariat was that in the age of modern industry and scientific technology the form of the political, and the guarantor of its existence, was opposition, not that which merely dissented or criticized, but that which was truly a political opposite: the difference between, say, early radical and late bureaucratic trade unionism. The disappearance of the proletariat—the proletariat being the Marxian successor to the citizen—combined with the postmodern dissolution of the citizenry into multicultural groups meant that under the conditions of contemporary capitalist societies there seemed to be no obvious vehicle of the political.

VIII. THE DEMYTHOLOGIZING OF SCIENCE

Throughout much of this century theory was commonly said to have attained its most powerful and admired form among the natural sciences. All of the social sciences, without exception, looked to the "hard" sciences as paradigmatic of theoretical knowledge while ignoring the qualifications of Popper and Dewey. As one political scientist declared: "Those who are interested in creating a science of politics must . . . first become students of scientific method in the hope that they can use it in their own concerns." Science was admired because the truth-claims of its theoretical generalizations were objectively demonstrable and testable. They provided the basis for predictions about future events or states of affairs and could, therefore, claim to be "powerful."

Although social scientists spoke enviously of the power of scientific theories, political scientists at first tended towards an anti-theoretical conception of science, claiming that the success of natural science was primarily due to rigorously empirical methods of formulating and verifying hypotheses rather than to theoretical inventiveness. The focus upon method, that is, upon the means of inquiry rather than the uses to which the results of inquiry might be put, could be interpreted as implying an acceptance of an instrumental role subservient to the pow-

ers that determined the social uses of knowledge. That interpretation was supported by the attacks of political scientists upon "normative political theory," the field within the discipline most likely to engage critical discussion of the uses of knowledge.²²

Long before the postmodern assault upon literary canons, political scientists had concluded that the absence of canonical texts (e.g., Plato's *Republic*, Machiavelli's *Prince*) was a precondition for serious, i.e., scientific, work; but unlike the postmodernist, the proponents of scientific politics were disposed to dismiss the canonical texts, not as moves in a game of cultural hegemony but as theoretical mistakes arising from a delusion that "metaphysical" theories could reveal truths about the real world. Viewed from another angle, although their language and politics were anything but sympathetic to the radicalism of the sixties, political scientists perceived "science" as liberating and pictured themselves as engaged in "protest," even in a revolutionary movement that promised to emancipate the discipline from old masters and musty texts. Behavioralism was, in a sense, rightwing Marcuse-ism.²³

The understanding of science that prevailed among the vast majority of scientifically oriented social scientists was strongly positivist. They believed that facts were the only reality and that scientific laws were propositions or hypotheses that had been certified by scientific method as empirically true. In the formula of logical positivists, the meaning of a proposition was identical with the method of verifying it.²⁴ That conception of science was severely shaken during the 1960s by developments in the philosophy of science and especially by Thomas Kuhn's *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions* (1962).²⁵

Kuhn attempted to identify the considerations that determined whether a theory would be accepted as authoritative in its field, what the nature of scientific progress consisted in, and some of the extra-scientific factors at work when the "scientific community" decided in favor of one theory rather than another.26 In the concept of a "paradigm" Kuhn expanded the idea of an authoritative theory to comprise a sub-culture with its own assumptions, procedures, and values, as well as personal and institutional relationships. The dominant position of a particular theory was inseparable from its institutionalization. Not least, an operationalized theory-paradigm represented a heavy investment of time, money, facilities, and personnel. Accordingly, the material and human costs of shuffling scientific efforts from an established theory might outweigh the "objective" theoretical merits ascribed to an alternative and cause scientists, especially "the paradigm workers," to prefer the status quo. A theory was thus a grave matter, not casually undertaken, adopted, or replaced. Only an embarrassing number of "anomalies" that the established theory could not account for would enable the "revolutionary" proponents of an alternative theory to oust the established paradigm.

Although Kuhn never intended to belittle scientific achievements, the effect of

The Structure of Scientific Revolutions was to unsettle the belief that scientific claims were decided by strictly objective considerations.²⁷ As a result the conception of scientists as unaffected by the sordid concerns evident among politicians and businessmen was shaken. Science was, in effect, dethroned and along with it the model of objective, disinterested, and non-ideological knowledge. If Kuhn's formulations served to give science a social context of ordinary human concerns about influence, economic resources, and power, other philosophers were undermining the central fetish of positivism. They questioned the status of "facts"; denied that there were neutral facts available to test the validity of a theory; and doubted that theories were adopted because they could not be invalidated by facts. Some argued that theories were akin to highly selective, even arbitrary, modes of perception, sharply focused on some things while omitting others.²⁸ Still others doubted that scientists followed "a" method or that it would be a good thing if they did.²⁹

While Kuhn's work signalled that the desacralization of science, which Dewey had urged, was underway, most political and social scientists clung to the older conception of science as "above" politics. Paradoxically, they also believed that their political influence depended upon their possession of scientific credentials.

IX. RATIONAL POLITICAL SCIENCE

Voters and customers are essentially the same people. Mr. Smith buys and votes; he is the same man in the supermarket and in the voting booth.

-Gordon Tullock30

[Of all the accomplishments of modern rational choice theory] none is more important than that it has led to a reintegration of politics and economics under a common paradigm and deductive structure.

—Peter C. Ordeshook³¹

Taking their cue from the anti-positivist revolt, political scientists demoted behavioralism and its anti-theoretical outlook to a subsidiary role, and avidly embraced "theory." What was needed, according to one proponent, was "a new political theory for a new political science." Theory meant adopting a "model" created by economists and mathematicians specializing in "game theory" and theories of "rational choice." The chosen theoretical starting-point adopted by the theorists is an abstract actor who is assumed to be similar to every other actor. An individual is said to act rationally when he or she consistently chooses the means to an end in the expectation that those means will most effectively and maximally attain his or her objectives. Assuming that this conception of ration-

ality is the same for all individuals, their choices, in turn, will form predictable patterns or "equilibria."

Social equilibria occur when actors choose in the most advantageous way, given the choices of others, and reach an outcome they would not wish to depart from. That is, they would not wish to have chosen differently because the outcome reached is the best they can achieve under the circumstances.³⁴

By embracing the concept of rational choice, political scientists claimed to be theoretical and scientific as well as useful to policy-makers.³⁵ However, the often abstract and highly mathematical formulations of the practitioners inevitably provoked sceptics who questioned the applicability of the theories.

One influential effort to defend the relevance of rational choice for the "real world" of politics was William Riker's *The Theory of Political Coalitions* (1962). This work of a political scientist was especially notable both for its conscientious effort to employ historical illustrations in what was otherwise a highly abstract conception of political theory and for its concern to demonstrate that theory could teach practical lessons to politicians. Riker's adaptation of game theory retained the basic point of a game; accordingly, politics is about winning and losing. This allowed Riker to press *Realpolitik* into a scientific-mathematical framework represented in the idea of a "zero-sum game:" the "interests" of the participants "must be in direct and absolute conflict so that the gains of one participant exactly equal in absolute amount the losses of the other." This meant that "common advantages" were ignored. The narrowed focus was justified, according to Riker, because it allowed the theory to "concentrate" on conflict and on winning.

Riker began by pledging allegiance to physical science, "certainly the most impressive achievement of the human psyche in this or any other age," and by distinguishing science from "normative" or historically oriented theorizing. To be scientific meant "ris[ing] above the level of wisdom literature and . . . join[ing] economics and psychology in the creation of genuine sciences of human behavior." It followed that "the inclusion of normative elements in a descriptive generalization renders it scientifically unfit."³⁸

Riker acknowledged that special obstacles confronted the political scientist—the "intrusion" of normative elements, the complexity of circumstances affecting human action, and the "unexpected" and often non-rational choices actors were capable of making. He argued that scientists offered a method for surmounting these complexities. They had discovered the uses of "models"—a model being a "simplified version" of what some part of the real world was reputed to be.³⁹ The point of a model was to enable the theorist to work with a manageable version of the world and to employ the fewest assumptions (e.g., about the number of players and the amount and quality of their information about the world). Riker believed, however,

that the classic game theorists had adopted an undiscriminating notion of rationality, one implying "that all choices that resulted in action are rational." In his revised version "some behavior" is rational, and "this possibly small amount is crucial for the construction and operation of economic and political institutions."

Riker's main focus was upon the decision-making processes of coalitions such as political parties and national alliances (e.g., the Allies of World War II). In his model of coalitions "several persons must, for the sake of winning, come together for common action without much regard for considerations of ideology or previous friendship." Riker characterized as "rational political man" one who wants to win "regardless of the political stakes"—no small assumption considering that the "real" world of the sixties was dominated by a nuclear standoff between the United States and the Soviet Union. The meaning of power for rational political man was that he "wants to make other people do things they would not otherwise do." From that standpoint "the irrational ones of politics" were the "guilt-ridden and shame-conscious men" who "in fact desire to lose." Revealingly, Riker failed to complete the point and say that losers do not want to make people do things against their will, an omission that underscores Riker's "realist" version of politics, disdain for weakness and cynicism about motives. More important, the concept of politics as a game left the citizenry as spectators at best or as the "other people" swayed or compelled to do what they would otherwise not want to.

Riker attempted to establish three "principles:" winning coalitions tend towards the minimal winning size; in systems that operate in accordance with that principle the participants "should and do move toward a minimal winning coalition"; and systems that operate on the preceding two pinciples are "unstable" in the sense that "they contain forces leading toward decision regardless of stakes and hence toward the elimination of participants."⁴² The "politics" that enters into the building and maintaining of coalitions is treated through economic categories, as a matter of "side payments" needed to attract and keep followers. Since the leader's "profits" and "working capital" are necessarily limited, he is constantly having to make decisions as to when costs become prohibitive or unprofitable.⁴³

In order to judge the predictive power of Riker's theory, we can turn to the final chapter of his work where he considered "the significance of [his] principles for reality." In "Reflections on Empires: An Epilogue on the United States in World Affairs" he attempted an analysis of international politics from the end of World War II to the early 1960s at the height of the Cold War and accompanied it with prescriptions and criticisms.

His account was a recital of missed opportunities, "bad management," and loss of nerve that added up to the threatened "decline" of the American "empire." Since 1945, Riker wrote, America has been the dominant power in the world, but it has refused to live up to that role. An empire, like any coalition, is threat-

ened with "disequilibrium." Typically this results from a reluctance to pay the "price" of power in the form of "side payments" to allies in order to retain their support. That failing results in defections that benefit the enemy. It is "imperative," therefore," to keep on winning." 45 The United States, however, owing to "cultural timidity" and "deference," preferred the role of "follower." Riker put down both "peace marchers" and "McCarthyites" because they chose to fight domestic conflicts instead of "combating the external enemy." 46 To overcome the lack of nerve and "formulate a political position appropriate to our role," the United States needed to recognize the dangers it courted in abdicating its position of leadership. In Latin America, for example, the United States is strongly hated; if America chose to "resign," its weakness could lead to "a reopening of the territorial settlement after the Mexican War" (of 1840). Other dire possibilities might follow: loss of trade and of intellectual pre-eminence and betrayal of allies.⁴⁷ In 1945 the United States had "an opportunity to consolidate its position as world leader and to impose, perhaps, an imperial order on the whole world." Instead it allowed the Soviet Union to grow stronger; "lost" China to the Communists; and refused to aid Britain in retaining its empire. The result was an "Age of Equalization," a deteriorating disequilibrium in which a standoff with the Soviets would exhaust the United States and usher in an "Age of Maneuver." In their efforts to control allies with side payments, the United States and the Soviet Union would both be threatened because the "price" of attracting neutrals would rise. U.S. citizens would then refuse to pay, and the result would be "either the abandonment of democracy or a total defeat for the West."48

In that situation, with a threat of war and use of nuclear weapons, Riker advised the United States to join with the Soviet Union in perpetuating an Age of Maneuver as long as possible. In addition to strengthening the United Nations, the United States should try to lower its "costs" by "price control." It could do so by selling "freedom":

Freedom may be a somewhat defective ideal, for it is difficult to imagine the commitment the human psyche craves directed at so instrumental and morally empty a goal. Yet for those who do not have a bit of it, freedom can become an absolute. 49

Riker's final counsel might have caused Machiavelli to smile—or blush: the United States should adopt a strategy of allowing the Soviet Union to "grow" so that Russian power would weaken as it incurred the higher costs of alliance-making.⁵⁰

X. Political Science and the Political Establishment

We find the economic mode of analysis advancing in all spheres: social policy in place of politics, economic power-relations in place of legal relations, cultural and economic history in place of political history.

—Max Weber⁵¹

Both behavioralism and rational choice complemented established modes of politics in practical ways, and both developed conclusions questioning traditional notions of democracy, majority rule, the rational behavior of the voting public, and the idea of public virtue as rational behavior.⁵² Behavioralism helped train a diverse array of auxiliaries for deployment by politicians and party professionals: public opinion researchers, pollsters, issue strategists, media pundits, and other adepts in the manipulation of voters.⁵³

If behavioralism provided a structure for the representation of politics dominated by highly bureaucratized political party organizations and interest groups, rational choice theories fitted comfortably into the more hermetic world of bureaucratic rationality. The political importance of rational choice lay not in its advocacy—for, like behavioralism, it professed to be scientifically neutral—but in its integrative role in a political economy. It is an important device for rendering politics manageable by processing it through economic modes of analysis, thereby linking both the rhetoric and the logic of economic rationality constituted by and for market-oriented institutions with the rationality constructed by and for state bureaucracies and party organizations. Both behavioralism and rational choice are modes of discourse for political elites and both have deep roots in the culture of the business corporation.

For example, the genealogy of behavioralism traces back to market research, while rational choice is a spin-off of economic theory. The genealogy is relevant because both have substantially shaped public philosophy in the United States. Politicians, commentators, and ordinary citizens have all learned to employ the language of polls and surveys and to accept the findings of pollsters as equivalents of the public's opinions. The public qua public exists solely through the constructs of those who systematically elicit its opinions. Elections are not the *vox* of a sovereign *populus* but the final step in a methodology, a verification as well as a pay-off. Rational choice theory has also contributed to reshaping public discourse. As an application of economic theories it reinforces the notable transformation of public discourse in the past half-century, from a public political philosophy to a hybrid, a public philosophy of political economy.⁵⁴

In sum, the conception of theory that informs the academic study of politics has come to reflect the highly bureaucratized character of contemporary gover-

nance and of a politics in which corporate influences and state action are inextricably mixed. It represents the desperate effort of a modernist politics—elitist, science-inspired, rationalistic in an economistic vein—struggling to "govern" an amorphous, unanchored citizenry that is unable to express its unsurveyed self except fitfully in anxiety, fear, anger, and irritation, a citizenry that is still attached to democracy, if tenuously and only sentimentally, but increasingly dependent on electronic media for its very con-/instruction.

XI. THE ODYSSEY OF THE STATE: FROM WELFARE TO SUPERPOWER

Modern liberal constitutionalism, with its emphasis upon individual rights and limited state power, is clearly at odds, or at least in tension, with postmodern power. The one wants to house power, contain it within the "Temple," while the other makes a practice of breaking out of old forms. One emphasizes power's boundaries, the other its boundlessness. The symbiosis between constitutionally defined governmental powers and boundary-defying economic and cultural powers points towards the transformation of the Temple. The container of power has become one of its forms. When the constitutional and extra-constitutional powers combine, cooperate, and collude, then power, like Yahweh, escapes the Temple to assert its super status.

In contrast to the free-market societies without liberal politics, the achievement of liberal capitalist societies was to perfect the Marxian idea by demonstrating that administration could supersede politics without systematically resorting to repression. This required that the political economy of liberalism subsidize, not just allow, an "economy of opposition" while controlling its substance. The basic characteristic of the economy of opposition is best represented by the circularity in the conception of a "market-place for competing ideas." Opposition is subsidized as selected criticism, as op-ed. Criticism is supported within limits that serve to marginalize those who "go too far." It is less a practice for scrutinizing the establishment than a method of excluding "extremism." Above all, criticism is treated as an enterprise zone in which corporations and foundations finance critics who supply products that are expected to attract counter-critics who supply more products. In the end the most elegant insights of critics matter less in the calculations of decision-makers than the public's response to the pollsters' crude categories of "yes," "no," and "don't know."

The economy of opposition is the solution to the political problem created for capitalism by the historical coincidence that saw modern democracy emerge contemporaneously with modern capitalism. Capitalism depended upon the consumer who, concurrently, was being installed as citizen in the democratic imaginary. The problem was to avoid alienating the former without provoking the latter into becoming a self-conscious demos fired by populist resentments.

The solution was to present both cultures as centered upon free choice. The sovereign citizen and the sovereign consumer alike could "choose" between options, albeit ones they had never formulated. A miracle of transubstantiation was thus accomplished. Popular sovereignty was absorbed into economic impotence and consumer sovereignty into political impotence.

The triumphal achievement of political economy was the theory and practice of welfare. The liberal states of the late twentieth century, precisely because they were wedded to capitalism and only cohabiting with democracy for reasons of legitimation, evolved the Welfare State in response to limited but deep-seated poverty and persistent unemployment.

The Welfare State was importantly the political representation of social *and* political superfluousness: the "new economy" needed only temporary workers and Superpower needed only occasional citizens. The ideology of liberal capitalism could deal with what was plainly a useless population by treating them as objects of professional solicitude so long as the economy produced a surplus; but once large public spending was pronounced a danger to private investment, welfare too had to be downsized and its recipients stigmatized as an "underclass" that, unlike "the working poor," was unable to internalize the values of individual autonomy and hard work ("welfare cheats"). The underclass, it was explained, had not been excluded from the economy; rather its members had opted not to enter.

The illusion promoted by opponents of "welfare spending" was that the poor, sick, and unemployed had made themselves dependent upon "the government," when, in fact, their dependency was created by economic globalization and technological changes that reduced wages and the demand for skilled workers. In part "welfare" was defined as a moral problem of shiftless inner-city black males and pregnant black teenagers rather than a civic crisis. Because these "elements" tended to be politically passive, they could be treated, not as members of the sovereign people, but as objects of "policy"—that is, of bureaucratic rationality.

A manipulable population, with no meaningful stake in society, now existed. Accordingly, when the "new economy" began its unprecedented expansion during the 1990s and labor shortages and rising wages were viewed as inflationary threats to economic stability, welfare reform was redesigned to force welfare recipients into the labor force. Their emergence signified that, in reality if not in law, a substantial proportion of the citizenry had been reconstituted as subjects. Inasmuch as African Americans and Hispanics constituted a large part of the surplus population, the revival of segregated schools and neighborhoods during the 1990s seemed less a sign of political regression than a prerequisite of political control.

The tightened Welfare State was the direct heir of the state that had mutated from the New Deal Social Security State to the mass Arsenal of Democracy mobilized against Fascism to the National Security State to combat communism to the Superpower pledged to eradicate terrorism throughout the world. The ob-

verse of the Superpower State is the Internal Security State. While representing society's "war" against criminals, welfare cheats, pornographers, drug users, and terrorists, it also stands as a warning to those whose lives have been mangled by a changing economy and its technologies. Early on in the aftermath of the upheavals of the 1960s, official circles and their theoreticians had begun to express alarm about the "ungovernability" of "mass democracy," warning that popular pressures for welfare benefits would gradually drain off resources needed for defense and economic growth. ⁵⁶ "Governability" became the precondition of government and was rhetorized as "law and order." During the last two decades of the century it was translated into policies that called for more and starker prisons, an ever-larger and more militarized police force, harsher and longer terms of incarceration, revival of the death penalty (even for juveniles), "wars" on drugs, and repeated efforts to reform public education so as to make it a more effective instrument for disciplining the young. ⁵⁷

Governability underscored the massive anti-political shift taking place. The yearning for a pliable population—"those who work hard and live by the rules"—reflected the primacy of managerial imperatives over civic ideology. Its significance went far beyond the welfare controversy to a radical reversal of the idea of popular government. For it signifies, simultaneously, the transformation of government from an instrument to serve human needs and alleviate human distress into a system increasingly geared towards punishment and control.

While greater social controls were being fashioned for the dependent classes and groups, the ideology favored by the dominant groups and theorized by academics as libertarianism served as the fantasy of right-wing liberalism. As the punishment of criminals grew more severe and prison populations multiplied, libertarians demanded "freedom" and liberation from government control.⁵⁸ With rhetoric redolent of nineteenth-century laissez-faire economics and its nightwatchman state, political intervention in the economy was stigmatized as dangerous "interference" with the "laws of the market." Yet the significance of libertarianism is not as a throwback but as one representation of the changing nature of capitalism. During the latter half of the twentieth century libertarianism reflected a defensiveness on the part of capitalism in the face of increasing state intervention into the economy. But in the twenty-first century libertarianism is the symbol of the aggrandizing character of market society and of the turnabout reflected in the movement towards "privatization" of selected governmental functions that had been established only after bitter political struggle. Libertarianism is privatization applied to the self.

And what of the political vocation? Faced with the shrinking substance of the public domain—of what was of common concern and care—and with powers they could not control or even rival, and forced to engage in electoral and legislative contests fought with financial resources that only corporate sponsorship

could provide, politicians chose one of two routes: either to playact a corrupt and baldly class-oriented politics before a radically disenchanted and contemptuous electorate or to exchange elective office for a lobbying firm. Representative government apparently could not combine with liberal capitalism to produce a conception of political vocation able to withstand the corruption inherent in that combination.

XII. FALTERING VISION

The political economy embodies a widespread consensus of an ironical sort, that a highly advanced society signifies the presence of a determinism more powerful than any Marx could have imagined. It takes the form of a lack of confidence that politics can be the servant of popular sovereignty, the means for shaping society to benefit the vast majority in ways other than modest material improvements. The demos has been hammered into resignation, into fearful acceptance of the economy as the basic reality of its existence, so huge, so sensitive, so ramifying in its consequences that no group, party, or political actors dare alter its fundamental structure. The pinnacle in today's drama of statecraft is the Federal Reserve Bank, where *arcanae imperii* flourish: while a nation of shareholders holds its collective breath, the bank's aged oracle totters out to announce whether interest rates will be raised by 0.05 percent, lowered by 0.02 percent, or left unchanged.

Perhaps there can be no genuinely political accompaniment to the emergent order of political economy; perhaps none is needed any longer. The political has become anomalous, given the anti-commonality of corporate values, the anti-democratic consequences of concentrated corporate power, and the anti-egalitarianism inherent in its system of rewards. It is a striking fact that the United States lags far behind other industrialized nations in health care and the educational attainments of its students. This massive shift reflects the inability of Superpower to minister to vital needs, or even to maintain the state's historic functions other than those associated with warfare. Instead management of the common good is being ceded: health care is mostly managed by health maintenance corporations, while in a large number of schools students are held as a captive audience for commercial advertising in order to supplement school budgets diminished by "the taxpayers' revolt."

When contrasted with the theoretical imagination of nineteenth- and early twentieth-century theorists, the disinclination of new millennial intellectuals to conceive of an alternative economic order that could support genuinely political forms of life represents either a failure of the theoretical imagination or the exhaustion of a tradition—or both. Before World War I reformers assumed that an economy was an object of choice, a flexible set of relationships that could be reorganized according to any number of possible alternatives, from varieties of so-

cialism to cooperative societies and variations upon the theme of a socially responsible capitalism. The belief in the malleable nature of economies persisted until the 1960s, the era of the Great Society and the Vietnam War. It had inspired the Roosevelt New Deal, the first post-war British Labour government, and the Scandinavian social welfare systems. Beginning in the 1970s the idea of malleability gave way to notions of "fine tuning," "mid-course corrections," and other policy formulas suggesting that an advanced economy was a highly volatile yet fragile system that could be managed best by the sort of tinkering that would not disturb the expectations of those who owned it.

XIII. TOWARDS TOTALITY

... the novel and absurd experiment in politics, of tying the hands of Government from offensive war, founded upon reasons of state.

—Alexander Hamilton⁵⁹

To evaluate the form of "advanced" societies, of societies advancing towards a managed totality, it is helpful to suspend the stereotypes depicting a totalitarian regime as inseparable from one-man rule, a single party monopolizing politics, the crushing of dissent, and the normalization of torture and extermination camps—in short, as an image of a tightly unified, seamless whole permeated by violence and terror. That image has primarily been constructed from the materials of the Nazi horror; while it is true in details, the overall conception of totalitarianism, especially in its Nazi form, has been importantly revised and complicated by recent historical studies. Those revisions suggest that totalitarianism is capable of mutation, not restricted to a "perverted" form.

Without downplaying its inhuman practices, historians now depict the Nazi regime, not as a monolith, but as rife with competing factions, opportunistic cliques, near autonomous fiefdoms (e.g., the SS), scrambled lines of authority, and a crazy quilt of jurisdictional boundaries—and widespread corruption. Thus totalitarianism is consistent with a measure of competitiveness, disorder, rival centers of power, and competing loyalties (e.g., the Reichswehr vs. the SS). It is not so much a refusal of politics as a practice of politics without any consistent ideological justification. More than any other factor the system was held together by what eventually destroyed it, war.

If we substitute profit and exploitation for war and "dynamic" for "aggressive," then the postmodern economy begins to appear as a variant of the totalitarian in which "free competition" masks the dominance of small groups in intense rivalry with each other, a rivalry that in its own way is as expansive and aggressive as any practiced by the Nazis and Fascists. And with its own forms of destruction and

corruption: of environments, local economies and cultures, traditions of public service, and democratic aspirations.

Twentieth-century totalitarianism was notable for keeping society in a constant state of readiness, of perpetual mobilization of its population. It was also notable for the avid participation of ordinary citizens in the cruelest acts of rape and murder. ⁶¹ In the economy-dominated polities of our day perpetual demobilization takes the form, not of rigid uniformity or crude fascism, but fashionism, conformity to incessant, inescapable change: in technologies, marketable skills, processes of production, and organizational structures and strategies. Instead of simple mobilization there is continuous mobility. ⁶² When a mainstream newspaper article carries a headline, "Technology's Edict: Adapt or Lose Out," and concludes that "technological change can only be reined in at the risk of undermining the economy's capacity to grow," what is this but an economic version of *Lebensraum*. ⁶³

All of that was notched higher by the *perpetuum mobile* provided by the declaration of war against terrorism.

Nazi totalitarianism arose within and against a society widely perceived as the exemplar of certain core Western values, a leader in the arts, science, scholarship, and industrial technology. Its nightmarish evolution during the 1920s to 1945, from Weimar to Auschwitz, was eventually halted by military defeat only after horrific loss of millions of lives. However, the awesome effort mobilized by the Allied nations to conquer a totalitarian system, "fighting fire with fire," exacerbated certain tendencies in the "free world," e.g., racism, militarism, high technology coexisting with ideological/religious atavism, medical experiments on human subjects, government lying. When the "free world" mutates into a globalized economy and "the last best hope" of democracy is absorbed into a mega-State, the normative appears ambivalent, as free *and* menacing.

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

•••

Postmodern Democracy: Virtual or Fugitive?

Adam Mueller and Friedrich Schlegel are symptomatic in the highest of a general playfulness of modern thought in which almost any opinion can gain ground temporarily. No real thing, no historical event, no political idea was safe from the all-embracing and all-destroying mania by which these first literati could find always new and original opportunities for new and fascinating opinions.

—Hannah Arendt¹

I. Postmodern Culture and Postmodern Power

Marx assumed that the material conditions of life and their power relationships were imploding and hence revolutionary change was inevitable. The postmodern theorist, however, sees a world of international economies, transnational bureaucracies, and multinational capitalism where revolutionary change is the achievement of corporate power. In that context political theorists are drawn increasingly to culture as the site from which to engage the new structures of power.

That choice would entail either rejecting the superstructural status of culture by claiming that culture, rather than economy, was primordial, or accepting its derivative status. In either case culture could be treated as the enveloping ethos in which all aspects of life, including politics, are experienced in their quintessentially contemporary forms—as change. The theoretical life in a postmodern version prefers to be playful rather than contemplative: living, acting, and exploiting change by converting it into endless novelty, accepting the production of change as the *primum mobile*, effectively assimilating revolution to a permanent condition of continuous destabilization, thereby emptying it of threat, re-presenting it as evanesence, as surface with no underlying reality.² After all, lacking a stable background of reference, how can one truly contemplate endless change?

In some quarters the shift to cultural politics is buoyed by the belief that to interpret culture radically is the means of changing a changing world.³ The difficulty is, however, that instead of lagging behind scientific, technological, and industrial changes, contemporary popular culture—as a form of consumption—

shares the same rhythms, perhaps has even redoubled them. That development marked a significant shift. Prior to the mid-eighteenth century culture had primarily been associated with the unchanging: with tradition, custom, habit. Hume and Burke were representative of a current in political thinking that was unable to imagine how a stable society could endure unless deeply grounded in unconscious acceptance of pre-established norms of behavior. Social stability required a sluggish response-system.

Two centuries later culture appears quick, protean, and, above all, premeditated, manufactured, or, euphemistically, constructed. To the postmodern consciousness it is more than superstructure. Culture *is* the world because all of our worlds—political, social, intellectual, artistic, scientific, and moral—are mediated by culture, known by and contacted through culturally constituted sensibilities, beliefs, symbols, and practices and transmitted through culturally constructed languages. There is nothing outside of language and everything is inside it. In Heidegger's sonorous prose, "Language is the house of Being. In its home man dwells."

Language thus stands to postmodernists as the material means of production did to Marx, as the basic, universal reality, the *logos* that is inseparable from existence and defines its possibilities. We should not forget, Nietzsche wrote, that "it is enough to create new names and estimations and possibilities in order to create in the long run new 'things.'"⁵ For Marx material reality was, in principle, objective and transparent to a scientific approach: "the material transformation of the economic conditions of production. . . ," he declared, "can be determined with the precision of natural science . . ."⁶ For a postmodern, especially one who practices deconstructionist techniques, language is not that kind of reality. It often betrays its users, sets traps for them, or produces meanings that a user had not intended—as though Descartes's demon had secreted a virus within language specially designed to mislead all philosophers by first deceiving Plato.⁷ Of course it is the philosopher who reveals through language how philosophy has been misled by it.

II. NIETZSCHEAN PESSIMISM TRANSFORMED

Marx had made a gift of theory to the workers, speaking to them, organizing and educating them, summoning them to power. There was, in his eyes, no inherent antagonism between *theoros* and *demos*, not because he vulgarized theory or pandered to the workers but because theory was committed to righting wrong, and the worker was wrong incarnate.

Where in the world constructed of language is theory, and what has become of the theorist? And to whose advantage is such a world, inexhaustibly fertile yet inevitably and endlessly condemned (as Foucault might have put it) to be untrue? And, in a treacherous world of linguistic deceits, is there an equivalent of the proletariat and of *its* vanguard? or is the relationship not that of liberators and unliberated but of the linguistically advantaged and disadvantaged, of permanently unequal antagonists? An answer was foreshadowed by Nietzsche. In *Zarathustra* the main figure (who is a fantasized Nietzsche) retreats once more to solitude, to a world he has invented for himself:

Here, the words and word-chests of all existence spring open to me: all existence here wants to become words, all meaning wants to learn speech from me.⁸

The danger that besets Zarathustra in his imagined world does not lie with an arrogant ruling class or tyrant but comes from a culture that has been rendered transparent and accessible. The rare and hard-won triumphs of the mind have been made available to the Many:

Everything among them speaks, everything is betrayed. And what was once called a secret and secrecy of profound souls, today belongs to the street-trumpeters and other butterflies.⁹

In Nietzsche's view the Many are omnipresent: "Where power is, there *number* becomes master: it has more power." But what if the demos is unconscious of its power? Under twenty-first-century conditions, if they were to rule they would first have to dominate culture instead of passively consuming it. If they are the dominated, who is the dominator? Since in an age of democratic sensitivity it is impolitic to say, "The People," a Foucauldian answer is preferred: the dominator is everyone and no one, the system.

What is striking about the postmodern discourse of domination is that typically it is leveled against societies describing themselves as "liberal" or as "constitutional democracies." Postmodernism has made new discoveries about the nature of power that encourage a heightened sense of hurt which feels compelled to protest certain oppressions by appropriating the heroic terms previously reserved for the harshest tyrannies. Not only is domination routinely ascribed to relationships and categories ("concentration camps," "holocaust," "colonization") that were reserved for the most horrendous regimes, but the usage is rarely accompanied by reference to, or comparison with, past totalitarianisms. Stated differently, the inflated language is made possible because Nietzschean pessimism and his conviction about the absolute decadence of Western civilization have been rendered saccharine by American optimism, by the unshaken belief of many of his disciples that the stakes are not those of an endgame but of yet another new and exciting frontier. Accordingly, the most severe indictments of "the system" are hurled not out of despair but from a neo-pragmatist faith in the ultimate good nature of a liberal society.

III. THE SELF AS MICROCOSM

One knows my demand of philosophers that they place themselves beyond good and evil . . . Morality is only an interpretation of certain phenomena, more precisely a misinterpretation . . . But as semiotics it remains of incalculable value: it reveals, to the informed man at least, the most precious realities of cultures and inner worlds, which did not know enough to "understand" themselves. Morality is merely sign-language, symptomatology . . . -Nietzsche¹¹

Buoyed by "the insight that everything has been for eternities," Nietzsche's vision of a catastrophism assumed that somehow "the powerful" will emerge to impose a new hierarchy upon a meaningless world. Yet things have turned out differently. Although Nietzsche never claimed that the powerful would have the scales lifted from their eyes by reading Zarathustra, the intellectuals and students of literature and culture find themselves flourishing because the world, far from being meaningless, appears as a world where the manufacture of meanings is a thriving industry. So much so that the overproduction which Marx thought would be the bane of capitalism in the material realm, has, instead, taken hold of the cultural realm. A superfluity of meaning is endlessly churned out by postmodern technologies, in the realm of mass culture as well as in the more rarefied one of academia, or the inbetween realm of the so-called elite culture of the affluent. Cultural overproduction is matched by overconsumption. For Marx surplus production meant unemployment, underconsumption, and eventual rebellion. The cultural overproduction of postmodernity has brought widening cultural and educational disparities, a dumbed-down political discourse at all levels, and passivity.

Of what is postmodernism the ideological complement? Postmodernism delights in being free from the constraining categories of modernism. In terms of political theory modernism is best represented by liberalized democracy, constitutional restraints upon political authority, and a conception of the individual as stable, responsible, and bound by contractual promises. In contrast, the postmodern is encouraged to enjoy "the play of flux in practice, without stabilization ... an incessant fluctuation in institutions [as] an end in itself."12 The idea of a stable, rule-oriented, centered self is rejected in favor of the freedom to invent and reinvent the self. Loyalties are merely contingent "solidarities," 13 while alliances are things of the moment, dispensable when no longer pleasing. While this conception might seem eminently democratic, it might also reflect a changed understanding of democracy, one less centered on political citizenship and more concerned with cultural expressiveness. The postmodern self is the microcosm of a political macrocosm, of a Superpower that is impatient with the restraints of treaties, alliances, and arms limitations—perhaps because both are searching for a justifying identity.

IV. CENTRIFUGALS AND CENTRIPETALS

... virtually all full-fledged democracies we know are associated with capitalist political economies, and virtually all are creatures of the twentieth century.

-Rueschemeyer, Stephens, and Stephens¹⁴

... something that is so obvious that virtually everyone probably notices it from time to time, yet so important that if we were to focus on it intently, it would overturn our understanding of politics and as well, quite possibly, many of our political commitments. The subject is the pervasiveness of popular ignorance about politics and government.

—Jeffrey Friedman¹⁵

"Why describe," I asked him. "There's nothing to describe, there's almost nothing left."

-Maurice Blanchot16

Aristotle listed democracy among the "perverted" constitutions and described it disapprovingly as the regime of equality where "those who rule are poor and without much property." One of the most striking facts about the political world of the third millennium is the near-universal acclaim accorded democracy. It is invoked as the principal measure of legitimacy, as the standard for any new states wishing to gain entry into the comity of nations, as the justification for a pre-emptive war, and as the natural aspiration of peoples struggling anywhere for liberation from oppressive systems. Democracy has thus been given the status of a transhistorical and universal value—although few, if any, self-described democracies profess to represent rule of the poor.

Throughout the centuries, and with rare exception, political theorists condemned democracy as the most turbulent and unstable form, yet in the third millennium it is widely considered as indispensable to stability and to a market economy. ¹⁸ That the universality of democracy is invoked some twenty-five hundred years after its first appearance and is now claimed and even promoted abroad by Superpower might seem proof of its vitality. On the other hand, according to Plato, a failed democracy provides the preconditions for a demagogic type of tyranny based upon popular support. According to Plato's theory of regime change, when democracy degenerates into tyranny, the regime of will, it does not disappear. Rather it is incorporated as one of tyranny's elements. ¹⁹ Or, restating the point in a more contemporary idiom, popular support provides the

"ideal" element, the necessary—although not a sufficient—condition for the new regime of will, Superpower.

Two political tendencies that most closely bear upon the actual as opposed to the rhetorical status of democracy are polar opposites. They can be described as centrifugal and centripetal. The first fears democracy because it homogenizes, suppressing significant differences in favor of a monolithic ideal of "the people." The second is contemptuous of democracy for its weakness yet envious of its appeal. Both tendencies presuppose that society has had a prior experience of democratization and both, in different ways, exploit that experience.

The centrifugal is represented by certain constructs employed by literary, political, and social theorists: among them "difference," "identity," "separatism," "multiculturalism." Their political expression has taken the form of a pluralism with centrifugal tendencies—away from inclusive commonality and towards fragmentation; an accompanying emphasis upon differences (e.g., race, class, gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation)—a particularistic agenda; and an element of exclusivity that often conceals a significant number of internal divisions (e.g., wealthy/poor, gay/lesbian, glass ceiling/minimum wage). When this postmodern version of pluralism is added to the pluralism familiar to political societies shaped by modern liberalism and capitalism, the resulting range is enormous, from separatist groups demanding various degrees of autonomy to garden variety, old-fashioned interest groups focused on promoting a limited agenda through conventional political processes.

The centrifugals and their ideologies reflect heightened self-consciousness and sensibilities that turn upside down most traditional and some modern democratic conceptions of the political. While they may enter into alliances with other centrifugals, the broader values of equality and commonality tend to be, at best, a tactical convenience ("rainbow coalition"). The challenge of attracting likeminded individuals, and thereby differentiating the group from others, takes precedence over what is general amidst diversities.

Centrifugalism might signify the end of unequivocal conceptions of citizenship—"we are members with common obligations because we live or were born here"—and their dilution by conceptions based on "dismembership:" membership comes down to choosing the group(s) with which one wants to become associated (re-member) and signifying the group(s) from which one dissociates, dismembers. It implies that citizenship, as the core notion of democratic membership, is a residual category useful for the rights and protections it affords, a sometime role with reservations attached rather than a positive, unifying force enabling society to cohere despite differences and to cope with problems that exceed the capabilities of any discrete group or alliance of groups. It remains an open question whether centrifugalism can resuscitate democracy.

V. Centripetal Power

Corporate. Of or belonging to a body politic, or corporation, or to a body of persons.

—Oxford English Dictionary

The actuality of postmodern governance is confirmation of the power of the major representatives of centripetalism, the large business corporations. In contrast to the centrifugal groups whose energies are often consumed by defensive strategies, corporate power is driven by a dynamic (takeovers, mergers, buyouts) that aggressively promotes concentration of economic power—and of political power. Corporate politics prefers the "political economy of scale" represented in a centralized state because it enables corporate resources allocated to political purposes to be used to maximum effect. Dealing with/controlling a single large state is more cost-effective than dealing with/controlling fifty smaller ones. And the same holds for global politics where one manageable Superpower is a highly efficient instrument for the interests of multinational corporations as contrasted with the formidable task they would undertake in lobbying a multitude of sovereign states.

The two tendencies of centrifugalism and centripetalism are not power-equivalents any more than they are political equivalents. Whatever remains of democratic possibilities lies with the centrifugal forces. Yet their political prospects are the more problematical. For despite their critical attitudes towards the state, most—perhaps all—of the major centrifugal groups look to government for assistance and protection and to its courts for relief. This requires some accommodation to the political culture that surrounds the national government and many state governments, and that, increasingly, has become indistinguishable from corporate culture.

VI. THE POLITICAL EVOLUTION OF THE CORPORATION

What name, then, would be more suitable than "the world's oldest, continuous written constitution" for describing the nature of "the world's oldest democracy," its powers, and its way of being in the world? It seems so compounded with other institutional forms, such as those of capitalism and the market, that we can no longer intelligibly describe its form without acknowledging their influence and incorporating them in its name. The resulting form is a hybrid; and along with it come new conceptions of *who* is political in it, and of what constitutes the special virtues of the ruling class (e.g., those of the CEO and of the professional political operative). The appearance of a new ruling class reflects capitalism's

political coming-of-age and with it a new corporate aspiration, not just to exert political influence but to absorb and "incorporate" the political and transform it, tacitly abandoning the ideal of commonality. It is not unusual to encounter the term "the imperial CEO" applied to business executives.

In its most powerful forms the corporation is no longer describable solely by economic criteria (such as market share, profitability). The meaning of economic has expanded to include objects of exploitation hitherto considered "outside" the pursuit of profits. Capitalism has transformed itself, from a system of activities analyzable through economic categories to one that has adopted political characteristics and the qualities of a new constitutional blend devoid of democratic substance. The new economies created by technologically advanced societies provide equivalents for democracy's values of participation (mass consumption), inclusion (work force), and mass empowerment ("consumer sovereignty," "shareholder democracy"). Those sublimations accord with a "virtual" way of being in a world transformed by the technological revolution in communications. Electronic technologies (computers, video, Internet) epitomize the combination of the illusion of individual freedom/power with the encapsulation of the individual in a cocoon from which escape seems an incoherent idea.

The changes in capitalism have weakened the authority of the state as the supreme power in society. Globalization is the euphemism for continuous expansion abroad and the constriction of politics at home, narrowing the points of entry so that only the pressure of money can gain political access. As the privatization of public power continues and the authority of the state diminishes, its boundaries become porous to waves of cheap labor. Although the state continues to play a far from negligible role in an increasingly globalized economy, the power wielded by multinational corporations has made their cooperation and acquiescence indispensable. The cooperation of corporate power is now a vital element of domestic, foreign, and military policies. Competition and rivalry occur less between state and corporations and more between corporations vying for influence over the state or subsidies from it.²⁰

It is not only that the state and the corporation have become partners; in the process, each has begun to mimic functions historically identified with the other. How does one describe the "power" of a corporation such as Lockheed that once was engaged solely in the manufacture of aircraft but now also operates publicly funded welfare programs? Old-fashioned economic power may have enabled Lockheed to offer politicians the inducements necessary to procure contacts/contracts for its welfare operations, but a new mix of power and authority results from it. Corporations are extensively engaged in administering penal institutions and operating health-care systems, and they have assumed important roles at every level of public and private education, undertaking to operate primary school systems, establish universities, and collaborate in joint projects with aca-

demic researchers. (Appropriately, corporate centers have exchanged the name of "headquarters," with its military connotations, for "campus.")

In the course of these developments public services formerly undertaken for the benefit of recipients are objects of profit. At the same time, the folkways of government emulate corporate ways. Conceptions of management and efficiency, even of profitability are adopted.²¹ The ideal of two distinct "spheres," the public and the private, is scrambled as public functions become privatized and private modes of operation "publicized." Similarly, traditional distinctions between the political and the "social" or the "economic" are superseded: the economic is joined to the political to form the hybrid denominator common to all domains.

The hybrid appears as a multi-form. We can summarize it as a "political economy" when describing the activities and interactions within the corporate economy (competition, investment strategies, power-grabs, and domination of a market); then as an "economic polity" when describing the actions and relationships within what used to be the political world (corporate subsidies, tax favors, anti-labor policies, corporate campaign contributions, lobbyists); and, climactically, as Superpower when describing its global hegemony. One consequence is that, in relation to internal politics, civic virtue is redefined as economic rationality, while, externally, it appears disconnected from empire.²² The citizen, the crucial actor in the theory of democracy, merges with homo economicus and, like the constitution, is hybridized ("vote your pocketbook!"). As popular distrust of government has grown, the corporation facilitates hybridization by depicting itself as the residuary legatee of democracy. Blurring the line between economy and polity makes it easier to assimilate political choices to consumer choices, political behavior to economic behavior. Self-interest, competitiveness, acceptance of hierarchy, inequality, and complicity in imperialism become accepted elements in the idea of a virtuous citizen (homo imperatoris).²³

The development that is emblematic of the economic polity is the extent to which finance has come to define politics. Millions of dollars from corporations are systematically poured into the legislative process and electoral campaigns. Despite efforts to portray the phenomenon either as free speech or, disingenuously, as the purchase of "access" rather than control over politicians or policy, the problem is not public deception but the utter helplessness of Dewey's public to constitute itself as an effective public actor capable of countering the situation that unequal economic power has corrupted. The normalization of this arrangement is such that although corruption is widely recognized, it is virtually impossible to muster the political will to eliminate it. In the politics of the hybrid constitution money is the natural successor to the vote and further testimony that economic power has altered the nature of the "polity." State actors have become dependent more on corporate power than on their own citizens. Even a citizen-army is becoming a thing of the past, replaced by professionals skilled in the latest weaponry developed by corporate technology. The military has been absorbed

into the corporate economy (defense contracts, weapons procurement, retired generals become executives) and its culture.

Marx and Dewey had dreamed of the time when society and the lives of its members would be based upon the rational organization of science and technology and their application to production. That apolitical vision of society is now in the process of being realized, albeit not in the egalitarian terms Marx or Dewey had envisioned, and not in the form of fewer working hours and greater leisure time for the individual.

VII. EMPIRE AND THE IMPERIAL CITIZEN

All of these signs—the superimposition of empire upon democracy, the corruption of representative government, the declining status of the citizen, the hegemonic status of American power in the world—suggest that the traditional categories of citizen, democracy, state, and power desperately need reformulation.

It is testimony to the comatose condition of democracy that while a lively debate ensued during the Vietnam War about the powers of the imperial presidency,²⁴ no one seemed concerned to raise the corollary question: what of the imperial citizen? The answer is that when measured against the spatial dimensions of empire and the power-concentration in "the world's only Superpower," the citizen is dwarfed and the citizenry, as an independent collective actor, all but deleted. While the powers and responsibilities of the presidency have accordingly kept pace with the growth of Superpower, the powers and responsibilities of the citizen have shrunk—also accordingly. This becomes most apparent when important elections loom. The media aided by the pollsters proceed unchallenged to construct either a Pavlovian democracy conditioned to respond to stupefying questions ("public opinion polls show that 60 percent of the voters believe that the president is doing a good job"), or a democracy fragmented into abstract categories of citizens who do not consciously know, associate, or collaborate with each other on the basis of such categories—"over thirty years old," "women earning over \$50,000 a year."

A glimpse of the imperial citizen was provided by President G. W. Bush in the aftermath of the horrific events of September 11, 2001. In declaring a war the president did not advise the citizens to be prepared to make sacrifices; instead he exhorted them to consume, to "unite, spend, and fly." Following the same scenario of civic disengagement initially scripted during the Vietnam War and the first Gulf War, the vast majority of citizens were urged to continue to live "normally" during the war on terrorism. ²⁵ More ominously, the administration urged Americans to become a nation of informers: to take note of anything suspicious about neighbors, co-workers, or members of the general public and to report to the proper authorities.

The peculiarity of Superpower and of empire is that they have no formal constitution in the sense that their structure and authority are prescribed and circumscribed beforehand. Their powers are viewed as outside the scheme of legitimation bestowed by constitutionalism and hence exempt from its constraints. Superpower might be described in Freudian terms as ego driven by id (basic power drive) with only mild remonstrance from a weak superego (norms or conscience). Superpower flaunts its ego in a cavalier disregard for its allies, renounces treaty obligations when it finds them confining, refuses to enter into international agreements or to join international agencies and tribunals when they impose limitations on its freedom of action (sovereignty), and asserts its right to invade or wage war against any country that it deems dangerous.

The dynamics of Superpower are far stronger than those of earlier empires because it is conjoined with the dynamics of globalizing capitalism. The European empires of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries were closely connected with and responsive to capitalism, but that version of capitalism cannot compare with the explosiveness of post-World War II capitalism. Similarly, in the concept of a "war against terrorism" Superpower and globalizing capital have claimed a domain, with no known boundaries, of-literally-limitless potential for the development of power and riches.²⁷ While the versions of totalitarianism represented by Nazism and Fascism consolidated power by suppressing liberal political practices that had sunk only shallow cultural roots, Superpower represents a drive towards totality that draws from the setting where liberalism and democracy have been established for more than two centuries. It is Nazism turned upside-down, "inverted totalitarianism." While it is a system that aspires to totality, it is driven by an ideology of the cost-effective rather than of a "master race" (Herrenvolk), by the material rather than the "ideal." It may, and will, exploit its workers without duplicating the Nazi system of inefficient slave labor.

The obvious objection to describing the American Superpower as an inverted totalitarian regime is that it lacks an equivalent to the Nazis' use of torture, concentration camps, and other instruments of terror. It is important to recall that, for the most part, Nazi terror was not applied to the general population; rather the aim was to promote a certain all-pervasive but vague atmosphere of fear and rumors of torture that would facilitate the management and manipulation of the populace. The Nazis wanted a mobilizable society, ready to accept endless warfare, expansion, and sacrifice.

The enslavement of African Americans and its continuing legacy of racism, daily humiliation, and degradation require us to qualify the assertion that Superpower lacks an equivalent to Nazi terror and extermination. In inverted totalitarianism, what is the place of persistent racism?

A striking feature of racism in America is the ambivalence surrounding it. Racism is shunned in public rhetoric (except for right-wing talk shows), denounced by most politicians, and formally forbidden by court decisions, constitutional provisions, and statutory law. It is condemned by democratic values of equality and fairness yet is simultaneously kept alive in discriminatory employment practices, segregated neighborhoods, poor educational facilities, and health care. However, the consistent failure to close the gap between the official norm of racial equality and the reality of racial inequalities coexists with positive progress (affirmative action programs, subsidized public housing, Head Start). Persistent ambiguity serves a positive function in the system. It provides a useful tension between hope and despair so that the objects of racism oscillate between believing that the system can respond and despairing of its ever eradicating the problems. The result is, from the viewpoint of Superpower, an occasional militancy (a civil rights movement) that can be appeased by minor concessions and, predictably, will relapse into passivity, then into disenchantment, and, taunted by an equality that remains always out of reach, end in rioting—and another official study. Political action, when it does not fail altogether, seems capable only of achieving expedients that fall woefully short of dealing with deeply embedded injustices. Action becomes another victim of racism.

The crucial element that sets off inverted totalitarianism from Nazism is that while the latter imposed a regime of mobilization upon its citizenry, inverted totalitarianism works to depoliticize its citizenry, thus paying a left-handed compliment to the prior experience of democratization. Where the Nazis strove to give the masses a sense of collective power and confidence, Kraft durch Freude (or "strength through joy"), the inverted regime promotes a sense of weakness, collective futility that culminates in the erosion of the democratic faith, in political apathy and the privatization of the self. Where the Nazis wanted a continuously mobilized society that would support its masters without complaint and enthusiastically vote "yes" at the managed plebiscites, the elite of inverted totalitarianism wants a politically demobilized society that hardly votes at all. Its shape was outlined by President G. W. Bush in the immediate aftermath of the horrendous events of September 11, 2001. While declaring "war" on terrorism, he refused to do what democratic leaders typically do in wartime. Typically a president sets about mobilizing the citizenry, warning it of coming sacrifices, and exhorting everyone to pull together in a common effort. In the military build-up that preceded the pre-emptive war against Iraq in 2003, not only did the Bush administration not seek to unify the nation and embolden its confidence, it did the opposite. It encouraged a general climate of fear and suspicion. There were sudden yellow or orange "alerts," periodic announcements about newly uncovered terrorist cells, the arrests of shadowy figures, a singling out of aliens from the Middle East for interrogation and, in many cases, deportation, the highly publicized creation of a Devil's Island at Guantánamo Bay where captives from the war in Afghanistan were relentlessly interrogated—and all of this accompanied by a

sudden fascination on the part of officials with the merits of torture. A government-controlled, color-coded climate of fear existing side by side with officially sanctioned consumer hedonism appears paradoxical, but the reality is that a nervous subject has displaced the citizen.

Corporate power made its contribution to the climate of fear and depoliticization. Even before September 11 corporations were engaged in ruthless downsizing, withdrawing or reducing pension and health benefits for their former employees, and campaigning to privatize social security and to reduce still further the modest health benefits available, especially for the poor. Except for subsidies and favors to corporations government was being divested of its welfare functions while expanding its police functions.

The most revealing inversion lies in the relationship of organized capitalism to the regime. German "big business" was eventually subordinated to state control. In the United States, however, corporate power has become predominant in the political establishment, in the ideology that permeates its upper echelons, in the making of policy, and in the councils of the major political parties. While Nazi ideology, epitomized in the demand for *Lebensraum*, was the driving force behind the quest for empire (*Reich*), inverted totalitarianism is powered by the everexpanding power made available by the integration of science and technology into the economy of capitalism.

All totalizing regimes of the twentieth century have developed a base in an aggressive, ideologically driven party with mass support. In this regard the United States has experienced a radical change in the system of political parties. One of the parties, the Republican, has overturned a standard assumption about the American party system, that a strongly ideological party was doomed to electoral failure because the system was allegedly one in which parties eschewed extremes of ideology for fear of alienating a largely non-ideological electorate. Beginning with the Goldwater campaign of 1964 and gathering momentum with the Reagan presidency (1980-1988), the Republicans evolved into a unique phenomenon in American history, a major party that was fervently doctrinal, zealous, ruthless, opportunistically populist, pro-corporate, and successful in winning a popular majority, sometimes by dubious methods. As the Republican party grew more stridently and intolerantly ideological, the Democratic party conceded that the Republicans had succeeded in conservatizing the electorate, thereby setting the ideological parameters for the politics of the new millennium. The Democratic leadership all but abandoned its critical, reform-minded constituencies to embrace the ideology of the end of ideology. Its leaders, in the name of centrism, pursued an opportunistic politics of appealing first to the right, then to the left, but always to corporate donors. Unlike the Republican party, which, when in the minority, vigorously played the role of an opposition party—criticizing and offering a genuine alternative—the Democrats were ineffectual at both. The weakening of the

two-party system as a check on power was one manifestation of a general weakening of institutions intended to limit or balance power.

VIII. SUPERPOWER AND INVERTED TOTALITARIANISM

Perhaps the most crucial element in the structure of inverted totalitarianism is its equivalent of the propaganda organization of Nazism. For more than two centuries it has been a commonplace observation that if democracy is to flourish, its citizens must not only be educated but enjoy access to a variety of sources of knowledge and opinion. The education of citizens has taken a dramatic turn in recent decades, away from John Dewey's conception of education as the means of realizing individual potential towards a vision of a nation of students performing according to national "standardized tests." At the same time, the great "research universities" have become interlocked with corporate interests and with the propaganda machines represented by well-funded think tanks and conservative foundations. As a result the critical independent intellectual seems an endangered species. In the light of the Nazi party's control of mass media, the most ominous development in the United States has been the virtual disappearance of dissident voices from the press and the media generally. The concentration of ownership of newspapers and radio and television stations in relatively few hands has produced a near-homogeneity of culture and opinion that, when it is not trivial, is either bland or stridently conservative. The net effect of the concentration of media ownership is to enclose the civic mind within the equivalent of a hermetically sealed dome.

IX. THE LIMITS OF SUPERPOWER?

The quintessence of Superpower and of its genealogy was revealed in the declaration of war against terrorism by the second Bush administration. The administration warned that "We intend to oppose [terrorism] wherever it is." As a hybrid power and an empire, Superpower challenged the idea of a state whose identity was rooted in and restricted to a distinct territory. Terrorism is subsidized by conventional states, yet it is everywhere in general and nowhere in particular. While the Superpower caricatures democracy, terrorism is the grotesque caricature of revolutionary protest.

By postulating that Superpower or inverted totalitarianism is the postmodern contribution to the Aristotelian taxonomy of possible constitutional forms, we can ask of it the two questions that Aristotle directed at all of the forms. What causes a form to change—that is, what do the rulers do which arouses powerful opposition such that the form changes its identity? And, secondly, what is the contrasting mode of power that could force a change in the dominant system?

More often, according to Aristotle, opposition is provoked because the ruling group pushes its distinctive virtue to excess. Thus a ruling aristocracy might decree that no one should hold public office who cannot prove noble birth; or, for its part, a regime of modest middle-class property-owners (Aristotle's "polity") might legislate that only those with modest property holdings were eligible for office.

What, then, is the "virtue" that, conceivably, could cause the ruling groups in the hybrid to overreach? The *virtu* of that regime lies in its dynamic, its ceaseless reaching out. In its political economy form it is a furious drive for the innovations that promise greater rewards and expanded opportunities for exploitation. That drive is remarkable for its ability to keep extending the limits of the possible: the idea of limits becomes an incitement, new "challenges." Its state-form, Superpower, incorporates technological innovations and increasing productivity so that it strains at limits as it projects power throughout the world in pursuit of elusive terrorists, new markets, and new sources of energy.

If the economic polity represents a drive towards totality implied in Superpower and ever closer to its perverted form, totalitarianism, then the pressing question is whether there are countervailing forces that, while not powerful enough to effect a transformation, may stake out a political place in which to develop a counter-paradigm.

X. A LAND OF POLITICAL OPPORTUNITY

John Dewey once remarked that equality becomes dangerous when it is widely praised but empty in practice. Earlier Tocqueville had made a similar point about democracy: if democracy failed to cultivate participatory forms that engaged politically the energies of the ordinary citizen, political populism would be displaced by a cultural populism of sameness, resentment, and mindless patriotism, and by an anti-political form he labeled "democratic despotism." Tocqueville emphasized that at the beginning American democracy was empty in a favorable sense. Unlike the societies of Western Europe of that era, it had no entrenched feudal influences, no system of inherited class privileges, no glaring and persistent social inequalities.

In contrast to the classical notion of political cycles in which one political form evolved from another, American democracy, according to the national mythology, had founded itself and was autochthonous rather than derivative. Less mythic, it was in fact a society of abundant economic opportunities and vast natural resources. If the experiment in social equality and political democracy were to fail under the ideal conditions of America, how could it hope to succeed elsewhere?

The success of the experiment, however, depended on recognition of the Tocquevillean point that America was unique not solely for its economic opportunities, but as a land of *political* opportunity where individuals could practice

becoming democrats. America's early political theorists, in their eagerness to portray the American as "endowed" with natural rights, fostered a myth that men possessed a kind of proto-citizenship prior to society. Becoming a citizen, they implied, merely confirmed a prior status. Tocqueville, in contrast, suggested that democratic citizenship had to be conceived differently, not as an antecedent or "natural" status or even as a subsequent creature of law. Democratic citizenship was, instead, a process of becoming.

Tocqueville confessed that he could not foresee a time in the history of the United States when inequalities would reassert themselves and reverse the powerful trend towards equality. At the beginning of the third millennium, however, social scientists have established that economic, cultural, educational, and political inequalities are steadily widening in the United States; that, according to polling data, representative institutions (Congress) have lost the confidence of the public; and that political parties are feeble instruments of popular will formation. The popularity of small aggressive wars (Panama, Grenada, Afghanistan, and Iraq) ominously signalled the emptying of democracy. Such wars, with their nostalgic evocations of patriotism and unity, were embraced as fleeting reminders of a common political identity.

XI. CAPITAL AND DEMOCRACY

It is simply ridiculous if our literati believe that non-manual work in the private office is in the least different from that in a government office. Both are basically identical. Sociologically speaking, the modern state is an "enterprise" (Betrieb) just like a factory. This exactly is its historical peculiarity . . . The "progress" toward the bureaucratic state, adjudicating and administering according to rationally established law and regulation, is nowadays very closely related to the modern capitalist development.

-Max Weber²⁸

At the start of a new millennium the contrast could not be starker between the politics of the corporate state and the promise of democratic politics, and yet there appears to be no widespread public recognition of a crisis. Perhaps the crisis is that there is none (Gramsci), or perhaps the reason why a sense of urgency seems lacking is that the location of crisis has been sought in the wrong places.

The fundamental problem lay in the original assumption that capitalism and democracy would evolve along compatible lines and mutually reinforce each other; or, stated differently, that the culture to which the worker was exposed would cohere with the culture of the citizen. That assumption could persist as long as capitalism was identified with individual private property as represented

not by the industrialist or investor but by the family farmer and small businessman. With the emergence of capitalism as a system of power dominated by huge conglomerates that dispensed radically unequal rewards, its anti-democratic culture became steadily more obvious. Marx had been only half-right: capitalism not only deformed the worker qua worker but also qua citizen. In its structure, ideology, and human relationships capitalism was producing human beings unfitted for democratic citizenship: self-interested, exploitive, competitive, striving for inequalities, fearful of downward mobility. One's neighbor was either a rival or a useful object. As the world of capital became steadily more enveloping and the claims of the political more anachronistic, capital became the standard of the "real," the "true world." By that measure democracy—as the carrier of the common good whose promotion required a strong element of egalitarianism, cooperation, and disinterestedness—appeared as untrue, falsified by reality.

Clearly on the present terms, democracy might survive archaically but only by serving the needs of capital. The terms on which democracy would be suffered were distilled in two electioneering slogans that rapidly became articles of faith in the ideology underpinning Superpower: that government was the enemy ("get government off the backs of the people") and that taxation, especially of the rich, was a declaration of "class warfare" and therefore ought to be minimal ("it's your money and you should keep it")—which prevented its use for "populist" projects, such as health care, environmental protection, and public education. Thus in a "democracy" the people were to deny themselves the use of "their" government as an instrument of popular needs and grievances. A new political constitution had been tacitly ratified that established a uniquely/eunuchally "sovereign people," one denied the means of potency.

At stake in this transformation was a crucial question: who is to define and control the course of change, and who is to bear the brunt of it? The fact that scientific and technological advances have made available the power of introducing continuous, unrelenting change as the organizing focus and distinctive mark of postmodern societies can also be seen as the principle by which elites establish their credentials to monopolize policy determinations and promote the culture that validates themselves. As several commentators have noted, the powers embodied in modern change do not enter the world without disrupting and eventually destroying established life-forms of work, play, personal and social relations, belief, and habitat.²⁹ Those who define, direct, finance, and prosper from significant change rarely experience their own lives mangled or stupefied and the misshapen results passed on as an inheritance.

XII. DEMOCRACY AT BAY

I call disaster that which does not have the ultimate for a limit, but bears the ultimate away in the disaster.

-Maurice Blanchot30

The evisceration of democracy matters because of what democracy signified over and beyond the equal rights of citizens and their participation in the practice and control of governance. The stakes concern the meaning and substance of the political as well the questions of who dominates politics and who has responsibility for the care of civic life. According to the classical and early modern account, democracy—in contrast to the admittedly biased and exclusionist regimes of aristocracy, oligarchy, and monarchy—represented the belief that the power, benefits, risks, and sacrifices inherent in the idea of a *political* society were to be shared equally. This was in keeping with the conception of the political as synonymous with commonality, res publica, public possession. The idea was not so much that of "responsibility to" as "responsibility for" the care of commonality. The role of the citizenry was to tend and defend the values and practices of a democratic civic life.31 As a seventeenth-century English Leveller admonished: despite the "very great unhappinesse we well know, to be always struggling and striving in the world," and the temptation to "consult only with our selves, and regard only our own ease," we have an obligation "to employ our endeavours for the advancement of a communitive Happinesse of equal concernment to others as our selves . . . "32 In contrast a twentieth-century economist, analyzing from the standpoint of rational choice the undemanding act of voting, warned that for the individual voter the expected benefits of voting are small and hence "any cost at all may threaten the political system with collapse through lack of participation."33

Although advocates of alternative political forms insisted that their systems, too, accepted the conception of political governance as rule in the interests of all (thus tacitly acknowledging the central claim of democracy), they usually contended that the achievement of a common good required that the distribution of power and offices reflect the "natural" inequalities in the distribution of talents among human beings. The effect of that contention was to invert democracy, driving a wedge between equality and the political: the responsibility for the care of civic life rested with the few, although it should be supported by all. In the formulation of a noted political scientist, the problem was that "instead of seeking to explain why citizens are not interested, concerned, and active, the task is to explain why a few citizens *are*."³⁴

Ancient democracy was not, as modern democracies claim to be, "inclusive." Women, minors, slaves, and resident aliens were excluded on grounds that

democracy was possible only in a state whose small size and population made for cultural homogeneity and whose citizenry possessed some elementary political experience. In contrast to systems in which the abilities required of the ruling groups were reckoned to be of an exceptional order of skill and personal virtues, a fundamental assumption of democracy was that its institutional practices and processes should be adjusted to the level of skills average citizens were likely to acquire or possess.³⁵ Although most modern democracies today boast of their greater "inclusiveness," they also follow the viewpoint of the ancient critics of democracy that governance consists of skills inherently lacking in the vast majority of citizens. Thus a certain elitism is grafted on to democracy. Typically it is defended as meritocratic, but today's elitism is actually more the reflection of managerial, scientific, and technocratic values. While that understanding promotes the political power of those who possess or can purchase the skills associated with those values, it stigmatizes the political shortcomings of the Many as "voter apathy" and ignorance. The world of work lived by the Many appears thus as irrelevant to the experience and prerequisites of rule, while the experiences gained at the higher levels of corporate life serve as qualifications for entering the revolving door to high governmental offices.

XIII. POSTREPRESENTATIVE POLITICS

The theoretical moment of surrender, when democracy's sympathizers accepted the inadequacy of the classical and early modern conceptions of democracy, was represented by Tom Paine, one of democracy's most fervent advocates. "The original simple democracy," Paine wrote in *The Rights of Man* (1791–1792), "... is incapable of extension, not from its principle, but from the inconvenience of its form ... Simple democracy was society governing itself without the aid of secondary means." Nonethless, Paine continued, democracy "affords the true data from which government on a large scale can begin." The solution is to "ingraft representation upon democracy" and thus "arrive at a system of government capable of embracing and confederating all the various interests and every extent of territory and population ... "36

The idea of an "ingrafted" and infinitely extendable democracy rested on the assumption that, if the "sinister" interests of monarchy and aristocracy were excluded by a republican constitution, then representation need not distort democracy despite the multiplication of interests and increase in population and territory. Hamilton tried to reassure those who remained sceptical about the democratic character of the proposed constitution of the new republic: "The streams of national power ought to flow immediately from that pure original fountain of all legitimate authority," the people. Such a straightforward endorsement of the fundamental principle of democracy might ordinarily lead one to

suspect Hamilton of being disingenuous. However, more was at stake: not only the question of whether representation could be "ingrafted" upon democracy without displacing it, but how representation might become distorted, resulting in the misrepresentation of democracy without achieving its ideal of limited government. The clue is in the sentence that precedes the quoted passage of Hamilton's: "The fabric of American Empire ought to rest on the solid basis of THE CONSENT OF THE PEOPLE."³⁷

The "ingrafting" of "empire" upon popular sovereignty might have given pause in light of the fatal experience of Athens and Rome in aspiring to combine popular government with effective—and often harsh—rule over extensive territory. The attempt to project power over distant reaches had the effect of disconnecting power from its source. That danger is not prevented by representative government; it is encouraged. Representative government, according to its advocates, favors the proliferation of interests precisely because it increases the difficulties of forming a majority, thus, in effect, fragmenting the "sovereign people." At the same time, by attenuating the connections between government and an unorganized citizenry, the processes of legislation and policy-making become vulnerable to organized interests. These, by definition, are accountable not to citizens but to their employers. Paradoxically, the more open to the pressures of organized interests, the more opaque, even mysterious, politics becomes as responsibility becomes virtually untraceable. The political problem arises when that form of corruption is normalized, when it is so widely pervasive as to be functional to the operation of a system and, at the same time, so deeply embedded as to incapacitate the system from reforming itself.

Corruption might be defined as the power to achieve a desired result without being accountable to the system that is being influenced. It short-circuits the system of agency at the heart of representative government. The representative, instead of re-presenting and promoting the concerns of constituents, promotes and protects those of powerful interests while receiving in exchange campaign funds and other forms of bribery. So integral are lobbyists to the legislative process that they have been known to write legislative bills for congressmen and senators and enjoy use of congressional office space. A motion to allow lobbyists to mingle freely on the floor of Congress was only barely headed off. The power of lobbyists; the organization of campaigns, elections, the formulation of policies ("think tanks," private foundations); and the formation of public opinion (mass media conglomerates, polling organizations) are all dependent ultimately upon the huge concentrations of money and resources that only corporations and some private individuals can command.

XIV. FUGITIVE DEMOCRACY

fugitive: evanescent . . . one who flees from danger, an enemy, justice, or an owner . . . One who shifts about from place to place.

—Oxford English Dictionary

The fact that democracy continues to be invoked in American political rhetoric and the popular media may be a tribute, not to its vibrancy, but to its utility in supporting a myth that legitimates the very formations of power which have enfeebled it. The actual weakness of democracy is the consequence not of a frontal attack but of a judgment that democracy can be managed and, when necessary, ignored. The strategies are as anti-representative as they are anti-democratic. Typically they are couched in economic and managerial terms: efficiency, balanced budget, the economy's need for political stability, the government's need for a governable citizenry, and the military's need for "rapid response." ³⁸

In recognition of democracy's decline, popular distrust of government has steadily increased. The undermining of the most fundamental of all democratic principles, the intimate connection between citizenry and its government, has encouraged alienation and disaffiliation from a state that modern revolutions had promised would become democratized, beholden to the people, and the instrument of their hopes and aspirations. Thus the paradox: while democracy is widely proclaimed as the political identity of the American system, the demos is becoming disenchanted with the form that claims it. Disaffiliation is one of the marks that identify the state not only as postdemocratic but as postrepresentative.

While Superpower's claim to democracy is plainly a form of hypocrisy, that judgment presupposes a theory of democracy that is substantive as well as critical. A democratic theory should be able to describe or prescribe a conception of democracy that exposes the shallowness of Superpower's claim, that identifies what types of practices would qualify as democratic, and that points to actual examples. Above all, it should recognize that in the contemporary world democracy is not hegemonic but beleaguered and permanently in opposition to structures it cannot command. Majority rule, democracy's power-principle, is fictitious: majorities are artifacts manufactured by money, organization, and the media.

As a starting-point it is necessary to reject the classical and modern conception that ascribes to democracy "a" proper or settled form. That kind of institutionalization has the effect of reducing democracy to a system while taming its politics by *process*. The modern regime, regardless of form, is shaped by the need to maintain continuous functions: promotion of the economy, law enforcement, military preparedness, revenue collection, protection and control of systems of communication.

It is a design for administration rather than democracy. When democracy is settled into a stable form, such as prescribed by a written constitution, it is also settled down and rendered predictable. Then it becomes the stuff of manipulation: of periodic elections that are managed and controlled, of public opinion that is shaped, cajoled, misled, and then polled, and of a legal system that dictates how much democracy is to be permitted.

Democracy is an ephemeral phenomenon rather than a settled system. We might think of it as protean and amorphous, embracing a wide range of possible forms and mutations that are responsive to grievances on the part of those who have no means of redress other than to risk collectivizing their small bits of power. Elsewhere I have called it "fugitive democracy" in order to emphasize its necessarily occasional character.³⁹ The fugitive character of democracy is directly related to the fact about democracy that Aristotle emphasized: democracy's politics is the creation of those who must work, who cannot hire proxies to promote their interests, and for whom participation, as distinguished from voting, is necessarily a sacrifice. Representative government was supposed to solve those problems, but, as we have seen, in place of an active demos it substituted professionalized representation of interests. By splintering the demos into disparate interests, it scotched the possibility of collective action. That was, however, a solution to a non-existent problem. It assumed that democracy was a form of government in which the people governed. That assumption was mistaken: in part because it presented the "people" as a pre-existent, continuous entity (Lincoln's "government of the people, by the people, for the people"); and in part because it assumed that the authority and power to govern was what a people would aspire to.

Since, at best, only rarely has democracy "governed," then perhaps political theorists from antiquity to modern times have made a category mistake by treating democracy as a possible constitutional form for an entire society. Perhaps democracy has not been about governing or ruling a political society primarily for the reason that Aristotle indicated when he defined it as rule by the poorer classes, by the leisureless. The vast majority of mankind has always been preoccupied with economic survival; in premodern times the economic circumstances of aristocrats and later the wealthy bourgeoisie enabled them to devote time to political and military affairs. In modern times the wealthy have purchased and nurtured political agents to govern for them. Democracy is perennially outspent and overmatched.

However, by the same reasoning—that democracy cannot assemble to govern and that its citizens would not have the leisure to meet—the idea of democracy is absolved of the requirement that in order to be a serious political alternative it must prove its capability to govern an entire society on a continuing basis, with all that modern governance entails. The true question is not whether democracy can govern in the traditional sense, but why it would want to. Governing means

manning and accommodating to bureaucratized institutions that, *ipso facto*, are hierarchical in structure and elitist, permanent rather than fugitive—in short, anti-democratic.

An alternative might reconceive democracy as an elemental politics about the needs and aspirations of the Many, not about a unitary polity that democrats must strive to control, and not about seeking "a" permanent form. ⁴⁰ Throughout Western history, under monarchies, aristocracies, and republics, the Many, as workers, peasants, soldiers, and taxpayers, have been exploited and excluded. The demotic way of being is so preoccupied with existence, with necessities, as to leave the Many with only scant political resources to contest their treatment.

Perhaps, then, democracy should be about forms rather than *a* form or constitution; and, instead of an institutionalized process, it should be conceived as a moment of experience, a crystallized response to deeply felt grievances or needs on the part of those whose main preoccupation—demanding of time and energy—is to scratch out a decent existence. Its moment is not just a measure of fleeting time but an action that protests actualities and reveals possibilities.

Accordingly, small scale is the only scale commensurate with the kind and amount of power that democracy is capable of mobilizing, given the political limitations imposed by prevailing modes of economic organization. The power of a democratic politics lies in the multiplicity of modest sites dispersed among local governments and institutions under local control (schools, community health services, police and fire protection, recreation, cultural institutions, property taxes) and in the ingenuity of ordinary people in inventing temporary forms to meet their needs. ⁴¹ Multiplicity is anti-totality politics: small politics, small projects, small business, much improvisation, and hence anathema to centralization, whether of the centralized state or of the huge corporation. At the same time, multiplicity corresponds to the historic nature of American citizenship and its crucial implication: that citizenship in the emergent Superpower is not a part of democracy's multiplicity, much less its quintessential mode of civic existence.

An American is a citizen, not only of a nation, but of a neighborhood, locality, county, and state. These entities have institutional roots and participatory traditions older than the Constitution. They are fundamental to perpetuating democracy. Not only do they provide the means of effecting the aims of the demos and translating them into laws and policies, but they are "the schools of democracy" (Tocqueville) where ordinary citizens learn the practices and values of being political. Historically, and in contrast to a nation such as France, resistance to the state has originated not from the metropolitan center but from localities, states, and regions. ⁴² Localism does not mean that the ordinary citizen who lacks the leisure to become a full-time actor at the national level magically comes to possess it in a local setting. Nor does the fugitive character of democracy stand for a pent-up revolutionary fervor waiting for an opportunity to wreak havoc. Given

the material condition of the demos, the actuality of democracy is necessarily episodic and circumstantial. Being a citizen involves doing the best one can to take part in common tasks, the deliberations that define them, and the responsibilities that follow. As a way of existence it lives in the ebb-and-flow of everyday activities, responsibilities, and relationships.

Democratic possibilities depend upon combining traditional localism and postmodern centrifugalism. That task is formidable, primarily because localism is typically the site of the "anti-modern centrifugals." These go uncelebrated in most of the postmodern discourse about difference: the Klan, militiamen and -women, neo-Nazis, Protestant fundamentalists, would-be censors of public and school libraries, champions of an "original Constitution." The political value of such champions of the archaic is not as bearers of truth but as provocateurs whose passionate commitments can arouse self-consciousness in the public, stimulating the latter to become aware of what they believe and of the mixed legacies that compose a collective inheritance. The resulting controversies are crucial to the cause of anti-totality and its vitality.

This is not to define democracy as institutionalized negativity or "universal abandon." What is at stake is not a vapid issue of dissent but the status of democracy as standing opposition and the importance to it of the continuous recreation of political experience. Ongoing opposition is dictated by the *inherently* anti-democratic structure and norms characteristic of the dominant institutions of so-called advanced societies, the contemporary corporation and the Superpower state. Their politics bear a striking resemblance to a premodern politics based on *arcana imperii*. They operate with a high degree of secrecy, and consequently the actual experience of exercising power and responsibility is confined to a few. What the economic polity renders scarce for its citizens is the direct experience of politics itself and the responsibilities of power. And that is the "renewable resource" unique to the political ecology of localism: unlike the corporation and its accomplice, the postmodern state, localism can generate and continuously renew direct political experience.

In these respects and others democracy runs against the grain of the most powerful institutions of society. It stands for the attempt to nurture the value of a common good in a society whose main institutions are structured to produce differentials of income, status, and power as a matter of course and whose technological innovations serve, ever more quickly and decisively, to disconnect the present from the past. Hence the struggle is unending to extend to a wider citizenry the benefits of social cooperation and achievement made possible by preceding generations. The aim is not to level in the name of equality or to cherish nostalgia but, by gaining some measure of control over the conditions and decisions intimately affecting the everyday lives of ordinary citizens, to relieve serious and remediable distress and to extend inclusion beyond the enjoyment of equal

civil rights by making access to educational and cultural experiences and healthy living conditions a normal expectation.

The demos signifies not only citizenry in general but the carriers of everyday cultural traditions, a role that was never captured in the narrowly political conception of democracy held by Athenians. Political theorists have typically assumed that the role of preserving continuities in cultural values and the practices of governance naturally belonged to elites—to monarchs, aristocrats, priests, scholars, and, latterly, the enlightened bourgeoisie. But since the seventeenth century elites have self-consciously become the agents of discontinuity, first as modernizers, then even more furiously as postmodernizers. Progress has been determined by elites and suffered by non-elites, while political continuity appears as the choice of those who bear the brunt of the dislocations entailed by discontinuity. The cultural, normative, and psychological losses that appear inseparable from economic, scientific, and technological progress have rarely, if ever, been the stuff of elections, much less of widespread public deliberation and choice.

This is a crucial political matter because change is the essence of postmodern societies, yet decisions about the forms of change have been pre-empted by governmental, corporate, and (to a lesser extent) academic elites. Because postmodern change is predominantly a matter of technological innovation and development, and these have become increasingly arcane in their representation, it has been relatively easy for scientific experts and administrative managers to appropriate them. The importance of that development is obscured if technological innovation is viewed simply as "change" rather than the truer description—as the late modern/postmodern form of what Marx called "permanent revolution."

The revolution that is continuously transforming the conditions, forms, and prospects of human life is, overwhelmingly, a revolution from above. The permanent revolution instigated and perpetuated by elites is represented in what I have called the hybrid of the corporatist state. Its crucial element is the steady drive towards totality, a drive that is never fully consummated because it is periodically interrupted by the dislocations that accompany it. The development of the corporativist state and the accompanying permanent revolution have rendered obsolete the terms that were invoked in the conclusion to Part One. There it was said that the central issue was to reconcile community and authority. Subsequently postmodern scepticism has punctured the idea of authority, while postmodern individualism with its delight in multiple identities has so parochialized the idea of community as to leave its champions eulogizing bowling leagues as memorials to a lost vibrancy. Scepticism is the natural complement to continuous change, while individualism is easily satisfied by technological ingenuity that invites consumers to "customize" their selections according to prearranged menus.

The central challenge at this moment is not about reconciliation but about dissonance, not about democracy's supplying legitimacy to totality but about

nurturing a discordant democracy—discordant not in the flashy but empty ways of latter-day Nietzscheans but discordant because, in being rooted in the ordinary, it affirms the value of limits. In the era of Fascism Gramsci had conceived the task to be one of arousing "the civic consciousness of the nation." ⁴⁴ In the era of Superpower the task is to nurture the civic conscience of society.

•••

PREFACE TO THE EXPANDED EDITION

- 1. "The Love Song of J. Alfred Prufrock," in *The Complete Poems and Plays* (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1930), p. 4.
- 2. The concept of an "ideal type" is most closely associated with Max Weber. He described its value as allowing us "to determine the degree of approximation of the historical phenomenon to the theoretically constructed type." The latter is "ideal" in the specific sense of fully elaborating the "rational consistency" of a type. While the ideal type is never fully actualized, it can be approximated "in historically important ways." "Religious Rejections of the World and Their Directions," in *From Max Weber: Essays in Sociology*, ed. and trans. H. H. Gerth and C. Wright Mills (New York: Oxford University Press, 1946), pp. 323, 324.
- 3. Ibid., pp. 323–324. Emphasis in original.
- 4. See the analyses in Alex Callinicos, *Against the Third Way* (Oxford: Polity Press, 2001). Callinicos views globalization as driven principally by American ambitions for increasing the political power of the United States. A useful collection of essays is *Social Democracy in Neoliberal Times: The Left and Economic Policy since 1980*, ed. Andrew Glyn (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001).
- 5. At this writing a bill before the American Congress to expand the powers of the federal government to monitor Internet and all e-mail communications has been temporarily put aside. "Proposal Offers Surveillance Rules for the Internet," *New York Times*, July 18, 2000, sec. A, p. 1, and Anthony Lewis, "A Constitutional Challenge for Britain," ibid., July 22, 2000, sec. A, p. 27.
- 6. In fact there have been numerous exceptions to the principle of a state monopoly on foreign affairs, as testified by the examples of the British East India Company and the Hudson Bay Company.
- 7. This became a hallmark of George W. Bush's administration and attained its fullest expression in the role of the great corporations in the American program for the reconstruction of Iraq following the pre-emptive war of 2003 against Saddam Hussein's regime.

CHAPTER ONE Political Philosophy and Philosophy

1. To be sure, there is Plato's lament that certain truths are uncommunicable. Whatever may be said about such truths, they cannot be said to have any philosophic

- value. The same holds for the so-called secret doctrines imputed to the ancient philosophers. Esoteric doctrines may be accepted as a form of religious instruction, but not of philosophical teaching.
- 2. George Orwell, *England, Your England* (London: Secker and Warburg, 1954), p. 17. Aquinas, *Summa Theologiae* Ia, IIae, q. 21, art. 4, ad 3 um.
- 3. It is important to guard against the idea that institutions represent some higher, impersonal agency. An institution is a determinate group of people performing certain functions within an organizational pattern.
- 4. Suzanne Langer, *Philosophy in a New Key* (New York: Mentor, 1952), pp. 58–59.
- 5. Protagoras 321–325 (Jowett translation). The question concerning whether the myth of Protagoras represents Plato's own thoughts is treated by Ronald B. Levinson, In Defense of Plato (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1953), pp. 293–294; W.K.C. Guthrie, In the Beginning (London: Methuen, 1957), pp. 84 ff.
- R. Carnap, The Logical Foundations of Probability (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1950), chap. 1; and the discussion of C. G. Hempel, "Fundamentals of Concept Formation in Empirical Science," *International Encyclope*dia of Unified Science 2, no. 7 (1952): 6 ff.
- 7. Hesiod, *Works and Days*, trans. Hugh G. Evelyn-White (London: Heinemann, 1929), 263–265, 275–285. See also Sir John Myres, *The Political Ideas of the Greeks* (New York: Abingdon Press, 1927), pp. 167 ff.; and the two excellent studies by Gregory Vlastos, "Solonian Justice," *Classical Philology* 41 (1946): 65–83, and "Equality and Justice in Early Greek Cosmology," ibid., 42 (1947): 156–178.
- 8. The phrase "political metaphysic" is used for the first time in a sense similar to mine by Pierre S. Ballanche, *Essai sur les institutions sociales dans leur rapports avec les idées nouvelles* (Paris, 1818), p. 12.
- 9. Leviathan 2.21, p. 137 in the Oakeshott edition (Oxford: Blackwell).
- 10. Second Treatise of Civil Government 57. The same argument, including the metaphor of boundaries, is followed in A. D. Lindsay's influential book, The Modern Democratic State (London: Oxford University Press, 1943), p. 208. See the reflection of the problem of the political structuring of space in a speech by the seventeenth-century parliamentary lawyer Oliver St. John; without its "Polity and Government," England was "but a piece of Earth, wherein so many men have their Commorancy and abode, without ranks or distinction of men, without property in anything than Possession." Cited in Margaret Judson, The Crisis of the Constitution (New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press, 1949), p. 354. For a sixteenth-century example, see Edward Dudley: "This root of concord is none other thing but a good agreement and conformytic amongest the people or the inhibitauntes of a realme, citie, towne or fellow-

- ship, and every man to be content to do his dewtie in the office, rome or condicion that he is sett in, And not to maling or disdaine any other." *The Tree of Commonwealth*, ed. D. M. Brodie (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1948), p. 40.
- 11. Bentham, as cited in Lionel Robbins, *The Theory of Economic Policy in English Classical Political Economy* (London: Macmillan and Company and St. Martin's Press, 1952), p. 12.
- 12. *Dr. Faustus*, trans. H. T. Lowe-Porter (London: Secker and Warburg, 1949), p. 301.
- 13. This imaginative element is not the same as utopianism in that it is less an attempt to soar above present realities than an attempt to view existing realities as transformed possibilities. This is evident, for example, in Bodin, who disclaimed any utopian objectives, yet his own work cannot be said to be a description of sixteenth-century France. It was, instead, an attempt to project present tendencies into the future:

We aim higher in our attempt to attain, or at least approximate, to the true image of a rightly ordered government. Not that we intend to describe a purely ideal and unrealizable commonwealth, such as that imagined by Plato, or Thomas More the Chancellor of England. We intend to confine ourselves as far as possible to those political forms that are practicable. (Jean Bodin, *Six Books of the Commonwealth*, ed. M. J. Tooley [Blackwell: Oxford, n.d.], p. 2)

One of the most fruitful analyses in this matter is to be found in Sorel's attempt to distinguish his "myth" from utopian thinking, *Réflexions sur la violence*, 10th ed. (Paris: Rivière, 1946), pp. 46 ff.

- 14. *Biographia Literaria* (Everyman), chap. 4 (p. 42), chap. 12 (p. 139), chap. 14 (pp. 151–152). See also the discussion in Basil Willey, *Nineteenth Century Studies* (London: Chatto and Windus, 1949), pp. 10–26.
- 15. Laws 706 (Jowett translation).
- 16. *Henri Comte de Saint-Simon, Selected Writings*, ed. and trans. F.M.H. Markham (New York: Macmillan, 1952), p. 70.
- 17. A modern view, such as that expressed by Heisenberg, places science closer to political theory in this respect:

The dangers threatening modern science cannot be averted by more and more experimenting, for our complicated experiments have no longer anything to do with nature in her own right, but with nature changed and transformed by our own cognitive activity. (Cited in Erich Heller, *The Disinherited Mind* [New York: Meridian, 1959], p. 33)

18. Alfred N. Whitehead, Adventures in Ideas (New York: Macmillan, 1933), p. 54.

19. There is an interesting protest by Renan, the nineteenth-century historian, concerning the difficulties of expressing certain new ideas in the French language:

The French language is adapted only to the expression of clear ideas; yet those laws that are most important, those that govern the transformations of life, are not clear, they appear to us in a half-light. Thus, though the French were the earliest to perceive the principles of what is now known as Darwinism, they turned out to be the last to accept it. They saw all that perfectly well; but it lay outside the usual habits of their language and the mold of the well-made phrase. The French have thus disregarded precious truths, not because they haven't been aware of them, but because they simply cast them aside, as useless or as impossible to express. (Edmund Wilson, *To the Finland Station* [New York: Anchor, 1953], p. 38)

- 20. Letter to Vettori, December 10, 1513, in *The Prince and Other Works*, ed. Allan H. Gilbert (New York: Hendricks House, 1941), p. 242.
- 21. Process and Reality (New York: Macmillan, 1929), p. 31.
- 22. W.K.C. Guthrie, The Greeks and Their Gods (Boston: Beacon Press, 1955), p. 28.
- 23. Thucydides, The Peloponnesian War 1.140; Polybius, Histories 37.4, 38.18, 8; Sallust, Bellum Catilinae 8.1. The classical conception of fortuna is discussed by David Grene, Man in His Pride: A Study in the Political Philosophy of Thucydides and Plato (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1950), pp. 56 ff.; Charles N. Cochrane, Christianity and Classical Culture, rev. ed. (London: Oxford University Press, 1944), pp. 456 ff.; W. Warde Fowler, "Polybius' Conception of Tyché," Classical Review 17, pp. 445–459.
- 24. Augustine, *De Civitate Dei* 4.18, 6.1, 7.3; and see Cochrane, *Christianity and Classical Culture*, pp. 474 ff.
- 25. Calvin, Institutes of the Christian Religion 1.4.11.
- 26. T. S. Eliot, *Four Quartets* ("Burnt Norton," I, II), in *The Complete Poems and Plays* (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1952), pp. 117, 119.

Chapter Two Plato: Political Philosophy versus Politics

- There are useful discussions of prescientific modes of thought in H. A. Frankfort et al., Before Philosophy (London: Pelican, 1951), pp. 11–36, 237–262; F. M. Cornford, From Religion to Philosophy (London: Arnold, 1912); Hans Kelsen, Society and Nature (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1943), pp. 24 ff., 233 ff.
- 2. F. M. Cornford, *Before and after Socrates* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1920), pp. 8 ff.; Werner Jaeger, *Paideia*, trans. Gilbert Highet, 2nd ed, 3 vols. (New York: Oxford University Press, 1945), 1:150 ff.

- 3. The relevant fragments have been translated by Kathleen Freeman, *Ancilla to the Pre-Socratic Philosophers* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1952), frag. 26 (pp. 55–56); frag. 35 (pp. 56–57); and by John Burnet, *Early Greek Philosophy,* 4th ed. (London: Black, 1948), pp. 197–250. See also the remarks of F. M. Cornford, *The Laws of Motion in Ancient Thought* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1931), pp. 31–32.
- 4. Burnet, Early Greek Philosophy, p. 143.
- 5. Ibid., frag. 43 (p. 136).
- 6. Freeman, Ancilla to the Pre-Socratic Philosophers, frag. 2 (p. 24), frag. 14 (p. 32).
- 7. "But the relationship of the social element in Greek thought to the cosmological was always a reciprocal one: as the universe was understood in terms of political ideas, such as *diké*, *nomos*, *moira*, *kosmos*, equality, so the political structure was derived from the eternal order of the cosmos." Werner Jaeger, *The Theology of the Early Greek Philosophers* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1947), p. 140. There are also relevant remarks in Burnet, *Early Greek Philosophy*, p. 151.
- 8. Phaedo 96–97; Cornford, Before and after Socrates, pp. 3–8.
- 9. Phaedo 98-99.
- 10. The translation has been taken from Sir Ernest Barker, *Greek Political Theory, Plato and His Predecessors* (London: Methuen, 1918), pp. 83 ff.; and there is also a version in Freeman, *Ancilla to the Pre-Socratic Philosophers*, frag. 44 (pp. 147–149). Further discussion and references can be found in T. A. Sinclair, *A History of Greek Political Thought* (London: Routledge, 1951), pp. 70–73; and a sympathetic account by E. A. Havelock, *The Liberal Temper in Greek Politics* (London: Cape, 1957), pp. 255 ff.
- 11. *Statesman* 258 c. I have used the translation by J. B. Skemp published by the Yale University Press (New Haven, 1952). All translations from the *Statesman* will be from this edition. There is an earlier attempt to define the statesman in *Gorgias* 452–453.
- 12. Statesman 276 b; Republic 4.427.
- 13. Statesman 305 e.
- 14. Gorgias 508 (Jowett translation).
- 15. Statesman 271 d.
- 16. Ibid., 269 C.
- 17. Ibid., 272 A.
- 18. Laws 712 A (Jowett translation).
- 19. Statesman 292 d.
- 20. Ibid. 297 b.
- 21. Epistle VII, in L. A. Post, Thirteen Epistles of Plato (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1925), 326 a-b.
- 22. Three Philosophical Poets (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1944), p. 139.

- See also the remarks of Sorel along these same lines in *Réflexions sur la violence*, pp. 208–212. Compare Plato, *Sophist* 235 C.
- 23. The Laws of Plato, trans. A. E. Taylor (London: Dent, 1934), 5.746; Republic 6.503.
- 24. *The Republic of Plato*, trans. Francis Macdonald Cornford (London: Oxford University Press, 1945), 6.484 (all translations from the *Republic* will be from this edition); *Laws* 12.962.
- 25. Laws, 1.644 E-645.
- 26. Euthydemus 292 B–C (Jowett translation); Laws 6.771. The serious nature of political philosophy has been well brought out by Leo Strauss, Natural Right and History (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1953), pp. 120 ff.
- 27. Statesman 297 b; Laws, 1.650.
- 28. Republic 6.491–496; Laws 6.780 A; 7.788 A, 790 A; 10.902–904; 11.923.
- 29. Republic 6.496 D.
- 30. Euthydemus 305 B-306 D.
- 31. Statesman 295 a-b, 293 a.
- 32. This aspect of Plato's thought was grasped by Nietzsche. See the remark cited in H. J. Blackham, *Six Existentialist Thinkers* (London: Routledge, 1952), p. 24. For Plato's view that philosophy was a totally ordering science, see *Republic* 531 D, 534 E; *Sophist* 227 B.
- 33. Gorgias 466-470.
- 34. *Plato's Cosmology; the Timaeus of Plato*, trans. F. M. Cornford (New York: The Library of Liberal Arts, No. 101, 1957), 28 a–b. Reprinted by permission of the publishers.
- 35. See in general the discussion in F. M. Cornford, *Plato's Theory of Knowledge* (New York: Humanities Press, 1951); Sir David Ross, *Plato's Theory of Ideas*, 2nd ed. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1951), which stresses the changes in Plato's thinking on this subject. For a critical analysis, K. R. Popper, *The Open Society and Its Enemies*, 2 vols. (London, Routledge, 1945), vol. 1, especially chaps. 3–4; and for a response to Popper, see Ronald B. Levinson, *In Defense of Plato* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1953), pp. 18, 454, 522, 595–596, 627–629.
- 36. Statesman 269 d; Theaetetus 181 B-183 C; Philebus 61 E.
- 37. Laws 7.797; also 6.772, 8.846.
- 38. Ibid. 4.706 (Jowett translation).
- 39. Republic 5.461.
- 40. On the Sophists, see Jaeger, *Paideia*, 1:286–331; Mario Untersteiner, *The Sophists*, trans. Kathleen Freeman (Oxford: Blackwell, 1954).
- 41. Laws 4.715 (Taylor translation).
- 42. Epistle VII 325 e.
- 43. Philebus 63 e-64 a.

- 44. Republic 4.421, 5.465; Laws 4.715, 10.902–904, 11.923. These passages should be compared with Plato's discussion of the nature of the forms in *Philebus* 65 A; Gorgias 474; Timaeus 31 C.
- 45. Republic 6.500.
- 46. Ibid. 7.540.
- 47. Ibid. 7.521.
- 48. Ibid. 7.520.
- 49. Gorgias 506 (Jowett translation).
- 50. Ibid., 513; Republic 4.426.
- 51. *Gorgias* 517. In this connection, there is an implicit similarity between Plato's conception of the poet and his strictures against politicians. Like the latter, the poet does not possess true knowledge; hence he can only reproduce what pleases the multitude. *Republic* 10.602 A.
- 52. Republic 6.500.
- 53. Ibid. 1.342.
- 54. See Nietzsche's famous discussion of the Apollonian and Dionysian spirits in *The Birth of Tragedy;* Guthrie, *The Greeks and Their Gods*, pp. 183 ff.; Jane Harrison, *Prolegomena to the Study of Greek Religion*, 3rd ed. (New York: Meridian, 1955), p. 439.
- 55. For Plato's conception of analogy, see the *Statesman* 277 a–279 a. The weaver analogy dominates the *Statesman*; the artistic examples are especially prominent in the *Republic*; the medical recurs in both dialogues and in the *Laws*. On medicine, see Jaeger, *Paideia*, 3:3–45, 215–216, and on the arts generally, see Rupert C. Lodge, *Plato's Theory of Art* (London: Routledge, 1953). The limitations inherent in Plato's use of analogy are discussed by Renford Bambrough, "Plato's Political Analogies," in *Philosophy, Politics, and Society*, ed. Peter Laslett (Oxford: Blackwell, 1956), pp. 98–115. See also on this topic the brilliant study by Richard Robinson, *Plato's Earlier Dialectic*, 2nd ed. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1953), pp. 202 ff.
- 56. Statesman 311 c.
- 57. Republic 3.399, 4.410 A, 8.564, 568; Statesman 293 d, 309 a; Laws 5.735.
- 58. Statesman 310 a.
- 59. Ibid. 309 a.
- 60. Republic 7.540.
- 61. Ibid. 6.500.
- 62. Laws 4.708. See controls over immigration in ibid., 5.736.
- 63. Ibid. 3.684, 5.736.
- 64. Ibid. 4.709–712. Plato's relationship to Dionysius is discussed in Ludwig Marcuse, *Plato and Dionysius: A Double Biography*, trans. Joel Ames (New York: Knopf, 1947); and Jaeger, *Paideia*, 3:240.
- 65. Republic 5.463-464.

- 66. *Philebus* 51; *Republic* 7.527. There are discussions of the relationship between mathematics and politics in Robert S. Brumbaugh, *Plato's Mathematical Imagination* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1954), pp. 47 ff.; Maurice Vanhoutte, *La Philosophie politique de Platon dans les "Lois"* (Louvain, 1953), p. 44.
- 67. Laws 5.747.
- 68. Ibid. 2.664 E. In his effort to prove that Plato was obsessed with stemming the flux of human affairs, Popper has overlooked completely Plato's concern to provide for "movement" as well. See his discussion, *The Open Society and Its Enemies*, vol. 1, chaps. 3–4.
- 69. Protagoras 326 B; Republic 3.401.
- 70. Laws 5.738, 744–745, 6.757–758, 6.773, 775, 8.816, 828; Republic 3.396–397, 400, 414. Note also Plato's remarks on how an interruption of the rhythm of the reproductive process contributes to social disintegration, ibid. 8.546. Compare the following from a modern sociologist:

There can be no society which does not feel the need of upholding and reaffirming at regular intervals the collective sentiments and the collective ideas which make its unity and its personality. Now this moral remaking cannot be achieved except by the means of reunions, assemblies and meetings where the individuals, being closely united to one another, reaffirm in common their common sentiments; hence come ceremonies which do not differ from regular religious ceremonies, either in their object, the results which they produce, or the processes employed to attain these results. (Emile Durkheim, *The Elementary Forms of the Religious Life*, trans. J. W. Swain [London: Allen and Unwin, 1915], p. 427. Reprinted by permission of the Free Press, Glencoe, Ill.)

- 71. Laws 7.809 (Taylor translation).
- 72. Republic 4.420-421, 427; 5.465.
- 73. It ought to be noted, however, that the outlines of a theory of political action, closer to that put forward here, were latent in Plato's discussion of the "second-type of measurement" in *Statesman* 284 e. Unfortunately, the discussion remained imperfect because of Plato's tendency to consider the problem of action solely through the categories of "excess," "deficiency," and the "mean."
- 74. Statesman 293 a-c, 296 a-e.
- 75. Crito 50-53 (Jowett translation).
- 76. Republic 1.342, 345-346; 9.591.
- 77. Cited in Erwin R. Goodenough, "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," *Yale Classical Studies* 1 (1928): 55–102, at p. 86.
- 78. Eusebius, *De Laudibus Constantini* 1.6, 3.4–5, 5.1; and the references in George H. Williams, "Christology and Church-State Relations in the Fourth Century," *Church History* 20 (1951): 3–33.

- 79. The Commonwealth of Oceana, ed. Henry Morley (London, 1887), pp. 71, 173.
- 80. Social Contract 2.7.
- 81. Compare Goodenough's discussion ("The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," pp. 90–91) of the Hellenistic notions of the relationship between the ruler and his subjects with Lenin's famous remarks about "trade union consciousness" in "What Is to Be Done?" in *Selected Works*, 12 vols. (London: Lawrence and Wishart), 2:62–66, 98–107, 151–158.
- 82. For some of Plato's attitudes towards power, see the following: *Gorgias* 470, 510, 526; *Laws* 3.691, 693, 696; 4.713–714; 9.875.
- 83. On this point, see the discussion of Michael B. Foster, *The Political Philosophies of Plato and Hegel* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1935), pp. 18 ff. For some critical remarks on Foster's approach, see H.W.B. Joseph, *Essays in Ancient and Modern Philosophy* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1935), pp. 114 ff.
- 84. Republic 7.521.
- 85. Ibid. For the apolitical character of the philosopher, see *Theaetetus* 173 A-E.
- 86. The problem of knowledge and *eros* is discussed by F. M. Cornford, *The Unwritten Philosophy*, ed. W.K.C. Guthrie (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1950), pp. 68–80; Jaeger, *Paideia*, 2:186 ff.; Levinson, *In Defense of Plato*, pp. 81 ff.
- 87. See Anders Nygren, *Agape and Eros*, trans. Philip S. Watson (Philadelphia: Westminster Press, 1953), especially pp. 166 ff.; and from a Thomist position, M. C. D'Arcy, *The Mind and Heart of Love* (New York: Meridian, 1956), pp. 62–96.
- 88. Republic 9.590.
- 89. Politics 3.2.15.1276 a; 3.2.7.1276 b.
- 90. Ibid. 3.11.1281 b 6–9. 3.13.1283 a 1–4, 3.13.1283 b 9–12. This is not to deny that Aristotle thought some claims were superior to others and that a man of pre-eminent virtue ought to be given full power. But it is also significant that the last conclusion comes only after a long argument which raises doubts as to whether such a person was likely to appear frequently enough to raise a real problem. The question of the value of some claims over others is perhaps not to be resolved satisfactorily on a theory of contribution, as Aristotle held, yet it is difficult to see the superiority of modern democratic theories which begin from the premise of equal claims. The problem inherent in the democratic approach is that the distributive role thrust on the political order militates against the equal treatment of competing claims.
- 91. Ethics 1.7.1097 b 11-12.
- 92. Ibid. 1.3.1094 b 12–29, 1.7.1098 a 20–34 (trans. W. D. Ross), in *The Basic Works of Aristotle*, ed. Richard McKeon (New York: Oxford University Press, 1941).
- 93. *Physics* 2.1.193 b 15–16 (trans. R. P. Hardie and R. K. Gaye in the McKeon edition).

- 94. See the discussion in W. L. Newman, *The Politics of Aristotle* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1887), 1:21–24.
- 95. *Politics* 3.14.1286 a–1286 b. The argument here opposed Plato's contention that a good ruler, like a true physician, ought not to be hampered by the law. Aristotle took the common sense view that the ruler, like any expert, may be affected by his own passions. Plato's reply, that such a ruler does not qualify for his position, was rebutted as frivolous logic by Aristotle: What practical good is it to a community to discover that the ruler has betrayed his art? Aristotle goes on to reject the analogy to the arts at *Politics* 3.16.1287 a 18–1287 b 8.
- 96. Politics 2.2.1261 a 18-39, 7.13.1332 a 15.
- 97. Ethics 5.5.130 b 30.
- 98. The materials of American constitutional law cases are relevant here. The Supreme Court has long wrestled with the problem of "rational" legislative classifications, and the entire series of cases dealing with the segregation issue of "separate but equal" facilities for the two races is very much to the point.
- 99. Strauss, Natural Right and History, p. 11.
- 100. Politics 3.13.1283 a 21-1283 b.
- 101. Ibid. 2.5.1263 b.
- 102. Ibid. 1.2.1253 a.
- 103. Statesman 310 a, 310 e.
- 104. A. T. Quiller-Couch, ed., *The Poems of Matthew Arnold, 1840–1867* (London: Oxford University Press, 1930), p. 272.
- 105. Republic 1.348 ff.
- 106. Laws 3.691 (Jowett translation).
- 107. Statesman 298 a-300 d.
- 108. Republic 8.546.

Chapter Three The Age of Empire: Space and Community

- 1. Politics 3.1276 a 5.
- 2. Annals 3.54 in *The Complete Works of Tacitus*, ed. M. Hadas (New York: Random House, 1942). All quotations from Tacitus will be from this edition.
- 3. The space-consciousness of the Greeks is emphasized in Julius Kaerst, *Geschichte des Hellenismus*, 3rd ed., 2 vols. (Leipzig: Teubner, 1927), 1:10–11, 28 ff.; Victor Ehrenberg, *Aspects of the Ancient World* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1946), pp. 40–45.
- 4. Republic 5.469 B-470; Politics 1265 a, 1324 a 19 b 34, 1333 b.
- 5. The best recent discussion of this experience is to be found in J.A.O. Larsen, *Representative Government in Greek and Roman History* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1955); see also the readings in Sir Ernest

- Barker, From Alexander to Constantine (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1946), pp. 65–82.
- 6. It should be added, however, that Aristotle is believed to have written two treatises, one on kingship and the other on colonies, but these have unfortunately been lost. See also Hans Kelsen's argument that Aristotle consciously rejected Alexander's policy of reconciling diverse peoples and of treating them more or less equally: "Aristotle and Hellenic-Macedonian Policy," *International Journal of Ethics* 48 (1937–1938): 1–64; and see also the remarks in Werner Jaeger, *Aristotle*, trans. Richard Robinson (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1934), pp. 117–123.
- 7. See the discussion in Jaeger, *Paideia*, 3:71–83, 263–289; Victor Ehrenberg, *Alexander and the Greeks*, trans. Ruth Fraenkel von Velsen (Oxford: Blackwell, 1938), pp. 61–102 ("Aristotle and Alexander's Empire"); Kaerst, *Geschichte des Hellenismus*, 1:138–153.
- 8. Panegyricus 16. On Isocrates generally, see Ernest Barker, Greek Political Theory, Plato and His Predecessors (London: Methuen, 1918), pp. 100–105; T. A. Sinclair, A History of Greek Political Thought (London: Routledge, 1952), pp. 133–139; and for more detailed treatment, Jaeger, Paideia, 3:46–155; G. Mathieu, Les idées politiques d'Isocrate (Paris, 1925).
- 9. Panegyricus 173-174.
- 10. To Philip, 127 in *Isocrates*, trans. G. Norlin and L. Van Hook, 3 vols. (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1928–1945).
- 11. Sir William W. Tarn, Alexander the Great, 2 vols. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1948), especially vol. 2, apps. 22, 24, 25. W. W. Tarn and G. T. Griffith, Hellenistic Civilization, 3rd ed. rev. (London: Arnold, 1952), chap. 11. Tarn's thesis, that Alexander was not influenced by Stoic ideas, has been criticized by M. H. Fisch, "Alexander and the Stoics," American Journal of Philology 58 (1937): 59–82, 129–151. The rejoinder can be found in the same journal. "Alexander, Cynics and Stoics," 60 (1939):41–70. Ulrich Wilcken, Alexander the Great, trans. G. C. Richards (New York: MacVeagh, 1932), p. 221, is also hostile to Tarn. See also A. D. Nock, "Notes on Ruler-Cult," I–IV, Journal of Hellenic Studies 48 (1928): 21–42. E. R. Goodenough, "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," Yale Classical Studies 1 (1928): 5 ff. There is an important revision of Goodenough's position in Louis Delatte, "Les Traités de la Royauté d'Ecphante, Diotogène et Sthénidas," Bibliothèque de la Faculté de Philosophie et Lettres de l'Université de Liège 97 (1942). See also on this general period Barker, From Alexander to Constantine, pt. 1.
- 12. For a general introduction, see Michael Grant, *Roman Imperial Money* (London: Nelson, 1954), p. 8 and passim.
- 13. Goodenough, "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," pp. 91 ff.
- 14. Tacitus, History 4.74.

- 15. Epictetus, *Discourses* 3.3, trans. E. P. Matheson, in *The Stoic and Epicurean Philosophers*, ed. W. J. Oates (New York: Random House, 1940).
- 16. See generally the following: T. A. Sinclair, A History of Greek Political Thought, chaps. 12–14; M. M. Patrick, The Greek Sceptics (New York: Columbia University Press, 1929), especially pp. 137 ff.; A. J. Festugière, Epicurus and His Gods, trans. C. W. Chilton (Oxford: Blackwell, 1956); N. W. De Witt, Epicurus and His Philosophy (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1954), especially chaps. 10, 14; D. R. Dudley, A History of Cynicism (London: Methuen, 1937); Tarn and Griffith, Hellenistic Civilization, pp. 325 ff.; Barker, From Alexander to Constantine, pts. 3–4; E. Bevan, "Hellenistic Popular Philosophy," in The Hellenistic Age (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1923), pp. 79–107; Kaerst, Geschichte des Hellenismus, 1:471 ff.
- 17. Cited in Festugière, Epicurus and His Gods, p. 28.
- 18. Epictetus, Discourses 3.13.
- 19. Authorized Doctrine 31. See De Witt, Epicurus and His Philosophy, p. 295.
- 20. The following contain useful discussions of Stoicism: E. V. Arnold, Roman Stoicism (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1911), is still valuable, although outdated in many respects; M. Pohlenz, Die Stoa, 2 vols. (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht, 1948–1949); Barker, From Alexander to Constantine, pp. 19 ff.; G. H. Sabine and S. B. Smith, eds., Cicero on the Commonwealth (Columbus: Ohio State University Press, 1929), contains a sympathetic account of Stoic doctrines.
- 21. Cleanthes, Hymn to Zeus, cited from Arnold, Roman Stoicism, p. 85.
- 22. Seneca, Epistulae morales 95.52.
- 23. Epictetus, Discourses 1.9, trans. P. E. Matheson.
- 24. Meditations 4.4.
- 25. See the remarks in Emile Bréhier, *Chrysippe et l'ancien stoicisme* (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1951), pp. 209 ff., 261 ff.
- 26. E. Gilson, *Les Métamorphoses de la Cité de Dieu* (Louvain: Publications Universitaires de Louvain, 1952), pp. 6–7.
- 27. Meditations 4.23.
- 28. There are brief, general discussions of Roman virtues in R. H. Barrow, *The Romans* (Pelican, 1949), pp. 22 ff.; W. Warde Fowler and M. P. Charlesworth, *Rome* (London: Oxford University Press, 1947), pp. 37 ff.; M. L. Clarke, *The Roman Mind* (London: Cohen and West, 1956), pp. 89–107, 135 ff.; more detailed discussions can be found in Sir Samuel Dill, *Roman Society from Nero to Marcus Aurelius* (New York: Meridian, 1956), pp. 291 ff., 411 ff.; Grant, *Roman Imperial Money*, pp. 166 ff., discusses the representation of the virtues in the coinage of the imperial period.
- 29. H. H. Scullard, *Roman Politics*, 220–150 B.C. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1951), p. 223. See also the remarks of Tacitus, *Agricola* 4, where Agricola said

- that as a youth he had nearly developed a love of philosophy greater than became "a Roman and a senator."
- 30. *De Legibus*, trans. C. W. Keyes (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1928), 3.19.45.
- 31. *De re publica*, trans. C. W. Keyes (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1928), 2.1, 2.
- 32. *The Histories*, trans. W. R. Paton (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1923), 6.10. See also Polybius's rather contemptuous dismissal of Plato's ideal state at 6.47.
- 33. Laws, trans. R. G. Bury (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1926), 3.702 E.
- 34. The Histories 6.2 (Paton translation).
- 35. In addition to the more tolerant position of Aristotle, see also the remarks of Isocrates, *Panegyricus* 79–80, where the activity of political clubs is accepted.
- 36. Scullard, *Roman Politics*, 220–150 B.C., pp. 8–30; Lily Ross Taylor, *Party Politics in the Age of Caesar* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1949), pp. 62 ff.
- 37. In addition to Scullard, *Roman Politics, 220–150 B.C.*, there is the brilliant and provocative analysis by Ronald Syme, *The Roman Revolution, 2nd ed.* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1952). See also Taylor, *Party Politics in the Age of Caesar;* M. Gelzer, *Caesar, der Politiker und Staatsmann, 3rd ed.* (Munich: Caltwey, 1941). Mommsen's *History of Rome*, for all of its tendency to project mid-nineteenth-century German politics into the politics of the late Roman republic, is still worth reading for its strong sense of the political.
- 38. Cited in Taylor, *Party Politics in the Age of Caesar*, p. 7; cited in Syme, *The Roman Revolution*, p. 12.
- 39. De officiis 1.16.
- 40. Ibid. 2.8-9.
- 41. Ibid. 2.21.
- 42. De re publica 1, 2; De officiis 1.43.
- 43. De re publica 1.32.49 (Keyes translation).
- 44. *Bellum Catilinae*, trans. J. C. Rolfe (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1921), 53.5–6.
- 45. "... A commonwealth is the property of a people. But a people is not any collection of human beings brought together in any sort of way, but an assemblage of people in large numbers associated in an agreement with respect to justice and a partnership for the common good." *De re publica* 1.25.39–26.41.
- 46. *Pro Sestio* 97–99. See also Hermann Strasburger, *Concordia Ordinum* (Leipzig: Noske, 1931); Cochrane, *Christianity and Classical Culture*, pp. 58 ff.; and the critical comments of Syme, *The Roman Revolution*, pp. 15–16, 81, 153–154.
- 47. *De officiis* 2.21.
- 48. Annals 3.66.

- 49. De legibus 1.25.39, 32.49.
- 50. Sallust, Bellum Catilinae 52.11.
- 51. Bellum Catilinae 38.3–4 (Rolfe translation). See also the remarks in Syme, The Roman Revolution, pp. 153 ff., and C. Wirszubski, Libertas as a Political Idea at Rome during the Late Republic and Early Principate (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1950), pp. 31 ff.
- 52. Pharsalia 1.670.
- 53. *The Histories* 6.2, trans. W. R. Paton. An excellent discussion of the relationship between Polybius's ideas and the circumstances of his time can be found in Kurt von Fritz, *The Theory of the Mixed Constitution in Antiquity* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1954).
- 54. De Domo Sua 33.
- 55. See Wirszubski, *Libertas as a Political Idea*, pp. 9–15, and the references cited there.
- 56. Tacitus, Annals 3.26; Seneca, Epistulae morales 90.4 ff.
- 57. Compare Tacitus, Annals 2.33 with 3.54.
- 58. Aeneid 1.286 ff.; Georgics 1.500 ff. It is not surprising that in the acclaim rendered Augustus there should have been traces of the old forms and languages used to worship Alexander. See Syme, *The Roman Revolution*, p. 305, and references cited there.
- 59. *De Clementia*, trans. J. W. Basore (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1928), 1.1.2–3.
- 60. Ibid. 1.4.1. The extent to which the emperor had come to tower over political society can be seen in the opening words of Diocletian's edict on price-fixing (303 A.D.): "It is fitting therefore that we, who are the parents of the human race, should look to the future in order to grant, by the remedies of our foresight, a relief that human kind had long hoped for but could not itself provide." Quoted in M. P. Charlesworth, "The Virtues of a Roman Emperor," *Proceedings of the British Academy* 23 (1937): 105–133, p. 111.
- 61. Ibid., p. 121. The intermixture of political and religious themes is discussed at length in the following: M. P. Nilsson, *Greek Piety*, trans. H. J. Rose (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1948), pp. 85, 118–124; E. Peterson, "Der Monotheismus als politisches Problem," in *Theologische Traktate* (Munich: Hochland-Bucherei, 1951), pp. 52 ff.; Barker, *From Alexander to Constantine*, pt. 3, chap. 3; Goodenough, "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship"; Delatte, "Les Traités de la Royauté d'Ecphante, Diotogène et Sthénidas"; M. P. Charlesworth has emphasized the Greek preparations for the later Roman ruler-cults in "Some Observations on Ruler-Cult Especially in Rome," *Harvard Theological Review* 28 (1935): 5–44; and also of interest by the same author, "Providentia and Aeternitas," ibid., 29 (1936): 107–132. The treatises *On Monarchy* by Dio

- Chrysostom and the *Panegyric on Trajan* by Pliny the Younger are full of relevant passages.
- 62. Quoted in Charlesworth, "The Virtues of a Roman Emperor," p. 121.
- 63. Politics 1327 b.

CHAPTER FOUR The Early Christian Era: Time and Community

- 1. John 18:36; Romans 12-2; 1 Corinthians 7:31.
- Daniel 7:9, 13, 27. See also Hans Lietzmann, A History of the Early Church, 4 vols. (London: Lutterworth Press, 1949–1951), 1:25 ff.; Rudolf Bultmann, Primitive Christianity in Its Contemporary Setting (New York: Meridian, 1956), pp. 35–40, 59–93; G. F. Moore, Judaism, 3 vols. (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1927–1930), 1:219 ff.
- 3. Colossians 3:11; Matthew 4:2–11; Galatians 3:28. See also J. Lebreton and J. Zeiller, *The History of the Primitive Church*, trans. E. C. Messinger, 4 vols. (London: Burns, Oates, and Washbourne, 1942–1947), 1:42–43. Psalm 17 contains a description of the messiah-king together with strong elements of Pharisaic nationalism. It is even possible that the depoliticization of the messiah-figure contributed to the Jewish reaction to the "scandal of the Cross"; to the Jews the Messiah represented not only the fulfillment of a religious promise, but a king; that is, a political figure who would lead the chosen people to political supremacy. Hence when the self-proclaimed Messiah, powerless and forsaken, was crucified by the Romans, the Jews found it difficult to identify Him with the triumphant political hero of Jewish tradition. See the discussion in Lebreton and Zeiller, 1:58–59.
- 4. Luke 13:32–33; and the discussion by Oscar Cullmann, *The State in the New Testament* (New York: Scribner's, 1956), pp. 24 ff. Christian hostility towards the Roman state is treated in A. J. and R. W. Carlyle, *A History of Mediaeval Political Theory in the West*, 6 vols. (London: Blackwood, 1903–1936), 1:91–97.
- 5. 2 Peter 3:13.
- 6. 1 Peter 1:4–13, 4:7–8; Barnabas 15:1–9; John 7:7, 14:17, 16–2, 33; Epistle to the Hebrews 1:10, 11:15–16; *Didache* 9–10 (an early manual of instruction for Christian converts and probably dates from the second century).
- 7. Romans 13.
- 8. Colossians 1:16; and the commentary by Cullmann, *The State in the New Testament*, pp. 50 ff. Cf. also G. B. Caird, *Principalities and Powers: A Study in Pauline Theology* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1956).
- 9. Romans 13:1-5.

- 10. Cullmann, The State in the New Testament, pp. 50 ff.
- 11. Romans 12:2.
- 12. 1 Peter 2:9.
- 13. Apologeticus 39; De Corona 13.
- 14. De Idololatria 18, 19.
- 15. *Epistle to Diognetas*, in Henry Bettenson, ed., *The Early Christian Fathers* (London: Oxford University Press, 1956), p. 74. (Hereafter this collection will be cited simply as Bettenson, *Fathers*.) The date and authorship of the *Epistle* are uncertain, although the work is usually placed in the second or third century.
- Contra Celsum 3.28, as translated in Bettenson, Fathers, p. 312. There is an excellent scholarly edition of this work by Henry Chadwick (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1953). See also Jean Daniélou, Origen, trans. W. Mitchell (New York: Sheed and Ward, 1955), especially pp. 40 ff.
- 17. 1 Corinthians 12:12.
- 18. The Eucharist in the early church is discussed in Lietzmann, *A History of the Early Church*, 1:238.
- 19. See ibid., pp. 63, 124, 150 ff.; 2:124 ff.
- 20. Following the rendering of Colossians 1:24 by C. H. Dodd, *The Meaning of Paul for Today* (New York: Meridian, 1957), p. 74.
- 21. 1 John 3:14.
- 22. Virgil, *Eclogue* 4; *Aeneid* 1.286 ff., 6.852 ff.; Horace, *Odes* 1.12; Tacitus, *History* 4.74; Seneca, *De Clementia* 1.3. See also the decrees collected in Barker, *From Alexander to Constantine*, pp. 210–214.
- 23. Horace, *Odes* 1.35 (W. S. Marris translation), in *The Complete Works of Horace*, ed. C. J. Kraemer, Jr. (New York: Random House, 1936), p. 177.
- 24. Apologeticus 39. Compare De Idololatria 18, 19.
- 25. Apologeticus 31.
- 26. See, for example, Commodian, *Carmen apologeticum* 889–890, 921–923, with its gloating joy that Rome, which had afflicted the world for so long, "Rome rejoiced while the rest of the world groaned," will at last be destroyed.
- 27. Jerome, Epistle 60 and 123.
- 28. See the discussion and references in Walter Ullmann, *The Growth of Papal Government in the Middle Ages* (London: Methuen, 1955), pp. 101–108. There is a great deal of relevant material in the several articles by Franklin L. Baumer: "The Conception of Christendom in Renaissance England," *Journal of the History of Ideas* 6 (1945): 131–156; "The Church of England and the Common Corps of Christendom," *Journal of Modern History* 16 (1944): 1–21; "England, the Turk, and the Common Corps of Christendom," *American Historical Review* 50 (1944): 26–48. For a brief, concise summary, see Denys May, *Europe: The Emergence of an Idea* (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 1957).

- 29. Two Letters Addressed to a Member of the Present Parliament on the Proposals for Peace, in Burke, Select Works, ed. E. J. Payne (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1904), p. 70.
- 30. See, for example, Barbara Ward, *The West at Bay* (New York: Norton, 1948); Arnold Toynbee, *The World and the West* (London: Oxford University Press, 1953); Christopher Dawson, *The Revolt of Asia* (London, 1957).
- 31. And see 1 Timothy 2:1-2.
- 32. Epistle to the Hebrews 12:28.
- 33. Romans 13:4.
- 34. Cited in G. F. Reilly, *Imperium and Sacerdotium according to St. Basil the Great* (Washington, D.C.: Catholic University Press, 1945), p. 45.
- 35. The volume by Adolf Harnack, *The Constitution and Law of the Church in the First Two Centuries*, trans. F. L. Pogson and ed. H.D.A. Major (New York: Putnam, 1910), reflects an interesting recognition on the part of the great historian of the political aspects of the young church. It was written largely in response to Rudolf Sohm's pioneering work, *Kirchenrecht*, 2 vols. (Munich and Leipzig: Duncker and Humblot, 1892, 1923), which analyzes the early developments through concepts dominantly juristic and political.
- 36. *Contra Celsum* 3.30, as adapted from Barker's translation in *From Alexander to Constantine*, pp. 440–441.
- 37. See, for example, Irenaeus, Adversus Haereses 3.24.1.
- 38. Ignatius, *To the Ephesians* 13; *To the Magnesians* 7. Both of these translations are from Bettenson, *Fathers*, pp. 55, 58.
- 39. To the Ephesians 6; To the Smyrnaeans 8 (Bettenson, Fathers, pp. 54-55, 67).
- 40. De Catholicae ecclesiae unitate 5; Epistle 66.7.
- 41. Cyprian, *Epistle* 33.1 (Bettenson, *Fathers*, p. 367); also Irenaeus, *Adversus Haereses* 3.2–3 (ibid., pp. 123–126). The principle of apostolic succession is discussed in its historical aspects by C. H. Turner, "Apostolic Succession," in *Essays on the Early History of the Church and Ministry*, ed. H. B. Swete, 2nd ed. (London: Macmillan, 1921), pp. 93–214.
- 42. On these matters the following contain useful discussions: Lietzmann, A History of the Early Church, vol. 2, chaps. 8–12; S. L. Greenslade, Schism in the Early Church (New York: Harper, 1953); W.H.C. Frend, The Donatist Church (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1952); G. G. Willis, Saint Augustine and the Donatist Controversy (London: SPCK, 1950); L. Duchesne, Early History of the Christian Church, 4th ed., 2 vols. (London: Longmans, 1912), vol. 2, chap. 3.
- 43. De Monogamia 7.
- 44. From a speech by Caecilius of Bilta as contained in *The Writings of Cyprian*, ed. Alexander Roberts, 10 vols. (Edinburgh: Ante-Nicene Library, 1886–1907), 2:200–201.

- 45. De Exhortatione 7.
- 46. The discussion by Monsignor R. A. Knox, *Enthusiasm* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1950), while witty and lively, is marred by a complete inability to grant that there might have been good and compelling reasons for schismatics and heretics to protest against institutionalism. Compare the wiser judgment (written from an Anglican viewpoint) by Greenslade, *Schism in the Early Church*, pp. 204 ff., which concedes benefits from these controversies on much the same grounds as the present study argues the utility of political conflict.
- 47. See Tertullian, De Pudicitia 21 (in Bettenson, Fathers, pp. 183–184).
- 48. Cited in Greenslade, Schism in the Early Church, p. 172 and n. 12.
- 49. Cyprian, Epistle 595, as contained in Bettenson, Fathers, p. 370.
- 50. On these points, see G. G. Willis, *Saint Augustine and the Donatist Controversy*, especially chaps. 3–4; Frederick W. Dillistone, "The Anti-Donatist Writings," in *A Companion to the Study of St. Augustine*, ed. Roy W. Battenhouse (New York: Oxford University Press, 1955), chap. 7; Hugh Pope, *Saint Augustine of Hippo* (London: Sands, 1937), chaps. 7–8.
- 51. Gregory Dix, *Jew and Greek, A Study in the Primitive Church* (London: Dacre Press, 1953), pp. 21 ff.; Lietzmann, *A History of the Early Church*, 2:105, and sources cited there. Also of interest in this connection is how the translation of the Old Testament into the Septuagint introduced the politically charged overtones inevitable in Greek. For examples, see Caird, *Principalities and Powers*, pp. 11–12. Caird remarks (p. 15), "It is interesting to note that a hellenistic Jew, reading the Scriptures in the Septuagint version, took the title 'Lord of the powers' to mean that God's providence functions for the most part through a system of powers, including those which are responsible for government."
- 52. Epistle to the Hebrews 1:8; 11:15–16, 33–34; 12:22–23, 28; 13:14.
- 53. Philippians 3:20; and see Barker, From Alexander to Constantine, pp. 398–399, from which I have borrowed this example. Lietzmann, A History of the Early Church, 2:52, has rendered the scriptural passage as "our home, in which we have citizen rights, is in heaven." See also the note in Dodd, The Meaning of Paul for Today, p. 17 n. 7. Tertullian's use of this passage is also suggestive, in Adversus Marcionem 3.24.
- 54. *Epistle* 227.
- 55. Contra Celsum 4.5. Lactantius, Divinae Institutiones 1.3.
- 56. Origen, De Principiis 3.5.6 (Bettenson, Fathers, pp. 292–293); Tertullian, Adversus Praxean 3; Athanasius, Contra Gentes 43; De Incarnatione 17; Expositio Fidei 1. For discussions of the political aspects of Christian ideas and concepts, see the following: K. M. Setton, Christian Attitude towards the Emperor in the Fourth Century (New York: Columbia University Press, 1941), pp. 18–19 and passim; G. H. Williams, "Christology and Church-State Relations in the

- Fourth Century," *Church History* 20 (1951), no. 3, pp. 3–33, and no. 4, pp. 3–26, which is a masterly article; E. H. Kantorowicz, *Laudes Regiae*, in *University of California Publications in History* 33 (1946).
- 57. Apologeticus 38.3; De Idololatria 19.
- 58. Taken from Greenslade, Schism in the Early Church, p. 37.
- 59. Cyprian, *Epistle* 55, 71.1, and 74.4–5. See Bettenson, *Fathers*, p. 374.
- 60. Cited from Greenslade, Schism in the Early Church, p. 19.
- 61. Although the discussion in ibid., pp. 56–57, 124, does not consciously compare these religious problems to political ones, it is all the more striking that with the substitution of a few phrases his remarks would easily apply to political matters. Basic in this matter is Augustine's *De Baptismo*.
- 62. The remark from St. Basil is contained in Reilly, *Imperium and Sacerdotium*, p. 42. The reference to mad dogs comes from Ignatius, *To the Ephesians* 7.
- 63. Romans 13:3-4.
- 64. Adversus Haereses 5.24.
- 65. De Cultu Feminarum 2.2.
- 66. Cyprian, Epistle 4, 69; De Unitate 23.21.
- 67. Epistle 93, in St. Augustine, Letters, trans. Sister Wilfrid Parsons (New York, 1953), 10:59, in the series The Fathers of the Church. Some of the most important statements by Augustine on the question of persecution are to be found among the following Epistles: 87, 97, 185. Also relevant is Contra Epistulam Parmeniani 1.7–13. The following contain useful commentaries on these matters: J. N. Figgis, Political Aspects of St. Augustine's "City of God" (London: Longmans, 1921), lectures 3, 4; J.E.C. Welldon, ed., St. Augustine's "De Civitate Dei," 2 vols. (London, 1924), 2:647–651; Willis, Saint Augustine and the Donatist Controversy, pp. 127–143; Gustave Bardy, Saint Augustin, 7th ed. (Paris, 1948), pp. 325 ff.; Gustave Combès, La doctrine politique de Saint Augustin (Paris, 1927), pp. 330 ff.
- 68. Epistle 185.
- 69. Augustine's "realistic" appreciation of power has proved attractive to a latter-day Christian who shares many Augustinian views on man's nature: see Reinhold Niebuhr's essay "Augustine's Political Realism," in *Christian Realism and Political Problems* (New York: Scribner's, 1953), pp. 119–146.
- 70. Epistle 93, in St. Augustine, Letters, 10:74-75.
- 71. Vita Constantini 3.1; De Laudibus Constantini 14; see also Praeparatio Evangelica 1.4. There is an excellent discussion of Eusebius in F. D. Cranz, "Kingdom and Polity in Eusebius," Harvard Theological Review 45 (1952): 47–66; and see Peterson, "Der Monotheismus als politisches Problem," pp. 88 ff.; N. H. Baynes, "Eusebius and the Christian Empire," in Byzantine Studies and Other Essays (London: Athlone Press, 1955), pp. 168 ff.
- 72. De Civ. Dei 14.28 (Dods translation).

- 73. Ibid. 12.21, 15.4, 19.13, 26. Combès, *La doctrine politique de Saint Augustin*, pp. 76–77; Sir E. Barker, "St. Augustine's Theory of Society," in *Essays on Government* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1946), pp. 243–269. F. E. Cranz, "St. Augustine and Nicholas of Cusa in the Tradition of Western Christian Thought," *Speculum*, 28 (1953): 297–316, has tended to minimize Augustine's appreciation of existing society. There is an excellent study of Augustine's earlier ideas by the same author, "The Development of Augustine's Ideas on Society before the Donatist Controversy," *Harvard Theological Review* 46 (1954): 255–316. Much relevant material is also to be found in C. Dawson, "St. Augustine and His Age," in *A Monument to Saint Augustine* (London: Sheed and Ward, 1930); this volume contains several useful articles, including one on Augustine's philosophy by Father D'Arcy.
- 74. Three useful analyses of Augustine's language are: R. H. Barrow, *Introduction to St. Augustine, The City of God* (London: Faber, 1950), pp. 20 ff.; R. T. Marshall, *Studies in the Political and Socio-Religious Terminology of the De Civitate Dei* (Washington, D.C., 1952); H. D. Friberg, *Love and Justice in Political Theory: A Study of Saint Augustine's Definition of the Commonwealth* (Chicago, 1944).
- 75. De Civ. Dei 19.13. There are good discussions of the principle of ordo in the following: Gilson, Les Métamorphoses de la Cité de Dieu, pp. 154–155; Barker, "St. Augustine's Theory of Society," pp. 237 ff.; Barrow, Introduction to St. Augustine, The City of God, pp. 220 ff.
- 76. De Civ. Dei 11.18, 22; 12.2, 4. The relationship between ordo and love has received careful analysis in a number of works: Gilson, Les Métamorphoses de la Cité de Dieu, pp. 217–218; John Burnaby, Amor Dei (London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1938), especially pp. 113 ff.; T. J. Bigham and A. T. Mollegen, "The Christian Ethic," in Battenhouse, A Companion to the Study of St. Augustine, pp. 371 ff.; Anders Nygren, Agape and Eros, trans. P. S. Watson (Philadelphia: Westminster, 1953), pp. 449 ff.
- 77. De Civ. Dei 19.13.
- 78. There is a vast amount of literature covering the Augustinian conception of time. The following are useful: Gilson, Les Métamorphoses de la Cité de Dieu, pp. 246 ff.; Jules Chaix-Ruy, Saint Augustin, Temps et histoire (Paris, 1956); H. I. Marrou, L'Ambivalence du temps de l'histoire chez Saint Augustin (Montreal and Paris, 1950), is especially useful for its emphasis on the social bearing of time; J. F. Callahan, Four Views of Time in Ancient Philosophy (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1948), chap. 4, is a more formal treatment of the problem. There are some surprisingly appreciative remarks in B. Russell, A History of Western Philosophy (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1945), pp. 352–355. There are relevant passages in Augustine's Confessions, bk. 11, and Ep. 137, which should also be considered.

- 79. Cicero, De Divinatione 1.27.
- 80. De Civ. Dei 11.6; Ep. 137, passim.
- 81. In his book *Christ and Time* (Philadelphia: Westminster Press, 1950), Professor Oscar Cullmann has described how the early Christians looked on the coming of Christ as marking the center of the time-line. In Him the past had been fulfilled and all that was to follow had been decided. See also the discussion of Karl Löwith, *Meaning in History* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1949), pp. 182 ff., which largely follows Cullmann; and, in general, R.L.P. Milburn, *Early Christian Interpretations of History* (London: Black, 1954); two articles by A. H. Chroust, "The Metaphysics of Time and History in Early Christian Thought," *New Scholasticism* 19 (1945): 322–352; "The Meaning of Time in the Ancient World," ibid., 21 (1947): 1–70.
- 82. Gelasians 1:26; Epistle to the Hebrews 11:1; Romans 8:24; De Civ. Dei 12.13-14, 19.4; De Doctrina Christiana 2.43-44; see also the discussion in R. E. Cushman, "Greek and Christian Views of Time," Journal of Religion 33 (1953): 254-265. H. Scholz, Glaube und Unglaube in der Weltgeschichte (Leipzig, 1911), pp. 137 ff. The problem of "progress" in Augustine's philosophy of history has been carefully examined by T. Mommsen, "St. Augustine and the Christian Idea of Progress, the Background of the City of God," Journal of the History of Ideas 12 (1951): 346-374. Augustine's earlier views are discussed by Cranz, "The Development of Augustine's Ideas on Society before the Donatist Controversy," pp. 273 ff. Additional material may be found in Löwith, Meaning in History, chap. 9; J. Pieper, The End of Time, trans. M. Bullock (New York: Pantheon, 1954), passim. Augustine's approach to history, with its combination of an over-all synthesis and sensitivity to the varied nature of historical phenomena, is an interesting example of the case that cannot be subsumed under Isaiah Berlin's suggestive categories: The Hedgehog and the Fox (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1953) and Historical Inevitability (London: Oxford University Press, 1954). The problem of the extent to which Augustine can be properly said to have held a philosophy of history is discussed by H. Scholz, Glaube and Unglaube in der Weltgeschichte, Vorrede, where it is maintained that Augustine did not elaborate such a philosophy. See also Gilson, Les Métamorphoses de la Cité de Dieu, pp. 37 ff.; Cochrane, Christianity and Classical Culture, chap. 12.
- 83. De Civ. Dei 19.17.
- 84. Ibid. 1.29.
- 85. Ibid. 19.21. Augustine's discussion of Cicero's definition has been the subject of a continuing controversy: R. W. and A. J. Carlyle, *A History of Mediaeval Political Theory in the West*, 1:165 ff., held that Augustine removed the concept of justice from his definition of the state. This was denied by J. N. Figgis, *Political Aspects of St. Augustine's "City of God*," chap. 3. There is a judicious summary

- of the matter in C. H. McIlwain, *The Growth of Political Thought in the West* (New York: Macmillan, 1932), pp. 154–160. Gilson has admitted that Augustine "forced" the text from Cicero: *Les Métamorphoses de la Cité de Dieu*, pp. 38–39 n. 1.
- 86. De Civ. Dei 19.21.
- 87. Ibid. 19.24.
- 88. Ibid. 19.24.
- 89. Cicero, Ad. Fam. 5.12; Caesar, De bello civili 3.68.1.
- 90. De Civ. Dei 5.24; De Doctrina Christiana 1.23. See also Augustine's remarks on sin and human pride and their effect in perverting the use of power: De Musica 6.13–15, 40–41, 48, 53; De Libero arbitrio 1.6, 14. Barrow, Introduction to St. Augustine, The City of God, p. 230, also has some useful remarks.
- 91. Figgis, *Political Aspects of St. Augustine's "City of God"*, pp. 78, 84 ff., inclined towards viewing Augustine as a forerunner of the later sacerdotalism of the Middle Ages; H. Reuter, *Augustinische Studien* (Gotha, 1887), pointed out the implications of predestination theory for the power of the Church; Harnack, *History of Dogma*, 7 vols., translated from the third German edition by J. Millar (London: Williams and Norgate, 1896–1899), 5:140–168, also pointed out the weakening effect of predestinarianism but concluded that Augustine strengthened the theoretical position of the Church.
- 92. Battenhouse, *A Companion to the Study of St. Augustine*, pp. 184–185; Willis, *Saint Augustine and the Donatist Controversy*, pp. 113 ff. Relevant passages from Augustine are: *De Baptismo* 1.10, 15–16; 4.1; 3.23; 3.4.
- 93. S. J. Grabowski, "Saint Augustine and the Primacy of the Roman Bishop," *Traditio* 4 (1946): 89–113, concludes that Augustine held consistently to the doctrine of ecclesiastical supremacy. See also E. Troeltsch, *Augustin, die christliche Antike und das Mittelalter* (Munich and Berlin, 1915), pp. 26 ff.
- 94. De Doctrina Christiana 1.13; De Civ. Dei 5.17, 19.15.
- 95. De Civ. Dei 6.26; 12.1, 9; 14.9, 28; 16.3, 4; 17.14; 19.5, 10, 23.
- 96. Ibid. 12.1.
- 97. De Regimine Principum 1.1.
- 98. Rights of Man, pt. 11, chap. 1.
- 99. Principles of Social and Political Theory (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1951), pp. 2–4.
- 100. Friedrich Engels, Origins of the Family, Private Property, and the State (Moscow, 1948), pp. 241–242. It should be mentioned that modern sociologists have continued the distinction on somewhat different grounds. See, for example, Ferdinand Tönnies' polar concepts of Gemeinschaft and Gesellschaft in Fundamental Concepts of Sociology, trans. Charles P. Loomis (New York: American Book Company, 1940); Emile Durkheim's contrast between solidarité méchanique and solidarité organique in The Division of Labor in Society, trans. George

- Simpson (Glencoe: Free Press, 1947), bk. 1, chaps. 2–3; and Robert M. Mac-Iver's concept of "Community" in *The Modern State* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1926), pp. 451 ff.
- 101. De moribus ecelesiae 30.63.
- 102. The blend of nationalist and religious sentiments appears clearly in Rousseau's proposed constitution for Corsica. Each citizen was to swear the following oath:

In the name of God Almighty and on the holy Gospels I herewith, by a sacred and irrevocable oath, bind myself with my body, my property, my will and all my might to the Corsican nation to belong to it in complete ownership with all my dependents. (C. E. Vaughan, *The Political Writings of Jean-Jacques Rousseau*, 2 vols. [Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1915], 2:350)

- 103. The basic work here is H. de Lubac, *Corpus Mysticum*, 2nd ed. (Paris, 1949). I have also drawn on the excellent study by E. H. Kantorowicz, "*Pro Patria Mori* in Mediaeval Political Thought," *American Historical Review* 56 (1951): 472—492, and *The King's Two Bodies* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1957), chap. 5. Further material can be found in: A. H. Chroust, "The Corporate Idea and the Body Politic in the Middle Ages," *Review of Politics* 9 (1947): 423–452; G. B. Ladner, "Mediaeval Thought on Church and Politics," ibid., pp. 403–422.
- 104. *Summa Theologiae* II, III, q. 69, art. 5. I have used the translation by the English Dominican Fathers, *The "Summa Theologiae" of Saint Thomas Aquinas*, 22 vols. (New York: Benziger Brothers, 1913–1927), 17.175.
- 105. Sir John Fortescue, De Laudibus Legum Anglie, ed. and trans. S. B. Chrimes (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1949), chap. 13; Kantorowicz, "Pro Patria Mori in Mediaeval Political Thought," pp. 486 ff.; E. Voegelin, The New Science of Politics (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1952), pp. 42–46.
- 106. The Political Writings of Jean Jacques Rousseau, 1:437.
- 107. Rousseau, *The Social Contract*, ed. G.D.H. Cole (Everyman), bk. 1, chap. 8, pp. 18–19.
- 108. Joseph Mazzini, The Duties of Man and Other Essays (Everyman), pp. 56-58.
- 109. Numerous examples of this can be found among the following works: E. Lewis, Medieval Political Ideas, 2 vols. (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1954), 2:387, 391, 421, 425; O. von Gierke, Political Theories of the Middle Ages, trans. F. W. Maitland (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1900), pp. 30 ff.; W. Ullmann, Medieval Papalism (London, 1949), chaps. 4–5; The Growth of Papal Government in the Middle Ages (London: Methuen, 1955), passim; B. Tierney, Foundations of the Conciliar Theory (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1955), passim.

- 110. Summa Theologiae IIIa, q. 75, art. I; IIIa, q. 73, art. 3; IIIa, q. 8, art. I; q. 67, art. 2; q. 73, art. 1, ad 3; q. 73, art. 3–4; q. 65, art. 3, ad 1. A good general discussion of the historical background to the Thomistic conception of the common good is to be found in I. T. Eschmann, "A Thomistic Glossary on the Principle of the Pre-eminence of the Common Good," Mediaeval Studies 5 (1943): 123–165.
- 111. Summa Theologiae IIIa, q. 65, art. 1.
- 112. Ibid. IIIa, q. 65, art. 3, ad 2; q. 65, art. 4; q. 73, art. 8, ad. 1; q. 73, art. 11, ad 1; III (Suppl.), q. 34, art. 3.
- 113. Ibid. III (Suppl.), q. 34, art. 2, ad 2.
- 114. Ibid. III (Suppl.), q. 34, art. 1.
- 115. Ibid. I, q. 108, art. 2, in *The Basic Writings of Saint Thomas Aquinas*, ed. A. C. Pegis, 2 vols. (New York: Random House, 1945). In this connection Thomas's discussion of government in general ought to be consulted. *Summa Theologiae* I, q. 103; also III *Contra Gentes* I.
- 116. Summa Theologiae Ia, IIae, q. 93, art. 3 (Pegis edition).
- 117. Ibid. Illa, q. 64, arts. 5, 6, 8; q. 65, art. 1; q. 78, art. 1; q. 82, arts. 5, 6.
- 118. Ibid. Ia, IIae, q. 93, art. 1; IIIa, q. 78, art. 1.
- 119. Ibid. IIIa, q. 82, art. 6. The notion of "representation" in mediaeval political thought has been examined in Gierke, *Political Theories of the Middle Ages*, pp. 61 ff.; Voegelin, *The New Science of Politics*, passim; Tierney, *Foundations of the Conciliar Theory*, pp. 34–48, 125–127, 176–186, 235–237; G. Post, "*Plena Potestas* and Consent in Medieval Assemblies," *Traditio* 1 (1943): 355–408.
- 120. Cited in Lewis, Medieval Political Ideas, 2:578.

CHAPTER FIVE Luther: The Theological and the Political

- 1. Defensor Pacis 1.12.
- 2. A certain amount of qualification is needed here. There is no doubt that the secularization of political thought in the sixteenth century had been foreshadowed earlier by the writings of men like John of Paris, Marsilius, and Pierre Dubois, to mention only the better known examples. But since the origins of an intellectual tendency present a quite different order of problems from that of the full impact of an idea, I have felt justified in turning directly to the sixteenth century.
- 3. Reformation Writings of Martin Luther, ed. Bertram Lee Woolf (London: Lutterworth, 1952), 1:345. Thus far two volumes have appeared. Hereafter this will be cited as Woolf.
- 4. Ibid., 1:303.

- 5. There is a good analysis, although directed solely at religious issues, of Luther's vocabulary in the excellent volume by Gordon Rupp, *The Righteousness of God* (New York: Philosophical Library, 1953), pp. 81 ff.
- 6. Harold J. Grimm, "Luther's Conception of Territorial and National Loyalty," *Church History* 17 (June 1948): 79–94, at p. 82. Substantially the same point is made by John W. Allen, *A History of Political Thought in the Sixteenth Century,* 2nd ed. (London: Methuen, 1941), p. 15; and by Preserved Smith, *Life and Letters of Martin Luther,* 2nd ed. (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1914), pp. 214, 228; and James Mackinnon, *Luther and the Reformation,* 4 vols. (London: Longmans, 1925–1930), 2:229. Ernest G. Schwiebert has argued that Luther wrote essentially as a theologian, but that his political ideas derived largely from mediaeval sources. See "The Mediaeval Patterns in Luther's Views of the State," *Church History* 12 (June 1943): 98–117.
- 7. Works of Martin Luther, ed. Charles M. Jacobs, 6 vols. (Philadelphia: Muhlenberg Press, 1915–1932), 5:81. Hereafter this will be cited as Works.
- 8. "... Cuique suum arbitrium petendi utendique relinqueretur, sicut in baptismo et potentia relinquitur. At nunc cogit singulis annis unam speciem accipi eadem tyrannide ..." D. Martin Luther Werke (Weimar Ausgabe, 1888–), 6:507 (hereafter cited as Werke); Woolf, 1:223–224.
- 9. Woolf, 1:127-228, 162.
- 10. Ibid., 1:224.
- 11. Luther had read and admired Gerson, D'Ailly, and Dietrich of Niem. He does not appear to have become acquainted with the anti-papal writings of William of Occam until relatively late. For a general discussion of these matters, consult Mackinnon, *Luther and the Reformation*,1:20–21, 135; 2:228–229; Rupp, *The Righteousness of God*, p. 88; R. H. Fife, *The Revolt of Martin Luther* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1957). pp. 104 ff., 203–244.
- 12. Woolf, 1:224–225; Works, 1:391; Luther's Correspondence and Other Contemporary Letters, ed. Preserved Smith and Charles M. Jacobs, 2 vols. (Philadelphia: Muhlenberg Press, 1918), 1:156.
- 13. Woolf, 1:121.
- 14. Ibid., p. 123; Werke, 2:447-449.
- 15. For a further discussion, see Roland H. Bainton, *Here I Stand: A Life of Martin Luther* (New York: Mentor, 1955), pp. 115–116; Ernest G. Schwiebert, *Luther and His Times* (St. Louis: Concordia, 1950), pp. 464 ff.; Heinrich Boehmer, *Martin Luther: Road to Reformation*, trans. J. W. Doberstein and T. G. Tappert (New York: Meridian, 1957).
- 16. Woolf, 1:122, 167.
- 17. In this connection, Luther's letter to John, Elector of Saxony, was significant: "There is no fear of God and no discipline any longer, for the papal ban is

- abolished and everyone does what he will . . . But now the enforced rule of the Pope and the clergy is at an end in your Grace's dominions, and all the monasteries and foundations fall into your Grace's hands as the ruler, the duty and difficulty of setting these things in order comes with them." Smith and Jacobs, *Luther's Correspondence*, 2:383. On several occasions, Luther was to lament the release of the rulers from papal controls. See *Works*, 4:287–289.
- 18. Freiheit eines Christenmenschen 23 (Werke, vol. 7).
- 19. Luther's long apprenticeship in scholasticism is discussed in Mackinnon, *Luther and the Reformation*, 1:10–27, 50 ff.
- 20. Woolf, 1:225, 227–229; Smith and Jacobs, *Luther's Correspondence*, 1:60, 64, 78, 150, 169–170, 359.
- 21. Luther's distinction between Scripture and the Word of God is analyzed by Rupert E. Davies, *The Problem of Authority in the Continental Reformers* (London: Epworth Press, 1946), pp. 31 ff.; and by Ernst Troeltsch, *The Social Teaching of the Christian Churches*, trans. O. Wyon, 2 vols. (London: Allen and Unwin, 1931), 2:486. In connection with Luther's quest for the "original" meaning of Scripture, it might be added that he was aided by contemporary humanist scholars, such as Reuchlin and Erasmus, who were seeking to recapture the true meaning of Scripture by means of philological researches.
- 22. Thomas's argument that the sacrament represented more than a sign is to be found in *Summa Theologiae* III, q. 60, art. 1–3. The necessary connection between the sacraments and salvation is developed in *S.T.* III, q. 61, art. 1. The role of the sacraments as a power that causes or infuses grace is described in *S.T.* III, q. 62, art. 1, 4. This aspect is extended in *S.T.* III, q. 63, art. 3, and q. 65, art. 3, ad 2, where Thomas emphasizes the way in which the sacrament imprints a "character" on the soul. The relationship between the ministration of the sacraments and ecclesiastical offices is defined in *S.T.* III, q. 65, art. 3, ad 2; q. 67, art. 2, ad 1–2; q. 72, art. 8, ad 1. Finally, it is significant that the doctrines of ecclesiastical supremacy and the Pope's *plenitudo potestatis* are inserted in the discussions of the sacraments: *S.T.* III, q. 62, art. 11.
- 23. Cited in J. S. Whale, *The Protestant Tradition* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1955), p. 58. I am indebted to this excellent work for its discussion of the contrasting forms of sacramental usage.
- 24. Works, 3:234–237, 4:265. See the recent survey by F. E. Cranz, "An Essay on the Development of Luther's Thought on Justice, Law, and Society," *Harvard Theological Studies* 19 (1959).
- 25. Works, 3:238-240, 426.
- 26. Ibid., pp. 252, 261–262.
- 27. Ibid., p. 252.
- 28. Woolf, 1:114, 318.
- 29. Ibid., p. 113.

- 30. Works, 2:262.
- 31. Ibid., 1:349.
- 32. Werke, 14:714.
- 33. Works, 3:252.
- 34. Ibid., p. 262.
- 35. Ibid.
- 36. Woolf, 1:115, 247, 249, 318, 367; Works, 3:326-328.
- 37. Woolf, 1:115, 117, 181; Works, 4:79, 82.
- 38. Woolf, 1:120; Works, 4:76-77.
- 39. Woolf, 1:119–120.
- 40. Ibid., pp. 227–229. These sentiments were underlined in Luther's *Letter to the Christian Reader* (1522): ". . . When I compare scholastic with sacred theology, that is with Holy Scripture, it seems full of impiety and vanity and dangerous in all ways to be put before Christian monks not forearmed with the armor of God." Luther then turned admiringly to Tauler and the *Theologia Germanica* and voiced the hope that under the influence of the mystics "there will not be left in our earth a Thomist or an Albertist, a Scotist or an Occamist, but only simple sons of God and their Christian brothers. Only let not those who batten on literary dainties revolt against the rustic diction, nor despise the coarse coverings and cheap garments of our tabernacle, for within is all the glory of the king's daughter. Certainly if we cannot get learned and eloquent piety, let us at least prefer an unlearned and infantile piety to an impiety which is both eloquent and infantile." Smith and Jacobs, *Luther's Correspondence*, 2:135–136. Compare Augustine, *Epistle* 138, 4–5.
- 41. Although the Conciliarist theory had stressed the notion of a religious community which judges, the conception was weakened not only by the practical fact that nationality was undermining the ideas of a universal society of Christians, but also by the inability or unwillingness of the Conciliarists themselves to surrender the hierarchical and monarchical categories of thought. See the discussion in Lewis, *Medieval Political Ideas*, 2:369–377.
- 42. Works, 1:349-357.
- 43. Compare ibid., p. 361, 4:75, 5:27–87, 6:148. Luther's theory of the Church has been discussed by Karl Holl, "Luther," *Gesammelte Auisätze zur Kirchengeschichte* (Tubingen, 1923), 1:288 ff.; Troeltsch, *The Social Teaching of the Christian Churches*, 1:477–494; William A. Mueller, *Church and State in Luther and Calvin* (Nashville: Broadman Press, 1954), pp. 5–35; Wilhelm Pauck, "The Idea of the Church in Christian History," *Church History* 21 (September 1952): 191–213, at pp. 208–210, and by the same author, *The Heritage of the Reformation* (Glencoe: Free Press, 1950), pp. 24–54; Lewis W. Spitz, "Luther's Ecclesiology and His Concept of the Prince as *Notbischof*," *Church History* 22 (June 1953): 113–141; John T. McNeill, "The Church in Sixteenth

- Century Reformed Theology," *Journal of Religion* 22 (July 1942): 251–269; Whale, *The Protestant Tradition*, chap. 7.
- 44. This aspect of Augustine is brilliantly described in Cochrane, *Christianity and Classical Culture*, pp. 359 ff. There are some relevant remarks also in Voegelin, *The New Science of Politics*, pp. 81–84.
- 45. De Civitate Dei 20. And see Scholz, Glaube und Unglaube in der Weltgeschichte, pp. 109 ff.
- 46. Works, 6:186.
- 47. Ibid., 5:81-82.
- 48. Ibid., 4:23. On this same point, see 3:231–233; 4:28, 248–253, 266–269, 299 ff.; 5:38; 6:460.
- 49. Woolf, 1:117; Pierre Mesnard, *L'Essor de la philosophie politique au XVIe siècle* (Paris: Vrin, 1951), pp. 204–217.
- 50. There is a recent discussion of this problem in Spitz, "Luther's Ecclesiology," pp. 118 ff.; and see the references cited there. In addition there are some interesting remarks in Friedrich Meinecke, "Luther über christliches Gemeinwesen und christlichen Staat," *Historische Zeitschrift* 121 (1920): 1–22.
- 51. Woolf, 1:114.
- 52. Ibid., pp. 114–115, 129–130, 141, 147, 226–227, 232, 275.
- 53. Ibid., p. 167.
- 54. Works, 3:235, 4:289-291.
- 55. Woolf, 1:298. It is true that Luther occasionally praised customary law, but a close examination of the context of the argument shows that he was contending that customary laws were better adapted to local conditions than imperial laws, and not that customary laws were salutary restraints. McNeill, "Natural Law in the Thought of Luther," has underlined the role of natural law and reason in Luther's writings, but again the context was one where Luther was asserting that natural law and reason or equity allowed the ruler to override existing law or customs. Natural law, in other words, played a liberating as well as a restraining role in Luther's thought. See Woolf, 1:187; Works, 6:272–273. One of the few occasions wherein Luther cited Aquinas for support involved an argument in favor of an unlimited secular power in times of emergency. See Works, 3:263.
- 56. Works, 2:234.
- 57. Ibid., pp. 235–236.
- 58. Woolf, 1:357–358; Works, 3:235, 4:240–241; Werke, 1:640–643.
- 59. Works, 3:239-242, 248; 6:447 ff.; Woolf, 1:234, 357, 368-370, 378-379.
- 60. Works, 4:220; Smith and Jacobs, Luther's Correspondence, 2:320.
- 61. Works, 6:460; 3:231–232; 4:23, 28; Smith and Jacobs, Luther's Correspondence, 2:492.
- 62. Works, 1:271, 3:255-256.

- 63. Ibid., 1:262–264, 3:211–212, 4:226–228. Some commentators have made a great deal of the joint declaration of 1531, wherein Luther sanctioned resistance to the emperor. But when this is measured against the main body of his writings, its evidential value is small. Moreover, it would seem that the declaration was largely the work of Melanchthon. Luther affixed his own signature only after a great deal of agony and self-searching. A year previously he had warned against resisting the emperor. See Mackinnon, *Luther and the Reformation*, 4:25–27.
- 64. J. N. Figgis, *Studies of Political Thought from Gerson to Grotius*, 1414–1625, 2nd ed. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1931), pp. 55–61.
- 65. Werke, 18:389.
- 66. De Regimine Principum 1.12.
- 67. Works, 4:16–22. On this topic, see the discussion by Benjamin N. Nelson, *The Idea of Usury* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1949), pp. 29 ff.
- 68. Works, 4:240, 308; 5:43 ff.

CHAPTER SIX Calvin: The Political Education of Protestantism

- Works of Martin Luther, ed. Charles M. Jacobs, 6 vols. (Philadelphia, 1915–1932), 2:10, 29–30. Hereafter this edition will be cited as Works. In connection with Luther's conception of society, see Charles Trinkhaus, "The Religious Foundations of Luther's Social Views," in Essays in Medieval Life and Thought, ed. J. H. Mundy, R. W. Emery, and B. N. Nelson (New York, 1955), pp. 71–87.
- 2. See F. H. Littell, *The Anabaptist View of the Church*, 2nd ed. (Boston: Starr King Press, 1958), especially chaps. 1 (B), 2, 3.
- 3. The phrase "holy violence" occurs in the writings of a seventeenth-century Puritan writer, Richard Sibbes, and is cited by Jerald C. Brauer, "Reflections on the Nature of English Puritanism," *Church History* 22 (1954): 99–108, p. 102. For the general characteristics of Anabaptist thinking, see Robert Friedman, "Conception of the Anabaptists," *Church History* 9 (1940): 335–340; Harold S. Bender, "The Anabaptist Vision," ibid., 13 (1944): 3–24; Roland H. Bainton, *The Reformation of the Sixteenth Century* (Boston, 1952), pp. 95 ff.; J. S. Whale, *The Protestant Tradition* (Cambridge, 1955), pp. 175 ff. The close relationship between "peaceful" and "violent" forms of Anabaptism is discussed in Lowell H. Zuck, "Anabaptism: Abortive Counter-Revolt within the Reformation," *Church History* 26 (1957): 211–216.
- 4. Works, 5:81.
- 5. P. Imbart de la Tour, *Les origines de la Réformation*, 4 vols. (Paris, 1905–1935), 4:53.
- 6. "Letter from Calvin to Sadolet," *Tracts Relating to the Reformation*, trans. Henry Beveridge, 3 vols. (Edinburgh, 1844), 1:37.

- 7. *The Institutes of the Christian Religion*, trans. John Allen, 2. vols. (Philadelphia: Westminster Press, n.d.), 2:281–283 (4.1.8–10). Hereafter this will be cited as *Inst.*, and all translations, except where indicated, will be from it.
- 8. "For unless we are united with all the other members under Christ our Head, we can have no hope of the future inheritance . . . But all the elect of God are so connected with each other in Christ, that as they depend upon one head, so they grow up together as into one body, compacted together like members of the same body; being made truly one, as living by one faith, hope, and charity, through the same Divine Spirit, being called not only to the same inheritance of eternal life, but also to a participation of one God and Christ . . . the saints are united in the fellowship of Christ on this condition, that whatever benefits God confers upon them, they should mutually communicate to each other." *Inst.*, 2:271–272 (4.1.2–3).
- 9. Commentaries on the Epistle of Paul the Apostle to the Romans, trans. John Owen (Edinburgh, 1849), p. 458. Hereafter this will be cited as Commentaries on Romans. On this same point, see Josef Bohatec, Calvins Lehre vom Staat und Kirche (Breslau, 1937), p. 271.
- 10. "... such care as we take of our own body, we ought to exercise the same care of our brethren, who are members of our body; that as no part of our body can be in any pain without every other part feeling corresponding sensations, so we ought not to suffer our brother to be afflicted with any calamity without our sympathizing to the same." *Inst.*, 2:696–697 (4.17.38). A supplementary bond was also provided by the sacrament of baptism, which initiated the member into the "society of the church." Ibid., pp. 583, 611 (4.15.1, 4.16.9).
- 11. Commentaries on Romans, pp. 458-459.
- 12. Works, 4:234–237; and see the Augsburg Confession (1530), pt. 2, art. 7, in *The Creeds of Christendom*, ed. Philip Schiff, 3 vols. (New York, 1877), 3:58 ff.
- 13. D. Martin Luthers Werke (Weimar Ausgabe, 1888–), vol. 30, pt. 2, pp. 435, 462.
- 14. Works, 2:37-38, 52.
- 15. Note the analogies drawn by Calvin between religious and political institutions. *Inst.*, 2:483 ff. (4.11).
- 16. Inst., 2:477-483 (4.10.27-29, 4.11.1).
- 17. Ibid., 1:52, 218, 120, 232 (1.2.1, 1.16.1–3, 1.17.1). The substance of these passages is that God is not "idle and almost asleep" but "engaged in continual action."
- 18. Ibid., 2:89–90, 770–771 (3.19.14, 4.20.1).
- 19. *Calvani Opera*, ed. G. Baum, E. Cunitz, and E. Reuss, 59 vols. (Braunschweig, 1863–1900), 2:622–623, 4:358 (*Inst.*, 3.19.15). These volumes form part of the *Corpus Reformatorum*, and hereafter they will be cited as *Opera*.
- 20. Inst., 2:90 (3.19.15).
- 21. Ibid., pp. 422-423 (4.8.8).

- 22. Ibid., 1:74 (1.5.11).
- 23. Ibid., 2:452-453 (4.10.5).
- 24. Ibid., 4.10.27. Here I have followed the translation of Henry Beveridge in his edition, 2 vols. (Grand Rapids, Mich.: Eerdmans, 1953), 2:434.
- 25. Ibid., p. 439 (4.11.1) (Beveridge translation). Calvin consciously sought to widen the power of jurisdiction by tracing it back to the Jewish Sanhedrin and thereby capitalizing on the extensive authority of that body.
- 26. Ibid., pp. 593–504 (4.12.1).
- 27. See the discussion of Pierre Mesnard, *L'Essor de la philosophie politique au XVIIe siècle*, 2nd ed. (Paris, 1952), pp. 283 ff.
- 28. *Inst.*, 2:273–274 (4.1.4). It is important to note that the ultimate power of excommunication was placed specifically in the hands of the higher officers of the church; that is, the pastors and the Council of Elders. The power was specifically excluded from the province of the magistrates and the congregation.
- 29. De Civitate Dei 18.51.
- 30. *Inst.*, 1:35–36 (Ded. Epist.), 86–87 (1.7.1–2); 2:417–419 (4.8.2–4); "Letter to Sadolet," *Tracts*, 1:50.
- 31. Herbert D. Foster, "Calvin's Program for a Puritan State in Geneva," Collected Papers of Herbert D. Foster (privately printed, 1929), p. 64; Emile Doumergue, Jean Calvin. Les hommes et les choses de son temps, 7 vols. (Lausanne, 1899–1928), 5:188 ff.; Mesnard, L'Essor de la philosophie politique au XVIIe siècle, pp. 301 ff.; E. Choisy, L'état chrétien calviniste à Genève au temps de Theodore de Beze (Geneva, 1902); and for a recent discussion of the Genevan experience, as well as a sympathetic general survey of Calvinism, see John T. McNeill, The History and Character of Calvinism (New York, 1954). chaps. 9–12.
- 32. In Doumergue's magisterial work on Calvin, there is a spirited defense of the thesis that Calvin's theory of the church embodies a strong "representative" element. Yet Doumergue's argument is weakened by his failure to ask: what and whom do the officers of the church represent? He is content, instead, to indicate the several passages where Calvin provided for congregational approval of certain church officers. The difficulty here is that election is not the same as representation, especially when it is not accompanied by a power of recall. Hence even though Calvin declared that the ministers constituted a *corpus ecclesiae repraesentans* (*Opera*, 14:681), his meaning was that the ministers represented the purposes of the church as defined by Scripture. He did not mean that the ministers represented the wills or separate interests of the members of the congregation; hence Doumergue's attempt to relate the Calvinist theory of the church to modern representative government is not convincing. See his discussion, *Jean Calvin*, 5:158–162.
- 33. Inst., 2:318-319 (4.3.2); see also p. 317 (4.3.1).
- 34. Ibid., p. 424 (4.8.9). I have slightly altered the translation.

- 35. Ibid., p. 417 (4.8.2).
- 36. The authority and dignity of the pastoral office, according to Calvin, belonged not "to the persons themselves, but to the ministry over which they were appointed, or to speak more correctly, to the Word, the ministration of which was committed to them." Ibid., p. 424 (4.8.9). American constitutional lawyers will recognize in this a forerunner of the role the Supreme Court in the nineteenth century claimed for itself when interpreting the Constitution in the exercise of its power of judicial review.
- 37. Ibid., 1:223 (1.16.4).
- 38. Ibid., p. 233 (1.17.1).
- 39. Ibid., 2:771 (4.20.2).
- 40. Ibid., p. 90 (3.19.25).
- 41. "Had we remained in the state of natural integrity such as God first created, the order of justice would not have been necessary. For each would then have carried the law in his own heart, so that no constraint would have been needed to keep us in check. Each would be his own rule and with one mind we would do what is good. Hence justice is a remedy of this human corruption. And whenever one speaks of human justice let us recognize that in it we have the mirror of our perversity, since it is by force we are led to follow equity and reason." *Opera*, 27:409. See also *Opera*, 7:84, 49:249, 52:267; and the discussion in Marc-Edouard Chenevière, *La pensée politique de Calvin* (Paris, 1937), pp. 93–94.
- 42. Inst., 1:294 (2.2.13).
- 43. Ibid., 2:774 (4.20.4).
- 44. Ibid., p. 90 (3.19.15); 2:771 (4.20.2).
- 45. Ibid., 2:90 (3.19.15); pp. 772–773 (4.20.3).
- 46. Ibid., p. 772 (4.20.2).
- 47. Ibid. I have slightly changed the translation; see the text in *Opera*, 2:1094. In connection with this point, it is interesting to note how Calvin reversed the usual argument and asserted that obedience to human superiors helped to habituate men to obedience to God, *Inst.*, 2:433 (2.8.35).
- 48. Cited in Doumergue, Jean Calvin, 5:45.
- 49. Compare Calvin's use of the *corpus mysticum* to that of the fifteenth-century writer Sir John Fortescue, *De Laudibus Legum Anglie*, ed. and trans. S. B. Chrimes (Cambridge, 1949), cap. 13. The whole problem of the influence of the Eucharist on political ideas remains to be explored. Some suggestive points are to be found in two articles by Ernst H. Kantorowicz, "*Pro Patria Mori* in Medieval Political Thought," *American Historical Review* 56 (April 1951): 472–492, and "Mysteries of State: An Absolutist Concept and Its Late Mediaeval Origins," *Harvard Theological Review* 48 (January 1955): 65–91. Fundamental for this problem is Henri de Lubac, *Corpus Mysticum*, 2nd ed. (Paris, 1949).
- 50. Inst., 1:790-791 (3.10.6).

- 51. Ibid., p. 757 (3.7.5).
- 52. Ibid., p. 294 (2.2.13).
- 53. Ibid., pp. 295–296 (2.2.14–15); pp. 298–299 (2.2.17–18); p. 366 (2.5.19).
- 54. Ibid., p. 295 (2.2.13).
- 55. Ibid., p. 296 (2.2.15).
- 56. Ibid., p. 296 (2.2.13). The translation has been slightly changed; see the text in *Opera*, 2:197.
- 57. Inst., 1:397 (2.8.1).
- 58. Ibid., 2:789 (4.20.16).
- 59. Ibid., p. 787 (4.10.14). The phrase is derived from Cicero, *De Legibus* 3.1.2, and is related to the classical tradition of the ruler as *lex animata*; see Erwin R. Goodenough, "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," *Yale Classical Studies* 1 (1928): 55 ff.
- 60. See Mesnard, L'Essor de la philosophie politique au XVIIe siècle, pp. 285–289; Chenevière, La pensée politique de Calvin, p. 298.
- 61. Opera, 52:267.
- 62. Commentaries on Romans, p. 481.
- 63. Ibid., p. 480.
- 64. *Commentary on the Book of Psalms*, trans. James Anderson, 5 vols. (Edinburgh, 1845–1849), 3:106; *Inst.*, 2:801–802 (4.20.27).
- 65. Given the lofty ends served by allegiance—"God has not intended men to live *pêle-mêle*" (*Opera*, 51:800)—it is not surprising to find Calvin hostile to contract theory. This was not owing to any desire on his part to release rulers from their obligations, but rather to his belief that social duties ought not to be the subject of a crude bartering arrangement. *Inst.*, 2:801–802 (4.20.27).
- 66. Inst., 2:805 (4.20.32).
- 67. Ibid., p. 790 (4.20.16); p. 798 (4.20.24).
- 68. "Catechism of 1537," in Opera, 22:74.
- 69. Inst., 2:805 (4.10.32).
- 70. Ibid., p. 804 (4.20.31); Opera, 4:1160.
- 71. *Opera*, 29:557, 636–637; Chenevière, *La pensée politique de Calvin*, pp. 346–347.
- 72. Works, 5:51-52.
- 73. Inst., 2:773, 787 (4.20.3, 14).
- 74. *Opera*, 43:374; and the discussion of John T. McNeill, "The Democratic Element in Calvin's Thought," *Church History* 18 (September 1949): 153–171.
- 75. A.S.P. Woodhouse, ed., *Puritanism and Liberty* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1938), p. 53.
- 76. Commentaries on Romans, p. 459.
- 77. Inst., 2:272 (4.1.3).

Chapter Seven Machiavelli: Politics and the Economy of Violence

- 1. Of the Laws of Ecclesiastical Polity 3.1 (14); 8.1 (5).
- 2. De Republica Anglorum, ed. L. Alston (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1906), bk. 1, chap. 2, p. 10.
- 3. See the suggestive remarks on this problem as it appears in literature: R. P. Blackmur, *Form and Value in Modern Poetry* (New York: Anchor, 1957), pp. 35–36.
- 4. "What other control can be found for greed, for secret and unpunished misdeeds than the idea of an eternal master who sees us and judges even our most intimate thoughts. We do not know who first taught this doctrine to man. If I knew him and was certain that he would not abuse it . . . I myself would build him an altar." Voltaire, *Oeuvres complètes*, 52 vols. (Paris: Moland, 1883–1885), 28:132–133.
- 5. See generally Hans Baron, The Crisis of the Early Italian Renaissance, 2 vols. (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1955); Humanistic and Political Literature in Florence and Venice at the Beginning of the Quattrocento, 2 vols. (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1955); "Das Erwachen des historischen Denkens im Humanismus des Quattrocento," Historische Zeitschtift 147 (1932): 5–20. Also relevant for the background of Machiavelli's thought is Allan H. Gilbert, Machiavelli's "Prince" and Its Forerunners (Durham: University of North Carolina Press, 1938); Lester K. Born, The Education of a Christian Prince (New York: Columbia University Press, 1936), introduction.
- 6. *The Prince* 15 (1). Unless otherwise indicated, I have used the translation by Allan H. Gilbert, "*The Prince*" and *Other Works* (New York: Hendricks House, 1946). The number in parenthesis above refers to the paragraph of the chapter in this edition.

In the passages cited above there is a great deal of controversy about whether the "predecessors" referred to were classical or mediaeval writers, like Dante, or more recent publicists of the fifteenth century. For various points of view on this problem, see the following: L. Arthur Burd, ed., *Il Principe* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1891), p. 282; Felix Gilbert, "The Humanist Concept of the Prince and *The Prince* of Machiavelli," *Journal of Modern History* 11 (1939): 449–483, p. 450 n. 3.

7. Prince 11 (1). In his discussion of this chapter in Machiavelli's "Prince" and Its Forerunners, pp. 60–61, Gilbert omits any analysis of this passage. This oversight leads him to argue erroneously that Machiavelli is as willing to advise a politically minded pope as any other prince, perhaps thinking it possible that the liberation of Italy might come from a prince of the Church.

- 8. Machiavelli's contempt for papal government should not, of course, be taken to infer a disregard for the importance of the papacy in Italian and foreign diplomacy.
- 9. Prince 2 (2); 3 (1); The Discourses on the First Ten Books of Titus Livius, trans. Leslie J. Walker, 2 vols. (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1950), bk. 1, 2 (9–10), 9 (3). The number in parenthesis refers to Walker's paragraphs.
- 10. *Prince* 1, passim. See also 19 (18) where Machiavelli disdains to call a particular government new because it retained so much of the old.
- 11. Ibid. 6 (2).
- 12. Ibid. 24 (3).
- 13. Ibid. 24 (1).
- 14. Ibid.
- 15. Ibid. 6 (2). See the analysis of Severtus (19, passim) and the remarks on Francesco Sforza's sons (14 [2]).
- 16. Ibid. 14 (1).
- 17. Discourses 2, preface (7).
- 18. Ibid. 1.11 (10), 3.11 (1).
- 19. The History of Florence (London: Bohn, 1854), 3.3 (p. 125); Discourses 2, preface (6–7).
- 20. Ibid., 1.55 (6-8, 9).
- 21. I have used the word "mass" here and throughout in order to convey the sense of a body of matter whose elements are largely undifferentiated and controllable as a whole. Needless to say, the word is not intended to suggest "a mass society" in the sense that this phrase carries in contemporary sociology and political science. A good example of the meaning for this essay is to be found in *The History of Florence* where Machiavelli describes the people as slow to generate motion, but when they are once aroused, a trifle will set them off (1.5 [285]).
- 22. History 2.8 (92–93), 3.3 (128–129), 4.3 (172–173), 6.4 (278–281).
- 23. See the famous analysis of the errors committed by Louis XII in his invasion of Italy: *Prince* 3 (9).
- 24. The best study of Machiavelli from this position is Leonard Olschki, *Machiavelli the Scientist* (Berkeley: privately printed, 1945). Also useful are Herbert Butterfield, *The Statecraft of Machiavelli* (London: Bell, 1940), pp. 59 ff.; Ernst Cassirer, *The Myth of the State* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1946), chaps. 10–12; James Burnham, *The Machiavellians* (New York: Day, 1943), pt. 2; Augustin Renaudet, *Machiavel*, 6th ed. (Paris: Gallimard, 1956), pp. 12–13, 119 ff., for an interpretation of Machiavelli as a "positivist." For a corrective to these views, see J. H. Whitfield, *Machiavelli* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1947), especially chap. 1. An extensive and critical estimate of Whitfield's volume has been made by Mario M. Rossi, *Modern Language Review* 44 (1949): 417–424. There is a

- review of current interpretations by Wolfgang Preiser, "Das Machiavelli-Bild der Gegenwart," Zeitschrift für die gesamte Staatswissenschaft 108 (1952): 1–38.
- 25. *Il Principe* 15, p. 283 (line 5), in L. Arthur Burd's edition. Hereafter this will be cited as *Il Principe*.
- 26. As a sample of the literature on this problem, see the following: Friedrich Meinecke, Niccolò Machiavelli, Der Fürst und kleinere Schriften (Berlin, 1923), pp. 7–47; Cassirer, The Myth of the State, pp. 142–143; Il Principe, p. 365 n. 19; Felix Gilbert, "The Humanist Concept of the Prince and The Prince of Machiavelli," Journal of Modern History 11 (1939): 449–483, pp. 481 ff.; and by the same author, "The Concept of Nationalism in Machiavelli's Prince," Studies in the Renaissance 1 (1954): 38–48. For a general discussion of Machiavelli's linguistic usages, see Fredi Chiappelli, Studi sul linguaggio del Machiavelli (Florence, 1952).
- 27. *Prince* 26, p. 95 of the translation by Luigi Ricci and E.R.P. Vincent in the Modern Library edition (New York: Random House, n.d.).
- 28. Ibid. 26 (2). I have slightly altered the translation. See also the discussion of Kenneth Burke, *A Rhetoric of Motives* (New York: Prentice-Hall, 1950), pp. 158–166.
- 29. Prince 26 (6).
- 30. Discourses 3.1 (1-3).
- 31. Ibid. (3-5).
- 32. Note Harrington's language in the following: "Formation of Government is the creation of a Political Creature after the Image of a Philosophical Creature; or it is an infusion of the Soul or Facultys of a Man into the body of a Multitude . . . The Soul of Government . . . is every whit as necessarily religious as rational." A System of Politics in The Oceana and Other Works of James Harrington, ed. John Toland (London, 1737), pp. 499–500. Comparable remarks can be found in Algernon Sidney, Works (London, 1772), pp. 124, 160, 406, 419. In Zera S. Fink, The Classical Republicans (Evanston: Northwestern University Press, 1945), there is a good discussion of the relationship between Machiavelli and these seventeenth-century writers.
- 33. The recent study by John W. Gough, Fundamental Law in English Constitutional History (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1955), is, as its title implies, largely a study of legal thought in a narrow sense. But see the quotations on pp. 100, 121–122, for ideas similar to the sort of thing discussed above. The huge pamphlet literature of the period before and during the civil war contains many illustrations of the above thesis. Both the parliamentarians and royalists imbued the notion of fundamental law with religious overtones. For examples see Margaret A. Judson, The Crisis of the Constitution (New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press, 1949), pp. 53–54, 62–63, 193–194, 338, 360; Francis D. Wormuth, The Royal Prerogative, 1603–1649 (Ithaca: Cornell University Press,

1939), pp. 6, 8. In the political thought of the American Revolution the fundamental principle was identified frequently with the people. James Wilson, for example, mentions the "one great principle, the *vital* principle I may well call it, which diffuses animation and vigor through all the others. The principle I mean is this, that the supreme or sovereign power of the society resides in the citizens at large . . ." Randolph G. Adams, *Selected Political Essays of James Wilson* (New York: F. S. Crofts and Co., 1930), p. 196.

- 34. Harold D. Lasswell and Abraham Kaplan, *Power and Society: A Framework for Political Inquiry* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1950), pp. xiii–xiv.
- 35. Letter to Vettori, April 9, 1513, in Gilbert, The Prince, p. 228 (2).
- 36. Discourses 2, preface (5); 2.18 (9); 3.27 (4); History 4.4, p. 179.
- 37. Letter to Vettori, April 16, 1527, in Gilbert, The Prince, p. 270 (2).
- 38. *Prince* 28 (5). It is in this context of dilemmas that Machiavelli's famous doctrine of *raison d'état* ought to be interpreted.

This counsel merits the attention of, and ought to be observed by, every citizen who has to give advice to his country. For when on the decision to be taken wholly depends the safety of one's country, no attention should be paid either to justice or injustice, to kindness or cruelty, or to its being praiseworthy or ignominious. On the contrary, every other consideration being set aside, that alternative should be wholeheartedly adopted which will save the life and preserve the freedom of one's country." (*Discourses* 3.41 [2])

The proper emphasis is not that moral prescriptions must be ignored when one is confronted with the task of saving one's country, but that politics is such a condition that the country cannot be saved except by violating ethical injunctions. The classic discussion here is that of Friedrich Meinecke, *Machiavellism*, trans. D. Scott (London: Routledge, 1959). For a criticism of Meinecke, see C. J. Friedrich, *Constitutional Reason of State* (Providence: Brown University Press, 1959).

- 39. Discourses 1.18 (6).
- 40. Cited in Gilbert, The Prince, p. 44.
- 41. Il Principe 15, p. 285 (line 3).
- 42. Discourses 3.37 (3).
- 43. Letter to Guicciardini, May 17, 1521, in *Lettere di Niccolò Machiavelli* (Milan: Bompiani, n.d.), p. 144.
- 44. Prince 15-18, passim.
- 45. Burnham, *The Machiavellians*, pp. 40 ff.; Butterfield, *The Statecraft of Machiavelli*, pp. 69 ff.; and the criticism of the latter by Walker in his edition of the *Discourses*, 1:92–93.
- 46. Augustine, *De Civitate Dei* 3.6, 14–15; Machiavelli's position is in *The Prince* 6 and *Discourses* 1.9.

- 47. Quoted from Felix Gilbert, "Machiavelli: The Renaissance of the Art of War," in *Makers of Modern Strategy*, ed. Edward M. Earle (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1944), pp. 8–9.
- 48. Prince 26 (2); Discourses 1.56, passim; 2.32 (6); History 6.7 (pp. 299–301); 8.7 (pp. 401–402). For Guicciardini, Opere, ed. V. de Capariis (Milan, 1953), p. 431.
- 49. *Discourses* 1.56 (3). In Joseph Kraft, "Truth and Poetry in Machiavelli," *Journal of Modern History* 23 (1951): 109–121, p. 110, there is an appreciation of the non-rational elements. The notion of Fortune and its historical background is discussed by V. Cioffari, "The Function of Fortune in Dante, Boccaccio and Machiavelli," *Italica*, 24, no. 1 (March 1947): 1–13. For Machiavelli Fortune ceases to be an instrument of the Divine Will as it had been in Dante. For him it symbolized uncontrollable factors.
- 50. For an example, see the excellent study of Machiavelli in Mesnard, *L'essor de la philosophic politique au XVIe siècle*, pp. 17–85.
- 51. Discourses 1.6 (9). Note also Galileo's classic statement of this principle:
 - I cannot without great astonishment—I might say without great insult to my intelligence—hear it attributed as a prime perfection and nobility of the natural and integral bodies of the universe that they are invariant, immutable, inalterable, etc., while on the other hand it is called a great imperfection to be alterable, generable, mutable, etc. For my part I consider the earth very noble and admirable precisely because of the diverse alterations, changes, generations, etc., that occur in it incessantly. (*Dialogue Concerning the Two Chief World Systems—Ptolemaic and Copernican*, trans. Stillman Drake [Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1953], p. 58)
- 52. *Discourses* 2.23 (5), 3.31 (1); "Frequently the desire for victory so blinds men that they see nothing but what seems favorable to their aim," 3.48 (my translation). See also the interesting remarks on the kind of illusions to which émigrés are especially susceptible: 2.31 (1). On the illusions created from the hope that a short-run situation will be permanent: *History* 2.4 (pp. 178–180), 5.4 (231–232); *Prince* 15 (1); *Discourses* 2.27.
- 53. *Il Principe* 18, p. 306 (lines 9–11); *Discourses* 1.24 (1); 2.22 (1).
- 54. History 4.2 (p. 164).
- 55. Discourses 2.24; Prince 20.
- 56. Discourses 3.31 (4).
- 57. Ibid. 2.23, 27 (1); 2.10-11; 30; 3.25; History, 4.4, passim.
- 58. History 6.4 (282), 8.1 (p. 308), 8.2 (p. 320).
- 59. Discourses 1.46 (2), 2.14 (2); History 3.7 (p. 149), 5.4 (p. 226).
- 60. Discourses 1.2 (13), 3.17 (2).

- 61. *History* 5.1 (pp. 202–203). This principle was also reflected in Machiavelli's belief that every form of government was defective, hence the traditional six-fold classification of types of government was less significant to the political scientist than the ease with which one type passed into its opposite. *Discourses* 1.2 (4).
- 62. Discourses 1.6 (9).
- 63. Ibid. 2.1 (50), 2.4 (5); *History* 5.2 (pp. 213–214). On this point, see Gilbert, *Machiavelli's "Prince" and Its Forerunners*, pp. 27 ff.
- 64. Discourses 1.44, 57; History 6.7 (304).
- 65. Discourses 3.1.
- 66. History 5.1 (p. 202). I have changed the translation slightly.
- 67. Discourses 2, preface.
- 68. Ibid., 1, preface (3).
- 69. "... a prudent man ought always to follow the footsteps of great men, and to imitate those who have been especially excellent, in order that his prowess, if it does not equal theirs, at least may give some odor of it." *Prince* 6 (1).
- 70. Discourses 1.6 (6); Prince 21 (7).
- 71. See Butterfield, The Statecraft of Machiavelli, p. 19; Walker, Discourses, 1:108 ff.
- 72. Prince 3 (7–8); Discourses 1.23 (1–3, 6), 1.33 (2–3, 6).
- 73. The classical passages are to be found in *The Life of Castruccio of Lucca*. It has been translated in Gilbert's edition of *The Prince*. Useful in this connection is J. H. Whitfield, "Machiavelli and Castruccio," *Italian Studies* 8 (1953): 1–28.
- 74. Prince 21 (7).
- 75. Discourses 2, preface (7).
- 76. Ibid., 1.37 (1).
- 77. Prince 2, passim; 6 (4).
- 78. Discourses 1.6 (7, 9).
- 79. Prince 6 (4).
- 80. Ibid. 3 (4-7); Discourses 3.16 (3).
- 81. Discourses 3.16.
- 82. Prince 21 (8) History 2.1 (pp. 46-47).
- 83. Discourses 2.5 (4).
- 84. Prince 2; Discourses 1.6 (7).
- 85. *Discourses* 1.6 (9). At one point Machiavelli used the metaphor of a tree which needs a trunk large enough to support several branches (*Discourses* 2.3 [3]). Relevant also was his criticism of Sparta for its failure to adjust itself to the demands of imperialism (ibid. 2.3 [2–3]). The methods of expansion for a republic were examined in ibid. 2.4.
- 86. Discourses 1.2 (13).
- 87. Ibid. 1.1 (8); History 2.2 (52-53).
- 88. *Discourses* 1.26 (1).

- 89. Prince 17 (1).
- 90. Discourses 1.9 (2).
- 91. Ibid. 3.22 (4). Yet there were also societies which had become so corrupt as to be beyond redemption. Here power was unavailing. *Discourses* 1.16 (2).
- 92. Prince 8 (7); Discourses 1.45 (3–4), 3.6 (3–4). In Prince 19 there was a significant contrast drawn between the degree and kind of violence needed to establish a new state, as exemplified by Severtus, with that needed to maintain a state, as in the case of Marcus. Only the latter is called truly glorious by Machiavelli.
- 93. Discourses 2.10, 3.32; History 6.1.
- 94. Discourses 2.6, 21, 32.
- 95. Ibid. 2.7.
- 96. See the working-paper of Machiavelli reproduced in *Machiavel, Toutes les lettres*, ed. E. Barincou, 6th ed., 2 vols. (Paris: Gallimard, 1955), 1:311.
- 97. Discourses 1.9 (3).
- 98. Ibid. 1.16 (5).
- 99. Ibid. 3.7 (2).
- 100. Ibid., 2.20 (4), 3.8 (2). This concern appeared most clearly in the remarkable passage where he described the fate awaiting those who have profaned the means of violence. The good prince, we are told, who used power to restore the health of the community was assured of eternal renown; those who had destroyed or mutilated their principalities were condemned to eternal infamy (ibid. 1.10 [9–10]). A special damnation awaited the inept ruler who, having succeeded to a secure and free state, proceeded to squander it foolishly (ibid. 1.10 [1, 2, 6], 3.5 [2]). Moreover, like religion, politics has its hagiology, its gradation of saints composed of those who had used power creatively. The first rank belonged to the founders of religions; next, those who have established kingdoms or republics; then in order of excellence were the generals, men of letters, and lastly, those who have excelled in any of the arts. But there was also a parallel list of the nihilists, enemies of promise who had destroyed religions, kingdoms, republics, letters and virtue itself.

While Machiavelli's attempt at a politico-theological myth may not seem very convincing, and while we may question his seriousness in expecting the political actor to be swayed out of fear for the judgments of history, these considerations do testify to the moral seriousness of the new science.

- 101. Réflexions sur la violence, 10th ed. (Paris, 1946), pp. 120-122, 168, 173-174, 202, 273.
- 102. Discourses 1.26 (3).
- 103. Maurice Merleau-Ponty, Humanisme et terreur, 8th ed. (Paris: Gallimard, 1947), p. 205. It might be added that Merleau-Ponty has contributed a very suggestive analysis of Machiavelli from an existentialist viewpoint: "Machiavelisme et

- humanisme," in *Umanesimo e scienza politica* (Milan, 1951), pp. 297–308. For a recent statement of the traditional view that Machiavelli was a "teacher of evil" and profoundly anti-Christian, see Leo Strauss, *Thoughts on Machiavelli* (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1958).
- 104. Discourses 2.2 (7).
- 105. Prince 15 (2), 18 (5); Discourses 3.9; Letter to Soderini (1513?), in Toutes les lettres, 2:327.
- 106. Aristotle, *Politics* 1332 b, 1337 a 11; see Aquinas: "Justice is a habit (*habitus*), whereby a man renders to each one his due with constant and perpetual will." *Summa Theologiae*, II, II, q. 58, art. 1.
- 107. An important exception is the recognition by Aquinas of a distinctively political form of prudence: "et ideo regi ad quem pertinet regere civitatem regnum, prudentia competit secundum specialem et perfectissimam sui rationem. Et propter hoc 'regnativa' ponitur species prudentiae." (Ibid., II, II ae, q. 58, art. 1.)
- 108. Prince 15 (2), 18 (5).
- 109. Cited in Il Principe by Burd, p. 209n.
- 110. Prince 15 (1).
- 111. Ibid. 18 (3).
- 112. Discourses 2.12 (1).
- 113. Prince 18 (3).
- 114. Ibid. (5).
- 115. Ibid. 15 (3).
- 116. Ibid.; History 5.1 (202-203).
- 117. *Prince* 15–16. Aristotle (*Ethics* 1120 a 10–12) distinguished between liberality and magnificence, the latter being a political virtue. In his discussion he contrasted magnificence with niggardliness, defining the latter not as stinginess but vulgar display.
- 118. Prince 8 (3).
- 119. Discourses 2.5.
- 120. Ibid. 2, preface (3), 2.5.
- 121. Ibid. 1.1 (7–9), 3 (3), 28 (3), 2.12 (6), 3.12 (1).
- 122. Wilhelm Nestle, "Politik und Moral im Altertum," Neue Jahrbücher für das Klassische Altertum, Geschichte und deutsche Litteratur und für Pädagogik (1918), p. 225.
- 123. George H. Sabine, *A History of Political Theory*, rev. ed. (New York: Holt, 1950), pp. 337–338, 347; Allen, *A History of Political Thought in the Sixteenth Century*, p. 465; Mesnard, *L'essor de la philosophic politique au XVIe siècle*, pp. 35 ff.
- 124. Prince 19 (18).
- 125. *Il Principe* 26, p. 36 (lines 5–6). Many commentators have attributed to Machiavelli the view that the state was a work of art and the role of the prince that of a political artist. This approach was first suggested by Jacob Burckhardt's

great work, *The Civilization of the Renaissance in Italy*, trans. S.G.C. Middlemore (Vienna: Phaidon Press), pt. 1. For a more recent expression of the same point of view, see Friedrich, *Constitutional Reason of State*, pp. 16–19. The whole problem presented by Burckhardt's analysis is given thorough discussion by Wallace K. Ferguson, *The Renaissance in Historical Thought* (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1948), pp. 188 ff. In view of Machiavelli's emphasis upon "necessity" and his devaluation of the role of the prince in the *Discorsi*, Burckhardt's thesis needs to be revised.

- 126. Prince 18 (6), 9 (2); Discourses 1.12 (8).
- 127. Prince 26; Discourses 1.16.
- 128. Prince 9 (1).
- 129. Discourses 1.16; History 3.1 (p. 108).
- 130. Prince 9 (4), 17 (4).
- 131. Ibid. 9 (2).
- 132. Discourses 1.5 (6-7), 9 (3).
- 133. Ibid. 1.5 (3), 1.57 (2).
- 134. Ibid. 1.17 (4).
- 135. Il Principe 9, p. 237 (line 20) and p. 238 (line 1).
- 136. Discourses 1.58.
- 137. Ibid. (5, 8); *History* 4.1 (p. 157). In this respect the prince reappears in a kind of sublimated way in the institution of the temporary dictatorship which Machiavelli borrowed from the Roman republic. On this point see *Discourses* 1.33 (6), 34.
- 138. *Discourses* 1.9 (6). See the critical remarks on Cosimo di Medici based on the decline of Florence after his death: *History* 7.1 (p. 315), 7.2 (p. 318).
- 139. Discourse on Reforming the Government of Florence, in Gilbert, The Prince, p. 92 (31).
- 140. History 7.1 (p. 306); Discourses 1.5, 46.
- $141.\ \textit{Discourses}\ 1.55\ (9),\ 2.25\ (1); \textit{Reforming the Government of Florence},\ p.\ 79\ (1).$
- 142. Reforming the Government of Florence, pp. 85–86 (16, 19); History 2.3 (pp. 60–61), 3.3 (pp. 127–128), 3.4 (p. 133), 3.6 (p. 144), 4.6 (p. 190).
- 143. History 7.1 (p. 306).
- 144. Reforming the Government of Florence, p. 80 (3), pp. 89–90 (26–27); Discourses 1.2 (18). 1.4 (2, 6), 1.6, 1.7 (1), 1.8; History 6.1 (pp. 306–307).
- 145. Discourses 2.25 (1).
- 146. Ibid. 1.6 (5). Mediaeval writers, like Egidius Romanus, had identified factional politics as an important element of the tyrant's power. See Gilbert, *Machiavelli's "Prince" and Its Forerunners*, pp. 163–164. What Machiavelli did was to rid the dynamics of factions of their associations with tyranny and align them with republicanism.
- 147. Discourses 2.2 (2-3).

- 148. Ibid. (2).
- 149. Politics 7.133 b-134 a.
- 150. Cited in Fink, The Classical Republicans, p. 52.
- 151. *Discourses* 1.7 (1).
- 152. Ibid. 3.28, 1.52.
- 153. Ibid. 1.20 (2).
- 154. Republic 2.366–367 (Cornford translation). See the stimulating discussion by Charles S. Singleton, "The Perspective of Art," Kenyon Review 15 (1953): 169–189. This article is essentially concerned with Machiavelli's political theory and I am deeply indebted to it.
- 155. Discourses 3.31 (5).
- 156. Ibid. (7).
- 157. Ibid. 3.35–37. For a modern expression of the communal qualities of military existence, see Sartre's document of the French Resistance, "La république du silence," *Les Lettres Françaises* (Paris) 4 (September 9, 1944): 1.
- 158. Discourses 2.2 (6-7).
- 159. Ibid. 1.3 (1).

Chapter Eight Hobbes: Political Society as a System of Rules

- From Thomas Goodwin and Philip Nye's introduction to John Cotton's *The Keys of the Kingdom of Heaven* (1644), as contained in Woodhouse, *Puritanism and Liberty*, p. 294. While this view of the church did not go uncontested it was significant that its critics did recognize that the central argument was from interest. As an example of these protests, see ibid., pp. 304–305.
- 2. John Saltmarsh, *Smoke in the Temple* (1646), as contained in ibid., p. 182. The italics have been added.
- 3. Areopagitica, in Milton's Prose, ed. M. W. Wallace (London: Oxford University Press, 1925), p. 312.
- 4. The English Works of Thomas Hobbes, ed. Sir William Molesworth, 11 vols. (London, 1839), 7:73; De Cive or the Citizen, ed. Sterling P. Lamprecht (New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1949), ep. ded. (pp. 4–5). Hereafter the Molesworth edition will be cited simply as E. W. Similarly, the Lamprecht edition will be referred to as Cive.
- 5. Woodhouse, Puritanism and Liberty, p. 379.
- 6. Ibid., pp. 234, 380–381, 390.
- 7. *Cive*, ep. ded., p. 3; see also *Leviathan*, ed. Michael Oakeshott, 30 (p. 220); *The Elements of Law*, ed. Ferdinand Tönnies (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1928), 1.13.3–4 (hereafter referred to as *Law*); *E.W.*, 1:7–9.
- 8. E.W., 1:91.

- 9. Cive, 18.4.
- 10. E.W., 1:36.
- 11. Leviathan 5 (pp. 25–26).
- 12. Cive 15.16-17.
- 13. E.W., 7:184, 1:387-389.
- 14. Ibid., 1:388.
- 15. Cive, preface to the reader, pp. 10-11.
- 16. Leviathan, introduction (p. 5), 10 (p. 56); Law 2.1.1.
- 17. E.W., 1:7.
- 18. Ibid., 8.
- 19. Leviathan 29 (p. 209).
- 20. E.W., 1:3.
- 21. Law 1.6.1.
- 22. Leviathan 7 (p. 40).
- 23. Ibid. 4 (p. 21).
- 24. Ibid. 5 (pp. 29–30).
- 25. Ibid. 4 (p. 21).
- 26. Law 1.5.10.
- 27. Opera Latina, ed. Sir William Molesworth, 5 vols. (London, 1845), 5:257.
- 28. A. J. Ayer, *Language, Truth and Logic*, 2nd ed. (New York: Dover, 1946), p. 51. Reprinted by permission of Dover Publications, Inc.
- 29. Excellent discussions of these problems are to be found in Dorothea Krook, "Thomas Hobbes's Doctrine of Meaning and Truth," *Philosophy* 31 (1956): 3–22; Richard Peters, *Hobbes* (Middlesex: Penguin, 1956), chap. 11. I have borrowed freely from both on certain matters. Also useful in this connection is the critical discussion of Oakeshott's interpretation by J. M. Brown, "A Note on Professor Oakeshott's Introduction to the *Leviathan*," *Political Studies* 1 (1953): 53–64.
- 30. Law 1.9.18.
- 31. Leviathan 20 (p. 136).
- 32. Law 1.4.10-11; Leviathan 3 (pp. 15-16).
- 33. Law 1.6.1; Leviathan 5 (p. 29), 46 (p. 435-436).
- 34. E.W., 1:8.
- 35. Leviathan 46 (p. 436).
- 36. Strauss, Natural Right and History, pp. 191, 196.
- 37. Law 2.8.13.
- 38. E.W., 1:8-10, 6:362-363; Cive, preface, passim.
- 39. Law 2.2.4.
- 40. Leviathan 20 (p. 136), 26 (p. 176).
- 41. Law 2.10.8; Leviathan 5 (p. 26). See also Law 2.6.12–13; Cive 14.17, 15.15–18; Leviathan 26 (pp. 176–177), 36 (p. 291); E.W., 6:22, 121–122.

- 42. Cive, preface (pp. 7-8).
- 43. Law 1.13.3; Leviathan 34 (pp. 255-256).
- 44. Cive, preface (p. 8).
- 45. Hobbes's insight into the relationship between interest and ideas makes him one of the early forerunners in the study of "ideology." The best example of this is to be found in his discussion of the Catholic Church and mediaeval scholasticism; *Leviathan* 5 (pp. 24–25), 47 (pp. 451 ff.).
- 46. Ibid. 11 (pp. 67–68). "For I doubt not, but if it had been a thing contrary to any man's right of dominion, or to the interest of men that have dominion, that the three angles of a triangle, should be equal to two angles of a square; that doctrine should have been, if not disputed, yet by the burning of all books of geometry, suppressed, as far as he whom it concerned was able."
- 47. Ibid. 46 (p. 442). Hobbes, of course, did not examine the possible implication that in a system of conscious deception the deceivers must know the true norm.
- 48. E.W., 1:56; Law 2.8.13.
- 49. Cive 3.31.
- 50. Ibid. 12.6.
- 51. Ibid. 2.1.
- 52. Ibid. 15.17.
- 53. Leviathan 4 (pp. 24-25); Cive 3.31.
- 54. Leviathan 5 (p. 26), 26 (pp. 172–173); Law 2.1.10, 2.9.7; Cive 6.16. On Hobbes's scepticism and nominalism, see Oakeshott's introduction to his edition of Leviathan and also Krook, "Thomas Hobbes's Doctrine of Meaning and Truth."
- 55. E.W., 6:220.
- 56. Essay Concerning Human Understanding 3.1.1.
- 57. Leviathan 8 (p. 45).
- 58. E.W., 6:251.
- 59. Leviathan 31 (p. 241).
- 60. Ibid.
- 61. Law 1.14.10.
- 62. Leviathan 18 (p. 120), 19 (p. 124); Cive, preface (p. 15).
- 63. Cive 5.4–5; Leviathan 17 (pp. 111–112).
- 64. Leviathan 17 (p. 109).
- 65. Ibid. 13 (p. 83), 14 (pp. 92–93), 18 (p. 120), 36 (p. 285); *Law* 1.14.12, 2.2.13. This is confirmed from another direction by what Hobbes called the "cognitive or imaginative or conceptive" power of the mind. See his remarks in *Law* 1.1 (8).
- 66. Leviathan 13 (pp. 82–83). If the argument is correct that the state of nature was not intended by Hobbes as simply a chronologically prior condition to civil society, but an interlude between order and restoration, it would also

explain Hobbes's much-criticized theory of the laws of nature. With the exception of the law of self-preservation, all of the Hobbesian laws of nature obviously dealt with matters concerning which men had had some previous knowledge.

- 67. Ibid. (p. 82).
- 68. Ibid. 12 (p. 70).
- 69. Ibid. 17 (p. 112).
- 70. Ibid. 30 (p. 225).
- 71. Ibid. 26 (p. 173).
- 72. Ibid. 15-15, passim.
- 73. The rule-character of Hobbesian society is clearly reflected in the discussion of ignorance and excuses and their relation to rules. Ibid. 27 (pp. 190 ff.).
- 74. "A Punishment is an end inflicted by public authority, on him that hath done, or omitted that which is judged by the same authority to be a transgression of the law; to the end that the will of men may thereby the better be disposed to obedience" (ibid. 28 [p. 202]).
- 75. Ibid. 21 (p. 138).
- 76. Ibid. 14 (p. 85).
- 77. Ibid. 27 (pp. 192–193), 30 (pp. 225–226); Cive 13.10–11.
- 78. Cive 3.6; Law 1.16.5.
- 79. Leviathan 15 (pp. 93 ff.).
- 80. Ibid. (pp. 95–96); Law 1.16.1–6, 1.17.10.
- 81. Cive 3.26; Law 1.16, 1.18.10; Leviathan 5 (p. 26), 26 (p. 27).
- 82. Law 2.4.9.
- 83. *Leviathan* 30 (p. 228). In *Law* 1.17.7, Hobbes declared that two parties do not take their case before a judge in the hope of a "just" sentence because "that were to make the parties judges of the sentence." Instead, they seek "equality" of treatment, that is, a decision not based on "hatred" or "favour" by the judge towards one of the parties.

See, on centralization and uniformity, *Testament politique du Cardinal de Richelieu*, ed. Louis André 7th ed. (Paris: Laffont, 1947), pp. 321 ff.; A. de Tocqueville, *L'Ancien régime*, ed. G. W. Headlam (Oxford: Clarendon, 1949), pp. 31–68; and for a continuation of these themes, Bertrand de Jouvenal, *On Power, Its Nature and the History of Its Growth* (New York: Viking, 1949), chaps. 6–7, 9–10.

- 84. Law 2.1.19.
- 85. Leviathan 30 (pp. 229-232).
- 86. Ibid. 18 (p. 119). "The inequality of subjects, proceedeth from the acts of sovereign power; and therefore has no more place in the sovereign, that is to say, in a court of justice, than the inequality between kings and their subjects, in the presence of the King of Kings" (ibid. 30 [p. 226]). One argument advanced

in support of monarchy was that it introduced less inequality inasmuch as there was only one superior (*Cive* 10.4). Note also the summary: "a city is defined to be one person made out of many men whose will by their own contracts is to be esteemed *as the wills of them all,* insomuch as he may use the *strength and faculties of each single person* for the public peace and safety" (ibid. 10.5 [italics added]).

- 87. Leviathan 29 (p. 210).
- 88. Ibid. 15 (p. 99).
- 89. Cive 1.2 (footnote).
- 90. Leviathan 14 (pp. 89-90); Law 1.19.6, 2.1.6.
- 91. Leviathan 29 (p. 210).
- 92. Ibid. 42 (pp. 355-356).
- 93. Ibid. 31 (p. 240).
- 94. Ibid. 32 (p. 243). 40 (pp. 307-308).
- 95. Ibid. 42, (p. 237). And note Hobbes's attack on the Inquisition, bid. 46 (p. 448).
- 96. Cive 1.6; Leviathan 13 (pp. 80-81); Law 1.14.5.
- 97. Ibid. 1.9.21.
- 98. Ibid. 1.19.8.
- 99. Leviathan 21 (p. 144).
- 100. Ibid., introduction (p. 5).
- 101. Ibid. 42 (p. 379).
- 102. Act in Restraint of Appeals, 24 Henry VIII c. 12 (1533), as contained in G. B. Adams and H. M. Stephens, *Select Documents of English Constitutional History* (New York: Macmillan, 1935), p. 229.
- 103. Laws of Ecclesiastical Polity 1.10.8.
- 104. Law 2.2.11; Cive 5.12; 6.14, 18.
- 105. *Leviathan* 22 (p. 146). "By systems, I understand any number of men joined in one interest or business."
- 106. Ibid. 8 (p. 46). "From desire, ariseth the thought of some means we have seen produce the like of that which we aim at . . ." (ibid. 3 [p. 14]). These notions closely anticipate Hume's famous dictum that "reason is and ought to be the slave of the passions." Hume's intellectual kinship with Hobbes lies in their common notions about interest and the relation of reason to interest. These affinities with Hobbes helped to distinguish Hume's conservatism from that of Burke. See my discussion, "Hume and Conservatism," *American Political Science Review* 48, no. 4 (December 1954): 999–1016.
- 107. Leviathan, introduction (p. 6), 6 (p. 32).
- 108. Ibid. 8 (p. 42). "And because the constitution of a man's body is in continual mutation, it is impossible that all the same things should always cause in him the same appetites, and aversions: much less can all men consent, in the desire of almost any one and the same object" (ibid. 6 [p. 32]).

- 109. Ibid. 11 (p. 64).
- 110. Ibid. (pp. 63–64).
- 111. Until very recently there had been no close study of Hobbes's theory of representation; neither Oakeshott nor Strauss have given it serious attention. The most important attempt at filling this gap is Raymond Polin, *Politique et philosophie chez Thomas Hobbes* (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1953), pp. 221 ff. In many ways this is the best general discussion of Hobbes that exists.
- 112. This idea has several affinities with mediaeval thought and points to the need for a close study of the Aristotelian and mediaeval influences perpetuated into the Hobbesian theory of sovereignty; for example, compare the above with Aquinas, *De Regimine Principum* 1.1–2.
- 113. Leviathan 16 (p. 107).
- 114. Ibid. 16, 18 (pp. 105-108, 113-115).
- 115. Law 2.9.1.
- 116. Ibid. 2.5.1, 2.9.1; Cive 10.2, 18; Leviathan 30 (pp. 227-228); E.W., 6:34.
- 117. See James Mill, *Essay on Government* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1937), p. 71.
- 118. Cive 10.9.
- 119. Leviathan 28 (p. 209), 18 (pp. 112–113); Cive 10.6–7.
- 120. Adam Smith, Theory of Moral Sentiments, in Works (London, 1812), 1:138.
- 121. Jeremy Bentham, *Bentham's Handbook of Political Fallacies*, ed. H. A. Larrabee (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1952), pp. 82, 106.
- 122. Ibid., p. 110.
- 123. Oeuvres politiques de Benjamin Constant, ed. C. Louandre (Paris, 1874), pp. 260-269, 281.
- 124. The close connection between Hobbes's political philosophy and his view of science has been denied in Strauss's brilliant but overly ingenious book, *The Political Philosophy of Hobbes.* Strauss has argued that the main lines of Hobbes's political thought had been foreshadowed in his "pre-scientific" phase, when, as a "humanist," he translated Thucydides and wrote long commentaries on Aristotle's *Rhetoric.* What is troublesome about this interpretation is not only that there were precious few political comments in these writings to justify the elaborate edifice constructed by Strauss, but that it also involves a cavalier dismissal of *A Short Tract on First Principles*, which belonged to the same "humanist" period.

The *Tract* contains several of the main principles of Hobbes's scientific philosophy and, as one recent commentator has said, "the *Tract* is fairly bursting with consequences which are drawn out in Hobbes's subsequent political writings" (J.W.N. Watkins, "Philosophy and Politics in Hobbes," *Philosophical Quarterly* 5 [1955]: 125–146, at p. 128). Moreover, the *Elements of Law*, which

is regarded as the earliest and least mature of Hobbes's systematic political writings, was replete with many of the scientific statements posited in the *Tract*. Finally, but of great importance, Professor Strauss' preoccupation with the "humanist" phase, and his projection of it into the later writings, has distorted Hobbes by treating his theories almost entirely as "moral" problems. Yet, as we have tried to show above, the "moral" issues were only part of the story, and not always the most important. Hobbes himself was deeply concerned with the status of knowledge and surely he was just as much intent on answering the question, "what are valid grounds for accepting one political idea rather than another?" as he was with moral evaluations. The great contribution made by Oakeshott has been to insist that Hobbes was a philosopher concerned with a whole range of genuinely philosophical problems.

- 125. Law 1.1.4-8.
- 126. Leviathan 6 (p. 31).
- 127. A Short Tract on First Principles, printed in the Tönnies edition of The Elements of Law as app. 1, p. 152.
- 128. Leviathan 6 (pp. 31-39); Law 1.7; A Short Tract on First Principles, pp. 161, 165-166.
- 129. *Law* 1.7.6–7; 1.9.1, 3, 5; *Leviathan* 11 (pp. 63–64).
- 130. Ibid. 10 (pp. 56-57).
- 131. Law 1.8.4.
- 132. Leviathan 10 (p. 56).
- 133. Law 1.19.10; Cive 5.11.
- 134. Leviathan 14 (pp. 85-86); Cive 5.11; Law 2.1.7, 2.1.18-19.
- 135. Leviathan 28 (p. 203).
- 136. Ibid. 30 (p. 227).
- 137. Cive 9.9.
- 138. Leviathan 21 (pp. 136–137). The notion of liberty as the absence of impediments was perpetuated in the literature of classical economics where it took the form of a plea for the abolition of restraints on economic "motions." The same idea is apparent in the definition of value by the nineteenth-century American economist Henry Carey: value "is simply our estimate of the resistance to be overcome, before we can enter upon the possession of the thing desired." Principles of Social Science, 3 vols. (Philadelphia, 1858), 1:148. In the same tradition is the following by a contemporary social scientist: "Whatever else it may mean, freedom means that you have the power to do what you want to do, when you want to do it, and how you want to do it. And in American society the power to do what you want, when you want, how you want, requires money. Money provides power and power provides freedom." C. W. Mills, The Power Elite (New York: Oxford University Press, 1957), p. 162.

- 139. Leviathan 14 (p. 90); Law 2.1.8, 18-19; Cive 5.7.
- 140. Cive 5.9, 10.5; Law 2.1.14.
- 141. Leviathan 14 (p. 90).
- 142. Ibid. 46 (p. 447).
- 143. "The hand which holds the sword is the militia of a nation; and the militia of a nation is either an army in the field or ready for the field upon occasion: wherefore this will come to what pastures you have, and what pastures you have will come to the balance of property, without which the public word is but a name or mere spitfrog" (*The Oceana and Other Works of James Harrington*, ed. John Toland [London, 1737], p. 41).

Chapter Nine Liberalism and the Decline of Political Philosophy

- 1. The nineteenth-century critic would have to admit that chap. 24 of *Leviathan* contained a typical mercantilist analysis. Nevertheless, the criticism remains valid that Hobbes did not conceive an integral relation between economic factors and political phenomena. In this he was inferior to both his predecessor, Jean Bodin, and his contemporary critic, James Harrington.
- 2. "Of the First Principles of Government," in *Essays, Moral, Political, and Literary,* ed. T. H. Green and T. H. Grose, 2 vols. (London: Longmans, 1898), 1:109–110; Adam Smith, *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations,* ed. E. Cannan, Modern Library (New York: Random House, 1937), bk. 5, chap. 1 (p. 670) (hereafter cited as *Wealth*). For a shrewd perception into this problem, see the remarks of Proudhon, *Oeuvres complètes* (Paris, 1868), 3:43 (par. 91).
- 3. *Oeuvres complètes*, 7 vols. (Paris, 1862–1878), 1:427 (hereafter cited as Bastiat, *Oeuvres*).
- 4. Ibid., 7:27, 57–60. For the same notion in Adam Smith see *Wealth* 1.1–2 (pp. 4–9, 13 ff.). Spencer viewed the division of labor as "part of a still more general process pervading creation, inorganic as well as organic . . . [It] had neither been specially created, nor enacted by a king, but had grown up without forethought of anyone." *Essays, Scientific, Political, and Speculative,* 3 vols. (New York: Appleton, 1910), 3:323 (hereafter cited as *Essays*); *The Study of Sociology* (New York: Appleton, 1899), p. 65.

The sociological bearing of the classical economists has been described by A. Small, *Adam Smith and Modern Sociology* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1907); G. Bryson, *Man and Society: the Scottish Inquiry of the Eighteenth Century* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1945). A good survey of Smith's ideas is to be found in J. Viner, "Adam Smith and Laissez Faire," in *The Long View and the Short: Studies in Economic Theory and Policy* (Glencoe, Ill.:

- Free Press, 1958), pp. 213–245. See also the recent work by J. Cropsey, *Polity and Economy: An Interpretation of the Principles of Adam Smith* (The Hague: Nijhoff, 1957).
- 5. A Treatise of Human Nature 3.2.8. There is an extended treatment of this theme in Élie Halévy, *Growth of Philosophic Radicalism*, trans. M. Morris (London: Faber and Faber, 1928), pp. 199–200.
- 6. Spencer, The Study of Sociology, p. 64.
- 7. K. Mannheim, *Essays on the Sociology of Culture* (London: Routledge, 1956), pp. 91–170, S. F. Nadel, *Foundations of Social Anthropology* (London: Cohen and West, 1951), p. 55. ("The blunders of the anthropologist will be 'better' blunders.")
- 8. Typical of what may be called the "vulgar conception of liberalism" are the following: R. Kirk, *The Conservative Mind* (Chicago: Regnery, 1953), pp. 21, 24, 108; P. Viereck, *Conservatism Revisited* (London: Lehmann, 1950), pp. xi–xii; K. Mannheim, *Ideology and Utopia* (New York, 1936), pp. 199–202; R. Niebuhr, *The Nature and Destiny of Man*, 1 vol. ed. (New York: Scribner's, 1947), 1:102–107, 2:240; *Christianity and Power and Politics* (New York: Scribner's, 1940), pp. 84, 91–93, 102–103; W. Röpke, *The Social Crisis of Our Time* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1950), pp. 48–53; J. H. Hallowell, *Main Currents in Modern Political Thought* (New York: Holt, 1950), pp. 110–115, 620–624, 669–674; E. H. Carr, *The Twenty Years' Crisis 1919–1939* (London: Macmillan, 1951), chaps. 3, 4; H. Morgenthau, *Scientific Man and Power Politics* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1946), chaps. 2, 8.
- 9. On this distinction, see G. H. Sabine, "The Two Democratic Traditions," *Philosophical Review* 61 (1952): 451–474, and, more generally, J. L. Talmon, *The Rise of Totalitarian Democracy* (Boston: Beacon, 1951), pp. 1–13, 249–255.
- 10. Cited in B. Groethuysen, *Philosophie de la Révolution française précédé de Montesquieu*, 4th ed. (Paris: Gallimard, 1956), p. 157.
- 11. Frank I. Schechter, "The Early History of the Tradition of the Constitution," *American Political Science Review* 9 (1915): 707–734; Edward S. Corwin, "The Constitution as Instrument and Symbol," *American Political Science Review* 30 (1936): 1071–1085; Max Lerner, "Constitution and Court as Symbols," *Yale Law Review* 46 (1937): 1290.
- 12. The best biography is the most recent: Maurice Cranston, *John Locke* (London: Longmans, 1957).
- 13. Cited in *John Locke, An Essay Concerning Human Understanding*, ed. A. C. Fraser, 2 vols. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1894), 1:xviii.
- 14. Essay Concerning Human Understanding, epistle to the reader, 1:14 in Fraser's edition. All subsequent quotations from the Essay will be from this edition and it will be cited as ECHU.
- 15. Ibid., 1:9, 2.2.2.

- 16. Ibid. 2.1.2-4, 3.11.23.
- 17. Ibid, 2.2.2, 2.1.24.
- 18. J. S. Mill, Three Essays on Religion, 3rd ed. (London: Longmans, 1885), p. 8.
- 19. Theaetetus 176b; Nichomachean Ethics 10.1117b, 33.
- 20. Lord King, *The Life of John Locke, with Extracts from His Correspondence, Journals and Common Place Books*, 2nd ed., 2 vols. (London, 1830), 1:210; *ECHU*, introduction, 6; 4.14.1–2.
- 21. King, *The Life of John Locke*, 1:161; *ECHU*, introduction, 7; 4.3.24; and the discussion in R. I. Aaron, *John Locke*, 2nd ed. (Oxford: Clarendon, 1955), p. 238; Holbach as cited in Talmon, *The Rise of Totalitarian Democracy*, p. 273.
- 22. "Government, morals, habits everything has to be rebuilt. What a magnificent site for the architects! What a grand opportunity of making use of all the fine and excellent ideas that had remained speculative, of employing so many materials that could not be used before, of rejecting so many others that had been obstructions for centuries and which one had been forced to use." (Cited in F. A. Hayek, *The Counter-Revolution of Science* [Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1952], p. 109.)
- 23. Cited in H. R. Fox-Bourne, *The Life of John Locke*, 2 vols. (New York: King, 1876), 1:396.
- 24. Adam Smith, *Theory of Moral Sentiments in Works* (London, 1812), 1:516. I have used the sixth edition of *The Theory of Moral Sentiments* and hereafter it will be cited as *TMS*.
- 25. Fox-Bourne, *The Life of John Locke*, 1:224–226; King, *The Life of John Locke*, 1:162–165; *ECHU* 4.11.8.
- 26. TMS, p. 417.
- 27. Cited in ECHU, 1:xxxi-xxxii.
- 28. *TMS*, pp. 407–411. See also Benjamin Constant, *Oeuvres politiques*, ed. C. Louandre (Paris, 1874), p. 402; and Bentham, "Anarchical Fallacies," in *Works*, ed. J. Bowring, 11 vols. (Edinburgh, 1838–1843), 2:498.

Smith's attack on the aesthetic impulse in political thought and action was in reality part of his attempt to redefine the nature of political aesthetics, and in so doing, to reduce the legislative role of political philosophy. He insisted that government could be properly an object of beauty, that "we take pleasure in beholding the perfection of so grand and beautiful a system, and we are uneasy until we remove any obstruction that can in the least disturb or encumber the regularity of its motions." Beauty, however, was not associated with the end of an activity but with the means. In short, an object or an activity could be designated as beautiful insofar as it was functionally useful; that is, "fitted either to promote or to disturb the happiness both of the individual and of the

society." Although in political matters beauty came to be almost synonymous with efficiency, it was never identified as the main end. An aesthetic motive might cause men to seek out the "obstructions" preventing the "several wheels of the machine of government" from moving with "more harmony and smoothness, without grating upon one another," but an aesthetic objective ought not to be pursued in disregard of the suffering of men. (*TMS*, pp. 309–323.) Bastiat, too, warned against those theorists who viewed humanity as "une matière inerte recevant du pouvoir la vie, l'organisation, la moralité et la richesse . . ." (Oeuvres, 4:366–367.)

The denial of architectonics in theory and practice was also a part of Burke's conservatism. What is perhaps less understood is that this denial passed into modern sociology. This can be seen by examining Durkheim's appreciation of these elements in Montesquieu's thought. See his essay *Montesquieu et Rousseau*, *Précurseurs de la Sociologie* (Paris: Rivière, 1953), pp. 84–85, 96. This tendency has not been universally accepted, for in the writings of the late Karl Mannheim, for example, there is clearly expressed the belief that to sociology falls the task of supplying a comprehensive program for the reform of society and that political action can and must operate on a grand scale. See especially his *Man and Society in an Age of Reconstruction* (London: Routledge, 1951).

- 29. Bentham's Handbook of Political Fallacies, ed. H. A. Larrabee, p. 195.
- 30. An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation (New York: Hafner, 1948), preface, p. xxxi (italics in the original) (hereafter cited as Morals and Legislation). See also Bastiat, Oeuvres, 4:364–366.
- 31. Arnold, *Culture and Anarchy*, ed. J. D. Wilson (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1932), pp. 19, 36; Bastiat, *Oeuvres*, 4:350. See also Guizot's essay, *Democracy in France* (New York, 1849), p. 81.
- 32. Smith, Wealth 1.6.11 (pp. 52, 248); 2.1–2, 3 (pp. 265–279, 324–325); 4.7 (p. 566); and note how society is epitomized in terms of capital (ibid. 1.3, pp. 320–321), 4.3 (p. 464). See also J. R. McCulloch, The Principles of Political Economy (Edinburgh, 1825), pp. 244–246 (hereafter cited as PPE); Nassau Senior, Political Economy (London, 1850), p. 81 (hereafter cited as PE); J. S. Mill, Principles of Political Economy, ed. Sir W. J. Ashley (London: Longmans, 1920), 2.3.1 (p. 23) (hereafter cited as PPE).
- 33. From a paper of Smith's cited by Dugald Stewart, *Essays on Philosophical Subjects* (London, 1795), p. lxxxi. See also the study of Cropsey, *Polity and Economy*.
- 34. Spencer, *Essays*, 3:450–451; Jeremy Bentham's *Economic Writings*, ed. W. Stark, 3 vols. (London: Allen and Unwin, 1952–1954), 3:333 (hereafter cited as *Econ. Wr.*).
- 35. Smith, Wealth 1.7-8, 4.2.
- 36. Bastiat, Oeuvres, 4:360-361.

- 37. Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:223.
- 38. Mably, *De la Législation*, 2 vols. (Lausanne, 1777), 2:31; and see the biography by E. A. Whitfield, *Gabriel Bonnot de Mably* (London: Routledge, 1930); also the discussion by Talmon, *The Rise of Totalitarian Democracy*, pp. 54 ff.; Friedrich Engels, *Herr Eugen Dühring's Revolution in Science*, Marxist Library (New York: International Publishers, n.d.), p. 318. Bastiat (*Oeuvres*, 4:367 ff.) collected a mass of quotations to illustrate the same sort of dangers in radical thought that Talmon has recently pointed out.
- 39. The Works of John Locke, 12th ed., 9 vols. (London, 1824), 10:10, 42.
- 40. Smith, Wealth 4, introduction (p. 397).
- 41. McCulloch, PPE, pp. 7–9.
- 42. Ibid., p. 23; J. B. Say, *A Treatise on Political Economy*, translated from the fourth edition by C. R. Prinsep and C. Biddle (Philadelphia: Lippincott, 1857), p. xv; *Traité d'économie politique*, 2 vols. (Paris, 1803), 1:ii.
- 43. Cited in Lionel Robbins, *The Theory of Economic Policy in English Classical Political Economy* (London: Macmillan, 1952), pp. 175–176. See also Bastiat, *Oeuvres*, 4:388.
- 44. For the documentation of these points see the following: Smith, Wealth 2.3 (pp. 315–326), 4.2 (p. 424); TMS, p. 405; Lectures on Justice, Police, Revenue, and Arms, ed. E. Cannan (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1896), pp. 1–4; T. R. Malthus, An Essay on Population, 2 vols. (London: Dent, 1914), 2:87, 192–193; Senior, PE, pp. 76, 81; J. S. Mill, Considerations on Representative Government (London: Oxford University Press, 1912), chap. 3 (p. 187), chap. 6 (p. 249); Spencer, Essays, 3:313. The unproductive nature of government became a favorite theme with Saint-Simon; see the famous passage as translated in Henri Comte de Saint-Simon, Selected Writings, ed. F.M.H. Markham (New York: Macmillan, 1952), pp. 72–73, and compare to Bentham, Morals and Legislation, p. 5n. An important clue showing the spread of economic categories was in Smith's appropriation of the old idea of the organic body politic for economic purposes, Wealth 4.7, 9 (pp. 571–572, 638).
- 45. *Two Treatises of Government* 2.12, 13. Hereafter all references to this will be cited either as *First* or *Second Treatise*.
- 46. Second Treatise 4, 22.
- 47. The two conditions were, Locke noted, "as far distant as a state of peace, goodwill, mutual assistance, and preservation, and a state of enmity, malice, violence, and mutual destruction are one from another." *Second Treatise* 19.
- 48. See, for example, J. Mabbott, *The State and the Citizen* (London: Hutchinson, 1948), pp. 20–21; Strauss, *Natural Right and History*, pp. 221–222, 227–233. A sharply critical, and generally correct, attack on the Strauss interpretation has been made by J. W. Yolton, "Locke on the Law of Nature," *Philosophical Review* 67 (1958): 477–498.

- 49. Second Treatise 128; Works, 5:224, 248. For Troeltsch's distinction, The Social Teachings of the Christian Churches, trans. O. Wyon, 2 Vols. (London: Allen and Unwin, 1931), 1:152–161, 343 ff.
- 50. Second Treatise 123-124, 136; Fox-Bourne, The Life of John Locke, 1:174.
- 51. Second Treatise 4.
- 52. Ibid. 87, 136 (emphasis added).
- 53. Ibid. 243. Locke is admittedly inconsistent here. Earlier he had argued that through the legislative power the members "are united and combined into one coherent living body" and that "this is the soul that gives form, life, and unity to the commonwealth." (*Second Treatise* 212.) Later, however, he argues that when the legislative is dissolved society can still act.
- 54. A Defense of Liberty against Tyrants (Vindiciae contra Tyrannos), ed. H. J. Laski (New York: Harcourt, Brace, n.d.), pp. 93, 97–100, 102–106, 109–111, 126–136; Calvin, Institutes 4.20.31; Opera, 29:557, 636–637; C. J. Friedrich, ed., Politica Methodice Digesta of Johannes Althusius (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1932), 19.7; 20.20–21. See the discussion in Mesnard, L'Essor de la philosophie politique au XVIe siècle, pp. 340 ff., 593 ff.
- 55. Second Treatise 96–97, 209, 230. Locke's doctrine of majority rule is discussed at length, and in extreme fashion, by W. Kendall, John Locke and the Doctrine of Majority Rule (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1941). Kendall's interpretation has been criticized, but unsatisfactorily, by J. W. Gough, John Locke's Political Philosophy (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1950), pp. 24 ff.
- 56. Second Treatise 96–97.
- 57. Ibid. 151.
- 58. Ibid. 120–121, 131.
- 59. Ibid. 119–122. It ought to be added that Locke's argument concerning the obligation of those who resided for only a brief time or who used the roads was probably intended to cover the landless members of society also. His failure to devote any sustained attention to the obligations of this group affords a striking confirmation of our thesis that he conceived political power to depend on social arrangements; that is, on the social power of the propertied.
- 60. This was a favorite argument with eighteenth-century radicals like Rousseau, Paine, and Jefferson. See Rousseau's *Social Contract*, bk. 1, chaps. 2, 4, and the letters of Jefferson in *The Life and Selected Writings of Thomas Jefferson*, ed. A. Koch and W. Peden (New York: Random House, 1944), pp. 448, 675.
- 61. Second Treatise 73.
- 62. "Did one generation of men go off the stage at once, and another succeed, as is the case with silk worms and butterflies, the new race . . . might voluntarily . . . establish their own form of civil polity without regard to the laws or precedents which prevailed among their ancestors." Hume, *Essays*, 1:452.
- 63. Second Treatise 3.

- 64. Cited in Robbins, *The Theory of Economic Policy in English Classical Political Economy*, p. 36.
- 65. Spencer, *Essays*, 3:414; L. von Mises, *Bureaucracy* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1944), pp. 34, 36–38, 53; F. A. Hayek, *The Road to Serfdom* (Sydney: Macmillan, 1944), pp. 27, 40, 44–45, 52.
- 66. Rights of Man, pt. 2, chap. 1.
- 67. See the excellent discussion in Halévy, *Growth of Philosophic Radicalism*, pp. 199 ff. A good recent analysis of Godwin is contained in D. H. Monro, *Godwin's Moral Philosophy* (London: Oxford University Press, 1953).
- 68. H. J. Laski, *A Grammar of Politics*, 4th ed. (London: Allen and Unwin, 1938), pp. 27–29, 35–37; *Authority in the Modern State* (New Haven: Yale University Press 1927), pp. 65, 92.
- 69. J. N. Figgis, *Churches in the Modern State* (London: Longmans, 1913), pp. 41–42; G.D.H. Cole, *Social Theory*, 2nd ed. (London: Methuen, 1921), pp. 128–143. There is a general discussion of these thinkers and Laski in H. M. Magid, *English Political Pluralism* (New York: Columbia University, Press, 1941).
- 70. von Mises, Bureaucracy, pp. 13, 93.
- 71. ECHU 2.21.31, 33, 40.
- 72. Ibid. 2.20.6, 2.21.34.
- 73. TMS, p. 317.
- 74. Second Treatise 26 and especially 35; Essays on the Law of Nature, ed. W. von Leyden (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1954), p. 211; King, The Life of John Locke, 1:62. Von Leyden's edition has been ably discussed by J. W. Lenz, in Philosophy and Phenomenological Research 16 (1955–1956): 105–114.
- 75. McCulloch, PPE, pp. 61–62.
- 76. Principles of Social Science, 3 vols. (Philadelphia, 1858–1859), 1:186.
- 77. J. S. Mill, PPE 1.5.6 (p. 74). "Comment se fait-il qu'après avoir échangé leurs services, sans constrainte, sans spoliation, sur le pied de l'équivalence, chaque homme puisse se dire avec vérité: Je détruis en un jour plus que je ne pourrais créer en un siècle." Bastiat, Oeuvres, 6:353.
- 78. Essay on Population, 1:6, 12, 153, 173; 2:3–12, 151–157. There is a striking vignette of Malthus by J. M. Keynes, Essays and Sketches in Biography (New York: Meridian, 1956), pp. 11 ff.
- 79. J. S. Mill, *Three Essays on Religion*, pp. 20–11, 29. Arnold's lines are also appropriate here:

Nature is cruel, man is sick of blood . . . Nature and man can never be fast friends . . .

The Poems of Matthew Arnold, 1840–1867, p. 60.

- 80. John Dewey, *The Influence of Darwinism on Philosophy, and Other Essays* (New York: Holt, 1910), pp. 68, 72–73.
- 81. S. Freud, *Civilization and Its Discontents*, trans. Joan Riviere (London: Hogarth, 1949), pp. 45–50, 63, 72–74, 76, 92–93.
- 82. J. S. Mill, PPE 2.13.1 (pp. 373-374).
- 83. J. S. Mill, Three Essays on Religion, pp. 46, 56.
- 84. Locke, Essays on the Law of Nature, p. 211.
- 85. J. S. Mill, *PPE* 2.1.1 (pp. 199–200). The last sentence of the quotation is from the first edition of *PPE*; see p. 200 n. 1 of the Ashley volume. The persistence of the belief that economics deals with fixed and scarce quantities is to be found in the following remarks of an eminent contemporary economist:

We [i.e., mankind] have been turned out of Paradise. We have neither eternal life nor unlimited means of gratification. Everywhere we turn, if we choose one thing we must relinquish others, in different circumstances, we would wish not to have relinquished. Scarcity of means to satisfy given ends is an almost ubiquitous condition of human behaviour.

Here, then, is the unity of subject of Economic Science, the forms assumed by human behaviour in disposing of scarce means. (Lionel Robbins, *The Nature and Significance of Economic Science* [London: Macmillan and Company and St. Martin's Press, 1932], p. 15)

- 86. L'ordre naturel et essential des sociétés politiques (Paris: Geuthner, 1910), Discours préliminaire, pp. v-vi.
- 87. Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:213, 225.
- 88. Smith, Wealth 4.7 (pp. 592–597); Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:228–229, 234 ff., 246 ff.; 3:324; Constant, Oeuvres politiques, pp. 240 ff.
- 89. Smith, Wealth 1.8 (pp. 69-73); Senior, PE, p. 153.
- 90. Locke, Second Treatise 35.
- 91. Bastiat, Oeuvres, 4:331, 6:266-267.
- 92. McCulloch, *PPE*, p. 7; Smith, *Wealth* 1.5 (p. 33); Senior, *PE*, p. 152; Bentham, *Econ. Wr.*, 1:118–119.
- 93. Senior, *PE*, p. 26. The viewpoints of Ricardo and Malthus are discussed in C. Gide and C. Rist, *A History of Economic Doctrines*, trans. R. Richards (Boston: Heath, n.d.), pp. 120–152. J. S. Mill's ideas are in *PPE* 1.12 (pp. 176 ff.).
- 94. Sketch for a Historical Picture of the Progress of the Human Mind, trans. J. Barraclough (London: Weidenfeld and Nicholson, 1955), p. 199; Essay on the First Principles of Government (London, 1768), p. 8.
- 95. See the perceptive article by Duncan Forbes, "'Scientific' Whiggism: Adam Smith and John Millar," *Cambridge Journal* 7 (1954): 643–670.
- 96. Smith, Wealth 1.8-9.

- 97. Malthus, Essay on Population, 1:5 ff.; D. Ricardo, The Principles of Political Economy and Taxation (London and New York: Everyman, 1911), p. 264; McCulloch, PPE, p. 383; J. S. Mill, PPE 4.6.2 (p. 751).
- 98. J. S. Mill, *PPE* 6.4.4 (p. 731), 4.6.1–2 (pp. 746–751).
- 99. Second Treatise 27, 32-33, 35-36, 38, 45.
- 100. Wealth 1.10 (p. 99), 4.5 (p. 497), 4.9 (pp. 650-651).
- 101. Constant, *Oeuvres politiques*, p. 288. There is a lively treatment of Constant's ideas from a viewpoint sympathetic to de Maistre in Dominique Bagge, *Les idées politiques en France sous la Restauration* (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1952), pt. 1, chap. 1.
- 102. Malthus, Essay on Population, 1:5–6, 8–9, 14, 49, 53, 60–65, 242, 308; 2:18–21, 190; Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:110–111, 3:430; Senior, PE, p. 41. These fears were not prominent in the United States. Jefferson, for example, employed the Malthusian thesis to contrast "the man of the old world . . . crowded within limits either small or overcharged, and steeped in the vices which that situation generates" to the man of the new world who moved easily and unconfined. Koch and Peden, The Life and Selected Writings of Thomas Jefferson, pp. 574, 633–634.
- 103. PPE 2.2.6 (p. 233), 4.6.2 (pp. 748–750).
- 104. Locke, Works, 4:71; Bentham, Handbook of Political Fallacies, pp. 156–157; and the correspondence between the elder Mill and Ricardo, where the former remarked that "every body you meet with" agreed that "a great struggle between the two orders, the rich and the poor, is in this country commenced." The Works and Correspondence of David Ricardo, ed. P. Sraffa and M. Dobb, 10 vols. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1951–1955), 9:41–43. The relation of Locke's ideas to capitalism and to class conflict is ably discussed from a moderate Marxian viewpoint by C. P. Macpherson, "Locke on Capitalist Appropriation," Western Political Quarterly 4 (1951): 550–566; "The Social Bearing of Locke's Political Theory," ibid., 7 (1954): 1–22.
- 105. An Essay on Government, with an introduction by Sir Ernest Barker (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1937), p. 3.
- 106. McCulloch, PPE, p. 75.
- 107. Smith, Wealth 5.1 (p. 670); McCulloch, PPE, pp. 74-76, 82.
- 108. ECHU 2.21.46.
- 109. Smith, *TMS*, pp. 7–10, 182–183; Bentham, *Deontology*, 2:112, 115, and see B. Willey, *Nineteenth Century Studies* (London: Chatto and Windus, 1949), chap. 5; *Handbook of Political Fallacies*, pp. 236–237. Bowring's remark on Bentham is appropriate in this context: "In order to stimulate him to exertion, it was necessary that something be *done* be at least the ultimate object." *Works*, 1:ix.
- 110. ECHU 2.21.51-53.

- 111. McCulloch, PPE, pp. 349, 401; J. S. Mill, PPE 1.13.1 (pp. 189–190).
- 112. J. S. Mill, *PPE*, p. 106 n. 1; and, to the same effect, Spencer's essay, "The American," in *Essays*, 3:471 ff.
- 113. Deontology, 1:191 and also pp. 25, 28-29, 59, 68; Morals and Legislation, p. 3.
- 114. James Mill, Essay on Government, p. 4.
- 115. J. S. Mill, Autobiography (London: Oxford University Press, 1924), p. 40.
- 116. Bentham, Works, 5:266.
- 117. *Principles of Legislation*, ed. C. M. Atkinson, 2 vols. (London: Oxford University Press, 1914), 1:164.
- 118. Essay on Population, 2:12.
- 119. Leviathan, chap. 6 (p. 31 of Oakeshott edition).
- 120. Second Treatise 93, 123.
- 121. *ECHU* 1.2.3, 2.7.3–5, 2.10.3, 5.
- 122. A Dissertation on Liberty and Necessity, Pleasure and Pain, Facsimile Text Society Edition (New York: Columbia University Press, 1930), pp. 16–20. In *Deontology* Bentham defined happiness as "the possession of pleasure with the exemption from pain" (1:17). And see Bastiat, *Oeuvres*, 6:622, 628–636.
- 123. Smith, TMS, pp. 208-209.
- 124. Deontology, 1:14-17; Econ. Wr., 1:102, 3:103, 422.
- 125. Econ. Wr., 3:435–437; Morals and Legislation, chaps. 4, 14; Theory of Legislation, ed. C. K. Ogden (London: Routledge, 1931), pp. 8 ff., 322 ff.
- 126. Senior, *PE*, pp. 95–101; Spencer, *Essays*, 3:449–450; Bastiat, *Oeuvres*, 6:62–64, 88, 266–267.
- 127. TMS, pp. 370–371; Wealth 2.3 (p. 325); Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:239, 3:348; Morals and Legislation, preface, p. xxv (fn.): "It is worse to lose than simply not to gain."
- 128. Second Treatise 149.
- 129. Bentham, Econ. Wr., 3:427.
- 130. "The thoughts which have future consequences for their object are called expectations; and upon these expectations no small part of a man's happiness depends.

"If pleasure is anticipated, and fails of being produced, a positive pain takes place of the anticipation." (Bentham, Deontology, 2:107.)

- 131. Theory of Legislation, p. 111.
- 132. Deontology, 1:236–237, 2:108.
- 133. Cited in Robbins, *The Theory of Economic Policy in English Classical Political Economy*, p. 63.
- 134. Locke alluded to the insecurities of social status in a letter cautioning a friend that "mismanagement or neglect of your temporal affairs" will cause a "fall" from "your rank and station." Cited in Fox-Bourne, *The Life of John Locke*, p. 396.

- 135. Smith, TMS, pp. 80-84.
- 136. Ibid., pp. 370-371.
- 137. See Strauss' discussion of Locke in Natural Right and History, pp. 206–207.
- 138. King, The Life of John Locke, 1:181.
- 139. Smith, TMS, pp. 101-102; Bentham, Deontology, 1:189-190.
- 140. C. S. Davies as cited in *Social Theories of Jacksonian Democracy, Representative Writings of the Period, 1825–1850*, ed. J. L. Blau (New York: Hafner, 1947), p. 52.
- 141. Smith, TMS, pp. 369-380.
- 142. Smith, Wealth 4.6 (pp. 507-509); Senior, PE, p. 27.
- 143. Bentham, Econ. Wr., 3:311-312, 327; Theory of Legislation, pp. 102.
- 144. Wealth 5.2 (p. 778).
- 145. Locke, *Works*, 6:11; *Second Treatise* 125, 128, 136; and the discussion of moral laws as "curbs and restraints" to "exorbitant desires." *ECHU* 1.2.13.
- 146. Essays on the Law of Nature, p. 207.
- 147. For evidence of these notions, see the following: Smith, *TMS*, pp. 270–271, 518–519, 567–569; Hume, *An Enquiry Concerning the Principles of Morals* (LaSalle, Ill.: Open Court, 1938), 1 (pp. 4–5); *Treatise of Human Nature*, Everyman edition, 2 vols., 3.1 (2:165 ff.); Bentham, *Handbook of Political Fallacies*, p. 213.
- 148. Smith, TMS, p. 267; Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:226, 3:427.
- 149. Compare TMS, pp. 129, 146-147, with Wealth 4.2 (p. 423).
- 150. Senior, *PE*, pp. 58–60, 69, 80, 89, 139–140, 152, 185; Bentham, *Deontology*, 1:130–142, 160; 2:14, 51–52; Smith, *TMS*, pp. 246–249, 252–254, 414–418, 464; J. S. Mill, *PPE* 2.15.1 (p. 405).
- 151. Econ. Wr., 1:154.
- 152. Malthus, Essay on Population, 1:159.
- 153. Essays on the Law of Nature, p. 119; see also The Reasonableness of Christianity, in Locke's Works, 6:112.
- 154. Essays on the Law of Nature, p. 189.
- 155. Ibid., pp. 111, 147–149, 161–165, 177, 199; and see the excellent discussion by J. W. Yolton, *John Locke and the Way of Ideas* (London: Oxford University Press, 1956).
- 156. King, *The Life of John Locke*, 1:225; *ECHU*, introduction, 1:xxxi–xxxii; *ECHU* 3.11.16, 4.3.18.
- 157. Second Treatise 124-125, 136.
- 158. Works, 6:135–139; and compare Jefferson's letter to Rush, especially the summary at the end: Koch and Peden, *The Life and Selected Writings of Thomas Jefferson*, p. 570.
- 159. Works, 6:157-158.
- 160. See the correspondence between Locke and Molyneux cited in ECHU, 1:65 n. 2.
- 161. Works, 6:146.

- 162. ECHU 1.2.8.
- 163. Second Treatise 88; Works, 5:43.
- 164. Essays on the Law of Nature, p. 207.
- 165. Second Treatise 241-242.
- 166. Econ. Wr., 3:421–423, 433; and see Robbins, The Theory of Economic Policy in English Classical Political Economy, p. 13.
- 167. Smith, Wealth 4.2 (pp. 421-423), 4.5 (p. 497).
- 168. *Utilitarianism*, chap. 4, in *Utilitarianism*, *Liberty and Representative Government* (London and New York: Dent, 1910), pp. 32–33; and see the discussion by J. Plamenatz, *The English Utilitarians* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1949), pp. 135 ff. and the analysis by A. J. Ayer, "The Principle of Utility," in *Philosophical Essays* (London: Macmillan, 1954), pp. 250–270.
- 169. Works, 5:26, 28, 40-42, 44.
- 170. Ibid., p. 28.
- 171. Cited in Halévy, Growth of Philosophic Radicalism, p. 118.
- 172. Fabian Essays, Jubilee edition (London: Allen and Unwin, 1948), p. 42.
- 173. Works, 5:22, 26. For an interesting anticipation of this argument, see the selections from Roger Williams in Woodhouse, *Puritanism and Liberty*, pp. 267 ff.

Locke's argument was also interesting for illustrating a tendency the reverse of that implied by the famous Weber-Tawney thesis regarding the role of Protestantism in rationalizing behavioral patterns conducive to capitalism. In Locke's case it had been the other way around: economic practices were exploited to justify religious policy. We find these confusions between economics and religion nicely exhibited in Smith's Wealth of Nations where he seemingly breaks off economic analysis to discuss the question of whether the best religious policy was to tolerate several small sects or to favor a single national church. It quickly becomes apparent, however, that economic analysis has not been interrupted, for so strongly have economic ways of thought come to dominate Smith's outlook that he is unable to view the problem of religious policy other than in terms of the classical theory of economic competition. The choice which he finally presents is not between two types of religious organization, but between alternative economic models. In sketching his argument all we need do is to add the relevant economic notions to his discussion of religious groups and the result is two perfectly parallel lines.

The best arrangement, according to Smith, was one where every man was free "to chuse his own priest and his own religion as he thought proper" (in much the same way that the consumer is permitted a free choice among competing sellers). Admittedly the effect of this form of freedom would be to increase the number of sects (i.e., the number of sellers), yet this would

lead to far fewer evils than either the situation where one sect alone was recognized (as in monopoly), or where two or three sects, "acting by concert," dominated religious life (in the manner of merchants conspiring to set prices or wages). Finally, where numerous small sects flourished in competition with each other, the religious zeal of the leaders would be moderated because "no one could be considerable enough to disturb the public tranquillity" (just as competition among small-scale producers operated to thwart the self-interest of one from becoming dominant). And in the same way that competition between entrepreneurs issued in a common good intended by none, religious rivalry unwittingly produced a religion of "good temper and moderation." *Wealth* 5.1 (pp. 744–746).

- 174. ECHU 4.11.1.
- 175. Bentham, Deontology, 1:125-126, 2:45-46, 136, 156.
- 176. Bentham explicitly discussed the diminishing importance of Christian ethical sanctions in *Deontology*, 1:107.
- 177. Econ. Wr., 3:425; Handbook of Political Fallacies, p. 236.
- 178. Handbook of Political Fallacies, pp. 235-236.
- 179. First Treatise 92; Second Treatise 6, 27-41.
- 180. McCulloch, PPE, pp. 115, 319.
- 181. Senior, PE, p. 187.
- 182. Bentham, *Econ. Wr.*, 3:430. A similar viewpoint was reflected in Bastiat's remark that the only method mankind has hit upon to avoid the pain of labor is "*de jouir du travail d'autrui.*" *Oeuvres*, 4:331.
- 183. The Essence of Laughter and Other Essays, Journals, and Letters, ed. P. Quennell (New York: Meridian, 1956), p. 48.
- 184. ECHU 2.28.7-12.
- 185. The sub-title of the work runs: "An Essay towards an Analysis of the Principles by which Men naturally judge concerning the Conduct and Character, First of their Neighbors, and Afterwards of themselves." A useful discussion of Smith's theory of morals is Glenn H. Morrow, *The Ethical and Economic Theories of Adam Smith* (New York: Longmans, 1923).
- 186. TMS, pp. 188-190.
- 187. Ibid., pp. 190-192.
- 188. Ibid., pp. 36, 127-128.
- 189. Ibid., pp. 142-144, 185, 203-205, 273-275.
- 190. Deontology, 1:32–33, 118–120; 2:160–166, 263, 269, 295; Smith, TMS, pp. 526–527.
- 191. Locke's contract specifically provided for the substitution of society's judgment, or that of its agents, for individual judgment: "... All private judgment

- of every particular member being excluded, the community comes to be umpire by settled standing rules . . ." *Second Treatise* 87.
- 192. Second Treatise 54; Smith, TMS, pp. 382–383, 395–397; Wealth 5.1 (pp. 670, 673); Bentham, Econ. Wr., 1:115–116, 3:318–319, 443.
- 193. Second Treatise 87.
- 194. Spencer, Essays, 3:450.
- 195. Deontology, 1:21-22.
- 196. Ibid., pp. 21–22, 27, 32–33, 97–98, 101, 166–168; 2:37–40.
- 197. Autobiography, p. 215; Utilitarianism, pp. 72-73.
- 198. J. S. Mill, *PPE* 2.1.3 (pp. 205–207, 210–211), 2.12.2–3 (pp. 364–365), 2.13.2 (377–378); *Utilitarianism*, pp. 299–301. It should be noted, however, that Mill had misgivings about the potential tyranny of a socialist society. *PPE* 2.1.3 (pp. 210–211).
- 199. Bastiat, Oeuvres, 1:466.
- 200. Essays, 2:131-132.
- 201. Smith, TMS, pp. 2-7.

CHAPTER TEN

The Age of Organization and the Sublimation of Politics

- Max Weber, *The Theory of Social and Economic Organization*, trans. A. M. Henderson and T. Parsons (New York: Oxford University Press, 1947), p. 337.
 See also the discussion by E. A. Shils, "Some Remarks on 'The Theory of Social and Economic Organization," *Economica*, n.s., 15 (1948): 36–50.
- 2. For management-worker conflicts in the Soviet Union see G. Bienstock, S. M. Schwarz, and A. Yugow, *Management in Russian Industry and Agriculture* (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1948), pp. 32–38; B. Moore, Jr., *Soviet Politics: The Dilemma of Power* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1956), pp. 173–179, 317–331; M. Fainsod, *How Russia Is Ruled* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1957), pp. 421–441.
- 3. Elton Mayo, *The Human Problems of an Industrial Civilization* (New York: Macmillan, 1933), p. 145. (Hereafter cited as *The Human Problems*.)
- 4. J. M. Keynes, *Essays in Persuasion* (London: Macmillan, 1931), pp. 314–315. The phrase "collective capitalism" has been coined by Gardiner C. Means, in "Collective Capitalism and Economic Theory" (a lecture at the Marshall Wythe Symposium, Williamsburg, Va., 1957).
- 5. See the policy statement of the National Executive Committee of the British Labour Party entitled *Industry and the Nation* (London, 1957). The following is representative of the prevailing mood among some of the major theoreticians of the Party: "The basic fact is the large corporation, facing fundamentally

- similar problems, acts in fundamentally the same way whether publicly or privately owned." C.A.R. Crosland, *The Future of Socialism* (London: Cape, 1957), pp. 479–480.
- 6. For a good recent survey, see Herbert Spiro, *The Politics of German Codetermination* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1958).
- 7. "The manager is becoming a professional in the sense that like all professional men he has a responsibility to society as a whole." Editors of *Fortune* with the collaboration of R. W. Davenport, *U.S.A.: The Permanent Revolution* (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1951), p. 79.
- 8. J. A. Schumeter, *Capitalism, Socialism, and Democracy* (New York: Harper, 1950), pp. 141, 156, 163.
- 9. Cited in C. Bouglé, La Sociologie de Proudhon (Paris, 1911), p. 18.
- 10. "That both self-interest and something else are satisfied by group life is the notion that is hardest for the hard-boiled—and half-baked—person to see." G. C. Homans, *The Human Group* (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1950), p. 96. "If a number of individuals work together to achieve a common purpose, a harmony of interests will develop among them to which individual self-interest will be subordinated. This is a very different doctrine from the claim that individual self-interest is the solitary human motive." E. Mayo, *The Political Problem* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, School of Business Administration, 1947), p. 21.
- 11. Montesquieu, Esprit des lois, preface.
- 12. De Maistre, *Oeuvres complètes*, 14 vols. (Lyon and Paris, 1884–1886), 2:266. (Hereafter cited as *O. C.*)
- 13. De Maistre, O. C., 1:226, 266, 426. See also the discussions in P. R. Rohden, Joseph de Maistre als politischer Theoretiker (Munich, 1929), p. 40; Francis Bayle, Les idées politiques de Joseph de Maistre (Paris, 1945), pp. 23–28; Bagge, Les idées politiques en France sous la Restauration, pp. 245 ff.
- 14. De Maistre's remark is in *O. C.*, 1:494; Louis de Bonald, *Oeuvres complètes*, ed. L'Abbé Migne, 3 vols. (Paris, 1859), 1:958 (hereafter referred to as *O. C.*); Léon Brunschvicg, *Le progrès de la conscience dans la philosophie occidentale*, 2nd ed., 2 vols. (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1953), 2:485.
- 15. Durkheim, *The Division of Labor in Society*, trans. G. Simpson (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1949), p. 35.
- 16. Durkheim, *Les règles de la méthode sociologique* (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1947), pp. xxiii–xxiv.
- 17. De Bonald, O. C., 1:127, 328, 408, 426, 467; de Maistre, O. C., 2:253; and see Bagge, Les idées politiques en France sous la Restauration, pp. 245–247, 250–251. Note, too, de Bonald on the theory of abstract models: "An abstraction is an operation by which the intelligence separates the qualities or accidents of the subjects in order to form an ideal being which will be susceptible to

- thought." O. C., 1:131–132. The relationship between the reactionaries and the development of sociology is discussed in two articles by R. A. Nisbet, "De Bonald and the Concept of the Social Group," *Journal of the History of Ideas* 5 (1944): 315–331; "Conservatism and Sociology," *American Journal of Sociology* 58 (1952): 167–175.
- 18. Durkheim, Les règles, pp. 57-60.
- 19. Oeuvres choisies de C.-H. de Saint-Simon, 3 vols. (Brussels, 1859), 2:372–374, 375–377.
- 20. Oeuvres complètes de P.-J. Proudhon (Paris: Lacroix, Verboeckhoven edition, 1867), 1:30, 216. (Hereafter cited as O. C.)
- 21. Durkheim, *Le socialisme. La définition, ses débuts, la doctrine saint-simonienne*, ed. M. Mauss (Paris: Alcan, 1928), p. 213. Mannheim's comments are in the same tradition: "It is possible, of course, that the age of planning will be followed by one of mere administration. It is also possible that at a later stage all that we now call history, namely, the unforeseeable, fateful dominance of uncontrolled social forces, will come to an end." *Man and Society in an Age of Reconstruction* (London: Kegan Paul, 1940), p. 193.
- 22. Proudhon, *Philosophie du progrès* (Paris: Marpon et Flammarion, 1876), pp. 39-40.
- 23. Note the *corpus mysticum* flavor to the following passage from Durkheim: "The only source of life at which we can morally reanimate ourselves is that formed by the society of our fellow-beings; the only moral forces with which we can sustain and increase our own are those which we get from others . . . beliefs are active only when they are partaken by many." *The Elementary Forms of the Religious Life*, trans. J. W. Swain (London: Allen and Unwin, 1915), p. 425. (Hereafter cited as *The Elementary Forms*.)
- 24. Ibid., pp. 10, 419, 421–422. This point of view was also taken by Marx and, in our day, by Mannheim.
- 25. Ibid., pp. 16–17, 437; *Sociology and Philosophy,* trans. D. F. Pocock (Glencoe, III.: Free Press, 1953), p. 52; *Les règles,* p. 4.
- 26. Cited in F. E. Manuel, *The New World of Henri Saint-Simon* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1956), p. 305.
- 27. Durkheim, Division of Labor, p. 387.
- 28. Marx, *Capital*, trans. S. Moore and E. Aveling, rev. E. Untermann (New York: Modern Library), pp. 370–384, 396–410.
- 29. *The German Ideology,* ed. R. Pascal (New York: International Publishers, 1947), pp. 23–24, 28, 70, 77.
- 30. Karl Mannheim, Man and Society, p. 155 n. 1.
- 31. The quotation from Proudhon is in O. C, 1:176; de Bonald as cited in Brunschvicg, Le progrès de la conscience, 2:489.
- 32. Proudhon, O. C. (1867), 1:176.

- 33. Henry Michel, L'idée de l'état (Paris, 1896).
- 34. Saint-Simon, Oeuvres choisies, 2:214.
- 35. Durkheim, *Suicide*, trans. J. A. Spaulding and G. Simpson (Glencoe, III.: Free Press, 1951), p. 257.
- 36. Peter Drucker, *The Future of Industrial Man* (New York: John Day Co., 1943), p. 13 (by permission).
- 37. T. N. Whitehead, *Leadership in a Free Society* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1947), pp. 169, 209.
- 38. Mannheim, *Man and Society*, pp. 6–14, 260. See also Elton Mayo, *The Social Problems of an Industrial Civilization* (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1949) pp. 8, 106. (Hereafter cited as *Social Problems*.)
- 39. Mannheim, *Man and Society*, pp. 75, 153–154, 192–193. Note, too, how Mannheim's distinction between the stages of "planning" and "administration" parallels Lenin's argument in *State and Revolution*.
- 40. Mannheim, *Freedom, Power, and Democratic Planning,* ed. H. Gerth and E. K. Bramstedt (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1951), pp. 108 ff.
- 41. Saint-Simon as quoted in Durkheim, Le socialisme, pp. 198-199.
- 42. Philip Selznick, *Leadership in Administration: A Sociological Interpretation* (Evanston, Ill.: Row, Peterson, 1957), pp. 8–9. (Hereafter cited as *Leadership*.)
- 43. De Bonald, O. C., 1:327, 962. Bagge, Les idées politiques en France sous la Restauration, p. 308. Although these elements were not completely lacking in de Maistre, his religious conceptions were a very personal mixture of Catholicism and mysticism. Both writers are sympathetically discussed by Bagge and by Brunschvicg, Le progrès de la conscience, 2:485 ff.
- 44. Émile Durkheim, *The Division of Labor*, pp. 7 ff.; G.D.H. Cole, *Essays in Social Theory* (London: Macmillan, 1950), pp. 102–103, and *Guild Socialism Re-Stated* (London: Parsons, 1920), pp. 29, 45–51.
- 45. Mayo, *The Political Problem*, p. 23. "The medieval ideal of the cooperation of all is the only satisfactory source of civilized procedure." *Social Problems*, p. 128.
- 46. Erich Fromm, *Escape from Freedom* (New York: Rinehart, 1941), pp. 41 ff. It might be added that Fromm shares with the reactionaries and Comte the hostility towards the Protestant Reformation. Like these earlier writers, Fromm criticizes the Reformation for having severed men from the integrated relationship developed in the mediaeval system. Compare Fromm, ibid., chap. 3, with de Bonald, *O. C.*, 1:106–121; de Maistre, *O. C.*, 2:523 ff., 8:63 ff. See also Rohden, *Joseph de Maistre als politischer Theoretiker*, pp. 140–142.
- 47. Mannheim, Freedom, Power, and Democratic Planning, p. 287.
- 48. A. A. Berle, *The Twentieth Century Capitalist Revolution* (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1954), pp. 174–175, 182–183. See also the idea of the "soulful corporation" in Carl Kaysen, "The Social Significance of the Modern Corporation," *American Economics Association, Papers and Proceedings* (1956) 47 (1957): 311–

- 319, and also the critical remarks of C. E. Lindblom (ibid., pp. 324 ff.), protesting against the contamination of economic theory by "theological" notions. That former New Dealers like Berle and D. E. Lilienthal, in *Big Business: A New Era* (New York, 1952), should now be busy with apologetics for managerialism testifies not only to a common order of problems among government and business, but also to an obvious decline in the distinctiveness of the political which permits an easy transfer of loyalties from "big government" to "big business." See, for a wise and balanced picture of the corporate system, Walton Hamilton, *The Politics of Industry* (New York: Knopf, 1957), pp. 137 ff.
- 49. Rousseau, *Émile*, trans. B. Foxley (London and New York: Dutton, 1911), pp. 47, 64 n. 1.
- 50. A Discourse on the Origin of Inequality, in The Social Contract, ed. G.D.H. Cole (London and New York: Dutton, 1913), p. 237. Hereafter this essay will be cited as Origin of Inequality and, unless otherwise indicated, all references will be to the Cole edition.
- 51. Émile, pp. 173–174, 197, 205; Origin of Inequality, pp. 19n, 198–199, 212–213, 232–233. See also the discussion in the excellent study by Robert Derathé, Jean-Jacques Rousseau et la science politique de son temps (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1950), pp. 139 fn. 4, 141. (Hereafter cited as Jean-Jacques Rousseau.)
- 52. Émile, p. 10.
- Origin of Inequality, pp. 220–223; A Discourse on Political Economy, in Cole, The Social Contract, pp. 280–281. (Hereafter cited as Political Economy.) Émile, pp. 197–198.
- 54. C. E. Vaughan, ed., *The Political Writings of Jean-Jacques Rousseau*, 2 vols. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1915), 1:195. (Hereafter cited as *Political Writings*.)
- 55. Origin of Inequality, pp. 205–206. "... Man is by nature good ... men are depraved and perverted by society." Émile, p. 198. See also C. W. Hendel, ed., Citizen of Geneva: Selections from the Letters of Jean-Jacques Rousseau (New York: Oxford University Press, 1937), pp. 208–210.
- 56. Émile, pp. 44–45; Origin of Inequality, pp. 186, 194. See, in general, the discussion by Robert Derathé, Le rationalisme de J.-J. Rousseau (Paris: Presses Universitaires, 1948). While Derathé has perhaps exaggerated Rousseau's affinities with the rationalist tradition, his analysis supplies a useful corrective to the usual interpretation of Rousseau as the arch-irrationalist.
- 57. Origin of Inequality, p. 218.
- 58. Ibid., pp. 214–215; *Émile*, pp. 407–409.
- 59. Émile, pp. 49, 175, 245; Origin of Inequality, pp. 218–219, 222; Derathé, *Jean-Jacques Rousseau*, pp. 110, 146–148, 175–176.
- 60. D. H. Lawrence, *Studies in Classic American Literature* (New York: Viking Press, 1953), p. 17.

- 61. Émile, p. 261; Origin of Inequality, p. 161; A Discourse on the Arts and Sciences in Cole, The Social Contract, p. 132.
- 62. Political Economy, pp. 261, 268.
- 63. Du contrat social 1.6.
- 64. The affinities between Durkheim and Rousseau were not accidental. Durkheim had been a close student of Rousseau's writings and contributed one of the most perceptive studies we have on Rousseau. See his *Montesquieu et Rousseau*, *Précurseurs de la Sociologie* (Paris: Rivière, 1953).
- 65. Durkheim, Division of Labor, p. 26.
- 66. Durkheim's analysis foreshadowed some of the basic propositions used by Erich Fromm in *Escape from Freedom* and in *The Sane Society* (New York: Rinehart, 1955), pp. 216–220.
- 67. "Collective representations are the result of an immense cooperation which stretches out not only into space but into time as well; to make them, a multitude of minds have associated, united and combined their ideas and sentiments; for them, long generations have accumulated their experience and their knowledge." (*The Elementary Forms*, p. 16.)

Compare this to Burke's famous discussion of the "contract" and his theory of "prejudice" in *Reflections on the Revolution in France* (London and New York: Dutton, 1910), pp. 84, 93.

- 68. Durkheim, *The Elementary Forms*, pp. 424, 440–442; *Suicide*, pp. 309–310, *Sociology and Philosophy*, pp. 38, 73.
- 69. Division of Labor, p. 10; The Elementary Forms, pp. 443, 444; Sociology and Philosophy, p. 57; Les règles, p. 122 n. 1. There are further similarities between Rousseau's distinction concerning the "general will" and the "will of all" and Durkheim's "average conscience" and "collective conscience": Suicide, p. 318. It might also be noted that some commentators have interpreted Rousseau's general will as a theory of conscience: see G. Gurvitch, "Kant und Fichte als Rousseau-Interpreten," Kant-Studien 27 (1922): 138–164, at p. 152; G. Beaulavon, ed., Du contrat social, 5th ed. (Paris, 1938), p. 36.
- 70. Division of Labor, p. 444; Suicide, p. 318.
- 71. Suicide, p. 319; Sociology and Philosophy, p. 51. A further parallel between Rousseau's general will and Durkheim's collective conscience lay in their allembracing province which, at the same time, disqualified them from dealing with particular objects. The collective conscience dealt only in "general ideas," "categories," and "classes": The Elementary Forms, p. 435. There are also further comparisons to be made between Durkheim's notion of collective representations and Sorel's "myth": see Sociology and Philosophy, p. 29.
- 72. Cited in Derathé, Jean-Jacques Rousseau, p. 146.
- 73. Origin of Inequality, pp. 189, 194, 203.

- 74. Émile, p. 149.
- 75. "To find a form of association which defends and protects with the whole common force the person and goods of each associate, and in which each, in uniting himself with all, obeys only himself, and remains as free as before." *Du contrat social* 1.6. And see ibid. 2.4 and 1.7 ("Obedience to a law which we prescribe to ourselves is liberty").
- 76. Ibid. 1.6.
- 77. *Political Writings*, 1:245. In his *Lettre à Mirabeau*, Rousseau had declared that "the great problem of politics" is to find "a form of government which will put the law above man." *Political Writings*, 1:160.
- 78. Du contrat social 1.6-7; Political Writings, 1:201, 2:234-235.
- 79. Du contrat social 2.13; Émile, p. 7. Independence of other individuals and dependence on the community dictated Rousseau's argument that the property of the state should be as great as possible and that of the citizen as little as possible. Wealth was suspect because it gave power over others. On these points see his *Projet pour la Corse*, in *Political Writings*, 2:337, 346.
- 80. Political Writings, 1:460; Du contrat social 2.4, 6.
- 81. Du contrat social 1.7.
- 82. Cited in Manuel, The New World of Henri Saint-Simon, p. 87.
- 83. Saint-Simon, Oeuvres choisies, 1:20-21.
- 84. *Henri Comte de Saint-Simon: Selected Writings*, trans. F. M. H. Markham (New York: Macmillan, 1952), p. 69. (Hereafter cited as *Selected Writings*.)
- 85. Ibid., p. 70.
- 86. Ibid., pp. 78–80. Manuel, *The New World of Henri Saint-Simon*, pp. 250, 279. For an excellent general discussion of Saint-Simon's industrialism, see Élie Halévy's masterful essay "La doctrine économique saint-simonienne," in *L'ère des tyrannies*, 2nd ed. (Paris: Gallimard, 1938), pp. 30–94. Manuel, *The New World of Henri Saint-Simon*, provides the best and most recent full-dress treatment of Saint-Simon's life and thought. An older yet still valuable analysis is to be found in Michel, *L'idée de l'état*, pp. 172–211. There are brief accounts also in such standard histories of socialist thought as A. Gray, *The Socialist Tradition* (London: Longmans, 1946), which should be used with caution when dealing with thinkers he considers serious rather than bizarre; and G.D.H. Cole, *A History of Socialist Thought*, 4 vols. (London: Macmillan, 1953–1958), vol. 1. For a recent, but extreme, view of Saint-Simon as a contributor to sociology as well as to totalitarianism, see Albert Salomon, *The Tyranny of Progress: Reflections on the Origins of Sociology* (New York: Noonday Press, 1955).
- 87. Saint-Simon, *Selected Writings*, pp. 68, 76–78. The condition of the masses was discussed at length by Saint-Simon in *Le nouveau Christianisme*.
- 88. Saint-Simon, *Oeuvres choisies*, 2:372–374, 375–377.

- 89. Manuel, *The New World of Henri Saint-Simon*, pp. 254, 311; *Selected Writings*, pp. 70, 78–79; Durkheim, *Le socialisme*, p. 186.
- 90. Cited in Manuel, *The New World of Henri Saint-Simon*, p. 306; see also Durkheim, *Le socialisme*, p. 191.
- 91. Capital, pp. 357–358, 424 (4.13, 4.15 [2]). The passage cited makes an ironical contrast to Rousseau's claim that "men cannot engender new forces, but only unite and direct those already existing" (Du contrat social 1.6). Yet Marx was the social scientist, Rousseau the metaphysician!
- 92. Proudhon, Philosophie du progrès, p. 36.
- 93. Charles Fourier, *Oeuvres complètes*, 3rd ed., 6 vols. (Paris, 1846), 3:18–19. (Hereafter cited as *O. C.*) "The other sciences, even the noblest, like mathematics, have only petty value as long as we ignore *la science du mécanisme sociétaire* which issues in wealth, unity and happiness."
- 94. Chester I. Barnard, *The Functions of the Executive* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1947), p. 36.
- 95. Herbert A. Simon, *Models of Man, Social and Rational* (New York: Wiley, 11957), pp. 198, 200; Barnard, *Functions of the Executive*, p. 36.
- 96. Simon, Models of Man, p. 199; James G. March and Herbert A. Simon, Organizations (New York: Wiley, 1958), pp. 136 ff., 203 ff.; Luther Gulick, "Notes on the Theory of Organization," in Papers on the Science of Administration, ed. L. Gulick and L. Urwick (New York: Institute of Public Administration, 1937), p. 4.
- 97. Mannheim, Man and Society, pp. 149, 267.
- 98. Herbert A. Simon, *Administrative Behavior*, 2nd ed. (New York: Macmillan, 1957), p. 79.
- 99. Simon, *Models of Man*, p. 200. "... Organization permits the individual to approach reasonably near to objective rationality." *Administrative Behavior*, p. 80.
- 100. Simon, Models of Man, p. 196.
- 101. Simon, Administrative Behavior, p. 78.
- 102. Ibid., pp. 101–102. Lest this seem the "ideology" of efficiency experts in the service of big business, we quote from Mannheim, an advocate of collectivist planning: "The growth of organization and the general interdependence of institutions make for an increase in rationality and detachment." Man and Society, p. 359. Most of these ideas had been implicit in Max Weber's conception of "bureaucratic rationality": From Max Weber: Essays in Sociology, trans. and ed. H. H. Gerth and C. W. Mills (New York: Oxford University Press, 1946), pp. 196 ff.
- 103. Mannheim, Man and Society, p. 244.
- 104. L. Urwick, "Organization as a Technical Problem," in Gulick and Urwick, *Papers on the Science of Administration*, p. 85.

- 105. Simon, *Administrative Behavior*, pp. xxiv–xxv. For a more sensitive approach, see Chris Argyris, *Personality and Organization* (New York, 1957), pp. 66 ff., where the question of "a basic incongruency" between personality needs and organizational requirements is explored.
- 106. Barnard, Functions of the Executive, p. 186.
- 107. Saint-Simon, *Selected Writings*, p. 25. The same points were made by Comte; note also Durkheim's warning that the sciences, like society, were in an anomic state because "they are not organized." *Division of Labor*, pp. 367–368.
- 108. Quoted in Durkheim, Le socialisme, p. 131.
- 109. Proudhon, O. C., 3:197.
- 110. Urwick, in Gulick and Urwick, *Papers on the Science of Administration*, p. 49; Mayo, *Human Problems*, p. 145; see also Saint-Simon, *Selected Writings*, p. 39.
- 111. Peter Drucker, *The Concept of the Corporation* (New York: John Day, 1946), p. 26. Drucker has modified this position in *The Practice of Management* (London: Heinemann, 1956), pp. 124–126. De Bonald's remark is relevant here: "Government . . . presupposes certain passions in man and establishes laws to control them; and these subsist independently of those heroic virtues which man so rarely has . . ." O. C., 1:375 (italics in original).
- 112. Discourse on Method, in The Method, Meditations, and Philosophy of Descartes, trans. J. Veitch (New York: Tudor Publishing Co., n.d.), p. 163. The contrast between the Cartesian and Platonic viewpoints on this problem has been clearly brought out by Robinson, in *Plato's Earlier Dialectic*, pp. 72–73.
- 113. *The Philosophical Works of Francis Bacon*, ed. J. M. Robertson (London: Routledge, 1905), pp. 270, 297. (Aphorisms 61 and 112 from bk. 1 of *Novum Organum*.)
- 114. Proudhon, O. C., 1:14, 3:196-199.
- 115. Ibid., 3:196-197.
- 116. Max Weber, *The Methodology of the Social Sciences*, trans. and ed. E. A. Shils and H. A. Finch (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1949), pp. 2–6. Compare this to Durkheim's criticism of the "cult of personal dignity" for its bad social consequences; *Division of Labor*, pp. 172, 401–403.
- 117. Mannheim, *Man and Society*, p. 148. Compare Hobbes: "He that is to govern a whole nation, must read in himself, not this or that particular man; but mankind . . ." *Leviathan*, introduction. The anti-individualism which tends to accompany the quest for theoretical generalizations was brilliantly analyzed by Tocqueville. He also pointed out how these intellectual tendencies are associated with democratic societies whose historical bent is towards a uniformity of opinion which crushes the individual. *Democracy in America*, ed. Phillips Bradley, 2 vols. (New York: Knopf, 1945), vol. 2, chaps. 1–3.
- 118. Cited in Brunschvicg, Le progrès de la conscience, 2:518.

- 119. De Bonald, O. C., 1:9, 29.
- 120. Proudhon, *Philosophie du progrès*, p. 36. The same tendencies are apparent in more extreme form in the writings of A. E. Bentley, who has supplied the basic theories for recent and contemporary group theories of politics: "The whole social life in all its phases" can be stated in terms of "groups of active men." "... The only reality" of ideas "is their reflection of the groups, only that and nothing more. The ideas can be stated in terms of the groups, the groups never in terms of the ideas." "The individual stated for himself, and invested with an extra-social unity of his own, is a fiction." "The society itself is nothing other than the complex of the groups that compose it." *The Process of Government* (Evanston, Ill.: Principia Press, 1949), pp. 204, 206, 215, 222. For a criticism of Bentley's tendency to eliminate the creative role of public actors, see M. Fainsod, "Some Reflections on the Nature of the Regulatory Process," in *Public Policy*, ed. C. J. Friedrich and E. S. Mason (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1940), pp. 297–323.
- 121. *Les règles*, p. 103; and see the discussion of Comte in Brunschvicg, *Le progrès de la conscience*, 2:516 ff.
- 122. Durkheim, Les règles, pp. 14, 15, 28.
- 123. De Bonald, O. C., 3:44–45. The notion reappears in Comte in the following form: "The true path of human progress lies in . . . diminishing the vacillation, inconsistency, and discordance of our designs by furnishing external motives for those operations of our intellectual, moral, and practical powers, of which the original source was purely internal." Auguste Comte, System of Positive Polity, trans. J. H. Bridges et al., 4 vols. (London: Longmans, 1875–1877), 1:22.
- 124. Saint-Simon, *Selected Writings*, pp. 72–73. These notions represent an extension of the famous physiocratic distinction between productive and unproductive labor which was carried forward into classical economics and, ultimately, into socialism and communism. The idea of "function" also played a prominent role in Cole's guild socialism. *Social Theory*, 2nd ed. (London: Methuen, 1921), pp. 48 ff.
- 125. Durkheim, *Division of Labor*, pp. 42-43, 401-403.
- 126. Ibid., pp. 240, 402; Sociology and Philosophy, pp. 40, 78; Suicide, pp. 278–280. There are obvious affinities here with the activism of Sorel. Durkheim's attack on the individual conscience had its parallel in F. H. Bradley's writings: "to wish to be better than the world is to be on the threshold of immorality," and "to think differently from the world on moral subjects" is "sheer self-conceit." Ethical Studies, 2nd ed. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1927), pp. 199, 200. The distrust of the intellectual was expressed in similar terms by Lenin. At one point he praised the intellectual as the revolutionary model for the worker to follow. Later he wrote that "the proletariat is trained for organization, by its whole life much more radically than are many puny intellectuals." Compare

- "What Is to Be Done?" in *Selected Works* (London: Lawrence and Wishart, 1944), 2:92–93, with "One Step Forward, Two Steps Back," in ibid., pp. 4–19, 442, 445–446.
- 127. Mayo, Social Problems, p. 19.
- 128. Mannheim, Man and Society, pp. 102-105.
- 129. "Eternal Peace," in *The Philosophy of Kant*, ed. C. J. Friedrich (New York: Random House, 1949), pp. 452–453.
- 130. *The Federalist*, No. 51 (p. 354). "Why has government been instituted at all? Because the passions of men will not conform to the dictates of reason and justice, without constraint. Has it been found that bodies of men act with more rectitude or greater disinterestedness than individuals?" (No. 15 [p. 102]). The page references are to the edition by E. G. Bourne (New York: Tudor Publishing Company, 1937).
- 131. David Hume, *Essays Moral, Political, and Literary,* ed. T. H. Green and T. H. Grose, 2 vols. (London: Longmans, 1882), 1:99. (Hereafter cited as *Essays.*)
- 132. *The Federalist*, No. 51 (pp. 353–354). "Such will be the relation between the House of Representatives and their constitutions. Duty, gratitude, interest, ambition itself, are the chords by which they will be bound to fidelity and sympathy with the great mass of the people. It is possible that these may all be insufficient to control the caprice and wickedness of man. But are they not all that government will admit, and that human prudence can devise?" No. 57 (p. 392).
- 133. Ibid., No. 51 (pp. 356-358); No. 10 (p. 69); No. 60 (pp. 410-412).
- 134. Ibid., No. 57 (p. 391). Cf. Locke: The estates of the subjects are less apt to be treated arbitrarily by a system where "the legislative consists, wholly or in part, in assemblies which are variable, whose members, upon the dissolution of the assembly, are subjects under the common laws of their country, equally with the rest." *Two Treatises of Government* 2.138.
- 135. *The Federalist*, No. 9 (p. 57); No. 28 (p. 185): "Power being almost always the rival of power . . ." See also No. 51 (p. 353) and compare Montesquieu, *Esprit des lois* 11.4: "Power should be a check to power."
- 136. The *Federalists* relied primarily on "experience" to provide an education for office-holders. Compare their remarks with those of the fifteenth-century writer Sir John Fortescue, *De Laudibus Legum Anglie*, where the chancellor instructs the new prince in the intricacies of governance.
- 137. Harrington, *The Oceana and Other Works of James Harrington*, ed. J. Toland (London, 1737), p. 966.
- 138. Hume, *Essays*, 1:108; *The Federalist*, No. 68 (p. 38). Popper has subscribed to this same point of view. He argues that political theory should discard the inquiry into "Who should rule?" in favor of "How can we organize political institutions so that bad or incompetent rulers can be prevented from doing too much damage?" *The Open Society and Its Enemies*, 1:106–107.

- 139. *James Harrington's Oceana*, ed. S. B. Liljegren (Heidelberg, 1924), pp. 34, 56, 185. "Good laws may beget order and moderation in the government where the manners and customs have instilled little humanity or justice into the tempers of men." Hume, *Essays*, 1:106.
- 140. Descartes, Discourse on Method, p. 149 (emphasis supplied).
- 141. Hume, Essays, 1:105.
- 142. Quoted in Bagge, *Les idées politiques en France sous la Restauration*, p. 110. The affinities between constitutional and organizational theories is borne out in a striking way by Khrushchev's attack on the Stalinist "cult of personality." See the translation of his secret report of February 24–25, 1956, in B. D. Wolfe, *Khrushchev and Stalin's Ghost* (New York: Praeger 1957), pp. 88–89.
- 143. Harrington, Works, pp. 14-41, 252.
- 144. Hume, Essays, 1:99, 101.
- 145. Cited in Manuel, The New World of Henri Saint-Simon, p. 413 n. 3.
- 146. Ibid., pp. 203, 284; Saint-Simon, *Oeuvres choisies*, 1:29 n. 1; Durkheim, *Le so-cialisme*, pp. 237–238.
- 147. Cited in Derathé, Jean-Jacques Rousseau, p. 167 n. 2.
- 148. Cited in ibid., p. 149. Rousseau pointed out that the maxim "do unto others as you would want them to do unto you," while more practical, was less perfect than "do good but with the least possible evil to others." *Political Writings*, 1:163. See also the discussion in C. W. Hendel, *Jean-Jacques Rousseau Moralist*, 2 vols. (London and New York: Oxford University Press, 1934), 1:48–53.
- 149. "It is not in human nature to put ourselves in the place of those who are happier than ourselves; but only in the place of those who can claim our pity." *Émile*, p. 184.
- 150. Ibid., p. 183.
- 151. Manuel, The New World of Henri Saint-Simon, pp. 239, 305.
- 152. See Gaston Isambert, *Les idées socialistes en France de 1815 à 1848* (Paris, 1905), pp. 126, 133.
- 153. Fourier, O. C., 3:22, 6:3–4. See the discussion of Maxim Leroy, Histoire des idées sociales en France de Babeuf à Tocqueville, 4th ed. (Paris, 1950), pp. 246 ff. There is a sympathetic appreciation of the Utopian Socialists in Martin Buber, Paths in Utopia, trans. R.F.C. Hull (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1949).
- 154. Fourier, O. C., 1:7, 3:20.
- 155. Ibid., 1:11, 6:6.
- 156. Ibid., 3:21, 6:25.
- 157. Ibid., 1:9, 6:xiv. Proudhon's gibe about Saint-Simon's philosophy, that it was a form of "sensual Gnosticism," applied with equal force to Fourier. See Proudhon, O. C., 17:33.
- 158. Fourier, O. C., 1:3, 79 for the discussion of *la science sociale*. In this connection the commentaries of Leroy, *Histoire des idées sociales en France*, pp. 251 ff., and

M. Lansac, Les conceptions méthodologique et sociales de Charles Fourier (Paris, 1926), are relevant. Isambert (Les idées socialistes en France, pp. 129–130) correctly argued that Fourier had no genuine moral theory and hence no conception of a truly solidary community. The opposite position was maintained by E. Fournière, Les théories socialistes au XIXe siècle de Babeuf à Proudhon (Paris, 1904), pp. 42–43. Fourier's notion of conventional morality as repressive suggests some crude intimations of Freud, but more suggestive are the parallels between the Utopian Socialists and Erich Fromm, The Sane Society, especially pp. 283 ff., with its plea for the small association. There are further continuities between the Utopians and contemporary city-planners which are explicitly recognized by the latter. See Percival Goodman and Paul Goodman, Communitas: Means of Livelihood and Ways of Life (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1947), pp. 2, 8.

- 159. Fourier, O. C., 3:44-45, 128.
- 160. Proudhon, O. C., 10:77.
- 161. Fourier, O. C., 6:7.
- 162. Robert Owen, *A New View of Society and Other Writings*, ed. G.D.H. Cole (London and New York: Dutton, 1927), pp. 8–9, 177, 231, 262, 284–288.
- 163. Cited in Brunschvicg, *Le progrès de la conscience*, 2:514, 525 n. 1. And see Comte's discussion in *A System of Positive Polity*, 1:49–50, 69, 83.
- 164. De Bonald, O. C., 1:138, 145-155, 186, 376.
- 165. See de Maistre's vivid description in *Les soirées de Saint-Petersbourg*, 2 vols. (Paris and Lyon: Emmanuel Vitte, 1924), 1:32–34.
- 166. Whitehead, *Leadership in a Free Society*, p. vii. The disintegrating effects of technological change on group solidarity and hierarchy is an operative assumption also in W. L. Warner and J. O. Low, *The Social System of the Modern Factory* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1947), pp. 66–67.
- 167. De Maistre, Les soirées, 1:67.
- 168. Durkheim, Suicide, pp. 254–257; Le socialisme, pp. 286–287 ("Insatiability is a sign of morbidity"); Professional Ethics and Civic Morals, trans. C. Brookfield (Glencoe, III.: Free Press, 1958), pp. 11–12, 14–15, 24. The tendency to characterize unhealthy or undesirable social conditions as Hobbesian comes out most clearly in Tönnies. His Gesellschaft conception was explicitly modelled upon some of the salient features of Hobbes's civil society. See Community and Association, trans. C. P. Loomis (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1955), pp. 146, 154, and also the discussion in Raymond Aron, German Sociology, trans. Mary and Thomas Bottomore (London: Heinemann, 1957), pp. 14–19.
- 169. Durkheim, Suicide, p. 252.
- 170. Durkheim, Division of Labor, p. 67.
- 171. See the references cited in Tönnies, Community and Association, p. xxv.
- 172. De Bonald, O. C., 1:47, 301.

- 173. Durkheim, *Les règles*, p. 121; *Professional Ethics*, p. 61. De Bonald had defined liberty as consisting in "obeying perfect laws or necessary relationships derived from the nature of beings." *O. C.*, 1:665.
- 174. Leonard Broom and Philip Selznick, *Sociology,* 2nd ed. (Evanston, Ill.: Row, Peterson, 1955), pp. 568, 569.
- 175. De Bonald, O. C., 1:967.
- 176. Ibid., 2:217.
- 177. Proudhon, Philosophie du progrès, pp. 36, 38, 53.
- 178. Durkheim, *Suicide*, p. 209. One aspect of socialism welcomed by Durkheim was the effort to end the alienation of the worker from society: *Le socialisme*, pp. 33–34.
- 179. Mayo, *Social Problems*, p. 67; *Human Problems*, p. 166. "Without fellow man to grant him social status, and unless they do grant him status, he is somewhat less than human." Richard La Pierre, *A Theory of Social Control* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1954), p. 72.
- 180. Marx, *Capital*, p. 361 (4.13). Compare this with the following from a spokesman for the new managerialism: "The first need is to share the fortunes of an adequate group, rather than to stand alone." Whitehead, *Leadership in a Free Society*, p. 17.
- 181. Bradley, Ethical Studies, pp. 163-167.
- 182. Ibid., pp. 79, 138-139, 163.
- 183. "There is an objective morality in what has been achieved by infinite effort of the past. It comes down as a truth of my nature and is superior to my individual caprice." Ibid., p. 190.
- 184. Ibid., pp. 79-80.
- 185. "Historic," in *Fabian Essays*, Jubilee ed. (London: Allen and Unwin, 1948), p. 53 (with the permission of Burt Franklin).
- 186. Bradley, Ethical Studies, pp. 180, 181.
- 187. Webb, Fabian Essays, p. 54.
- 188. Durkheim, Division of Labor, pp. 50, 55-56.
- 189. Cited in C. Kerr and L. H. Fisher, "Plant Sociology: The Elite and the Aborigines," in Common Frontiers of the Social Sciences, ed. M. Komarovsky (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1957), pp. 281–309, at p. 304. See also E. W. Bakke, People and Organizations (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1951), p. 3. The article by Kerr and Fisher is an excellent critical study of the presuppositions of "factory sociology." See also R. Bendix and L. H. Fisher, "The Perspectives of Elton Mayo," Review of Economics and Statistics 31 (1949): 312–321; R. Bendix, Work and Authority in Industry (New York and London: Wiley, 1956), pp. 308 ff.
- 190. De Bonald, O. C., 1:355.

- 191. Hegel, *Philosophy of Right*, trans. T. M. Knox (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1945), pars. 183, 185–187, 236.
- 192. Marx, German Ideology, pp. 22-23, 57, 59; Karl Marx, Selected Writings in Sociology and Social Philosophy, ed. T. B. Bottomore and M. Rubel (London: Watts 1956), pp. 77, 146, 170-171, 219-220. (Hereafter cited as Sociology and Social Philosophy.) For a discussion of these themes, see H. Marcuse, Reason and Revolution (New York. Oxford University Press, 1954), pp. 273 ff. Maximilien Rubel, Karl Marx, Essai de biographie intellectuelle (Paris, 1957). The following from Engels expresses the Marxian attempt to transcend economic categories: "Modern economics cannot even judge the mercantile system correctly, since it is itself one-sided and as yet fenced in by that very system's premises. Only that view which rises above the opposition of the two systems, which criticizes the premises common to both and proceeds from a purely human, universal basis, can assign to both their proper position." Engels, Outline of a Critique of Political Economy, in Marx, Economic and Philosophic Manuscripts of 1844, trans. M. Milligan (Moscow: Foreign Language Publishing House, n.d.), p. 179. See also Marx, A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy, trans. N. J. Stone (New York, 1904), pp. 292 ff.
- 193. Marx, *German Ideology*, pp. 66–67, 74–75. See also Engels, *Herr Eugen Dühring's Revolution in Science*, trans. E. Burns (New York: International Publishers, n.d.), pp. 314, 318, 328–329.
- 194. Durkheim, *Suicide*, pp. 363–364; *Professional Ethics*, p. 12. The quotation from de Bonald is in *O. C.*, 1:355.
- 195. Durkheim, *Division of Labor*, pp. 13–15; *Suicide*, pp. 247–258; *Professional Ethics*, pp. 11–12. Parenthetically it might be noted that Durkheim's concept of anomie perpetuated the theme of Montesquieu and Rousseau that the state of war commences in civil society and not, as Hobbes would have it, in the state of nature: see *Division of Labor*, p. 15.
- 196. Durkheim, Suicide, p. 257.
- 197. Ibid., pp. 209, 258. In one sense Durkheim's argument was curious. While asserting that a greater tendency to suicide existed in highly individualistic societies, he also believed that individualism contributed a salutary tension to society. Thus the individualists tended to perform the role of a sacrificial group whose self-destructiveness was the source of its social utility.
- 198. Durkheim, Division of Labor, pp. 203-204.
- 199. Ibid., pp. 5–26, 119–120, 203–204; Les règles, pp. 112–113. See also Tönnies, Community and Association, pp. 74–89, where the Gesellschalt conception carries many of the same meanings as Durkheim's critique of interest. Relevant in this connection is Durkheim's review of Tönnies' Gemeinschaft und Gesellschaft in Revue philosophique de la France et de l'étranger 27 (1889): 416–422.

- 200. Durkheim, *Professional Ethics*, p. 16; *Le socialisme*, p. 297. Compare Lewin: "The realistic demands of production have to be satisfied in a way which conforms with the nature of group dynamics." *Resolving Social Conflicts* (New York: Harper, 1948), pp. 137–138.
- 201. Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels, Historisch-kritische Gesamtausgabe (Frankfurt, 1927), Abt. 1, Bd. 3, pp. 252–253; German Ideology, pp. 14–15; Engels, Letters to Schmidt and Mehring, in Karl Marx, Selected Works, ed. V. Adoratsky, 2 vols. (New York: International Publishers, n.d.), 1:383–384, 386–387, 388–389. For discussions see Alfred Meyer, Marxism: The Unity of Theory and Practice (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1954), pp. 14–15, 69 ff.; Rubel, Karl Marx, pp. 190–197; H. B. Acton, The Illusion of the Epoch (Boston: Beacon, 1957), pp. 125–133, 138–139; J. Hyppolite, "La structure du 'Capital' et de quelques présuppositions philosophiques dans l'oeuvre de Marx," Bulletin de la Société Française de Philosophie, no. 6 (1948): 169–203; and also the interesting collection of texts arranged by Rubel, Karl Marx. Pages choisies pour une éthique socialiste (Paris, 1948), especially pp. 34 ff.
- 202. Lenin, Selected Works, 2:61-62.
- 203. Whitehead, *Leadership in a Free Society*, p. 18. The classic exposition of this point of view is presented in a fascinating case study by Chester Barnard, "Riot of the Unemployed at Trenton, N.J., 1935," in *Organization and Management: Selected Papers* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1949), pp. 51–80.
- 204. Note Lenin's attack on those who strove "to transplant English trade unionism to their own soil and to preach to the workers that the purely trade union struggle is the struggle for themselves and for their children, and not the struggle for some kind of socialism for some future generation." *Selected Works*, 2:59.
- 205. Mayo, *Human Problems*, pp. 152–153. See also William F. Whyte et al., *Money and Motivation* (New York: Harpers, 1955), pp. 2–7.
- 206. Mayo, Human Problems, p. 182; L. J. Henderson, T. N. Whitehead, and E. Mayo, "The Effects of Social Environment," in Gulick and Urwick, Papers on the Science of Administration, p. 156.
- 207. F. J. Roethlisberger, *Management and Morale* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1950), pp. 52, 62; Whitehead, *Leadership in a Free Society*, p. 82.
- 208. Roethlisberger, *Management and Morale*, p. 65; Bakke, *People and Organizations*, pp. 15 ff.
- 209. Selznick, *Leadership in Administration*, p. 19. "One might almost say that the organization has a character, an individuality, which makes the name real. The scientist will not accept any such reification or personalizing of an organization. But participants in these organizations are subject to no such scientific scruples, and generations of men have felt and thought about the organizations they belonged to as something real in themselves." E. W. Bakke, *Bonds of Organization* (New York: Harper, 1950), pp. 152–153.

- 210. Mayo, Human Problems, pp. 181-182.
- 211. Whitehead, Henderson, and Mayo, in Gulick and Urwick, *Papers on the Science of Administration*, p. 157; Whitehead, *Leadership in a Free Society*, pp. 91–92; Mayo, *Human Problems*, p. 165.
- 212. Whitehead et al., in Gulick and Urwick, *Papers on the Science of Administration*, p. 156.
- 213. Roethlisberger, *Management and Morale*, p. 66. "... My fundamental purpose in studying primitive man was to know modern man better..." W. L. Warner and P. S. Lunt, *The Social Life of a Modern Community* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1941), p. 3. Note, in ibid., pp. 4–5, 39, the admission that the authors ruled out the study of certain highly industrialized communities because they "seemed to be disorganized" and "highly disfunctional."
- 214. "In such a society every tool or weapon, every ritual performance or magic and the whole kinship system is inexorably related to communal action and function." Mayo, *Human Problems*, pp. 154, 155–156.
- 215. Simon, Administrative Behavior, p. 122.
- 216. Simon, Models of Man, p. 199.
- 217. Barnard, Functions of the Executive, p. 4.
- 218. Simon, Administrative Behavior, pp. 14, 38–39, 109, 118–119.
- 219. Ibid., pp. 11, 125, 126.
- 220. Ibid., p. 125.
- 221. Ibid., p. 101. See pp. 102–103 for the various ways an organization instills loyalties and creates identifications.
- 222. Chester I. Barnard, *Dilemmas of Leadership in the Democratic Process* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1939), p. 7.
- 223. Simon, Administrative Behavior, pp. xxv-xxvi.
- 224. Philip Selznick, "Foundations of the Theory of Organization," American Sociological Review 12 (1948): 23–35, pp. 25–26 (copyright 1948 by the University of Chicago); Leadership in Administration, pp. 8–9. The writings of E. W. Bakke are in the same tradition as Selznick. The members of an organization, he writes, "create a social system and a society which has a reality greater than the sum of its parts at any particular time." Bonds of Organization, pp. 200–201, 203. See also his notion of the "organizational charter," ibid., pp. 152 ff. For the same point of view but in terms of small groups, see Kurt Lewin, Field Theory in Social Science, ed. D. Cartwright (New York: Harper, 1951), p. 146. The juxtaposition of empirical reality versus preconceived pattern appears also in Jacob Talmon's critique of democratic radicalism, The Rise of Totalitarian Democracy (Boston: Beacon, 1952); and see Talmon's explicitly Burkean theory of politics at pp. 1–6, 253–255. For a subtler presentation of this same general position, but without the admiration for bureaucracy, see the two essays by Michael Oakeshott, "Political Education," in Philosophy,

- *Politics and Society*, ed. Peter Laslett (Oxford: Blackwell, 1956), pp. 1–21; and "Rationalism in Politics," *Cambridge Journal* 1 (1947): 81–108, 145–157.
- 225. Selznick, "Foundations of the Theory of Organization," p. 29.
- 226. Selznick, Leadership in Administration, pp. 5, 21.
- 227. Ibid., pp. 12–13, 16–17 (italics in the original).
- 228. Ibid., pp. 8, 18.
- 229. Ibid., p. 100 (italics in the original).
- 230. Simon, *Administrative Behavior*, pp. 101, 109; Barnard, *Functions of the Executive*, pp. 187–188. Compare also the following from a writer who belongs to the organicist group: "A society is free so far as the behavior it makes appropriate and natural for its citizens—the behavior they feel is good—is also the behavior its controls demand of them." Homans, *The Human Group*, p. 333.
- 231. Proudhon, O. C., 17:167.
- 232. Marx, Sociology and Social Philosophy, p. 220.
- 233. Proudhon, *General Idea of Revolution in the Nineteenth Century*, trans. J. B. Robinson (London: Freedom Press, 1923), pp. 45–46.
- 234. Proudhon, General Idea of Revolution, pp. 74–76; De la capacité politique des classes ouvrières (Paris, 1868), p. 58; O. C., 17:171.
- 235. Marx, Sociology and Social Philosophy, p. 217 (italics in original).
- 236. Proudhon, O. C., 3:43. A "change toward democracy . . . would include, for instance, increased emphasis on human values as against superhuman values, such as the state, politics, science." Kurt Lewin, *Resolving Social Conflicts*, p. 36.
- 237. Drucker, The Future of Industrial Man, p. 109.
- 238. Mayo, *Democracy and Freedom* (Melbourne: Macmillan, 1919), pp. 43, 48–50, 51–52, 65.
- 239. Durkheim, Suicide, pp. 379–380; Division of Labor, pp. 28, 180–181, 361; Professional Ethics, pp. 45, 87, 90, 101–102. See also Mayo, Human Problems, pp. 126–127, 147, 149–50, 167; Democracy and Freedom, p. 6; Lewin, Resolving Social Conflicts, pp. 54, 57–58, 72–73, 85, 102.
- 240. Marx, *Sociology and Social Philosophy*, pp. 233, 234–237. Compare also Tönnies, *Community and Association*, p. 29.
- 241. Proudhon, O. C., 3:43.
- 242. Russell W. Davenport, as cited in Kerr and Fisher, "Plant Sociology," p. 305.
- 243. Berle, The Twentieth Century Capitalist Revolution, p. 60.
- 244. Ibid., p. 17; Drucker, Concept of the Corporation, p. 12.
- 245. Drucker, *Future of Industrial Man*, pp. 52–53. Note, too, the argument of C. M. Arensberg and G. Tootell ("Plant Sociology: Real Discoveries and New Problems," in *Common Frontiers of the Social Sciences*, pp. 314–315) that the plant manager is dealing with a political unit rather than "a cultural or emotional" one.

- 246. Drucker, *The Practice of Management*, pp. 102–103, 139 ff.; *Concept of the Corporation*, p. 208; Berle, *The Twentieth Century Capitalist Revolution*, pp. 60, 83, 169.
- 247. Selznick, Leadership in Administration, pp. 1-10.
- 248. Ibid., pp. 37, 58-59, 62-63.
- 249. Ibid., p. 61.
- 250. Selznick, *The Organizational Weapon: A Study of Bolshevik Strategy and Tactics* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1952), p. 278; *Leadership in Administration*, pp. 14, 121–122.
- 251. Selznick, The Organizational Weapon, p. 283.
- 252. V. Pareto, *The Mind and Society*, trans. A. Bongiorno and A. Livingstone, 4 vols. (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1935), vol. 1, par. 246; vol. 3, pars. 2025–2057; vol. 4, pars. 2183–2184, 2244–2267; R. Michels, *Political Parties*, trans. Eden and Cedar Paul (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1958), pp. 49–59, 80–90; G. Mosca, *The Ruling Class*, ed. A. Livingstone (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1938), pp. 65–69, 168, 171–173, 394–395, 415–427; and see the recent study by J. H. Meisel, *The Myth of the Ruling Class* (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 1958).
- 253. Ibid., pp. 284, 291.
- 254. Marx, Sociology and Social Philosophy, pp. 182-183.
- 255. Lenin, *Opportunism and Social Chauvinism*, Little Lenin Library (London: Lawrence and Wishart, 1914), 22:19. "I think that Bolsheviks remind us of Antaeus, the hero of Greek mythology. Like Antaeus they are strong in keeping contact with their mother, the masses, who bore them, fed them and educated them. And as long as they keep contact with their mother, the people, they have every chance of remaining invincible." Joseph Stalin, *On Organization*, Little Stalin Library (London: Lawrence and Wishart, 1942), p. 21.
- 256. The relationship between decadence and interest was one of the main themes of Lenin's contemporary and admirer Georges Sorel. See *Réflexions sur la violence*, pp. 113–114, 115–122, 273, 315–317, 322–326, where Sorel discusses the loss of vitality on the part of the bourgeoisie and the need for an austere and heroic morality ("*la moralité de la violence*") for the proletariat.
- 257. Lenin, *Selected Works*, 2:68 n. 1. In this and subsequent quotations from Lenin all italicized words are in the original.
- 258. Ibid., p. 88.
- 259. Ibid., pp. 78, 80, 88–89, 95, 98, 101.
- 260. "The tasks of the Social-Democrats, however, are most exhausted by political agitation in the economic field; their task is to convert trade union politics into the Social Democratic political struggle, to utilize the flashes of political consciousness which gleam in the minds of the workers during their economic struggles for the purpose of raising them to the level of Social-Democratic

- political consciousness . . . We must take upon ourselves the task of organizing a universal political struggle. We must train our Social-Democratic practical workers to become political leaders . . . "Ibid., pp. 92fn, 103.
- 261. Ibid., pp. 88-89.
- 262. Weber's discussion of bureaucracy forms an interesting comparison with Hegel's admiration for this same "universal class." Compare *From Max Weber*, pp. 196 ff., with Hegel's *Philosophy of Right*, pars. 288 ff., and see also the discussion by Michael Foster, *The Political Philosophies of Plato and Hegel* (Oxford: Clarendon, 1935), pp. 160 ff.
- 263. From Max Weber, pp. 139, 148, 155.
- 264. Ibid., p. 95.
- 265. Ibid., pp. 139–140, 143, 145–147, 154; *Methodology of the Social Sciences*, pp. 15–19, 54–55, 76.
- 266. From Max Weber, p. 152.
- 267. "... paraphrasing a well-known epigram: give us an organization of revolutionaries, and we shall overturn the whole of Russia." *Selected Works*, 2:141.
- 268. Ibid., pp. 125, 134, 138. And see the discussion in Alfred G. Meyer, *Leninism* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1957), pp. 32 ff. and chap. 2.
- 269. Lenin, Selected Works, 2:188.
- 270. Ibid., pp. 96, 116–117, 121, 134, 143–144; *Eve of October,* Little Lenin Library, 23:5; *Left-Wing Communism, An Infantile Disorder,* Little Lenin Library, 16:10–11, 75–76.
- 271. Lenin, Selected Works, 2:184.
- 272. Ibid., pp. 122, 123, 141, 145, 183–184.
- 273. Michels, *Political Parties*; Barnard, *Dilemmas of Leadership in the Democratic Process*, pp. 10–15, 16 n. 7; Mayo, *Democracy and Freedom*, pp. 13, 19–20, 20–28, 33–34, 38, 42–43; Selznick, *The Organizational Weapon*, pp. 278–279.
- 274. Lenin, Selected Works, 2:447-448, 456 n. 1.
- 275. Ibid., pp. 138–139, 360–361, 373. "For revolution, it is essential, first that a majority of the workers (or at least a majority of the class-conscious thinking politically active workers) should fully understand the necessity for revolution and be ready to sacrifice their lives for it . . ." *Left-Wing Communism*, p. 65.
- 276. Lenin, Selected Works, 2:155-156.
- 277. Lenin, *State and Revolution* (New York: International Publishers, 1932), p. 23; see also pp. 11, 17, 22.
- 278. Ibid., pp. 42-44, 53.
- 279. Ibid., pp. 42, 43, 52–53; *Opportunism and Social-Chauvinism*, pp. 26, 29. Lenin even argued that the managerial technicians of the old system would have to be retained in the new society. The assumption that administrative and technical skills are universally applicable to any political or social system is a commonplace of recent literature.

- 280. Lenin, State and Revolution, p. 65; Opportunism and Social-Chauvinism, p. 26.
- 281. Lenin, State and Revolution, pp. 42-43.
- 282. Ibid., pp. 82-84.
- 283. The conservative orientation of his theory is avowed by Selznick (*The Organizational Weapon*, p. 314 n. 18) in a work which not only analyzes Communist theory of party organization, but extracts lessons from it for any theory of organization. The conservative cast to the thought of Selznick and, earlier, Mayo suggests how hopelessly anachronistic are the contemporary romantic conservative writers. Instead of appealing to Burke, writers like Kirk and Rossiter would be better advised to recognize their true allies.
- 284. Selznick, The Organizational Weapon, pp. 286, 295, 313.
- 285. Selznick, Leadership in Administration, pp. 27, 149.
- 286. Ibid., pp. 27-28, 37, 60, 147-148.
- 287. Ibid., pp. 90, 150. It is indicative of the modern notion of consent that even a professedly "democratic" writer like Kurt Lewin, who devoted his psychological researches to exploring the conditions conducive to a democratic group life, should have produced a theory of "acceptance" not significantly different from the more bureaucratic theories of Selznick. See *Resolving Social Conflicts*, pp. 116–117.
- 288. The concern with "commitment" leads to a curious contrast between what Selznick labels the "Stalinist" and the "Stalinoid": the latter is alienated, lacking in commitment to ideals, and prone to accept expediency—"a fellowtraveler"—while the "Stalinist" has made "the fateful leap to a new set of values" and found a new source of spiritual support. *The Organizational Weapon*, pp. 298–307.
- 289. Selznick, Leadership in Administration, p. 18.
- 290. Ibid., pp. 18, 116; The Organizational Weapon, p. 288.
- 291. Selznick, Leadership in Administration, pp. 96–97, 151.
- 292. Ibid., pp. 14, 100.
- 293. Bentley, Process of Government, pp. 208–209.
- 294. See, for example, Cole, *Social Theory*, chap. 5 and pp. 132–134, and *Guild Socialism Re-Stated*, pp. 122–124.
- 295. S. M. Lipset, "Democracy in Private Government: A Case Study of the International Typographical Union," *British Journal of Sociology* 3 (1952): 47–65.
- 296. W. B. Donham in his foreword to Mayo, Social Problems, p. viii.
- 297. Mayo, *Human Problems*, p. 149. If management does not assume leadership in the community, Whitehead warns, political organizations, "whose methods are not always desirable or easy to control," will intervene. *Leadership in a Free Society*, p. 119.
- 298. Berle, The Twentieth Century Capitalist Revolution, p. 175.
- 299. "It is not an easy matter to revive the sense of personal obligation to work in a new form in which it is attached to the status of citizenship . . . That is why

many people think that the solution of our problem lies in the development of more limited loyalties, to the local community and especially to the working group. This latter form of industrial citizenship, devolving its obligations down to the basic unit of production, might supply some of the vigour that citizenship in general appears to lack." T. H. Marshall, *Citizenship and Social Class* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1950), p. 80.

CHAPTER ELEVEN From Modern to Postmodern Power

- 1. Richard Waswo, *Language and Meaning in the Renaissance* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1987), pp. x–xi.
- For different appreciations of Hobbes as the herald of modernity, see Hans Blumenberg, The Legitimacy of the Modern Age, trans. Robert M. Wallace (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1983), pp. 218 ff.; Leo Strauss, Political Philosophy: Six Essays, ed. Hilail Gildin (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1975), pp. 48 ff. Blumenberg and Strauss are both carefully discussed by N.J. Rengger, Political Theory, Modernity and Postmodernity (Oxford: Blackwell, 1995), pp. 55 ff.
- 3. Hobbes, Leviathan, ed. Oakeshott, chap. 46, pp. 435–436.
- 4. *The Presocratic Philosophers*, ed. G. S. Kirk and J. E. Raven (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1960), frag. 199, p. 188.
- 5. "The Great Instauration," in *Works of Francis Bacon* (1870), ed. James Spedding, Robert Leslie Ellis, and Douglas Denon Heath (New York: Garrett Press, 1968), 4:32.
- Aristotle, On Philosophy. See also Werner Jaeger, Aristotle: Fundamentals of the History of His Development, 2nd ed. (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1948), pp. 124–166, 426–461.
- 7. Cited in Frederick B. Artz, *The Mind of the Middle Ages* (New York: Knopf, 1954), p. 11.
- 8. There is an abundance of secondary literature on Bacon. See Brian Vickers, ed., Essential Articles for the Study of Francis Bacon (Hamden, Conn., Archon, 1968); Paoli Rossi, Francis Bacon: From Magic to Science, trans. Sacha Rabinovitch (London: Routledge, 1968); Antonio Pérez-Ramos, Francis Bacon's Idea of Science and the Makers' Knowledge Tradition (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1988); Lisa Jardine, Francis Bacon: Discovery and the Art of Discourse (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1974). For a perceptive study from a Straussian perspective and concentrating on Bacon's fables, see Laurence Lampert, Nietzsche and Modern Times: A Study of Bacon, Descartes, and Nietzsche (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1993).
- 9. "Novum Organon," in Selected Writings of Francis Bacon, ed. Hugh G. Dick (New York: Modern Library, 1955), p. 499 (aphorism 81).

- 10. Cited in Steven Shapin and Simon Schaffer, *Leviathan and the Air-Pump: Hobbes, Boyle, and the Experimental Life* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1985), p. 129.
- 11. "Novum Organon," p. 526 (aphorism 115).
- 12. Ibid., p. 499 (aphorism 81).
- 13. "The Great Instauration," in *Works*, 4:29. Compare Dewey: "Now there is only one road to discovery, and that is penetrating inquiry into the secrets of nature. Scientific principles and laws . . . are hidden, and must be wrested from nature by an active and elaborate technique of inquiry . . . Active experimentation must force the apparent facts of nature into forms different to those in which they familiarly present themselves; and thus make them tell the truth about themselves, as torture may compel an unwilling witness to reveal what he has been concealing." *Reconstruction in Philosophy* (1920) (New York: Mentor Book, 1950), p. 48.
- 14. See the suggestive study by Stephen L. Collins, *From Divine Cosmos to Sovereign State* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1989).
- 15. Cited in Fulton H. Anderson, *The Philosophy of Francis Bacon* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1948), p. 161.
- 16. Leviathan, chap. 10, p. 150 (Macpherson ed.).
- 17. Hobbes, Elements of Law 1.1.9.
- 18. Dewey, Reconstruction in Philosophy, p. 46.
- 19. Thomas Jefferson, *Notes on Virginia*, ed. William Peden (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1955), p. 161.
- 20. There are several suggestive articles from Past and Present in the collection The Intellectual Revolution of the Seventeenth Century, ed. Charles Webster (London: Routledge, 1974). See also Margaret C. Jacob and James R. Jacob, The Origins of Anglo-American Radicalism (Atlantic Highlands, N.J.: Humanities Press, 1991).
- 21. Roger Hahn, *The Anatomy of a Scientific Institution: The Paris Academy of Sciences, 1666–1803* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University California Press, 1971), pp. 183, 185.
- 22. Ibid., pp. 252, 282–283. See also Keith Michael Baker, *Condorcet: From Natural Philosophy to Social Mathematics* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1975).
- 23. Alexis de Tocqueville, Oeuvres complètes, ed. J.-P. Mayer et al. (Paris: Gallimard, 1952–), vol. 2, pt. 1, pp. 242, 243. On the role of bureaucracy, see Marc Raeff, The Well-Ordered Police State: Social and Institutional Change through Law in the Germanies and Russia, 1600–1800 (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1983).
- 24. *The Federalist* No. 4, p. 20 (Jay); No. 62, p. 422 (Madison), in *The Federalist*, ed. Jacob E. Cooke (Middletown, Conn.: Wesleyan University Press, 1961).

Jay's formulation is worth quoting: "One Government [in contrast to the thirteen separate colonial governments] can harmonize, assimilate, and protect the several parts and members, and extend the benefits of its foresight and precautions to each. In the formation of treaties it will regard the interest of the whole, and the particular interests of the parts as connected with that of the whole. It can apply the resources and power of the whole to the defense of any particular part, and that more easily and expeditiously than State Governments, or separate confederacies can possibly so do, for want of concert and unity of system. It can place the militia under one plan of discipline, and by putting their officers in a proper line of subordination to the Chief Magistrate [i.e., the president] will as it were consolidate them into one corps, and thereby render them more efficient . . ." No. 4, pp. 20–21.

- 25. The Federalist, No. 33, p. 204.
- 26. See the important study by James M. Blythe, *Ideal Government and the Mixed Constitution in the Middle Ages* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1992).
- 27. Johann Gottlob von Justi, *Die Grundfeste zu der Machtund Glückseligkeit der Staaten* (1760–1761), cited in Pasquale Pasquino, "Theatrum politicum: The Genealogy of Capital—Police and the State of Prosperity," in *The Foucault Effect: Studies in Governmentality*, ed. Graham Burchell, Colin Gordon, and Peter Miller (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991), p. 115.
- 28. There are suggestive discussions of these themes in the essays by Colin Gordon and Graham Burchell in *The Foucault Effect*.

CHAPTER TWELVE Marx: Theorist of the Political Economy of the Proletariat or of Uncollapsed Capitalism?

- The volume Feminists Theorize the Political, ed. Judith Butler and Joan W. Scott (New York: Routledge, 1992), does not consistently fulfill the promise of its title, but the articles by Kirstie McClure, Bonnie Honig, and Chantal Mouffe are exceptions.
- 2. Marx and Engels, *Manifesto of the Communist Party*, in *Birth of the Communist Manifesto*, ed. Dirk J. Struik (New York: International Publishers, 1971), pp. 91, 92, 94. All references to the *Manifesto* are from this edition.
- 3. It is also true that during this period capital was continuously engaged in union-busting and otherwise attempting to defeat organizing efforts by labor. Capital often succeeded in getting governments and the courts to aid in these efforts.
- 4. *Grundrisse*, ed. and trans. Martin Nicolaus (London: Penguin, 1973), pp. 409–410.

- 5. Ibid., pp. 540, 542.
- 6. The idea of totality has been traced by Martin Jay, *Marxism and Totality: The Adventures of a Concept from Lukacs to Habermas* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1984).
- 7. "Theses on Feuerbach," in *Marx: Early Writings*, trans. Rodney Livingstone and Gregory Benton (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1975), theses 2 and 11, pp. 422, 423.
- 8. There were exceptions, e.g., Machiavelli.
- 9. Marx and Engels, *Manifesto of the Communist Party*, p. 109. A reliable, fairminded biography is David McLellan, *Karl Marx: His Life and Thought* (London: Macmillan, 1973). Still useful is the earlier work by Boris Nicolaievsky and Otto Maenchen-Helfen, *Karl Marx: Man and Fighter*, rev. ed., trans. Gwenda David and Eric Mosbacher (London: Penguin, 1973). Unfailingly interesting, if unsympathetic, is Isaiah Berlin, *Karl Marx: His Life and Environment* (London: Oxford University Press, 1948).
- 10. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 84.
- 11. Karl Marx, "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Tom Bottomore (New York: McGraw Hill, 1963), p. 63.
- 12. Letter to Arnold Ruge, March 13, 1843, in Karl Marx and Frederick Engels, *Collected Works* (New York: International Publishers, 1975), 1:400.
- 13. See David McLellan's careful and balanced account, *The Young Hegelians and Karl Marx* (Praeger, 1969), and Robert Tucker, *Philosophy and Myth in Karl Marx* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1961), especially pts. 1 and 2. For Feuerbach, see the fine study by Marx W. Wartofsky, *Feuerbach* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1977). Also useful are Eugene Kamenka, *The Philosophy of Ludwig Feuerbach* (London: Routledge, 1970), and McLellan, *The Young Hegelians and Karl Marx*, pp. 85 ff.
- 14. "Criticism . . . is not a scalpel but a weapon. Its object is its enemy, which it wishes not to refute but to destroy . . . Just as philosophy finds its material weapons in the proletariat, so the proletariat finds its spiritual weapons in philosophy . . ." Marx, "A Contribution to the Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right': Introduction," in *Critique of Hegel's "Philosophy of Right"*, ed. Joseph O'Malley (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1970), pp. 133, 142.
- 15. It is also the case that Hegel was reinvoked in *Capital*, trans. Ben Fowkes (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1976), 1:102–103, 149, 269; 3:101, 139, 752–753, 914. There is a suggestive analysis of Hegel's influence on Marx's *Grundrisse* in Martin Nicolaus's foreword, pp. 26 ff.
- 16. Here I am indebted to the fine study by Laurence Dickey, *Hegel: Religion, Economics, and the Politics of Spirit, 1770–1807* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1987), especially pt. 3.

- 17. For a good discussion of Smith and the "legislator," see Donald Winch, *Adam Smith's Politics: An Essay in Historiographic Revision* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1978), pp. 12–13, 159–173.
- 18. Cited from Steuart's *Principles of Political Oeconomy* (1767), in Dickey, *Hegel*, pp. 198–199.
- 19. G.W.F. Hegel, *Natural Law*, trans. T. M. Knox (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1975), pp. 123, 102–103. See also Dickey's helpful discussion, in *Hegel*, pp. 215–218.
- 20. Hegel's Philosophy of Right, trans. T. M. Knox (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1942), par. 291, p. 190.
- 21. For a careful account, see McLellan, *The Young Hegelians and Karl Marx*. Also useful is the same author's *Marx before Marxism* (New York: Harper & Row, 1970). Terrell Carver, ed., *Karl Marx: Texts on Method* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1975), concentrates on Marx's later writings.
- 22. "Critical Notes on 'The King of Prussia and Social Reform,'" in *Writings of the Young Marx on Philosophy and Society*, ed. Lloyd D. Easton and Kurt H. Guddat (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1967), p. 350.
- 23. "Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right,'" pp. 117, 118.
- 24. "... 'The King of Prussia' ...," p. 349.
- 25. "On the Jewish Question," in Early Writings, trans. Bottomore, pp. 28, 29.
- 26. Letter to Arnold Ruge, September 1843, trans. Easton and Guddat, p. 213.
- 27. "Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right,'" pp. 72, 73. Two interesting recent efforts at developing the political implications in this and other early formulations by Marx are Nancy Schwartz, "Distinction between Private and Public Life: Marx on the *politikon zoon*," *Political Theory* 7 (1979): 245–266; Paul Thomas, "Alien Politics: Marxian Perspective on Citizenship and Democracy," in *After Marx*, ed. Terence Ball and James Farr (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984), pp. 124–140.
- 28. "Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right,'" pp. 80-81.
- 29. Ibid., p. 80.
- 30. "... 'The King of Prussia' ...," p. 349.
- 31. "On the Jewish Question," in Early Writings, trans. Bottomore, pp. 24-26.
- 32. "... 'The King of Prussia' ...," p. 356.
- 33. "Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right,'" pp. 29-30.
- 34. Ibid., p. 30.
- 35. "On The Jewish Question," in Early Writings, trans. Bottomore, pp. 14, 15.
- 36. See Michael Evans, Karl Marx (London: Allen & Unwin, 1975), p. 120.
- 37. "A Contribution to the Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right': Introduction," pp. 137–138, 142. Hereafter this work will be cited as *CCHPR. Int.*
- 38. Ibid., p. 138.
- 39. Ibid., pp. 136, 137.

- 40. Ibid., p. 137.
- 41. Ibid., pp. 141–142.
- 42. Ibid., p. 142.
- 43. In a section of the *Manifesto of the Communist Party* Marx and Engels criticize "Critical-Utopian Socialism and Communism" for caring "chiefly" for the proletariat "as being the most suffering class." The same could be said of Marx. *Birth of the Communist Manifesto*, p. 121.
- 44. For Marx's references to Luther and the Reformation, see *CCHPR. Int.*, p. 138. For a succinct discussion of various scholarly interpretations of the "religious" element in these passages, see McLellan, *Marx before Marxism*, pp. 155–156.
- 45. CCHPR. Int., p. 140.
- 46. "On the Jewish Question," in *Early Writings*, trans. Bottomore, p. 31. Marx's phrase *forces propres* was taken from Rousseau's *Contrat social*. See Julius L. Loewenstein, *Marx against Marxism*, trans. Harry Drost (London: Routledge, 1980), p. 51.
- 47. The *Manuscripts* remained unpublished during Marx's lifetime. An accurate text became available in 1932.
- 48. "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Bottomore, pp. 69, 85.
- 49. *Two Treatises of Government*, ed. Peter Laslett (New York: Mentor, 1965), 2.18, 199.
- 50. "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Bottomore, p. 147.
- 51. Marx carefully distinguished between those economists he considered thoughtful and even disinterested and those he considered vulgar apologists. See, for example, *Capital*, trans. Ben Fowkes (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1976), 1:760 n. 53, for his remarks on J. S. Mill. There is valuable material on Marx and the classical political economists in Ronald L. Meek, *Smith, Marx, and After* (London: Chapman and Hall, 1977).
- 52. "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Bottomore, pp. 71, 76.
- 53. "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Writings of the Young Marx*, trans. Easton and Guddat, pp. 289, 291, 296.
- 54. "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Bottomore, p. 158.
- 55. Ibid., p. 128.
- 56. "Economic and Philosophic Manuscripts," in Writings of the Young Marx, trans. Easton and Guddat, p. 293.
- 57. Ibid. p. 295.
- 58. Ibid., p. 314. In the third of his manuscripts Marx outlined the stages of communism, beginning with "crude communism," which seeks to destroy all

forms of private property. The second form is either "political" (democratic or despotic) or it may abolish the state but still remain "infected by private property." Finally Marx identifies his form of communism as "restoration of man to himself within the total wealth of previous development, the restoration of man as a social, that is, human being . . ." Ibid., p. 304. There is a useful summary in McLellan, *Marx before Marxism*, pp. 180 ff.

- 59. "Economic and Philosophic Manuscripts," in *Writings of the Young Marx*, trans. Easton and Guddat, pp. 271–272.
- 60. "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Bottomore, pp. 159–162.
- 61. Ibid., pp. 160, 161, 162.
- 62. Ibid., p. 157.
- 63. Ibid., pp. 163, 164.
- 64. German Ideology, p. 83.
- 65. "Inaugural Address of the International Workingmen's Association," in *The First International and After*, trans. David Fernbach (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1974), p. 79.
- 66. By 1864 Marx had written *Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy* (1859), *Grundrisse* (1857–1858), and *Theories of Surplus Value* (1862–1863), and *Capital* would appear in 1867.
- 67. "Inaugural Address," in The First International and After, trans. Fernbach, p. 80.
- 68. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, pp. 84-89.
- 69. Ibid., p. 38.
- 70. Marx, *Capital*, trans. David Fernbach (New York: Random House, 1981), 3:1018.
- 71. Marx, *Capital*, ed. Frederick Engels, trans. Samuel Moore and Edward Aveling, 3 vols. (New York: International Publishers, 1967), vol. 1, preface to the first German edition, p. 10.
- 72. "Letter to Annenkov," in *Poverty of Philosophy*, ed. C. P. Dutt and V. Chattopadhaya (New York: International Publishers, n.d.), p. 152.
- 73. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:273.
- 74. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, pp. 37, 31, 39.
- 75. Karl Marx, "A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy," in *Selected Works*, ed. V. Adoratsky, 2 vols. (New York: International Publishers, n.d.), 1:356.
- 76. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:270, 271.
- 77. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 516.
- 78. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:173.
- 79. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 60.
- 80. Karl Marx, Capital, ed. Engels, 1:79.
- 81. Marx, Capital, trans. Fernbach, 3:927.

- 82. Marx, "A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy," pp. 356–357. See also Marx's letter to Annenkov of 1846, *Selected Correspondence* (Moscow: Foreign Languages Publishing House, n.d.), pp. 40–41. The best analysis of Marx's conception of "fetters" is to be found in the fine study by G. A. Cohen, *Karl Marx's Theory of History: A Defence*, exp. ed. (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2000), pp. 177–179, 326–340. See also Richard W. Miller, *Analyzing Marx: Morality, Power and History* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1984), chap. 5.
- 83. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 37.
- 84. Marx and Engels, Manifesto of the Communist Party, pp. 94, 95.
- 85. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:187.
- 86. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 87.
- 87. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:876.
- 88. Hannah Arendt, *On Revolution* (New York: Viking, 1963) and *On Violence* (New York: Harcourt, 1969).
- 89. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:916.
- 90. Grundrisse, p. 769.
- 91. German Ideology, p. 94.
- 92. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:928
- 93. Perhaps the most vivid descriptions of the role of violence in economic change are in the chapters where Marx described "primitive accumulation." See *Capital*, vol. 1, pt. 8, chaps. 26–28.
- 94. Manifesto of the Communist Party, p. 98.
- 95. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:444.
- 96. Karl Marx and Frederick Engels, The Holy Family, in Collected Works, 4:131.
- 97. Raymond Aron, *Main Currents in Sociological Thought*, trans. Richard Howard and Helen Weaver, 2 vols. (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1968), 1:216.
- 98. Hannah Arendt, *The Human Condition* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1958), p. 12. It should be noted that Arendt was careful to distinguish her criticisms from those of hardened anti-Marxists. See ibid., p. 79. This was more in keeping with her generally favorable references to, and reliance upon, Marx in *The Origins of Totalitarianism* (New York: Harcourt Brace, 1951), p. 249. In *On Violence*, p. 12 and passim, she uses Marx to criticize Sartre's praise of violence. See also her comments in *Between Past and Future: Six Exercises in Political Thought* (New York: Viking, 1961), pp. 17–18.
- 99. Arendt, Between Past and Future, p. 23.
- 100. Arendt, *The Human Condition*, p. 42 n. 35. In *The Origins of Totalitarianism*, where Marx is frequently invoked in support of her argument, she referred to "his utter neglect of political questions" (p. 34). And this about someone who spent a good part of his adult life eking out existence as a political journalist.
- 101. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 488.

- 102. Ibid.
- 103. Marx, "On the Jewish Question," in Early Writings, trans. Bottomore, p. 30.
- 104. Marx never assumes that cooperation is synonymous with voluntary action.
- 105. Marx, "Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts," in *Early Writings*, trans. Livingstone and Benton, p. 348.
- 106. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 45.
- 107. Marx cites this passage: see *Theories of Surplus Value*, trans. Emile Burns, 3 vols. (London: Lawrence & Wishart, 1969), 1:353.
- 108. Marx, The Holy Family, p. 45.
- 109. Adam Smith, *Lectures on Justice, Police, Revenue, and Arms*, ed. E. Cannan (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1896), p. 8.
- 110. Marx analyzed at length the relationship between the progenitors of modern political liberalism—such as Hobbes and Locke, who gave theoretical form to bourgeois society as dominated by "one abstract monetary-commercial relation"—and political economy. Marx remarked that political economy is the science of that political theory and found its culmination in Bentham. See *German Ideology*, pp. 449–453.
- 111. Marx quotes extensively from Locke on labor and the origins of private property. *Theories of Surplus Value*, 1:365–367.
- 112. Locke, Two Treatises of Government 2.128, 27.
- 113. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 472.
- 114. Locke, *Two Treatises of Government* 2.27. Arendt developed an elaborate distinction between "labor" and "work," attributing to the former the qualities of being rooted in the maintenance of life, hence driven by necessity; its products are ephemeral, and its rhythms circular and repetitive. Work signifies freedom and the creation of durable objects for the public realm. See *Human Condition*, pp. 96–101, 118 ff., 136 ff. There is a helpful discussion of these matters in Margaret Canovan, *Hannah Arendt: A Reinterpretation of Her Political Thought* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1992), especially pp. 122–130.
- 115. Locke, Two Treatises of Government 2.6.
- 116. Ibid. 2.96.
- 117. It is significant that early in the twenty-first century a common theme among the champions of American power is that "democratic elections" tended to promote social instability and so-called failed states. The main source of this genre is Samuel Huntington. For a recent example, see Fareed Zakaria, *The Future of Freedom: Illiberal Democracy at Home and Abroad* (New York: Norton, 2003). Ironically, the downgrading of elections could be said to have had its American example in the 2000 election, although Zakaria treats the United States as the paradigmatic example of a good system where liberalism contains democracy.

- 118. For Marx's frequent use of political analogies to describe economic relationships, see *Wage Labor and Capital*, in Marx and Engels, *Collected Works*, 9:215, 221, 222; *Grundrisse*, pp. 693–694; *Capital*, trans. Fowkes, vol. 1, pt. 2, chap. 6, passim; pt. 2, chap. 13, pp. 443, 474–476, 482–483.
- 119. Marx's account of early economic systems is in the *Grundrisse*, pp. 471 ff. See also Eric Hobsbawm's superb introduction to Karl Marx, *Pre-capitalist Formations*, trans. Jack Cohen (London: Lawrence & Wishart, 1964).
- 120. *Grundrisse*, pp. 293, 284. "In reality what [the laborers] sell to the capitalist for money is their labor *power*." *Wage Labour and Capital*, in Marx and Engels, *Collected Works*, 9:202. The word "power" was introduced in the 1891 edition.
- 121. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:152.
- 122. Grundrisse, pp. 246-249.
- 123. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:272.
- 124. Grundrisse, p. 822.
- 125. Recall Locke's discussion of the "federative power" and royal prerogative in *Two Treatises* 2.147, 157–168.
- 126. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 464.
- 127. Marx, *Capital*, 1:482. I have translated *geistige Potenzen* as "spiritual powers" rather than as Fowkes's "intellectual potentialities." The latter does not capture the irony in Marx's effort to portray the mystical and mythical qualities with which bourgeois economists invest the economy.
- 128. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:326.
- 129. Ibid., pp. 274-277.
- 130. Ibid., p. 344.
- 131. "... 'The King of Prussia' ... ," p. 357.
- 132. Marx and Engels, Manifesto of the Communist Party, p. 112.
- 133. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:929.
- 134. Karl Marx and Frederick Engels, *German Ideology*, ed. S. Ryazanskaya (London: Lawrence & Wishart, 1965), p. 84.
- 135. German Ideology, p. 85.
- 136. Marx, "The Civil War in France," in Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels, *Writings on the Paris Commune*, ed. Hal Draper (New York: Monthly Review Press, 1971), p. 72.
- 137. The principal discussion of this point is where Marx and Engels discuss the nature of "appropriation" of the productive possibilities intimated by capitalism. Because capital has developed these possibilities "to a totality" that requires "a universal intercourse," appropriation must have that same character. This would mean "the development of the individual capacities corresponding to the material instruments of production." Marx and Engels then assert that "only the proletarians of the present day" who "are completely shut off from all

self-activity" can achieve the kind of unrestricted self-activity necessary to exploit fully the possibilities intimated by capital. This because the revolution will reverse capital's system whereby the "mass" was subservient to "a single instrument of production." Proletarian appropriation will usher in a system whereby "the mass of instruments of production must be made subject to each individual, and property to all." *German Ideology*, pp. 83–84.

- 138. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 277.
- 139. Ibid., p. 278.
- 140. Ibid., p. 704.
- 141. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 84.
- 142. Marx, Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:548.
- 143. Ibid.
- 144. Ibid., pp. 481, 482, 484.
- 145. Marx, The Poverty of Philosophy, p. 119.
- 146. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 700.
- 147. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 84.
- 148. Ibid., p. 86.
- 149. Marx, "Inaugural Address," in *The First International and After*, trans. Fernbach, p. 81.
- 150. Manifesto of the Communist Party, p. 103.
- 151. This point is emphasized by Richard N. Hunt, *The Political Ideas of Marx and Engels* (Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1974), 1:198. Hunt argues that Marx and Engels favored "a kind of participatory democracy organized without any professional leaders or administrators at all"(p. xiii).
- 152. Manifesto of the Communist Party, p. 99.
- 153. Marx, Grundrisse, p. 587.
- 154. Capital, trans. Fowkes, preface to first German edition, 1:90-91.
- 155. Ibid., p. 580.
- 156. Capital, trans. Fernbach, 3:352-353.
- 157. "Speech at the Anniversary of the People's Paper," in Selected Works, 2:428.
- 158. *Capital*, trans. Fowkes, 1:781 ff. "The ultimate reason for all real crises always remains the poverty and restricted consumption of the masses, in the face of the drive of capitalist production to develop the productive forces as if only the absolute consumption capacity of society set a limit to them." *Capital*, trans. Fernbach, 3:615.
- 159. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:799.
- 160. Grundrisse, p. 750.
- 161. Capital, trans. Moore and Aveling, 1:764.
- 162. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:929.
- 163. Capital, ed. Engels, 3:851.

- 164. Capital, trans. Fernbach, 3:511, 512. For a strong defense of the need for managerial authority in the post-revolutionary era, see Friedrich Engels on "Authority." It is conveniently included in Marx and Engels: Basic Writings on Politics and Philosophy, ed. Lewis S. Feuer (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1959), pp. 481–485.
- 165. "It is one of the civilizing aspects of capital that it extorts this surplus labor in a manner and in conditions that are more advantageous to social relations and to the creation of elements for a new and higher formation than was the case under the earlier forms of slavery, serfdom, etc. Thus on the one hand it leads towards a stage at which compulsion and the monopolization of social development (with its material and intellectual advantages) by one section of society at the expense of another disappears; on the other hand it creates the material means and the nucleus for relations that permit this surplus labor to be combined, in a higher form of society, with a greater reduction of the overall time devoted to material labor." *Capital*, trans. Fernbach, 3:958.
- 166. Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 46.
- 167. "Here, as everywhere else, we must distinguish between the increased production which is due to the development of the social process of production, and that which is due to the exploitation by the capitalists of that development." Marx, *Capital*, trans. Fowkes, 1:547.
- 168. *Grundrisse*, p. 540. William Connolly criticizes Marx (and Hegel) for solutions that promote inclusiveness at the expense of irreducible "otherness." *Political Theory and Modernity* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1988), especially pp. 132–133.
- 169. Grundrisse, pp. 611, 612.
- 170. Ibid., p. 409.
- 171. Ibid., p. 159.
- 172. German Ideology, p. 83.
- 173. The Holy Family, p. 52.
- 174. Grundrisse, p. 705.
- 175. CCHPRR. Int., p. 142.
- 176. Grundrisse, pp. 705, 706, 708.
- 177. Capital, trans. Fowkes, 1:754.
- 178. Ibid., p. 929.
- 179. "Meeting of the Central Authority, September 15, 1850," in Marx and Engels, *Collected Works*, 10:626, 628.
- 180. Manifesto of the Communist Party, p. 111.
- 181. Ibid., p. 112.
- 182. "Class Struggles in France," in Selected Works, 2:211.
- 183. Ibid., p. 204.
- 184. Ibid., p. 203.

- 185. Ibid., pp. 192, 193, 196.
- 186. Ibid., pp. 200-201.
- 187. Ibid., pp. 219, 295 ff.
- 188. "The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Napoleon," in Selected Works, 2:315.
- 189. Ibid., p. 362.
- 190. "Class Struggles in France," p. 289.
- 191. "The Eighteenth Brumaire," p. 412.
- 192. Ibid., p. 422.
- 193. As was pointed out by McLellan, Karl Marx: His Life and Thought, p. 246.
- 194. "The Civil War in France," p. 97.
- 195. "Letter of June 12, 1871, to E.S. Beesly," in Writings on the Paris Commune, p. 224.
- 196. I have followed the account in François Furet, *Revolutionary France*, 1770–1880, trans. Antonia Nevill (Oxford: Blackwell, 1988), pp. 500–506. Discussions of Marx's "Civil War in France" can be found in Shlomo Avineri, *The Social and Political Thought of Karl Marx* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1968), p. 239 ff., and Evans, *Karl Marx*, pp. 151–157. There is an interesting account in Engels' introduction of 1891, in Karl Marx, *Selected Works*, 2:452 ff. Engels concluded by asserting: "Do you want to know what this dictatorship looks like? Look at the Paris Commune. That was the Dictatorship of the Proletariat" (p. 460).
- 197. My formulation was stimulated by Avineri's treatment of *The Civil War in France* as a "projection" rather than a description. Avineri, *The Social and Political Thought of Karl Marx*, pp. 240 ff.
- 198. Writings on the Paris Commune, p. 74.
- 199. Ibid., p. 72.
- 200. Ibid., p. 152.
- 201. Ibid., p. 150.
- 202. "The Civil War in France," p. 81.
- 203. Writings on the Paris Commune, p. 74.
- 204. Ibid., p. 77.
- 205. Cited in Evans, *Karl Marx*, p. 153. Evans defends Marx against the claim that he was inconsistent in defending decentralization while emphasizing centralization. See pp. 153–154.
- 206. There was a strong tactical element in this because the Proudhonists, whose influence in the Commune was far greater than Marx's International, were strongly decentralist. Marx's critique of Proudhon is contained in *The Poverty of Philosophy*.
- 207. "The Civil War in France," pp. 74-75.
- 208. "Critique of Hegel's 'Philosophy of Right,'" p. 32.
- 209. "The Civil War in France," pp. 72, 73, 76.

- 210. Ibid., pp. 74–77. Marx later admitted that "the majority of the Commune was in no wise socialist, nor could it be." Letter to F. Domela-Nieuwenhuis, February 22, 1881, in *Writings on the Paris Commune*, p. 233.
- 211. "The Civil War in France," p. 76.
- 212. In the twentieth century the principal exponent of this view was Carl Schmitt. See his *The Concept of the Political*, trans. George Schwab (New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press, 1976), pp. 25 ff.
- 213. Marx and Engels, Manifesto of the Communist Party, p. 90.
- 214. "The June Revolution," in Marx and Engels, Collected Works, 7:149.
- 215. Marx, "Letter to F. Bolte," November 23, 1871, in Marx and Engels, *Selected Correspondence*, p. 328.
- 216. Ibid., pp. 328, 329. Evans emphasizes that Marx consistently stressed the importance of educating the workers through political involvement. *Karl Marx*, pp. 119, 130, 134.
- 217. *The Poverty of Philosophy*, p. 147. In the epigraph this edition omits the word "no" before "more," which is clearly an error.
- 218. "Statism and Anarchy," in *Bakunin on Anarchy*, ed. and trans. Sam Dolgoff (New York: Random House, 1971), p. 328.
- 219. Neither of these was published in Marx's lifetime. The critique of Bakunin consisted of extracts of Bakunin's *Statism and Anarchy* interspersed with Marx's comments. The *Critique of the Gotha Program* was a set of marginal notes commenting on the program to be put forward at the Gotha Congress of 1875 where the German Social Democratic Party was to be established.
- 220. "Conspectus of Bakunin's *Statism and Anarchy*," in *The First International and After*, trans. Fernbach, pp. 333–336.
- 221. Ibid., pp. 333, 335–336.
- 222. Ibid., pp. 336-337.
- 223. Ibid., p. 337.
- 224. "Critique of the Gotha Program," in Marx and Engels, *Selected Works*, 2:564, 566, 563.
- 225. Rubel, Karl Marx, Essai de biographie intellectuelle, p. 435.
- 226. Capital, trans. Fernbach, 3:358.
- 227. *Grundrisse*, p. 749. For Marx's most expansive description of capitalism's preparation for the future, see *Grundrisse*, pp. 541–542, 543.
- 228. Capital, trans. Fernbach, 3:1012.

CHAPTER THIRTEEN Nietzsche: Pretotalitarian, Postmodern

1. Friedrich Nietzsche, *Thus Spake Zarathustra*, trans. R. J. Hollingdale (Baltimore: Penguin, 1961, 1969), pt. 1, sec. 5, p. 45.

- 2. One signpost of these developments was the emergence towards the end of the nineteenth century of political science as an academic discipline. Its founders emphasized the importance of administration at the same time that they viewed political theory as a harmless activity concerned with the history of the idea of the state. On the interest in administration, see Dwight Waldo, *The Administrative State* (New York: Ronald Press, 1948). See also the critical study by David Ricci, *The Tragedy of Political Science: Politics, Scholarship, and Democracy* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1984).
- 3. I have discussed Tocqueville's views about American culture in *Tocqueville: Between Two Worlds* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2001). The dissemination of ideas during the era of the French Revolution has been carefully studied: see Robert Darnton, *The Great Cat Massacre and Other Episodes in French Cultural History* (New York: Basic Books, 1984). The character of this scholarship is analyzed critically by Roger Chartier, *Cultural History: Between Practices and Representations*, trans. Lydia G. Cochrane (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1988), pp. 95 ff.
- 4. Friedrich Nietzsche, *The Gay Science*, trans. Walter Kaufmann (New York: Random House, 1974), bk. 1, sec. 4, p. 79.
- 5. Nietzsche, The Gay Science, bk. 1, sec. 1, p. 73.
- 6. *The Anti-Christ*, trans. J. Hollingdale (Baltimore: Penguin, 1968), foreword, p. 114.
- 7. For an excellent survey of Nietzsche's reception and subsequent interpretations and appropriations, see Ernst Behler, "Nietzsche in the Twentieth Century," in *The Cambridge Companion to Nietzsche* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996), pp. 281–322. See also, in the same volume, Alan D. Schrift, "Nietzsche's French Legacy," pp. 323–355.
- 8. Martin Heidegger, *Nietzsche* (1961), trans. David Farrell Krell, 4 vols. (San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1979); Hannah Arendt, *The Life of the Mind*, 2 vols. (New York: Harcourt Brace and Jovanovich, 1958), especially 2:158 ff., where she argues for reading Nietzsche's writings as "thought experiments." That reading does not account for the willfully destructive character of Nietzsche's writings. See, for example, *The Anti-Christ*, secs. 16–17, pp. 126–128. Michel Foucault, *Language, Counter-Memory, Practice*, ed. Donald F. Bouchard (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1977), pp. 139–164.
- 9. Jean-François Lyotard and Jean-Loup Thébaud, *Just Gaming*, trans. Wlad Godzich (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1985), pp. 105–108; Jean-François Lyotard, *The Postmodern Condition: A Report on Knowledge* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984), p. xii; Richard Rorty, *Philosophy and the Mirror of Nature* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1979), pp. 369–370; and the numerous references in Rorty's *Consequences of Pragmatism: Essays 1972–1980* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press,

1982); Leo Strauss, "Note on the Plan of Nietzsche's 'Beyond Good and Evil,'" in Studies in Platonic Political Philosophy (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1983), pp. 174–191; "The Three Waves of Modernity," in Political Philosophy: Six Essays, ed. Hilail Gildin (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1974), pp. 81-98. On Strauss, including the Nietzsche influence, see the critical study by Shadia B. Drury, The Political Ideas of Leo Strauss (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1988); and the treatment of Nietzsche by Werner Dannhauser in History of Political Philosophy, ed. Leo Strauss and Joseph Cropsey (Chicago: Rand McNally, 1963), pp. 724-745; Francis Fukuyama, The End of History and the Last Man (New York: Avon, 1992), pp. 188-190, 304 ff. See also Paul de Man, Allegories of Reading: Figural Language in Rousseau, Nietzsche, Rilke, and Proust (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1979), pp. 15, 82 ff. For a suggestive study using psychoanalytic insights, see Pierre Klossowski, Nietzsche and the Vicious Circle, trans. Daniel W. Smith (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1997). Klossowski argues that Nietzsche's thinking, especially in the idea of eternal recurrence, was rooted in the illness that ended in madness. For a sympathetic psychological study, see Graham Parkes, Composing the Soul: Reaches of Nietzsche's Psychology (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1994).

- Zeev Sternhell, Neither Left nor Right: Fascist Ideology in France (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1986) and The Birth of Fascist Ideology: From Cultural Rebellion to Political Revolution, trans. David Maisel (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1994).
- 11. Heidegger, Nietzsche, 1:47-48.
- 12. "... only a great thought can give a deed or cause greatness." *Beyond Good and Evil*, trans. Walter Kaufmann (New York: Vintage, 1966), pt. 8, sec. 241, p. 175. Arendt, *The Human Condition* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1958), pp. 25–26. It is plausible to consider Arendt's *Eichmann in Jerusalem* to be a working out of the major Nietzschean theme of the power of small men.
- 13. Beyond Good and Evil, pt. 5, sec. 195, p. 108.
- 14. The amnesiac act attained the status of an art-form in Rorty's response to the disclosures concerning Heidegger's collaboration with the Nazi regime. All "we" need do, according to Rorty, is "to tell another story" about Heidegger. In describing the Nazis as mere "thugs," Rorty had already begun a "different story." The classic case of amnesia is the persistent refusal of some contemporary scholars to acknowledge Nietzsche's anti-Semitic diatribes as anti-Semitic. When these are acknowledged, the usual tactic is to "balance" them by pointing to Nietzsche's anti-German comments. It is true that Nietzsche also makes complimentary remarks about Jews, just as he does with Germans, but that hardly erases his diatribes against "little Jews" who are described as "castrators" and as "parasitic." *The Will to Power*, trans. Walter Kaufmann and R. J. Hollingdale (New York: Random House, 1967), no. 204, pp. 120–121. The

- post-war exoneration of Nietzsche could be said to have been begun by Walter Kaufmann, *Nietzsche: Philosopher, Psychologist, Antichrist* (New York: Meridian, 1956), pp. 246–265. For a recent example, see Jacob Golomb, "How to De-Nazify Nietzsche's Philosophical Anthropology?" in *Nietzsche, Godfather of Fascism?*, ed. Jacob Golomb and Robert S. Wistrich (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2002), pp. 19–46.
- 15. Ecce Homo, trans. Walter Kaufmann (New York: Vintage, 1969), p. 299.
- 16. Rohan d'O. Butler, *The Roots of National Socialism*, 1783–1933 (London: Faber and Faber, 1941).
- 17. Kaufmann, Nietzsche: Philosopher, Psychologist, Antichrist.
- 18. "In the history of the intelligence, with the exception of Marx, Nietzsche's adventure has no equivalent; we shall never finish making reparation for the injustice done to him." Albert Camus, *The Rebel: An Essay on Man in Revolt*, trans. Anthony Bower (New York: Knopf, 1956), p. 75.
- George H. Sabine, A History of Political Theory, rev. ed. (New York: Holt, 1950), p. 868. Sabine's final judgment was ambivalent. For a forthright association of Nietzsche with Fascism, see Werner Dannhauser, "Nietzsche," in History of Political Philosophy, ed. Leo Strauss and Joseph Cropsey (Chicago: Rand McNally, 1963), pp. 743–744.
- 20. Ideal-type was the contribution of Max Weber. See "Objectivity in Social Science and Social Policy," in *The Methodology of the Social Sciences*, trans. E. A. Shils and H. N. Finch (New York: Free Press, 1949), p. 92; *The Theory of Social and Economic Organization*, trans. A. R. Henderson and Talcott Parsons (New York: Oxford University Press, 1947), p. 110.
- 21. The phrase is Jan Masayrk's on Stalin and is cited in Heinz Höhne, *The Order of the Death's Head* (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 2000), p. 409. Höhne writes: "... [T]he system of National Socialist rule was inherently structureless and contradictory... The majority of historians have read into the Third Reich's system of government a degree of planning, organization and system... a degree of orderliness, which was in fact totally foreign to the rulers of Hitler's Germany" (pp. 330, 409).
- 22. Cited in ibid., p. 259.
- 23. The Gay Science, bk. 3, sec. 109, p. 168.
- 24. I have developed the idea of the internal politics of a theory in two essays, "Max Weber: Legitimation, Method, and the Politics of Theory," *Political Theory* 9, no. 3 (1981): 401–424; and "On Reading Marx Politically," *Nomos* 26 (1983): 79–112.
- 25. For some recent attempts, see Tracy Strong, "Nietzsche's Political Misappropriation," in *The Cambridge Companion to Nietzsche*, pp. 119–147; and his preliminary version, "Nietzsche and Politics," in *Nietzsche: A Collection of Critical Essays*, ed. Robert C. Solomon (Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press,

1980), pp. 258–292; Leslie Paul Thiele, Friedrich Nietzsche and the Politics of the Soul (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1990); Bernard Yack, The Longing for Total Revolution: Philosophical Sources of Social Discontent from Rousseau to Marx to Nietzsche (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1986), chap. 8. Yack views Nietzsche as driven by "his love of man" and emphasizes Nietzsche's early writings, especially The Birth of Tragedy. See also the brief remarks of Karl Löwith, From Hegel to Nietzsche: The Revolution in Nineteenth-Century Thought (1941), trans. David E. Green (New York: Holt Rinehart and Winston, 1964), pp. 192–193, 260–262. On Nietzsche's nihilism, see especially Stanley Rosen, Nihilism: A Philosophical Essay (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1969).

- 26. Ecce Homo, sec. 3, p. 225. Italics in original.
- 27. Beyond Good and Evil, pt. 2, sec. 43, p. 53.
- 28. Ibid., pt. 7, sec. 229, p. 158.
- 29. The Gay Science, preface to second edition, pp. 34-35.
- 30. Ibid., bk. 3, sec. 121, p. 177.
- 31. Ibid., sec. 116, pp. 174-175.
- 32. "When someone rules, there are masses; and where we find masses we also find a need to be enslaved. Where men are enslaved, there are few individuals, and these are opposed by herd instincts and conscience." Ibid., sec. 149, pp. 195–196.
- 33. Ibid., bk. 4, sec. 335, pp. 263–266. I have borrowed from Walter Kaufmann's exegesis of this section. See p. 266 n. 67.
- 34. Ibid., bk. 3, sec. 111, p. 171.
- 35. The Will to Power, bk. 3, secs. 534, 535, p. 290.
- 36. Ibid., secs. 521, 522, p. 283. In his *Truth and Truthfulness* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2002), p. 13, Bernard Williams argued that Nietzsche changed his mind on these matters. That claim implies there is a "course" to Nietzsche's thinking and that it should govern interpretations. My approach is sceptical of that claim and asserts only that Nietzsche argued certain specific positions, and, while he may have shaded them at various times, he did not renounce them.
- 37. The Gay Science, bk. 4, sec. 335, p. 266.
- 38. Ibid., bk. 1, sec. 4, p. 79.
- 39. The Will to Power, bk. 4, sec. 898, p. 478.
- 40. Ibid., sec. 988, p. 516.
- 41. The passages quoted are found in Kaufmann's translation of *The Will to Power*, bk. 2, secs. 304–306, pp. 170–171. All italics are in the original.
- 42. Ibid., bk. 2, sec. 304, p. 170.
- 43. Ibid., p. 171; sec. 306, p. 171.
- 44. Ibid., sec. 304, p. 171.
- 45. Ibid., p. 170.

- 46. Ibid., pp. 170, 171.
- 47. Ibid., p. 171. Williams offers a different reading that points to passages from the *Anti-Christ* where Nietzsche passionately asserts that "Truth has to be fought for every step of the way . . ." *Truth and Truthfulness*, pp. 13–18.
- 48. The Will to Power, bk. 1, sec. 120, p. 74.
- 49. The Gay Science, bk. 5, sec. 349, pp. 291-292.
- 50. The Will to Power, no. 462, p. 255. Gilles Deleuze, Nietzsche and Philosophy (1962), trans. Hugh Tomlinson (New York: Columbia University Press, 1983), pp. 5–7, treats power as a field of "forces" and thus preserves the general applicability of the idea intended by Nietzsche but at the expense of a political reading.
- 51. *Human, All Too Human,* trans. R. J. Hollingdale (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986), sec. 450, p. 165; sec. 451, p. 165.
- 52. Ibid., sec. 457, p. 167.
- 53. Ibid., sec. 442, pp. 162–163; see also sec. 481, p. 178.
- 54. Ibid., sec. 438, p. 161; sec. 465, p. 169. Nietzsche's admiration for Greek antiquity did not extend to the *polis*. It was consistent with his anti-political beliefs that the *polis* had to be anti-cultural because it was intensely political. Ibid., sec. 474, p. 174.
- 55. Ibid., sec. 472, pp. 170-171.
- 56. Thus Spake Zarathustra, pt. 2 ("Of the Rabble"), p. 121.
- 57. Ibid., pt. 3 ("Of Old and New Law-Tables"), sec. 7, p. 218.
- 58. The Gay Science, bk. 4, sec. 283, pp. 228-229.
- 59. Beyond Good and Evil, pt. 9, sec. 257, pp. 201-202.
- 60. *Ecce Homo*, "Why I Am a Destiny," sec. 1, p. 327. The violence-laden character of Nietzsche's language is represented in secs. 4–6, pp. 328–331.
- 61. Thus Spake Zarathustra, "Of the Three Evil Things," p. 205.
- 62. See Nietzsche's screed that doctors ought to kill "degenerate" forms of human life and to determine "the right to reproduce, the right to be born, the right to live . . ." *Twilight of the Idols*, trans. R. J. Hollingdale (Baltimore: Penguin, 1968), sec. 36, p. 88.
- 63. Note the odd parallels between Berchtesgaden and Sils Maria. See Nietzsche's "Aftersong," "From High Mountains," in *Beyond Good and Evil*, pp. 241 ff. See also *Ecce Homo*, "Why I Am So Wise," sec. 8, p. 234, and *The Gay Science*, bk. 2, sec. 59, p. 123. And Jacques Derrida's "The Question of Style," *The New Nietzsche: Contemporary Styles of Interpretation*, ed. David B. Allison (New York: Delta, 1977), pp. 176–189.
- 64. Beyond Good and Evil, pt. 2, sec. 30, p. 42.
- 65. Ibid., pt. 9, sec. 258, p. 202.
- 66. See *Gay Science:* (attack on industrial culture), bk. 1, sec. 40, p. 107; (monotheism), bk. 3, sec. 143, pp. 191–192; (on the masses), sec. 149, pp. 195–196; (on the poor), sec. 206, p. 208.

- 67. A close student of Nazism has referred to "the radical but essentially negative dynamism which had formed the basis of the social integration of the Nazi movement, which could hardly end but in destruction." Ian Kershaw, *The Nazi Dictatorship* (London: Edward Arnold, 2000), p. 31.
- 68. The Anti-Christ, sec. 2, p. 116.
- 69. Ibid., sec. 6, p. 117. See also The Gay Science, bk. 4, sec. 288, p. 231.
- 70. The Gay Science, bk. 4, sec. 285, p. 230.
- 71. In this connection contrast Machiavelli's famous counsels about grounding power in the people as they are a steady, reliable form of power.
- 72. It is worth noting that Nietzsche was highly critical of Darwin.
- 73. The Gay Science, preface to second edition, sec. 4, p. 38. Cf. Robbe-Grillet: "There is today a new element separating us, and radically this time, from Balzac, Gide, or Madame de La Fayette: this is the poverty of the old myths of 'depth' . . . the surface of things has stopped being the mask of their heart for us, a sentiment that serves as a prelude to all the 'beyonds' of metaphysics." Alain Robbe-Grillet, Snapshots and Towards a New Novel, trans. Barbara Wright (London: Calder and Boyars, 1965), pp. 56–57.
- 74. The Gay Science, bk. 1, sec. 4, p. 79.
- 75. Twilight of the Idols, sec. 102, p. 48; Beyond Good and Evil, no. 118.
- 76. Twilight of the Idols, sec. 34, pp. 86–87.
- 77. The Anti-Christ, sec. 17, p. 127.
- 78. "Gradually it has become clear to me what every great philosophy so far has been: namely, the personal confession of its author and a kind of involuntary and unconscious memoir." *Beyond Good and Evil*, pt. 1, sec. 6.
- 79. Ecce Homo, p. 275.
- 80. There are interesting echoes of these themes in Heidegger's discussion of "art's poetic nature that, in the midst of what is, art breaks open an open place, in whose openness everything is other than usual . . . [E]verything ordinary and hitherto existing becomes an unbeing." *Poetry, Language, and Thought,* trans. Albert Hofstadter (New York: Harper & Row, 1971), p. 72.
- 81. The Birth of Tragedy from the Spirit of Music, trans. Clifton Fadiman, in The Philosophy of Nietzsche (New York: Random House, n.d.), sec. 202, p. 116. On the themes of destruction and war, see "Of War and Warriors," Thus Spake Zarathustra, pt. 1, pp. 73–75. "The maintenance of the military state is the last means of all of acquiring or maintaining the great tradition with regard to the supreme type of man, the strong type. And all concepts that perpetuate enmity and difference in rank between states (e.g., nationalism, protective tariffs) may appear sanctioned in this light." The Will to Power, bk. 3, sec. 729, p. 386.
- 82. Ecce Homo, pp. 234, 235 (cited by Nietzsche from Thus Spake Zarathustra).
- 83. In describing his first great revelation about the Jews, Hitler related it to culture and recounted how the Jews contaminate it by their foreignness and smell.

- Mein Kampf, trans. Ralph Manheim (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1971), pp. 56–60, 62–63. See also Ernst Nolte, *Three Faces of Fascism*, trans. Leila Vennewitz (New York: Holt, 1966), p. 316.
- 84. Hitler christened the invasion of the Soviet Union "a war of annihilation." Cited in Kershaw, *The Nazi Dictatorship*, p. 100.
- 85. It is now established beyond doubt that the German army participated in the mass slaughter of ordinary civilians and Jews, thus shattering the myth that distinguished clean violence (the Wehrmacht) from dirty violence (the SS). See Hans Mommsen, From Weimar to Auschwitz: Essays in German History, trans. Philip O'Connor (Cambridge: Polity Press, 1991), pp. 182, 225. See also Christopher R. Browning, Ordinary Men: Police Battalion 101 and the Final Solution in Poland (New York: Harper, 1992).
- 86. See the thoughtful discussion by Edith Wyschogrod, Spirit in Ashes: Hegel, Heidegger, and Man-Made Mass Death (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1985). Susan Neiman, Evil in Modern Thought: An Alternative History of Philosophy (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2002), argues that the problem of evil continues to raise such fundamental questions about the intelligibility and benevolence of the world's structure that it should constitute a new starting point for philosophy.
- 87. Thus Spake Zarathustra, pt. 2 ("The Rabble"), p. 122.
- 88. *The Case of Wagner*, trans. Walter Kaufmann (New York: Random House, 1967), preface, p. 155.
- 89. *Ecce Homo*, p. 326. "I have a subtler sense of smell for the signs of ascent and decline than any other human being before me . . ." Ibid., p. 222. See also p. 233.
- 90. Beyond Good and Evil, pt. 9, sec. 257, p. 201.
- 91. Ibid., pt. 9, sec. 259, p. 203.
- 92. *Twilight of the Idols*, foreword, p. 21. During the 1990s American conservative writers self-consciously waged "cultural wars" against the "radicals" of the 1960s.
- 93. The notion of Nazism as the revolution of nihilism was popularized by a conservative German opponent of the regime, Hermann Rauschning, *The Revolution against Nihilism* (New York, 1939). Nihilism is also the category used to distinguish Nazism from the Bolshevik revolutionaries and the Soviet dictatorship.
- 94. Gerald L. Bruns, *Maurice Blanchot: The Refusal of Philosophy* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1997), p. xv.
- 95. Human, All Too Human, sec. 463, p. 169.
- 96. The Gay Science, bk. 4, sec. 301, pp. 241–242.
- 97. Ibid., sec. 283, p. 228. See also *Ecce Homo*, pp. 276–277.
- 98. *Thus Spake Zarathustra*, "Of Old and New Law-Tables," pt. 4, p. 225. Note how Heidegger seems to elide the contrast between work and art by declaring the latter a "work." That is, however, only preliminary to re-establishing the

contrast: "The more solitarily the work . . . stands on its own and the more clearly it seems to cut all ties to human beings, the more simply does the thrust come into the Open that such a work is, and the more essentially is the extraordinary [*Ungeheure*] thrust to the surface and the long familiar thrust down." *Poetry, Language, and Thought,* pp. 65–66.

- 99. The Will to Power, bk. 1, sec. 5, p. 10; sec. 7, pp. 10-11.
- 100. Ibid., sec. 12A, p. 12.
- 101. Ibid., sec. 12, p. 12.
- 102. Ibid., sec. 55, pp. 36-37.
- 103. Ibid., p. 37.
- 104. Beyond Good and Evil, pt. 2, sec. 30, p. 43.
- 105. The Birth of Tragedy, sec. 5, p. 197.
- 106. Twilight of the Idols, secs. 8-9, p. 72.
- 107. Beyond Good and Evil, sec. 211, p. 136.
- 108. See the remarks about reason in *The Gay Science*, bk. 4, sec. 319, pp. 253–254.
- 109. "What is the *cause* of the decline of German culture? That 'higher education' is no longer a privilege.—the democratism of 'culture' made 'universal' and *common.*" *Twilight of the Idols*, sec. 5, p. 64.
- 110. Cited in Löwith, From Hegel to Nietzsche, p. 260.
- 111. Twilight of the Idols, sec. 4, pp. 62-63.
- 112. For Nietzsche's complaint about the democratization of Europe, see *Beyond Good and Evil*, pt. 8, sec. 242, p. 176.
- 113. "Pathos of distance" was an important notion designating the value of "ranks" and "extremes." It stands for the values opposed to equality. *Twilight of the Idols*, sec. 37, p. 91.
- 114. Relevant here was his indignant attack on classical scholars who interpreted the Greek chorus as an expression of the growing political consciousness of the demos. He insisted it was "religious," as if the political and the religious could be so neatly distinguished. *The Birth of Tragedy*, sec. 7, pp. 203–204.
- 115. The Will to Power, bk. I, sec. 55, p. 37.
- 116. See *The Birth of Tragedy*, sec. 20, p. 122. Nietzsche contrasts the "new philosophers" or "free spirits" with the "levelers." The latter are "the scribbling slaves of the democratic taste and its 'modern ideas.' What they would like to strive for with all their powers is the universal green-pasture happiness of the herd, with security, lack of danger, comfort, and an easier life for everyone; the two songs and doctrines which they repeat most often are 'equality of rights' and 'sympathy for all that suffers'—and suffering itself they take for something that must be *abolished*." *Beyond Good and Evil*, pt. 2, sec. 44, p. 54.
- 117. The Gay Science, bk. 2, sec. 76, p. 131.
- 118. *The Will to Power*, bk. 4, sec. 864, p. 461; sec. 866, p. 464; sec. 894, p. 476. This is the context for considering Nietzsche's anti-Semitism. Kaufmann and

others have insisted, correctly, on Nietzsche's contempt for the anti-Semitic doctrines being peddled by shady politicians and publicists. I would characterize this attitude as a distaste for vulgar anti-Semitism. But what has been overlooked is Nietzsche's own distinctive brand of anti-Semitism in which the Jew, unlike the Christian, socialist, or democrat, *is* a worthy antagonist. "When Jews step forward as innocence itself then the danger is great: one should always have one's little fund of reason, mistrust, and malice to hand when one reads the New Testament [which N. regarded as a Jewish document]."

"People of the basest origin . . . raised away from even the *smell* of culture, without discipline, without knowledge, without the remotest suspicion that there is such a thing as conscience in spiritual matters; simply—Jews: with an instinctive ability to create an advantage, a means of seduction out of every superstitious supposition, out of ignorance itself." *The Will to Power*, bk. 2, sec. 199, p. 117, and see also bk. 2, sec. 197, p. 116.

- 119. Ibid., bk. 4, sec. 490, p. 270.
- 120. Ibid., bk. 2, sec. 185, p. 111.
- 121. Ibid., bk. 4, sec. 859, p. 458.
- 122. Ecce Homo, "Why I Am a Destiny," sec. 1, p. 327.
- 123. *The Will to Power*, bk. 2, sec. 464, pp. 255–256. See also nos. 493 and 498, pp. 272, 273.
- 124. "How much truth does a spirit *endure*, how much truth does it *dare?* More and more that becomes for me the real measure of value." *Ecce Homo*, preface, sec. 3, p. 218.
- 125. Ibid. sec. 3, p. 7. Italics in original.
- 126. The Will to Power, bk. 1, sec. 2, p. 9. Italics in original.
- 127. Ibid., bk. 2, sec. 461, p. 253.
- 128. Ibid., bk., 1, sec. 3, p. 9. Italics in original.
- 129. Ibid., sec. 55, p. 37.
- 130. Ibid., p. 35.
- 131. Ibid., pp. 37, 38.
- 132. Ibid., sec. 65, p. 43.
- 133. Ecce Homo, "Why I Am a Destiny," sec. 1, p. 326.
- 134. The Birth of Tragedy, pp. 265-266.
- 135. The Will to Power, bk. 3, sec. 636, pp. 339, 340.
- 136. In *Ecce Homo* Nietzsche reviews his own writings and treats each as an example of self-revelation and the will-to-power.
- 137. The Will to Power, bk. 2, sec. 259, pp. 149, 150.
- 138. Nietzsche claimed a special aptitude for perspectives, in part because his "ancestors were Polish noblemen," as well as Germans; and in part because he had personally experienced the extremes of desperate illness and good health. "Now

- I know how, have the know-how, to *reverse perspectives:* the first reason why a 'revaluation of values' is perhaps possible for me alone." *Ecce Homo*, pp. 225, 223.
- 139. The Will to Power, bk. 4, secs. 900, 901, p. 479.
- 140. *Thus Spake Zarathustra*, pt. 1 ("Of the Bestowing Virtue"), p. 103. The italicized phrase was introduced by Nietzsche when he quoted from *Zarathustra* in his preface to *Ecce Homo*, p. 220.
- 141. The Will to Power, bk. 2, sec. 304, p. 170.
- 142. Ibid., sec. 417, p. 224.
- 143. *The Case of Wagner*, p. 156. In some recent critical accounts of "ocularism"—that is, of the use of the "all-seeing" allegedly claimed by theorists—Nietzsche is uncritically enrolled among the opponents of ocularism. It is difficult to believe that anyone familiar with Nietzsche's *Zarathustra* would make that claim. See the editor's exoneration of Nietzsche in David Michael Levin, ed., *Modernity and the Hegemony of Vision* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1993), p. 4.
- 144. Writing of his "experience of inspiration," Nietzsche declares, "I do not doubt that one has to go back thousands of years in order to find anyone who could say to me, 'it is mine as well.' "This is from the extended discussion of revelation in *Ecce Homo*, sec. 3, p. 301.
- 145. Ibid., preface, sec. 1, p. 217.
- 146. Ibid., "Thus Spoke Zarathustra," sec. 6, p. 304.
- 147. *The Birth of Tragedy*, sec. 9. On the subject of Nietzsche's use of myth, I have been guided by Allan Megill, *Prophets of Extremity: Nietzsche, Heidegger, Foucault, Derrida* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1958), pp. 65 ff.
- 148. *The Birth of Tragedy*, sec. 15, p. 94. On Hellenism in Germany, see E. M. Butler, *The Tyranny of Greece over Germany* (Cambridge, 1935).
- 149. The Birth of Tragedy, sec. 8, p. 61.
- 150. Ibid., sec. 1, p. 37.
- 151. Ibid., sec. 7, p. 59.
- 152. Ibid., sec. 9, p. 226.
- 153. The Will to Power, sec. 852, p. 450.
- 154. The Birth of Tragedy, sec. 5, p. 197.
- 155. See the contrast that Nietsche draws between the manly "Aryan" myth of Prometheus and the "effeminate" and "Semitic" myth of the Fall. Ibid., sec. 9, pp. 226–227.
- 156. Nicomachean Ethics 9.7.1177b1-34.
- 157. See *On the Genealogy of Morals*, trans. Walter Kaufmann (New York: Random House, 1969), essay 1, sec. 10, p. 36; sec. 11, p. 42; essay 3, sec. 14, pp. 121–124. *Ecce Homo*, pp. 229–230.

- 158. The Gay Science, bk. 5, sec. 362, p. 318.
- 159. Of course later postmodern influentials, such as Heidegger and Paul de Man, who really did express pro-Nazi opinions, managed to survive that incubus thanks to the ingenious efforts of postmodern sympathizers, such as Rorty and Jameson. See the latter's apologia in *Postmodernism* (Durham: Duke University Press, 1991), pp. 256–259. Jameson explains that de Man's Nazi sentiments should be seen as a young man's attempt to keep "a job."
- 160. *Twilight of the Idols*, sec. 38, p. 92. "... this judgment (that peace is a higher value than war) is antibiological, is itself a fruit of the decadence of life.—Life is a consequence of war, society itself a means to war." *The Will to Power*, no. 53, p. 33.
- 161. "... to see differently..., to want to see differently, is no small discipline and preparation of the intellect for its future 'objectivity'—the latter understood not as 'contemplation without interest' (which is a nonsensical absurdity) but as the ability to control one's Pro and Con and to dispose of them, so that one knows how to employ a variety of perspectives and affective interpretations in the service of knowledge... There is only a perspective seeing, only a perspective 'knowing'; and the more affects we allow to speak about one thing, the more complete will our 'concept' of this thing, our 'objectivity' be." Genealogy of Morals, essay 3, sec. 12, p. 119. For sympathetic treatments of Nietzsche's perspectivism, see the essays by Richard Schacht and Robert C. Solomon in The Cambridge Companion to Nietzsche. A more nuanced treatment is Alexander Nehemas, Nietzsche: Life as Literature (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1985).
- 162. "It is *we* alone who have devised cause, sequence, relativity, constraint, number, law, freedom, motive, and purpose; and when we project and mix this symbol world into things as if it existed 'in itself,' we act once more as we have always acted—*mythologically*. The 'unfree will' is mythology; in real life it is only a matter of *strong* and *weak* wills." *Beyond Good and Evil*, "On the Prejudices of Philosophers," sec. 21, p. 29.
- 163. The Birth of Tragedy, secs. 1, 2, pp. 173–174.
- 164. Ibid., sec. 7, pp. 208, 210.
- 165. Ibid., sec. 9, pp. 225, 226.
- 166. Ibid., pp. 226-228.
- 167. Ibid., sec. 8, p. 213.
- 168. Ibid., sec. 11, pp. 235-236, 238.
- 169. The Will to Power, bk. 1, sec. 56, p. 39.
- 170. Ibid, bk. 4, sec. 898, p. 478.
- 171. *Twilight of the Idols*, sec. 48, p. 102, where Nietzsche lumps together Idealism and the *canaille* of the French Revolution.
- 172. *Thus Spoke Zarathustra*, pt. 1, sec. 3, p. 46. I am equating Nietzsche's Last Man with the perfection of mass man.

- 173. The Will to Power, bk. 4, sec. 866, pp. 463-464. Emphasis in original.
- 174. Thus Spake Zarathustra, "Of the Three Evil Things," sec. 2, p. 208.
- 175. The Will to Power, no. 998, p. 519.
- 176. Human, All Too Human, sec. 473, pp. 173-174.
- 177. Ibid., sec. 472, pp. 170-171.
- 178. Ibid., pp. 171–172.
- 179. Ibid., p. 172.
- 180. Ibid.
- 181. The Gay Science, bk. 2, sec. 60, p. 123.
- 182. Cited in Kershaw, The Nazi Dictatorship, p. 112.

CHAPTER FOURTEEN Liberalism and the Politics of Rationalism

- 1. "Reason or Revolution?," in Theodor Adorno et al., *The Positivist Dispute in German Sociology,* trans. Glyn Adey and David Frisby (New York: Harper, 1976), p. 292.
- Elsewhere Popper mentions Hitler but dismissively; Stalin is treated more critically. See "The History of Our Time: An Optimist's View," in *Conjectures and Refutations: The Growth of Scientific Knowledge*, 2nd ed. (London: Routledge, 1965), pp. 366–367.
- 3. *The Open Society and Its Enemies*, 2 vols. (London: Routledge, 1945), 1:165, 171, 175, 176.
- 4. Popper's discussion of Plato is notable for its extended historical analysis of the fortunes of Athenian democracy. It was a mode of argument that became virtually extinct with the triumph of analytical philosophy among academics. See ibid., vol. 1, chap. 10.
- 5. Ibid., 1:3, 4. The argument over planning was mainly stimulated by Friedrich von Hayek's *The Road to Serfdom*. In his acknowledgments Popper stated that he was "deeply indebted" to von Hayek.
- 6. The claim that the Nazi ideology embodied mystical, emotional, and tribalist (*Blut und Boden*) elements was a familiar one among commentators at the time.
- 7. The Open Society, 1:147, 2:222, 229.
- 8. "Public Opinion and Liberal Principles," in Conjectures and Refutations, p. 350.
- 9. "Utopia and Violence," in *Conjectures and Refutations*, pp. 358–360. The "utopian method" is "likely to produce violence" because when critics, with rival versions of utopia, appear, the entrenched utopians "must win over or else crush" their critics. Although Popper never attaches historical names to the utopians and the counter-utopians, it is plausible to believe that he was thinking of the rivalry between Stalin and Trotsky.

- 10. The Open Society, 2:224.
- 11. Among the oddities of *The Open Society* were its relatively mild remarks about the Soviet Union. Although forced collectivization and the terror campaigns of the 1930s against "traitors" were well known, Popper made no reference to them, perhaps out of deference to the indispensable contribution of the Soviet Union to Hitler's defeat.
- 12. Barbara Wooton, Freedom under Planning (1945), and Herman Finer, The Road to Reaction (1945).
- 13. A more moderate critique of planning was made by Michael Polanyi, *The Logic of Liberty: Reflections and Rejoinders* (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1951), especially chap. 8.
- 14. The Open Society, 1:210. Emphasis in original.
- 15. "Prediction and Prophecy in the Social Sciences," in *Conjectures and Refutations*, pp. 336–338. Popper's sustained argument is to be found in *The Poverty of Historicism* (London, 1957).
- 16. "Prediction and Prophecy in the Social Sciences," in *Conjectures and Refutations*, pp. 342–343. Emphasis in original.
- 17. Ibid., p. 344.
- 18. The Open Society, 2:116-120.
- 19. Ibid., pp. 120-121.
- 20. Ibid., pp. 121-122, 151.
- 21. Ibid., pp. 213–217, 225. Interestingly, in a departure from the conception of falsifiability that Popper developed in his writings on scientific method, in *The Open Society* he relied on the standard verificationist account (p. 220).
- 22. Ibid., 1:17.
- 23. Ibid., p. 19.
- 24. Ibid., p. 107. Emphasis in original.
- 25. Oddly, Popper did not favor a conception of the growth of scientific knowledge as a gradual cumulative process; rather it was the result of radically new theories.
- 26. "Public Opinion and Liberal Principles," in *Conjectures and Refutations*, pp. 349, 352, 354.
- 27. The Open Society, 2:210. The quoted phrase is italicized in the original.
- 28. "Reason or Revolution?," p. 291.
- 29. The concept of falsification is discussed in *The Open Society,* 2:247–249. See also "Truth, Rationality, and the Growth of Knowledge," in *Conjectures and Refutations,* pp. 228 ff., 240 ff. Popper's extended discussion of the problem is in his *The Logic of Scientific Discovery* (New York: Basic Books, 1959), especially chap. 4 (which first appeared in 1934 in German).
- 30. "Reason or Revolution?," pp. 291, 292. Here Popper was clearly borrowing from Thomas Kuhn's terminology in *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*

- (1962). Popper's essay appeared in 1970. Popper himself had earlier been accused of lacking a sense of history. Kurt Hübner, *Critique of Scientific Reason* (1978), trans. Paul R. Dixon, Jr., and Hollis M. Dixon (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1983), pp. 51–69, argued that Popper paid insufficient attention to the contribution of non-scientific elements (e.g., Kepler's mysticism) in the formulation of scientific theories. For Popper's praise of tradition, see "Public Opinion and Liberal Principles," in *Conjectures and Refutations*, p. 351.
- 31. The Open Society, 2:216-220.
- 32. Liberalism and Social Action (New York: Capricorn, 1935), pp. 72, 73.
- 33. There is a vast secondary literature on Dewey. I have found the following especially useful: Christopher Lasch, The New Radicalism in America, 1889-1963 (New York: Knopf, 1965), is highly critical of Dewey, as is The True and Only Heaven: Progress and Its Critics (New York: Norton, 1991). A more sympathetic view is Robert Westbrook, John Dewey and American Democracy (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1991). For a critical but appreciative study, see Morton White, Social Thought in America: The Revolt against Formalism (Boston: Beacon Press, 1957). Alan Ryan's John Dewey and the High Tide of American Liberalism (New York: Norton, 1995) is chatty and diffuse. Its main contribution is to relate Dewey to British writers and to claim, unconvincingly, that G.D.H. Cole's Guild Socialism was a significant influence upon Dewey. Thanks to Lasch and Casey Blake, Beloved Community (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1990), Randolph Bourne is now accepted as a major contemporary critic of Dewey. It should be noted that Dewey was preeminently what a later generation called an "activist." He took a major role in founding or promoting, among other institutions, the American Civil Liberties Union, the American Association of University Professors, and teachers' unions. There is also his extraordinary role in the highly publicized commission that exonerated Leon Trotsky from Stalin's charges of treason. For details, see Jay Martin, The Education of John Dewey: A Biography (New York: Columbia University Press, 2002), pp. 407-423.
- 34. As an example, see the essay by Bertrand Russell and Dewey's rejoinder in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, ed. Paul Schilipp (Evanston, Ill.: Northwestern University Press, 1939).
- 35. Freedom and Culture (New York: Putnam, 1939), p. 148.
- 36. See, for example, John Dewey, *Reconstruction in Philosophy* (1920) (New York: Mentor, 1950), pp. 46–52.
- 37. Liberalism and Social Action, p. 73.
- 38. The Quest for Certainty: A Study of the Relation of Knowledge and Action (1929) (New York: Putnam, 1960), p. 84.
- 39. Ibid., p. 196. On theory and practice (or action), see ibid., pp. 4–6, 67–70, 192–193, and especially 281.

- 40. Ibid., p. 204.
- 41. Reconstruction in Philosophy, p. 82.
- 42. Democracy and Education (New York: Macmillan, 1916), p. 393. "The question I would raise concerns why we prefer democratic and human arrangements to those which are autocratic and harsh... I would ask... Can we find any reason that does not ultimately come down to the belief that democratic social arrangements promote a better quality of human experience, one which is more widely accessible and enjoyed, than do non-democratic and anti-democratic forms of social life?" Experience and Education (1938), in The Philosophy of John Dewey, ed. Joseph Ratner (New York: Random House, 1939), p. 663.
- 43. Democracy and Education, p. 101.
- 44. Quest for Certainty, p. 244
- 45. Ibid., p. 224.
- 46. "Democracy in the Schools," *School and Society*, April 3, 1937, in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, p. 719.
- 47. Reconstruction in Philosophy, pp. 146-147.
- 48. Dewey recognized Plato and Rousseau as his forerunners and was especially laudatory of Plato. See *Democracy and Education*, pp. 102 ff.
- 49. Dewey's educational activities and influence abroad are described in Martin, *The Education of John Dewey*, pp. 199 ff., 310 ff., 406, 439 ff.
- 50. Democracy and Education, pp. 383-384.
- 51. Reconstruction in Philosophy, p. 147.
- 52. Quest for Certainty, p. 311. In an article published in 1908 Dewey declared that in the reconstruction of education the task of prescribing the intellectual content "belongs especially to those who, having become curious in some degree of the modern ideas of nature, of man and society, are best able to forecast the direction which social changes are taking." The Philosophy of John Dewey, p. 705. It is worth noting that Dewey was conscious that the role he was assigning the philosopher had been performed previously by the Protestant clergy. Dewey's reference to "the spiritual import of science and of democracy" suggests the successor to religion. Ibid., p. 715.
- 53. From Dewey's article in *The Social Frontier* for May 1937, in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, p. 694. In the same article Dewey posed the question of what "social forces" were controlling and which ones schools should align with. He was not, Dewey cautioned, "talking about [political] parties" but "social forces and their movement." Ibid., p. 695. That language would not have made a Marxist uncomfortable, but a year earlier, in the same journal, Dewey explicitly rejected the tactic of class struggle as the proper approach to education and social action. He defended democracy as representing a more "comprehensive social interest" than class interest and as properly "the frame of reference" for "educa-

- tional action." From *The Social Frontier*, May 1936, in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, pp. 698–702.
- 54. The Philosophy of John Dewey, pp. 655, 688-689.
- 55. From Experience and Education, in The Philosophy of John Dewey, p. 656.
- 56. Dewey denied advocating a wholly permissive type of education. *The Philoso-phy of John Dewey*, pp. 623–624, 659. He also disclaimed the intention of jettisoning traditional subjects, although he rejected the notion of their primacy. See ibid., pp. 626–627, 660, 667.
- 57. "The Rise of Great Industries," speech to the Political Science Association, cited in Martin, *The Education of John Dewey*, p. 109.
- 58. Quest for Certainty, p. 100.
- 59. Ibid.
- 60. Ibid., pp. 86-87.
- 61. It is important to note that Dewey took public stands on specific measures, from taxation reform to public works and child labor. See Martin, *The Education of John Dewey*, pp. 384–385.
- 62. Liberalism and Social Action, pp. 88, 90.
- 63. Ibid., pp. 80, 81.
- 64. "Educators and the Class Struggle," May 1936, in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, p. 696.
- 65. Liberalism and Social Action, p. 63.
- 66. See Dewey's article "Educators and the Class Struggle," *The Social Frontier*, May 1936, and *Liberalism and Social Action*, pp. 76 ff.
- 67. Freedom and Culture, p. 168. Like Popper, Dewey favored policies that would deal with social ills on a limited scale. Ibid., pp. 169–170.
- 68. Cited in Martin, The Education of John Dewey, p. 389.
- 69. Freedom and Culture, p. 153.
- 70. Ibid., p. 131.
- 71. The Public and Its Problems: An Essay in Political Inquiry (1927) (New York: Holt, 1946), pp. viii–ix.
- 72. "Authority and Social Change" (1936), reprinted in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, p. 352.
- 73. The Public and Its Problems, p. 108.
- 74. Ibid., pp. 68–74.
- 75. Ibid., p. vi. Dewey's animus against the state, especially in its Hegelian versions, dated from World War I when he had attacked the "German" conception of a majestic and all-powerful state.
- 76. Ibid., pp. 33, 67–72.
- 77. John Dewey and James H. Tufts, *Ethics*, rev. ed. (New York: Holt, 1932), p. 364.
- 78. The Public and Its Problems, p. 31.

- 79. Ibid., p. 34.
- 80. Ibid., p. 39.
- 81. "Democracy and Educational Administration" (1937), in *The Philosophy of John Dewey*, p. 400.
- 82. Freedom and Culture, p. 72.
- 83. The Public and Its Problems, pp. 144-145.
- 84. Ibid., pp. 84, 85.
- 85. Ibid., p. 84. The best way of interpreting this passage is to assume that Dewey was thinking of, say, the evolution of the English Parliament or of the common law, from feudal forms and substance to a more broadly democratic character.
- 86. Ibid., p. 144.
- 87. Ibid., pp. 87–94; *Liberalism and Social Action*, pp. 11–20, 28–43. Dewey acknowledged the strong positive role of Bentham. Among other English writers he singled out T. H. Green for his contribution to modifying the "atomistic individualism" of the Utilitarians in favor of a more "organic" conception of society. See *Liberalism and Social Action*, pp. 23–26. For a helpful account of the establishment of a culture favorable to corporate power, see Olivier Zunz, *Making America Corporate* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1990). Zunz's account focuses upon middle management. Note the comment of historian Robert Wiebe that "the heart of progressivism was the ambition of the *new* middle class to fulfill its destiny through bureaucratic means." Cited by Zunz, p. 9.
- 88. The Public and Its Problems, p. 108. See also p. 107.
- 89. Ibid., pp. 113, 114, 115.
- 90. Ibid., pp. 132, 136, 138-139.
- 91. Ibid., pp. 126-127, 142.
- 92. "Democracy in the Schools," in The Philosophy of John Dewey, pp. 720-721.
- 93. The Public and Its Problems, p. 153.
- 94. Ibid., p. 126.
- 95. Ibid., p. 147.
- 96. In *Freedom and Culture*, pp. 116, 159, Dewey acknowledged the importance of democratic "theory" by paying tribute to Jefferson's political ideas, especially for their emphasis upon the township.
- 97. The Public and Its Problems, pp. 111, 113.
- 98. Ibid., p. 149.
- 99. Ibid., pp. 211, 215.
- 100. Dewey appeared to have been influenced not by Tocqueville's account of American local self-government but, as Dewey made clear, by Jefferson.
- 101. The Public and Its Problems, p. 147.
- 102. "Authority and Social Change," in The Philosophy of John Dewey, p. 357.
- 103. Ibid., p. 359.

- 104. Ibid.
- 105. Freedom and Culture, pp. 153-154.
- 106. Ibid.
- 107. Ibid., p. 142.
- 108. Ibid., p. 6.
- 109. The Public and Its Problems, p. 174.
- 110. The Quest for Certainty, p. 128.
- 111. Ibid., p. 265.
- 112. The Public and Its Problems, p. 219.
- 113. Ibid., pp. 208, 209. Emphasis in original.
- 114. Freedom and Culture, pp. 142-148, 151, 168.
- 115. Ibid., p. 163.
- 116. Ibid., p. 162.
- 117. Ibid., p. 124.
- 118. *Democracy and Education*, pp. 100, 101, 115.
- 119. For Dewey's comments on the media, see Freedom and Culture, pp. 148-149.
- 120. Ibid., p. 116.
- 121. Ibid., p. 128.
- 122. Randolph Bourne, "Twilight of Idols," in *The Radical Will: Randolph Bourne, Selected Writings, 1911–1918*, ed. Olaf Hansen (New York: Urizen, 1977), p. 342. The essay was published in October 1917.
- 123. Freedom and Culture, p. 129.
- 124. One notable exception was the analysis in Max Horkheimer and Theodor Adorno, *Dialectic of Enlightenment*, trans. John Cumming (London: Allen Lane, 1973). The book was first published in 1944. Another was Lewis Mumford: his *Technics and Civilization* appeared in 1934 and *The Transformations of Man* in 1956. For a discussion of Mumford, see Casey Blake's thoughtful study, *Beloved Community* (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1990), pp. 220–228.
- 125. For the favorable view of technology among the precursors of Nazism, see Jeffrey Hert, *Reactionary Modernism: Technology, Culture, and Politics in Weimar and the Third Reich* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984).
- 126. The power of propaganda was one of the the themes in George Orwell's *1984*. See my discussion, "Counter-Enlightenment," in *Reflections on America*, *1984*, ed. Robert Mulvihill (Athens and London: University of Georgia Press, 1986), pp. 98–113.
- 127. In the war against terrorism George W. Bush's administration used torture against suspected Al Qaeda terrorists but applied it in countries where such methods were not outlawed.
- 128. Despite elements of forced labor in prisons, the most striking feature is the denial of work, which serves to re-emphasize the surplus character of the inmates.

- The dehumanization is further accentuated by the recent policies of state governments that, faced by overcrowding in their prisons, pay other states with vacancies in their prisons to accept shipments of prisoners. At the same time, academic reformers unconsciously mimic Nazi caricatures of the supernatural power of Jews by warning of a new species of "superpredator" being spawned by insufficiently stringent welfare laws and prison systems. See especially the writings of John DiIulio Jr.
- 129. The most influential representative of this tendency was Jacob Talmon's *The Rise of Totalitarian Democracy* (Boston: Beacon Press, 1952) and his *Political Messianism* (New York: Praeger, 1960). See also Hannah Arendt, *The Origins of Totalitarianism* (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1951), especially pp. 301–375
- 130. For background, see Walter Struve, Elites against Democracy: Leadership Ideals in Bourgeois Political Thought in Germany, 1890–1933 (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1973); George L. Mosse, The Crisis of German Ideology: Intellectual Origins of the Third Reich (New York: Grossett & Dunlap, 1964), pp. 61–62, 133–134, 151–152, 275–276; still useful are the classic accounts by Franz Neumann, Behemoth: The Structure and Practice of National Socialism (New York: Oxford University Press, 1942), pp. 365 ff., and Barrington Moore, Jr., Social Origins of Dictatorship and Democracy: Lord and Peasant in the Making of the Modern World (Boston: Beacon Press, 1967).
- 131. See Robert Dahl, Who Governs? Democracy and Power in an American City (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1961) and Preface to Democratic Theory (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1956). During this period there was a strong revival of interest on the part of sociologists in writers such as Michels, Weber, and Ostrogorski, whose works all have a strong elitist bent and a corresponding anti-democratic thrust.
- 132. See Harold D. Lasswell and Abraham Kaplan, *Power and Society: A Framework for Political Inquiry* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1950), pp. 250 ff. In his highly influential *Who Governs?*, Dahl rejected the concept of elites in favor of the idea of the "political stratum." The latter, he claimed, is not "a homogeneous class with well-defined class interests" (p. 91). Dahl contrasted "political strata" with the "apolitical strata." For the former "politics is highly salient" while for the latter it is "remote." The members of the political stratum tend to be "rather calculating" and "relatively rational political beings." The apoliticals are "notably less calculating" and "more strongly influenced by inertia, habit, unexamined loyalties, personal attachments, emotions, transient impulses." While the "political beliefs" of members of the political stratum "have a relatively high degree of coherence and internal consistency," the apoliticals' "political orientations are disorganized, disconnected, and unideological." And while the politicals are politically active, the apoliticals rarely even vote. Unsurprisingly, "the political stratum exert[s] a good deal of steady, direct, and ac-

- tive influence on government policy [and] in fact some individuals have an extraordinary amount of influence." The apoliticals have "much less direct or active influence on policies" (pp. 90–91).
- 133. For the background to the development of these corporate tendencies from the 1840s to the 1920s, see Alfred D. Chandler, Jr., *The Visible Hand: The Managerial Revolution in American Business* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1977).
- 134. See, for example, David Easton, *The Political System: An Inquiry into the State of Political Science* (New York: Knopf, 1963), especially pp. 92–100, 291–295; Karl W. Deutsch, *The Nerves of Government: Models of Political Communication and Control* (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1963).
- 135. Samuel Huntington, *American Politics: The Promise of Disharmony* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, Belknap Press, 1981), p. 219.
- 136. See, for example, Lawrence Goodwyn, *The Populist Moment in America* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1976); Richard Hofstadter, *The Age of Reform: From Bryan to FDR* (New York: Knopf, 1955), especially pp. 173 ff.; Christopher Lasch, *The True and Only Heaven: Progress and Its Critics* (New York: Norton, 1991), chap. 8; Jeffrey Lustig, *Corporate Liberalism* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1982); James P. Young, *Reconsidering American Liberalism* (Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1996), chap. 10; Eldon J. Eisenach, *The Lost Promise of Progressivism* (Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1994); Daniel T. Rodgers, *Contested Truths* (New York: Basic Books, 1987), pp. 176–186.
- 137. There was a strong current of individualism among the generations of the sixties, and it often took an anti-political turn. This is sketched in Sheldon S. Wolin and John Schaar, The Berkeley Rebellion and Beyond: Essays on Politics and Education in the Technological Society (New York: New York Review of Books and Random House, 1970). There was a significant social science literature critical of the "leftist" politics of the sixties. See, for example, the description of opponents of nuclear energy as undermining "traditional values." Stanley Rothman and Robert Lichter, "Elite Ideology and Risk Perception in Nuclear Energy Policy," American Political Science Review 81, no. 1 (1987): 383–404.

CHAPTER FIFTEEN Liberal Justice and Political Democracy

See Seymour Martin Lipset, Political Man: The Social Basis of Politics (Garden City, N.Y.: Anchor Books, 1960); Daniel Bell, The End of Ideology: On the Exhaustion of Political Ideas in the Fifties, rev. ed. (New York: Free Press, 1962); Robert A. Dahl, A Preface to Democratic Theory (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1956), pp. 75–77.

- Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., *The Vital Center*, 2nd ed. (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1962), pp. xxiv, xxiii. See the useful discussion in Young, *Reconsidering American Liberalism*, pp. 181–186. There is a good critical discussion of Niebuhr in Lasch, *The True and Only Heaven*, pp. 369 ff.
- 3. "A Secular Faith," New York Times Book Review, April 9, 2001. Review of Norman Birnbaum, After Progress: American Social Reform and European Socialism in the Twentieth Century (New York: Oxford University Press, 2001).
- 4. *The Federalist*, ed. Jacob Cooke (Middletown, Conn.: Wesleyan University Press, 1961), No. 10, pp. 59, 60.
- The role of money was dramatically illustrated in 2003 when a millionaire successfully financed a ballot initiative for the recall of the elected governor of California.
- 6. The charge that critics of liberalism cling to the untenable line that defenders of liberalism believe self-interest to be unqualifiedly the dominant human motive is leveled by several of the essayists, and especially the editor, in *Beyond Self-Interest*, ed. Jane Mansbridge (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1990).
- 7. Donald Winch, Adam Smith's Politics: An Essay in Historiographic Revision (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1978), tries to establish the claim that Smith held a considered view of politics and its importance; Winch did not deal with the question of the distinction between politics and economics.
- 8. See, for example, Report of the President's Commission on Administrative Management (1937). Also relevant is Waldo, The Administrative State, especially chaps. 6 and 10.
- 9. "Trends in Recent American Philosophy," *Daedalus* 126, no. 1 (1997): 217. For examples of the enthusiastic reception of Rawls, see *Reading Rawls: Critical Studies of "A Theory of Justice"*, ed. Norman Daniels (New York: Basic Books, n.d.), pp. xii–xvi.
- 10. For evaluations of Rawls's impact on European political theorists, see the special issue "Rawls in Europe," ed. Cécile Laborde, *European Journal of Political Theory* 1, no. 2 (October 2002).
- 11. "The Idea of an Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, ed. Samuel Freeman (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1999), pp. 421, 448.
- 12. That such questions are not raised Rawls would justify by asserting that his is a philosophical project whose aim is to develop the principles of an "ideal theory," not to give an analysis of any actual political society. Although that conception may be defensible, it is compromised in the execution. Not only does Rawls continually refer to the actual world, but his "ideal" undeniably incorporates significant elements from contemporary American political institutions and ideology. In short, when it suits his purposes he mixes the real into the ideal. In itself that procedure is not necessarily illegitimate, but it is exposed to the questions of what elements of the real world Rawls has chosen to omit

- or to weight inadequately, and whether there is a significant pattern to the omissions such as to leave the hybrid seriously compromised.
- 13. Richard A. Posner, *Economic Analysis of Law*, 2nd ed. (Boston: Little, Brown, 1977). There is a critical discussion of Posner in Ronald Dworkin, *A Matter of Principle* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1985), pp. 237 ff.
- 14. For the combination of legal theory and philosophy, see Ronald Dworkin, *Taking Rights Seriously* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1978) and *Law's Empire* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1986). And for the political philosopher's use of economic theories, see the work of T. M. Scanlon.
- 15. A Theory of Justice (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1971), p. 3.
- 16. For a helpful and acute discussion of Rawls's use of economic models, see Robert Paul Wolff, *Understanding Rawls: A Reconstruction and Critique of "A Theory of Justice"* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1977).
- 17. A Theory, p. 7 (emphasis added).
- 18. Ibid., p. 16.
- 19. Ibid. and see also p. 17.
- 20. Ibid., p. 73.
- 21. For a neo-liberal defense of the autonomy of the state, see Eric A. Nordlinger, On the Autonomy of the Democratic State (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1981). Anthony Giddens equates administration with the "political aspect of organizations." The Nation-State and Violence (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1985), pp. 19–20.
- 22. A Theory, p. 62.
- 23. The best political critique of Rawls from a communitarian and participatory perspective is Michael J. Sandel, *Liberalism and the Limits of Justice: America in Search of a Public Philosophy* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1982). The same author has also contributed an important study of the historical relationship in the United States between economic and political theories. See his *Democracy's Discontents* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1996).
- 24. A Theory, pp. 14–15. For background to the liberal theory of rights, see Ian Shapiro, The Evolution of Rights in Liberal Theory (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986).
- 25. A Theory, p. 7.
- 26. Ibid., p. 8.
- 27. Ibid., p. 75. In passing it might be noted that it is difficult to think of a policy favoring the wealthy and powerful that cannot be justified by some benefit to the less advantaged. That is precisely what "trickle-down" economics claims.
- 28. Ibid., p. 244.
- 29. Ibid., pp. 3–4. Rawls attaches a qualification to the priority of liberty by allowing that when an insufficient level of material well-being exists, the principle may yield.

- 30. The right to property is sometimes listed but not consistently.
- 31. A Theory, p. 7.
- 32. Ibid., p. 227.
- 33. The distinction between ideal and non-ideal theory is discussed primarily in ibid., pp. 351–355, 363, 391.
- 34. Political Liberalism (New York: Columbia University Press, 1993), p. 285.
- 35. A Theory, p. 8.
- 36. Ibid., p. 7.
- 37. Curiously, as if to substantiate the thesis about the convergence of Marxism and capitalism mentioned earlier in this text, Rawls opines that his theoretical principles are adaptable to an economy based upon Marxian principles. Ibid., p. 258.
- 38. Ibid., p. 3.
- 39. Ibid., pp. 11, 15.
- 40. Ibid., p. 6.
- 41. Ibid.
- 42. This might be called "the Philip Morris principle" after the giant tobacco company that, following the sensational disclosures of the 1990s, sought to change its image from a cancer-producer to a charitable benefactor and patron of the arts.
- 43. A Theory, p. 226.
- 44. Ibid., p. 225; "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in *Collected Papers*, p. 580.
- 45. A Theory, pp. 225, 226.
- 46. Ibid., p. 226. It is, of course, common for powerful interests to argue their cases publicly and openly in the media that they control.
- 47. Ibid., pp. 227, 228.
- 48. Ibid., p. 196.
- 49. The best critical discussion of the proceduralist approach is Sandel, *Democracy's Discontents*, pt. 1.
- 50. "... the government tries to insure equal chances of education and culture for persons similarly endowed and motivated either by subsidizing private schools or by establishing a public school system. It also enforces and underwrites equality of opportunity in economic activities and in the free choice of occupation. This is achieved by policing the conduct of firms and private associations and by preventing the establishment of monopolistic restrictions and barriers to the more desirable positions. Finally, the government guarantees a social minimum either by family allowances and special payments for sickness and employment, or more systematically by such devices as graded income supplement (a so-called negative income tax)." A Theory, p. 275.
- 51. Ibid., pp. 275–284.

- 52. Ibid., p. 12. Recall Hobbes's comment that it is still possible to see vestiges of the state of nature in organized society. *Leviathan* (Oakeshott edition), chap. 13, pp. 82–83.
- 53. A Theory, pp. 8, 11–12.
- 54. Ibid., p. 14.
- 55. My questions would probably be rejected as unfair because Rawls describes his work as an "ideal theory" and not to be judged by its correspondence with actual practice. But this seems to me to be at odds not only with the common claim that Rawls has demonstrated that analytical philosophy is capable of dealing with "substantive problems" but also with the close approximation of *A Theory* to conventional accounts of American political and constitutional practices, an approximation that is virtually identical in Rawls's sequel, *Political Liberalism*.
- 56. A Theory, pp. 137, 12. Apparently Rawls believes that there are "standard" accounts of political affairs, economic theory, social organization, and the "laws" of psychology.
- 57. Ibid., p. 12.
- 58. Ibid., p. 11.
- 59. Ibid., p. 12.
- 60. Political Liberalism, p. 13.
- 61. Ibid. Beyond references to utilitarianism, Kant, Catholicism, and socialism, Rawls gives only the sketchiest analysis of comprehensive doctrines or of why, beyond the question of disagreement, they pose a serious threat.
- 62. Ibid., p. xvi. For a more extended self-criticism, see Rawls's "Justice as Fairness: Political Not Metaphysical," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 388–389 n. 2.
- 63. "The Idea of Political Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 611, 614.
- 64. Political Liberalism, pp. xvi, xvii.
- 65. Ibid., pp. xvi–xvii, xviii, xix.
- 66. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 588-589.
- 67. "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 475, 479.
- 68. "The Idea of an Overlapping Consensus," in Collected Papers, p. 422 and n. 1.
- 69. Political Liberalism, p. xxiv. Parentheses in original.
- 70. Ibid., pp. xxvi, xxvii.
- 71. Ibid., p. xxviii.
- 72. For Rawls's affirmation of the importance of religion in his argument, see "The *Commonweal* Interview with John Rawls," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 616–622.
- 73. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 612, 613.
- 74. For the perpetuation of these ideas in the first half of the nineteenth century in the United States, see Nathan Hatch, *The Democratization of American Christianity* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1989).
- 75. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 588–589, 574.

- 76. "On the Jewish Question," trans. Clemens Dutt, in Marx and Engels, *Collected Works*, 3:158.
- 77. "Justice as Fairness: Political Not Metaphysical," in Collected Papers, p. 393.
- 78. Ibid., p. 395.
- 79. Ibid., p. 391.
- 80. Ibid., pp. 391-392.
- 81. Ibid., pp. 389, 393.
- 82. Ibid., p. 393.
- 83. Ibid., pp. 404-408.
- 84. Ibid., p. 389.
- 85. Ibid., p. 393.
- 86. A rational actor who is solely self-interested is said to be "psychopathic," and even a "rational agent" lacks moral responsibility if he feels disinclined to engage in fair cooperation "as such" or to do it on terms equals might endorse. *Political Liberalism*, pp. 48, 53–54.
- 87. Ibid., p. 53.
- 88. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 611, 614, 573.
- 89. "The Priority of Right and Ideas of the Good," in Collected Papers, pp. 469-470.
- 90. Political Liberalism, p. xvi.
- 91. Ibid., pp. xv-xvi.
- 92. "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 476–478.
- 93. Ibid., p. 475.
- 94. "The Priority of Right and Ideas of the Good," in Collected Papers, p. 452.
- 95. Note that this echoes the accusations of the late 1940s and 1950s brought to outlaw the American Communist party. A communist advocates revolution and hence is not loyal to constitutional government.
- 96. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 589-590, 594.
- 97. Political Liberalism, pp. xvi-xvii.
- 98. Ibid., pp. xvi-xvii, xix, 12.
- 99. Ibid., p. 12.
- 100. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 584-585.
- 101. "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 484–485.
- 102. "The Idea of an Overlapping Consensus," in Collected Papers, p. 426.
- 103. "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, p. 475.
- 104. Political Liberalism, pp. 13-14, 15.
- 105. Ibid., pp. 215–218. "[O]nce those [reasonable] doctrines have adapted to the constitution of justice itself," then the idea of public reason will issue from the doctrines themselves (p. 218).

- 106. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, pp. 875–877.
- 107. Note the specific reference to Rousseau to support the injunction that voting is justified when it supports the public good. *Political Liberalism*, p. 219.
- 108. Ibid., pp. 212-214, 228, 230.
- 109. Ibid., p. 225. Elsewhere Rawls declares that justifications "are to appeal only to presently accepted general beliefs and forms of reasoning found in common sense, and the methods and conclusions of science when these are not controversial" (p. 224).
- 110. "The Idea of Public Reason Revisited," in Collected Papers, p. 607.
- 111. Political Liberalism, p. 231, and the discussion on pp. 231–240.
- 112. "The Idea of an Overlapping Consensus," in Collected Papers, pp. 435-442.
- 113. *Political Liberalism*, pp. 233–234 (majority rule), 239 (amending power), 305 (the tradition of moral and political philosophy).
- 114. "The Priority of Right and Ideas of the Good," in Collected Papers, p. 469.
- 115. "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 479, 480. For Rawls's denial that his liberalism is a comprehensive doctrine or even a partial one, see pp. 480–481.
- 116. "The Idea of an Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 423, 428. See also pp. 424–427.
- 117. Ibid., p. 444.
- 118. Ibid., p. 426.
- 119. Rawls seems to admit as much and says that his concern is "to specify the special domain of the political in such a way that its main institutions can gain the support of an overlapping consensus." "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, p. 483.
- 120. "The Priority of Right and Ideas of the Good," in *Collected Papers*, pp. 464–465.
- 121. "The Domain of the Political and Overlapping Consensus," in *Collected Papers*, p. 482.
- 122. A recent example of this was the "creationist controversy" that occurred in the state of Kansas. A determined group of Christians who believed strongly in the biblical teachings about the origins of life on earth succeeded in electing a majority of their representatives to the state school board. The board then proceeded to modify the school curriculum, introducing a "creationist" account and demoting Darwinian theory to the status of an alternative conception. The controversy persisted as the Darwinists mobilized and won a majority at the next board election. Once again the curriculum was revised. One might say that the conflict between two comprehensive doctrines had generated widespread discussion, forcing both sides to publicize their positions, and in the process created an interested and better-informed public and a democratic solution, albeit not a resolution. One of the interesting aspects of the incident

- was that the creationists included some sophisticated scientists who forced the evolutionists to defend the factual basis of evolutionary theory.
- 123. See "Economic Policy and the National Interest in Imperial Germany," in *Max Weber: Selections in Translation*, ed. W. G. Runciman, trans. Eric Matthews (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1978), pp. 263–268.
- 124. For surveys of conservative thought in the United States, see Peter Steinfels, The Neo-Conservatives: The Men Who Are Changing American Politics (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1979); and Young, Reconsidering American Liberalism, pp. 244 ff. A vigorous defense, from a Straussian viewpoint, of a strong presidency is provided by Harvey Mansfield, Jr., Taming the Prince: The Ambivalence of Modern Executive Power (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1989), and his earlier America's Constitutional Soul (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1991). Earlier and influential statements were Russell Kirk, The Conservative Mind (Chicago: Gateway, 1954), and Samuel Huntington, "Conservatism as an Ideology," American Political Science Review 45 (June 1957): 454 ff.
- 125. The classic expression of the anti-corporate ideology was represented in the reports by the Temporary National Economic Committee in 1940. The pioneering study was that by Adolf A. Berle, Jr., and Gardiner C. Means, *The Modern Corporation and Private Property* (New York: Macmillan, 1932). For a recent discussion and survey of some of this literature, see Edward S. Herman, *Corporate Control, Corporate Power* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981).
- 126. In the immediate post-war years Arnold Toynbee's formula that "civilizations" survival depended on their ability to meet external threats ("challenge and response") was widely read and pondered, not least because struggle was portrayed in spiritual terms. See his *A Study of History*.
- 127. The association of democracy with "free elections" was given global application beginning with the 1970s when the United States began the practice of sending observers to certify that elections in Central and Latin America were "democratic."
- 128. During the conventions of the major American political parties in August 2000, a major television network broke precedent and instead of televising the convention on a Monday evening chose instead to televise a pre-season professional football game.
- 129. Cited in Ernst Nolte, *Three Faces of Fascism*, trans. Leila Venniwitz (New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1966), p. 7.
- 130. For a survey and evaluation of recent historical research on the German resistance, see Kershaw, *The Nazi Dictatorship*, chap. 8. There is a considerable body of research that investigates the degree and modes of resistance in the daily lives of ordinary Germans.

- 131. See, for example, Bernard Berelson et al., Voting: A Study of Opinion Formation in a Presidential Campaign (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1954); Lipset, Political Man; Gabriel Alomond and Sidney Verba, The Civic Culture: Political Attitudes and Democracy in Five Nations (Boston: Little, Brown, 1963).
- 132. These terms are taken from the influential study by David Riesman, Nathan Glazer, and Reuel Denney, *The Lonely Crowd* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1950).

CHAPTER SIXTEEN Power and Forms

- 1. Max Weber, *Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology,* ed. Guenther Roth and Claus Wittich, 3 vols. (New York: Bedminster Press, 1968), 1:48.
- 2. See, however, Arno J. Mayer, *The Persistence of the Old Regime: Europe to the Great War* (New York: Pantheon, 1981). Mayer challenged the conventional view that the bourgeoisie had completely triumphed before 1914; he showed the continuing influence, even dominance, of "feudal" elements.
- 3. See Roger Boesche, *Theories of Tyranny: From Plato to Arendt* (University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press, 1996); Alan Bullock, *Hitler: A Study in Tyranny* (New York: Harper, 1952); Karl Dietrich Bracher, *The German Dictatorship*, trans. Jean Steinberg (New York: Praeger, 1970); Robert C. Tucker, ed., *Stalinism: Essays in Historical Interpretation* (New York: Norton, 1977).
- 4. "Politics as a Vocation," in *From Max Weber: Essays in Sociology*, ed. H. H. Gerth and C. Wright Mills (New York: Oxford University Press, 1946), p. 78. Emphasis and parenthesis in original.
- 5. Weber, Economy and Society, 1:56.
- 6. Politics 3.6.1278b 10-15.
- 7. Freedom and Culture (New York: Putnam, 1939), p. 174.
- 8. William E. Connolly, Appearance and Reality in Politics (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981), especially chaps. 5–6, and Political Theory and Modernity (New York: Blackwell, 1988), pp. 116–136. For a defense of the state's importance, see Jeff Goodwin, No Other Way: State and Revolutionary Movements (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001). See also Theda Skocpol, States and Social Revolutions (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1979). There is a tendency to replace the usage "state" with "government" or "governance," the reasoning being that these terms allow for a greater number of actors to be included in analyses of outcomes. See Debating Governance: Authority, Steering, and Democracy, ed. Jon Pierre (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000). There are interesting discussions of power from postmodernist

- and feminist perspectives in Thomas E. Wartenberg, ed., *Rethinking Power* (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1992). The following earlier works can be read with profit: Steven Lukes, *Power: A Radical View* (London: Macmillan, 1974), and Dennis H. Wrong, *Power: Its Forms, Bases, and Uses* (New York: Harper, 1979).
- 9. For an earlier formulation of Superpower as the "mega-state," see my "Democracy without the Citizen," in *The Presence of the Past: Essays on the State and the Constitution* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1989), pp. 180–191.
- 10. During the preventive war of 2003 against Iraq the United States received assistance from Poland, Bulgaria, Hungary, and Czechoslovakia. In return the United States promised to establish permanent bases in those countries.
- 11. Reconstruction in Philosophy, p. 46.
- 12. Cited in Lawrence A. Scaff, *Fleeing the Iron Cage: Culture, Politics, and Modernity in the Thought of Max Weber* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1989), pp. 28–29.
- 13. A very different conception, one in which the state is the predominant element in determining economic policy, was developed by Fichte in his *Closed Commercial State* (1800); in 1840 Friedrich List produced his *National System of Political Economy*, where he defined political economy as "that which, emanating from the idea and nature of the nation, teaches how a given nation, in the present state of the world and its own special national relations, can maintain and improve its economical conditions." *Das nationale System des Politischen Oekonomie*, 5th ed. (Jena: Fischer, 1929), p. 208. The relationship between economic and political power is illuminated in Gianfranco Poggi, *Forms of Power* (Cambridge: Blackwell, 2001), pp. 123–125.
- 14. One reaction to totalization is the popularity of words such as "niche" or "space" and the adulation of unconventional entrepreneurs. "Virtual reality" is the appropriate opiate for the age.
- 15. "The Social Psychology of the World Religions," in From Max Weber, p. 293.
- 16. A vivid example was the controls enacted by the "democracies" in World War II. Some labor was described as "essential" and most as "non-essential" and hence subject to conscription. Scientists, bureaucrats, business executives, and other technocratic vocations were exempted. This is not to suggest that these regulations were irrational; the reverse is plainly true. But their logic is the logic of modern power, not of democracy.
- 17. Francis Fukuyama, *The End of History and the Last Man* (New York: Free Press, 1992). For an apocalyptic view of the future as a mix of well-being and misery—not exactly new to history—see Robert D. Kaplan, *The Coming Anarchy: Shattering the Dreams of the Post Cold War* (New York: Vintage, 2000).
- 18. A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia, trans. Brian Massumi (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1987), p. 159.

- 19. Friedrich A. Hayek, *Individualism and Economic Order* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1948), pp. 77–118; Ludwig von Mises, *Bureaucracy* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1944), pp. 20–39, and *Human Action: A Treatise on Economics* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1949), chap. 15; Milton Friedman, *Capitalism and Freedom* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1962), pp. 7–36. For some acute observations about postmodernism and markets, see Zygmunt Bauman, *Intimations of Modernity* (London: Routledge, 1992), pp. 51–52, 101.
- 20. In Frederic Jameson's *Postmodernism, or, The Cultural Logic of Late Capitalism* (Durham: Duke University Press, 1991), there is a helpful discussion of the aesthetic and cultural aspects of postmodernism from a sophisticated Marxian viewpoint. An exception to my claim about the paucity of postmodern economic analyses would be Jean Baudrillard, *The Mirror of Production,* trans. Mark Poster (St. Louis: Telos Press, 1975). Baudrillard attempted to "free" certain basic Marxian categories from political economy and from its alleged metaphysic.
- 21. William Riker, *The Theory of Political Coalitions* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1962), p. 7. Riker later became president of the American Political Science Association.
- 22. For a recent analysis that downplays the strong "revolutionary" claims of behavioralists and detects foreign influences at work among those critical of political "science," see John G. Gunnell, *The Descent of Political Theory: The Genealogy of an American Vocation* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1993).
- 23. Compare Heinz Eulau, *The Behavioral Persuasion in Politics* (New York: Random House, 1963), and David Easton, *The Political System: An Inquiry into the State of Political Science* (New York: Knopf, 1963), with Herbert J. Marcuse's *An Essay on Liberation* (Boston: Beacon, 1969).
- 24. One of the most influential versions was A. J. Ayer, *Language, Truth, and Logic* (London, 1936). See also the bibliography in his edited volume *Logical Positivism* (Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1959).
- 25. In addition to Kuhn there were also influential works by Norwood R. Hanson, Patterns of Discovery (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1958), and Paul K. Feyerabend, "How to Be a Good Empiricist," in Philosophy of Science: The Delaware Seminar, vol. 2, ed. Bernard Baumrin (New York: Wiley, 1963), pp. 3–39.
- 26. See the various discussions of Kuhn's work in Criticism and the Growth of Knowledge, ed. Imre Lakatos and Alan Musgrave (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1970). For an attempt to use Kuhn's theses in the context of political theory and political science, see my essay "Paradigms and Political Theories," in Politics and Experience: Essays Presented to Michael Oakeshott, ed. Preston King and B. C. Parekh (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1968), pp. 125–152.
- 27. Although Kuhn's thesis was criticized by other philosophers and historians of science, especially by Popperians, it was embraced by some political and social

- theorists. For examples of criticism, see Lakatos and Musgrave, *Criticism and the Growth of Knowledge*, and the comments in Peter Munz, *Our Knowledge of the Growth of Knowledge* (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1985), especially chaps. 3 and 4.
- 28. In addition to Hanson, *Patterns of Discovery*, see David Hawkins, *The Language of Nature: An Essay in the Philosophy of Science* (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1967).
- 29. Paul K. Feyerabend, *Against Method* (London: Verso, 1988). And see Feyerabend's criticism of Kuhn in "Consolations for the Specialist," in Lakatos and Musgrave, *Criticism and the Growth of Knowledge*, pp. 197–230.
- 30. The Vote Motive (London: Institute for Economic Affairs, 1976), p. 5.
- 31. "The Development of Contemporary Political Theory," in *Political Economy: Institutions, Competition, and Representation,* ed. William A. Barnett, Melvin J. Hinich, and Norman J. Schofield (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1993), p. 76. Cited in Donald P. Green and Ian Shapiro, *Pathologies of Rational Choice Theory: A Critique of Applications in Political Science* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1994), p. 1.
- 32. Riker, The Theory of Political Coalitions, p. ix.
- 33. The classic formulation of game theory was John von Neumann and Oskar Morgenstern, *Theory of Games and Economic Behavior*, 2nd ed. (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1947). The standard introduction to the theory was R. Duncan Luce and Howard Raiffa, *Games and Decisions: Introduction and Critical Survey* (New York: Wiley, 1957).
- 34. William Riker, "Political Science and Rational Choice," in *Perspectives on Positive Political Economy*, ed. James E. Alt and Kenneth A. Shepsle (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1990), p. 177. Cited in Green and Shapiro, *Pathologies of Rational Choice*. p. 25. My account of rational choice theories borrows from Green and Shapiro, especially pp. 14–30.
- 35. Riker, *The Theory of Political Coalitions*, p. viii. For a critique of rational choice by a political theorist in collaboration with a political scientist, see Green and Shapiro, *Pathologies of Rational Choice Theory.* The critique faults rational choice theorists for developing empirically inadequate theories and thus in a curious way perpetuates the behavioralist suspicions of "theory." At the same time the authors are silent about any political implications of their critique.
- 36. The Theory of Political Coalitions, p. 15.
- 37. Ibid., pp. 29–31. An alternative theory, "non-zero sum game," which allows for mutual advantage, is mentioned by Riker (pp. 30–31) and explicitly put aside.
- 38. Ibid., pp. 3, viii, 5.
- 39. Ibid., pp. 4–9.
- 40. Ibid., pp. 19, 20.

- 41. Ibid., pp. 21, 22.
- 42. Ibid., p. 211.
- 43. Riker illustrated his model with several actual historical episodes, e.g., the famous presidential election of 1824 and the intricate maneuvering in the House of Representatives consequent upon the failure of any candidate to acquire the necessary absolute majority in the electoral college. However plausible Riker's reconstruction of the maneuvering, the fact remains that a post hoc reconstruction cannot serve as an example of a scientific prediction.
- 44. *The Theory of Political Coalitions*, p. 216. The notion of political "decline" was very popular in the fifties owing in large measure to the influence of Arnold Toynbee's *A Study of History* (1934–1961). Toynbee is mentioned by Riker (pp. 6, 213, 216).
- 45. *The Theory of Political Coalitions*, p. 214. On "side-payments," see pp. 108 ff., and on disequilibrium pp. 188 ff.
- 46. Ibid., pp. 216, 218, 219.
- 47. Ibid., pp. 219–222.
- 48. Ibid., pp. 223-234.
- 49. Ibid., pp. 238-241.
- 50. Ibid., p. 242.
- 51. Cited in Scaff, Fleeing the Iron Cage, pp. 28-29.
- 52. For William Riker's critique of populist democracy, see *Liberalism against Populism* (San Francisco: Freeman, 1982).
- 53. For a representative statement of the advantages of the behavioral sciences for governmental policy-makers, see the recommendations of the National Academy of Sciences, *The Behavioral Sciences and the Federal Government* (Washington, D.C., 1968).
- 54. National Public Radio regularly accompanies its headline news with a business report, including the trend of the stock markets.
- 55. For a convenient formulation of the rules that ought to obtain, see Amy Gutmann and Dennis Thompson, *Democracy and Disagreement* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1996).
- 56. See, in particular, the writings of the political scientist Samuel Huntington, beginning with his paean to the values of military life and culminating in his contribution to the Trilateral Commission. Michael J. Crozier, Samuel P. Huntington, and Joji Watanuki, *The Crisis of Democracy: Report on the Governability of Democracies to the Trilateral Commission* (New York: New York University Press, 1975), pp. 59–118. In the same genre but dealing with issues of social welfare, see Charles Murray, *Losing Ground* (New York: Basic Books, 1984).
- 57. A Nation at Risk: Report of the National Commission on Excellence in Education (1983). For a critical view of the report, see my "Elitism and the Rage against Postmodernity," in *Presence of the Past*, pp. 47–65.

- 58. See the influential volume by Robert Nozick, *Anarchy, State, and Utopia* (New York: Basic Books, 1974). For discussions of Nozick, see Jeffrey Paul, ed., *Reading Nozick* (Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Littlefield, 1981).
- 59. The Federalist, ed. Cooke, No. 34, p. 211.
- 60. Hans Mommsen, From Weimar to Auschwitz: Essays in German History, trans. Philip O'Connor (Cambridge: Polity Press, 1991), chaps. 7, 8, 10; Heinz Höhne, The Order of the Death's Head: The Story of Hitler's SS (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1969), passim.
- 61. Robert Gellately, *Backing Hitler: Consent and Coercion in Nazi Germany* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001); Browning, *Ordinary Men.* And, more controversially, Daniel Goldhagen, *Hitler's Willing Executioners: Ordinary Germans and the Holocaust* (New York, Knopf, 1996).
- 62. In earlier usage "mobility" was a synonym for the mob or populace. Today "mob" is a synonym for organized gangsters.
- 63. Peter Passell, New York Times, July 25, 1996, p. 1 (business sec.).

Chapter Seventeen Postmodern Democracy: Virtual or Fugitive?

- 1. The Origins of Totalitarianism, p. 167.
- See in this connection Jean-François Lyotard's attack on "grand narratives," e.g., Marxism and critical theory, as "out of step with the vital modes of post-modern knowledge." *The Post-Modern Condition: A Report on Knowledge*, trans. Geoff Bennington and Brian Massumi (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984), pp. 13–14.
- 3. This understanding is not confined to "left" critics. Conservatives have enthusiastically declared a "cultural war" for the purpose of eradicating liberalism. See my essay "The Destructive Sixties and Postmodern Conservatism," in *Rediscovering the Sixties*, ed. Stephen Macedo (New York: Norton, 1997), 129–156.
- 4. "Letter on Humanism," in *Martin Heidegger: Basic Writings*, ed. David Farrell Krell (New York: Harper & Row, 1977), p. 193. Language, according to Nietzsche, is the "adequate expression of all realities." Cited in Megill, *Prophets of Extremity*, p. 95.
- 5. The Gay Science, sec. 58 (p. 122).
- 6. A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy, trans. S. S. Ryazanskaya, ed. Maurice Dobb (New York: International Publishers, 1970), p. 21.
- 7. See Jacques Derrida, "Plato's Pharmacy," in *Dissemination*, ed. Barbara Johnson (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1981), pp. 65 ff. Compare Marx's comments about the mystifications introduced in the discussion of value by liberal political economists.
- 8. Thus Spake Zarathustra, p. 203.

- 9. Ibid., p. 204.
- 10. Ibid., p. 206.
- 11. Twilight of the Idols, sec. 1, p. 55.
- 12. Reiner Schurmann, *Heidegger on Being and Acting: From Principles to Anarchy*, trans. C.-M. Gros (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1987), p. 18. Cited in Geoffrey Hawthorn and Camilla Lund, "Private and Public in Late Modern Democracy," in *The Politics of Postmodernity*, ed. James Good and Irving Velody (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998), p. 43. On this point I have borrowed from the authors' formulation.
- 13. See Richard Rorty, *Contingency, Irony, and Solidarity* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1989).
- 14. Dietrich Rueschemeyer, Evelyne Stephens, and John D. Stephens, *Capitalist Development and Democracy* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1992), p. 2.
- 15. "Introduction: Public Ignorance and Democratic Theory," *Critical Review* 12, no. 4 (1998): 397.
- 16. Cited in Bruns, Maurice Blanchot: The Refusal of Philosophy, p. 74.
- 17. Politics 3.8.1279b19-20.
- 18. The specter of turbulent democracy reappeared in the report of the Trilateral Commission. American foreign policy towards China has treated individual liberties as separable from democracy. While certifying "free elections" in some countries (e.g., Colombia) despite the murderous activities of "death squads" that, typically, have strong links to the state, the United States pressed Chinese authorities on behalf of individual rights without insisting that they introduce democratic political institutions.
- 19. Republic 562a-569c.
- 20. In his overly nuanced "Conclusion" to the collection of essays *Democracy: The Unfinished Journey, 508 BC to AD 1993*, ed. John Dunn (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1992), the editor concludes that today democracy has been made "safe" for contemporary capitalism and the state. "... [C]onstitutional representative democracy" accepts the modern state "without noticeable inhibition, offering itself as the most civilized and politically just format which can be superimposed upon the intractable reality of that state." Pp. 250, 255.
- 21. The *New York Times* reported that the Central Intelligence Agency was contemplating starting its own entrepreneurial venture in Silicon Valley.
- 22. Consider the various proposals for converting (or supplementing) social security and pension and health plans into individual "investment accounts," thus turning the citizen into an investor who "looks out for himself."
- 23. This has been anticipated in "rational choice" theories current among social and political scientists. It had been identified earlier by Anthony Downs, *An Economic Theory of Democracy* (Harper & Row: New York, 1957). "Our main thesis is that parties in democratic politics are analogous to entrepreneurs in a

- profit-seeking economy." Ibid., p. 295. More recently the argument is that the demos as voter is largely ignorant about matters of public policy but as a consumer knows what s/he likes; so the solution is to limit government activity, thereby decreasing the range of policy matters brought before the electorate and, at the same time, increasing the range of (rational) private choices. See Friedman, "Introduction: Public Ignorance and Democratic Theory," pp. 397–411.
- 24. Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., *The Imperial Presidency* (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1973).
- 25. For a more extended discussion, see my "Brave New World," in the on-line journal *Theory and Event*, January 30, 2002.
- 26. Aristotle did not include "empire" in his list of possible political forms, but he did refer to some examples, e.g., Athens and Sparta. For his low opinion of empire, see *Politics* 7.2.1324b1–1325a5. Nor is empire mentioned by modern theorists, such as Hobbes, Locke, and Rousseau. Perhaps the most important modern critique was by Montesquieu in *Considérations sur les causes de la grandeur des Romains et de leur décadence* (1734).
- 27. One of the striking aspects of the war against Afghanistan was the initial reluctance of the American military to become involved in an "unconventional" war. Similarly, in the confused discussion during 2002 of a proposed invasion of Iraq the military was initially wary of following through on the logic of a war against terrorism and terrorist regimes that strained received understandings of warfare.
- 28. Weber, Economy and Society, 3:1394.
- 29. Raymond Williams, *The Country and the City* (London: Chatto & Windus, 1973), especially chaps. 9–10. Eugene Genovese, *The Southern Tradition: The Achievement and Limitations of an American Conservatism* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1994). Genovese's evolution is interesting: from a Marxist analyst of Southern slave culture to a defender of conservative Southern values.
- 30. *The Writing of the Disaster*, trans. Ann Smock (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1986), cited by the translator, p. xvi.
- 31. See my article "Tending and Intending a Constitution," in *Presence of the Past*, pp. 82–99.
- 32. William Walwyn, or possibly John Lilburne, in *The Levellers in the English Revolution*, ed. G. E. Aylmer, (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1975), pp. 152, 151.
- 33. Downs, Economic Theory of Democracy, p. 267.
- 34. Robert A. Dahl, *Who Governs?* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1961), p. 279. Emphasis in original.
- 35. Compare this with the formulation of recent public opinion researchers that voters, while not well informed about politics, can nonetheless make rational

- decisions based on ordinary experiences of daily life. See Samuel Popkin, *The Reasoning Voter* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991).
- 36. Rights of Man, pt. 2, chap. 3, in The Complete Writings of Thomas Paine, ed. Philip S. Foner (New York: Citadel Press, 1945), 1:371.
- 37. *The Federalist*, ed. Cooke, No. 23, p. 146. Hamilton's emphasis. For an elaboration of Hamilton's position, see my "Collective Identity and Constitutional Power," in *The Constitution and Regulation of Society*, ed. Gary C. Bryner and Dennis L. Thompson (Provo, Utah: Brigham Young University, 1988), pp. 93–122, and the discussion of the paper at pp. 123–128.
- 38. Illustrative are Aaron Wildavsky, "The Secret of Safety Lies in Danger," in *The Constitution and Regulation of Society,* pp. 43–61, and my comments and Wildavsky's rejoinder, pp. 63–65. See also Samuel Huntington, "The Democratic Distemper," in *The American Commonwealth* (New York: Basic Books, 1976), pp. 9–38.
- 39. "Fugitive Democracy," in *Democracy and Difference: Contesting the Boundaries of the Political*, ed. Seyla Benhabib (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1996), pp. 31–45.
- 40. Cf. Robert Dahl: "democracy is the best possible state." *Democracy and Its Critics* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1989), p. 49.
- 41. This popular inventiveness has been particularly notable during revolutionary periods, such as the Committees of Correspondence during the American Revolution and the associations of laborers and artisans developed in France in the years immediately preceding 1848. It was such spontaneous improvisations during the Commune of 1871 that impressed Marx and, as we have noted, led belatedly to a revision in his thinking about revolution and post-revolutionary reconstruction. Similar phenomena inspired Hannah Arendt, *On Revolution* (New York: Viking, 1963), pp. 235 ff., and were present in the student movements at Berkeley during the sixties and in Paris in 1968. See Sheldon S. Wolin and John H. Schaar, *The Berkeley Rebellion and Beyond: Essays on Politics and Education in the Technological Society* (New York: New York Review of Books and Random House, 1970).
- 42. Prior to the American invasion of Iraq in 2003, over one hundred city councils passed resolutions opposing that course of action. Despite that and hundreds of thousands of mass demonstrations in American cities, there was no response from national political parties or the Congress except to support the invasion.
- 43. See the editor's introduction to *Universal Abandon*, ed. Andrew Ross (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2001).
- 44. Quintin Hoare and Geoffrey Nowell Smith, eds. and trans., *Selections from the Prison Notebooks of Antonio Gramsci* (New York: International Publishers, 1971), p. 35.

•••

Achaean League, 69

action: in Augustine, 187; in Cicero, 79; classical conceptions of, 115, 201; in Dewey, 506, 508; in early Christianity, 115; as heroic, 115; in Hobbes, 225, 244, 249, 253, 254, 259, 296; in Lenin, 378–79; in liberal economists, 267, 286, 296; in liberalism, 266, 267, 270, 271, 292; in Locke, 266, 267, 282–83; in Machiavelli, 181, 187, 188, 190, 191, 193–97, 198, 200–204, 205; in Marx, 407; mediaeval conceptions of, 201; and morality, 187; in Nietzsche, 485; and pain, 292; and Plato, 77; in radicalism, 270–71; as regeneration, 270–71; in relation to crisis, 216; and Rome, 65, 76, 77, 79; in Saint-Simon, 339

Alexander the Great, 69

alienation: in early Christianity, 89; in Hobbes, 236, 244, 246, 249, 353; in liberalism, 283; in Locke, 283, 429; in Machiavelli, 195, 204; in Marx, 362, 418, 419, 430; in Nietzsche, 479; in Rousseau, 330, 335

Anabaptists, 149, 150, 161

Anaxagoras, 28-29

Antiphon, 29

Aquinas, Thomas. *Ideas on:* authority, 123; community, 122; constituency, 123; government, 172; grace, 135; institutionalized order, 123; law, 122–23; order, 121, 122–23; political, 6, 122, 125, 126, 140; political order, 122; power, 121, 123, 135; reason, 228; ruler, 123, 146; sacramental society, 119–20; sacraments, 121–22, 123, 135; schism and heresy, 121. *In relation to:* Aristotle, 122; Calvin, 170; Hobbes, 228; Luther, 134, 135; Machiavelli, 210; Plato, 61, 123, 172

Arendt, Hannah, 425, 426, 456, 457–58 Aristotle. *Ideas on:* citizenship, 14–15, 53, 54; community, 56; constitution, 403–4, 594–95; crisis, 217; democracy, 585; distribution of goods, 56; distributive role of government, 56; equality, 57; federalism, 67; friendship, 78; good, 59; good life, 10; interest, 82; justice, 15, 59, 114; knowledge, 54–55; morality, 66; nature, 55; opinion, 56; past, 395–96; polis, 63; political, 63–64; political art, 59; political association, 58, 82, 388–89; political conciliation, 59; political judgment, 58; political rights, 66; political science, 55; political space, 65–66; potentiality, 55; power, 55, 82, 403–4, 616n.95; purpose, 55; reason, 228; ruling group, 558; statesman, 5; totalitarianism, 459; unity, 58. In relation to: Aquinas, 122; Augustine, 114; Calvin, 151; Christianity, 91, 92; church, 121; Cicero, 79; Hobbes, 219, 222, 228, 229; Locke, 266; Luther, 132, 134, 138, 139; Machiavelli, 208, 210; Nietzsche, 485

Arnold, Matthew, 269

Athanasius, 102

Augustine. 95. Ideas on: action, 187; authority, 111, 117; church, 116, 118; civitas dei, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 140, 172; civitas terrena, 113, 117, 140; common, 114; community, 116, 141; compulsion, 106, 107-8, 110; conflict, 117; crisis, 218; fear, 107; fortuna, 115; history, 115; interest, 114; justice, 114-15; love, 107-8, 110, 111, 114, 115; morality, 113; needs of man, 113; order, 95, 111, 117, 141; political, 110; political order, 110-11, 113, 114-15, 117, 141; power, 110, 111, 116; and Rome, 94, 114; ruler and ruled, 117; social vs. political, 117; society, 116, 117; time, 112, 115, 140; two cities, 110-11; unity, 108. In relation to: Aristotle, 114; Cicero, 114; classical thought, 115; Hobbes, 219; Luther, 137; Montanism, 101; Plato, 114

authority: in Augustine, 117; in Bodin, 7; in Calvin, 154; and church, 96, 97, 98, 101–2; and constitutionalism, 348; and democratic radicalism, 264; in *Federalist Papers*, 349; in Hellenistic age, 64, 69, 70; in Hobbes, 230, 231, 232, 233, 234, 238, 249, 259, 273, 275; of institutions, 261; and judgment, 56; in

authority (continued)

liberalism, 270, 310, 311, 314; in Locke, 274, 277, 279; in Luther, 129, 131, 136–37, 138, 145, 146, 218; in Machiavelli, 179, 192; in Maistre, 357, 358; of organization, 327, 341, 368, 426; in Plato, 48–49; in Proudhon, 344; and religion, 328; in Roman world, 69, 70, 83, 93; in Rousseau, 334, 335; in Simon, 368; in Smith, 261; and society, 385

Bacon, Francis. Ideas on: culture, 398; knowledge, 398; method, 345, 397; mind, 396; nature, 397; past, 396; political theory, 397; power, 396, 397, 398, 497, 498, 505; science, 397, 497, 498, 510; state, 510. In relation to: Dewey, 505; Hobbes, 222, 398; Machiavelli, 397; Popper, 497; postmodern world, 563 Bakunin, M. A., 450, 483, 541 Barker, Sir Ernest, 118 Barnard, Chester, 367, 381 Basil, Saint, 101-2, 105 Bastiat, Frédéric, 261, 269, 270, 280, 313 Bentham, Jeremy. Ideas on: busyness, 291; coercion, 311-12; competition, 290; conformity, 309-10; conscience, 305; equality, 297; interest, 211, 251, 252, 303-4, 305-6;

Berle, Adolph A, 329, 387, 388 Bodin, Jean, 7, 218, 609n.13 Bonald, Louis de, 321–22, 325, 326, 328, 345, 346, 356–57, 358, 359, 361, 362

justice, 295; motivation, 305; pleasure and

306-7; public opinion, 312; reason, 298;

pain, 292, 293-95; political space, 17; power,

religion, 267; scarcity of goods, 286; security,

297; self-denial, 299; theory, 268. In relation

Bourne, Randolph, 518 Bradley, F. H., 359, 360 Burckhardt, Jakob, 180

to: Dewey, 512

bureaucracy: in capitalism, 411, 567; effect of on modernity, 401–2; in French Revolution, 401; in Lenin, 381, 382; in Locke, 430; in Marx, 444, 445, 446, 451, 491; and political, 411; power of, 402; predominance of, 317; and revolution, 326; in Selznick, 387; and society, 374; state, xvii–xviii, 374; in Tocqueville, 401; and uniformities, 243; in Weber, 317, 380. *See also* organization

Burke, Edmund, 77, 95, 260, 365, 366, 367, 369, 370, 383, 582 Bush, George W., 551, 590, 592–93

Calvin, John. Ideas on: authority, 154; belief, 150, 155, 163; church, 150, 151, 152, 153, 157, 158, 160, 171, 172; church-society, 150, 157, 171; church visible and invisible, 151, 172; citizen, 163, 168, 169; civil government, 154, 162; civility, 150, 153, 154, 157, 163, 171; civil order, 154, 165; civil society, 165, 172; coercion, 152, 153-54; community, 150, 151, 155, 156, 157, 159, 160, 169, 170; congregation, 158, 159, 160; conscience, 154, 155, 156, 166, 167, 168; corpus mysticum, 151, 157, 163-64; cosmology, 161, 162; crisis, 218; discipline, 151, 156, 158, 160, 163; education, 162, 164; elect, 151; excommunication, 156; faith, 155; Fortuna, 25, 26; freedom, 167, 169; grace, 151; hierarchy, 158, 164; humanism, 157; humanity, 154; individual, 155, 157; institutions, 150, 152, 157, 158, 160, 167, 170, 171; interest, 167; Jesus, 155; jurisdiction, 154, 156-57; knowledge, 160, 164-66; law, 156, 162, 165-67, 169; leadership, 150, 160; love, 152, 164; man's nature, 151, 162, 165; membership, 152, 160, 171; ministry, 152, 158; obedience, 162, 167, 168; order, 153, 154, 155-56, 157, 158, 161, 163, 164, 167, 170, 171; participation, 158-59, 171; pastors, 159, 160, 166-67; philosophy, 165; political, 157, 159, 175; political office, 166-70; political order, 150, 161, 167, 170; political society, 162, 165; political theory, 160-61; pope, 150, 151, 158, 171; power, 150, 153-57, 158, 159, 167, 168, 170; preaching, 155, 159, 160; reason, 165; religion, 168, 169; resistance, 168-69, 170; restraint, 156; Roman Church, 152, 170-71; ruler/civil magistrate, 157, 159-60, 162, 166-70, 169; sacramentalism, 151-52, 158-59, 160, 172; Scripture, 151, 155, 158, 159, 160, 168; society, 151, 165; society visible and invisible, 152; solidarity, 151; spiritual polity, 153; state, 157; truth, 155; tyranny, 167, 168; unity, 150, 151, 152, 155, 163-64, 167, 171, 172; virtue, 154, 157,

164. *In relation to:* Aquinas, 170; Aristotle, 151; chaos, 217; Hobbes, 219; Lenin, 382; Luther, 150, 157, 159, 165, 169; Marx, 435; modernity, 173; Plato, 157, 159–60; *polis*, 157, 158; Reformation, 150, 151, 153, 169, 170 Calvinism, 267, 286

capitalism: bureaucracy in, 411, 567; vs. communism, 560; development with democracy, 527, 555, 575–76, 596–97; in Dewey, 510, 511-12, 515, 516, 517, 518; in Lenin, 364, 382; and liberal economics, 361; and liberalism, 306; libertarianism view of, 577; in Locke, 430; in Marx, xix, 317, 339, 363, 407-8, 409, 417, 418, 420, 426, 431, 433, 434, 435–36, 439, 440, 441, 442, 446, 449, 451-53, 527, 565-66, 567, 568, 699n.137; organization in, 326, 327; political conditioned by, 527; in Rawls, xx, 535, 548, 551; vs. socialism, 528; in Superpower, 591; uncollapsed, 565-66; in Weber, 551; welfare state in, 576; worker in, 567, 596-97. See also economy

Carey, Henry C., 283 Catholic Church, 230

Christianity, 64; action in, 115; alienation in, 89; body in, 91-92; in Calvin, 157; Christology of, 102; and classical thought, 119; coercion in, 95-96; community in, 86-95; disengagement of, 89, 92, 93, 140; friendship in, 92; goods in, 89; heresy and schism in, 98-101; history in, 112; in Hobbes, 244, 246; love in, 95; in Machiavelli, 124, 212; membership in, 87, 90-92; obedience to, 89; obligation to, 88-89, 92; political elements of, 86-87, 90, 95-96, 101-2; vs. political order, 88-90, 92, 93-94, 108-11, 112, 115-16, 117, 140; power in, 93, 94, 96; and Roman Empire, 93, 94; and ruler/secular authority, 102, 106, 140; social vs. political in, 117-18, 148; Stoicism in, 92; time in, 94, 193; Trinity in, 102. See also church

Chrysostom, St. John, 103

church: and Aristotle, 121; Augustine on, 118; authority of, 96, 97, 98, 101–2, 121; belief in, 96; in Calvin, 150, 151, 152, 153, 157, 158, 160, 171, 172; civility in, 88; coercion by, 105–6, 107, 117, 118, 121; as community, 101, 108, 119, 148; conflict in, 103,

104-5; conformity to, 97; consent as basis of, 215; constituency of, 98; as corpus mysticum, 119, 121; covenant in, 215; discipline in, 97, 101, 148; and distribution of scarce goods, 104; equality in, 121; excommunication by, 107; fear in, 106; federalism of, 104; freedom from, 148; as governing, 119; heresy and schism in, 98-101, 102-3, 104-5; and history, 99; and institutions, 96, 98, 99, 100-101, 103, 104, 148; and interest, 215; leadership, 97-98; Luther on, 129, 130, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137-38, 139, 157; in Machiavelli, 178; membership in, 98, 101; mission of, 116; obedience to, 97, 105, 124; obligation to, 97; order in, 96, 99, 101, 148; vs. political order, 104, 105, 109, 112, 116; vs. political, 95-103, 124-25; politicization of, 4, 88, 96, 110; politics in, 103-8; as polity, 118; power of, 100, 103, 106, 107-8, 121, 148; property of, 96; and radicalism, 100; as republic, 116; and Roman Empire, 88; and sacraments, 100; and sectarians, 215; and secular authority, 106; social nature of, 137-38; as society of believers, 119, 121; vs. state, 127; and time, 94, 99; tradition in, 99; and truth, 100, 104; uniformity in, 105; unity of, 96, 97, 98, 104, 105; as universal, 116; visible and invisible, 116, 151, 172; as voluntary association, 215-16. See also Christianity

church-society: in Calvin, 150, 157, 171; as holy, 112; Luther on, 137, 146, 149; and political order, 109, 116; politics and power in, 103

Cicero, 4, 76, 78–79, 81, 83, 114 citizen: Aristotle on, 14–15, 53, 54; in Calvin, 163, 168, 169; as consumer, 575–76; democracy and, 596; depoliticized, 592; in Dewey, 508; economic role of, 273, 575–76, 589; free choice of, 576; in Hellenistic and Roman worlds, 67, 70, 83; in Hobbes, 226–27, 234, 243, 251; imperial, 590–94; as informer, 590; in inverted totalitarianism, xvi; limited participation of, 565; local, 603, 604; in Machiavelli, 180–81, 196–97, 198, 212; in Plato, 52, 53; political talents of, 598, 599; in Popper, 501, 502; in Rawls, 531, 538, 539, 545, 549; as reciprocity, 531; of Superpower,

citizen (continued) xvi, xvii, 565, 590; in Tocqueville, 595, 596. See also democracy

civil rights movement, 522-23

class: as cause, 258; changing views of, 317; in Dewey, 509; in Fourier, 354; and industrialism, 357; in Locke, 290; in Machiavelli, 182; in Marx, 426-27, 432, 434, 435, 439, 441, 444, 446, 447, 448, 449, 450, 490-91; in Plato, 66; in Rawls, 541; ruling, 558; in Saint-Simon, 339. See also middle class; work/worker

coercion: in Bentham, 311-12; in Calvin, 152, 153-54; by church, 105-6, 107, 117, 118, 121; in Durkheim, 334; in early Christianity, 95-96; by economy, 261; in Hobbes, 245; and liberalism, 280; in Locke, 279-80, 281; in Luther, 136, 137, 141, 142, 144, 150; in Machiavelli, 197, 208, 214; in Marx, 383, 423; in Saint-Simon, 338

Cold War, 552, 559-60, 561

communism: vs. capitalism, 560; collapsed, 565, 566; collapse of, 553-54; in postwar United States, 551. See also socialism

community: in Aquinas, 122; in Aristotle, 56; in Augustine, 116, 141; of believers, 108; in Calvin, 150, 151, 155, 156, 157, 159, 160, 169, 170; in Christianity, 86-95; church as, 101, 108, 119, 148; in classical writers, 113; corporation as, 364-65, 370; Cynics on, 71; in Dewey, 513-14, 515, 516, 517; of discourse, 320; in Durkheim, 334, 336; and early Christianity, 86-95; in Epicureans, 71; in Fourier, 354-55; in Hobbes, 246, 247-48, 249, 252; and industrialism, 352, 364-65; and interest, 352-53; in liberalism, 311, 314; in Locke, 276, 300, 428; in Luther, 157; in Marx, 373, 428, 430; in Mayo, 371; modern longing for, 319; and nature, 216; in Nietzsche, 487; in 1960s social movements, 523; organization as, 325, 327-28, 329, 336, 352-60; in Plato, 31, 45, 46, 51, 52, 53, 55, 58; and political, 65, 329; and political society, 57; and Protestant Reformation, 148, 149, 215; in Proudhon, 325, 336; and Rome, 83; in Rousseau, 120, 332-34, 335, 336, 353; in Saint-Simon, 352-53; and society, 352; and unity, 59; value of, 325. See also society

Comte, Auguste, 217, 257, 261, 262, 313, 321, 327, 345, 497

conflict: and church, 103, 104-5; in Machiavelli, 186, 211, 215; in Plato, 37-39, 40-41, 45, 77; and political rule, 59-60; and politics, 10-11, 12, 37-39, 40-42, 208-9, 372-73; and Protestant Reformation, 161; in Roman world, 65, 75, 76, 77-78, 81, 82; and unity, 59; in West, 59

conscience: in Bentham, 305; in Calvin, 154, 155, 156, 166, 167, 168; in Durkheim, 333, 334, 347, 359; in Hobbes, 245; and interest, 303, 304; in liberalism, 310, 552; in Locke, 302-3, 304-5; in Luther, 139, 143, 145, 147, 153; in Machiavelli, 213; in Nietzsche, 486; in Protestantism, 212, 303, 304; in Smith, 308; social vs. individual, 303, 307 Constant, Benjamin, 252, 289, 432

Constantine, 108-9

constituency: in Aquinas, 123; and church, 98; of corporations, 388; in Hellenistic Roman eras, 86; in Machiavelli, 182, 211; in Plato, 42, 43; and Rome, 80

constitution/constitutionalism: and American revolution, 264; Greek, 77; kinds of, 557-58; liberal, 575; in Madison, 540; mediaeval, 404; and method, 350, 351; modern, 348, 404; organization and method in, 348-52, 351; and political economy, 405; power in, 348, 403-4; in Rawls, 540, 548, 549; Roman, 75, 82; and Superpower, 591

corporations: in academia, 594; anti-commonality of, 578; behavioralism in, 574; in Berle, 387; centripetalism of, 587; as communities, 364-65, 370; constituency of, 388; in contemporary political economy, 563-64; corruption of government by, 600; in democracy, 526, 527, 596, 597; depoliticizing by, 593; in Dewey, 510, 518, 519; economic aspects of, 317, 563-64, 588; evolution of, xviii, 587-90; flexibility of, 567-68; military in, 589-90; as organization, 376; as partner for Superpower, 560, 561, 562; and political, 375, 376, 551; in politics, 560, 593; power of, 526, 527; and private property, 318-19; progressive critique of, 523; rational choice in, 574; in Rawls, 531, 532, 536; and religion, 329; responsibility of, 388; social

programs controlled by, 588–89; vs. sovereign state, 559; state partnership with, xviii, 588–89, 593, 605; and Superpower, xvi–xvii corpus mysticum, 119, 137, 146, 151, 157, 163–64

culture: as anti-revolutionary, 455; in Bacon, 398; as cause, 258; challenge to economics, 454, 455; change in, 581–82; corresponding to constitution, 557; in Dewey, 504, 505, 506, 507, 511, 515, 516; in Hellenistic age, 68–69; in Marxism, 477–78; in Nietzsche, xix, 455, 461–62, 464, 469, 471, 472, 473, 474, 477, 478, 479, 482, 484, 486, 488; vs. political, 455, 473, 477, 479; postmodern, 581–82; in Rawls, 546–47, 550; supportive of Superpower, 560; Tocqueville on, 455; and totalitarianism, 472–73

Cynics, 71, 72, 92 Cyprian, 97–98, 104, 107

democracy: American, 595-96; ancient, 598-99; in Aristotle, 585; authoritarian, 554-55; centrifugal tendencies in, 586-87, 604; centripetal tendencies in, 586, 587; common good in, 598, 604-5; control of government in, 597; corporations in, 526, 527, 596, 597; decline of, 601; development of with capitalism, 527, 556, 575-76, 596–97; in Dewey, xx, 504, 506, 507, 508, 509, 511-14, 516-17, 518, 519; and dilution of politics, 316; and economy, 400-401, 564, 601; elite in, 598, 599; empire of, 600; as ephemeral, 602, 603, 604; equality in, 526, 558-59; fugitive, 601-6; government by, 602-3; inclusiveness of, 598-99; institutionalized, 601-2, 603; justice in, 527; in Lenin, 381-82, 383; liberal, xvi, 558; vs. liberalism, 496, 521-22, 527, 529-30, 542, 555; local, 603; in Locke, 429; in Luther, 138, 139; in Machiavelli, 181; majority rule in, 349, 501, 526, 549, 601; in Marx, 412, 413, 414, 441, 444, 445, 446, 447, 448, 451, 491, 565; in Nazism, 554-55; in neo-liberalism, 521-22; in Nietzsche, 460, 462, 463, 477, 478, 486, 488, 490, 491; in 1960s social movements, 523; in organization, 381-82, 383; in Plato, 37-38, 42, 66, 585; plebiscitary, 554; in political economy, 564; in

Popper, xx, 500, 501, 502; populist, 555; in postmodernism, 584; power in, 400; promotion of by religion, 542; as public life vs. private interest, 520; punishment in, 493; rationalization of, 564-65; in Rawls, xx, 529-30, 534, 535, 536, 538, 539, 540, 545, 546, 547, 549, 550; religious promotion of, 542; representative, 599-600; science in, 401; as settled, 601-2; in Superpower, xix, 553-54, 597, 601, 604; in Tocqueville, 455, 595-96; totalitarian element in, 520-21, 554, 555; tyranny from, 585; in United States, xix, 595-596; universal value of, 585; and welfare policy, 495. See also citizen Democratic party, 524-25, 562, 593 democratic radicalism, 263, 264, 266 Demosthenes, 68, 69 Descartes, René, 344-45, 350 Dewey, John, 284; as public intellectual, 503. Ideas on: action, 506, 508; capitalism, 510, 511-12, 515, 516, 517, 518; certainty, 516; citizenship, 508; class, 509; communication, 515, 516; community, 513-14, 515, 516, 517; consequences, 504, 509, 510, 511, 512, 513, 514, 516; control, 508; cooperation, 509; corporation, 510, 518, 519; culture, 504, 505, 506, 507, 511, 515, 516; democracy, xx, 504, 506, 507, 508, 509, 511-14, 516-17, 518, 519; economy, 504, 509, 510, 512-13, 514, 519; education, 504, 507, 508, 519, 594; elite, 508; equality, 506-7, 595; everyday practices, 505; experience, 505, 506, 508; experimentalism, 506, 508-9, 511, 515-16, 518; experts, 516; Great Society, 513, 514, 517; habit, 506; individual, 509; industry, 506; influences on, 504; institutions, 512; knowledge, 505; liberalism, 512-13, 514; localism, 513, 514, 516; method, 504, 505, 517; morality, 515, 516; nature, 505; participation, 508; philosophy, 504, 507, 508; planning, 508; political, 508; political theory, 504; politics, 513; power, 505, 506-7, 509, 510, 515, 518; problems, 505, 506, 508, 510, 511; production, 508; public, 511, 516, 519; revolution, 509; science, 504, 505, 506, 508, 509, 510, 511, 513, 514-16, 517-18, 590; socialism, 508; society, 508, 511, 515, 516; state, 505,

Dewey, John (continued)

510; technology, 505, 513, 514, 517; theory, 504, 505; values, 506. *In relation to:* Bacon, 505; Bentham, 512; Locke, 512; Marx, 514, 515; Marxism, 509, 510; Mill, 512; Popper, 519; Smith, 512

Donatism, 99, 100-101, 104, 106, 107, 109 Durkheim, Émile. *Ideas on:* acquisition, 363; anomie, 357-58, 363; coercion, 334; collective, 360; collective conscience, 333, 334, 359, 674nn. 69 and 71; community, 334, 336; conscience, 333, 334, 347, 359; desire, 362; despotism, 358; division of labor, 372; economy, 360-61, 363; egoism, 358, 359, 362, 363; ethics as facts, 322; group, 333, 334, 386; individual, 346-47, 359, 363; industrialism, 333, 363; interest, 362, 363; liberalism, 362-63; mediaeval society, 328; morality, 322, 333, 334, 362, 363; organization, 326, 327; political, 323, 372; social facts, 345, 346; social function, 346-47; society, 357-58, 373; sociology, 358; solidarity, 358, 363; state, 374. In relation to: Hobbes, 358; Maistre, 357; Plato, 333; Rousseau, 333, 334, 674nn. 69 and 71

economic rationalism, 360-64 economics, classical, 257, 261-62, 298, 338 economy: acquisitiveness in, 318; bureaucracy in, 318; in Calvinism, 267; as cause, 258; citizen's role in, 273, 575-76, 589; coercion in, 261; and constitution, 405; continuous change in, 580; corporations in, 317, 563-64, 588; cultural challenge to, 454, 455; deficit spending in, 562; and democracy, 400-401, 527, 564, 601; Democratic vs. Republican policy for, 562; in Dewey, 504, 509, 510, 512-13, 514, 519; distribution in, 286; division of labor in, 273; in Durkheim, 360-61, 363; and future generations, 299; of government institutions, 272-73; in Hobbes, 257, 258; industrial, 360-61, 399; interest in, 273; in James Mill, 272; in J. S. Mill, 269; justice in, 270-71; and law of diminishing returns, 287; in Lenin, 364, 378, 381; in liberalism, 263, 269, 270, 271-73, 283, 285, 287, 288, 361, 526, 528, 575; libertarianism view of, 577; in Locke, 430; in Machiavelli,

196; market in, 270; in Marx, 361-62, 406, 413, 417, 418, 420, 422, 423, 425, 426-27, 428, 430, 432, 433, 436, 437, 439, 440, 446, 447, 448, 449, 452, 491; modern, 493, 520; as object of choice, 578-79; of opposition, 575; pleasure and pain in, 294; and political, 530-31; political order from, 281; vs. political philosophy, 271; vs. political, 563; and politics, 270; in Popper, 499; postmodern, 579-80; in postmodernism, 473, 566-67; power in, 400, 526-27; and private property, 318; production in, 286, 318; as public issue, 530, 564, 574; rational choice in, 574; in Rawls, 530-31, 532-33, 534, 535, 539, 541; as reason with self-interest, 543; of Rome, 80; scarcity of goods in, 285-86; and Smith, 270, 271, 400; in socialism, 528; of society, 261-62, 269-70, 271-72, 365, 528; of Superpower, 562, 563, 595; totalitarian, 493, 564, 579-80; of welfare state, 576; workers in, 520; world, 564. See also capitalism

education, 67; in Bradley, 359; in Calvin, 162, 164; in Dewey, 504, 507, 508, 519, 594; in liberalism, 291; in Machiavelli, 201; Mill on, 285; in Rawls, 535, 548, 550

elite: in corporatist state, 605; in democracy, 598, 599; in Dewey, 508; in Lenin, 50–51, 376, 381, 382; as liberal ideal, 521; in liberalism, 521, 552; in managerialism, 376; manipulation by, 376; in Marx, 435, 451; vs. masses, 377; in Nietzsche, 463, 478, 479–80, 485, 489, 490; in Plato, 46, 49, 55, 58; in Selznick, 370, 376, 383

empire, 63, 75, 80, 81, 552, 561, 562, 600 Engels, Friedrich, 435, 441, 699n.137 English Levellers, 100, 171 English pluralism, 373, 374 Enlightenment, 496, 497, 537, 554 Epicureans, 71–72

equality: in Aristotle, 57; in Bentham, 297; in democracy, 526, 558–59, 598; in Dewey, 506–7, 595; vs. freedom, 525–27, 530; in Hobbes, 240, 241, 242, 243; in Lenin, 383; in liberalism, 290, 311, 525–27; in Locke, 274, 275, 311; in Luther, 137, 138, 139, 142; in Machiavelli, 180–81, 208, 209; in Marx, 413, 427, 430, 451; in modern era,

317, 319; in nationalism, 209; in Nietzsche, 463, 469, 486; as organization, 383; in Plato, 57; in Rawls, 530–31, 532, 534, 535, 536, 537, 538, 549; of rights vs. power, 525–27; in Rousseau, 335; in Saint-Simon, 338; in Stoicism, 73; in Superpower, 560–61; in United States, 596

Eusebius of Caesarea, 109, 135

Fascism, 553, 554–55. See also Nazism Federalist Papers, 349, 402
Fortescue, Sir John, 120
Fortuna, 115, 180, 185, 189, 191, 194, 195
Foucault, Michel, 456, 483
Fourier, Charles, 281, 332, 340, 354–55, 364
Franklin, Benjamin, 293
freedom: in Bastiat, 313; in Calvin, 167, 169;

freedom: in Bastiat, 313; in Calvin, 167, 169; vs. equality, 525–27, 530; in Hobbes, 235, 240, 242, 254, 255; and interest, 304; in J. S. Mill, 312–13; in liberalism, 314, 525–27; in Locke, 274, 429; in Luther, 137, 142, 144, 145, 147, 148, 212, 245; in Machiavelli, 180–81, 211; in Marx, 428, 430, 431, 433–34, 449; in Rawls, 530–31, 532, 549; in Rousseau, 333, 336, 338

French Revolution, 95, 263, 367; bureaucracy in, 401; and liberalism, 263; in Marx, 412–13; and Nietzsche, 489; and political, 371; and reactionary theocrats, 357; in Saint-Simon, 337; and social reconstruction, 266
Freud, Sigmund, 285, 365

Godwin, William, 281, 288, 330 Gorgias, 68

Fromm, Erich, 329, 336, 373, 672n.46

government: economy of, 272–73; interest of, 600; in J. S. Mill, 313; in liberalism, 280, 289, 305; in Locke, 271, 276–77, 278, 281; in Luther, 129, 130, 131, 132, 141, 143, 144, 145; and pain, 292; and radicalism, 281; in Rawls, 531; of United States, 600 Gregory Nazianzen, 96 Guicciardini, Francesco, 187, 188, 189 Gulf War (1991), 561, 562

Hamilton, Alexander, 411, 599–600 Harrington, James, 50, 184, 210–11, 256, 264, 349, 350, 351 Hegel, G.W.F.: on civil society, 361; and Marx, 410, 412, 413, 414, 416, 417, 442, 448; and Popper, 497

Heidegger, Martin, 456, 457, 705n.14 Hellenistic age, 64, 67, 68–69, 70–71, 72, 74, 83, 84, 85, 86, 102, 107 Hesiod, 15

history: in Augustine, 115; in Christianity, 112; in church, 99; in Hobbes, 226, 229, 236–37; in liberalism, 287–89, 295; in Machiavelli, 192–93, 204, 225; in Marx, 409, 420, 433, 443; masses in, 377; in Nietzsche, 468, 487; in Popper, 502; in Rawls, 537, 538; in Smith, 287

Hobbes, Thomas: critics of, 226; historical context of, 215, 216-17, 218, 221, 222, 231, 235, 245; and modern state, xvii; modern elements in, 173, 224. Ideas on: action, 225, 244, 249, 253, 254, 259, 296; alienation, 236, 244, 246, 249, 353; ambition, 181; aristocracy, 181, 243; authority, 230, 231, 232, 233, 234, 238, 249, 259, 273, 275; authorization, 232, 248, 250; bureaucracy, 317; Catholic Church, 230; chaos, 217; Christianity, 244, 246; church, 106; citizens, 226-27, 234, 243, 251; civility, 239; civil society, 231, 232, 236; classical thought, 217; coercion, 245; commonality, 244, 248, 249; commonwealth, 233, 237, 247; communication, 231, 233; community, 246, 247-48, 249, 252; competition, 248; conflict, 60; conformity, 243, 245; conscience, 245; consent, 232, 233; conventionalism, 232; covenant, 222, 227, 232, 241, 254, 256; creative destruction, 220; creativity, 222; crisis, 218, 219; definition, 221, 223, 224, 226, 227, 228, 232, 233, 244; desire, 353, 355; economy, 257, 258; education, 244, 248; equality, 240, 241, 242, 243; experience, 225, 226, 228, 234; experimentation, 224; fairness, 241, 242, 270; fear, 236, 244, 246, 248, 293, 297; felicity, 249, 363; freedom, 235, 240, 242, 254, 255; general, 233; Great Definer, 232; history, 226, 229, 236-37; institutions, 229-30, 231; interest, 216, 227, 229, 240, 241, 242, 248, 249, 250, 251; international politics, 237; irony, 235, 236; judgment, 231, 297, 310; justice, 216, 238, 241-42, 243; knowledge, 174, 219,

Hobbes, Thomas (continued) 220, 221-22, 225, 226, 227, 228, 230, 231, 234, 654n.124; language, 220, 221, 223, 224, 225, 226, 227-30, 231-34, 239, 240, 244; law, 227, 231, 232; laws of nature, 239, 241, 651n.66; Leviathan, 221-22, 235; liberalism, 240, 242, 251, 252, 297, 310; man's nature, 236, 244, 248, 250, 252-53; masses, 173-74; mathematics, 220, 221, 222, 223, 224, 225, 227-28, 229, 234, 238, 252; meaning, 220, 221, 222, 226, 227, 228, 230, 231, 232, 239, 249; method, 220, 224, 226, 233, 345; morality, 216, 227, 230, 231, 232, 235, 240, 246; motion, 252-53, 254, 255; names, 221, 223, 226; natural desire, 246; nature, 220, 237, 239, 241; nominalism, 228; objectivity, 233; obligation, 259; opinion vs. principle, 229; order, 226, 230, 236, 237, 238; organizational rationalism, 368; pain, 293, 294; passion, 229, 355; philosophy, 220, 222, 223, 224-25; political, 259-60, 273; political art, 225; political discourse, 227; political ideology, 174, 651n.45; political nature, 218, 219, 221, 233; political order, 231, 236, 244, 245, 246, 257, 260, 273; political philosophy, 219, 221, 222-30, 227, 233, 234, 238; political society, 237, 238, 239, 243, 248, 275; political space, 254, 255; political theory, 223; political vocabulary, 232; politics, 221, 229, 232, 250, 251; politics and mind, 217; power, 222, 229-30, 231, 233, 238, 245, 246-47, 249, 253-54, 255, 275, 278, 353, 394, 398, 399, 423; property, 256, 258, 278; prudence, 225-26; public, 346; reason, 220, 223, 224, 226, 227, 228, 230, 231, 232, 233, 239, 246, 248, 249; religion, 212, 217, 220, 231, 245, 257, 273, 302; representation, 248, 249; rights, 255; ruler, 233; rules, 225, 226, 238, 239-41, 242-44, 259; scarcity of goods, 60, 181, 244, 248; science, 216, 217, 219-20, 221, 222, 223, 224, 225, 226, 229, 230, 234, 252, 654n.124; society, 227, 228, 244, 245-46, 247, 249, 254, 257, 258, 273; sovereign, 227, 230, 231, 232, 234, 235, 236-37, 238, 243, 245, 246, 247-48, 251, 253, 254, 255, 256, 278; state of nature, 106, 219, 227, 230, 231, 232, 235-37, 244, 254,

273, 651n.66; subjectivity, 230, 231, 248; time, 236-37; tradition, 219; truth, 220, 224, 225, 226, 228, 231, 233; unity, 246, 248; universality, 225. In relation to: Aquinas, 228; Aristotle, 219, 222, 228, 229; Augustine, 219; Bacon, 222, 398; Bellarmine, 246-47; Calvin, 219; Durkheim, 358; Fourier, 355; Hume, 260; Locke, 233, 251, 273-74, 275, 278, 302; Luther, 153, 245; Machiavelli, 181, 213, 219, 225, 245, 246, 248; Marx, 237, 257, 423, 430; modernity, 394; Nietzsche, 460; Plato, 61, 219, 246; Reformation, 173; Rousseau, 246, 248; Smith, 296; Utilitarians, 250 Hooker, Richard, 175-76, 247 Hume, David. Ideas on: constitutionalism, 349, 351, 352; culture, 582; interest, 211; liberalism, 263; opinion, 260; passion, 297-98; reason, 263; social life, 330; social system, 262.

In relation to: Hobbes, 260; Machiavelli, 213

individual: in Bradley, 359; in Calvin, 155, 157;

in Dewey, 509; in Durkheim, 346-47, 359,

Ignatius, 91, 97

363; and group, 386; in Marx, 359, 373, 413, 418, 438-39, 440, 491; in Mill, 312-313; in Nietzsche, 491; in organization, 329, 340, 341-42; in Proudhon, 359; in Rousseau, 336; in society, 345-47; and state, 374; in Weber, 380 industrialism, 324; and community, 352, 364-65; in Durkheim, 333, 363; and economy, 360-61, 399; and egoism, 356; in Marx, 324, 357, 417, 433-34; and organization, 326; in Saint-Simon, 337, 338; and social disorganization, 357; technology in, 365 institutions: in Aquinas, 123; authority of, 261; in Calvin, 150, 152, 157, 158, 160, 167, 170, 171; and church, 96, 98, 99, 100-101, 103, 104, 148; defined, 608n. 3; democratic, 601-2, 603; in Dewey, 512; in Hobbes, 229-30, 231; in Locke, 277; in Luther, 130-31, 132, 133, 136-39, 145-46, 148, 149, 153; in Machiavelli, 199, 205, 211; in Plato, 45; in Popper, 501; and power, 153; and Protestant Reformation, 153, 170; and Rome, 75, 76-77, 78, 83; in Selznick, 369-70, 375; social process behind, 258

interest: of all vs. class, 558; in Aristotle, 82; in Augustine, 114; in Bentham, 211, 251, 252, 303-4, 305-6; in Calvin, 167; and church, 215; and community, 352-53; and conscience, 303, 304; in Durkheim, 362, 363; in economics, 273, 543; in Federalist Papers, 349; in Fourier, 354, 355; and freedom, 304; in Hobbes, 216, 227, 229, 240, 241, 242, 248, 249, 250, 251; in Kant, 348; in Lenin, 364; in liberalism, 303-6, 362, 363, 364, 526, 527; in Locke, 211, 271, 298, 362; in Machiavelli, 181, 182, 208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 214-15, 248; in Marx, 363, 413, 452; in Mill, 304, 313; modern views of, 319; in Rawls, 537, 538, 540, 541; of representative government, 600; and Rome, 65, 78, 79-82; and Saint-Simon, 338; of state, 526; in Weber, 551

Iraq, campaign against, 561 Irenaeus, 106 Isidore of Seville, 105 Isocrates, 68, 69

Jefferson, Thomas, 222, 291
Jerome, 94
Jesus, 87, 88, 91, 101, 152
Jews, 87, 107
justice: in Antiphon, 29; in Aristotle, 15, 59, 114; in Augustine, 114–15; as concept, 15; and economy, 270–71; in Hobbes, 216, 238, 241–42, 243; and liberalism, 292, 295, 527; liberal vs. democratic idea of, 527; in Locke, 275; and pain, 292; in Plato, 10–11, 15, 46, 49, 61, 62, 114; in Rawls, 530, 531–36, 537, 538, 539, 540, 543, 544, 546, 547, 548, 549–50; in Rome, 78–79, 80
Justin Martyr, 91

Kant, Immanuel, 348, 536, 537 Kierkegaard, Søren, 379 knowledge: in Aristotle, 54–55; in Bacon, 398; in Calvin, 160, 164–66; in classical and mediaeval traditions, 187; in Dewey, 505; in Hellenistic and Roman eras, 77, 86; in Hobbes, 174, 219, 220, 221–22, 225, 226, 227, 228, 230, 231, 234, 654n.124; and inaction, 59; in liberalism, 267, 268; in Locke, 266, 267, 268, 271, 299, 300; in Machiavelli, 187, 191, 192, 193–94; in Marx, 435; in Nietzsche, 461; in Plato, 35, 36, 48, 52, 53, 54–58, 62, 80, 160; in Rawls, 537; in relation to opinion, 35, 53; in Roman world, 77; in Smith, 268; social uses of, 569 Kuhn, Thomas, 569–70

Lactantius, 94, 102

law: in Aquinas, 122-23; in Calvin, 156, 162, 165-67, 169; and constitutionalism, 348; in Federalist Papers, 349; in Hobbes, 227, 231, 232; liberalism, 292; in Locke, 276, 279, 280; in Luther, 129, 136, 143, 634n.55; and Marsilius of Padua, 128; of nature, 143, 179, 239, 241, 299-300, 651n.66; and pain, 292; in Rome, 81; in Rousseau, 335 legislator, 44, 45, 49–50, 91

legislator, 44, 45, 49–30, 91
Lenin, V. I. *Ideas on:* action, 378–79; administration, 382; bureaucracy, 381, 382; capitalism, 364, 382; democracy, 381–82, 383; economy, 364, 378, 381; elite, 50–51, 376, 381, 382; equality, 383; interest, 364; liberalism, 378; masses, 377–79, 381; organization, 326, 327, 378–79, 380–83; planning, 327; political, 378, 382; power, 382; revolution, 326–27, 364, 380–81, 382–83; workers, 364, 378–79, 382. *In relation to:* Calvin, 382; Marx, 363, 378, 383; Selznick, 383

Marx, 363, 378, 383; Selznick, 383 liberalism: and French Revolution, 263; and libertarianism, 577; and Protestantism, 310; new, 521-22, 524, 551, 552; 1960s challenges to, 522-23, 524-25; post-World War II, 521-22; in United States, 551-56. Ideas on: acquisitiveness, 291-92, 294, 298; action, 266, 267, 270, 271, 292; alienation, 283; anxiety, 282-92, 303; authority, 270, 310, 311, 314; capitalism, 306; centrism, 524-25; coercion, 280; community, 311, 314; conformity, 307, 308-10, 312, 313-14; conscience, 310, 552; consent, 311; conservatism, 295; democracy, 496, 521-22, 527, 529-30, 542, 555; democratic radicalism, 263, 264, 266; distributive principle, 290; economy, 263, 269, 270, 271-73, 283, 285, 287, 288, 361, 526, 528, 575; education, 291; elitism, 521, 552; equality, 290, 311, 525-27; expansionism, 552; expectations, 295; external conduct, 305, 306;

liberalism (continued)

factions, 289; fear, 293, 297; freedom, 314; freedom vs. equality, 525-27; government, 280, 289, 305; happiness, 271, 283, 285, 286, 287, 291, 292; history, 287-89, 295; human condition, 266; individual, 310; interest, 303-6, 362, 363, 364, 526, 527; justice, 292, 295, 527; knowledge, 267, 268; law, 292; man's nature, 285; mass society, 312; middle class, 282, 432; moral judgments, 297-307; nature, 283-85; New Deal, 552; passion, 297-99, 308; philosophy, 266; pleasure and pain, 292-97; political, 273, 432, 528; political philosophy, 263; political society, 311; political theory, 268-69; postmodernism, 584; power, 270, 280; private judgment, 310-11; progress, 263, 288, 365; property, 280, 283, 290, 295, 306; prudence, 296; public opinion, 312; reason, 263, 297, 298, 299, 308; reform, 263; religion, 541-42; repression, 285; scarcity, 289-90; security, 290; social conscience, 552; and socialism, 290; social norms, 308; social status, 295-96, 297; society, 261, 268-69, 280, 288-89, 311, 371-72; space, 289; state, 371-72, 526; subjectivity, 311; totalitarianism, xix-xx, 495, 519-20; truth, 266-67; welfare state, 576; work, 283, 286-87, 306. In: Bradley, 359; Democratic party, 524–25; Dewey, 512-13, 514; Durkheim, 362-63; Hobbes, 240, 242, 251, 252, 297, 310; Hume, 263; Lenin, 378; Marx, 306, 362, 412, 417, 426, 427-28, 431, 449, 527, 542-43; Nietzsche, 469, 490; Popper, 495, 496, 500, 502; Rawls, 495, 496, 529-30, 534, 536, 537, 539, 540-42, 545, 549; Saint-Simon, 339; Smith, 263

libertarianism, 577

Locke, John, 536; historical context of, 264. *Ideas on:* action, 266, 267, 282–83; alienation, 283, 429; authority, 274, 277, 279; bureaucracy, 430; capitalism, 430; Christian morality, 300–302; civil society, 276, 278, 298; class struggle, 290; coercion, 279–80, 281; communication, 233; community, 276, 300, 428; conscience, 302–3, 304–5; consensus, 299, 300; consent, 278–79, 300, 429; contract, 275, 276, 277, 278–79, 429, 430;

conviction, 304; covenant, 279; crisis, 264; democracy, 429; democratic radicalism, 264; duty, 268; economy, 430; equality, 274, 275, 311; fear, 275; freedom, 274, 429; government, 271, 276-77, 278, 281; happiness, 291; institutions, 277; interest, 211, 271, 298, 362; justice, 275; knowledge, 266, 267, 268, 271, 299, 300; labor, 306; law, 276, 279, 280; law of nature, 299-300; majority, 276; man, 265, 266, 282-83; masses, 300; monarch, 277; morality, 299-302, 308; nature, 267, 274-76, 283, 299-300, 428, 429, 543; obedience, 278, 279-80; obligation, 278, 279, 300; opinion, 307-8; order, 265; passion, 297-98; philosophy, 265, 267, 270, 285; pleasure and pain, 293, 294; political, 271, 273, 274, 429, 430; political order, 271, 274, 276, 277; political philosophy, 263; political society, 274-77, 279; power, 276, 278, 280, 281, 417-18, 429; private judgment, 310; property, 251, 277-80, 283, 288, 306, 428; prudence, 268, 296; radicalism, 279, 281; reason, 300; religion, 267, 302; revolution, 276-77, 302-3; rights, 278, 429; ruler, 277; science, 265; security, 271, 278; social norms, 307-8; society, 261, 268, 276, 277, 281, 300, 429; state, 430; state of nature, 274-76, 428, 429, 543; surplus, 429-30; truth, 266; understanding, 265, 266; uneasiness, 291; unity, 276; virtue, 300; war, 274, 275, 276; work, 286, 428; worker, 430. In relation to: Aristotle, 266; Dewey, 512; Hobbes, 233, 251, 273-74, 275, 278, 302; Machiavelli, 213, 302; Marx, 417, 428, 430; Mill, 266; Plato, 264, 266; Rawls, 536, 540, 544; Rousseau, 276; Smith, 267, 268

Luther, Martin: modern elements in, 173. *Ideas on:* absolutism, 145, 147; authority, 129, 131, 136–37, 138, 145, 146, 218; belief, 133, 135, 136, 139, 142, 145; chaos, 217; church, 129, 130, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137–38, 139, 157; church-society, 137, 146, 149; civility, 148, 150; coercion, 136, 137, 141, 142, 144, 150; community, 157; conciliarism, 131, 132, 134; congregationalism, 139; conscience, 139, 143, 145, 147, 153; *corpus christianum*, 142; *corpus mysticum*, 137,

146; crisis, 218; democracy, 138, 139; discipline, 149; disengagement, 140; equality, 137, 138, 139, 142; excommunication, 153; faith, 134, 135, 137, 139, 140, 144, 153; freedom, 137, 142, 144, 145, 147, 148, 212, 245; government, 129, 130, 131, 132, 141, 143, 144, 145; grace, 135, 143; hierarchy, 134, 135, 136, 138, 139, 147; institutions, 130-31, 132, 133, 136-39, 145-46, 148, 149, 153; law, 129, 136, 143, 634n.55; love, 146; mediaeval church, 128, 146, 148; mediaeval thought, 134; mediaeval tradition, 133; membership, 137, 138, 146; ministry, 138-39, 143, 153; monarchy, 138; morality, 146, 147; natural law, 143; obedience, 129, 145, 146, 147; order, 138, 141, 142, 144, 145, 150; organization, 133; Peasants' War, 144, 145, 146, 161; political, 128-36, 129, 133, 134, 135, 138, 161; political authority, 133, 134, 140, 142, 143-45; political church, 129; political imagery, 138; political order, 129, 139-42, 146, 147; political philosophy, 129-30; political theology, 129; politics, 130; pope, 130, 131-32, 133, 138, 139, 141, 142, 143, 148, 178; power, 128, 129, 130, 133, 136, 138, 141, 147, 153; priesthood, 138; priesthood of believers, 132, 137, 142; primitivism, 136, 139, 141; purity, 129; quietism, 147; reason, 165; reform, 130, 131, 132; religious vocabulary, 129, 130-31; repression, 143; revolution, 132; ruler, 133, 137-38, 143, 144, 145, 146-47, 150; sacraments, 134, 135; Scripture, 131, 132, 134, 136, 142; secular authority, 133, 135-36, 140, 141, 142, 144, 145, 149; simplicity, 128-29, 134, 136, 139, 141, 145, 146; society, 144; temporal government, 129, 130, 131, 132, 143, 145; theology, 128, 134; time, 140-41; tradition, 136, 148; truth, 128, 139, 153; two kingdoms, 135-36, 144; uniformity, 140; unity, 140, 149; usury, 147; virtue, 150; visible vs. invisible church, 140; works, 134, 144. In relation to: Aquinas, 134, 135; Aristotle, 132, 134, 138, 139; Augustine, 137; Calvin, 150, 157, 159, 165, 169; Hobbes, 153, 245; Machiavelli, 143, 145, 178, 186; Plato, 138; Reformation, 148; Rousseau, 332

Macedonia, 63, 64, 67, 69, 71 Machiavelli, Niccolò: and classical and mediaeval tradition, 201, 203, 210, 213; in context of totalitarianism, 200; irony in, 203; modern elements in, 173, 179, 181, 217; novel elements in, 187-88. Ideas on: action/actor, 181, 187, 188, 190, 191, 193-97, 198, 200-204, 205; alienation, 195, 204; ambition, 181, 191, 196, 199, 200, 203, 206, 208, 211; analytical inquiry, 184, 185; appearance, 190; aristocracy, 179-80, 181, 206, 208; authority, 179, 192; becoming, 190; causality, 187; chaos, 217; Christianity, 124, 212; church, 178; citizens, 180-81, 196-97, 198, 212; civic principality, 206, 207; civility, 199; class, 182; coercion, 197, 208, 214; collectivity, 215; common life, 215; competition, 191, 209; conflict, 186, 211, 215; conscience, 213; consent, 199; consequences, 190; constituency, 182, 211; crisis, 9, 179, 218; cruelty, 204, 206; democracy, 181; desire, 211; discontent, 181; economy, 196; education, 201; elections, 211; equality, 180-81, 208, 209; faction, 208, 212, 215; fear, 198, 199, 213; Fortuna, 180, 185, 189, 191, 194, 195, 468; freedom, 180-81, 211; hereditary rule, 195-96; history, 192-93, 204, 225; humanism, 177; idealism, 209; ideology, 174, 182; illusion, 190-91, 202-3, 206; imperialism, 209-10; institutions, 199, 205, 211; interest, 181, 182, 208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 214-15, 248; international politics, 182, 196, 199; knowledge, 187, 191, 192, 193-94; language, 183, 184-85, 192; law, 184, 186, 199; legislator, 50; legitimacy, 179, 180, 192; liberality, 203; manipulation, 197, 202, 209; mass, 173-74, 181, 205-11, 212; military discipline, 180, 212, 213; monarchy, 205, 206, 209, 210; morality, 186-87, 188, 191, 194, 195, 198, 200-205, 207, 643n.38; moral passion, 182, 183, 184-85; movement, 191-93; myth, 209; nationalism, 182, 183, 184, 209; natural law, 179; nature, 196; necessity, 203, 204; new science of politics, 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 186, 187, 190, 191, 194, 195, 196, 197, 198, 206, 213; nihilism, 207; non-rational elements, 189; order, 189, 192-93, 203; organic

Machiavelli, Niccolò (continued) body politic, 192; passion, 212; philosophy, 189; political, 178, 179; political art, 197; political hero, 205, 206; political metaphysic, 189-90; political nature, 189, 190; political order, 209; political philosophy, 172-73, 178, 189-91, 219; political savior, 183; political society, 184, 192; political space, 195-97, 198, 206, 208, 214; political theology, 178; political theory, 177-78, 179, 181, 185-86, 214, 475; politics, 194, 199, 201, 204; pope, 178; power, 179, 180, 194, 196, 197, 198-200, 203, 204, 206, 209, 397, 468, 475-76, 646n.38; prince, 200-201, 209; problem vs. ideology, 182; realism, 177, 182, 183, 209; regeneration, 184, 205, 207; religion, 179, 183, 184, 212-13, 245; republic, 181, 184, 200, 205, 208, 209; Rome, 193, 199, 208, 210, 212; ruler, 198, 200-201, 205, 206, 207, 209, 210; scarcity of goods, 181, 198, 208; symbols, 188; time, 193; unity, 208, 209; utopia, 190; violence, 187, 188, 197, 198-200, 423; virtue, 179-80, 191, 193, 195, 196-97, 201, 205, 206, 207, 211, 212, 213, 215. In relation to: Aquinas, 210; Aristotle, 208, 210; Bacon, 397; Hobbes, 181, 213, 219, 225, 245, 246, 248; Hume, 213; Locke, 213, 302; Luther, 143, 145, 178, 186; Marx, 423, 435; Nietzsche, 460, 468, 475-76; Plato, 190; Reformation, 173 Madison, James, 211, 289, 411, 526, 535, 540 Maistre, Joseph de, 261, 321-22, 326, 327, 328, 340, 356-57, 358 Malthus, Thomas, 284, 287, 288, 289, 292-93 managerialism, 318, 326, 327, 364, 365, 366-67, 372, 373, 376 Mannheim, Karl, 262, 326, 327, 329, 340, 344-45, 347, 376 Marcus Aurelius, 73, 74, 115 Marsilius of Padua, 128, 178 Marx, Karl: influences on, 410. Ideas on: action, 407, 409; administration, 438, 446, 451; alienation, 362, 418, 419, 430; anti-political, 425; bureaucracy, 445, 446, 451, 491; capitalism, xix, 317, 339, 363, 407-8, 409, 417, 418, 420, 426, 431, 433, 434, 435-36,

439, 440, 441, 446, 449, 451-53, 527,

565-66, 567, 568, 699n.137; centralization, 444, 445, 446, 450; citizen, 426; civil society, 412, 413; class, 426-27, 432, 434, 435, 439, 441, 444, 446, 447, 448, 449, 450, 490–91; coercion, 383, 423; collective power, 421-22, 430; commodity, 430, 431; commonality, 425, 426, 432, 440, 455; common good, 412, 413, 434; communism, 419, 435, 565; community, 373, 428, 430; competition, 436, 437, 452; conflict, 427; contract theory, 430, 431; contradictions, 436-37, 449; cooperation, 430; democracy, 412, 413, 414, 441, 444, 445, 446, 447, 448, 451, 491, 565; dictatorship, 442, 443, 449; dictatorship of proletariat, 441, 448, 450, 451; division of labor, 431, 434, 451; economics, 406, 413, 417, 418, 420, 422, 423, 425, 426-27, 698n.110; economy, 361-62, 427, 428, 430, 432, 433, 436, 437, 439, 440, 446, 447, 448, 449, 452, 491; egoism, 373, 413; elections, 450-51; elite, 435, 451; equality, 413, 427, 430, 451; false consciousness vs. true, 363; few and many, 474; force, 423, 424; freedom, 428, 430, 431, 433-34, 449; French political change, 412-13, 442-43, 444, 445-49; generality, 426, 427; Germany, 415-16; history, 409, 420, 433, 443; individual, 359, 373, 413, 418, 438-39, 440, 491; industrialism, 324, 357, 417, 433-34; interest, 363, 413, 452; knowledge, 435; liberalism, 306, 362, 412, 417, 425, 426, 427-28, 431, 449, 527, 542-43; management, 438; masses, 415; mechanization, 433-34, 439; mediaeval states, 447, 448; middle class, 414, 426-27, 435, 442, 443, 444, 449; nature, 419, 428; organization, 326, 435; parliamentarism, 444; philosophy, 439; political, 323, 371, 372, 373, 411-12, 413, 414, 419, 425, 426, 428, 432-33, 435, 436; political economy, 427, 428, 433, 439; political movement, 449-50; political order, 373; politics, 406, 412, 417, 421, 427, 432, 434, 439-40, 448-49; popular sovereignty, 414, 432; power, 406, 408, 409, 414, 416, 417, 418, 419, 420, 421-22, 423, 424, 425, 426, 427, 428, 430, 431, 433, 438-39, 440, 441, 444, 446, 447-48, 451; private ownership, 362, 419, 437, 439, 490-91; private property,

426; production, 362, 421-23, 425, 431, 434, 436, 437-38, 440, 441, 448, 451, 474, 699n.137; Prometheus, 488; property, 425, 437; reason, 491; religion, 415, 542-43; revolution, 409, 415, 416, 420, 426, 427, 431-32, 433, 434, 435, 436, 437-38, 440, 441, 445, 446, 449, 488; rights, 413, 414; science, 321, 420, 439, 440, 590; socialism, 415, 419, 432, 451; society, 324, 373, 422, 423, 434, 439, 440, 449; species-being, 416-17, 418, 419, 426; state, 373-74, 410, 412, 413, 446, 447, 451, 490-91; surplus, 428, 431, 433, 436; technology, 439; theory, 406, 409, 411-12, 415-16, 421, 422, 427, 435, 439, 440, 456; totality, 439; violence, 423, 424, 425; workers, 362, 363, 377, 407, 408, 409-10, 415, 416, 418, 419, 420, 427, 430, 431, 432-36, 437, 438, 440-41, 442-43, 444, 445, 446, 447, 448, 449, 450, 451, 567, 568; world system, 408-9. In relation to: Calvin, 435; Dewey, 514, 515; Hegel, 410, 412, 413, 414, 416, 417, 442, 448; Hobbes, 237, 257, 423, 430; Lenin, 363, 378, 383; Locke, 417, 428, 430; Machiavelli, 423, 435; Nietzsche, 406-7, 455-56, 460, 474, 475, 488, 490; Plato, 435; Popper, 497; Saint-Simon, 339

Marxism: action as regeneration in, 271; on culture, 477–78; and Dewey, 509, 510; revolution in, 271; state in, 118

masses: vs. elite, 377; in history, 377; in Lenin, 377–79, 381; in Marx, 415; Nazi exploitation of, 519; in Nietzsche, 486, 489–90; and organization, 376–77, 383; and Protestant Reformation, 173; in Saint-Simon, 338; in Selznick, 377

Mayo, Elton, 328–29, 347, 366, 371
McCulloch, James, 271–72, 283, 287, 291
mediaeval thought, 124, 125, 127–28
membership: belief in, 260; in Calvin, 152,
160, 171; in church, 98, 101; classical idea
of, 91, 92; in early Christianity, 87, 90–92; in
Hellenistic and Roman worlds, 70–71, 72,
86; and Luther, 137, 138, 146
metaphysic, political, 16, 189–90, 261

metaphysic, political, 16, 189–90, 261 method: in Bacon, 345, 397; in constitutionalism, 350, 351; in Descartes, 344–45, 350; in Dewey, 504, 505, 517; vs. organization,

342-45, 348, 349, 351; in Proudhon, 343, 344; in Saint-Simon, 342-43; in social science, 258; Weber on, 345 middle class, 252, 282, 286, 432. See also class Mill, James, 267, 272, 290, 292 Mill, John Stuart. Ideas on: acquisitiveness, 291-92; capitalism, 313; civilization, 285; conformity, 313; economy, 269; education, 285; government, 313; individual freedom, 312-13; instinct, 285; interest, 304, 313; limitation, 285-86, 289; nature, 284, 289; pleasure and pain, 292; political, 432; public opinion, 313; security, 313; socialism, 313; society, 289, 313; stationary state, 288; understanding, 266. In relation to: Dewey, 512; Locke, 266

Milton, John, 216

modernity, 315–20; and Bacon, 398; bureaucracy in, 401–2; and Hobbes, 394; power in, 399, 400, 401; social movements in, 400; and totalitarianism, 459

Montanism, 98, 101

Montesquieu, 260, 351

morality/ethics: of action, 187; in Aristotle, 66; in Augustine, 113; in Bradley, 359; in Dewey, 515, 516; in Durkheim, 322, 333, 334, 362, 363; in Fourier, 355; in Hobbes, 216, 227, 230, 231, 232, 235, 240, 246; in liberalism, 297–307; in Locke, 299–302, 308; in Luther, 146, 147; in Machiavelli, 186–87, 188, 191, 194, 195, 198, 200–205, 207, 643n.38; in Nietzsche, 461–62, 467, 468, 469, 475, 480, 482, 484, 486; of organization, 329, 340; in Plato, 66, 176; in political judgment, 57; in political philosophy, 258; in Rousseau, 332, 335; in Saint-Simon, 353; in Stoicism, 75; of Superpower democracy, 554; of welfare state, 576

Muentzer, Thomas, 149

nationalism, 119, 120, 121, 175–76, 177, 182, 183, 184, 209

nature, 72; in Aristotle, 55; in Bacon, 397; and community, 216, 352; in Dewey, 505; in Hobbes, 220, 237, 239, 241; in liberalism, 283–85; in Locke, 267, 274–76, 283, 299–300, 428, 429, 543; in Machiavelli, 196; in Marx, 419, 428; in Mill, 284, 289; in

nature (continued)

Nietzsche, 483, 484, 487; in Rousseau, 330, 331, 332, 334, 335; in Saint-Simon, 337, 355; state of, 218. *See also* political nature; state of nature

Nazism: democracy in, 554–55; and Nietzsche, xix, 457, 458–59, 470, 484, 487, 493; and postwar American liberalism, 553; propaganda in, 555, 594; racism in, 555; totalitarianism in, 493, 519, 579, 580, 591, 592

neo-liberalism, 521–22, 524, 551, 552. See also liberalism

Nietzsche, Friedrich: and postmodern, 469, 470, 473; and postmodernism, 483; reputation of, 456-58. Ideas on: action, 485; Aeschylus, 488; aesthetics, 476, 483, 484, 485; alienation, 479; Apollo, 484; appearance, 468-69; archaic, 470; aristocracy, 485, 486; becoming, 470; civilization, 487, 489; common good, 461; common sense, 478; communalism, 484; community, 487; conscience, 486; contemplation, 485, 488; contradiction, 482; culture, xix, 455, 461-62, 464, 469, 471, 472, 473, 474, 477, 478, 479, 482, 484, 486, 488; decadence, 466, 469, 470, 484, 489, 583; democracy, 460, 462, 463, 477, 478, 486, 488, 490, 491; Dionysian, 470, 484-85, 488; domination, 462-63; elite, 463, 478, 479-80, 485, 489, 490; Enlightenment, 465, 469, 470; epistemology, 482; equality, 463, 469, 486; establishment, 460-61; Euripides, 488-89; evil, 461-62; facticity, 478; few and many, 463, 474, 478, 486, 490, 583; French Revolution, 489; future, 489; good, 462, 468; Hellenism, 484, 488-89; herd, 461, 477, 478, 486; history, 468, 487; individual, 491; inquiry as performed, 483; instinct, 461, 467, 480, 486; intellectual action, 456; intellect vs. instinct, 480; interchange, 465; knowledge, 461; language, 582, 583; liberalism, 469, 490; masses, 486, 489-90; militarism, 487; mind, 465; modern, 469, 470; morality, 461-62, 467, 468, 469, 475, 480, 482, 484, 486; myth, 484-85, 487, 488; naturalism, 470; nature, 483, 484, 487; nihilism, 456, 474-75, 476, 478, 480-81; objectivity, 469, 470, 479, 487; origins, 484; perspectivism,

482, 487, 490; philosophy, 462, 470, 476, 479, 480, 482, 485, 487, 488, 490; political, 460, 461, 476, 478; politician vs. theorist, 473; politics, 406, 460, 462, 463, 464, 469, 477, 479, 485, 487, 488; poses, 482-83; power, 460, 463, 468-69, 475-76, 478, 482, 584; priests, 486; Prometheus, 485, 488; psychology, 470; reason, 461, 465, 469, 470, 476, 483; religion, 478, 486, 491-92; revelation, 483; revolution, 469, 475, 480; science, 465, 478, 487; secularization, 491–92; socialism, 486, 491; state, 490, 491-92; subjectivity, 479; teleology, 475; theory, 456, 460, 480, 481-83, 487; totalitarianism, 459-60, 469, 471-73, 487, 489, 490; totalitarianism, critical, 464-66, 467, 468, 470, 471, 489, 490; tragedy, 487, 488-89; truth, 461, 462-63, 469, 470, 474, 480, 482, 485, 490; uniqueness, 478; values, 480; war, 463; will-to-power, 461, 462, 465, 467, 477, 482, 486, 490. In relation to: Aristotle, 485; Hobbes, 460; Machiavelli, 460, 468, 475-76; Marx, 406-7, 455-56, 460, 474, 475, 488, 490; Nazism, xix, 457, 458-59, 470, 484, 487, 493; Plato, 476, 479, 481, 483, 484, 485, 486

nihilism, 207, 456, 472, 474–75, 476, 478, 480–81

obedience, 89, 97, 105, 124, 162, 167, 168, 278, 279–80

obligation, 48–49, 80–81, 278, 279, 300 Optatus, 109

order: in Augustine, 9, 10; in Bonald, 356–57, 359; in Calvin, 153, 154, 155–56, 157, 158, 161, 163, 164, 167, 170, 171; and church, 96; desire for, 9–10, 12; in economics, 261; in Guicciardini, 189; in Hobbes, 226, 230, 236, 237, 238; in Locke, 265; in Luther, 138, 141, 142, 144, 145, 150; in Machiavelli, 189, 192–93, 203; in Maistre, 356–57; from organization, 326; in Plato, 31–32, 33, 39, 40–41, 45, 46; and Protestant Reformation, 149; and Rome, 76; in Saint-Simon, 337. See also political order

organization: in administration theory, 340–41; authority of, 341, 368, 397, 426; in capitalism, 326, 327; of church, 96, 98, 99,

100-101, 103, 104; as community, 325, 327-28, 329, 336, 352-60; of corporations, 376; democracy in, 381-82, 383; development of, 325-28; in Durkheim, 326; efficiency of, 367-69; equality as, 383; in Fourier, 354, 355; in Hobbes, 368; vs. individual limitation, 329, 340, 341-42; in Lenin, 326, 327, 378-79, 380-83; in Luther, 133; in Maistre, 340; in Marx, 326, 435; of masses, 376-77, 383; vs. methodology, 342-45, 348, 349, 351; modern views of, 319; morality of, 340; political in, 329, 374, 375–76, 376; power of, 326, 327–28, 339-40; predominance of, 317; as rational, 340, 367-69; religion in, 329; in Rousseau, 336; in Saint-Simon, 338, 339; in Selznick, 369-70, 383-84; in Simon, 340-41; as social organism, 367, 369. See also bureaucracy Origen, 91, 102 Owen, Robert, 281, 355

Paine, Thomas, 100, 118, 217, 222, 281, 330, 599

Panhellenism, 67, 68

participation: in American elections, 554, 555, 565; in Aristotle, 52, 53; in Calvin, 158–59, 171; in Dewey, 508; in Plato, 52, 53, 54–58, 62; and political space, 63; in Rawls, 532, 535, 548, 549; and Rome, 83; in Superpower, 565

Paul, St., 83, 93, 96, 101, 122 Peasants' War, 161 Philip of Macedon, 68

philosophy: and Cicero, 79; in Dewey, 504, 507, 508; in liberalism, 266; in Locke, 265, 267, 270, 285; in Machiavelli, 189; in Marx, 439; modern domain of, 262–63; in Nietzsche, 462, 470, 476, 479, 480, 485, 487, 488, 490; in Plato, 61, 79; in Rawls, 543–44; in relation to political philosophy, 3–4; and Rome, 75; in Seneca, 84

Plato: ambiguities in, 61–62. *Ideas on:* action, 77; aesthetics, 37, 43, 44, 45, 46; artistic analogy, 43, 44, 45; authority, 48–49; categories, 36–37, 47; citizen, 52, 53; class, 66; common values, 59; community, 31, 45, 46, 51, 52, 53, 55, 58; compulsion, 52; conflict, 37–39, 40–41, 45, 77; constituency, 42, 43;

crisis, 9, 218; democracy, 37-38, 42, 66, 585; disease analogy, 77; elite, 46, 49, 55, 58; equality, 57; ethics, 176; federalism, 67; Forms, 36, 37, 38-39, 55; good, 58; harmony, 38; justice, 10-11, 15, 46, 49, 61, 62, 114; knowledge, 35, 36, 48, 52, 53, 54-58, 62, 80, 160; Kronos, 32; mathematics, 45-46; medical analogies, 38, 39, 40, 43, 44; moderation, 62; morality, 66, 176; opinion, 35, 38, 53, 55, 62; order, 31-32, 33, 39, 40-41, 45, 46; participation, 52, 53, 54-58, 62; philosopher, 31-32, 35, 36, 41, 42-43, 45, 48, 49, 51-52; philosopher-ruler, 159-60; philosopher-statesman, 58; philosophy, 28, 61, 79; polis, 63, 157; political, 30-31, 47, 48, 63-64, 172; political art, 20, 31-34, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46; political association, 47-48, 55, 82; political deterioration, 62; political disengagement, 71-72; political judgment, 55-57; political philosophy, 30-37; political rights, 66; political rule, 39, 48-50; political society, 56; political space, 65-66; politician, 30-31, 41, 42; politics, 30-31, 37-42, 51, 52, 53; power, 36, 38-39, 49, 51-53, 61, 82, 160, 211-12, 616n.95; public, 3-4, 10-11; public vs. private, 56; regeneration, 172; rhythm, 46-47; ruler, 58, 61; Sophists, 35, 41; stability, 66; statesman, 58; time, 112; truth, 55; uniformity, 59; unity, 58, 59, 61, 63; virtue, 10-11, 160; vision, 39; weaver analogy, 31, 43, 44. In relation to: Aquinas, 61, 123, 172; Augustine, 114; Calvin, 157, 159-60; Cicero, 79; Durkheim, 333; early Christianity, 91; Hobbes, 61, 219, 246; Locke, 264, 266; Luther, 138; Machiavelli, 190; Marx, 435; modern theories, 341-42; Nietzsche, 476, 479, 481, 483, 484, 485, 486; Popper, 497, 498; Reformation, 173; Rome, 76-77; totalitarianism, 61

polis: in Calvin, 157, 158; as civilizing, 71; decline of, 85; and Plato, 157; and power, 252; spatial limits of, 63, 64, 65–70, 75 political: ancient crisis of, 63–65; in Aquinas, 6, 122, 125, 126, 140; in Aristotle, 63–64; in Augustine, 110; in Bacon, 397; belief in, 260; vs. bureaucracy, 411; in Calvin, 157, 159, 175; capitalist conditioning of, 527; vs.

political (continued)

church, 4, 88, 95-103, 124-25; classical meaning of, 65; common life in, 64; and community, 65, 329; and constitutionalism, 348, 349; corporation as, 375, 376, 551; and culture, 455, 477; in Cynics, 71; decline of, 252, 260, 315-16, 374, 387, 389, 455, 577-78; in Dewey, 508; diffusion of, 316; in Durkheim, 323, 372; in early Christianity, 86-87, 90, 117-18; and eclipse of sovereign state, 559; and economic power, 526-27; vs. economic, 530-31, 563; and empire, 69; in Epicureans, 71; general quality of, 385, 386, 387-89; groupism in, 389; in Hellenistic and Roman worlds, 68-69, 70, 83; in Hobbes, 259-60, 273; in Isocrates, 68; in Lenin, 378, 382; in liberalism, 273, 432, 528; in Locke, 271, 274, 429, 430; as lost innocence, 543; loyalty in, 260; in Luther, 128-36, 129, 133, 134, 135, 138, 161; in Machiavelli, 178, 179; in Marx, 323, 371, 372, 373, 411-12, 413, 414, 419, 425, 426, 428, 432–33, 435, 436, 441; meaning of, 56; in Mill, 432; in Nietzsche, 460, 461, 478; organization as, 329, 376; in Plato, 30-31, 47, 48, 63-64, 172; in political philosophy vs. social science, 258-59; in Popper, 500, 501, 502; in post-Aristotelian era, 74; and power, 372; and Protestant Reformation, 161; in Proudhon, 371-73, 374; and public, 56; as public, 10-11; and radicalism, 281; in Rawls, 529, 539, 540, 544, 546–47, 548, 550, 551; reason in, 543; in Rousseau, 330, 334, 335; in Saint-Simon, 337, 338, 339; in socialism, 528; vs. social science, 262; vs. society, 260, 261, 281, 323-25, 372, 385, 386; in Sophists, 29; and time, 112; in totalitarianism, 389; in Weber, 379-80 political art: in Aristotle, 59; in Plato, 20, 31-32, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 58 political economy: corporations in, 563-64; democracy in, 527, 564; in liberalism, 270, 271-72, 283, 287; in Marx, 427, 428, 433, 439; original meaning of, 563; in postmodernism, 566-67; public discourse of, 574; as public philosophy, 564; of Superpower, 595; totalization of, 564. See also

economy

political nature, 72, 94, 218; classical view of, 188; in Hobbes, 218, 219, 221, 233; in Machiavelli, 189, 190; meaning of, 7–8. See also nature

political order: as administration, 387; in Anabaptists, 149; in Aquinas, 122; in Augustine, 9, 110–11, 113, 114–15, 117, 141; in Calvin, 150, 161, 167, 170; vs. Christianity, 88–90, 92, 93–94, 108–11, 112, 115–16, 117, 140; vs. church, 104, 105, 109, 112, 116; from economy, 281; in Epicureans, 71–72; in Hobbes, 231, 236, 244, 245, 246, 257, 260, 273; in Locke, 271, 274, 276, 277; in Machiavelli, 209; in Marx, 373; in organization, 374, 375–76; in Reformation Europe, 176; and society, 261, 281, 385. See also order

political philosophy: beginning of, 27–32, 33; concepts in, 6–7, 20–21; and crisis, 9, 179, 218; in Dewey, 504; vs. economics, 271; in Hobbes, 219, 221, 222–30, 227, 233, 234, 238; and liberal tradition, 263; in Locke, 263; in Luther, 129–30; in Machiavelli, 172–73, 178, 189–91; methods of, 258; morality in, 258; nature of, 1–26; in Plato, 3–4, 28, 30–37; in Rawls, 529; and science, 12–14, 18, 218–22; and social science, 258–59

political science, 568–70, 570–73, 571, 574, 704n.2. *See also* political philosophy political society: in Calvin, 162, 165; in Hobbes, 237, 238, 239, 243, 248, 275; and liberalism, 311; in Locke, 274–77, 279; in Machiavelli, 184, 192; origins of, 274–77. *See also* society

political theology, 127-28

political theory: autonomy of, 129–30, 177–78; and Christian teaching, 176; in Dewey, 504; and economics, 270; in Hellenistic and Roman eras, 77, 86; in liberalism, 268–69; in Machiavelli, 177–78, 179, 181, 185–86, 214, 475 politics: academic study of, 574–75; American presidential, 554, 555; and change, 11–12; conciliation in, 11, 40; conflict in, 10–11, 12, 37–42, 208–9, 372–73; and constitutionalism, 352; corporations in, 560, 593; and culture, 473, 581–82; definition of, 11–12; in Dewey, 513; in early church, 103–8;

economic study of, 270; elections in, xvii, 554, 574; finance in, 589; group theory of, 385-87; in Hellenistic and Roman worlds, 70; in Hobbes, 221, 229, 232, 250, 251; in Machiavelli, 194, 199, 201, 204; in Marx, 406, 412, 417, 421, 427, 432, 434, 439-40, 448-49; modern failure of, 577-78; modernist, 575; in Nietzsche, 406, 460, 462, 463, 464, 469, 477, 479, 485, 487, 488; participation in, 315-16; in Plato, 30-31, 37-42, 51, 52, 53; in Popper, 501, 505; and production, 286; rational choice in, 571-72, 574; in Rawls, 535, 536, 538; and religion, 175-77; and scientific laws, 322-23; technology in, 560 Polybius, 75, 76, 77, 82–83, 112 pope, 95, 103, 124-25, 127 Popper, Karl, xx, 496-503 postmodernism, 395, 483, 562-63, 575, 581-82, 583, 584-85, 605 postmodernity, xvii, xviii, xx-xxi, 459, 473, 481, 559, 563, 581-82 power: in Aquinas, 121, 123, 135; in Aristotle, 55, 82, 403-4, 616n.95; in Augustine, 110, 111, 116; in Bacon, 396, 397, 398, 497, 498, 505; in Bentham, 306-7; in Bonald, 358; of bureaucracy, 402; in Calvin, 150, 153-57, 158, 159, 167, 168, 170; of church, 100, 103, 106, 107-8, 148, 212; in classical tradition, 96, 211-12; in Constant, 252; in constitutionalism, 348, 403-4; containment of, 402-5; of corporations, 526, 527; in democracy, 400; in Dewey, 505, 506-7, 509, 510, 515, 518; and early Christianity, 93-94, 96; economic, 400, 526-27; in eighteenthcentury writers, 505-6; existence of, 260; in Federalist Papers, 349; in Hellenistic and Roman eras, 69, 70, 75, 79, 82-85, 86; in Hobbes, 222, 229-30, 231, 233, 238, 245, 246-47, 249, 253-54, 255, 256, 275, 278, 353, 394, 398, 399, 423; of industrialism, 357; in institutions, 153; in Lenin, 382; in liberalism, 270, 280; in Locke, 276, 278, 280, 281, 417-18, 429; in Luther, 128, 129, 130, 133, 136, 138, 141, 147, 153; in Machiavelli, 179, 180, 194, 196, 197, 198-200, 203, 204, 206, 209, 397, 468, 475-76, 646n.100; and majority rule, 526; in Marx, 406, 408, 409, 414, 416, 417, 418,

419, 420, 421-22, 423, 424, 425, 426, 427, 428, 430, 431, 433, 438-39, 440, 441, 444, 446, 447-48, 451; in mediaeval tradition, 211-12; modern, xvii, 399, 400, 401; in Nietzsche, 460, 463, 468-69, 475-76, 478, 482, 584; of organization, 326, 327-28, 339-40; in Plato, 36, 38-39, 49, 51-53, 61, 82, 160, 211-12, 616n.95; in polis, 252; political, 372, 526-27; in Popper, 497, 498, 499, 501; in postmodern world, xvii, xviii, xx-xxi, 562-63, 583; in postwar American liberalism, 552, 553-54; and Protestant Reformation, 149, 153; rational choice of, 572; in Rawls, xx, 533, 534, 535, 541, 547, 548; and reality vs. appearance, 394; regulation of, 404-5; in Rome, 75, 79, 82-85; in Rousseau, 334; in Saint-Simon, 337, 339, 353, 355; of social action, 270; in socialism, 528; of society, 270; of state, 374, 558; of Superpower, xvi-xvii, xviii-xix, 554; totalitarian, 459, 472, 493; in Weber, 558; in Western tradition, 197-98

property: of church, 96; in Cicero, 79; and corporations, 318–19; in Hobbes, 256, 258, 278; in liberalism, 280, 283, 290, 295, 306; in Locke, 251, 277–80, 283, 288, 306, 428; in Marx, 419, 426; modern views of, 318, 319; in Rawls, 534; and Rome, 83; in Rousseau, 675n.79

Protestantism, 128, 148, 149, 212, 215, 297, 310 Protestant Reformation, 148–49, 161, 171, 173, 175–76, 218; and Calvin, 150, 151, 153, 169, 170

Proudhon, P. J., 319, 322–23, 325, 326, 343, 344, 355, 359, 371–73, 374
Puritans, 149, 175, 304

radicalism, 128, 263, 264, 266, 268, 270–71, 279, 281

rational choice theory, 570-71, 574

Rawls, John. *Ideas on:* administration, 531, 536, 538, 539, 551; beliefs, 540; capitalism, xx, 535, 548, 551; citizenship, 531, 538, 539, 545, 549; class conflict, 541; collective, 548; competition, 534; conflict, 549, 550; conformity, 549; constitution, 540, 548, 549; contract theory, 533–34, 536–38; cooperation, 534, 544, 545, 546, 549; corporations,

Rawls, John (continued)

531, 532, 536; democracy, xx, 529-30, 534, 535, 536, 538, 539, 540, 545, 546, 547, 549, 550; doctrines, 539-41, 545, 546, 547, 548, 550; economic vs. political, 530-31; economic rights, 532-33; economics, 535, 539, 541; economy, 534; education, 535, 548, 550; Enlightenment, 537; equality, 549; freedom, 532, 549; freedom vs. equality, 531, 534; governance, 536; government, 531; history, 537, 538; ideal vs. non-ideal theory, 533, 724n.12; inequality, 532, 534, 535, 536, 537, 538; instrumentalism, 543; interest, 537, 538, 540, 541; judgment, 545; justice, 530, 531-36, 537, 538, 539, 540, 543, 544, 546, 547, 548, 549-50; knowledge, 537; liberalism, 495, 496, 529-30, 534, 536, 537, 539, 540-42, 545, 549; majority rule, 549; original position, 536-38, 543; participation, 532, 535, 548, 549; philosophy, 530, 543-44; pluralism, 548; political, 529, 539, 540, 544, 548, 550, 551; political culture, 546-47, 550; political philosophy, 529; politics, 535, 536, 538; power, xx, 533, 534, 535, 541, 547, 548; productivity, 534; property, 534; Protestant Reformation, 540-41; public, 544, 545, 549; reason, 537, 538, 539, 543, 545, 549; reasonable pluralism, 541; regulatory state, 531, 532; religion, 539, 540-41, 542, 548; repressive elements in, 549, 550; republicanism, 549; resource distribution, 530, 532; shared basis, 544; social benefits, 532, 534; social contract, 531; socialism, 539; social vs. political, 547-48; society, 544, 545; toleration, 540, 541; truth, 543-44, 549; welfare state, 536. In relation to: Locke, 536, 540, 544; Madison, 535, 540; Rousseau, 536, 544, 548

reason: in Aquinas, 228; in Calvin, 165; in Hobbes, 220, 223, 224, 226, 227, 228, 230, 231, 232, 233, 239, 246, 248, 249; in liberalism, 263, 297, 298, 299, 308; in Locke, 300; in Marx, 491; in Nietzsche, 461, 465, 469, 470, 476, 483; in organization, 340, 367–69; in political, 543; in Popper, 496, 497, 500, 502; in Rawls, 537, 538, 539, 543, 545, 549; in Saint-Simon, 337; with

self-interest, 543; in Superpower democracy, 554; in Weber, 379, 380

religion: and authority, 328; and Bonald, 328; and early Christianity, 87; in Hellenistic age, 69, 102; in Hobbes, 212, 217, 220, 231, 245, 257, 273, 302; as hostile to liberalism, 541–42; in Locke, 267, 302; in Machiavelli, 179, 183, 184, 212–13, 245; in Marx, 415, 542–43; and nationalism, 175–76, 177; in Nietzsche, 478, 486, 491–92; and organization, 329, 340; politicization of, 88; and politics, 175–77; and promotion of democracy, 542; in Rawls, 540–41, 542, 548; and Rome, 83–85; and ruler, 84–85; in Saint-Simon, 328, 353; in Smith, 267; and sociology, 328, 329; in Superpower culture, 561 Republican party, 562, 593

revolution: and American constitution, 264; bureaucracy as aid to, 326–27; in corporatist state, 605; and culture, 455; in Dewey, 509; in Lenin, 326–27, 364, 380–81, 382–83; in Locke, 276–77, 302–3; in Luther, 132; in Marx, 409, 415, 416, 420, 426, 427, 431–32, 433, 434, 435, 436, 437–38, 440, 441, 442, 445, 446, 449, 488; in Marxism, 271; in Nietzsche, 469, 475, 480; organization of, 326–27; in Saint-Simon, 337

rights: in Aristotle, 66; and constitutionalism, 348; as inequalities, 525–26; in Locke, 278, 429; in Marx, 413, 414; in Plato, 66; and Rome, 83

Riker, William, 571-73

Roman Catholic Church, 170-71

Rome, 63, 64–65, 69–70; action in, 76, 77; architectonic knowledge in, 77; and early Christianity, 93, 94; elections in, 78; emperor as father in, 107; friendship in, 78; and group politics, 78; interest in, 65, 78, 79–82; leadership of, 76; masses in, 78; monarchy in, 86; political experience of, 74–79; power in, 75, 79, 82–85; rivalry in, 65, 76, 78, 80; and symbols, 78; and virtue, 78

Rorty, Richard, 456, 705n.14

Rousseau, Jean-Jacques: *Ideas on:* alienation, 330, 335; authority, 334, 335; city-state, 63; civilized man and natural, 331, 332, 334; collective, 360; community, 120, 332–34, 335, 336, 353; dependence, 331, 332, 334,

335, 336; equality, 335; freedom, 333, 336, 338; general will, 312, 333-34, 335, 336, 338, 521, 674nn. 69 and 71; happiness, 353; individual and group, 336; interdependence, 331-32; law, 335; on legislator, 50; masses, 174; morality, 332, 335; nature, 330, 335; passion, 331, 353; pity, 353; political, 330, 334, 335, 336; popular sovereignty, 264; power, 334; property, 675n.79; rules, 335; self, 330; social contract, 335; society, 330-32, 336; state of nature, 331, 334-35; totalitarianism, 521; unity, 276. In relation to: Bradley, 359; Durkheim, 333, 334, 674nn. 69 and 71; Hobbes, 246, 248; Locke, 276; Luther, 332; Rawls, 536, 544, 548; Saint-Simon, 338

ruler(s): in Aristotle, 558; in Calvin, 157, 159–60, 162, 166–70, 169; in Hellenistic age, 69; in Hobbes, 227, 230, 231, 232, 233, 234, 235, 236–37, 238, 243, 245, 246, 247–48, 251, 253, 254, 255, 256, 278; in interest of all vs. class, 558; in Locke, 277; and logos, 50–51; in Luther, 133, 137–38, 143, 144, 145, 146–47, 150; in Machiavelli, 198, 200–201, 205, 206, 207, 209, 210; as religious figure, 84–85; in Rome, 84–85, 93; in Saint-Simon, 338; in Seneca, 84

Saint-Simon, Henri de, 118, 281. Ideas on: action, 339; administration, 378; class struggle, 339; coercion, 338; community, 352-53; desire, 353; egoism, 352-53; equality, 338; French Revolution, 337; function, 338, 339, 346; industrialism, 337; industriels, 318, 338; liberalism, 339; masses, 338; morality, 353; nature, 337, 355; order, 337; organization, 317-18, 325, 326, 329, 336-42; organization and methodology, 342-43; political, 337, 338, 339; power, 337, 339, 353, 355; public interest, 338; reason, 337; religion, 328, 353; revolution, 337; ruler, 338; science, 337, 338, 339, 497; society, 324, 337, 338, 339; work, 339. In relation to: Popper, 497; Rousseau, 338; Selznick, 370

science: in Bacon, 397, 497, 498, 510; in Bonald, 322; as compromised, 502–3; in Comte, 497; in democracy, 401; demytholigizing of, 18, 568–70; in Dewey, 504, 505, 506, 508, 509, 510, 511, 513, 514–16, 517–18, 590; in Hobbes, 216, 217, 219–20, 221, 223, 224, 225, 226, 229, 230, 234, 252, 654n.124; in Locke, 265; in Maistre, 322; in Marx, 420, 439, 440, 590; and modern political thought, 219; in Nietzsche, 465, 478, 487; and political philosophy, 12–14, 18, 218–22; of politics, 200–201, 213, 219–20; in Popper, 497, 498, 501, 502, 505; positivistic, 320; in Saint-Simon, 337, 338, 339, 497; of society, 320–23; in Superpower, xvi–xvii; in totalitarianism, 519; in Weber, 380

Selznick, Philip, 369–70, 375–76, 377, 383–84, 387

September 11 terrorist attacks, 2001; 560, 592 Simon, Herbert, 340-41, 367, 368, 370 Smith, Adam, 17, 251, 267. Ideas on: action, 296; aesthetics, 658n.28; anxiety, 291; authority, 261; capitalism, 317; civil society, 361; common good, 298-99; community, 314; conscience, 308; desires, 298; division of labor, 261, 262; economy, 270, 271, 400; history, 287; interdependency, 261; legislator, 410-11; liberalism, 263; limitation, 286; limited wealth, 288; moral judgments, 308-9, 314; moral norms, 298-99; nature, 283; opinion, 308; passion, 297-98, 309; pleasure and pain, 293; political knowledge, 268; prudence, 296; reason, 263; religion, 267; social status, 295-96; and statesmanship, 271; uncertainty, 297; unseen hand, 298; work, 286-87. In relation to: Dewey, 512; Hobbes, 296; Locke, 267, 268

socialism: and action as regeneration, 271; vs. capitalism, 528; in Dewey, 508; economy in, 528; in France, 442; in Lenin, 378; in liberalism, 290; in Marx, 415, 419, 432, 444, 451; in Nietzsche, 486, 491; organization in, 327; political in, 528; in Rawls, 539; and society vs. political, 324; state power in, 528. *See also* communism

social science: development of, 321–22; in Fourier, 355; in Machiavelli, 184–85, 213; methods of, 258; vs. political, 262; vs. political philosophy, 258–59; in Popper, 499–500; society in, 260. *See also* sociology

society: authority of, 385; in Bradley, 359; bureaucracy in, 374; in Calvinism, 267; vs. community, 352; control over, 326; in Dewey, 508, 511, 515, 516; in Durkheim, 357-58, 373; economy of, 261-62, 269-70, 271-72, 365, 528; functions in, 346-47, 386-87; groupism in, 387; in Hobbes, 227, 228, 231, 232, 236, 244, 245-46, 247, 249, 254, 257, 258, 273; individual in, 345-47; industry in, 357; institutions of, 258; in liberalism, 261, 268-69, 280, 288-89, 311; in Locke, 261, 268, 276, 277, 281, 300, 429; in Luther, 144; as managed totality, 579; in Marx, 373, 422, 434, 439, 440, 442, 449; mediaeval, 328; in Mill, 289, 313; modern, 317; and nature, 27-30; in nineteenthcentury writers, 320-25; open vs. closed, 496-97, 498, 500, 501; and organization, 325-27; in pluralism, 281-82; vs. political, 117-18, 260, 261, 262, 323-25, 372, 385, 386; vs. political order, 261, 281, 385; in Popper, 496–97, 498–99, 500, 501, 502; power of, 270; primitive, 366; and Protestant Reformation, 149; in Proudhon, 373; and radicalism, 281; in Rawls, 544, 545; rediscovery of, 260-61; Roman, 76; in Rousseau, 330-32, 336; in Saint-Simon, 337, 338, 339; science of, 320-23; as self-subsistent, 281; social movements in, 400; in social sciences, 260; and state, 371-72; static, 288; in Utopian Socialism, 373; values in, 57. See also community; political society sociology, 328, 329, 345, 358. See also social science solidarity, 87, 319, 358, 360, 361, 363, 372, 523. See also community Sophists, 29, 35, 36, 37 Sorel, Georges, 200, 379 Soviet Union, 318, 559-60, 573 space, political: in ancient world, 65-70; boundaries of, 63; in Hellenistic and Roman eras, 65, 75, 83, 86; in Hobbes, 254, 255; in Machiavelli, 195-97, 198, 206, 208, 214; meaning of, 16-17; participation in, 63 Spencer, Herbert, 257, 270, 273, 280, 311, 313 - 14state: as above interest, 526; in Bacon, 510; basis

of Superpower in, 560; bureaucratic,

xvii-xviii, 374; in Calvin, 157; centralized, 401; and church, 103, 104, 127; common good in, 577, 578; corporate, 596, 605; corporate partnerships with, 588-89, 593; in Dewey, 505, 510; eclipse of sovereign, 559; in Hobbes, xvii; and individual, 374; inflexibility of, 567-68; internal security in, 577; in liberalism, 526; in libertarianism, 577; in Locke, 430; in Marx, 373-74, 410, 412, 413, 446, 447, 451, 490-91; in mediaeval thought, 127; modern, xvii; in Nietzsche, 490, 491-92; political economy of, 563; in Popper, 498, 500, 501, 502, 505; power of, 374, 558; rejection of, 374; role of constitution in, 558; in socialism, 528; and society, 371-72; and Superpower, xvii; violence of, 558; welfare, 576. See also Superpower state of nature, 72; in Hobbes, 106, 219, 227, 230, 231, 232, 235-37, 244, 254, 273, 651n.66; in Locke, 274-76, 428, 429, 543; in Rousseau, 331, 334-35; in seventeenth-century thought, 9. See also nature Superpower: capitalism in, 591; citizen of, xvi,

statesmanship, 20, 30-31, 41, 42-43 Steuart, James, 410, 411 Stoicism, 66, 71, 72-75, 92 Strauss, Leo, 456

xvii, 565, 590; as constitutional form, 558; corporations as partner of, 560, 561, 562; democracy in, xix, 553-54, 597, 601, 604; economy of, 562, 563, 595; as empire, 561, 562; equality in, 560-61; globalization in, 591; as inverted totalitarianism, xvi-xvii, 591, 593, 594; lack of common good in, 578; lack of constitution for, 591; limits on, xvi, xvii, 591, 594-95; popular support for, 586; and postmodern self, 584-85; power of, xvi-xvii, xviii-xix, 554; religion in, 561; and state, xvii, 560; vs. terrorism, 559, 576-77, 591; United States as, 559-62. See also United

symbol, political, 8, 78, 83-85

Tacitus, 65, 81 terrorism, 559, 560, 561-62, 590, 592 Tertullian, 90, 93-94, 98, 99, 100, 102, 106-7 time, 112-13, 140-41, 193, 236-37

Tocqueville, Alexis de, 243, 257, 261, 313, 374, 401, 455, 595–96

totalitarianism: approaches to, 459; characteristics of, 316, 317, 579; and culture, 472–73; in democracy, 520–21, 554, 555; economic, 493, 564, 579–80; as form of tyranny, 558; inverted, xvi, 591, 593, 594; and liberalism, xix–xx, 495, 519–20, 553; Machiavelli in context of, 200; in Nazism, 493, 519, 579, 580, 591, 592; in Nietzsche, 459–60, 464–66, 467, 468, 469, 470, 471–73, 487, 489, 490; as nihilist, 472; origins of, 484; and Plato, 61; political in, 389; in Popper, xx, 496, 497, 498; power in, 459, 472, 493; and Superpower, xvi–xvii, 591, 593, 594; technology/science in, 519

United States: Constitution of, 264; corporate partnerships with, 593; corruption of government in, 600; democracy in, xix, 595–96; equality in, 596; as inverted totalitarianism, 591, 592, 593; liberalism in, 551–56; racism in, 555, 591–92; in rational choice theory, 572–73; as Superpower, xvi, 559–62. *See also* Superpower

unity: in Aristotle, 58; in Augustine, 108; in Calvin, 150, 151, 152, 155, 163–64, 167, 171, 172; of church, 96, 97, 104, 105; in Fourier, 354, 355; in Hellenistic age, 68–69; in Hobbes, 246, 248; in Isocrates, 68; limits 208, 209; in Plato, 58, 59, 61, 63; in Rousseau, 276 utilitarianism: in Bradley, 359; and conformity, 309–10; and Hobbes, 250; and interest, 362; and asserting 207, 08; assigns in 261.

of, 58-61; in Locke, 276; in Machiavelli,

and passion, 297–98; society in, 261 utopian socialism, 217, 281, 323, 332–33, 353, 372, 373, 374, 528

Vietnam War, 495, 522–23, 552, 561 virtue: Cynics on, 71; in Machiavelli, 179–80, 191, 193, 195, 196–97, 201, 205, 206, 207, 211, 212, 213, 215; in Plato, 10–11, 160; in Rome, 193

Webb, Sidney, 304, 359–60 Weber, Max, xvi, 267, 286, 317, 345, 360–61, 379–80, 551, 558, 564

vision, political, 17-20, 33-34, 41

work/worker: in Britain and France, 441–42; in capitalism, 567, 596–97; disappearance of, 567, 568; in Lenin, 364, 378–79, 382; in Locke, 286, 428, 430; in Marx, 362, 363, 377, 407, 408, 409–10, 415, 416, 418, 419, 420, 427, 431, 432–36, 437, 438, 440–41, 442–43, 444, 445, 446, 447, 448, 449, 450, 451, 567, 568; modern care for, 318; in modern economy, 520; in Saint-Simon, 339. *See also* class